
 

 
 
 

 
Agenda 
Cabinet 
 

Wednesday 18 October 2023 at 3.30 pm 
in the Council Chamber, Sandwell Council House, Oldbury   

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as 

required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. 
  

1   Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interest  

 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

 
3   Minutes (Pages 7 - 34) 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 13 
September 2023 as a correct record. 
 

 

 
4   Additional Items of Business (Pages 35 - 62) 

 
To determine whether there are any additional items 
of business to be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 

 

 
5   Adoption of Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports 

Strategy (Pages 63 - 418) 
 
To consider and approve the Playing Pitch and 
Outdoor Sports Strategy. 

Leisure and 
Tourism 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

6   Highway Infrastructure Investment Funding Plan 
(Pages 419 - 440) 
 
To consider the Highway Infrastructure Investment 
Funding Plan. 
 

Environment 
and 

Highways 

 
7   Sandwell Children's Trust Annual Review 

2022/2023 (Pages 441 - 504) 
 
To consider the Sandwell Children's Trust Annual 
Review 2022/2023. 
 

Children, 
Young 

People and 
Education 

 
8   Highway Winter Operational Plan 2023 - 2024 

(Pages 505 - 600) 
 
To approve the Highway Winter Operational Plan 
2023 – 2024. 
 

Environment 
and 

Highways 

 
9   Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Alliance 

Agreement (Pages 601 - 640) 
 
To consider the Sandwell Health & Care Partnership 
Annual Report 2022-23 and associated documents.  
 

Health and 
Adult Social 

Care 
 

Children, 
Young People 

and 
Education 

 
Public Health 

and 
Communities  

10   Extension of contract for a non-executive director 
of Sandwell Children's Trust board (Pages 641 - 
648) 
 
To seek approval to extend the appointment of a non-
executive director of Sandwell Children's Trust board. 
 

 
Children, 

Young 
People and 
Education 

 
11   Quarter 1 Performance Monitoring (Pages 649 - 

720) 
 
To consider an update on the quarter 1 performance 
monitoring.   
 
 
 

Finance and 
Resources 

 

Page 2



 

12   Sandwell Aquatic Centre Project Closedown 
Report and Financial Closure (Pages 721 - 736) 
 
To consider proposals in relation to the closedown of 
the Sandwell Aquatic Centre Project. 
 

Leisure and 
Tourism 

 
13   Sandwell Local Plan - Approval to Consult on the 

Draft Plan (Pages 737 - 1642) 
 
To consider proposals on the Sandwell Local Plan 
and consulting on the draft plan.   
 

Regeneration 
and WMCA 

 
14   Update and decisions on the Asset Management 

Strategy - Income and Savings 2023-2026 (Pages 
1643 - 1654) 
 
To consider proposals relating to the Asset 
Management Strategy for 2023-2026. 
 

Regeneration 
and WMCA 

 
15   Exclusion of the Public and Press  

 
That the public and press be excluded from the rest of 
the meeting. This is to avoid the possible disclosure of 
exempt information under Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act, 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006, relating to the financial and business affairs of 
any person, including the authority holding that 
information. 
 

 

 
16   Haden Hill Leisure Centre Rebuild Options - 

Levelling Up Fund (Pages 1655 - 1678) 
 
To consider proposals in relation to the Haden Hill 
Leisure Centre.  
 

Leisure and 
Tourism 

 
17   Future Provision of Leisure Services (Pages 1679 - 

1688) 
 
To consider proposals for the future provision of 
leisure services. 
 
 
 
 

Leisure and 
Tourism 

 

Page 3



 

18   Tipton Town Centre Regeneration Scheme 
Rescope and Funding Package (Pages 1689 - 
1728) 
 
To consider proposals for the Tipton Town Centre 
regeneration scheme. 
 

Regeneration 
and WMCA 

 
Shokat Lal 
Chief Executive 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Carmichael (Chair) 
Councillors Hackett, Hartwell, Hughes, Khatun, Millard, Padda, Piper and 
Rollins. 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 4

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

 

Page 5

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



   
 
 

 

Minutes of Cabinet 
 

 
Wednesday 13 September 2023 at 3.30pm 

in the Council Chamber, Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 
 
Present: Councillor Carmichael (Chair); 
 Councillors Piper (Vice- Chair), Hackett, Hartwell, Hughes, 

Khatun, Padda and Rollins. 
 
In attendance:  Councillors E Giles, Lewis, Randhawa and Taylor. 
 
Also present: Surjit Tour (Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer), Michael Jarrett (Director of Children’s Services), Tony 
McGovern (Director of Regeneration and Growth), Brendan 
Arnold (Interim Section 151 Officer), Elaine Newsome 
(Service Manager – Democracy), Harpreet Sandhu (HR 
Resourcing Partner), Nicki Gobran (Interim Senior HR 
Business Partner), Matthew More (Communications and 
Corporate Affairs Manager), Suky Suthi-Nagra (Democratic & 
Member Services Manager) and John Swann (Democratic 
Services Officer). 

 
 

92/23  Apologies for Absence 
  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Millard, 
Fenton and Moore. 

 
 
93/23   Declarations of Interest 
 

Councillor Hackett declared an interest in relation to Minute No. 
96/23 (Levelling Up Partnership), in that he was a Trustee and 
Board Member of the Friar Park Millennium Centre. 
 

 
  

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



94/23   Minutes 
 

Resolved that the minutes of the meetings held on 21 June 
and 12 July 2023 be approved as a correct record. 

 
 

95/23 Additional Items of Business 
  
 There were no additional items of business to be considered as a 

matter of urgency. 
 

The Leader reported that consideration of the West Bromwich 
Indoor Market Funding Package item had been deferred to a future 
meeting and the Recommendations from the Budget and Corporate 
Scrutiny Management Board in response to Sickness Absence 
Outturn 2022/23 item had been withdrawn.   

 
 
96/23 Levelling Up Partnership 
  
 Approval was sought to enable Wednesbury Town (Wednesbury 

North, Wednesbury South and Friar Park) to be given the 
geographical focus for the Sandwell Levelling Up Partnership and to 
commence the delivery of Levelling Up Partnership Interventions. 

 
 The Leader also sought to recommend to Council to grant an 

exception from Section 5.1 of the Council’s Financial Regulations in 
relation to Levelling Up Partnership Proposals. 

 
 The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and WMCA endorsed the 

Levelling Up Partnership and outlined that the scheme had 
presented an opportunity to boost connectivity in the locality and 
further regeneration proposals. 

 
In response to a question from the Chair of the Economy, Skills, 
Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board, the Leader confirmed 
that the positions on the Wednesbury Levelling Up Partnership 
Board were voluntary in nature, including the position of the 
Independent Chair. This was also the case for the Towns Fund 
Local Boards. 

 
Reason for Decision 
Sandwell was one of 20 places to have been invited to form a 
Levelling Up Partnership (LUP) which presented the Council with an 
opportunity to access a funding offer of £20m capital funding.  

Page 8



This would enable 630 new homes (157 affordable), land 
acquisition for future housing delivery and improvements to 4 green 
spaces. 

 
Alternative Options Considered  
Alternative geographical areas could have been put forward for the 
focus of Sandwell’s LUP. The selection of Wednesbury Town was 
the result of joint exploration between Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and Cabinet Members, which 
took into account the indicators used to select Levelling Up 
Partnership areas, areas that could require cross government 
support to successfully deliver positive outcomes, major 
opportunities for capital spend to deliver against the levelling up 
missions, LUP funding criteria and local insight through the initial 
deep dive activity conducted by DLUHC Civil Servants. The 
geographical focus area of Wednesbury was acceptable to DLUHC 
and therefore presented the best chance of Sandwell to secure the 
LUP investment to deliver the shortlisted projects and achieve the 
outcomes for the LUP. 
 
Alternative interventions were put forward to DLUHC for 
consideration as part of the initial deep dive activity. These included 
proposals for an increase of SEND provision in Sandwell, 
exploration of alternative measures to divert nuisance bike activity 
and additional regeneration proposals that have viability barriers to 
proceeding. These schemes were discounted by DLUHC as part of 
the initial deep dive activity. The selected shortlist of projects 
presented the best chance of Sandwell securing the LUP 
investment. 
 
Alternative governance arrangements could have been put in place 
for the Levelling Up Partnership. The proposed arrangements 
reflected learning from the Towns Fund Programme governance 
arrangements and proposed an adoption of a similar model of 
governance. 
 

Resolved:- 
 

(1) that approval be given to the geographical focus for 
Sandwell LUP as Wednesbury Town (Wednesbury 
North, Wednesbury South and Friar Park); 

  

Page 9



 
(2) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth and S151 

Officer in consultation with the Leader be authorised to 
review and formally accept the Levelling Up Partnership 
offer/ grant conditions from Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities; 

 

(3) that approval be given to commence delivery of 
Levelling Up Partnership interventions, subject to S151 
Officer authorisation and acceptance of grant conditions 
from Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities  as set out in Resolution (2) above; 

 

(4) that approval be given for the Council to act as the 
Accountable Body for the Levelling Up Partnership 
Programme, adopt programme governance 
arrangements and establish a Wednesbury Levelling Up 
Partnership Board and associated Terms of Reference; 

 

(5) that the Director Law and Governance in consultation 
with the Director of Regeneration and Growth and the 
Leader be authorised to make any changes to the 
Wednesbury Levelling up Partnership Board Terms of 
Reference to respond to any Government guidance or 
requirements; 

 

(6) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, in 
consultation with the Leader, be authorised to invite 
expressions of interest and conduct any necessary 
selection processes to make appointments to the 
Wednesbury Levelling Up Partnership Board; 

 

(7) that subject to acceptance of grant conditions as set out 
in Resolution (2) above, in relation to Levelling Up 
Partnership interventions, that the following capital 
expenditure be approved and added to the Capital 
Programme for 2023/24 and 2024/25: 

  

Page 10



 

a. in relation to Friar Park Urban Village project, that 
capital expenditure of up to £11.5m be authorised to 
bring forward the Friar Park Urban Village Scheme, 
as per the recently approved Masterplan for this site 
and that officers are authorised to renegotiate the 
current Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with West 
Midlands Combined Authority to reflect the nature of 
this significant investment and to deal with related 
commercial matters that impact on the JVA now that 
the Council is the primary funder using LUP 
resources; 

 
b. in relation to Wednesbury Town Centre Improvement 

project, that capital expenditure of up to £4.45m be 
approved for site improvement, acquisition and public 
realm improvement works; 

 

c. in relation to the Wednesbury Community Safety 
project that capital expenditure of up to £0.4m be 
approved for CCTV scheme improvements, mobile 
cameras for flytipping and installation of low level 
bike inhibitors as deterrents to ASB and crime; 

 

d. in relation to the Greenspaces project that capital 
expenditure of up to £1.65m be approved for 
improvements to green spaces in Wednesbury; 

 

e. in relation to the Friar Park Millennium Centre 
extension, approval is requested for an appropriate 
scheme to be designed; planning consent to be 
obtained; procurement of a construction partner to 
deliver the scheme; capital expenditure of up to £2m 
be authorised for the scheme to be delivered; and all 
relevant agreements and actions be taken to ensure 
this project is delivered that enhances the community 
offer (this approval updates the previous Cabinet 
approval for this scheme of 15/03/2023); 

  

Page 11



 
(8) that subject to acceptance of grant conditions as set out 

in Resolution (2) above, approval be given to expend up 
to £100,000 revenue in relation to the Wednesbury 
Community Safety Project and up to £250,000 revenue 
in relation to Wednesbury Masterplanning and Levelling 
Up Partnership Programme Management and that the 
appropriate budget virements are actioned, funded from 
Levelling Up Grant; 
 

(9) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and WMCA, be authorised to approve public 
consultation in relation to Wednesbury Masterplanning 
for the purposes of Regulation 18 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations (2012); 

 

(10) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, in 
consultation with the S151 Officer and Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration and WMCA, be authorised to approve: 

 

a. a decrease/ increase of grant funds to be drawn 
down by individual projects of up to £250,000 within 
the overall Levelling Up Partnership capital allocation; 
 

b. any decrease to mandatory indicators of outputs and 
outcomes of the Levelling Up Partnership projects; 

 

c. slippage of outcomes and/ or grant claim profile up to 
£1m requiring re-profiling across future financial 
years with no overall material change to project 
outcomes; 
 

(11) that the Director Regeneration and Growth, in 
consultation with Director of Law and Governance, be 
authorised to undertake all necessary steps/actions, to 
acquire relevant sites in Wednesbury and Friar Park in 
line with the Council’s land and property portfolio; 

  

Page 12



 

 
(12) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, the 

Director of Borough Economy and the Director of Law 
and Governance in agreement with the Section 151 
Officer, be authorised to enter into any necessary legal 
agreements, submit any necessary planning 
applications/agreements, undertake all necessary 
procurement processes (including entering into 
contracts for the provision of goods and services and 
any direct contract awards), and undertake/exercise all 
other necessary action/powers necessary to deliver the 
Levelling Up Partnership interventions; 

 

(13) that subject to acceptance of grant conditions as set out 
in Resolution (2) above, the capital allocation to the 
Council from the Levelling Up Partnership be managed 
within the Council’s overall capital programme to allow 
carry forward of other funding sources into 2024/25 for 
delivery of the Levelling Up Partnership Interventions; 

 

(14) that approval be given to add the Wednesbury Town 
Centre Improvement project to  Regeneration Project 
Pipeline; 

 

(15) that a further report be submitted to the Cabinet on the 
performance of the Levelling Up Partnership 
Programme after 6 months; 

 
(16) that Council be recommended to grant an exception 

from Section 5.1 of the Council’s Financial Regulations 
in relation to the Levelling UP Partnership Proposals. 

 
 
(Councillor Hackett left the Chamber during the consideration of this item and 
did not take part in the discussion). 
 
 
97/23 West Midlands Combined Authority Devolution Deal 
  
 Approval was sought to the  West Midlands Combined Authority 

(WMCA) Devolution Deal following the West Midlands Combined 
Authority having been identified as an area for a significant 
devolution of powers and resources within the Government’s 
Levelling Up White Paper in August 2022. 

 

Page 13



The benefits that could occur as a result of the West Midlands 
Devolution Deal had been assessed and included greater certainty 
over retaining business rates locally, further investment for the 
Wednesbury to Brierly Hill Metro extension and an opportunity to 
transition to low carbon/electric vehicle buses in Sandwell via the 
Bus Services Operators Grant. 
 
It was proposed that Sandwell Council would work proactively with 
the West Midlands Combined Authority and regional stakeholders to 
maximise the benefits of the WMCA Devolution Deal. 
 
Reason for Decision 
The West Midlands Devolution Deal had provided additional funding 
to the West Midlands region and granted additional powers to local 
decision- making bodies. This had included additional funding for 
the West Midlands Metro extension, higher levels of investment in 
affordable housing and had provided greater certainty over retaining 
business rates growth locally. 
 
Alternative Options Considered  
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council could have decided not to 
support the final Devolution Deal at WMCA Board on 13 October 
2023. However, this alternative option was recommended as the 
Council would not have be able to benefit from significant financial 
commitments from Government as set out in the Deal and this could 
have reduced confidence that Government Ministers and officials 
have in the West Midlands and key local and regional partners. 
There were no specific reasons why Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 
Council should have considered this alternative option. 
 

Resolved:- 
 
(1) that approval be given to the West Midlands Deeper 

Devolution Deal as set out in Appendix 1a and 
Appendix 1b, Appendix 2, Appendix 3, which includes 
the in-principle award of the Bus Operator’s Grant as a 
Mayoral function; 
 

(2) that the Leader of the Council be authorised to vote in 

favour of the Deeper Devolution Deal when it is 

considered at the West Midlands Combined Authority 

Board; 

 

(3) that any views of Cabinet on the draft Governance 

Review and Scheme for the devolution of Bus Services 

Page 14

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s16980/06a%20-%20Governance%20Review%20-%20Appendix%201A.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s16981/06b%20-%20Updated%20Scheme%20-%20Appendix%201B.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s16982/06c%20-%20Thematic%20Summaries%20-%20Appendix%202.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s16983/06d%20-%20WM%20Devolution%20Deal%20Implementation%20Plan%20-%20Appendix%203.pdf


Operator Grant (BSOG) are submitted to WMCA by 

Wednesday 27 September 2023; 

 

(4) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, the 

Director of Finance and the Monitoring Officer be  

authorised to engage on the detailed implementation of 

the agreed elements of the Deeper Devolution Deal; 

 

(5) that further reports be submitted to Cabinet (and 

Council if appropriate) on specific issues relating to the 

detail of the Deeper Devolution Deal such as opt-outs 

and approval of the making of the Statutory Instruments 

following the receipt of a draft order for BSOG; 

 

(6) that the Director of Regeneration and Growth, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, the 
Monitoring Officer and the Director of Finance, 
undertakes such actions and exercises all necessary 
powers required to give effect to the Deeper Devolution 
Deal where it is considered expedient and necessary to 
do so; 

 

(7) that details of the financial benefits and risks associated 
with the West Midlands Deeper Devolution Deal be 
received.   

 

98/23 Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring 2023/ 24 
 

Approval was sought to the Treasury Outturn for 2022/ 23 and 
Quarter 1 position for 2023/ 24. Due to inflationary pressures and an 
estimated increase in the pay award, the projected outturn for the 
General Fund was an overspend of £2.188m. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources advised that 
Appendices 1- 3 had been amended subsequent to publication and 
were available via the Council’s website. 
 
The reports were due to be referred to the Budget and Corporate 
Scrutiny Management Board for consideration and comment. 

 
Reasons for recommendations 
Section 151 of the 1972 Local Government Act required the Chief 
Financial Officer to have ensured the proper administration of the 
council’s financial affairs. Budgetary control, which included the 

Page 15



regular monitoring and reporting of budgets, was an essential 
element in discharging this statutory responsibility. The 
recommended treatment of the year end variances supported the 
financial sustainability of the council. 
 
Alternative options considered 
There were limited alternatives to the recommendations. Cabinet 
could have decided not to allow the proposed use of reserves by 
directorates, but this would have increased the projected overspend 
and resulted in a further reduction in the council’s general fund 
balance. 
 

Resolved:- 
 

(1) that Cabinet note the financial monitoring position as 

of 30 June 2023 (Quarter 1) and refer the report to the 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 

for consideration and comment; 

 

(2) that approval be given to the Treasury Outturn for 
2022/23 and Quarter 1 position for 2023/24, as set out 
in Appendix 6 and Appendix 7; 
 

(3) that approval be given to the following virements 
above £1m in line with the revised delegated limits for 
Cabinet Members and Directors: 

 

Virements above £1m for approval by Cabinet £'000 £'000 

        

Borough 
Economy 

Correction to budget savings 
applied 

1,000   

Contingency Correction to budget savings 
applied 

  1,000 

Social Care Grant 
- Income 

External Placements – correction to 
Social Care Grant income budget 

2,478   

Social Care Grant 
- Exp 

External Placements – correction to 
corresponding expenditure budget 
relating to Social Care Grant 

  2,478 

Creation of 
COMF budgets 
Inc 

External Placements – increase in 
income budget for Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund 
income 

  3,397 

Creation of 
COMF budgets 
Exp 

External Placements – 
corresponding increase in 
expenditure budget for Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund spend 

3,397   

        

Page 16

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s17035/07d%20-%20App%206%2022-23%20Treasury%20Outturn%20Report%20final.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s17036/07e%20-%20App%207%20Treasury%20Q1%2023-24.pdf


TOTAL 6,875 6,875 

 
 

99/23  Additional Licensing and Article 4 – Options Appraisal 
 
 Approval was sought to commence consultation on proposals to 

expand an additional licensing scheme within Sandwell. It was 
proposed that the consultation would include details of the evidence 
base which supported the proposal, the proposed fee structure and 
the proposed license conditions. 

 
The Council acknowledged that  a significant proportion of Houses 
of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) were poorly managed and were 
resulting in problems affecting the tenants and members of the 
public – such as anti- social behaviour and poor housing conditions. 

   
  It was proposed that the Council would utilise the register of 

licensed smaller HMOs to identify their location and areas of 
concentration to provide evidence relating to Article 4 designation.  

 
The proposals had been considered by the Safer Neighbourhoods 
and Active Communities Scrutiny Board on 31 August 2023.  Whilst 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Built Environment was minded 
to approve the recommendation of the Scrutiny Board in relation to 
the Council working closely with external bodies, agencies and 
individuals to identify un-registered Houses in Multiple Occupation 
and welcomed the approach to support, in relation to the 
recommendation to the planned consultation endeavouring to obtain 
at least 1,000 consultees per town, the Cabinet Member requested 
that this not be approved as it was felt to be unobtainable and an 
arbitrary figure in terms of securing that number of consultees for 
each town.  The Council would however ensure that all over 
avenues would be explored.   

  

Page 17



 
 Reasons for Decision 

The Borough had experienced a major increase in private rented 
accommodation and Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) in 
some areas. The Housing Act 2004 required local authorities to 
mandatory licence HMOs if they accommodated more than five 
people who formed two or more households. 
 
The Housing Act 2004 also provided local authorities the power to 
introduce an additional licensing scheme for other, smaller HMOs. 
Proposals for the introduction of additional licensing would 
contribute to higher standards of HMO accommodation and would 
ensure effective management of shared accommodation via more 
extensive control. 

 
Alternative Options Considered 
The Council was not of the opinion that existing measures including 
HMO Licensing, Civil Penalties, Homeless Prevention, Private 
Rented Sector Support and Housing Standards Enforcement were 
sufficiently effective to mitigate issues such as anti- social behaviour 
and disrepair. 

 
Resolved:- 
 
(1) that approval be given to the consultation on the 

expansion of additional licensing across Sandwell; 
 

(2) that the Director of Housing and the Director for 
Regeneration and Growth be authorised to carry out 
research into the distribution of small Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) (not currently subject to planning 
permission) to provide a robust dataset allowing the 
preparation of a non-immediate Article 4 direction which 
will be applied to relevant areas within the borough to 
remove permitted development rights for the change of 
use of dwelling houses (C3 use) to small houses in 
multiple occupation (C4 use); 

 

(3) that the following recommendation of the Safer 
Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny 
Board be approved: 

  

Page 18



 

a. that the Council works closely with external bodies, 
agencies and individuals, including West Midlands 
Police, West Midlands Fire Service, Councillors, 
Community Support Officers and other community 
facing organisations to identify un-registered Houses 
in Multiple Occupation; 

 

(4) that a further report be submitted to the Safer 
Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny 
Board, within 2 months’ time, on the decision of Cabinet, 
in relation to (3), above. 

 
 
100/23   Hamstead Infant School and Hamstead Junior School – 

Proposed Closure and Expansion 

 Approval was sought to formally close Hamstead Infant School and 
to increase the age range of Hamstead Junior School from 8- 11 
years to 3- 11 years to accommodate the displaced pupils from 
Hamstead Infant School. 

 
Cabinet had considered the outcome of Stage 1 statutory 
consultation upon the proposed changes and acknowledged that the 
formal amalgamation of the two twinned schools would form a 420 
statutory place primary school, with 39 full time equivalent place 
Nursery.  

 
 Reasons for decision 

In accordance with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations 
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013, and the 
Department for Education (DfE) published guidance ‘Opening and 
Closing Maintained Schools’ and ‘Making Significant Changes 
(Prescribed Alterations) to Maintained Schools’  – Statutory 
Guidance for Proposers and Decision Makers January 2023’; for 
proposals to amalgamate 2 (or more) existing maintained schools, 
the Local Authority must act as a decision maker. 
 
Alternative options considered 
If the Council had not proceeded with the proposals, inefficiencies in 
revenue expenditure across both schools would have been 
projected to continue, with duplication of certain functions and 
spend, and would not have provided the opportunities to streamline 
across one school. 
 

Page 19



The closure of Hamstead Junior School and the expansion of 
Hamstead Infant School was an option, but this was not feasible in 
nature due to the number of senior staff posts which were vacant at 
the Infant School. Hamstead Infant School was therefore unable to 
support a successful expansion to its age range to operate at the 
two-form entry primary school model required. 
 
If the Council had closured both schools, the local authority would 
not have been able to establish a new community maintained school 
to replace the two existing schools, instead it would have been 
required to seek a free school sponsor to open a replacement 
school. 

 
Resolved:- 

 
(1) that having taken the results of consultation into 

account, approval be given to the publication of a 
Statutory Proposal to: 
 
a. formally close Hamstead Infant School, Tanhouse 

Avenue, Great Barr B43 5AS;  
 

b. increase the age range of Hamstead Junior School, 
Hamstead Road, Great Barr B43 5BE from the ages 
of 8-11 years old to 3-11 years old to accommodate 
the displaced pupils from Hamstead Infant School; 
 

(2) that subject to no objections being raised during the 
statutory representation period for the Statutory 
Proposal as set out in Resolution (1) above, the Director 
of Children’s Services and Educationbe authorised to 
make a final decision on the proposal for the prescribed 
alterations at Hamstead Infant School, Tanhouse 
Avenue, Great Barr B43 5AS and Hamstead Junior 
School, Hamstead Road, Great Barr B43 5BE, in 
conjunction with the Director – Law and Governance 
and Monitoring Officer, and in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education; 
 

(3) that in the event that any unresolved objections are 
raised during the statutory representation period for the 
Statutory Proposal, a further report is submitted to the 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education with full details of representations received to 
inform a final decision on the proposal. 

Page 20



 
 

101/23   Temporary Accommodation – Award Approval  

Approval was sought to appoint providers for the provision of Bed 
and Breakfast and temporary accommodation for homeless 
households. 
 
The Council had a duty to provide temporary accommodation where 
there was reason to believe an applicant was homeless, eligible and 
had priority need. Accommodation would continue to be provided if 
the household was awarded homeless priority until the duty was 
discharged; most commonly through an offer of accommodation. 
This function was provided by the Housing Solutions Service. 

 
An initial tender exercise had commenced on 30 June 2023 and 
concluded on 2 August 2023 and the compliant tenders were being 
evaluated via the criteria stipulated within the Council’s Temporary 
Accommodation Procurement and Placement Policy. 
 
Reasons for decision 
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council had a statutory 
responsibility to help relieve homelessness which included 
temporary accommodation provision and the current contract 
extension for temporary accommodation of this nature was due to 
expire on 31 October 2023. 

 
Alternative options considered 
The Council had a statutory duty to provide temporary 
accommodation under certain circumstances. As many households 
had presented in crisis, there was little opportunity to prevent the 
homeless situation from occurring and therefore was necessary to 
have access to accommodation at very short notice. In addition, 
approaches were received out of hours and therefore, there was a 
requirement to have access to temporary accommodation at all 
times. 
 
There was a drive to make best use of the Council’s own stock and 
repurpose assets as temporary accommodation, which would 
reduce the use and cost of B&B accommodation. 

  

Page 21



 
Resolved:- 

 
(1) that approval be given to appoint providers for the 

provision of Bed and Breakfast and temporary 
accommodation for homeless households as a result of 
the tender process; 
 

(2) that the Director of Housing be authorised to enter into 
the framework agreement for the provision of Bed and 
Breakfast and temporary accommodation for homeless 
households for a two-year period with an option to 
extend for an additional two-years with an annual gross 
spend of approximately £750,000 per annum. 

 
 

102/23   Moat Farm Infant School – Making Significant Changes 

(Prescribed Alternations) Consultation Outcome for Change of 

Age Range 

Approval was sought to publish the appropriate statutory proposals 
and make a determination in relation to the proposed prescribed 
alteration to change the age range of Moat Farm Infant School. 

 
Reasons for decision 
Lavender Farm Day Nursery (the nursery), Brookfields Road, 
Oldburywas a Children’s Centre, Nursery Plus site, and was 
currently run by the school’s governing body under its community 
powers. 
 
The school was due to convert to academy status in the Autumn 
term 2023 and join Stour Vale Academy Trust (the Trust). The Trust 
wished to continue running the nursery but did not have the same 
community powers, therefore the current proposal was to extend the 
age range of the school to include children that would attend the 
nursery. 
 
Alternative options considered 
The Council could have taken no action and have kept the age 
range at the existing range of 2-7 years, however, the school would 
not be able to convert to academy status and maintain the nursery. 
This option would result in the area losing a much-needed nursery 
provision with a Good Ofsted rating. Staff employed by the school 
would have to be made redundant. A new provider would have to 
be commissioned. 
 

Page 22



The school could have converted to academy status, but upon 
conversion, would relinquish the provision that is provided through 
Lavender Farm Day Nursery. The Authority would have had to  
seek to secure an alternative provider to retain provision for 0-2 
year olds in the area. 
 

Resolved:- 
 

(1) that in connection with the proposed prescribed 
alterations to change the age range of Moat Farm Infant 
School, Brookfields Road, Oldbury, B68 9QR (the 
school) from 2 – 7 years old to 0 – 7 years old, approval 
be given to: 
 
a. publication of the appropriate Statutory Proposal; 

 
b. subject to no objections being raised during the 

statutory representation period for the Statutory 
Proposal, Director of Children’s Services and 
Education be authorised to make a final decision on 
the proposal for the prescribed alterations at Moat 
Farm Infant School, in conjunction with the Director – 
Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer, and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children, 
Young People and Education; 

 
c. in the event that any objections are raised during the 

statutory representation period for the Statutory 
Proposal, that a report is submitted to the Cabinet 
Member for Children, Young People and Education 
with full details of representations received to inform 
a final decision on the proposal. 

 
 
103/23   Adoption of Sandwell Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 
 

Approval was sought to the Sandwell Borough of Sanctuary 
Strategy. 
 
The strategy had been developed between the Council and 
Sandwell’s local Borough of Sanctuary network. The network was 
made up of local organisations (particularly the voluntary and 
community sector and public sector organisations), council officers, 
residents and councillors who supported individuals and families 
arriving in the borough.   

Page 23



The development of the strategy was a required step in the 
application process to become a recognised Council of Sanctuary. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Built Environment delivered a 
presentation to Cabinet and outlined the vision for Sandwell that 
welcomed those fleeing persecution and violence in their own 
countries and protected the rights of all migrants, asylum seekers 
and refugees. 
 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and the Chair of the Economy, Skills, Transport and 
Environment Scrutiny Board endorsed the strategy and highlighted 
the importance of welcoming and integrating individuals and 
families who arrived in the Borough. 

 
Reasons for decision 
It was important for Sandwell to be a borough of sanctuary that 
welcomed those fleeing violence and persecution in their own 
countries and protected the rights of all migrants, asylum seekers 
and refugees. A ‘Borough of Sanctuary’ was a borough which 
provided a welcoming place of safety for people who were asylum 
seekers, refugees, and migrants. 

 
Alternative options considered 
The Council could decide not to be borough of sanctuary. 
 

Resolvedthat approval be given to the Sandwell Borough of 
Sanctuary Strategy. 

 
(Councillor E Giles joined the meeting during consideration of this item). 
 
 
104/23   Schools Capital Programme; Shenstone Lodge School, The 

Brades Lodge, City Road, Tividale, Oldbury – Proposed 

Expansion 

Approval was sought to allocate funds from the Department of 
Education’s (DfE) High Needs Provision Capital Allocation to the 
extension works at The Brades Lodge. 
 
Local authorities must ensure there were sufficient school places for 
all pupils including those with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND).  
There had been a significant rise in demand for specialist places in 
the Borough with over 3,000 children and young people with SEND 
requiring additional support through an Education, Health and Care 

Page 24



Plan (EHCP). Furthermore, predictions indicated that if the current 
population growth rate was sustained, approximately 3,500 children 
and young people would require an EHCP by 2025. 
 
A feasibility study and outline design had been produced and had 
identified that the Brades Lodge site could support an increase in 
capacity. The new accommodation would enable the school to 
provide between 60 -70 total pupil places dependent of the needs of 
the children from September 2024. The proposed works were 
scheduled for completion by August 2024. 
 
Reasons for decision 
There was a need to provide additional school places for children/ 
young people with SEND. The Brades Lodge had been identified as 
a school where additional capacity for SEMH or ASD places could 
be provided. 
 
The local authority was now required to proceed to RIBA 4 through 
to RIBA 7 to appoint a contractor to complete the build of the new 
teaching block. 
 
Alternative options considered 
If places at The Brades Lodge were not increased: Sandwell pupils 
would continue to attend schools outside of the Borough at an 
increased cost to the Council. 
 
Adaptation of the existing school had been considered 
to re-model and extend the existing buildings, however, this was 
cost prohibitive due to the extent of demolition and reformation that 
was required to provide a conducive teaching environment. 
 
Shenstone Lodge School was an Academy and the existing site was 
held by the Manor Hall Academy Trust who held a long leasehold in 
the land. The council did not have either an alternative site or the 
capital funding to provide a replacement school. An expansion of 
the existing school was better value for money. 

 
  

Page 25



Resolved:- 
 

(1) that approval be given to the allocation of £1,264,000 

from the Department of Education’s (DfE) High Needs 

Provision Capital Allocation to extension works to The 

Brades Lodge, Shenstone Lodge School, Lower City 

Road, Tividale, Oldbury, West Midlands B69 2HA as 

part of the Schools Capital Programme 2023-26; 

 

(2) that subject to Resolution (1) above, in accordance with 

the council’s Procurement and Contract Procedure 

Rules – July 2022, the Director of Children’s Services 

and Education be authorised to award a contract to 

Seddon Construction Limited to deliver the construction 

works, following a compliant procurement exercise, in 

conjunction with the Section 151 Officer, and in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children, 

Young People and Education; 

 

(3) that subject to Resolution (1) and (2) above, the Director 

of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer be 

authorised to enter into any legal agreements on terms 

agreed by the Director of Children’s Services and 

Education as required, to complete the extension works 

at the school; 

 

(4) that, in connection with Resolution (1) and (2) above, 

the following actions identified within the appraisal report 

be implemented to avoid exposure to significant risks in 

achieving objectives: 

 

a. that cost estimates are reviewed for reasonableness 

and to ensure that additional costs could be managed 

within the allocated funding; 

 

b. that the project plan is reviewed to ensure that 

delivery can be achieved within agreed timescales 

and will not result in additional costs in providing 

alternative school accommodation; 

 

c. that the corporate risk register is reviewed to ensure 

that all risks are appropriately identified and 

assessed, with adequate mitigation; 

Page 26



 

d. that the post project evaluation includes specific 

outcomes, along with benchmarking of final costs to 

assess value for money. 

 
 
105/23  Contract for the provision of temporary agency workers to the 

Council 

Approval was sought to access a collaborative framework 
agreement via Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation Agreement 
Managing Temporary and Permanent Recruitment to allow the 
Council to access recruitment solutions to fill vacant roles. 
 
Temporary workers were used for a variety of reasons across the 
council and were an essential resourcing tool to ensure effective 
service delivery.  

 
Reasons for decision 
The contract which was in place, through Birmingham City Council’s 
Managed Service Framework for the Provision of Temporary 
Workers, would expire on 30 September 2023. Birmingham City 
Council had very recently announced new arrangements. As there 
was no access to renewal under this contract, it was imperative that 
the council established suitable arrangements from 1 October 2023 
to continue to resource ongoing requirements for temporary 
workers, which were essential to enable the Council to deliver 
services. It was possible for Sandwell Council to enter a new 
contract with Hays Specialist Recruitment Ltd under the Yorkshire 
Purchasing Organisation Framework. 
 
Alternative options considered 
The work would be carried out in-house, however, there was a lack 
of sector expertise to manage the function as a Managed Service 
Provider (this would have involved managing large number of 
individual agencies and staff members). Due to the timescales in 
place, it was too costly for the Council to run an internal managed 
service provider type service. There was a lack of commercial skills 
and resources available. 
 

  

Page 27



Tender for a Council only contract – This was discussed with 
Procurement and discounted due to limited time to conduct a full 
procurement process and availability of the YPO framework which 
offered a quicker, cheaper and compliant route to market and was 
predicted to deliver the same outcomes as the current contract with 
Hays whilst giving the Council time to address the options available 
for the longer-term procurement of the provision of temporary 
agency workers. 
 
Use of a collaborative framework agreement – YPO Framework 
Agreement Managing Temporary Recruitment – ref. 942 (Lot 1 – 
Temporary Recruitment) for one year with an option to extend for a 
further year. However, the pricing structure and fee was predicted to 
increase significantly, for this reason this option was discounted. 
 

Resolved:- 
 

(1) that the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) 
Framework Agreement for the Managed Service 
Framework for the Provision of Temporary Workers 
delivered by Hays Specialist Recruitment Ltd is called 
off as a direct award to meet our temporary worker 
demand for a year with 3 x 12-month extension options 
(1+1+1+1) at the council’s own discretion, pending new 
longer-term agency procurement partnership 
arrangements, for the provision of temporary workers; 

 
(2) that whilst the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation 

Framework Agreement and contract is implemented, 
Sandwell Council continue to operate under existing 
terms and conditions via Birmingham City Council’s 
framework until such time the new agreement under the 
Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation Framework 
Managing Temporary and Permanent Recruitment- ref 
942 (Lot 12 Total Talent Management) are agreed; 
 

(3) that the Assistant Director of HR be authorised to sign 
any framework call off documents or Access 
agreements that are required; 

 

(4) that the Assistant Director of HR submit a further report 
to Cabinet on options available for the longer-term 
procurement of the provision of temporary agency 
workers and permanent recruitment; 
 

Page 28



(5) that any necessary exemptions be made to the Contract 
Procedure Rules to enable the actions set out at 
Resolution (1) and (2) above to proceed. 

 
 
106/23   Information Governance – Records Retention 

Approval of the Council’s Corporate Retention Schedule was 
sought.  
 
The review of the Corporate Retention Schedule was conducted on 
an annual basis and had been completed by each Directorate, 
through their Information Governance Board representatives, and 
final sign off had been provided by the Council’s Information 
Governance Board (IGB), Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 
and the Data Protection Officer (DPO). 
 
Reasons for decision 
The Council had a legal obligation in relation to the collection, use 
and retention of information relating to individuals. The purpose of 
the Corporate Retention Schedule was to help ensure that the 
Council managed the data that it held appropriately and in 
accordance with the legislative framework as principally set out in 
the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UKGDPR) and the 
Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018). 
 
The Corporate Retention Schedule ensured the Council met the 
requirements of its Information Governance Framework which 
required that the Council maintains an up to date retention schedule 
accessible to employees, elected members and anyone working for 
and on behalf of SMBC. 
 
Alternative options considered 
That the Council relied on the Information Asset Registers to record 
its retention schedules. However, these were not as robust or 
detailed as a specific Corporate Retention Schedule which clearly 
outlined the retention requirements for all the personal data held by 
the Council in one place. Using Information Asset Registers to 
manage the Councils retention schedule required the interrogation 
of several hundred documents for Officers to identify the correct 
retention periods. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Resolved:- 
 

(1) that approval be given to the Council’s Corporate 

Retention Schedule as now submitted; 

 

(2) that the Director Law and Governance and SIRO, in 

consultation with the Leader, be authorised to undertake 

requisite steps to ensure the Council complies with the 

approved Corporate Retention Policy; 

 

(3) that the Director Law and Governance and SIRO, in 

consultation with the Leader, be authorised to amend 

the Corporate Retention Policy to comply with changes 

in good practice and legislation as and when required. 

 
 
107/23   Professional Services Partnership 4 

Approval was sought for the Council to continue with its 
membership of the Midland Highways Alliance Professional 
Services Partnership Framework (PSP 4). 
 
Midlands Highway Alliance Plus (MHA+) was formed from the 
merger of three regional efficiencies groups, the Midlands Highway 
Alliance, the Midlands Service Improvement Group and the West 
Midlands Highway Alliance. The new MHA+ Alliance had a 
membership of 35 highways authorities from across the Midlands 
and the wider region. 
 
The purpose of the Professional Services Partnership Framework 
(PSP4) was to ensure members had efficient access to consultancy 
services and offered good value for money through economies of 
scale. 
 
The ability to use a ‘ready-made’ consultancy service framework 
contributed to Sandwell’s Corporate Plan objectives by providing 
the Council with direct access to specialist expertise, seconded staff 
when required and web-enabled collaboration tools with the 
associated governance processes. 
 
Reasons for decision 
Membership of the Midland Highway Alliance Plus provided 
Sandwell Council the opportunity to share best practice, benchmark 
and improve performance and deliver efficiency savings through 
working collaboratively together with other members. 

Page 30



 
Alternative options considered 
The alternative proposals set out a cycle of hiring specialists on 
temporary contracts and then terminating employment on 
completion of projects and programmes. There was no guarantee of 
continuity of involvement of the specialist staff working on partly 
completed projects if the membership of the PSP 4 framework was 
not continued. 
 
For these reasons, discontinuing with membership of the MHA + 
PSP framework was not recommended. 

 
Resolved that approval be given for Sandwell Council to 
continue with membership of the Midland Highways Alliance 
Professional Services Partnership Framework (PSP 4). 

 
 
108/23   Improvement Plan Quarterly Performance 

Cabinet received the progress update related to the improvement 
plan up to 3 August 2023. 
 
To ensure that senior officers and members had oversight of 
delivery against the Improvement Plan, Council had approved that 
progress would be monitored by Leadership Team monthly and 
reported to Cabinet quarterly. This was proposed to continue until 
all actions had been completed, or the changes had been 
embedded into normal working practices. This report was the fifth 
update to Cabinet on the progress of the Improvement Plan. 
 
The Improvement Plan Quarterly Performance report was due to be 
referred to the Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 
and the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee for consideration and 
comment. 
 
Reasons for decision 
The report provided a quarterly update on progress against the 
Improvement Plan which was agreed by Council on 7 June 2022. 
The Improvement Plan incorporated all recommendations from the 
original Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review, the 
LGA Corporate Peer Challenge and the CIPFA Financial 
Management Review, as well as the Statutory Directions from the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
 
Under the Statutory Directions, the council was required to report 
progress against the Improvement Plan to the Department of 

Page 31



Levelling Up, Housing and Communities every six months. Reports 
had been submitted in December 2022 and June 2023, the next 
report was due in December 2023. 
 
Alternative options considered 
The Directions issued by the Secretary of State were a statutory 
requirement and the council had a legal obligation to respond 
appropriately. Failure to do so would likely result in further 
intervention measures. 
 
Alternative methods of monitoring progress could be adopted. The 
current monitoring method was regularly reviewed to ensure it 
remained fit for purpose and provided Leadership Team with the 
oversight they required. 
 

Resolved:- 
 

(1) that the progress against the Improvement Plan up to 3 

August 2023 be received; 

 

(2) that the Improvement Plan Risk Register be received; 

 

(3) that changes to the Improvement Plan be received; 

 

(4) that it be noted that Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 

Management Board and Audit and Risk Assurance 

Committee will consider the Improvement Plan Progress 

report on 14 and 21 September 2023 respectively, and 

that any recommendations or comments made in 

relation to the Improvement Plan progress will be 

reported to a future meeting of the Cabinet. 

 
109/23  Recommendations of the Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 

Management Board in response to Sickness Outturn 2022/ 23 
 
 This item had been withdrawn 

 

110/23   Contract award for the provision of Digital Autopsy services on 

behalf of the Black Country Coroner 

Approval was sought to award a contract for the provision of Digital 
Autopsy services on behalf of the Black Country Coroner to 
Advanced Visualisation Technologies Ltd. 
 

Page 32



In order for the Coroner to ascertain the cause of sudden or 
unexplained deaths it was often necessary for post-mortem 
examinations to be undertaken. By awarding this contract, Sandwell 
Council as ‘the relevant authority’ for the coroner’s service, would 
have supported the coroner in the discharge of their judicial 
responsibilities. 

 
Reasons for decision 
In accordance with the purposes of the Coroners and Justice Act 
2009, Sandwell acted as “the relevant authority” for coronial 
services in the Black Country. It was therefore incumbent for 
Sandwell to provide the necessary resources to enable the Coroner 
to discharge his or her judicial responsibilities which included the 
provision of post-mortem type services. 
 
Alternative options considered 
The Council in consultation with the coroner and its residents could 
have reverted to the more traditional approach to post-mortem 
investigations and no longer provide Digital Autopsy to support the 
coroner in the discharge of their judicial responsibilities. If this 
option was selected Council’s reputation may be adversely 
impacted, particularly with community groups whose cultural 
preference is for a minimally invasive approach. 
 

Resolved:- 

 
(1) that approval be given to the Director of Law and 

Governance and Monitoring Officer to award a contract 
for the provision of Digital Autopsy services on behalf of 
the Black Country Coroner commencing 1 October 2023 
for a 5-year period to Advanced Visualisation  
Technologies Ltd, 30 Watery Street, Sheffield, England, 
S3 7ES; 

 
(2) that the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer be authorised to execute any documentation 

necessary to enable the action set out at (1) above to 

proceed. 

 
Meeting ended at 4.11pm 

 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

Page 33

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

 
Subject: Approval of contract extensions and 

commencement of procurement – Housing repair 
and maintenance services 
 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Housing and Built 
Environment,  
Councillor Laura Rollins 

Director: Interim Director of Housing, 
Dean Epton 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Contact Officer: Interim Head of Contract Procurement, Chris Hall 
Chris_hall@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Mike Jones, Assistant Director for Legal and 
Assurance 
Mike_Jones1@sandwell.gov.uk  
 

 
1 Recommendations 
 

For the reasons set out in this report and its appendices and to ensure 
the continued delivery of Council services, it is recommended that– 
 

1.1 Approval be given to extend the following contracts on the terms set out 
in Appendix 1 relating to: 
1.1.1 Domestic Electrical Components. 
1.1.2 Electrical repairs and maintenance. 
1.1.3 Timber supplies for council-owned housing stock.  
1.1.4 Pitched and felt roof repairs to council owned properties. 
1.1.5 Hand tools, Ladders and Steps, Power Tools, Fixings, Drills and 

Consumables. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Chris_hall@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Mike_Jones1@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
1.2 Approval be given to -  

1.2.1 Commence procurement for timber supplies for council owned 
properties, 3 years (2+1), total contract value up to £1.5m over 3 
years 

1.2.2 Amend the previous decision of Cabinet (January 2023) relating 
to the procurement of electrical services (repairs and 
maintenance) by revising both the approved term and limit from 
£3.6m over 4 years to £6m over 3 years (2+1) in line with the 
commentary in Appendix 1A and authority be granted to 
commence procurement. 

1.2.3 Amend the previous decision of Cabinet (January 2023) relating 
to the procurement of building supplies to council owned 
properties by increasing the previously approved limit of £1.6m to 
£1.8m and Contract Award to commence from 1st December 
2023. 

 
1.3 Delegated authority be given to the Interim Head of Contract 

Procurement to make minor amendments and changes to the extensions 
and / or processes described in this report in order to give effect to the 
decisions at (1.1) and (1.2) above, in consultation with the Interim 
Director of Housing, Director of Finance and the Director of Law & 
Governance.  
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 This report sets out proposals to extend several contracts with external 

providers for the provision and supply of goods and services to meet the 
Council’s statutory duties and continue delivery of essential services 
relating to housing.  
 

2.2 This report follows a corporate review of all contracts and procurements 
to ensure there is compliance in all directorates as part of the 
improvement journey to delivery best value across the authority. 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 
 

 

People Live Well and Age Well 
 

Page 36



 

 

Strong Resilient Communities 
 

 

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 
The provision of housing refurbishment, repairs, and 
maintenance works are key services for the housing 
department and Council as a whole. The services impact 
directly on the lives and wellbeing of residents living in over 
26,000 Council owned properties. The services will also help 
to deliver key Council priorities to reduce carbon emissions, 
meet obligations relating to decent homes standards and 
ensure continued compliance with a range of essential 
landlord functions. 
 

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 
 

 

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell  
 

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Like all local authorities, the Council uses external providers to deliver a 

wide range of its services and meet its statutory duties to residents and 
service users. Providers range from global businesses to small and local 
specialist suppliers. 

  
4.2 In each case, the Council must procure services in accordance with its 

own Contract Standing Orders, which set out the Council’s own 
procurement rules to ensure it acts fairly and obtains best value when 
spending public money. Contracts which have a contract value in excess 
of the statutory financial thresholds for works or services/supplies must 
also be procured in compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR2015). 

  

Page 37



 

 
4.3 The Council has an overriding duty to achieve best value in the 

procurement of goods, services and works. This, at minimum is achieved 
by undertaking a fully planned procurement process, which would 
usually take 12/18 months including but not limited to assessing demand 
/ need for the services, market analysis and soft market testing, financial 
analysis and the planned design of the most suitable specification and 
criteria that would respond to Council’s needs and ensure value for 
money.  
 

4.4 To deliver best value, a successful procurement should be followed by 
effective performance management of the contractor once in place, 
based on a robust contractual framework. In turn, performance 
management should inform Council decisions on whether or not a 
contract should be extended, if the contract allows for this. 
 

4.5 In addition, this is a challenging time for social housing and particularly 
for repairs and asset management. Landlords are subject to increased 
levels of scrutiny through the new Housing Regulator and Ombudsman. 
The Council also needs to ensure continuity of service provision to meet 
the emerging requirements of the Fire Safety Act 2021 and Building 
Safety Act 2022. These challenges are compounded by ongoing 
uncertainty within the construction market driven by strong cost inflation 
due to shortages of labour and/or materials. 

 
4.6 This report has been submitted to Cabinet because a review of 

procurement and contractual frameworks has identified that the Council 
has not implemented a planned procurement process to evaluate 
options, total contract value or alternative forms of contract and, in some 
cases, has continued to purchase goods and services following the 
expiry of existing contracts. The risks this has created are outlined 
below. The decisions in this report seek to take immediate steps to 
rectify these failings by providing for:  

 
4.6.1 Short term extensions to contracts as outlined in Appendix 1; and 
  
4.6.2 The commencement of full procurement processes where 

required to ensure full compliance and the delivery of best value 
in our contracts, which will deliver improved services to Sandwell 
and its residents.  

 

Page 38



 

4.7 The Council will rectify all urgent contract extensions, awards, variations, 
and commencement of procurements between now and the end of 
November. This will include reviewing the procurement pipeline, the 
current contract register up to April 2024 and how that is managed and 
to ensure a robust and functional corporate system of procurement is in 
place, including a 100% accurate corporate contract register, with clear 
roles and responsibilities and forward planning by April 2024. This will be 
informed by the current procurement review which is ongoing. 
 

4.8 Further strengthening of controls and governance are to be implemented 
with options appraisals embedded into the procurement process, 
contract value reporting, work in progress (WIP) calculations to manage 
committed spend and a full review of risks and issues on a monthly basis 
to further inform future procurement planning. 

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Council must take action to regularise the contractual position of the 

services currently being operated without formal contract or where 
existing contracts have expired and goods/services continue to be 
procured. The following options have been considered 

 
5.1.1 Option 1: Do Nothing.  This is non-compliant as existing 

contracts have either expired or agreed procurement limits are 
about to be exceeded or are already exceeded. Without suitable 
arrangements, the Council is unable to fulfil its landlord 
obligations and maintain its housing assets. This option is not 
available to provide the services over the medium and long term 
and does not address continued service provision until further 
procurement activity is undertaken. 

 
5.1.2 Option 2: Re-procurement of the services and works. The 

Council could choose to undertake a procurement exercise 
without an extension to the contracts. This would mitigate some 
risks of non-compliance going forward but is not recommended as 
it will mean the cessation of services to residents and service 
users and places the Council at risk of not meeting its statutory 
duties. Furthermore, cessation of services to enable an immediate 
procurement exercise would likely result in significant delay until 
new suppliers/service providers were appointed.  

 

Page 39



 

5.1.3 Option 3: Extension of existing contracts and 
commencement of re-procurement activity. The preferred 
option is to extend existing contractual arrangements for a defined 
period and within defined financial limits based on realistic 
projections of expenditure during the extension period. It is further 
recommended that the Council take the opportunity presented 
through re-procurement activities to review those elements of 
goods/service provision where improvements could be made. 
This may include the approach to commissioning by examining 
opportunities to aggregate contracts to drive improved value for 
money or through accessing established, compliant purchasing 
frameworks.  

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: The Council has a statutory duty to ensure it achieves 

best value, and that includes ensuring procurement of 
services is undertaken in a way that is effective in 
delivering desired outcomes, including those relating 
to social value, whilst ensuring value for money is 
achieved. 
 
The approach recommended for each extension will 
need to ensure those tests are met. Contracts 
approaching an optional extension period are an ideal 
opportunity to examine costs with existing suppliers to 
see what cost efficiencies can be made.  
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Council has power to enter into contracts under 
its powers of general competence under s.1 of the 
Localism Act 2011 and none of the limitations to this 
power apply to this decision. The contracts discharge 
a range of statutory functions imposed or contractual 
obligations on the Council and the Council may be at 
risk of legal action if it stops the delivery of those 
services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

Local authorities have numerous statutory duties as a 
residential landlord including requirements to 
undertake consultation under s.20 of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1985 and Service Charges (Consultation 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2003 and must 
design the procurement process accordingly. 
 
Procurement of works and services through a 
competitive process, compliant with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR2015) must meet 
the advertising requirements such as publication of a 
Contract Notice. PCR2015 applies to all the Council’s 
contracts for services valued above £213,477 and 
where the object of the procurement is predominantly 
construction above £5,336,937 (figures inclusive of 
VAT). An appropriate procedure as set down in 
PCR2015 needs to be selected. Compliance with 
PCR2015 will result in a lawful procurement strategy 
and shall meet the requirements of the Councils’ 
Contract and Financial Regulations. 
 

Risk: Beyond the headline complexity of this task there are 
also a range of sector specific challenges which the 
Council will need to consider as it takes the re-
procurement forward with increasing building cost 
inflation being the primary concern. Contractors’ 
supply chains, capacity, and the ability to attract 
appropriately experienced and qualified people are all 
challenging and present issues at a time when 
Council HRA and General Fund Budgets are also 
under pressure. 
 
The Council will need to ensure that client-side and 
procurement functions can manage the services and 
works the Council procures. The Council will need to 
manage its internal capacity to deliver and ensure that 
any new mobilised efficiently and that expenditure 
made under new contracts is undertaken wholly in 
accordance with contract and financial regulations, 
and only within authorised limits supported by regular 
ongoing monitoring.  
 

Page 41



 

Any new contractual arrangements will also need to 
support the delivery of our Asset Management 
System and Strategy. This relies on an intelligent data 
driven approach to decision making and ultimately the 
delivery of our services. 
 

Equality: An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out 
as part of the commissioning review. This will be 
reflected within the final strategy report underpinning  
future service delivery arrangement and re-
procurement of services. 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

Housing standards play a significant role in our 
residents’ health and safety and well-being. There will 
be requirements within the procurement covering 
policies and procedures contractors will operate to 
discharge their health and safety duties, including 
subcontractors if relevant, and to demonstrate how 
they will eliminate hazards and control risks, 
explaining the roles and responsibilities of the person 
responsible for managing health and safety, including 
procedures for monitoring. 
 
Health and safety, compliance and keeping our 
residents secure will form key aspects of service 
delivery. The Council will need to have regard to 
current and upcoming regulations and legislation 
including the Fire Safety Act 2021 and the Building 
Safety Act 2022. 
 

Social Value: Each contract that is procured includes a Social Value 
Action Plan.  Specific targets related to the contract 
are agreed to drive economic benefit, improved 
employment opportunities and align to the Council’s 
Corporate Parenting strategy. 
 
Social Value Action Plans are monitored through the 
contract term to ensure outcomes are achieved. 
 

  

Page 42



 

Climate 
Change: 

There is significant opportunity through the redesign 
of the requirements for these services to support the 
delivery of the Council’s ambitious targets for carbon 
reduction. 
 
The Council’s Climate Action Plan sets a target that 
all its operations are carbon neutral by 2030 and to be 
a carbon neutral Borough by 2041. Specifically, this 
includes energy use in communal areas. This will 
mean that any future contractor will need to ensure 
that the outcomes of the proposed delivery of contract 
conforms and contributes to meeting this target. 
 
The sustainability principles around energy efficiency 
will be embedded within the Contract Specification, 
bringing broader benefits to residents around energy 
costs and healthy living. 
 
There is further opportunity to review how carbon 
reductions can be achieved through the contractors 
fleet and staff travel, opportunity for waste reduction, 
reuse and repair of materials, potential opportunities 
to support biodiversity enhancement and broader 
alignment with behavioural change programmes and 
other energy efficiency measures offered through 
other schemes. 
 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

Linked into our Social Value Action Plans, Corporate 
Parenting can play a key role in ensuring 
disadvantaged young people are given the 
opportunity for a better start in life and support them 
through their transition into independent living. 
 
An opportunity exists through this re-procurement 
exercise for Corporate Parenting will be included into 
future procurement activity, ensuring that outcomes 
are agreed, monitored, and delivered, improving the 
lives of people across our Borough. 
 
 

 

Page 43



 

7. Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Table and individual appendices of contracts for extension 
and re-procurement 

 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
 None.  
 

Page 44



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
 

Appendix Contract name Original 
start date 

Expiry date Current 
extension  

(if applicable) 

Proposed 
extension 

Extension 
value 

1A Domestic Electrical 
Components 01/09/2019 30/04/2023 N/A 31/11/2023 £3,117,000 

1B Electrical Repairs & 
Maintenance 01/11/2019 31/10/2023 N/A 29/02/2024 £6,500,000 

1C Timber supplies to 
council owned 
properties 

01/07/2019 31/12/2023 N/A 29/02/2024 £1,700,000 

1D Pitched and felt roof 
repairs to council 
owned properties 
 

01/10/2021 30/09/2024 N/A N/A £3,600,000 

1E Hand tools, Ladders 
and Steps, Power 
Tools, Fixings, Drills 
and Consumables 

01/08/2021 31/07/2025 N/A N/A £1,600,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 45



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
 

Appendix 1A –  
Contract – Domestic Electrical Components 
 
Current Supplier: Collins Electrical Wholesale Limited 
Contract Value: £1,600,000 
Contract Duration: 4 Years 
Proposed Extension: 30/04/2023 – 30/11/2023 – 7 months 
Estimated maximum 
value of extension: 

 
£3,117,000.00 
 

Description and 
reason for extension: 

 
The contract end date was missed initially due to long term staff 
absences and procurement commenced 14th April 2023 with tender 
returns due 26th May 2023.   
 
Tender returns were received from five suppliers, however, the 
pricing returns were not consistent and not suitable for evaluation. 
 
The pricing documents were re-issued with guidance to the suppliers 
and compliant returns were received on 3rd August 2023.  Evaluation 
has taken place and the contract is ready to award. 
 
The request for extension is based on carrying out a compliant 
procurement process and ensuring we have the necessary approvals 
in place to cover the overspend against the previous total contract 
value.  Time is allowed for standstill and issuing the contract notice 
prior to go live of the contract. 
 

Alternative options 
and best value: 

 
The summary report contains the options that have been considered 
in general to support the re-procurement activity. 
 
This contract is categorised as essential spend to continue delivering 
repairs and maintenance services to our council owned properties. 
 
This contract has been procured and we require approvals to cover 
the extension of term and the increased spend under the contract. 
 

Risk and mitigation:  
Consultation with the Interim Head of Corporate Procurement has 
been undertaken and the following advice is given. 
 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 Regulation 32(1) and (9) in 
conjunction with Regulation 26 (1) and (2), states that in the specific 
cases and circumstances laid down in this regulation, contracting 
authorities may award public contracts by a negotiated procedure 
without prior publication.  The negotiated procedure without prior 
publication may be used for new works and services consisting of the 
repetition of similar works or services entrusted to the economic 

Page 46



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 

operator to which the same contracting authority awarded an 
original contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original contract was 
awarded following a procedure in accordance with regulation 26(1) 
and (2). This ensures compliance with PCR2015. 
 
 
 

Social value: Social Value questions and Action Plans will be integrated into the 
quality questions and scoring mechanisms, driving outcomes in our 
four key areas of Social Value: 

• Employment and Skills 
• Schools and Colleges 
• Environmental Impact 
• Economic Benefit 

 
While this contract may not be suitable for driving outcomes for 
Corporate Parenting, commitments will be expected from the 
chosen supplier(s) to engage in briefings and understand Sandwell 
MBC strategic aim for Corporate Parenting. 
 
 

 

  

Page 47



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
 

Appendix 1B –  
Contract – Electrical Services (Repairs and Maintenance) 
 
Current Supplier: Newey Electrical Limited 

C&S Electrical Limited 
Contract Value: £3,600,000 
Contract Duration: 4 Years 
Proposed Extension: 31/10/2023 to 29/02/2024 – 4 months 

 
Estimated maximum 
value of extension: 

 
£6,500,000 
 

Description and 
reason for extension: 

 
The contract end date is 31st October 2023 and has been delayed 
due to availability of resources to review and update technical 
specifications to enable procurement to commence. 
 
The overspend against the original total contract value is due to 
legislative changes during the contract term, reducing statutory 
testing from 10 years down to 5 years, bringing more properties into 
scope for testing and inspection regime.  This triggered an increase 
in remedial works to maintain compliance. 
 
Actual spend to 30/09/2023 is £5,300,483 with work in progress 
(WIP) totalling £612,391 to 31/01/2024, bringing a forecasted spend 
of £5,912,874, excluding emergency / reactive repair works 
delivered under the contract. 
 
Market engagement has been undertaken through a PCR2015 
compliant framework with five contractors returning expressions of 
interest.  Procurement will commence with a mini competition 
through the framework, reducing our time to market and ensuring a 
compliant route to market. 
 
The request for extension is based on carrying out a compliant 
procurement process and ensuring we have the necessary approvals 
in place to cover the overspend against the previous total contract 
value. 
 
 

Alternative options 
and best value: 

 
The summary report contains the options that have been considered 
in general to support the re-procurement activity. 
 
This contract is categorised as essential spend to continue delivering 
repairs and maintenance services to our council owned properties. 
 

Page 48



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 

Market engagement has been undertaken already and appointment 
of a supplier will be through a PCR2015 compliant framework and 
conducting a mini competition. 
 
 

Risk and mitigation:  
Consultation with the Interim Head of Corporate Procurement has 
been undertaken and the following advice is given. 
 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 Regulation 32(1) and (9) in 
conjunction with Regulation 26 (1) and (2), states that in the specific 
cases and circumstances laid down in this regulation, contracting 
authorities may award public contracts by a negotiated procedure 
without prior publication.  The negotiated procedure without prior 
publication may be used for new works and services consisting of the 
repetition of similar works or services entrusted to the economic 
operator to which the same contracting authority awarded an 
original contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original contract was 
awarded following a procedure in accordance with regulation 26(1) 
and (2). This ensures compliance with PCR2015 
 
 

Social value: Social Value questions and Action Plans will be integrated into the 
quality questions and scoring mechanisms, driving outcomes in our 
four key areas of Social Value: 

• Employment and Skills 
• Schools and Colleges 
• Environmental Impact 
• Economic Benefit 

 
While this contract may not be suitable for driving outcomes for 
Corporate Parenting, commitments will be expected from the 
chosen supplier(s) to engage in briefings and understand Sandwell 
MBC strategic aim for Corporate Parenting. 
 

 

  

Page 49



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
Appendix 1C –  
Contract – Timber supplies to council owned properties 
 
Current Supplier: Arnold Laver (Timber World) Ltd 

BGN Boards Ltd 
Grafton Merchanting Ltd 
 

Contract Value: £440,000 
Contract Duration: 4 Years 
Proposed Extension: 31/12/2023 to 29/02/2024 – 2 months 

 
Estimated maximum 
value of extension: 

 
£1,700,000 
 

Description and 
reason for extension: 

 
The contract end date is 31st December 2023 and has been delayed 
due to availability of pre-contract procurement resource.  This has 
now been resolved. All pre-contract documentation is being 
prepared with the target date for releasing the tender being 6th 
November 2023.  This will mean tender returns are received pre-
Christmas with evaluation taking place early January. 
 
The overspend against the total contract value is due to lack of 
financial monitoring over a period of time and PCR2015 was 
breached in April 2021. 
 
The request for extension is based on carrying out a compliant 
procurement process and ensuring we have the necessary approvals 
in place to cover the overspend against the previous total contract 
value. 
 
 

Alternative options 
and best value: 

 
The summary report contains the options that have been considered 
in general to support the re-procurement activity. 
 
This contract is categorised as essential spend to continue delivering 
repairs and maintenance services to our council owned properties. 
 
 

Risk and mitigation:  
Consultation with the Interim Head of Corporate Procurement has 
been undertaken and the following advice is given. 
 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 Regulation 32(1) and (9) in 
conjunction with Regulation 26 (1) and (2), states that in the specific 
cases and circumstances laid down in this regulation, contracting 
authorities may award public contracts by a negotiated procedure 
without prior publication.  The negotiated procedure without prior 
publication may be used for new works and services consisting of the 
repetition of similar works or services entrusted to the economic 

Page 50



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 

operator to which the same contracting authority awarded an 
original contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original contract was 
awarded following a procedure in accordance with regulation 26(1) 
and (2). This ensures compliance with PCR2015 
 
 

Social value: Social Value questions and Action Plans will be integrated into the 
quality questions and scoring mechanisms, driving outcomes in our 
four key areas of Social Value: 

• Employment and Skills 
• Schools and Colleges 
• Environmental Impact 
• Economic Benefit 

 
While this contract may not be suitable for driving outcomes for 
Corporate Parenting, commitments will be expected from the 
chosen supplier(s) to engage in briefings and understand Sandwell 
MBC strategic aim for Corporate Parenting. 
 

 

  

Page 51



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
 

Appendix 1D –  
Contract – Pitched and felt roof repairs to council owned properties 
 
Current Supplier: Hardyman Group Limited 

IJS Roofing 
 

Contract Value: £2,247,000 
Contract Duration: 3 Years 
Proposed Extension: Existing term 01/10/2021 to 30/09/2024 – No extension of term 

requested. 
 

Estimated maximum 
value of extension: 

 
£3,600,000 
 

Description and 
reason for extension: 

 
The contract delivers pitched, felt and sheet roofing repairs to 
council owned housing stock.  The end date for the contract is 30th 
September 2024 and no extension to the term is being requested. 
 
The overspend against the total contract value is due to lack of 
financial monitoring over a period of time and PCR2015 has been 
breached in September 2023, with actual spend as of 30/09/23 
reaching £2,403,000. 
 
There are known projects to be delivered totalling £167,000, and the 
run rate of the contract is expected to be £3.6m to 30/09/2024. 
 
Monthly spend and work in progress reporting has been 
implemented and will be monitored by the Commercial team and 
reviewed by Housing Management and HRA Finance in the Finance 
and Procurement meetings. 
 
The request for extension to the total contract value is to ensure 
compliance against PCR2015. 
 
 

Alternative options 
and best value: 

 
The summary report contains the options that have been considered 
in general to support the re-procurement activity. 
 
This contract is categorised as essential spend to continue delivering 
repairs and maintenance services to our council owned properties. 
 
 

Risk and mitigation:  
Consultation with the Interim Head of Corporate Procurement has 
been undertaken and the following advice is given. 
 

Page 52



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 

Public Contract Regulations 2015 Regulation 32(1) and (9) in 
conjunction with Regulation 26 (1) and (2), states that in the specific 
cases and circumstances laid down in this regulation, contracting 
authorities may award public contracts by a negotiated procedure 
without prior publication.  The negotiated procedure without prior 
publication may be used for new works and services consisting of the 
repetition of similar works or services entrusted to the economic 
operator to which the same contracting authority awarded an 
original contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original contract was 
awarded following a procedure in accordance with regulation 26(1) 
and (2). This ensures compliance with PCR2015 
 
 

Social value: Social Value Action Plans are already featured in this contract and 
monitored through the contract review meetings. 
 

 

 

  

Page 53



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
 

Appendix 1E –  
Contract – Hand tools, Ladders and Steps, Power Tools, Fixings, Drills and Consumables 
 
Current Supplier: Jays Sourcing Group 

Corroy Limited 
 

Contract Value: £330,362 
Contract Duration: 4 Years 
Proposed Extension: Existing term 01/08/2021 to 31/07/2025 – No extension of term 

requested. 
 

Estimated maximum 
value of extension: 

 
£1,600,000 
 

Description and 
reason for extension: 

 
The contract is a stores contract and delivers a range of hand and 
power tools along with consumables to enable our DLO to carry out 
works on council owned properties.  The end date for the contract is 
31st July 2025 and no extension to the term is being requested. 
 
The overspend against the total contract value is due to lack of 
financial monitoring over a period of time and PCR2015 has been 
breached in September 2022, with actual spend at 30/09/23 
reaching £678,170. 
 
As this is a supply only contract and is dependent on volume of 
works and a just in time supply chain arrangement, the current run 
rate is used to forecast expenditure through to the end date. 
 
Run rates have been calculated and the forecasted out-turn at 
31/07/2025 is £1,600,000. 
 
Monthly spend reporting has been implemented and will be 
monitored by the Commercial team and reviewed by Housing 
Management and HRA Finance in the Finance and Procurement 
meetings. 
 
The request for extension to the total contract value is to ensure 
compliance against PCR2015. 
 
 

Alternative options 
and best value: 

 
The summary report contains the options that have been considered 
in general to support the re-procurement activity. 
 
This contract is categorised as essential spend to continue delivering 
repairs and maintenance services to our council owned properties. 
 
 

Page 54



Appendix 1 
Table and individual appendices – Contracts for Extension & Re-procurement 
Risk and mitigation:  

Consultation with the Interim Head of Corporate Procurement has 
been undertaken and the following advice is given. 
 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 Regulation 32(1) and (9) in 
conjunction with Regulation 26 (1) and (2), states that in the specific 
cases and circumstances laid down in this regulation, contracting 
authorities may award public contracts by a negotiated procedure 
without prior publication.  The negotiated procedure without prior 
publication may be used for new works and services consisting of the 
repetition of similar works or services entrusted to the economic 
operator to which the same contracting authority awarded an 
original contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original contract was 
awarded following a procedure in accordance with regulation 26(1) 
and (2). This ensures compliance with PCR2015 
 

Social value: Social Value Action Plans are already featured in this contract and 
monitored through the contract review meetings. 
 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

 

Subject: Oracle Fusion ERP System Implementation 
Support Partner - SOCITM 

Cabinet Member: Finance and Resources 
Cllr Bob Piper 

Director: Director of Finance 
Brendan Arnold 

Key Decision: Yes 
Expenditure above £1m 

Contact Officer: Brendan Arnold 
Director of Finance 
brendan_arnold@sandwell.gov.uk 

 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 For the reasons set out in the report it is recommended that approval be 

given to extend the SOCITM Implementation Support taking the 
aggregate spend above the Key Decision Threshold (£1million+) and 
authority be delegated to  award the contract to the Director of Finance, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources up 
to a cumulative value as detailed in this report; and  
 

1.2 The Director of Finance be authorised to undertake all steps and actions 
necessary to implement the Oracle Fusion Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) system. 

 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 The implementation of Oracle Fusion is a key corporate project and will 

fundamentally change the way the Council’s Finance, Procurement, HR 
and Payroll services operate. 

 

 

Page 57



 

2.2 SOCITM as the Council’s implementation support partner delivers a level 
of knowledge and expertise in the management and delivery of the 
programme that is outside the skills and capacity of our workforce. 

 
2.3 Failure to extend the existing agreement would result in a delay to the 

rollout of Oracle Fusion, incremental costs and potential reputational 
damage. 

 
2.4 The costs for SOCITM are included in the budget from November to 

April. Implementation costs are set out at Table 1 below -  
 

Table 1 

 
Phase 1 of Implementation (September 2022 - October 2023)  
Position Charge (£) 

Assignment Leadership £26,600 

Programme Management £168,000 

Solutions Architecture £159,600 

Business Change Management £142,800 

Finance & Procurement Change Management £189,750 

Testing Management £126,000 

Support Model Subject Matter Expertise £33,250 

Programme L&D Leadership £153,750 

Total £999,750 

  

Phase 2 of Implementation (November 2023 - September 2024)  
Role Charge (£) 

Assignment Leadership £20,900 

Programme Management £148,500 

Solutions Architecture £79,800 

Business Change Management £135,150 

Finance & Procurement Change Management £103,500 

Programme L&D Leadership £109,500 

Testing Management £82,500 

Support Model Subject Matter Expertise £19,000 

Total £698,850 

  

Total SOCITM Implementation Partner Costs (ex. VAT) £1,698,600 

Total SOCITM Implementation Partner Costs (inc. VAT) £2,038,320 

 
  

Page 58



 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

Having an effective, modern Finance and HR system helps underpin the 

Council’s Corporate Plan and service delivery and ensures compliance 

with the following objectives to provide -  

 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 

 

People Live Well and Age Well 

 

Strong Resilient Communities 

 

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 

 

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell  

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Oracle Fusion is a cloud-based Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 

system and will enable the Council to deliver key functions such as 
Finance, HR, Payroll and Procurement more efficiently and effectively to 
support the delivery of frontline services. Oracle Fusion represents an 
organisation wide Transformation Programme. 

 
4.2 In August 2022, the Council awarded a contract to Infosys for the 

Systems Integrator role and to SOCITM for System Implementation 
Support.  

  

Page 59



 

 
4.3 The approach taken for implementation has been the substantive 

adoption of Oracle Fusion as developed, as opposed to the bespoke 
reconfiguration of function to meet current operating arrangements within 
the Council. This approach mitigates risks and delays associated with a 
bespoke reconfiguration of functionality as previously seen in the wider 
public sector and offers opportunity for the Council to review and refresh 
its operating arrangements relating to finance, HR, payroll and support.  

 
4.4 The continued support from SOCITM will deliver a strong level or Project 

Management and Governance that is not available within the existing 
council workforce.  

 

4.5  The role of SOCITM is to guide SMBC on best practice, to impart their 
knowledge to SMBC stakeholders, challenge all parties including the 
System Integrator (Infosys) on the approach to ensure a best in class 
solution is delivered.  

 
4.6 As one of the leading Oracle Fusion Support Partners, SOCITM are in a 

position to share their experiences of numerous Public Sector 
implementations they have supported. In addition, they have been 
integral in supporting SMBC on understanding areas for improvement 
from other recent high-profile Oracle Fusion implementations. 

 
4.7 SOCITM have and will continue to challenge any SMBC Service Area 

requests to deviate from the design principles of Adopt and not Adopt. 
This is recognised as most detrimental element to the successful 
implementation and utilisation of Oracle Fusion. SOCITM governance 
requires any requests to be reviewed at a stakeholder level prior to going 
to the Business & Technical Design Authority (BTDA). If the BTDA 
believe that there is a case for an exception this is then taken to the 
Programme Board for review and decision. 

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 In order to achieve the desired implementation no other alternatives are 

available. 
  

Page 60



 

 
6 Implications 
 

Resources: Cabinet approved an implementation budget for the 
programme in January 2023. 
A comprehensive resource model is in place to 
provide appropriate capacity and capability. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Programme has a governance structure in place 
with external support from SOCITM. 

Risk: The project maintains a robust Risk Log which is 
reviewed regularly by the Programme Team and 
Programme Board. Learnings from other councils 
have and are reviewed regularly to avoid potential 
challenges. The governance structure and 
implementation approach ensure all actions and 
decisions are considered and agreed prior to sign off 
for build. 

Equality: No direct implications arising from the 
recommendations. 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The financial prosperity of the Council provides a 
foundation for health and wellbeing across the remit of 
the Council. 

Social Value: No direct implications arising from the 
recommendations. 

Climate 
Change: 

No direct implications arising from the 
recommendations. 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

No direct implications arising from the 
recommendations. 

 
7. Appendices 
 
 None. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
 None. 
 
Oracle Fusion ERP System Implementation Support Partner - SOCITM 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

 
Subject: Adoption of Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports 

Strategy  
Cabinet Member: Cllr Padda 

Cabinet Member for Leisure and Tourism  
Director: Alice Davey 

Director of Borough Economy 
Key Decision: Yes all wards affected 
Contact Officer: Ben Percival 

Rob Marlow 
 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Playing Pitch Strategy 2023 is approved and adopted by the 

Council. 
 

1.2 That £5,000 of external funding is drawn down (from Sport England) 
towards the consultancy costs that have been incurred in producing the 
strategy.  
 

1.3 That an implementation group is formed, representing key Council 
services to ensure the effective implementation of the Council-led 
actions recommended within the strategy. 
 

1.4 That the Playing Pitch Strategy delivery group of wider stakeholders and 
partners continues its work and meets twice yearly in order to explore 
opportunities for pitch/facility improvements and participation 
development.  
 

 
 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 Having a formally adopted Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) along with a 

Strategic Needs Assessment will help to; 
 

- Ensure that the provision of outdoor playing pitches meets the local 
needs of existing and future residents within Sandwell. 

- Provide evidence to the council when making planning decisions. 
- Assist when seeking investment / grants from external funding 

agencies. 
- Enable officers and partner agencies to deliver against an action plan 

of recommended improvements / interventions.    
 
2.2 As a key partner agency, Sport England has offered match funding of 

£5,000 towards the costs of employing the specialist consultant, Knight, 
Kavanagh and Page (KKP) that prepared the PPS in conjunction with the 
Council and other partner agencies. This will contribute towards the 
Councils overall budget position.  

 
2.3 The formation of an implementation group representing key service areas 

and wider stakeholders within the Council will help to ensure the effective 
implementation of the actions recommended within the strategy and 
contribute towards the Corporate Plan. A Terms of Reference (TOR) 
document will be prepared to set out / agree roles and responsibilities. 
Meetings will be scheduled between Delivery Group meetings.  

   
2.4  Adoption of the PPS and the Action plan contained within will enable 

National Governing Bodies (NGBs), funders and external agencies to 
work alongside the Council, sports clubs and schools to implement actions 
against a robust evidence base. 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 
 
There is significant and accepted research indicating that 
physically active children and young people achieve higher 
educational attainment than those classed as inactive. 
Therefore, the provision of quality outdoor playing pitches 
which meet the needs / requirements of children and young 
people will undoubtedly help the Council to meet this 
objective.  

Page 64



 

 
Enabling children and young people to access safe, quality 
pitches and partake in either formal / informal sport within 
their neighbourhoods will help them to achieve the 
recommended levels of sport / physical activity, stay fit and 
healthy.   
In addition to the above, the formation of an implementation 
group, which will include the Council’s play service, will help 
to ensure pitches meet the need of this crucial service 
moving forwards.  
   

 

People Live Well and Age Well 
 
Similar to the above, enabling adults and older people to 
access safe, quality pitches and partake in either formal / 
informal sport within their neighbourhoods will help them to 
achieve the recommended levels of sport / physical activity 
and stay fit & healthy. Outdoor pitches offer a wealth of 
opportunities for people playing competitive sport and 
enjoying recreational activities. Over recent years there has 
been a move to ‘walking’ sports such as walking football and 
rugby which enable residents to extend their playing ‘careers’ 
but in a less impactful way.   
  
The implementation group previously described will invite 
representation from Adults Services to help ensure pitches 
meet the need of this important cohort of residents / service 
users moving forwards.    
 

 

Strong Resilient Communities 
 
It is well documented that playing sport together helps to 
promote and support community cohesion. Sport is 
universally recognised as being able to break down barriers 
and help communities from different backgrounds to 
understand each other and communicate through the 
medium of sport. 
 
Providing quality outdoor playing pitches which meet the 
needs / requirements of local communities will help to ensure 
that leagues can succeed, fixtures be fulfilled, and residents 

Page 65



 

given the opportunity to compete and socialise together after 
matches / informal locally arranged events. 
 

 

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 
 
The PPS is a key document for colleagues within Planning 
and will help to ensure that correct / strategic decisions are 
made using an ‘up to date’ and robust evidence base.  
 
The PPS references population forecasts (to the year 2039) 
and the likely demand it will have on pitches. The document 
also tests a number of scenarios for housing growth within 
the borough and provides suggestions around how the 
resultant demand for pitches could be managed. 
   

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 
 
Some of the outdoor sporting facilities in Sandwell have the 
potential to contribute significantly to the local economy. A 
good example of this is the Sandwell Urban Bike Park which 
has recently opened within Sandwell Valley. The new facility 
is attracting cyclists from across the midlands region and is 
expected to bring in tourism and spend within council owned 
facilities as well as local shops / hotels, restaurants etc. 
  

 

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell 
 
The adoption of the PPS has less impact on this objective, 
however as mentioned above, the promotion of cycling within 
Sandwell is likely to encourage active travel along the many 
cycle lanes within the borough. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 The primary purpose of a Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) is to provide a 

strategic needs assessment report and a strategy document, (including 
an action plan) which ensures that the provision of outdoor playing pitches 

Page 66



 

meet the local needs of existing and future residents within an area. The 
PPS is also an important document when seeking evidence for external 
funding and making planning decisions. 

 
4.2 Sandwell’s current PPS, which was adopted on 30 October 2019, is at the 

end of its usable life and therefore the provision of a new Strategy was 
commissioned. Specialist consultancy practice Knight, Kavanagh and 
Page (KKP) won the commission (via external tender) to deliver the works 
on behalf of Sandwell Council. The value of the commission was £62,475. 
KKP was appointed in March 2021 for a contract duration of 13 months. 

 
4.3  The 2019 PPS identified: 

An under supply of 26 actual spare match equivalents across Sandwell 
for 11 v 11 grass football pitches. All other size football pitches are 
expected to be either at capacity during the peak capacity or being used 
beyond their carrying capacity across the week. This under supply is 
largely caused by the increased amount of youth football demand and a 
lack of high-quality. Appropriately sized youth football provision across 
Sandwell. 

 
 The need for an additional 5 full size Artificial Grass Pitches (AGP’s) 
 
 13 grass cricket grounds accommodating 44 teams (28 senior and 16 

junior) with pitches being overplayed. 
 
4.4 Development of the PPS was undertaken with a wide range of 

stakeholders including local sports clubs, NGBs, Schools and Sport 
England.  

 
4.5 The strategy was presented at the Leaders meeting on 17 August 2022 

and the Safer Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny Board 
meeting on 26 January 2023 and 15 March 2023. 

 
4.6 From a quantitative perspective, the existing position for each sport is 

either that demand is being met or that there is a shortfall; the future 
position shows the creation of shortfalls for some pitch types and in 
some areas where demand is currently being met, as well as the 

Page 67



 

exacerbation of existing shortfalls. The supply and demand picture 
remains relatively unaltered since the previous study, although shortfalls 
are now evident for adult football and affiliated cricket due to worsening 
pitch quality and / or the loss of provision. However, in contrast, there are 
reduced shortfalls for youth and mini football pitches despite demand 
increasing, primarily because more teams are now using 3G pitches (of 
which there is a need for more). Overall spare capacity also now exists 
for rugby union due to a reduction in demand. Supply continues to be 
sufficient for most other sports (e.g., hockey, tennis, netball, bowls, 
athletics and golf), but quality improvements are needed at specific sites 
to ensure this remains the case.  

 
4.7 There are current shortfalls of adult, youth 11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 

7v7 football pitches as well as 3G pitches, cricket squares and rugby 
union pitches, all of which will be exacerbated when accounting for 
future demand. Many of the shortfalls identified within the PPS can be 
met by better utilising current provision, for example through improving 
quality, re-configuration, installing additional floodlighting, improving 
ancillary facilities and enabling access to existing unused provision e.g 
unavailable school sites. The shortfall of 3G pitches can only be met 
through increased provision. An increase in 3G provision could help 
reduce grass pitch shortfalls through the transfer of play, which in turn 
can reduce overplay and aid pitch quality improvements.  

 
4.8 A full summary of the current PPS supply and demand assessment for 

each sport is presented as appendix 6. 
  

Page 68



 

 
4.9  The Vision of the PPS is: ‘To have a portfolio of high quality and 

accessible outdoor sports facilities, which service the changing needs of 
residents and offer opportunities for all sections of the community to 
participate in both formal and informal sport, contributing to a higher 
quality of life.’ KKP used Office of National Statistics (ONS) population 
projections and proposed housing growth, as well as likely participation 
growth informed through the consultation process to estimate likely 
future demand for facilities.  

 
4.10 Team generation rates are used to provide an indication as to how many 

people it may take to generate a team (by gender and age group). This 
ratio was then applied to predicted population growth to help estimate 
the change in demand for each sport that may arise in the future. Other 
information sources that were used to help identify future demand 
including: 

 
• Recent trends in the participation. 
• The nature of the current and likely future population and their 

propensity to participate.  
• Feedback from clubs on plans to develop additional teams or 

attract additional members. 
• Local and NGB specific sports development targets. 

 
Future demand projections across the PPS cover the period up until 
2039.  

 
4.11 The PPS identifies 3 aims. These are: 

 
Aim 1. To protect the existing supply of outdoor sport facilities where it 
is needed to meet current and future needs.  

 
Aim 2. To enhance outdoor sport facilities and ancillary facilities through 
improving quality and management of sites.  

 
Aim 3. To provide new outdoor sport facilities where there is current or 
future demand to do so. 

Page 69



 

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The alternative option is to not formally adopt the PPS. The impact of 

this would be as follows: 
 

- Sandwell would not have a robust / up to date strategy to relate to 
when making planning decisions 

- The Delivery Group would not have a formally adopted action plan to 
work towards achieving 

- Opportunities for securing inward investment from NGBs and funders 
would be limited due to the lack of a formal ‘sign off’. 

- NGBs may be more reluctant to work with the authority on future 
developments / strategies 

- £5,000 of ‘match funding’ towards the consultancy cost would be lost. 
  

6 Implications 
 

Resources: Whilst development of the PPS is complete and 
consultancy fees of £62,475 already paid, there is a 
need for officer time to oversee the development of the 
PPS moving forward. This is via a Senior Lead Officer 
post within the Sport and Leisure Team along with 
officers from other sections engaged in the 
implementation group referenced in section 1.3 above.  
 
In order to improve the quality of Council owned / 
managed pitches funding will be required. Grants are 
available for this purpose via National Governing 
Bodies and funding agencies including the Football 
Foundation and Football Association (FA) 

Legal and 
Governance: 

Should the PPS be formally adopted then it will become 
a recognised Council strategy and be published on the 
Councils website.  
 
Planning Colleagues will refer to the PPS when 
relevant relating to potential developments and 
allocation of Section 106 monies 

Risk: None 
Equality: An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. 

Page 70



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The delivery of actions identified within the PPS Action 
Plan will assist in promoting sport, physical activity, 
health and wellbeing opportunities within the borough. 

Social Value: A robust, adopted PPS and the associated benefits will 
help in enabling volunteering / social opportunities 
within communities  

Climate 
Change: 

None  

Corporate 
Parenting:  

The delivery of actions identified within the PPS Action 
Plan will assist in promoting sport, physical activity, 
health and wellbeing opportunities within the borough. 

 
7 Appendices 
 

1. Playing Pitch and Outdoor sports strategy assessment report  
2. Strategy and Action Plan 
3. Action plan (prepared for updates and colour coded) 
4. Terms of Reference – PPS Delivery Group 
5. Terms of Reference – PPS Implementation Group 
6. Current PPS supply / demand summaries per sport / pitch type 

 
 
8 Background Papers 
 

- 2019 PPS Strategy 
- 2019 Assessment Report 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

QUALITY, INTEGRITY, PROFESSIONALISM 
 
Knight, Kavanagh & Page Ltd 
Company No: 9145032 (England) 

MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS 
 
Registered Office: 1 -2 Frecheville Court, off Knowsley Street, Bury BL9 0UF 

T: 0161 764 7040   E:  mail@kkp.co.uk    www.kkp.co.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH & OUTDOOR SPORTS STRATEGY 
 
ASSESSMENT REPORT 
OCTOBER 2022 
 

Page 73



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

CONTENTS 
  

ABBREVIATIONS ............................................................................................................... 1 

PART 1: INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY ............................................................ 2 

PART 2: FOOTBALL ......................................................................................................... 10 

PART 3: THIRD GENERATION TURF (3G) ARTIFICIAL GRASS PITCHES (AGPS) ..... 37 

PART 4: CRICKET ............................................................................................................ 49 

PART 5: RUGBY UNION .................................................................................................. 68 

PART 6: RUGBY LEAGUE ............................................................................................... 82 

PART 7: HOCKEY ............................................................................................................ 83 

PART 8: TENNIS .............................................................................................................. 92 

PART 9: NETBALL ......................................................................................................... 104 

PART 10: BOWLS .......................................................................................................... 114 

PART 11: CYCLING ....................................................................................................... 123 

PART 12: ATHLETICS .................................................................................................... 126 

PART 13: GOLF .............................................................................................................. 132 

PART 14: OUTDOOR WATER SPORTS ....................................................................... 142 

PART 15: OTHER GRASS PITCH SPORTS .................................................................. 144 

 

APPENDIX 1: SPORTING CONTEXT ............................................................................ 147 

APPENDIX 2: NON TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT SHEETS........................................... 158 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 74



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        1 

ABBREVIATIONS 
 
3G   Third Generation (artificial turf) 
AGP   Artificial Grass Pitch 
BAFA    British American Football Association 
BC   Bowls Club 
BCGBA  British Crown Green Bowling Association 
BSUK   Baseball Softball United Kingdom 
CFA   County Football Association   
CONGU  Council of National Golf Unions 
DCMS   Department for Culture, Media and Sport  
ECB   England and Wales Cricket Board 
EH   England Hockey 
FA   Football Association  
FC    Football Club 
FF   Football Foundation 
FIFA   Fédération Internationale de Football Association 
FPM   Facilities Planning Model 
GMA   Grounds Management Association 
HC   Hockey Club 
JFC   Junior Football Club 
KKP   Knight, Kavanagh and Page 
LFFP   Local Football Facilities Plan  
NFFS   National Football Facilities Strategy 
NGB   National Governing Body 
NHS   National Health Service 
NPPF    National Planning Policy Framework     
PPS   Playing Pitch Strategy 
PPOSS  Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sport Strategy 
PQS   Performance Quality Standard 
RFL   Rugby Football League 
RFU   Rugby Football Union 
RLFC   Rugby League Football Club 
RUFC   Rugby Union Football Club 
SCB   Staffordshire Cricket Board 
TC   Tennis Club 
U   Under 
WJYFL  Walsall Junior Youth Football League 
 
 
 

Page 75



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   2 

PART 1: INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY 
 
Knight, Kavanagh & Page (KKP) has been commissioned by the Black Country authorities of 
Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and Wolverhampton, together with the Black Country Consortium, 
to assess playing pitch and outdoor sport facility needs across the individual local authority 
areas. The output is provision of four separate needs assessments and strategies across the 
aforementioned authorities as well as one additional overarching framework.  
 
This is the Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sport Strategy (PPOSS) Assessment Report for 
Sandwell. It presents a supply and demand assessment of playing pitch and outdoor sports 
facilities in accordance with Sport England’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Guidance (for 
playing pitch sports) and Sport England’s Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guide (for “non-
pitch” sports). The PPS Guidance details a 13-stepped approach, separated into five distinct 
sections:  
 
 Stage A: Prepare and tailor the approach (1, 2 & 3)  
 Stage B: Gather information and views on the supply of and demand for provision (4 & 5)  
 Stage C: Assess the supply and demand information and views (6, 7 & 8)  
 Stage D: Develop the strategy (9 & 10) 
 Stage E: Deliver the strategy and keep it robust and up to date (11, 12 & 13) 
 
Stages A to C are detailed in this report, with stage D covered in the proceeding strategy 
document and Stage E ongoing once the work has been adopted. The lifespan of a PPOSS 
is considered to be three years, although this can be increased if it is kept up to date. As part 
of the Stage E process, the PPOSS should be reviewed on an annual basis from the date it is 
formally signed off. Such a review will help to maintain the momentum and commitment built 
up during its development.  
 
1.1: Stage A: Prepare and tailor the approach  
 
Why the strategy is being developed 
 
The PPOSS for Sandwell will replace the existing study, which was updated in 2018 and is 
nearing the end of its lifespan.  
 
A key driver for undertaking the Study across the four authorities was to support the 
preparation of a joint Black Country Plan and to provide an important evidence base for its 
development. The intention was for this to replace the Black Country Core Strategy, which 
was adopted in 2011; however, separate local plans are now to be produced by the four local 
authorities instead.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, the joint framework will still enable the four authorities to ensure 
that each PPOSS is carried out to same degree of detail and quality and for the reports to 
identify compatible outcomes across the sub-region. It will also help the authorities identify 
areas of deficits and surpluses in provision as well as helping to identify and capitalise on 
cross-boundary opportunities.   
 
The strategies will be produced in accordance with national planning guidance and provide 
robust and objective justification for future sporting provision throughout the Black Country. 
One of the core planning principles of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
updated in 2021, is to improve health, social and cultural wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient 
community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs. Paragraph 98 discusses 
the importance of access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation 
that can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities.   
 

Page 76



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   3 

Paragraph 99 discuss assessments and the protection of “existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields”. Paragraphs 101 and 102 also 
promote the identification of important green spaces by local communities and the protection 
of these facilities. Such spaces may include playing fields and outdoor sports facilities.  
 
Management arrangements 
 
A project team from Sandwell Council, as well as the other relevant councils, has worked with 
KKP to ensure that all relevant information is readily available so that project stages and 
milestones are delivered on time. In addition, a strong and effective steering group has and 
will continue to lead the PPOSS during its development and will be responsible for the delivery 
of its recommendations and actions. The membership of this group is balanced and 
representative of the different parties and key drivers behind the work; it is made up of 
representatives from the councils, Active Black Country, Sport England and the relevant 
National Governing Bodies of Sport (NGBs). 
 
The steering group is and has been responsible for the direction of the PPOSS from a strategic 
perspective and for supporting and checking and challenging the work of the project team. It 
will be important for the steering group to continue once the PPOSS has been finalised for 
several reasons, including a continuing responsibility to:  
  
 Be a champion for provision in the area and promote the importance of the PPOSS. 
 Support implementation of the recommendations and action plan. 
 Monitor and evaluate the outcomes of the study. 
 Ensure that the work is kept up to date and refreshed when necessary. 
 
Agreed scope  
 
A wide range of playing pitch and outdoor sports and associated facilities have been agreed 
for inclusion in the PPOSS in Sandwell and across all four Black Country authorities. In full, 
the study covers: 
 
 Athletics  
 Cricket  
 Football (including 3G pitches) 
 Hockey (sand/water based AGPs) 
 Rugby union (including 3G pitches) 
 Tennis  

 Bowls 
 Cycling 
 Golf  
 Netball  
 Rugby league (including 3G pitches) 
 Water sports (e.g. sailing and water skiing) 

  
In addition, other grass pitch sports are included where identified as having a presence. This 
can include, but is not limited to, sports such as American football, baseball/softball, Gaelic 
football and lacrosse.  
 
Sport England’s PPS guidance applies to football, rugby union, rugby league, cricket and 
hockey, as well as any other grass pitch sports, whereas the ANOG guidance applies to the 
remaining sports (as these are “non-pitch”).  
  

Page 77



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   4 

Study area 
 
The study area for the Sandwell PPOSS is the Sandwell Council boundary area. Further to 
this, sub areas or analysis areas have been used to allow for a more localised assessment of 
provision and examination of supply and demand at a local level. For this purpose, Sandwell 
is split into the following six areas, based on towns in the Borough:  
 
 Oldbury 
 Rowley Regis 
 Smethwick 
 Tipton 
 Wednesbury  
 West Bromwich 
 
Figure 1.1: Analysis areas 

 
Cross-boundary migration is also be explored, not only to and from the other three Black 
County authorities but also from other nearby authorities, particularly Birmingham. This applies 
to demand from neighbouring authorities that imports into Sandwell and demand from the 
Borough which exports out.  
 
1.2: Stage B: Gather information and views on the supply of and demand for provision 
 
A clear picture of the supply of and demand for playing pitches and outdoor sport facilities in 
Sandwell needs to be provided to enable an accurate assessment of quantity, quality and 
usage. This is achieved through site assessments and consultation with key stakeholders. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   5 

Gather supply information and views – an audit of provision 
 
Sport England’s guidance uses the following definitions of a playing pitch and playing field; 
these are set out by the Government in the 2015 ‘Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order’1: 
 
 Playing pitch – a delineated area of 0.2ha or more which is used for football, rugby, 

cricket, hockey, lacrosse, rounders, baseball, softball, American football, Australian 
football, Gaelic football, shinty, hurling, polo or cycle polo. 

 Playing field – the whole of a site which encompasses at least one playing pitch.  
 
Although the statutory definition of a playing field sets out a minimum size, this PPOSS takes 
account of smaller sized pitches that contribute to the supply side. For example, a site 
containing a mini 5v5 football pitch is included despite it potentially being smaller than 0.2ha. 
The study counts individual grass pitches (as a delineated area) as the basic unit of supply, 
with the definition of a playing pitch also including artificial grass pitches (AGPs). 
 
As far as possible, this report aims to capture all of the playing pitches and relevant outdoor 
sport facilities within Sandwell; however, there may be instances that have led to omissions, 
such as unused school sites where access was not possible (although facilities at sites not 
accessed are still included within the study where provision is known to exist from other 
sources e.g. affiliation data or club/league consultation). Where provision has not been 
recorded within the report, it is still considered to exist for planning purposes and will continue 
to do so. Furthermore, any exclusion does not mean that the provision is not required from a 
supply and demand point of view. 
 
Quantity 
 
Where known, all playing pitch and outdoor sport facilities are included within the PPOSS, 
irrespective of ownership, management and use. Sites were initially identified using Sport 
England’s Active Places web-based database, with the Council and NGBs supporting the 
process by checking and updating this initial data as well as supplying their own. This was 
also verified against club and league information supplied through consultation and any 
affiliation processes.  
 
For each site, the following details are recorded in the project database: 
 
 Site name, address (including postcode) and location 
 Ownership and management type  
 Security of tenure  
 Community availability 
 Total number, type and quality of provision 
 Usage levels 
 
Accessibility 
 
Not all facilities offer the same level of access to the community and the ownership and 
accessibility of provision also influences actual availability for demand. As such, each site is 
assigned a level of community use as follows: 
 
 Community use – facilities in public, voluntary, private or commercial ownership or 

management (including education sites) recorded as being available for hire and 
currently in use by teams/members/individuals (depending on the sport).   

                                                 
1. www.sportengland.org>Facilities and Planning> Planning Applications     

Page 79



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   6 

 Available but unused - facilities that are available for hire but are not currently used 
externally; this most often applies to school sites but can also apply to sites which are 
expensive to hire or particularly poor quality. 

 No community use - facilities which are, as a matter of policy, unavailable for external 
hire. This includes professional club pitches along with some semi-professional club 
pitches where play is restricted to the first or second team of the host club.  

 Disused – sites that are not being used at all by any users and are not available for 
community hire either (often being unmarked). Once these sites are disused for five or 
more years they will then be categorised as lapsed sites. 

 Lapsed - last known use was as a playing field more than five years ago. These fall 
outside of Sport England’s statutory remit but still have to be assessed using the criteria 
in paragraph 99 of the NPPF; Sport England would nonetheless challenge a proposed 
loss which fails to meet such criteria. It should be emphasised that the lawful planning 
use of a lapsed site is still that of a playing field. 
 

In addition, there should be a good degree of certainty as to whether a facility will be available 
to the community for at least the following three years. A judgement is made based on the 
information gathered and any provision adjudged not be available for this length of time is 
considered to be “unsecure” (as opposed to “secure”).  
 
Quality 
 
The capacity of provision to regularly provide for competitive play, training and other activity 
over a season is most often determined by quality. As a minimum, the quality and therefore 
the capacity of provision affects the playing experience and people’s enjoyment of a sport. In 
extreme circumstances, it can result in a facility being unable to cater for all or certain types 
of play during peak and off-peak times. 
 
It is not just the quality of the pitches themselves which have an effect on capacity but also 
the quality, standard and range of ancillary facilities. The quality of both the playing provision 
and the ancillary facilities will determine whether sites are able to contribute to meeting 
demand from various groups and for different levels and types of play. 
 
The quality of all provision identified in the audit and the ancillary facilities supporting them are 
assessed regardless of ownership, management or availability. Along with capturing any 
details specific to the individual facilities and sites, a quality rating is also recorded within the 
audit for each. These ratings are then used to help estimate the capacity (aligned to NGB 
guidance) to accommodate competitive and other play within the supply and demand 
assessment.   
 
In addition to undertaking non-technical assessments (using the templates provided within the 
guidance and as determined by NGBs), users and providers have also been consulted on the 
quality. In some instances, the quality rating has been adjusted to reflect this i.e. an “agreed 
quality rating”.  
 
Gather demand information and views  
 
Presenting an accurate picture of current demand for playing pitches and outdoor sport 
facilities (i.e. recording how and when provision is used) is important when undertaking a 
supply and demand assessment. Demand for provision in Sandwell tends to fall within the 
following categories: 
  
 Organised competitive play 
 Organised training 
 Informal play  

Page 80



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   7 

Current and future demand for provision is presented on a sport-by-sport basis within the 
relevant sections of this report. In addition, unmet, latent, imported and exported demand for 
provision is also identified within each section.  
 
Unmet demand is existing demand that is not getting access to provision; it is usually 
expressed, for example, when a team is in training but is unable to access a match pitch, or 
when a league has a waiting list due to a lack of pitch provision, which in turn is hindering the 
growth of the league. In comparison, latent demand is defined as the number of additional 
teams that could be fielded if access to a sufficient number of outdoor sports facilities (and 
ancillary provision) was available. Exported and imported demand refers to those that are 
playing outside of their local authority area of choice.   
 
A variety of consultation methods were used to collate demand information. Firstly, face-to-
face consultation (normally via video call due to Covid-19 restrictions) has been carried out 
with key clubs and leagues (as identified by the Steering Group) from each sport, thus allowing 
for the collection of detailed demand information and an exploration of key issues to be 
interrogated and more accurately assessed. For all remaining clubs, telephone consultation 
or an online survey (converted to postal if required) has been utilised.  
 
As key providers and users of the sports facilities, educational establishments have also been 
consulted. This involved face-to-face meetings with secondary schools and colleges and an 
online survey being sent to primary schools, special schools and independent schools.   
 
Future demand 
 
Alongside current demand, it is important for a PPOSS to assess whether the future demand 
for provision can be met. Using Office of National Statistics (ONS) population projections and 
proposed housing growth, as well as likely participation growth informed through consultation, 
an estimate can be made of the likely future demand for the relevant facilities. Assumptions 
can then be made as to whether existing provision can cater for such growth.  
 
Team generation rates are used to provide an indication as to how many people it may take 
to generate a team (by gender and age group). This ratio is then applied to predicted 
population growth to help estimate the change in demand for each sport that may arise in the 
future. Other information sources that were used to help identify future demand include: 
 
 Recent trends in the participation. 
 The nature of the current and likely future population and their propensity to participate.  
 Feedback from clubs on plans to develop additional teams or attract additional members. 
 Any local and NGB specific sports development targets. 
 
In line with the previously proposed Black Country Plan (now to replaced by four separate 
local plans), future demand projections across the PPOSS cover the period up until 2039.  
 
1.3: Stage C: Assess the supply and demand information and views 
 
Supply and demand information gathered is used to assess the adequacy of playing pitch and 
outdoor sport provision in Sandwell and to identify key issues, challenges and aspirations. 
This forms the basis of this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   8 

Understand the situation at individual sites 
 
Qualitative ratings are linked to a capacity rating derived from NGB guidance and tailored to 
suit a local area. For playing pitch sports, the quality and use of each pitch is assessed against 
recommended capacity to indicate how many match equivalent sessions a pitch could 
accommodate. This is then compared to the number of matches actually taking place and 
categorised as follows, to identify:  
 
Potential spare capacity: Play is below the level the site could sustain.  

At capacity: Play is at a level the site can sustain.  

Overused: Play exceeds the level the site can sustain.  
 
As a guide, the NGBs for football, cricket, rugby union, rugby league and hockey have set a 
standard number of matches that each pitch type should be able to accommodate without 
adversely affecting its quality. Given how the sports operate, this is per week for football, rugby 
union and rugby league, per day for hockey and per season for cricket.  
 
Table 1.2: Capacity of playing pitches 
 
Sport Pitch type No. of match equivalent sessions  

Good  Standard  Poor  
Football Adult pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week 

Youth pitches 4 per week 2 per week 1 per week 
Mini pitches 6 per week 4 per week 2 per week 

Rugby union Natural Inadequate (D0) 2 per week 1.5 per week 0.5 per week 
Natural Adequate (D1) 3 per week 2 per week 1.5 per week 
Pipe Drained (D2) 3.25 per week 2.5 per week 1.75 per week 
Pipe and Slit Drained (D3) 3.5 per week 3 per week 2 per week 

Rugby league Senior pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week 
Junior pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week 
Mini pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week 

Cricket One grass wicket 5 per season 4 per season 0 per season 
One synthetic wicket 60 per season 60 per season 0 per season 

Hockey One AGP 4 matches per 
day 

4 matches per 
day 

0 matches per 
day 

 
For non-pitch sports, capacity is not linked to the number of matches taking place but rather 
the number of members (and other users) attracted to a site. For example, for tennis, a floodlit 
hard court is said to have capacity for 60 members, whereas a non-floodlit has court has 
capacity for 40 members (this varies for grass courts). Other sport specific capacity guidance 
is detailed within the relevant sections of this report.  
 
Develop the current picture of provision 
 
Once capacity is determined on a site-by-site basis, actual spare capacity is calculated on a 
Borough-wide and an area-by-area basis via further interrogation of peak time demand. This 
then identifies whether there is overall spare capacity on provision or whether there is a 
shortfall.   
 
Although spare capacity may be identified at some sites and in some areas, it does not 
necessarily mean that there is surplus provision. For example, spare capacity may not be 
available when it is needed (actual spare capacity), or a site may be retained in a ‘strategic 
reserve’ to enable rotation and to reduce wear and tear. Often, spare capacity is discounted 
due to site specific issues such as those relating to quality, availability and security of tenure.  

Page 82



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   9 

Identify the key findings and issues 
 
By completing the aforementioned steps, it is possible to identify several findings and issues 
relating to the supply, demand and adequacy of playing pitch and outdoor sport provision. This 
report therefore seeks to identify and present such key information on a sport-by-sport basis 
prior to the development of the Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
Each included sport has its own section within this Assessment Report, detailing key findings 
and featuring a supply and demand analysis. In addition, a separate 3G pitch section is also 
included to take into account the variety of sports that can utilise such provision (e.g. football, 
rugby union and rugby league).  
 
Develop the future picture of provision (scenario testing) 
 
Modelling scenarios to assess whether existing provision can cater for unmet, latent, exported 
and future demand is made after the capacity analysis. As such, most of the scenario testing 
generally occurs in the Strategy report that proceeds this document and therefore does not 
form part of the Assessment Report.  
 
  

Page 83



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   10 

PART 2: FOOTBALL 
 
2.1: Introduction 
 
Birmingham County FA is the primary organisation responsible for the development of football 
in Sandwell. It is also responsible for the administration, in terms of discipline, rules and 
regulations, cup competitions and representative matches, development of clubs and facilities, 
volunteers, referees, coaching courses and delivering national football schemes. 
 
Facility development for football is largely the responsibility of the Football Foundation, which 
is a charity, linked to the Premier League, the FA and the Government, that helps communities 
improve their local football facilities through grant funding. It is committed to improving the 
experience of playing football for everyone involved in the game.  
 
This section of the report focuses on the supply and demand for grass football pitches. Part 3 
captures supply and demand for third generation pitches (3G pitches), which is the preferred 
artificial surface type for football. There is a growing demand for the use of 3G pitches for 
competitive football fixtures, in addition to training needs, especially to accommodate mini and 
youth football. 
 
For grass football pitches, formal demand is generally defined through five formats of play and 
five pitch types, linked to the age of teams and players. Please refer to the table below for 
more detail relating to this. 
 
Table 2.1: Football grass pitch formats 
 

Format/pitch type Age range Recommended pitch size (metres) 

Adult U17s+ 100 x 64 

Youth 11v11 U15s-U16s 91 x 55 

U13s-U14s 82 x 50 

Youth 9v9 U11s-U12s 73 x 46 

Mini 7v7 U9s-U10s 55 x 37 

Mini 5v5 U7s-U8s 37 x 27 
 
Local Football Facility Plans (LFFPs) 
 

To support in delivery of both the current and superseding FA National Games Strategy, the 
FA commissioned a nationwide consultancy project which has now been completed. As part 
of this, a Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) has been produced for every local authority across 
England, with each plan being unique to its area as well as being diverse in its representation.  
 

The LFFP is strategically aligned to the National Football Facilities Strategy (NFFS); a 10-year 
plan to change the landscape of football facilities in England. The NFFS represents a major 
funding commitment from the national funding partners (the FA, Premier League and 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) and is delivered through the Football 
Foundation to inform and direct an estimated one billion pounds of investment into football 
facilities over the next ten years. 
 

Each LFFP builds upon PPOSS findings (where present and current) regarding the formal and 
affiliated game as well as including strategic priorities for investment across small-sided 
football (including recreational and indoor activity). The LFFP also incorporates consultation 
with groups outside of formal football, as well as under-represented communities. This 
includes those which may be key partners with regards to using football for behavioural 
change, plus groups which may be key drivers of FA priorities around participation in the likes 
of women and girls' football, disability football and futsal. 

Page 84



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   11 

The LFFP is a ‘live’ document that can be updated following the completion of a PPOSS, if 
required, as an up-to-date supply and demand assessment may present findings and 
recommendations that need to be incorporated for investment purposes. LFFPs identify key 
projects to be delivered and act as an investment portfolio for projects that require funding. As 
such, around 90% of all national football investment through the funding partners will be 
identified via LFFPs.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, it is important to recognise that the LFFP is an investment portfolio 
of priority projects for potential investment; it is not a detailed supply and demand analysis of 
all pitch provision in a local area. Consequently, it cannot be used in place of a PPOSS and is 
not an accepted evidence base for site change of use or disposal. A LFFP does, however, 
build on available/existing local evidence and strategic plans and may adopt relevant actions 
from a PPOSS and/or complement these with additional investment priorities. 
 
The LFFP for Sandwell was produced in 2020 and identifies numerous priority projects for 
investment. These are discussed in greater detail in both this section and Part 3 of the report.  
 
Consultation 
 
Consultation requests were sent to all football clubs based in Sandwell via Birmingham FA, 
with 42% responding. Whilst this is a low figure, it represents 74% of teams that play in the 
Borough as focus was placed on large clubs identified as key. As such, most non-respondents 
are small clubs fielding just one or two teams.  
 
When sending out surveys, Birmingham FA incentivised clubs to respond with vouchers for 
football kit and boots. The survey was distributed multiple times and non-responsive clubs 
were chased via telephone by the Club Development Officer. 
 
The responsive clubs include the following:  
 

 Albion Foundation FC 
 Brandhall Colts FC 
 Langley Town FC 
 Oldbury United FC 
 Sandwell Falcons FC 

 Bustleholme FC 
 Greets Green Albion FC 
 Perrywoods United Youth FC 
 Tipton Town FC 
 Tividale FC 

 
2.2: Supply  
 
The audit identifies a total of 171 grass football pitches within Sandwell across 70 sites, with 
139 pitches available, at some level, for community use across 48 sites. Most of the 
unavailable pitches are located at school sites.  
 
The distribution of the community available pitches is shown in the table overleaf. The Oldbury 
and West Bromwich analysis areas contain over half of the community available provision with 
46 and 38 pitches, respectively. The remaining provision is relatively evenly across the 
remaining areas, with 15 pitches in each of the Rowley Regis and Smethwick analysis areas, 
14 in the Wednesbury Analysis Area and 11 in the Tipton Analysis Area.  
 
Adult pitches are the most common (86) whilst mini 5v5 pitches are the least (seven). 
 
  

Page 85



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   12 

Table 2.2: Summary of grass football pitches available to the community 
 
Analysis area No. of pitches available for community use 

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury 28 4 6 3 5 46 

Rowley Regis 6 1 2 4 2 15 

Smethwick 12 1 1 1 0 15 

Tipton 5 2 2 2 0 11 

Wednesbury 9 2 3 0 0 14 

West Bromwich 26 3 7 2 0 38 

Sandwell 86 13 21 12 7 139 
 
When compared to 2018 PPS findings, there has been a small reduction in the number of 
adult pitches and increase in the number of youth pitches. This is in part due to some adult 
pitches being reconfigured to better accommodate youth team users.  
 
There being more adult pitches across Sandwell is reflective of high demand for this format of 
play. However, youth 11v11 demand is almost equivalent, meaning that the low supply of 
youth 11v11 pitches still does not correlate. This leads to many youth 11v11 teams playing on 
adult pitches, which, whilst sometimes preferable for clubs, is not ideal for players at U13-U16 
level and is not in line with the FA Youth Review. 
 
Figure 2.1 below identifies the location of all football pitches in Sandwell, regardless of 
community use. For a key to the map, please see Table 2.14. 
 
Figure 2.1: Location of grass football pitches in Sandwell  
 

 
 
  

Page 86



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   13 

Lapsed/disused provision 
 
The following playing field sites previously provided football pitches that are no longer being 
marked out or maintained:  
 
 Friar Park Playing Fields 
 Kent Road Park 
 Kenrick Park 
 Powis Avenue 
 Brickhouse Farm 
 Elwells 
 
Four of these sites have been used for formal football within the last five years, which means 
that they are considered disused rather than lapsed. This applies to Kenrick Park, Powis 
Avenue, Brickhouse Farm and Elwells. 
 
Kent Road Park and Friar Park Playing Fields are considered to be lapsed. Kent Road Park 
previously contained an adult pitch whilst a development of approximately 630 dwellings is 
being considered at Friar Park Playing Fields, where four lapsed youth 11v11 pitches are 
currently located. A master planning exercise is currently underway which will consider open 
space and playing pitch requirements.  
 
All of these sites are owned and operated by the Council. 
 
Future provision 
 
There is an Option Agreement in place between the Council and a Developer that enables the 
Developer to explore the feasibility of establishing a retail outlet village and other ancillary 
uses. If the scheme secured planning consent to proceed, there would be an impact for the 
playing pitches at Lion Farm Playing Fields. However, no planning application has yet been 
submitted for these proposals. 
 
Sandwell Council has identified Lightwoods Park, Jesson Playing Fields and Forge Farm as 
suitable for new football provision and Tividale Park, Barnford Park, Pitfields Close, Black 
Patch and Greets Green for pitch improvement/refurbishment works as potential mitigation 
options for the development. Pre-application consultation has now closed but it is not known 
if any further progress has been made. 
 
Additionally, a grass football pitch is due to be provided at Sandwell Aquatics Centre in 2023. 
 
Away from Lion Farm Playing Fields, Oldbury United FC has plans to develop Cakemore 
Playing Fields and the surrounding area to provide community facilities as well as a kiosk/bar 
area, clubhouse and the creation of two adult pitches on site alongside pitch improvements. 
The Club is currently in discussions with the Council regarding this development.  
 
Phoenix Collegiate reports that it will provide two additional adult pitches on its site from 
September 2022, with this forming part of mitigation for its now closed North Campus site. The 
land that will accommodate these pitches has been levelled and had drainage installed. 
Electricity is also in place to provide floodlights for the pitches. Once online, these pitches will 
be available to the community.  
 
A new youth pitch is to be established at West Smethwick Park following significant investment 
into the site from Heritage Lottery funding.  
 
  

Page 87



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   14 

Security of tenure  
 
The table below details the management of football sites in Sandwell. As seen, the main 
operators are the Council and educational establishments. The other management providers 
include the FA, trusts or private contractors (PPP/PFI). 
 
Table 2.3: Football pitch sites by management type 
 

Number of sites 
Club Council Education Other 

8 30 27 5 
 
With schools being the second most common provider of pitches, it is worth noting that they 
are also the least likely to offer community use. In total, 17 educational providers do not allow 
for community use of some or all of their pitches, with reasons for not allowing access varying. 
The most common example is that the schools want to protect pitches for curricular and extra-
curricular purposes due to existing quality issues, whilst other reasons include staffing issues, 
health and safety issues and a perceived lack of profitability.  
  
Moreover, many of the schools that do provide community access are not known to have formal 
community use agreements in place, meaning that they can stop the external use at any point 
devoid of any notice. To prevent future issues, it is recommended that users enter into 
community use agreements with the schools that they access, where possible.  
 
Away from schools, tenure is generally secure, including at council sites where pitches will 
continue to be offered as part of the Council’s commitment to providing sports and leisure 
facilities.  
 
In relation to clubs, Bustleholme FC aspires to take on the management of Charlemont Playing 
Fields via a long-term lease agreement to develop the site. Similarly, Oldbury United FC would 
like to extend its annual management agreement to a long-term lease to facilitate its 
aforementioned development plans at Cakemore Playing Fields.  
 
Having security of tenure is crucial for clubs/organisations, especially those that will be seeking 
significant investment and external funding from partners such as the Football Foundation.   
 
Pitch quality 
 

The quality of football pitches across Sandwell has been assessed via a combination of site 
visits (using non-technical assessments) and user consultation to reach and apply an agreed 
rating on a scale of good, standard and poor.  The percentage parameters used for the non-
technical assessments are: Good (>80%), Standard (50-80%), Poor (<50%). However, it must 
be noted that the final quality ratings assigned to pitches also takes into account the user 
quality ratings gathered from consultation as well as feedback from Birmingham FA.  
 
Pitch quality primarily influences the carrying capacity of a site; often pitches lack the drainage 
and maintenance necessary to sustain levels of use. Pitches that receive little to no ongoing 
repair or post-season remedial work are likely to be assessed as poor, therefore limiting the 
number of games they can accommodate each week without it having a detrimental effect on 
quality. Conversely, well maintained pitches are likely to be of a higher standard and capable 
of taking a number of matches without a significant reduction in surface quality.  
 
The table below summarises the quality of pitches that are available for community use in 
Sandwell. Most are assessed as poor quality, with 83 assessed as this, although there is also 
a large proportion assessed as standard (51). Only five pitches are assessed as good quality.  

Page 88



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   15 

Table 2.4: Pitch quality assessments (community use pitches)   
 

Adult pitches Youth pitches Mini pitches 
Good Standard Poor Good Standard Poor Good Standard Poor 

5 34 47 - 12 22 - 5 14 
 
When compared to findings of the 2018 PPS, quality has seemingly deteriorated across 
Sandwell, with there only previously being 47 poor quality pitches (although the number of 
good quality pitches has remained the same).  
 
Most of the poor quality pitches are located at council sites. Such provision often receives 
limited amounts of dedicated maintenance due to budgetary restraints and can be open 
access which can lead to further damage from unofficial use. The following community 
available sites accommodate at least one poor quality pitch: 
 
 Barnford Park 
 Bearmore Playing Field 
 Black Patch Park 
 Brandhall Primary School 
 Britannia Park 
 Bustleholme Playing Fields 
 Cakemore Playing Field 
 Charlemont Playing Fields 
 Farley Park 
 George Salter Academy 
 Greets Green Playing Fields 

 Birmingham County FA Headquarters 
 Hydes Road Playing Fields 
 Jesson Playing Fields 
 Jubilee Park 
 Lion Farm Playing Fields 
 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 
 Queen Elizabeth Playing Fields 
 St Michael's CE High School 
 Thimblemill Recreation Centre 
 Tividale Park 
 West Smethwick Park 

 
Where poor quality is identified, a lack of maintenance and drainage issues are the most 
common factors. Conversely, where better quality is identified, a better maintenance regime 
is often cited, as is investment by the Football Foundation. The good quality pitch identified in 
Sandwell is at FC Premier. 
 
Where quality issues are prevalent, it is recommended that sites engage with the Football 
Foundation’s PitchPower app (see below).  
 
The Council has secured significant funding to develop Britannia Park, where poor quality 
provision is identified. This will be partly used to create a sporting ‘hub’ within the park, with a 
focus on increasing participation, particularly amongst youths and women. As part of this, pitch 
and ancillary facilities improvements will be included.  
 
In contrast to the poor quality pitches, good quality community available pitches are provided 
at Birmingham County FA Football Development Centre, FC Premier, Tividale Football Club 
and Warley Rugby Club.  
 
Of clubs that responded to consultation, the majority (66%) report that quality has not changed 
in the last 12 months. Of the remaining clubs, 12% report that quality has improved, whilst 
22% report that quality has worsened, which correlates with the difference in the finding of this 
PPS compared to the 2018 study.  
 
Tividale FC indicates that pitch quality is much better than it was 12 months ago after receiving 
grants for pitch improvement.  
 
For a full breakdown of the quality ratings at each site, see Table 2.14. For the full assessment 
criteria, please refer to Appendix 2. 
 

Page 89



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   16 

Local Football Facility Plan 
 
The LFFP for Sandwell identifies key sites considered a priority to improve, with these selected 
based on the rationale of identifying sites that are the poorest in quality and that are the best 
utilised, or that have the greatest potential for increased utilisation following quality 
enhancements. Emphasis is on sites with three or more pitches, although scope exists for the 
inclusion of smaller sites if they are deemed to be strategically important.  
 
The following 11 site specific projects are identified:  
 
 Barnford Park 
 Birmingham County FA Headquarters 
 Bustleholme/Charlemont Playing Fields 
 Cakemore Playing Fields 
 F C Premier 
 Hydes Road Playing Fields 

 King George V Playing Fields 
 Lion Farm Playing Fields 
 Tipton Sports Academy 
 Tividale Park 
 West Smethwick Park 

 
In the PPOSS, most pitches at these sites have been assessed as poor or standard quality. 
Whilst most of these sites will therefore still require improvement, given that the LFFP is a live 
document, there may be a need to amend and/or add to this list based on the findings of this 
study. 
 
Pitch improvement  
 
The FA has a Pitch Improvement Programme aimed at improving the standard of grass pitches 
across the Country. For provision included in the programme, clubs can utilise the services of 
the Football Foundation’s PitchPower app to carry out a free on-site assessment of their 
pitches. This then provides the Grounds Management Association (GMA) with the detail 
needed to create a personalised, informative report to advise on how improvements can be 
made. Clubs then receive bespoke advice and support to help with any future actions, funding 
applications and equipment, with clubs getting access to discounted rates for machinery and 
consumables through local partnerships.  
 
The tool across mobile app and desktop is open to access by all providers, including clubs, 
schools and local authorities. Following a PitchPower report, organisations can work towards 
the recommended dedicated maintenance regime identified to improve the quality of their 
pitches. Applicants are required to submit a PitchPower assessment for each of their pitches 
as a condition of a grant funding application for Football Foundation grass pitch investment, 
such as the Grass Pitch Maintenance fund (detailed later in this section). 
 
PitchPower is less restricted by the seasonal window of in-season play than the non-technical 
assessments, instead being able to be undertaken within a ten month period, with 
assessments completed and submitted within one of three windows: September - October, 
November – March or April – June.  
 
As well as the completion of other supporting information such as detail of volunteer training 
and what maintenance equipment is available, the assessment requires the taking of images 
and a single soil sample at each assessment site. There are three assessment sites for 11v11 
and 9v9 pitches at each goal area and the centre circle, whilst for mini pitches there are two 
sites at the centre circle and one goal area.  
 
The PitchPower assessments use a new five step Performance Quality Standard rating 
system developed by the GMA, with the Football Foundation and Sport England agreeing 
alignment with the capacity guidance within the existing PPS guidance. This alignment is 
shown in the table overleaf.  

Page 90



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   17 

Table 2.5: Agreed equivalent PPS rating for pitch Performance Quality Standard ratings. 
 

PQS Rating PPS Quality Rating 

Poor Poor 

Basic Standard 

Good Good 

Advanced 

High 
 
In Sandwell, five sites have received a PitchPower assessment. The findings of these in 
comparison to PPS findings are shown in the table below.  
 
Table 2.6: Summary of PitchPower findings compared to PPS quality ratings 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch type PPS quality 
rating 

PitchPower 
rating 

5 Birmingham County FA Football 
Development Centre 

Adult Good Good 

6 Birmingham County FA Headquarters Adult Poor Poor 

17 Cakemore Playing Field Mini (5v5)  Poor Basic 

Youth (9v9) Poor Poor 

Mini (7v7) Poor Poor 

Mini (7v7) Poor Basic 

Youth (9v9) Poor Basic 

Adult Poor Poor 

78 Gospel Oak School Youth (11v11) Standard Basic 

Adult Standard Poor 

97 Warley Rugby Club Adult Good High 

Adult Good High 
 
As shown, the findings are predominately aligned, with only minor differences between some 
poor and standard ratings at Cakemore Playing Field and Gospel Oak School.  
 
In addition to PitchPower, the FA has a general pitch improvement strategy, in partnership 
with the GMA. As part of this, it has a grass pitch maintenance service that can be utilised by 
clubs with the aim of improving knowledge, skills and therefore the quality of pitches. The key 
principles behind the service are to provide clubs with advice and practical solutions in a range 
of areas, with the simple aim of improving playing surfaces. This is designed to help clubs on 
sites that they themselves manage and maintain but can also be used to advise local authority-
maintained sites. 
 
The Football Foundation and the FA have also recently developed a new Grass Pitch 
Maintenance Fund that allows clubs and sports organisations to apply for funding for 
maintenance assistance, consumables and/or equipment. Whilst local authorities are currently 
ineligible applicants through this fund, clubs, leagues and/or charitable organisations using 
local authority sites can apply provided they have security of tenure.  
 
Funding is awarded over a ten-year period for up to 66% of the total cost required to bring the 
pitches up to an appropriate standard, following a site assessment. The level of funding then 
decreases year on year, with the expectation that the Club is able to take on the works 
independently by the end of the term. This fund was initially available until the end of March 
2020, although it has since been extended indefinitely due to ongoing circumstances 
surrounding Covid-19. 

Page 91



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   18 

Over marked pitches 
 
Over marking of pitches can cause notable damage to the surface quality and lead to overuse 
beyond recommended capacity. In some cases, mini pitches may be marked onto senior 
pitches or mini matches may be played widthways across adult or youth pitches. This can lead 
to targeted areas of surface damage due to a large amount of play focused on high traffic 
areas, particularly the middle third of the pitch.  
 
Over marking of pitches not only influences available capacity, but it may also cause logistical 
issues regarding kick off times; for example, when two teams of differing age formats are due 
to play at the same site at the same time.  
 
Additionally, it can be common for football pitches to be marked onto or overlapping cricket 
outfields. This creates availability issues at multi-sport sites as the cricket season begins in 
April when the football season is still ongoing, and the football season begins in August as 
cricket fixtures are still being played.  
 
The table below highlights all sites known to contain over marked pitches in Sandwell. 
 
Table 2.7: Sites containing over marked pitches 
 

Site 
ID 

Site Comments 

13 Britannia Park A mini 5v5 and a mini 7v7 pitch overmark an adult pitch. 

72 Q3 Academy Great Barr An adult pitch overmarked with rugby union. 

75 Red House Park Four adult and one mini 7v7 pitches overlap cricket. 

78 Gospel Oak School Youth 9v9 pitch overmarked with rugby union. 

79 Sandwell Academy Two adult pitches overlap a cricket outfield. 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre Four adult pitches overlap a cricket outfield. 

108 Wood Green Academy Youth 9v9 pitch overmarked with rugby union. 
 
Ancillary facilities 
 
As with pitch quality, the quality of ancillary facilities servicing football sites across Sandwell 
has been assessed on the basis of identifying good, standard and poor quality provision. To 
that end, the ratings are primarily influenced by the type and quality of amenities which are 
available on a site, such as a clubhouse, changing rooms, car parking and boundary fencing.  
 
Changing rooms in particular are an issue at numerous sites, with many being serviced by 
facilities that are poor quality, basic, and that do not provide sufficient space in relation to the 
number of pitches on site. Furthermore, several sites do not have changing provision at all, 
such as Powis Avenue and Victoria Park, which is a particular problem for adult football where 
changing facilities are a requirement for clubs to participate in a league structure.  
 
As an example of the above, Sandwell Falcons FC reports that it is without changing or toilet 
facilities at Britannia Park, which is linked to the aforementioned investment that has been 
secured for the site. The FA and Football Foundation are now working with the Council to 
transform the site into a women’s and girls’ football hub, with proposals including a large 
changing pavilion.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   19 

In addition to Britannia Park, facilities at the following sites are also reported to be in poor 
condition: 
 
 Cakemore Playing Fields  Red House Park 
 Greets Green Playing Fields  Tividale Park 
 Hydes Road Playing Fields  Warley RFC (St Johns Pitches) 
 Lion Farm Playing Fields  West Smethwick Park 

 
At Cakemore Playing Fields, whilst eight changing rooms are available, each room is small 
and many of these are now used for storage as no storage facilities are available on site.  
 
Funding has been acquired by the Council to upgrade the changing rooms at Tividale Park, 
with a new car park also to be constructed. Similarly, the Heritage Lottery funding acquired for 
West Smethwick Park will contribute to ancillary facility improvements.  
 
The facilities at Greets Green Playing Playing Fields have recently been surveyed and 
condemned, meaning they are no longer accessible to users.  
Whilst the pavilion at Charlemont Playing Fields is in adequate condition following relatively 
recent investment, the toilets are in poor condition whilst the showers are no longer safe for 
use.  
 
Both Wood Green Academy and Ormiston Sandwell Academy have aspirations to install 
dedicated external pavilions to better facilitate community use of their pitches. 
 
Tipton Town FC reports that ancillary and changing facilities at Tipton Sports Academy are of 
good quality, with no issues highlighted. 
 
Local Football Facility Plan 
 
As with grass pitch improvements, the LFFP for Sandwell identifies sites considered as priority 
sites for clubhouse and changing facility improvements, although there may again be a need 
to amend and/or add to this list based on the findings of this study. It recommends that the 
following six sites should be a priority for refurbishment/replacement:  
 
 Birmingham County FA  Lion Farm Playing Fields  
 Hydes Road Playing Fields  Tipton Sports Academy 
 King George V Playing Fields  West Smethwick Park 
 
Whilst most of these sites will still require improvement, as with the grass pitch projects, there 
may be a need to amend and/or add to this list based on the findings of the PPOSS. 
 
2.3: Demand  
 
Through the audit and assessment, 348 teams from within 115 clubs are identified as playing 
within Sandwell. This consists of 109 adult, 165 youth and 72 mini teams and includes eight 
adult women’s teams as well as 13 youth girls’ teams (12 youth 11v11 and one youth 9v9).  
 
The most prominent playing format is adult football (109 teams), closely followed by youth 
11v11 football (108 teams), whereas the least common is mini 5v5 football (29 teams). The 
largest number of teams are found in the Oldbury Analysis Area (97 teams) whilst the fewest 
number of teams play in the Tipton and Wednesbury analysis areas (19 teams). 
 
A summary of demand can be seen in the table overleaf. 
 
 

Page 93



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   20 

Table 2.8: Summary of teams currently playing in Sandwell 
 
Analysis area No. of teams  

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury 28 25 20 14 10 97 

Rowley Regis 20 22 6 8 9 65 

Smethwick 25 24 11 10 - 70 

Tipton 8 6 2 2 1 19 

Wednesbury 4 5 4 3 3 19 

West Bromwich 24 26 16 6 6 78 

Sandwell 109 108 59 43 29 348 
 
Participation trends 
 
The number of teams competing in Sandwell has declined in recent years (down from 365 in 
the 2018 PPS). This is most prevalent in relation to adult football, with 157 teams previously 
identified, whilst there has been an overall growth in youth football (from 135 teams to 167).  
 
When analysing each analysis area, there has been a considerable growth in the Rowley 
Regis Analysis Area and a reduction in the Tipton, Wednesbury and West Bromwich analysis 
areas.  
 
In contrast with an overall decline, 45% of consulted clubs report a growth in demand over the 
previous three years, whilst only two clubs report a reduction. These are Greets Green Albion 
FC and Oldbury United FC, which have both seen a decrease in youth demand, reportedly 
due to coaches leaving the clubs. The latter has, however, seen an increase in mini teams. 
 
Most clubs reporting an increase in demand have seen increases in the number of their youth 
teams. The reasons for the growth vary, but include a general increase in demand, the impact 
of initiatives and coaching sessions, increased access to secondary venues and the 
acquisition of additional coaches.  
 
The contrast between the findings of the consultation and the overall decline in team numbers 
could be due to the prevalence of the Walsall Junior Youth Football League (WJYFL), which 
offers central venues for youth and mini football across the Black Country. As many of these 
venues are outside of Sandwell, increased demand from Sandwell clubs for mini and youth 
football has likely been picked up by other Black Country authorities.  
 
Exported demand 
 
As mentioned above, a significant level of demand is exported from Sandwell via the WJYFL 
due to its central venue format. For example, Bustleholme FC fields 11 mini teams in the 
League because of the central venue format as the Club has been unable to identify sufficient 
mini pitches in Sandwell. Tipton Town FC also exports four mini and two youth teams from 
Sandwell due to competing in the WJYFL. 
 
Away from the WJYFL, Bustleholme FC also exports its first team to Dudley to groundshare 
with AFC Birmingham. It previously played at York Road Social & Sports Club but reports that 
the site has now closed. The Club was unable to find another suitable playing location within 
Sandwell. 
 
Great Barr Harriers FC exports it U7s team to the University of Aston Recreation Centre in 
Walsall whilst Oldbury United FC also exports its U8s team to the same site.  
 

Page 94



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   21 

In addition, Oldbury United FC has a partnership agreement with Cradley Town FC in Dudley. 
As part of this agreement, Oldbury United FC has three youth 11v11 teams based at Cradley 
Town Football Club due to a lack of pitches in Sandwell. In exchange, Cradley Town FC utilises 
Cakemore Playing Fields on an ad-hoc basis when it is unable to fulfil all its home fixtures at 
Cradley Town Football Club. 
 
Additionally, Sandwell College exports its U19s team to the Walter Goodman Stadium in 
Birmingham. This is due to ground requirements.  
 
Imported demand 
 
Both Stourbridge FC and Halas Hawks FC import demand from Dudley into Sandwell. 
Stourbridge FC indicates that this is due to a lack of availability within Dudley, which also 
applies to Halas Hawks FC. The Club is of a significant size.  
 
Latent demand 
 
Five clubs playing in Sandwell express latent demand. Most prominently, Bustleholme FC has 
now capped its team numbers due to a lack of available pitch provision. If it had sufficient 
access, the Club believes it could bring through five U7s teams each year. 
 
Sandwell Falcons FC and Tividale FC both also state they could field more teams if pitch 
quality/capacity was increased. However, they did not quantify any potential increases.  
 
Additionally, Sky Force FC and Oldbury United FC, as well as Bustleholme FC and Tividale 
FC, indicate that improved ancillary facilities would support them to field more teams. Oldbury 
United FC also indicates that it could field a further U7s, U9s and two U10 teams; however, it 
states that this is due to a lack of coaches rather than facilities.  
 
Future demand 
 
Future demand can be defined in two ways, through participation increases and by using 
population forecasts. In addition, the proceeding Strategy & Action Plan document will contain 
housing growth scenarios that will estimate the additional demand for football arising from 
housing developments within Sandwell. 
 
Population increases 
 
Team generation rates are used in the following table to calculate the number of teams likely 
to be generated in the future (2039) based on population growth. Using this, there is a predicted 
increase of seven adult, seven youth 11v11 and one mini 7v7 team. This represents significant 
growth from population increases alone. 
 
Table 2.9: Sandwell-wide team generation rates  
 

Age group Current 
population 
within age 

group 

Current 
no. of 
teams 

Team 
Generation 

Rate 

Future 
population 
within age 

group 
(2039) 

Predicted 
future 

number of 
teams 
(2039) 

No. of 
teams that 

may be 
generated  

Adult Mens (18-45)  61,698  97 1:636  66,161  104 7 

Adult Womens (18-45)  60,348  8 1:7,544  64,573  8 0 

Youth Boys (12-17)  13,053  94 1:139  13,893  100 6 

Youth Girls (12-17)  12,290  12 1:1,024  13,381  13 1 

Youth Boys (10-11)  4,821  55 1:88  4,800  54 0 

Page 95



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   22 

Age group Current 
population 
within age 

group 

Current 
no. of 
teams 

Team 
Generation 

Rate 

Future 
population 
within age 

group 
(2039) 

Predicted 
future 

number of 
teams 
(2039) 

No. of 
teams that 

may be 
generated  

Youth Girls (10-11)  4,632  1 1:4,632  4,560  1 0 

Mini Mixed (8-9)  9,296  43 1:216  9,554  44 1 

Mini Mixed (6-7)  10,231  29 1:353  9,735  27 0 

 
When broken down by analysis area, one adult and one youth 11v11 boys’ team is expected 
to be generated in each of the Oldbury, Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich 
analysis areas. This is summarised below and translates the demand to match equivalent 
sessions (0.5 match equivalent sessions represents one team, based on teams playing on a 
home and away basis).  
 
Table 2.10: Summary of future demand through team generation rates by analysis area 
 

 
Participation increases 
 
A total of seven clubs report aspirations to increase the number of teams that they provide in 
the future and quantify their growth. This equates to a potential growth of 29 teams, although 
it includes five mini teams from Bustleholme FC and one mini team from Tipton Town FC that 
would be exported outside of Sandwell due to accessing the WJYFL.  
 
Brandhall Colts FC and Tipton Town FC hope to form girls’ sections in the near future but did 
not state the age these teams would be or where they would play. 
 
Table 2.11: Potential team increases identified by clubs 
 
Club   Analysis area Future demand 

(teams) 
Pitch size Match 

equivalents 
Oldbury United Oldbury 2 Mini 5v5 1 
Sky Force FC Wednesbury 2 Adult 1 

2 Youth 11v11 1 
2 Youth 9v9 1 

Sandwell Falcons FC Rowley Regis 1 Mini 5v5 0.5 
Oldbury Warriors Oldbury 1 Youth 11v11 0.5 

1 Youth 9v9 0.5 
Bustleholme FC West Bromwich 4 Adult 2 

4 Youth 11v11 2 
5 Youth 9v9 2.5 

Total 12 
 

Analysis area Future demand (match equivalent sessions)  

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury 0.5 0.5 - - - 1 

Rowley Regis 0.5 0.5 - - - 1 

Smethwick 0.5 0.5 - - - 1 

Tipton - - - - - 0 

Wednesbury - - - - - 0 

West Bromwich 0.5 0.5 - - - 1 

Sandwell 2 2 - - - 4 

Page 96



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   23 

Furthermore, Tividale FC reports plans to add additional teams but did not quantify this 
aspiration. 
 
The total future demand expressed by the clubs relating to pitch access in Sandwell (therefore 
discounting Bustleholme FC’s demand) amounts to 12 match equivalent sessions per week. 
Most of this is identified in the West Bromwich Analysis Area (12 match equivalent sessions) 
and on youth 9v9 pitches (four match equivalent sessions) whilst none is identified on mini 
7v7 pitches or in the Smethwick and Tipton analysis areas. 
 
Table 2.12: Summary of future demand expressed by clubs 
 

 
Included within the future demand expressed by clubs is demand for the creation of female 
teams by Sky Force FC and Bustleholme FC. Increasing female demand is currently a priority 
area for the FA. 
 
Related to the above, Wildcats centres work with County FA qualified coaches to deliver local 
weekly sessions, providing opportunities for girls aged five to 11 to develop fundamental skills 
and experience football in a safe and fun environment. All organisations delivering Wildcats 
centres receive a £900 start-up grant and 30 branded footballs in their first year of running the 
programme to help develop and increase girl’s participation.  
 
Through Wildcats, it is likely that the growth in affiliated female demand will exceed that shown 
through team generation rates and club aspirations, although to what extent is not currently 
quantifiable.  
 
Future demand summary  
 
In the supply and demand analysis at the end of this section of the report, only future demand 
identified through population increases are included due to the large increases expressed by 
clubs. This demand is considered more aspirational, and it is unlikely that it will all be achieved. 
However, the preceding Strategy document will include a scenario to identify the impact it 
would have if the growth was realised.   
 
2.4: Capacity analysis 
 
The capacity for pitches to regularly provide for competitive play, training and other activity 
over a season is most often determined by quality. As a minimum, the quality and therefore 
the capacity of a pitch affects the playing experience and people’s enjoyment. In extreme 
circumstances, it can result in the inability of a pitch to cater for all or certain types of play 
during peak and off-peak times.  
 
As a guide, the FA has set a standard number of matches that each grass pitch type should 
be able to accommodate without it adversely affecting its quality.  
 

Analysis area Future demand (match equivalent sessions)  

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury - 0.5 0.5 - 1 2 

Rowley Regis - - - - 0.5 0.5 

Smethwick - - - - - 0 

Tipton - - - - - 0 

Wednesbury 1 1 1 - - 3 

West Bromwich 2 2 2.5 - - 6.5 

Sandwell 3 3.5 4 0 1.5 12 

Page 97



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   24 

Taking into consideration the guidelines on capacity, the following ratings are used in 
Sandwell: 
 

Adult pitches Youth pitches Mini pitches 
Pitch quality Matches per 

week 
Pitch quality Matches per 

week 
Pitch quality Matches per 

week 
Good 3 Good 4 Good 6 

Standard 2 Standard 2 Standard 4 
Poor 1 Poor 1 Poor 2 

 
Table 2.14 applies the above pitch ratings against the actual level of weekly play recorded to 
determine a capacity rating as follows:  
 
Potential capacity Play is below the level the site could sustain 

At capacity   Play matches the level the site can sustain 

Overused Play exceeds the level the site can sustain 
 
Match equivalent sessions 
 
Pitches have a limit of how much play they can accommodate over a certain period of time 
before their quality, and in turn their use, is adversely affected. As the main usage of pitches 
is likely to be for matches, it is appropriate for the comparable unit to be match equivalent 
sessions but may for example include training sessions and informal use. 
 
Education sites 
 
To account for curricular/extra-curricular use of education pitches, the current usage of such 
sites needs to be adjusted. The only time this would not happen is when a school does not 
use its pitches at all and the sole use is community use. The adjustment is typically dependent 
on the amount of play carried out, the number of pitches on site and whether there is access 
to an on-site AGP (as this can result in less grass pitch use).  
 
In some cases, where there is no identified community use, there is little capacity to 
accommodate further play. Internal usage often exceeds recommended pitch capacity, which 
is further exacerbated by basic maintenance regimes that may not extend beyond grass 
cutting and line marking. As such, where not overplayed as a result of community use, many 
school sites are considered to have no spare capacity to accommodate further usage based 
on assumed curricular and extra-curricular activity.  
 
For school sites which are available for community use, current play has been enlarged on a 
site-by-site basis following consultation with the providers. Generally, usage is increased by 
one match equivalent session per pitch; however, in some cases, further use is added when 
it is known that a particular provider uses a particular pitch heavily.  
 
Informal use 
 
Several football pitches in the area are on open access sites. As such, these pitches are 
subject to informal use in the form of, for example, dog walkers, unorganised games of football 
and exercise groups. It must be noted, however, that informal use of these sites is not recorded 
and it is therefore difficult to quantify on a site-by-site basis. Instead, it is recommended that 
open access sites be protected through an improved maintenance regime.  
 
 
 

Page 98



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                   25 

Peak time 
 
Spare capacity can only be considered as actual spare capacity if pitches are available at 
peak time, which can differ for each pitch type depending on when leagues operate for each 
format of play. In Sandwell, peak time for all types of football is Sunday AM, based on current 
demand levels.  
 
On occasion, spare capacity in the peak period is identified despite the pitch being played to 
capacity or overplayed, or more spare capacity is identified in the peak period than the overall 
spare capacity that exists. This is because most or all use on those pitches occurs outside of 
the peak period. Where this is the case, given that peak time usage should not be utilised over 
and above overall capacity, adjustments have been made.  
 
A pitch is only said to have ‘actual spare capacity’ if it is available for community use and 
available at the peak time for that format of play. Any pitch not meeting this criterion is therefore 
not considered to have additional capacity, although it may have capacity outside of peak time. 
 
There may also be situations where, although a site is highlighted as potentially able to 
accommodate some additional play, this should not be recorded as actual spare capacity 
against the site. For example, a site may be managed to operate slightly below full capacity to 
ensure that it can cater for regular friendly matches and activities that take place but are 
difficult to quantify on a weekly basis.  
 
Pitches that are of a poor quality are not deemed to have actual spare capacity due to the 
already low carrying capacity of the pitches. Instead, any identified spare capacity should be 
retained to relieve the pitches of use, which in turn will aid the improvement of pitch quality. 
Furthermore, any pitches with unsecured tenure are not considered to have actual spare 
capacity as no further play should be encouraged on such sites given that future access cannot 
be guaranteed.  
 
The table below identifies the way actual spare capacity is represented in Table 2.14. 
 
Table 2.13: Spare capacity examples  
 

Spare capacity in peak 
period (examples) 

Explanation of spare capacity 

1 If the cell is highlighted in green with a number, it means that the pitches 
have actual spare capacity at peak time. 

- If the cell has a dash in it, this means that the pitch is unavailable in the 
peak period. If it was to be made available, actual spare capacity could 
exist.  

0 If the cell has a 0 in it, this means that the pitch is played to capacity, 
either overall or during the peak period.  

1 If the cell has a number in it but is not highlighted, it means the pitch has 
spare capacity in the peak period; however, this is discounted. This is 
most commonly due to unsecure tenure and/or poor pitch quality. 

 

Page 99



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           26 

Site 
ID 
 

Site name 
 

Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Management Security 
of tenure 

Pitch 
type 

Pitch 
size 

Agreed 
quality 
rating 

No. of 
pitches 

Site   
capacity 

Current 
play 

Capacity 
balance 

Spare 
capacity 
in peak 
period 

Comments 

2 Ashtree Playing Field B64 5NE Rowley 
Regis 

Yes-unused Council Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 0 2 1 Actual spare capacity 

3 Barnford Park B68 8ED Oldbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 4 4 0 4 4 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

4 Bearmore Playing 
Field 

B64 6EA Rowley 
Regis 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 2 2 2 0 0 Played to capacity. 

5 Birmingham County 
FA Football 
Development Centre 

B43 6JE West 
Bromwich 

Yes NGB Secure Adult   Good 1 3 1.5 1.5 1 Actual spare capacity 

6 Birmingham County 
FA Headquarters 

B43 6JF West 
Bromwich 

Yes Commercial Secure Adult   Poor 1 1 1 0 0 Played to capacity. 

7 Black Patch Park B66 2LS Smethwick Yes Council Secure Youth (11v11) Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

8 Blackheath Primary 
School 

B65 9NF Rowley 
Regis 

No School Unsecure Mini (7v7) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

B68 0SH Oldbury Yes School Unsecure Mini (5v5) Poor 1 2 2.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

Mini (7v7) Poor 1 2 3 1 - Overplayed 

Youth (11v11) Poor 2 2 2 0 1 Played to capacity. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 2 1 - Overplayed 

11 Bristnall Hall 
Academy 

B68 9PA Oldbury No School Unsecure Youth (11v11) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

13 Britannia Park B65 8DR Rowley 
Regis 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 1 1 1.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

Mini (5v5) Poor 2 4 0.5 3.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Mini (7v7) Poor 2 4 0.5 3.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

14 Brunswick Park WS10 9HH Wednesbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 0 2 1 Actual spare capacity 

16 Bustleholme Playing 
Fields 

B71 3EX West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Youth (9v9) Poor 3 3 0 3 3 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

17 Cakemore Playing 
Field 

B68 8BL Oldbury Yes Council Secure Mini (5v5) Poor 2 4 2.5 1.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

Mini (7v7) Poor 2 4 3.5 0.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 2 2 6 4 - Overplayed 

18 Causeway Green 
Primary School 

B68 8LX Oldbury No School Unsecure Youth (9v9) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

19 Charlemont Playing 
Fields 

B71 3EN West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Youth (11v11) Poor 2 2 6.5 4.5 - Overplayed 

Youth (9v9) Poor 3 3 4.5 1.5 - Overplayed 

21 Churchfields Playing 
Fields 

B71 3SX West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 3 6 6 0 0 Played to capacity. 

22 Coneygre Arts 
Centre Pitches 

DY4 8UH Tipton Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 1 1 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

24 Devonshire Infant & 
Junior Academy 

B67 7AT Smethwick Yes School Unsecure Youth (9v9) Standard 1 2 2 0 0 Played to capacity. 

26 F.C Premier B43 6JF West 
Bromwich 

Yes Club Secure Adult   Good 1 3 2.5 0.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

Adult   Standard 1 2 2 0 0 Played to capacity. 

27 Farley Park 
 
 

DY4 7JQ Tipton Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 1 1 1 0 0 Played to capacity. 

P
age 100



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           27 

Site 
ID 
 

Site name 
 

Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Management Security 
of tenure 

Pitch 
type 

Pitch 
size 

Agreed 
quality 
rating 

No. of 
pitches 

Site   
capacity 

Current 
play 

Capacity 
balance 

Spare 
capacity 
in peak 
period 

Comments 

31 George Salter 
Academy 

B70 9UW West 
Bromwich 

Yes School Unsecure Adult   Poor 2 2 2.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

Unsecure Youth (11v11) Standard 1 2 2 0 0 Played to capacity. 

33 Great Bridge Primary 
School 

DY4 7DE Tipton No School Unsecure Mini (7v7) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

34 Greets Green 
Playing Fields 

B70 9BZ West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 0 2 1 Actual spare capacity. 

Adult   Poor 2 2 0 2 2 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

36 Hadley Stadium B66 4ND Smethwick Yes Trust Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 9 7 - Overplayed 

37 Hanbury Primary 
School 

B70 9NT West 
Bromwich 

No School Unsecure Mini (7v7) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

38 Hargate Primary 
School 

B71 1PG West 
Bromwich 

No School Unsecure Mini (5v5) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

40 Holly Lodge High 
School College of 
Science 

B67 7JG Smethwick Yes School Unsecure Adult   Standard 2 4 2 2 1.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

42 Holyhead Primary 
School 

WS10 7PZ Wednesbury Yes School Unsecure Youth (9v9) Standard 1 2 1.5 0.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

43 Hydes Road Playing 
Fields 

WS10 0DR Wednesbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 6 6 3 3 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 1.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

44 Jesson Playing 
Fields 

B71 1NJ West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

45 Jubilee Park DY4 0QS Tipton Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 2 2 2 0 0 Played to capacity. 

Mini (7v7) Poor 2 4 0 4 2 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

47 King George V 
Playing Fields 

B71 4BG West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 7 14 6.5 7.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

48 Langley Primary 
School 

B69 4QB Oldbury No School Unsecure Mini (5v5) Poor 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

50 Lion Farm Playing 
Fields 

B69 1JD Oldbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 11 11 6.5 4.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

53 Moat Farm Junior 
School 

B68 9QR Oldbury No School Unsecure Youth (9v9) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

55 Newtown Primary 
School 

B70 0ES Tipton No School Unsecure Mini (5v5) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

59 Old Park Primary 
School 

WS10 9LX Wednesbury No School Unsecure Youth (11v11) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

60 Oldbury Academy B68 8NE Oldbury No School Unsecure Adult   Poor 1 1 1 0 0 Played to capacity. 

Youth (11v11) Poor 1 1 1 0 0 Played to capacity. 

61 Ormiston Forge 
Academy (Hingleys) 

DY2 9LT Rowley 
Regis 

Yes School Unsecure Adult   Standard 1 2 8.5 6.5 - Overplayed 

Mini (7v7) Standard 2 8 4.5 3.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community 
Academy 

B69 2HE Oldbury Yes School Unsecure Adult   Poor 3 3 3 0 0 Played to capacity. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 0.5 0.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

65 Perryfields High 
School 
 

B68 0RG Oldbury No School Unsecure Mini (5v5) Poor 3 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

P
age 101



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           28 

Site 
ID 
 

Site name 
 

Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Management Security 
of tenure 

Pitch 
type 

Pitch 
size 

Agreed 
quality 
rating 

No. of 
pitches 

Site   
capacity 

Current 
play 

Capacity 
balance 

Spare 
capacity 
in peak 
period 

Comments 

66 Phoenix Collegiate B71 2BX West 
Bromwich 

No School Unsecure Adult   Poor 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

Youth (11v11) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

71 Q3 Academy B68 8ED Oldbury Yes Council Unsecure Adult   Standard 1 2 0.5 1.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

Youth (9v9) Standard 1 2 1 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

72 Q3 Academy Great 
Barr 

B43 7SD West 
Bromwich 

No School Unsecure Adult   Poor 2 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton DY4 7NR Tipton No Private  Unsecure Adult   Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

74 Queen Elizabeth 
Playing Fields 

B71 3RT West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 2 2 0.5 0.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Mini (7v7) Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 0 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to poor pitch quality. 

75 Red House Park B43 6AD West 
Bromwich 

Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 4 8 5 3 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

Mini (7v7) Standard 1 4 0.5 3.5 0.5 Actual spare capacity. 

76 Rounds Green 
Primary School 

B69 2DP Oldbury No School Unsecure Mini (7v7) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

77 St Michael's CE High 
School 

B65 8JY Rowley 
Regis 

Yes School Unsecure Youth (11v11) Poor 1 1 6 5 - Overplayed 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 3.5 2.5 - Overplayed 

78 Gospel Oak School DY4 0SX Tipton Yes School Secure Youth (11v11) Standard 1 2 1 1 1 Actual spare capacity. 

Youth (9v9) Standard 1 2 1 1 1 Actual spare capacity. 

79 Sandwell Academy B69 2DP Smethwick Yes School Unsecure Adult   Standard 2 4 3 1 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

84 Stoney Lane B67 7HP Smethwick Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 2 4 0 4 2 Actual spare capacity. 

87 Thimblemill 
Recreation Centre 

B67 6NR Oldbury Yes Sport Club Secure Adult   Poor 4 4 5.5 1.5 - Overplayed 

90 Tipton Sports 
Academy 

DY4 0BS Tipton Yes Trust Unsecure Adult   Standard 1 2 3.5 1.5 - Overplayed 

Youth (11v11) Standard 1 2 2.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

91 Tividale Football 
Club 

B69 1UL Rowley 
Regis 

Yes Sport Club Secure Adult   Good 1 3 1.5 1.5 0.5 Discounted spare capacity to 
preserve pitch quality for Step 
football. 

92 Tividale Park B69 2HU Oldbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 1 1 1.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

Youth (9v9) Poor 1 1 1.5 0.5 - Overplayed 

93 Tividale Sports 
Ground 

B69 2HF Oldbury Yes Council Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 1.5 0.5 0 Played to capacity at peak time.  

Mini (5v5) Standard 2 8 0 8 2 Actual spare capacity. 

97 Warley Rugby Club B69 4NH Oldbury Yes Sport Club Secure Adult   Good 2 6 9.5 3.5 - Overplayed 

98 Warley Rugby Club 
(St John’s 
Recreation Ground) 

B68 9SD Smethwick Yes Sport Club Secure Adult   Standard 1 2 0.5 1.5 0.5 Actual spare capacity. 

100 Wednesbury Oak 
Academy 

B71 4AA Tipton No Sport Club Secure Mini (7v7) Standard 1 - - - - Unavailable for community use. 

102 West Bromwich 
Albion (The 
Hawthorns) 

WS10 0SB Smethwick No Sport Club Secure Adult   Good 1 3 1 2 2 Discounted spare capacity to 
preserve pitch quality for 
Championship football.  

105 West Smethwick 
Park 

WS10 0SB Smethwick Yes Council Secure Adult   Poor 4 4 6 2 - Overplayed 

Mini (7v7) Poor 1 2 1 1 0 Played to capacity at peak time. 

107 Wodensborough 
Ormiston Academy 

WS10 0SB Wednesbury Yes School Unsecure Youth (11v11) Standard 1 2 5 3 - Overplayed 

P
age 102



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           29 

Site 
ID 
 

Site name 
 

Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Management Security 
of tenure 

Pitch 
type 

Pitch 
size 

Agreed 
quality 
rating 

No. of 
pitches 

Site   
capacity 

Current 
play 

Capacity 
balance 

Spare 
capacity 
in peak 
period 

Comments 

108 Wood Green 
Academy 

WS10 0SB Wednesbury Yes School Unsecure Adult   Standard 2 4 0.5 3.5 1.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

Youth (11v11) Standard 1 2 1 1 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

Youth (9v9) Standard 1 2 0 2 1 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

109 York Road Social & 
Sports Club 

WS10 0SB Oldbury Yes Sport Club Unsecure Adult   Standard 1 2 1 1 0.5 Discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. Reported to 
have closed. 

128 Jubilee Play Area DY4 0QS Oldbury Yes Council Secure Youth (11v11) Standard 2 4 0 4 2 Actual spare capacity. 

P
age 103



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       30 

Actual spare capacity  
 
The table below identifies actual spare capacity by site and pitch type across Sandwell. It totals 
13 match equivalent sessions per week and is identified across 14 pitches at ten sites. This 
represents comparatively minimal levels.  
 
Table 2.15: Summary of actual spare capacity 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis 
area 

Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Capacity 
rating 

(sessions) 

2 Ashtree Playing Field Rowley 
Regis 

Adult 1 1 

5 Birmingham County FA 
Football Development Centre 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult 1 1 

14 Brunswick Park Wednesbury Adult 1 1 

34 Greets Green Playing Fields West 
Bromwich 

Adult 1 1 

75 Red House Park West 
Bromwich 

Mini (7v7) 1 0.5 

78 Gospel Oak School Tipton Youth (11v11) 1 1 

Youth (9v9) 1 1 

84 Stoney Lane Smethwick Adult 2 2 

93 Tividale Sports Ground Oldbury Mini (5v5) 2 2 

98 Warley Rugby Club (St 
John’s Recreation Ground) 

Smethwick Adult 1 0.5 

128 Jubilee Play Area Oldbury Youth (11v11) 2 2 

Total 14 13 
 
The Oldbury Analysis Area provides the largest amount of actual spare capacity, with four 
match equivalent sessions, whereas the least is identified in the Tipton and Rowley Regis 
analysis areas with one match equivalent session each. Furthermore, only one match 
equivalent session of actual spare capacity exists on the youth 9v9 pitch stock.  
 
Table 2.16: Summary of actual spare capacity by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Actual spare capacity (match equivalent sessions per week) 

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury - 2 - - 2 4 

Rowley Regis 1 - - - - 1 

Smethwick 2.5 - - - - 2.5 

Tipton - 1 1 - - 2 

Wednesbury 1 - - - - 1 

West Bromwich 2 - - 0.5 - 2.5 

Sandwell 6.5 3 1 0.5 2 13 
 
In addition, it must be noted that an additional 22.5 match equivalents sessions per week of 
potential spare capacity have also been discounted due to poor quality, which is significant. 
Moreover, 8.5 match equivalent sessions per week have been discounted due to unsecure 
tenure.  
 
 
 

Page 104



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       31 

Overplay 
 
Overplay occurs when there is more play accommodated on a site than it can sustain (based 
on its quality rating), which can often be due to the low carrying capacity of pitches. In 
Sandwell, 33 pitches across 15 sites are overplayed by a combined total of 48 match 
equivalent sessions per week. This represents considerable levels of overplay and is 
summarised in the table overleaf.  
 
Table 2.17: Summary of overplay 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis area Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Capacity 
rating 

(sessions) 

9 Brandhall Primary School Oldbury Youth (9v9) 1 1 

Mini (7v7) 1 1 

Mini (5v5) 1 0.5 

13 Britannia Park Rowley Regis Adult 1 0.5 

17 Cakemore Playing Field Oldbury Youth (9v9) 2 4 

19 Charlemont Playing Fields West Bromwich Youth (11v11) 2 4.5 

Youth (9v9) 3 1.5 

31 George Salter Academy West Bromwich Adult 2 0.5 

36 Hadley Stadium Smethwick Adult 1 7 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Wednesbury Youth (9v9) 1 0.5 

61 Ormiston Forge Academy 
(Hingleys) 

Rowley Regis Adult 1 6.5 

77 St Michael's CE High School Rowley Regis Youth (11v11) 1 5 

Youth (9v9) 1 2.5 

87 Thimblemill Recreation 
Centre 

Oldbury Adult 4 1.5 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Tipton Adult 1 1.5 

Youth (11v11) 1 0.5 

92 Tividale Park Oldbury Adult 1 0.5 

Youth (9v9) 1 0.5 

97 Warley RFC Oldbury Adult 2 3.5 

105 West Smethwick Park Smethwick Adult 4 2 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston 
Academy 

Wednesbury Youth (11v11) 1 3 

Total 33 48 
 
In total, there are 23.5 match equivalent sessions per week of overplay on adult pitches, 13 
on youth 11v11 pitches, ten on youth 9v9 pitches, one on mini 7v7 pitches and 0.5 on mini 
5v5 pitches. Each analysis area is experiencing some level of overplay, most prominently in 
the Rowley Regis Analysis Area (14.5 match equivalent sessions). 
 
  

Page 105



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       32 

Table 2.18: Summary of overplay by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Overplay (match equivalent sessions per week) 

Adult Youth 11v11 Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 Total 

Oldbury 5.5 - 5.5 1 0.5 12.5 

Rowley Regis 7 5 2.5 - - 14.5 

Smethwick 9 - - - - 9 

Tipton 1.5 0.5 - - - 2 

Wednesbury - 3 0.5 - - 3.5 

West Bromwich 0.5 4.5 1.5 - - 6.5 

Sandwell 23.5 13 10 1 0.5 48 
 
Of the overplayed pitches, ten are assessed as poor quality where improvements would 
relieve issues. Additionally, six are located at education sites, where curricular and extra-
curricular use adds to the capacity issues, in addition to community access.  
 
In addition to the overplayed pitches, it should be noted that nine pitches across Sandwell are 
currently played to capacity. Any further use of these, without quality improvements, would 
result in further overplay developing.  
 
2.5: Supply and demand analysis 
 
Having considered supply and demand, the tables below identify the current supply and 
demand balance (i.e., spare capacity taking away overplay) in each of the analysis areas for 
each pitch type. The future demand balance is then also calculated, based on the predicted 
increases from population growth.  
 
Adult pitch analysis  
 
Overall, there is currently a considerable shortfall of adult pitch capacity in Sandwell amounting 
to 17 match equivalent sessions per week, although spare capacity is identified in the 
Wednesbury and West Bromwich analysis areas. 
 
When accounting for future demand, the overall shortfall increases to 19 match equivalent 
sessions per week. 
 
Table 2.19: Supply and demand balance of adult pitches 
 
Analysis area Match equivalent sessions (per week) 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
total 

Future 
demand 

Total 

Oldbury - 5.5 5.5 0.5 6 

Rowley Regis 1 7 6 0.5 6.5 

Smethwick 2.5 9 6.5 0.5 7 

Tipton - 1.5 1.5 - 1.5 

Wednesbury 1 - 1 - 1 

West Bromwich 2 0.5 1.5 0.5 1 

Sandwell 6.5 23.5 17 2 19 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       33 

Youth 11v11 pitch analysis 
 
There is currently a capacity shortfall across Sandwell on youth 11v11 pitches totalling ten 
match equivalent sessions per week. This is due to a shortfall in three of the analysis areas, 
with spare capacity of two and 0.5 match equivalent sessions per week of capacity in the 
Oldbury and Tipton analysis areas respectively. The Smethwick Analysis Area is played to 
capacity.  
 
When future demand is considered, the overall shortfall increases to 12 match equivalent 
sessions per week. 
 
Table 2.20: Supply and demand balance of youth 11v11 pitches 
 
Analysis area Match equivalent sessions (per week) 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
total 

Future 
demand 

Total 

Oldbury 2 - 2 0.5 1.5 

Rowley Regis - 5 5 0.5 5.5 

Smethwick - - 0 0.5 0.5 

Tipton 1 0.5 0.5 - 0.5 

Wednesbury - 3 3 - 3 

West Bromwich - 4.5 4.5 0.5 5 

Sandwell 3 13 10 2 12 
 
Youth 9v9 pitch analysis 
 
There is a current and future overall shortfall of youth 9v9 pitch capacity in Sandwell amounting 
to nine match equivalent sessions per week. There is a current and future shortfall evident in 
four of the six analysis areas, with the Smethwick Analysis Area played to capacity and the 
Tipton Analysis Area having one match equivalent session of capacity per week.  
 
Table 2.21: Supply and demand balance of youth 9v9 pitches 
 
Analysis area Match equivalent sessions (per week) 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
total 

Future 
demand 

Total 

Oldbury - 5.5 5.5 - 5.5 

Rowley Regis - 2.5 2.5 - 2.5 

Smethwick - - 0 - 0 

Tipton 1 - 1 - 1 

Wednesbury - 0.5 0.5 - 0.5 

West Bromwich - 1.5 1.5 - 1.5 

Sandwell 1 10 9 0 9 
 
Mini 7v7 pitch analysis 
 
Across Sandwell, there is overplay of 0.5 match equivalent sessions per week on mini 7v7 
pitches. The Oldbury Analysis Area is overplayed by one match equivalent session per week 
whilst the West Bromwich Analysis Area has 0.5 match equivalent sessions of spare capacity. 
This is not impacted by future demand aspirations. All remaining analysis areas are played to 
capacity both currently and after considering future demand.  
 
 

Page 107



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       34 

Table 2.22: Supply and demand balance of mini 7v7 pitches 
 
Analysis area Match equivalent sessions (per week) 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
total 

Future 
demand 

Total 

Oldbury - 1 1 - 1 

Rowley Regis - - 0 - 0 

Smethwick - - 0 - 0 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - - 0 - 0 

West Bromwich 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.5 

Sandwell 0.5 1 0.5 0 0.5 
 
Mini 5v5 pitch analysis 
 
Currently, there is minimal overall spare capacity on mini 5v5 pitches in Sandwell totalling 1.5 
match equivalent sessions per week. This is attributed to the Oldbury Analysis Area.  
 
Table 2.23: Supply and demand balance of mini 5v5 pitches 
 
Analysis area Match equivalent sessions (per week) 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
total 

Future 
demand 

Total 

Oldbury 2 0.5 1.5 - 1.5 

Rowley Regis - - 0 0 0 

Smethwick - - 0 - 0 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - - 0 - 0 

West Bromwich - - 0 - 0 

Sandwell 2 0.5 1.5 0 1.5 
 
Overall supply and demand analysis 
 
Using the supply and demand analysis tables above, it is determined that there is currently a 
shortfall of adult, youth 11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 7v7 match equivalent sessions in Sandwell 
and sufficient capacity on mini 5v5 pitches, albeit minimal. After factoring in future demand, 
the existing shortfalls on adult and youth 11v11 pitches are projected to worsen. 
 
Table 2.24: Summary of supply and demand 
 
Pitch type Match equivalent sessions per week 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current total Future demand Total 

Adult 6.5 23.5 17 2 19 

Youth 11v11 3 13 10 2 12 

Youth 9v9 1 10 9 - 9 

Mini 7v7 0.5 1 0.5 - 0.5 

Mini 5v5 2 0.5 1.5 - 1.5 
 
 
 

Page 108



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       35 

When compared to the findings of the 2018 PPS, there has been a significant change in the 
supply and demand analysis findings. For example, for adult football, overall spare capacity 
was previously identified, compared to a considerable shortfall currently. This can be 
explained by there now being more poor quality pitches (with spare capacity now discounted) 
and a reduction in the number of adult pitches. Although this is partly offset by a reduction in 
adult demand, an increasing number of youth teams are also using adult pitches.  
 
Conversely, the shortfall of youth 11v11 and youth 9v9 pitch capacity is now less than it was 
previously. There are multiple reasons for this, including an increase in the number of youth 
pitches, an increase in the number of youth teams using adult pitches, and an increase in the 
number of youth teams using 3G pitches for matches.  
 
Similarly, there was previously a greater shortfall of mini 7v7 pitch capacity and a shortfall of 
mini 5v5 pitch capacity, which can be explained by the number of mini teams now using 3G 
pitches for match play.  
  

Page 109



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       36 

Football – grass pitch supply and demand summary  
 Actual spare capacity totals 13 match equivalent sessions per week across football pitches in 

Sandwell, which is a minimal amount.  
 A total of 33 pitches across 15 sites are overplayed by a combined total of 48 match equivalent 

sessions per week.  
 There is a current shortfall of adult, youth 11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 7v7 match equivalent 

sessions, whilst minimal capacity exists on mini 5v5 pitches.  
 After factoring in future demand, shortfalls are predicted to worsen on adult and youth 11v11 

pitches. 
Football – supply summary  
 The audit identifies a total of 171 grass football pitches within Sandwell across 70 sites, with 

139 pitches available, at some level, for community use across 48 sites. 
 As a breakdown, there are 86 adult, 13 youth 11v11, 21 youth 9v9, 12 mini 7v7 and seven mini 

5v5 pitches that are available for community use.  
 Lapsed/disused pitches are identified at Friar Park Playing Fields, Kent Road Park, Kenrick 

Park, Powis Avenue, Brickhouse Farm and Elwells. 
 The Council and education providers are the predominant suppliers of football pitches. 
 Bustleholme FC and Oldbury United aspire to formalise long-term tenure agreements for their 

respective home venues. 
 Most community available pitches are considered to be poor quality, with 83 assessed as this, 

although there is also a large quantity assessed as standard (51).  

 Only five pitches are assessed as good quality. 

 Quality of ancillary provision is an issue at sites such as Cakemore Playing Fields, Charlemont 
Playing Fields, Greets Green Playing Fields, Hydes Road Playing Fields, Lion Farm Playing 
Fields, Red House Park, Tividale Park, Warley RFC (St Johns Pitches) and West Smethwick 
Park. 

 Ancillary facility improvements are planned at Britannia Park, Tividale Park and West 
Smethwick Park whilst Wood Green Academy and Ormiston Sandwell Academy aspire to 
provide new provision. 

Football – demand summary  
 Through the audit and assessment, 348 teams from within 115 clubs are identified as playing 

within Sandwell, consisting of 109 adult, 167 youth and 72 mini teams. 
 The number of teams competing in Sandwell has declined in recent years although consultation 

indicates that the majority of clubs have seen an increase in demand (the contradication may 
be to do with the presence of the WJYFL and the exported demand it creates).  

 There are high levels of exported demand, with a large number of teams playing in 
neighbouring authorities due to a lack of pitch capacity and availability within Sandwell, in 
addition to the prevalence of the WJYFL. 

 A total of five clubs express latent demand in that they could field more teams if more pitch 
capacity or improved ancillary facilities were available to them.  

 Based on population growth, an increase of seven adult, seven youth 11v11 and one mini 7v7 
team is projected (to 2039), whilst six clubs report aspirations to grow by a combined total of 29 
teams. 

 

 
  

Page 110



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       37 

PART 3: THIRD GENERATION TURF (3G) ARTIFICIAL GRASS PITCHES (AGPS) 
 
Competitive football can take place on 3G surfaces that have been FIFA or International 
Matchball Standard tested and approved by the FA for inclusion on the FA pitch register. As 
such a growing number of 3G pitches are now used for competitive match play, providing that 
the performance standard meets FIFA quality requirements. 
 
World Rugby produced the ‘Performance Specification for artificial grass pitches for rugby’, 
more commonly known as ‘Regulation 22’, which provides the necessary technical detail to 
produce pitch systems that are appropriate for rugby union. The artificial surface standards 
identified in Regulation 22 allows matches to be played on surfaces that meet the required 
standard, meaning full contact activity can take place. 
 
Competitive rugby league play and contact practice is permitted to take place on 3G pitches 
which are deemed by the Rugby Football League (RFL) to meet its Performance Standard. 
Pitches fall under two categories; community club pitches which require retesting every two 
years and elite stadia pitches which require an annual retest. Much of the criteria within the 
RFL performance standard test also forms part of the World Rugby test, meaning World Rugby 
certified 3G pitches are considered by the RFL to be able to meet rugby league requirements, 
subject to passing an additional RFL performance standard test.  
 
Other sports that are known to use 3G pitches for training and match play include American 
football and lacrosse. Many test contractors are able to offer reduced rates through efficiency 
savings to carry out multiple performance tests in the same session, therefore providers 
seeking 3G pitch compliancy for a number of sports would be recommended to consider this 
opportunity.  
 
England Hockey’s Artificial Grass Playing Surface Policy (June 2016) advises that 3G pitches 
should not be used for hockey matches or training and that they can only be used for lower 
level hockey (introductory level) as a last resort when no sand-based or water-based AGPs 
are available.  
 
3.2 Current provision 

A full size 3G pitch is considered by the FA to measure at least 100 x 64 metres (106 x 70 
metres including run offs); however, for the purposes of this report, all pitches measuring over 
100 x 60 metres (inclusive of run offs) are included as full size due to the amount of demand 
they can accommodate. It is common for such pitches to be slightly undersized, especially 
when sand-based pitches have been converted as the size requirement for hockey is generally 
smaller than for football.  

As seen in the table below, there are currently six full size outdoor 3G pitches in Sandwell 
across the same number of sites. All of the pitches are floodlit and four are available for 
community use.  

Table 3.1: Full size 3G pitches in Sandwell  
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Floodlit? Size 
(metres) 

31 George Salter Academy B70 9UW West 
Bromwich 

Yes Yes 102 x 63 

36 Hadley Stadium B66 4ND Smethwick Yes Yes 100 x 60 

68 Portway Lifestyle 
Centre 

B69 1HE Rowley 
Regis 

Yes Yes 104 x 64 

78 Gospel Oak School DY4 0BZ Tipton Yes Yes 100 x 60 

Page 111



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       38 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Floodlit? Size 
(metres) 

79 Sandwell Academy B71 4LG Smethwick No Yes 100 x 60 

103 West Bromwich Albion 
FC Academy 

B71 4LG Smethwick No Yes 105 x 70 

 
The pitch at West Bromwich Albion FC Academy is considered as unavailable as most of the 
access is reserved for use by the professional club. Similarly, the pitch at Sandwell Academy 
is considered unavailable as, outside of internal use, it only allows lettings to the Albion 
Foundation. It can therefore not be accessed by community clubs.  

Of the pitches, three are located within the Smethwick Analysis Area (although only one is 
available), with one in each of the Rowley Regis, Tipton and West Bromwich analysis areas. 
There are therefore no pitches within either the Oldbury or Wednesbury analysis areas.  
 
In addition to the above, there is also a full size indoor 3G pitch at West Bromwich Albion FC 
Academy. However, as with its outdoor provision, this is not available for community use.  
 
As well as the full size pitches, there are 13 smaller sized pitches in Sandwell across six sites 
(nine pitches are provided at Pulse Soccer & Fitness. All of this provision is floodlit and 
available to the community.  
 
Table 3.2: Additional supply of 3G pitches in Sandwell 
 
Site 
ID 

Site Analysis 
area 

Community 
use? 

Floodlit? Number 
of 

pitches 

Size 
(metres) 

28 Ferndale Primary School West 
Bromwich 

Yes Yes 1 20 x 13 

31 George Salter Academy West 
Bromwich 

Yes Yes 1 51 x 38 

70 Pulse Soccer & Fitness Wednesbury Yes Yes 8 34 x 22 
1 60 x 40 

97 Warley Rugby Club Oldbury Yes Yes 1 36 x 22 
101 Wednesbury Rugby Club Wednesbury  Yes Yes 1 55 x 35 

 
Nationally, whilst not large enough to accommodate adult match play, smaller sized provision 
can be used to host youth and mini matches, in addition to training demand, providing that they 
are FA approved. Whilst some of the pitches in Sandwell are too small to accommodate any 
form of demand (as a minimum area of 37 x 27 metres is required for mini 5v5 football), others, 
such as those at George Salter Academy and Wednesbury Rugby Club, can serve a purpose 
in this regard.  
 
The map overleaf identifies the location of 3G pitches currently servicing Sandwell, regardless 
of size.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       39 

Figure 3.1: Location of 3G pitches in Sandwell 

 
Future provision 
 
In the LFFP for Sandwell, five priority projects are identified to provide four additional full size 
pitches and one additional smaller sized pitch. Of the full size pitch projects, two are identified 
in the Wednesbury Analysis Area and one in the Smethwick Analysis Area; however, specific 
sites are not selected due to numerous options existing. West Smethwick Park, Hadley 
Stadium, Hydes Road Playing Field and Phoenix Collegiate are identified as potential venues.  
 
The remaining full size project is identified at Tipton Sports Academy, whilst the smaller sized 
project is at Birmingham County FA Headquarters.   
 
Due to significant growth in football demand since the LFFP was produced, it is likely that 3G 
requirements have now considerably increased, whilst additional aspirations are now also 
known. As such, it is likely that the project list will now need to be revisited, amended and 
added to, which the demand section of this report further explores.  
 
As an example of the above, Birmingham County FA now has an aspiration to develop a full 
size pitch at its site, rather than smaller sized provision. It has recently met with The FA and 
the Football Foundation, which are supportive of the project, although there are a few site 
challenges around access and car parking that will need to be resolved. Partnership funding 
is in place.  
 
In addition, the Albion Foundation is actively looking for a site within Sandwell to accommodate 
its own 3G provision as well as office and classroom space. It currently owns no facilities and 
so is completely reliant on third-party sites. It has previously explored West Smethwick Park 
and Lewisham Park.  
 
 

Page 113



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       40 

An ongoing proposal in relation to Lion Farm Playing Fields plans for the loss of the grass 
pitches at the site to enable the creation of an outlet shopping and leisure destination. To help 
offset the loss of the pitches, the project sets out the development of 3G provision, although 
this has yet to be approved.  
 
As part of a viability assessment into the disused Phoenix Collegiate (North Campus), the 
possibility of providing 3G pitch(es) at the School’s remaining campus is being explored as 
part of the required mitigation. A developer contribution has been agreed upon, subject to the 
completion of a suitable S106 agreement. This would fit into one of the recommendations in 
the LFFP and discussions have also taken place as to whether the proposed pitch(es) should 
be WR compliant although the RFU suggested floodlit grass pitches with a community use 
agreement would be a more efficient use of funds.  
 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy reports that it is exploring the conversion of its pitch 
to 3G. It states that it has held conversations with the Albion Foundation, which would support 
its plans and use the provision more heavily if it was resurfaced. This, however, would mean 
that it could not be used for hockey (see Part 7 of this report for further details).  
 
If proposals at Birmingham County FA, Phoenix Collegiate (North Campus) and Ormiston 
Sandwell Community Academy were to go ahead, Hydes Road Playing Field could become a 
potential site to host a hockey-suitable AGP instead of a 3G pitch. 
 
A smaller sized 3G pitch is proposed as part of wider development plans at Britannia Park.  
 
FA/FIFA approved pitches 
 
In order for competitive matches to be played on 3G pitches, the pitch should be FIFA or IMS 
tested and approved and added to the FA pitch register, which can be found at: 
https://footballfoundation.org.uk/3g-pitch-register. 
 
Pitches undergo testing to become a FIFA Quality pitch or a FIFA Quality Pro pitch, with 
provision commonly constructed, installed and tested in situ to achieve either accreditation. 
The differences between the accreditations are that FIFA quality pitches are designed to 
accommodate substantial levels of regular usage, whereas FIFA Quality Pro pitches are more 
for high level performance, with usage levels therefore more limited to protect the standard. 
Generally, FIFA Quality pitches can be typically used for 60-85 hours per week, whereas FIFA 
Quality Pro pitches are able to accommodate 20-30 hours.  
 
To remain accredited, pitches must be re-assessed every three years to ensure that quality 
has not deteriorated beyond acceptable levels, although this is required annually for clubs 
using 3G pitches within the football pyramid (steps 1-6).  
 
In Sandwell, four of the six full size 3G pitches are currently FIFA/FA approved and can 
therefore host competitive matches. These are the pitches at:  
 
 George Salter Academy 
 Hadley Stadium 
 Gospel Oak School 
 Portway Lifestyle Centre 
 
Re-testing is required every three years to ensure that this remains the case. In addition, the 
smaller sized pitch at George Salter Academy is also accredited and could therefore 
accommodate competitive youth and mini match (it is too small for adult play).  
 

Page 114



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       41 

The full size pitches at Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC Academy are not 
currently approved. The provision at Sandwell Academy was previously on the register but its 
certification has expired.  
 
World Rugby compliant pitches 
 
To enable 3G pitches to accommodate competitive rugby union matches, World Rugby has 
developed the Rugby Turf Performance Specification. This is to ensure that the surfaces can 
replicate the playing qualities of good quality grass pitches, provide a playing environment that 
will not increase the risk of injury and are of an adequate durability.  
 
The specification includes a rigorous test programme that assesses ball/surface interaction 
and player/surface interaction and has been modified to align the standard with that of FIFA. 
Any 3G pitch used for any form of competitive rugby must comply with this specification and 
must be tested every two years to retain compliance.  
 
None of the existing 3G pitches in Sandwell are World Rugby compliant.  
 
Management 
 
The full size pitches at George Salter Academy, Gospel Oak School and Sandwell Academy 
are operated internally by the schools, whilst the pitches at Hadley Stadium and Portway 
Lifestyle Centre are managed by Sandwell Leisure Trust, on behalf of the Council. Provision 
at West Bromwich Albion FC Academy is managed by the Club.  
 
The pitch at Hadley Stadium, whilst manages by Sandwell Leisure Trust, is accessed by 
Shireland Collegiate Academy during the school day.  
 
Of the smaller size pitches, two are operated by schools (at George Salter Academy and 
Ferndale Primary School), two by clubs (Warley Rugby Club and Wednesbury Rugby Club), 
and the remainder commercially (at Pulse Soccer & Fitness).   
 
Availability  
 
The table below summarises the availability for community use at sites in Sandwell providing 
full size 3G pitches. Each available pitch is readily accessible during peak time periods, whilst 
the pitches at Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC Academy are unavailable.  
 
The peak period is based on Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model (FPM), which applies 
an overall peak period for AGPs of 34 hours per week (Monday to Thursday 17:00-21:00; 
Friday 17:00-19:00; Saturday and Sunday 09:00-17:00).   
 
Table 3.3: Summary of availability of full size 3G pitches 
 

Site ID Site Availability Hours 
available in the 

peak period 
(and overall) 

31 George Salter 
Academy 

Reserved for curricular use until 17:00 then 
available to the community from 17:00-22:00 
during the week, from 10:00-18:00 on 
Saturdays and from 09:00-21:00 on Sundays.  

33 (45) 

Page 115



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       42 

Site ID Site Availability Hours 
available in the 

peak period 
(and overall) 

36 Hadley Stadium Reserved for use by Shireland Collegiate 
Academy until 17:30 then available to the 
community from 17:30-22:30 during the week, 
from 10:00-17:00 on Saturdays and from 
10:00-16:00 on Sundays.   

28.5 (38) 

68 Portway Lifestyle 
Centre 

Available from 07:00-22:00 during the week 
and from 07:00-18:00 at the weekend. 

34 (97) 

78 Gospel Oak School Reserved for curricular use until 16:00 then 
available to the community until 23:00 during 
the week. Also available to the community 
from 09:00-16:30 at weekends.  

33 (50) 

79 Sandwell Academy Reserved for curricular use until 18:00 and 
then hired out to the Albion Foundation. No 
further use is allowed.  

- 

103 West Bromwich 
Albion FC Academy 

Unavailable for community use; all access 
reserved for internal demand.  

- 

 
The picture is similar for the smaller sized pitches, with non-school pitches available 
throughout each day and most school-based pitches having good availability outside of 
curricular times. The only exception to this is at Ferndale Primary School, which closes at 
19:00 during the week and is inaccessible at weekends.  
 
Table 3.4: Summary of availability of smaller sized 3G pitches 
 

Site ID Site Availability Hours 
available in 

the peak 
period (and 

overall) 

28 Ferndale Primary 
School 

Reserved for curricular use until 16:00 then 
available to the community until 19:00 during 
the week. Unavailable at weekends.   

10 (15) 

31 George Salter 
Academy 

Reserved for curricular use until 17:00 then 
available to the community from 17:00-22:00 
during the week, from 10:00-18:00 on 
Saturdays and from 09:00-21:00 on Sundays.  

33 (45) 

70 Pulse Soccer & 
Fitness 

Reserved for use by adjacent school until 
17:00 then available to the community from 
17:00-22:00 during the week, from 09:00-
19:00 on Saturdays and from 09:00-21:00 on 
Sundays.   

34 (47) 

97 Warley Rugby Club Available throughout each day.  34 (84) 

101 Wednesbury Rugby 
Club 

Available throughout each day.  34 (84) 

 
Quality 
 
Depending on use, it is considered that the carpet of an AGP usually lasts for approximately 
ten years and it is the age of the surface, combined with maintenance levels, which most 
commonly affects quality. It is therefore recommended that sinking funds be put into place by 
providers to enable long-term sustainability, ongoing repairs and future refurbishment beyond 
this period.  

Page 116



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       43 

For the PPOSS, each 3G pitch has been assigned a quality rating of good, standard or poor 
following site assessments. This rating is most commonly linked to the condition and age of 
the playing surface, as well as surrounding hard areas and maintenance that is undertaken. 
For the full assessment criteria, please refer to Appendix 2. 
 
The following table indicates when each full size 3G pitch was installed or last resurfaced in 
Sandwell together with an agreed quality rating following non-technical assessments and user 
and provider consultation.  
 
Table 3.5: Summary of quality of full size 3G pitches 
 

Site ID Site Analysis area Year installed/ 
resurfaced 

Quality 

31 George Salter Academy West Bromwich 2017 Good 

36 Hadley Stadium Smethwick 2016 Good 

68 Portway Lifestyle Centre Rowley Regis 2013 Good 

78 Gospel Oak School Tipton 2017 Good 

79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick 2016 Good 

103 West Bromwich Albion FC Academy Smethwick 2014 Good 
 
As seen, all six pitches are within their recommended lifespans and are assessed as good 
quality. The pitch at Portway Lifestyle Centre has the oldest surface, meaning that 
refurbishment is likely to be required over the next couple of years.  
 
Despite its overall good quality, George Salter Academy reports that the lights servicing its 
pitch are temperamental and in need of an upgrade.  
 
Of the smaller size pitches, the pitches at Pulse Soccer & Fitness (2011) have exceeded their 
recommended lifespans, although only recently. All remaining provision is newer, with no 
significant issues identified.   
 
Ancillary facilities 
 
All full size 3G provision is accompanied by ancillary facilities that are considered adequate 
and no major issues have been identified via site assessments or through consultation.  
 
3.3: Demand 
 
The community available 3G pitches currently servicing Sandwell are operating at or close to 
capacity at peak times, especially during winter months when grass pitches cannot be used 
for training or recreational demand (due to a lack of floodlighting). This applies not only to 
midweek capacity but also to weekend capacity on account of all the community available full 
size pitches being FA approved to host competitive matches.  
 
As an example, the full size pitch at Gospel Oak Academy only has capacity before 17:00 and 
after 21:00 during the week, which are not preferable times for many teams in terms of training. 
At weekends, it only has availability after 12:00 on Saturdays and before 12:00 on Sundays.  
 
Similarly, the pitch at George Salter Academy only has capacity on Mondays and Fridays, in 
addition to some capacity on Saturday evenings.  
 
 
 

Page 117



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       44 

In addition to community clubs accessing the pitches, the Albion Foundation is a key user of 
the 3G pitch stock and it in fact uses each full size pitch on a weekly basis for its activities and 
sessions. It accesses both West Bromwich Albion FC Academy and Sandwell Academy on 
four nights a week as well as at weekends, George Salter Academy on Mondays, Tuesdays 
and Thursdays, Gospel Oak School on Tuesdays, Hadley Stadium on Fridays and Portway 
Lifestyle Centre on Tuesday and Wednesdays.  
 
This is in addition to usage of some smaller size pitches, sand-based pitches and grass playing 
fields and is linked to its aspiration for its own provision. Removing some of its usage from the 
existing 3G pitches would free up significant capacity for community clubs and other users.  
 
Across the Country. there are often small-sided commercial leagues operating on 3G 
provision. Whilst this is somewhat limited in Sandwell, potentially due to a lack of overall 
capacity, Leisure Leagues uses the pitch at George Salter Academy on Sundays. Pulse also 
runs commercial leagues on the small-sided pitches at its site, Pulse Soccer & Fitness.  
 
Football 
 
The FA considers high quality 3G pitches as an essential tool in promoting coach and player 
development, with the pitches considered to be great assets on account of being able to 
support intensive use and use during inclement weather. Primarily, such facilities have been 
installed for social use and training, however, they are increasingly being used for 
competition, which the NGB wholly supports. 
 
Training demand 
 
Getting access to good quality, affordable training facilities is a problem for many clubs 
throughout the country. In the winter months, midweek training is only possible at floodlit 
facilities, with 3G provision preferred by the FA and most clubs.  
 
The FA’s long-term ambition is to provide every affiliated team in England the opportunity to 
train once per week on a floodlit 3G surface, together with priority access for every England 
Accredited Club  through a partnership agreement. As such, it has established a model to 
calculate the required number of pitches to meet demand, with one full size pitch being 
required to service every 38 teams within a local authority. This is based on peak time access 
being Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday evenings (Mondays and Fridays are discounted as 
it is considered that teams do not want to train in such close proximity to a weekend match, 
and it also allows for other forms of access such as for commercial leagues and recreational 
play).  
 
For the model, in addition to full size pitches being included, some smaller sized pitches are 
also incorporated as many are suitable for accommodating training demand, especially larger 
ones such as that in place at George Salter Academy. To calculate their contribution, a pitch 
large enough to cater for youth matches (but not adult) is considered to be the equivalent of 
half a full size pitch (0.5 pitches), whilst a pitch that is large enough for mini matches (but not 
youth or adult) is the equivalent of quarter of a full size pitch (0.25 pitches). Any pitch smaller 
than this is discounted.  
 
The full size pitches at Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC Academy are also 
discounted from the modelling due to being unavailable for community use. However, whilst 
future access is always going to be unlikely at West Bromwich Albion FC Academy, it could 
be explored at Sandwell Academy as it is unusual for school-based pitches not to be made 
available (notwithstanding use by the Albion Foundation).  
 

Page 118



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       45 

Using the above, with 348 teams currently playing in Sandwell, there is a calculated need for 
9.25 full size 3G pitches (rounded up from 9.15). With 4.75 full size pitch equivalents currently 
provided and available (including smaller size provision), a shortfall of 4.5 full size pitches is 
identified.  
 
Table 3.6: Current demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell (based on 38 teams per pitch) 
 

Current number of teams 3G requirement2 Current number of 3G 
pitches 

Current shortfall 

348 9.25 4.75 4.50 
 
When considering future demand for an additional eight teams (based on population 
increases), the shortfall remains the same.  
 
Table 3.7: Future demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell (based on 38 teams per pitch) 
 

Future number of teams 3G requirement3 Current number of 3G 
pitches 

Future shortfall 

356 9.25 4.75 4.50 
 
Alternatively, the table below considers the number of 3G pitches required if every team was 
to remain training within the respective analysis area that they play in. This not only identifies 
where the needs exist across Sandwell, but it can also be used to guide which areas should 
be targeted for new provision.  
 
Table 3.8: Current demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Current number 

of teams 
3G 

requirement 
Current number 

of 3G pitches 
Current 
shortfall 

Oldbury 97 2.5 - 2.50 
Rowley Regis 65 1.75 1 0.75 
Smethwick 70 1.75 1 0.75 
Tipton 19 0.5 1 - 
Wednesbury 19 0.5 0.5 - 
West Bromwich 78 2 1.25 0.75 
Dudley 348 9 4.75 4.75 

 
This identifies a slightly higher need than for Sandwell as whole, which is due to rounding the 
numbers and due to a perceived existing oversupply in the Tipton Analysis Area. There is a 
shortfall of 2.5 pitches in the Oldbury Analysis Area and a shortfall of 0.75 pitches in each of 
the Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich analysis areas.  
 
When accounting for future demand, the shortfalls remain the same. 
 
Table 3.9: Future demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Future number of 

teams 
3G 

requirement 
Current number 

of 3G pitches 
Current 
shortfall 

Oldbury 99 2.5 - 2.50 
Rowley Regis 67 1.75 1 0.75 
Smethwick 72 1 1 0.75 

                                                 
2 Rounded to the nearest 0.25 
3 Rounded to the nearest 0.25 

Page 119



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       46 

Analysis area Future number of 
teams 

3G 
requirement 

Current number 
of 3G pitches 

Current 
shortfall 

Tipton 19 0.5 1 - 
Wednesbury 19 0.5 0.5 - 
West Bromwich 80 2 1.25 0.75 
Dudley 356 9 4.75 4.75 

 
Notwithstanding the above, whilst the FA model provides a good guide for estimating 3G pitch 
requirements, it does not account for the level of access currently required by the Albion 
Foundation. This is therefore likely to increase the number of pitches needed to accommodate 
club training, unless the Foundation can be provided with a pitch that it can transfer a good 
proportion of its demand to (it is acknowledged that it would still want a presence in other 
areas and at other sites).  
 
When compared to 2018 PPS findings, the overall shortfalls identified above are broadly 
consistent (although they have slightly increased), with a current shortfall of four pitches and 
a future shortfall of five previously identified. However, on an analysis area basis, a shortfall 
was previously evident in Wednesbury and not in West Bromwich, meaning this aspect has 
since changed.  
 
Match play demand 
 
Improving grass pitch quality is one way to increase the capacity at sites but given the cost 
of doing such work and the continued maintenance required, alternatives need to be 
considered that can offer a more sustainable model for the future of football. The substitute 
to grass pitches is the use of 3G pitches for competitive matches, providing that the pitch is 
appropriately accredited, floodlit and available for community use during the peak period.  
 
Four existing community available pitches in Sandwell are FA approved to host competitive 
fixtures and there is relatively high demand for the provision, with 51 teams currently 
accessing a 3G facility as their home pitch and with each accredited pitch being in use for 
this purpose. This is 51 teams that would otherwise be using grass pitches, adding to capacity 
and quality issues, or alternatively they would not exist at all due to having nowhere to play.  
 
As a breakdown, of the 72 teams utilising 3G pitches for matches, six are adult teams, four are 
youth 11v11 teams, seven are youth 9v9 teams, 15 are mini 7v7 teams and 19 are mini 5v5 
teams.   
 
As the number of 3G pitches increases in line with meeting training demand shortfalls, so 
should the number of teams utilising the provision for matches, which in turn should relieve 
grass pitches of use. As such, whilst the number of 3G pitches needed for matches will never 
outweigh the number of 3G pitches needed for training (as they would not be sustainable 
without midweek usage), maximising the pitches that are in place and that are proposed 
should be fully supported. This will be further explored in the proceeding strategy document 
via a range of scenarios for transferring play.  
 
The use of 3G provision for matches also emphasises the importance of maintaining good 
quality pitches. Should pitches become poor quality, they will likely lose accreditation to 
accommodate fixtures. This will then result in all teams using the provision needing to transfer 
to grass pitches, adding to their usage, reducing their capacity and further diminishing their 
quality.  
 
 
 
 

Page 120



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       47 

Other sports 
 
Whilst the majority of the demand accessing the existing stock of 3G pitches, is football-based, 
there is some activity recognised from Wednesbury RUFC (see Part 5) and Sandwell Steelers 
(see Part 15).  
 
Rugby union 
 
Wednesbury RUFC access its smaller size 3G pitch for some training activity when its grass 
training area is waterlogged. However, as the pitch is not World Rugby compliant, all activity 
is non-contact. It is also not used more regularly as it is not large enough for purposeful activity.    
 
Warley RUFC also has a smaller size 3G pitch at its site, although it does not use this as it is 
too small.  
 
World Rugby compliant 3G pitches can often be a resolution for accommodating rugby union 
training demand and, in turn, alleviating grass pitch shortfalls. However, there is no perceived 
need for such provision in Sandwell as grass pitch capacity is generally sufficient and overuse 
is minimal. Nevertheless, there are grass pitch shortfalls in other Black Country authorities, 
meaning a pitch within Sandwell could alleviate capacity issues elsewhere if it was placed at 
a suitable location for clubs to travel to.  
 
American football  
 
Sandwell Steelers trains midweek at Gospel Oak School and at weekends at Portway Leisure 
Centre. Ideally, it would prefer to undertake this activity at one site, but this is not currently 
possible due to lack of midweek capacity at Portway Leisure Centre and a lack of weekend 
capacity at Gospel Oak School.  
 
3.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
There is limited spare capacity on the present supply of 3G pitches when teams require access 
for training purposes, leading to several clubs reporting a need for increased provision. This is 
exacerbated by significant use from the Albion Foundation, which as a result expresses an 
aspiration for its own provision.  
 
With the FA model suggesting that there is a shortfall of at least 4.5 full size 3G pitches, priority 
should be placed on the creation of new provision. To that end, precedence should be given 
to areas with identified shortfalls and to providing for the Albion Foundation, which will then 
free up capacity for other users. The shortfall could also be lessened if community access to 
the existing pitch at Sandwell Academy could be gained.  
 
Meeting the 3G pitch shortfall for training will also help alleviate grass pitch shortfalls and 
quality issues identified in Part 2 of this report, providing that the transfer of play is pursued as 
and when more pitches are established.  Potential options for the creation of new provision 
will therefore be explored in the proceeding strategy document. 
 
In addition, it is important to sustain the current pitch stock to ensure that the existing shortfalls 
are not exacerbated. In that regard, providers should be encouraged to put sinking funds in 
place and it is also recommended that all new and existing pitches undergo FA testing every 
three years to remain or become FA approved.  
  

Page 121



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       48 

3G – supply and demand summary 
 Priority should be placed on the creation of new 3G pitches to meet the identified shortfalls for 

football training demand and to better provide for the Albion Foundation.  
 Meeting the 3G pitch shortfall for training will also help alleviate grass pitch shortfalls and 

quality issues, providing that the transfer of play is pursued as and when more pitches are 
established.  

 In addition, it is important to sustain the current pitch stock to ensure that the existing shortfalls 
are not exacerbated.  

3G – supply summary 
 There are six outdoor full size 3G pitches in Sandwell, all of which are floodlit and four of which 

are available for community use (pitches at Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC 
Academy are unavailable).   

 There is also a full size indoor pitch at West Bromwich Albion FC Academy, although this is 
also unavailable for community use.  

 There are also 13 smaller sized 3G pitches across six sites, all of which are available for 
community use and floodlit.  

 The LFFP identifies five potential future 3G projects, whilst other aspirations also exist at 
Birmingham County FA Headquarters, Lion Farm Playing Fields, Phoenix Collegiate and 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy.  

 Four of the six full size pitches are on the FA register for match play (pitches at Sandwell 
Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC Academy are not).   

 There are no World Rugby Compliant pitches provided.  
 All full size pitches are good or standard quality and within their recommended lifespans.    
3G – demand summary 
 The existing available 3G provision is reported to be operating at or close to capacity at peak 

times, with all current community activity being football-based. 
 In addition to community clubs accessing the pitches, the Albion Foundation is a key user of 

the 3G pitch stock and it in fact uses each full size pitch on a weekly basis for its activities and 
sessions. 

 With 348 football teams currently playing in Sandwell, there is a broad calculated shortfall of 
4.50 full size 3G pitches to meet training needs (discounting unavailable pitches but including 
smaller sized pitches that are of a sufficient size).  

 When accounting for future demand (based on population increases), the shortfall remains the 
same.  

 When assessing 3G pitch need by analysis area there is a current and future shortfall in 
Oldbury, Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich.  

 There are currently 51 football teams using the 3G pitch stock for matches; whilst the number 
needed for matches will never outweigh the number of 3G pitches needed for training, 
maximising the pitches that are in place and that are proposed should be fully supported. 

 Wednesbury RUFC access its smaller sized 3G pitch for some training activity when its grass 
training area is waterlogged, although it cannot be used for contact activity.  

 There is no perceived need for a World Rugby compliant pitch in Sandwell, unless it could be 
located at a suitable location for clubs from across the Black Country to travel to.  

 Sandwell Steelers trains midweek at Gospel Oak School and at weekends at Portway Leisure 
Centrel; it would prefer to undertake this activity at one site but capacity does not currently 
enable this.  

  

Page 122



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       49 

PART 4: CRICKET 
 
4.1: Introduction 
 
The Staffordshire Cricket Board (SCB) is the main governing and representative body for 
Cricket within Sandwell. Working closely with the England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB), it 
is responsible for the management and development of every form of recreational cricket for 
men, women and children within Sandwell. It is currently working with the ECB on delivering 
its Strategy, ‘Inspiring Generations’, which has been live since 2020.  
 
For adult cricket in Sandwell there are three main offerings; Saturday, Sunday and midweek 
cricket. The youth league structure tends to be club-based matches which are played mid-
week, although some matches are also played on Sundays.  
 
Consultation 
 
In total, five cricket clubs are identified as playing within Sandwell, all of which, responded to 
consultation requests as shown below.  
 
Table 4.1: Cricket club response rate 
 

Club name Club response? 

Old Hill CC Yes 

Smethwick CC Yes 

Thimblemill CC Yes 

Wednesbury CC Yes 

West Bromwich Dartmouth CC Yes 
 
4.2: Supply 

 
In total, there are six grass wicket cricket squares in Sandwell provided across the same 
number of sites. All of the squares are available for community use. 
  
Table 4.2: Summary of grass wicket squares  
 

Analysis area Number of squares 

Oldbury 1 

Rowley Regis 1 

Smethwick 2 

Tipton - 

Wednesbury 1 

West Bromwich 1 

Sandwell  6 
 
Each analysis contains at least one grass wicket square, with the exception of the Tipton 
Analysis Area which is without provision. The Smethwick Analysis Area is the only area to 
provide more than one square.  
 
 
  

Page 123



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       50 

Non-turf pitches  
 
There are non-turf pitches (NTPs) accompanying one grass wickets square. This relates to 
the square at Wednesbury Sports Union. 
 
In addition, there are 15 standalone NTPs currently provided across 14 sites (two are at West 
Smethwick Park). These are located at the following sites:  
 
 Bearmore Playing Field 
 Jubilee Park 
 Lewisham Park 
 Redhouse Park 
 Victoria Park (Smethwick)  
 West Smethwick Park 
 Woodgreen Academy 

 Gospel Oak School 
 Hydes Road Playing Fields 
 King George V Playing Fields 
 Oldbury Academy 
 Rowley Regis Learning Campus 
 Tividale Park 
 Victoria Park (Tipton) 
 

Of these, 14 are available to the community, with only the wicket at Rowley Regis Learning 
Campus being reported as unavailable. Nine of the standalone NTPs are provided at sites 
managed by the Council and are in place to provide for and encourage casual and informal 
use, as well to cater for formal midweek demand.  
 
NTPs, particularly when located at club sites, can also aid with training and practice and can 
help reduce overplay on grass wickets when used for matches. The ECB highlights that NTPs 
which follow its TS6 guidance on performance standards are suitable for high level, senior 
play. Additionally, NTPs are frequently used for junior matches across the Country.   
 
Lapsed/disused provision 
 
Numerous sites across Sandwell previously provided grass wicket squares but no longer do 
so. However, these are not considered to be disused sites as they are still being used as 
playing fields, it is just that the cricket provision is disused. One example is at Hydes Road 
Playing Fields, which previously featured up to three grass wicket squares but now contains 
just a solitary NTP. Similarly, Barnford Park, Redhouse Park, West Smethwick Park, Victoria 
Park (Smethwick) and Victoria Park (Tipton) also previously provided grass wicket squares 
that are no longer maintained. 
 
Heathfield Close is a lapsed playing field site. This previously provided a cricket square; 
however, it has not been maintained as such for over ten years. 
 
Future provision 
 
As part of ongoing plans at West Smethwick Park, there may be a loss of one of the cricket 
squares. This would form part of a wider scheme that will result in the creation of a new pavilion 
and a grass football pitch, as well as potentially a 3G pitch.  
 
The map below shows the location of all cricket squares currently servicing Sandwell. For a 
key to the map, see Table 4.3. 
 
  

Page 124



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       51 

Figure 4.1: Location of cricket pitches within Sandwell  

 

Page 125



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                         52 

Table 4.3: Key to map of cricket squares 
 

Site ID Site name Postcode Analysis area Community 
use? 

No. of 
squares 

No. of wickets 

Grass Non-turf 

4 Bearmore Playing Field B64 6EA Rowley Regis Yes 1 - 1 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields WS10 0DR Wednesbury Yes 1 - 1 

45 Jubilee Park DY4 0QS Tipton Yes 1 - 1 

47 King George V Playing Fields 
(West Bromwich) 

B71 4BG West Bromwich Yes 1 - 1 

49 Lewisham Park  B69 4QB Smethwick Yes 1 - 1 

58 Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club B64 7HF Rowley Regis Yes 1 16 - 

60 Oldbury Academy B68 8NE Oldbury Yes 1 - 1 

75 Redhouse Park B43 6AD West Bromwich Yes 1 - 1 

77 St Michael’s CE High School B65 9AN Rowley Regis No 1 - 1 

78 Gospel Oak Academy DY4 0BZ Tipton Yes 1 - 1 

79 Sandwell Academy B71 4LG Smethwick Yes 1 8 - 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre B67 6NR Oldbury Yes 1 10 - 

92 Tividale Park B69 2HU Oldbury Yes 1 - 1 

94 Victoria Park (Smethwick) B66 3PD Smethwick Yes 1 - 1 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) DY4 8SW Tipton Yes 1 - 1 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union WS10 9QL Wednesbury Yes 1 10 1 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Cricket Club 

B71 4JQ West Bromwich Yes 1 10 - 

105 West Smethwick Park B67 7JH Smethwick Yes 2 - 1 

- 1 

108 Wood Green Academy WS10 9QU Wednesbury Yes 1 - 1 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club B67 6BJ Smethwick Yes 1 13 - 
 
  

P
age 126



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       53 

Management and security of tenure 
 
Three of the clubs in Sandwell have freehold of their sites, whilst the remaining two clubs have 
lease agreements in place (meaning no clubs rent provision).  
 
Table 4.4: Summary of security of tenure for clubs 
 
Club Primary site Agreement 

Old Hill CC Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club Freehold 

Smethwick CC Smethwick Cricket Club Leased (999 years) 

Thimblemill CC Thimblemill Recreation Centre Freehold 

Wednesbury CC Wednesbury Sports Union Leased (one-year rolling) 

West Bromwich Dartmouth CC West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club Freehold 
 
For the clubs with lease agreements in place, both Smethwick CC and Wednesbury CC lease 
their sites from the Council, with the former having a 999-year arrangement and the latter 
having a one-year rolling arrangement. This could be an issue for Wednesbury CC given that 
the agreement is not long-term, especially when it comes to funding bids and site 
development. The possibility of a 25-year lease is currently being explored.  
 
In addition to the above, West Bromwich Dartmouth CC also accesses Sandwell Academy as 
a secondary venue. This site, which is adjacent to the Club’s own site, is used via a rental 
agreement, although the Club reports that it is attempting to enter a more formal and longer 
term arrangement.  
 
Both Old Hill CC and Smethwick CC also use secondary venues; however, they do so outside 
of Sandwell (exported demand).  
 
Pitch quality 
 
The quality of cricket pitches has been assessed via a combination of site visits (using non-
technical assessments as determined by the ECB) and user consultation to reach and apply 
an agreed rating as follows: 
 
 Good 
 Standard  
 Poor 

 
The percentage parameters used for the non-technical assessments were as follows; Good 
(>80%), Standard (50-79%), Poor (<49%). For the full assessment criteria, please see 
Appendix 2. 
 
Maintaining high pitch quality is the most important aspect of cricket; if the wicket is poor, it 
can affect the quality of the game and can, in some instances, become dangerous. As an 
example, if a square is poor quality, a ball can bounce erratically on a wicket and become a 
danger to players. 
 
The audit of community available grass wicket cricket squares in Sandwell found five to be 
good quality and one to be standard quality (none are assessed as poor quality). The site-by-
site breakdown of this is shown in the following table.  
 
 
 
 

Page 127



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       54 

Table 4.5: Quality ratings for community available grass wicket squares (site-by-site) 
 

Site ID Site Analysis area Square quality 

58 Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club Rowley Regis Good 

79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick Good 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre Oldbury Standard 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union Wednesbury Good 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club West Bromwich Good 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club Smethwick Good 
 
Thimblemill Recreation Centre provides the standard quality square and there are particular 
concerns regarding this given that it is in use for club cricket. Drainage is problematic in certain 
areas, whilst Thimblemill CC reports that the wickets are slow and suffer from a low and 
irregular bounce.  
 
Despite being assessed as good quality, Old Hill CC reports that its pitch suffers from moss 
growth and drainage issues, although it states that it has recently invested in a new drainage 
system which should help.  
 
Of particularly good quality are the squares at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club and 
Sandwell Academy. The former is maintained to a high level by the Club in order to meet 
Birmingham & District Premier League criteria, whilst it has also been used to host the England 
Women’s national team.  
 
The square at Sandwell Academy is also maintained by West Bromwich Dartmouth CC (with 
the School maintaining the outfield) and again is carried out to a high standard. However, the 
Club reports that it would benefit from the School having its own maintenance equipment (e.g. 
a roller), rather than it needing to transport equipment between the two sites. In addition, the 
provision is accompanied by floodlighting to allow for late night and evening usage, although 
the Club reports that upgrades are required.  
 
To obtain a full technical assessment of wicket and pitches, the ECB recommends a 
Performance Quality Standard (PQS) assessment. The PQS looks at a cricket square to 
ascertain whether the pitch meets the required standards, which are benchmarked by the 
GMA.  
 
Clubs can contact the SCB to arrange for a pitch advisor to complete three different reports 
that vary in cost. A fully comprehensive report includes soil testing and guidance on machinery 
and corrective procedures, a mini report includes guidance on machinery and corrective 
procedures and a verbal report is a spoken version of a mini report. 
 
Table 4.6: Performance Quality Standard ratings 
 
Quality rating Details 

Premier (High) Where the surface is intended for Premier League play, with those within the 
top quartile capable of holding minor county and 1st class one day matches. 
May include some of the better schools and university pitches 

Club (Standard) A Club pitch suitable for league, school and junior cricket 

Basic An acceptable level suitable for recreational cricket and where the surface is 
designed and maintained within tight financial limitations such as local 
authorities 

Unsuitable This is where the surface is deemed unfit or unsafe for play 
 

Page 128



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       55 

Of the NTPs in Sandwell, the wickets at Hydes Road Playing Fields, Gospel Oak Academy, 
West Smethwick Park and Wood Green Academy are considered to be in poor condition and 
in need of repair/replacement. Improvements are also needed at Redhouse Park, Lewisham 
Park and Victoria Park (Smethwick), albeit the provision remains useable.   
 
Ancillary facilities 
 
All clubs in Sandwell have access to changing room facilities at their home ground, although 
quality varies. However, all provision is regarded as fit for purpose, with two clubs rating their 
clubhouse as good quality and three rating theirs as standard.  
 
Smethwick CC and Wednesbury CC consider their facilities to be standard quality, although 
both note that this is due to the age of the buildings, with some level of modernisation required. 
West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club also rates its facilities as standard, identifying that it 
is currently exploring a reconfiguration of its ground floor and changing rooms in order to make 
them gender compliant.  
 
West Bromwich Dartmouth CC also has access to changing rooms at Sandwell Academy. 
However, it notes that these are located a fair distance from the pitch at the site, which can be 
problematic. The provision cannot be used as a pavilion as match play cannot be seen.  
 
The Club is in discussions with the school in relation to various ancillary aspects that need 
investment. In addition to maintenance and floodlighting issues, this includes:  
 
 A boundary rope 
 Ball stop netting on land adjacent to a golf course 
 Wicket covers 
 
In addition, since initial consultation took place with West Bromwich Dartmouth CC, the Club’s 
3rd team has been promoted to the South Staffordshire County League – Division 2 for the 
2022 season which is subject to ground grading requirements. The Club has been provided 
with a year’s grace period in order to meet these requirements. For this, it requires: 
 
 An improved changing/toilet area (e.g. a dedicated clubhouse) 
 A covered seating area  
 An electronic scoreboard  
 Two additional sightscreens 
 
If these requirements are not met by the 2023 season, the team will be relegated back to the 
South Staffordshire County League – Division 3. 
 
Training facilities 
 
Access to cricket nets is important, particularly for pre-season/winter training. In Sandwell, four 
of the five clubs report demand for new, improved or additional training facilities. Only 
Thimblemill CC reports no additional requirements.  
 
West Bromwich Dartmouth CC reports no requirements at its main ground, but states that it 
would benefit from an NTP being installed at Sandwell Academy in addition to being provided 
with a mobile net. This would not only aid training but also provide additional match provision 
for some of its junior teams.  
 
Both Smethwick CC and Wednesbury CC report a need for fixed bay practice nets to be 
installed, whilst Old Hill CC’s aspirations are in relation to indoor facilities.  

Page 129



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       56 

Although falling out of the scope of this study, it must be noted that all five clubs in Sandwell 
report that the indoor facility stock in the Borough is insufficient to meet requirements. 
Currently, schools are commonly used, where quality can be limited and where capacity can 
be minimal at preferred times.  
 
4.3: Demand 
 
There are five clubs in Sandwell which collectively provide 19 senior men’s, two senior 
women’s and 19 junior teams. Four of the clubs are relatively large and consist of both senior 
and junior sections, whilst Thimblemill CC fields just two senior teams.  
 
Table 4.7: Summary of teams by club 
 
Club 
 

Analysis area No. of teams 

Senior male Senior female Junior  

Old Hill CC Rowley Regis 3 1 7 

Smethwick CC Smethwick 5 - 4 

Thimblemill CC Oldbury 2 - - 

Wednesbury CC Wednesbury 4 - 2 

West Bromwich Dartmouth CC West Bromwich 5 1 6 

Total 19 2 19 
 
As seen in the table below, most teams are based in the West Bromwich Analysis Area (12 
teams), based on West Bromwich Dartmouth CC being the largest club, whereas no teams 
are based on Oldbury.  
 
Table 4.8: Summary of teams by analysis area 
 
Analysis area 
 

No. of competitive teams 

Senior men Senior women Junior  

Oldbury 2 - - 

Rowley Regis 3 1 7 

Smethwick 5 - 4 

Tipton - - - 

Wednesbury 4 - 2 

West Bromwich 5 1 6 

Sandwell 19 2 19 
 
Participation trends 
 
Four of the five clubs report that demand has increased in some form over the previous three 
years. Both Smethwick CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC identify growth in both senior 
and junior cricket, whilst Thimblemill CC identifies senior growth and Old Hill CC identifies 
junior growth.  
 
Conversely, Wednesbury CC reports a reduction in participation at senior level. It previously 
fielded four senior men’s teams on Saturdays but now has just two. Junior participation at the 
Club has remained static.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       57 

Latent demand 
 
No latent demand has been expressed during consultation, with no clubs reporting that teams 
are unable to play due to a lack of facilities. That being said, many express that capacity is 
limited, with secondary venues needing to be sought to realise both current demand and future 
demand aspirations. This particularly relates to Smethwick CC and Wednesbury CC.  
 
Imported/exported demand 
 
Coseley CC imports demand into Sandwell from Dudley. It accesses the NTP at Gospel Oak 
Academy for its third Saturday team due to a lack of capacity at its main venue.  
 
In terms of exported demand, Smethwick CC accesses Calthorpe Park, in Birmingham, for its 
third Saturday team and Handsworth Grammar School, also in Birmingham, for its fourth 
Saturday team. Similarly, Old Hill CC uses Handsworth Grammar School for its third Saturday 
team.  
 
Previously, Wednesbury CC exported a team to Aston University Recreation Ground, in 
Walsall, but this is no longer required following a decline in participation. Nevertheless, 
aspirations exist for the team to be reformed, which could result in demand again exporting 
out of Sandwell.  
 
Finally, West Bromwich Dartmouth CC’s 5th team is nomadic as the Club has been unable to 
find a home venue for the team to date. Friendly matches are typically played on Saturdays 
although ad-hoc matches are also played on Sundays, with all this activity taking place at 
away venues. As a result, many of the fixtures are played outside of Sandwell.   
 
Away from the five clubs, four Sandwell-based teams are also recognised as playing in the 
Birmingham Cricket League, which uses a variety of central venues across Birmingham. There 
are currently over 1,500 registered players competing within the League, with these players 
forming 56 teams competing on a Sunday, 16 teams on a Saturday and eight teams playing 
mid-week. 
 
Additional activity 
 
The ECB is currently running a number of initiatives across the Country which results in 
additional cricket demand and use of cricket facilities. Whilst these do not generally utilise 
grass wickets, they can impact upon availability when sessions are being held due to use of 
cricket outfields, making squares unusable for matches during these periods. This can mean 
no availability on one or two nights a week.  
 
All Stars Cricket 
 
In partnership with the ECB and Chance to Shine, cricket clubs can register to become an ECB 
All Stars Cricket Centre. Once registered, a club can deliver the programme which aims to 
introduce cricket to children aged from five to eight. Subsequently, this may lead to increased 
interest and demand for junior cricket at clubs. The programme seeks to achieve the following 
aims: 
 
 Increase cricket activity for 5-8 year olds in the school and club environment. 
 Develop consistency of message in both settings to aid transition. 
 Improve generic movement skills for children, using cricket as the vehicle. 
 Make it easier for new volunteers to support and deliver in the club environment. 
 Use fun small-sided games to enthuse new children and volunteers to follow and play the 

game. 

Page 131



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       58 

For the 2021 season, Old Hill, Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich Dartmouth cricket 
clubs are signed up to be part of the initiative, with 106 participants recorded across the 
Borough. West Bromwich Dartmouth CC has the most registered participants (48).  
 
Dynamo’s Cricket 
 
A key development area for the ECB in delivering on the outcomes of ‘Inspiring Generations’ 
will be the Dynamos Cricket programme for 8-11 year olds, which originally aimed to launch 
in 2020. It plans on building on the significant growth of the All Stars and will develop the 
pathway to retain juniors who progress.  
 
Where All Stars seeks to engage children in cricket activity and learning the skills, Dynamo’s 
seeks to engage children in learning how to play, introducing a modified softball format as 
competitive progression with a view to eventual transition through to hardball cricket. The 
programme will be strongly linked to The Hundred, a new short format competition which also 
aimed to launch in 2020 (pre-Covid-19). 
 
In Sandwell, Wednesbury CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC are signed up to deliver 
Dynamo’s, with seven and 23 participants, respectively, registered across the two clubs. In 
addition, Smethwick CC began delivering sessions later in the season.   
 
Softball Cricket 
 
Softball Cricket is an ECB initiative aimed at women and girls to increase female participation 
in cricket as a sport. The aim of softball cricket sections is enjoyment and participation, without 
pads, a hardball, a heavy bat and limited rules. Sessions are generally played on the outfield 
of a square and follow a festival format with each session running for a maximum of two and 
half hours, shorter than traditional formats.  
 
In Sandwell, Old Hill CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC field women’s softball teams.  
 
Sandwell Cricket League 
 
The Sandwell Cricket League is no longer in operation; however, plans are in place for it to be 
re-started in 2022. When it was last run, in 2019, 10 teams took part, although it had 
accommodated up to 20 teams across three divisions previously. Teams participating were 
generally unaffiliated to clubs.   
 
Matches in the League utilise a variety of venues. This included provision at Barnford Park, 
Gospel Oak Academy, Victoria Park and West Smethwick Park, with similar sites likely to be 
used if/when it re-commences. As the League sits outside of traditional Saturday cricket, NTPs 
can more readily be used to accommodate fixtures.   
 
Chance to Shine 
 
Chance to Shine is a national charity that aims to give all children the opportunity to play, learn 
and develop through cricket. It believes that cricket can help to develop the personal, social 
and physical skills of the 500,000 children that are worked with every year. It works in schools 
to provide children with their first experience of cricket, whilst it has also developed Chance to 
Shine Street. This is a format of the sport played with a tapeball, targeting children and young 
adults in inner-city areas and with matches lasting just 20-minutes.   
 
In Sandwell, Chance to Shine Street sessions are held at Dugdale Street.  
 
 

Page 132



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       59 

Other usage  
 
The cricket pitch at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club has been used to host England 
Women’s matches, whilst it is also suitable for First Class matches should it be required.  
 
Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club is used to host Worcestershire County youth matches and 
Staffordshire County representative games. In addition, various charity matches and events 
are reportedly held at the site across the playing season.  
 
As many NTPs in Sandwell are located at open access sites, these are often used 
recreationally. This applies to provision at Bearmore Playing Field, Hydes Road Playing Fields, 
Jubilee Park, King George V Playing Fields, Lewisham Park, Redhouse Park, Tividale Park, 
West Smethwick Park, Victoria Park (Smethwick) and Victoria Park (Tipton).  
 
Future demand 
 
Future demand can be defined in two ways, through participation increases and using 
population forecasts. In addition, the Strategy & Action Plan that follows this report will contain 
housing growth scenarios that will estimate the additional demand for cricket arising from 
housing development plans within Sandwell. 
 
Population forecasts 
 
Team generation rates are used below as the basis for calculating the number of teams likely 
to be generated in the future (2039) based on population growth. Using this, it is predicted 
that there will be a growth of one senior men’s and one junior team.  
 
Table 4.10: Team generation rates based on population growth (2039) 
 

Age group Current 
population 
within age 

group 

Current 
no. of 
teams 

Team 
Generation 

Rate 

Future 
population 
within age 

group 

Predicted 
future 

number 
of teams 

Additional 
teams that 

may be 
generated 
from the 

increased 
population4 

Senior Men’s (18-55) 83,046 19 1:4,371 89,389 20 1 

Senior Women’s (18-55) 82,518 1 1:82,518 87,426 1 0 

Junior (7-18) 27,279 19 1:1,436 28,372 20 1 

 
When applied on an analysis area basis, the growth does not equate to a whole team in any 
of the analysis areas. As such, the overall predicted growth estimated across Sandwell may 
not be realised.  
 
Although no women and girls’ teams are predicted to be created via population growth alone, 
consultation with the ECB suggests that further development of female cricket in Sandwell is 
likely as it is currently a national priority to increase women and girl’s participation. It is 
therefore important to acknowledge that there are plans and strategies to increase the number 
of teams at some formats beyond what current trends and population changes would ordinarily 
suggest. This also applies to a likely growth in junior cricket, linked to the abovementioned All 
Stars and Dynamo’s initiatives.  
 
 

                                                 
4 Rounded to the nearest whole number 

Page 133



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       60 

In addition, the ECB’s five-year media rights deal, from 2020-2024, includes a continuation of 
its relationship with Sky Sports. This now extends beyond broadcasting and acts as a genuine 
partnership to secure investment and a commitment to increase participation and drive 
engagement. This could therefore see future demand increase to levels in excess of those 
anticipated through the PPS, meaning the impact should be reviewed over coming years.  
 
Participation increases 
 
Of the five clubs in Sandwell, four indicate aspirations to increase levels of participation (only 
Old Hill CC does not). This amounts to a total predicted growth of 11 teams, equating to three 
senior men’s, two senior women’s and six junior teams.  
 
Table 4.11: Future demand expressed by clubs 
 

Club   Analysis area Senior 
men’s 

Senior 
women’s 

Junior 

Old Hill CC Rowley Regis - - - 

Smethwick CC Smethwick 1 1 1 

Thimblemill CC Oldbury 1 1 2 

Wednesbury CC Wednesbury 1 - 2 

West Bromwich Dartmouth CC West Bromwich - - 1 

Total 3 2 6 
 
Future demand summary  
 
In the supply and demand analysis at the end of this section of the report, only future demand 
identified through participation increases are included due to the large increases expressed 
by clubs. This demand is considered more aspirational, and it is unlikely that it will all be 
achieved. However, the preceding Strategy document will include a scenario to identify the 
impact it would have if the growth was realised.   
 
Peak time demand  
 
An analysis of match play identifies that peak time demand for senior cricket in Sandwell is 
Saturday, although a good proportion of teams are also fielded on a Sunday including senior 
women’s teams. As such, both require consideration.  
 
For junior cricket, peak time is midweek albeit some Sunday cricket is also recorded. Midweek 
availability is also key regarding the potential re-formation of Sandwell Cricket League.  
 
4.4: Capacity analysis 
 
Capacity analysis for cricket is measured on a seasonal rather than a weekly basis. This is 
due to playability (as only one match is generally played per square per day at weekends or 
weekday evening) and because wickets are rotated throughout the season to reduce wear 
and tear and to allow for repair. 
 
The capacity of a square to accommodate matches is driven by the number and quality of 
wickets. This section of the report therefore presents the current pitch stock available for 
cricket and illustrates the number of competitive match equivalent sessions per season per 
square that is available and that currently takes place.  
 
 

Page 134



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       61 

For good quality squares, capacity is considered to be five matches per grass wicket per 
season, whilst for a standard quality square, capacity is four matches per wicket per season. 
For poor quality squares, no capacity is considered to exist as such provision is not deemed 
safe for play.  
 
The number of matches played by each team has been derived from consultation with the 
clubs. Where consultation was not possible, or where the level of play was not made clear, an 
assumption has been made that all senior teams play between ten and 12 home matches per 
year and all junior teams play between four and eight matches per year depending on their 
age and level of competition.  
The above is used to allocate capacity ratings as follows: 
 
Potential capacity Play is below the level the site could sustain 

At capacity   Play matches the level the site can sustain 

Overused Play exceeds the level the site can sustain 
 
The capacity analysis assumes that all clubs rotate their wickets evenly. However, this may 
not be the case at all sites, with central wickets potentially used more commonly than outer 
wickets that are closer to a boundary, especially for senior matches. The idea of this is to 
showcase what the capacity is or could be if best practice is followed for the whole square, 
rather than doing it on a wicket-by-wicket basis.  
 
Please note that NTPs have been discounted from the analysis by means of not distorting the 
findings. This is because no NTPs are currently being used more than their recommended 
capacity, which is 60 match equivalent sessions per season (0 match equivalent sessions 
when poor quality). With no NTPs being overused, this translates to overall actual spare 
capacity for junior play, as well as for the Sandwell Cricket League, where the provision is 
more commonly used and where matches can be played on a variety of days. However, this 
is not considered to be actual spare capacity for senior weekend cricket due to league 
requirements generally not allowing usage.  
 
 

Page 135



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                    Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   62 

Table 4.12: Capacity analysis of community available grass cricket squares 
 

Site ID Site name Analysis area Club users No. of 
squares 

Square 
quality 

No. of 
grass 

wickets 

Capacity 
(sessions per 

season) 

Actual play 
(sessions 

per season) 

Capacity 
rating 

(sessions 
per season) 

Potential 
spare 

capacity for 
senior 

cricket? 
(Saturday) 

Potential 
spare 

capacity for 
senior 

cricket? 
(Sunday) 

Potential 
spare 

capacity for 
junior 

cricket? 
(Midweek) 

4 Bearmore Playing Field Rowley Regis - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Wednesbury - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

45 Jubilee Park Tipton - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

47 King George V Playing Fields 
(West Bromwich) 

West Bromwich - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

48 Lewisham Park  Smethwick - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

58 Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club Rowley Regis Old Hill CC 1 Good 16 80 68 12 No Yes No 

60 Oldbury Academy Oldbury - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

75 Redhouse Park West Bromwich - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

77 St Michael’s CE High School Rowley Regis - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

78 Gospel Oak Academy Tipton - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick West Bromwich 
Dartmouth CC 

1 Good 8 40 40 0 No No No 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre Oldbury Thimblemill CC 1 Standard 10 40 24 16 No Yes Yes 

92 Tividale Park Oldbury - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

94 Victoria Park (Smethwick) Smethwick - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) Tipton - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union Wednesbury Wednesbury CC 1 Good 10 50 56 6 No No No 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Cricket Club 

West Bromwich West Bromwich 
Dartmouth CC 

1 Good 10 50 62 12 No No5 Yes 

105 West Smethwick Park Smethwick - 2 Standard - - - - - - - 

- - - - - - - 

108 Wood Green Academy Wednesbury - 1 Standard - - - - - - - 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club Smethwick Smethwick CC 1 Good 13 65 70 5 No No No 

                                                 
5 Whilst there is capacity for a second Sunday team at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club, the Club reports its junior section often plays during the week and on Sundays so there is no capacity for an increase in play. 

P
age 136



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          63 

Actual spare capacity 
 
Although a large amount of spare capacity is identified, it is not as simple as to aggregate this 
into a general oversupply of cricket squares. Despite two squares displaying some form of 
spare capacity (Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club and Thimblemill Recreation Centre), none are 
available for further senior cricket activity on a Saturday.  
 
All squares are used to capacity on Saturdays, either because two teams are already assigned 
to them as a home venue or because the level of spare capacity is insufficient to accommodate 
an additional team without overplay being created or exacerbated (at least 12 match 
equivalent sessions of spare capacity are required). 
 
For Sunday cricket, actual spare capacity is provided on two squares, at Old Hill Cricket & 
Tennis Club and Thimblemill Recreation Centre. 
 
Table 4.13: Summary of actual spare capacity for senior cricket (Sunday) by site 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis area No. of 
squares 

Actual spare 
capacity  

(sessions per 
season) 

Number of 
additional teams 

that could be 
accommodated 

58 Old Hill Cricket & 
Tennis Club 

Rowley Regis 1 12 1 

87 Thimblemill 
Recreation Centre 

Oldbury 1 16 1 

 
The actual spare capacity on a Sunday totals 28 match equivalent sessions and is found in 
the Oldbury and Rowley Regis analysis areas.  
 
Table 4.14: Actual spare capacity for senior cricket (Sunday) by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Actual spare capacity (matches per season) 

Oldbury 16 

Rowley Regis 12 

Smethwick - 

Tipton - 

Wednesbury - 

West Bromwich - 

Sandwell 28 
 
Sunday capacity provides capacity for additional senior men’s demand to be accommodated 
outside of the peak period but still within a competitive format. Moreover, it provides peak time 
availability for senior women’s cricket (both hardball and softball) and for some junior demand, 
particularly older age groups.  
 
For junior midweek cricket, only one square has actual spare capacity, with this totalling 16 
match equivalent sessions at Thimblemill Recreation Centre. Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club is 
not considered to have actual spare capacity due to the existing size of the Old Hill CC’s junior 
section.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          64 

Table 4.15: Summary of actual spare capacity for junior cricket by site 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis 
area 

No. of 
squares 

Actual spare 
capacity  

(sessions per 
season) 

Number of 
additional teams 

that could be 
accommodated 

87 Thimblemill Recreation 
Centre 

Oldbury 1 16 2 

 
Table 4.16: Actual spare capacity for junior cricket by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Actual spare capacity (matches per season) 

Oldbury 16 

Rowley Regis - 

Smethwick - 

Tipton - 

Wednesbury - 

West Bromwich - 

Sandwell 16 
 
Actual spare capacity analysis 
 
Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that spare capacity across Saturday, Sunday 
and midweek should not be viewed collectively as utilising the spare capacity across different 
days may result in overplay. For example, Thimblemill Recreation Centre, with 16 match 
equivalent sessions of spare capacity theoretically has capacity for one additional senior team 
and two additional junior teams; however, it does not have capacity for both. As such, this 
needs to be taken into consideration on a site-by-site basis as and when demand grows.  
 
Overplay 
 
Overplay translates to a site accommodating more demand than it can sustain based on the 
number of wickets provided and the quality of the square. On this basis, three sites in Sandwell 
are overplayed; West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club by 12 match equivalent sessions, 
Wednesbury Sports Union by six match equivalent sessions and Smethwick Cricket Club by 
five match equivalent sessions.  
 
Although it is possible to sustain certain, minimal levels of overplay providing that a regular, 
sufficient maintenance regime is in place, a reduction in play is recommended on overplayed 
squares to ensure there is no detrimental effect on quality over time. 
 
Table 4.17: Summary of overplay 
 

Site ID Site name Analysis area 
 

Overplay  
(matches per season) 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union Wednesbury 6 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket 
Club 

West Bromwich  12 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club Smethwick 5 

Total 23 
 
The overplay is split across the Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich analysis areas.  
 

Page 138



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          65 

Table 4.18: Summary of overplay by analysis area  
 
Analysis area Overplay (sessions per season) 

Oldbury - 

Rowley Regis - 

Smethwick 5 

Tipton - 

Wednesbury 6 

West Bromwich 12 

Sandwell 23 
 
4.5: Supply and demand analysis 
 
Consideration must be given to the extent to which current provision can accommodate current 
and future demand for both senior and junior cricket. This section therefore looks at actual 
spare capacity on grass wicket squares considered against overplay and identified future 
demand. Match equivalent sessions for future demand are calculated using the average 
number of matches played per season (12 matches for senior teams and between four and 
eight matches for junior teams, depending on age).  
 
Senior cricket supply and demand analysis (Saturday) 
 
The table below looks at the supply and demand balance during the peak period for senior 
men’s cricket (Saturday). For actual spare capacity, please note that this is converted from 
the number of match equivalent sessions identified above to the number of match equivalent 
sessions that could feasibly be utilised by a growth in demand. This is calculated by using the 
average number of matches played per season by senior teams (12) multiplied by the number 
of additional teams that can be fielded at peak time (two teams per square that is available). 
The entirety of the spare capacity at each site is not used as this number of matches may not 
be able to be accommodated at peak time. 
 
Table 4.19: Supply and demand analysis of cricket squares for senior cricket (Saturday) 
 

 
As seen in the able above, there is a shortfall for Saturday cricket in Sandwell amounting to 
23 match equivalent sessions, with this being due to overplay in the Smethwick, Wednesbury 
and West Bromwich analysis areas. No analysis areas have overall spare capacity.  
 
In addition to the shortfalls, consideration must also be given to the exported demand currently 
expressed by West Bromwich Dartmouth CC, Old Hill CC and Smethwick CC. Should this 
demand be accommodated within Sandwell, the identified shortfalls will significantly increase.  
 
 
 

 Analysis area Demand (match equivalent sessions) 

Actual spare capacity Overplay Current total Future demand Total 

Oldbury - - 0 - 0 

Rowley Regis - - 0 - 0 

Smethwick - 5 5 - 5 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - 6 6 - 6 

West Bromwich - 12 12 - 12 

Sandwell - 23 23 0 23 

Page 139



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          66 

Senior cricket supply and demand analysis (Sunday) 
 
The table below looks at the supply and demand balance for Sunday cricket, which is peak 
time for senior women’s demand but also relevant to some senior men’s and junior teams. 
This shows overall current spare capacity amounting to five match equivalent sessions, 
despite shortfalls in the Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich analysis areas.  
 
Table 4.20: Supply and demand analysis of cricket squares for senior cricket (Sunday) 
 

 
Junior cricket supply and demand analysis (midweek) 
 
For the junior supply and demand analysis, actual spare capacity equates to the total spare 
capacity at each available site or, if it is lower, the total number of additional junior teams that 
could be fielded on each available square (on the assumption that one square can 
accommodate six midweek teams), multiplied by six (the average number of matches a junior 
team plays). This is because junior demand at peak time is not limited to one day, although 
some capacity should be reserved for activity such as All Stars and Dynamo’s Cricket.  
 
Table 4.21: Supply and demand analysis of cricket squares for junior cricket 
 

 
There is an overall shortfall amounting to seven match equivalent sessions, with shortfalls 
again evident in the Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich analysis areas.  
 
 

 Analysis area Demand (match equivalent sessions) 

Actual spare capacity Overplay Current total Future demand Total 

Oldbury 16 - 16 - 16 

Rowley Regis 12 - 12 - 12 

Smethwick - 5 5 - 5 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - 6 6 - 6 

West Bromwich - 12 12 - 12 

Sandwell 28 23 5 0 5 

 Analysis area Demand (match equivalent sessions) 

Actual spare capacity Overplay Current total Future demand Total 

Oldbury 16 - 16 - 16 

Rowley Regis - - 0 - 0 

Smethwick - 5 5 - 5 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - 6 6 - 6 

West Bromwich - 12 12 - 12 

Sandwell 16 23 7 0 7 

Page 140



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          67 

Cricket – supply and demand summary 
 No squares that show potential spare capacity on grass wickets on Saturdays, whilst two do on 

Sundays and one does during midweek for junior cricket.  
 Three sites are overplayed; West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club, Wednesbury Sports Union 

and Smethwick Cricket Club. 
 There is a current shortfall for Saturday and midweek cricket, whilst minimal spare capacity 

exists overall on Sundays.  
Cricket – supply summary 
 In total, there are six grass cricket squares in Sandwell, with all six available for community use.  
 There are NTPs accompanying grass wicket squares at one site and there are 15 standalone 

NTPs at 14 sites.  
 Numerous sites previously provided grass wicket squares, including Barnford Park, Redhouse 

Park, West Smethwick Park, Victoria Park (Smethwick) and Victoria Park (Tipton). 
 Heathfield Close is a lapsed playing field site that previously provided a cricket square. 
 Three of the clubs in Sandwell have freehold of their sites, whilst the remaining two clubs have 

lease agreements in place (meaning no clubs rent provision).  
 The audit of community available grass wicket cricket squares found five to be good quality and 

the remaining one to be standard quality; none are assessed as poor. 
 Smethwick CC, Wednesbury CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC all note that ancillary 

facilities require improvement.  

 Four of the five clubs report a demand for new, improved or additional training facilities (only 
Thimblemill CC does not). 

Cricket – demand summary 
 There are five clubs in Sandwell which collectively provide 19 senior men’s, two senior women’s 

and 19 junior teams. 
 Four of the five clubs report that demand has increased in some form over the previous three 

years (Wednesbury CC reports a reduction in participation at senior level).  
 Coseley CC imports demand to Sandwell, using Gospel Oak Academy for its third Saturday 

team, whilst both Old Hill CC and Smethwick CC export demand to sites in Birmingham. 
 West Bromwich Darmouth CC has a 5th senior team that only plays away matches due to a lack 

of capacity within Sandwell.   
 Old Hill, Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich Dartmouth cricket clubs are signed up to 

be part of the All Stars initiative, whilst Wednesbury CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC are 
also signed up to deliver Dynamo’s. 

 Old Hill CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC field women’s softball teams.  
 The Sandwell Cricket League is no longer in operation, although plans are in place for it to be 

re-started in 2022; when it was last run it utilised provision at Barnford Park, Gospel Oak 
Academy, Victoria Park and West Smethwick Park.  

 Future demand for one senior men’s and one junior team is predicted via population growth, 
whilst club aspirations equate to the potential growth of three senior men’s, two senior women’s 
and six junior teams. 

  

Page 141



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          68 

PART 5: RUGBY UNION  
 
The Rugby Football Union (RFU) is split into four areas across the country with a workforce 
team that covers development, coaching, governance and competitions. As part of this, Club 
Developers and a team of community rugby coaches deliver core programmes in schools and 
clubs across Sandwell. 
 
The RFU governs a variety of formats and programmes, including 15-aside, 10-aside, 7-aside 
and Tag rugby as well as The Touch Union programme. Its aim is to increase and retain 
participation within the game, with facilities needing to be appropriate, affordable, and 
accessible in order to enable this.  
 
Consultation  
 
There are two affiliated rugby union clubs identified as playing within Sandwell, with these 
being Warley RUFC and Wednesbury RUFC. Both responded to consultation requests, 
resulting in a response rate of 100%.  
 
5.2: Supply 
 
Within Sandwell there are seven sites containing the same number of rugby union pitches. All 
of the pitches are senior, with no junior or mini pitches identified. Four are available for 
community use and three are not.  
 
Of the community available pitches, there is one in each of the Oldbury, Smethwick, Tipton 
and Wednesbury analysis areas. This means that there are no community available pitches in 
the Rowley Regis and West Bromwich analysis areas (there is one unavailable pitch in the 
latter).  
 
Table 5.1: Summary of grass rugby union pitches available for community use 
 
Analysis area No. of senior pitches No. of junior pitches No. of mini pitches 

Oldbury 1 - - 

Rowley Regis - - - 

Smethwick 1 - - 

Tipton 1 - - 

Wednesbury 1 - - 

West Bromwich - - - 

Sandwell 4 0 0 
 
The available pitches are located at Warley Rugby Club and Wednesbury Rugby Club, as well 
as at Warley Rugby Club (St John’s Recreation Ground) and Gospel Oak School, albeit these 
two sites are not currently used.  
 
The unavailable pitches are located at Q3 Academy Great Barr, Q3 Academy Tipton and 
Wodensborough Ormiston Academy. In addition, Wood Green Academy provides posts but 
has no current pitch markings in place.  
 
The audit only identifies dedicated, line marked pitches, with recommended dimensions shown 
in the table overleaf. As no junior or mini pitches are provided in Sandwell, it must be noted 
that it is common for junior and mini matches to be played on senior pitches via the use of 
darts, particularly at sites used by clubs.  
 
 

Page 142



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          69 

Table 5.2: Pitch dimensions  
 

Age Pitch type Maximum pitch dimensions (metres)6 

U7 Mini 20 x 12 

U8 Mini 45 x 22 

U9 Mini 60 x 30 

U10 Mini 60 x 35 

U11 Mini 60 x 43 

U12 Mini 60 x 43 

U13 Junior 90 x 60 (60 x 43 for girls) 

U14 + Senior 100 x 707  
 
Figure 5.1 highlights all rugby union pitches currently within Sandwell, regardless of 
community use. For a key to the map, see Table 5.7.  
 
Figure 5.1: Location of rugby union pitches within Sandwell 

 
Security of tenure 
 
Both Warley RUFC and Wednesbury RUFC have a long-term lease agreement in place for 
use of their main sites from the Council, meaning access to these is secure. However, 
Wednesbury RUFC reports that it has an aspiration to take over the ownership of its venue, 
whilst Warley RUFC is exploring asset transfer.  
 
 
 

                                                 
6 Recommended run off area for all pitch types requires five-metres each way and a minimum in-goal 
length of six metres.  
7 Minimum dimensions of 94 x 68 metres are accepted. 

Page 143



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          70 

In addition to the above, Warley RUFC has recently agreed a long-term lease agreement for 
the use of St John’s Recreation Ground, although it does not currently access the site due to 
a lack of demand. Nevertheless, it requires the protection of the pitch for overspill purposes 
and to accommodate future growth. Two football pitches are currently provided on site as this 
is considered to provide an additional revenue stream.  
 
Tenure at the school sites is unsecure as none currently have a community use agreement in 
place, and none are in use for community rugby. However, there is no perceived demand for 
any arrangements to be formed, with both clubs satisfied without access to school provision.  
 
Pitch quality 
 
The quality of rugby pitches across Sandwell has been assessed via a combination of site 
visits (using non-technical assessments as determined by RFU) and user consultation to reach 
and apply an agreed rating on a scale of good, standard and poor.  
 
The methodology for assessing rugby pitch quality looks at two key elements: the maintenance 
programme and the level of drainage on each pitch. A breakdown of actions required based 
on the ratings can be seen below.  
 
Table 5.3: Definition of maintenance categories 
 
Category Definition 

M0 Action is significant improvements to maintenance programme 

M1 Action is minor improvements to maintenance programme 

M2 Action is no improvements to maintenance programme 
 
Table 5.4: Definition of drainage categories 
 

Category Definition 

D0 Action is pipe drainage system is needed on pitch  

D1 Action is pipe drainage is needed on pitch  

D2 Action is slit drainage is needed on pitch  

D3 No action is needed on pitch drainage   
 
An overall quality based on both drainage and maintenance can then be generated. The 
agreed rating for each pitch type also represents actions required to improve pitch quality. 
 
Table 5.5: Quality ratings based on maintenance and drainage scores 
 
 Maintenance 

Poor (M0) Adequate (M1) Good (M2) 

D
ra

in
ag

e Natural Inadequate (D0) Poor Poor Standard 

Natural Adequate (D1) Poor Standard Good 

Pipe Drained (D2) Standard Standard Good 

Pipe and Slit Drained (D3) Standard Good Good 
 
The figures are based upon a pipe drained system at 5m centres that has been installed in 
the last eight years and a slit drained system at 1m centres completed in the last five years. 
 
For the full site assessment criteria, please refer to Appendix 2.  
 

Page 144



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                      Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                          71 

Overall, in Sandwell, of the community available pitches, one is assessed as good quality (at 
Warley Rugby Club, one as standard (at Gospel Oak School) and two as poor (at St John’s 
Recreation Ground and Wednesbury Rugby Club).  
 
Table 5.6: Quality of pitches available for community use 
 

Pitch quality 

Good Standard Poor 

1 1 2 
 
All three of the unavailable pitches are assessed as poor.  
 
The good quality pitch at Warley Rugby Club is assessed as such due to a sophisticated 
maintenance regime that consists of regular grass cutting, seeding, aeration slitting and 
sanding. Although no drainage system is in place, the natural drainage is adequate. However, 
there is a public right of way through the site, which can result in some issues with unofficial 
use and dog walkers.  
 
In contrast, maintenance is less regimented at Wednesday Rugby Club, with no aeration or 
rolling taking place, whist the natural drainage is poor. It is thought that this is a consequence 
of the pitches being formed on a concrete base, leading to water being held after heavy rainfall. 
One end of the pitch at the site has a bank on either side, which result in water settling in the 
middle.  
 
Maintenance at Warley Rugby Club (St John’s Recreation Ground) is carried out by the 
Council to a basic level, with drainage problematic in specific areas. The poor quality at the 
site provides an added reason as to why the Club does not currently access the provision.  
 
The table overleaf shows the agreed quality ratings for each of the pitches on a site-by-site 
basis and regardless of community use. 
 

Page 145



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                  Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                                                                                   72 

Table 5.7: Site quality ratings  
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis area Community 
use? 

Tenure No. of 
pitches 

Pitch type Floodlit? Non tech 
score 

Quality rating 

72 Q3 Academy Great Barr B43 7SD West Bromwich No Unsecure 1 Senior No M0/D0 Poor 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton DY4 7NR Tipton No Unsecure 1 Senior No M0/D0 Poor 

78 Gospel Oak School DY4 0BZ Tipton Yes Unsecure 1 Senior No M1/D1 Standard 

97 Warley Rugby Club B69 4NH Oldbury Yes Secure 1 Senior No M2/D1 Good 

98 Warley Rugby Club (St John’s Recreation Ground) B68 9SD Smethwick Yes Secure 1 Senior No M1/D0 Poor 

101 Wednesbury Rugby Club WS10 9NP Wednesbury Yes Secure 1 Senior No M1/D0 Poor 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy WS10 0DR Wednesday No  Unsecure 1 Senior No M0/D1 Poor 
 
 

P
age 146



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022              Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        73 

Ancillary facilities 
 
Wednesbury RUFC has an aspiration to rebuild its clubhouse facility in order to transform it 
into more of a community facility in addition to it better accommodating the Club itself. The 
existing building is now dated and limited in terms of what it can cater for, although the 
changing rooms are relatively new having been redeveloped in 2014. This includes an officials’ 
room and a physio room.  
 
Similarly, Warley RUFC is looking to redevelop its provision, which is currently poor quality and 
in need of modernisation. Three basic changing rooms are currently provided, although one of 
them is being used for storage. The condition of the provision is considered to be a key barrier 
for participation, particularly in terms of female demand. It also plans to partition its social room 
so that private functions can be hosted.  
 
The Club also identifies a need for the changing rooms to be improved at St John’s Recreation 
Ground. The existing provision is dated and considered too small, particularly for adult rugby.  
 
5.3: Demand 
 
Demand for rugby union within Sandwell tends to fall within the categories of organised 
competitive play and organised training.  
 
Competitive play 
 
Two community rugby union clubs play within Sandwell that collectively produce four senior 
teams. This consists of Warley RUFC fielding one senior men’s and one senior women’s team 
and Wednesbury RUFC two senior men’s teams.  
 
Table 5:8 Summary of demand 
 
Club 
 

Analysis area No. of rugby union teams 

Senior 
male 

Senior 
female 

Junior 
boys 

Junior 
girls 

Mini 
mixed 

Warley RUFC Oldbury 1 1 - - - 

Wednesbury RUFC Wednesbury 2 - - - - 

Total 3 1 0 0 0 

 
Whilst neither club currently contain any junior or mini teams, Wednesbury RUFC has junior 
and mini players that train and it previously fielded teams. The Club has quite large 
membership, with matches only stopped following the start of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
Warley RUFC previously had two senior men’s teams in addition to a junior section. However, 
this has ceased to function, with local youngsters now playing at Bournville RUFC, in 
Birmingham, instead.  
 
Training 
 
Throughout the Country, many rugby teams train at their home ground on match pitches. As a 
result, usage is concentrated which reduces the capacity for match play on these pitches and 
means they are more likely to be overplayed. A key factor in determining the extent of training 
on match pitches is the presence of floodlighting.  
 
 
 
 

Page 147



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022              Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        74 

In Sandwell, none of the marked pitches are serviced by floodlighting. However, both 
Wednesbury and Warley rugby clubs have separate, floodlit training areas at their sites, with 
these accommodating most of their training demand. At Warley Rugby Club, the training area 
is a relatively thin strip of land, whilst the area at Wednesbury Rugby Club is larger and more 
conventional, measuring approximately 80 x 50 metres.  
 
Linked to the above, Warley RUFC has submitted a planning application for the installation of 
floodlighting on its match pitch.  
 
In addition to the floodlit training areas, both sites also accommodate smaller size 3G pitches. 
The pitch at Wednesbury Rugby Club measures 55 x 35 metres and is used when wet weather 
prevents the use of the grass space. It is not used more regularly as it is not large enough for 
purposeful activity, and it is not World Rugby compliant so cannot be used for contact activity.    
 
Similarly, the pitch at Warley Rugby Club is too small for purposeful activity as it only measures 
36 x 22 metres. That being said, the Club is looking to increase activity on the provision, both 
from itself and local football clubs, with volunteering issues previously preventing this. As part 
of its own activity, it wants to host coaching sessions, such as for disability sports.  
 
Use of artificial pitches 
 
The alternative to training on grass pitches is the use of 3G pitches. World Rugby produced 
the ‘Performance Specification for artificial grass pitches for rugby’, more commonly known as 
‘Regulation 22’ that provides the necessary technical detail to produce pitch systems that are 
appropriate for rugby union. A World Rugby compliant pitch also enables the transfer of match 
demand from grass pitches onto 3G pitches, which alleviates overplay of grass pitches and as 
a result protects quality.  
 
Nationally, clubs with access to 3G pitches for training utilise them as a method of protecting 
grass pitches for matches and providing a high-quality surface for full contact practice. 
Competitive play generally continues to take place on grass pitches, although there is 
occasional use of 3G pitches for fixtures in the case of grass pitch quality or capacity issues 
(especially during bad weather spells). 
 
As evidenced in Part 3 of this report and as indicated above, there are currently no World 
Rugby compliant 3G pitches in Sandwell, although the smaller sized pitches at Wednesbury 
Rugby Club and Warley Rugby Club are located at rugby club sites. Given that only minimal 
grass pitch shortfalls are identified later on in this section of the report, there is no perceived 
requirement for further provision.  
 
Exported/imported demand 
 
As referenced above, due to the loss of Warley RUFC’s junior section, local youngsters in the 
area are now likely to travel outside of Sandwell to access a club. This represents exported 
demand.  
 
Unmet/latent demand 
 
No unmet or latent demand is reported by any of the rugby clubs in Sandwell.  
 
Additional demand 
 
The rugby pitch at Gospel Oak School is a dual use football pitch, which means it 
accommodates additional usage, both internally and from community football teams. As such, 
this limits its capacity for rugby union demand.  
 

Page 148



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022              Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        75 

Future demand 
 
Future demand can be defined in two ways, through participation increases and using 
population forecasts. In addition, the proceeding Strategy & Action Plan document will contain 
housing growth scenarios that will estimate the additional demand for rugby union arising from 
housing developments within Walsall. 
 
Population forecasts 
 
Team generation rates are used below as the basis for calculating the number of teams likely 
to be generated in the future based on population growth (to 2039). However, based on this, 
no growth is predicted. This is partly a consequence of no current junior and mini teams 
existing.  
 
Table 5.10: Team generation rates (2039) 
 

Age group Current 
population 
within age 

group 

Current 
no. of 
teams 

Team 
Generation 

Rate 

Future 
population 
within age 

group 

Predicted 
future 

number 
of teams 

Additional teams
that may be 

generated from 
the increased 

population 

Senior Mens (19-45) 59,671 3 1:19,890 63,919 3 0 

Senior Womens (19-45) 58,451 1 1:58,451 62,438 1 0 

Junior Boys (13-18) 12,802 0 0 13,800 0 0 

Junior Girls (13-18) 11,948 0 0 13,270 0 0 

Mini Mixed (7-12) 28,341 0 0 6,660 0 0 

 
Participation increases 
 
Future demand is expressed by both clubs. Wednesbury RUFC reports that it has formed a 
partnership with a local coaching group (known as the Wednesbury Whippersnappers), which 
trains players under six years old and it expects to form three mini teams from this when 
participants reach an appropriate age. Furthermore, it is working with Worcester Warriors 
RUFC in relation to jointly forming a senior women’s team and a mixed ability team that will 
include players with learning and physical disabilities.  
 
Warley RUFC is working in partnership with Sandwell College, holding midweek training 
sessions with its students. It expects to be able to form a colts. team on the back of this.   
 
Table 5.11: Future demand expressed by clubs 
 
Club 
 

No. of rugby union teams 
Senior 
male 

Senior 
female 

Junior 
boys 

Junior 
girls 

Mini 
mixed 

Warley RUFC 1 - - - - 

Wednesbury RUFC 1 1 - - 3 

Total  1 1 0 0 3 
 
Future demand summary  
 
In the supply and demand analysis at the end of this section of the report, only future demand 
identified through participation increases are included (meaning none is identified) due to the 
large increases expressed by clubs. This demand is considered more aspirational, and it is 
unlikely that it will all be achieved. However, the preceding Strategy document will include a 
scenario to identify the impact it would have if the growth was realised.   
 

Page 149



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022              Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        76 

The peak period 
 
In order to fully establish actual spare capacity, the peak period needs to be established. The 
peak time for demand of senior rugby pitches is Saturday PM, whereas for junior and mini 
teams it is Sunday AM. That being said, junior teams can also play on senior pitches.  
 
Women’s and girls’ rugby is played on Sunday afternoons. 
 
5.4: Capacity analysis 
 
The capacity for pitches to regularly accommodate competitive play, training and other activity 
over a season is most often determined by quality. As a minimum, the quality and therefore 
the capacity of a pitch affects the playing experience and people’s enjoyment of playing rugby. 
In extreme circumstances, it can result in the inability of a pitch to cater for all or certain types 
of play during peak and off-peak times.  
 
To enable an accurate supply and demand assessment of rugby pitches, the following 
assumptions are applied to the site-by-site and pitch-by-pitch analysis: 
  
 All sites that are or could be used for competitive rugby matches (regardless of whether 

this is secured community use) are included on the supply side. 
 All competitive play is on senior sized pitches (except for where mini pitches are provided 

and known to be used as standard practice). 
 From U13 upwards, teams play 15 v 15 and use a full pitch. 
 Mini teams (U6-U12) play on half of a senior pitch, meaning two matches and four teams 

can be accommodated at any one time; this means that play per week is set at 0.25 for 
each match played based on all teams operating on a traditional home and away basis. 

 For senior and youth teams, the current level of play per week is set at 0.5 for each match 
played based on all teams operating on a traditional home and away basis (assumes half 
of matches will be played away). 

 Senior men’s rugby generally takes place on Saturday afternoons.  
 Senior women’s rugby generally takes place on Sunday afternoons.  
 Junior rugby generally takes place on Sunday mornings. 
 Mini rugby generally takes place on Sunday mornings. 
 Unless known otherwise, capacity on school pitches is limited due to internal usage.  
 Training that takes place on marked pitches is reflected by the addition of match equivalent 

sessions to current usage levels. 
 
As a guide, the RFU has set a standard number of matches that each pitch should be able to 
accommodate. Capacity is based upon a basic assessment of the drainage system and 
maintenance programme ascertained through a combination of the quality assessment and 
the club survey. 
 
This guide should only be used as a very general measure of potential pitch capacity and does 
not account for specific circumstances at time of use and assumes average rainfall and an 
appropriate end of season rest and renovation programme. 
 
Table 5.12: Pitch capacity (matches per week) based on quality assessments 
 
 Maintenance  

Poor (M0) Adequate (M1) Good (M2) 

D
ra

in
ag

e Natural Inadequate (D0) 0.5 1.5 2 

Natural Adequate or Pipe Drained (D1) 1.5 2 3 

Pipe Drained (D2) 1.75 2.5 3.25 

Pipe and Slit Drained (D3) 2 3 3.5 

Page 150



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022              Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                        77 

Capacity is based upon a basic assessment of the drainage system and maintenance 
programme ascertained through a combination of the quality assessments and consultation. 
This guide, however, is only a very general measure of potential pitch capacity. It does not 
account for specific circumstances at time of use and it assumes average rainfall and an 
appropriate end of season rest and renovation programme. 
 
Please see the table overleaf for the full capacity analysis. Note that pitches that are 
unavailable for community use have been discounted by means of not distorting the community 
picture. 

Page 151



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

October 2022                  Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    78 

Table 5.13: Rugby union pitches and level of community use 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name  Analysis area No. of 
pitches 

Pitch 
type 

Community 
use? 

Quality 
rating 

Floodlit? Match equivalent 
sessions (per 

week) 

Pitch capacity 
(Sessions per 

week) 

Capacity 
rating 

Comments 

72 Q3 Academy Great Barr West Bromwich 1 Senior No Poor No - - - Unavailable for community use 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton Tipton 1 Senior No Poor No - - - Unavailable for community use 

78 Gospel Oak School Tipton 1 Senior Yes Standard No 2 2 0 Available for community use but 
unused. No spare capacity due to 
internal usage and on account of it 
being a dual use football pitch 

97 Warley Rugby Club Oldbury 1 Senior Yes Good No 1 3 2 Used by Warley RUFC for senior 
matches, with spare capacity remaining 

98 Warley Rugby Club (St John’s 
Recreation Ground) 

Smethwick 1 Senior Yes Poor No - 1.5 1.5 Currently unused, despite being leased 
by Warley RUFC 

101 Wednesbury Rugby Club Wednesbury 1 Senior Yes Poor No 2 1.5 0.5 Overplayed by Wednesbury RUFC 
through senior matches and additional 
junior/mini activity 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston 
Academy 

Wednesday 1 Senior No  Poor No - - - Unavailable for community use 

 

 

 

 

P
age 152



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               79 

Actual spare capacity 
 
There are two pitches in Sandwell that display potential spare capacity, with these being at 
Warley Rugby Club and St John’s Recreation Ground. All remaining pitches are either 
overplayed, played to capacity or are unavailable for community use.  
 
The table below identifies the level of actual spare capacity for senior rugby at Warley Rugby 
Club and St John’s Recreation Ground i.e., spare capacity at peak time (Saturday PM). This 
shows actual spare capacity on both pitches, amounting to 0.5 match equivalent sessions per 
week at Warley Rugby Club (on account of the pitch already being in use by one team) and 
one match equivalent session per week at St John’s Recreation Ground (on account of the 
pitch currently being unused).  
 
Table 5.14: Spare capacity summary 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis 
area 

Potential 
capacity 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Comments 

97 Warley Rugby Club Oldbury 2 0.5 Actual spare capacity 
for one additional 
senior team 

98 Warley Rugby Club (St 
John’s Recreation 
Ground) 

Smethwick 1.5 1 Actual spare capacity 
for two additional 
senior teams 

 
Given that Warley RUFC has recently submitted a planning application for the installation of 
floodlighting to service the pitch at its main site, it must be noted that this could reduce or 
completely eradicate the spare capacity that exists. This will be due to training demand 
transferring to the provision.  
 
For mini and junior rugby, the level of actual spare capacity is likely to be similar, with no junior 
or mini teams currently playing matches at the sites.  
 
Nationally, where junior and mini teams are being fielded, ascertaining actual spare capacity 
can be unclear with regards to the programming of matches as it can vary from week to week. 
This is because junior and mini sections tend to enter cup competitions or play organised 
friendly fixtures, with clubs arranging for several of their age groups to play those from another 
club all at once, either at home or away. Then when fixtures are not scheduled, clubs will 
generally hold training sessions, which means that clubs may require use of home pitches for 
consecutive weeks, or not at all for the same time period.  
 
Given the above, it is generally assumed that no pitches used by mini or junior teams have 
significant actual spare capacity for an increase in demand (over and above what actual spare 
capacity has been identified for senior play). However, it is acknowledged that some capacity 
does exist during weekend when the pitches are not in use.  
 
Overplay 
 
The pitch at Wednesbury Rugby Club is overplayed by 0.5 match equivalent sessions per 
week. This is due to its limited capacity, linked to its poor quality, and use by the Club’s senior 
teams and its junior and mini sections.  
  
 
 
 
 

Page 153



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               80 

Table 5.15: Overplay summary 
 

Site ID Site name Analysis 
area 

Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Match 
sessions 

101 Wednesbury Rugby Club Wednesbury Senior 1 0.5 
 
5.5: Supply and demand analysis 

Having considered supply and demand, the table below identifies the overall spare capacity 
and overplay in each of the analysis areas for rugby union pitches in Sandwell based on match 
equivalent sessions per week. 
 
Table 5.16: Supply and demand analysis of senior grass rugby union pitches 
 
Analysis area  Match equivalent sessions per week 

Actual spare 
capacity 

Overplay Current 
demand 

Future 
demand 

Future total 

Oldbury 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.5 

Rowley Regis - - 0 - 0 

Smethwick 1 - 1 - 1 

Tipton - - 0 - 0 

Wednesbury - 0.5 0.5 - 0.5 

West Bromwich - - 0 - 0 

Sandwell 1.5 0.5 1 0 1 
 
The broad position is that there is a currently spare capacity of rugby union pitches amounting 
to one match equivalent session per week; however, there is a shortfall in the Wednesbury 
Analysis Area due to the expressed overplay at Wednesbury Rugby Club.  
 
The Strategy document that proceeds this report will explore options to address the future 
shortfall identified.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               81 

Rugby union supply and demand summary 
 There is a currently spare capacity of rugby union pitches amounting to one match equivalent 

session; however, there is a shortfall in the Wednesbury Analysis Area. 
 Two pitches display potential spare capacity, with these being at Warley Rugby Club and St 

John’s Recreation Ground. 
 The pitch at Wednesbury Rugby Club is overplayed by 0.5 match equivalent sessions. 
Rugby union supply summary 

 Within Sandwell there are seven sites containing the same number of pitches, all of which are 
senior (no dedicated junior or mini pitches are provided).  

 Four of the pitches are available for community.  
 All club-based pitches have secure tenure (at Wednesbury Rugby Club, Warley Rugby Club 

and St John’s Recreation Ground).  
 Of the community available pitches, one is assessed as good quality (at Warley Rugby Club, 

one as standard (at Gospel Oak School) and two as poor (at St John’s Recreation Ground and 
Wednesbury Rugby Club). 

 Wednesbury RUFC has an aspiration to rebuild its clubhouse facility in order to transform it into 
more of a community facility in addition to it better accommodating the Club itself.  

 Warley RUFC is looking to redevelop its clubhouse provision, which is currently poor quality 
and in need of modernisation.  

Rugby union demand summary 
 Two community rugby union clubs play within Sandwell. 
 Warley RUFC fields one senior men’s and one senior women’s team and Wednesbury RUFC 

fields two senior men’s teams.  
 Whilst neither club currently contain any junior or mini teams, Wednesbury RUFC has junior 

and mini play that train and Warley RUFC previously fielded teams. 
 Both clubs train on separate floodlit training areas at their sites, rather than on match pitches, 

although Warley RUFC has submitted a planning application for the installation of floodlighting 
on its match pitch.  

 Due to the loss of Warley RUFC’s junior section, local youngsters in the area are now likely to 
travel outside of Sandwell to access a club, therefore resulting in exported demand.  

 Warley RUFC has future demand for a colts’ team, whilst Wednesbury RUFC has demand for 
one senior men’s, one senior women’s and three mini teams.  

 No future growth is predicted via population growth, although this is impacted upon by no junior 
or mini teams currently being fielded (despite demand existing). 

  

Page 155



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               82 

PART 6: RUGBY LEAGUE 
 
6.1: Introduction  
 
The Rugby Football League (RFL) is the governing body for rugby league in England. It 
administers the England national rugby league team, the Challenge Cup, Super League and 
the championships which form the professional and semi-professional structure of the game 
in the UK.  
 
Most community club rugby league is played throughout the summer season (from February 
to October). However, rugby league is considered as a winter season sport within schools, 
colleges and universities and therefore pitch provision for matches and training is also 
required throughout the winter months. 
 
Senior rugby league is played on a field measuring 100 x 68 metres. The preferred pitch size 
for U7s, U8s and U9s is 60 x 40 metres, whereas for U10s and U11s it is 80 x 30 metres, 
with U12s and above generally playing on senior pitches. Teams from U7s to U11s are known 
as primary teams, with teams from U12s to U18s known as junior teams.  
 
6.2: Supply 
 
There are no rugby league pitches in Sandwell.  
 
There are also no rugby league pitches provided across the four Black Country authorities. 
The nearest provision is at Kings Norton Rugby Club, in Bromsgrove, where a rugby union 
pitch doubles up to accommodate Birmingham Bulldogs RLFC.  
 
6.3: Demand 
 
No demand has been identified for rugby league in Sandwell. In effect, any residual need is 
unlikely to be sufficient for a club to be created, with individuals instead likely to travel to form 
part of the clubs based in other, nearby authorities.   
 
6.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
As no demand has been identified within Sandwell, there is no need at this time for any 
provision to be established. Instead, focus should be placed on ensuring that any demand that 
does exist can be accommodated within clubs outside of the Borough.  
 

Rugby league – supply and demand summary 
 As no demand has been identified within Sandwell, there is no need at this time for any provision 

to be established.  
 Focus should be placed on ensuring that any demand that does exist can be accommodated 

within clubs outside of the Borough. 
Rugby league – supply summary 
 There are no rugby league pitches in Sandwell.  
 The nearest provision is provided in Bromsgrove.  
Rugby league – demand summary 
 No demand has been identified for rugby league in Sandwell.  
 Any residual need is unlikely to be sufficient enough for a club to be created, with individuals 

instead likely to travel to form part of the clubs based in other, nearby authorities.    
 
  

Page 156



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               83 

PART 7: HOCKEY 
 
7.1: Introduction 
 
Competitive league hockey matches, and training can only be played on sand filled, sand 
dressed, or water based artificial grass pitches (AGPs). Although competitive, adult, and junior 
club training cannot take place on 3G pitches, 40mm pitches may be suitable at introductory 
level, such as school curriculum low level hockey. England Hockey’s (EH) Artificial Grass 
Playing Surface Policy details suitability of surface type for varying levels of hockey, as seen 
below.  
 
Table 7.1: England Hockey guidelines on artificial surface types suitable for hockey 

Category  Surface  Playing Level    Playing Level    

England Hockey 
Category 1 

Water surface 
approved within the 
FIH Global/National 
Parameters 

Essential  
International Hockey - 
Training and matches 

Desirable  
Domestic National 
Premier competition   
Higher levels of EH 
Player Pathway 
Performance Centres 
and upwards  
England 

England Hockey 
Category 2 

Sand dressed surfaces 
within the FIH National 
Parameter 

Essential  
Domestic National 
Premier competition 
Higher levels of player 
pathway:  Academy 
Centres and Upwards 

Desirable  
All adult and junior 
League Hockey 
Intermediate or 
advanced School 
Hockey    
EH competitions for 
clubs and schools 
(excluding domestic 
national league) 
 

England Hockey 
Category 3 

Sand based surfaces 
within the FIH National 
Parameter 

Essential   
All adult and junior club 
training and league 
Hockey 
EH competitions for 
clubs and schools  
Intermediate or 
advanced schools’ 
hockey 

England Hockey 
Category 4 

All 3G surfaces Essential  
None 

Desirable   
Lower-level hockey 
(Introductory level) 
when no category 1-3 
surface is available.   

 
In addition to the above pitch types, EH reports that it is currently trialling a different multi-sport 
surface in order to better accommodate lower levels of hockey demand on a pitch that is also 
suitable for other sports such as netball and tennis. The surface type, known as Gen 28, is a 
versatile surface that will ensure that the sports do not need to compromise on the playing 
experience; it will be a sand dressed synthetic turf with a compatible shock pad.  
 
The concept is designed to provide facilities, including schools, with a dynamic surface which 
reduces the amount of space required and enables the provision to be utilised to its full 
potential. 

                                                 
8 http://www.englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=2596&sectionTitle=Gen+2+Playing+Surface 

Page 157



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               84 

For senior teams, a full-size pitch for competitive matches must measure at least 91.4 x 55 
metres excluding surrounding run-off areas, which must be a minimum of two metres at the 
sides and three metres at the ends. EH’s preference is for four-metre side and five-metre end 
run offs, with a preferred overall area of 101.4 x 63 metres, though a minimum overall area of 
97.4 x 59 metres is accepted. 
 
It is considered that a hockey pitch can accommodate a maximum of four matches on one day 
(peak time) provided the pitch has floodlighting. Training is generally midweek and also 
requires access to a pitch with floodlights. 
 
Consultation  
 
Old Halesonians HC is the only affiliated hockey club identified as playing within Sandwell and 
it responded to consultation to help inform this section of the report. That being said, the Club 
primarily exports demand to Birmingham.  
 
In addition, both Wednesbury HC and West Bromwich HC are considered to be Sandwell 
clubs, despite currently playing outside of the Borough. Both were therefore also consulted 
and are also included within the Walsall element of this study.   
 
7.2: Supply 
 
The audit identifies two full size hockey suitable AGPs in Sandwell. A pitch at Ormiston Forge 
Academy is located in the Rowley Regis Analysis Area and a pitch at Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy is located in the Oldbury Analysis Area.   
 
Both pitches are available for community use; however, the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy 
is without floodlighting, which can impact on its availability, especially during winter months. 
That being said, the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is currently in use for community 
hockey, whereas the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is not.  
 
Table 7.2: Summary of full-size hockey suitable AGPs 
 

Site 
ID 

Site Postcode  Analysis area Floodlit? Community 
use? 

Size 
(metres) 

62 Ormiston Forge 
Academy 

B64 6QU Rowley Regis No Yes 100 x 67 

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

B69 2HE Oldbury  Yes Yes 100 x 60 

 
Smaller size provision 
 
In addition to the full size AGPs, there are also seven smaller size pitches provided in 
Sandwell, with five of these available to the community and four serviced by floodlights (the 
pitch at The Meadows School is available but not floodlit).  
 
Table 7.3: Summary of smaller sized hockey suitable AGPs 
 

Site 
ID 

Site Postcode  Analysis area Floodlit? Community 
use? 

Size 
(metres) 

47 King George V 
Playing Fields 

B71 4BG West 
Bromwich 

Yes Yes 60 x 36 

72 Q3 Academy Great 
Barr 

B43 7SD West 
Bromwich 

Yes Yes 60 x 45 

Page 158



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               85 

Site 
ID 

Site Postcode  Analysis area Floodlit? Community 
use? 

Size 
(metres) 

77 St Michael’s CE High 
School 

B65 9AN Rowley Regis Yes No 65 x 40 

80 Silvertrees Academy DY4 8NH Tipton No No 49 x 31 

86 The Meadows School B69 3BU Oldbury No Yes 33 x 18 

90 Tipton Sports 
Academy 

DY4 0BS Tipton Yes Yes 35 x 35 

91 Tividale Football Club B69 1UL Rowley Regis No Yes 24 x 15 
 
Generally, smaller size pitches are considered too small to accommodate any purposeful 
hockey demand. As such, they are discounted from this point onwards in the report, although 
it is acknowledged that some of the larger ones could be used for some training activity and 
for junior matches if the demand existed.  
 
For the location of the AGPs, regardless of size, please see Figure 7.1 below.  
 
7.1: Location of full-size hockey suitable AGPs in Sandwell  

 
Future provision 
 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy reports that it is exploring the conversion of its pitch 
to 3G. It states that it has held conversations with the Albion Foundation, which would support 
its plans and use the provision more heavily if it was resurfaced. This, however, would mean 
that it could not be used for hockey.  
 
EH notes that the site is based around two miles from West Bromwich HC’s former home site 
and could be used heavily if it was resurfaced as a hockey suitable pitch. It is not currently 
used due to its poor quality.  
 
 

Page 159



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               86 

A planning application has also been submitted for a new secondary school in Smethwick 
which includes the provision of a full-size AGP. 
 
EH hopes to support West Bromwich HC to return to Sandwell to enable to Club to undertake 
more work in the local community, growing the Club and sport further.  
 
Management and ownership 
 
Both of the full size pitches are operated by the respective schools.  
 
Security of tenure 
 
Old Halesonians HC accesses the sand-based pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy, albeit this 
is only via a rental agreement. Without a longer term arrangement, its tenure is therefore 
considered to be unsecure. The Club also has unsecure tenure at the sites it uses in 
Birmingham.  
 
Neither Wednesbury HC nor West Bromwich HC are considered to have security of tenure at 
their venues used outside of Sandwell. That being said, EH is working with Willenhall E-Act 
Academy to provide long-term access for Wednesbury HC.  
 
Availability 
 
Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model (FPM) applies an overall peak period for AGPs of 
34 hours per week (Monday to Thursday 17:00-21:00; Friday 17:00-19:00; Saturday and 
Sunday 09:00-17:00). The full size pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is 
available for community use throughout these time periods.  
 
The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is also widely available in the peak period, although in 
actuality its availability is reduced through it not being serviced by floodlighting.  
 
Table 7.4: Availability of full-size hockey suitable AGPs 
 

Site 
ID 

Site Availability in 
the peak period 

(hours) 

Comments 

62 Ormiston Forge Academy 29 Reserved for internal use during the week 
until 18:00, then available to the 
community from 18:00 until 21:00 Mondays 
to Fridays and from 09:00 until 18:00 
Saturdays and Sundays.  

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

34 Reserved for internal use during the week 
until 17:00, then available to the 
community from 17:00 until 21:00 Mondays 
to Fridays and from 09:00 until 18:00 
Saturdays and Sundays.  

 
Quality 
 
Depending on use, it is considered that the carpet of an AGP usually lasts for approximately 
ten years, and it is the age of the surface, together with maintenance levels, that most 
commonly affects quality. An issue for hockey nationally is that many providers did not 
financially plan to replace the carpet when first installed. 
 

Page 160



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               87 

In Sandwell, the full size pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is assesses as standard quality, 
whilst the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is assessed as poor. Both are 
within their recommended lifespan, having last been resurfaced in 2014, although some signs 
of wear and tear are now becoming evident.  
 
Table 7.5: Summary of full-size AGP quality 
 

Site ID Site Year installed/ resurfaced Quality 

62 Ormiston Forge Academy 2014 Standard  

63 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 2014 Poor 
 
Ancillary provision 
 
There are changing facilities servicing both full size pitches; however, these are located in the 
main school buildings and are not dedicated to the provision. They are therefore not ideal for 
accommodating community hockey demand.  
 
Away from the pitches, Old Halesonians HC forms part of the wider Old Halesonians Sports 
Association, which also includes Old Halesonians RUFC and Old Halesonians CC. As part of 
this, the Club is formally based in Bromsgrove, accessing clubhouse provision at Old 
Halesonians Association.  
 
7.3: Demand 
 
Old Halesonians HC has five senior men’s, one senior women’s and three junior teams, as 
shown in the table below. As the only club currently playing in Sandwell, this therefore 
represents all of the formal demand in the Borough.  
 
Table 7.6: Summary of demand 
 

Name of club  No. of competitive teams 

Senior men Senior women Junior 

Old Halesonians HC 5 1 3 
 
The Club currently has 81 playing members, which is unaltered from the previous season. This 
consists of 53 senior members and 28 junior members.  
 
Participation trends 
 
Old Halesonians HC has increased its demand significantly in recent years. When compared 
to the 2018 PPS, it has grown from four teams to nine, including the creation of three additional 
senior men’s teams.  
 
Imported demand 
 
Old Halesonians HC previously played in Dudley and considers this to be its home authority, 
if an adequate facility was provided. Furthermore, its current home base, as mentioned, is in 
Bromsgrove. As such, its current presence in Sandwell represents imported demand, with 
many of its players drawn from outside of the Borough.  
 
In addition to its use of the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy, Old Halesonians HC also 
accesses a pitch in Birmingham at King Edward VI Five Ways High School. In fact, this is 
used more so than the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy due to the presence of floodlighting. 
This enables training demand to take place during midweek evening slots.  

Page 161



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               88 

Exported demand 
 
Both Wednesbury HC and West Bromwich HC are considered to be Sandwell-based clubs, 
despite currently playing outside of the Borough. Both access pitches in Walsall.  
 
West Bromwich HC previously played all its competitive matches at George Salter Academy 
in Sandwell, before being forced to relocate when it was converted to a 3G surface. This 
resulted in it moving to Walsall due to a lack of capacity on remaining Sandwell pitches and 
due to Aston University (Recreation Centre) providing a better-quality pitch than any 
alternative. However, it would prefer to play within Sandwell if a comparable offer was 
provided and EH would also prefer it to be based in the Borough.  
 
Wednesbury HC is also exported into Walsall from Sandwell following the resurfacing of its 
previous home pitch at Gospel Oak Academy to a 3G surface. However, unlike West 
Bromwich HC, it has no desire to move back and is reportedly happy and well provided for at 
Willenhall E-Act Academy. As mentioned previously, discussions are ongoing in regards to 
provided increased security of tenure.  
 
Both clubs currently have three senior teams and a junior (badgers) team, meaning eight 
teams in total are exported.  
 
Table 7.7: Summary of exported demand 
 
Name of club  No. of competitive teams Total no. of 

members Senior 
Men 

Senior 
Women 

Junior Other 

Wednesbury HC 3 - - 1 76 

West Bromwich HC 3 - - 1 75 

Total 6 0 0 2 151 
 
Latent demand 
 
Whilst no formal latent demand is identified by Old Halesonians HC, it is generally considered 
that clubs based at a single site can recruit new members more effectively. Therefore, it is 
likely that the Club could increase membership if it was based at a single site, preferably 
within Dudley, rather than being split across two pitches in two different authorities.   
 
Neither West Bromwich HC nor Wednesbury HC express any latent demand; however, this 
is likely to be due to pitch capacity issues rather than being a true reflection of where they 
stand. Both express future demand, as captured below.   
 
Future demand 
 
Old Halesonians HC has aspirations to increase its demand in the future, although it does not 
quantify this due to a lack of pitch capacity. It reports that it cannot currently grow, despite 
having a desire to do so.  
 
West Bromwich HC reports that it is in a position to add one senior men’s team, one senior 
women’s team and one junior team to its club.  
 
Wednesbury HC reports aspirations to grow its junior section, although it does quantify the 
potential increase in terms of team numbers.   
 

Page 162



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               89 

In addition to the above, growing participation is a key aim within EH’s Strategic Plan and key 
drivers include working with clubs, universities, and schools, working with regional and local 
leagues, developing opportunities for over 40s and delivering a quality programme of 
competition. Overall, it has an aim to double participation over the next ten years. 
 
EH initiatives  
 
There are several initiatives supported by EH that operate across the Country, including:  
 
 Back to Hockey 
 Hockey Heroes 
 Walking Hockey 
 
These initiatives can add to the demand picture for hockey and are likely to result in future 
growth within the affiliated clubs. However, none are currently being run in Sandwell.  
 
Peak time demand 
 
For matches, senior hockey activity takes place on a Saturday, whereas junior activity occurs 
on a Sunday. For training, peak time is midweek evenings, although preference is generally 
given for Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Thursdays.  
 
Usage 
 
The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is used on both Saturdays and Sundays by Old 
Halesonians HC and can be operating close to capacity on these days, with earlier time slots 
taken up by the Club and later time slots not being suitable due to the lack of floodlighting. 
However, there is often more availability, depending on fixtures, as the Club primarily uses 
provision in Birmingham.  
 
During midweek, the pitch is generally unused, both by the Club and the wider community. 
This is again due to no floodlighting being present.  
 
Whilst Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy receives no community hockey demand due 
to its poor condition, that is not to say that it is unused. Instead, a lot of the capacity is taken 
up by football teams for training purposes, especially during midweek. For example, the Albion 
Foundation accesses the pitch for three hours on Monday evenings, whilst Tividale FC does 
likewise for three hours on Tuesdays and for two hours on Wednesdays. That being said, 
significant capacity exists on Thursday and Friday evenings, as well as during weekends. 
 
In total, spare capacity remains on the pitch, equating to around 35% of capacity during the 
midweek peak period and 80% during the peak period at weekends.  
 
7.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
It is suggested that a floodlit pitch is able to accommodate four match equivalent sessions on 
a Saturday. With teams playing on a home and away format, this equates to one AGP being 
able to cater for eight ‘home’ teams (one team requires 0.5 match equivalent sessions per 
week on its ‘home’ AGP).  
 
Based on the above, with six senior teams currently being fielded by Old Halesonians HC, 
there is a need for just one full size pitch (rounded up from 0.75) in Sandwell. However, this 
increases to two pitches (rounded up from 1.5) when including the expressed exported 
demand, particularly from West Bromwich HC due to its aspiration to return to the Borough.  
 

Page 163



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               90 

As two pitches are currently provided, it could be suggested that the existing stock of pitches 
is sufficient; however, if this was the case, demand would not be exported. The provision at 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is not currently suitable for the sport due to its quality, 
meaning improvements are required to ensure that there is an adequate stock of facilities. Its 
plans for a 3G conversion must therefore also be noted as this, if realised, would reduce the 
stock of hockey suitable provision and result in an undersupply of one pitch.  
 
It also must be reiterated that capacity is reduced at Ormiston Forge Academy due to no 
floodlights being provided.  
 
For junior hockey matches, the need for pitches is generally less than it is for senior hockey. 
This is because younger age groups can play on half a pitch (meaning two fixtures can take 
place at one time) and because there are also fewer junior teams fielded by Old Halesonians 
HC than its number of senior teams. As such, a sufficient stock of pitches for senior hockey 
would also be considered sufficient for junior demand.  
 
Conclusion 
 
There is a requirement for two hockey suitable AGPs within Sandwell to cater for both existing 
demand in the Borough and demand that is being exported. Whilst these are currently being 
provided, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is not serving any meaningful 
purpose for the sport. As such, improvements to the pitch needs to be made and hockey 
access to the site needs to be enabled, or if this is not possible (or if 3G conversion is pursued), 
an additional pitch is required. This should be located within the West Bromwich Analysis Area 
to best accommodate demand.   
 
The above would not only ensure that Sandwell-based demand can be catered for, but it would 
also relieve some capacity issues identified in the Walsall element of the PPOSS.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, the Dudley element of the PPOSS identifies that a suitable pitch 
within Dudley is required in order to re-accommodate demand from Old Halesonians HC and 
to therefore enable it to transfer away from Sandwell. Should this happen, there may only be 
a requirement for one pitch within Sandwell, although this pitch should not be the one located 
at Ormiston Forge Academy due to it not being floodlit. It would either need to be the pitch at 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy or via new provision.  
 
Options to address the above points will be explore in the proceeding Strategy document.  
 

Page 164



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               91 

Hockey supply and demand summary 
 There is a requirement for two hockey suitable AGPs within Sandwell to cater for both existing 

demand in the Borough and demand that is being exported. 
 Whilst these are currently being provided, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 

is not currently serving any meaningful purpose for the sport, with quality improvements 
required and hockey access needing to be enabled.  

 It quality improvements are not possible, or if 3G conversion is pursued, an additional full size 
hockey suitable pitch is required.  

 If imported demand from Dudley returns to the Borough, there may only be a requirement for 
one pitch within Sandwell, although this should not be the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy 
due to its lack of floodlighting.  

Hockey supply summary 

 There are two full size hockey suitable AGPs in Sandwell, one at Ormiston Forge Academy 
and one at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy.   

 Both pitches are available for community use; however, the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy 
is without floodlighting. 

 There are also seven smaller sized pitches provided, with five of these available to the 
community and four serviced by floodlights. 

 Both of the full size pitches are operated by the respective schools.  
 The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is accessed by Old Halesonians HC, although no 

security of tenure is provided.  
 Both full size pitches are theoretically available throughout most if not all of the peak period, 

although actual availability is limited at Ormiston Forge Academy due to its lack of floodlighting.  
 The pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is assessed as poor quality, whilst the 

pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is standard.  
 Both are serviced by changing rooms but these are within main school buildings and are 

therefore not dedicated to the pitches.  
Hockey demand summary 
 Old Halesonians HC is the only hockey club playing in Sandwell; it fields five senior men’s, one 

senior women’s and three junior teams, although it is primarily based in Birmingham.  
 The Club previously played in Dudley and considers this to be its home authority (imported 

demand).  
 Both Wednesbury HC and West Bromwich HC are considered to be Sandwell-based clubs, 

despite currently playing outside of the Borough (exported demand). Despite this, the former 
has no desire to return to Sandwell.  

 West Bromwich HC would prefer to play within Sandwell. 
 Old Halesonians, West Bromwich and Wednesbury hockey clubs all have an aspiration to 

increase demand in the future. 
 No EH initiatives are being held in the Borough (e.g. Back to Hockey, Walking Hockey and 

Hockey Heroes).  
 The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is used on both Saturdays and Sundays by Old 

Halesonians HC and is considered to be close to capacity on these days; it is generally unused 
during midweek as a consequence of no floodlights.  

 Whilst not used for hockey, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is well used 
for football activity, predominately on Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays (capacity exists on 
the remaining days).  

 
 
  

Page 165



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               92 

PART 8: TENNIS 
 
8.1: Introduction  
 
The Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) is the organisation responsible for the governance of 
tennis and administers the sport locally across Sandwell. It has recently restructured its 
strategic approach to target several national focus areas, with a priority on developing the sport 
at park sites. 
 
Consultation 
 
There are two tennis clubs in Sandwell; Old Hill TC and Wednesbury TC. Only Old Hill TC 
responded to consultation requests, resulting in a response rate of 50%.  
 
8.2: Supply 
 
There are 57 tennis courts identified in Sandwell across 18 sites. Of the courts, 35 are 
categorised as being available for community use at 12 sites, compared to 22 that are 
unavailable at six sites.  
 
The Rowley Analysis Area contains the highest number of available courts with 12, whereas 
no community available courts are present in the Oldbury Analysis Area. It does, however, 
have 13 courts that are unavailable for community use. 
 
Table 8.1: Summary of the number of courts by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Courts available for 

community use 
Courts unavailable for 

community use 

Oldbury - 13 

Rowley Regis 12 - 

Smethwick 1 - 

Tipton 8 3 

Wednesbury 8 3 

West Bromwich 6 3 

Sandwell 35 22 
 
Please note that courts are classified as being available for community use provided that they 
are deemed to be easily accessible to the general population, either via pay and play or 
through a membership at a club (or a mixture of both). All unavailable courts in Sandwell are 
located at school sites.   
 
Figure 8.1 shows the location of the courts servicing Sandwell, regardless of community use. 
For a key to the map, see Table 8.2.  
 
 
  

Page 166



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                        Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page               93 

Figure 8.1: Location of tennis courts in Sandwell 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022             Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      94 

Table 8.2: Tennis courts in Sandwell 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis area Ownership Community 
use? 

No. of 
courts 

Floodlit? Court type Court 
quality 

13 Britannia Park B65 8DR Rowley Regis Council Yes 3 No Macadam Poor 

14 Brunswick Park WS10 9HH Wednesbury Council Yes  4  No Macadam Poor 

58 Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club B65 7HF Rowley Regis Club Yes 2 Yes Macadam Standard 

2 No  Macadam Standard 

60 Oldbury Academy B68 8NE Oldbury School  No 3  No Macadam Good 

63 Ormiston Sandwell Community 
Academy 

B69 2HE Oldbury School No 3  No Macadam Standard 

65 Perryfields High School B68 0RG Oldbury School No 7  No Macadam Standard 

66 Phoenix Collegiate  B71 2BX West Bromwich School Yes 1  Yes Macadam Good 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton DY4 7NR Tipton School Yes 3  No Macadam Poor  

75 Redhouse Park B43 6AD West Bromwich Council Yes 5  No Macadam Poor 

77 St Michael’s CE High School B65 9AN Rowley Regis School Yes 4  No Macadam Standard 

78 Gospel Oak Academy DY4 0BZ Tipton School No 3 No Macadam Standard 

90 Tipton Sports Academy DY4 0BS Tipton Trust  Yes 4 Yes Macadam Good 

94 Victoria Park (Smethwick) B66 3PD Smethwick Council Yes 1 No Macadam Poor 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) DY4 8SW Tipton Council Yes 1 No Macadam Poor 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union WD10 9QL Wednesbury Club Yes 4 No Macadam Standard 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy WS10 0DR Wednesbury School No 3 Yes Macadam Standard 

127 Haden Hill Park B64 7JL Rowley Regis Council Yes 1 No Macadam Standard 

129 Shireland Collegiate Academy B66 4ND Smethwick School No 3  No Macadam Standard  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 168



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           95 

Future provision 
 
Sandwell Leisure Trust and the LTA are in discussions regarding development plans at Tipton 
Sports Academy. Initial proposals include an aspiration to cover the four courts on site with 
two air domes/bubbles and to install four dedicated padel courts where a multi-use games 
area is currently provided. Scheme layouts are currently being reviewed and initial cost 
indications are to be prepared.  
 
In addition, the Council are working together with the LTA on a potential parks development 
project for 2022. This may include upgrades to provision at Brunswick, Redhouse and Brittania 
parks.  In relation specifically to Britannia Park, the Council has recently been awarded a 
significant sum to redevelop the site, with tennis court improvements potentially forming part 
of this.  
 
Management and security of tenure 
 
The table below highlights the management of tennis courts within Sandwell. The majority are 
operated by schools, although only 27% of these are available for community use, with more 
club and local authority operated courts considered to be accessible.  
 
Table 8.3: Tennis courts by management type 
 

Community use? Number of courts 

Club Council9 Education Trust 

Available 8 15 8 4 

Unavailable - - 22 - 

Total  8 15 30 4 
 
Previously, more courts were provided in Sandwell at school sites, including at George Salter 
Academy and Stuart Bathurst Catholic High School. However, both now solely provide netball 
courts.  
 
A total of eight courts are managed by clubs, with four of these provided at Old Hill Cricket & 
Tennis Club and four at Wednesbury Sports Union. Old Hill TC has freehold of the courts at 
Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club, whilst Wednesbury TC has a rolling one-year lease of the 
courts at Wednesbury Sports Union from the Council. 
 
Court type 
 
All outdoor tennis courts in Sandwell have a macadam surface. The estimated lifespan of a 
macadam court is ten years, depending on levels of use and maintenance levels. To ensure 
courts can continue to be used beyond this time frame, it is recommended that a sinking fund 
is put into place for eventual refurbishment.  
 
Nationally, macadam courts are the most common, although other courts can have an artificial, 
clay or grass surface.  
 
Floodlighting 
 
Floodlit courts enable use throughout the year and are identified by the LTA as being a key 
priority for growing participation nationally. The LTA reports that floodlights allow for a 35% 
increase in available court time on an annual basis.  

                                                 
9 Includes courts operated by the Sandwell Leisure Trust  

Page 169



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           96 

In Sandwell, only ten of the 57 tennis courts are serviced by floodlights, representing just 18% 
of the provision. There are only four floodlit courts provided at local authority sites (all at Tipton 
Sports Academy) and four at school sites (three at Wodensborough Ormiston Academy and 
one at Phoenix Collegiate). This can considerably impact on recreational and casual demand.  
 
A lack of floodlighting at the school sites presents a key reason as to why many of the courts 
are unavailable for community use. Many of the providers state that making them available for 
lettings would not be financially viable as usage would be limited, although the LTA does offer 
solutions to help overcome this including initiatives such as Clubspark and Gate Access 
(detailed further on).  
 
The remaining two floodlit courts in Sandwell are at Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club (two are 
floodlit at the site and two are not). Access to floodlit courts is considered particularly key for 
clubs as it allows for more usage of provision, which in turn can help accommodate more 
members. It should, therefore, be noted that no floodlighting is at Wednesbury Sports Union, 
although it is reported by the LTA that Wednesbury TC is working with the NGB regarding 
potential installation of floodlighting.  
 
Over markings 
 
Tennis courts, particularly within schools, are often over marked by netball, basketball and/or 
football courts. Courts which are over marked tend to receive higher levels of use which can 
be detrimental to quality over time, as well as creating capacity issues if there is community 
demand from more than one sport.  
 
In Sandwell, some or all of the courts at the following sites are overmarked:  
 
 Britannia Park  
 Oldbury Academy 
 Perryfields High School 
 Q3 Tipton Academy 
 Rowley Regis Learning Campus 
 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy 

 Brunswick Park 
 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 
 Phoenix Collegiate  
 Gospel Oak Academy 
 Shireland Collegiate Academy  

 
The majority are overmarked by netball courts, except for one of the courts at Britannia Park, 
which is overmarked by a basketball court (the other two courts at the site are standalone).  
 
Quality 
 
The quality of tennis courts has been informed through non-technical site assessments and 
consultation with providers to assign each court a rating of good, standard or poor. Key 
aspects informing the findings include surface quality, grip underfoot, line marking quality, 
evenness and evidence of inappropriate use (e.g. vandalism and/or littering).  
 
For the full assessment criteria, please refer to Appendix 2. 
 
Of the courts in Sandwell, eight are assessed as good quality, 32 as standard quality and 17 
as poor quality. All of the poor quality courts are available for community use, whereas only 
five good quality and 13 standard quality courts are.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           97 

Table 8.4: Quality of community available tennis courts 
 

Community use? Quality 

Good Standard Poor 

Available 5 13 17 

Unavailable 3 19 - 

Total 8 32 17 
 
The courts assessed as poor quality are located at the following sites:  
 
 Britannia Park 
 Q3 Tipton Academy 
 Victoria Park (Smethwick) 

 Brunswick Park 
 Redhouse Park 
 Victoria Park (Tipton) 

 
Issues recorded at these sites include poor grip underfoot, the presence of moss, worn line 
markings and loose gravel. Moreover, maintenance is also considered to be basic and 
infrequent at most of the poor quality sites, which can lead to further deterioration. At Victoria 
Park (Tipton) in particular, it is questionable as to whether the court is still in use based on the 
quality of the provision, with the line markings badly faded.  
 
Five of the sites containing poor quality courts are operated by the Council. Improving such 
courts is currently a national priority for the LTA, linked to the aforementioned discussions with 
the Council relating to a parks’ development programme in Sandwell. Its focus is on suitable 
sites that cater for high levels of recreational demand or that have the potential to do so. This 
is especially the case if the provision is serviced (or could be serviced) by changing facilities 
and floodlighting, whereby a sustainable tennis programme could be supported. 
 
All of the club courts are assessed as standard quality. At Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club, 
significant signs of wear and tear are evident and the Club reports that quality has deteriorated 
over the last 12 months. Similarly, the courts at Wednesbury Sports Union are also worsening, 
with resurfacing required in the near future to sustain the level of play received.   
 
The good quality courts are identified at Oldbury Academy, Phoenix Collegiate and Tipton 
Sports Academy. To that end, it is worth noting that Oldbury Academy is unavailable for 
community use, despite the quality of the provision, whilst Phoenix Collegiate is generally 
prioritised for netball use (via the Walsall Netball League).  
 
Ancillary provision  
 
The ancillary facilities servicing both Old Hill TC and Wednesbury TC are considered to be 
adequate, with suitable provision provided albeit with some level of modernisation required.  
 
For non-club courts, ancillary provision is generally considered to be problematic, although 
good quality ancillary facilities are provided at Tipton Sports Academy. Whilst most of the other 
sites do provide changing facilities and/or toilets, they are not specific for tennis and are 
generally too far away from the courts to be realistically used. Often, the facilities predominately 
service football/cricket pitch users and therefore are not readily available or suited to tennis 
court users. In some instances, quality is also poor, as is especially the case with the toilets at 
Victoria Park (Tipton).  
 
As part of the proposed development of Britannia Park, a new pavilion will be built, with the 
Council currently looking for a suitable organisation to manage this.  
 

Page 171



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           98 

Insight from the LTA indicates good quality ancillary facilities such as toilets, changing rooms 
and cafes encourage players to visit community available provision and stay for extended 
periods of time. Therefore, a potential way to increase usage of such provision would be to 
invest in suitable ancillary amenities, which can then also provide a source of income.  
 
8.3: Demand 
 
It is reported that demand for tennis provision during the Covid-19 pandemic has increased 
substantially compared to prior levels when court restrictions have not been in place 
(potentially linked to tennis being one of the first sports to be allowed to resume). This should 
therefore be monitored moving forward to ensure that any growth can be accommodated for 
if the increases are sustained.  
 
Competitive tennis 
 
There are two tennis clubs in Sandwell; Old Hill TC and Wednesbury TC. The former has just 
14 members, all of which, are senior, whilst membership for the latter is currently unknown as 
it did not respond to consultation requests.   
 
Table 8.6: Summary of tennis club demand 
 

Club Number of members 

Senior  Junior 

Old Hill TC   14 - 

Wednesbury TC  Unknown Unknown 
 
Participation trends 
 
Old Hill TC reports that its membership has reduced significantly in recent years, with it stating 
that it is now at a point where its future is uncertain. The Club reports that it cannot attract new 
members, with it in need of a new person with new ideas to run it more successfully.  
 
Latent/unmet demand 
 
Latent demand for tennis nationally is reported to be high by the LTA, which has an insight 
tool that suggests that 18% of the five million players that pick up a racket each year would 
play more often if key barriers such as poor promotion of opportunities to get on court, unclear 
booking journeys (especially those that are ‘offline’) and low quality facilities were addressed. 
As such, there is a potential opportunity in Sandwell for the Council and other providers to 
address such barriers, whilst also bettering understanding of court usage.  
 
Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage of adults that would 
like to participate in tennis but ‘are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies latent demand of 
4,852 people within Sandwell. By way of comparison, this is below latent demand in Dudley 
(5,375 people) but is a above what is identified in in Walsall (4,180 people) and in 
Wolverhampton (3,933 people).   
 
In relation to clubs, Old Hill TC reports that it would be able to attract new members if it had 
better quality facilities. This is because it has lost members in recent years, partly due to its 
courts deteriorating in quality.  
 
 
 

Page 172



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           99 

Future demand 
 
Old Hill TC reports that it needs to increase it membership in order to continue operating but 
does not quantify its potential growth.   
 
In addition, the LTA, primarily based on its insight tools, identifies high levels of latent and 
unmet demand, suggesting that future growth may exceed club ambitions. However, such 
demand is also likely to include demand outside of the club-environment.  
 
Informal tennis 
 
It is considered that all local authority courts available for community use in Sandwell have 
spare capacity for a growth in demand, although this is difficult to quantify as use is not always 
recorded due to the open access nature of many sites. Most of the current use is assumed to 
take place throughout the summer months although it is also accepted that many courts are 
accessed unofficially for activities unrelated to tennis. 
 
The LTA has developed a package of support for local authorities to grow the use of tennis 
courts by removing key barriers to participation. The three products are ClubSpark, Rally and 
Gate Access, which are further detailed below. In Sandwell, some of these are currently 
utilised across six local authority sites and the LTA is keen to explore further developments, 
particularly at Britannia, Brunswick and Redhouse parks, as well as in relation specifically to 
Gate Access. In addition, Clubspark is in place at the club sites (Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club 
and Wednesbury Sports Union) and the LTA reports that is in discussions regarding further 
implementation of its products.  
 
In relation to education providers, none report any regular demand from the community for 
tennis. It is believed by many that a lack of demand is a direct result of a lack of floodlighting, 
as well as other courts being available for free. This results in the community being less likely 
to pay a hire charge for their provision.  
 
ClubSpark – Improving the booking process  
 
ClubSpark is a flexible and simple venue management platform with multiple products and 
applications to help venues, local authorities and coaches manage their sport. ClubSpark is a 
tool that is offered for free as part of LTA venue registration and allows administrators to 
manage all functions at their venue(s), including: 
 
 Managed website - create and manage a mobile friendly website tailored to LA/club 

requirements to promote events and activities.  
 Managed coaching – set up coaching lessons and courses online.  
 Membership management - improve membership engagement by making it easier for the 

venue and for members to pay, renew and keep in touch (includes online payments, direct 
debits and the monitoring of revenue streams; membership modules can also be used to 
take season ticket payments for venues operating a non-traditional annual facility fee).  

 Organise payments - set the way payments are taken, whether it’s immediate pay and 
play, or bookable as part of a membership package 

 Court bookings – reduced administration for managing bookings; give staff, coaches, 
members and the general public access to book and pay for courts, classes or other 
resources online. 

 Scheduling - set unique booking and price rules to suit the venue and enable lights to 
switch on/off automatically when linked to the LTA Premium Gate Access system. 

 Book and pay remotely - customers can make bookings and payments for a venue 
anytime, anywhere via the real-time booking app. 

Page 173



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           100 

 Reporting - ClubSpark allows administrators to view reports highlighting income, court 
usage, revenue and number of members and season ticket holders; this allows for 
identification of trends and patterns and evidence to demonstrate participation levels and 
impact. 

 
RALLY 
 
Rally is an aggregator that collects all booking and coaching information via ClubSpark pages 
and displays it for participants in one easy to view page. It allows players to search for venues 
close to them and provides booking options, removing the barriers of not knowing where courts 
are or how to book.  
 
Rally provides a helpful customer journey, with a personal profile to review and manage 
bookings, and helpful reminders. Courts can be set to book for free of charge or at a fee agreed 
by the provider.  
 
Gate Access 
 
The LTA has developed two gate access systems that work in association with ClubSpark to 
secure courts and to allow access to booked customers only. Members of the public can book 
a court online (making payment if required) and receive a four digit access code via email to 
enter using a courtside keypad. The gate access system then allows entry for the time booked 
if a correct code is entered. 
 
There are two gate options available: SmartAccess Premium and SmartAccess Lite. The 
demands and needs of users plus the setup of the venue determines the most appropriate 
system for each site.  
 
Nationally, the LTA report that in the last three years, sites with a gate access system installed 
have attracted 64,841 unique players, leading to 609,671 courts being booked. This has 
generated income of over £1 million.  
 
Additional demand 
 
The LTA operates various tennis initiatives across the Country which result in some courts 
receiving additional demand. Furthermore, there are other formats away from traditional tennis 
that can result in increased usage. These are all detailed below.  
 
Local Tennis Leagues 
 
Recreational Tennis leagues are less formal in comparison to established club play, offering 
greater flexibility and an opportunity for all abilities to engage in competition at local venues. 
The leagues are available to all aged 18 years and above and are run by an organisation 
called Local Tennis Leagues, which affiliates to the LTA. Players are organised into mixed sex 
leagues of eight based on similar ability levels, with matches arranged between the two 
players at whatever time and court is agreed. The flexibility of play is conducive to the use of 
park sites which are typically more easily accessible.  
 
There is no Local Tennis League specific to Sandwell; however, both the Walsall Parks 
League and the Wolverhampton Parks League identify Tipton Sports Academy as one of their 
primary venues.  
 
 
 
 

Page 174



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           101 

LTA Youth Start 
 
This is a six week coaching offer for children that have never played tennis before and is 
identified as a priority by the LTA. For £25, kids get six weeks coaching by an LTA Accredited 
coach, along with a free racket, pack of balls and personalised t-shirt so that they can continue 
playing.   
 
Tennis for Free  
 
Tennis for Free is a community sports charity that works in partnership with the LTA. The 
charity delivers free, fully inclusive weekly coaching sessions for all ages and abilities in local 
communities across the UK, especially those in low-income areas.  
 
Tennis for Free offers a package for local authorities and court operators that includes financial 
support for local LTA Accredited coaches to deliver the sessions, tennis equipment for 
attendees and coaches and promotional support. Sessions are typically delivered across three 
courts, although the charity have recently launched ‘Tennis for Free Lite’, available to clubs 
that wish to open their doors to non-members.  
 
Through its offer, Tennis for Free aims to: 
 
 Reinvigorate under-used public facilities 
 Make tennis a sport for all 
 Make tennis more financially accessible in the UK 
 Improve the physical and mental wellbeing of local communities through tennis 
 
LTA Big Tennis Weekend  
 
The LTA Big Tennis Weekend is an LTA initiative which all registered venues can access. 
Clubs and venues have the ability to sign up to host open days, which are free of charge, and 
create a relaxed and welcoming environment for those new to tennis to participate. This in 
turn can potentially lead to the clubs attracting new members. 
 
The LTA hosts three dedicated weekends a year (in May, July and September) that are the 
UK’s biggest public tennis events. Furthermore, venues are able to run additional events 
outside these dates and will benefit from their events being promoted on the national LTA 
campaign website. All clubs running an open day are asked to promote a follow-on offer to all 
attendees, such as a reduced rate introductory membership or a number of free coaching 
sessions, to encourage people to continue playing after the event.  
 
Mini tennis 
 
Mini tennis provides children with the perfect opportunity to learn the fundamentals of tennis 
at an early age. Designed for children aged between 4-10, mini tennis utilises smaller courts, 
nets and rackets as well as lower-bouncing tennis balls to develop vital tennis skills and 
techniques. The game is split out into three levels, with the LTA stating that each stage there 
are key aims and goals:  
 
 Red (Stage 3): 4-8 year olds – serve, rally and score 
 Orange (Stage 2): 8-9 year olds – develop a rounded game 
 Green (Stage 1): 10 year olds – put skills to the test 
 
No dedicated mini tennis courts have been identified in Sandwell.  
 
 

Page 175



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           102 

Padel tennis 
 
Padel is a form of tennis that is easy to play, fun and sociable. It is played mainly in a doubles 
format on an enclosed court about a third of the size of a tennis court and can be played in 
groups of mixed ages and abilities as it is not power dominant. The rules are broadly the same 
as tennis, although you serve underhand and the walls are used as part of the game, with the 
ball allowed to bounce off them. 
 
One of the fastest growing sports across continental Europe, it has gained increasing 
popularity over recent years, particularly in Spain with over six million people currently playing. 
As of 2021, there are around 6,000 active paddle tennis players across Great Britain, with 107 
courts provided at 52 clubs. This is predicted to grow substantially in future years.  
 
There are currently no paddle tennis courts in Sandwell; however, as previously mentioned, 
plans are in place for the creation of provision at Tipton Sports Academy. The nearest existing 
courts are located in Birmingham at Sutton Coldfield Tennis Club and in Walsall at Streetly 
Academy.  
 
8.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
The LTA suggests that a non-floodlit court can accommodate a maximum of 40 members, 
whereas a floodlit court can accommodate 60 members.  
 
Old Hill TC has enough courts to meet its current membership of 14 as it has access to four 
courts with capacity for 200 members (meaning its membership could theoretically be 
accommodated on one court). Priority should therefore be placed on increasing its 
membership so that the Club becomes more sustainable. For this, quality and operational 
improvements are required.  
 
For Wednesbury TC, further exploration is required to determine its current membership levels 
and its future growth aspirations. At Wednesbury Sports Union, it has capacity for a 
membership base of up to 160 members.  
 
As no non-club courts are identified as having any capacity issues, precedence should be 
placed on improving quality to an adequate standard for promoting and increasing informal 
play, particularly at publicly available sites accommodating multiple courts and adequate 
ancillary facilities. Linked to this, increased utilisation of LTA schemes at suitable sites should 
be considered, as should the establishment of the other various initiatives supported by the 
NGB. 
 
Tipton Sports Academy, as well Brunswick, Redhouse and Brittania parks,  could be seen as 
key given the current proposals in place at the sites, the operating structure in place and the 
existing quality.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022          Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                           103 

 

Tennis – supply and demand summary 
 Old Hill TC has a sufficient number of courts to meet its current membership, with priority 

needing to be placed on ensuring that the Club can remain operational.  
 For Wednesbury TC, further exploration is required to determine its current membership levels 

and its future growth aspirations; at Wednesbury Sports Union, it has capacity for a 
membership base of up to 160 members.  

 As no non-club courts are identified as have any capacity issues, precedence should be 
placed on improving quality to an adequate standard for informal play, particularly at publicly 
available sites hosting multiple courts. 

Tennis – supply summary 
 There are a total of 57 tennis courts identified in Sandwell across 18 sites, with 35 courts 

categorised as being available for community use at 12 sites. 
 Sandwell Leisure Trust and the LTA are in discussions regarding development plans at Tipton 

Sports Academy (including the covering of the courts and the installation of four dedicated 
padel courts. 

 In addition, the Council are working together with the LTA on a potential parks development 
project for 2022; this may include upgrades to provision at Brunswick, Redhouse and Brittania 
parks.  

 The majority of courts are operated by schools, although only 27% of these are available for 
community use. 

 All of the courts have a macadam surface.  
 In total, ten of the 57 tennis courts are serviced by floodlights, representing just 18% of the 

provision. 
 Of the courts, eight are assessed as good quality, 32 as standard quality and 17 as poor 

quality.  
 The ancillary facilities servicing Old Hill TC and Wednesbury TC are considered to be 

adequate, with some modernisation required.  
 For non-club courts, ancillary provision is generally considered to be problematic, although 

good quality ancillary facilities are provided at Tipton Sports Academy and development 
proposals are in place at Britannia Park. 

Tennis – demand summary 
 There are two tennis clubs in Sandwell.  
 Old Hill TC has a current membership of just 14 members, which is threatening the long-term 

future of the Club.   
 Membership details at Wednesbury TC are unknown as the Club was unresponsive to 

consultation requests.  
 Away from clubs, it is considered that all local authority courts available for community use in 

Sandwell have spare capacity for a growth in demand, although this is difficult to quantify as 
use is not always recorded due to the open access nature of many sites.  

 Clubspark is utilised across six local authority sites and the LTA is keen to explore further 
opportunities.   

 Two local tennis leagues, whilst not specific to Sandwell, identify Tipton Sports Academy as 
being a primary venue.   

Page 177



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022            Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  104 

PART 9: NETBALL 
 
9.1: Introduction 
 
England Netball is the governing body with overall responsibility for ensuring the effective 
governance of the sport.  
 
Whilst often played indoors, there are far more outdoor courts provided and in use by the 
netball community than there are indoor. Nationally, England Netball reports that the challenge 
is that the supply of outdoor netball courts is generally not of a good enough standard for use 
by the community, whilst accessibility and a lack of floodlighting can also be problematic.  
 
Consultation 
 
Information to inform this section of the report was primarily obtained through discussions with 
England Netball. In addition, consultation has taken place with the Dudley Netball League and 
Walsall Netball League.  
 
9.2: Supply 
 
There are 62 netball courts in Sandwell identified across 24 sites. Of the courts, 27 at eight 
sites are available for community use; all the courts that are unavailable for community use 
are located at education sites.  
 
There are no community available courts in the Oldbury Analysis Area, although there are 
nine that are unavailable to the community. The West Bromwich Analysis Area has the most 
community available courts (12).   
 
Table 9.1: Summary of the number of courts by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Courts available for 

community use 
Courts unavailable for 

community use 

Oldbury - 9 

Rowley Regis 3 4 

Smethwick 2 5 

Tipton 3 3 

Wednesbury 7 6 

West Bromwich 12 8 

Sandwell 27 35 
 
Disused provision 
 
There are six tennis courts at the former Phoenix Collegiate Campus (Friar Park Road). Sport 
England has agreed to the loss of these courts due to replacement courts being provided at 
the Phoenix Collegiate Campus referenced throughout this section of the report (Clarkes 
Lane). These were subject to Sport England funding and a community use agreement being 
established across the site.  
 
For a site-by-site breakdown of the courts supplied across Sandwell, please refer to Table 
9.2 and Figure 9.1 overleaf. 
 
 
 

Page 178



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022            Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  105 

Figure 9.1: Location of netball courts in Sandwell 

 
 

Page 179



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                         106 

Table 9.2: Netball courts in Sandwell 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis area Ownership Community 
use? 

No. of 
courts 

Floodlit? Court 
type 

Over-
marked?  

Court 
quality 

1 All Saints C of E Primary 
School 

B71 1QN West Bromwich School No 1 No Macadam No Poor 

8 Blackheath Primary 
School 

B65 9NF Rowley Regis School No 1 No Macadam No Standard 

14 Brunswick Park WS10 9HH Wednesbury Council Yes  1 No Macadam No Poor 

28 Ferndale Primary School B43 5QF West Bromwich School No 2 No Macadam No Standard 

30 George Betts Primary 
School 

B66 1RE Smethwick School No 1 No Macadam No Poor 

31 George Salter Academy B70 9UW West Bromwich School Yes 4 Yes Macadam No Good 

35 Grove Vale Primary 
School 

B43 6AL West Bromwich School No 2 No Macadam No Standard 

40 Holly Lodge High School  B67 7JG Smethwick School No 4 Yes Macadam No Good 

54 Moorlands Primary 
School 

B71 2NZ 
Wednesbury 

School No 
1 

No Macadam No Standard 

60 Oldbury Academy B68 8NE Oldbury School  No 3  No Macadam Yes Good 

2 No Macadam No Good 

62 Ormiston Forge 
Academy 

B64 6QU 
Rowley Regis 

School No 
3 

No Macadam No Standard 

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

B69 2HE Oldbury School No 2 No Macadam Yes Standard 

65 Perryfields High School B68 0RG Oldbury School No 2 No Macadam Yes Standard 

66 Phoenix Collegiate  B71 2BX West Bromwich School Yes 5 Yes Macadam Yes Good 

2 Yes Macadam No Good 

70 Pulse Soccer & Fitness WS10 0JX Wednesbury Commercial Yes 6 Yes Macadam No Poor 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton DY4 7NR Tipton School Yes 3  No Macadam Yes Poor  

75 Redhouse Park B43 6AD West Bromwich Council Yes 1 No Macadam Yes Poor 

77 St Michael’s CE High 
School 

B65 9AN Rowley Regis School Yes 3 No Macadam Yes Standard 

78 Gospel Oak Academy DY4 0BZ Tipton School No 3 No Macadam Yes Standard 

P
age 180



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022               Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                         107 

Site 
ID 

Site name Postcode Analysis area Ownership Community 
use? 

No. of 
courts 

Floodlit? Court 
type 

Over-
marked?  

Court 
quality 

79 Sandwell Academy B71 4LG Smethwick School Yes 2 No Macadam No Standard 

85 Stuart Barthurst Catholic 
High School 

WS10 9QS Wednesbury School No 3 No Macadam No Standard 

107 Wodensborough 
Ormiston Academy 

WS10 0DR Wednesbury School No 2 Yes Macadam Yes Standard 

129 Shireland Collegiate 
Academy 

B66 4ND Smethwick School No 3 No Macadam Yes Standard  

P
age 181



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              108 

Management and security of tenure 
 
Two netball courts in Sandwell are operated by the Council, with these being located at 
Brunswick Park and Redhouse Park, whilst the six courts at Pulse Soccer & Fitness fall under 
commercial management. All remaining courts are at school sites.  
 
The Dudley Netball League and the Walsall Netball League both use central venues in 
Sandwell, with George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate being accessed. For both 
leagues, this is via an annual agreement, which therefore provides limited security of tenure 
as access is not guaranteed beyond a 12-month period. That being said, neither league 
expresses any concern.   
 
Court type 
 
All outdoor netball courts in Sandwell have a macadam surface. The estimated lifespan of a 
macadam court is ten years, depending on levels of use and maintenance levels.  
 
Floodlighting 
 
Despite 62 outdoor netball courts being provided in Sandwell, only 23 are serviced by 
floodlighting. These are provided at: 
 
 George Salter Academy 
 Holly Lodge High School 
 Phoenix Collegiate 
 Pulse Soccer & Fitness 
 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy 
 
Of these, the courts at George Salter Academy, Phoenix Collegiate and Pulse Soccer & 
Fitness are readily available to the community. This results in 17 community available netball 
courts across Sandwell being floodlit. 
 
A lack of floodlighting on netball courts is an issue nationwide, with England Netball’s national 
database (updated in April 2020) identifying that only 1,941 of 5,108 outdoor netball courts are 
floodlit throughout the Country (38%). This is comparative to the ratio identified in Sandwell, 
where 37% of courts are serviced.  
 
A lack of floodlighting presents a key reason as to why many courts are unavailable for 
community use. Many providers of non-floodlit courts state that making them available would 
not be financially viable as usage would be significantly limited. However, it is also stated by 
the majority that there is a lack of perceived demand.  
 
Over markings 
 
Netball courts, particularly at school sites, are often overmarked, predominately by tennis 
courts but also on occasion by basketball and/or football courts. Provision such as this tends 
to receive higher levels of use which can be detrimental to quality over time, as well as 
potentially causing capacity issues when there is external netball demand.  
 
  

Page 182



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              109 

In Sandwell, 28 netball courts are overmarked compared to 34 that are dedicated for netball 
use. This actually represents a comparatively high number of standalone courts, especially 
given that many are located at secondary schools where tennis markings are also often 
provided. Both George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate provided dedicated courts, as 
do Holly Lodge High School, Ormiston Forge Academy, Oldbury Academy, Sandwell 
Academy and Stuart Barthurst Catholic High School.  
 
Quality 
 
The quality of netball courts has been informed through non-technical site assessments and 
consultation with providers to assign each court a rating of good, standard or poor. Key 
aspects informing the findings include surface quality, grip underfoot, line marking quality, 
evenness and evidence of inappropriate use (e.g. vandalism and/or littering).  
 
For the full assessment criteria, please refer to Appendix 2. 
 
Of the courts in Sandwell, 20 are assessed as good quality, 29 as standard quality and 13 as 
poor quality. However, the majority of the poor quality courts are available for community use 
(85%), compared to just over half of the good quality courts (55%) and a minimal number of 
the standard quality courts (17%).  
 
Table 9.3: Quality of courts 
 

Community use Quality 

Good Standard Poor 

Available 11 5 11 

Unavailable 9 24 2 

Total 20 29 13 
 
The poor quality courts that are available for community use are located at Pulse Soccer & 
Fitness, Q3 Tipton Academy and Redhouse Park. Issues surrounding these include poor grip 
underfoot, evidence of moss and worn line markings.  
 
The good quality courts that are available for community use are provided at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. At George Salter Academy, the courts were resurfaced 
through dialogue with England Netball in order to cater for the needs of the Dudley Netball 
League, although the League does report that some worn areas have recently developed. The 
courts at Phoenix Collegiate have been resurfaced more recently (in 2019) for use by the 
Walsall Netball League and no issues are identified.  
 
The good quality courts unavailable for community use are located at Holly Lodge High School 
and Oldbury Academy. If more courts are required by the community, gaining access to these 
could be prioritised, although neither site is serviced by floodlights.  
 
Ancillary provision 
 
Ancillary provision is generally considered to be problematic. Whilst most sites provide 
changing facilities and/or toilets, they are not specific for netball and are generally located 
within main school buildings or are provided to predominately service sports halls and/or grass 
pitches. As such, access can be limited even at sites that allow for community use. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, there are good quality changing facilities servicing the courts at 
George Salter Academy following refurbishment in 2017. However, the Dudley Netball League 
reports that it has been unable to access the provision since the Covid-19 pandemic began, 
which is one of the reasons it has not held fixtures since 2019.  

Page 183



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              110 

The Walsall Netball League does not have any meaningful access to the changing rooms at 
Phoenix Collegiate.  
 
9.3: Demand 
 
Demand for outdoor netball tends to come in two forms; league and club-based netball that 
consists of matches and training, and the various netball-based initiatives such as Back to 
Netball and Walking Netball.  
 
Dudley Netball League 
 
As mentioned previously, the Dudley Netball League uses George Salter Academy as a 
central venue. It operates between April and July each year, although no matches have been 
played since 2019 due to Covid-19 (play is expected to resume in 2022). When the League 
was last held, nine divisions were provided and 72 teams were accommodated, with matches 
split across Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday evenings.  
 
Many of the clubs competing in the League draw players from Sandwell, particularly 
Grasshoppers Netball Club which fields five teams. The Club uses Haden Hill Leisure Centre 
as a home base, using the indoor provision for training purposes.  
 
The League reports that the four courts provided at George Salter Academy is insufficient to 
meet its needs, stating that it really requires six courts, with fixtures currently tightly congested. 
Ideally, it would like to relocate to Dudley to facilitate this but notes that there is no suitable 
location within the Borough. In effect, it is currently importing its demand into Sandwell.   
 
Walsall Netball League 
 
The League accesses Phoenix Collegiate across Saturdays, Mondays and Tuesdays. 
However, as with the Dudley Netball League, no fixtures have been held since 2019, although 
play is expected to resume in 2022. The League operates both winter and summer leagues, 
also using the indoor provision at Phoenix Collegiate for the former. When the summer 
iteration was last held, there were five divisions and 37 teams accommodated (including teams 
from Grasshoppers Netball Club).  
 
Unlike the Dudley Netball League, despite the Walsall Netball League technically importing its 
demand into Sandwell, there is no aspiration to relocate. The site received significant 
investment to provide for netball and a community use agreement is in place to ensure that 
the League can be accommodated in the long-term.  
 
Play Netball 
 
Play Netball is a commercial organisation that runs various netball leagues across the Country 
that run all-year round (a new season begins as soon as the previous one ends). In addition 
to welcoming already established teams, it also encourages individual players to sign up, with 
it then placing each person within a team that suits their ability.  
 
In Sandwell, Play Netball operates a league at Phoenix Collegiate. Matches are played every 
Tuesday evening, with three time slots (19:00, 19:40 and 20:20).  
 
Back to Netball 
 
Back to Netball is a scheme put into place by England Netball in 2010, with participation 
increasing ever since. Sessions are running weekly by qualified coaches across England with 
the aim of re-introducing female players over the age of 16 to the sport.  

Page 184



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              111 

In Sandwell, numerous Back to Netball sessions have been run, mainly at George Salter 
Academy. Historically, Gospel Oak Academy has also been used.  
 
Walking Netball 
 
Walking Netball is a lower version of the sport, designed so that anyone can play regardless 
of age or fitness level. It can give those who are isolated an outlet, provide an activity for those 
who do not deem themselves fit enough and offer a stepping-stone for those looking for a 
pathway back into traditional netball.  
 
Walking Netball sessions are hosted across the Black Country and the wider West Midlands 
region by Netball West Midlands. In addition, the Sandwell Leisure Trust actively promotes 
the initiative.  
 
Netball Now 
 
Netball Now is a simple, straight forward way to play netball. It is not a competition led by rules 
or scores but rather a simple session where players can play a variety of positions and even 
have a go at umpiring.  
 
No Netball Now sessions are in operation in Sandwell. 
 
Bee Netball 
 
A new initiative by England Netball, Bee Netball a programme for children all about friendship, 
inclusion, fair play and teamwork. Each session is managed by an England Netball accredited 
coach. Although there are currently no sessions operating in Sandwell, it is still in its infancy 
so one may be established in the near future.  
 
Exported/imported demand 
 
As indicated above, both the Dudley Netball League and the Walsall Netball League import 
demand into Sandwell.  
 
Latent/unmet demand 
 
Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage of adults that would 
like to participate in netball but ‘are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies latent demand 
of 857 people within Sandwell, which is the highest identified across the Black Country region 
(second is Walsall, with 704 people).  
 
No latent or unmet demand is reported by England Netball or the netball leagues. However, 
the Dudley Netball League reports that, before Covid-19, capacity was an issue with 72 teams 
being accommodated and could therefore become more problematic if demand grows further.  
 
Future demand 
 
Both the Dudley Netball League and the Walsall Netball League report that they expect to lose 
several teams when the leagues resumes post Covid-19 due to many players being unable to 
play netball over the past couple of seasons. However, it is hoped that this will then be offset 
through more junior players joining following the 2022 Commonwealth Games (hosted in 
Birmingham), with interest in the sport likely to increase.  
 

Page 185



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              112 

In addition to the above, it is hoped by England Netball that there will an increase in the number 
of its initiatives held in Sandwell and the demand for them. However, this is reliant on 
volunteers running and organising the sessions.  
 
9.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
Sandwell is relatively well catered for regarding netball, with a large number of community 
available courts provided and with a good number of these being dedicated to netball. This is 
especially the case when comparing the provision in Sandwell to Dudley and Walsall, both of 
which have fewer community available courts, fewer courts that are floodlit and fewer courts 
that are good quality. This is a key factor in demand being imported into Sandwell, with both 
George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate providing an offer that is not necessarily 
available elsewhere. 
 
Given the above, focus should be placed on protecting the facilities at George Salter Academy 
and Phoenix Collegiate and ensuring that the quality of the provision remains adequate to 
meet the demand. However, based on the Dudley Netball League reporting an aspiration to 
relocate its demand from Sandwell, it must be noted a recommendation in the Dudley PPOSS 
is to explore options that will enable this. Should this be possible, it is imperative that any 
Sandwell-based demand remains provided for and that the courts at George Salter Academy 
remain sustainable. As such, a collective approach between the authorities should be sought, 
with this to be guided and informed by England Netball.  
 
For netball demand away from the club and league environment, focus should also be placed 
on supporting the various initiatives that are championed by England Netball and ensuring 
such programmes have suitable provision from which to be ran from. As part of this, priority 
should be placed on improving the quality of the existing stock, particularly where quality is 
poor and where curricular and extra-curricular needs are high. Where courts are over marked, 
this could be carried out in conjunction with improving tennis court quality.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              113 

Netball – supply and demand summary 
 Sandwell is relatively well catered for, with a large number of community available netball courts 

provided and with a good number of these being dedicated to netball.  
 Focus should be placed on protecting and sustaining the courts at George Salter Academy and 

Phoenix Collegiate for continued use by the Dudley Netball League and the Walsall Netball 
League.  

 Should the Dudley Netball League relocate outside of Sandwell, it is imperative that the 
Sandwell-based demand remains provided for and that the courts remain sustainable. 

 For netball demand away from the club and league environment, there is a need to ensure 
programmes provided by England Netball have suitable provision from which to be ran from and 
that curricular and extra-curricular needs are being met.  

Netball – supply summary  
 There are 62 netball courts identified in Sandwell across 24 sites, with 27 courts at eight sites 

available for community use.  
 Two courts are operated by the Council and six are operated commercially, with all remaining 

provision located at school sites.  
 The courts at George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate are access by the Dudley Netball 

League and the Walsall Netball League, respectively, via annual agreements.   
 All the courts have a macadam surface. 
 A total of 28 courts are overmarked by other sports provision, which means that there are a 

comparatively high number of standalone courts.  
 Overall, 23 of the courts are serviced by floodlighting, including provision at George Salter 

Academy and Phoenix Collegiate, which is a comparable rate to the national ratio.  
 There are 20 courts assessed as good quality, 29 as standard quality and 13 as poor quality. 
 Poor quality community available courts are provided at Pulse Soccer & Fitness, Q3 Tipton 

Academy and Redhouse Park. 
 The community available courts at George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate are 

assessed as good quality, as are the unavailable courts at Holly Lodge High School and 
Oldbury Academy.   

Netball – demand summary  
 The Dudley Netball League uses George Salter Academy as a central venue; prior to Covid-19 

it accommodated 72 teams across nine divisions.  
 The Walsall Netball League uses Phoenix Collegiate as a centre venue and it accommodated 

37 teams across five division when last held (2019).  
 Both leagues import demand into Sandwell and the Dudley Netball League has a preference to 

relocate to its home authority (Dudley).  
 Grasshoppers Netball Club is a large club based in Sandwell, using Haden Hill Leisure Centre 

as a training base.  
 Play Netball operates in Sandwell at Phoenix Collegiate. 
 Back to Netball has previously been held at George Salter Academy as well, historically, at 

Gospel Oak Academy. 
 Walking Netball sessions are actively promoted by the Sandwell Leisure Trust.  

  

Page 187



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              114 

PART 10: BOWLS 
 
10.1: Introduction 
 
Outdoor bowls in Sandwell is played on crown greens, with a typical season running in the 
Summer from May until September. The British Crown Green Bowling Association (BCGBA) 
is the NGB with overall responsibility for ensuring effective governance of the sport.  
 
Flat green is another version of bowls played in England, governed by Bowls England. 
However, this is played predominately in the South and has no presence in Sandwell.  
 
Consultation 
 
There are 16 bowls clubs identified as currently using outdoor bowling greens in Sandwell. Of 
these, nine responded to consultation requests, equating to a response rate of 56%. A low 
response rate can be common when it comes to bowls clubs. 
 
Table 10.1: Summary of consultation 
 

Name of club Responded? 

Cradley Heath BC No 

Dartmouth Central BC Yes 

Dartmouth Links BC No 

Great Barr BC No 

Greets Green BC No 

Hamstead Social BC Yes  

Langley BC No 

Old Cross BC Yes 

Rowley Labour BC Yes 

Tallboats BC Yes 

The George BC Yes 

Thimblemill BC  Yes 

Victoria Park (Tipton) BC Yes 

Warley BC No 

Wernley BC  No 

West Bromwich Football Supporters BC  Yes 
 
Where clubs have been unresponsive, relevant information has been provided by the BCGBA.  
 
10.2: Supply 
 
There are currently 18 crown green bowling greens in Sandwell provided across 17 sites (two 
are provided at Thimblemill Recreation Centre). All of the greens are available for community 
use.  
 
The West Bromwich Analysis Area and the Oldbury Analysis Area contain the largest number 
of greens with six, whilst the Smethwick, Tipton and Wednesbury analysis areas contain just 
one green each.  
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 188



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              115 

Table 10.2: Summary of the number of greens by analysis area 
 

Analysis area Number of greens 

Oldbury 6 

Rowley Regis 3 

Smethwick 1 

Tipton 1 

Wednesbury 1 

West Bromwich 6 

Sandwell 18 
 
Figure 10.1 below shows the location of all bowling greens currently servicing Sandwell. For 
a key to the map, see Table 10.3.  
 
Figure 10.1: Location of bowling greens in Sandwell 

 
Table 10.3: Key to map 
 
Site ID Site Postcode Analysis area Club user No. of greens 

26 F.C Premier B43 6JF West Bromwich Great Barr BC 1 

34 Greets Green Playing 
Fields 

B70 0HF West Bromwich Greets Green 
BC 

1 

43 Hydes Road Playing 
Fields 

WS10 0DR Wednesbury - 1 

87 Thimblemill Recreation 
Centre 

B67 6NR Oldbury Thimblemill BC 2 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton)  DY4 8SW Tipton Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC 

1 

97 Warley Rugby Club (St 
Johns Pitches) 

B69 4NH 
 

Oldbury Warley BC 1 

Page 189



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              116 

Site ID Site Postcode Analysis area Club user No. of greens 

104 West Bromwich 
Dartmouth Cricket Club 

B71 4JQ 
 

West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Links BC 

1 

116 Langley Bowls Club B68 8HH Smethwick Langley BC 1 

117 Old Cross Pub B68 8LD Oldbury Old Cross BC 1 

118 The George Public 
House 

B68 9LW Oldbury The George BC 1 

119 Wernley Public House B68 0LR Oldbury Wernley BC 1 

121 Dartmouth Bowling Club B71 4AA West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Central BC 

1 

122 West Bromwich Football 
Supporters Club 

B70 8LD West Bromwich West Bromwich 
Football 

Supporters BC 

1 

124 Cradley Heath Sports & 
Social Club 

B64 5HU Rowley Regis Cradley Heath 
BC 

1 

125 Hamstead Social Club B42 1HY West Bromwich Hamstead 
Social BC 

1 

126 Rowley Labour Club B65 9AN Rowley Regis Rowley Labour 
BC 

1 

127 Haden Hill Park B64 7HF Rowley Regis Tallboats BC 1 
 
Disused provision 
 
Greens were previously provided at Old Chapel Inn and Pheasant Public House; however, 
these are now used solely as beer gardens.  
 
In addition, both Greets Green Playing Field and Haden Hill Park previously provided two 
greens, with just one now provided. At Greets Green Playing Field, the second green as been 
repurposed as a play area.  
 
Future provision 
 
The green at Cradley Heath Sports & Social Club is at risk following the closure of the wider 
sports club due to development. It is expected that all bowlers at the site will be lost or 
displaced.  
 
Ownership/management 
 
Details around the ownership and management arrangements for clubs which responded to 
consultation requests are provided in the table below. As seen, three clubs own their green, 
two have a lease arrangement in place and four clubs rent their greens.  
 
Table 10.4: Ownership/management arrangements for bowling clubs in Sandwell 
 

Name of club Ownership/management details 

Dartmouth Central BC The Club owns the green at Dartmouth Bowling Club. 

Hamstead Social BC The Club owns the green at Hamstead Social Club. 

Old Cross BC The Club rents green at Old Cross Pub. 

Rowley Labour BC The Club leases its green but does not state the length of this 
agreement. 

Tallboats BC The Club rents its greens at Haden Hill Park from the Council. 

Thimblemill BC The Club rents the green at Thimblemill Recreation Centre from 
Thimblemill Recreation and Entertainment Centre. 

Page 190



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              117 

Name of club Ownership/management details 

The George BC The Club rents ground from a brewery; the green is listed as a 
community asset.  

Victoria Park (Tipton) BC The Club lease the green at Victoria Park (Tipton) but does not state 
the length of this agreement. 

West Bromwich Football 
Supporters BC 

The Club owns the green at West Bromwich Football Supporters Club. 

 
Both Old Cross BC and The George BC are considered to have unsecure tenure given that 
they rent their greens from a private/commercial operator. All remaining clubs with a rental 
agreement in place have secure tenure as the agreement is either via the Council or via an 
overarching sports club.  
 
Similarly, whilst Great Barr BC did not respond to consultation requests, it is known that, as of 
August 2021, the Club had not been able to re-access the green at FC Premier as the provision 
had yet to re-open following initial Covid-19 restrictions.  
 
Quality 
 
The quality of bowling greens across Sandwell have been assessed via a combination of site 
visits (using non-technical assessments) and user consultation to reach and apply an agreed 
rating as follows:  
 
 Good 
 Standard 
 Poor 

 
For bowling greens, the non-technical assessment considers several attributes of the site 
including the surrounding hard surfaces to the green, disability access, evenness, grass 
coverage and signs off unofficial use. For further detail regarding the site assessment criteria, 
see Appendix 2.  
 
Overall, 17 greens are assessed as good quality, with just one assessed as standard (none 
are assessed as poor). This is seen site-by-site in the table below. 
 
Table 10.5: Summary of bowling green quality 
 

Site ID Site Analysis area No. of greens Quality 

26 F.C Premier West Bromwich 1 Good 

34 Greets Green Playing Fields West Bromwich 1 Good 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Wednesbury 1 Good 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre Oldbury 2 Good 

Standard 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) Tipton 1 Good 

97 Warley Rugby Club (St Johns Pitches) Oldbury 1 Good 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club West Bromwich 1 Good 

116 Langley Bowls Club Smethwick 1 Good 

117 Old Cross Pub Oldbury 1 Good 

118 The George Public House Oldbury 1 Good 

119 Wernley Public House Oldbury 1 Good 

121 Dartmouth Bowling Club West Bromwich 1 Good 

122 West Brom Football Supporters Club West Bromwich 1 Good 

124 Cradley Heath Sports & Social Club Rowley Regis 1 Good 

Page 191



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              118 

Site ID Site Analysis area No. of greens Quality 

125 Hamstead Social Club West Bromwich 1 Good 

126 St Giles Rowley Regis Parish Church Rowley Regis 1 Good 

127 Haden Hill Park Rowley Regis 1 Good 
 
The standard quality green is one of the greens at Thimblemill Recreation Centre, which is 
rarely maintained. Thimblemill BC predominately just uses the good quality green at the site.  
 
In addition to the majority of the greens being assessed as good quality, all eight responsive 
clubs report that quality has also improved over the last year. Many suggest that the greens 
benefited from less activity taking place during the Covid-19 pandemic, whilst others state that 
maintenance regimes have improved/increased.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, at West Bromwich Football Supporters Club, the green is noted 
as suffering from regular vandalism, with the general public accessing the green with bikes 
and damaging quality. In addition, Old Cross BC states that it requires an upgraded watering 
system.  
 
Ancillary provision 
 
All clubs are able to access ancillary provision at their home green and the majority are 
serviced by standard quality facilities, although the range of facilities and the condition of them 
varies site-by-site. The more comprehensive facilities tend to be provided at sites that also 
service other sports and activities, such as at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club and FC 
Premier.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, a number of clubs have plans/aspirations to improve their 
provision. This includes:  
 
 Dartmouth Central BC 
 Old Cross BC 
 Rowley Labour BC 
 The George BC 
 Victoria Park (Tipton) BC 
 West Bromwich Football Supporters BC 
 
West Bromwich Football Supporters BC reports that it is not serviced by any changing facilities 
or showers, whilst Rowley Labour BC states that the pavilion needs refurbishing. Its current 
provision is extremely dated. 
 
Old Cross BC reports an aspiration to replace its pavilion entirely as the current provision does 
not contain toilets, with these instead accessed via the onsite public house (when it is open). 
Victoria Park (Tipton) BC has plans to refurbish its toilets and is soon to submit a planning 
application in regards to this.  
 
The George BC reports an aspiration to install boundary fencing to its green for security 
purposes and to create disabled access, whereas Dartmouth Central BC reports that car 
parking is a problem at Dartmouth Bowling Club. The current area is not adequate for its needs 
as it fills relatively quickly, meaning users often need to park on residential streets. 
 
From site assessments, it is also evident that the pavilion at Wernley Public House, whilst 
adequate, requires some upgrades to bring it up to a better standard. In particular, the kitchen 
area needs attention.  
 
 

Page 192



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              119 

Floodlighting 
 
In Sandwell, three greens are serviced by floodlighting at the following sites:  
 
 St Giles Rowley Regis Parish church  
 The George Public House 
 Warley Rugby Club (St Johns Pitches) 
 
Floodlit greens offer opportunities to access provision for training and matches during 
evenings outside of the summer months. However, they are relatively rare across the Country, 
with the level of floodlit supply in Sandwell therefore considered to be comparatively high. 
 
Hamstead Social BC reports an aspiration for the green at Hamstead Social Club to be floodlit 
in the future.   
 
10.3: Demand 
 
There are 16 clubs using bowling greens in Sandwell. Where membership is known, 
membership across the clubs equates to 600 members, made up of 326 senior men, 86 senior 
women and eight juniors. However, membership data for Cradley Heath BC is unknown.  
 
Four of the clubs (Old Cross, Thimblemill, Tallboats and West Bromwich Football Supporters 
bowls clubs) have junior members, which is a relatively high amount.  
 
Table 10.6: Summary of club membership 
 
Club name 
 

Members 

Men Women Juniors 

Cradley Heath BC Unknown Unknown Unknown 

Dartmouth Central BC  14 5 - 

Dartmouth Links BC  11 28 - 

Great Barr BC 38 3 - 

Greets Green BC  35 4 - 

Hamstead BC 42 5 - 

Langley BC 56 15 - 

Old Cross BC 26 16 1 

Rowley Labour BC 35 17 - 

Tallboats BC 31 4 2 

The George BC 58 2 - 

Thimblemill BC 30 6 1 

Victoria Park (Tipton) BC 14 6 - 

Warley BC 20 - - 

Wernley BC  33 4 - 

West Bromwich Football Supporters BC 23 11 4 
 
The average club membership is 40 and the largest club is Langley BC (71 members). In 
contrast, the smallest club is Dartmouth Central BC, which has just 19 members, followed by 
Victoria Park (Tipton) BC and Warley BC, which both have 20 members. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 193



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              120 

Participation trends 
 
In line with a national trend of declining membership, three of the clubs that responded to 
consultation report that membership has decreased in recent years, with these being West 
Bromwich Football Supporters, Tallboats and Victoria Park (Tipton) bowls clubs.  
 
Conversely, both Dartmouth Central BC and Rowley Labour BC report that membership has 
increased, whilst the remaining clubs report that participation has stayed the same in recent 
years.  
 
Latent demand 
 
Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage of adults that would 
like to participate in bowls but ‘are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies latent demand of 
495 people within Sandwell, which is a relatively low number compared to 583 people in 
Dudley but is above the levels of 488 people in Walsall and 454 people in Wolverhampton.  
 
All responding clubs report that existing membership can be accommodated on the current 
level of provision available to them and that no potential members are being turned away due 
to capacity issues. As such, no clubs report any latent or unmet demand, with the majority 
actively trying to recruit new members. 
 
Future demand 
 
Using ONS projections the number of persons aged 65 and over is likely to significantly 
increase for the period up to 2039. Due to this age band being the most likely to play bowls, 
demand for greens could increase. 
 
From consultation, West Bromwich Football Supporters BC, Old Cross BC and Dartmouth 
Central BC report future demand to increase their membership, with this collectively equating 
to the potential growth of 18 senior and 11 junior members.  
 
Table 10.7: Summary of future demand 
 
Club name 
 

Future demand (members) 

Senior Junior 

Dartmouth Central BC 3 - 

Old Cross BC 10 6 

West Bromwich Football Supporters BC 5 5 

Total 18 11 
 
However, the above is not to say that the remaining clubs are not looking for new members, 
but rather that they are focusing on sustaining current playing levels. This involves recruiting 
new members to replace those that leave the clubs or that become unable to participate.  
 
10.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
The capacity of a bowling green is very much dependent on the leagues and the day that they 
operate. A green may have no spare capacity on an afternoon or evening when a popular 
league operates but may be unused for the rest of the week. However, in many cases, greens 
are used during the afternoons by club members who bowl socially, with access a potential 
issue during peak times if membership is particularly high.  
 
 

Page 194



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              121 

The BCGBA does not have any specific guidance on bowling green capacity, stating that it 
can vary from site-to-site and from club-to-club. However, as a guide, it states that any green 
used by at least 20 members is generally considered to be sustainable, whilst any green 
operating with a membership of over 60 may need additional resource to ensure that it is 
meeting its required level of demand.  
 
Therefore, capacity ratings for bowling greens in Sandwell are classified as follows:  
 
Within capacity range Membership ensures green is sustainable without capacity issues 

Outside capacity range Membership is below or above the recommended capacity range 
 
Following this, the table below highlights the level of usage each green in Sandwell receives, 
where the information is known. Where no membership information is known, further 
communication is required with clubs to fully understand their needs and any potential capacity 
or sustainability issues.   
 
Table 10.8: Supply and demand balance of bowling greens in Sandwell 
 
Site 
ID 

Site No. of 
greens 

Club user Current 
members 

Future 
demand 

26 F.C Premier 1 Great Barr BC 41 41 

34 Greets Green Playing Fields 1 Greets Green BC 39 39 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields 1 - - - 

87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre 2 Thimblemill BC 37 37 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) 1 Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC 

20 20 

97 Warley Rugby Club (St Johns 
Pitches) 

1 Warley BC 20 20 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Cricket Club 

1 Dartmouth Links 
BC 

39 39 

116 Langley Bowls Club 1 Langley BC 71 71 

117 Old Cross Pub 1 Old Cross BC 43 59 

118 The George Public House 1 The George BC  60 60 

119 Wernley Public House 1 Wernley BC 37 37 

121 Dartmouth Bowling Club 1 Dartmouth Central 
BC 

19 22 

122 West Brom Football Supporters 
Club  

1 West Bromwich 
Football 

Supporters BC  

38 48 

124 Cradley Heath Sports & Social 
Club 

1 Cradley Heath BC Unknown Unknown  

125 Hamstead Social Club 1 Hamstead Social 
BC 

57 57 

126 Rowley Labour Club 1 Rowley Labour BC 52 52 

127 Haden Hill Park 1 Tallboats BC 37 37 
 
Only Langley BC is operating above the recommended capacity threshold, and whilst this is 
relatively minimal, the Club may require support to ensure the level of demand is sustainable. 
Similarly, support may also be required in relation to The George BC and Hamstead Social 
BC given that they are operating right on the limit of the capacity threshold.  
 
As all other clubs are considered to have spare capacity for a growth in demand, overall supply 
is considered sufficient to meet demand.  
 

Page 195



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              122 

At the other end of the scale, Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 members) is operating below the 
level of membership required to ensure that its green is sustainable. Support is therefore be 
required to safeguard the Club, with emphasis needing to be placed on ensuring that it can 
fulfil its future growth aspirations The same may also apply to Warley BC and Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC, both of which have 20 members.   
 
For some authorities, an amalgamation of clubs can often be a solution when numerous clubs 
are struggling for membership within a locality. However, this is something that needs to be 
informed through separate needs assessment studies before any provision that is in use can 
be lost.  
 

Bowls – supply and demand summary 
 Only Langely BC is operating above the recommended capacity threshold, suggesting that 

overall supply is sufficient to meet demand.  
 Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 members) is operating below the threshold of the level of 

membership required to ensure that its green is sustainable.  
Bowls – supply summary  
 There are 18 crown green bowls greens in Sandwell provided across 17 sites.   
 Greens were also previously provided at Old Chapel Inn and Pheasant Public House (disused), 

whereas Greets Green Playing Field and Haden Hill Park previously provided two greens.   
 The green at Cradley Sports & Social Club is at risk to development.  
 Of clubs which responded to consultation requests, three own their greens, four rent their 

greens and two have a lease arrangement in place. 
 In total, 17 greens are assessed as good quality and one is assessed as standard quality (at 

Thimblemill Recreation Centre). 
 Three greens are serviced by floodlighting (St Giles Rowley Regis Parish church, Warley Rugby 

Club (St Johns Pitches) and The George Public House). 
 Six clubs state a need for ancillary provision to improve, whilst upgrades are also required at 

Wernley Public House. 
Bowls – demand summary  
 There are 16 clubs using bowling greens in Sandwell; where membership is known (across 

seven clubs), there are a total of 373 members, equating to 281 senior men, 84 senior women 
and eight juniors. 

 The average membership across the clubs is 41.  
 In line with a national trend of declining membership, three of the clubs that responded to 

consultation report that membership has decreased in recent years, whilst two report recent 
increases. 

 Due to a predicted increase in persons aged 65 and over (to 2039), demand is likely to increase 
for greens over the coming years.  

 Both West Bromwich Football Supporters BC, Old Cross BC and Dartmouth BC report future 
demand to increase membership, with this collectively equating to 18 senior and 11 junior 
members. 

 All clubs report that existing membership can be accommodated on the current level of 
provision and that no potential members are being turned away, suggesting that there is no 
latent or unmet demand.  

 
  

Page 196



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              123 

PART 11: CYCLING 
 
11.1: Introduction  
 
British Cycling is the NGB for all forms of cycling. It oversees six sporting disciplines, with 
each having a dedicated facility type: 
 
 Track cycling – velodromes 
 Road cycling – closed road circuits 
 Mountain biking – trails 
 BMX racing – race/pump tracks 
 Cycle speedway – cycle speedway tracks  
 Cyclocross – non-dedicated, non-permanent venues 
 
British Cycling aids in the development of all six formats, helping to safeguard those that wish 
to participate in a competitive and compelling environment. The popularity of cycling has 
increased since recent, elite sporting success in the Olympics and Paralympics as well as in 
other major championships. 
 
In terms of road cycling, in January 2020, the Council produced a Cycling and Walking 
Investment Plan for the Borough. This audited 15 cycling routes (and six walking routes), 
identifying that there are opportunities for large scale interventions in the infrastructure.  
 
Prior to this, in 2016, the West Midlands Combined Authority proposed a ‘Black Country 
Walking and Cycling Strategy and Implementation Plan’ aiming to raise levels of cycling to 
5% of all trips by 2023. The project was outlined to address the matter that historically the 
West Midlands region had fewer people choosing to cycle to work than other metropolitan 
regions. 
 
Broad cycling specific aims of the project the project included:   
 
 Making cycling inviting and attractive to everyone 
 Making cycling safe and secure 
 Making cycling easy and intuitive 
 Normalising cycling to reduce inequalities 
 
Consultation 
 
Information for cycling was gathered through online research and via consultation with British 
Cycling. 
 
11.2: Supply 
 
Sandwell Valley Country Park features a range of surfaced and unsurfaced cycling tracks as 
well as a mountain bike trail and a pump track. The mountain bike trail includes three 
kilometres of trails, suitable for all abilities, and is located in Jubilee Woods.   
 
There is also a disused speedway track, Sandwell Cycle Speedway Track, which has not 
been utilised since Sandwell Lions Speedway Club folded. The track remains available for 
community use but is in poor condition and in need of enhancement and repairs. It is owned 
and operated by The Brades Lodge School. 
 
Two national cycling routes run through Sandwell; Route 5 (from Reading to North Wales) 
and Route 81 (from Aberystwyth to Wolverhampton). In addition, cycling is encouraged along 
canal towpaths throughout the Borough.  

Page 197



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              124 

The Council is also in the process of creating a number of mountain bike trails around 
Sandwell Valley and also on neighbouring land in Birmingham, on the former Hilltop Golf 
Course. 
 
11.3: Demand 
 
There are four prominent cycling clubs based in Sandwell, although none are currently 
affiliated to British Cycling. The clubs are:  
 
 Bangladeshi Association Cycling Club 
 Hadley Stadium Cycling Club 
 Lightwoods Community Cycle Club 
 Smethwick Beat the Streets Community Cycle Club 
 
Smethwick Beat the Streets Community Cycle Club is a female only club for both adults and 
children that want to learn to cycle or get back into cycling. It takes part in numerous led rides 
around Sandwell and the wider region, as well as using the provision at Sandwell Valley 
Country Park. It generally uses Smethwick Fire Station as a meeting point.  
 
Hadley Stadium Cycling Club is set up to provide family cycling in a safe, off-road environment, 
utilising the athletics track at Hadley Stadium. It has access to the facility every Wednesday 
from 16:00 until 18:00, with sessions overseen by volunteers from the Benson’s Community 
Project.  
 
Bangladeshi Association Cycling Club has both a men’s and a women’s branch. Both engage 
in weekly rides around Sandwell, often utilising Victoria Park and meeting at Tipton Muslim 
Community Centre.  
 
Lightwoods Community Cycle Club meets every Wednesday morning to ride around 
Lightwoods Park, although it often ventures further afield.  
 
HSBC UK Go-Ride 
 
HSBC UK Go-Ride is a British Cycling’s development programme for young people. It offers 
a fun and safe way to introduce young people to the sport and provides a platform to improve 
cycling skills. People can get involved through holiday coaching programmes or through their 
local accredited club which allows them to sample the various disciplines of the sport. 
Progression is obtainable with Go-Ride Racing, offering competition for riders to transition 
from school or club coaching to inter club and open regional competitions. 
 
Go-Ride is not currently implemented in Sandwell. It is across the other three Black Country 
authorities.  
 
HSBC UK Breeze 
 
HSBC UK Breeze is a British Cycling’s development programme for women. It offers three 
categories easy going, steady and challenging to allow women of all abilities to get involved. 
The programme offers exercise whilst also creating a comfortable environment to meet new 
people. In Sandwell, there is no evidence of the programme although it is found across the 
other three Black Country authorities.  
  
Future/latent demand 
 
Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage of adults that would 
like to participate in cycling but are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies latent demand 

Page 198



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              125 

of 11,449 people who would like to participate in the sport within Sandwell, which is a high 
amount. By means of comparison, it is lower than the latent demand identified in Dudley 
(12,906 people), but higher than that found in Walsall (9,876) and in Wolverhampton (9,210).  
 
Notwithstanding the above, it must be noted that future and latent demand does not account 
for societal factors or changes in the way people may wish to participate in sport and cannot 
account for specific targeted development work within certain areas or focused towards 
certain groups, such as NGB initiatives or coaching within schools. For example, there is a 
focus by British Cycling to develop youth participation through the HSBC UK Go-Ride or 
HSBC UK Breeze schemes, which may lead to further increases in demand.  
 
11.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
High demand for cycling is identified within Sandwell, especially when taking into account 
latent demand. Whilst most of this demand will fall outside of the club environment and will not 
require dedicated provision, protecting and sustaining what is provided at Sandwell Valley 
Country Park should be seen as particularly key given the off-road facilities offered (it should 
be seen as a destination venue for cyclists in the area). Furthermore, continued cycling use of 
Hadley Stadium should be ensured as an alternative off-road offer.  
 
Implementation of initiatives promoted by British Cycling should also be explored in order to 
encourage more people to get into cycling. Currently, anyone wanting to participate in Go-
Ride or Breeze will have to travel to neighbouring authorities e.g. Dudley or Birmingham.  
 
 

Cycling – supply and demand summary 
 High demand for cycling is identified within Sandwell, especially when taking into account latent 

demand.  
 Protecting and sustaining what is provided at Sandwell Valley Country Park should be seen as 

particularly key, whilst continued use of Hadley Stadium should be ensured. 
 Implementation of initiatives promoted by British Cycling should also be explored to encourage 

more people to get into cycling. 
Cycling – supply summary  
 Sandwell Valley Country Park features a range of surfaced and unsurfaced cycling tracks as 

well as a mountain bike trail and a pump track.  
 Two national cycling routes run through Sandwell; Route 5 (from Reading to North Wales) and 

Route 81 (from Aberystwyth to Wolverhampton),  
 Cycling is encouraged along canal towpaths throughout the Borough.  
Cycling – demand summary  
 There are four prominent cycling clubs based in Sandwell, although none are currently affiliated 

to British Cycling.  
 Smethwick Beat the Streets Community Cycle Club takes part in numerous led rides around 

Sandwell, as well as using the provision at Sandwell Valley Country Park.  
 Hadley Stadium Cycling Club is set up to provide family cycling in a safe, off-road environment, 

utilising the athletics track at Hadley Stadium.  
 Bangladeshi Association Cycling Club has both a men’s and a women’s branch, with both 

engaging in weekly rides around Sandwell, often utilising at Victoria Park.  
 Lightwoods Community Cycle Club meets every Wednesday morning to ride around 

Lightwoods Park, although it often ventures further afield.  
 British Cycling’s development programmes Go-Ride and Breeze are not currently implemented. 
 Sport England’s Segmentation Tool identifies latent demand of 11,449 people who would like to 

participate in cycling within Sandwell, which is a high amount. 
 
  

Page 199



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              126 

PART 12: ATHLETICS 
 
12.1: Introduction 
 
As a Governing Body, UK Athletics is responsible for developing and implementing the rules 
and regulations of athletics, including everything from anti-doping, health and safety, 
facilities and welfare, to training and education for coaches and officials as well as permitting 
and licensing.  
 
Locally, the sport is governed through England Athletics, which is the development and 
membership body for athletics and running clubs in England. It has a National Head of Clubs 
and Participation as well as a team of five club support managers across the Country, with 
one of these covering activities in Sandwell as part of the Midland region.   
 
Consultation 
 
Consultation took place with England Athletics to inform this section of the report. 
 
12.2: Supply 
 
Consultation with England Athletics reveals that, nationally, no new standard 400-metre 
athletics tracks are planned to be constructed. Focus is instead on the retention of existing 
400-metre facilities and the development of new, innovative, entry level facilities such as mini 
tracks and endurance loops, particularly if they can be provided as part of floodlit, multi-sport 
developments.  
 
In Sandwell, there are four purpose-built athletics tracks. Three of these are 400-metre tracks, 
with an 8-lane synthetic track at both Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports Academy and a 6-
lane cinder track at Phoenix Collegiate. The tracks at Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports 
Academy are also serviced by floodlighting.  
 
The remaining track is provided at Sandwell Academy, with this being a 200-metre “mini” track.  
 
Table 12.1: Summary of athletics tracks in Sandwell 
 

Site 
ID 

Site Analysis area Length Surface type Floodlit? 

36 Hadley Stadium Smethwick 400 metres Synthetic Yes 

66 Phoenix Collegiate West Bromwich 400 metres Cinder No 

79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick 200 metres Synthetic No 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Tipton 400 metres Synthetic  Yes  
 
As seen, the Smethwick, Tipton and West Bromwich analysis areas are serviced by the 
facilities. For the specific locations, please see Figure 12.1 overleaf.  
 
In addition, there is a small 40-metre straight athletics track provided at The Meadows School.  
 
Management 
 
The tracks at both Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports Academy are operated by Sandwell 
Leisure Trust, whilst the tracks at Phoenix Collegiate and Sandwell Academy are operated by 
the schools themselves. 
 
  

Page 200



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              127 

Figure 12.1: Location of athletics tracks in Sandwell 

 
Quality 
 
Key factors impacting upon the quality ratings of athletics facilities include the condition and 
age of the track surface, the prominence of the line markings and any signs of wear and tear 
or unofficial use. For the full site assessment criteria, please see Appendix 2.  
 
The track at Tipton Sports Academy is assessed as standard quality, with maintenance carried 
out to a high standard by the Sandwell Leisure Trust. However, it only marginally passed its 
recent TrackMark inspection, with repairs required in an addition to surface clean and 
overspray. Furthermore, the throwing cage failed its inspection, although it can still be used 
for training.  
 
The track at Hadley Stadium is assessed as poor quality, with significant signs of wear and 
tear evident and drainage problematic. This has resulted in the track closing to the community 
due to health and safety issues.  
 
Recent improvements have been undertaken in regards to the track at Phoenix Collegiate, 
resulting in its quality improving from a previously poor standard. In addition, a 7th lane has 
been added.  
 
The track at Sandwell Academy is assessed as standard.  
 
TrackMark 
 
TrackMark is UK Athletics’ quality assurance scheme for outdoor track and field athletics 
facilities. A venue that achieves TrackMark is recognised by UK Athletics as having well 
managed, compliant facilities that are accessible to participants of all abilities. From 2021, 
venues that actively choose not to purse accreditation are not eligible to apply for a competition 
licence at any level.  

Page 201



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              128 

In Sandwell, the track at Tipton Sports Academy is progressing towards gaining TrackMark 
status, although has mention above, its throwing cage failed its inspection. Financial support 
has been applied for in order to bring it up to standard.  
 
Hadley Stadium has not started the accreditation process, whilst the tracks at Sandwell 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate do not qualify for accreditation due to the size of the former 
and the surface type of the latter.  
 
Ancillary facilities 
 
Both Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports Academy are serviced by a multi-functional 
clubhouses that provide changing rooms as well as social space. The facilities at Tipton Sports 
Academy are particularly good quality.  
 
The tracks at Sandwell Academy and Phoenix Collegiate are not surfaced by dedicated 
ancillary facilities, but rather provision that services the whole schools and their wider sporting 
offer. 
 
12.3: Demand 
 
For the purposes of this study, athletics demand is considered to come in various forms, rather 
than just traditional track and field activity. As such, running clubs are also considered, as are 
organised running events and various running initiatives, some of which are governed by 
England Athletics. It is also acknowledged that recreational running forms a large part of 
demand, although this is difficult to measure.  
 
Tipton Harriers 
 
Tipton Harriers is a large athletics clubs based at Tipton Sports Academy. It accommodates 
both male and female members at both senior and junior level and whilst is specialises in track 
and field, it also operates road running and cross-country running sections.  
 
In addition to using the track at Tipton Sports Academy, the Club also accesses the indoor 
sports hall at the site, especially during winter months, for indoor athletics and conditioning 
work. Sessions are held at the site on both Tuesday and Thursday evenings.  
 
Black Country Running Club 
 
The Club meets every Wednesday evening for organised road runs, beginning at Tipton 
Leisure Centre. These are free to attend. In addition, the Club also offers its own Couch to 5k 
programme.  
 
Sandwell Valley Running Club 
 
Sandwell Valley Running Club is a road running club that currently caters for around 40 
members. It meets twice a week, once for a long run, using West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket 
Club as a base.  
 
West Bromwich Harriers 
 
The Club holds road running sessions every Wednesday evening and Sunday morning, 
catering for runners of all abilities. It competes in the Birmingham Cross Country League and 
the Midlands Ladies Cross Country League during the winter, as well as traditional road races 
during the summer. It currently has circa 55 members. 
 

Page 202



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              129 

The Club previously had a base in Oldbury; however, it has recently relocated to Walsall 
Rugby Club, in Walsall. This therefore results in some form of exported demand.  
 
Warley Wasps Triathlon & Running Club 
 
The Club is primarily a triathlon club catering for all ages and abilities but like many triathlon 
clubs also affiliates to England Athletics. It holds road running sessions every Tuesday and 
Thursday evening, using the Gospel Oak Pub, in Tipton, as a starting point. As part of this, it 
has a dedicated running group.  
 
Run Together 
 
Run Together is an official England Athletics recreational running project which aims to get 
the whole nation running. Its aim is to provide fun, friendly, supportive and inclusive running 
opportunities for everyone, regardless of ability and availability. It believes that running is more 
fun and easier to become part of a lifestyle when shared with others.  
 
There are no active Run Together groups in Sandwell, although a number do operate nearby 
in Birmingham. A key focus for England Athletics is increasing demand for participation in 
initiatives such as Run Together, meaning this could be targeted moving forward, especially 
given the number of other clubs that could be involved.  
 
Park Run 
 
Park Run is a series of 5k runs held on Saturday mornings in areas of open space around the 
UK, with 1,063 events now operating across the Country. They are open to all, free, and are 
safe and easy to take part in. Runners must first register online in order to access a printed 
barcode which gives them access to all Park Run events.  
 
In Sandwell, a Park Run event is held each week at Sandwell Park Farm. It has been held 121 
times, with an average attendance of 131.1 runners.   
 
For those aged between 4 and 14, junior Park Run events are also available, with one held in 
Sandwell every Sunday at West Smethwick Park. This is a brand new event, beginning in 
September 2021. The first iteration attracted 13 runners, which will be expected to increase 
over the coming weeks/months.  
 
Other running events 
 
Annual 10k and 5k runs take place at Sandwell Valley Park, in May. These have capacity for 
600 entrants. In addition, Sandwell Valley Park is also used for Race for Life events.  
 
Couch to 5k 
 
Couch to 5k is a national health initiative promoted by the National Health Service (NHS) to 
encourage absolute beginners get into running as part of establishing and maintaining and 
active and healthy lifestyle including regular exercise.  
 
The plan consists of three runs per week and a day of rest in between, with a different schedule 
for each of the nine weeks to completion. It starts with a mix of running and walking, to 
gradually build up fitness and stamina, in order to create realistic expectations and a sense of 
achievability to encourage participants to stick with it. The end goal of the plan is for the 
participant to be able to run 5k.  
 
 

Page 203



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              130 

Through the Couch to 5k plan the NHS particularly promotes the health benefits of running 
and regular exercise which underpin the initiative, such as improved heart and lung health, 
weight loss and possible increases in bone density which can help protect against bone 
diseases such as osteoporosis. This also includes mental benefits of running through goal 
setting and challenge setting, which can help boost confidence and self-belief. Furthermore, 
running regularly has been linked to combating depression.  
 
It is believed that an increase in people running through the Couch to 5k plan may increase 
interest and possibly have a knock-on effect of leading to increased demand at running groups 
and clubs as people may wish to continue develop their running further.  
 
In Sandwell, the Sandwell Leisure Trust operates its own Couch to 5k initiative, stating that its 
research identified that people were not comfortable running by themselves in open areas. As 
such, it has created a closed environment enabling runners to train with like-minded people 
and with a weekly coach session also included. The programme has utilised Portway Lifestyle 
Centre, Tipton Sports Academy, Hadley Stadium and Haden Hill Leisure Centre, with over 
650 people thus far attracted.  
 
Latent/unmet demand 
 
Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage of adults that would 
like to participate in athletics but ‘are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies significant 
latent demand amounting to 5,955 6,355 people within Sandwell, which is a high figure 
compared to Walsall (4,731 people) and Wolverhampton (4,999 people), but lower than 
Dudley (6,355 people).  
 
No clubs in Sandwell express latent or unmet demand. None have waiting lists in place and 
they are all actively looking for new members.  
 
Future demand 
 
All clubs consulted with express an aspiration to grow membership, although the majority state 
that this is difficult to quantify as they will do their upmost not turn demand away.  
 
England Athletics also believes that demand is likely to increase in the future, particularly for 
initiatives such as Park Run, although again to what extent is difficult to quantify.  
 
12.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
Sandwell is very well provided for in relation to athletics tracks, with three 400-metre facilities 
provided. This is considered sufficient to meet demand, with only one track and field club 
currently based in the Borough (Tipton Harriers). All other clubs are primarily road running 
clubs that do not access the track facilities.  
 
As only Tipton Sports Academy is currently used for club athletics, priority should be placed 
on protecting the facility and ensuring that quality remains sufficient to accommodate the level 
of demand received. Retaining the provision at Sandwell Academy and Phoenix Collegiate is 
less of a requirement as no known community use is received, although the schools 
themselves may have demand that necessitates retention, especially given the recent 
improvements at Phoenix Collegiate.   
 
 
 
 

Page 204



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              131 

Regarding Hadley Stadium, no evidence has been uncovered that would necessitate bringing 
the athletics track back into use, although cycling use is noted. As such, it could be deemed 
surplus to requirements for this purpose and an alternative use for the facility could be 
established. However, as part of this, an informal athletics facility could form part of the 
replacement given England Athletics current focus on such provision.  
 
Away from track and field, emphasis should also be placed on supporting the other activities 
taking place in Sandwell, with a focus on retaining and increasing participation and growing 
the various initiatives that are in place. 
 

Athletics – supply and demand summary 
 Sandwell is very well provided for in relation to athletics, with three 400-metre tracks provided.  
 Priority should be placed on protecting the track Tipton Sports Academy and ensuring that is of 

a sufficient quality to accommodate the levels of demand received. 
 Retaining the provision at Sandwell Academy and Phoenix Collegiate is less of a requirement 

as no known community use is received, although the schools themselves may have demand 
that necessitates retention.  

 The track at Hadley Stadium is deemed surplus to requirements in its current form, with an 
alternative use therefore requiring exploration, although this could include informal athletics 
provision.  

 Emphasis should also be placed on supporting the other activities taking place in Sandwell, with 
a focus on retaining and increasing participation and growing the various initiatives that are in 
place. 

Athletics – supply summary  
 There are four purpose-built athletics tracks in Sandwell, at Hadley Stadium, Phoenix Collegiate, 

Sandwell Academy and Tipton Sports Academy. 
 There is also small 40-metre straight athletics track provided at The Meadows School.  
 Both Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports Academy provide 400-metre synthetic tracks with eight 

lanes and floodlighting, whilst Phoenix Collegiate provides a 400-metre cinder track with six 
lanes (non-floodlit). 

 Sandwell Academy provides a 200-metre “mini” track. 
 The track at Tipton Sports Academy is assessed as standard quality, with tracks repairs required 

in addition to surface cleaning and overspray; the throwing cage also failed a recent TrackMark 
inspection.  

 The track at Hadley Stadium is also assessed as poor quality and is no longer useable due to 
health and safety issues.  

 Recent improvements have been undertaken in regards to the track at Phoenix Collegiate, 
resulting in its quality improving from a previously poor standard. In addition, a 7th lane has been 
added.  

Athletics – demand summary  
 Five clubs have a current focus on athletics and/or running activity in Sandwell. 
 Tipton Harriers uses the track at Tipton Sports Academy as its base.  
 West Bromwich Harriers now uses Walsall Rugby Club, in Walsall, as a base (exported 

demand). 
 Park Run is held each week at Sandwell Park Farm, whilst a junior Park is held every Sunday 

at West Smethwick Park. 
 Most clubs express an aspiration to grow membership, whilst England Athletics also believes 

that demand is likely to increase in the future, particularly for initiatives such as Park Run. 
 
  

Page 205



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              132 

PART 13: GOLF 
 
13.1: Introduction 
 
Golf is the fifth largest participation sport in England, with around 730,000 members 
belonging to one of 1,800 affiliated clubs and a further two million people playing 
independently outside of club membership. There are an estimated 3,000 golf courses across 
the Country, with approximately 90 designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest because 
apart from the intensively managed trees and greens they have other habitats with high 
wildlife value. Many other courses also exist within designated Heritage Coast sites, Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty, or listed Historic Parklands. 
 
Nationally, the sport is governed by England Golf. Its role includes providing competitions for 
players of all ages and abilities, identifying and developing the most talented golfers, 
maintaining a uniform system of handicapping, administering and applying the rules, and 
introducing new golfers via its initiatives such as ‘Get into Golf’.  

 
Consultation 
 
This section was informed via consultation with England Golf, which provided information 
relating to all facilities and clubs within Sandwell.  
 
13.2: Supply 
 
There are three different types of golf facilities recognised by Sport England and governed 
by England Golf, as defined in the table below. Facilities such as pitch and putt courses and 
miniature/crazy golf courses (as offered at Sandwell Valley Country Park) are not included 
as these are not considered to be traditional formats of the game and are not comparable 
offerings.  
 
Table 13.1: Definitions of golf facilities 
 

Facility type Description 

Standard A standard par course, with a minimum of 9 holes but normally associated with 
18-hole courses; many 9-hole courses have different tee boxes which allow the 
provision to be played as an 18-hole course. Some courses provide 27 holes, 
with any two loops of 9-holes played to make up an 18-hole round.  

Par 3 Shorter length of holes than a standard course, with no hole longer than Par 3. 
Most likely to be a 9-hole course although 18-hole offerings do exist. Does not 
include pitch and putt courses, which are even shorter offerings and are not 
considered to be a traditional version of the sport.  

Driving 
Range 

Includes covered and uncovered driving range bays but not practice areas 
within golf courses; ranges are based on the hiring of balls, with users not 
required to retrieve, whereas practice areas are generally for members to use 
with their own balls (although a growing number have dispensers). Does not 
include ‘entertainment’ ranges or virtual offerings, although some driving 
ranges have expanded to also provide these features.  

 
Within Sandwell, there are five golf venues that provide facilities conforming with the above 
definitions, as identified in Table 13.1 and Table 13.2 below. Two are located in each of the 
Rowley Regis and West Bromwich analysis areas, whilst one is located in the Smethwick 
Analysis Area.  
 
 
 
 Page 206



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              133 

Figure 13.1: Location of golf courses in Sandwell  

 
Table 13.2: Golf facilities within Sandwell 
 

Site ID Site name Postcode Analysis area 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club B71 4DW West Bromwich 

111 Dudley Golf Club B65 9DP Rowley Regis 

112 Rowley Golf Centre B65 9AA Rowley Regis 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club B71 4JJ West Bromwich 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club B67 5ED Smethwick 

 
Disused provision 
 
In addition to the above sites, there is disused golf provision identified at Brandhall Golf Club. 
This previously provided an 18-hole course but closed in 2020 as the level of financial subsidy 
required was not able to be sustained. Options for the future of the site have been developed 
and consulted upon by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council and a decision about the 
future uses of the site will be made during 2022. 
 
Sport England reports that it would want any development to enable investment to take place 
into improving the quality of the golfing offer locally. This could be achieved by directing 
contributions to other golf sites that require improvement. 
 
Standard hole golf courses 
 
All five golf sites within Sandwell provide one standard hole course, with two 18-hole courses 
and three 9-hole courses in place These are summarised in the Table below.  
 
 
 
 

Page 207



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              134 

Table 13.3: Summary of standard hole provision in Sandwell 
 

Site ID Site name Holes Par  Yardage10 Slope rating 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club 9 36 3,060 2,929 2,745 114-124 

111 Dudley Golf Club 18 69 5,753 5,529 5,013 111-134 

112 Rowley Golf Centre 9 36 - 1,900 - - 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club 18 71 6,468 6,209 5,545 129-133 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club 9 34 - 2,646 2,314 111-122 
 
Of the two 18 holes courses, Sandwell Park Golf Club provides the longest offering, with 
Dudley Golf Club providing the shortest. However, both are in the range of what you would 
expect from traditional provision. Shorter courses tend to offer some variety that may appeal 
more so to a defined market that would not feel comfortable playing lengthier provision e.g. 
beginner and/or casual golfers. 
 
Nationally, many 9-hole courses are shorter than the front or back nine of an 18-hole course, 
primarily to attract and cater for a different userbase. This is the case at Warley Woods Golf 
Club and Rowley Golf Centre, but not at Dartmouth Golf Club where two tee beds are 
provided on each hole to replicate an 18-hole offering at over 6,000 yards.  
 
Slope ratings 
 
Slope ratings are new to golf across the World. The intention is for them to allow the handicap 
system to reflect course difficulty and the difference in difficulty for all players compared to 
scratch golfers. In effect, this enables each player to have a handicap that will vary from 
course-to-course, depending on difficulty, as well as a general handicap.  
 
The maximum slope rating is 155, whereas the minimum is 55. The standard difficulty is 
considered to be 113, which means that the courses in Sandwell are generally considered to 
be more difficult than the mean, with them collectively ranging from 111-134 (the slope rating 
varies depending on which tee is used).  
 
No slope rating is provided for Rowley Golf Centre as the site is unaffiliated to England Golf. 
This means that an assessment has not taken place.  
 
Par 3 golf holes 
 
Most commonly, Par 3 provision is used by beginner and casual players, although they are 
also frequented by more traditional golfers wanting to practice their short game. That being 
said, there are no Par 3 golf courses provided in Sandwell, with only one provided across the 
four Black Country authorities. This is at Fishley Park Leisure Centre, in Walsall.  
 
The closest Par 3 course to Sandwell is located at Wast Hills Golf Centre, in Birmingham.  
 
Driving range bays 
 
Rowley Golf Centre provides a covered 22-bay driving range, in addition to its standard hole 
course. This is available for anyone to use on a pay and play basis and the provision is 
serviced by floodlighting to allow all-year round and late evening usage.  
 
 
 
 
                                                 
10 White denotes Championship tees, yellow denotes men’s tees and red denotes ladies’ tees.  Page 208



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              135 

Table 13.4: Summary of driving range bays in Dudley 
 

Site ID  Site name  No. of bays Floodlit? Pay and 
play? 

112 Rowley Golf Centre 22 Yes Yes 
 
The driving range at Rowley Golf Centre has recently installed TopTracer technology. Many 
driving range providers nationwide are updating their facilities with such technology in a bid 
to increase demand. The entertainment system allows for users to simulate playing on 
courses across the world and provides ball tracking and statistical feedback.  
 
Management and ownership  
 
There are three main types of ownership and management models of golf facilities in 
England; members clubs, proprietary clubs and municipal facilities, as summarised in the 
table below.  
 
Table 13.5: Types of ownership and management of golf facilities 
 

Management 
type 

Description 

Members  Traditionally owned by members and run by committees. They are likely to hire 
caterers and green staff. Most members’ clubs offer some level of pay and play 
and encourage golf societies but are mostly focused on membership numbers.  

Proprietary  Owned or managed by businesses or individuals, these can include country club 
type facilities at the high end of the golfing market alongside more localised 
facilities. Many have clubs operating within them but can also take a much more 
relaxed attitude to dress and traditions of golf. Pay and play opportunities tend to 
be a key feature of the business plan.  

Municipal  These are generally owned by a local authority, although in a growing number of 
instances, management has been contracted and externalised to private 
companies. Due to a lack of financial viability, many have closed across the 
Country in recent years and many that remain are under threat.  

 
It is recognised that members clubs and visitors to such clubs are normally expected to dress 
appropriately, have a registered handicap certificate (a certificate issued by the Council of 
National Golf Unions (CONGU)) and be familiar with the rules and etiquette of the game. This 
is not uncommon at some proprietary clubs, but municipal courses tend to be more relaxed 
and do not require people to have handicaps, making golf much more accessible.  
 
Consequently, municipal courses are, in many instances, seen as entry level facilities, with 
players using them before having the confidence to move on to a members’ or high-end 
proprietary club (although many people can and do stay attached to a particular course). They 
also tend to offer a more affordable golfing experience.  
 
The business model for members clubs tends to rely heavily on income through membership 
subscriptions and use of ancillary facilities, rather than from pay and play usage, although 
attention has somewhat switched at many sites in recent years due to demand falling. The 
same can be said for some proprietary clubs, although, in general, more emphasis is placed 
on supplementing regular activity with green fee sales. Conversely, municipal sites have 
always been heavily reliant on visitors even though membership packages are normally 
available (often in the shape of season tickets). On occasion, these can be linked to access to 
other local authority operated sports facilities, such as leisure centres and swimming pools.  
 

Page 209



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              136 

Despite the above generalisations, each golf facility, regardless of management type, will have 
its own processes in terms of how much focus is placed on membership and pay and play 
usage, or whether it equally encourages both. There is no correct way to run a site. A club that 
focuses on members has guaranteed income, but this can often deter more casual players or 
nomadic golfers through, for example, a lack of peak time availability. In contrast, a site that 
depends on visitors can struggle to be viable if there are spells of inclement weather during 
summer months and can discourage people that want to be part of a club environment.  
 
In Sandwell, Dartmouth, Dudley and Sandwell Park golf clubs are members clubs, whereas 
Rowley Golf Centre is a proprietary facility. Warley Woods Golf Club is also regarded as a 
proprietary course as it does not have a members club operating from it; however, it is less 
commercial than most proprietary offerings as it is managed by a Trust (Warley Woods 
Community Trust).  
 
Table 13.6: Summary of ownership/management in Sandwell 
 

Site ID  Site name  Management type 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club Members 

111 Dudley Golf Club Members 

112 Rowley Golf Centre Proprietary 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club Members 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club Proprietary 
 
As mentioned previously, Rowley Golf Centre is not affiliated to England Golf. This means that 
any competitions held are not governed by the NGB and do not qualify for handicap 
certifications or changes. Non-affiliation is most commonly the case at venues that have a 
focus on informal activity and is particularly common at sites that consider themselves to be 
primarily driving ranges.  
 
Pricing  
 
A key issue for the wider golf population is whether golf courses are available to the general 
population at a price point which is accessible to the majority of residents. Better quality 
courses tend to cost more to use, whilst 18-hole provision is generally more expensive to 
access than 9-hole provision.  
 
Nationally, over the past few years, many facilities have altered their pricing structures to allow 
for discounts following a previous decline in golf membership. England Golf has positively 
encouraged this as its view is that clubs are more likely to experience growth when flexible 
packages are available. For instance, some now offer five and/or six day memberships 
(whereby members can access the course on specific days but not on one or both weekend 
days), whilst others provide discounts that are no longer limited solely to junior players (e.g. 
discounts for those aged 18-21 and 21-30 or for those aged 65 and over). In the past, it was 
common for many clubs to have waiting lists in place for membership. Before the pandemic, 
waiting lists had become rare but after being one of the first sports to return to play, demand 
for golf has been increasing and now around a third of all golf clubs have waiting lists in place. 
 
England Golf reports that the average cost of a full adult membership across the Country is 
currently £901.00. In Sandwell, membership to both Dartmouth Golf Club (£755) and Dudley 
Golf Club (£869.50) is below this figure, although at the former this can be attributed to it 
providing a 9-hole course rather than an 18-hole course. Membership is also cheaper at 
Warley Woods Golf Club; however, given the operational structure of the site, this cost does 
not provide free course access. Pay and play fees are still applicable to members.  
 

Page 210



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              137 

At the other end of the scale, membership to Sandwell Park Golf Club, at £1,125 per year, is 
significantly above the national average. This suggests that the facility is relatively high-end.  
 
Green fees are available at all five sites, although Sandwell Park Golf Club does not actively 
offer weekend access due to tee times generally being reserved for competitions. This site is 
the most expensive to access, whilst Rowley Golf Centre is comfortably the cheapest.  
 
Table 13.7: Pricing structures at golf facilities within Sandwell 
 

Site ID Site name Joining 
fee 

Full 
membership 

(per year) 

Green fee (per round) 
Weekday Weekend 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club N/A £755.00 £20.00 £25.00 

111 Dudley Golf Club N/A £869.50 £20.00 £25.00 

112 Rowley Golf Centre N/A N/A11 £7.50 £8.50 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club N/A £1225.00 £55.00 N/A12 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club N/A £55.0013 £15.50 £16.90 
 
In addition to the course at Rowley Golf Centre, the driving range is accessible for pay and 
play usage. It costs £4 for 50 balls or £7 for 100 balls, with reductions in place for those with 
a loyalty card (which costs £35).  
 
Quality  
 
There are no official national or county golf facility rankings. Generally, the better course 
quality and supporting infrastructure is, the higher the joining/membership and green fees are 
likely to be. Some sites gain status through hosting county, national and international golf 
events and some tend to feature in ranking articles put together by golf magazines. 
 
Quality of the golf courses in Sandwell is relatively good across the five sites, with no 
significant issues identified. Sandwell Park Golf Club in particular is considered to be good 
quality, with the venue having dedicated green keeping staff which provide a frequent and 
sophisticated maintenance regime that operates all-year round. Dartmouth Golf Club provides 
the longest opening hole in Europe and the longest Par 5 hole in Britain, which gives it a 
unique selling point.  
 
The ancillary facilities are also for the most part good across Sandwell, again particularly at 
Sandwell Park Golf Club where a new clubhouse was built at the turn of the century. Golf clubs 
often need such revenue sources to operate effectively and the provision of a good quality, 
well equipped clubhouse is a key opportunity to provide a secondary income stream. This 
emanates from a variety of sources including bar and catering income from members and 
visitors as well as venue hire for special occasions including weddings, christenings and 
funerals.  
 
From a golfing perspective, given the current emphasis on increasing levels of female and 
junior golf membership across the Country, it is also imperative that ancillary provision can 
adequately cater for all types of members e.g. by providing gender specific changing facilities.  
 
Dudley Golf Club has recently received Sport England funding to build a lift within its 
clubhouse, improving access and improving its DDA compliance. In addition, Warley Woods 

                                                 
11 No membership scheme is in place 
12 Pay and play at weekends is only available to those accompanied by a member 
13 Pay and play fees are still applicable Page 211



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              138 

Golf Club has an aspiration to improve its clubhouse. England Golf has advised that this would 
be a preferred site for investment.  
 
13.3: Demand 
 

Around 2004, participation in golf began declining; however, recent signs show that the 
reduction has not only levelled off but that demand has started to increase, especially following 
the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions, both in 2020 and 2021. As one of the first sports to be 
allowed on both occasions, people have been able to play whilst maintaining social distancing 
and England Golf has provided very clear guidance as to how this should manifest itself (e.g. 
by not allowing the flag to be taken out or rakes to be used). Some courses have reported a 
near doubling of usual demand compared to pre-pandemic levels, highlighting that a significant 
opportunity now exists to retain increased participation in the long-term.  
 
Membership 
 
England Golf suggests that the average membership of a golf club nationally is 386, which is 
based on a central national handicap platform.  
 
In Sandwell, the table below provides the most recent membership numbers at the golf 
facilities within the Borough, based on latest England Golf affiliation data. Membership across 
the clubs equals 932 members.  
 
Table 13.8: Summary of golf membership within Sandwell 
 

Site ID Site name   No. of members 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club 124 

111 Dudley Golf Club 231 

112 Rowley Golf Centre N/A 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club 432 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club 145 
 
Three of the four clubs (Dartmouth, Dudley and Warley Woods golf clubs) with a membership 
scheme are operating below the national average, and quite significantly so in relation to. 
However, this does not necessarily indicate insufficient demand, especially at Warley Woods 
Golf Club, which has an emphasis on pay and play use.  
 
Membership at Sandwell Park Golf Club is above the national average.  
 
Membership trends 
 
In line with a national trend of increasing membership, membership at Dartmouth Golf Club, 
Sandwell Park Golf Club and Warley Woods Golf Club has increased since 2015, with 17, 35 
and 45 more members attached to each of the three sites respectively. In contrast, 
membership at Dudley Golf Club has reduced by 34 members. Overall, this means that there 
has been an increase of 63 members across the clubs, although this does not include 
membership that was attached to the now closed Brandhall Golf Club.  
 
Table 13.9: Changes in demand since 2015 
 

Site ID Club name 2015 members  Current members  Change  

110 Dartmouth Golf Club 107 124 +15.89% 

111 Dudley Golf Club 265 231 -12.83% 

112 Rowley Golf Centre N/A N/A - 

Page 212



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              139 

Site ID Club name 2015 members  Current members  Change  

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club 397 432 +8.82% 

114 Warley Woods Golf Club 100 145 +45.00% 
 
Whilst the reasons for the reductions at Dudley Golf Club are unknown, it must be noted that 
81% of the clubs identified across the four Black Country authorities have seen a decrease in 
membership since 2015. This suggests dwindling participation rates across the sub-region, 
although it does necessarily mean that less people are playing golf. It may be that users are 
now accessing clubs in other local authorities, or they have become nomadic (i.e. still playing 
golf but using a variety of venues to do so).  
 
Pay and play 
 
Whilst pay and play usage has increased across England in recent years, usage figures within 
Sandwell are not known as it is not something that is tracked by England Golf. However, it 
would be expected that demand would be highest at Rowley Golf Centre and Warley Woods 
Golf Club given the operational structures in place and the cheaper price points for access.  
 
Unmet demand 
 
Unmet demand is existing demand that is not getting access to golf facilities. This could be 
reflected via a waiting list at a club, although it is likely that people on a waiting list are still 
playing golf elsewhere, either via membership of another club or through pay and play access. 
As such, unmet demand in Sandwell is considered to be very minimal, with all of the sites 
offering a membership scheme actively looking for new members. 
 
Latent demand 
 
Latent demand is demand for golf that is not currently being realised. This could be for 
numerous reasons, such as time constraints, financial reasons and a lack of suitable, available 
provision. To that end, Sport England’s Segmentation Tool enables analysis of ‘the percentage 
of adults that would like to participate in golf but ‘are not currently doing so’. The tool identifies 
latent demand of 2,942 people within Sandwell.  
 
Whilst the reasoning for the latent demand is unknown and is likely to be varied, the data does 
show relatively high demand which would significantly increase membership and/or pay and 
play usage across facilities if realised. England Golf is supportive of clubs that proactively 
target new audiences in an attempt to tap into such demand i.e. through developing a variety 
of golfing offers, coaching programmes and a range of membership options.  
In addition, England Golf has a mapping tool that enables an assessment of potential demand 
within a 20-minute drive time of each golf facility, with the population broken down into nine 
golfing segments.  
 
These segments are defined to help provide an indication as to what type of golfing offer each 
would be most likely to access. They are:  
 
 Relaxed members 
 Older traditionalists  
 Younger traditionalists  
 Younger fanatics 
 Younger actives 

 Late enthusiasts 
 Occasional time pressed 
 Social couples 
 Casual fun 

 
Across Sandwell, Sandwell Park Golf Club is identified as having the largest potential demand, 
with 241,719 people falling within the segments within a 20-minute drive time. This is the 

Page 213



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              140 

largest identified potential demand across all of the golf facilities in the Black Country region.  
Dudley Golf Club has the smallest potential demand, equating to 103,582 people. 
 
The demand for each of the sites is relatively evenly split across the nine segments; the 
highest demand is from “younger traditionalists” (116,852 people), whilst the lowest is from 
“older traditionalists” (87,152 people).   
 
Future demand 
 
England Golf has an aim to increase membership of clubs nationally although after reaching 
its previous membership target, no longer has a fixed target of growth. Nationally, many clubs, 
especially the most established ones, will be happy to retain current demand levels, whilst 
many others will be open to growing further and some considerably so. In that regard, England 
Golf reports that many of the clubs are proactively targeting new audiences through coaching 
programmes and wider range of membership and playing options.  
 
13.4: Supply and demand analysis 
 
With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well as a well-
equipped driving range, supply is well placed to meet demand. This is especially the case 
given the various operational structures in place, with some facilities prioritising membership 
and others prioritising pay and play usage and with some offering a high price point and others 
offering a low price point. This suggests that all types of golfers are being catered for.    
 
Notwithstanding the above, demand at the golf facilities, for the most part, appears to be 
relatively low. Whilst this indicates that the high levels of latent and future demand can be 
accommodated, it also brings into question the sustainability of some of the provision should 
usage not increase. However, this does not necessarily mean that any sites can be lost, with 
further interrogation required should any proposals come forward (via a separate needs 
assessment). Some venues can operate successfully despite a low membership base and 
may be required to serve a specific purpose, meaning that further work would be required, 
particularly in relation to the business models in place and the level of casual usage received.  
 
In the meantime, emphasis should be placed on protecting the facilities that are provided, with 
options explored to increase demand to more sustainable levels. England Golf can assist in 
this regard, primarily through a variety of tools that can be used to better understand the local 
market. There may also be opportunities for some clubs across the area to work more 
collaboratively in terms of creating pathways where appropriate to collectively cater for all 
types of players.  
  

Page 214



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              141 

Golf – supply and demand summary 
 With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well as a well-

equipped driving range, supply is well placed to meet demand. 
 Notwithstanding the above, demand appears to be relatively low, although this does not 

necessarily mean that any sites can be lost, with further interrogation required should any 
proposals come forward.  

 In the meantime, emphasis should be placed on protecting the facilities that are provided, with 
options explored to increase demand to more sustainable levels. 

Golf – supply summary 
 There are currently five golf sites in Sandwell. 
 In addition, there is disused provision at Brandhall Golf Club, which previously provided an 18-

hole course but did not re-open following initial Covid-19 restrictions.  
 All five sites provide a standard hole course, with two 18-hole courses (Dudley Golf Club and 

Sandwell Park Golf Club) and three 9-hole courses (Dartmouth Golf Club, Rowley Golf Centre 
and Warley Woods Golf Club) in place.  

 No Par 3 course is provided.  
 Rowley Golf Centre provides a 22-bay, covered and floodlit driving range.  
 Dartmouth, Dudley and Sandwell Park are members clubs, whilst Rowley Golf Centre and 

Warley Woods Golf Club are proprietary facilities; no municipal courses are provided.  
 Sandwell Park Golf Club operates above the national average for membership costs, 

suggesting that it is a high-end facility, whereas the remaining sites are below the rate. 
 In terms of quality of the golf facilities, it is relatively good across Sandwell with no significant 

issues identified, especially at Sandwell Park Golf Club. 
 Warley Woods Golf Club has aspirations to improve its clubhouse facilities, which England 

Golf is particularly supportive of.  
Golf – demand summary 
 Three of the four clubs (Dartmouth, Dudley and Warley Woods golf clubs) operating a 

membership scheme (Rowley Golf Centre does not) are below the national membership 
average (which is 386 members).  

 Sandwell Park Golf Club is operating above the national average.  
 Membership since 2015 has increased at Dartmouth Golf Club, Sandwell Park Golf Club and 

Warley Woods Golf Club but has reduced at Dudley Golf Club.  
 Membership has increased collectively across the clubs by 63 members, although this does 

not take into account the membership that was attached to Brandhall Golf Club.   
 England Golf’s mapping tool identifies a significant amount of potential demand, with Sandwell 

Park shown to have a particularly high population base (the highest in the Black Country 
region). 

 Pay and play usage is unknown but is likely to be highest at sites such as Rowley Golf Centre 
given the operational structure in place and the lower price point.   

  

Page 215



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              142 

PART 14: OUTDOOR WATER SPORTS 
 
Water sports in England are governed by various bodies, including:  
 
 British Canoe Union 
 British Kite Surfing Association 
 British Rowing 
 British Sub-Aqua Club 
 British Swimming 
 British Water Ski 
 Royal Yachting Association 
 Surfing Great Britain 
 
Swan Pool, at Sandwell Valley Park, offers various opportunities to participate in water sports 
in Sandwell.  
 
14.1: Supply 
 
Swan Pool is a large body of water within Sandwell Valley Park that offers opportunities for 
sailing, canoeing and open water swimming (in addition to fishing and angling). However, due 
to Sandwell’s Water Safety Policy, many activities can only be undertaken by members of a 
recognised club.  
 
14.2: Demand 
 
There are two clubs identified as currently using Swan Pool; Sandwell Valley Sailing Club and 
Oldbury Swimming & Triathlon Club. In addition, various lifeguard and sea cadet clubs utilise 
the provision, whilst Birmingham Canoe Club imports some demand to Smethwick Swimming 
Centre.  
 
Sandwell Valley Sailing Club 
 
Sandwell Valley Sailing Club is based at Swan Pool, offering a regular sailing programme for 
both males and females of all ages and abilities. This includes weekly training sessions and 
friendly race events. It meets on Thursday afternoons (and evenings in the summer) as well 
as on Saturday and Sunday afternoons, although other sessions can be arranged on other 
days if sufficient demand exists.  
 
Membership to the Club costs £60 per year for adults and £37 per year for juniors and 
students. However, a water licence is also required by the Council, which equates to £75 per 
year for adults and £43 per year for juniors. A joining fee is also applicable (£10 for adults and 
£5 for juniors).  
 
The Club allows users to use their boats and offers storage facilities for these to be kept. If 
there is no ownership, boat hire is available for both single-handed boats and double-handed 
boats.  
 
Oldbury Swimming & Triathlon Club 
 
The Club uses Swan Pool from May until September each year for open water swimming, with 
sessions held on Monday evenings and Sunday mornings. The sessions on Mondays are 
generally for adults only, whilst all ages are welcome on Sundays. For health and safety, each 
swimmer must have a whistle whilst in the water.  
 

Page 216



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              143 

Each year, Sandwell Valley Park hosts an adult and a junior triathlon. These use Swan Pool 
for the swimming aspect of the events. 
 
Birmingham Canoe Club 
 
As its name suggests, Birmingham Canoe Club generally accesses provision in Birmingham; 
however, during winter, it uses Smethwick Swimming Centre for sessions.  
 
14.3: Supply and demand analysis 
 
Through Swan Pool, Sandwell is relatively well provided for in terms of outdoor water sports 
given that it is not a coastal authority. To ensure this remains the case, the venue should be 
protected for continued use.  In addition, further opportunities could be explored for extending 
the activities that are offered, although this is dependent on demand that is in existence and 
the potential for additional clubs to be created. Currently, any isolated demand for activities 
such as rowing, kayaking and water-skiing will need to travel to clubs outside of Sandwell, i.e. 
those based in Dudley at Dudley Water Sports Centre.  
 

Outdoor water sports – supply and demand summary 
 Through Swan Pool, Sandwell is relatively well provided for in terms of outdoor water sports 

given that it is not a coastal authority. 
 The venue should be protected for continued use and further opportunities could be explored 

for extending the activities that are offered. 
 Outdoor water sports – supply summary 
 Swan provides facilities in Sandwell that are compatible with a number of water sports and 

other water-related activities.  
 Due to Sandwell’s Water Safety Policy, such activities can only be undertaken by members of 

a recognised club.  
Outdoor water sports – demand summary 
 Sandwell Valley Sailing Club is based at Swan Pool, offering a regular sailing programme for 

both males and females of all ages and abilities.  
 Oldbury Swimming & Triathlon Club uses Swan Pool from May until September each year for 

open water swimming. 
 Each year, Sandwell Valley Park hosts an adult and a junior triathlon which use Swan Pool for 

the swimming aspect of the events. 
 As its name suggests, Birmingham Canoe Club generally accesses provision in Birmingham; 

however, during winter, it uses Smethwick Swimming Centre for sessions.   
  

Page 217



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              144 

PART 15: OTHER GRASS PITCH SPORTS 
 
15.1: American football 
 
Introduction 
 
The British American Football Association (BAFA) is responsible for the governance of the 
sport which is continuing to grow in popularity in the UK and there are now hundreds of clubs 
and thousands of players competing regularly across the country. 
 
The American football season in England generally runs from May until August.   
 
Consultation 
 
There is one American football club in Sandwell, known as Sandwell Steelers. The Club 
engaged in a telephone consultation.  
 
Supply  
 
There are no dedicated American football pitches within Sandwell. Instead, an over marked 
football pitch at Tipton Sports Academy is used for matches by Sandwell Steelers, whilst 3G 
pitches at Gospel Oak Academy and Portway Leisure Centre are used for training. This is 
reported as being problematic by the Club, which states that it ideally wants to be located at 
one venue.  
 
The Club identifies that storage is an issue across the facilities currently used, whilst 
availability is also limited, with this resulting in it also exporting its youth demand outside of 
Sandwell to Walsall Rugby Club (using an over marked rugby union pitch). It is actively 
searching for a single venue to be based from, with options including the aforementioned 
Walsall Rugby Club as well as the University of Wolverhampton and George Salter Academy. 
Ultimately, it needs a location that can enable it to play all its matches, have 8-10 hours of 
training time and provide sufficient storage for its equipment.  
 
American football clubs generally need large storage spaces at venues used due to the nature 
of the sport and the equipment required. Currently, Sandwell Steelers has to spread its 
equipment across its members houses before transporting it on match and training days. It 
owns a shipping container but cannot utilise the provision as it has nowhere to place it.  
 
The Club also requires access to large changing rooms given the size of matchday squads. 
Presently, it only has access to the changing provision at Tipton Sports Academy, which it 
reports as being adequate.  
 
Demand 
 
Sandwell Steelers fields four teams; a senior men’s team, a senior women’s team, a youth 
team and a flag team. To enable this, it currently has 40 players within the men’s team and 15 
players within each of the three other teams, although it reports that, for sustainability, it ideally 
needs 55 players for the men’s team and 25 players for the remaining teams.  
 
Moving forward, the Club also has aspirations to develop an additional youth team. The current 
team is made up of players in the 13-16 age bracket, whilst the future demand is for a team 
within the 16-18 age bracket. The intention is for existing players to feed through, with them 
then being backfilled within the younger age group.  
 

Page 218



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              145 

The Club plays its senior matches at Tipton Sports Academy and its youth matches at Walsall 
Rugby Club (exported demand), whilst training midweek at Gospel Oak Academy and at 
weekends at Portway Leisure Centre.  
 
Supply and demand analysis 
 
A resolution is required to Sandwell Steelers’ existing issues that are derived from it currently 
needing to use multiple venues. If this is not achieved within Sandwell, there is a very real 
possibility of the Club eventually exporting all its demand outside of the Borough, as it currently 
does with its youth team (venues outside of Sandwell are being explored).  
 
As American football can be played on 3G pitches, both for matches and training, relocating 
all of the Club’s demand to such provision should be explored. This could either be by utilising 
and re-marking an existing pitch or through ensuring a future pitch can support the sport. By 
utilising 3G provision, it will ensure that all of the Club’s demand can be met without impacting 
on the quality and capacity of grass pitches/areas.   
 
It is essential that any venue can provide or host sufficient storage areas, whilst large changing 
rooms are also needed due to squad sizes required.  
 
15.2: Baseball/softball 
 
Introduction 
 
Baseball and softball are both governed by Baseball and Softball UK (BSUK), which is 
currently aiming to build the number of teams playing regularly throughout the country. 
Baseball is played between two teams of nine players, which take turns batting and fielding 
across nine innings, whilst softball has two varieties: slow-pitch softball and fast-pitch softball. 
Both sports in England operate from April until September.   
 
Consultation 
 
N/A 
 
Supply 
 
No baseball/softball pitches are evident in Sandwell. Across the Black Country region, there 
is supply in Dudley, at Thorns Leisure Centre, and in Wolverhampton, at Colton Hills 
Community School.  
 
Demand 
 
No baseball/softball clubs are identified in Sandwell.  
 
Across the Black Country authorities, both Dudley and Wolverhampton have a baseball club 
(Stourbridge Titans and Wolverhampton baseball clubs). It is possible that some isolated 
demand from Sandwell is being accommodated within these, although only senior teams are 
currently fielded.  
 
Supply and demand analysis  
 
It is likely that any demand for baseball or softball is being accommodated in neighbouring 
authorities. As such, the sports should not be considered a priority for development.  
 
 

Page 219



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              146 

15.3: Gaelic football  
 
Britain GAA is the Provincial Council of Gaelic football and hurling outside of Ireland. It is made 
up of seven counties, with Sandwell and the other Black County authorities falling into the 
Warwickshire region. The playing season runs from May until August.  
 
Consultation 
 
N/A 
 
Supply  
 
There are no Gaelic football pitches provided in Sandwell. Within the Black Country, there is 
provision in Wolverhampton, whilst numerous pitches are also provided in Birmingham.  
 
Demand  
 
No demand for Gaelic football has been identified in the Borough, with no clubs in existence 
either currently or historically.  
 
Supply and demand analysis 
 
N/A 
 

 
  

Other grass pitch sports – supply and demand summary 
 A resolution is required to Sandwell Steelers’ existing issues that are derived from it currently 

needing to use multiple venues.  
 No supply or demand is identified in relation to baseball/softball or Gaelic football, meaning 

no action is required.  
Other grass pitch sports  – supply summary 
 There are no dedicated American football pitches within Sandwell; instead, an over marked 

football pitch at Tipton Sports Academy is used as well as 3G provision at Gospel Oak 
Academy and Portway Leisure Centre. 

 Sandwell Steelers wants to be based from one venue, reporting availability and storage as 
particular issues.  

 There are no baseball/softball diamonds in Sandwell.  
 There are no Gaelic football pitches provided in the Borough.  
Other grass pitch sports – demand summary 
 Sandwell Steelers currently fields four teams (senior men’s, senior women’s, youth and flag).   
 As well using the facilities in Sandwell, it also exports demand to Walsall Rugby Club, in 

Walsall.   
 No baseball/softball or Gaelic football demand is identified, although some isolated demand 

may be travelling to clubs in nearby authorities.  

Page 220



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              147 

APPENDIX 1: SPORTING CONTEXT 
 
The following section outlines a series of national, regional and local policies pertaining to the 
study and which will have an important influence on the Strategy. 
 
National context 
 
The provision of high quality and accessible community outdoor sports facilities at a local level 
is a key requirement for achieving the targets set out by the Government and Sport England. 
It is vital that this strategy is cognisant of and works towards these targets in addition to local 
priorities and plans. 
 
Department of Media Culture and Sport Sporting Future: A New Strategy for an Active 
Nation (2015) 
 
The Government published its strategy for sport in December 2015. This strategy confirms the 
recognition and understanding that sport makes a positive difference through broader means 
and that it will help the sector to deliver five simple but fundamental outcomes: physical health, 
mental health, individual development, social and community development and economic 
development. In order to measure its success in producing outputs which accord with these 
aims it has also adopted a series of 23 performance indicators under nine key headings, as 
follows: 

 
 More people taking part in sport and physical activity. 
 More people volunteering in sport. 
 More people experiencing live sport. 
 Maximising international sporting success. 
 Maximising domestic sporting success. 
 Maximising domestic sporting success. 
 A more productive sport sector. 
 A more financially and organisationally sustainable sport sector. 
 A more responsible sport sector. 
 
Sport England: Uniting the Movement 2021 
 
Sport and physical activity has a big role to play in improving the physical and mental health of 
the nation, supporting the economy, reconnecting communities and rebuilding a stronger society 
for all. From this notion, Sport England has recently released its new strategy, Uniting the 
Movement, its 10-year vision to transform lives and communities through sport and physical 
activity. 
 
It seeks to tackle the inequalities long seen in sport and physical activity. Providing opportunities 
to people and communities that have traditionally been left behind, and helping to remove the 
barriers to activity, has never been more important. 
 
There are three key objectives to the Strategy: 
 
 Advocating for movement, sport and physical activity. 
 Joining forces on five big issues 
 Creating the catalyst for change 
 
In particular, the five big issues are identified where the greatest potential is seen for preventing 
and tackling inequalities in sport and physical activity. Each one is a building block that, on its 
own, would make a difference, but together, could change things profoundly: 

Page 221



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              148 

Recover and reinvent: Recovering from the biggest crisis in a generation and reinventing as a 
vibrant, relevant and sustainable network of organisations providing sport and physical activity 
opportunities that meet the needs of different people. 
 
Connecting communities: Focusing on sport and physical activity’s ability to make better places 
to live and bring people together. 
 
Positive experiences for children and young people: Unrelenting focus on positive 
experiences for all children and young people as the foundations for a long and healthy life. 
 
Connecting with health and wellbeing: Strengthening the connections between sport, physical 
activity, health and wellbeing, so more people can feel the benefits of, and advocate for, an active 
life. 
 
Active environments: Creating and protecting the places and spaces that make it easier for 
people to be active. 
 
The specific impact of the Strategy will be captured through programmes funded, interventions 
made, and partnerships forged. For each specific area of action, a set of key performance 
indicators will be developed. This hybrid approach will help evidence the overall progress being 
made by all those involved in supporting sport and physical activity. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out planning policies for England. It 
details how these changes are expected to be applied to the planning system. It also provides 
a framework for local people and their councils to produce distinct local and neighbourhood 
plans, reflecting the needs and priorities of local communities. 
  
The NPPF states the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development. It identifies that the planning system needs to focus on three themes 
of sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. A presumption in favour of 
sustainable development is a key aspect for any plan-making and decision-taking processes. 
In relation to plan-making the NPPF sets out that Local Plans should meet objectively 
assessed needs. 
  
The ‘promoting healthy communities’ theme identifies that planning policies should be based 
on robust and up-to-date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and recreation 
facilities and opportunities for new provision. Specific needs and quantitative or qualitative 
deficiencies or surpluses in local areas should also be identified. This information should be 
used to inform what provision is required in an area. 
  
As a prerequisite the NPPF states existing open space, sports and recreation buildings and 
land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 
 
 An assessment has been undertaken, which has clearly shown that the open space, 

buildings or land is surplus to requirements. 
 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 

better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location. 
 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 

clearly outweigh the loss. 
  
In order for planning policies to be ‘sound’ local authorities are required to carry out a robust 
assessment of need for open space, sport and recreation facilities.  

Page 222



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              149 

The FA National Football Facilities Strategy (2018-28)  
 
The Football Association’s (FA) National Football Facilities Strategy (NFFS) provides a 
strategic framework that sets out key priorities and targets for the national game (i.e., football) 
over a ten-year period.  
 
The Strategy sets out shared aims and objectives it aims to deliver on in conjunction with The 
Premier League, Sport England and the Government, to be delivered with support of the 
Football Foundation. 
 
These stakeholders have clearly identified the aspirations for football to contribute directly to 
nationally important social and health priorities. Alongside this, the strategy is clear that 
traditional, affiliated football remains an important priority and a core component of the game, 
whilst recognising and supporting the more informal environments used for the community 
and recreational game. 
 
Its vision is: “Within 10 years we aim to deliver great football facilities, wherever they are 
needed” 
 
£1.3 billion has been spent by football and Government since 2000 to enhance existing football 
facilities and build new ones. However, more is needed if football and Government’s shared 
objectives for participation, individual well-being and community cohesion are to be achieved. 
Nationally, direct investment will be increased – initially to £69 million per annum from football 
and Government (a 15% increase on recent years).   
 
The NFFS investment priorities can be broadly grouped into six areas, recognising the need 
to grow the game, support existing players and better understand the different football 
environments: 
 
 Improve 20,000 Natural Turf pitches, with a focus on addressing drop off due to a poor 

playing experience; 
 Deliver 1,000 3G AGP ‘equivalents’ (mix of full size and small sided provision, including 

MUGAs - small sided facilities are likely to have a key role in smaller / rural communities 
and encouraging multi-sport offers), enhancing the quality of playing experience and 
supporting a sustainable approach to grass roots provision; 

 Deliver 1,000 changing pavilions/clubhouses, linked to multi-pitch or hub sites, 
supporting growth (particularly in women and girls football), sustainability and providing a 
facility infrastructure to underpin investment in coaching, officials and football 
development; 

 Support access to flexible indoor spaces, including equipment and court markings, to 
support growth in futsal, walking football and to support the education and skills outcomes, 
exploiting opportunities for football to positively impact on personal and social outcomes 
for young people in particular; 

 Refurbish existing stock to maintain current provision, recognising the need to address 
historic under-investment and issues with refurbishment of existing facilities; 

 Support testing of technology and innovation, building on customer insight to deliver 
hubs for innovation, testing and development of the game. 

 
  

Page 223



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              150 

The FA: National Game Strategy (2018-2021) 
 
The FA launched its new National Game Strategy in July 2018 which aims to inspire a life-
long journey in football for all. To achieve this, the strategy will focus on five key aspects of 
the game:  
 
 A high quality introduction to football 
 Developing clubs and leagues 
 Embrace all formats of football and engage all participants 
 Recruit, develop and support the workforce  
 Develop sustainable facilities 
 
Through these five pillars, The FA’s objectives are to: 
 
 Increase the number of male affiliated and recreational players by 10%. 
 Double the number of female affiliated and recreational players via a growth of 75%. 
 Increase the number of disability affiliated and recreational players by 30%. 
 Ensure affiliated Futsal is available across the country in order to increase the number of 

Futsal affiliated and recreational players. 
 

The sustainable football facilities should provide support to an agreed portfolio of priority 
projects that meet National Football Facility Strategy (NFFS) investment priorities.  
 
England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB) Inspiring Generations (2020-2024) 
 
The England and Wales Cricket Board unveiled a new strategic plan in 2019. The strategic 
plan aims to connect communities and improve lives by inspiring people to discover and share 
their passion for cricket 
 
The plan sets out six important priorities and activities, these are: 
 
 Grow and nurture the core  
 Create an infrastructure investment fund for First Class County Clubs (FCCs) 
 Introduce a new Community Investment Funding for FCCs and County Cricket Boards 

(CCBs) 
 Invest in club facilities 
 Develop the role of National Counties Cricket 
 Further invest in County Competitions 

 Inspire through elite teams  
 Increase investment in the county talent pathway 
 Incentivise the counties to develop England Players 
 Drive the performance system through technology and innovation 
 Create heroes and connect them with a new generation of fans  

 Make cricket accessible  
 Broaden crickets appeal through the New Competition 
 Create a new digital community for cricket 
 Install non-traditional playing facilities in urban areas 
 Continue to deliver South Asian Action Plans 
 Launch a new participation product, linked to the New Competition  

 Engage children and young people 
 Double cricket participation in primary schools  
 Deliver a compelling and coordinated recreational playing offer from age five upwards  
 Develop our safeguarding to promote safe spaces for children and young people 

 
 

Page 224



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              151 

 Transform women’s and girls’ cricket  
 Grow the base through participation and facilities investment  
 Launch centres of excellence and a new elite domestic structure  
 Invest in girls’ county age group cricket 
 Deliver a girls’ secondary school programme  

 Support our communities  
 Double the number of volunteers in the game  
 Create a game-wide approach to Trust and Foundations through the cricket network  
 Develop a new wave of officials and community coaches  
 Increase participation in disability cricket  

 
The Rugby Football Union Strategy 2021 Onwards 
 
Through the strategy, the RFU aims to enrich lives, introduce more people to rugby union and 
develop the sport for future generations.  The goal is to achieve this by strengthening and 
uniting rugby union in England and producing consistently winning England teams.  
 
Eight key strategic priorities are identified with all investment decisions aligned to these.  The 
strategy also outlines the RFU’s core activities which form the backbone of its business 
operations and services to the game. 
 
The priorities include four ‘Game Objectives’ and four ‘Driving Objectives’ as detailed below. 
 
Game Objectives: 
 Enjoyment – enable positive player experiences on and off the field 
 Winning England – create the best possible high-performance system for England 

Rugby 
 Welfare – enhance player welfare to protect and support the wellbeing of players 
 Flourishing rugby communities – support clubs to sustain and grow themselves and to 

reflect society 
 
Driving Objectives: 
 Diversity & Inclusion – drive rugby union in England to reflect the diversity of society 
 Understand – build a deep understanding of players, volunteers and fans to shape the 

future of the game 
 Connect – connect with and grow the rugby community and create exceptional 

experiences 
 Commercial and operational excellence – ensure a sustainable and efficient business 

model delivered by an inspired workforce 
 
Rugby Football League Strategic Plan 2015 – 2021 
 
The RFL’s most recent strategy aims to establish rugby league as “a growing sport, available 
throughout the country, that is recognised as providing positive experience for all participants 
and spectators, in environments that are welcoming, inclusive, vibrant, safe and comfortable 
- encouraging people to return again and again, featuring: 
 
 Financially viable and sustainable professional clubs creating stable employment 

opportunities, showcasing local, national and international playing talent, and leading 
the sport’s development - and making a difference - in their own communities; 

 Welcoming community clubs, putting players first, offering recreational enjoyment for 
children and adults alike in a safe and inclusive environment; 

 A central organisation that stands out for excellence, innovation, mutual respect, 
integrity and inclusion that understands its role in servicing the wider sport; 

 A sports that lives its values in all its decisions and actions. 

Page 225



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              152 

 
This vision is underpinned by 13 core principles, including: 
 
 An integrated whole sport. Each constituent part of the sport will have a 

responsibility to ensure the good health of the entire game; 
 Return on investment. Investment will be targeted to ensure the sustainability of 

member clubs, and growth in the number and quality of players thus seeking an 
effective return for the game; 

 Financial parameters. Financial distributions will be undertaken to ensure the whole 
of the game will move forward together; 

 Geographic expansion. Geographic expansion of the sport should be carried out in 
a proportionate and sustainable manner. 

 
Rugby League World Cup ‘Inspired by 2021’ Legacy Programme  
 
The Rugby League World Cup 2021 will develop a £10 million legacy programme with funds 
driven into local clubs and community projects. The government investment, delivered by 
Sport England, is part of an ambitious plan to grow the sport and make it more visible, 
engaging and welcoming to current and potential participants.  
 
The funding will be split into large transformational community projects, such as changing 
room improvements and new artificial grass pitches with the remaining funding used for 
smaller scale initiatives such as supplying new kit and equipment to promote club and 
community development. The investment will focus on the following four key areas:  
 
 Creating welcoming environments  
 Encouraging participation growth  
 Building community engagement  
 Cultivating further investment  

 
England Hockey (EH) - A Nation Where Hockey Matters 2013 
 
The vision is for England to be a ‘Nation Where Hockey Matters’.  
 
We know that delivering success on the international stage stimulates the nation’s pride in 
their hockey team and, with the right events in place, we will attract interest from spectators, 
sponsors and broadcasters alike. The visibility that comes from our success and our occasions 
will inspire young people and adults to follow in the footsteps of their heroes and, if the right 
opportunities are there to meet their needs, they will play hockey and enjoy wonderful 
experiences. 
 
Underpinning all this is the infrastructure which makes our sport function. We know the 
importance of our volunteers, coaches, officials, clubs and facilities. The more inspirational 
our people can be, the more progressive we can be and the more befitting our facilities can 
be, the more we will achieve for our sport. England Hockey will enable this to happen and we 
are passionate about our role within the sport. We will lead, support, counsel, focus and 
motivate the Hockey Nation and work tirelessly towards our vision. 
 
As a governing body, we want to have a recognisable presence to participants of the game, 
be that through club or association website or their communications, or through the work of 
the many outstanding coaches in our game, so that players understand that their club is part 
of a wider team working together to a common goal. 
 
The core objectives are as follows: 
 

Page 226



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              153 

 Grow our Participation 
 Deliver International Success 
 Increase our Visibility 
 Enhance our Infrastructure 
 For England Hockey to be proud and respected custodians of the sport 
 
Club participation 
 
Our club market is well structured and clubs are required to affiliate to England Hockey to play 
in community leagues. As a result only relatively few occasional teams lie outside our affiliation 
structure. Schools and Universities are the other two areas where significant hockey is played.  
 
Hockey is clearly benefiting from a double Olympic legacy. After Great Britain’s women won 
bronze in front of a home crowd in London in 2012 the numbers of young girls playing the 
sport doubled and a historic gold in Rio 2016 saw more than 10,000 players promptly joining 
clubs. These triumphs have inspired the nation to get active and play hockey. Thanks to the 
outstanding work of the network of clubs across the country, England Hockey has seen 
unprecedented growth at both ends of the age range. There has been an 80% increase in the 
number of boys and girls in clubs, as well as a 54% increase in players over the age of 46.  
 
Hockey clubs have reaped the rewards of the improved profile of the sport, focussing on a link 
with schools to provide excellent opportunities for young players.  Programmes such as Quick 
sticks – a small-sided version of hockey for 7-11 year olds – in Primary Schools have been 
hugely successful in allowing new players to take part in the sport from an early age. The 
growth in the sport since the eve of London 2012 has been seen across the country, examples 
being a 110% increase in under 16s club participation in London, and a 111% growth in the 
North West in the same age bracket.  
 
England Hockey Strategy  
 
England Hockey’s Facilities Strategy can be found here.  
 
Vision: For every hockey club in England to have appropriate and sustainable facilities that 
provide excellent experiences for players.  
 
Mission:  More, Better, Happier Players with access to appropriate and sustainable facilities  
 
The 3 main objectives of the facilities strategy are:  
 
1. PROTECT: To conserve the existing hockey provision  

  
- There are currently over 800 pitches that are used by hockey clubs (club, school, 

universities) across the country. It is important to retain the current provision where 
appropriate to ensure that hockey is maintained across the country.   

 
2. IMPROVE: To improve the existing facilities stock (physically and administratively)  

 
- The current facilities stock is ageing and there needs to be strategic investment into 

refurbishing the pitches and ancillary facilities. England Hockey works to provide more 
support for clubs to obtain better agreements with facilities providers & education 
around owning an asset. 

 
3. DEVELOP: To strategically build new hockey facilities where there is an identified 

need and ability to deliver and maintain. This might include consolidating hockey 
provision in a local area where appropriate. 

Page 227



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              154 

 
- England Hockey has identified key areas across the country where there is a lack of 

suitable hockey provision and there is a need for additional pitches, suitable for hockey. 
There is an identified demand for multi pitches in the right places to consolidate hockey 
and allow clubs to have all of their provision catered for at one site. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 228



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              155 

LTA Facilities Investment Strategy – Vision for the 2020 and beyond 
 
The LTA has developed a programme of action based on seven core strategies. These are:  
 
 Visibility – Broaden relevance and increase visibility of tennis all year round to build 

engagement and participation with fans and players.  
 Innovation – Innovate in the delivery of tennis to widen its appeal. 
 Investment – Support community facilities and schools to increase the opportunities to 

play.  
 Accessibility – Make the customer journey to playing tennis easier and more accessible 

for anyone.  
 Engagement – Engage and collaborate with everyone involved in delivering tennis in 

Britain, particularly coaches and volunteers, to attract and maintain more people in the 
game.  

 Performance – Create a pathway for British champions that nurtures a diverse team of 
players, people and leaders. 

 Leadership – Create a pathway for British champions that nurtures a diverse team of 
players, people and leaders. 

 
The LTA Facilities Investment Framework sets out how it intends to deliver the investment to 
support community accessible tennis facilities. The focus will be on:  
 
 New and existing indoor tennis centres 
 Park tennis 
 Tennis clubs 
 Schools and other educational establishments 
 
The key principles of the framework are to:  
 
 Help fund projects through interest free loans. 
 Invest in venues that have a proven record of increasing participation.  
 Invest where there is thorough community engagement. 
 Support venues that encourage participation growth.  
 Targeted investment that is demand-led.  
 Support venues that have successfully sourced partnership funding.  
 
England Netball - Your Game, Your Way 2013-17  
 
Even though this Plan is out of date, England Netball remains committed to its '10-1-1' mission, 
vision and values that form the fundamentals for its strategic planning for the future for the 
sport and business. 
 
To facilitate the successful achievement of Netball 10:1:1 and Goal 4, England Netball will: 
  
 Accelerate the participation growth by extending our market penetration and reach through 

the activation of a range of existing and new participant-focused products and programmes 
that access new and targeted markets.  

 Increase the level of long-term participant retention through targeting programmes at 
known points of attrition and easy transition through the market segments, supported by 
an infrastructure that reflects the participant needs and improves their netball experience.  

 Build a sustainable performance pathway and system built on the principles of purposeful 
practice and appropriate quality athlete coach contact time.  
 
 

Page 229



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              156 

 Develop sustainable revenue streams through the commercialisation of a portfolio of 
products and programmes and increasing membership sales. This will also include the 
creation of cost efficiencies and improved value for money through innovative partnerships 
and collaborations in all aspects of the business.  

 Establish high standards of leadership and governance that protect the game and its 
people and facilitates the on-going growth and transformation of the NGB and sport. 

 
England Athletics Strategic Plan – Athletics & Running: for everyone, forever – 2017 
and beyond 
 
This plan sets out England Athletics’ mission, vision and strategic priorities that will direct how 
they work as an organisation during the coming years: what they do and how they will do it. 
 
Vision: Make athletics and running the most inclusive and popular sport in England, led by a 
network of progressive clubs and organisations and supported by a sustainable, respected 
and trusted governing body. 
 
For England Athletics to achieve this vision, they will focus on three values: 
 
 Pride – taking pride in their work and demonstrating to athletes that they recognise the 

importance of their role in bettering athletics. 
 Integrity – demonstrate integrity to earn respect and to build effective partnerships. 
 Inclusivity – promote inclusivity in all their actions. 
 
Mission:  To grow opportunities for everyone to experience athletics and running, to enable 
them to reach their full potential.  
 
In order to achieve their mission, England Athletics will have three strategic priorities. 
 
1. To expand the capacity of the sport by supporting and developing its volunteers and other 

workforce. The target is to achieve a 6% increase every year of licensed leaders, coaches 
and officials. 

2. To sustain and increase participation and performance levels in our sport. To achieve this, 
England Athletics’’ current targets are to increase the number of club registered athletes 
from (149,000 to 172,000), engage 135,000 people through the RunTogether programme 
and to increase athlete performance levels across all events and disciplines by 1% every 
year. 

3. To influence participation in the wider athletics market. Their target here is to increase the 
number of regular athletes or runners by at least one million. 

 
England Athletics Facility Strategy (2018 – 2025) 
 
The purpose of this document is to set out our long term vision for athletics facilities in England. 
Facilities form a vital component of the overall England Athletics strategy.  
 
The development, protection and enhancement of facilities will support our strategic plan and 
help England Athletics contribute to the delivery of the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport’s Sporting Futures: A New Strategy for Sport and Sport England’s strategy Towards an 
Active Nation. Appropriate facilities help to attract and inspire new participants and provide 
the foundation and focus for a significant proportion of the England Athletics family. 
 
  

Page 230



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              157 

The England Athletics Strategic Plan notes that the sport increasingly needs to become 
financially sustainable and that a business-like and innovative approach is a vital component 
of its future success. Facilities are fundamental, but they are also expensive to create and to 
maintain. The sport therefore faces a significant challenge to develop, improve and maintain 
facilities, most of which are currently operated and funded by third parties. 
 
This strategy sets out a challenge to all those involved with the delivery of the sport to be 
innovative and business like in the operation and development of facilities at a time of financial 
challenge, as it aims “To create an innovative and inspiring network of sustainable athletic 
facilities, with the capacity to meet both current and future demand across England”. 
 
England Golf Course Planner – Strategic Direction (2021-2025) 
 
England Golf has always had a mission to lead, support, inspire and deliver for its 
community of golfers, golf clubs and counties. To help enable this, its Course Planner forms 
the core of its strategy, with 18 guiding principles established that are designed to best 
position growth in the game:  
 
 Strengthen governance in all aspects of the sport 
 Deliver safeguarding throughout the golfing community 
 Utilise data and technology to enhance decision making 
 Drive equality and equity in everything it does 
 Support golf clubs with member recruitment and retention 
 Connect and engage with all golfers 
 Inspire and educate golf’s network of volunteers 
 Increase golf’s influence 
 Advocate and inform on all elements of sustainability 
 Drive diversity at all levels of golf 
 Create more opportunities for junior and young adults 
 Promote the health and wellbeing of golf 
 Inspire more women and girls to play golf 
 Develop greater access for disabled people 
 Enthuse all golfers through relatable role models 
 Communicate a positive perception change for golf 
 Deliver an excellent talent development pathway 
 Host best-in-class competitions for all golfers 

Page 231



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         158 

APPENDIX 2: NON TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT SHEETS 
 
Grass football pitch non-technical assessment sheet 

 
 

6 figure grid reference Pitch ID(s):
(Adult 11v11, Youth 11v11, 9v9, 7v7 Mini, 5v5, 7v7)

Are any other pitches marked out over this pitch?
If yes, please indicate what pitches are overmarked? (i.e. one youth pitch is overmarked on a adult pitch) in Pitch Issues

Guidance notes Comments

Poor <60%

No

Severe 

Too short

Poor

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Yes, poor drainage

Section total

No

No

No

No

No

No

Section total

NB If none of this information is provided you should assume that only the grass is being cut and the rest of the maintenance items should be marked with the lowest score option.

PITCH SCORE 0.0% RATING Poor

Non Technical Visual Quality Assessment - Football
Please complete one form per pitch

Yes, as required

Grass cutting

Within the last 2 years

Within the last 2 years

Problem Areas: Evidence of poor drainage

Sand dressed

None Yes - some

Yes - as per the FA recommended size 

Flat 

Seeded

Yes, but not frequent enough

Not known

Yes, as required

Three or more times Once/ twice

Within the last 2 yearsWithin the last 12 months

Within the last 12 months

Within the last 12 months

Site reference:

Moderate 

Grass Cover 

Playing surface

Number of football pitches on site:

Adequate 60-80%

Pitch size: 
Availability

Pitch Issues:

Weather at time of visit & date of visit

Within FA recommended guidelines

Slope of pitch (gradient and cross fall)

Element (Gathered via a non technical site assessment)

Site Name:

Good >80%

Does the pitch meet The FA minimum size?

Advice is to walk through the middle of the pitch

Length of grass

Aerated (per year)

Evenness of pitch 

Too long

Good 

Yes - some

No evidence of standing water or poor drainage Some evidence of poor drainage

Problem Areas: Evidence of unofficial use/damage to the surface

Fertilised

Weed killed

Assessment Criteria (please rank each of the following aspects for each pitch with an 'X' in the coloured box to the right of the chosen answer)

Maintenance programme (information from maintenance schedule/grounds team/club survey)

Good 30mm-50mm, Too long 51mm plus, Too short 29mm less

Problem Areas: Evidence of dog fouling/glass/litter/vehicle tracks

See size chart below for recommended dimensions

Good 

None

Adequate

Rating

P
age 232



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         159 

Cricket non-technical assessment  
 

  

P
age 233



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         160 

Rugby pitch non-technical assessment sheet 

 
 

6 figure grid reference

(Senior, Mini/Midi)

Are any other pitches marked out over this pitch?
If yes, please indicate what pitches are overmarked? (i.e. one mini/ midi pitch is overmarked on a senior pitch) in Pitch Issues

   Community Use - used, Community Use - unused, No Community Use, Available but Unused

Qualitative information (gathered on site) Comments

once 

once 

once 

once 

monthly

Pipe drained 
SCORE D2

Unknown 
SCORE D0

General comments/observations

three or more times never

Pipe and slit 
drained 

SCORE D3

Maximum size = width 70m, goal line to goal line 100m, in goal area 22m, run 
offs 5m where practical.
Recommended minimum size = width 68m, goal line to goal line 94m, in goal 
area 6m, run offs 5m where practical.

Length of grass

Yes lots

neverSand dressed (per year) 

Drainage
Natural (inadequate) 

SCORE D0
Natural (adequate) 

SCORE D1

twice

Pitch Maintenance Score

Problem Areas: Evidence of glass/litter/vehicle tracks/dog fouling

Too shortToo Long

never

Is there changing accommodation for the pitch?

Is there evidence of rust on the posts?

nevertwice

Size of pitch 

Rating

Good 

Yes

Are goalposts installed?

Too long = >75mm. Too short = <50mm

Yes

Yes

ANCILLARY 

three or more times twice

Is the pitch floodlit?

Guidance notes

Poor 

Weather at time of visit

Adequate 

Fertilised (per year) 

Yes

None

Yes

Aerated (per year)

three or more times twice

Weed killed (per year) three or more times

Yes

Chain harrowed every week fortnightly

Is an appropriate level of car parking available?

Natural (adequate) = 3 or less training/match cancellations per season
Natural (inadequate) = 4 or more training match cancellations per season
*Based on a pipe drained system at 5m centres that has been installed in the 
previous eight years 
**Based on a slit drained system at 1m centres completed in the previous 
five years.

Acceptable
(between recommended minimum 

and maximum sizes)

Availability

Assessment Criteria (please rank each of the following aspects for each pitch with an 'X' in the coloured box to the right of the chosen answer)

Date of assessment

Is there any obvious danger on posts?

Are the posts stable in the ground?

Is the crossbar fixed securely?

never

No

No

Yes

Non Technical Visual Quality Assessment - Rugby Union

Please complete one form per pitch

GOALPOSTS

Site reference

Number of pitches on site

Grass Coverage >90% = good.  <80%  = poor

No

Yes

Pitch maintenance (information gathered via club survey/ pitch provider consultation) - refer to the guidance notes below

Site Name

Pitch ID(s)

Pitch size 

Flag for further investigation
(below recommended minimum 

size)

Unacceptable 

(above maximum size)

No

No

Good

Yes - some

No

No

No

P
age 234



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         161 

Artificial grass pitches non-technical assessment (including third generation turf pitches) 
 

 

Site reference

6 figure grid reference

Number of AGPs on site Full (i.e., 100m x 60m) Half (i.e., 60m x 40m)

Availability

  Community Use - used, Community Use - unused, No Community Use, Available but Unused

Short Pile 3G 
(40mm)

Sand Filled  Water based

Element Site comments

5-10 years over 10 years

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Poor

Poor

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Poor

Poor

Poor

No - not adequate

Maximum score 93 Scoring: 0

 Poor

Total Score

Potential Rating

Poor

Standard

Good

<=50

51-79

80+

Yes

Good

No

No

Holes or rips in surface (macadam, art. grass or polymeric 
surfaces)

Medium Pile 3G 
(55-60mm)

Long Pile 3G 
(65mm with shock pad)

Sand Dressed

Loose gravel (macadam surface)

Grip underfoot Adequate

Evidence of moss/lichen (all surfaces)

Line markings - quality

Yes - some

Good Adequate

Yes - some

None

Yes - some

None

None Yes - some

Good Adequate

Good

Yes - some

Surrounding fencing

AdequateGood

Adequate

None Yes - some

Are there dug outs?

YesIs the AGP floodlit?

If no evidence, assume none.

Is the AGP left open at all times? Yes No

Are there youth shelters/spectator seating around AGP?

Is there changing accommodation for the AGP? Yes No

Yes No

Adequate safety margins (w here appropriate) Yes - fully No- but adequate 

Problem Areas: Evidence of damage to surface

Problem Areas: Evidence of inappropriate use

Access for disabled players. i.e.: ramps onto courts, w idth 
of gates

Condition of posts/ nets/ goals

None

Non Technical Visual Quality Assessment - Artifical grass pitches

Problem Areas: Evidence of Glass/ stones/ litter

Assessment Criteria (please rank each of the following aspects for each pitch with an 'X' in the coloured box to the right of the chosen answer)

Rating

Type of pitch {

None

Site Name

Pitch ID

Pitch size

Age of Surface less than 2 years 2-5 years

Guidance notes

P
age 235



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         162 

Court non-technical assessment (netball and tennis) 
 

 

P
age 236



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         163 

Bowling green non-technical assessment 
 
 

 
 

P
age 237



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 

October 2022                                                                   Assessment Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                         164 

Athletics tracks non-technical assessment 
 

 

P
age 238



 

QUALITY, INTEGRITY, PROFESSIONALISM 
 
Knight, Kavanagh & Page Ltd 
Company No: 9145032 (England) 

MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS 
 
Registered Office: 1 -2 Frecheville Court, off Knowsley Street, Bury BL9 0UF 

T: 0161 764 7040   E:  mail@kkp.co.uk    www.kkp.co.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 
 
OCTOBER 2022 

 
 
 

Page 239



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

 

CONTENTS 

	
ABBREVIATIONS ............................................................................................................... 1 

 
PART 1: INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 2 

 
PART 2: VISION AND KEY RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................................... 9 

 
PART 3: AIMS ................................................................................................................... 10 

 
PART 4: SPORT SPECIFIC ISSUES SCENARIOS AND RECOMMENDATIONS .......... 11 

 
PART 5: STRATEGIC RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................ 47 

 
PART 6: ACTION PLAN ................................................................................................... 59 

 
OLDBURY ANALYSIS AREA ............................................................................... 62 

ROWLEY REGIS ANALYSIS AREA ..................................................................... 69 

SMETHWICK ANALYSIS AREA ........................................................................... 75 

TIPTON ANALYSIS AREA .................................................................................... 81 

WEDNESBURY ANALYSIS AREA ....................................................................... 87 

WEST BROMWICH ANALYSIS AREA ................................................................. 93 

 
PART 7: HOUSING GROWTH SCENARIOS ................................................................. 100 

 
PART 8: DELIVER THE STRATEGY AND KEEP IT ROBUST AND UP TO DATE ....... 107 

 
 

Page 240



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                             Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 1 

ABBREVIATIONS 
 
3G   Third Generation (artificial turf) 
AGP   Artificial Grass Pitch 
BAFA    British American Football Association 
BC   Bowls Club 
BCGBA  British Crown Green Bowling Association 
BFA   Birmingham County FA 
BSUK   Baseball Softball United Kingdom 
CFA   County Football Association   
CONGU  Council of National Golf Unions 
DCMS   Department for Culture, Media and Sport  
ECB   England and Wales Cricket Board 
EH   England Hockey 
FA   Football Association  
FC    Football Club 
FF   Football Foundation 
FIFA   Fédération Internationale de Football Association 
FPM   Facilities Planning Model 
GMA   Grounds Management Association 
HC   Hockey Club 
JFC   Junior Football Club 
KKP   Knight, Kavanagh and Page 
LFFP   Local Football Facilities Plan  
NFFS   National Football Facilities Strategy 
NGB   National Governing Body 
NHS   National Health Service 
NPPF    National Planning Policy Framework     
PPS   Playing Pitch Strategy 
PPOSS  Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sport Strategy 
PQS   Performance Quality Standard 
RFL   Rugby Football League 
RFU   Rugby Football Union 
RLFC   Rugby League Football Club 
RUFC   Rugby Union Football Club 
SCB   Staffordshire Cricket Board 
TC   Tennis Club 
U   Under 

Page 241



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 2 

PART 1: INTRODUCTION 
 
A Playing Pitch & Outdoor Sport Strategy (PPOSS) has been commissioned by the Black 
Country authorities of Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and Wolverhampton, together with the Black 
Country Consortium, to assess playing pitch and outdoor sport facility needs across the 
individual local authority areas. The output is provision of four separate needs assessments 
and strategies across the aforementioned authorities as well as one additional overarching 
framework. 
 
This report provides the Strategy for Sandwell. Building upon the preceding Assessment 
Report, it provides a clear, strategic framework for the maintenance and improvement of 
existing playing pitch and accompanying ancillary facilities up to 2039 (in line with the 
previously proposed Black Country Plan, which will now be replaced by four separate local 
plans). It has been developed to provide: 
 
 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches and outdoor sports 

facilities.  
 A number of aims to help deliver the recommendations and actions.  
 A series of strategic recommendations which provide a strategic framework for the 

improvement, maintenance, development and, as appropriate, rationalisation of the 
playing pitch and outdoor sport facility stock. 

 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a strategic framework for sport 
led improvements to provision. 

 A prioritised area-by-area Action Plan to address key issues on a site-by-site basis. 
 
The Strategy is delivered in accordance with Sport England’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 
Guidance (for playing pitch sports) and Sport England’s Assessing Needs and Opportunities 
Guide (for “non-pitch” sports). Sport England’s PPS Guidance details a stepped approach, 
separated into five distinct sections:  

 
 Stage A: Prepare and tailor the approach  
 Stage B: Gather information and views on the supply of and demand for provision   
 Stage C: Assess the supply and demand information and views 
 Stage D: Develop the Strategy  
 Stage E: Deliver the Strategy and keep it robust and up to date 
 
This report represents Stage D of the process, with stages A-C covered in the preceding 
Assessment Report and Stage E ongoing once the study is complete. The lifespan of a 
PPOSS is considered to be three years, although this can be increased if it is regularly kept 
up to date.  
 
A PPOSS delivers the evidence required to ensure that sufficient land is available to meet 
existing and projected future outdoor sport requirements. Its robust evidence base should 
inform and be implemented into planning policy and other relevant corporate strategies to 
enable local policies, planning and sport development criteria to work efficiently and 
effectively.  It is capable of:  
 
 Providing a clear framework for all playing pitch and outdoor sport providers, including the 

public, private and third sectors. 
 Clearly addressing the needs of all identified sports within the area, picking up on 

particular local demand issues. 
 Addressing issues of population growth and major growth/regeneration areas. 
 Addressing issues of cross boundary facility provision. 
 Addressing issues of accessibility, quality and management with regard to facility 

provision. 
 Standing up to scrutiny at a public inquiry as a robust study. 

Page 242



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 3 

 Supporting funding applications. 
 Providing realistic aspirations which are implementable within the local authority’s 

budgetary position and procurement regime. 
 
The Strategy and Action Plan recommends several priority projects for Sandwell which should 
be realised over the Local Plan period. It provides a framework for improvement and, although 
resources may not currently be in place to implement it, potential partners and possible 
sources of external funding which can assist.     
 
Partner organisations have a vested interest in ensuring that existing playing pitches, outdoor 
sports facilities and ancillary provision are protected and enhanced. As such, many of the 
objectives and actions within this document need to be delivered and implemented by a wide 
range of bodies such as National Governing Bodies of Sport (NGBs), sports organisations, 
education establishments and parish/town councils. In many instances, the Council will not be 
the agency which delivers these actions or recommendations as the PPOSS is not just for the 
Council to act upon. It applies to/for all the stakeholders and partners involved. 
 
Scope 
 
A wide range of playing pitch and outdoor sports and associated facilities have been agreed 
for inclusion in the PPOSS in Sandwell and across all four Black Country authorities. In full, 
the study covers: 
 
 Athletics  
 Cricket  
 Football (including 3G pitches) 
 Hockey (sand/water based AGPs) 
 Rugby union (including 3G pitches) 
 Tennis  

 Bowls 
 Cycling 
 Golf  
 Netball  
 Rugby league (including 3G pitches) 
 Water sports (e.g. sailing and water skiing) 

  
In addition, other grass pitch sports are included where identified as having a presence.  
 
Study area 
 
The study area for the Sandwell PPOSS is the Sandwell Council boundary area. Further to 
this, sub areas or analysis areas have been used to allow for a more localised assessment of 
provision and examination of supply and demand at a local level. For this purpose, Sandwell 
is split into the following six areas, based on towns in the Borough:  
 
 Oldbury 
 Rowley Regis 
 Smethwick 
 Tipton 
 Wednesbury  
 West Bromwich 
 
These are shown in the figure overleaf.  
 
Cross-boundary migration is also be explored, not only to and from the other three Black 
County authorities but also from other nearby authorities, particularly Birmingham. This applies 
to demand from neighbouring authorities that imports into Sandwell and demand from the 
Borough which exports out.  
  

Page 243



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 4 

Figure 1.1: Map of study analysis areas 
 

 
 
1.1: Headline findings 

The table below highlights the quantitative headline findings identified for the pitch sports 
included in the preceding Assessment Report. For qualitative and site-specific findings, please 
see Part 4: Sport Specific Recommendations and Scenarios, and Part 6: Action Plan.  

Table 1.1: Quantitative headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Adult  Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 6 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Youth 
11v11 

Spare capacity of 2 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 1 Shortfall of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Adult Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6.5 

Page 244



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 5 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Adult  Shortfall of 6.5 Shortfall of 7 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Youth 
11v11 

At capacity Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Youth 9v9 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Adult  Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Youth 
11v11 

Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Youth 9v9 Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Adult  Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 3 Shortfall of 3 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Page 245



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 6 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult  Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 4.5 Shortfall of 5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 7v7 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

3G 
pitches[2] 

Oldbury Full size  Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

3G pitches Rowley 
Regis 

Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

3G pitches Smethwick Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 
3G pitches Tipton Full size  At capacity At capacity 
3G pitches Wednesbury Full size  At capacity At capacity 
3G pitches West 

Bromwich 
Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Oldbury Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Oldbury Sunday Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 
Cricket Oldbury Midweek Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 
Cricket Rowley 

Regis 
Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Rowley 
Regis 

Sunday Spare capacity of 12 Spare capacity of 12 

Cricket Rowley 
Regis 

Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Smethwick Saturday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Sunday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Midweek Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Tipton Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Tipton Sunday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Tipton Midweek At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Wednesbury Saturday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Sunday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Midweek Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket West 

Bromwich 
Saturday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Sunday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Midweek Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

                                                 
[2] Based on accommodating 38 teams on one full size pitch  Page 246



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 7 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Rugby 
union 

Oldbury Senior Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

Rowley 
Regis 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Smethwick Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Rugby 
union 

Tipton Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Wednesbury Senior Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

West 
Bromwich 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
league 

Sandwell Senior No demand so no 
provision required 

No demand so no 
provision required 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Sandwell Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although 
improvements are required 
at Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy. 

At capacity although 
improvements are required 
at Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy. 

 
For non-pitch sports, quantitative shortfalls can be more difficult to determine, with capacity 
guidance differing and with focus often away from formal club activity. The current and future 
picture for each sport is therefore instead summarised in the table below.  
 
Table 1.2: Quantitative headline findings (non-pitch sports) 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Current supply is sufficient for demand 
although quality and operational 
improvements are required at Old Hill 
Cricket & Tennis Club. In addition, there is 
a requirement to focus on informal activity 
at non-club courts and improving the 
recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Current supply is sufficient for demand 
although quality and operational 
improvements are required at Old Hill 
Cricket & Tennis Club. In addition, there 
is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. Focus 
should be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 
However, with the Dudley Netball League 
wishing to relocate back to Dudley and 
this been recommended in the Dudley 
PPOSS, a collective approach between 
the authorities should be sought, with this 
to be guided and informed by England 
Netball. 

Demand is being met at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. Focus 
should be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 
However, with the Dudley Netball League 
wishing to relocate back to Dudley and 
this been recommended in the Dudley 
PPOSS, a collective approach between 
the authorities should be sought, with this 
to be guided and informed by England 
Netball. 

Bowls Only one bowls club has a shortfall of 
capacity (Langley BC), whilst The George 
BC and Hamstead Social BC operate on 
the limit of the capacity threshold.  
Dartmouth Central BC is operating below 
the recommended capacity. 

Only one bowls club has a shortfall of 
capacity (Langley BC), whilst The George 
BC and Hamstead Social BC operate on 
the limit of the capacity threshold.  
Dartmouth Central BC is operating below 
the recommended capacity. 
 

Page 247



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 8 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Athletics With four 400-metre athletics tracks 
provided, supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Options can be explored to 
re-purpose the track at Hadley Stadium as 
it is surplus to requirements in its current 
form. This could include an informal 
athletics facility, for which discussions 
regarding the provision of a trail running 
track on site have taken place. 

With four 400-metre athletics tracks 
provided, supply is considered sufficient 
to meet demand. Options can be 
explored to re-purpose the track at 
Hadley Stadium as it is surplus to 
requirements in its current form. This 
could include an informal athletics facility, 
for which discussions regarding the 
provision of a trail running track on site 
have taken place. 

Cycling High demand for cycling is identified within 
Sandwell so protecting and sustaining 
what is provided at Sandwell Valley 
Country Park should be seen as key given 
the off-road facilities offered. 
Implementation of initiatives promoted by 
British Cycling should also be explored in 
order to encourage more people to get 
into cycling. 

High demand for cycling is identified 
within Sandwell so protecting and 
sustaining what is provided at Sandwell 
Valley Country Park should be seen as 
key given the off-road facilities offered. 
Implementation of initiatives promoted by 
British Cycling should also be explored in 
order to encourage more people to get 
into cycling. 

Golf With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a 
mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well 
as a well-equipped driving range, supply is 
well placed to meet demand from all types 
of golfers. 

With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a 
mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as 
well as a well-equipped driving range, 
supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Conclusions 
 
From a quantitative perspective, the existing position for each sport is either that demand is 
being met or that there is a shortfall, whereas the future position shows the creation of 
shortfalls for some pitch types and in some areas where demand is currently being met, as 
well as the exacerbation of existing shortfalls. There are current shortfalls of adult, youth 
11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 7v7 football pitches as well as 3G pitches, cricket squares and 
rugby union pitches, all of which will be exacerbated when accounting for future demand.  
 
Where demand is being met, this does not necessarily equate to a surplus of provision, with 
any spare capacity instead considered to be a solution to overcoming current or future 
shortfalls. There is a resultant need to protect all existing outdoor sport provision until all 
demand is met, or there is a requirement to replace provision in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy.  
 
For the most part, the shortfalls identified can be met by better utilising current provision, such 
as through improving quality, re-configuration, installing additional floodlighting, improving 
ancillary facilities and enabling access to existing unused provision, such as at unavailable 
school sites. However, there is a shortfall of 3G pitches that can likely only be met through 
increased provision. With resources to improve the quality of grass pitches being limited, 
particularly at sites managed by the Council, an increase in such provision could also help 
reduce grass pitch shortfalls through the transfer of play, which in turn can reduce overplay 
and aid pitch quality improvements.  Page 248



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 9 

PART 2: VISION AND KEY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Vision 
 
This study has been developed on the basis of the above strategic drivers in order to ensure 
that it reflects the Council’s wider ambitions. A vision has been set out to provide a clear focus 
with desired outcomes for the Sandwell Playing Pitch Strategy: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“To have a portfolio of high quality and accessible outdoor sports facilities, which service 
the changing needs of residents and offer opportunities for all sections of the community 

to participate in both formal and informal sport, contributing to a higher quality of life.’ 

Page 249



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 10 

PART 3: AIMS 
 
The following overarching aims are based on the three Sport England themes. It is 
recommended that they are adopted by the Council and partners to enable delivery of the 
overall PPS vision and Sport England planning objectives. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Figure 3.1: Diagram of Sport England themes      
   
 

 
 
 

Source: Sport England, Planning for Sport Guidance (June 2019) 
 

  

AIM 1 

To protect the existing supply of outdoor sport facilities where it is needed to meet 
current and future needs.  

AIM 2 

To enhance outdoor sport facilities and ancillary facilities through improving quality and 
management of sites.  

AIM 3 

To provide new outdoor sport facilities where there is current or future demand to do so. 

Page 250



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 11 

PART 4: SPORT SPECIFIC ISSUES SCENARIOS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
In order to help develop the recommendations/actions and to understand their potential 
impact, a number of relevant scenario questions are tested against the key issues in this 
section for each playing pitch sport, resulting in sport specific recommendations.  
 
4.1: Football – grass pitches 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 Actual spare capacity totals 13 match equivalent sessions per week across football 

pitches in Sandwell, which is a minimal amount.  
 A total of 33 pitches across 15 sites are overplayed by a combined total of 48 match 

equivalent sessions per week.  
 There is a current shortfall of adult, youth 11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 7v7 match 

equivalent sessions, whilst minimal capacity exists on mini 5v5 pitches.  
 After factoring in future demand, shortfalls are predicted to worsen on adult and 

youth 11v11 pitches. 
 The audit identifies a total of 171 grass football pitches within Sandwell across 70 sites, 

with 139 pitches available, at some level, for community use across 48 sites. 
 As a breakdown, there are 86 adult, 13 youth 11v11, 21 youth 9v9, 12 mini 7v7 and seven 

mini 5v5 pitches that are available for community use.  
 Lapsed/disused pitches are identified at Friar Park Playing Fields, Kent Road Park, 

Kenrick Park, Powis Avenue, Brickhouse Farm and Elwells. 
 The Council and education providers are the predominant suppliers of football pitches. 
 Bustleholme FC and Oldbury United aspire to formalise long-term tenure agreements for 

their respective home venues. 
 Most community available pitches are considered to be poor quality, with 83 assessed as 

this, although there is also a large quantity assessed as standard (51).  
 Only five pitches are assessed as good quality. 
 Quality of ancillary provision is an issue at sites such as Cakemore Playing Fields, 

Charlemont Playing Fields, Greets Green Playing Fields, Hydes Road Playing Fields, Lion 
Farm Playing Fields, Red House Park, Tividale Park, Warley RFC (St Johns Pitches) and 
West Smethwick Park. 

 Ancillary facility improvements are planned at Britannia Park, Tividale Park and West 
Smethwick Park whilst Wood Green Academy and Ormiston Sandwell Academy aspire 
to provide new provision. 

 Through the audit and assessment, 348 teams from within 115 clubs are identified as 
playing within Sandwell, consisting of 109 adult, 167 youth and 72 mini teams. 

 The number of teams competing in Sandwell has declined in recent years although 
consultation indicates that the majority of clubs have seen an increase in demand (the 
contradiction may be to do with the presence of the WJYFL and the exported demand it 
creates).  

 There are high levels of exported demand, with a large number of teams playing in 
neighbouring authorities due to a lack of pitch capacity and availability within Sandwell, in 
addition to the prevalence of the WJYFL. 

 A total of five clubs express latent demand in that they could field more teams if more 
pitch capacity or improved ancillary facilities were available to them.  

 Based on population growth, an increase of seven adult, seven youth 11v11 and one mini 
7v7 team is projected (to 2039), whilst six clubs report aspirations to grow by a combined 
total of 29 teams. 

 
  

Page 251



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 12 

Scenarios  
 
Improving pitch quality 
 
In total there are 33 pitches overplayed in Sandwell across 15 sites, with overplay equating to 
48 match equivalent sessions per week. Improving quality of such provision (i.e., through 
increased maintenance or improved drainage) will increase capacity at the sites and as a 
consequence reduce both current and future shortfalls. 
 
To illustrate the above, Table 4.1 highlights the current levels of overplay that would be 
alleviated if quality improved to good at each site.  As a reminder, the capacity rating for each 
type and quality rating is: 
 

Adult pitch 
quality 

Matches per 
week 

Youth pitch  
quality 

Matches per 
week 

Mini pitch  
quality 

Matches per 
week 

Good 3 Good 4 Good 6 

Standard 2 Standard 2 Standard 4 

Poor 1 Poor 1 Poor 2 
 
Table 4.1: Overplay if all pitches were good quality (match equivalent sessions) 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Current 
quality 

Current 
capacity 
rating1 

Good 
quality 

capacity 
rating2 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 1 2 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Mini (7v7) 1 Poor 1 3 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Mini (5v5) 1 Poor 0.5 3.5 

13 Britannia Park Adult 1 Poor 0.5 1.5 

17 Cakemore Playing 
Field 

Youth (9v9) 2 Poor 4 2 

19 Charlemont Playing 
Fields 

Youth (11v11) 2 Poor 4.5 1.5 

19 Charlemont Playing 
Fields 

Youth (9v9) 3 Poor 1.5 7.5 

31 George Salter 
Academy 

Adult 2 Poor 0.5 3.5 

36 Hadley Stadium Adult 1 Standard 7 6 

43 Hydes Road Playing 
Fields 

Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 0.5 2.5 

61 Ormiston Forge 
Academy (Hingleys) 

Adult 1 Standard 6.5 5.5 

77 St Michael's CE High 
School 

Youth (11v11) 1 Poor 5 2 

77 St Michael's CE High 
School 

Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 2.5 0.5 

87 Thimblemill Recreation 
Centre 
 

Adult 4 Poor 1.5 6.5 

                                                 
1 Match equivalent sessions 
2 Match equivalent sessions Page 252



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 13 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Current 
quality 

Current 
capacity 
rating1 

Good 
quality 

capacity 
rating2 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 1 2 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Mini (7v7) 1 Poor 1 3 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Mini (5v5) 1 Poor 0.5 3.5 

90 Tipton Sports 
Academy 

Adult 1 Standard 1.5 0.5 

90 Tipton Sports 
Academy 

Youth (11v11) 1 Standard 0.5 1.5 

92 Tividale Park Adult 1 Poor 0.5 1.5 

92 Tividale Park Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 0.5 2.5 

97 Warley Rugby Club Adult 2 Good 3.5 3.5 

105 West Smethwick Park Adult 4 Poor 2 6 

107 Wodensborough 
Ormiston Academy 

Youth (11v11) 1 Standard 3 1 

 
As seen, most overplayed pitches could accommodate current demand if quality improved to 
good. The only sites that would remain overplayed are Hadley Stadium, Ormiston Forge 
Academy (Hingleys), St Michael’s CE High School, Tipton Sports Academy, Warley RFC and 
Wodensborough Ormiston Academy. 
 
Given the above, regardless of quality improvements, some play at these sites should be 
transferred to sites with actual spare capacity in the locality or to an existing or additional 3G 
pitch. Alternatively, if space and other usage allows, pitch re-configuration at the sites could 
also be considered. For example, overplay at Hadley Stadium could be alleviated by spreading 
demand across Hadley Stadium and West Smethwick Park and improving pitch quality to good 
at both sites.  
 
Overall, a shortfall of nine match equivalent sessions would remain across Sandwell, 
compared to 36.5 match equivalent sessions currently, and this would also only exist on adult 
pitches. The impact this would have on the supply and demand balance across the Borough 
is shown in the table below, with all shortfalls being alleviated apart from nine match equivalent 
sessions on adult pitches.   
 
Table 4.2: Impact of improving pitch quality on overall supply and demand (match equivalent 
sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Current actual 

spare capacity 
Current 
overplay 

Current total Potential 
overplay 

Potential 
total 

Adult 6.5 23.5 17 15.5 9 

Youth 11v11 3 13 10 3 0 

Youth 9v9 1 10 9 - 1 

Mini 7v7 0.5 1 0.5 - 0.5 

Mini 5v5 2 0.5 1.5 - 2 
 
Given the costs of improving pitch quality, alternatives also need to be considered that can 
offer a more sustainable model for the future of football. The alternative to grass pitches is the 
use of 3G for competitive matches, which can not only alleviate overplay of grass pitches but 
can also aid quality improvements through the transfer of play and therefore reduced use. 

Page 253



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 14 

However, for sustainability, there also needs to be a sufficient level of midweek training 
demand taking place on the pitches.  
 
Loss of sites without secure tenure 
 
The table below identifies the total amount of demand that would need to be replaced if access 
was to be lost at all existing sites with unsecure tenure. This in total would amount to 65.5 
match equivalent sessions. 
 
Table 4.3: Summary of demand at unsecure sites (match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Site 
ID 

Site name Analysis area Adult Youth 
11v11 

Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7 Mini 5v5 

9 Brandhall Primary 
School 

Oldbury - 2 2 3 2.5 

24 Devonshire Infant & 
Junior Academy 

Smethwick - - 2 - - 

31 George Salter 
Academy 

West 
Bromwich 

2.5 2 - - - 

40 Holly Lodge High 
School College of 
Science 

Smethwick 2 - - - - 

42 Holyhead Primary 
School 

Wednesbury - - 1.5 - - 

60 Oldbury Academy Oldbury 1 1 - - - 
61 Ormiston Forge 

Academy (Hingleys) 
Rowley Regis 8.5 - - 4.5 - 

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

Oldbury 3 - 0.5 - - 

71 Q3 Academy Oldbury 0.5 - 1 - - 
77 St Michael’s CE High 

School 
Rowley Regis - 6 3.5 - - 

79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick 3 - - - - 
90 Tipton Sports 

Academy 
Tipton 3.5 2.5 - - - 

107 Wodensborough 
Ormiston Academy 

Wednesbury - 5 - - - 

108 Wood Green Academy Wednesbury 0.5 1 - - - 
109 York Road Sports & 

Social Club 
Oldbury 1 - - - - 

- - Total 25.5 19.5 10.5 7.5 2.5 
 
If access to these sites was lost, it would have a dramatic impact on the overall supply and 
demand analysis of football pitches across Sandwell, as indicated in the table below. Shortfalls 
would become evident on mini 5v5 pitches and significantly worsen on all remaining pitch 
types.  
 
  

Page 254



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 15 

Table 4.4: Summary of current supply and demand comparison (match equivalent sessions 
per week) 
 
Pitch type Actual spare capacity Overplay Current total Future demand Total 
Adult 6.5 23.5 17 2 19 
Youth 11v11 3 13 10 2 12 
Youth 9v9 1 10 9 - 9 
Mini 7v7 0.5 1 0.5 - 0.5 
Mini 5v5 2 0.5 1.5 - 1.5 

 
Table 4.5: Summary of supply and demand comparison without unsecure sites (match 
equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Actual spare capacity Overplay Current total Future demand Total 
Adult - 42.5 42.5 2 44.5 
Youth 11v11 - 29.5 29.5 2 31.5 
Youth 9v9 - 19.5 19.5 - 19.5 
Mini 7v7 - 8 8 - 8 
Mini 5v5 - 1 1 - 1 

 
Based on this information, it is important to secure tenure at these sites in order ensure current 
and future pitch shortfalls are minimised, although it is noted that this may not be possible at 
all venues. Priority should be placed on sites with the highest demand, or with the most 
provision (e.g., Ormiston Forge Academy).  
 
Whilst not always possible, creating community use agreements between providers and users 
would ensure that such demand continues to be provided for in the longer-term. Where there 
is external investment on sites e.g., by an NGB or Sport England, there are opportunities to 
secure community use as part of the funding or approval agreement. Furthermore, external 
investment would be dependent on security of tenure being provided, with a lack of security 
of tenure a barrier to securing such funding.  
 
Providing access to unavailable/unsecure sites 
 
Currently, 31 pitches across 22 sites are unavailable for community use in Sandwell. The table 
below shows the impact if all these pitches were opened to the community through secure 
usage agreements.  
 
Table 4.6: Impact on current supply and demand by opening unavailable sites (match 
equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Current total Potential total 
Adult 17 9 
Youth 11v11 10 1 
Youth 9v9 9 6 
Mini 7v7 0.5 4.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 7.5 

 
As seen in the table above, overplay of mini 7v7 pitches would be alleviated and reduced on 
adult, youth 11v11 and youth 9v9 pitches. Spare capacity on mini 5v5 pitches would be 
increased. 
 
  

Page 255



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 16 

Whilst not always possible, opening sites to the community and creating community use 
agreements between providers and users would ensure that such demand continues to be 
provided for in the longer-term. As mentioned above, where there is external investment on 
sites e.g., by an NGB or Sport England, there are opportunities to secure community use as 
part of the funding or approval agreement. This also applies to new schools or for existing 
schools seeking changes to provision that requires planning permission as, via planning 
consent, the Council can seek a community use agreement.  
 
In addition to sites that are unavailable for community use, there are 7.5 match equivalent 
sessions of potential spare capacity discounted due to tenure issues. Again, this is most 
commonly identified at schools. Gaining secure access to these would reduce overplay of 
adult, youth 11v11 and youth 9v9 pitches. 
 
Table 4.7: Impact on current supply and demand through securing access to unsecure sites 
(match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Current total Potential total 
Adult 17 13 
Youth 11v11 10 9 
Youth 9v9 9 6.5 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 1.5 

 
Shortfalls would also reduce when considering future demand, as seen below. 
 
Table 4.8: Impact on future supply and demand through securing access to unsecure sites 
(match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Future total Potential total 
Adult 19 15 
Youth 11v11 12 11 
Youth 9v9 9 6 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 0 

 
As it is not deemed possible to gain secured access to all provision, sites that are currently 
unavailable but that provide a large quantity of pitches should be a priority. An example of this 
is at Perryfields High School.  
 
Reintroducing lapsed/disused sites 
 
A total of six lapsed/disused football pitch sites are identified in Sandwell. These sites 
previously accommodated a total of ten pitches. The scenario below examines the impact 
reintroducing all pitches at these sites would have on current and future supply. 
 
Table 4.9: Lapsed/disused provision 
 

Site name Lapsed/disused Pitch type Number of pitches 

Friar Park Playing Fields Lapsed Youth 11v11 4 

Kent Road Park Lapsed Adult 1 

Kenrick Park Disused Adult 1 

Powis Avenue Disused Youth 11v11 1 

Brickhouse Farm Disused Adult 1 

Elwells Disused Adult 1 

Elwells Disused Youth 11v11 1 
Page 256



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 17 

As seen in the table above, reinstating lapsed/disused pitches would provide an additional 
four adult and six youth 11v11 pitches. There would be no change in the pitch stock of youth 
9v9 and mini pitches. 
 
Table 4.10: Impact on current supply and demand through reinstating lapsed/disused pitches 
(match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Current total Potential total 
Adult 17 13 
Youth 11v11 10 4 
Youth 9v9 9 9 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 1.5 

 
The table above shows that reintroducing lapsed/disused football pitches in Sandwell would 
have some impact in reducing shortfalls on adult pitches and a considerable impact in reducing 
shortfalls for youth 11v11 pitches. 
 
When considering future demand, a future shortfall of 15 match equivalent sessions per week 
on adult pitches and six match equivalent sessions per week on youth 11v11 pitches would 
remain. 
 
Table 4.11: Impact on future supply and demand through reinstating lapsed/disused pitches 
(match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Future total Potential total 
Adult 19 15 
Youth 11v11 12 6 
Youth 9v9 9 9 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 1.5 

 
Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) 
 
As improving the quality of all overplayed sites may not be feasible from an investment point 
of view, an alternative approach is to focus on improving strategic sites. To that end, the Local 
Football Facility Plan (LFFP) identifies 11 sites for grass pitch improvements that are 
considered to be in need of investment and that are key for football across Sandwell.  
 
The table below identifies what the impact would be on the supply and demand balance of 
pitches at these sites if quality was improved to good.  
 
Table 4.12: Impact of LFFP quality improvements 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Quality Current 
capacity 

rating 

Good 
capacity 

rating 

3 Barnford Park Adult 4 Poor 4 12 

6 Birmingham County FA 
Headquarters 

Adult 1 Poor 0 2 

16 Bustleholme/Charlemont 
Playing Fields 

Youth (9v9) 3 Poor 3 12 

17 Cakemore Playing 
Fields 

Youth (9v9) 2 Poor 4 2 

Page 257



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 18 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch type No. of 
pitches 

Quality Current 
capacity 

rating 

Good 
capacity 

rating 

17 Cakemore Playing 
Fields 

Mini (7v7) 2 Poor 0.5 8.5 

17 Cakemore Playing 
Fields 

Mini (5v5) 2 Poor 1.5 9.5 

26 FC Premier Adult 1 Good 0.5 0.5 

26 FC Premier Adult 1 Standard 0 1 

42 Hydes Road Playing 
Fields 

Adult 6 Poor 3 15 

42 Hydes Road Playing 
Fields 

Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 0.5 2 

47 King George V Playing 
Fields 

Adult 7 Standard 7.5 14.5 

50 Lion Farm Playing 
Fields 

Adult 11 Poor 4.5 26.5 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Adult 1 Standard 1.5 0.5 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Youth (11v11) 1 Standard 0.5 1.5 

92 Tividale Park Adult 1 Poor 0.5 1.5 

92 Tividale Park Youth (9v9) 1 Poor 0.5 2.5 

105 West Smethwick Park Adult 4 Poor 2 6 

105 West Smethwick Park Mini (7v7) 1 Poor 1 5 
 
Improving quality as set out in the table above would create 96.5 match equivalent sessions 
of additional capacity, equating to 15.5 additional match equivalent sessions of actual spare 
capacity. In addition, all but one of the pitches that are currently overplayed would have 
overplay alleviated, with only the adult pitch at Tipton Sports Academy remaining overplayed.  
 
The impact the improvements would have on the overall supply and demand balance is shown 
in the following table. Whilst no additional spare capacity is created, overplay is substantially 
reduced, particularly on adult and youth 9v9 pitches.  
 
Table 4.13: Impact on current supply and demand if quality improved at LFFP sites 
 
Pitch type Demand (match equivalent sessions per week) 

Current total Potential total 
Adult 17 1.5 
Youth 11v11 10 9.5 
Youth 9v9 9 1 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 2 

 
If improvements were made, overall capacity on mini 5v5 pitches would be preserved when 
accounting for future demand, although the remaining pitch types would still evidence 
shortfalls.  
 
  

Page 258



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 19 

Table 4.14: Impact on future supply and demand if quality improved at LFFP sites 
 
Pitch type Demand (match equivalent sessions per week) 

Future total Potential total 
Adult 19 3.5 
Youth 11v11 12 11.5 
Youth 9v9 9 1 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 1.5 2 

 
As the LFFP is a live document to be informed by an up-to-date PPS, it is recommended that 
the priority list is updated on the back of this study to account for changes in demand since 
the project was completed. To help guide this process, the table below comments on whether 
the PPOSS provides evidence to support the inclusion of the sites currently featured. Given 
the shortfalls identified, the quality issues evidenced and the importance of at each site, it is 
advised that all are retained for improvement.  
 
Table 4.15: Assessing LFFP priority list (grass pitch improvements) 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Comments LFFP update 
recommendation 

3 Barnford Park Key site that is poor quality. Retain for 
improvement 

6 Birmingham County FA 
Headquarters 

Key site that is poor quality. Retain for 
improvement 

16 Bustleholme/Charlemont Playing 
Fields 

Key site that is poor quality. Retain for 
improvement 

17 Cakemore Playing Fields Key site that is poor quality and 
overplayed. 

Retain for 
improvement 

26 F. C Premier Key site with good and standard 
quality pitches on site. 

Retain for 
improvement 

42 Hydes Road Playing Fields Key site that is poor quality and 
overplayed. 

Retain for 
improvement 

47 King George V Playing Fields Key site with a large number of 
standard quality pitches. 

Retain for 
improvement 

50 Lion Farm Playing Fields Key site with a large number of 
poor quality pitches. 

Retain for 
improvement 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Key site that is overplayed. Retain for 
improvement 

92 Tividale Park Key site that is poor quality and 
overplayed. 

Retain for 
improvement 

105 West Smethwick Park Key site that is poor quality and 
overplayed. 

Retain for 
improvement 

 
In addition to the above, additions should also be sought given the quality issues and shortfalls 
evidenced across Sandwell in order to alleviate all identified shortfalls. In that regard, the 
following sites should be considered given the number of pitches supplied and the 
quality/overplay issues identified:  
 

 Brandhall Primary School 
 Hadley Stadium 
 Ormiston Forge Academy (Hingleys) 
 St Michael’s CE High School 
 Thimblemill Recreation Centre 
 Warley Rugby Club 
 Page 259



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 20 

The impact of also improving these sites is shown in the table below. Only youth 11v11 pitches 
would still experience shortfalls. 
 
Table 4.16: Impact of adding pitch improvement sites to the LFFP (match equivalent sessions 
per week) 
 
Pitch type Existing LFFP total Potential LFFP total 
Adult 3.5 2 
Youth 11v11 11.5 7 
Youth 9v9 1 2.5 
Mini 7v7 0.5 0.5 
Mini 5v5 2 2.5 

 
Future demand 
 
In the proceeding Assessment Report, future demand derived from population growth has 
been considered to determine the future supply and demand of pitches, with club aspirations 
not included as these are thought to be less likely to be achieved. However, this scenario 
considers the impact such aspirations would have if the growth predicted by clubs was to be 
realised.  
 
Table 4.17: Incorporating future demand expressed by clubs into supply and demand analysis 
(Match equivalent sessions per week) 
 
Pitch type Current future 

supply/demand 
balance  

Additional future 
demand 

Potential future 
supply/demand 

balance 

Adult 19 3 22 

Youth 11v11 12 3.5 15.5 

Youth 9v9 9 4 12 

Mini 7v7 0.5 - 0.5 

Mini 5v5 1.5 1.5 0 
 
As seen, the capacity shortfalls on adult, youth 11v11 and youth 9v9 pitches would worsen, 
whilst the spare capacity identified on mini 5v5 pitches would be lost. This would then increase 
the need to act on the recommendations of the study e.g., improve quality and improve security 
of tenure. 
 
Recommendations 
 

 Protect existing quantity of pitches, including lapsed and disused provision, until all 
demand is being met (unless replacement provision meets Sport England requirements 
and is agreed upon and provided).  

 Where pitches are overplayed and assessed as poor or standard quality, prioritise 
investment and review maintenance regimes to ensure it is of an appropriate standard to 
sustain use and improve quality. 

 Use the LFFP as a guide to determine suitable sites for grass pitch investment and update 
the priority projects within it following this study.  

 Utilise the Football Foundation’s PitchPower app to provide the evidence for a report to 
be produced to identify pitch conditions and recommendations to maintain or enhance 
pitch quality. 

 assist in the improvement and ongoing maintenance of provision.  
 Consider bringing lapsed/disused sites back into use as a means to reduce shortfalls.  
 Consider pitch re-configuration where capacity of one pitch type can be used to reduce 

shortfalls of another, and where it can better accommodate what demand is received.  

Page 260



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 21 

 Transfer play from sites which remain overplayed to alternative sites with spare capacity 
(or 3G provision), or to sites which are not currently available for community use.  

 Work to accommodate exported, latent and future demand at sites which are not operating 
at capacity or at sites which are not currently available for community use.  

 Secure tenure for those clubs accessing unsecure sites. 
 Seek to gain access to sites not currently available for community use, particularly where 

large quantities of pitches are provided.  
 Improve ancillary facilities where there is a demand to do so and where it can benefit the 

wider footballing offer.   
 Where appropriate, develop partnerships and/or lease arrangements with large, 

sustainable, development-minded clubs to manage their own sites.  
 Ensure that any large housing developments assess the need for new pitch provision 

through master planning on an individual basis and utilise the findings of the PPS to 
determine needs. 

 Where a housing development is not of a size to justify on-site football provision, consider 
using contributions to improve existing sites within the locality.  

 Where a development is of a size to justify on-site football provision, focus on the creation 
of multi-pitch sites with community use (i.e. not dual use facilities) that reduce existing 
shortfalls, with accompanying clubhouse provision included given that single pitch sites 
without appropriate ancillary facilities can be unsustainable.3 
 

4.2: Third Generation turf (3G) pitches 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 Priority should be placed on the creation of new 3G pitches to meet the identified 

shortfalls for football training demand and to better provide for the Albion 
Foundation.  

 Meeting the 3G pitch shortfall for training will also help alleviate grass pitch 
shortfalls and quality issues, providing that the transfer of play is pursued as and 
when more pitches are established.  

 In addition, it is important to sustain the current pitch stock to ensure that the 
existing shortfalls are not exacerbated.  

 There are six outdoor full size 3G pitches in Sandwell, all of which are floodlit and four of 
which are available for community use (pitches at Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich 
Albion FC Academy are unavailable).   

 There is also a full size indoor pitch at West Bromwich Albion FC Academy, although this 
is also unavailable for community use.  

 There are also 13 smaller sized 3G pitches across six sites, all of which are available for 
community use and floodlit.  

 The LFFP identifies five potential future 3G projects, whilst other aspirations also exist at 
Birmingham County FA Headquarters, Lion Farm Playing Fields, Phoenix Collegiate and 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy.  

 Four of the six full size pitches are on the FA Pitch register for affiliated play (pitches at 
Sandwell Academy and West Bromwich Albion FC Academy are not).   

 There are no World Rugby Compliant pitches provided.  
 All full size pitches are good or standard quality and within their recommended lifespans. 
 The existing available 3G provision is reported to be operating at or close to capacity at 

peak times, with all current community activity being football-based. 
 In addition to community clubs accessing the pitches, the Albion Foundation is a key user 

of the 3G pitch stock and it in fact uses each full size pitch on a weekly basis for its 
activities and sessions. 

                                                 
3 See Part 7 of this report for further information Page 261



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 22 

 With 348 football teams currently playing in Sandwell, there is a broad calculated shortfall 
of 4.50 full size 3G pitches to meet training needs (discounting unavailable pitches but 
including smaller sized pitches that are of a sufficient size).  

 When accounting for future demand (based on population increases), the shortfall 
remains the same.  

 When assessing 3G pitch need by analysis area there is a current and future shortfall in 
Oldbury, Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich.  

 There are currently 51 football teams using the 3G pitch stock for matches; whilst the 
number needed for matches will never outweigh the number of 3G pitches needed for 
training, maximising the pitches that are in place and that are proposed should be fully 
supported. 

 Wednesbury RUFC access its smaller sized 3G pitch for some training activity when its 
grass training area is waterlogged, although it cannot be used for contact activity.  

 There is no perceived need for a World Rugby compliant pitch in Sandwell, unless it could 
be located at a suitable location for clubs from across the Black Country to travel to.  

 Sandwell Steelers trains midweek at Gospel Oak School and at weekends at Portway 
Leisure Centre; it would prefer to undertake this activity at one site but capacity does not 
currently enable this.     

 
Scenarios 
 
Accommodating football training demand 
 
As evidenced in the preceding Assessment Report, in order to satisfy current football training 
demand (based on the FA’s model of one full size 3G pitch being able to cater for 38 teams) 
there is a need for 4.75 full size 3G pitches. This is to accommodate all existing teams on the 
provision.  
 
Table 4.18: Current demand for 3G pitches by analysis area 
 
Analysis area Current number 

of teams 
3G pitch 

requirement4 
Current number 

of 3G pitches 
Current 
shortfall 

Oldbury 97 2.50 - 2.50 
Rowley Regis 65 1.75 1 0.75 
Smethwick 70 1.75 1 0.75 
Tipton 19 0.5 1 - 
Wednesbury 19 0.5 0.5 - 
West Bromwich 78 2 1.25 0.75 
Sandwell 348 9 4.75 4.75 

 
After factoring in future demand from population growth, the overall shortfall remains the same, 
as shown below.  
  
Table 4.19: Future demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell for affiliated football team training 
 
Analysis area Future number of 

teams 
3G pitch 

requirement5 
Current number 

of 3G pitches 
Future 

shortfall 
Oldbury 99 2.50 - 2.50 
Rowley Regis 67 1.75 1 0.75 
Smethwick 72 1.75 1 0.75 
Tipton 19 0.5 1 - 
Wednesbury 19 0.5 0.5 - 
West Bromwich 80 2 1.25 0.75 

                                                 
4 Rounded to the nearest 0.25 
5 Rounded to the nearest 0.25 Page 262



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 23 

Analysis area Future number of 
teams 

3G pitch 
requirement5 

Current number 
of 3G pitches 

Future 
shortfall 

Sandwell 356 9. 4.75 4.75 
 
Potential site options to alleviate this shortfall are identified in the table below. Note this table 
is a starting point for discussion and should be updated as part of the Stage E process. For all 
of these developments, there is a need to ensure that other sports are not displaced and 
community use can be appropriately secured. 
 
Table 4.20: Site options for new 3G pitch developments to alleviate training shortfalls 
 

Analysis 
area 

Future 
shortfall 

Site 
ID 

Site name Comments 

Oldbury 2.50 50 Lion Farm Playing Fields This proposal would be 
considered as part of the 
mitigation package for the 
potential development on site.  

Oldbury 2.50 63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

This proposal would require 
the conversion of an AGP. As 
two hockey suitable AGPs are 
required in Sandwell to meet 
current and exported demand. 

Oldbury 2.50 92 Tividale Park This proposal could be a 
single or double 3G pitch 
development and could be 
considered as part of the 
mitigation for the potential 
development of Lion Farm 
Playing Fields. 

Oldbury 2.50 - Brandhall (New site) Remains a potential proposal 
if Brandhall Golf Course is 
developed. 

Rowley 
Regis 

0.75 13 Britannia Park The Council is looking to 
deliver a 3G pitch on site with 
potential towns and FF 
funding.  

Smethwick 0.75 36 Hadley Stadium Identified in the LFFP, 
remains a key proposal due to 
considerable football demand 
on site. With one 3G pitch on 
site already, would form 
double pitch site. 

Smethwick 0.75 40 Holly Lodge High School 
College of Science 

The School is keen to provide 
3G pitch provision on site. 
Initial discussions have been 
held with the Football 
Foundation. 

Smethwick 0.75 105 West Smethwick Park Identified in the LFFP for full 
size pitch provision, the site 
remains a potential proposal. 

Smethwick 0.75 - Windsor Olympus Academy 
(New School site) 

Whilst a potential proposal for 
3G pitch provision, the 
Academy is said to be more 
likely to provide a sand based 
AGP. However, current 
proposals are without 
floodlights. 

Tipton - - - - 
Page 263



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 24 

Analysis 
area 

Future 
shortfall 

Site 
ID 

Site name Comments 

Wednesbury - 43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Included in the LFFP although 
not warranted when 
considering identified 
shortfalls.  

West 
Bromwich 

0.75 6 Birmingham County FA 
Headquarters 

The Council and BCFA are in 
discussions regarding the 
development of this pitch. 

West 
Bromwich 

0.75 66 Phoenix Collegiate Included in the LFFP, the 
School and the FF are in 
discussions surrounding the 
development. 

West 
Bromwich 

0.75 - Sandwell Valley (New site) Initial meetings and 
discussions have been held 
regarding the provision of a 
3G pitch in the area. 

 
Inclusion within the table above does not mean that developments at all of these sites are 
required as the future shortfalls identified in each analysis area is less than the number of 
options identified. It simply aims to highlight the current site options to alleviate the identified 
shortfalls. In each case, Sport England reserves the right to assess any loss of playing field in 
accordance with its Playing Field Policy under Exception E5. It should also be noted, the 
developments at Tividale Park, Brandhall (New site), West Smethwick Park and Sandwell 
Valley (New site) are all identified as having a low likelihood of being delivered. 
 
However, when also incorporating potential future demand identified by clubs, which is 
considered to be more aspirational, the overall shortfall increases to 5.5 full size pitches.  
 
Table 4.21: Potential future demand for 3G pitches in Sandwell for football team training 
 
Analysis area Future number of 

teams 
3G pitch 

requirement6 
Current number 

of 3G pitches 
Future 

shortfall 
Oldbury 101 2.75 - 2.75 
Rowley Regis 66 1.75 1 0.75 
Smethwick 70 1.75 1 0.75 
Tipton 19 0.5 1 - 
Wednesbury 25 0.5 0.5 - 
West Bromwich 91 2.5 1.25 1.25 
Sandwell 372 9.75 4.75 5.50 

 
Moving match play demand to 3G pitches 
 
To further the use of 3G pitches for matches, the FA is keen to work with local authorities to 
understand the potential demand for full size floodlit 3G pitches should all competitive matches 
that are currently played on council pitches be transferred. The following table therefore 
calculates the number of teams currently using council facilities in Sandwell for each pitch 
type.  
 
Table 4.22: Number of teams currently using council pitches 
 

Pitch type Pitch size Peak period No. of teams 

Adult 11v11 Sunday AM 37 

Youth 11v11 Sunday AM 29 

                                                 
6 Rounded to the nearest 0.25 Page 264



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 25 

Pitch type Pitch size Peak period No. of teams 

Youth 9v9 Sunday AM 25 

Mini 7v7 Sunday AM 14 

Mini 5v5 Sunday AM 10 

  Total 115 
 
The FA suggests an approach for estimating the number of full size 3G pitches required to 
accommodate the above demand for competitive matches, as seen in the table below.  
 
Table 4.23: 3G pitches required for the transfer of council pitch demand  
 

Format No. of teams at 
peak time 

No. of matches 
at peak time 

3G units 
required 

per match 

Total 3G 
units 

required  

3G pitches 
required 

 

Adult 37 18.5 32 592 9.25 

11v11 29 14.5 32 464 7.25 

9v9 25 12.5 10 125 1.95 

7v7  14 7 8 56 0.88 

5v5 10 5 4 20 0.31 
 
A total of 20 (rounded up from 19.64) 3G pitches would be required to accommodate all 
matches currently played on council pitches. As this number is significantly above the number 
of pitches required to meet training demand, it is not deemed to be feasible to transfer all 
competitive matches played on council pitches to 3G, although that is not to say such usage 
could not be maximised.  
 
An alternative approach to consider is the transfer of all mini football to 3G provision given the 
high volume of matches that can be played at one time. The table below therefore tests a 
scenario to permit all 5v5 and 7v7 football to transfer to 3G pitches within Sandwell based on 
a programme of play at current peak time (Sunday AM).  
 
Table 4.24: Moving all mini matches to 3G pitches 

 

Time AGP Total games/teams 

9.30am – 10.30am 4 x 5v5 4/8 

10.30am – 11.30am 2 x 7v7 2/4 

11.30am – 12.30pm 2 x 7v7 2/4 

12.30pm – 1.30pm 2 x 7v7 2/4 
 
Based on the above programming and separate start times for mini 5v5 and mini 7v7 matches, 
the overall need is for three full size 3G pitches to accommodate all current mini match play 
demand. This is calculated based on 24 teams playing 5v5 football and 28 teams playing 7v7 
football at peak time. 
 
As six full size pitches are already provided, it is considered feasible that all mini football could 
be accommodated on the existing supply of 3G pitches if programmed efficiently.  
 
  

Page 265



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 26 

The table below tests a similar scenario for youth 9v9 football.  
 
Table 4.25: Moving all 9v9 matches to 3G pitches 
 

Time  AGP Total games/teams 

10am – Noon 2 x 9v9 2/4 

Noon – 2pm 2 x 9v9 2/4 

2pm – 4pm  2 x 9v9 2/4 
 
This demand could be accommodated on four full size pitches based on 43 teams currently 
playing this format within Sandwell at peak time. As such, it is also worth noting that if all youth 
9v9 football was moved to a Saturday and all mini football was retained on a Sunday (or vice 
versa), it is feasible that all current demand for mini and 9v9 football could be accommodated 
on four pitches, which is the same number of full-size pitches currently provided in Sandwell. 
 
Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) 
 
The LFFP for Sandwell identifies the need for four additional full size pitches and one small 
size pitch. Of the full size pitch projects, two are identified in the Wednesbury Analysis Area 
and one in the Smethwick Analysis Area; however, specific sites are not selected due to 
numerous options existing. West Smethwick Park, Hadley Stadium, Hydes Road Playing Field 
and Phoenix Collegiate are identified as potential venues.  
 
The remaining full size project is identified at Tipton Sports Academy, whilst the smaller sized 
project is at Birmingham County FA Headquarters. However, it should be noted that since the 
production of the LFFP, Birmingham County FA now has an aspiration to develop a full size 
pitch at its site, rather than smaller sized provision.   
 
As the LFFP is a live document to be informed by an up to date PPOSS, the priority project list 
should be revisited following this study and updated/amended based on the findings, if 
necessary. To help further guide this process, the table below identifies what impact delivering 
the current projects would have on existing shortfalls. 
  
Table 4.26: Impact of delivering current LFFP 3G projects 
 
Analysis area Potential 3G 

requirement 
Current 

number of 3G 
pitches 

Potential 
shortfall 

No. of 
proposed 
pitches 

Shortfall if 
delivered 

Oldbury 2.75 - 2.50 - 2.50 

Rowley Regis 1.75 1 0.75 - 0.75 

Smethwick 1.75 1 0.75 1 - 

Tipton 0.50 1 - 1 - 

Wednesbury 0.50 0.5 - 2 - 

West Bromwich 2.50 1.25 0.75 0.50 0.25 

Sandwell 9.75 4.75 4.75 4.50 3.50 
 
As seen, only the proposed projects in the Smethwick and West Bromwich analysis areas are 
warranted based on existing shortfalls, with a significant shortfall remaining in the Oldbury 
Analysis Area as well as a smaller shortfall in each the Rowley Regis and West Bromwich 
analysis areas. Additional sites should therefore continue to be identified and added to the 
LFFP, whilst proposals in the Tipton and Wednesbury analysis areas should be reconsidered. 
 
  

Page 266



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 27 

Table 4.27: Assessing LFFP priority list (3G pitches) 
 

Analysis area Site 
ID 

Site name Comments LFFP recommendation 

Oldbury - - No projects identified. Identify suitable sites 
to alleviate shortfall. 

Rowley Regis - - No projects identified. Identify suitable sites 
to alleviate shortfall. 

Smethwick 36 / 
105 

Hadley Stadium 
/ West 
Smethwick Park 

One full size pitch proposed 
in the Smethwick Analysis 
Area, with Hadley Stadium 
and West Smethwick Park 
both listed as potential 
options. 

Deliver, then no action 
required.  
Additional pitches 
could also be located 
in the Analysis Area if 
they were well located 
to support shortfalls in 
other analysis areas 
such as Oldbury. 

Tipton 90 Tipton Sports 
Academy 

One full-size 3G pitch 
proposed. 

Re-assess the need for 
the delivery of this 
project. However, its 
delivery may be 
warranted if it is 
suitably located to 
assist with shortfalls 
in other analysis 
areas.  

Wednesbury 43 Hydes Road 
Playing Fields 

One full-size 3G pitch 
proposed. 

With no current or 
future shortfall, re-
assess the need for 
these projects. 
Delivery may be 
warranted if it is 
suitably located to 
assist with shortfalls 
in other analysis 
areas. 

Wednesbury 66 Phoenix 
Collegiate 

One full-size 3G pitch 
proposed. Considered as a 
proposal for Wednesbury 
despite residing in West 
Bromwich. 

With no current or 
future shortfall, re-
assess the need for 
these projects. 
Delivery may be 
warranted if it is 
suitably located to 
assist with shortfalls 
in other analysis 
areas. 

West 
Bromwich 

6 Birmingham 
County FA 
Headquarters 

One small-size pitch 
proposed in the LFFP 
although Birmingham FA 
now aspires to provide a 
full-size 3G. 

Deliver full size pitch, 
then consider whether 
additional provision is 
required. 

 
With shortfalls existing inclusive of the existing LFFP projects, additions to the LFFP are 
required and, as such, the Council is currently exploring potential opportunities. In the Oldbury 
Analysis Area, where a shortfall of 2.5 pitches exists, it is looking into developments at:  
 
 Brandhall Golf Club (as part of mitigation for this golf course) 
 Lion Farm (potential for two pitches) 
 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy (sand-based conversion) Page 267



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 28 

 Tividale Park 
 
Britannia Park is identified as an option in the Rowley Regis Analysis Area, where a shortfall 
of 0.75 pitches exists, whilst Sandwell Valley Country Park is identified as a possibility in the 
West Bromwich Analysis Area, where there may be a requirement for further provision even if 
the pitch at Birmingham County FA Headquarters (identified in the LFFP) is delivered.  
 
World Rugby compliant 3G pitches 
 
World Rugby produced the ‘performance specification for artificial grass pitches for rugby’, 
more commonly known as ‘Regulation 22’ that provides the necessary technical detail to 
produce pitch systems that are appropriate for rugby union. The RFU investment strategy for 
AGPs considers sites where grass rugby pitches are over capacity and where an AGP would 
support the growth of the game at the host site and for the local rugby partnership, including 
local clubs and education establishments.  
 
No World Rugby compliant 3G pitches are identified in Sandwell and there is no perceived 
need for such provision in the Borough as grass pitch capacity is generally sufficient and 
overuse can be alleviated through grass pitch solutions.  
 
Given there is no demand for grass rugby pitches in Sandwell (highlighted in Part 5 of this 
report), there is not a strong case for additional rugby union compliant 3G provision to be 
developed in future. The RFU advocates 3G pitches for rugby union should be located in areas 
where they can benefit numerous clubs across a local network, rather than just a host club. 
Nevertheless, there are grass pitch shortfalls in other Black Country authorities, meaning a 
pitch within Sandwell could alleviate capacity issues elsewhere if it was placed at a suitable 
location for clubs to travel to. 
 
Recommendations 
 
 Protect current stock of 3G pitches.  
 To alleviate identified competitive and training demand shortfalls, look to create additional 

3G pitches by developing site options identified through further feasibility work. 
 Ensure that any new 3G pitches have community use agreements in place.  
 Ensure England Hockey is consulted with regarding any proposals for development of new 

3G artificial grass pitches or proposed conversion to 3G of existing hockey AGPs, to 
ensure the sustainability and sufficient supply of existing AGPs for hockey. 

 Encourage more match play demand to transfer to 3G pitches.  
 Ensure that all other full size and larger smaller sized pitches remain on the FA register 

are re-tested every three years to sustain certification.  
 Ensure all current and future providers have in place a sinking fund to ensure long-term 

sustainability.  
 Ensure that all new 3G pitches are constructed to meet FA recommended dimensions and 

quality performance standards.  
 Ensure that any new 3G pitches are priced competitively against the cost of hiring a grass 

pitches and are aimed at local grassroots clubs.  
 
4.3: Cricket pitches 
 
Assessment report summary 
 
 No squares that show potential spare capacity on grass wickets on Saturdays, 

whilst two do on Sundays and one does during midweek for junior cricket.  
 Three sites are overplayed; West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club, Wednesbury 

Sports Union and Smethwick Cricket Club. 

Page 268



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 29 

 There is a shortfall for Saturday and midweek cricket, whilst minimal spare capacity 
exists overall on Sundays.  

 In total, there are six grass cricket squares in Sandwell, with all six available for community 
use.  

 There are NTPs accompanying grass wicket squares at one site and there are 15 
standalone NTPs at 14 sites.  

 Numerous sites previously provided grass wicket squares, including Barnford Park, 
Redhouse Park, West Smethwick Park, Victoria Park (Smethwick) and Victoria Park 
(Tipton). 

 Heathfield Close is a lapsed playing field site that previously provided a cricket square. 
 Three of the clubs in Sandwell have freehold of their sites, whilst the remaining two clubs 

have lease agreements in place (meaning no clubs rent provision).  
 The audit of community available grass wicket cricket squares found five to be good quality 

and the remaining one to be standard quality; none are assessed as poor. 
 Smethwick CC, Wednesbury CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC all note that ancillary 

facilities require improvement.  
 Four of the five clubs report a demand for new, improved or additional training facilities 

(only Thimblemill CC does not). 
 There are five clubs in Sandwell which collectively provide 19 senior men’s, two senior 

women’s and 19 junior teams. 
 Four of the five clubs report that demand has increased in some form over the previous 

three years (Wednesbury CC reports a reduction in participation at senior level).  
 Coseley CC imports demand to Sandwell, using Gospel Oak Academy for its third 

Saturday team, whilst both Old Hill CC and Smethwick CC export demand to sites in 
Birmingham. 

 West Bromwich Darmouth CC has a 5th senior team that only plays away matches due to 
a lack of capacity within Sandwell.   

 Old Hill, Smethwick, Wednesbury and West Bromwich Dartmouth cricket clubs are signed 
up to be part of the All Stars initiative, whilst Wednesbury CC and West Bromwich 
Dartmouth CC are also signed up to deliver Dynamo’s. 

 Old Hill CC and West Bromwich Dartmouth CC field women’s softball teams.  
 The Sandwell Cricket League is no longer in operation, although plans are in place for it 

to be re-started in 2022; when it was last run it utilised provision at Barnford Park, Gospel 
Oak Academy, Victoria Park and West Smethwick Park.  

 Future demand for one senior men’s and one junior team is predicted via population 
growth, whilst club aspirations equate to the potential growth of three senior men’s, two 
senior women’s and six junior teams. 

 
Scenarios 
 
Addressing overplay  
 
Although a regular, sufficient maintenance regime can sustain sites with minimal levels of 
overplay a reduction in play is recommended to ensure there is no detrimental effect on quality 
over time.  
 
In Sandwell, overplay is identified at three sites and across three squares; at Wednesbury 
Sports Union, West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club and Smethwick Cricket Club. This is 
broken down in the table below. 
 
  

Page 269



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 30 

Table 4.28: Summary of overplay 
 

Site ID Site name Analysis area 
 

Overplay  
(matches per season) 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union Wednesbury 6 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club West Bromwich  12 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club Smethwick 5 

Total 23 
 
All these squares are assessed as good quality meaning capacity cannot be increased through 
quality improvements.  
 
Of the overplayed squares, only Wednesbury Sports Union is serviced by an NTP. Installing 
such provision at the remaining two sites could therefore provide a solution to the capacity 
issues faced.  
 
Whilst NTPs are common across Sandwell, no clubs report they are used for competitive 
matches. As such, greater utilisation of the provision should be encouraged, especially for 
junior cricket (which would then free up grass wicket capacity for senior cricket. This is 
particularly the case at Wednesbury Sports Union.  
 
Accommodating future demand 
 
Of the four clubs that express aspirations to increase their number of junior teams, only 
Thimblemill CC has capacity to do so on its current facility stock. In contrast, Smethwick, 
Wednesbury and West Bromwich Dartmouth cricket clubs are all unable to accommodate an 
increase in demand at their respective home venues. However, as mentioned above, only 
Wednesbury CC currently has access to an NTP at its home venue, meaning that increased 
junior demand could be accommodated should NTPs be installed more widely and better 
utilised. 
 
Smethwick, Thimblemill and Wednesbury cricket clubs each indicate a desire to field additional 
senior teams, with all three hoping to add further Saturday teams. However, none have 
capacity to do so on their current facility stock, which means that secondary venues would 
need to be utilised.  
 
Similarly, Smethwick and Thimblemill cricket clubs also plan to establish women’s teams, with 
only Thimblemill CC having capacity to do so. For the other clubs, demand will either have to 
be fielded outside of peak time, or alternative venues will be required.  
 
Secondary venues 
 
For clubs with demand that will warrant the use of secondary venues, consideration should be 
given to re-establishing squares at council sites that previously hosted the provision. This 
relates to Hydes Road Playing Fields, Barnford Park, Redhouse Park, West Smethwick Park, 
Victoria Park (Smethwick) and Victoria Park (Tipton), all of which previously provided grass 
wickets squares but no longer do so. Consultation should take place with the ECB, SCB and 
relevant clubs to understand whether any of these sites would be suitable.  
 
In addition to the above, re-establishing the squares at the sites will provide a resolution to the 
exported demand currently expressed by Smethwick, Wednesbury at West Bromwich cricket 
clubs.  
 
  

Page 270



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 31 

Recommendations 
 

 Protect existing quantity of cricket squares. 
 Improve quality at sites assessed as standard and ensure quality is sustained at sites 

assessed as good.  
 Address overplay via an increase in NTPs accompanying grass wickets and increased 

utilisation of existing NTPs. 
 If overplay cannot be alleviated through the abovementioned methods, explore the 

feasibility of creating new cricket squares, particularly if future growth aspirations are 
realised.  

 Where new squares are warranted, consider re-establishing provision at council sites that 
previously provided squares.  

 Utilise re-established squares as a resolution to returning exported demand.  
 Pursue improved security of tenure for clubs without ownership or a long-term lease 

arrangement in place (e.g., for Wednesbury CC).  
 Improve the changing facilities where there is a need to do so (e.g., for West Bromwich 

Dartmouth CC at Sandwell Academy). 
 Consider options to increase and improve stock of suitable practice facilities (e.g., for 

Smethwick, Wednesbury, West Bromwich (at Sandwell Academy) and Old Hill cricket 
clubs). 

 Continue to support ECB initiatives such as All Stars and Dynamos and ensure unaffiliated 
demand and recreational cricket is provided for.  

 Where a development is not of a size to justify on-site cricket provision, or if sufficient 
demand cannot be attracted, consider using contributions to improve existing sites within 
the locality.  

 Ensure that any developments nearby to existing cricket sites do not prejudice the use of 
the provision (e.g. through ball-strike issues).  

 Ensure that any large housing developments are provided for and assess the need for new 
pitch provision through master planning (i.e. via a sports needs assessment/feasibility 
study/assessment of need) on an individual basis.  

 Where a development is of a size to justify on-site cricket provision, ensure that any 
proposals for new squares will attract adequate demand. 7   

 
4.4: Rugby union - grass pitches 
 
Assessment Report summary  
 
 There is a spare capacity of rugby union pitches amounting to one match equivalent 

session; however, there is a shortfall in the Wednesbury Analysis Area. 
 Two pitches display potential spare capacity, with these being at Warley Rugby Club 

and St John’s Recreation Ground. 
 The pitch at Wednesbury Rugby Club is overplayed by 0.5 match equivalent 

sessions. 
 Within Sandwell there are seven sites containing the same number of pitches, all of which 

are senior (no dedicated junior or mini pitches are provided).  
 Four of the pitches are available for community.  
 All club-based pitches have secure tenure (at Wednesbury Rugby Club, Warley Rugby 

Club and St John’s Recreation Ground).  
 Of the community available pitches, one is assessed as good quality (at Warley Rugby 

Club, one as standard (at Gospel Oak School) and two as poor (at St John’s Recreation 
Ground and Wednesbury Rugby Club). 

 Wednesbury RUFC has an aspiration to rebuild its clubhouse facility in order to transform 
it into more of a community facility in addition to it better accommodating the Club itself.  

                                                 
7 See Part 7 of this report for further information Page 271



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 32 

 Warley RUFC is looking to redevelop its clubhouse provision, which is currently poor 
quality and in need of modernisation.  

 Two community rugby union clubs play within Sandwell. 
 Warley RUFC fields one senior men’s and one senior women’s team and Wednesbury 

RUFC fields two senior men’s teams.  
 Whilst neither club currently contain any junior or mini teams, Wednesbury RUFC has 

junior and mini play that train and Warley RUFC previously fielded teams. 
 Both clubs train on separate floodlit training areas, rather than on match pitches, although 

Warley RUFC has submitted a planning application for the installation of floodlighting.  
 Due to the loss of Warley RUFC’s junior section, local youngsters in the area are now likely 

to travel outside of Sandwell to access a club, therefore resulting in exported demand.  
 Warley RUFC has future demand for a colts’ team, whilst Wednesbury RUFC has demand 

for one senior men’s, one senior women’s and three mini teams.  
 No future growth is predicted via population growth, although this is impacted upon by no 

junior or mini teams currently being fielded (despite demand existing). 
 
Scenarios 
 
Improving pitch maintenance 
 
Currently, there is a one rugby union pitch in Sandwell which is overplayed by 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions per week. To show how this could be reduced, the first scenario considers 
the impact of enhancing maintenance across the overplayed sites by an achievable level (one 
stage e.g. from M1 to M2). As a reminder, the quality ratings for rugby union pitches are shown 
in the table overleaf. 
 
Table 4.29: Pitch capacity (matches per week) based on quality assessments 
 
 Maintenance  

Poor (M0) Adequate (M1) Good (M2) 

D
ra

in
ag

e Natural Inadequate (D0) 0.5 1.5 2 

Natural Adequate or Pipe Drained (D1) 1.5 2 3 

Pipe Drained (D2) 1.75 2.5 3.25 

Pipe and Slit Drained (D3) 2 3 3.5 
 
As seen in the following table, increasing maintenance by one increment at Wednesbury 
Rugby Club would alleviate existing overplay on site. 
 
Table 4.30: Impact of improved maintenance on overplayed pitches 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch 
type 

No. of 
pitches 

Pitch 
quality 

Capacity 
rating 

Improved 
pitch 

quality 

Potential 
capacity 

rating 

101 Wednesbury 
Rugby Club 

Senior 1 M1 / D0 0.5 M2 / D0 0 

 
Improving pitch drainage 
 
This scenario considers the effect of enhancing drainage by one increment (e.g. D0 to D1) on 
the overplayed pitch. As seen in the table below, overplay at Wednesbury Rugby Club could 
also be alleviate via drainage improvements.  
 
  

Page 272



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 33 

Table 4.31: Impact of improved drainage on overplayed pitches 
 

Site 
ID 

Site name Pitch 
type 

No. of 
pitches 

Pitch 
quality 

Capacity 
rating 

Improved 
pitch 

quality 

Potential 
capacity 

rating 

101 Wednesbury 
Rugby Club 

Senior 1 M1 / D0 0.5 M1 / D1 0 

 
Carrying out both drainage improvements and increased maintenance would not only alleviate 
overplay but it would provide spare capacity. This would then enable the Club to realise any 
growth plans.  
 
Future demand 
 
In the proceeding Assessment Report, future demand derived from population growth has 
been considered to determine the future supply and demand of pitches, with club aspirations 
not included as these are thought to be less likely to be achieved. However, this scenario 
considers the impact such aspirations would have if the growth predicted by clubs was to be 
realised.  
 
Table 4.32: Incorporating future demand expressed by clubs into supply and demand analysis 
 
Pitch type Match equivalent sessions per week 

Current future 
supply/demand 

balance  

Additional future 
demand 

Potential future 
supply/demand 

balance 

Oldbury 0.5 0.5 0 

Rowley Regis 0 - 0 

Smethwick 1 - 1 

Tipton 0 - 0 

Wednesbury 0.5 1.75 2.25 

West Bromwich 0 - 0 

Sandwell 1 2.25 1.25 
 
As seen, an overall shortfall of capacity would be established. This would then increase the 
need to act on the recommendations of the study e.g., improving pitch quality. 
 
World Rugby compliant 3G pitches 
 
No World Rugby compliant 3G pitches are identified in Sandwell and there is no perceived 
need for such provision in the Borough as grass pitch capacity is generally sufficient, overuse 
is minimal and can be alleviate through maintenance or drainage improvements.  
 
The RFU advocates 3G pitches for rugby union should be located in areas where they can 
benefit numerous clubs across a local network, rather than just a host club. Nevertheless, 
there are grass pitch shortfalls in other Black Country authorities, meaning a pitch within 
Sandwell could alleviate capacity issues elsewhere if it was placed at a suitable location for 
clubs to travel to. 
 
Discussions have taken place in regards to the proposed pitch at Phoenix Collegiate being 
World Rugby complaint.  
 
  

Page 273



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 34 

Recommendations 
 
 Protect existing quantity of rugby union pitches. 
 Improve pitch quality at all sites used by clubs through improved maintenance and/or the 

installation of drainage systems, particularly Wednesbury Rugby Club which is currently 
overplayed. 

 Increase mid-week training capacity via pitch quality improvements, the installation of 
additional floodlighting and the potential creation of a World Rugby compliant 3G pitch. 

 Support aspirations for ancillary facility improvements for Wednesbury and Warley rugby 
clubs.  

 Ensure that any large housing developments are provided for and assess the need for new 
pitch provision through master planning on an individual basis.  

 Where a development is of a size to justify on-site rugby provision, ensure that any 
proposals for new pitches will attract adequate demand.  

 Where a development is not of a size to justify on-site rugby provision, or if sufficient 
demand cannot be attracted, consider using contributions to improve existing sites within 
the locality8. 

 
4.5: Rugby league – grass pitches 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 As no demand has been identified within Sandwell, there is no need at this time for 

any provision to be established.  
 Focus should be placed on ensuring that any demand that does exist can be 

accommodated within clubs outside of the Borough. 
 There are no rugby league pitches in Sandwell.  
 The nearest provision is provided in Bromsgrove.  
 No demand has been identified for rugby league in Sandwell.  
 Any residual need is unlikely to be sufficient enough for a club to be created, with 

individuals instead likely to travel to form part of the clubs based in other, nearby 
authorities.    

 
Scenarios 
 
N/A 
 
Recommendations 
 
 Ensure any current and future demand within Sandwell can be sufficiently accommodated 

at rugby league clubs in neighbouring authorities. 
 
4.6: Hockey pitches (sand/water-based AGPs) 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 There is a requirement for two hockey suitable AGPs within Sandwell to cater for 

both existing demand in the Borough and demand that is being exported. 
 Whilst these are currently being provided, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell 

Community Academy is not currently serving any meaningful purpose for the 
sport, with quality improvements required and hockey access needing to be 
enabled.  

 If quality improvements are not possible, or if 3G conversion is pursued, an 
additional full size hockey suitable pitch is required.  

                                                 
8 See Part 7 of this report for further information Page 274



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 35 

 If imported demand from Dudley returns to the Borough, there may only be a 
requirement for one pitch within Sandwell, although this should not be the pitch at 
Ormiston Forge Academy due to its lack of floodlighting.  

 There are two full size hockey suitable AGPs in Sandwell, one at Ormiston Forge 
Academy and one at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy.   

 Both pitches are available for community use; however, the pitch at Ormiston Forge 
Academy is without floodlighting. 

 There are also seven smaller sized pitches provided, with five of these available to the 
community and four serviced by floodlights. 

 Both of the full size pitches are operated by the respective schools.  
 The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is accessed by Old Halesonians HC, although no 

security of tenure is provided.  
 Both full size pitches are theoretically available throughout most if not all of the peak 

period, although actual availability is limited at Ormiston Forge Academy due to its lack 
of floodlighting.  

 The pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is assessed as poor quality, whilst 
the pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is standard.  

 Both are serviced by changing rooms but these are within main school buildings and are 
therefore not dedicated to the pitches.  

 Old Halesonians HC is the only hockey club playing in Sandwell; it fields five senior 
men’s, one senior women’s and three junior teams, although it is primarily based in 
Birmingham.  

 The Club previously played in Dudley and considers this to be its home authority 
(imported demand).  

 Both Wednesbury HC and West Bromwich HC are considered to be Sandwell-based 
clubs, despite currently playing outside of the Borough (exported demand). Despite this, 
the former has no desire to return to Sandwell.  

 West Bromwich HC would prefer to play within Sandwell. 
 Old Halesonians, West Bromwich and Wednesbury hockey clubs all have an aspiration 

to increase demand in the future. 
 No EH initiatives are being held in the Borough (e.g. Back to Hockey, Walking Hockey 

and Hockey Heroes).  
 The pitch at Ormiston Forge Academy is used on both Saturdays and Sundays by Old 

Halesonians HC and is considered to be close to capacity on these days; it is generally 
unused during midweek as a consequence of no floodlights.  

 Whilst not used for hockey, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is well 
used for football activity, predominately on Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays 
(capacity exists on the remaining days). 

 
Scenarios 
 
Meeting demand 
 
Due to the level of current and exported demand relating to Sandwell, there is a requirement 
for two suitable venues for hockey within the Borough. As two are provided, supply could be 
considered sufficient to meet demand, the pitch at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 
is not serving any meaningful purpose for the sport due to quality and safety concerns. As 
such, improvements to the pitch needs to be made and hockey access to the site needs to be 
enabled, or if this is not possible, an additional pitch is required. This should be located within 
the West Bromwich Analysis Area to best accommodate demand.   
 
  

Page 275



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 36 

Notwithstanding the above, the Dudley PPOSS identifies that a suitable pitch within Dudley is 
required in order to re-accommodate demand from Old Halesonians HC and to therefore 
enable it to transfer away from Sandwell. Should this happen, there may only be a reduced 
requirement for one pitch within Sandwell, although this pitch should not be the one located at 
Ormiston Forge Academy due to it not being floodlit. It would either need to be the pitch at 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy or via new provision.  
 
Converting hockey suitable AGPs to 3G pitches 
 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy reports that it is exploring the conversion of its pitch 
to 3G and it states that it has held conversations with the Albion Foundation, which would 
support its plans and use the provision more heavily if it was resurfaced. If this was to be 
pursued, there would be a need for a replacement hockey pitch in the locality, and this would 
need to be provided before the existing provision was lost.  
 
EH notes that Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy is based around two miles from West 
Bromwich HC’s former home site and could be used heavily if it was resurfaced as a hockey 
suitable pitch. It is not currently used due to its poor quality.  
 
Creation of a new hockey suitable AGP 
 
As stated above, if a 3G conversion is pursued at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy, 
an additional hockey suitable AGP would be required in Sandwell to meet current demand 
and preferably in the West Bromwich Analysis Area. 
 
The Council notes that if 3G proposals were to go ahead at Birmingham County FA, Phoenix 
Collegiate (North Campus) and Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy, Hydes Road 
Playing Field could become a potential site to host a hockey-suitable AGP instead of a 3G 
pitch.  
 
Another solution could be the proposed new secondary school in Smethwick, which includes 
the provision of a full-size AGP. The site is an approximate 15-minute drive from George 
Salter Academy (the Club’s previous home venue) and so would also prove a feasible option 
to preserve two hockey AGPs in Sandwell and allow West Bromwich HC to return to the 
Borough. However, current plans do not include the provision of sports lighting and so 
additional planning permission and investment would be required to provide sports lighting 
or the new AGP would only provide limited capacity for community hockey. 
 
Recommendations 
 
 Improve quality of the AGP at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy or develop a new 

full size sand-based AGP in the Borough as part of its mitigation.  
 Continue to explore the creation of provision at Hydes Road Playing Field and as part of 

the new secondary school in Smethwick) to better provide for hockey demand.   
 Protect the AGP at Ormiston Forge Academy for hockey use until hockey demand in the 

Borough can be met without it. 
 Ensure all hockey suitable AGPs have a sinking fund in place for their eventual 

refurbishment. 
 Ensure England Hockey is consulted with regarding any proposals for development of 

new 3G artificial grass pitches or proposed conversion to 3G of existing hockey AGPs, to 
ensure the sustainability and sufficient supply of existing AGPs for hockey. 

 Ensure that any large housing developments are provided for and assess the need for new 
pitch provision through master planning on an individual basis.  

 Where a development is of a size to justify on-site hockey provision, ensure that any 
proposals for new pitches will attract adequate demand.  

Page 276



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 37 

 Where a development is not of a size to justify on-site hockey provision, or if sufficient 
demand cannot be attracted, consider using contributions to improve existing sites within 
the locality.  

 
4.7: Tennis courts 
 
Assessment Report summary  
 
 Old Hill TC has a sufficient number of courts to meet its current membership, with 

priority needing to be placed on ensuring that the Club can remain operational.  
 For Wednesbury TC, further exploration is required to determine its current 

membership levels and its future growth aspirations; at Wednesbury Sports Union, 
it has capacity for a membership base of up to 160 members.  

 As no non-club courts are identified as have any capacity issues, precedence 
should be placed on improving quality to an adequate standard for informal play, 
particularly at publicly available sites hosting multiple courts. 

 There are a total of 57 tennis courts identified in Sandwell across 18 sites, with 35 courts 
categorised as being available for community use at 12 sites. 

 Sandwell Leisure Trust and the LTA are in discussions regarding development plans at 
Tipton Sports Academy (including the covering of the courts and the installation of four 
dedicated padel courts. 

 In addition, the Council are working together with the LTA on a potential parks 
development project for 2022; this may include upgrades to provision at Brunswick, 
Redhouse and Brittania parks.  

 The majority of courts are operated by schools, although only 27% of these are available 
for community use. 

 All of the courts have a macadam surface.  
 In total, ten of the 57 tennis courts are serviced by floodlights, representing just 18% of the 

provision. 
 Of the courts, eight are assessed as good quality, 32 as standard quality and 17 as poor 

quality.  
 The ancillary facilities servicing Old Hill TC and Wednesbury TC are considered to be 

adequate, with some modernisation required.  
 For non-club courts, ancillary provision is generally considered to be problematic, although 

good quality ancillary facilities are provided at Tipton Sports Academy and development 
proposals are in place at Britannia Park.  

 There are two tennis clubs in Sandwell.  
 Old Hill TC has a current membership of just 14 members, which is threatening the long-

term future of the Club.   
 Membership details at Wednesbury TC are unknown as the Club was unresponsive to 

consultation requests.  
 Away from clubs, it is considered that all local authority courts available for community use 

in Sandwell have spare capacity for a growth in demand, although this is difficult to quantify 
as use is not always recorded due to the open access nature of many sites.  

 Clubspark is utilised across six local authority sites and the LTA is keen to explore further 
opportunities.   

 Two local tennis leagues, whilst not specific to Sandwell, identify Tipton Sports Academy 
as being a primary venue.   

 
Scenarios 
 
Accommodating current and future demand 
 
No clubs in Sandwell are currently known to be facing any capacity issues. As such, there is 
no requirement for any increased or enhanced provision.  
 

Page 277



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 38 

Increasing participation 
 
The LTA has developed a package of support for local authorities to grow the use of park 
tennis courts by removing key barriers to participation. The three products are ClubSpark, 
Rally and Gate Access and can be used individually or in combination. The products are used 
to provide a remote booking and access system. 
 
Instead of providing free access, some local authorities are now securing their courts as per 
a membership scheme that allows members access through the use of a fob system following 
payment of a small yearly fee. Not only does this deter unofficial use of courts but it also allows 
official use to be tracked, thus providing data on how well and how often courts are being 
accessed. In addition, it provides income generation that can go towards ongoing maintenance 
of the courts.     
 
The LTA and Government have also in 2021 announced a £30 million package to refurbish 
more than 4,500 public tennis courts in poor or unplayable condition at more than 1,500 
venues in the most deprived parts of the UK9.  
 
The LTA has identified Britannia Park, Brunswick Park, and Redhouse Park as key sites 
across Sandwell for the development of informal tennis. In order to facilitate this demand, it is 
likely that floodlights would have to be provided, in addition to court improvements and 
potential provision or improvement of changing facilities. These improvements, in conjunction 
with the implementation of technology provided by the LTA such as Gate Access, would help 
to activate a large level of latent demand and should therefore be supported.  
 
Additionally, the LTA notes there are no tennis clubs located in the Smethwick, Oldbury, West 
Bromwich or Tipton analysis areas. Of the key sites listed above, only Redhouse Park (West 
Bromwich) resides in one of these analysis areas. Therefore, improvements, in conjunction 
with the implementation of LTA technology, should be supported at community available 
courts in the Smethwick, Oldbury and Tipton analysis areas to improve the recreational offer 
and customer journey to encourage more people to pick up a racket and get involved in the 
sport. 
 
Recommendations  
 
 Protect existing quantity of courts. 
 Improve court quality at sites assessed as poor or standard quality and sustain quality at 

sites assessed as good, especially at sites in use by clubs or that are (or could be) well 
used for recreational demand.  

 Linked to the above, improve park courts as a priority to create a year-round recreational 
tennis option to meet local demand.  

 Explore options to further improve the recreational tennis offer via utilisation of technology 
provided by the LTA (e.g., Clubspark) to support the customer journey and through 
investment into facilities and accompanying ancillary provision.  

 Ensure sinking funds are put into place by providers for long-term sustainability.  
 Improve ancillary provision at club sites, where it is required.  
 
4.8: Netball courts 
 
Assessment Report summary  
 
 Sandwell is relatively well catered for, with a large number of community available 

netball courts provided and with a good number of these being dedicated to netball.  

                                                 
9Link to LTA investment Page 278



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 39 

 Focus should be placed on protecting and sustaining the courts at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate for continued use by the Dudley Netball League 
and the Walsall Netball League.  

 Should the Dudley Netball League relocate outside of Sandwell, it is imperative that 
the Sandwell-based demand remains provided for and that the courts remain 
sustainable. 

 For netball demand away from the club and league environment, there is a need to 
ensure programmes provided by England Netball have suitable provision from 
which to be ran from and that curricular and extra-curricular needs are being met.  

 There are 62 netball courts identified in Sandwell across 24 sites, with 27 courts at eight 
sites available for community use.  

 Two courts are operated by the Council and six are operated commercially, with all 
remaining provision located at school sites.  

 The courts at George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate are access by the Dudley 
Netball League and the Walsall Netball League, respectively, via annual agreements.   

 All the courts have a macadam surface. 
 A total of 28 courts are overmarked by other sports provision, which means that there are 

a comparatively high number of standalone courts.  
 Overall, 23 of the courts are serviced by floodlighting, including provision at George Salter 

Academy and Phoenix Collegiate, which is a comparable rate to the national ratio.  
 There are 20 courts assessed as good quality, 29 as standard quality and 13 as poor 

quality. 
 Poor quality community available courts are provided at Pulse Soccer & Fitness, Q3 Tipton 

Academy and Redhouse Park. 
 The community available courts at George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate are 

assessed as good quality, as are the unavailable courts at Holly Lodge High School and 
Oldbury Academy.   

 The Dudley Netball League uses George Salter Academy as a central venue; prior to 
Covid-19 it accommodated 72 teams across nine divisions.  

 The Walsall Netball League uses Phoenix Collegiate as a centre venue and it 
accommodated 37 teams across five division when last held (2019).  

 Both leagues import demand into Sandwell and the Dudley Netball League has a 
preference to relocate to its home authority (Dudley).  

 Grasshoppers Netball Club is a large club based in Sandwell, using Haden Hill Leisure 
Centre as a training base.  

 Play Netball operates in Sandwell at Phoenix Collegiate. 
 Back to Netball has previously been held at George Salter Academy as well, historically, 

at Gospel Oak Academy. 
 Walking Netball sessions are actively promoted by the Sandwell Leisure Trust. 
 
Scenarios 
 
Relocation of the Dudley Netball League 
 
The Dudley Netball League currently has access to four courts at George Salter Academy, 
with the League reporting that this is insufficient as fixtures are tightly congested and have to 
be split across three evenings (Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays). Ideally, the League 
would want to access six courts, and it would really like to use a venue in Dudley to facilitate 
this but states that there is currently no suitable location.   
 
The only site in Dudley currently with six netball courts is Ridgewood High School, which is 
unavailable for community use and without floodlighting. However, the football pitch on site is 
used by the community so it is likely that community access to the netball courts could be 
negotiated. Therefore, the feasibility of installing floodlighting for all six courts, as well as 
potential court improvements, should be explored to create a new home venue for the Dudley 
Netball League within Dudley. 

Page 279



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 40 

If the above is not possible, alternative approaches could be considered, including the 
establishment of a new, dedicated netball venue with a sufficient number of courts. This could 
be achieved through an existing netball site via creating additional courts, or at a new netball 
venue entirely.  
 
Should the League return to Dudley, a significant portion of netball demand in Sandwell would 
be lost. However, this would open capacity for George Salter Academy to become a hub for 
informal and recreational netball and potentially tennis. Until then, it is imperative that the 
activity remains catered for within the Borough.  
 
Recommendations  
 
 Protect quantity of courts. 
 Continue to cater for the Dudley Netball League for as long as it is required.  
 Ensure sustainability of provision at George Salter Academy should the League vacate 

the site and explore opportunities to maximise usage for other purposes.  
 Seek to improve poor quality courts quality through resurfacing or improved maintenance. 
 Look to continue and expand the use of courts for England Netball initiatives such as Back 

to Netball and Walking Netball.  
 Facilitate improved engagement between England Netball and schools.  
 
4.9: Bowling greens 
 
Assessment Report summary  
 
 Only Langley BC is operating above the recommended capacity threshold, 

suggesting that overall supply is sufficient to meet demand.  
 Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 members) is operating below the threshold of the 

level of membership required to ensure that its green is sustainable.  
 There are 18 crown green bowls greens in Sandwell provided across 17 sites.   
 Greens were also previously provided at Old Chapel Inn and Pheasant Public House 

(disused), whereas Greets Green Playing Field and Haden Hill Park previously provided 
two greens.   

 The green at Cradley Sports & Social Club is at risk to development.  
 Of clubs which responded to consultation requests, three own their greens, four rent their 

greens and two have a lease arrangement in place. 
 In total, 17 greens are assessed as good quality and one is assessed as standard quality 

(at Thimblemill Recreation Centre). 
 Three greens are serviced by floodlighting (St Giles Rowley Regis Parish church, Warley 

Rugby Club (St Johns Pitches) and The George Public House). 
 Six clubs state a need for ancillary provision to improve, whilst upgrades are also required 

at Wernley Public House. 
 There are 16 clubs using bowling greens in Sandwell; where membership is known 

(across seven clubs), there are a total of 373 members, equating to 281 senior men, 84 
senior women and eight juniors. 

 The average membership across the clubs is 41.  
 In line with a national trend of declining membership, three of the clubs that responded to 

consultation report that membership has decreased in recent years, whilst two report 
recent increases. 

 Due to a predicted increase in persons aged 65 and over (to 2039), demand is likely to 
increase for greens over the coming years.  

 Both West Bromwich Football Supporters BC, Old Cross BC and Dartmouth BC report 
future demand to increase membership, with this collectively equating to 18 senior and 11 
junior members. 

Page 280



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 41 

 All clubs report that existing membership can be accommodated on the current level of 
provision and that no potential members are being turned away, suggesting that there is 
no latent or unmet demand. 

 
Scenarios 
 
Accommodating demand 
 
As no clubs in Sandwell indicate a requirement to access an additional green, it is considered 
that the current provision for bowls is sufficient to meet current and future demand in the 
Borough. Therefore, focus should be on increasing participation and improving or maintaining 
the current stock of bowling greens. 
 
Only Langley BC is operating above the recommended capacity threshold, and whilst this is 
relatively minimal, the Club may require support to ensure the level of demand is sustainable. 
Similarly, support may also be required in relation to The George BC and Hamstead Social 
BC given that they are operating right on the limit of the capacity threshold.  
 
At the other end of the scale, Dartmouth BC has a membership below what is considered to 
be the membership required to ensure the sustainability of a green. As such, it should be 
supported to ensure that it can continue to operate and so that it can realise its growth plans, 
which would take it above the threshold.  
Disused provision 
 
Two disused crown bowling greens are identified in Sandwell; at Greets Green Playing Field 
and Haden Hill Park. Both sites previously provided two greens, with just one now provided. 
At Greets Green Playing Field, the second green has been repurposed as a play area. 
 
As the overall supply of greens is sufficient to meet current and future demand, the green at 
Haden Hill Park could also be re-purposed or developed upon, as long as appropriate 
mitigation is provided in line with planning policy. Alternatively, it could be retained as strategic 
reserve.  
 
Recommendations  
 
 Retain existing quantity of greens.  
 Improve greens assessed as poor and standard quality and sustain greens assessed as 

good.  
 Support clubs with plans to increase membership so that growth can be maximised and 

accommodated.  
 Monitor clubs with a particularly high membership to ensure than demand can continue 

to be accommodated.  
 Monitor Dartmouth BC to ensure it remains sustainability and seek to support the Club to 

achieve its growth plans.  
 Assist clubs, where necessary, with any future ancillary provision improvements. 
 Ensure that any potential development of greens considered as disused/lapsed are 

mitigated in line with planning policy. 
 
4.10: Cycling tracks 
 
Assessment Report summary  
 
 High demand for cycling is identified within Sandwell, especially when taking into 

account latent demand.  

Page 281



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 42 

 Protecting and sustaining what is provided at Sandwell Valley Country Park should 
be seen as particularly key, whilst continued use of Hadley Stadium should be 
ensured. 

 Implementation of initiatives promoted by British Cycling should also be explored 
to encourage more people to get into cycling. 

 Sandwell Valley Country Park features a range of surfaced and unsurfaced cycling tracks 
as well as a mountain bike trail and a pump track.  

 Two national cycling routes run through Sandwell; Route 5 (from Reading to North Wales) 
and Route 81 (from Aberystwyth to Wolverhampton),  

 Cycling is encouraged along canal towpaths throughout the Borough.  
 There are four prominent cycling clubs based in Sandwell, although none are currently 

affiliated to British Cycling.  
 Smethwick Beat the Streets Community Cycle Club takes part in numerous led rides 

around Sandwell, as well as using the provision at Sandwell Valley Country Park.  
 Hadley Stadium Cycling Club is set up to provide family cycling in a safe, off-road 

environment, utilising the athletics track at Hadley Stadium.  
 Bangladeshi Association Cycling Club has both a men’s and a women’s branch, with both 

engaging in weekly rides around Sandwell, often utilising at Victoria Park.  
 Lightwoods Community Cycle Club meets every Wednesday morning to ride around 

Lightwoods Park, although it often ventures further afield.  
 British Cycling’s development programmes Go-Ride and Breeze are not currently 

implemented. 
 Sport England’s Segmentation Tool identifies latent demand of 11,449 people who would 

like to participate in cycling within Sandwell, which is a high amount. 
 
Scenarios 
 
Retaining cycling facilities 
 
Sandwell Valley Country Park is a key strategic facility in Sandwell and is formally used by 
Smethwick Beat the Streets Community Cycle Club in addition to informal and recreational 
use. Priority should therefore be placed on protecting the track and ensuring that it remains of 
a sufficient quality to accommodate the levels of demand received.  
 
Hadley Stadium Cycling Club also uses the athletics track at Hadley Stadium as a cycling 
facility to provide family cycling in a safe, off-road environment. As the track may not be 
required for its primary purpose in the future (i.e., athletics), any re-purposing may result in 
the site no longer being able to cater for cycling demand. If this is the case, priority should be 
placed on ensure the activity can be accommodated elsewhere.  
 
Places to Ride 
 
British Cycling’s Birmingham Cycling Facility Needs Assessment identified that the Sandwell 
Cycle Speedway Track, previously used by Sandwell Lions Speedway Club before it folded, 
is in poor condition and in need of enhancement and repairs. It was previously managed by 
the Council but is now owned and operated by The Brades Lodge School. The track remains 
available for community use despite its poor condition.  
 
The track is reported to have good infrastructure in place for development and is located on a 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) phased development route which 
would increase cycling accessibility to the site.  
 
Recommendations 
 
 Ensure track at Sandwell Valley Country Park is retained and remain of a sufficient quality 

to accommodate demand.  
Page 282



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 43 

 Ensure demand received at Hadley Stadium can be adequately accommodated elsewhere 
in the event of re-purposing the facility.  

 Enhance the quality and public transport access of the Sandwell track to increase track 
provision and grow demand in the Sandwell and Birmingham area. 

 Undertake a feasibility study for the Sandwell Cycle Speedway Track to determine capital 
costs required to reinstate the facility and the impact this would have on cycling and 
speedway demand for Sandwell and Birmingham. 

 Look to continue and expand British Cycling programmes such as HSBC UK Go-Ride and 
HSBC UK Breeze.  

 
4.11: Athletics tracks 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 Sandwell is very well provided for in relation to athletics, with three 400-metre 

tracks provided.  
 Priority should be placed on protecting the track Tipton Sports Academy and 

ensuring that is of a sufficient quality to accommodate the levels of demand 
received. 

 Retaining the provision at Sandwell Academy and Phoenix Collegiate is less of a 
requirement as no known community use is received, although the schools 
themselves may have demand that necessitates retention.  

 The track at Hadley Stadium is deemed surplus to requirements in its current form, 
with an alternative use therefore requiring exploration, although this could include 
informal athletics provision.  

 Emphasis should also be placed on supporting the other activities taking place in 
Sandwell, with a focus on retaining and increasing participation and growing the 
various initiatives that are in place. 

 There are four purpose-built athletics tracks in Sandwell, at Hadley Stadium, Phoenix 
Collegiate, Sandwell Academy and Tipton Sports Academy. 

 There is also small 40-metre straight athletics track provided at The Meadows School.  
 Both Hadley Stadium and Tipton Sports Academy provide 400-metre synthetic tracks 

with eight lanes and floodlighting, whilst Phoenix Collegiate provides a 400-metre cinder 
track with six lanes (non-floodlit). 

 Sandwell Academy provides a 200-metre “mini” track. 
 The track at Tipton Sports Academy is assessed as standard quality, with tracks repairs 

required in addition to surface cleaning and overspray; the throwing cage also failed a 
recent TrackMark inspection.  

 The track at Hadley Stadium is also assessed as poor quality and is no longer useable 
due to health and safety issues.  

 Recent improvements have been undertaken regarding the track at Phoenix Collegiate, 
resulting in its quality improving from a previously poor standard. In addition, a 7th lane 
has been added.  

 Five clubs have a current focus on athletics and/or running activity in Sandwell. 
 Tipton Harriers uses the track at Tipton Sports Academy as its base.  
 West Bromwich Harriers now uses Walsall Rugby Club, in Walsall, as a base (exported 

demand). 
 Park Run is held each week at Sandwell Park Farm, whilst a junior Park is held every 

Sunday at West Smethwick Park. 
 Most clubs express an aspiration to grow membership, whilst England Athletics also 

believes that demand is likely to increase in the future, particularly for initiatives such as 
Park Run. 

 
  

Page 283



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 44 

Scenarios  
 
Retaining athletics facilities 
 
The track at Tipton Sports Academy is a key strategic facility in Sandwell and is used by Tipton 
Harriers. It accommodates both male and female members at both senior and junior level and 
whilst is specialises in track and field, it also operates road running and cross-country running 
sections. Priority should therefore be placed on protecting the track ensuring that is of a 
sufficient quality to accommodate the levels of demand received. 
 
Retaining the provision at Sandwell Academy and Phoenix Collegiate is less of a requirement 
as no known community use is received, although the schools themselves may have demand 
that necessitates retention.  
 
The track at Hadley Stadium is deemed surplus to requirements in its current form, with no 
athletics demand received and with considerable quality issues identified. As such, it could be 
re-purposed to accommodate other sporting needs, although this consideration should be 
given to this include some form of athletics provision. England Athletics has a current focus on 
providing innovative facilities that can help drive demand.  
 
Recommendations 
 
 Ensure the track and supporting facilities at Tipton Sports Academy are retained and 

remain in adequate condition. 
 Support Tipton Sports Academy to gain TrackMark status. 
 Consider re-purposing the track at Hadley Stadium and consider development of 

innovative athletics facilities as part of this.  
 Support clubs, running groups, events and England Athletics initiatives such as Park Run 

and pursue increased participation, where possible.  
 Continue to increase participation both within affiliated clubs and the wider running market, 

signposting potential club members from the likes of Parkrun events and other health 
initiatives.  

 
4.12: Golf courses 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well 

as a well-equipped driving range, supply is well placed to meet demand. 
 Notwithstanding the above, demand appears to be relatively low, although this does 

not necessarily mean that any sites can be lost, with further interrogation required 
should any proposals come forward.  

 In the meantime, emphasis should be placed on protecting the facilities that are 
provided, with options explored to increase demand to more sustainable levels. 

 There are currently five golf sites in Sandwell. 
 In addition, there is disused provision at Brandhall Golf Club, which previously provided 

an 18-hole course but did not re-open following initial Covid-19 restrictions.  
 All five sites provide a standard hole course, with two 18-hole courses (Dudley Golf Club 

and Sandwell Park Golf Club) and three 9-hole courses (Dartmouth Golf Club, Rowley Golf 
Centre and Warley Woods Golf Club) in place.  

 No Par 3 course is provided.  
 Rowley Golf Centre provides a 22-bay, covered and floodlit driving range.  
 Dartmouth, Dudley and Sandwell Park are members clubs, whilst Rowley Golf Centre and 

Warley Woods Golf Club are proprietary facilities; no municipal courses are provided.  
 Sandwell Park Golf Club operates above the national average for membership costs, 

suggesting that it is a high-end facility, whereas the remaining sites are below the rate. 
Page 284



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 45 

 In terms of quality of the golf facilities, it is relatively good across Sandwell with no 
significant issues identified, especially at Sandwell Park Golf Club. 

 Warley Woods Golf Club has aspirations to improve its clubhouse facilities, which England 
Golf is particularly supportive of.  

 Three of the four clubs (Dartmouth, Dudley and Warley Woods golf clubs) operating a 
membership scheme (Rowley Golf Centre does not) are below the national membership 
average (which is 386 members).  

 Sandwell Park Golf Club is operating above the national average.  
 Membership since 2015 has increased at Dartmouth Golf Club, Sandwell Park Golf Club 

and Warley Woods Golf Club but has reduced at Dudley Golf Club.  
 Membership has increased collectively across the clubs by 63 members, although this 

does not take into account the membership that was attached to Brandhall Golf Club.   
 England Golf’s mapping tool identifies a significant amount of potential demand, with 

Sandwell Park shown to have a particularly high population base (the highest in the Black 
Country region). 

 Pay and play usage is unknown but is likely to be highest at sites such as Rowley Golf 
Centre given the operational structure in place and the lower price point.   

 
Scenarios 

 
N/A 
 
Recommendations 
 
 Retain all existing, in use golf provision. 

 Mitigate the loss of Brandhall Golf Club through investment into other golf facilities (e.g., 
Warley Woods Golf Club) and explore if alternative golf provision could be incorporated 
into the site.  

 Sustain course and ancillary facility quality and seek improvements where necessary. 

 Support clubs in membership retention and potential growth and encourage clubs and 
providers to work more collaboratively in terms of creating pathways for players.  

 
4.13: Water sports centres 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 Through Swan Pool, Sandwell is relatively well provided for in terms of outdoor 

water sports given that it is not a coastal authority. 
 The venue should be protected for continued use and further opportunities could 

be explored for extending the activities that are offered. 
 Swan provides facilities in Sandwell that are compatible with a number of water sports and 

other water-related activities.  
 Due to Sandwell’s Water Safety Policy, such activities can only be undertaken by members 

of a recognised club.  
 Sandwell Valley Sailing Club is based at Swan Pool, offering a regular sailing programme 

for both males and females of all ages and abilities.  
 Oldbury Swimming & Triathlon Club uses Swan Pool from May until September each year 

for open water swimming. 
 Each year, Sandwell Valley Park hosts an adult and a junior triathlon which use Swan Pool 

for the swimming aspect of the events. 
 As its name suggests, Birmingham Canoe Club generally accesses provision in 

Birmingham; however, during winter, it uses Smethwick Swimming Centre for sessions.   
 
Scenarios 

 
N/A 

Page 285



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 46 

Recommendations 
 
 Ensure existing provision is retained and supporting facilities remain of sufficient quality. 
 Support clubs to maximise demand and fully utilise the unique facilities offered.  
 
4.14: Other grass pitches 
 
Assessment Report summary 
 
 A resolution is required to Sandwell Steelers’ existing issues that are derived from 

it currently needing to use multiple venues.  
 No supply or demand is identified in relation to baseball/softball or Gaelic football, 

meaning no action is required.  
 There are no dedicated American football pitches within Sandwell; instead, an over marked 

football pitch at Tipton Sports Academy is used as well as 3G provision at Gospel Oak 
Academy and Portway Leisure Centre. 

 Sandwell Steelers wants to be based from one venue, reporting availability and storage 
as particular issues.  

 There are no baseball/softball diamonds in Sandwell.  
 There are no Gaelic football pitches provided in the Borough.  
 Sandwell Steelers currently fields four teams (senior men’s, senior women’s, youth and 

flag).   
 As well using the facilities in Sandwell, it also exports demand to Walsall Rugby Club, in 

Walsall.   
 No baseball/softball or Gaelic football demand is identified, although some isolated 

demand may be travelling to clubs in nearby authorities.  
 
Scenarios 

 
N/A 
 
Recommendations 
 
 Support Sandwell Steelers to find a single home venue in the Borough.  
 Ensure the Club is provided with sufficient storage facilities. 
  

Page 286



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 47 

PART 5: STRATEGIC RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The strategic recommendations for the Strategy have been developed via the combination 
of information gathered during consultation, site visits and analysis which culminated in the 
production of an assessment report, as well as key drivers identified for the Strategy. They 
reflect overarching and common areas to be addressed, which apply across playing pitch 
facilities and may not be specific to just one sport.  
 

 

 
 
Recommendation (a) – Ensure, through the use of the PPOSS, that playing pitch 
facilities are protected through the implementation of local planning policy. 
 
The PPOSS shows that all existing playing field and outdoor sport sites cannot be deemed 
surplus to requirements because of shortfalls now and in the future. As such, all provision 
requires protection or replacement until all identified shortfalls have been overcome. This 
includes lapsed, disused, underused and poor quality sites as there is a requirement for such 
provision to help meet and alleviate the identified shortfalls.  
 
When shortfalls are evident, provision can only be permanently lost when the current picture 
changes to the extent that the site in question is no longer needed as a result of no shortfalls 
existing, or unless replacement provision is provided and agreed upon by all stakeholders. 
NPPF paragraph 99 states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and 
land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 
 
 An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 

or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 

better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 
 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 

clearly outweigh the loss. 
 
The PPOSS should be used to help inform development management decisions that affect 
existing or new playing pitch provision and accompanying ancillary facilities. All applications 
are assessed by the Local Planning Authority on a case-by-case basis taking into account 
site specific factors. In addition, Sport England is a statutory consultee on planning 
applications that affect or prejudice the use of playing field used within the last five years and 
will use the PPS to help assess that planning application against its Playing Fields Policy. 
 
 
 
  

AIM 1 

To protect the existing supply of outdoor sport facilities where it is needed for meeting 
current and future needs. 

Recommendations: 
 
a. Ensure, through the use of the PPOSS, that outdoor sport facilities are protected 

through the implementation of local planning policy. 
 

b. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs, 
through a range of solutions and partnership agreements. 

 
c. Maximise community use of education facilities where needed. 

Page 287



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 48 

Policy Exception E1: 
 
‘A carefully quantified and documented assessment of current and future needs has 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of Sport England that there is an excess of playing field 
provision in the catchment, and the site has no special significance to the interests of sport’. 
 
Where the PPOSS cannot demonstrate that the site, or part of a site, is clearly surplus to 
requirements then replacement of the site, or part of a site, will be required to comply with 
the remaining Sport England policy exceptions. 
 
Policy Exception E2 
 
‘The proposed development is for ancillary facilities supporting the principal use of the site 
as a playing field and does not affect the quantity and quality of playing pitches or otherwise 
adversely affect their use’. 
 
Policy Exception E3 
 
‘The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming part of a playing pitch and 
does not:  
 
 Reduce the size of any playing pitch; 
 Result in the inability to use any playing pitch (including the maintenance of adequate 

safety margins and run-off areas); 
 Reduce the sporting capacity of the playing field to accommodate playing pitches or the 

capability to rotate or reposition playing pitches to maintain quality; 
 Result in the loss of other sporting provision or ancillary facilities on the site; 
 Prejudice the use of any remaining areas of playing field on the site’. 
 
Policy Exception E4: 
 
 ‘The playing field or fields to be lost as a result of the proposed development would be 
replaced, prior to the commencement of development, by a new playing field site or sites:  
 
 of equivalent or better quality and  
 of equivalent or greater quantity;  
 in a suitable location and;  
 subject to equivalent or better management arrangements. 
 
Policy Exception E5 
 
‘The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of which 
would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the detriment caused 
by the loss, or prejudice of use, of the area of playing field’.  

 
Lapsed and disused sites should also be protected from development or replaced in 
accordance with Sport England’s policy exceptions as they currently provide a solution to 
reducing identified shortfalls. Any disused/lapsed playing fields are included within the Action 
Plan together with a recommendation in relation to bringing the site back into use or to 
mitigate the loss on a replacement site to address the shortfalls identified.  
 
It may be appropriate to consider rationalisation of certain low value playing pitch sites (i.e. 
one/two pitch sites with no changing provision) to generate investment in creating bigger and 
better venues (hub sites). It is vital, however, that there is no net loss of facilities and that 
replacement provision is in place and available for use prior to existing provision being lost.  

Page 288



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 49 

Recommendation (b) – Secure tenure and access to sites through a range of solutions 
and partnership agreements. 
 
A number of education sites are being used in the Borough for competitive play, predominately 
for football. The following schools are already used for community use at varying levels but 
have no secure community usage: 
 
 Sandwell Academy 
 Gospel Oak School 
 Brandhall Primary School 
 Devonshire Infant and Junior Academy 
 George Salter Academy 
 Holly Lodge High School College of Science 
 Holyhead Primary School 
 Ormiston Forge Academy (Hingleys) 
 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy 
 Q3 Academy 
 St Michael’s CE High School 
 Sandwell Academy 
 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy 
 Wood Green Academy 
 
Not having fully formalised usage presents a risk for those clubs using these sites as 
community use could technically be terminated at any time. Securing community use at such 
as will help to create additional pitch capacity and could help to address deficiencies as 
demonstrated within the Football Scenarios. 
 
NGBs, Sport England and other appropriate bodies such as the Football Foundation can often 
help to negotiate and engage with providers where the local authority may not have direct 
influence. This is particularly the case at sites that have received funding from these bodies 
or are going to receive funding in the future as community access can be a condition of the 
agreement.  
 
In the context of the Comprehensive Spending Review, which announced significant public 
spending cuts, it is increasingly important for the Council to work with voluntary sector 
organisations to enable them to take greater levels of ownership and support the wider 
development and maintenance of facilities. To facilitate this, where practical, the Council 
should support and enable clubs to generate sufficient funds, providing this is to the benefit of 
sport.  
 
The Council should further explore opportunities where security of tenure could be granted via 
lease agreements (minimum 25 years as recommended by Sport England and NGBs) so that 
clubs are in a position to apply for external funding. This is particularly the case at poor quality 
local authority sites, possibly with inadequate or no ancillary facilities, so that quality can be 
improved and sites developed.  
 
Local sports clubs should be supported by partners including the Council or NGBs to achieve 
sustainability across a range of areas including management, membership, funding, facilities, 
volunteers and partnership work. For example, club development should be support and clubs 
should be encouraged to develop evidence of business and sports development plans to 
generate income via their facilities.  
 
Each club interested in leasing a site should be required to meet service and/or strategic 
recommendations. An additional set of criteria should also be considered, which takes into 
account club quality, aligned to its long-term development objectives and sustainability, as 
seen in the table below. 

Page 289



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 50 

Table 5.1: Recommended criteria for lease of sport sites to clubs/organisations 
 
Club Site 

Clubs should have NGB accreditation award. 
Clubs commit to meeting demonstrable local 
demand and show pro-active commitment to 
developing school-club links. 
Clubs are sustainable, both in a financial sense 
and via their internal management structures in 
relation to recruitment and retention policy for 
both players and volunteers. 
Ideally, clubs should have already identified (and 
received an agreement in principle) any match 
funding required for initial capital investment 
identified. 
Clubs have processes in place to ensure 
capacity to maintain sites to the existing, or 
better, standards. 

Sites should be those identified as ‘Local Sites’ 
(recommendation d) for new clubs (i.e. not 
those with a Borough-wide significance) but 
that offer development potential.  
For established clubs which have proven 
success in terms of self-management ‘Key 
Centres’ are also appropriate. 
Sites should acquire capital investment to 
improve or be leased with the intention that 
investment can be sourced to contribute 
towards improvement of the site. 
 
 

 
The Council could establish core outcomes to derive from clubs taking on a lease 
arrangement to ensure that the most appropriate are assigned sites. Outcomes may, for 
example, include: 
 
 Increasing participation.  
 Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers. 
 Commitment to quality standards. 
 Improvements (where required) to facilities, or at minimum retaining existing standards. 
 
In addition, clubs should be made fully aware of the associated responsibilities/liabilities 
when considering leases of multi-use public playing fields. It is important in these instances 
that the site, to some degree, remains available for other purposes or for other users.  
 
For clubs with lease arrangements already in place, these should be reviewed when fewer 
than 25 years remain to improve security of tenure and aid the attraction of funding; clubs 
with fewer than 25 years remaining on a lease agreement are unlikely to be eligible for 
external funding.  
 
Recommendation (c) - Maximise community use of education facilities where needed 
 
To maximise community use, development of a more coherent, structured relationship with 
schools is recommended. The ability to access good facilities within the local community is 
vital to any sports organisation, yet many clubs struggle to find good quality places to play 
and train.  
 
In Sandwell, pricing policies at facilities can be a barrier to access at some education sites but 
physical access, poor quality and resistance from schools to open up provision is also an 
issue, especially at some private schools and academies.   
 
A large number of sporting facilities are located on education sites and making these available 
to sports clubs can offer significant benefits to both the schools and local clubs. It is, however, 
common for school stock not to be fully maximised for community use, even on established 
community use sites. 
 
  

Page 290



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 51 

In some instances, outdoor sports facilities are unavailable for community use due to poor 
quality and therefore remedial works will be required before it can be established. The low 
carrying capacity of these pitches sometimes leads to them being played to capacity or 
overplayed simply due to curricular and extra-curricular use, meaning they cannot 
accommodate any additional use by the community.  
 
Although there are a growing number of academies over which the Council has little or no 
control, it is still important to understand the significance of such sites and attempt to work with 
the schools where there are opportunities for community use. In addition, relevant NGBs have 
a role to play in supporting the Council to deliver upon this recommendation and 
communicating with schools where necessary to address shortfalls in provision. It should be 
noted that in Sandwell, academy schools typically lease their land from the Council. The 
Academy is then responsible for its own site and how it operates so any agreements regarding 
community use of playing fields must be agreed with the respective academy trust. 
 
Where new schools are provided in major new residential developments, they should be 
designed to facilitate community access, with opportunities for meeting the community’s 
outdoor sports needs explored at the outset to maximise the potential for facility provision to 
be made within the developments, if appropriate. An example of this is ensuring the provision 
of youth 11v11 and/or youth 9v9 grass football pitches, given current shortfalls and their 
suitability for the playing format of students, or multi-use provision such as court that can 
accommodate both tennis and netball activity.  
 
As detailed earlier, NGBs and Sport England can often help to negotiate and engage with 
schools where the local authority may have limited direct influence. This is particularly the 
case at sites that have received funding from the relevant bodies or are going to receive 
funding in the future as community access can be a condition of the funding agreement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 291



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 52 

 

 
 
Recommendation (d) – Improve quality  
 
There are a number of ways in which it is possible to improve quality, including, for example, 
addressing overplay and improving maintenance. Given that the majority of councils’ face 
reducing budgets, it is currently advisable to look at improving key sites as a priority (e.g., the 
largest sites that are the most overplayed or the poorest). The Action Plan within this document 
provides a starting point for this, identifying key sites, poor quality sites and/or sites that are 
overplayed which should be prioritised for improvement. 
 
With such pressures on budgets, any wide-ranging direct investment into quality is unlikely 
and other options for improvements should be considered. This could be via asset clubs 
leasing/managing sites as highlighted in Objective 1, with clubs taking on maintenance, whilst 
other options may include equipment banks and the pooling of resources for maintenance.  
 
Addressing quality issues 
 
Quality across Sandwell is variable but generally most pitches are assessed as poor or 
standard quality. Where facilities are assessed as standard or poor quality and/or overplayed, 
maintenance regimes should be reviewed and, where possible, improved to ensure that what 
is being done is of an appropriate standard to sustain/improve pitch quality. Ensuring 
continuance of existing maintenance of good quality sites is also essential.  
 
Based upon an achievable target, using existing quality scoring to provide a baseline, a 
standard should be used to identify deficiencies and investment should be focused on those 
sites which fail to meet the proposed quality standard. For the purposes of quality 
assessments, the Strategy refers to pitches and ancillary facilities separately as being of 
‘good’, ‘standard’ or ‘poor’ quality. However, some good quality sites have poor quality 
elements and vice versa (e.g., a good quality pitch may be serviced by poor quality changing 
facilities). 
 
It is also important to note the impact the weather has on quality. The worse the weather, the 
poorer facilities tend to become, especially if no drainage systems are in place or if existing 
drainage systems are inadequate. This also means that quality can vary, year on year, 
dependent upon the weather and levels of rainfall.  
 
  

AIM 2 

To enhance outdoor sport facilities and ancillary facilities through improving quality and 
management of sites. 

Recommendations: 
 
d. Maintain quality and seek improvements where necessary 
 
e. Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) to the management and 

improvement of sites. 
 

f. Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding 
 

g. Secure developer contributions  

Page 292



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 53 

If a poor quality site receives little or no usage that is not to say that no improvement is needed. 
It may instead be the case that it receives no demand because of its quality, thus an 
improvement in said quality will attract demand to the site, potentially from overplayed 
standard or good quality sites (thus reducing capacity issues).  
 
In addition, without appropriate, fit for purpose ancillary facilities, good quality provision may 
be underutilised, especially by adults and female users who have more of a requirement. 
Changing facilities form the most essential part of this offer and therefore key sites should be 
given priority for improvement. For the majority of sports, no senior league matches can take 
place without appropriate changing facilities and the same also applies to women’s and girls’ 
demand.  
 
For football, The FA has a Pitch Improvement Programme aimed at improving the standard of 
grass pitches across the Country. For provision included in the programme, clubs can utilise 
the services of the Football Foundation’s PitchPower app to carry out a free on-site 
assessment of their pitches. This then provides the Grounds Management Association (GMA) 
with the detail needed to create a personalised, informative report to advise on how 
improvements can be made. Clubs then receive bespoke advice and support to help with any 
future actions, funding applications and equipment, with clubs getting access to discounted 
rates for machinery and consumables through local partnerships.  
 
The tool is available across mobile apps and desktop and is open to access by all providers, 
including clubs, schools and local authorities. Following a PitchPower report, organisations can 
work towards the recommended dedicated maintenance regime identified to improve the 
quality of their pitches. Applicants are required to submit a PitchPower assessment for each 
of their pitches as a condition of a grant funding application for Football Foundation grass pitch 
investment, such as the Grass Pitch Maintenance fund. 
 
For cricket and the ECB, the equivalent is the Grounds and Natural Turf Improvement 
Programme (GaNTIP), which is jointly funded by the ECB, FA, Football Foundation and the 
GMA. Its aim is to raise the standards of sports surfaces as well as the understanding of sports 
turf management practices among grassroots sports clubs across England Wales.  
 
Specifically for tennis, the LTA has secured a £22 million investment fund to be put into public 
tennis courts across Britain, together with an £8.5 million investment from the LTA. This will 
see thousands of public park tennis courts that are in poor or unplayable condition improved 
for the benefit of the local communities.  
 
For the improvement/replacement of AGPs refer to Sport England and the NGBs ‘Selecting 
the Right Artificial Surface for Hockey, Football, Rugby League and Rugby Union’ document 
for a guide as to suitable AGP surfaces: Link to Sport England guidance on artificial surfaces 
 
Addressing overplay 
 
In order to improve the overall quality of the outdoor facility stock; it is necessary to ensure 
that provision is not overplayed beyond recommended carrying capacity. This is determined 
by assessing quality (via a non-technical site assessment) and allocating a match limit to each 
(daily for hockey, weekly for football and rugby union and seasonal for cricket). 
 
The FA, RFU, RFL, ECB and EH all recommend a number of matches that pitches should 
take based on quality, as seen in the table below. For other grass pitch sports, no guidelines 
are set by the NGBs although it can be assumed that a similar trend should be followed.  
 
 
 
 Page 293



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 54 

Table 5.2: Capacity of pitches  
  

Sport Pitch type No. of matches 

Good quality Standard quality Poor quality 

Football Adult pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week 

Youth pitches 4 per week 2 per week 1 per week 

Mini pitches 6 per week 4 per week 2 per week 

Rugby 
union 

Natural Inadequate (D0) 2 per week 1.5 per week 0.5 per week 

Natural Adequate (D1) 3 per week 2 per week 1.5 per week 

Pipe Drained (D2) 3.25 per week 2.5 per week 1.75 per week 

Pipe and Slit Drained 
(D3) 

3.5 per week 3 per week 2 per week 

Cricket One grass wicket 
One synthetic wicket 

5 per season 
60 per season 

4 per season 0 per season 

Hockey Full size AGP 4 per day 4 per day 4 per day 
 
For non-pitch sports, capacity is not linked to the number of matches taking place but rather 
the number of members (and other users) attracted to a site. For example, for tennis, a floodlit 
hard court is said to have capacity for 60 members, whereas a non-floodlit has court has 
capacity for 40 members (this varies for grass courts). For bowls, a green is considered at 
capacity if it has over 80 members, whilst a membership of under 20 could be unsustainable.  
 
It is imperative to engage with clubs to ensure that sites are not played beyond their capacity. 
Where overplay is identified, play should be encouraged, where possible, to be transferred to 
alternative venues that are not operating at capacity, or quality, where possible, should be 
improved to increase capacity to appropriate levels. Where play is transferred, this may 
include transferring play to 3G pitches or to sites not currently available for community use but 
which may be in the future.  
 
For cricket, an increase in the usage of NTPs is key to alleviating overplay as this allows for 
the transfer of junior demand from grass wickets. It also does not require any additional playing 
pitch space as NTPs can be installed in situ to existing squares.  
 
For rugby union, additional floodlighting can mitigate some of the overplay as it allows training 
demand to be spread across a greater number of pitches or unmarked areas. If permanent 
floodlighting is not possible, portable floodlighting is an alternative, as is the installation of a 
World Rugby compliant 3G pitch.  
 
As mentioned earlier, there are also sites that are poor quality but are not overplayed. These 
should not be overlooked as often poor quality sites have less demand than others but demand 
could increase if the quality was improved. It does, however, work both ways as potential 
improvements may make sites more attractive and therefore more popular, which in the long 
run can lead again to them becoming poor quality pitches if not properly maintained. 
 
Improving changing provision 
 
There is a need to address changing provision at some sites in the Borough, these are 
generally centred at either club or council managed sites.  
 
Sites which predominantly accommodate adult and/or older junior age group sports should be 
prioritised for improvements, whilst there is a trend for younger junior age groups (particularly 
for football) not to require use of changing provision, with suitable male and female toilet 
provision for players and spectators considered to be of greater importance.  
  

Page 294



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 55 

For example: 
 
 Bearmore Playing Field 
 Britannia Park 
 Charlemont Playing Fields 
 Churchfields Playing Fields 
 Farley Park  
 Hydes Road Playing Fields 
 Jubilee Park 
 Lion Farm Playing Fields 
 Queen Elizabeth Playing Fields 
 Red House Park 
 West Smethwick Park 
 
Recommendation (e) – Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) to the 
management and improvement of sites 
 
To allow for facility developments to be programmed on a phased basis the Council should 
adopt a tiered approach to the management and improvement of outdoor sport sites and 
associated facilities. Please refer to Part 6: Action Plan for the proposed hierarchy. 
 
Recommendation (f) – Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding 
 
Partners should ensure that appropriate funding secured for improved sports provision is 
directed to areas of need, underpinned by a robust strategy for improvement in outdoor sport 
provision and accompanying ancillary facilities.  
 
To address community need, target priority areas and reduce provision duplication, a 
coordinated approach to strategic investment is required. In delivering this recommendation, 
the Council should maintain a regular dialogue with local partners through the PPS Steering 
Group. 
 
Although some investment in new provision will not be made by the Council directly, it is 
important that the Steering Group directs and leads a co-ordinated approach to facility 
development whether made at/by education sites, NGBs, sports clubs and the commercial 
sector. This is to ensure that the extent to which it addresses community need is optimised 
and duplication is avoided. 
 
One of sport’s key contributions is its positive impact on public health. It is therefore important 
to lever in investment from other sectors such as, for example, health and wellbeing. Sport 
and physical activity can have a profound effect on peoples’ lives, and plays a crucial role in 
improving community cohesion, educational attainment and self-confidence. 
 
Recommendation (g) –Secure developer contributions  
 
It is important that this strategy informs policies and supplementary planning documents by 
setting out the approach to securing sport and recreational facilities through new housing 
development.  
 
For playing pitches, it is recommended the Council use Sport England’s Playing Pitch 
Calculator as a tool for helping to determine the additional demand for pitches and to estimate 
the likely developer contribution required linking to sites within the locality. This should form 
part of the Council working with Sport England to develop a process and guidance for obtaining 
developer contributions. 
 

Page 295



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 56 

The calculator uses the current number of teams by sports pitch type contained within the 
Assessment Report and calculates the percentage within each age group that play that sport. 
That percentage is then applied to the population growth. The additional teams likely to be 
generated are then converted into match equivalent sessions and associated pitch 
requirements in the peak period, with the associated costs (both for providing the pitch/facility 
and for its life cycle) then given. The calculator splits the requirement into peak time demand 
for natural turf pitches, training demand for artificial grass pitches, and the number of new 
changing rooms required. 
 
The PPOSS should be used to help determine the likely impact of a new development on 
demand and the capacity of existing sites in the area, and whether there is a need for 
improvements to increase capacity of existing provision or if new provision is required. Where 
a development is located within access of existing high-quality provision, this does not 
necessarily mean that there is no need for further provision or improvement to existing 
provision, as additional demand arising from the development is likely to result in increased 
usage (which can result in overplay or quality deterioration).  
 
Where it is determined that new provision is required to accompany a development, priority 
should be placed on providing facilities that contribute towards alleviating existing shortfalls 
within the locality. To determine what supply of provision is provided, it is imperative that the 
PPOSS findings are taken into consideration and that for particularly large developments 
consultation takes place with the relevant NGBs and Sport England. This is due to the 
importance of ensuring that the stock of facilities provided is correct to avoid provision 
becoming unsustainable and unused. The preference is for multi-pitch and potentially multi-
sport sites to be developed, supported by a clubhouse and adequate parking facilities which 
consider the potential for future AGP development. This is because single-pitch facilities are 
more likely to become under-used (or unused), unviable and unsustainable.  
 
It is recognised that consultation cannot take place with NGBs for every development due to 
resource restrictions. Instead, it is recommended that such discussions take place within 
PPOSS Steering Group meetings, which should take place regularly following adoption of the 
study as part of the ongoing monitoring and evaluation process. It is recommended that these 
take place every 6-12 months and inform the annual review/update (see Part 8 for further 
information).  
 
The guidance should form the basis for negotiation with developers to secure contributions to 
include provision and/or enhancement of appropriate provision and subsequent maintenance. 
S106 contributions could also be used to improve the condition and of the pitches in order to 
increase pitch capacity to accommodate more matches.  
 
Sport England recommends that a number of objectives should be implemented to enable the 
above to be delivered: 
 
 Planning consent should include appropriate conditions and/or be subject to specific 

planning obligations. Where developer contributions are applicable, a S106 agreement or 
equivalent must be completed that should specify, when applied, the amount that will be 
linked to Sport England’s Building Cost Information Service from the date of the 
permission and timing of the contribution/s to be made.  

 Contributions should also be secured towards the first ten years of maintenance on new 
pitches (lifecycle costs), the cost of which is indicated by the Sport England Playing Pitch 
Calculator. NGBs and Sport England can provide further and up to date information on 
the associated costs. 

 External funding should be sought/secured to achieve maximum benefit from the 
investment into appropriate facility enhancement, alongside other open space provision, 
and its subsequent maintenance. 

Page 296



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 57 

 Where new provision is provided, appropriate changing rooms and associated car parking 
should be located on site. 

 All new or improved outdoor sports facilities on school sites should be subject to 
community use agreements. 

 
For further information, please see Part 7 of this report.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 297



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 58 

 

 

 
 
Recommendation (h) - Rectify quantitative shortfalls through the current stock 
 
The Council and its partners should work to rectify identified inadequacies and meet identified 
shortfalls as outlined in the preceding Assessment Report and the sport-by-sport specific 
recommendations (Part 4) as well as the following Action Plan (Part 6). 
 
It is important that the current levels of provision are protected, maintained and enhanced to 
secure provision both for now and in the future. Maximising use of existing provision through 
a combination of the following will help to reduce shortfalls and accommodate future demand: 
 
 Improving quality in order to improve the capacity to accommodate more demand. 
 Transferring demand from overplayed sites to sites with spare capacity.  
 The re-designation of facilities e.g. converting an unused pitch (or pitch type) for one sport 

to instead cater for another sport (or another pitch type).  
 Securing community use at school sites including those currently unavailable. 
 Working with commercial and private providers to increase usage.  
 
The PPOSS identifies priority sites that should be focused upon, including those that are 
presently overplayed and/or poor quality, or unused sites that are particularly large. It also 
advises how issues can be overcome.  
 
Recommendation (i) - Rectify quantitative shortfalls through the current stock 
 
The Steering Group should use and regularly update the Action Plan within this Strategy. The 
Action Plan lists recommendations for each site, focused upon both qualitative and 
quantitative improvements, which if delivered will lessen the need for new provision.   
 
Linked to the above and as evidenced in Part 4, although there are identified shortfalls of 
match equivalent sessions, most current and future demand is currently being met and most 
shortfalls can be addressed via quality improvements and/or improved access to sites that 
presently used minimally or that are currently unavailable. Adding to the current stock, 
particularly in the short term, is therefore not recommended as a priority, except for 3G pitches, 
the shortfall for which cannot be reduced without new stock.  
 
Large scale housing developments and the establishment of new schools may also 
necessitate the need for new provision. Where new schools are developed, there is an 
opportunity to combine the building of the School to the development of a new multi-sport site 
that will be of a benefit to the School as well as the wider community. 
 
For housing developments, as outlined in Recommendation (g), Sport England’s Playing Pitch 
Calculator can be used as a guide to inform requirements. See Part 7 for further information.  
 
 

AIM 3 

To provide new outdoor sport facilities where there is current or future demand to do so. 

Recommendations: 
 
h. Rectify quantitative shortfalls through the current stock. 
 
i. Identify opportunities to add to the overall stock to accommodate both current and 

future demand. 

Page 298



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 59 

PART 6: ACTION PLAN 
 
The site-by-site action plan seeks to address key issues identified in the preceding Assessment 
Report. It provides recommendations based on current levels of usage, quality and future 
demand, as well as the potential of each site for enhancement. It is separated by analysis area 
and includes information pertaining to the sub sections below.  
 
Site hierarchy  
 
The Council should make it a high priority to work with NGBs and other partners to comprise a 
priority list of actions based on local priorities, NGB priorities and available funding. As stated in 
Recommendation (e), to allow for facility developments to be programmed within a phased 
approach, the Council should adopt a tiered approach to the management and improvement of 
playing pitch sites and associated facilities. 
 
The identification of sites is based on their strategic importance in a Borough-wide context i.e., 
they accommodate the majority of demand, or the recommended action has the greatest impact 
on addressing shortfalls identified either on a sport-by-sport basis or across the Council area as 
a whole.  
 
Table 6.1: Tiered site criteria 
 
Criteria Hub sites Key centres  Local sites 

Site location Strategically located in 
the Borough. Priority 
sites for NGBs. 

Strategically located within 
the analysis area. 

Services the local 
community. 

Site layout Accommodates three or 
more grass pitches, 
generally including 
provision of an AGP (or 
with the potential). 

Accommodates two or 
more grass pitches. 

Accommodates one or two 
pitches. 

Type of sport Multi-sport provision.  
Could also operate as a 
central venue. 

Single or multi-sport 
provision. 
 

Generally single sport 
provision but may cater for 
two.  

Management Management control 
allows for wide 
community use, i.e., 
through the local 
authority, a leisure 
operator or a school with 
a community use 
agreement.  

Management control 
generally allows for wide 
community use but may 
include sites that are 
owned or leased by 
clubs/other organisations. 

Management control can 
be via the local authority, 
schools, clubs and other 
providers.  

Maintenance 
regime 

Maintenance regime 
aligns or could align with 
NGB guidelines. 

Maintenance regime 
aligns or could align with 
NGB guidelines. 

Standard maintenance 
regime or an in-house 
maintenance contract. 

Ancillary 
facilities 

Good quality ancillary 
facilities on site (or 
potential), with sufficient 
changing rooms and car 
parking to serve the 
number of pitches; may 
include wider 
social/function facilities.  

Good quality ancillary 
facility on site (or 
potential), with sufficient 
changing rooms and car 
parking to serve the 
number of pitches. 

Limited or no changing 
room access on site.  

 
 
 

Page 299



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 60 

Hub sites are of Borough wide importance where users are willing to travel to access the 
range and high quality of facilities offered and are likely to be multi-sport. These have been 
identified on the basis of the impact that the site will have on addressing the issues identified 
in the assessment.  
 
Key centres are more community focused, although some are still likely to service a wider 
analysis area (or slightly wider); however, there may be more of a focus on a specific sport 
i.e., a dedicated site.  
 
It is considered that some financial investment may be necessary to improve the facilities at 
both hub sites and key sites. This could be to improve the provision, create additional provision 
(e.g., a 3G pitch) or to enhance the ancillary facilities in terms of access, flexibility (i.e., single-
sex changing if necessary) and quality as well as ensuring that they meet the rules and 
regulations of local competitions.  
 
Local sites refer to those sites offering minimal provision or that are of minimal value to the 
wider community. Primarily they are sites with one pitch/facility or a low number of 
pitches/facilities that service just one or two sports (e.g., bowling green sites).   
 
For local authority sites local sites, consideration should be given, on a site-by-site basis, to 
the feasibility of a club taking on a long-term lease (if not already present), in order that external 
funding can be sought. Such sites will require some level of investment, either to the outdoor 
sport facilities or ancillary facilities and is it anticipated that one of the conditions of offering a 
hire/lease is that the Club would be in a position to source external funding to improve/extend 
the provision.  
 
Other sites considered in this tier may be primary school sites or secondary school sites that 
are not widely used by the community or that do not offer community availability.   
 
Partners  
 
The column indicating partners refers to the main organisations that the Council would look to 
work with to support delivery of the actions.  
 
Given the extent of potential actions, it is reasonable to assume that partners will not 
necessarily be able to support all the actions identified but where the action is a priority and 
resource is available the partner will endeavour to assist.  
 
As all sites sit within the local authority area, the Council is considered to be a partner for each 
identified action (as the column indicates partners for the Council) and is therefore not included. 
However, it is acknowledged that it will take on more of a leading role for some specific sites 
and some specific actions (e.g., at council venues).  
 
Priority 
 
Although hub sites are mostly likely to have a high priority actions, as they have wide 
importance, these have been identified on the basis of the impact that the site will have on 
addressing the key issues identified in the assessment. Therefore, some key centres and local 
sites are also identified as having a high priority level. It is these projects/sites which should 
generally, if possible, be addressed within the short term (1-2 years). 
 
The majority of key centres have medium priority actions. These have analysis area 
importance and are identified on the basis of the impact that they will have on addressing the 
issues identified in the assessment, although not to the same extent as high priority actions.  
 

Page 300



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 61 

The low priority actions tend to be for single pitch or single sport sites and often club or 
education sites with local specific importance but that may also contribute to addressing the 
issues identified in the assessment for specific users. Whilst low priority, there may be 
opportunities to action some of the recommendations made against such sites relatively quickly 
e.g., through S106 funding.  
 
Costs 
 
The strategic actions have also been ranked as low, medium or high based on cost. The 
brackets are:  
 
 (L) -Low - less than £50k 
 (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k 
 (H) -High £250k and above 
 
These are based on Sport England’s estimated facility costs which can be found at: 
Link to Sport England Cost Guidance 
 
Timescales 
 
The Action Plan has been created to be delivered over a ten-year period and the information 
within the Assessment Report, Strategy and Action Plan will require updating as developments 
occur. The indicative timescales relate to delivery times and are not priority based: 
 
 (S) -Short (1-2 years) 
 (M) - Medium (3-5 years) 
 (L) - Long (6+ years)  
 
Aim 
 
Each action seeks to meet at least one of the three Sport England aims of the Strategy; 
Enhance, Provide, Protect.  
  

Page 301



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 62 

OLDBURY ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.2: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football (grass) Oldbury Adult  Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 6 

Football (grass) Oldbury Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 2 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (grass) Oldbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football (grass) Oldbury Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 1 Shortfall of 1 

Football (grass) Oldbury Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (grass) Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (3G 
pitches)  

Oldbury Full size, 
floodlit  

Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Cricket Oldbury Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Oldbury Sunday Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Cricket Oldbury Midweek Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 

Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 

Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 

Rugby union Oldbury Senior Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Rugby union Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey (sand 
AGPs) 

Oldbury Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
Table 6.3: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 
 
 
 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Page 302



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 63 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient although Warley BC is 
operating on the limit of the lowest 
recommended capacity for future 
sustainability. The Club should therefore 
be supported to increase membership 
and ensure future sustainability.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient although Warley BC is 
operating on the limit of the lowest 
recommended capacity for future 
sustainability. The Club should therefore 
be supported to increase membership 
and ensure future sustainability. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.5: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Barnford Park, Brandhall Primary 
School and Lion Farm Playing Fields.  

 Look to provide new pitches at sites where possible, such as at Cakemore 
Playing Field. 

 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required.  

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Look to provide additional full size pitches within the Analysis Area to alleviate 

current and future overplay (options include Ormiston Sandwell Community 
Academy and Lion Farm Playing Fields). 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Reinstate the square at Barnford Park if required by the Sandwell Cricket 

League. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 
 Support Warley RFC to improve ancillary provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 
 Resurface the AGP at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy as soon as 

possible, or, if a 3G conversion is pursued and supported ensure another full-
size hockey suitable AGP is provided in the Borough e.g., at Hydes Road or as 
part of new secondary school development in Smethwick. 

Golf  Seek investment into other golf facilities as part of the mitigation of Brandhall 
Golf Club.  

Page 303



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

  

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 64 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Warley BC to increase membership. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 

Page 304



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                 Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           65 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales10 Cost11 Aim 

3 Barnford Park Football Council Four quality adult pitches that are 
currently unused. Spare capacity is 
discounted due to poor pitch quality. 
Identified in the LFFP for pitch 
improvements and could be improved 
as potential mitigation if developments 
at Lion Farm Playing Fields move 
forward. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime in line with LFFP 
recommendations. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket 
(Disused) 

The site previously accommodated a 
grass cricket square which is not 
currently maintained. It was previously 
used by the Sandwell Cricket League, 
which aims to re-start in 2022. 

Determine with the League whether it 
will require access to a square on site 
and if so, ensure it is remarked. 

M S L 

9 Brandhall Primary School Football Education Two youth 11v11, one youth 9v9, one 
mini 7v7 and one mini 5v5 pitch, all of 
poor quality. The youth 11v11 pitches 
are played to capacity whilst all other 
pitch formats are overplayed by one or 
0.5 match equivalent sessions per 
week.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to alleviate 
overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

11 Bristnall Hall Academy Football Education One youth 11v11 pitch of standard 
quality which is unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

17 Cakemore Playing Field Football Council Two youth 9v9, two mini 7v7 and two 
mini 5v5 pitches, all of poor quality. The 
youth 9v9 pitches are overplayed by 
four match equivalent sessions per 
week whilst mini pitch formats are 
played to capacity at peak time. 
Oldbury United FC has plans to provide 
enhanced ancillary provision, two 
further adult pitches and improvements 
to the existing pitches on site. Existing 
ancillary provision is in poor condition.  
The site is listed in the LFFP for pitch 
improvements.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some demand on youth 
9v9 pitches to alternate sites with actual 
spare capacity to alleviate overplay. 
Explore the feasibility of supporting 
Oldbury United FC to develop the site. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H L H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

18 Causeway Green Primary 
School 

Football Education One standard quality youth 9v9 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

48 Langley Primary School Football Education One poor quality mini 5v5 pitch which is 
unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

50 Lion Farm Playing Fields Football Council 11 poor quality adult football pitches 
that are played to capacity at peak time. 
The site is listed in the LFFP for pitch 
and ancillary improvements.  
There is an Option Agreement in place 
between the Council and a Developer 
that enables the Developer to explore 
the feasibility of establishing a retail 
outlet village and other ancillary uses. If 
the scheme secured planning consent 
to proceed, there would be an impact 
for the playing pitches on this site. 

Improve pitch and ancillary quality in 
line with LFFP recommendations.  
If the site is to be lost, ensure 
appropriate mitigation takes place in line 
with NPPF and Sport England’s Playing 
Fields Policy. 
Explore creation of a 3G pitch (or 
pitches) if the site is to be retained, or 
as part of mitigation, given area 
shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

Key H H M Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

                                                 
10 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
11 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 305



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                 Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           66 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales10 Cost11 Aim 

However, no planning application has 
yet been submitted for these proposals. 

53 Moat Farm Junior School Football Education One standard quality youth 9v9 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

60 Oldbury Academy Football Education One adult and one youth 11v11 pitch 
both of poor quality. Both pitches are 
played to capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

Cricket  A standalone NTP of standard quality.  Sustain wicket quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

Tennis  Three good quality macadam tennis 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Netball  Five good quality macadam netball 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use. Three of the courts are 
floodlit.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Consider the feasibility of opening the 
courts for community use.  

M L L 

63 Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy 

Football Education Three adult and one youth 9v9 pitch of 
poor quality. The youth 9v9 pitch has 
discounted spare capacity due to poor 
pitch quality. 
The School aspires to install a 
dedicated external pavilion to better 
facilitate community use of the pitches.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime.  
Support the School to provide external 
ancillary provision on site. 

School 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 
EH 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Tennis Three standard quality macadam tennis 
courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Netball Two standard quality macadam netball 
courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Hockey One full-size hockey suitable AGP of 
poor quality which is floodlit and 
available for community use. The pitch 
is no longer used for community hockey 
due to its poor condition.  
The School is exploring the conversion 
of the pitch to a 3G surface.  

Improve pitch quality through 
resurfacing as soon as feasibly possible 
or convert to 3G providing hockey 
demand can be catered for elsewhere.  
If a 3G conversion is pursued and 
supported, another full-size hockey 
suitable AGP would need to be provided 
in the Borough. 

H S H 

65 Perryfields High School Football Education Three poor quality mini 5v5 pitches 
which are unavailable for community 
use.  

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect 

Netball Two standard quality macadam netball 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Tennis  Seven standard quality macadam tennis 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

71 Q3 Academy Football Education One adult and one youth 9v9 pitch of 
standard quality. Spare capacity is 
discounted due to unsecure tenure.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise a community use 
agreement to provide users with 
security of tenure. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

76 Rounds Green Primary 
School 

Football Education One standard quality mini 7v7 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

P
age 306



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                 Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           67 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales10 Cost11 Aim 

86 The Meadows School Hockey Education A small size AGP which is available for 
community use but without floodlighting. 
No quality issues are raised. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EA 

Local L L L Protect 

Athletics A 40m athletics track with no quality 
issues raised. 

Sustain track quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

87 Thimblemill Recreation 
Centre 

Football Sports Club Four poor quality adult pitches which 
are overplayed by 1.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week.  
The pitches on site overlap a cricket 
outfield. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to alleviate 
overplay. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
BCGBA 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket One standard quality grass cricket 
square with ten wickets. The square 
has spare capacity on Sundays and 
midweek. 
The square is used by Thimblemill CC 
which reports drainage is problematic 
on site and the wickets are slow and 
suffer from a low and irregular bounce. 

Look to improve square quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime to 
alleviate drainage and playing issues. 

M S L 

Bowls Two crown bowling greens which are 
used by Thimblemill BC. One green is 
of standard quality and the second is of 
good quality. The standard quality 
green is rarely maintained, with 
Thimblemill BC predominantly 
accessing the good quality green.  
The Club operates within the 
recommended capacity range. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  

L L L 

92 Tividale Park Football Council One adult and one youth 9v9 pitch of 
poor quality. Both pitches are 
overplayed by 0.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week.  
Identified for pitch improvements in the 
LFFP. Funding has been acquired by 
the Council to upgrade the changing 
rooms at Tividale Park, with a new car 
park also to be constructed. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime in line with LFFP 
recommendations.  
Ensure ancillary facilities are upgraded 
on site. 
Explore 3G pitch opportunities at the 
site given area shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S M Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket A standalone NTP of standard quality. Sustain wicket quality for informal and 
recreational cricket. 

L L L 

93 Tividale Sports Ground Football Council One adult and two mini 5v5 pitches, all 
of standard quality. The adult pitch is 
played to capacity at peak time whilst 
the mini 5v5 pitches have two match 
equivalent sessions of actual spare 
capacity.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

97 Warley Rugby Club Football Sports Club 
 

Two good quality adult football pitches 
which are overplayed by 3.5 match 
equivalent sessions per week. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to relocate some demand to 
alternate sites with actual spare 
capacity to alleviate overplay. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect 
Protect 

3G One small size 3G pitch which is floodlit 
and available for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

L L L 

P
age 307



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                 Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           68 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales10 Cost11 Aim 

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch of good 
(M2/D1) quality. The pitch as 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions of actual spare 
capacity. 
Ancillary facilities on site are in need of 
modernisation and considered a key 
barrier to participation.  
The Club has submitted a planning 
application for floodlights on its main 
pitch.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to improve ancillary 
facilities on site. 

M M M 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling green 
used by Warley BC. The Club is 
operating on the lower limit of the 
recommended capacity threshold.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support Warley BC to increase 
membership. 

M L L 

109 York Road Social & Sports 
Club 

Football Sports Club A standard quality adult pitch which is 
available to the community although 
spare capacity is discounted due to 
unsecure tenure. It was previously used 
by Bustleholme FC which states the site 
has now closed. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
If the site has closed, explore options to 
bring the pitch back into use.  

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

117 Old Cross Pub Bowls Commercial A good quality crown bowling green 
which is used by Old Cross BC. The 
Club is deemed to have unsecure 
tenure on site.  
The green is said to be in need of an 
upgraded watering system. The Club 
aspires to replace its pavilion entirely as 
existing facilities are without toilets. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary provision on site. 

Commercial 
BCGBA 

Local M M L Protect 
Enhance 

118 The George Public House Bowls Commercial A good quality, floodlit, crown bowling 
green which is used by The George BC. 
The Club is deemed to have unsecure 
tenure on site.  
The Club aspires to install a boundary 
fence for improved security and to 
create disabled access.  
The Club is operating at the highest end 
of the recommended capacity limit. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to providing fencing 
and improved access on site. 
Monitor future growth to ensure 
potential overplay does not cause green 
quality to deteriorate. 

Commercial 
BCGBA 

Local M M L Protect 
Provide 

119 Wernley Public House Bowls Commercial One good quality crown bowling green 
which is used by Wernley BC.  
Ancillary provision is in need of 
improvement. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary provision on site. 

Commercial 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

128 Jubilee Play Area Football Council Two standard quality youth 11v11 
pitches which are available for 
community use but currently unused. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Maximise site capacity to alleviate 
overplay of other pitches in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 308



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    69 

ROWLEY REGIS ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.5: Pitch headline findings  
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Adult  Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Rowley Regis 
 

Full size, floodlit  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Rowley Regis Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Rowley Regis Sunday Spare capacity of 12 Spare capacity of 12 
Cricket Rowley Regis Midweek At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

Rowley Regis Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Rowley Regis 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 309



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    70 

Table 6.6: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand.  
However, the green at Cradley Heath 
Sports and Social Club is at risk following 
the closure of the wider sports club on 
site.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand.  
However, the green at Cradley Heath 
Sports and Social Club is at risk following 
the closure of the wider sports club on 
site. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. Support clubs in 
the area to remain sustainable. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. Support clubs in 
the area to remain sustainable. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.7: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Britannia Park and St Michael’s CE 
High School.  

 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Brickhouse Farm. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required.  

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area to alleviate 

current and future overplay e.g., at Britannia Park. 
 
 

Page 310



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    71 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby union  No action required. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Explore the feasibility of providing floodlights at Ormiston Forge Academy 

Main Site. 

Golf  Protect provision. 
 Support Dudley Golf Club to increase membership.  

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Preserve the green at Cradley Heath Sports and Social Club or ensure it is 

appropriately mitigated.  
 If the green is lost, ensure the club is adequately relocated. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support Old Hill TC to increase membership and improve courts at Old Hill 

Cricket Club.  
 Support the Council to improve court and ancillary facility quality at Britannia 

Park.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  No action required. 

Water sports  No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 

Page 311



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      72 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
12 

Cost13 Aim 

2 Ashtree Playing Field Football Council One standard quality adult football pitch 
which has actual spare capacity of one 
match equivalent sessions per week. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Maximise site capacity to alleviate 
overplay of other pitches in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

4 Bearmore Playing Field Football Council Two poor quality adult pitches which are 
played to capacity. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket One standalone NTP of standard 
quality. 

Sustain wicket quality for recreational 
and informal demand.  

L L L 

8 Blackheath Primary School Football Education One mini 7v7 pitch of standard quality 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 

Local L L L Protect 

Netball One standard quality macadam netball 
court which is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

10 Brickhouse Farm Football 
(Disused) 

Council An adult football pitch which now lies 
disused.  

Explore the feasibility of bringing the 
pitch back into use to support with 
shortfalls across the Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

13 Britannia Park Football Council One adult, one youth 9v9, two mini 7v7 
and two mini 5v5 pitches, all of poor 
quality. The adult pitch is overplayed by 
0.5 match equivalent sessions per week 
whilst all other pitch formats have 
discounted spare capacity due to poor 
quality. A mini 5v5 and a mini 7v7 pitch 
overmark an adult pitch.  
The Council has secured significant 
funding to develop the site. This will be 
partly used to create a sporting ‘hub’ 
within the park including pitch and 
ancillary improvements and a small size 
3G pitch. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Council to create a wider 
sporting hub on site and improve 
ancillary provision on site. 
Explore 3G creation given area 
shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

LTA 

Key 
(potential 

Hub) 

H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Tennis Three poor quality macadam tennis 
courts that are available for community 
use but without floodlighting.   
The Council has secured significant 
funding to develop the site. This will be 
partly used to create a sporting ‘hub’ 
within the park including court and 
ancillary improvements. The Council is 
looking for a suitable organisation to 
manage the proposed new pavilion.  

Support the Council to improve court 
and ancillary facility quality on site 
alongside wider developments. 

H M H 

58 Old Hill Cricket Club Cricket  Sports Club  One good quality cricket square with 16 
grass wickets. The pitch suffers from 
moss growth and drainage issues 
although the Club has recently invested 
in a new drainage system which is 
expected to help. The square has 
capacity for additional play on Sundays. 
 
 
 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to improve onsite 
drainage. 

Sports Club 
ECB 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect 

                                                 
12 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
13 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 312



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      73 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
12 

Cost13 Aim 

Tennis  Four standard quality macadam tennis 
courts of which two are floodlit. Old Hill 
TC reports quality has deteriorated in 
the last year and signs of wear and tear 
are now evident. ClubSpark is in place 
on site. The Club only has 14 current 
members and states its future is now 
uncertain. 

Improve court quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to increase 
membership to ensure its future 
sustainability.  

H S L 

61 Ormiston Forge Academy 
(Hingleys) 

Football Education One adult and two mini 7v7 pitches 
which are available to the community. 
The adult pitch is overplayed by 6.5 
match equivalent sessions per week 
whilst the mini 7v7 pitches are played to 
capacity at peak time.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some demand to 
alternate sites with actual spare capacity 
to alleviate spare capacity. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

62 Ormiston Forge Academy 
Main Site 

Hockey  Education One full-size hockey suitable AGP of 
standard quality which is available for 
community use but without floodlighting.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Explore the feasibility of providing 
floodlights on site. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

School 
EH 
EN 

Local M S L Protect 
 

Netball Three standard quality macadam netball 
courts that are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for curricular use. L L L 

68 Portway Lifestyle Centre 3G Trust One good quality full size 3G which is 
floodlit and available for community use. 
Key users of the site include the Albion 
Foundation and Sandwell Steelers. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

RFU 

Local L L L Protect 

77 St Michael's CE High 
School (Rowley Regis 
Learning Campus) 

Football Education One youth 11v11 and one youth 9v9 
pitch, both of poor quality. The youth 
11v11 pitch is overplayed by five match 
equivalent sessions per week whilst the 
youth 9v9 pitch is overplayed by 2.5 
match equivalent sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Relocate some demand to alternate 
sites with actual spare capacity to 
alleviate overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide  

Cricket A standalone NTP that is not available 
for community use.  

Retain for continued school use School 
ECB 

L L L 

Hockey A smaller sized (65 x 40 metre) AGP 
that is floodlit but not available for 
community use.  

Retain for continued school use and 
explore community access given 
presence of lighting.  

School L L L 

Tennis Four standard quality macadam courts 
that are without floodlighting.  

Retain for continued school use School 
LTA 

L L L 

Netball Three standard quality macadam courts 
that are without floodlighting. 

Retain for continued school use School 
EN 

L L L 

91 Tividale Football Club Football Sports Club One good quality adult pitch which has 
spare capacity although this has been 
discounted to preserve quality for Step 
football.  
Pitch quality is said to have improved in 
the last year after Tividale FC received 
pitch maintenance grants. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

EH 

Local L L L Protect 

Hockey One small-size AGP which is available 
for community use but without 
floodlighting. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for future 
refurbishment. 
 

L L L 

P
age 313



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      74 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
12 

Cost13 Aim 

111 Dudley Golf Club Golf Sports Club An 18-hole, par 69 golf course. 
Membership has decreased by almost 
20% since 2015 to 214 current 
members. 
The Club has recently received Sport 
England funding to build a lift within its 
clubhouse, improving access and 
improving its DDA compliance. 

Sustain course quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the club to provide a lift on site 
and increase membership. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect 

112 Rowley Golf Club Golf Commercial A nine-hole, par 36 golf course and a 
covered 22 bay driving range. The range 
has TopTracer technology installed and 
is available for pay and play.  

Sustain course and range quality 
through dedicated maintenance 
regimes. 

Commercial 
EG 

Local L L L Protect 

124 Cradley Heath Sports and 
Social Club 

Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling green 
which is used by Cradley Heath BC. 
The green is now at risk following the 
closure of the wider sports club due to 
development.  

Ensure the green is protected to 
preserve Cradley Heath BC’s demand or 
that it is appropriately mitigated. 
If the green is lost, look to relocate the 
Club to an unused green, such as the 
now disused green at Haden Hill Park. 

Sports Club 
Council 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect 

126 St Giles Rowley Regis 
Parish Church 

Bowls Parish Council One good quality crown bowling green 
which is floodlit.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Parish 
Council 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 

127 Haden Hill Park Tennis Council One standard quality macadam tennis 
court which is available for community 
use but without floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
LTA 

BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling green 
used by Tallboats BC. 
The site previously provided a second 
green on site but this is no longer 
maintained.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

P
age 314



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   75 
 

SMETHWICK ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.8: Pitch headline findings 
 
Sport Analysis  

area 
Pitch type Current capacity total 

(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football (grass) Smethwick Adult Shortfall of 6.5 Shortfall of 7 
Football (grass) Smethwick Youth 11v11 At capacity Shortfall of 0.5 
Football (grass) Smethwick Youth 9v9 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Smethwick Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Smethwick Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Sandwell Adult Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 
Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 
Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 
Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 
Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 
Football (3G 
pitches)  

Smethwick 
 

Full size, 
floodlit 

Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Smethwick Saturday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Sunday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Midweek Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby union Smethwick Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 
Rugby union Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 
Hockey (sand 
AGPs) 

Smethwick 
 

Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is required. 

At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
Table 6.9: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed to 
be sufficient for current demand. Although 
Langley BC is currently operating above 
the recommended capacity threshold. 

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 
Although Langley BC is currently 
operating above the recommended 

Page 315



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   76 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 
Therefore, the Club may require support to 
ensure the level of demand is sustainable. 

capacity threshold. Therefore, the Club 
may require support to ensure the level of 
demand is sustainable. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. The track at Hadley Stadium is 
deemed surplus to requirements in its 
current form, with an alternative use 
therefore requiring exploration, although 
this could include informal athletics 
provision. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. The track at Hadley Stadium is 
deemed surplus to requirements in its 
current form, with an alternative use 
therefore requiring exploration, although 
this could include informal athletics 
provision. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. Continued 
access to Hadley Stadium for cycling 
should also be sought.  

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. Continued 
access to Hadley Stadium for cycling 
should also be sought.  

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand from 
all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling to 
clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.10: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Hadley Stadium and West Smethwick 
Park.  

 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Ensure new pitches are provided at West Smethwick Park. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches, particularly Hadley Stadium as its certification is set to expire shortly. 
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area e.g., an 

additional pitch at Hadley Stadium, Holly Lodge High School College of 
Science or Windsor Olympus Academy (New site).  

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Support the installation of an NTP at Smethwick Cricket Club. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 
 Support West Bromwich Dartmouth CC to ensure ground grading 

requirements are met at Sandwell Academy. 

Page 316



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   77 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Rugby 
union 

 Improve pitch quality at Warley RFC (St Johns Pitches) and explore the 
feasibility of improving ancillary facilities on site. 

Hockey  Support development of a new AGP as part of the creation of a new secondary 
school development in the area, providing it can be lit. 

Golf  Protect provision. 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Monitor demand at Langley Bowling Club to ensure the green remains 

sustainable.  

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  Secure continued cycling access to Hadley Stadium. 

Athletics  Pursue an alternative use for the track at Hadley Stadium. This could include 
an informal athletics facility. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 

Page 317



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      78 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
14 

Cost15 Aim 

7 Black Patch Park Football Council One poor quality youth 11v11 pitch which 
is currently unused. Spare capacity is 
discounted due to poor pitch quality.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime to 
provide actual spare capacity. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

24 Devonshire Infant and 
Junior Academy 

Football Education One standard quality youth 9v9 pitch 
which is played to capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

30 George Betts Primary 
School 

Netball Education One poor quality macadam netball court 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

36 Hadley Stadium Football Trust One standard quality adult football pitch 
which is overplayed by seven match 
equivalent sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime.  
Relocate some demand to alternate 
pitches with actual spare capacity to 
alleviate overplay. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EA 
BC 

Hub H S L Protect 
Enhance 

3G One good quality, full-size 3G pitch which 
is floodlit and available for community 
use. The pitch is FA approved although 
this is set to expire in May 2022. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
future refurbishment. 
Ensure the pitch is recertified for match 
play. 
Explore possibility of providing a 
second full size pitch given local 
shortfalls.  

M S L 

Athletics A 400m synthetic, floodlit athletics track. 
The track is assessed as poor quality and 
shows significant wear and tear. It also 
suffers from drainage issues. The track 
has now closed to the community due to 
health and safety issues. However, it is 
still used by Hadley Stadium Cycling Club 
which uses the track to provide family 
cycling in a safe off-road environment.  

Consider repurposing the track for 
other sporting needs.  
Consider creation of innovative 
athletics facilities given current 
England Athletics focus.  
Ensure cycling demand can continue 
to be catered for, either on site or at a 
suitable alternative venue.  

H S H 

40 Holly Lodge High School 
College of Science 

Football Education Two standard quality adult pitches which 
have discounted spare capacity due to 
unsecure tenure.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise a community use 
agreement to provide users with 
security of tenure. 
Explore the feasibility of providing a full 
size 3G pitch on site. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 

Local M S L Protect 

Netball Four good quality netball courts which are 
floodlit but unavailable for community use. 

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to secure community access to 
the courts on site. 

L L L 

49 Lewisham Park Cricket Council A standalone NTP of standard quality, 
although improvements are said to be 
needed to preserve the wicket. 

Sustain wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 

Council 
ECB 

BFA/FF 

Local H M H Protect 
Provide 

79 Sandwell Academy Football Education Two standard quality adult pitches that 
overlap a cricket outfield. The pitches are 
available for community use and played to 
capacity at peak time.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Formalise a community use agreement 
to provide users with security of 
tenure.  

School 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect 

                                                 
14 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
15 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 318



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      79 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
14 

Cost15 Aim 

79 Sandwell Academy 3G Education One good quality, full-size 3G pitch which 
is floodlit but unavailable for wider 
community use, with the Albion 
Foundation having exclusive access. The 
pitch previously featured on the FA 
register but this has expired. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when possible. 
Explore the feasibility of opening the 
pitch for wider community use.  

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
ECB 
EN 
EA 

Key L L L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Cricket A good quality grass cricket square with 
eight wickets. It is used by West 
Bromwich Dartmouth CC who are in 
discussions with the School regarding 
various ancillary aspects that need 
investment including a boundary rope, 
wicket covers and ballstop netting. After 
its third team was promoted, it now also 
requires this site to meet ground grading 
requirements which need to be met for the 
2023 season or the team will be 
relegated. 
The Club also reports it would benefit 
from an NTP and a mobile training net on 
site.  
The square is currently played to capacity. 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to work with the 
School and improve ancillary facilities 
on site to ensure ground grading 
requirements are met. 
Explore the feasibility of providing an 
NTP on site. 

H S M-H 

Netball Two standard quality macadam courts 
which are available for community use but 
without floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

Athletics A standard quality 200m ‘mini’ athletics 
track which is synthetic and without 
floodlighting.  

Sustain track quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

84 Stoney Lane Football Council Two standard quality adult football pitches 
which are currently unused. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure spare capacity on site is 
maximised to alleviate overplay of 
other pitches in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

94 Victoria Park (Smethwick) Cricket Council A standalone NTP of standard quality, 
although improvements are said to be 
needed to preserve the wicket. 
Grass wickets were also previously 
maintained on site.  

Sustain wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass wickets 
should the site be required as a 
secondary venue for a club.  

Council 
ECB 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect 

Tennis One poor quality macadam tennis court 
which is available for community use but 
without floodlighting.  

Improve court quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 

L L L 

98 Warley Rugby Club (St 
Johns Pitches) 

Football Sports Club Two standard quality adult pitches with 
0.5 match equivalent sessions of actual 
spare capacity. 
The site is serviced by poor quality 
ancillary provision.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary facilities on site. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Local M M M Protect 
Enhance 

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch of poor 
(M1/D0). Maintenance on site is basic and 
drainage is problematic in specific areas 
of the pitch. The pitch is currently unused 
due to poor pitch quality.  
Ancillary provision is said to be in need of 
improvement, with existing facilities dated 
and too small for adult rugby.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary facilities on site. 

M M M 

P
age 319



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      80 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
14 

Cost15 Aim 

102 West Bromwich Albion (The 
Hawthorns) 

Football Sports Club One good quality adult football pitch which 
is unavailable for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for Championship 
football. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect 

103 West Bromwich Albion FC 
Academy 

Football Sports Club One full-size, floodlit 3G pitch which is 
considered unavailable as most access is 
reserved for West Bromwich Albion FC.  
There is also a full-size indoor 3G pitch on 
site which is also unavailable to the wider 
community. Both pitches are of good 
quality. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect 

105 West Smethwick Park Football Council Four adult and one mini 7v7 pitch, all of 
which are of poor quality. The adult 
pitches are overplayed by two match 
equivalent sessions per week whilst the 
mini 7v7 pitch is played to capacity at 
peak time.  
Identified in the LFFP for pitch and 
ancillary improvements. 
A new youth pitch is to be established, in 
addition to ancillary improvements, as part 
of Heritage Lottery funding into the site. 
The site was previously considered for a 
3G pitch development by the Albion 
Foundation although this would have 
jeopardised the Heritage Lottery funding. 

Improve pitch and ancillary quality on 
site in line with LFFP 
recommendations to alleviate overplay. 
Ensure the additional pitch is provided 
on site. 
Explore creation of a full size 3G pitch 
given area shortfalls (as an alternative 
to an additional pitch at Hadley 
Stadium) 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Key H M M-H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Cricket Two poor quality standalone NTPs. Grass 
wickets were previously maintained on 
site. The wickets were previously used by 
the Sandwell Cricket League which 
expects to recommence in 2022. 
One NTP may be lost due to the wider 
site improvements through Heritage 
Lottery funding.  

Improve wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass wickets 
to better accommodate demand.  

M M L 

114 Warley Woods Golf Course Golf Trust A nine-hole, par 34 golf course.  
The Club aspires to improve its clubhouse 
which England Golf would be supportive 
of.  
Since 2015, membership has increased 
by 45% to 145 members.  

Sustain course quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to improve the 
clubhouse on site. 
Seek investment as part of the 
mitigation of Brandhall Golf Club.  

Trust 
EG 

Local M M M Protect 
Enhance 

116 Langley Bowling Club Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling green 
used by Langley BC. The Club is 
operating above the recommended 
capacity limit.  

Sustain green quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Monitor demand to ensure this is 
sustainable and does not cause green 
quality to deteriorate. 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local H L L Protect 

120 Smethwick Cricket Club Cricket Sports Club One good quality grass cricket square 
with 13 wickets. The square is overplayed 
by five match equivalent sessions per 
season. 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of providing an 
NTP on site to alleviate overplay. 

Sports Club 
ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Provide 

123 Old Chapel Inn Bowls 
(Disused) 

Private A disused bowling green which is now 
used solely as a beer garden. 

Retain as strategic reserve should 
bowls demand reform and ensure area 
remains free of permanent built 
structures (without mitigation being 
provided).  

Private 
BCGBA 

Local L S L Protect 

P
age 320



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             81 

TIPTON ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.11: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Adult  Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Youth 9v9 Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Tipton 
 

Full size, floodlit  At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Sunday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 

Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 

Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 

Rugby 
union 

Tipton 
 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Tipton 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 321



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             82 

Table 6.12: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis 
 
 
 
 
 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball 
 
 
 
 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient although Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC is operating on the limit of the 
lowest recommended capacity for future 
sustainability. The Club should therefore 
be supported to increase membership and 
ensure future sustainability.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient although Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC is operating on the limit of the 
lowest recommended capacity for future 
sustainability. The Club should therefore 
be supported to increase membership and 
ensure future sustainability. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Priority should be placed on 
protecting the track at Tipton Sports 
Academy and ensuring that it remains of a 
sufficient quality to accommodate the 
levels of demand received.  

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Priority should be placed on 
protecting the track at Tipton Sports 
Academy and ensuring that it remains of a 
sufficient quality to accommodate the 
levels of demand received.  

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.13: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Tipton Sports Academy. 
 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 
 
 
 

Page 322



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             83 

Sport Priority recommendations  

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches. 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 

Golf  No action required. 
 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Victoria Park (Tipton) BC to improve toilet facilities and increase 

membership at Victoria Park (Tipton). 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support the Sandwell Leisure Trust and LTA to enhance the available tennis 

offer at Tipton Sports Academy. 

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 
 Improve track quality at Tipton Sports Academy and ensure the throwing cage 

is improved to meet certifications. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 
 
 
 

Page 323



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      84 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
16 

Cost17 Aim 

22 Coneygre Arts Centre 
Pitches 

Football Council One standard quality adult football pitch 
which is played to capacity at peak time. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

27 Farley Park Football Council One poor quality adult football pitch 
which is played to capacity. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

33 Great Bridge Primary 
School 

Football Education One mini 7v7 pitch of standard quality 
which is unavailable for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

45 Jubilee Park Football Council Two adult, one youth 9v9 and two mini 
7v7 pitches all of poor quality. The adult 
pitches are played to capacity whilst the 
youth and mini pitches have discounted 
spare capacity due to poor pitch quality. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket A standard quality, standalone NTP.  Sustain wicket quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

55 Newtown Primary School Football Education One standard quality mini 5v5 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

69 Powis Avenue Football 
(Disused) 

Council One youth 11v11 pitch which now lies 
disused and is no longer marked.  

Explore the feasibility of reinstating the 
pitch in order to support local shortfalls. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Provide 

73 Q3 Academy Tipton Football Education One standard quality adult pitch which is 
unavailable for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FA 

RFU 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch of poor 
(M0/D0) quality which is unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Tennis Three poor quality macadam tennis 
courts that are available for community 
use but without floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Netball Three poor quality macadam netball 
courts that are available for community 
use but without floodlighting. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

78 Gospel Oak School Football Education A youth 11v11 and a youth 9v9 pitch of 
standard quality. Both pitches have one 
match equivalent sessions of actual 
spare capacity. The youth 9v9 pitch is 
overmarked with rugby union. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Look to maximise actual spare capacity 
to alleviate overplay of other pitches in 
the area. 

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
ECB 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

3G One good quality full-size 3G pitch 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use. The pitch also features 
on the FA pitch register.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

L L L 

Cricket A standalone NTP in poor condition 
which is in need of repair/replacement. 
The wicket was previously used by the 
Sandwell Cricket League which expects 
to recommence in 2022. 

Look to repair/replace the NTP on site to 
better accommodate curricular demand 
and the Sandwell Cricket League, 
should it return. 

M S L 

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch which is of 
standard (M1/D1) quality which is played 
to capacity through curricular and 
football use. The pitch is overmarked 
with a youth 9v9 football pitch. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  

L L L 

                                                 
16 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
17 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 324



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      85 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
16 

Cost17 Aim 

78 Gospel Oak School Tennis Education Three standard quality macadam tennis 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
LTA 
EN 

Key L L L Protect 

Netball Three standard quality macadam netball 
courts which are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

80 Silvertrees Academy Hockey Education One small-size, hockey suitable AGP 
which is without floodlighting and is 
unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EH 

Local L L L Protect 

90 Tipton Sports Academy Football Trust One adult and one youth 11v11 pitch, 
both of standard quality. Both pitches 
are overplayed by 1.5 and 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions per week 
respectively.  
Listed in the LFFP for pitch and ancillary 
improvements although Tipton Town FC 
reports the site is supported by good 
quality ancillary facilities. 
The adult pitch is also overmarked for 
American Football. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime and in line with 
LFFP recommendations. 
Further explore whether ancillary 
improvements are necessary on site. 
Alleviate overplay by relocating some 
demand to an alternate site with actual 
spare capacity or by improved pitch 
management. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

EH 
LTA 
EA 

Hub H S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Hockey One small-size hockey suitable AGP 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Tennis Four good quality macadam tennis 
courts which are floodlit and available 
for community use. Courts are 
supported by good quality ancillary 
provision. 
The courts are used by the Walsall and 
Wolverhampton parks tennis leagues. 
Sandwell Leisure Trust and the LTA are 
in discussions regarding an aspiration to 
cover the four courts on site with two air 
domes/bubbles and to install four 
dedicated padel courts where a multi-
use games area is currently provided. 

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Support the Sandwell Leisure Trust and 
LTA to enhance the available tennis 
offer on site. 

H L H 

Athletics A 400m, eight lane synthetic athletics 
track of standard quality which is floodlit 
and available for community use. 
The track passed a TrackMark 
inspection although repairs are required 
and the surface is need of cleaning and 
over spraying. The throwing cage also 
recently failed an inspection although 
can still be used for training. Financial 
support has been provided to bring the 
cage up to standard. 
The track is supported by good quality 
ancillary facilities and is home to Tipton 
Harriers. 

Improve track quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime and improve the 
throwing cage in order to pass 
inspections. 

M S M 

P
age 325



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      86 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
16 

Cost17 Aim 

95 Victoria Park (Tipton) Cricket Council A standard quality standalone NTP. The 
site also previously accommodated 
grass wickets although these are no 
longer maintained.  

Sustain wicket quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass wickets 
should the site be required as a 
secondary venue for any club.  

Council 
ECB 
LTA 

BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

Tennis One poor quality macadam tennis court 
which is available for community use but 
without floodlighting. 
Line markings on site are said to be 
badly faded. 
Ancillary facilities on site are in poor 
condition. 

Improve court quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary facilities on site. 

L L L 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling green 
which is used by Victoria Park (Tipton) 
BC. The Club plans to refurbish toilet 
facilities on site and is due to submit a 
planning application for this. 
Membership is said to have declined in 
recent years and the Club now operates 
on the lower limit of the recommended 
capacity level. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to improve toilet 
facilities and to increase membership. 

M S L 

100 Wednesbury Oak Academy Football Education One standard quality mini 7v7 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for curricular use. School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

 
 

P
age 326



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             87 

WEDNESBURY ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.14: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Adult  Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 3 Shortfall of 3 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Wednesbury 
 
 

Full size, floodlit  At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Wednesbury Saturday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Sunday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Midweek Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

Wednesbury Senior Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Wednesbury 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 327



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             88 

Table 6.15: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.16: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Hydes Road Playing Fields.  
 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Kent Road Park and Elwells. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches.  

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 
 Explore the increased utilisation of NTPs.  

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at overplayed sites.  

Hockey  No action required. 

Golf  No action required. 
Page 328



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                             89 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Bowls  Explore options for the currently unused green at Hydes Road Playing Fields. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support the LTA to provide site improvements at Brunswick Park.  
 Support Wednesbury TC to provide floodlights and improve court quality at 

Wednesbury Sports Union.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  No action required. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 

Page 329



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      90 
 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
18 

Cost19 Aim 

14 Brunswick Park Football Council A standard quality adult football pitch 
which is available for community use but 
unused.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to maximise actual spare capacity 
to alleviate overplay of other pitches in 
the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Tennis Four poor quality macadam tennis 
courts which are available for 
community use but without floodlights.  
The LTA is working with the Council on 
a parks development project in 2022 
which may include upgrades to the 
provision on site and the implementation 
of Gate Access. 

Improve court quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Support the parks development project 
on site to further improve the 
recreational and informal tennis offer. 

H S M-H 

Netball One poor quality macadam netball court 
which is available for community use but 
without floodlighting.  

Support the LTA and Council’s parks 
development project on site to improve 
court quality. 

M S L 

25 Elwells Football 
(Disused) 

Council An adult football and a youth 11v11 
pitch which now lie disused.  

Explore the feasibility of bringing the 
pitches back into use to support with 
shortfalls across the Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

29 Friar Park Playing Fields Football 
(Lapsed) 

Council Four lapsed youth 11v11 pitches. A 
development of circa 630 dwellings is 
currently being considered on site.  

Determine future use of the provision 
based on the following priority order of 
options: 
1) Retain/allocate site as strategic 
reserve. 
2) Explore feasibility to bring back into 
use. 
3) Use as open space to meet local 
needs. 
4) Redevelop site and mitigate loss to 
meet Sport England Playing Field Policy 
requirements. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

 

- - - - Protect 

42 Holyhead Primary School Football Education One standard quality youth 9v9 pitch 
which is available for community use. 
The pitch has discounted spare capacity 
due to unsecure tenure. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise community use 
agreement to provide users with security 
of tenure.  

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Football Council Six adult and one youth 9v9 pitch, all of 
poor quality. The adult pitches have 
discounted spare capacity whilst the 
youth 9v9 pitch is overplayed by 0.5 
match equivalent sessions per week.  
Identified in the LFFP for pitch and 
ancillary improvements. 
The site is also being considered for a 
full size 3G or hockey-suitable AGP 
development.  
 

Improve pitch and ancillary facility 
quality in line with LFFP 
recommendations. 
Explore the feasibility of providing a full-
size artificial pitch on site. This could be 
a 3G or hockey-suitable AGP 
development, depending on other 
developments in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
 

Local H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

                                                 
18 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
19 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 330



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      91 
 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
18 

Cost19 Aim 

Cricket A standalone NTP which is in poor 
condition and in need of 
repair/replacement. Grass wickets were 
also previously provided on site but are 
no longer maintained.  

Improve wicket quality through repair or 
replacement. 
Consider re-establishing the grass 
wickets if the site is required as a 
secondary venue for any clubs.  

M S L 

43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Bowls Council One good quality crown bowling green 
which is currently unused.  

Retain as strategic reserve or look to 
repurpose the green into another 
sporting facility. 

Council 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
 

54 Moorlands Primary School Netball Education One standard quality macadam netball 
court which is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

59 Old Park Primary School Football  Education One standard quality youth 11v11 pitch 
which is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

70 Pulse Soccer & Fitness 
Wednesbury 

Football Commercial Two adult pitches that are to be lost to 
housing, with replacement provision to 
be provided at Phoenix Academy 

Re-provide pitches to a good quality.  BFA/FF Local H S L Protect 
Enhance  

Netball Six poor quality macadam netball courts 
that are floodlit and available for 
community use. To be replaced through 
new courts and secured use at Phoenix 
Academy. 

Re-provide courts to a good quality and 
secure community use.  

Commercial 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EN 

H S L 

3G  Nine small size 3G pitches that are 
floodlit and available for community use. 
The pitches have now exceeded their 
recommended lifespan. 

Improve pitch quality through resurfacing 
as soon as feasibly possible. 

H S H 

85 Stuart Bathurst Catholic 
High School 

Netball Education Three standard quality macadam netball 
courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

99 Wednesbury Sports Union Cricket Sports Club A good quality cricket square with ten 
grass wickets and an NTP. The square 
is overplayed by six match equivalent 
sessions per season.  

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of better utilising 
the NTP on site to alleviate overplay. 

Sports Club 
ECB 
LTA 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Tennis Four standard quality macadam tennis 
courts that are available for community 
use but without floodlighting. Court 
quality is said to be deteriorating, with 
resurfacing required in the near future.  
Wednesbury TC is working with the LTA 
regarding the potential installation of 
floodlighting on site. ClubSpark is in 
place on site.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
resurfacing work when necessary. 
Support the Club to provide floodlighting 
on site.  

M M M 

101 Wednesbury Rugby Club 3G Sports Club One small-size 3G pitch which is floodlit 
and available for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

Sports Club 
RFU 

BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

Rugby 
Union 

One poor (M1/D0) quality senior rugby 
union pitch which is without floodlighting 
although the club has a separate floodlit 
training area. The pitch is overplayed by 
0.5 match equivalent sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to alleviate 
overplay. 

M S L 

P
age 331



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      92 
 
 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales
18 

Cost19 Aim 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston 
Academy 

Football Education One standard quality youth 11v11 pitch 
which is available to the community and 
overplayed by three match equivalent 
sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some demand to an 
alternate pitch with actual spare capacity 
to alleviate overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

Rugby 
Union 

One poor (M0/D1) quality senior rugby 
union pitch which is unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
RFU 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect 

Tennis Three standard quality macadam tennis 
courts that are floodlit but unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

107 Wodensborough Ormiston 
Academy 

Netball Education Two standard quality macadam netball 
courts that are floodlit but unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

108 Wood Green Academy Football Education Two adult, one youth 11v11 and one 
youth 9v9 pitch, all of standard quality. 
All pitch formats have discounted spare 
capacity due to unsecure tenure.  
The youth 9v9 pitch is also used for 
rugby union by the School but no 
markings are in place.  The School 
aspires to install a dedicated external 
pavilion on site to better facilitate 
community lettings.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise community use 
agreement to provide users with security 
of tenure. 

School 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket A standalone NTP which is considered 
to be of poor quality and in need of 
repair/replacement.  

Improve wicket quality through 
repair/replacement to better 
accommodate curricular demand.  

L L L 

130 Kent Road Park Football 
(Lapsed) 

Council One adult pitch which now lies lapsed.  Determine future use of the provision 
based on the following priority order of 
options: 
1) Retain/allocate site as strategic 
reserve. 
2) Explore feasibility to bring back into 
use. 
3) Use as open space to meet local 
needs. 
4) Redevelop site and mitigate loss to 
meet Sport England Playing Field Policy 
requirements. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

- - - - Protect 

 
 

P
age 332



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 93 

WEST BROMWICH ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.17: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult  Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 4.5 Shortfall of 5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 7v7 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

West 
Bromwich 
 

Full size, floodlit  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Saturday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Sunday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Midweek Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

West 
Bromwich 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

West 
Bromwich 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 333



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 94 

Table 6.18: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by England 
Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as well 
as on supporting the various initiatives that 
are championed by England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 
Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 members) 
is operating below the level of 
membership required to ensure that its 
green is sustainable. Support is therefore 
required to safeguard the Club, with 
emphasis needing to be placed on 
ensuring that it can fulfil its future growth 
aspirations. 

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 
Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 members) 
is operating below the level of 
membership required to ensure that its 
green is sustainable. Support is therefore 
required to safeguard the Club, with 
emphasis needing to be placed on 
ensuring that it can fulfil its future growth 
aspirations. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also be 
explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.19: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Birmingham County FA Headquarters, 
Charlemont Playing Fields and Queen Elizabeth Playing Fields.  

 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Kenrick Park. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Page 334



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 95 

Sport Priority recommendations  

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches.  
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area to cater for 

future demand, with options including Birmingham County FA Headquarters 
and Phoenix Collegiate. 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Explore the installation of an NTP at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club 

to alleviate overplay. 
 Improve changing facilities where required, including at West Bromwich 

Dartmouth Cricket Club. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 

Golf  Protect provision. 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Dartmouth BC to increase membership. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other sports  No action required. 
 
  

Page 335



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           96 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales20 Cost21 Aim 

1 All Saints C Of E Primary 
School 

Netball Education One poor quality macadam netball court 
which is unavailable for community use.  

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

5 Birmingham County FA 
Football Development 
Centre 

Football NGB One good quality adult football pitch 
which has one match equivalent sessions 
of actual spare capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Maximise spare capacity on site to 
alleviate overplay of other pitches in the 
area. 

BFA/FF Key L L L Protect 

6 Birmingham County FA 
Headquarters 

Football Commercial One poor quality adult football pitch which 
is played to capacity.  
Listed in the LFFP for grass pitch and 
ancillary improvements.  
The site had also been listed for a small 
size 3G but a full size 3G pitch is now 
being considered. The FA and Football 
Foundation are supportive of the project 
but access and parking issues would 
need to be resolved.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime, in line with LFFP 
recommendations.  
Support ancillary facility improvements on 
site and explore the feasibility of providing 
a full-size 3G pitch on site. 

Commercial 
BFA/FF 

Key H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

16 Bustleholme Playing Fields Football Council Three poor quality youth 9v9 pitches 
which are unused although spare 
capacity is discounted due to unsecure 
tenure. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

19 Charlemont Playing Fields Football Council Two youth 11v11 and three youth 9v9 
pitches, all of poor quality. The youth 
11v11 pitches are overplayed by 4.5 
match equivalent sessions per week 
whilst the youth 9v9 pitches are 
overplayed by 1.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week. 
Bustleholme FC aspires to take on 
management of the site. Ancillary 
facilities are of standard quality although 
the toilets are in poor condition and the 
showers are unsafe for use. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Support Bustleholme FC to improve 
ancillary provision on site. 
Look to agree a long-term lease 
agreement with the Club to attract grant 
funding for site improvements. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H S M Protect 
Enhance 

21 Churchfields Playing Fields Football Council Three standard quality adult pitches that 
are played to capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

26 F.C Premier Football Sports Club One good quality and one standard 
quality adult pitch. The good quality pitch 
is played to capacity at peak time whilst 
the standard quality pitch is played to 
capacity. 
Listed in the LFFP for pitch 
improvements. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime in line with LFFP 
recommendations. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling green 
that was used by Great Barr BC although 
the Club has not been able to re-access 
the green as it has not yet re-opened 
following initial Covid-19 restrictions.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure Great Barr BC is able to re-
access the green on site. 

H S L 

28 Ferndale Primary School 3G Education One small-size 3G pitch which is floodlit 
and available for community use from 
16:00 – 19:00 during the week.  

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime and ensure sinking 
fund is in place for future refurbishment. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

                                                 
20 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
21 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 336



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           97 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales20 Cost21 Aim 

28 Ferndale Primary School Netball Education Two standard quality netball courts that 
are unavailable for community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

31 George Salter Academy Football Education Two adult pitches of poor quality and one 
youth 11v11 pitch of standard quality. The 
adult pitches are overplayed by 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions per week whilst the 
youth 11v11 pitch is played to capacity. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EN 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

3G One full size and one small size 3G pitch 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use. Both pitches feature on 
the FA pitch register and are of good 
quality. 
The floodlights on the full size pitch are 
said to be temperamental and in need of 
an upgrade. 

Sustain pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Support the School to improve 
floodlighting on site. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for future 
refurbishment. 

M S L 

Netball Four good quality netball courts that are 
floodlit and available for community use. 
The site is home to the Dudley Netball 
League. The courts have recently been 
resurfaced although the League reports 
some worn areas are starting to develop.  
The site is serviced by good quality 
ancillary facilities.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

34 Greets Green Playing Fields Football Council One standard quality and two poor quality 
adult football pitches that are currently 
unused. All pitches have spare capacity 
although this is discounted from the poor 
quality pitches due to poor pitch quality. 
Ancillary provision on site is of poor 
quality and has recently been 
condemned, meaning they are no longer 
accessible.  
Listed as a potential site for mitigation if 
developments at Lion Farm Playing 
Fields go ahead.  

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Look to reinstate ancillary provision on 
site, if required by site users. 

Council 
BFA/FF 
BCGBA 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling green. 
The site previously provided two bowling 
greens although the second has been 
repurposed as a play area.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

35 Grove Vale Primary School Netball Education Two standard quality macadam netball 
courts that are unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

37 Hanbury Primary School Football Education One standard quality mini 7v7 pitch which 
is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

38 Hargate Primary School Football Education One standard quality mini 5v5 pitch which 
is unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

44 Jesson Playing Fields Football Council One poor quality adult football pitch which 
is unused although spare capacity is 
discounted due to poor pitch quality. 
Listed as a potential site for mitigation if 
developments at Lion Farm Playing 
Fields go ahead. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

P
age 337



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           98 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales20 Cost21 Aim 

46 Kenrick Park Football 
(Disused) 

Council An adult football pitch which now lies 
disused.  

Explore the feasibility of bringing the pitch 
back into use to support with shortfalls 
across the Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

47 King George V Playing 
Fields (West Bromwich) 

Football Council Seven standard quality adult football 
pitches that are played to capacity at 
peak time. 
Identified in the LFFP for pitch and 
ancillary improvements.  

Improve pitch and ancillary facility quality 
on site in line with LFFP 
recommendations. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
EH 

Key M M M Protect 
Enhance 

Cricket A standalone NTP of standard quality. Sustain wicket quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  

L L L 

Hockey One small-size hockey suitable AGP 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

L L L 

66 Phoenix Collegiate Football Education One poor quality adult pitch and a 
standard quality youth 11v11 pitch which 
is unavailable for community use.  
The School will provide two additional 
adult pitches on site from September 
2022 as part of mitigation for its closed 
campus, with the potential for these to be 
floodlit. Once online, they will be available 
to the community.  
The site is identified in the LFFP as a 
potential venue for a full size 3G pitch. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure additional pitches are provided on 
site. 
Explore the feasibility of providing a full 
size 3G pitch on site and explore the 
options for this to cater for both football 
and rugby union demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 
EA 

Key H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Tennis  One good quality macadam tennis court 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

Netball Seven good quality macadam tennis 
courts that are floodlit and available for 
community use. The courts were 
resurfaced in 2019 and are used by the 
Walsall Netball League and a Play 
Netball League.  

Sustain court quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

Athletics  One 400m cinder track which is without 
floodlighting. The track has been 
improved recently as well as adding a 
seventh lane.  

Sustain track quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

72 Q3 Academy Great Barr Football Education Two adult and one youth 9v9 pitches, all 
poor quality. The pitches are unavailable 
for community use.  
One adult pitch overmarks a senior rugby 
union pitch. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EH 

Local L L L Protect 

Rugby 
Union  

One senior rugby union pitch which is 
overmarked on an adult football pitch. 
The rugby pitch is of poor (M0/D0) quality 
and unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

Hockey One small-size hockey suitable AGP 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use.  
 
 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

L L L 

P
age 338



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                           99 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales20 Cost21 Aim 

74 Queen Elizabeth Playing 
Fields 

Football Council Two adult, one youth 9v9 and one mini 
7v7 pitch, all of poor quality. All pitch 
types have discounted spare capacity 
due to poor pitch quality. 

Improve pitch quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

75 Red House Park Football Council Four adult and one mini 7v7 pitches, all of 
standard quality and all overlap a cricket 
outfield. 
The pitches are available for community 
use and the mini 7v7 pitch has 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions of actual spare 
capacity whilst the adult pitches are 
played to capacity at peak time. 

Sustain pitch quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 

104 West Bromwich Dartmouth 
Cricket Club 

Cricket Sports Club One good quality cricket square with ten 
wickets. The square is overplayed by 12 
matches per season. 
Ancillary provision is of standard quality 
although the Club is exploring the 
reconfiguration of the ground floor of the 
clubhouse and changing rooms to make 
facilities gender compliant.  

Sustain square quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the installation of an NTP to 
reduce demand on grass wickets. 
Support the Club to improve ancillary 
facilities and ensure changing rooms are 
gender compliant. 

Sports Club 
ECB 

BCGBA 

Local H M M Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

Bowls One good quaity crown bowling green 
used by Dartmouth Links BC. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L 

110 Dartmouth Golf Club Golf Sports Club A nine-hole, par 36 golf course although 
two tee beds are provided on each hole 
to replicate an 18-hole offering.  
Membership has fallen by almost 6% 
since 2015, to 101 members. 

Sustain course quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to increase 
membership. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect 

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club Golf Sports Club An 18-hole, par 71 golf course of good 
quality.  
Green fees are unavailable at the 
weekends as this is typically reserved for 
competitions. Ancillary provision on site is 
also of high quality. 
Membership has increased by almost 9% 
since 2015, with membership now at 432. 

Sustain course quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect 

121 Dartmouth Bowling Club  Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling green 
used by Dartmouth BC. The Club is 
currently operating below the minimum 
capacity rating with 19 members. 
Car parking on site is said to be 
problematic.  

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support Dartmouth BC to increase 
membership. 
 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect 

122 West Brom football 
supporters club 

Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling green 
which is used by West Bromwich Football 
Supporters BC. 

Sustain green quality through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 

129 Shireland Collegiate 
Academy 

Tennis Education Three standard quality macadam tennis 
courts that are unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect 

Netball Three standard quality macadam courts 
that are unavailable for community use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

L L L 

P
age 339



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                            100 

PART 7: HOUSING GROWTH SCENARIOS 
 
The PPOSS provides an estimate of demand for pitch sports based on population forecasts 
to 2039 (in line with the previously proposed Black Country Plan, which will now be replaced 
by four separate local plans). This future demand is translated into teams likely to be 
generated, rather than actual pitch provision required. The Sport England Playing Pitch 
Calculator adds to this, updating the likely demand generated for pitch sports based on 
housing increases and converts the demand into match equivalent sessions and the number 
of pitches required. This is achieved via team generation rates in the Assessment Report to 
determine how many new teams would be generated from an increase in population derived 
from housing growth and gives the associated costs of supplying the increased pitch provision.  
 
Experience shows that housing sites with 600 dwellings or more are likely to generate demand 
for new provision to be created. For such large scale developments, consideration should be 
given to providing multi-pitch sites with suitable ancillary provision, including appropriate 
clubhouse/changing facilities and car parking. Single pitch sites which have been provided 
traditionally by developers are not considered to provide long term sustainable provision for 
the relevant sports.  
 
Where demand does not warrant new pitch provision, the Action Plan in this document should 
be consulted to determine whether the additional demand can be accommodated via existing 
provision (in which case no further action is required). If this is not the case, contributions 
should be sought to enhance existing provision in the locality to accommodate the increased 
demand. This can be through, for example, improving quality, or providing new or improved 
ancillary provision. Consultation with appropriate NGBs should also be used to assist in the 
selection of suitable sites and suitable enhancements. 
 
The scenarios below are provided as a guide to show the potential additional demand for pitch 
sports that could be generated from housing growth in Sandwell, thus showing how the 
calculator works and what it provides. The demand is shown in match equivalent sessions per 
week for most sports, except for cricket, where match equivalent sessions are by season. 
Training demand is expressed in either hours or match equivalent sessions. Where expressed 
in hours, it is expected that demand will be to either a 3G pitch (to accommodate football 
demand) or an AGP (to accommodate hockey demand). Where expressed in match equivalent 
sessions, it is expected training will take place on floodlit grass pitches (rugby).  
 
The scenarios are based on two individual developments that are already planned in Sandwell. 
These are as follows:  
 
 Scenario One – Development of land at Friar Park Road – 630 dwellings. 
 Scenario Two – Development of Brandhall Golf Course - 190 dwellings (unconfirmed). 
 Scenario Three - Accumulative demand for pitch sports generated from housing growth 

from the total anticipated housing growth across the Black Country. 
 
For reference, the indicative figures assume that population growth will average 2.322 per 
dwelling. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                 
22 The occupancy rate of 2.3 is in line with figures used in the 2011 Census. 

Page 340



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                            101 

Scenario One – Development of land at Friar Park Road – 630 dwellings. 
 
The estimated additional population derived from housing growth from 630 dwellings with an 
occupancy rate of 2.3 per household is 1,449 people. This population increase equates to 0.77 
match equivalent sessions of demand per week for grass pitch sports, 0.02 match equivalent 
sessions of demand per week for hockey and 1.57 match equivalent sessions of demand per 
season for cricket. Training demand equates to 1.51 hours of use per week for football on 3G 
pitches, 0.01 match equivalent sessions of demand per week on rugby union pitches and 0.04 
hours per week for hockey.  
 
Table 7.1: Likely demand for grass pitch sports generated from 630 dwellings 
 

Pitch sport Match demand (MES) per week23   Training demand24 

Adult football 0.24 1.51 hours total 

Youth football 0.36 As above 

Mini soccer 0.16 As above 

Rugby union 0.01 0.01 match equivalent sessions 

Rugby league 0.00 0.00 match equivalent sessions 

Adult hockey 0.01 0.04 hours 

Junior & mixed hockey 0.01 0.00 hours 

Cricket 1.57 - 
 
The table below translates estimated demand into new pitch provision with associated capital 
and lifestyle costs. 
 
Table 7.2: Estimated demand and costs for new pitch provision 
 

Pitch type Number of pitches 
to meet demand  

Capital 
cost25 

Lifecycle Cost 
(per annum)26 

No. of 
rooms 

Capital 
cost 

Adult football 0.24 £22,477 £4,783 0.47 £77,546 
Youth football 0.36 £27,554 £5,786 0.47 £76,852 
Mini soccer 0.16 £3,714 £780 0 £0 
Rugby union 0.01 £1,155 £247 0.02 £2,845 
Rugby league 0.00 £0 £0 0 £0 
Cricket 0.03 £9,692 £1,958 0.07 £11,335 
Sand based AGPs 0.00 £2,568 £80 0.01 £1,067 
3G  0.04 £37,587 £1,464 0.08 £13,033 

 
Overall, an additional 0.76 grass football pitches, 0.01 rugby union pitches, 0.03 cricket 
squares and 0.04 full-size 3G pitches will be required to accommodate increased demand 
from the Friar Park Road development. This would require an expected capital cost of 
£104,747 and a lifecycle cost per annum of £15,057. To facilitate the increased provision, 1.11 
changing rooms would need to be provided at a capital cost of £182,678.  
 
  

                                                 
23 As per the PPS Guidance, demand for cricket is considered in terms of match equivalent sessions per season 
rather than per week. 
24 Hours equate to access to a full size floodlit 3G pitch or hockey suitable AGP 
25 Sport England Facilities Costs – Link to Sport England cost guidance 
26 Lifecycle costs are based on the % of the total project cost per annum as set out in Sport England’s Life Cycle 
Costs Natural Turf Pitches and Artificial Surfaces documents (2012)  

Page 341



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                            102 

As none of these figures represent full pitch developments, contributions to improve existing 
facilities within the vicinity of the development should be sought. Similarly, despite one 
changing room being required, a single standalone changing room is unlikely to have any 
benefit and so allocations for changing rooms should also be directed to improve existing 
facilities. 
 
Scenario Two – Development of Brandhall Golf Course - 190 dwellings (unconfirmed). 
 
The estimated additional population derived from housing growth from 190 dwellings with an 
occupancy rate of 2.3 per household is 437 people.  
 
However, it should be noted that whilst options for the future use of the are being considered 
and whilst a decision will be made in 2022, no development of the site is yet planned and no 
current options consider a 190 dwelling housing development on site. This scenario is only 
meant to serve as a rough guide for the site for the consideration of a potential housing 
development. 
 
This population increase equates to 0.23 match equivalent sessions of demand per week for 
grass pitch sports and 0.47 match equivalent sessions of demand per season for cricket. 
Training demand equates to 0.46 hours of use per week for football on 3G pitches and 0.01 
hours per week for hockey. 
 
Table 7.3: Likely demand for grass pitch sports generated from 190 dwellings 
 

Pitch sport Match demand (MES) per week27   Training demand28 

Adult football 0.07 0.46 hours total 

Youth football 0.11 As above 

Mini soccer 0.05 As above 

Rugby union 0.00 0.00 match equivalent sessions 

Rugby league 0.00 0.00 match equivalent sessions 

Adult hockey 0.00 0.01 hours 

Junior & mixed hockey 0.00 0.00 hours 

Cricket 0.47 - 
 
The table overleaf translates estimated demand into new pitch provision with associated 
capital and lifestyle costs. 
 
  

                                                 
27 As per the PPS Guidance, demand for cricket is considered in terms of match equivalent sessions per season 
rather than per week. 
28 Hours equate to access to a full size floodlit 3G pitch or hockey suitable AGP 

Page 342



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                            103 

Table 7.4: Estimated demand and costs for new pitch provision 
 

Pitch type Number of pitches 
to meet demand  

Capital 
cost29 

Lifecycle Cost 
(per annum)30 

No. of 
rooms 

Capital 
cost 

Adult football 0.07 £6,778 £1,430 0.14 £23,384 
Youth football 0.11 £8,304 £1,744 0.14 £23,156 
Mini soccer 0.05 £1,121 £235 0.00 £0 
Rugby union 0.00 £348 £75 0.01 £858 
Rugby league 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 
Cricket 0.01 £2,923 £590 0.02 £3,418 
Sand based AGPs 0.00 £774 £24 0.00 £322 
3G  0.01 £11,333 £441 0.02 £3,930 

 
Overall, an additional 0.23 grass football pitches, 0.01 cricket squares and 0.01 full-size 3G 
pitches will be required to accommodate increased demand from the theoretical Brandhall 
Golf Course development. This would require an expected capital cost of £31,582 and a 
lifecycle cost per annum of £4,540. To facilitate the increased provision, 0.34 changing rooms 
would need to be provided at a capital cost of £55,068.  
 
As none of these figures represent full pitch developments, contributions to improve existing 
playing pitch and ancillary facilities within the vicinity of the development should be sought.  
 

                                                 
29 Sport England Facilities Costs Link to Sport England cost guidance 
30 Lifecycle costs are based on the % of the total project cost per annum as set out in Sport England’s Life Cycle 
Costs Natural Turf Pitches and Artificial Surfaces documents (2012)  

Page 343



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      104 
 

Scenario Three – Accumulative demand for pitch sports generated from housing growth from the total anticipated housing growth across the Black Country. 
 
The estimated additional population from housing growth from all the scenarios is 19,687 dwellings with an occupancy rate of 2.3 per household this equates to 45,280 people. This equates to 13,235 dwellings in 
Dudley (30,441 people), 9,158 dwellings in Sandwell (21,064 people), 14,760 dwellings in Walsall (33,948 people) and 12,100 dwellings in Wolverhampton (27,830 people).  
 
This population increase equates to 72.43 (19.35 Dudley, 11.11 Sandwell, 28.17 Walsall and 13.80 Wolverhampton) match equivalent sessions of demand per week for grass pitch sports, 2.62 match equivalent 
sessions of demand per week on AGPs for hockey (0.28 Sandwell, 1.82 Walsall and 1.24 Wolverhampton) and 201.62 match equivalent sessions of demand per season for cricket (64.60 Dudley, 22.85 Sandwell, 
56.78 Walsall and 57.39 Wolverhampton).  
 
Training demand equates to 139.31 hours (38.69 Dudley, 21.97 Sandwell, 52.34 Walsall and 26.31 Wolverhampton) of use per week for football on 3G pitches and hockey equates to 9.27 hours of use per week on 
AGPs (0.62 Sandwell, 4.83 Walsall and 3.82 Wolverhampton). There are also 3.03 match equivalent sessions per week of training for rugby on a floodlit grass pitch (0.13 Sandwell, 2.17 Walsall, 0.73 Wolverhampton).  
 
Table 7.5: Likely demand for grass pitch sports generated from all housing demand across the Black Country 
 

Pitch sport Dudley Sandwell Walsall Wolverhampton Black Country 

Match demand (MES) 
per week 

Training demand Match demand (MES) 
per week 

Training demand Match demand (MES) 
per week 

Training demand Match demand (MES) 
per week 

Training demand Match demand 
(MES) per week 

Training demand 

Adult football 4.17 38.69 hours 3.44 21.97 hours 7.10 52.34 hours 4.47 26.31 hours 19.18 139.31 hours 

Youth football 8.72 5.27 12.51 5.82 32.32 

Mini soccer 6.46 2.27 6.57 2.86 18.16 

Rugby union 0.00 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

0.13 0.13 match 
equivalent sessions 

1.99 2.17 match 
equivalent sessions 

0.65 0.73 match 
equivalent sessions 

2.77 3.03 match 
equivalent sessions 

Rugby league 0.00 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

0.00 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

0.00 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

0.00 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

0 0.00 match 
equivalent sessions 

Adult hockey 0.00 0.00 hours 0.19 0.57 hours 1.29 3.87 hours 1.14 3.43 hours 2.62 7.87 hours 

Junior & mixed 
hockey 

0.00 0.00 hours 0.09 0.05 hours 0.53 0.96 hours 0.10 0.39 hours 0.72 1.40 hours 

Cricket 64.60 - 22.85 - 56.78 - 57.39 - 201.62 - 

 
The table below translates estimated demand into new pitch provision with associated capital and lifestyle costs. 

Table 7.6: Estimated demand and costs for new pitch provision from all housing demand across the Black Country 
 

Pitch type Dudley Sandwell Walsall 

Estimated demand and costs for new pitches Changing rooms Estimated demand and costs for new pitches Changing rooms Estimated demand and costs for new pitches Changing rooms 

Pitches 
required to 

meet demand  

Capital 
cost31 

Lifecycle Cost 
(per annum)32 

No. Capital cost Pitches 
required to 

meet demand 

Capital cost Lifecycle Cost 
(per annum) 

No. Capital cost Pitches 
required to 

meet demand 

Capital cost Lifecycle Cost 
(per annum) 

No. Capital cost 

Adult football 4.17 £395,698 £83,492 8.33 £1,365,159 3.44 £326,765 £68,947 6.88 £1,127,339 7.10 £674,057 £142,226 14.19 £2,325,497 

Youth football 8.72 £662,392 £139,102 10.87 £1,781,410 5.27 £400,549 £84,115 6.82 £1,117,072 12.51 £950,496 £199,604 15.27 £2,501,755 

Mini soccer 6.46 £153,469 £32,228 0.00 £0 2.27 £53,996 £11,339 0.00 £0 6.57 £155,950 £32,749 0.00 £0 

Rugby union 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 0.13 £16,786 £3,592 0.25 £41,366 1.99 £265,247 £56,763 3.99 £653,644 

Rugby league 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 

Cricket 1.43 £400,130 £80,826 2.86 £467,949 0.50 £140,902 £28,462 1.01 £164,783 1.23 £345,213 £69,733 2.46 £403,723 

Sand based AGPs 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 0.05 £37,327 £1,157 0.09 £15,516 0.33 £258,978 £8,028 0.66 £107,647 

3G  1.02 £962,303 £37,479 2.04 £333,663 0.58 £546,430 £21,282 1.16 £189,466 1.38 £1,301,867 £50,704 2.75 £451,401 

Total 21.79 £2,573,992 £373,129 24.09 £3,948,180 12.24 £1,522,755 £218,895 16.20 £2,655,541 31.10 £3,951,807 £559,808 39.32 £6,443,667 

 

                                                 
31 Sport England Facilities Costs Link to Sport England cost guidance 
32 Lifecycle costs are based on the % of the total project cost per annum as set out in Sport England’s Life Cycle Costs Natural Turf Pitches and Artificial Surfaces documents (2012)  

P
age 344



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                      105 
 

Pitch type Wolverhampton Black Country 

Estimated demand and costs for new pitches Changing rooms Estimated demand and costs for new pitches Changing rooms 

Pitches required to meet 
demand  

Capital cost33 Lifecycle Cost (per 
annum)34 

No. Capital cost Pitches required to meet 
demand 

Capital cost Lifecycle Cost (per 
annum) 

No. Capital cost 

Adult football 4.47 £424,714 £89,615 8.94 £1,465,265 19.18 £1,821,234 £384,280 38.34 £6,283,260 

Youth football 5.82 £442,590 £92,944 7.70 £1,261,152 32.32 £2,456,027 £515,765 40.66 £6,661,389 

Mini soccer 2.86 £67,898 £14,259 0.00 £0 18.16 £431,313 £90,575 0.00 £0 

Rugby union 0.65 £86,423 £18,494 1.30 £212,971 2.77 £368,456 £78,849 5.54 £907,981 

Rugby league 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 0.00 £0 £0 0.00 £0 

Cricket 1.26 £353,841 £71,476 2.53 £413,814 4.42 £1,240,086 £250,497 8.86 £1,450,269 

Sand based AGPs 0.29 £225,481 £6,990 0.57 £93,724 0.67 £521,786 £16,175 1.32 £216,887 

3G  0.69 £654,367 £25,486 1.38 £226,891 3.67 £3,464,967 £134,951 7.33 £1,201,421 

Total 16.04 £2,255,314 £319,263 22.42 £3,673,816 81.17 £10,303,868 £1,471,095 102.03 £16,721,204 

 
 
 

                                                 
33 Sport England Facilities Costs Link to Sport England cost guidance 
34 Lifecycle costs are based on the % of the total project cost per annum as set out in Sport England’s Life Cycle Costs Natural Turf Pitches and Artificial Surfaces documents (2012)  

P
age 345



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 106 
 

Conclusion 
 
For the scenarios above, the tables show that, through housing growth relating to the 
aforementioned developments, demand will be generated for football, rugby union, hockey 
and cricket. The level of demand generated for football is such that new provision could be 
warranted although this would likely only be a single pitch development.  
 
There is unlikely to be a requirement for new provision for cricket pitches or 3G pitches, over 
and above what is already required. Instead, as the demand generated from the housing 
growth at specific developments does not equate to a whole pitch, contributions would be 
better focused on improving existing sites to increase capacity to an appropriate level. The 
PPOSS and in particular the Action Plan, as well as future consultation with NGBs, should be 
used to inform this (e.g. to select suitable sites).  
 
This is particularly the case for football, cricket and rugby union as there is a lack of supply to 
meet current and future demand. With housing growth in the area expected to exacerbate 
these shortfalls, off-site contributions should be sought to increase capacity for these sports, 
whether that be through pitch quality improvements or ancillary improvements to ensure 
underused sites can be fully utilised.  
 
However, as shown in the final scenario, when considering all housing growth allocated to 
Sandwell in the previously proposed Black Country Plan (which will now be replaced by four 
separate local plans), new football and cricket provision is likely to be required.  
 
To provide the greatest impact, contributions from housing developments could be pooled 
together to improve key sites. The action plan identifies high priority sites which would likely 
provide the most benefit from investment. This includes: 
 
 Barnford Park  
 Lion Farm Playing Fields 
 Birmingham County FA Headquarters  
 Sandwell Academy 
 Britannia Park  
 Tipton Sports Academy 
 Cakemore Playing Field  
 Warley Rugby Club 
 Charlemont Playing Fields  
 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club 
 Hadley Stadium  
 West Smethwick Park 
 Hydes Road Playing Fields  
 
However, if high priority sites in the local area of the development cannot be identified for 
investment, contributions should be pooled in order to fund the creation of new provision, 
particularly for cricket, in consultation with Sport England and the relevant NGB to ensure the 
potential provision would be utilised and sustainable.  
 
   

Page 346



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 107 
 

PART 8: DELIVER THE STRATEGY AND KEEP IT ROBUST AND UP TO DATE 
 
The section below is a generalised approach on how to deliver a PPOSS whilst also keeping 
it robust and up to date. However, a more tailored approach should also be considered and 
designed for Dudley based on the requirements and priorities of the Steering Group.  
 
Delivery 
 
The PPOSS seeks to provide guidance for maintenance/management decisions and 
investment made across Sandwell. By addressing the issues identified in the Assessment 
Report and using the strategic framework presented in this Strategy, the current and future 
sporting and recreational needs of the Borough can be satisfied. The Strategy identifies where 
there is a deficiency in provision and identifies how best to resolve this in the future. 
 
It is important that this document is used in a practical manner, is engaged with partners and 
encourages partnerships to be developed, to ensure that outdoor sports facilities are regarded 
as a vital aspect of community life and which contribute to the achievement of Council 
priorities.  
 
The creation of this document should be regarded as part of the planning process. The 
success of this Strategy and the benefits that are gained are dependent upon regular 
engagement between all partners involved and the adoption of a strategic approach. Each 
member of the steering group should take the lead to ensure the PPOSS is used and applied 
appropriately within their area of work and influence.  
 
To help ensure the PPOSS is well used, it should be regarded as the key document within the 
study area guiding the improvement and protection of playing pitch and outdoor sport 
provision. It needs to be the document people regularly turn to for information on the how the 
current demand is met and what actions are required to improve the situation and meet future 
demand. In order for this to be achieved, the Steering Group needs to have a clear 
understanding of how the PPOSS can be applied and therefore delivered. 
  
The process of completing the PPOSS will hopefully have already resulted in a number of 
benefits that will help with its application and delivery. These may include enhanced 
partnership working across different agendas and organisations, pooling of resources along 
with strengthening relationships and understanding between different stakeholders and 
between members of the steering group and the sporting community. The drivers behind the 
PPOSS and the work to develop the recommendations and action plan will have also 
highlighted, and helped the steering group to understand, the key areas to which it can be 
applied and how it can be delivered. 
 
Monitoring and updating 
  
It is important that there is regular monitoring and review against the actions identified in the 
Strategy. This monitoring should continue be led by the local authority and supported by all 
members of, and reported back to, the Steering Group. Understanding and learning lessons 
from how the PPOSS has been applied should also form a key component of monitoring its 
delivery. It is possible that in the interim between reviews the Steering Group could also 
operate as a ‘virtual’ group; prepared to comment on suggestions and updates electronically 
when relevant. 
 
It is agreed that the Council (potentially via consultants e.g., KKP) is responsible for keeping 
the database and background supply and demand information up to date in order that area-
by-area action plans can be updated. This should be carried out in consultation with the NGBs, 
particularly around affiliation time when information is updated. 

Page 347



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 108 
 

As a guide, if no review and subsequent update has been carried out within three years of the 
PPOSS being signed off by the steering group, then Sport England and the NGBs would 
consider it and the information on which it is based to be out of date. The nature of the supply 
and in particular the demand for provision is likely to change year-on-year, meaning that 
without any form of review and update it would be difficult to make the case that the supply 
and demand information and assessment work is sufficiently robust. 
 
An annual review should not be regarded as a particularly resource intensive task. However, 
it should highlight: 
 
 How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any 

changes required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g., the priority of some may 
increase following the delivery of others). 

 How the PPOSS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 Any changes to particularly important sites and/or clubs in the area (e.g., the most used 

or high quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what 
this may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 
 
Alongside regular steering group meetings a good way to keep the strategy up to date and 
maintain relationships is to hold sport specific meetings with the NGBs and other relevant 
parties. These meetings look to update the key supply and demand information, if necessary 
amend the assessment work, track progress with implementing the recommendations and 
action plan and highlight any new issues and opportunities.   
 
These meetings could be timed to fit with the annual affiliation process undertaken by the 
NGBs which would help to capture any changes in the number and nature of sports clubs in 
the area. Other information that is already collected on a regular basis such as pitch booking 
records for local authority and other sites could be fed into these meetings.  
 
The NGBs are also able to indicate any further performance quality assessments that have 
been undertaken within the study area.   
  

Page 348



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 109 
 

Checklists 
 
In order for this Strategy to be signed off by the steering group, a Stage D Checklist: Develop 
the Strategy, is signed off. 

 
Stage D Checklist: Develop the Strategy 

Tick  

Yes Requires 
Attention 

Step 7: Develop the recommendations and action plan 
1. Have a number of study area specific scenarios been looked at to help 

explore key issues and findings along with possible recommendations 
and actions? 

  

2. Have any recommendations and actions regarding AGP provision taken 
into account the guidance in the ‘Selecting the Right Artificial Surface’ 
document and any NGB specific information? 

  

3. Do the recommendations reflect the drivers, vision and objectives of the 
work? 

  

4. Are the recommendations precise enough to enable the development of 
clear individual area, sport and site specific actions to help achieve them?  

  

5. Have all relevant parties been engaged with the development of, and are 
signed up to the delivery of, the recommendations and actions? 

  

6. Are the recommendations and actions clearly presented?   

7. Has particular attention been paid to the situation at priority sites and 
those which are being significantly overplayed? 

  

8. Have area, sport and site specific solutions been proposed to protect, 
enhance, and provide playing pitch provision to meet the current and 
future demand? 

  

9. Has guidance on the future of any sites highlighted as being at risk been 
provided? 

  

10. Do the recommendations and actions seek to make the best use of 
existing pitches?  

  

11. Has the detriment and benefit of proposals to relocate provision been 
presented? 

  

12. Has the level and type of any new playing pitch provision required been 
presented?  

  

13. Has the importance of providing appropriate and fit for purpose ancillary 
facilities been highlighted in order to maximise the potential benefit to 
sport of any pitches? 

  

14. Have the recommendations sought to ensure an adequate amount of 
spare capacity in the provision of accessible pitches with secured 
community use?  

  

15. Does the PPS provide a steer as to the future of any spare capacity and 
any provision that may be genuinely surplus to requirements (paragraphs 
D12 to D15)?   

  

16. Does the action plan cover the points listed in paragraph D17?   

17. Does the action plan provide the most appropriate actions to improve 
provision in the study area rather than just those which the local authority 
can deliver? 

  

18. Does the action plan represent an infrastructure plan for playing pitches 
with deliverable area, sport and site specific actions and projects? 

  

Step 8: Write and Adopt the Strategy 
1. Does the PPS document provide the reader with a clear understanding of 

the areas listed in paragraph D20? 

  

Page 349



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 110 
 

 
To help ensure the PPS is delivered and is kept robust and up to date, the steering group can 
refer to the new methodology Stage E Checklist: Deliver the strategy and keep it robust and 
up to date: 
 

 
Stage E: Deliver the strategy and keep it robust and up to date 

Tick  

Yes Requires 
Attention 

Step 9: Apply & deliver the strategy 
1. Are steering group members clear on how the PPS can be applied 

across a range of relevant areas? 

  

2. Is each member of the steering group committed to taking the lead to 
help ensure the PPS is used and applied appropriately within their 
area of work and influence? 

  

3. Has a process been put in place to ensure regular monitoring of how 
the recommendations and action plan are being delivered and the 
PPS is being applied? 

  

Step 10: Keep the strategy robust & up to date 
1. Has a process been put in place to ensure the PPS is kept robust and 

up to date? 

  

2. Does the process involve an annual update of the PPS?   

3. Is the steering group to be maintained and is it clear of its on-going 
role? 

  

4. Is regular liaison with the NGBs and other parties planned? 
 

  

5. Has all the supply and demand information been collated and 
presented in a format (i.e. single document that can be filtered 
accordingly) that will help people to review it and highlight any 
changes? 

  

6. Have any changes made to the Active Places Power data been fed 
back to Sport England?  

  

 
For more information, see: 
Link to Sport England website 
 
 
 
 

2. Is it clear from the PPS document why the recommendations and actions 
have been included, how they are to be delivered and what they will 
achieve? 

  

3. Does the PPS document indicate how it should be used and applied in 
different areas and circumstances along with the benefits of doing so?  

  

4. Has the PPS document been subject to appropriate consultation?   

5. Do all members of the steering group and other relevant parties endorse 
the PPS and recognise its lead role in guiding the improvement of pitches 
in the study area? 

  

6. Has the PPS document been formally adopted by the local authority and 
is its status recognised across all relevant departments? 

  

Page 350



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

   

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                  1 

Action Plan 
 
Contents 
 
Oldbury 
 
6.2 Pitch headline findings 
6.3 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.4  Recommendations 
 
Rowley Regis 
 
6.5 Pitch headline findings 
6.6 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.7  Recommendations 
 
Smethwick 
 
6.8 Pitch headline findings 
6.9 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.10  Recommendations 
 
Tipton 
 
6.11 Pitch headline findings 
6.12 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.13  Recommendations 
 
Wednesbury 
 
6.14 Pitch headline findings 
6.15 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.16  Recommendations 
 
West Bromwich 
 
6.17 Pitch headline findings 
6.18 Non-pitch headline findings 
6.19 Recommendations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 351



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

   

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                  2 

Key to colour codes in Action Plan 
 
Priority  

 
= High 
 
 
 
= Medium 
 
 
 
= Low 
 

 
Timescale  
 

 
= Short (1 to 2 years) 
 

 
 
= Medium (3 to 5 years) 
 

 
 
= Long (6+ Years) 
 

 
Cost 
 
= Low (Less than £50k) 
 
 
 
= Medium (£50k to £250k) 
 
 
 
= High (£250 k and above) 
 

 
In summary: 
 
Actions that are High priority, with a short timescale and Low cost should be prioritised 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 352



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

   

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                  3 

 
OLDBURY ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.2: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football (grass) Oldbury Adult  Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 6 

Football (grass) Oldbury Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 2 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (grass) Oldbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football (grass) Oldbury Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 1 Shortfall of 1 

Football (grass) Oldbury Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (grass) Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (3G 
pitches)  

Oldbury Full size, 
floodlit  

Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Cricket Oldbury Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Oldbury Sunday Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Cricket Oldbury Midweek Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 

Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 

Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 

Rugby union Oldbury Senior Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Rugby union Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey (sand 
AGPs) 

Oldbury Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
Table 6.3: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Page 353



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

   

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                  4 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

 

 

 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient although 
Warley BC is operating on the limit of 
the lowest recommended capacity for 
future sustainability. The Club should 
therefore be supported to increase 
membership and ensure future 
sustainability.  

The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient although 
Warley BC is operating on the limit of 
the lowest recommended capacity for 
future sustainability. The Club should 
therefore be supported to increase 
membership and ensure future 
sustainability. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should 
also be explored in order to encourage 
more people to get into cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should 
also be explored in order to encourage 
more people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be 
travelling to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be 
travelling to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.4: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Barnford Park, Brandhall Primary 
School and Lion Farm Playing Fields.  

 Look to provide new pitches at sites where possible, such as at Cakemore 
Playing Field. 

 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required.  

Page 354



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

   

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                  5 

Sport Priority recommendations  

3G 
pitches 

 Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Look to provide additional full size pitches within the Analysis Area to alleviate 

current and future overplay (options include Ormiston Sandwell Community 
Academy and Lion Farm Playing Fields). 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Reinstate the square at Barnford Park if required by the Sandwell Cricket 

League. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 
 Support Warley RFC to improve ancillary provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 
 Resurface the AGP at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy as soon as 

possible, or, if a 3G conversion is pursued and supported ensure another full-
size hockey suitable AGP is provided in the Borough e.g., at Hydes Road or as 
part of new secondary school development in Smethwick. 

Golf  Seek investment into other golf facilities as part of the mitigation of Brandhall 
Golf Club.  

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Warley BC to increase membership. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

Page 355



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     6 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

3 Barnford 
Park 

Football Council Four quality adult pitches that 
are currently unused. Spare 
capacity is discounted due to 
poor pitch quality. Identified 
in the LFFP for pitch 
improvements and could be 
improved as potential 
mitigation if developments at 
Lion Farm Playing Fields 
move forward. 

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime in 
line with LFFP 
recommendations. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket 
(Disused) 

The site previously 
accommodated a grass 
cricket square which is not 
currently maintained. It was 
previously used by the 
Sandwell Cricket League, 
which aims to re-start in 
2022. 

Determine with the 
League whether it will 
require access to a 
square on site and if so, 
ensure it is remarked. 

M S L  

9 Brandhall 
Primary 
School 

Football Education Two youth 11v11, one youth 
9v9, one mini 7v7 and one 
mini 5v5 pitch, all of poor 
quality. The youth 11v11 
pitches are played to 
capacity whilst all other pitch 
formats are overplayed by 
one or 0.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime to 
alleviate overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

11 Bristnall Hall 
Academy 

Football Education One youth 11v11 pitch of 
standard quality which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

17 Cakemore 
Playing Field 

Football Council Two youth 9v9, two mini 7v7 
and two mini 5v5 pitches, all 
of poor quality. The youth 
9v9 pitches are overplayed 
by four match equivalent 
sessions per week whilst 
mini pitch formats are played 
to capacity at peak time. 
Oldbury United FC has plans 
to provide enhanced ancillary 
provision, two further adult 
pitches and improvements to 
the existing pitches on site. 
Existing ancillary provision is 
in poor condition.  
The site is listed in the LFFP 
for pitch improvements.  

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime to 
reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some 
demand on youth 9v9 
pitches to alternate sites 
with actual spare capacity 
to alleviate overplay. 
Explore the feasibility of 
supporting Oldbury United 
FC to develop the site. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H L H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

18 Causeway 
Green 

Football Education One standard quality youth 
9v9 pitch which is 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

                                                            
1 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
2 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 356



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     7 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

Primary 
School 

unavailable for community 
use. 

48 Langley 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One poor quality mini 5v5 
pitch which is unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

50 Lion Farm 
Playing 
Fields 

Football Council 11 poor quality adult football 
pitches that are played to 
capacity at peak time. 
The site is listed in the LFFP 
for pitch and ancillary 
improvements.  
There is an Option 
Agreement in place between 
the Council and a Developer 
that enables the Developer to 
explore the feasibility of 
establishing a retail outlet 
village and other ancillary 
uses. If the scheme secured 
planning consent to proceed, 
there would be an impact for 
the playing pitches on this 
site. However, no planning 
application has yet been 
submitted for these 
proposals. 

Improve pitch and 
ancillary quality in line 
with LFFP 
recommendations.  
If the site is to be lost, 
ensure appropriate 
mitigation takes place in 
line with NPPF and Sport 
England’s Playing Fields 
Policy. 
Explore creation of a 3G 
pitch (or pitches) if the site 
is to be retained, or as 
part of mitigation, given 
area shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

Key H H M Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

53 Moat Farm 
Junior 
School 

Football Education One standard quality youth 
9v9 pitch which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

60 Oldbury 
Academy 

Football Education One adult and one youth 
11v11 pitch both of poor 
quality. Both pitches are 
played to capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

Cricket  A standalone NTP of 
standard quality.  

Sustain wicket quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

L L L  

Tennis  Three good quality macadam 
tennis courts which are 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Netball  Five good quality macadam 
netball courts which are 
unavailable for community 
use. Three of the courts are 
floodlit.  

Sustain court quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Consider the feasibility of 
opening the courts for 
community use.  

M L L  

63 Ormiston 
Sandwell 
Community 
Academy 

Football Education Three adult and one youth 
9v9 pitch of poor quality. The 
youth 9v9 pitch has 
discounted spare capacity 
due to poor pitch quality. 

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime.  
Support the School to 
provide external ancillary 
provision on site. 

School 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 
EH 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

P
age 357



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     8 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

The School aspires to install 
a dedicated external pavilion 
to better facilitate community 
use of the pitches.  

Tennis Three standard quality 
macadam tennis courts that 
are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Netball Two standard quality 
macadam netball courts that 
are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Hockey One full-size hockey suitable 
AGP of poor quality which is 
floodlit and available for 
community use. The pitch is 
no longer used for 
community hockey due to its 
poor condition.  
The School is exploring the 
conversion of the pitch to a 
3G surface.  

Improve pitch quality 
through resurfacing as 
soon as feasibly possible 
or convert to 3G providing 
hockey demand can be 
catered for elsewhere.  
If a 3G conversion is 
pursued and supported, 
another full-size hockey 
suitable AGP would need 
to be provided in the 
Borough. 

H S H  

65 Perryfields 
High School 

Football Education Three poor quality mini 5v5 
pitches which are unavailable 
for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect  

Netball Two standard quality 
macadam netball courts 
which are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Tennis  Seven standard quality 
macadam tennis courts 
which are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

71 Q3 Academy Football Education One adult and one youth 9v9 
pitch of standard quality. 
Spare capacity is discounted 
due to unsecure tenure.  

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise a 
community use 
agreement to provide 
users with security of 
tenure. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

76 Rounds 
Green 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One standard quality mini 
7v7 pitch which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

86 The 
Meadows 
School 

Hockey Education A small size AGP which is 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting. No 
quality issues are raised. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EA 

Local L L L Protect  

Athletics A 40m athletics track with no 
quality issues raised. 

Sustain track quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

P
age 358



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     9 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

87 Thimblemill 
Recreation 
Centre 

Football Sports Club Four poor quality adult 
pitches which are overplayed 
by 1.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week.  
The pitches on site overlap a 
cricket outfield. 

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime to 
alleviate overplay. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
BCGBA 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket One standard quality grass 
cricket square with ten 
wickets. The square has 
spare capacity on Sundays 
and midweek. 
The square is used by 
Thimblemill CC which reports 
drainage is problematic on 
site and the wickets are slow 
and suffer from a low and 
irregular bounce. 

Look to improve square 
quality through enhanced 
maintenance regime to 
alleviate drainage and 
playing issues. 

M S L  

Bowls Two crown bowling greens 
which are used by 
Thimblemill BC. One green is 
of standard quality and the 
second is of good quality. 
The standard quality green is 
rarely maintained, with 
Thimblemill BC 
predominantly accessing the 
good quality green.  
The Club operates within the 
recommended capacity 
range. 

Sustain green quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  

L L L  

92 Tividale Park Football Council One adult and one youth 9v9 
pitch of poor quality. Both 
pitches are overplayed by 0.5 
match equivalent sessions 
per week.  
Identified for pitch 
improvements in the LFFP. 
Funding has been acquired 
by the Council to upgrade the 
changing rooms at Tividale 
Park, with a new car park 
also to be constructed. 

Improve pitch quality 
through enhanced 
maintenance regime in 
line with LFFP 
recommendations.  
Ensure ancillary facilities 
are upgraded on site. 
Explore 3G pitch 
opportunities at the site 
given area shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S M Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket A standalone NTP of 
standard quality. 

Sustain wicket quality for 
informal and recreational 
cricket. 

L L L  

93 Tividale 
Sports 
Ground 

Football Council One adult and two mini 5v5 
pitches, all of standard 
quality. The adult pitch is 
played to capacity at peak 
time whilst the mini 5v5 
pitches have two match 
equivalent sessions of actual 
spare capacity.  

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

P
age 359



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     10 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

97 Warley 
Rugby Club 

Football Sports Club 
 

Two good quality adult 
football pitches which are 
overplayed by 3.5 match 
equivalent sessions per 
week. 

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Look to relocate some 
demand to alternate sites 
with actual spare capacity 
to alleviate overplay. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect 
Protect 

 

3G One small size 3G pitch 
which is floodlit and available 
for community use.  

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Ensure sinking fund is in 
place for refurbishment 
when necessary. 

L L L  

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch 
of good (M2/D1) quality. The 
pitch as 0.5 match equivalent 
sessions of actual spare 
capacity. 
Ancillary facilities on site are 
in need of modernisation and 
considered a key barrier to 
participation.  
The Club has submitted a 
planning application for 
floodlights on its main pitch.  

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to 
improve ancillary facilities 
on site. 

M M M  

Bowls One good quality crown 
bowling green used by 
Warley BC. The Club is 
operating on the lower limit of 
the recommended capacity 
threshold.  

Sustain green quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Support Warley BC to 
increase membership. 

M L L  

109 York Road 
Social & 
Sports Club 

Football Sports Club A standard quality adult pitch 
which is available to the 
community although spare 
capacity is discounted due to 
unsecure tenure. It was 
previously used by 
Bustleholme FC which states 
the site has now closed. 

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
If the site has closed, 
explore options to bring 
the pitch back into use.  

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

117 Old Cross 
Pub 

Bowls Commercial A good quality crown bowling 
green which is used by Old 
Cross BC. The Club is 
deemed to have unsecure 
tenure on site.  
The green is said to be in 
need of an upgraded 
watering system. The Club 
aspires to replace its pavilion 
entirely as existing facilities 
are without toilets. 

Sustain green quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of 
improving ancillary 
provision on site. 

Commercia
l 

BCGBA 

Local M M L Protect 
Enhance 

 

118 The George 
Public House 

Bowls Commercial A good quality, floodlit, crown 
bowling green which is used 
by The George BC. The Club 

Sustain green quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 

Commercia
l 

BCGBA 

Local M M L Protect 
Provide 

 

P
age 360



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                           Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                     11 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales1 Cost2 Aim Update 

is deemed to have unsecure 
tenure on site.  
The Club aspires to install a 
boundary fence for improved 
security and to create 
disabled access.  
The Club is operating at the 
highest end of the 
recommended capacity limit. 

Support the Club to 
providing fencing and 
improved access on site. 
Monitor future growth to 
ensure potential overplay 
does not cause green 
quality to deteriorate. 

119 Wernley 
Public House 

Bowls Commercial One good quality crown 
bowling green which is used 
by Wernley BC.  
Ancillary provision is in need 
of improvement. 

Sustain green quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of 
improving ancillary 
provision on site. 

Commercia
l 

BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

 

128 Jubilee Play 
Area 

Football Council Two standard quality youth 
11v11 pitches which are 
available for community use 
but currently unused. 

Sustain pitch quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime.  
Maximise site capacity to 
alleviate overplay of other 
pitches in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 361



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    12 

ROWLEY REGIS ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.5: Pitch headline findings  
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Adult  Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Rowley Regis Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Rowley Regis 
 

Full size, floodlit  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Rowley Regis Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Rowley Regis Sunday Spare capacity of 12 Spare capacity of 12 
Cricket Rowley Regis Midweek At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

Rowley Regis Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Rowley Regis 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 362



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    13 

Table 6.6: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts 
and improving the recreational tennis 
offer (e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should 
be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are 
championed by England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient for current 
demand.  

However, the green at Cradley Heath 
Sports and Social Club is at risk 
following the closure of the wider 
sports club on site.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand.  

However, the green at Cradley Heath 
Sports and Social Club is at risk following 
the closure of the wider sports club on 
site. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Implementation of 
initiatives promoted by British Cycling 
should also be explored in order to 
encourage more people to get into 
cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. Support 
clubs in the area to remain 
sustainable. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. Support clubs in 
the area to remain sustainable. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or 
Gaelic football demand is identified, 
although some isolated demand may 
be travelling to clubs in nearby 
authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 363



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                              Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                    14 

Table 6.7: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Britannia Park and St Michael’s CE 
High School.  

 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Brickhouse Farm. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required.  

3G pitches  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area to alleviate 

current and future overplay e.g., at Britannia Park. 
 

 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

 No action required. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Explore the feasibility of providing floodlights at Ormiston Forge Academy 

Main Site. 

Golf  Protect provision. 
 Support Dudley Golf Club to increase membership.  

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Preserve the green at Cradley Heath Sports and Social Club or ensure it is 

appropriately mitigated.  
 If the green is lost, ensure the club is adequately relocated. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support Old Hill TC to increase membership and improve courts at Old Hill 

Cricket Club.  
 Support the Council to improve court and ancillary facility quality at Britannia 

Park.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  No action required. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

Page 364



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               15 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy tier 

Priority Timescales
3 

Cost4 Aim Update 

2 Ashtree 
Playing 
Field 

Football Council One standard quality adult 
football pitch which has 
actual spare capacity of 
one match equivalent 
sessions per week. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Maximise site capacity to 
alleviate overplay of other 
pitches in the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

4 Bearmore 
Playing 
Field 

Football Council Two poor quality adult 
pitches which are played to 
capacity. 

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket One standalone NTP of 
standard quality. 

Sustain wicket quality for 
recreational and informal 
demand.  

L L L  

8 Blackheath 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One mini 7v7 pitch of 
standard quality which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 

Local L L L Protect  

Netball One standard quality 
macadam netball court 
which is unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

10 Brickhouse 
Farm 

Football 
(Disused) 

Council An adult football pitch which 
now lies disused.  

Explore the feasibility of 
bringing the pitch back into use 
to support with shortfalls 
across the Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

13 Britannia 
Park 

Football Council One adult, one youth 9v9, 
two mini 7v7 and two mini 
5v5 pitches, all of poor 
quality. The adult pitch is 
overplayed by 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions per 
week whilst all other pitch 
formats have discounted 
spare capacity due to poor 
quality. A mini 5v5 and a 
mini 7v7 pitch overmark an 
adult pitch.  
The Council has secured 
significant funding to 
develop the site. This will 
be partly used to create a 
sporting ‘hub’ within the 
park including pitch and 
ancillary improvements and 
a small size 3G pitch. 

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 
Support the Council to create a 
wider sporting hub on site and 
improve ancillary provision on 
site. 
Explore 3G creation given area 
shortfalls.  

Council 
BFA/FF 

LTA 

Key (potential 
Hub) 

H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

Tennis Three poor quality 
macadam tennis courts that 
are available for community 
use but without 
floodlighting.   
The Council has secured 
significant funding to 

Support the Council to improve 
court and ancillary facility 
quality on site alongside wider 
developments. 

H M H  

                                                            
3 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
4 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 365



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               16 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy tier 

Priority Timescales
3 

Cost4 Aim Update 

develop the site. This will 
be partly used to create a 
sporting ‘hub’ within the 
park including court and 
ancillary improvements. 
The Council is looking for a 
suitable organisation to 
manage the proposed new 
pavilion.  

58 Old Hill 
Cricket 
Club 

Cricket  Sports Club  One good quality cricket 
square with 16 grass 
wickets. The pitch suffers 
from moss growth and 
drainage issues although 
the Club has recently 
invested in a new drainage 
system which is expected 
to help. The square has 
capacity for additional play 
on Sundays. 
 
 
 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Support the Club to improve 
onsite drainage. 

Sports Club 
ECB 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect  

Tennis  Four standard quality 
macadam tennis courts of 
which two are floodlit. Old 
Hill TC reports quality has 
deteriorated in the last year 
and signs of wear and tear 
are now evident. ClubSpark 
is in place on site. The Club 
only has 14 current 
members and states its 
future is now uncertain. 

Improve court quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 
Support the Club to increase 
membership to ensure its 
future sustainability.  

H S L  

61 Ormiston 
Forge 
Academy 
(Hingleys) 

Football Education One adult and two mini 7v7 
pitches which are available 
to the community. The adult 
pitch is overplayed by 6.5 
match equivalent sessions 
per week whilst the mini 
7v7 pitches are played to 
capacity at peak time.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime 
to reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some demand 
to alternate sites with actual 
spare capacity to alleviate 
spare capacity. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

62 Ormiston 
Forge 
Academy 
Main Site 

Hockey  Education One full-size hockey 
suitable AGP of standard 
quality which is available for 
community use but without 
floodlighting.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime.  
Explore the feasibility of 
providing floodlights on site. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place 
for refurbishment when 
necessary. 

School 
EH 
EN 

Local M S L Protect 
 

 

Netball Three standard quality 
macadam netball courts 
that are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for 
curricular use. 

L L L  

P
age 366



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               17 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy tier 

Priority Timescales
3 

Cost4 Aim Update 

68 Portway 
Lifestyle 
Centre 

3G Trust One good quality full size 
3G which is floodlit and 
available for community 
use. Key users of the site 
include the Albion 
Foundation and Sandwell 
Steelers. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place 
for refurbishment when 
necessary. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

RFU 

Local L L L Protect  

77 St 
Michael's 
CE High 
School 
(Rowley 
Regis 
Learning 
Campus) 

Football Education One youth 11v11 and one 
youth 9v9 pitch, both of 
poor quality. The youth 
11v11 pitch is overplayed 
by five match equivalent 
sessions per week whilst 
the youth 9v9 pitch is 
overplayed by 2.5 match 
equivalent sessions per 
week.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 
Relocate some demand to 
alternate sites with actual 
spare capacity to alleviate 
overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide  

 

Cricket A standalone NTP that is 
not available for community 
use.  

Retain for continued school 
use 

School 
ECB 

L L L  

Hockey A smaller sized (65 x 40 
metre) AGP that is floodlit 
but not available for 
community use.  

Retain for continued school 
use and explore community 
access given presence of 
lighting.  

School L L L  

Tennis Four standard quality 
macadam courts that are 
without floodlighting.  

Retain for continued school 
use 

School 
LTA 

L L L  

Netball Three standard quality 
macadam courts that are 
without floodlighting. 

Retain for continued school 
use 

School 
EN 

L L L  

91 Tividale 
Football 
Club 

Football Sports Club One good quality adult pitch 
which has spare capacity 
although this has been 
discounted to preserve 
quality for Step football.  
Pitch quality is said to have 
improved in the last year 
after Tividale FC received 
pitch maintenance grants. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

EH 

Local L L L Protect  

Hockey One small-size AGP which 
is available for community 
use but without 
floodlighting. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place 
for future refurbishment. 
 

L L L  

111 Dudley 
Golf Club 

Golf Sports Club An 18-hole, par 69 golf 
course. Membership has 
decreased by almost 20% 
since 2015 to 214 current 
members. 
The Club has recently 
received Sport England 
funding to build a lift within 
its clubhouse, improving 

Sustain course quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Support the club to provide a 
lift on site and increase 
membership. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect  

P
age 367



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                   Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               18 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy tier 

Priority Timescales
3 

Cost4 Aim Update 

access and improving its 
DDA compliance. 

112 Rowley 
Golf Club 

Golf Commercial A nine-hole, par 36 golf 
course and a covered 22 
bay driving range. The 
range has TopTracer 
technology installed and is 
available for pay and play.  

Sustain course and range 
quality through dedicated 
maintenance regimes. 

Commercial 
EG 

Local L L L Protect  

124 Cradley 
Heath 
Sports and 
Social 
Club 

Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown 
bowling green which is 
used by Cradley Heath BC. 
The green is now at risk 
following the closure of the 
wider sports club due to 
development.  

Ensure the green is protected 
to preserve Cradley Heath 
BC’s demand or that it is 
appropriately mitigated. 
If the green is lost, look to 
relocate the Club to an unused 
green, such as the now 
disused green at Haden Hill 
Park. 

Sports Club 
Council 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect  

126 St Giles 
Rowley 
Regis 
Parish 
Church 

Bowls Parish 
Council 

One good quality crown 
bowling green which is 
floodlit.  

Sustain green quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

Parish 
Council 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect  

127 Haden Hill 
Park 

Tennis Council One standard quality 
macadam tennis court 
which is available for 
community use but without 
floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
LTA 

BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
 

 

Bowls One good quality crown 
bowling green used by 
Tallboats BC. 
The site previously 
provided a second green on 
site but this is no longer 
maintained.  

Sustain green quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

P
age 368



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   19 
 

SMETHWICK ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.8: Pitch headline findings 
 
Sport Analysis  

area 
Pitch type Current capacity total 

(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football (grass) Smethwick Adult Shortfall of 6.5 Shortfall of 7 
Football (grass) Smethwick Youth 11v11 At capacity Shortfall of 0.5 
Football (grass) Smethwick Youth 9v9 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Smethwick Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Smethwick Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 
Football (grass) Sandwell Adult Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 
Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 
Football (grass) Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 
Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 
Football (grass) Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 
Football (3G 
pitches)  

Smethwick 
 

Full size, 
floodlit 

Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Smethwick Saturday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Sunday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Midweek Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby union Smethwick Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 
Rugby union Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 
Hockey (sand 
AGPs) 

Smethwick 
 

Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is required. 

At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
Table 6.9: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Page 369



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   20 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient for current 
demand. Although Langley BC is 
currently operating above the 
recommended capacity threshold. 
Therefore, the Club may require 
support to ensure the level of demand 
is sustainable. 

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 
Although Langley BC is currently 
operating above the recommended 
capacity threshold. Therefore, the Club 
may require support to ensure the level 
of demand is sustainable. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. The track at Hadley Stadium 
is deemed surplus to requirements in 
its current form, with an alternative use 
therefore requiring exploration, 
although this could include informal 
athletics provision. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. The track at Hadley Stadium is 
deemed surplus to requirements in its 
current form, with an alternative use 
therefore requiring exploration, although 
this could include informal athletics 
provision. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should 
also be explored in order to encourage 
more people to get into cycling. 
Continued access to Hadley Stadium 
for cycling should also be sought.  

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. Continued 
access to Hadley Stadium for cycling 
should also be sought.  

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be 
travelling to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.10: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Hadley Stadium and West Smethwick 
Park.  

 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Ensure new pitches are provided at West Smethwick Park. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Page 370



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                               Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                   21 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

3G 
pitches 

 Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches, particularly Hadley Stadium as its certification is set to expire shortly. 
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area e.g., an 

additional pitch at Hadley Stadium, Holly Lodge High School College of 
Science or Windsor Olympus Academy (New site).  

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Support the installation of an NTP at Smethwick Cricket Club. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 
 Support West Bromwich Dartmouth CC to ensure ground grading 

requirements are met at Sandwell Academy. 

Rugby 
union 

 Improve pitch quality at Warley RFC (St Johns Pitches) and explore the 
feasibility of improving ancillary facilities on site. 

Hockey  Support development of a new AGP as part of the creation of a new secondary 
school development in the area, providing it can be lit. 

Golf  Protect provision. 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Monitor demand at Langley Bowling Club to ensure the green remains 

sustainable.  

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  Secure continued cycling access to Hadley Stadium. 

Athletics  Pursue an alternative use for the track at Hadley Stadium. This could include 
an informal athletics facility. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

Page 371



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               22 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales5 Cost6 Aim Update 

7 Black Patch 
Park 

Football Council One poor quality youth 11v11 
pitch which is currently 
unused. Spare capacity is 
discounted due to poor pitch 
quality.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime to 
provide actual spare capacity. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

24 Devonshire 
Infant and 
Junior Academy 

Football Education One standard quality youth 
9v9 pitch which is played to 
capacity. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

30 George Betts 
Primary School 

Netball Education One poor quality macadam 
netball court which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court quality for curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

36 Hadley Stadium Football Trust One standard quality adult 
football pitch which is 
overplayed by seven match 
equivalent sessions per 
week.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime.  
Relocate some demand to 
alternate pitches with actual spare 
capacity to alleviate overplay. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EA 
BC 

Hub H S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

3G One good quality, full-size 3G 
pitch which is floodlit and 
available for community use. 
The pitch is FA approved 
although this is set to expire 
in May 2022. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
future refurbishment. 
Ensure the pitch is recertified for 
match play. 
Explore possibility of providing a 
second full size pitch given local 
shortfalls.  

M S L  

Athletics A 400m synthetic, floodlit 
athletics track. The track is 
assessed as poor quality and 
shows significant wear and 
tear. It also suffers from 
drainage issues. The track 
has now closed to the 
community due to health and 
safety issues. However, it is 
still used by Hadley Stadium 
Cycling Club which uses the 
track to provide family cycling 
in a safe off-road 
environment.  

Consider repurposing the track for 
other sporting needs.  
Consider creation of innovative 
athletics facilities given current 
England Athletics focus.  
Ensure cycling demand can 
continue to be catered for, either 
on site or at a suitable alternative 
venue.  

H S H  

40 Holly Lodge 
High School 
College of 
Science 

Football Education Two standard quality adult 
pitches which have 
discounted spare capacity 
due to unsecure tenure.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Look to formalise a community 
use agreement to provide users 
with security of tenure. 
Explore the feasibility of providing 
a full size 3G pitch on site. 

School 
BFA/FF 

EN 

Local M S L Protect  

Netball Four good quality netball 
courts which are floodlit but 

Sustain court quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 

L L L  

                                                            
5 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
6 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 372



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               23 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales5 Cost6 Aim Update 

unavailable for community 
use. 

Look to secure community access 
to the courts on site. 

49 Lewisham Park Cricket Council A standalone NTP of 
standard quality, although 
improvements are said to be 
needed to preserve the 
wicket. 

Sustain wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 

Council 
ECB 

BFA/FF 

Local H M H Protect 
Provide 

 

79 Sandwell 
Academy 

Football Education Two standard quality adult 
pitches that overlap a cricket 
outfield. The pitches are 
available for community use 
and played to capacity at 
peak time.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Formalise a community use 
agreement to provide users with 
security of tenure.  

School 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect  

79 Sandwell 
Academy 

3G Education One good quality, full-size 3G 
pitch which is floodlit but 
unavailable for wider 
community use, with the 
Albion Foundation having 
exclusive access. The pitch 
previously featured on the FA 
register but this has expired. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when possible. 
Explore the feasibility of opening 
the pitch for wider community use.  

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
ECB 
EN 
EA 

Key L L L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

Cricket A good quality grass cricket 
square with eight wickets. It 
is used by West Bromwich 
Dartmouth CC who are in 
discussions with the School 
regarding various ancillary 
aspects that need investment 
including a boundary rope, 
wicket covers and ballstop 
netting. After its third team 
was promoted, it now also 
requires this site to meet 
ground grading requirements 
which need to be met for the 
2023 season or the team will 
be relegated. 
The Club also reports it 
would benefit from an NTP 
and a mobile training net on 
site.  
The square is currently 
played to capacity. 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to work with the 
School and improve ancillary 
facilities on site to ensure ground 
grading requirements are met. 
Explore the feasibility of providing 
an NTP on site. 

H S M-H  

Netball Two standard quality 
macadam courts which are 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 

L L L  

Athletics A standard quality 200m 
‘mini’ athletics track which is 
synthetic and without 
floodlighting.  

Sustain track quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 

L L L  

84 Stoney Lane Football Council Two standard quality adult 
football pitches which are 
currently unused. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

P
age 373



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               24 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales5 Cost6 Aim Update 

Ensure spare capacity on site is 
maximised to alleviate overplay of 
other pitches in the area. 

94 Victoria Park 
(Smethwick) 

Cricket Council A standalone NTP of 
standard quality, although 
improvements are said to be 
needed to preserve the 
wicket. 
Grass wickets were also 
previously maintained on 
site.  

Sustain wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass 
wickets should the site be 
required as a secondary venue for 
a club.  

Council 
ECB 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect  

Tennis One poor quality macadam 
tennis court which is 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting.  

Improve court quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 

L L L  

98 Warley Rugby 
Club (St Johns 
Pitches) 

Football Sports Club Two standard quality adult 
pitches with 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions of actual 
spare capacity. 
The site is serviced by poor 
quality ancillary provision.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary facilities on site. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Local M M M Protect 
Enhance 

 

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch 
of poor (M1/D0). 
Maintenance on site is basic 
and drainage is problematic 
in specific areas of the pitch. 
The pitch is currently unused 
due to poor pitch quality.  
Ancillary provision is said to 
be in need of improvement, 
with existing facilities dated 
and too small for adult rugby.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of improving 
ancillary facilities on site. 

M M M  

102 West Bromwich 
Albion (The 
Hawthorns) 

Football Sports Club One good quality adult 
football pitch which is 
unavailable for community 
use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
Championship football. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect  

103 West Bromwich 
Albion FC 
Academy 

Football Sports Club One full-size, floodlit 3G pitch 
which is considered 
unavailable as most access 
is reserved for West 
Bromwich Albion FC.  
There is also a full-size 
indoor 3G pitch on site which 
is also unavailable to the 
wider community. Both 
pitches are of good quality. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place for 
refurbishment when necessary. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 

Key L L L Protect  

105 West Smethwick 
Park 

Football Council Four adult and one mini 7v7 
pitch, all of which are of poor 
quality. The adult pitches are 
overplayed by two match 
equivalent sessions per week 
whilst the mini 7v7 pitch is 

Improve pitch and ancillary quality 
on site in line with LFFP 
recommendations to alleviate 
overplay. 
Ensure the additional pitch is 
provided on site. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Key H M M-H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

P
age 374



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               25 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales5 Cost6 Aim Update 

played to capacity at peak 
time.  
Identified in the LFFP for 
pitch and ancillary 
improvements. 
A new youth pitch is to be 
established, in addition to 
ancillary improvements, as 
part of Heritage Lottery 
funding into the site. 
The site was previously 
considered for a 3G pitch 
development by the Albion 
Foundation although this 
would have jeopardised the 
Heritage Lottery funding. 

Explore creation of a full size 3G 
pitch given area shortfalls (as an 
alternative to an additional pitch at 
Hadley Stadium) 

Cricket Two poor quality standalone 
NTPs. Grass wickets were 
previously maintained on 
site. The wickets were 
previously used by the 
Sandwell Cricket League 
which expects to 
recommence in 2022. 
One NTP may be lost due to 
the wider site improvements 
through Heritage Lottery 
funding.  

Improve wicket quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass 
wickets to better accommodate 
demand.  

M M L  

114 Warley Woods 
Golf Course 

Golf Trust A nine-hole, par 34 golf 
course.  
The Club aspires to improve 
its clubhouse which England 
Golf would be supportive of.  
Since 2015, membership has 
increased by 45% to 145 
members.  

Sustain course quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Support the Club to improve the 
clubhouse on site. 
Seek investment as part of the 
mitigation of Brandhall Golf Club.  

Trust 
EG 

Local M M M Protect 
Enhance 

 

116 Langley Bowling 
Club 

Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown 
bowling green used by 
Langley BC. The Club is 
operating above the 
recommended capacity limit.  

Sustain green quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Monitor demand to ensure this is 
sustainable and does not cause 
green quality to deteriorate. 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local H L L Protect  

120 Smethwick 
Cricket Club 

Cricket Sports Club One good quality grass 
cricket square with 13 
wickets. The square is 
overplayed by five match 
equivalent sessions per 
season. 

Sustain square quality through 
dedicated maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of providing 
an NTP on site to alleviate 
overplay. 

Sports Club 
ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Provide 

 

123 Old Chapel Inn Bowls 
(Disuse

d) 

Private A disused bowling green 
which is now used solely as a 
beer garden. 

Retain as strategic reserve should 
bowls demand reform and ensure 
area remains free of permanent 
built structures (without mitigation 
being provided).  

Private 
BCGBA 

Local L S L Protect  

P
age 375



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              26 

TIPTON ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.11: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Adult  Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Youth 9v9 Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Tipton Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Tipton 
 

Full size, floodlit  At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Sunday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Tipton Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 

Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 

Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 

Rugby 
union 

Tipton 
 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Tipton 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although 
the pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 376



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              27 

Table 6.12: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis 

 

 

 

 

 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts 
and improving the recreational tennis 
offer (e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball 

 

 

 

 

Demand is being met. Focus should 
be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are 
championed by England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient although 
Victoria Park (Tipton) BC is operating 
on the limit of the lowest 
recommended capacity for future 
sustainability. The Club should 
therefore be supported to increase 
membership and ensure future 
sustainability.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient although Victoria Park 
(Tipton) BC is operating on the limit of 
the lowest recommended capacity for 
future sustainability. The Club should 
therefore be supported to increase 
membership and ensure future 
sustainability. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Priority should be 
placed on protecting the track at 
Tipton Sports Academy and ensuring 
that it remains of a sufficient quality to 
accommodate the levels of demand 
received.  

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Priority should be placed on 
protecting the track at Tipton Sports 
Academy and ensuring that it remains of 
a sufficient quality to accommodate the 
levels of demand received.  

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Implementation of 
initiatives promoted by British Cycling 
should also be explored in order to 
encourage more people to get into 
cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or 
Gaelic football demand is identified, 
although some isolated demand may 
be travelling to clubs in nearby 
authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
 

Page 377



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                    Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              28 

Table 6.13: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Tipton Sports Academy. 
 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

 

 

 

3G 
pitches 

 Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches. 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 

Golf  No action required. 
 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Victoria Park (Tipton) BC to improve toilet facilities and increase 

membership at Victoria Park (Tipton). 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support the Sandwell Leisure Trust and LTA to enhance the available tennis 

offer at Tipton Sports Academy. 

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 
 Improve track quality at Tipton Sports Academy and ensure the throwing cage 

is improved to meet certifications. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

 
 
 

Page 378



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               29 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales7 Cost8 Aim Update 

22 Coneygre 
Arts 
Centre 
Pitches 

Football Council One standard quality adult 
football pitch which is played 
to capacity at peak time. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

27 Farley 
Park 

Football Council One poor quality adult 
football pitch which is played 
to capacity. 

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

 

33 Great 
Bridge 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One mini 7v7 pitch of 
standard quality which is 
unavailable for community 
use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

45 Jubilee 
Park 

Football Council Two adult, one youth 9v9 
and two mini 7v7 pitches all 
of poor quality. The adult 
pitches are played to 
capacity whilst the youth and 
mini pitches have discounted 
spare capacity due to poor 
pitch quality. 

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket A standard quality, 
standalone NTP.  

Sustain wicket quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

55 Newtown 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One standard quality mini 
5v5 pitch which is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

69 Powis 
Avenue 

Football 
(Disused) 

Council One youth 11v11 pitch which 
now lies disused and is no 
longer marked.  

Explore the feasibility of 
reinstating the pitch in order to 
support local shortfalls. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H S L Protect 
Provide 

 

73 Q3 
Academy 
Tipton 

Football Education One standard quality adult 
pitch which is unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FA 

RFU 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch 
of poor (M0/D0) quality which 
is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Tennis Three poor quality macadam 
tennis courts that are 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting.  

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Netball Three poor quality macadam 
netball courts that are 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

78 Gospel 
Oak 
School 

Football Education A youth 11v11 and a youth 
9v9 pitch of standard quality. 
Both pitches have one match 
equivalent sessions of actual 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime.  

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

                                                            
7 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
8 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 379



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               30 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales7 Cost8 Aim Update 

spare capacity. The youth 
9v9 pitch is overmarked with 
rugby union. 

Look to maximise actual spare 
capacity to alleviate overplay 
of other pitches in the area. 

ECB 

3G One good quality full-size 3G 
pitch which is floodlit and 
available for community use. 
The pitch also features on 
the FA pitch register.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in place 
for refurbishment when 
necessary. 

L L L  

Cricket A standalone NTP in poor 
condition which is in need of 
repair/replacement. 
The wicket was previously 
used by the Sandwell Cricket 
League which expects to 
recommence in 2022. 

Look to repair/replace the NTP 
on site to better accommodate 
curricular demand and the 
Sandwell Cricket League, 
should it return. 

M S L  

Rugby 
Union 

One senior rugby union pitch 
which is of standard (M1/D1) 
quality which is played to 
capacity through curricular 
and football use. The pitch is 
overmarked with a youth 9v9 
football pitch. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime.  

L L L  

78 Gospel 
Oak 
School 

Tennis Education Three standard quality 
macadam tennis courts 
which are unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
LTA 
EN 

Key L L L Protect  

Netball Three standard quality 
macadam netball courts 
which are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

80 Silvertree
s 
Academy 

Hockey Education One small-size, hockey 
suitable AGP which is 
without floodlighting and is 
unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
EH 

Local L L L Protect  

90 Tipton 
Sports 
Academy 

Football Trust One adult and one youth 
11v11 pitch, both of standard 
quality. Both pitches are 
overplayed by 1.5 and 0.5 
match equivalent sessions 
per week respectively.  
Listed in the LFFP for pitch 
and ancillary improvements 
although Tipton Town FC 
reports the site is supported 
by good quality ancillary 
facilities. 
The adult pitch is also 
overmarked for American 
Football. 

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime 
and in line with LFFP 
recommendations. 
Further explore whether 
ancillary improvements are 
necessary on site. 
Alleviate overplay by 
relocating some demand to an 
alternate site with actual spare 
capacity or by improved pitch 
management. 

Trust 
BFA/FF 

EH 
LTA 
EA 

Hub H S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

P
age 380



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               31 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales7 Cost8 Aim Update 

Hockey One small-size hockey 
suitable AGP which is floodlit 
and available for community 
use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

Tennis Four good quality macadam 
tennis courts which are 
floodlit and available for 
community use. Courts are 
supported by good quality 
ancillary provision. 
The courts are used by the 
Walsall and Wolverhampton 
parks tennis leagues. 
Sandwell Leisure Trust and 
the LTA are in discussions 
regarding an aspiration to 
cover the four courts on site 
with two air domes/bubbles 
and to install four dedicated 
padel courts where a multi-
use games area is currently 
provided. 

Sustain court quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime.  
Support the Sandwell Leisure 
Trust and LTA to enhance the 
available tennis offer on site. 

H L H  

Athletics A 400m, eight lane synthetic 
athletics track of standard 
quality which is floodlit and 
available for community use. 
The track passed a 
TrackMark inspection 
although repairs are required 
and the surface is need of 
cleaning and over spraying. 
The throwing cage also 
recently failed an inspection 
although can still be used for 
training. Financial support 
has been provided to bring 
the cage up to standard. 
The track is supported by 
good quality ancillary 
facilities and is home to 
Tipton Harriers. 

Improve track quality through 
enhanced maintenance regime 
and improve the throwing cage 
in order to pass inspections. 

M S M  

95 Victoria 
Park 
(Tipton) 

Cricket Council A standard quality 
standalone NTP. The site 
also previously 
accommodated grass 
wickets although these are 
no longer maintained.  

Sustain wicket quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Consider re-establishing grass 
wickets should the site be 
required as a secondary venue 
for any club.  

Council 
ECB 
LTA 

BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Tennis One poor quality macadam 
tennis court which is 
available for community use 
but without floodlighting. 

Improve court quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

P
age 381



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               32 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales7 Cost8 Aim Update 

Line markings on site are 
said to be badly faded. 
Ancillary facilities on site are 
in poor condition. 

Explore the feasibility of 
improving ancillary facilities on 
site. 

Bowls One good quality crown 
bowling green which is used 
by Victoria Park (Tipton) BC. 
The Club plans to refurbish 
toilet facilities on site and is 
due to submit a planning 
application for this. 
Membership is said to have 
declined in recent years and 
the Club now operates on the 
lower limit of the 
recommended capacity level. 

Sustain green quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Support the Club to improve 
toilet facilities and to increase 
membership. 

M S L  

100 Wednesb
ury Oak 
Academy 

Football Education One standard quality mini 
7v7 pitch which is 
unavailable for community 
use.  

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular use. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

 
 

P
age 382



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                         Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              33 

WEDNESBURY ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.14: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Adult  Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 3 Shortfall of 3 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Wednesbury Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

Wednesbury 
 
 

Full size, floodlit  At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Wednesbury Saturday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Sunday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Midweek Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

Wednesbury Senior Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Wednesbury 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 383



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                         Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              34 

Table 6.15: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts 
and improving the recreational tennis 
offer (e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should 
be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are 
championed by England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient for current 
demand.  

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Implementation of 
initiatives promoted by British Cycling 
should also be explored in order to 
encourage more people to get into 
cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or 
Gaelic football demand is identified, 
although some isolated demand may 
be travelling to clubs in nearby 
authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 384



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                         Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                              35 

Table 6.16: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Hydes Road Playing Fields.  
 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Kent Road Park and Elwells. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

3G 
pitches 

 Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches.  

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Improve changing facilities where required. 
 Explore the increased utilisation of NTPs.  

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at overplayed sites.  

Hockey  No action required. 

Golf  No action required. 

Bowls  Explore options for the currently unused green at Hydes Road Playing Fields. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  
 Support the LTA to provide site improvements at Brunswick Park.  
 Support Wednesbury TC to provide floodlights and improve court quality at 

Wednesbury Sports Union.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  No action required. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

Page 385



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               36 

 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales9 Cost10 Aim Update 

14 Brunswick 
Park 

Football Council A standard quality adult 
football pitch which is available 
for community use but unused.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Look to maximise actual 
spare capacity to alleviate 
overplay of other pitches in 
the area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

Tennis Four poor quality macadam 
tennis courts which are 
available for community use 
but without floodlights.  
The LTA is working with the 
Council on a parks 
development project in 2022 
which may include upgrades to 
the provision on site and the 
implementation of Gate 
Access. 

Improve court quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime. 
Support the parks 
development project on site 
to further improve the 
recreational and informal 
tennis offer. 

H S M-H  

Netball One poor quality macadam 
netball court which is available 
for community use but without 
floodlighting.  

Support the LTA and 
Council’s parks development 
project on site to improve 
court quality. 

M S L  

25 Elwells Football 
(Disused) 

Council An adult football and a youth 
11v11 pitch which now lie 
disused.  

Explore the feasibility of 
bringing the pitches back into 
use to support with shortfalls 
across the Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

29 Friar Park 
Playing 
Fields 

Football 
(Lapsed) 

Council Four lapsed youth 11v11 
pitches. A development of 
circa 630 dwellings is currently 
being considered on site.  

Determine future use of the 
provision based on the 
following priority order of 
options: 
1) Retain/allocate site as 
strategic reserve. 
2) Explore feasibility to bring 
back into use. 
3) Use as open space to 
meet local needs. 
4) Redevelop site and 
mitigate loss to meet Sport 
England Playing Field Policy 
requirements. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

 

- - - - Protect  

42 Holyhead 
Primary 
School 

Football Education One standard quality youth 
9v9 pitch which is available for 
community use. The pitch has 
discounted spare capacity due 
to unsecure tenure. 

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Look to formalise community 
use agreement to provide 
users with security of tenure.  

School 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect  

                                                            
9 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
10 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

P
age 386



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               37 

 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales9 Cost10 Aim Update 

43 Hydes 
Road 
Playing 
Fields 

Football Council Six adult and one youth 9v9 
pitch, all of poor quality. The 
adult pitches have discounted 
spare capacity whilst the youth 
9v9 pitch is overplayed by 0.5 
match equivalent sessions per 
week.  
Identified in the LFFP for pitch 
and ancillary improvements. 
The site is also being 
considered for a full size 3G or 
hockey-suitable AGP 
development.  
 

Improve pitch and ancillary 
facility quality in line with 
LFFP recommendations. 
Explore the feasibility of 
providing a full-size artificial 
pitch on site. This could be a 
3G or hockey-suitable AGP 
development, depending on 
other developments in the 
area. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
 

Local H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

Cricket A standalone NTP which is in 
poor condition and in need of 
repair/replacement. Grass 
wickets were also previously 
provided on site but are no 
longer maintained.  

Improve wicket quality 
through repair or 
replacement. 
Consider re-establishing the 
grass wickets if the site is 
required as a secondary 
venue for any clubs.  

M S L  

43 Hydes 
Road 
Playing 
Fields 

Bowls Council One good quality crown 
bowling green which is 
currently unused.  

Retain as strategic reserve or 
look to repurpose the green 
into another sporting facility. 

Council 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
 

 

54 Moorland
s Primary 
School 

Netball Education One standard quality 
macadam netball court which 
is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

59 Old Park 
Primary 
School 

Football  Education One standard quality youth 
11v11 pitch which is 
unavailable for community use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

70 Pulse 
Soccer & 
Fitness 
Wednesb
ury 

Football Commercial Two adult pitches that are to 
be lost to housing, with 
replacement provision to be 
provided at Phoenix Academy 

Re-provide pitches to a good 
quality.  

BFA/FF Local H S L Protect 
Enhance  

 

Netball Six poor quality macadam 
netball courts that are floodlit 
and available for community 
use. To be replaced through 
new courts and secured use at 
Phoenix Academy. 

Re-provide courts to a good 
quality and secure 
community use.  

Commerci
al 

BFA/FF 
RFU 
EN 

H S L  

3G  Nine small size 3G pitches that 
are floodlit and available for 
community use. The pitches 
have now exceeded their 
recommended lifespan. 

Improve pitch quality through 
resurfacing as soon as 
feasibly possible. 

H S H  

85 Stuart 
Bathurst 
Catholic 

Netball Education Three standard quality 
macadam netball courts that 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

P
age 387



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               38 

 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales9 Cost10 Aim Update 

High 
School 

are unavailable for community 
use. 

99 Wednesb
ury Sports 
Union 

Cricket Sports Club A good quality cricket square 
with ten grass wickets and an 
NTP. The square is overplayed 
by six match equivalent 
sessions per season.  

Sustain square quality 
through dedicated 
maintenance regime. 
Explore the feasibility of 
better utilising the NTP on 
site to alleviate overplay. 

Sports 
Club 
ECB 
LTA 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

Tennis Four standard quality 
macadam tennis courts that 
are available for community 
use but without floodlighting. 
Court quality is said to be 
deteriorating, with resurfacing 
required in the near future.  
Wednesbury TC is working 
with the LTA regarding the 
potential installation of 
floodlighting on site. ClubSpark 
is in place on site.  

Sustain court quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in 
place for resurfacing work 
when necessary. 
Support the Club to provide 
floodlighting on site.  

M M M  

101 Wednesb
ury Rugby 
Club 

3G Sports Club One small-size 3G pitch which 
is floodlit and available for 
community use.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking fund is in 
place for refurbishment when 
necessary. 

Sports 
Club 
RFU 

BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Rugby 
Union 

One poor (M1/D0) quality 
senior rugby union pitch which 
is without floodlighting 
although the club has a 
separate floodlit training area. 
The pitch is overplayed by 0.5 
match equivalent sessions per 
week.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime to alleviate overplay. 

M S L  

107 Wodensb
orough 
Ormiston 
Academy 

Football Education One standard quality youth 
11v11 pitch which is available 
to the community and 
overplayed by three match 
equivalent sessions per week.  

Improve pitch quality through 
enhanced maintenance 
regime to reduce overplay. 
Look to relocate some 
demand to an alternate pitch 
with actual spare capacity to 
alleviate overplay. 

School 
BFA/FF 

 

Local H S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Rugby 
Union 

One poor (M0/D1) quality 
senior rugby union pitch which 
is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
RFU 
LTA 

Local L L L Protect  

Tennis Three standard quality 
macadam tennis courts that 
are floodlit but unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

L L L  

P
age 388



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                        Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                               39 

 

 

Site 
ID 

Site
  

Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Partners Site 
hierarchy 

tier 

Priority Timescales9 Cost10 Aim Update 

107 Wodensb
orough 
Ormiston 
Academy 

Netball Education Two standard quality 
macadam netball courts that 
are floodlit but unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court quality for 
curricular demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

108 Wood 
Green 
Academy 

Football Education Two adult, one youth 11v11 
and one youth 9v9 pitch, all of 
standard quality. All pitch 
formats have discounted spare 
capacity due to unsecure 
tenure.  
The youth 9v9 pitch is also 
used for rugby union by the 
School but no markings are in 
place.  The School aspires to 
install a dedicated external 
pavilion on site to better 
facilitate community lettings.  

Sustain pitch quality through 
dedicated maintenance 
regime. 
Look to formalise community 
use agreement to provide 
users with security of tenure. 

School 
BFA/FF 

ECB 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket A standalone NTP which is 
considered to be of poor 
quality and in need of 
repair/replacement.  

Improve wicket quality 
through repair/replacement 
to better accommodate 
curricular demand.  

L L L  

130 Kent 
Road 
Park 

Football 
(Lapsed) 

Council One adult pitch which now lies 
lapsed.  

Determine future use of the 
provision based on the 
following priority order of 
options: 
1) Retain/allocate site as 
strategic reserve. 
2) Explore feasibility to bring 
back into use. 
3) Use as open space to 
meet local needs. 
4) Redevelop site and 
mitigate loss to meet Sport 
England Playing Field Policy 
requirements. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

- - - - Protect  

 
 

P
age 389



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 40 

WEST BROMWICH ANALYSIS AREA 
 
Table 6.17: Pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch type Current capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Future capacity total 
(match equivalent 
sessions) 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult  Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 4.5 Shortfall of 5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 7v7 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Adult  Shortfall of 17 Shortfall of 19 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 10 Shortfall of 12 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 9 Shortfall of 9 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass) 

Sandwell Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(3G 
pitches)  

West 
Bromwich 
 

Full size, floodlit  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Saturday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Sunday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Midweek Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket Sandwell Saturday Shortfall of 23 Shortfall of 23 
Cricket Sandwell Sunday Spare capacity of 5 Spare capacity of 5 
Cricket Sandwell Midweek Shortfall of 7 Shortfall of 7 
Rugby 
union 

West 
Bromwich 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Sandwell Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

West 
Bromwich 
 

Full size, floodlit At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

At capacity although the 
pitch at Ormiston 
Sandwell Community 
Academy requires 
improvement or an 
additional hockey 
suitable AGP is 
required. 

 
  

Page 390



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 41 

Table 6.18: Non pitch headline findings 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 

Tennis Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts 
and improving the recreational tennis 
offer (e.g., at local authority sites). 

Where known, supply of club courts is 
sufficient to meet demand. In addition, 
there is a requirement to focus on 
informal activity at non-club courts and 
improving the recreational tennis offer 
(e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met. Focus should 
be placed on protecting these facilities 
as well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Demand is being met. Focus should be 
placed on protecting these facilities as 
well as on supporting the various 
initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 

Bowls The supply of bowling greens is 
deemed to be sufficient for current 
demand. Dartmouth Central BC (with 
19 members) is operating below the 
level of membership required to 
ensure that its green is sustainable. 
Support is therefore required to 
safeguard the Club, with emphasis 
needing to be placed on ensuring that 
it can fulfil its future growth 
aspirations. 

The supply of bowling greens is deemed 
to be sufficient for current demand. 
Dartmouth Central BC (with 19 
members) is operating below the level of 
membership required to ensure that its 
green is sustainable. Support is 
therefore required to safeguard the Club, 
with emphasis needing to be placed on 
ensuring that it can fulfil its future growth 
aspirations. 

Athletics Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. 

Cycling Supply is considered sufficient to 
meet demand. Implementation of 
initiatives promoted by British Cycling 
should also be explored in order to 
encourage more people to get into 
cycling. 

Supply is considered sufficient to meet 
demand. Implementation of initiatives 
promoted by British Cycling should also 
be explored in order to encourage more 
people to get into cycling. 

Golf Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for 
in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need 
for one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or 
Gaelic football demand is identified, 
although some isolated demand may 
be travelling to clubs in nearby 
authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 
Table 6.19: Recommendations 
 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football  Protect provision. 
 Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor 

quality and/or overplayed sites such as Birmingham County FA Headquarters, 
Charlemont Playing Fields and Queen Elizabeth Playing Fields.  Page 391



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 42 

Sport Priority recommendations  

 Where pitches remain overplayed, seek the transfer of demand.  
 Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Kenrick Park. 
 Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 
 Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  
 Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  
 Improve changing facilities where required. 

3G 
pitches 

 Protect provision. 
 Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  
 Ensure all existing pitches remain on the FA register to host competitive 

matches.  
 Look to provide an additional full size pitch within the Analysis Area to cater for 

future demand, with options including Birmingham County FA Headquarters 
and Phoenix Collegiate. 

Cricket   Protect provision. 
 Explore the installation of an NTP at West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club 

to alleviate overplay. 
 Improve changing facilities where required, including at West Bromwich 

Dartmouth Cricket Club. 

Rugby 
union 

 Protect provision. 

Hockey  Protect provision. 

Golf  Protect provision. 

Bowls  Protect provision. 
 Support Dartmouth BC to increase membership. 

Tennis  Protect provision.  

Netball  Protect provision. 

Cycling  No action required. 

Athletics  Protect provision. 

Water 
sports 

 No action required. 

Other 
sports 

 No action required. 

 
 

Page 392



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 43 

P
age 393



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 44 

                                                            
11 (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years) 
12 (L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above 

Site 
ID 

Site  Sport Management Current status Recommende
d actions 

Partners Site 
hierar
chy 
tier 

Priority Timescales11 Cost12 Aim Update 

1 All Saints C Of E 
Primary School 

Netball Education One poor quality macadam netball 
court which is unavailable for 
community use.  

Sustain court 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

5 Birmingham County FA 
Football Development 
Centre 

Football NGB One good quality adult football pitch 
which has one match equivalent 
sessions of actual spare capacity. 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Maximise 
spare capacity 
on site to 
alleviate 
overplay of 
other pitches in 
the area. 

BFA/FF Key L L L Protect  

6 Birmingham County FA 
Headquarters 

Football Commercial One poor quality adult football pitch 
which is played to capacity.  
Listed in the LFFP for grass pitch and 
ancillary improvements.  
The site had also been listed for a 
small size 3G but a full size 3G pitch 
is now being considered. The FA and 
Football Foundation are supportive of 
the project but access and parking 
issues would need to be resolved.  

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime, in line 
with LFFP 
recommendatio
ns.  
Support 
ancillary facility 
improvements 
on site and 
explore the 
feasibility of 
providing a full-
size 3G pitch 
on site. 

Commercial 
BFA/FF 

Key H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

16 Bustleholme Playing 
Fields 

Football Council Three poor quality youth 9v9 pitches 
which are unused although spare 
capacity is discounted due to 
unsecure tenure. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

19 Charlemont Playing 
Fields 

Football Council Two youth 11v11 and three youth 9v9 
pitches, all of poor quality. The youth 
11v11 pitches are overplayed by 4.5 
match equivalent sessions per week 
whilst the youth 9v9 pitches are 
overplayed by 1.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week. 
Bustleholme FC aspires to take on 
management of the site. Ancillary 
facilities are of standard quality 
although the toilets are in poor 
condition and the showers are unsafe 
for use. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 
Support 
Bustleholme 
FC to improve 
ancillary 
provision on 
site. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local H S M Protect 
Enhance 

 

P
age 394



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 45 

Look to agree 
a long-term 
lease 
agreement with 
the Club to 
attract grant 
funding for site 
improvements. 

21 Churchfields Playing 
Fields 

Football Council Three standard quality adult pitches 
that are played to capacity. 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

26 F.C Premier Football Sports Club One good quality and one standard 
quality adult pitch. The good quality 
pitch is played to capacity at peak 
time whilst the standard quality pitch 
is played to capacity. 
Listed in the LFFP for pitch 
improvements. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime in line 
with LFFP 
recommendatio
ns. 

Sports Club 
BFA/FF 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling 
green that was used by Great Barr 
BC although the Club has not been 
able to re-access the green as it has 
not yet re-opened following initial 
Covid-19 restrictions.  

Sustain green 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure Great 
Barr BC is able 
to re-access 
the green on 
site. 

H S L  

28 Ferndale Primary 
School 

3G Education One small-size 3G pitch which is 
floodlit and available for community 
use from 16:00 – 19:00 during the 
week.  

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime and 
ensure sinking 
fund is in place 
for future 
refurbishment. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

28 Ferndale Primary 
School 

Netball Education Two standard quality netball courts 
that are unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain court 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

31 George Salter Academy Football Education Two adult pitches of poor quality and 
one youth 11v11 pitch of standard 
quality. The adult pitches are 
overplayed by 0.5 match equivalent 
sessions per week whilst the youth 
11v11 pitch is played to capacity. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EN 

Key M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

3G One full size and one small size 3G 
pitch which is floodlit and available for 
community use. Both pitches feature 
on the FA pitch register and are of 
good quality. 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 

M S L  

P
age 395



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 46 

The floodlights on the full size pitch 
are said to be temperamental and in 
need of an upgrade. 

Support the 
School to 
improve 
floodlighting on 
site. 
Ensure sinking 
fund is in place 
for future 
refurbishment. 

Netball Four good quality netball courts that 
are floodlit and available for 
community use. The site is home to 
the Dudley Netball League. The 
courts have recently been resurfaced 
although the League reports some 
worn areas are starting to develop.  
The site is serviced by good quality 
ancillary facilities.  

Sustain court 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

34 Greets Green Playing 
Fields 

Football Council One standard quality and two poor 
quality adult football pitches that are 
currently unused. All pitches have 
spare capacity although this is 
discounted from the poor quality 
pitches due to poor pitch quality. 
Ancillary provision on site is of poor 
quality and has recently been 
condemned, meaning they are no 
longer accessible.  
Listed as a potential site for mitigation 
if developments at Lion Farm Playing 
Fields go ahead.  

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 
Look to 
reinstate 
ancillary 
provision on 
site, if required 
by site users. 

Council 
BFA/FF 
BCGBA 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

Bowls One good quality crown bowling 
green. The site previously provided 
two bowling greens although the 
second has been repurposed as a 
play area.  

Sustain green 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

35 Grove Vale Primary 
School 

Netball Education Two standard quality macadam 
netball courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

37 Hanbury Primary School Football Education One standard quality mini 7v7 pitch 
which is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

38 Hargate Primary School Football Education One standard quality mini 5v5 pitch 
which is unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

44 Jesson Playing Fields Football Council One poor quality adult football pitch 
which is unused although spare 
capacity is discounted due to poor 
pitch quality. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

P
age 396



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 47 

Listed as a potential site for mitigation 
if developments at Lion Farm Playing 
Fields go ahead. 

46 Kenrick Park Football 
(Disused

) 

Council An adult football pitch which now lies 
disused.  

Explore the 
feasibility of 
bringing the 
pitch back into 
use to support 
with shortfalls 
across the 
Borough. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

47 King George V Playing 
Fields (West Bromwich) 

Football Council Seven standard quality adult football 
pitches that are played to capacity at 
peak time. 
Identified in the LFFP for pitch and 
ancillary improvements.  

Improve pitch 
and ancillary 
facility quality 
on site in line 
with LFFP 
recommendatio
ns. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

ECB 
EH 

Key M M M Protect 
Enhance 

 

Cricket A standalone NTP of standard 
quality. 

Sustain wicket 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime.  

L L L  

Hockey One small-size hockey suitable AGP 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use. 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking 
fund is in place 
for 
refurbishment 
when 
necessary. 

L L L  

66 Phoenix Collegiate Football Education One poor quality adult pitch and a 
standard quality youth 11v11 pitch 
which is unavailable for community 
use.  
The School will provide two additional 
adult pitches on site from September 
2022 as part of mitigation for its 
closed campus, with the potential for 
these to be floodlit. Once online, they 
will be available to the community.  
The site is identified in the LFFP as a 
potential venue for a full size 3G 
pitch. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure 
additional 
pitches are 
provided on 
site. 
Explore the 
feasibility of 
providing a full 
size 3G pitch 
on site and 
explore the 
options for this 
to cater for 
both football 
and rugby 
union demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

LTA 
EN 
EA 

Key H M H Protect 
Enhance 
Provide 

 

P
age 397



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 48 

Tennis  One good quality macadam tennis 
court which is floodlit and available 
for community use. 

Sustain court 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

Netball Seven good quality macadam tennis 
courts that are floodlit and available 
for community use. The courts were 
resurfaced in 2019 and are used by 
the Walsall Netball League and a 
Play Netball League.  

Sustain court 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

Athletics  One 400m cinder track which is 
without floodlighting. The track has 
been improved recently as well as 
adding a seventh lane.  

Sustain track 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

72 Q3 Academy Great Barr Football Education Two adult and one youth 9v9 pitches, 
all poor quality. The pitches are 
unavailable for community use.  
One adult pitch overmarks a senior 
rugby union pitch. 

Sustain pitch 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
BFA/FF 

RFU 
EH 

Local L L L Protect  

Rugby 
Union  

One senior rugby union pitch which is 
overmarked on an adult football pitch. 
The rugby pitch is of poor (M0/D0) 
quality and unavailable for community 
use. 

Sustain pitch 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

L L L  

Hockey One small-size hockey suitable AGP 
which is floodlit and available for 
community use.  
 
 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Ensure sinking 
fund is in place 
for 
refurbishment 
when 
necessary. 

L L L  

74 Queen Elizabeth 
Playing Fields 

Football Council Two adult, one youth 9v9 and one 
mini 7v7 pitch, all of poor quality. All 
pitch types have discounted spare 
capacity due to poor pitch quality. 

Improve pitch 
quality through 
enhanced 
maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local M S L Protect 
Enhance 

 

75 Red House Park Football Council Four adult and one mini 7v7 pitches, 
all of standard quality and all overlap 
a cricket outfield. 
The pitches are available for 
community use and the mini 7v7 pitch 
has 0.5 match equivalent sessions of 
actual spare capacity whilst the adult 
pitches are played to capacity at peak 
time. 

Sustain pitch 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

Council 
BFA/FF 

Local L L L Protect  

104 West Bromwich 
Dartmouth Cricket Club 

Cricket Sports Club One good quality cricket square with 
ten wickets. The square is overplayed 
by 12 matches per season. 

Sustain square 
quality through 
dedicated 

Sports Club Local H M M Protect 
Enhance 

 

P
age 398



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 49 

Ancillary provision is of standard 
quality although the Club is exploring 
the reconfiguration of the ground floor 
of the clubhouse and changing rooms 
to make facilities gender compliant.  

maintenance 
regime. 
Explore the 
installation of 
an NTP to 
reduce 
demand on 
grass wickets. 
Support the 
Club to 
improve 
ancillary 
facilities and 
ensure 
changing 
rooms are 
gender 
compliant. 

ECB 
BCGBA 

Provide 

Bowls One good quaity crown bowling green 
used by Dartmouth Links BC. 

Sustain green 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

L L L  

110 Dartmouth Golf Club Golf Sports Club A nine-hole, par 36 golf course 
although two tee beds are provided 
on each hole to replicate an 18-hole 
offering.  
Membership has fallen by almost 6% 
since 2015, to 101 members. 

Sustain course 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Support the 
Club to 
increase 
membership. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect  

113 Sandwell Park Golf Club Golf Sports Club An 18-hole, par 71 golf course of 
good quality.  
Green fees are unavailable at the 
weekends as this is typically reserved 
for competitions. Ancillary provision 
on site is also of high quality. 
Membership has increased by almost 
9% since 2015, with membership now 
at 432. 

Sustain course 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 

Sports Club 
EG 

Local L L L Protect  

121 Dartmouth Bowling Club  Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling 
green used by Dartmouth BC. The 
Club is currently operating below the 
minimum capacity rating with 19 
members. 
Car parking on site is said to be 
problematic.  

Sustain green 
quality through 
dedicated 
maintenance 
regime. 
Support 
Dartmouth BC 
to increase 
membership. 
 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local H S L Protect  

122 West Brom football 
supporters club 

Bowls Sports Club One good quality crown bowling 
green which is used by West 
Bromwich Football Supporters BC. 

Sustain green 
quality through 
dedicated 

Sports Club 
BCGBA 

Local L L L Protect  

P
age 399



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 50 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

maintenance 
regime. 

129 Shireland Collegiate 
Academy 

Tennis Education Three standard quality macadam 
tennis courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

School 
LTA 
EN 

Local L L L Protect  

Netball Three standard quality macadam 
courts that are unavailable for 
community use. 

Sustain court 
quality for 
curricular 
demand. 

L L L  

P
age 400



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 51 

Sport / type Site Reference Numbers  
Football - Council 3,17,50,92,93,128,2,4,10,13,7,84,105,22,27,45,69,14,25,43,130,29,43,130,16,19,21,34,44,46,47,74,75, 
Football - Education 9,11,18,48,53,60,63,65,71,76,8,61,77,24,40,79,55,73,78,100,42,59,107,108,31,37,38,66,72, 
Football - Club 87,91,97,109,98,102,103,26 
Football - Trust 36,90, 
Football - 3G 68,79,28,31,97,36,70,101,78, 
Football - NGB 5 
Football - Commercial 6,70 
  
Cricket - Council 3,92,4,49,94,105,45,95,43,47 
Cricket - Education 60,77,79,78,108 
Cricket - Club 87,58,120,99,104 
  
Tennis - Council 13,127,94,95,14 
Tennis - Education 60,63,65,77,73,78,107,66,129 
Tennis - Club 58,99 
Tennis - SLT 90 
  
Rugby - Education 73,78,107,72 
Rugby - Club 97,98,101 

  
Netball 60,63,65,62,77,30,40,79,73,78,54,85,14,107,1,31,35,66,129 

  
Bowls 87,97,117,118,119,124,126,127,116,123,95,43,26,34,104,121,122 
  
Hockey 63,86,62,77,91,80,90,47,72 

  
Athletics 86,36,79,90,66 
  
Golf 111,112,114,110,113 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 401



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 52 

Site 
ID 

Site  Analysis Area Page No(s) 

1 All Saints C of E Primary School West Bromwich 44 
2 Ashtree Playing Field Rowley Regis 15 
3 Barnford Park OIdbury 6 
4 Bearmore Playing Field Rowley Regis 15 
5 Birmingham County FA Football Development Centre West Bromwich 44 
6 Birmingham County FA Headquarters West Bromwich 44 
7 Black Patch Park Smethwick 22 
8 Blackheath Primary School  15 
9 Brandhall Primary School OIdbury 6 
10 Brickhouse Farm Rowley Regis 15 
11 Bristnall Hall Academy OIdbury 6 
12    
13 Britannia Park Rowley Regis 15 & 16 
14 Brunswick Park Wednesbury 36 
15    
16 Bustleholme Playing Fields West Bromwich 44 
17 Cakemore Playing field OIdbury 6 
18 Causeway Green Primary School OIdbury 6 & 7 
19 Charlemont Playing Fields West Bromwich 44 & 45 
20    
21 Churchfields Playing Fields West Bromwich 45 
22 Coneygre Arts Centre Pitches Tipton 29 
23    
24 Devonshire Infant and Junior Academy Smethwick 22 
25 Elwells Tipton 36 
26 FC Premier West Bromwich 45 
27 Farley Park Tipton 29 
28 Ferndale Primary School West Bromwich 45 
29 Friar Park Playing Fields Wednesbury 36 
30 George Betts Primary School Smethwick 22 
31 George Salter Academy West Bromwich 45 & 46 
32    
33 Great Bridge Primary School Tipton 29 
34 Greets Green Playing Fields West Bromwich 46 
35 Grove Vale Primary School West Bromwich 46 
36 Hadley Stadium Smethwick 22 
37 Hanbury Primary School West Bromwich 46 
38 Hargate Primary School West Bromwich 46 
39    
40 Holly Lodge High School College of science Smethwick 22 & 23 
41    
42 Holyhead Primary School Wednesbury 36 
43 Hydes Road Playing Fields Wednesbury 37 

P
age 402



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 53 

44 Jesson Playing Fileds West Bromwich 46 & 47 
45 Jubilee Park Tipton 29 
46 Kenrick Park West Bromwich 47 
47 King George V Playing fields West Bromwich 47 
48 Langley Primary School OIdbury 7 
49 Lewisham Park Smethwick 23 
50 Lion Farm Playing Fields OIdbury 7 
51    
52    
53 Moat Farm Junior School OIdbury 7 
54 Moorlands Primary School Wednesbury 37 
55 Newton Primary School Tipton 29 
56    
57    
58 Old Hill Cricket Club Rowley Regis 16 
59 Old Park Primary School Wednesbury 37 
60 Oldbury Academy OIdbury  
61 Ormiston Forge Academy (Hingleys) Rowley Regis 16 
62 Ormiston Forge Academy Main Site Rowley Regis 16 
63 Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy OIdbury 7 & 8 
64    
65 Perryfields High School Oldbury 8 
66 Phoenix Collegiate West Bromwich 47 & 48 
67    
68 Portway Lifestyle Centre Rowley Regis 17 
69 Powis Avenue Tipton 29 
70 Pulse Soccer and Fitness Centre Wednesbury 37 
71 Q3 Academy OIdbury 8 
72 Q3 Academy Great Barr West Bromwich 48 
73 Q3 Academy Tipton Tipton 29 
74 Queen Elisabeth Playing Fields West Bromwich 48 
75 Redhouse Park West Bromwich 48 
76 Rounds Green Primary School OIdbury 8 
77 St Michael’s CE High School (Rowley Learning Campus) Rowley Regis 17 
78 Gospel Oak School Tipton 29 & 30 
79 Sandwell Academy Smethwick 23 
80 Silvertrees Academy Tipton 30 
81    
82    
83    
84 Stoney Lane Smethwick 23 & 24 
85 Stuart Bathurst Catholic High School Wednesbury 37 & 38 
86 The Meadows School OIdbury 8 & 9 
87 Thimblemill Recreation Centre Oldbury 9 
88    

P
age 403



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

 

October 2022                                Strategy: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                 54 

89    
90 Tipton Sports Academy Tipton 30 & 31 
91 Tividale Football Club Rowley Regis 17 
92 Tividale Park Oldbury 9 
93 Tividale Sports Ground Oldbury 9 
94 Victoria Park (Smethwick) Smethwick 24 
95 Victoria Park (Tipton) Tipton 31 & 32 
96    
97 Warley Rugby Club Oldbury 10 
98 Warley Rugby Club (St Johns Pitches) Smethwick 24 
99 Wednesbury Sports Union Wednesbury 38 
100 Wednesbury Oak Academy Tipton 32 
101 Wednesbury Rugby Club Wednesbury 38 
102 West Bromwich Albion (The Hawthorns) Smethwick 24 
103 West Bromwich Albion FC Academy Smethwick 24 
104 West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club West Bromwich 48 
105 West Smethwick Park Smethwick 24 & 25 
106    
107 Wodensborough Ormiston Academy Wednesbury 38 & 39 
108 Wood Green Academy Wednesbury 39 
109 York Road Social and Sports Club Oldbury 10 
110 Dartmouth Golf Club West Bromwich 49 
111 Dudley Golf Club Rowley Regis 17 & 18 
112 Rowley Golf Club Rowley Regis 18 
113 Sandwell Park Golf Club West Bromwich 49 
114 Warley Woods Golf Course Smethwick 25 
115    
116 Langley Bowling Club Smethwick 25 
117 Old Cross Pub Oldbury 10 
118 The George Public House OIdbury 10 & 11 
119 Wernley Public House Oldbury 11 
120 Smethwick Cricket Club Smethwick 25 
121 Dartmouth Bowling Club West Bromwich 49 
122 West Brom Football Supporters Club West Bromwich 49 
123 Old Chapel Inn Smethwick 25 
124 Cradley Heath Sports and Social Club Rowley Regis 18 
125    
126 St Giles Rowley Regis Parish Church Rowley Regis 18 
127 Haden Hill Park Rowley Regis 11 
128 Jubilee Play area Oldbury 11 
129 Shireland Collegiate Academy West Bromwich 50 
130 Kent Road Park Wednesbury 39 

 

P
age 404



   

 
 

 

                      Page 1 of 4 

TERMS OF REFERENCE – Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Delivery Group  

PURPOSE 
(WHY) 

This group has been established to ensure the successful delivery of the 
Sandwell PPS   

FUNCTION 
(WHAT) 

This work includes:  
 
 Reviewing the PPS Action Plan to ensure that it is up to date, 

accurately reflects needs and that recommended actions are 
implemented within set timescales. 

 Considering the location and scale of investments into pitch sport 
sites. 

 Exploring opportunities for external funding bids and partnership 
working to improve / increase sites 

 Ensuring links to other relevant strategies are maintained e.g. 
Green Space Strategy. 

 Discuss any relevant planning issues e.g. potential losses of sites, 
change of use and mitigation. 

 Exploring opportunities to work with external agencies including 
clubs and schools to improve / increase sites. 

 Explore any potential S.106 funding allocations 
  

Additional elements of work may be added via the Project Chair. 
 

DURATION  The Delivery Group meetings will be scheduled for a maximum of 2 
hours. 

LIFESPAN  This Group will remain in place for the duration of the current PPS ()   
QUORUM The quorum for any meeting of the Group shall be as a minimum: 

 

 Sandwell Council Sport and Leisure representative 
 Sandwell Council Parks representative 
 Sandwell Council Planning representative 
 Sport England representative 
 Black Country Consortium representative 

ESCALATION This group will escalate issues to the Director Housing and 
Communities for resolution.  

CHAIR Rob Marlow 

MEMBERS  The PPS Delivery Group shall compromise of the following members: 

Business Manager – Sport & Leisure, Sandwell Council  
 
TBC 

Rob Marlow, Senior Lead Officer, Sandwell Council 

Page 405



   

 
 

 

                      Page 2 of 4 

robert_marlow@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

Samantha Holder, Planning, Sandwell Council 

samantha_holder@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

John Satchwell, Parks, Sandwell Council 

Johnr_satchwell@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

Stuart Morgans, Sport England  

Stuart.Morgans@sportengland.org 

 

Joe Robinson, Birmingham County F.A 

Joe.robinson@birminghamfa.com 

 

Ian Carey, Black Country Consortium 

ian_carey@blackcountryconsortium.co.uk 

 

Keely Brown, Football Foundation 

Keely.Brown@footballfoundation.org.uk 

 

Representatives from the following National Governing Bodies (NGB’s) 
will be invited to future meetings; 

ECB, RFU, England Hockey, England Golf, LTA, England Netball, UK 
Athletics, British Cycling. 

 

Page 406



   

 
 

 

                      Page 3 of 4 

DELEGATION Membership of the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Delivery Group will be 
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that there is the correct 
representation to achieve the objectives. 
 
Additional representatives may be co-opted onto the group in order to 
address specific items/issues as necessary. 
 

FREQUENCY The group will meet twice yearly during Spring and Autumn. Meeting 
dates will be agreed at the start of each calendar year to ensure 
maximum representation. 

AGENDA 
ITEMS 

The agenda will include (as a minimum)  

 Welcomes and apologies 
 Notes of last meeting  
 Review of PPS Action Plan and recommended actions 
 Changes to supply / demand 
 Site disposals 
 New site proposals 
 Funding opportunities 
 New initiatives / programmes 
 AOB 
 Date of next meeting  

Members of the group will be welcome to request additional agenda 
items to be included. 

RECORDING Meeting minutes and actions will be shared by Rob Marlow – Sandwell 
Council. 

REVIEW The Terms of Reference of the Group shall be reviewed on a regular 
basis and amended as appropriate to ensure that overall objectives of 
the Group are achieved. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 407



   

 
 

 

                      Page 4 of 4 

 

 

 

Page 408



   

 
 

 

                      Page 1 of 3 

TERMS OF REFERENCE – Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Implementation Group  

PURPOSE 
(WHY) 

This group has been established to ensure the successful delivery of 
Council led actions recommended within the PPS Strategy and 
associated action plan  

FUNCTION 
(WHAT) 

This work includes:  
 
 Reviewing the PPS Action Plan to ensure that it is up to date, 

accurately reflects needs and that recommended actions are 
implemented within set timescales. 

 Considering the location and scale of investments into pitch sport 
sites. 

 Exploring opportunities for external funding bids and partnership 
working to improve / increase sites 

 Ensuring links to other relevant strategies are maintained e.g. 
Green Space Strategy. 

 Discuss any relevant planning issues e.g. potential losses of sites, 
change of use and mitigation. 

 Exploring opportunities to work with external agencies including 
clubs and schools to improve / increase sites. 

 Explore any potential S.106 funding allocations 
  

Additional elements of work may be added via the Project Chair. 
 

DURATION  The Delivery Group meetings will be scheduled for a maximum of 2 
hours. 

LIFESPAN  This Group will remain in place for the duration of the current PPS ()   
QUORUM The quorum for any meeting of the Group shall be as a minimum: 

 

 Sandwell Council Sport and Leisure representative 
 Sandwell Council Parks representative 
 Sandwell Council Public Health representative 
 Sandwell Council Play Service representative 

ESCALATION This group will escalate issues to the Director Borough Economy for 
solution.  

CHAIR Rob Marlow 

MEMBERS  The PPS Implementation Group shall compromise of the following 
members: 

Rob Marlow, Senior Lead Officer, Sandwell Council (Chair) 

robert_marlow@sandwell.gov.uk 

Page 409



   

 
 

 

                      Page 2 of 3 

 

John Satchwell, Parks, Sandwell Council 

Johnr_satchwell@sandwell.gov.uk 

Ricky Byrnes – Public Health 

ricky_byrnes@sandwell.gov.uk 

Sam Harman – Play Service 

samantha_harman@sandwell.gov.uk 

Sam Holder – Planning 

samantha_holder@sandwell.gov.uk 

Representatives from other council teams will be invited to future 
meetings as appropriate. 

 

DELEGATION Membership of the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Implementation Group 
will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that there is the correct 
representation to achieve the objectives. 
 
Additional representatives may be co-opted onto the group in order to 
address specific items/issues as necessary. 
 

FREQUENCY The group will meet twice yearly during Spring and Autumn. Meeting 
dates will be agreed at the start of each calendar year to ensure 
maximum representation. 

AGENDA 
ITEMS 

The agenda will include (as a minimum)  

 Welcomes and apologies 
 Notes of last meeting  
 Review of PPS Action Plan and recommended actions 
 Changes to supply / demand 
 Funding opportunities 
 New initiatives / programmes 
 AOB 
 Date of next meeting  

Members of the group will be welcome to request additional agenda 
items to be included. 

Page 410



   

 
 

 

                      Page 3 of 3 

RECORDING Meeting minutes and actions will be shared by Rob Marlow – Sandwell 
Council. 

REVIEW The Terms of Reference of the Group shall be reviewed on a regular 
basis and amended as appropriate to ensure that overall objectives of 
the Group are achieved. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 411



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of supply and demand 
 

Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Adult  Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 6 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Youth 
11v11 

Spare capacity of 2 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 1 Shortfall of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Oldbury Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Adult Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Rowley 
Regis 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Adult  Shortfall of 6.5 Shortfall of 7 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Youth 
11v11 

At capacity Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Youth 9v9 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Page 413



Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Smethwick Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Adult  Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Youth 
11v11 

Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Youth 9v9 Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Tipton Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Adult  Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 3 Shortfall of 3 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

Wednesbury Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult  Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 
11v11 

Shortfall of 4.5 Shortfall of 5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 7v7 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Page 414



Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Football 
(grass 
pitches) 

West 
Bromwich 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

3G 
pitches[2] 

Oldbury Full size  Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

3G pitches Rowley 
Regis 

Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

3G pitches Smethwick Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 
3G pitches Tipton Full size  At capacity At capacity 
3G pitches Wednesbury Full size  At capacity At capacity 
3G pitches West 

Bromwich 
Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Oldbury Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Oldbury Sunday Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 
Cricket Oldbury Midweek Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 
Cricket Rowley 

Regis 
Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Rowley 
Regis 

Sunday Spare capacity of 12 Spare capacity of 12 

Cricket Rowley 
Regis 

Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Smethwick Saturday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Sunday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Smethwick Midweek Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 
Cricket Tipton Saturday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Tipton Sunday At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Tipton Midweek At capacity At capacity 
Cricket Wednesbury Saturday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Sunday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket Wednesbury Midweek Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 
Cricket West 

Bromwich 
Saturday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Sunday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Midweek Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Rugby 
union 

Oldbury Senior Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

Rowley 
Regis 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Smethwick Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

                                      
[2] Based on accommodating 38 teams on one full size pitch  

Page 415



Sport Analysis 
area 

Pitch 
type 

Current supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand 
balance (match 
equivalent sessions)  

Rugby 
union 

Tipton Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
union 

Wednesbury Senior Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Rugby 
union 

West 
Bromwich 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby 
league 

Sandwell Senior No demand so no 
provision required 

No demand so no 
provision required 

Hockey 
(sand 
AGPs) 

Sandwell Full size, 
floodlit 

At capacity although 
improvements are required 
at Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy. 

At capacity although 
improvements are required 
at Ormiston Sandwell 
Community Academy. 

 
 
 

Sport Current picture Future picture 
Tennis Current supply is sufficient for demand 

although quality and operational 
improvements are required at Old Hill 
Cricket & Tennis Club. In addition, there is 
a requirement to focus on informal activity 
at non-club courts and improving the 
recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Current supply is sufficient for demand 
although quality and operational 
improvements are required at Old Hill 
Cricket & Tennis Club. In addition, there 
is a requirement to focus on informal 
activity at non-club courts and improving 
the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local 
authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. Focus 
should be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 
However, with the Dudley Netball League 
wishing to relocate back to Dudley and 
this been recommended in the Dudley 
PPOSS, a collective approach between 
the authorities should be sought, with this 
to be guided and informed by England 
Netball. 

Demand is being met at George Salter 
Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. Focus 
should be placed on protecting these 
facilities as well as on supporting the 
various initiatives that are championed by 
England Netball. 
However, with the Dudley Netball League 
wishing to relocate back to Dudley and 
this been recommended in the Dudley 
PPOSS, a collective approach between 
the authorities should be sought, with this 
to be guided and informed by England 
Netball. 

Bowls Only one bowls club has a shortfall of 
capacity (Langley BC), whilst The George 
BC and Hamstead Social BC operate on 
the limit of the capacity threshold.  
Dartmouth Central BC is operating below 
the recommended capacity. 

Only one bowls club has a shortfall of 
capacity (Langley BC), whilst The George 
BC and Hamstead Social BC operate on 
the limit of the capacity threshold.  
Dartmouth Central BC is operating below 
the recommended capacity. 
 

Athletics With four 400-metre athletics tracks 
provided, supply is considered sufficient to 

With four 400-metre athletics tracks 
provided, supply is considered sufficient 

Page 416



Sport Current picture Future picture 
meet demand. Options can be explored to 
re-purpose the track at Hadley Stadium as 
it is surplus to requirements in its current 
form. This could include an informal 
athletics facility, for which discussions 
regarding the provision of a trail running 
track on site have taken place. 

to meet demand. Options can be 
explored to re-purpose the track at 
Hadley Stadium as it is surplus to 
requirements in its current form. This 
could include an informal athletics facility, 
for which discussions regarding the 
provision of a trail running track on site 
have taken place. 

Cycling High demand for cycling is identified within 
Sandwell so protecting and sustaining 
what is provided at Sandwell Valley 
Country Park should be seen as key given 
the off-road facilities offered. 
Implementation of initiatives promoted by 
British Cycling should also be explored in 
order to encourage more people to get 
into cycling. 

High demand for cycling is identified 
within Sandwell so protecting and 
sustaining what is provided at Sandwell 
Valley Country Park should be seen as 
key given the off-road facilities offered. 
Implementation of initiatives promoted by 
British Cycling should also be explored in 
order to encourage more people to get 
into cycling. 

Golf With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a 
mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well 
as a well-equipped driving range, supply is 
well placed to meet demand from all types 
of golfers. 

With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a 
mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as 
well as a well-equipped driving range, 
supply is well placed to meet demand 
from all types of golfers. 

Water 
sports 

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports.  

Sandwell is relatively well provided for in 
terms of outdoor water sports. 

Other 
sports 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

For American football, no dedicated 
pitches are provided; there is a need for 
one facility to provide for Sandwell 
Steelers. No baseball/softball or Gaelic 
football demand is identified, although 
some isolated demand may be travelling 
to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 

Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 
Subject: Highway Infrastructure Investment Funding Plan 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Danny Millard  

Cabinet Member Environment and Highways 
Director: Alice Davey, 

Director Borough Economy 
Key Decision: Yes, affects all wards and includes significant 

investment proposals 
Contact Officer: Robin Weare, Assistant Director, Highways 

robin_weare@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 
1 Recommendations 

1.1 That the Capital Programme for Borough Economy is reprofiled to 
provide a capital highway allocation of £3,602,000 for 2023/24 with the 
remaining balance of £2,981,000 (existing capital highway allocation of 
£6,583,000 less 2023/24 requirement of £3,602,000) carried forward to 
2024/25.  
 

1.2 That up to £500,000 of preventative maintenance work currently treated 
as revenue expenditure be capitalised and funded as part of the 
allocation of £3,602,000 in 1.1. 

 
1.3 That up to £500,000 of revenue released in 1.2 is earmarked for use in 

2023/24 for potential revenue pressures and risks associated with 
energy inflation, supplies and services inflation and increased gritting in 
the event of a severe winter. 
 

1.4 That capital resources of £1,901,550 be allocated in 2024/25 in addition 
to the £2,981,000 of Highway Capital Programme funding re-profiled 
from 2023/24 giving a total budget requirement of £4,882,550 for 
2024/25.  

 

Page 419

Agenda Item 6



 

1.5 That after the use of unspent capital from existing allocations the 
additional capital requirement for 2024/25 of £1,901,550 is funded from 
Corporate Main Programme resources, with any resulting prudential 
borrowing finance charges funded within Highways revenue budget 
and should additional borrowing be required to fund the additional 
capital budget requested, it is estimated that this would result in 
additional revenue costs to the council of £167,535 per annum over an 
18 year period, with these costs being funded within Highways revenue 
budgets. 
 

1.6 That a further report to Cabinet is submitted in Autumn 2024 after the 
Highway Infrastructure condition is reviewed in Summer 2024, to identify 
the budget that would be required in 2025/26 in order to address the 
replacement of red risk Highway Infrastructure.   

 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 Recommendation 1.1 is the capital requirement of £3,602,000 in 
2023/24 to fund the programme of work needed to stabilise and 
improve the condition of highway infrastructure and mitigate the effects 
of the next severe winter. The capital requirement is calculated as set 
out in 2.6 using base prices with inflation to April 2023 plus a projection 
of inflation to April 2024. The risks and funding requirement have been 
mitigated using the capital allocation approved by Cabinet in November 
2022. Since then the situation has improved slightly through the receipt 
of a £712,000 pothole fund from the Department for Transport, a 
moderate winter of 2022/23 reduced predicted damage to the network 
and the forecast for construction price inflation was not fully reflected in 
contract prices. These are taken into account in the table in 2.7.  
 

2.2 Recommendation 1.2 relates to part of the Highway Services revenue 
budget used for preventative maintenance schemes that enhance the 
asset and last for more than 3 years. The preventative maintenance 
enhances carriageways and footways by sealing cracks and improving 
skid resistance in wet and icy conditions. This meets a definition of 
capital expenditure allowing part of the capital allocation to be used.  
 

2.3 The capitalisation of this work would release £500,000 to offset 
Highway Service revenue pressures in 2023/24. 

Page 420



 

 
2.4 Recommendation 1.4 clarifies the build-up of the total capital 

requirement of £4,882,550 in 2024/25 to stabilise the condition and 
improve highway infrastructure, to mitigate the effects of the next 
severe winter in accordance with the Highway Infrastructure Asset 
Management Policy, Strategy and Plan. The capital requirement is 
calculated as set out in 2.6 using base prices with inflation to April 2023 
plus a projection of inflation to April 2024. 

 
2.5 Recommendation 1.5 is to approve the funding mechanism for the 

additional capital allocation for 2024/25. 
 

2.6 Recommendation 1.6 is to report back to cabinet with an update on 
Highway Infrastructure Asset Management pressures in the Autumn 
2024 to identify future budget requirements from 2025/26 onwards for 
the risk assessed future stabilisation of Highway Infrastructure when 
the inflation outlook can be better assessed and when the effects of the 
2023/24 winter have been determined. 
 

2.7 The highest priority pressures for Highway Infrastructure in 2023/24 are 
set out in the following table. The costs in the first part of the table are 
the additional funding that is needed to offset the effect of inflation, 
stabilise the asset condition and mitigate the risks and financial impact 
of a severe winter. The capital requirement is calculated using base 
prices with inflation to April 2023 plus a projection of inflation to April 
2024. The middle part of the table shows the budgets that are available 
to fund this requirement. The last part of the table quantifies the 
funding gap offset by approved allocations to show the net funding 
request summarised in the recommendations. 
 

Page 421



 

 
 

2023/24 (£) 2024/25  (£) 2025/26  (£)

Carriageways 7,200,000 7,270,000 6,570,000

Lighting 1,120,000 1,120,000 1,120,000

Vehicle Restriant 140,000 140,000

Traffic Signals 100,000 100,000 100,000

Footways 1,460,000 1,460,000 1,460,000

Bridges - Scott, Dudley 
Street, Station Road 821,912 1,700,000 900,000

10,701,912 11,790,000 10,290,000

4.5% 8%

0 530,550 823,200

10,701,912 12,320,550 11,113,200

Maintenance Block CRSTS -4,769,000 -4,741,000 -4,741,000

Pothole Fund - DfT 23/24 -712,000 0 0

Challenge Fund, Bridges -321,912 -900,000 0

Lighting Capital SMBC -275,000 -275,000 -275,000

Maintenance Revenue -1,522,000 -1,522,000 -1,522,000

TOTAL FUNDING -7,599,912 -7,438,000 -6,538,000

SPEND minus BUDGET 3,102,000 4,882,550 4,575,200

Proposed Capitalisation of 
Revenue Expenditure 500,000

FUNDING GAP 3,602,000 4,882,550 4,575,200

Current Approved Allocation -6,583,000

Proposed Reprofile of 
Current Allocation 2,981,000 -2,981,000

Additional Capital Funding 
Required 0 1,901,550 4,575,200

SUB TOTAL

Future Inflation over April 2023 base year 
estimate - Projected from ONS Construction 

Infrastructure Inflation

Lifecycle Modelling 
TOTAL  Annual 

funding needed to 
stabilise the further 
escalation in Red 

Risk Condition

 Inflation over April 2023 base prices

TOTAL EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENT

Funding Available 
for cyclical renewal 
and preventative 

maintenance 
(enhacement of 

assets lasting more 
than 3 years)

Capital Support 
Requested

AREA OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE           

Page 422



 

2.7 Evaluation of Funding Requirement to Stabilise Red Risk 
Conditions 
 
Carriageways 
 
The highway network includes 880km of carriageways of which 75% are 
unclassified roads and 25% classified as A, B, or C roads. The classified 
road network is in reasonable condition typically with 2% to 3% in red risk 
condition. However, the unclassified 75% of the network has 19% of roads in 
red risk condition and this has escalated from 15% three years ago. The 
unclassified carriageway network is the single biggest asset of the Council. 
 
The following chart illustrates the effect of maintaining current budgets and 
consequently undertaking less work because of the effects of inflation and 
other pressures. The lifecycle analysis for unclassified roads (mainly 
residential and distributor roads amounting to 75% of the network) indicates 
an escalating deterioration of condition. 

The light blue trend from 2009 to 2011 shows rapid deterioration of 
unclassified carriageway from 7% to 15% in red risk condition. 

The darker blue trend from 2012 to 2019 shows the success of the greater 
reliance in the preventive maintenance approach. Red risk condition was 
stabilised at 15% for 7 years. 

The green trend from 2020 to 2023 indicates the start of the escalating 
erosion of budgets in real terms as a consequence of capital grants not 
increasing with inflation. Red risk condition has deteriorated from 15% to 
19% in 3 years. Another influence in this trend is the escalation in life expiry 
of the preventative maintenance that have been relied upon to a greater 
extent since 2012. 

The red dashed lines show the projected escalating deterioration of condition 
in the absence of capital funding to close the inflation gap. The capital 
investment made in 2023/24 and 2024/25 together with a moderate winter 
and moderating inflation have improved the projection from 2022 to 2023. 

The dashed black line shows the effect of the recommended Council capital 
funding provision to stabilise the red risk condition at 19%.  

Page 423



   

P
age 424



 

 
Street Lighting 
 
There are around 30,850 columns in the Borough with an average age of 
around 40 years compared to a design life of between 25 and 40 years 
depending on the column type. Steel columns generally corrode through at the 
base or swage joint. The reinforcement in concrete columns eventually rusts 
and the expansion spalls surface concrete and cracks the columns. Periodic 
lighting column collapses have occurred. A constant cycle of condition surveys 
is undertaken to identify columns that are life expired and replace them just in 
time. The asset management plan for lighting targets the cyclical replacement 
of 167 steel columns and 400 concrete columns each year. This amounts to 
less than 2% per year implying a life expectancy of more than 50 years. 

Vehicle Restraint Systems 
 
Surveys have identified vehicle restraint systems that are deficient in 
comparison to the modern standards appropriate for current vehicle weights 
and speeds. Many of these “crash barriers” are located on dual carriageways 
built between 1970 and 1972. A 7-year programme to upgrade vehicle 
restraint systems to modern standards is recommended to be programmed to 
commence in 2024/24 at a cost of £140,000 per year. 
 
Bridges 
 
A programme of bridge inspections identifies conditions that need 
maintenance and repair to prolong the life of these assets. There are 172 
bridges owned by Sandwell and the backlog of overdue capital maintenance is 
estimated to be £9,1654,181. The asset management plan is to clear this 
backlog over 10 years at a capital cost of £900,000 per year. 
 
The recent externally funded bridge repair work at Scott Bridge illustrated that 
the extent of structural deterioration can be significantly worse than had been 
observed and reported in bridge inspections. This led to prolonged temporary 
road closures and additional costs of more than £500,000. The implementation 
of the required work was made possible by the provision of DfT grant funding 
and that was supplemented by £500,000 of Council capital funding in 2022/23 
The completion of this bridge strengthening work will use £150,000 of the 
Council capital allocation in 2023/24 (approved in November 2022).  
 
A failing bridge at Station Road, Old Hill also generated an unfunded pressure 
of £350,000 this financial year and has closed this important classified road for 

Page 425



 

12 months causing significant disruption for local businesses. This cost is also 
covered by the capital allocation approved in November 2022. 
 
It is currently anticipated that the remaining Department of Transport Grant of 
£1,221,912 allocated in 2021/22 for Dudley Street Bridge strengthening will 
need to be supplemented with £800,000 of Council capital following intrusive 
investigation work and allowing for construction price inflation. 
 
The recommended Council capital allocation for bridges approved in 
November 2022 is sufficient for expenditure in 2023/24. The recommended 
Council capital allocation for bridges in 2024/25 is £1,700,000 to address the 
two pressures related to the maintenance backlog and Dudley Street bridge 
strengthening. 
 
Traffic Signals 
 
Traffic signal infrastructure is aging and there is currently no budget provision 
particularly for the cyclical replacement of the steel columns supporting traffic 
signals. A programme of condition surveys for 270 traffic signals is 
recommended to monitor the section loss at the base due to corrosion and the 
condition of concrete columns. A cyclical replacement programme of £100,000 
per year is recommended pending completion of the programme of condition 
surveys. 
 
Footways 
 
Condition surveys show that around 70% of footways are functionally impaired 
or structurally unsound. Preventative maintenance is reducing the number of 
footways in amber risk condition but there is still an upward trend in red risk 
condition. The asset management plan lifecycle model identifies the need to 
invest £1,460,000 per year on the worst footways over a 1,440 kilometre 
network. 
 
The condition of the footway network within Sandwell is monitored through an 
annual Footway Network Survey (FNS). Sandwell have a long history of FNS 
data which confirms that a sustained improving trend of amber risk condition 
has been achieved over a four-year period. This validates the Councils Asset 
Management approach of targeting amber risk footways to prevent further 
deterioration to red risk. However, condition has continued to deteriorate and it 
is recommended that funding is provided to repair footways that are in the 
worst condition. 
 

Page 426



 

The footway analysis has been supplemented with Gaist lifecycle modelling for 
footways this year. This Gaist modelling indicates that we should be investing 
more in footways than we currently do to maintain these assets at a stable 
condition into the long-term.  
 
The latest lifecycle modelling recommends an annual investment of 
£1,810,000 per year. However, it is recommended that total investment should 
continue at £1,460,000 in 2024/25 pending more in-depth analysis of the Gaist 
output. 
 
 
 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  

 

 

Best start in life for children and young people: 
Good, well maintained highway infrastructure will encourage 
more walking and cycling increasing wellbeing, improving 
road safety and promoting cleaner air quality. 

 

People live well and age well: 
The Highway environment plays an important role in the life 
of the community, particularly the positive opportunities that 
they can bring from social inclusion and interaction. 

 

Good quality Highways infrastructure will make our 
communities feel safe, more protected and confident in their 
homes and neighbourhoods. 

 

Well maintained highways bring increased economic and 
physical activity mitigating accidents, wear and tear. 

 

Highways are the arteries of Sandwell communities. They 
connect residents to employment, education, local services 
and indeed the wider world, enable economic growth, social 
mobility and are vital in ensuring good health outcomes. 
The recent Enventure survey was conducted to gain insight 
from residents to support Sandwell Council in the 
development of the budget proposals and future spending 
priorities.  The survey found that “Maintaining Roads and 
Pavements” was selected as important by high proportions 
of respondents in both the representative survey (72%) and 
the online survey (79%). 

 

Page 427



 

 
 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
Cabinet approved a Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan in 2018 
based on a risk assessed lifecycle planning approach with a greater emphasis 
on preventative maintenance in response to the sea change code of practice; 
Well Managed Highway Infrastructure published in 2016 
 
The risk assessed programme of renewal to stabilise red risk conditions in 
accordance with approved HIAMP policy and strategy generates the costs in 
the table shown in paragraph 2.1. The HIAMP policy and strategy represents 
the minimum standard of evidence based intervention needed to discharge 
statutory requirements, comply with the Code of Practice.  

 
The recent Enventure survey was conducted to gain insight from residents to 
support Sandwell Council in the development of the budget proposals and 
future spending priorities.  The survey found that “Maintaining Roads and 
Pavements” was selected as important by high proportions of respondents in 
both the representative survey (72%) and the online survey (79%). 
 
Asset Management and Lifecycle Planning 

 
4.1 The Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Lifecycle Plan sets out 

the framework for investment in, management of and the operation of 
highway the highway network to meet legal obligations and high public 
expectations for safe, reliable and accessible travel within the wider 
objectives of strategy set out in the West Midlands Local Transport Plan. 
 

4.2 Asset Management is about managing and maintaining and operating 
carriageways, footways, street lighting, structures, traffic signals, 
drainage and street furniture through long term planning and optimal 
allocation of resources in order to manage risk for a defined service 
performance. 
 

4.3 A Highway Asset Management Plan (HAMP) was first prepared for the 
period 2010-13. On 14 November 2014 Cabinet approved a preventative 
approach to carriageway maintenance based on the information and 
options set out in the ‘Status and Options Report for Carriageway 
Maintenance April 2014. This approach optimises the use of low-cost 
preventative treatments (such as surface dressing and micro asphalt) to 

Page 428



 

prolong service life before roads deteriorate to a condition where 
significantly more expensive resurfacing or reconstruction is required. 
 

4.4 The 2014 HAMP assumed capital investment in planned carriageway 
maintenance works would be maintained broadly at the levels current in 
2014/15 and the mix and timing of preventative, renewal and 
reconstruction treatment would be optimised over a 20 year lifecycle 
analysis predicting controlled depreciation in the asset value. 
 

4.5 On 21 February 2018 Cabinet approved the Highway Infrastructure 
Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) defining the Council’s policies, 
strategy and plans for the future maintenance of the highway network. 
This was aligned to the “Well Managed Highway Infrastructure – A Code 
of Practice (October 2016) and continued with the 20-year asset 
management lifecycle approach with an initial funding period up to 2021. 
 

4.6 The Council has a statutory duty of care to users and the community to; 
maintain the highway in a condition fit for purpose, as far as is 
reasonably practicable. The duty is not absolute but decisions must be 
taken on reasonable grounds with due care and regard to relevant 
considerations set out in best practice guidance such as “Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure – A Code of Practice (October 2016) 
 

4.7 A key aspect of the HIAMP is the development of strategic lifecycle plans 
for each critical infrastructure asset, including;  

 
• 880km of carriageways, of which 75% are unclassified roads 
• 1,440km footways and cycleways, 
• 35,000 street/lights, illuminated signs, traffic signals  
• 450 bridges and structures,  
• 3500km drainage & culverts including 40,000 gullies & connections  
• A wide range of other street furniture 

 
4.8 Since the approval of the 2014 HAMP based on 20-year lifecycle 

management approach both capital and revenue allocations have been 
reduced and eroded by inflation and budget reductions. As a 
consequence, the backlog of maintenance is increasing as described the 
Risk Section, within Alternative Options. An example the deterioration of 
carriageway condition for unclassified roads is also shown graphically in 
section 2.  
 

Page 429



 

4.9 It is not considered affordable or realistic to fund the renewal of the 
whole of the current highway infrastructure backlog that is in red risk 
condition. Instead the risk assessed HIAMP seeks to arrest and stabilise 
the escalation of red and amber risk condition.   
 

4.10 It is recommended that the principles of the current HIAMP are continued 
based on a risk management approach through condition assessment to 
stabilise highway infrastructure condition at current levels. 
 
Existing external capital budgets are not sufficient to stabilise the 
escalating decline of highway infrastructure condition or fund the 
significant inflation in contract prices. The £4.741m City Region 
Sustainable Settlement (CRSTS) Maintenance grant from the 
Department for Transport is currently the only funding available for the 
renewal of high-risk life expired infrastructure. Last year the DfT capital 
grant was fixed for 5 years at the average level that has been provided 
over the previous 5 years. Consequently, no allowance for inflation will 
be made over a 10 year period as shown by the graph in 4.12. 
 

4.11 The office for National Statistics is reporting increases in Construction 
Output Prices for infrastructure of around 4.5%. Analysis of highway 
contract prices indicate similar annual increases. This has moderated 
from last year when infrastructure construction prices were increasing at 
a rate of 14% per year.  
 
The profile of CRSTS grant funding from the DfT for the planned 
replacement of life expired infrastructure is shown in the following chart. 
The solid blue line shows the variation in grant funding over the last 5 
years due to variable amounts of challenge funding and incentive 
funding allocated to the Council. The LTP maintenance block allocation 
was fixed at £4.471m this year for 5 years. The dotted blue line trend 
shows that variable funding settlements are not allowing for inflation. The 
dashed red line shows the effect of inflation that is escalating the funding 
gap currently around £2.2m and rising. 
 

Page 430



 

 
 
 

4.12 Council revenue budgets for supplies and services only provide for the 
operation of the highway network and reactive repairs. Historically there 
has been no Council Capital provision for the planned replacement of 
high-risk life expired infrastructure.  
 
 

4.13 National Benchmarking 
 

Independent national studies show that Sandwell Highway Maintenance is 
cost-effective way when compared to other authorities as follows.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

20
20

/2
1

20
21

/2
2

20
22

/2
3

20
23

/2
4

20
24

/2
5

20
25

/2
6

20
26

/2
7

Effect of Inflation on LTP Capital Maintenance 
Allocations

LTP Grant Trend plus Inflation Linear (LTP Grant)

Page 431



 

National Highways and Transportation – Best Performers 
 

 
 

 
Local Government Association Headline Report 2022/23 compares 
performance across Metropolitan Councils 
 

 
 
 

Page 432



 

National Highways and Transportation CQC Benchmarking 
 
For a decade Sandwell have been operating at close to 95% of predicted minimum cost 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
5 Alternative Options 
 
Not Recommended 
 
Provide no Council Capital to close the inflation driven funding gap  

 
5.1 An alternative would be to limit the repair of high-risk infrastructure to a 

value that matches the £4.741m CRSTS maintenance block grant. There 
would consequently be no Council capital provision available to fund the 
gap in the cost of replacement of high-risk life expired highway 
infrastructure. The programme of urgent work for 2024/25 would not be 
completed This is not recommended because the red risk backlog is 
escalating. Also, a severe winter could add £3m to £5m to projections. 
 

 
 

Page 433



 

RISKS 
 

5.2 A key service risk relates to safety and liability claims arising from 
accident and injury due to the condition of the highway. The HIAMP sets 
out the Council’s planned safety inspection regime for mitigating this risk 
including frequency of inspection, items for inspection, degree of 
deficiency and nature of response. A decision not to invest in the 
recommended repairs would leave road users exposed to safety risks 
and the authority would be exposed to escalation repair costs. In recent 
years a large number of small claims against the Council have been 
settled with annual costs in the range £280,000 to £390,000.  
 
The recommended investment to improve infrastructure mitigates the 
financial liability of the Council as Local Highway Authority. The current 
low probability of this risk can be maintained by using Council capital 
funding to mitigate the growing investment gap between CRSTS 
maintenance budgets and the requirements of HIAMP.  

 
5.3 There are additional key service risks associated with reduced access to 

performance based external grant funding.  The eligibility criteria vary for 
each new grant funding provision.  
 

5.4 A decision not to fund the budget gap with Council Capital would risk 
escalation of red risk conditions as follows.  

 
• Extensive carriageway damage following a severe winter, that would 

be much more expensive to repair, escalating the red risk backlog 
further. The severe winter of 2017/18 caused an estimated £3m of 
additional damage to carriageways, however the DfT response was 
to increase grant funding by £1.4m for resurfacing work and the 
Council response was to provide £0.45m for the reactive repair of 
potholes. The unfunded deterioration of 880 kilometres of 
carriageways added to the future cost of repair with more expensive 
surfacing works as indicated in the following table. 

Page 434



 

 

• Extensive footway damage following the winter leading to more 
expensive repair escalating the backlog further. Trips and falls on 
footways generate claims payments of £280,000 to £350,000 per year. 
Ward members regard the condition of footways as a significant 
reputational issue. 
 

• Bridge failure and prolonged road closures, diversion and risk of 
accidents. This risk is largely controlled by programmed bridge 
inspections however limited funding delays the necessary repairs. The 
recent externally funded bridge repair work at Scott Bridge illustrated 
that the extent of structural deterioration was significantly worse than 
had been observed and reported in bridge inspections. A failing bridge 
at Station Road, Old Hill also generated an unfunded pressure this 
financial year and has closed this classified road for 12 months causing 
disruption for local businesses. 
 

• Surveys have identified vehicle restraint systems that are deficient in 
comparison to the modern standards appropriate for current vehicle 
weights and speeds. 
 

• Avoidable failure of traffic signals would breach the Network 
Management Duty under the Traffic Management Act 2004. This would 
represent an immediate urgent safety risk that could lead to road traffic 
accidents. 
 

• Risk of lighting column collapse with property damage or traffic 
casualties. This risk is mitigated by programmed condition surveys. 
However, there are around 30,850 columns in the Borough and 
consequently condition surveys are phased over a 4 year cycle. 

Surfacing Type Condition Life in 
Years

£ per     
Sq M

£ per yr 
per Sq m

Surface Dressing 7 3 0.43
SD Tar Chippings 9 5 0.56

Micro Asphalt 10 10 1.00
Surface Course Upper Amber 15 25 1.67

Surface/Base Course 20 50 2.50
Full Reconstruction 25 80 3.20

Amber

RED

Page 435



 

Periodic lighting column collapses have occurred, the most recent in 
2016. 

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: This is straight forward repetitive work at many locations 

and will be managed by governance arrangements that 
have successfully delivered these programmes of work 
previously. 

Corporate procurement officers will assist Highway 
Services officers using existing collaborative West 
Midlands Maintenance Framework Contracts.  

The financial implications are set out in the 
recommendations 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The principal statutory duty imposed on local highway 
authorities to maintain the highway at public expense is set 
out in Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980.  
 
The Traffic Management Act 2004 imposes a network 
management duty on a council as the Local Traffic 
Authority to manage the authority’s road network to 
facilitate as far as reasonably practicable the expeditious 
movement of traffic. 
 
Section 39 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 requires each 
Local Authority carry out studies into accidents arising out 
of the use of vehicles and in the light of those studies to 
take such measures as appear to the authority to be 
appropriate to prevent accidents, including the 
construction, improvement, maintenance or repair of roads 
for which they are responsible  

This proposal will support these statutory duties. 
 

Risk: The recommended Council Capital investment mitigates 
the risks of failing to meet the statutory duties of the 
Council as Local Highway Authority and Local traffic 

Page 436



 

Authority as a consequence of the escalation of red risk 
condition.  
The alternative option in respect of a decision not to 
provide capital to gap fund the replacement of high risk life 
expired infrastructure is not recommended explained in the 
risk section 5.6 to 5.6 for the following reasons. 
 
• Extensive carriageway damage following the winter > 

more expensive to repair escalating the backlog further 
• Risk of lighting column collapse > property damage, 

traffic casualties 
• Failure of crash barriers to restrain vehicles > road 

traffic casualties 
• Failure of traffic signals > Breach of Network 

Management Duty 
• Extensive footway damage following the winter > more 

expensive to repair escalating the backlog further 
• Bridge failure > prolonged road closures, diversion and 

risk of accidents 
• Escalation of claims for damages to property, for injury 

and the low probability but high impact of a criminal 
investigation for negligence. 

• Reduce success in securing performance related 
external grant funding 

• Reputational damage associated with the above, the 
associated public complaints and failure to achieve 
corporate objectives. 

Equality: There are no specific equality issues regarding the 
proposals contained in this report. The requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010 are included in the Framework 
Agreement Documentation to draw attention to the detail 
of, and the need to comply with, the Act. 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The Highway environment plays an important role in the 
life of the community, particularly the positive opportunities 
that they can bring from social inclusion and interaction. 
Good highway infrastructure discourages criminal and anti-
social activity, reducing the fear of crime, supporting the 
increased use of public transport, delivery of carbon 

Page 437



 

reduction savings and the associated benefits outlined in 
the Corporate Plan. 

Social Value Highways are the arteries of our communities. They 
connect our residents to employment, education, local 
services and indeed the wider world. They enable 
economic growth, social mobility and are vital in ensuring 
good health outcomes. 

The recent Enventure survey was conducted to gain 
insight from residents to support Sandwell Council in the 
development of the budget proposals and future spending 
priorities.  The survey found that “Maintaining Roads and 
Pavements” was selected as important by high proportions 
of respondents in both the representative survey (72%) 
and the online survey (79%). The contracts that deliver this 
work maximise additional value to Sandwell communities 
through the inclusion of Social Value requirements. 

Climate 
Change: 

Well maintained highways support climate change 
objectives through the supporting more activate travel 
choices, delivery of carbon reduction savings and 
associated benefits outlined in the Corporate Plan. 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

Good, well maintained highway infrastructure promotes 
improved physical and mental health and 
well-being of children and young people through more 
walking and cycling, improving road safety and promoting 
cleaner air quality. 

 
7. Appendices 
 
 None.  
 
8. Background Papers 
 
2018 Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Policy and Strategy 
  
Highway Asset Management Plan (HAMP) Cabinet Report 14 November 2014 
 
Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) Cabinet Report on 
21 February 2018  

Page 438



 

 
“Well Managed Highway Infrastructure – A Code of Practice (October 2016 

 
Highway Infrastructure Funding to mitigate the decline in Highway 
Infrastructure Condition – Cabinet Report November 2022 

Page 439



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

Subject: Sandwell Children’s Trust Annual Review 
2022/2023 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education,  
Councillor Simon Hackett 

Director: Director of Children and Education, 
Michael Jarrett 

Key Decision: Yes 
Contact Officer: Michael Jarrett, Director of Children and 

Education 
Michael_Jarrett@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Mandip S. Chahal, Senior Commissioning 
Manager for Statutory Services 
Mandip1_chahal@sandwell.gov.uk 

 
1. Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Cabinet, in its capacity as the body that is responsible and 

accountable for the discharge of the relevant children’s social care 
services functions: 
  
a) formally receives the Sandwell Children’s Trust Annual Review 

2022/23; 
 

b) notes the progress made to date by Sandwell Children’s Trust in 
delivering services as set out in the contract between the Council and 
the Sandwell Children’s Trust, as set out in the Annual Review 
2022/23; 

 
c) notes the feedback from the Department for Education following its 

recent 6-month review of Sandwell Children’s Trust.  

Page 441

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Mandip1_chahal@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
2. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
1.2 The Service Delivery Contract (the Contract) between the Council and 

Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) requires that an annual review of 
services is completed and presented to the Council. At the Cabinet 
meeting on 22nd March 2017, it was agreed that the Cabinet, in its 
executive role, will perform this function on behalf of the Council and 
agree certain ‘reserved matters’ that are set out in the Contract.  

 
1.3 This report presents SCT’s Annual Review 2022/23.  

 
1.4 Consideration of the Annual Review by the Cabinet forms an important 

part of the governance of SCT; providing assurance to the Council in its 
capacity as the body that is responsible and accountable for the 
discharge of the relevant children’s social care services functions. 

 
3. How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
 
SCT works with families, foster carers, schools, statutory and 
voluntary providers to support the achievements of vulnerable 
children and those in the care of the council 
 
SCT works to ensure that children in the care of the Council 
receive the support and opportunities that any parent would give 
their child 
 

 

People live well and age well 
 
SCT ensures coordination between social care and the NHS to 
better protect vulnerable children 
 

 

Strong resilient communities 
 
SCT supports families to improve children’s life chances  
 
SCT works closely with the police to ensure that children are 
protected from the impact of crime, domestic violence, and all 
forms of exploitation 

Page 442



 

 
4. Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1. The Contract has a comprehensive programme of governance 

arrangements. The Contract requires that the Executive Director of 
Children’s Services, together with Council senior officers from finance 
and legal services, and the Chief Executive of SCT meet on at least a 
monthly basis to consider performance and operational matters. In 
addition, each quarter, the Lead Member for Children’s Services and the 
Chief Executive meet with the Chair of the SCT Board and the Chief 
Executive of SCT, at a Strategic Partnership Board. 

 
4.2 The Contract specifies that representatives of SCT should attend Council 

meetings when reasonably requested, specifically referencing attendance 
twice a year at the Children's Services and Education Scrutiny Board and 
at the Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board if requested. 

 
4.3 The Contract requires SCT to provide a comprehensive annual review for 

consideration by the Operational Partnership Board, the Strategic 
Partnership Board and then by the Cabinet. Progress against the 
performance indicators for the period 01 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 is 
set out in the Annual Review, together with information about financial, 
workforce, and other performance areas. 

 
4.4 Since April 2018 SCT has been the subject of seven monitoring visits 

from Ofsted as well as a focussed visit, three inspection visits of the 
fostering service, a full inspection under the Ofsted's framework and 
guidance for inspecting local authority services for children (ILACS) in 
May 2022 and most recently an inspection of adoption services.  

 
4.5    The judgement following the inspection undertaken in May 2022 was one 

of ‘requires improvement to be good’. With the judgement of ‘good’ 
received by the fostering service in August 2021 and a judgement of 
‘good’ for the adoption service in Dec 2022 there is a clear trajectory of 
service improvement. 

 

Page 443



 

4.6 SCT has undertaken a refresh of the Improvement Plan, utilising the 
feedback provided by Ofsted following ILACS inspection with an aim of 
becoming a ‘Good’ or better organisation. 

 
4.7 The delivery of the improvement plan will be overseen by the 

Improvement Board, which will be chaired by DfE appointed independent 
chair, and progress monitored as part of the Council’s contractual 
monitoring processes 

 
4.8 The DfE carried out a 6-monthly review and following its visit on 18th July 

2023 was satisfied that progress was being made.  It commented on the 
‘strong working relationship and commitment to continual improvement 
was evident and the presentation from SCT’s leaders clearly 
demonstrated the progress against the transformation priorities as well as 
the challenges that remain’. The review was attended by Council 
representatives: Chief Executive and Director of Children’s Services.  

 
4.9 SCT presented the Annual Review to the Children’s and Education 

Scrutiny Board on 11th September 2023. 
 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 At its meeting on 19 October 2016, Cabinet was advised of the 

Government’s Statutory Direction (under Section 479A of the Education 
Act 1996) to set up a new arrangement in the form of a children’s trust to 
deliver children’s social care services. As a result, Sandwell Children’s 
Trust started operating on 1st April 2018. Any alternative to the current 
arrangement must be agreed by the Secretary of State for Education. 

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: Sandwell Children’s Trust will receive £74.475m to 

deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities for 
children’s social care, and also to provide targeted 
early help services in 2023/24. 
 
The Contract Sum amount that SCT receives is agreed 
annually in line with mechanisms set out in the Service 
Delivery Contract. 

Page 444



 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Council is responsible and accountable for the 
discharge of the relevant children’s social care services 
functions 
 
At its meeting on 19 October 2016, Cabinet was 
advised of the Government’s Statutory Direction under 
section 479A Education Act 1996 to set up a new 
arrangement to deliver children’s social care services.  
 
Subsequently, SCT was created and began operating 
in 2018 under the terms of a service delivery contract 
put in place between the Council and SCT.   
 
The service delivery contract sets out a comprehensive 
programme of governance arrangements and, in 
particular, Schedule 3 of the service delivery contract 
requires that an annual review is presented to the 
Council each year.  
 
The delivery of this report and the [Draft] Annual 
Review 2022/23 to the Council, therefore, fulfils SCT’s 
obligations in this regard under the terms of the service 
delivery contract. 
 
 

Risk: The Council’s strategic risk register previously 
identified a red risk relevant to this report, regarding 
improvements required in children’s social care 
services.  
 
As a result of the last ILACS judgement, this was 
reviewed and the risk assessment was decreased from 
16 (red) to 8 (amber)  
 

Equality: An Equality Impact Assessment screening is not 
required for this report. However, the improvement in 
children’s services will have a positive effect on the 
lives of vulnerable children, young people and families 
in Sandwell, including those with protected 
characteristics. 

Page 445



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

SCT continues to support children and families in 
Sandwell and as the quality of service that they deliver 
improves so does the impact they have on improving 
the health and wellbeing of children and families. 
 

Social Value SCT supports children to achieve, feel safe, be 
supported and access opportunities. SCT supports 
care leavers to access education, employment and 
training. 
 
SCT supports community resilience through the 
recruitment of local residents as foster carers, helping 
children to remain close to communities they are from 
and to thrive in Sandwell 

Climate 
Change: 

There are no climate change implications attached to 
this report 
 

Corporate 
Parenting 

Ensuring that SCT continues on its improvement 
journey will support the Council in delivering its 
corporate parenting responsibilities. 
 

 
7. Appendices 
 
 Sandwell Children’s Trust Annual Review 2022/23 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
 None 
 

Page 446



D R A F T  D O C U M E N T
2 0 2 2  -  2 0 2 3

Annual Review 

Page 447



Foreword

Executive Summary

Introduction

Section (a) The Improvement Plan

Section (b) The Trust's performance of the Services against the
Performance Targets in the preceding Contract Year

Section (c) The thematic findings of any Audits and Surveys carried out
by the Trust during the previous Contract Year

Section (d) The outcome of any Ofsted monitoring visits and/or Ofsted
inspections

Section (e) The Trust's performance against budgets in the preceding
Contract Year

Section (f) Demand analysis in respect of the Services against
assumptions and models in respect of the preceding Contract Year

Section (g) The outcome of any Agreed Action Plan and/or Rectification
Plan that was agreed in the preceding Contract Year

Section (h) Any Changes to the Agreement agreed between the Parties in
the preceding Contract Year pursuant to the Change Control Procedure

Section (i) Any proposed changes to the Services Specification, the
Financial Mechanism and/or the Performance Indicators for the following
Contract Year

Section (j) The contractual governance arrangements set out in Schedule
19 (Governance)

Section (k) Such other matters that the Parties may agree from time to
time.

3
 

5
 

10
 

11
 

15
 
 

29
 
 

30
 
 

33
 
 

36
 
 

57
 
 

 
 
 

58
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Contents

02Page 448



03

Sandwell Children’s Trust was created in 2018 with the clear purpose to improve
the lives of children and young people. This is an ambition that continues to be
shared by the Sandwell partnership, in particular our strategic partners Sandwell
council with whom the Trust has a contract to deliver social care services to
children, young people, and families.

The last five years have been both challenging and rewarding, staff and leaders
have worked hard to deliver widescale improvements in all areas of the Trust
against the backdrop of the COVID-19 pandemic and national pressures affecting
the social work sector.

Our regulators have recognised the progress that we have made; our 2022 ILACS
Inspection judged the Trust overall to be requires improvement to be good, OFSTED
also rated both our Fostering Service and Adoption Service as good and HMI
Probation rated our Youth Justice Service as good. This represents significant
progress after years of inadequacy and has created a solid foundation on which we
can continue to strengthen and improve the service we provide to the most
vulnerable people in our community.

We have embarked on a comprehensive and aspirational transformation
programme that will underpin the next phase of our improvement, and with our
staff have co-developed a clear ethos that sets out how we are going to realise this
ambition. As OFSTED have told us, we know ourselves well; we will be relentless in
pursuing the very best outcomes for our children and families.

Foreword

Page 449



04

In addition to our regulators, The Department for Education (DfE) have also
acknowledged our progress and have confirmed that Sandwell’s Children’s Services
will now enter a period of transition from intervention, whilst maintaining the
statutory direction at this time. We welcome this news as an endorsement of our
progress and a testimony to the resilience and commitment of the Sandwell family.

This annual review document sets out the steps we have taken to deliver these
improvements as well as the Trust’s performance against a series of key
performance indicators. It is necessarily a detailed document which should be
considered alongside our performance data.

We would like to thank staff, leaders and partners from across Sandwell for their
contribution to the progress that has been made since Sandwell Children’s Trust
was created in 2018 and look forward to working together to further improve our
services.

The Right Honourable Jacqui Smith
Chair of Sandwell Children’s Trust

Emma Taylor - Chief Executive
Sandwell Children’s Trust

Foreword

Page 450



05

Executive Summary

Creation of the Trust

The Trust was created following the Government’s Statutory Direction (under
Section 479A of the Education Act 1996), in 2016, to set up a new arrangement in
the form of a Children’s Trust to deliver children’s social care services. The
statutory direction was issued in response to a long period of inadequate provision
of children’s social care services delivered by the council. The Statutory Direction
set out the requirement to establish a new and distinct legal entity to provide
children's social care services in Sandwell on behalf of the council. The Trust has
day-to-day operational independence in the management and delivery of these
services and is managed by a board of non-executive and executive directors. The
council commissions the Trust to deliver statutory children’s social care and
targeted services, as specified in the Service Delivery Contract.

The Trust commenced operations on the 1 April 2018 with day to day operational
management overseen by the Executive Management Team, who are accountable
to the Trust Board.

The Trust Board

Chaired by the Right Honourable Jacqui Smith, the Trust Board is both supportive
and challenging. The Board is complemented by 3 committees: Finance and
Infrastructure, Workforce and Audit and Risk, each focussing on key matters that
impact on the day to day running of the Trust. There is a strong sense of the
ambition for children amongst all members; and there is good oversight of Trust
activity, with regular, detailed reports that cover all aspects of the Trust, e.g.
workforce, practice and performance, finance. The Chair is well sighted on strategic
and relevant operational matters and key decisions are made swiftly after thorough
scrutiny. The Chair of the Board was originally appointed by the Department for
Education and regularly provides written reports, to the Parliamentary Under-
Secretary for Children, on the Trust’s performance and progress adding a further
element of scrutiny and challenge.

Page 451



06

Gove rnance

A comprehensive programme of governance arrangements is in place. The Trust
and council officers meet at least monthly at the Operational Partnership Board
(OPB), to consider performance and operational matters.

The OPB is chaired by the Trust Chief Executive. On a quarterly basis, the Chair of
Sandwell Children’s Trust and the Trust Chief Executive meets with the Lead
Member for Children’s Services and the Director of Children’s Services at a
Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). The SPB is chaired by SMBC Chief Executive.

Living our purpose and ethos

To complement the Trust's purpose of improving the lives of children and young
people, staff from across the Trust have collaborated to articulate and embed our
ethos which sets out the ways in which we achieve this, with specific focus on our
children and families and ourselves and partners

We have high aspirations for our
children, we make a difference and
change children's lives for the better
We place children at the heart of
everything we do
We keep families safe, keeping them
together where possible
We work alongside our families, guided
by their needs
We empower and work with the whole,
extended family
We only use language that our children
and young people can understand
We celebrate our children and enable
them to smile, laugh, play, and succeed

Children and families

We support and look after each other
We make meaningful connections and
collaborate effectively with the wider
Sandwell family
We share a common understanding of
our responsibilities
We encourage each other to learn,
develop, and reflect
We embrace diversity and celebrate
each others differences
We promote the positives - we are
advocates for the Trust

 Ourselves and our partners 

Our ethos

Executive Summary

Page 452



07

Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy

EDI has a high profile across the Trust, we have seen progress but there is still a lot
more to do. We continue to listen, learn and change. We all play a part in
championing a diverse workforce, recognising and addressing any attitudes or
behaviours that do not reflect our ethos. We want to be responsive to national and
regional events that could have an emotional impact on our diverse workforce and
the families we work with. We need to understand how these have affected
different communities and develop actions to help deal with them.

Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) was created in 2018 with a clear purpose; to
improve the lives of children and young people in Sandwell. Founded on core
principles of excellence, equality and opportunity for all, Sandwell Children's Trust
is resolute in creating an environment that recognises and celebrates differences,
designs services to meet the diverse needs of our children, young people and
families attracts and retains the best staff. What we gain from our diverse
communities and workforce is immeasurable.

We are striving to be an organisation that values differences and inclusiveness,
where everyone can be the very best they can and in turn create a workforce that is
knowledgeable about the communities we support so we can connect directly with
our young people and families, and be responsive to their needs. Led by our Chief
Executive and with the full support of our Trust Board, promoting equality, valuing
diversity and maximising inclusivity is about recognising that we all have our part to
play.

The children and families of Sandwell along with our staff and partners are
important contributors to our continuous development, learning and the overall
success of what we do. Therefore, we will ensure that we provide equality of
opportunity for all so that meaningful ways of collaboration, participation and
contribution can flourish, and we strive to strengthen our cultural competences
and embed it as an employer, an organisation and in practice.

Executive Summary

Page 453



08

Overview of Sandwell and our children

Sandwell has an estimated population of 341,900, which has risen year on year
since the 2011 census. 84,867 children and young people under the age of 18 years
live in Sandwell. This is 24.8% of the total population in the area. There has been an
11% increase in the number of children and young people living in Sandwell since
2011, which has required the creation of 5,300 new primary school places and 3,915
secondary school places.

Sandwell is an urban area lying in the centre of the West Midlands conurbation,
made up of six small urban towns. It ranks as the 15th most deprived authority in
the country for income deprivation that affects children, with this deprivation
spread across the borough.

Executive Summary

Page 454



09

Sandwell is a diverse borough with 30.1% of the total population from black and
minoritized ethnic groups. This percentage increases for children and young people
from minoritized ethnic groups, who account for 49% of Children aged 0-17,
compared with 26.2% in England. The largest minoritized ethnic groups of children
and young people in the area are of Indian (8,246) and Pakistani origin (5,917). 

Many of Sandwell’s children and young people experience poor outcomes.
Approximately 25% of the local authority’s children aged under 16 years are living in
low-income families. Around 7 in 1,000 children die before their first birthday,
levels of teenage pregnancy are higher than the national level and 28.2% of 11-year-
olds are classified as obese.

The number of children entitled to free school meals has increased by 30.2% since
March 2020 with 20,209 children currently in receipt of a free school meal, which
equates to 33.2% of the school population. The proportion of children and young
people with English as an additional language in primary schools is 32.4% (the
national average is 20.9%); in secondary schools it is 29.2% (the national average is
17.2%). Over 3,100 children are subject to an Education, Health and Care Plan. This
figure has risen significantly since 2019 and continues to rise.

As of 31 March 2023, there were 802 children in care, with 333 children subject of a
child protection plan and 624 Children in Need. The rate per 10,000 of children in
care in March 2023 has reduced by 7.2 over the last 12 months, and currently stands
at 94.5. This is an improving trend, and now below statistical neighbour average
(97.1 per 10,000). We currently have a transformation plan and financial plan to
reduce the number of children in care further. The rate of children on a children
protection plan has also reduced over the last 12 months. 

Executive Summary

Page 455



10

Introduction

The Annual Review is a formal requirement of the Trust’s contract with the council.
The aim of the review is to look back over the previous 12 months and understand
how far we have achieved our goals. The review is the first strategic document of
the year, informing our business plan and our improvement plan.

The Service Delivery Contract allows for the Trust to be 'relieved of its obligations
to provide its services as a result of a “Relief Event'. A Relief Event is an event such
as a fire, storm, accidental loss or damage to the Trust premises, power failure, or
the failure by the council to fulfil the council dependencies.

Schedule 3 of the Service Delivery Contract outlines the matters that are to be
reported on as part of the Annual Review. These are addressed in the following
sections:

Section (a)
Section (b) 

Section (c)

Section (d)

Section (e)
Section (f)

Section (g)
 
Section (h)

Section (i)

Section (j)

Section (k)

The Improvement Plan
Performance of Services against the Performance Targets in the
preceding Contract Year
The thematic findings of any Audits and Surveys carried out by the
Trust during the previous Contract Year
The outcome of any Ofsted monitoring visits and/or Ofsted
inspections
Performance against budgets in the preceding Contract Year;
Demand analysis in respect of the Services against assumptions and
models in respect of the preceding Contract Year
The outcome of any Agreed Action Plan and/or Rectification Plan
that was agreed in the preceding Contract Year
Any Changes to the Agreement agreed between the Parties in the
preceding Contract Year pursuant to the Change Control Procedure;
Any proposed changes to the Services Specification, the Financial
Mechanism and/or the Performance Indicators for the following
Contract Year
The contractual governance arrangements set out in Schedule 19
(Governance)
Such other matters that the Parties may agree from time to time

Page 456



11

The Improvement Plan

Sandwell Children’s Trust is an independent organisation owned by Sandwell
council. Day to day management is overseen by its Executive Management Team,
which is accountable to the Trust Board.

In May 2022, Sandwell Children's Trust was subject of an regulatory inspection by
Ofsted under the Inspecting Local Authority Children's Services framework (ILACS).
After a decade of children's services being inadequate, a judgement of Requires
Improvement was achieved in all areas which was a significant turning point for the
Trust and its partners. In December 2022 the Trust’s Adoption Services were also
inspected, where an overall judgement of Good was achieved.

As part of our improvement journey we have a robust improvement plan which
outlines progress and evidence against the seven recommendations from the ILACs
inspection in May 2022. These recommendations can be seen on page 31. 

The current context is one of a national shortage of social workers, where almost all
areas have been affected. There has been a disproportionate impact on the Trust,
given its difficult history, workforce stability remains one of the Trust’s biggest
challenges. Despite this, efforts to improve continue at pace. There is a clear sense
of direction and strong ambition for the Trust’s future, which is underpinned by our
six priorities. In early 2022 our locality model was established, whereby three Heads
of Service oversee three social work localities, alongside borough wide services for
children in care/care leavers, disabled children and fostering. The model is
embedding well.

The Trust Board is both supportive and challenging. There is a strong ambition and
high expectations from all members; and there is good oversight, with the Board
receiving regular detailed reports regarding all aspects of the Trust's work, e.g.
workforce, practice and performance, finance. The Chair is well sighted on strategic
and relevant operational matters and key decisions are made swiftly after thorough
scrutiny.

Section (a)

Page 457



12

There is a positive partnership approach between the Trust and the council and
there is evidence that children are prioritised in Sandwell; and whilst there is
appropriate challenge through our governance arrangements, there are
constructive relationships between officers and politicians across the Trust and
council. 

There is a clear sense of direction and oversight across the wider partnership, as
well as clarity about our priorities which are overseen by the Children and Families
Strategic Partnership. These include early help, mental health, and children in care.

Our Strategic Leadership Team has been established for two years now and is
developing well. It is clear on its remit which is to deliver on our priorities,
addressing any issues collectively so we continually improve. Likewise, our wider
Operational Leadership Team comes together regularly, both to reflect on practice
but also to spend time learning together as leaders and helping to shape
improvements - all part of our inclusive and collective culture.

Our ethos underpins our whole approach and there are clear expectations about
how everyone should behave and live our values. This links closely with our
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy. Overseen by a Strategic Governance
Group, there is a strong commitment to excel in this area. Not only do we want to
deliver on the strategy’s action plan but make the strategy a ‘state of being’ for
everyone in the Sandwell Family.

Section (a)

Page 458



13

Transformation Programme

The Trust has mapped out an ambitious programme of projects which will ensure
that it continues on its upward trajectory and improvement. The Transformation
Programme has developed over its first full year in line with our ethos and is
structured around our 6 priorities.

Time has been invested in the development of the programme ensuring that each
priority has clear objectives captured in individual ambition statements, clarified by
‘what this means’ which articulate how the ambitions will be achieved. Each priority
area is underpinned by prioritised projects with the appropriate level of resources,
project planning, lead officers and all overseen by the Strategic Leadership Team to
ensure co-ordination, alignment and collective management of risks.

Additionally, the Transformation Programme is fully aligned with the Trust’s Savings
plan. Every element of the savings plan appears in the Transformation Programme
which means that the prioritised activity will continue to transform the
organisation, deliver better outcomes for our children, young people and their
families and deliver tangible savings or avoid costs. 

We strive for excellence in all areas.

Section (a)

Page 459



14

Section (a)

Prioirty areas and their ambition statements

Priority 1 - People

“A place where our people are proud to be part of a skilled Sandwell
family by being respected, supported, nurtured and empowered to
thrive”

Priority 5 – Meeting Need and Measuring Progress 

“To recognize and understand the needs of the children and young
people we support by ensuring services are designed to best meet
those needs, enabling children and young people to fulfil their
potential”

Priority 2 - Practice 

“To improve the lives of children and young people through caring,
compassionate support and proportionate high quality
interventions based on each child’s needs”

Priority 4 - Prevention

“To work alongside partners to ensure that our children, young
people and families receive the right support, in the right place at
the right time”

Priority 6 - Striving for Excellence

“To create the environment that transforms the Trust into an
intelligence led, innovative, aspirational and confident
organization”

Priority 3 - Partnerships 

“To work alongside partners across Sandwell to improve the lives of
children and young people through collaboration, shared
understanding of roles and mutual respect”

Page 460



15

PI13 – Social Worker Permanent Vacancy Rate – this measure has increased
slightly over the last month from 40.7% to 42.6%, this measure is still above
target tolerance (14th consecutive month above target and tolerance). This
performance is directly effected by a national shortage of experienced social
workers.

Percentage timeliness of Contact to MASH within 24 hours (PI1)
Percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences within 15 working days of the
strategy discussion (PI3)
Timeliness of Single Assessments within 45 working days (PI4)
Children unallocated longer than 5 working days (PI5)
Child Protection and Children in Need Visits within the last 4 weeks (PI6 and
PI10)

Children in Care Reviews within Statutory Timescales (PI12)
Overall Caseloads across Children Services (PI13)

The Trust's performance of the Services against the Performance
Targets in the preceding Contract Year 

Over the course of the year, we have reported our key contract performance on a
monthly basis and are pleased to say, we have maintained good performance in
many areas. 

Performance in a few areas dipped in the first half of the year due to staff shortages
and recruitment issues of Social Workers, many of the Contract KPIs improved in
the second half of the year.

As of 31 March 2023, the SCT has met 11 of our KPI targets, a further 3 are within the
contract tolerance. There is one indicator within the failure zone for month of
March 2023. Measure in failure zone is as follows:

Throughout the financial year a number of measures have seen a decline in the
earlier part of the year, however significant improvements have been made and
include:

Measures which have declined throughout the latter part of the year include:

Section (b)

Page 461



16

Below is the individual performance of the key performance indicators specified
within the contract:

PI1 - The percentage of contacts accepted as a MASH referral within 24 hours

Target: > 75%     Tolerance:> 65%     Failure: < 65%

This measure is important as it shows
how efficiently our front door is
operating and how quickly we are
responding to referrals where threshold
is not immediately clear. Throughout
financial year 2022-23, performance
fluctuated between 61.6% in November
2022 up to 83.7% in January 2023
(performance was above target for 6
reporting periods, within tolerance for 5
reporting periods and within failure for
one reporting period).

PI2 - The rate of Children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan (per
10,000) of our child population

Target:<65 Children per 10,000    Tolerance:< 80 Children   Failure: > 80 Children

Section (b)

Between June and September 2022 there were significant staffing issues, which
were reflective of the national and regional picture in respect of recruitment and
retention of social workers. This impacted performance with a number of Children
unallocated which impacted on a number of measures including PI3, PI4, PI5, PI6,
PI10, PI11 and PI12 which eased in October 2022 with performance increasing
significantly over the last 6 months of the financial year.

Page 462



17

Throughout the year we have worked hard to ensure that the threshold for child
protection was consistent, and this measure continues to decrease below our
statistical neighbour average and now below England Average, and positively at the
lowest rate since the Trust went live in April 2018 at 333 (39.2 per 10,000) Children
on a Child Protection Plan (performance in this measure has achieved target in last
12 reporting periods).

PI3 – The percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC’s)held within 15
working days of the strategy discussion that agreed S47 enquiries were necessary

Target: > 80%     Tolerance:> 65%     Failure: < 65%

Section (b)

This measure gives us a sense of our
demand, how we are handling this
demand and how we are applying our
thresholds for children where there are
child protection concerns.

Our statistical neighbour average is 52.6
and the England average is 42.1
(measured at March 2022).

Page 463



18

Statistical Neighbours – 83.4%
England Average – 79.2%
West Midlands Average Q4 2021/22 – 77.6%

Performance in this indicator has been sustained above target since November
2022 and is consistently above our comparators for 2022;

(This measure has been above contract target for 7 months of this financial year,
within tolerance for two months and failure for three months)

PI4 - The percentage of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days

Target: > 85%     Tolerance:> 75%     Failure: < 75%

This measure shows how timely our
Single Assessments are for children (in
line with the statutory maximum
expectation of 45 working days). Most
Single Assessments are completed by
Social Workers within Locality Service
areas and Duty and Assessments Teams
(between September 2022 and March
2023), but a significant amount are
completed across other service areas
as part of updating/review assessments
for children. 

Section (b)

This measure shows how timely we are
when we are completing S47 enquiries
and organising Initial Child Protection
Conferences for children. It gives us a
sense of how we are managing demand
in this area and how quickly we can
bring together a group of professionals
to make decisions for children who are
potentially at risk of significant harm.

Page 464



19

PI5 - The number of children unallocated for longer than 5 working days

Target: <10     Tolerance:< 30     Failure: >30

This measure helps to demonstrate how
well we have oversight on every child’s
situation, and how well we are handling
throughput at the Front Door and other
transfer points. Poor performance in
this area would mean children do not
have a social worker for lengthy 
 periods of time, which could be a
dangerous situation. 

There are circumstances where having children unallocated for a short period of
time is reasonable, but this should be kept to a minimum.

As can be seen our performance in this area has consistently been better than our
target this year since 31 August 2022. Between 31 May and 31 July 2022 we had a
high number of children unallocated for longer than 5 working days, this was due to
workforce stability issues.  A clear plan was implemented to manage allocations and
transfer of work which continued throughout the financial year. The difficulty in
recruiting social workers to our vacant positions had affected our performance in
this area during this period (performance above target for 9 out of 12 month
reporting cycle).

Section (b)

We saw a dip in performance early in the financial year, which coincided with
workforce fragility and issues within unallocated children, performance improved
significantly between October 2022 and March 2023 and above our comparators
(West Midlands – 82%, statistical neighbour – 84.8% and England Average – 84.5%).
Furthermore performance over the financial year was above target for 6 months of
the financial year, but significantly improved above target for last 6 months
(October 22 to March 23).

Page 465



20

PI6 - The percentage of Children subject to a CP Plan visited within 4 weeks

Target: >80%     Tolerance:>70%     Failure: <70%

This measure provides part of our
understanding of how well we are
interacting with children and families
under Child Protection. The frequency
of visiting children under these
circumstances is locally defined, and in
Sandwell we expect social workers to
visit children subject of a Child
Protection Plan at least every 4 weeks. 

Alongside this measure, it is important to understand the quality of these
interventions through practice reviews and management oversight. Good
performance in this area contributes to demonstrating purposeful intervention and
safeguarding.

The drop in performance mid-year is accounted for by increasing staffing fragility
within the locality service, which has now stabilized (performance in this area above
target for 9 months, tolerance for two months and below target and tolerance for
one month).

Section (b)

Page 466



21

PI7- The percentage of Children whose Child Protection Plan has been updated
within the last six months

Target: >95%    Tolerance:>85%    Failure: <85%

This indicator shows how often we are
reviewing and discussing children’s
plans and our interventions. Good
performance in this area would help to
show we are ensuring our interventions
are having the desired impact, and
making changes where warranted. Plans
that are not updated are normally an
indicator of drift and delay within our
interventions.

This measure is linked to how often Social Workers are holding / recording their
Children’s Core Group Meetings and Conference Chairs their Review Child
Protection Conferences.

Performance has been relatively consistent – between 93.8% and 99.7% throughout
the year this has remained above our target for 10 out of the 12 reporting months in
2022-23 with two months within tolerance.

Section (b)

Page 467



22

Our performance in this area has been  good, although the relatively small sample
sizes per month mean there can be variance month to month (performance has
ranged between 73.1% and 91.8% and above target for all 12 reporting months).

PI8 – Of all children subject of a Child Protection Plan, the percentage who have
evidence of formal case supervision within the previous 4 weeks

Target: >65%    Tolerance:>50%    Failure: <50%

This measure helps to demonstrate
formal management oversight for this
cohort of children. Good performance
in this area shows that Team Managers
are regularly considering progress in
these cases and providing social
workers the opportunity for reflection
on a child by child basis.

PI9 - The percentage of young people returning from a missing episode who have
had a return interview within 72 hours

Target: >70%    Tolerance:>50%    Failure: <50%

This measure helps to understand how
well we are responding to children at
risk of exploitation after they return
from being missing. Good performance
would mean we are gathering
information / intelligence from children
at the earliest opportunity that would
help us safeguard them better now and
during future safeguarding concerns.

Section (b)

Our performance over the financial year has fluctuated between 63% in June 2022
and 86.4% in March 2023 and above target for 11 out of the 12 reporting months.

Page 468



23

Alongside this measure, it is important to understand the quality of these
interventions through practice reviews and management oversight.

Performance in relation to Children in Need visits has improved significantly during
September 2022 to March 2023 ranging between 73.6% and 82.4% this has been
maintained above target over the 7 reporting periods, although between April 2022-
August 2022 performance ranged between 42.8% and 61.1% where performance
was below target for four out of the 5 months and in tolerance for one of those
months.

PI10 - The percentage of Children subject to a Children in Need Plan visited within
the previous four weeks 

Target: >73%    Tolerance:>58%    Failure: <58%

This measure provides part of our
understanding of how well we are
interacting with children and families
under Child in Need. 

The frequency of visiting children under
these circumstances is locally defined,
and in Sandwell we expect social
workers to visit children subject of a
Child in Need Plan at least every4
weeks. 

Section (b)

Page 469



24

Many Children in Care are placed in stable situations, and are secure with their
carers. Therefore, statutory visits range between 4-12 weeks based on Child needs
and stability. Performance has ranged in this measure from 80.4% in June 2022 and
90.9% in December 2022, out of the 12 reporting months CIC visits has been within
contract tolerance for 11 months. Performance in localities (where main staffing
issues have been) has ranged between 75-85% during the year with CIC service
between 85-95%.

PI 11 – The percentage of Children in Care visited in accordance with statutory
requirements

Target: >90%    Tolerance:>80%    Failure: <80%

This measure provides part of our
understanding of how well we are
interacting with Children in Care. The
frequency of visiting children under
these circumstances is defined through
statute. Good performance helps to
show we have established relationships
with our Children in Care, know their
needs and meet their needs, driving
permanence and robust planning.

Section (b)

Page 470



25

Good performance in this area will show that we independently review children’s
plans on a regular basis, at least every 6 months. This is a cumulative measure
across the financial year starting in April each year.

Our performance in this area has been consistently above tolerance and above
target for 10 out of 12 reporting months although performance is 9.8% below same
period in previous year, this is primarily due to the period of workforce instability
where CIC reviews needed to be re-convened between June and August 2022
impacted as this measure is cumulative throughout the financial year.

PI12 - The percentage of Looked After Children’s Reviewsheld within statutory
timescales

Target: >80%    Tolerance:>70%    Failure: <70%

This measure shows the timeliness of
Looked After Children reviews, and
contributes to our understanding of
how well we monitor the progress of
Looked After Children’s plans, and
ensure that we are doing what we say
we will.

Section (b)

Page 471



26

During the financial year there has been a national crisis in relation to recruitment
of permanent Social Workers including a 2 tier agency workforce agenda
consisting of high cost agency workers within project teams driving a national
problem. This measure impacted directly on poorer performance on a number of
other contract KPIs during the summer months.

Throughout the financial year our permanent vacancy rate has fluctuated
between 37.8% and 45.05% which has been below target for the whole financial
year. We continue to drive recruitment and retention within the Trust with a
number of different initiatives to attract a more permanent workforce.

PI13 - The vacancy rate of permanent front line Social Workers 

Target: >32%    Tolerance:>37%    Failure: <37%

This measure helps us to determine the
stability of our case holding workforce.
Whilst agency social workers are
essential for an organisation to quickly
meet fluctuations in demand, a stable,
permanent workforce is also critical for
long term improvement.

Section (b)

Page 472



27

Over the previous 12 months you can see that caseloads started with an average
of 20.94 in April 2022 this decreased to 16.52 in September 2022 (this coincided
with the introduction of project teams within the service) and steadily increased
up to 20.29 at end March 2023, when a number of project teams were removed. 

Although fluctuations have been between 16.52 and 20.29 within the financial
year, performance has remained better than target and tolerance. It is worth
noting that whilst 20.29 children is the average workload per Social Worker, a
more detailed review of senior social workers (not ASYEs) are carrying higher than
average child workloads.

ASYE caseloads range between 12 and 18 based on the where they are within their
assisted year of employment and their level of experience. Please see table below.

PI14 - Average case loads across the service 

Target: >18.5    Tolerance:>23    Failure: <23

This measure helps us to understand
the changing demand within our
organisation so that we can target our
recruitment and retention activities,
and adjust our establishment.

Section (b)

Page 473



28

Length of Time ASYE Childrens Workload Numbers

Up to 3 months 12

3-6 months 14

6-9 months 16

9-12 months 18

Adoption learning event in August 2022
Learning from complaints in December 2022

The quality of our work has been consistent according to our random monthly
practice reviews, despite the challenges we have faced, which should be seen as a
positive. During the financial year performance has remained above target for
whole year April 2022 – March 2023 ranging from 72.2% to 100%.

Please note that no practice reviews took place in August 2022 and December
2022 focusing on practice learning events these were:

PI15 - The percentage of case file audits that are rated Requires Improvement or
better  

Target: >55%    Tolerance:>40%    Failure: <40%

This is a very important indicator as it
shows the progress of practice
improvement across Practice Reviews. 

Good performance is an indication that
our assessments, plans and
interventions with children and
families are improving.

Section (b)

Page 474



29

The thematic findings of any Audits and Surveys carried out by the Trust
during the previous Contract Year 

Over the last few years the Quality Assurance (QA) framework has continually
developed to strengthen our practice through learning identified from the variety
of QA activities. Our approach recognises the need to have a range of QA activities
aimed to measure and evaluate the quality of services delivered to children and
families. The framework enables us to capture feedback from children, families and
our staff which shapes and validates our practice and service delivery. Our practice
and thematic reviews, dip sampling, external reviews and Practice Observations
enable the Trust to evaluate practice and identify areas that require further
strengthening whilst identifying areas of good practice.

Through a robust closing the loop process and feedback mechanisms, the findings
from all the QA activities are shared with all relevant practitioners, managers and
executive management team to ensure actions are taken at both individual child but
also at a more strategic level, if required.

This targeted approach not only assists managers to support individual
practitioners to address any gaps in practice, but also provides evidence and
informs and shapes further systems changes at a more strategic level.

Alongside understanding our performance better, our approach of sharing findings
from our Quality Assurance activities enables the staff to continually cultivate a
work culture where improving practice is business as usual. We have established a
culture where managers and social workers are held to account through
performance boards, performance surgeries, senior management meetings
including Children’s Management Team and the Practice Improvement Board. This
approach has been successful for most teams and we have seen marked
improvements. However, there is still much to do to ensure practice is consistently
improved with all service area/teams. We have streamlined our performance
reporting to ensure Team Managers and Senior Management have the right
performance information to drive improvements and so they are not overwhelmed
with the volume of information they receive. Examples of this include daily locality
dashboards which include key performance for each locality drilled down to a team
level in one singular report.

Section (c)

Page 475



30

Section (e) - The outcome of any Ofsted monitoring visits and/or Ofsted
inspections 

The table below outlines the outcome of Ofsted’s Visits and Inspections in 2022/23:

Inspection / Visit Date Judgement

ILACS Full Inspection 9-20th May 2022
Requires Improvement to be Good 

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80549

VAA Adoption Inspection 5-9th December 2022
Good

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/7/1264707

Section (d)

ILACS Full Inspection 9th to 20th May 2022
Inspection Highlights

Ofsted inspectors visited us between 5th to 9th May 2022 for Sandwell Children
Trust full ILACS inspection. Feedback from inspectors was as expected, we have
areas of strength and areas for continued improvement (all of which we already
knew). The current biggest issue to sustained improvement is recruitment and
retention of our workforce, which is a national issue.

Judgement Grade

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families Requires Improvement to be Good

The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection Requires Improvement to be Good

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers Requires Improvement to be Good

Overall Judgement Requires Improvement to be Good

Ofsted reported that, "Services for vulnerable children and families in Sandwell
have improved since the last inspection in November 2017, when they were judged
to be inadequate. Since April 2018, children’s services have been delivered by
Sandwell Children’s Trust on behalf of the local authority. New strategic
leadership, which includes the chief executive of the Trust, has increased the pace
and trajectory of improvement over the last year. Stronger strategic leadership has
led to improvements in much of the service, through changes such as the move to
a locality model, implementation of an early help strategy, a social work career
pathway and high-quality specialist services."

Page 476

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80549
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/7/1264707


31

OR1 - The application of thresholds by partners when referring to children’s
social care, to ensure that children and families receive the right service. 
OR2 - Consistent threshold decision-making, particularly when escalating
statutory involvement at the ‘front door’ when the criteria are met for child
protection enquiries.
OR3 -Management oversight and support, including the process of escalation
and challenge by independent chairs to ensure timely progression of children’s
plans.
OR4 - The effective application of the Public Law Outline (PLO) and decision-
making, to achieve timely permanence for children who come into care. 
OR5 - Life-story work for all children in care, to support their understanding of
the reasons for them being in care. 
OR6 - The range of suitable placements for older children and those with
complex needs. 
OR7 - Timely transition planning to prepare children in care, including those with
disabilities, for adulthood. 

ILACS Inspection - Recommendations

Adoption Inspection (VAA) – 5th to 9th December 2022
Inspection Highlights

HMI Ofsted inspectors visited us on 5th to 9th December 2022 to undertake a VAA
inspection for our Adoption service the findings were as follows:

Section (d)

Judgement Grade

Overall experiences and progress of service users taken into account Good

How well children, young people and adults are helped and protected Good

The effectiveness of leaders and managers Requires Improvement to be Good

Overall Judgement Good

Many of children’s needs are well met by social workers who collaborate effectively
with partners in other services."

Page 477



32

The Trust progresses early permanence for children when adoption is identified
as a part of a child’s care plan. The Trust works closely with the regional
adoption agency to progress early permanence as a result the number of
Children placed in foster to adopt placements has increased
Children build positive relationships with adopters
Children are introduced to adopters in a planned and sensitive way
Children’s social workerswork collaboratively with the Regional Adoption
Agency to ensure that children and adopters, once matched and placed, are
supported well. As a result, there have been no disruptions for children who
have been placed by the Trust
The Trust has developed a governance structure that enables leaders to
maintain some good oversight of the delivery of the adoption service provided
by the Regional Adoption Agency
The culture of the Trust is characterised by high expectations and aspirations
for all children. This is demonstrated in their desire to achieve permanence for
children and stability in placements.

Ensuring we encourage and gather feedback and consider the wishes, feelings,
and views of children to help them improve the service
Ensuring that life story books are personalised to each and every child
consistently
Ensuring that the later-life letter is individual and personalised to each child and
that the prospective adopters receive the letter within 10 working days of the
adoption ceremony
Ensuring children are introduced to prospective adopters in a timely way that is
child focused and without delay
Ensuring that training and assessment of prospective adopters are non-
judgemental
Ensuring that we seek feedback from adopters about the experience of the
adoption process from beginning to end and that we implement any learning
from this.

VAA Inspection - Recommendations

Section (d)

Page 478



33

ICB health contribution 
Education funding for placements 
DfE improvement grant 
Supporting Families claims 
Home Office funding 

Introducing more efficient ways of working 
Ensuring that we manage the demand for our work as efficiently as possible 
Ensuring we get best value for services 
Ensuring we take advantage of invest-to-save initiatives 
Delivery of savings aligned to our Transformation programme. 

The Trust's Performance against budgets in the preceding Contract Year

Financial Context 
 
The finances provided to the Trust consists of funding from SMBC (the Contract
Sum) and contributions from third parties. The basic contract sum was £70,473,917
and the ‘third party’ income was £7,720,579 which consisted of:

In addition to this we drew upon a high cost placement reserve from SMBC of
£500,000. SMBC also funded the salary settlement, market supplement and social
work project team costs over and above the contract sum amounting to £1,758,771.
This makes a total income of £80,453,267.

We also had an opening deficit of £7,017,645. The surplus for 2022/23 is subject to
audit but provisionally stands at £39,000 making the cumulative deficit £6,978,645
at year end. 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
 
The Medium Term Financial Plan is a rolling three-year strategy to manage our
finances whilst addressing our deficit. We can review this on an annual basis in line
with the review of our business plans. 
 
The key aspects of the Medium Term Financial Plan are: 
 

Section (e)

Page 479



34

The cost-saving work outlined within this plan can be broken down to specific areas,
such as the cost of children’s placements, reducing the number of placements we
need to utilise, ensuring that our service by service demand aligns with our
establishment, and making sure the work we do is necessary – reducing drift and
delay. The MTFP aims in the next three years to address our cumulative deficit
which is largely due to staffing costs (agency premium), and high cost of
placements for Children in Care. 

For the year 2023/24 we aim to achieve a draft in-year surplus position of £740,000.
This would be achieved through the delivery of cost savings totalling £2,200,000
compared with the previous year. 
 
Year-end position 

Income totalling £80,453,267 was received for 2022/23, and expenditure was
£80,414,267, meaning the Trust has achieved a £39,000 provisional surplus, which
was £1,908,130 below the aims outlined within the Medium Term Financial Plan.
This was due to continued cost pressures on placements for Children in Care and
reliance on high cost agency staffing and project teams.

This deficit is expected to be mitigated throughout the course of the next three
years due to the development of a well governed cost savings plan tackling
demand, supplier management and staffing permanence.

The below table highlights the provisional full-year outturn for - 2022/23. 

Provisional full-year outturn 2021

Income £80,453,267 

Expenditure (£80,414,267) 

Operating surplus £39,000

Surplus before taxation £39,000

Tax on surplus Nil

Surplus for the Financial year £39,000

Section (e)

Page 480



35

We received £500k of DFE Improvement Grant funding to fund some of our
improvement initiatives. 
We drew upon the high cost placement reserve of £500k paid by SMBC. 
We received further funding of £1.76m from SMBC to fund the salary settlement,
market supplement and exceptional social work project team costs.
Contributions to placement costs from health and education partners have
increased as a result of complexity of need and cost of living pressures.
Key cost pressures remain within staffing (requirement for high cost agency
staff to fill front-line roles) and placement cost increases (particularly external
residential provision). 

This year, some of the key points are: 

Section (e)

Page 481



36

For social workers working with Children in Need and those with a Child
Protection Plan (within Localities), an average of 18 children.
For social workers working with long term Children in Care (within the Children
in Care Service), an average of 15 children.
For Social Workers in their Assessed and Supported Year of Employment
(ASYE),there is a reduction of 20% within these average caseloads (although this
is profiled across the year).

Demand analysis in respect of the Services against assumptions and
models in respect of the preceding Contract Year

3.1 Workforce and Child Workloads

3.1.1 Workforce

It is important to acknowledge that Sandwell Children’s Trust employs nearly 600
staff, of which around a third are social workers. If not for the range of specialist
and support staff within the Trust, social workers would not have the foundation
and infrastructure to work effectively with children and their families. Nevertheless,
our focus continues to be to ensure we have a stable ‘case holding’ workforce, as it
is the consistency and skill of this workforce that will bring about the improved
outcomes we expect for our children and families.

There are a range of models we can use to determine how many social workers we
need to work with our families, some more complex than others. However, we
continue to have a very simple calculation for this, which is:

1.

2.

3.

Case-holding Social Workers

We have an agreed establishment of 203 Full Time Equivalent social workers, based
upon our current demand, and considerations within the Medium Term Financial
Plan. This is made up of permanent social workers, agency social workers and those
within their Assessed and Supported Year of Employment (ASYE’s).

Section (f)

Page 482



37

Apr
2022

May
2022

June
2022

July
2022

Aug
2022

Sept
2022

Oct
2022

Nov
2022

Dec
2022

Jan
2022

Feb
2022

Mar
2022

Total Workforce
- Level Needed

203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203

Total Social
Workers 

162.53 153.63 154.63 153.63 161.63 175.74 179.34 161.84 161.44 159.14 152.54 149.54

No of permanent
Social Workers

117.13 114.53 111.53 111.53 113.63 126.34 124.94 119384 119.44 116.74 119.34 116.54

Permanent
Excluding ASYE

81.13 78.53 78.53 77.53 73.63 69.34 71.94 71.24 70.84 70.14 78.74 77.94

% Permanent
(Excl. ASYE)

49.9% 51.1% 50.8% 50.5% 45.6% 39.5% 40.1% 44.0% 43.9% 44.1% 51.6% 52.1%

Total ASYEs 36 36 33 34 40 57 53 48.6 48.6 46.6 40.6 38.6

% Total ASYEs 22.1% 23.4% 21.3% 22.1% 24.7% 32.4% 29.6% 30.0% 30.1% 29.3% 26.6% 25.8%

Agency Social
Workers

45.4 39.1 43.1 42.1 48 49.4 54.4 42 42 42.4 33.2 33

% Agency SWs 29.7% 25.5% 27.9% 27.4% 29.7% 28.1% 30.3% 26.0% 26.0% 26.6% 21.8% 22.1%

Section (f)

Page 483



38

Section (f)

Permanent Social Workers has decreased slightly from 117.13 to 116.54 (net
decrease of 0.59)

Permanent Social Workers – decrease from 81.13 to 77.94 (net decrease of
3.19)
Permanent ASYEs – increase from 36 to 38.6 (net increase of 2.6 workers)

Agency workers has decreased from 45.4 to 33 (net decrease of 12.4 workers)

38.6 ASYEs
23.7 Social Workers
54.24 Senior Social Workers

Our Social Work establishment has remained at 203 for the whole of the financial
year, between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 there has been a net decrease of 13
Social Workers in the financial year from 162.53 to 149.54 the breakdown is a
follows over the period;

During the financial year we have introduced 5 agency project teams to support our
Social Worker issues. These came into post in August 2022 with a final phased end
of Project teams by June 2023, ensuring minimal impact on services we deliver to
our children and families, including reallocation of children swiftly and robustly
(three of these teams as of the 31 March 2023 had been disbanded). Further to this
a cohort of ASYEs (37) joined the Trust between September 2022 and October 2022
which helped support deficit in vacancies within the service.

“PI13 Vacancy Rates of Permanent Social Workers” as stated above SCT has (at 31
March 2023) 116.54 permanent workers, compared to an establishment of 203. This
number has decreased slightly since April 2022 (117.53) with our permanent
vacancy rate sitting now at 42.6% (86.46 permanent vacancies).

Page 484



39

The Trust continues to struggle to both recruit and retain permanent and
agency staff due to national workforce crisis. 
The independent review of Children’s Social Care (May 2022) have recognised
the staffing pressures faced and recommended that investment is made in the
social care workforce to address high vacancy and turnover rates
ADCS and NCAS conferences raised national pressures on resources within
social care and confirmed that this is being felt nationwide by all local
authorities and Trusts
Regional MoU been reviewed and signed by all, workforce a regional priority  
10 out of 14 West Midland Local Authorities now offer a financial incentive for
permanent practitioners between £2,000 - £10,000 
The HR Team and Members of the EMT regularly meet with peers from other
Trusts, Local Authorities and the DFE to discuss recruitment and retention
concerns. 

Our real time vacancy rate including agency social workers as of 31 March 2023 is at
26% with 149.54 workers in post over the establishment of 203 (52.46 real time
vacancies), this has decreased from 162.53 (19.9%) in April 2022 (vacancy rates
have increased over the last 12 months).

Current Background- National and Regional Context

Section (f)

Page 485



40

Section (f)

Transformation Programme – Priority 1 is People 
Recruitment, retention and career development
Creating a safe working environment and embedding culture of staff wellbeing
Refocus and improve activity in relation to ED&I
In April 2022 the Workforce Strategy 2022-2025 was released. The Workforce
Committee, Chaired by Jacqui Smith- plus Trust Board members, EMT and
Officers meet quarterly to oversee progress of Workforce Strategy
The Workforce Strategy, provides a strategic approach to recruitment,
retention, development, leadership, the provision of a safe working environment
and the creation of a learning organisation- plus detailed operational activity
In April 2022, the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy 2022-2025 was
released. The Workforce Committee also provides progress oversight and
challenge to the Trust ED&I activity.

The creation of a Sandwell family ‘deal’. This includes an offering and
expectations of a recruitment and retention package which includes developing
our grow-your-own programme, career pathways and aspiring programmes
The creation of a leadership hub that is driven by all managers and leaders
across the Trust, supporting the Trust ethos and culture
The introduction of service level induction plans, building on the recently
released corporate induction plan
Working with the operations directorate to devise and introduce exit strategy
for the current project teams

Our Strategic Approach

Current areas of focus: 

Social Workers recruitment is a national issue with many LAs experiencing social
work staffing pressures. In addition, the recruitment of agency social workers
continues to be highly problematic (especially within the Child protection and
Court Teams) with the project teams’ model being preferred by the agencies,
driving costs significantly and creating a 2 tier within agency workers groups.

Page 486



41

SCT SW workload average
31 March 2023

20.29/per SW

Statistical Neighbour
Average 

16.1/per SW

England average 16.3/per SW

Section (f)

3.1.2 Workloads

The concern remains the high workloads held by some localities’ Social workers.
This issue in conjunction with the difficulties to recruit experienced SW
contributes to the Trust’s vulnerability.

3.2 Our Children

Since March 2018, we have seen a reduction of 260 Children open to Sandwell
Children's Trust. In relation to early intervention and targeted early help there has
been an increase of 193 Children open to the Strengthening Families Service* with
Social Care statutory services seeing a reduction of 453 Children over the same
period.

There are now slightly fewer Children in Care than our comparators
(approximately 20 fewer children), the Trust have reduced the number of children
and young people open to Children’s Social Care from a total of 3,203 (including
Care Leavers) to 2,750, which is a reduction of 453. This is due to our continued
focus on progressing children’s plans where there has been historic drift; and
ensuring that more children are appropriately in the social care system when they
need to be.

Page 487



42

Section (f)

Breakdown of children and care leavers 2018 - 2022

Service
Mar
2018

Mar
2019

Mar
2020

Mar
2021

Mar
2022

Mar
2023

Difference Mar
2018 to Mar 2022

Children open to Targeted Early Help teams 477 702 486 436 624 670 193

Children undergoing an assessment 398 788 630 789 582 635 237

Children in Need with an active CIN Plan 941 883 810 856 558 624 -317

Children with an active CP Plan 829 584 671 485 409 333 -496

Children in Care 767 901 874 888 844 802 35

Care Leavers 268 282 324 328 355 356 88

Total 3680 4140 3795 3782 3372 3420 -260

* Strengthening Families is a non statutory service providing support and advice to
families in order to prevent the need for statutory intervention.

Page 488



43

Sandwell
(31 March 2023)

Statistical Neighbour
Average 2021- 2022

England Average
2021 - 2022

Children with a Child Protection Plan 39.2 per 10,000 52.6 per 10,000 42.1 per 10,000

Children in Care 94.5 per 10,000 97.6 per 10,0000 70 per 10,000

As of 31 March 2023, we had 635 children with a Child in Need Plan, 333 children
with a Child Protection Plan and 802 Children in Care. We have fewer children on
Child Protection Plans and in Care than our statistical neighbour comparators.

Comparison with Statistical Neighbours

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023

Referrals 6,301 6,377 5,402 4,454 4,194

Referral Rates Per 10,000 759.20 768.36 650.88 536.66 494.1

Section (f)

Referrals, S47s and ICPCs

Page 489



44

The increased referral rate to the Trust in 2018/19 (759 per 10,000children)
continued throughout the first two years increasing further to 768 at the end March
2020. The last three years has seen a downward trajectory to 494.1 per 10,000 as at
the end March 2023 this is now below our Statistical Neighbour and England
averages of 570 and 538 per 10,000 and is in line with West Midlands Average of
503 per 10,000. The reduction is due to workers and partners better applying
threshold criteria for statutory services and managing risk.

We are seeing more children stepping down to targeted family support in our
Strengthening Families Service over the last 2 years in comparison to previous
years, in addition we have more Children supported by Strengthening Families as
both a shared service 89 last year to 106 this year and more Children Open to the
service. There is still more work to do in relation to thresholds for referrals. Single
Assessment outcomes of No Further Action (NFA) has reduced from 48% between
April 2020-March 2022 to 40% this year.

Section (f)

Around 23% (decreasing slightly from 25 in previous two years) of our assessments
over the last 12 months are being stepped down to Strengthening Families or
Universal Agencies and 37% are escalated onto a Child in Need, Child Protection or
Child in Care Plan (30% previous two years).

Page 490



45

23% of children have been re-referred within the previous 12 months, this has
increased slightly since March 2021, slightly above our comparators. A deep dive
highlighted re referral rates increased when duty project teams were introduced,
where some assessments were more parent focused and were consequently closed
too quickly. Remedial work and reinforcement of our practice standards have seen
an improvement and the approach to duty has also been changed, this has begun to
reduce in April 2023.

The rate of S47 enquiries per 10,000 has reduced from a rate of 279 in March 2019
and stabilized compared to last year at a rate of 185 per 10,000 in March 2023 (183
last year), this continues to be lower than our Statistical Neighbours and in line with
England and West Midlands averages. This shows that the Trust continues to
consistently purposeful when we are faced with deciding whether to proceed with
S47 enquiries. Decision making and application of thresholds are more robust in this
area to ensure that risk is assessed and Children and Families have the right
outcome needed.

Section (f)

Page 491



46

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023

S47s 2,316 2,078 2,012 1,518 1,541

S47 Rates Per 10,000 279.05 250.38 242.42 182.90 185.67

Section (f)

Summary of S47s 2018 - 2023

Number of safeguarding referrals made to Children's Social Care

Page 492



47

Section (f)

The rate of Initial Child Protection Conferences per 10,000 has also reduced from
103.98 in March 2019 to a rate of 51.26 per 10,000 in March 2023 (this has reduced
further since March 2022 at 58.92 per 10,000). Current ICPC rate is now below
Statistical Neighbour, England and West Midlands Average. In addition, the latest
conversion rate from ICPC to CP Plan is healthier and has improved to 83% over the
last financial year in comparison to 68% in 2020 (and in line with 86% last year). The
threshold discussions between Conference Chairs and Social Workers are ensuring
that the right Children are going into conference, this has helped support the
further reduction of Children on a Child Protection Plan in this financial year.

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023

ICPCs 863 851 804 489 415

ICPC Rates Per 10,000 103.98 102.54 96.87 58.92 51.26

Summary of ICPC and ICPC rates per 10,000

Page 493



48

Overall, alongside the continued dip sampling of assessments, S47’s and ICPC’s the
above measures provide clear evidence that we are acting more confidently and
consistently when applying thresholds for our services and working in a more timely
and consistent manner.

Section (f)

Page 494



49

Children in Need

We began the contract on 1 April 2018 with 941 children in need and quickly
recognised that this was an area to better understand and reduce drift and delay in
progressing children’s plans. Following a short review of these children, it was clear
that some of the children did not require a statutory service.  As a consequence
there was a clear focus on progressing case closures. Since December 2018 the
service robustly monitors and reviews Children on Child in Need Plans at 9 months
to ensure a safe step down to targeted early help or universal services regular
updating of assessments takes place and support to reduce drift and delay with
better decision making for our Child in Need cohort. 

The graph below demonstrates a significant reduction of Children on Child in Need
plans from a high point in June 2019 of 1,079 Children to 558 Children as end March
2022, although a slight increase to 641 in March 2023 (reduction of 438 Children
since June 2019. This is an area kept under constant review (to note we currently
have less Children on a Child in Need Plan over 9+ months than in March 2022 120
(20.9%) to 106 (16.5%)

Section (f)

Page 495



50

Children with a Child Protection Plan

In  April 2018, the Trust had 798 children who were subject to a Child Protection
Plan, and across the course of the four years the number had reduced to 409,
furthermore this year this has reduced further to 333, which is now significantly
below SN Average of 52.6 per 10,000 and lower than England and West Midlands
Averages . 

It was identified that there was drift and delay in progressing children’s plans in
2018. To address this, we held a panel to ensure these children’s plans were being
progressed which contributes to the continued decrease of Children on Child
Protection Plans.

This has led to more Children ‘stepped down’ to a Child in Need plan, or a decision
made to secure their long-term welfare. We have seen less Children stepping up
from Child Protection to Care (this has been lower than previous years which has
helped reduce our overall Children in Care Numbers). The service is regularly
reviewing Children on Child Protection Plans for longer than 12 months to reduce
the risk of drift and delay and to ensure Children’s plans are progressed safely and
robustly. As of 31 March 2023 we currently have 22.7% of our Children on a Plan for
12+ months which is now more in line with our Statistical Neighbour and National
averages than earlier in the financial year. The below graph shows decreases of
Children on a Child Protection plan over last 4 years.

Section (f)

Page 496



51

Children in Care

We began the financial year 2018/19 with 778 children in care and saw a sharp
increase in the first 18 months up to 937 mid July 2019.

As of 31 March 2022 the number of Children in Care had reduced to 844 Children in
Care (9.9% decrease), this financial year has seen a further decrease to 802
Children in Care as of 31 March 2023 (5% decrease) which now puts us at the lowest
position since May 2018.

Section (f)

Although March 2023 information is not published for all our Statistical Neighbour
Group, five West Midlands regional authorities are in our Statistical Neighbour
Group. Our December 2022 data can be compared in line with the following Local
Authorities up to this date, this gives you more up to date analysis to compare our
performance at present time. As you can see we are below the average for these
Local Authorities (although Stoke on Trent is a significant outlier regionally and
nationally).  Based on out latest Statistical Neighbour Average at 97.1 per 10,000,
Sandwell are currently 2.6 per 10,000 lower than our comparator group, although
we continue to be higher than England Average of 70 per 10,000.

We continue as a Trust to review all Children in Care Placed with Parents,
undergoing Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) assessments and undergoing court
proceedings to ensure discharges are swift for Children in Care, we have seen a 30%
increase of Children exiting care on SGO in comparison to the previous 12 months
(20 Children to 26 Children).

Page 497



52

Children in Care of West Midlands regional authorities

Section (f)

Children Entering and Ceasing Care

Between the 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023, the number of Children Entering Care
was 161 with 208 Children Ceasing Care which is a further improvement on previous
year which has helped support the reduction of Children in Care numbers further.

Local Authority Rate Per 10,000 Children in Care

Birmingham – December 2022 76

Coventry – December 2022 95

Sandwell - December 2022 96.2

Sandwell - March 2023 94.5

Stoke on Trent - December 2022 189

Walsall - December 2022 93

Wolverhampton - December 2022 79

Five Regional Stat Neighbour Average 106.4

Summary of Becoming Looked After (BLA) and Ceasing Care by year

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023

BLA by year 362 194 226 163 161

Ceasing Care by Year 215 242 218 201 208

Page 498



53

Section (f)

Page 499



54

Section (f)

The tables below compare our number of Children Entering and Ceasing Care
against our latest Statistical Neighbour, West Midlands and England comparator
data. Apart from April 2018-March 2019 you can see that the number of Children
entering care is below our Statistical Neighbour comparators (this year a rate of 19
Children per 10,000 have entered Care), this is also the case for Children exiting
care apart from year April 2019 - March 2020. This suggests that lower numbers are
exiting the Care system than should be. We have started to undertake work in
relation to children exiting care, this includes a bespoke exiting care project team
which are reviewing children progressing to SGO and placed at home with parents.
This will improve efficiency of children exiting care. Furthermore our improvement
in our approach to Permanence will also increase the number of Children exiting
care with greater robust planning and management oversight.

Table 9 : Summary of Becoming Looked After and Rates per 10,000

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023
Latest SN
Average

Latest WM
Average

Latest Eng
Average

BLA by year 362 194 226 163 161 N/A N/A N/A

Rates per 10,000 43.62 23.37 27.23 18 19 31.6 27 26

Table 10: Summary of Ceasing Care and Rates per 10,000

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020 2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023
Latest SN
Average

Latest WM
Average

Latest Eng
Average

Ceasing Care by year 215 242 218 201 208 N/A N/A N/A

Rates per 10,000 25.91 29.16 26.27 23 24.5 31 25 26

Page 500



55

Section (f)

Demand for Foster Placements for Children in Care (Internal and External)

The Fostering Service was inspected by Ofsted in August 2021 and assessed as
providing a ‘Good’ Service, with all elements of the inspection individually rated as
‘Good’, improving the service from the previous rating of ‘Requires Improvement’.
Generally impressed with the service the inspectors judged that children are well
matched, with good placement stability and foster carers build positive
relationships with children developing a strong sense of belonging which helps
children to settle well. Managers have a good focus on care planning and
permanency for children, and were judged to be implementing significant changes
to drive up standards and ensure that they have a good operational overview of the
impact of outcomes for the children, the foster carers and staff.

The table shows the number of Children in Internal Foster Placements between 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2023, as you can see that there has been a decrease in
Children Placed in Internal Mainstream/Connected carer placements from 298 to
288 (reduction of 10 Children), furthermore there has been a similar reduction of
Children placed in External Foster Care Placements from 328 to 316 (reduction of 12
Children).

Children in Internal and External Foster Care

March
2022

April
2022

May
2022

June
2022

July
2022

Aug
2022

Sept
2022

Oct
2022

Nov
2022

Dec
2022

Jan
2023

Feb
2023

March
2023

Foster Placement
Trust Carers

298 295 303 302 301 303 294 294 296 297 296 289 288

Foster Placement
External

328 329 327 330 327 325 329 323 319 320 316 319 316

Recruitment activity

Recruitment of Foster carers continues to be a focus of the Trust making use of a
range of media and marketing opportunities . Recent activity has meant that the
number of new enquiries has returned to and increased on pre-pandemic figures.
With more than 260 new enquiries in 2021/22, furthermore we had a further 213
enquiries in 2022/23 of which, 29 initial enquiry forms were completed and 9 foster
carer mainstream approvals (enquiry form completed to approval 31%).

Page 501



56

Section (f)

We did have 8 mainstream de-registrations over the same period so in theory a net
gain of one mainstream carer this financial year.  On the 31 March 2023 we had 98
mainstream foster carer households and 92 connected carer households.

Furthermore, our approach to residential care is progressing at pace in order that
we can make better use of local residential provision for when this is the right
option for children. Following a number of engagement events with private
providers, relationships have improved and the Trust and council are aiming to
access up to 9 beds locally through local providers which should impact positively
on children being placed in their own communities.

Care Leavers

Table 12: Care Leavers by year

March
2018

March
2019

March
2020

March
2021

March
2022

March
2023

Variance
Mar 18 - Mar 23

Care Leavers 268 282 324 328 355 356 88

Our care leavers service provides a service to children who are 16 or over who are
still in care, with the expectation of a steady transition into Care Leavers 18+
service. This cohort has steadily increased over five years from 268 to 356 (an
increase of 88 Care Leavers) with a slight increase from March 2022-March 2023
(355-356). From April 2018, a change in legislation meant that we have a statutory
responsibly to support care leavers until they are 25 years of age which has resulted
in a steady increase in the number of young people within this service area.
Consequently, caseloads have increased from approximately 18 to 22 young people
per worker.  We also have a process in place to allocate Children in Care aged 17
years old to a PA to co-work and support robust transition into Care Leaving
service. 

The May 2022 Ofsted inspection observed that Care Leavers are well supported to
find good-quality accommodation, that the Trust is focused on ensuring that Care
Leavers receive the opportunities they are entitled to and that care leavers that
become parents are well supported.

Page 502



57

The outcome of any Agreed Action Plan and/or Rectification Plan that
was agreed in the preceding Contract Year

There were no formal action plans or rectification plans in the Contract year
2022/23.

Section (g)

Market Supplement 2022/23
Revision of Contract Review Timetable
Additional Funding – Staffing 2022-23
Transport Extension 2023 to 2024

Any Changes to the Agreement agreed between the Parties in the
preceding Contract Year pursuant to the Change Control Procedure

Changes to Service Delivery Contract

Changes to Support Services Agreements

There were no changes to the support services agreements during the year, apart
from extension for support level agreement for transport.

Other significant changes

On 30th January 2023 and 31 January 2023 Neil Cox and Vineeta Manchanda
ceased as company directors. On the 15th March and 21 March 2023 Jane Bleach
and Gillian Douglas were added as SCT company directors. 

Section (h)

Page 503



58

Section (i)

Any proposed changes to the Services Specification, the Financial
Mechanism and/or the Performance Indicators for the following
Contract Year 

There are no proposed changes to the Services Specification or Financial
Mechanism in the next contract year. However, we enter into constructive
conversations about these matters to coincide with the Contract Review of next
year.

There are proposed changes to the 15 contract KPIs in the next contract year
2023/24 which are currently being finalised between SMBC and Sandwell Children's  
Trust.

Section (j)

The contractual governance arrangements set out in Schedule 19
(Governance)

KPI Changes

SCT is currently in discussion with SMBC to agree the new contract KPI's.

Section (k)

Such other matters that the Parties may agree from time to time

There are no additional matters in this report that have been agreed by both
parties.

Page 504



 

 
 
 

 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 
Subject: Highway Winter Operational Plan 2023 - 2024 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Danny Millard – Cabinet Member for 

Environment and Highways 
Director: Alice Davey – Director of Borough Economy 
Key Decision: Yes 
Contact Officer: Robin Weare – Assistant Director for Highways 

Mathew Burling – Senior Engineer – Maintenance 

1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That approval be given for the Winter Operational Plan 2023 - 2024. 

2 Purpose of the Report 

2.1  The report seeks approval for the policies, service standards and 
operational arrangements set out in the Winter Maintenance Operational 
Plan 2023-24. 

3 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
3.1 Road users and the wider community place a high value on keeping 

traffic moving safely in snow and freezing winter weather. Failure to do 
so can result in adverse economic and social impacts, public 
dissatisfaction and significant reputational damage. 
 

3.2 The council has a statutory duty ‘to ensure, so far as reasonably 
practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not endangered by 
snow or ice’. The duty is not absolute, but decisions must be taken on 
reasonable grounds with due care and regard to relevant considerations 
set out in best practice guidance. 

 

Page 505

Agenda Item 8



 

3.3 To meet this duty, winter service operations are carried out to prevent 
ice forming (precautionary salting), melt ice already formed (post salting) 
and remove snow accumulations by using ground rock salt which is 
stored at Taylors Lane Depot in Oldbury. 

 
3.4 Our highways (both carriageways and pavements) are the arteries of our 

communities. They connect our residents to employment, education, 
local services and indeed the wider world. They enable economic 
growth, social mobility and are vital in ensuring good health outcomes. 
 

3.5 The implication for our 2030 vision if we get our Highway Winter 
Operational Plan wrong will be reduced economic and physical activity 
resulting from residents being less likely to travel as well as higher costs 
for users of our highway from increased wear and tear and accident 
damage. 

4 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
Good, well maintained highway infrastructure will encourage 
more walking and cycling among our younger people 
increasing their wellbeing, improving road safety and 
promoting cleaner air quality. 

 

People live well and age well 
The Highway environment plays an important role in the life 
of the community, particularly the positive opportunities that 
they can bring from social inclusion and interaction. 

 

Good quality Highways infrastructure will make our 
communities feel safe, more protected and confident in their 
homes and neighbourhoods. 

 

Winter conditions can lead to reduced economic and 
physical activity resulting from residents being less likely to 
travel as well as higher costs from increased wear and tear 
and accident damage. 

 

 Our highways (both carriageways and pavements) are the 
arteries of our communities. They connect our residents to 
employment, education, local services and indeed the wider 
world. They enable economic growth, social mobility and are 
vital in ensuring good health outcomes. 

Page 506



 

 
5 Context and Key Issues 
 
5.1 Given high service costs it is not ‘reasonably practicable' to provide the 

service on all parts of the network nor ensure running surfaces are 
always kept free of ice or snow. Sandwell therefore apply a risk-based 
approach that reflects advice and recommendations contained in the 
relevant Codes of Practice. 

 
5.2 There are only minor changes to the plan approved last year. 
 
5.3 Priority 1: classified A roads being strategic and main distributer roads 

carrying long distance traffic or routes linking urban centres; 
 

Priority 2: classified B and C heavily trafficked roads, all bus routes and 
roads serving key locations and important buildings e.g. hospitals, 
commercial centres. 

 
5.4 Priority 1 and 2 roads are 47% of the total carriageway lane length of 

887.6 km. 
 
5.5 Our key service standard is to complete precautionary treatment of 

Priority 1 and 2 roads within 4 hours from decision to treat at typical 
spread rates. 

 
5.6 Resources and practicability mean that only pavements defined in our 

Category 1(a) Prestige Areas, being major shopping streets in town and 
district centres, are prioritised for treatment. No other pavements receive 
planned treatment. Prioritised pavements may receive precautionary 
treatment when the forecast indicates that hoarfrost or snow is likely. 

 

6 Alternative Options 
 
6.1 There is no recommended affordable alternative to mitigate the safety 

risks addressed by the Winter Operational Plan 2023-24. 
 
 

Page 507



 

7 Implications 
 
Resources: The Winter Service is funded from the Highways 

Maintenance target revenue with an allocation of 
£540,000 based on an ‘average’ winter. 
 
There are both fixed and variable elements to the 
service cost. 
 
Fixed costs incurred, irrespective of winter severity, 
are £371,000 and include plant (gritters), labour 
(stand-by), management and duty staff, weather 
forecasting, salt bins, annual service charges, training 
etc. 
 
The variable costs depend on winter severity. The 
budgeted cost for an ‘average’ winter season based 
on 55 precautionary treatments is £169,000 and 
includes labour (turn outs), salt consumed, fuel, plant 
repairs etc. 
 
Whilst the severity of the winter does impact on the 
actual level of expenditure incurred any costs 
associated with the winter maintenance service will be 
met from within Highways Services target budget. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The principal statutory duty imposed on highway 
authorities to maintain the highway maintainable at 
public expense is set out in Section 41 of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

Section 41 (1) of the Highways Act, as modified by the 
Section 111 of the Railways & Transport Act 2003, 
imposes a duty on a highway authority ‘to ensure, so 
far as reasonably practicable, that safe passage along 
a highway is not endangered by snow or ice’. 

 

The duty is qualified by ‘reasonable practicability’.  So, 
therefore, it would not be reasonable to expect to: 

• provide the service on all parts of the network;  

 

Page 508



 

or 

• ensure roads are kept free of ice or snow at all 
times. 

The Traffic Management Act 2004 imposes a network 
management duty on a council to manage day-to-day 
operational use of its highways to ‘keep traffic 
moving’. This duty extends to periods of severe winter 
weather. 

Risk: A key service risk relates to third party liability claims 
arising from accident and injury due to condition of the 
highway or non-compliance with statutory obligations. 
The duty is not absolute, but decisions must be taken 
on reasonable grounds with due care and regard to 
relevant considerations as set out in best practice 
guidance ‘Well-managed Highway Infrastructure’. The 
Winter Operational Plan 2023-24 sets out the 
council’s arrangements for delivery of the winter 
service to meet its legal obligations to mitigate this 
risk which requires the use of ground rock salt.  

The council has a duty to meet its legal obligations to 
mitigate service risks related to third party liability 
claims arising from accident and injury due to 
condition of the highway, the cabinet approved Winter 
Maintenance Plan sets out the council’s proposed 
arrangements for delivery of the winter service for 
which rock salt is required for effective and efficient 
use on the public highway. 

Equality: An equality impact assessment has not been carried 
as maintaining the highway infrastructure 
maintainable at public expense is not believed to 
impact significantly against the protected 
characteristics. 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The Winter Operational Plan plays an important role 
in the life of a community, particularly the positive 
opportunities that they can bring from,maintaining 
social inclusion and interaction in freezing conditions.  
 

Social Value Not applicable in this instance. 
 
 

Page 509



 

Climate 
Change 

Well maintained highways supports climate change 
objectives through supporting active travel 
arrangement and continued use of public transport in 
freezing conditions. 

Corporate 
Parenting 
 

Maintaining access to highways in wintry conditions 
promoted improved physical and mental health of 
children and young people. 

8. Appendices 
 
 Appendix A  Sandwell MBC Winter Operational Plan 2023-24. 
 

9. Background Papers 
 
9.1 Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Code of Practice Last updated 

October 2016 
 
9.2 Regeneration and Economy Business Plan 2015 – 2018 
 
9.3 Sandwell MBC Highway Asset Management Plan 2014-2015 (approved 

12 November 2014) 
 
 
 

Page 510



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 1 

 
 

 
 
 

Winter Operational Plan 
 

2023 - 2024 
 

Highway Services 

Page 511



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 2 

I N D E X  
 
 
 Page No. 
 
 3  Introduction. 
 
 4  Policies and Responsibilities 

 
 8  Quality Plan 
 
 10  Route Planning 
 
 13  Weather Prediction and Information 
 
 18  Organisational Arrangements and Personnel 
 
 23   Plant Vehicles and Equipment 
 
 24   Salt and Other De-Icing Materials 
  
 28  Salt Bin Policy 
 
 30  Operational Communications 
 

31  Information and Publicity 
 

32  Appendix A - Duty Officer Model Log Sheet 
 
35 Appendix B - Carriageway Treatment Routes – Priority 1 
 
46 Appendix C - Carriageway Treatment Routes – Priority 1 and 2 
 
72 Appendix D – Demountable spreader Routes 
 
75 Appendix E - Footways Hierarchy Category 1(a) Prestige Areas  
 
77 Appendix F - Salt Bin Locations 

 
 
  

Page 512



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 3 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Winter Service is the term given to the key network management activity of maintaining 
safety, availability and reliability of the road network during periods of low temperatures, ice 
and snow. 
 
In England the weather is notably unpredictable, and the occurrence of wintry conditions 
varies considerably throughout the season and from year to year. Generally severe 
conditions might reasonably be expected in December, January and February; are less likely 
in November and March and are possible but unlikely in October and April. 
 
Operational winter service periods need to be defined, to strike a balance between economy 
and an effective service. To plan resources regularly on the assumption of a long hard winter 
would be wasteful, but to do so on the assumption of a short, mild winter could lead to a 
deficient service at times.  
 
Planning should be undertaken between these extremes, but with enough back-up at 
reasonable notice to react to unforeseen circumstances. 
 
Put simply, resources should be directed: 

 
• in the right way 
• in the right place 
• at the right time 
• be affordable 
 

Winter operations comprises the treatment of the highway to: 
 
 i) Prevent ice from forming (precautionary salting) 
 ii) Melt ice that has already formed (post salting) 
 iii) Remove snow 
 
Winter operations forms an integral part of the highway maintenance function and nationally 
highway authorities spend over £100 million per year on salting and snow clearing 
operations. Most of this money is spent on salting, either pre-salting to prevent the build-up of 
ice, or post salting to disperse ice that has already formed. 
  
Although there are times during a winter when exceptional conditions may persist, such as 
heavy or drifting snow, most winter service operations can be planned in a systematic 
manner. The extent of this planning will be dependent upon the nature of each authority and 
the severity of an average winter. 
 
This Winter Operational Plan sets out the policy, service standards and operational 
arrangements for an efficient, effective and proportionate response to winter conditions on 
Sandwell MBC’s highway network during periods of low temperatures, ice and snow. 
 
The standards set out in this Plan for the Winter Service reflect the advice and 
recommendations contained in the Code of Practice for– “Well-managed Highway 
Infrastructure” published in October 2016 (which superseded the well-maintained highways 
code). 

Page 513



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 4 

POLICIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The objective is to provide a winter service which, so far as is reasonably practicable, will 
permit the safe movement of traffic along a priority network, whilst minimising delays and 
accidents during periods of low temperatures, ice and snow. 
 
Good practice is also important to minimise both the environmental impact of salt and 
affordability implications.  
 
Highway authorities are under a statutory duty - by virtue of the Highways Act 1980, to 
maintain the highways. 
 
Section 41: "The authority who are for the time being the highway authority for a 

highway maintained at the public expense are under a duty, ........ to 
maintain the highway."  

 
Section 41 (1A) “In particular, a highway authority are under a duty to ensure, so far as is 

reasonably practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not 
endangered by snow or ice.” 

 
Section 130: "It is the duty of the highway authority to assert and protect the rights of the 

public to the use and enjoyment of any highway for which they are the 
highway authority......" 

 
Section 150: "If an obstruction arises in a highway from accumulations of snow ....... the 

highway authority shall remove the obstruction......" 
 
Recent legal judgement has concluded that there is no duty upon authorities to remove ice 
from highways under the general responsibility to “maintain the highway” in Section 41.  It is 
important to note that this judgement does not remove liability in all circumstances. 
 
However, it is important to recognise that in the context of a highway authority's statutory 
maintenance duty that: - 
 
 i) The highway authority is not obliged to take preventative measures in 

anticipation of snow and ice. 
 
 ii) The duty to clear ice and snow from maintainable highways is not absolute and 

the authority will be under no liability unless the breach of duty to maintain is 
blameworthy. In other words, so long as the decision as to whether or not to act 
has been taken on reasonable grounds, with due care and with regard to 
relevant considerations, the authority will not be liable. 

 
 iii) It has been said judicially that when there is a transient danger due to the 

elements, be it snow or ice or heavy rain, the existence of danger for a short 
time is no evidence of a failure to maintain the highway. 

 
The statutory duties outlined above are delegated to the Director of Borough Economy. 
 
Delivery of the Winter Operational Plan is carried out by Highways Services. 

Page 514



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 5 

 
The Group Manager Assets and Permits within Highway Services is the responsible person 
for operational management and delivery. 
 
Key Highways Services roles include: Duty Officer (decision maker), Operational Team 
Leader, Duty Operational Supervisor, Drivers, Operators and Observers based either at 
Oldbury Council House, Oldbury or at the Highways Operational Depot at Taylors Lane, 
Oldbury 
 
Our Waste Improvement Partner based at Shidas Lane, Oldbury provides additional 
resources in some circumstances. 
 
The Winter Service is funded from the Highways Maintenance target revenue budget. This 
account is cash limited and any under/over spends are required to be contained within this 
budget. Whilst every attempt is made to do so, inevitably with the worst and most 
unpredictable part of the winter falling near the end of the financial year, some difficulties may 
be experienced in budget management. 
 
The budget is set based on an assumed average winter requiring 55 precautionary 
treatments as follows; 
 
Spreading Operations 
 
Fixed Costs (incurred regardless of severity of winter) 
 
Item £ 
Plant 256,000 
Operations Labour stand by (21 weeks) 38,000 
Management and Duty Officer Staff 17,000 
Road Weather Forecasting (West Midlands Consortium) 8,000 
Road Weather Information Service – Icelert 12,000 
Communications, GPRS, service charges, Training, weighbridge  27,000 
Total 356,000 

 
Variable Costs (vary with severity of winter) 
 
Item £ 
Labour for average winter of 55 operational ‘turn outs’ 41,000 
Salt (consumed) based on average winter 128,000 
Fuel 12,000 
Vehicle repairs 6,000 
Total of Variable Costs 149,000 

 
Total Cost for Spreading Operations is £505,000. 
 
Grit Bins 
 
Additional costs for providing and maintaining 547 grit bins 
 

Page 515



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 6 

Item £ 
Provide, replace & maintain grit bins 20,000 
Refill salt bins 25,000 
Total  45,000 

 
 
Total service cost £540,000 of which £371,000 is fixed with predicted variable costs of 
£169,000. 
 

Page 516



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 7 

Off Highway Operations 
 
This plan sets out the operational arrangements for meeting the Council’s obligations as 
Highway Authority. 
 
However, as a Local Authority with wider responsibilities and functions, dealing with the 
problems associated with winter weather necessarily involves other functional areas within 
the Council. 
 
Ground Care operatives provide support across other areas of the Council in assisting with 
snow clearing and gritting operations. 
 
The deployment of resources from Ground Care depends largely on the scale and period of 
inclement weather. 
 
Resources available include 2 and 4-wheel drive tractors with front buckets, gritting facilities, 
lorries and pick-up trucks. 
 
 
 
  

Page 517



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 8 

QUALITY PLAN 
 
Forecast Data 
 
General Arrangements 
 
The information used in decision making will in most cases be a combination of a road 
weather forecast and road weather information system (Icelert) sensor data. 
 
The main weather prediction service used by Sandwell MBC is the highways package 
provided by MetDesk. This service is designed specifically for Highway Authorities and their 
agents to give road condition specific weather forecasts and a 24-hour consultancy contact. 
 
The road weather information system in use by Sandwell MBC is Findlay Irvine’s ‘Icelert’ 
system. This system involves 2 forecast weather stations within Sandwell with access to the 
data from these sites alongside 2 remote weather stations which will be superseded in 
future years by the two existing and more modern forecast sites which became operational 
in 2022. This is alongside access to stations of neighbouring authorities via a password 
protected website. 
 
Data from these sites is collected and archived daily and may be referred to at a later date. 
This is particularly useful when forward planning and for dealing with insurance claims. 
 
Report Sheets 
 
Every morning post action during the winter season, operational staff at Taylors Lane Depot 
complete a report on operational matters.  This report notes what action was undertaken, 
the time each vehicle left the depot and the time each vehicle returned. Also noted are any 
problems, which were encountered, be they vehicular (i.e. breakdown or accident) or 
operational (i.e. access problems due to parked cars). 
 
Summary Action Sheets and Monitoring 
 
Daily during the winter services season, the Duty Officer will complete the ‘Winter 
Operations Duty Engineer Log Sheet’ detailing that night’s activities. An example sheet is 
included at Appendix A. This notes the time and content of any telephone conversations 
with either the duty weather forecaster at MetDesk. or operational staff, along with the time 
of any decision made regarding the night’s winter operational actions. 
 
All Sandwell MBC gritting vehicles are fitted with a winter report telematics platform (GPRS) 
to enable tracking of vehicles and logging of the actions performed. Information gathered 
provides a regular snapshot of the vehicle’s position, speed and direction of travel as well 
as its operational/activity status. This information is collected and presented on a specialist 
password protected website and enables routes to be fully audited from a remote position 
whilst also providing accurate and comprehensive treatment records. 
 
 
Performance Monitoring 
 

Page 518



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 9 

At the end of each month MetDesk provides each customer with performance statistics for 
the accuracy of their forecasts.  At the end of the Winter Season, a meeting is convened 
between MetDesk and the West Midlands Authorities to discuss their performance and also 
to identify where any improvements can be made. 
 
  

Page 519



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 10 

ROUTE PLANNING 
 
Sandwell Council is the Highway Authority for all roads within the Borough boundary other 
than the Midlands Link Motorways, which are maintained by agents working on behalf of 
National Highways. 
 
Carriageway 
 
The classifications and lengths of public highway are as follows; 
 

Road Classification Lane Length 
Principal Roads 127.3 km 
B Roads 36.9 km 
C Roads 58.7 km 
Unclassified Roads 650.7 km 
Back Lanes 14.0 km 
Total Network length 887.6 km 

 
Resources do not permit all roads to be treated and hence a priority network has been 
established which covers approximately 418 km of lane length being 47% of the total network 
lane length (excluding Back Lanes). 
 
The carriageways on the priority network are divided into two categories; 
 
Priority 1 – treated length of 127.3 km 
 
These are the Borough's Principal Roads (Class A). The Principal Roads form the backbone 
of the road network within the Borough. 
 
Priority 2 – treated length of 291.1 km 
 
All Non-Principal Roads (Class B & Class C) and other roads, though less important 
comprising of other heavily trafficked routes, all bus routes and roads serving other key 
locations and important buildings e.g. hospitals, commercial centres etc.  
 
Other roads within the Borough are not treated other than in exceptional circumstances when 
severe weather conditions occur and then only when all priority routes have been cleared. 
 
Priority Route Descriptions 
 
The Department for Transport’s report ‘Transport Resilience Review – A review of the 
resilience of the transport network to extreme weather events’ published in July 2014 
recommended that local highway authorities identify a ‘resilient network’ in order to maintain 
economic activity and access to key services during extreme weather. 
 
Priority 1 roads define our ‘resilient network’ and are divided into five separate routes (P1 to 
P5). 
 
Priority 1 routes are detailed at Appendix B. 
 

Page 520



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 11 

8 routes (R1 to R8) cover the whole priority network (Priority 1 and 2 roads together) and are 
detailed at Appendix C. 
 
A 9th route has been established in recent years which retains the roads from the priority 1 
and 2 networks. The route is completed by a small pick-up truck with a demountable 
spreader as in past years some roads have become difficult to treat due to poor parking. 
Appendix D details the planned route for this smaller spreader. These roads may change 
during the winter as road conditions change with parking etc. This additional resource helps 
provide assurance and resilience that those roads on priority 1 and 2 routes can be treated 
even where difficulties are encountered. 
 
Routes have been drawn up in consultation with adjacent local highway authorities, travel 
operators such as National Express and motorway maintenance agents for National 
Highways to achieve consistency of treatment. 
 
It is inevitable that minor alterations to the network will be required from time to time 
throughout the winter season as traffic patterns are altered by reason of diversions or road 
closures. 
 
Call out criteria 
 
Priority 1 routes are only treated, when heavy snow conditions exist. This is the ‘resilient 
network’ and is the priority for snow clearing during extreme winter weather events. 
 
Priority 1 and 2 routes are to be treated, when forecasts indicate that formation of ice or snow 
is likely. 
 
Response and treatment times 
 
Target response and treatment times are: 
 
Route Rate of 

Spread 
gm/sq.m 

Response 
Time1 

Hours 

Treatment 
Time2 

Hours 

Total 
Hours 

Priority 1 20-40 1.0 2.0* 3.0 
Priority 1 and 2 10-20 1.0 3.0 4.0 
Priority 1 and 2 30-40 1.0 6.0 7.0 

 
*subject to snow conditions 

 
1. period between decision being taken to begin treatment and vehicles leaving the depot 
2. the period between vehicles leaving the depot and the completion of priority routes 

 
The target turnaround time (the period between a vehicle completing salting on a route and 
being ready to recommence salting having reloaded at the depot is 1.0 hours. 
 
 
Footways 
 

Page 521



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 12 

Resources do not permit all footways to be treated. A priority network has been established 
based upon the footway hierarchy recommended in the Code of Practice Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure. 
 
Category 1(a) Prestige Area footways are major shopping streets in town centre and district 
centres. 
 
Category 1(a) Prestige Area footways are the priority. 
 
Footways Category 1(a) Prestige Areas are detailed at Appendix E. 
 
Prioritised footways may receive precautionary treatment when the forecast indicates that 
hoarfrost or snow is likely.  
 
Other categories of footway or footpath maintainable at public expense are not treated. 
 
Precautionary treatment of footways will be undertaken by operational staff from Sandwell 
MBC’s Waste Improvement Partner (WIP) based at Shidas Lane Depot, Oldbury. When the 
Duty Officer instructs WIP Supervisor that treatment is required, operatives will commence 
salting activities from 0630 with a target treatment time of 2.5 hours. 
 

Page 522



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 13 

WEATHER PREDICTION AND INFORMATION 
 
To be most effective, salt should be spread before either ice or snow settles on the 
carriageway. Anticipating these conditions and reacting appropriately, depends upon a 
mixture of local knowledge and experience, along with good local weather forecasting and an 
awareness of the current condition of the road. 
 
Weather Forecasting Service 
 
The ‘RoadCast’ weather forecasting service is received via a contract through 
Wolverhampton City Council from MetDesk. 
 
In accordance with common practice and the requirements of the seven West Midlands 
Authorities, MetDesk will provide the following forecasts and summaries by the times 
stated: 

• forecast issued by 12:00 hours detailing the expected conditions for the following 36 
hours including: 

o Min air and Road Surface Temperatures with time crossing zero degrees 
o Relative humidity and dew point 
o Likelihood and timing of precipitation 
o For a forecast of snow, its timing, amount, type, direction, whether drifting is 

likely to occur and the height above sea level at which accumulation is likely 
o Wind speed and direction 
o Confidence levels in the forecast 

• 2-10 day outlook issued with the 36 hour forecast including: 
o A general synopsis and anticipated trends 
o Specific condition reports  
o Confidence levels in the forecasts (Low, Medium or High) 

• Site Specific Forecasts issued by 14:00 hours that include: 
o Graphical representation, against time, of predicated road surface 

temperatures, air temperatures and surface conditions. 
o Textual site specific forecasts. 

• Evening updated forecasts 24 hour text and site specific graphs issued at 18:00 hours. 
• 24 hour Telephone Consultancy Service 

o MetDesk provide a 24/7 telephone consultancy service throughout the Winter 
Service season, to give advice on weather conditions and to discuss issued 
forecasts. 

• Proactive Communication Regime 
o Pager based contact system for severe weather and significant change in 

forecasts. 
o Sensor monitoring service. 

• Dedicated Website access through www.metdesk.com  
• Monthly and End of Season Analysis of forecasts including: 

o Synopsis of weather conditions during the period 
o Forecast site accuracy analysis 
o Pie charts detailing the frost prediction accuracy 
o The bias and root mean square error in the forecast of minimum RST 

 

Page 523

http://www.metdesk.com/


[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 14 

This full service operates from 1st November through to 30th April. During October and May 
a reduced service is available whereby Road Weather Warnings are only issued as 
necessary. The telephone Consultancy Service remains available at all times. 
 
Forecast information is received by email direct to relevant staff and through both 
www.metdesk.com and www.icelert.net. Upon receipt of the forecast an early warning 
message is posted on notice boards at the operational depot for information to operatives 
on duty. 
 
Should the forecast change significantly, MetDesk will contact the Duty Officer with a 
revised forecast using a pager system. Messages will give a brief description and direct 
staff toward further information. 
 
A further aid to decision-making is provided by the weather forecasting service access to 
the roadcast.co.uk website. This site provides access to all of the aforementioned data plus 
a host of current radar images including precipitation intensity and type. This gives a visual 
indication of the progress of precipitation in various forms as it moves across the region and 
is of particular interest when snowfall is forecast. 
 
Road Weather Information System (RWIS) 
 
Sandwell MBC operates a Road Weather Information System manufactured by Findlay 
Irvine Limited, Edinburgh. This system, known as ‘Icelert’ allows for remote and instant 
access to outstations indicating current road surface and atmospheric conditions. A bureau 
system based at Findlay Irvine’s headquarters allows access to the information via a 
secure, password protected website at www.icelert.net . The bureau also archives all data 
for future use as required. 
 
The data available from the Icelert outstations is presented in both graphic and tabular 
format and includes: 
 

• Road surface temperature 
• Road surface condition (salt levels and presence of precipitation) 
• Deep road temperature 
• Air temperature 
• Relative humidity 
• Wind speed and direction 

 
There are two Icelert outstations within Sandwell located at: 
 

• ROWLEY HILLS: Oakham Road, Tividale near Darbys Hill Road junction 
• WEDNESBURY OAK ROAD: Wednesbury Oak Road, Tipton approximately opposite 

ASDA store 
 
Two new stations were installed during the early part of 2022 and these modern forecast 
stations will replace the existing two outstations listed above over time which only provide 
current and historic data. The two new forecast stations will contribute to the forecast 
conditions and surface temperatures within Sandwell and are located at: 
 

Page 524

http://www.metdesk.com/
http://www.icelert.net/
http://www.icelert.net/


[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 15 

• HAWES LANE: Rowley Regis on the grassed area adjacent St Giles Church 
• DUDLEY STREET: Wednesbury on the grassed area adjacent Steel Roundabout 

 
Throughout the West Midlands Metropolitan Authorities area there are 29 Icelert sites and 
access to these sites is shared between the seven Local Authorities and agents within this 
area.  
 
Calibration of the Icelert outstations is carried out by the equipment manufacturer, Findlay 
Irvine Limited during September or October and January every year to ensure accuracy is 
maintained. 
 
Any faults with the Icelert.net bureau service should be reported to Findlay Irvine as soon 
as possible. The appropriate 24-hour emergency contact details are detailed on their 
website. Faults with the outstations within Sandwell should be reported to Highways 
Services who will arrange for the necessary repairs or maintenance to be carried out. 
 
Whilst good local weather forecasts are essential, due to the varied local conditions and 
topography of the Borough, other factors may have to be considered in reaching a decision 
e.g. recent pre-salting actions and therefore no specific action can be determined for a 
particular forecast.  The decision maker is the Duty Officer. 
 
Forecast sites: 
 

 SITE NAME LOCATION Comments 

1 BHAM: Hagley Road A456 Slip at Quinton Expressway, 
QUINTON 

 

2 BHAM: Mere Green A5127 Lichfield Road at Mere 
Green Island, MERE GREEN 

 

3 Birmingham: 1 TBA New Forecast 
Site 

4 BIRMINGHAM: 2 TBA New Forecast 
Site 

5 BHAM: Yardley Wood Road Adj Swanhurst Park opp. Police 
Station 

Existing 
Forecast Site 

6 BHAM: Redditch Road A441 adj. The Crest opp. Tomlan 
Road, WEST HEATH 

 

7 BHAM: Kingsbury Road A38 at junc. Yatesbury Avenue, 
TYBURN 

 

8 BHAM: Shenley Lane B4121, opp. Shenley Hill, Weoley  

9 COVENTRY: Kersley B4098 Kersley New Forecast 
Site 

10 COVENTRY: Binley B4082 Binley New Forecast 
Site 

Page 525



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 16 

11 COVENTRY: Ring Road A4053 Ringway St Johns at junc. 
A4114 London Rd, COVENTRY 

Existing 
Forecast Site 

12 COVENTRY: Birmingham Road A45 Birmingham Rd by The 
Windmill Hill, ALLESLEY 

 

 COVENTRY: Corley B4098 Tamworth Rd O/S Horse 
& Jockey P.H., CORLEY 

Existing 
Forecast Site 

13 DUDLEY: Hayley Green A456 at junc.. Hagley Road, 
HALESOWEN 

New Forecast 
Site  

14 DUDLEY: Sedgley Ridge - NEW A463 Gospel End Rd at junc. 
Cotwall End Rd, SEDGLEY 

New Forecast 
Site 

15 

 

DUDLY: Sedgley Ridge - OLD A463 Gospel End Rd at junc. 
Cotwall End Rd, SEDGLEY 

Existing 
Forecast Site 

16 DUDLEY: Audnam A491 Camp Hill, AUDNAM Existing and 
New Forecast 
Site 

17 WALSALL: Pelsall  New Forecast 
Site 

18 WALSALL: Bar Beacon Beacon Road, Walsall Existing 
Forecast Site 

19  WOLV: Ring Road / Bilston Road A4150 at junc. A41 Bilston Road, 
WOLVERHAMPTON 

Existing 
Forecast Site 

20 WOLV: Wood Cross Dovedale Road, WOODCROSS  

21 WOLV: Steel Way TBA  

22 WOLVERHAMPTON 1 TBA New 
Forecasting Site 

23 WOLVERHAMPTON 2 TBA New 
Forecasting Site 

24 SANDWELL: Rowley Hills Oakham Rd at junc Regent Rd, 
OAKHAM 

 

25 Sandwell : South Hawes Lane New 
Forecasting Site 

26 SANDWELL: Wednesbury Oak 
Road 

A4037 O/S Wednesbury Oak 
Primary School, WEDNESBURY 

 

27 SANDWELL: North Dudley Street  

28 SOLIHULL:: Cranmore A34 Stratford Rd at junc. 
Cranmore Boulevard, SHIRLEY 

New 
Forecasting Site 

29 SOLIHULL : Gambles Garage A452 Kenilworth Rd at junc. 
A4177, MEER END 

New 
Forecasting Site 

 
 
Note: Sites Highlighted are New Forecast Sites. 

Page 526



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 17 

Sites not Highlighted are existing sites producing data at present, their longevity cannot be 
guaranteed. 

Exact Location details shown as TBA are to be finalised, with the relevant authority placing orders for 
these stations prior to the upcoming winter season. 
 

Page 527



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 18 

ORGANISATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS AND PERSONNEL 
 
Duty Officer 
 
During normal office hours, management of the winter operations service is undertaken by 
Highways Services officers based at Oldbury Council House, Oldbury including a nominated 
Duty Officer. Outside normal office hours or when working from home the Duty Officer will 
have remote access to MetDesk forecasting information via the internet and telephone. 
 
The Duty Officer shall monitor weather forecasts and Road Weather Information Systems 
and make the appropriate decision for required actions. The Duty Officer is responsible for 
the overall co-ordination and management of operations. Duty Officers will operate on a 
rota basis, generally one week on two weeks off, and will be contactable by telephone at all 
times during their period of duty using their office number, a mobile phone and/or their 
personal number where necessary. 
 
At the end of duty period the Duty Officer will ensure on hand over that all relevant 
information is communicated to the new Duty Officer including if necessary a copy of the 
Duty Log. 
 
The Duty Officer will maintain a Duty Log (Appendix A) in which records of all decisions 
made and actions taken. This log is of particular importance during marginal or adverse 
weather conditions, where particular note will be taken of any contact with MetDesk 
(who/when/advice given), reports of problems on the network, changes in forecast affecting 
decision and all other such relevant detail. 
 
In addition, the Duty Officer will post a notification message onto the Message Centre of 
Icelert.net. This webpage is accessible to all West Midlands Authorities. The Icelert.net 
Message Centre will also accept information and action taken from neighbouring authorities 
in the form of an email and display this within the message board. Finally, the Message 
Centre will also automatically send text messages to key personnel within Sandwell MBC 
(all Duty Officers, all Operational Supervisors and Communications Office staff), alongside 
TfWM and National Highways. 
 
There are 3 Highway Services staff on the Duty Officer rota. 
 
The lead Duty Officer will have attended the Institute of Highway Engineers Winter Services 
Training for Decision Makers and Managers supplemented by a number of years on the job 
experience. 
 
All Duty Officers will receive periodic training updates in weather forecasting and 
meteorology as provided by the weather service forecasting provider or similar. 
 
Other Duty Officers will receive on the job mentoring and supervision provided by the lead 
Duty Officer when new to the rota. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 528



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 19 

Operational 
 
For our Operational Division, operatives out of hour’s standby arrangements are in place 
during the core winter service period. Where the long-range weather forecast indicates, or the 
prevailing conditions dictate, the standby period may be extended to cover the overall winter 
service period. Out of Hours Standby is from home, operatives being contacted by telephone. 
 
Duty Operational Supervisors will be experienced and trained personnel with responsibility 
for operational control at Taylors Lane Depot. All Operational Supervisors must hold a 
Heavy Goods Vehicle licence, attain the City and Guilds Institute Scheme 6159 Winter 
Maintenance Operators Qualification and the City and Guilds Institute Scheme 6159 Winter 
Maintenance Manager/Supervisor Qualification or equivalent. 
 
Duty Operational Supervisors will co-ordinate all Winter Service operations from the depot 
and ensure they are undertaken in a safe manner. They will also relay observed local 
weather, carriageway and footway conditions to the Duty Officer. The Duty Operational 
Supervisor will also ensure the accurate recording and reporting of all relevant Winter 
Service operational information. 
 
During a normal gritting operation, once a decision is made by the Duty Officer, this is 
communicated to the Duty Operational Supervisor detailing exact requirements. The Duty 
Operational Supervisor will then initiate the call-out of all personnel required to perform the 
tasks instructed. They will then proceed to Taylors Lane Depot to organise and co-ordinate 
operations. 
 
The Duty Operational Supervisor will maintain a log which will contain details of instructions 
received, route exceptions, Duty Officer requests for assistance and any other operational 
issue deemed relevant. 
 
Once the gritting operation is underway, the Duty Operational Supervisor will monitor the 
operation and deal with any issues that may arise such as vehicle breakdowns or network 
incidents. They will be the point of contact for the Duty Officer on the network for incident 
management. This would include arranging the treatment of any areas not covered within 
the Priority Treated Network as may be requested by the Emergency Services or other 
stakeholders and approved by the Duty Officer.  
 
Upon completion of the operation, the Duty Operational Supervisor is responsible for 
ensuring that vehicles are accurately weighed back into the depot, offloaded of any excess 
material and that the salt storage area is left in a tidy and safe condition. They must also 
ensure the quality of vehicle wash downs in accordance with operational procedures, that 
the gritting vehicles are returned to the storage area correctly and that any mechanical 
failures are made aware to vehicle maintenance staff. Any issues with regard to route 
coverage or treatment exceptions should be recorded in the Daily Log and all records 
completed accurately. 
 
Operational staff shall be drawn from staff within Sandwell MBC. These operatives will be 
trained to a high standard and capable of operating vehicles, plant and equipment to 
required standards and in accordance with instructions. 
  

Page 529



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 20 

Operational staff will be available on a “home standby” rota basis to be contacted by 
telephone. All gritting vehicle drivers must hold a Heavy Goods Vehicle licence and attain 
the City and Guilds Institute Scheme 6159 Winter Maintenance Operators Qualification. 
 
Once a call-out is ordered gritting vehicle drivers will report to Taylors Lane Depot to collect 
a gritting vehicle and be assigned a route. Generally, operatives are designated specific 
routes to promote route ownership and knowledge but will have a working knowledge of 
other routes should this be necessary. 
 
The Duty Operational Supervisor will issue instructions to each driver for the action 
including data to programme the on-board Autologic spreading system. 
 
The driver will input the data to the on-board Autologic spreading system. 
 
During spreading operations, the Duty Operational Supervisor will periodically check and 
monitor that the Autologic spreading system is set as per the Duty Officer instruction and 
record checks made. 
 
The operative will drive the route as required and on return to the depot discharge any 
excess salt and wash the vehicle down. During the operations, should the operative 
encounter any route exceptions such as road closures, illegal manoeuvres or extreme 
conditions on a certain section of network, these should be reported to the Duty Operational 
Supervisor for a record to be made and/or alternative instructions to be given. 
 
Loading shovel operatives will also report to the depot and undertake the loading of the 
gritting vehicles as instructed by the Duty Operational Supervisor. At the end of the 
operation they will also ensure salt stocks are maintained and left in a tidy condition. 
 
In normal circumstances operational resources comprise one operative per gritting vehicle 
together with one loading shovel operative. However, where deemed necessary by the Duty 
Officer and Duty Operational Supervisor, such as in heavy snow, freezing or dense fog with 
restricted visibility or during significant snowfalls when snow ploughs are in use or extreme 
conditions, gritting vehicles will be operated by two personnel, one driver and a 
mate/observer. 
 
Operational Division’s labour resources are organised into a 2-shift system using the 
following people resources: 
 

Operations 
Team Leader 
and Manager 

Duty 
Operational 
Supervisors 

Drivers Loading Shovel 
Operatives 

Mate/Observer 
(when 

required) 
1 2 20 2 volunteers 

 
 
 
 
Communications 
 

Page 530



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 21 

Communications between all people engaged in the winter service delivery arrangements is 
maintained by a combination of bleepers, mobile telephones and landlines (where 
available). 
 
Day time numbers: 
 
MetDesk. contact number is – 01296 628373 
 
A dedicated mobile number for the Duty Officer (decision maker) is 07710 310952 
 
Out of hours numbers: 
 
At the commencement of the winter season a rota of duty officers and operational staff and 
operatives is prepared and issued to all interested parties.  Home and/or personal numbers 
are published (where available) but should only be used as a last resort and not shared. 
 
 

Page 531



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 22 

PLANT VEHICLES, EQUIPMENT & FUEL 
 
The plant resource maintained at the Highways Operational Depot to deliver the winter 
service is: 
 
Spreading Vehicles     9 No (6 x 4x2 & 3 x 4x4 spreaders) 
Snowploughs      5 No 
Loading shovel     1 No 
Demountable Spreader (used on a pick-up) 1 No 
Other Plant      Hired as required. 
 
Diesel fuel storage facilities are maintained within the Taylors Lane Highways Depot. Maximum 
storage is 6,000 litres. A minimum re-order level of 3,000 litres is in place sufficient for 11 
precautionary treatments. 
 
Additional fuel resilience includes ‘fuel cards’ to purchase fuel at local petrol filling stations. 
 
All spreading vehicles are equipped with Autologic, an automatic spreading system which 
incorporates a navigation system. The GPS navigation guides the driver along the route 
and the spreading settings occur automatically. This enables the driver to fully concentrate 
on the road without being unduly distracted by the spreading process. 
 
Autologic ensures spreading is fully automated. 
 
All Operational Staff are trained in setting Autologic to the Duty Officer instruction. 
 
Regular calibration testing of the spreaders is undertaken each year. 
 
The system allows for flexibility in staff deployment as prior route knowledge is not required.  
 
All spreaders conform to BS1622:1989 and are speed-related. 
 
All spreaders are equipped with speed limiters set to 28 mph during gritting operations. 
 
All vehicles and plant used during the routine operations are purchased by our in-house Fleet 
Services based at Waterfall Lane Depot. Arrangements include for 24-hour response for 
emergency repairs. 
 
All Sandwell MBC gritting vehicles are fitted with the winter report telematics platform 
(GPRS) to enable tracking of vehicles and logging of the actions performed. Information 
gathered provides a regular snapshot of the vehicle’s position, speed and direction of travel 
as well as its operational/activity status. This information is collected and presented on a 
specialist password protected website and enables routes to be fully audited from a remote 
position whilst also providing accurate and comprehensive treatment records. 
 
The above vehicles, labour and plant resources are sufficient to deal with the situation 
presented by an average winter i.e. routine pre-salting and average snowfalls.  However, if 
winter conditions become so severe then further resources in labour and plant may be 
utilised from Contractors undertaking other routine highway maintenance operations. 
  

Page 532



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 23 

SALT AND OTHER DE-ICING MATERIALS 
 
Rock Salt is the prime material for combating snow and the formation of ice on the highway, 
but it has environmental consequences, in that it can kill vegetation, pollute watercourses and 
cause damage to the road structure, bridges, utility apparatus and vehicles.  
 
Crushed rock salt treated with an agricultural by product (Molasses) to enhance its 
adherence to the road surface may be used. 
 
In the interest of both economy and environmental protection, only the minimum amount of 
salt should be used for the prevailing conditions. 
 
Realistically there is only one supply of rock salt from Winsford in Cheshire although trials 
have taken place with imported salt, the price of which is susceptible to currency fluctuations. 
A contract is in place for the Supply of Rock Salt which Sandwell acts as the lead authority. 
Dudley MBC and Wolverhampton City Council also have access to this agreement. Summer 
and Winter rates were secured to enable cost effective replenishment during the summer 
months in anticipation for the winter ahead. 
 
In order to maintain adequate supply in Taylors Lane Depot, Highways Services staff at 
Oldbury Council House in collaboration with the operational team at Taylors Lane Depot will 
maintain a stock management system, with tonnage details provided by Taylors Lane 
Depot. Using this system, information on salt usage is inputted after every action or incident 
of salt usage. This ensures that Highway Services know the exact stocks available at any 
one time and restocking will then be triggered based on pre-determined minimum stock 
levels. 
 
Specification: 
 
All coarse grade rock salt used on the highway by the Council for Winter Operational 
purposes is supplied to comply with B.S 3247 Part 1 (Salt for spreading on highways for 
Winter Maintenance). 
 
English mineral rock salt, complying with the current BS3247, is treated with Sodium 
Ferrocyanide as an anti-caking agent.  Other rock salt may not be treated and may solidify, 
leading to storage, loading and spreading difficulties.  Non BS3247 Rock Salt may also have 
inferior melting properties, which might lead to choking of the spreading equipment and to 
slippery deposits on the carriageway.  
 
In recent years there has been a tendency to use the finer grading of rock salt for 
precautionary salting, resulting in reduced potential for vehicle damage and a more uniform 
spread on the carriageway together with minimizing overspread and contamination of 
adjacent vegetation. 
 
Storage: 
 
The untreated salt held in readiness for use is stored, uncovered, in a purpose-built salt store 
area at Taylors Lane Depot. 
 

Page 533



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 24 

At the start of each winter a minimum 5,000 tonnes of salt is in stock. This is replenished as 
necessary through the winter period as required. The salt store is managed to ensure 
adequate rotational use of the salt on a year by year basis. 
 
Care should be taken that no valleys are formed on the top surface of the salt stockpile, there 
should be a continuous slope from the highest point of the pile to ground level with no steep 
faces liable to sudden collapse.  Run-off from the stockpile is contained in catch pits to reduce 
salt contamination and a loss of salt from leaching. 
 
On the outer surface of the pile a crust forms of a slightly different colour which cuts down 
losses.  It should be removed or broken up before the salt is loaded so as not to block the 
mechanism of the spreading vehicle. 
 
The corrosive nature of the salt makes careful cleaning and maintenance of the vehicles and 
plant used essential.  
 
Resilience 
 
The winters of 2009 and 2010 respectively exposed the fragility of Local Authorities salt 
stock resilience and the dependence upon salt stock replenishment during a winter season. 
The Code of Practice Well Maintained Highways introduced a recommendation for 
minimum resilience of continuous treatment capability of 12 days with 4 treatments each 
day at a spread rate 20g per square metre of dry salt (therefore, a minimum resilience of 48 
actions) and it is recommended in the “Well-Maintained Highway Infrastructure Code” that 
authorities continue to ensure sufficient resilience to salt stocks. 
 
Each 20g per square metre treatment of Priority 1 & 2 carriageway routes within Sandwell 
requires approximately 55 tonnes of dry salt. The minimum desirable salt stockholding to 
meet the minimum resilience requirements is 2,640 tonnes. 
 
The salt stockholding will be maintained at no less than 2,640 tonnes throughout the core 
winter service period. 
 
The core winter service period is 8th November to 4th April  
 
The overall winter service period is 1st October to 30th April. 
 

Minimum stock level required 
by Government 

Estimated Usage 
 6 Nov – 1 April  

Estimated Usage 
1 Apr – 30 Apr 

5,000  Tonnes 2640 Tonnes (48 actions @ 
20g/m2) 

660 Tonnes (12 actions @ 
20g/m2) 

 
Should low levels of National Salt Resilience require the instigation of the Department for 
Transport’s ‘Salt Cell’ then the Authority will fulfil and comply with the requirements of the 
system. 
 
West Midlands local authorities work closely together and, where circumstances allow, 
sharing salt stocks, through mutual aid, is an additional level of resilience that is available 
by agreement. 
 
Spread Rate Decision Making 

Page 534



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 25 

 
To be most effective, treatment should be applied before either ice forms or snow settles. The 
success or otherwise of the operation depends greatly on the good judgement of the Duty 
Officer decision maker whether or not to treat. 
 
The spread rate decision making process will be informed by the guidance set out in section 
8.6 of the NWSRG Practical Guide for Winter Service. 
 
Snow Clearance and Severe Conditions 
 
It is difficult to lay down hard and fast rules for the clearance of falling or fallen snow.  
Conditions can vary considerably on a day to day basis. Response will inevitably depend on 
the severity of the conditions and the resources available at the time.  However, the following 
notes are given as guidance. 
 
SEVERE CONDITION 1 
 
If a snowfall of at least 75mm (3") occurs and the weather forecast is for freezing conditions 
to continue then the following course of action is to be taken; 
 
Stage 1 
 
Operational resources (including any specialised hired plant) will be concentrated on clearing 
Priority 1 roads initially and then Priority 2 roads. 
 
Stage 2 
 
The Duty Officer will determine at what stage approval is given to treat "other" roads outside 
the approved priority network.  Such approval will only be given providing that priority 1 roads 
have been treated and/or are completely open to traffic and priority 2 roads are substantially 
so. 
 
At this stage the following resources may be utilised: 
 
 (a) Normal winter service crews. 
 (b) Redeployment of other operatives normally engaged on highway maintenance 

operations. 
(excludes other operatives carrying out Ground Maintenance or Street 
Cleansing operations). 

 (c) Hired plant/equipment as necessary. 
 
 
Stage 3 
 
If the weather conditions under Stages 1 and 2 continue to deteriorate then the Director of 
Borough Economy in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Highways 
may give authority to employ other operatives and contractors on winter service operations.  
 
The resources which may be used at this stage are: 
 

Page 535



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 26 

 (a) Normal winter service crews. 
 (b) Highways maintenance operatives. 
 (c) Other Sandwell operatives. 
 (d) Contractors. 
 (e) Hired plant as necessary. 
 
 
SEVERE CONDITION 2 
 
The other condition which can be classified as severe and where treatment to "other" roads - 
outside the approved network – may be carried out is where severe frosts, ice or light snow 
(less than 75mm deep) occur for long periods of time. 
 
The decision to treat "other" roads in this condition is to be made by Service Manager for 
Highways in consultation with the Director of Borough Economy and the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Highways, who will also decide what level of resources are to be used in 
this situation. 
 
FOOTWAYS. 
 
Conditions under which additional footways may be treated. 
 
Prioritised footways may receive precautionary treatment when the forecast indicates that 
hoarfrost or snow is likely. 
 
The prioritised Footways Category 1(a) Prestige Areas are detailed at Appendix D 
 
Other categories of footway or footpath maintainable at public expense are not treated. 
 
For severe Condition 1 (stage 2) or Severe Condition 2 (as defined earlier for carriageways) 
other footways may be treated and/or cleared and the same arrangements, regarding 
resources and decisions, will apply as for carriageways. 
 
Crises Management 
 
In exceptional circumstances the incident management response process as set out in the 
Council’s Emergency Plan (published in 1st June 2018 and due to be reviewed in 2023) will 
be implemented to ensure appropriate crises management. 
  

Page 536



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 27 

SALT BIN POLICY 
 
Salt bins are provided for use by members of the public to assist safe passage of vehicles 
along the carriageway. 
 
There are 545 salt bins locations approved in accordance with the criteria below and listed 
at Appendix F. 
 
We get more requests for grit bins than can be reasonably afforded. We therefore assess 
each request against a set of criteria. 
 
We consider various criteria including the characteristics of a road together with other 
influencing factors and apportion a score against each. If the criteria assessment total score 
exceeds 100 then a grit bin will be provided and maintained.  
 
Grit Bin Placement Policy Criteria 
 

 Road Characteristic Criteria Score 

1 Gradient of Road 

> 1 in 15 75 

1 in 15 to 1 in 29 40 

< 1 in 30 0 

2 Carriageway Horizontal Alignment 

Bend < 100 m Radius 60 

Bend < 250 m Radius 20 

Bend > 250 m Radius 0 

3 Close Proximity (25m) and Falling 
Towards 

NRSWA Type 1 90 

NRSWA Type 2 75 

NRSWA Type 3 50 

NRSWA Type 4 30 

4 Road Category 

NRSWA Type 1 60 

NRSWA Type 2 45 

NRSWA Type 3 20 

NRSWA Type 4 0 

5 Number of premises for which only 
access (cul-de-sac)* 

Over 50 30 

20 to 50 20 

0 to 20 0 

6 
Critical community facility access required 
for large numbers of people e.g. day care 

centre, health centre or similar? 

Yes 20 

No 0 

Page 537



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 28 

Road Categories are taken from the NRSWA specification. Each officer has access to a listing 
of all roads within Sandwell and their corresponding NRSWA category. 

 
 
*N.B Any industrial premises for which this is the only access are to be automatically 
promoted to the higher category.  
 
Note: 
 
Evaluation on the above basis should ensure that salt bins are installed only at identified 
locations where there are combinations of significant factors. 
 
Salt bins shall not be sited on the priority salting network. 
 
Care should be taken to avoid locating salt bins in areas where they may be used for the 
disposal of litter (ie near bus stops) or act as litter traps. 
 
 
  

Page 538



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 29 

OPERATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
D a i l y  F o r e c a s t s  
 
1st October – 30th October & 18th April – 30th April   
 
By 1100 24 hour & 2-5 day text forecasts 
 
1st November – 18th April 
 
By 1200 24 hour, 10 day text forecasts & Site specific forecast graphs 
 
By 1800 Routine afternoon update to 24 hour forecasts 
 
By 0600 Morning summary, summarizing the actual weather conditions for the 
previous night. 
 
 
Action plan 
 
By 1300; Duty Officer consult the 24-hour, 10 day text forecasts & the site specific forecast 
graphs, which apply to the Sandwell area and consider possibilities. Inform the Duty 
Operational Supervisor as to possible plans (eg action / no action, early turn-out / late turn-
out). 
 
By 1830; Duty Officer review the situation following the routine afternoon update to 24 hour 
forecasts. 
 
1830 Inform Duty Operational Supervisor if an early turn-out is required. 
 
If no early action is required, the situation will be monitored throughout the night. 
 
Note; At all times a MetDesk ‘RoadCast’ forecaster is available by telephone for further 
consultation as to the weather conditions. 
 
 
 
  

Page 539



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 30 

INFORMATION AND PUBLICITY 
 
Contact through the media is increasingly important as a means of keeping the road user 
informed of adverse conditions and promoting safety on the highway. 
 
Media coverage of highway winter operations and emergency operations plays a very 
important part in making the public aware of the service provided and how essential the 
service is to the community. 
 
Throughout the winter period dialogue with the media is maintained through the Council’s 
Press Office.  Officers are proactive in providing up to date information on a daily basis in 
the form of a text message sent to the Press Office when an action is planned, in order that 
meaningful responses can be made to enquiries from the media. 
 
Appropriate officers are also available to appear on local radio stations and TV as and 
when the needs arise. 
 
When periods of extreme weather conditions, i.e. heavy snow, have been forecast, the 
Press Office is notified of the Council’s winter service plans so that they can inform the 
media accordingly. 
 
It is of great importance that situation updates are received by the Press Office, therefore 
enabling them to present credible press releases and interviews to the media.  
 
Information is published on the council’s website at: 
 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200284/roads_travel_and_parking/2139/gritting 
 
Increased use of social media is utilised where required to keep our community informed 
about our winter service policy, operational activity and to manage expectations regarding 
the winter service. 
 
 
  

Page 540

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200284/roads_travel_and_parking/2139/gritting


[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 31 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 

DUTY OFFICER MODEL LOG SHEET 
  

Page 541



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 32 

WINTER OPERATIONS - DUTY ENGINEER LOG SHEET 
 

Reporting Period 12 Noon  XX/XX/20XX to XX/XX/20XX 
 

Forecast (24-hour clock) 
 

Text Forecast Received: 
 
 

 
Graphs Received: 

 
 

 
Forecast Summary 

24 Hour Readiness Colour  

Min Forecast RST  

 
Contractor Duty Officers 

Highways Duty Supervisor  
Serco Duty Supervisor  

 
Spread Rate Considerations 

(Only Populate if action proposed) 
Salt Type Dry Treated 

Salt Moisture Content within optimum range Yes No 
Road Surface Wetness Dry Damp Wet V. Wet 

Traffic Level Low High 
Salt Loss Normal High 

Salt Distribution Poor Fair Good 
 

Action Proposed 
Treatment 
Options 

Action 
Proposed 

(Y/N) 
Salt Type Spread 

Rate (g/m2) 
Planned Start 

Time 

All Routes (C’way) N    
Priority Routes 

(C’way) N    
Auxiliary Routes 

(C’way) N    

Footways N    
 

Log of Principal Events 
 

Time: 
 

Action: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 542



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 33 

Log of Principal Events (continued) 
 

Time: 
 

Action: 
  

       
Duty 
Officer: 

 
Signed: 

 

Page 543



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 
 
 

CARRIAGEWAY TREATMENT ROUTES 
 

PRIORITY 1 
 
  

Page 544



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 35 

SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P1 
 
For use as pre-salting route OR heavy dose route in snow situations. 
 
 
Travel to Birchley island. Start salting into Birchfield Lane and continue into Oldbury Rd. 
 
At Kwik Save bear left to the island and left into Long Lane. 
 
Proceed past Borough boundary and turn around at roundabout and return along Long Lane. 
 
Turn left into Halesowen St and right into Bassano Rd. 
 
At the end turn left into High St and at the give way turn right into Henderson Way. 
 
Turn first right into Beet St and at the end turn left into High St. 
 
At the island turn right into Halesowen St and at the second island turn left into Horner Way. 
 
Cross over the traffic lights into Archer Way and at the end turn right along Oldbury Road, at lights 
turn right into Station Rd. Continue to roundabout and make u-turn back along Station Road. 
 
At the end turn left into Oldbury Rd and bear right into Henderson Way. 
 
Cross the island into Henderson Way and continue to the traffic lights. 
 
Carry on into Powke Lane and circle the island before turning into Garratts Lane. 
 
At the next island turn left into Heathfield Way (Old Hill by-pass). 
 
At the island u-turn and return along Heathfield Way and at the island turn second left into 
Highgate St. 
 
At the next island turn right into Halesowen Rd, go to the Borough boundary and turn around back 
along Halesowen Rd, to the island. 
 
Turn right into Reddal Hill Rd and on into Upper High St, into Foxoak Street and continue into 
Lower High St. 
 
Carry on into Forge Lane and at the Borough boundary turn around and return. 
 
At the island at Halesowen Rd turn right, proceed along Halesowen Rd. 
 
Carry on and at the Borough boundary turn around and return along Halesowen Rd. 
 
At the traffic lights turn right into Beauty Bank and turn first right into Station Rd. 
 
At the end turn left into Gorsty Hill, on into Halesowen St and left into Bassano Rd. 
 
Bear right into High St and at roundabout turn left into Birmingham Rd. 
 
At the island turn right into Henderson Way and on into Oldbury Rd. 
 

Page 545



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 36 

Continue on into Birchfield Lane and at Birchley island STOP SALTING and return to Taylors 
Lane. 
 
 
Route P1 
Last Reviewed September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2015 
 

Page 546



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 37 

 SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P2 
 
For use as pre-salting route OR heavy dose route in snow situations. 
 
Start salting at the Depot. 
 
Turn right into Taylors Lane and at the island turn right into Shidas Lane. 
 
At the island turn left into Portway Rd and at the end turn left into Churchbridge. 
 
Turn around at McDonald's island and return along Churchbridge. 
 
At the Birchley island keep to left lane around the island and return along Churchbridge. 
 
At McDonald's island turn right into Oldbury Ringway towards Smethwick. 
 
Go on into Birmingham Rd and then on into Oldbury Rd. 
 
Continue into Toll House Way and on into Soho Way. 
 
At Windmill Lane circle the island once then exit into Grove Lane. 
 
At roundabout turn left into Dudley Rd and at the Borough boundary turn at Dugdale St and return 
along Dudley Rd into Cape Hill. 
 
Continue into High St, bear left at Newlands Green and left again into Bearwood Rd. 
 
Go along Bearwood Rd to the traffic lights at Hagley Rd West and turn right into Hagley Rd West. 
 
Go on to the island at Quinton Lane by Jefferson’s P.H. turn around and return along Hagley Rd 
West. 
 
Turn left into Bearwood Rd and at the traffic lights by Hadley Stadium bear right into Waterloo Rd. 
 
At the next traffic lights turn right and go down Cape Hill. 
 
At the roundabout turn left into Grove Lane and on into Soho Way. 
 
Cross the traffic lights at Crockett's Lane and take first left into High St. 
 
At Newlands Green bear right then right again and back along High St. 
 
Turn left into Toll House Way and continue along Oldbury Rd to the roundabout. 
 
Turn right into Spon Lane South and at the next island turn left into Kelvin Way. 
 
At Bromford Lane traffic island u-turn and return along Kelvin Way. 
 
At the next island turn left into Trinity Way and go across the next traffic lights. 
 
Go onto the Expressway, continue under the underpass to Albion roundabout, u-turn and return 
back along Expressway to motorway island. U-turn at Motorway island and return back along 
Expressway. Take left hand slip on to fire station island, make u-turn and take slip road back on to 
Expressway, (towards motorway island),. 

Page 547



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 38 

 
Turn left off Expressway into Trinity Way and cross the traffic lights. 
 
At the island turn left into Kenrick Way and turn left at the next island into Kenrick Way. 
 
Go around the M5 island; keep to the right to pass through the special holding section. 
 
Return down Kenrick Way, over the island into Telford Way and at the Oldbury Rd island turn 
around and return along Telford Way. 
 
At the island turn left into Kenrick Way and at the next island turn left into Spon Lane South. 
 
At the roundabout island turn right into Oldbury Rd and go on into Oldbury Ringway. 
 
At McDonald's island stop salting and return to Taylors Lane. 
 
 
Route P2 
Last Reviewed September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2015 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 548



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 39 

 SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P3 
 
For use as pre-salting route OR heavy dose route in snow situations. 
 
Travel to Albion island (Carters Green) and start salting the Black Country New Rd. 
 
Go on along Black Country New Rd and cross Swan, Navigation, Parkway and Steel islands. 
 
At Patent Shaft island turn around and return along Black Country New Rd  
 
Go along Black Country New Rd and cross Steel, Parkway, Navigation, Swan and Albion islands 
into the Expressway (New Rd). 
 
Take left hand slip on to Fire station island then turn left into All Saints Way. 
 
At the traffic lights at the end of All Saints Way turn left into Heath Lane then immediately right into 
Walsall Rd. 
 
Turn right again into Lyndhurst Rd and at end right into Hollyhedge Rd. Move over to the left hand 
lane. 
 
At the traffic lights turn left into Newton Rd and at the Scott Arms traffic lights turn left into 
Birmingham Rd. 
 
Follow Birmingham Rd over the Motorway flyover to the Borough boundary just past Merrions 
Close. 
 
Turn through central reserve and return along Birmingham Rd over the flyover, but before the 
traffic lights at Scott Arms, turn through central reserve at Sundial Lane. 
 
Return along Birmingham Rd and turn off down the slip road to the Motorway island. 
 
Take the first slip road off towards Walsall back onto Birmingham Rd. 
 
U-turn at central reservation by Chapel Lane, back along Birmingham Rd and turn off down the 
slip road to the Motorway island. Circle island and take slip road back towards Walsall, join 
Birmingham Road and continue to borough boundary and make u-turn back along Birmingham 
Road towards Birmingham. 
 
Take left hand slip to motorway island, Circle the Motorway island once and turn off up the slip 
road signed to Birmingham back onto Birmingham Rd. 
 
At the traffic lights at Scott Arms turn left into Queslett Rd, continue to Asda island and make u-
turn back along Queslett Road. 
 
 
At the Scott Arms cross into Newton Rd and at the traffic lights by All Saints Church take the right 
hand lane and follow the A4031 sign for Walsall onto Walsall Rd. 
 
At Stone Cross circle the island once and carry on down Walsall Rd to pass under the motorway 
and turn right into Greenside Way. 
 
Continue on into Thorncroft Way and Birchfield Way and at the island cross into Cherry Tree 
Avenue. 

Page 549



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 40 

 
At the end turn left into Greenside Way and second right into Orchard Rd. 
 
Continue on into Woodruff Way and at the end turn left into Greenside Way. 
 
At the end turn left into Walsall Rd. 
 
Proceed to the one way system at Lyndhurst Rd and at the end turn right into Hollyhedge Rd. 
 
Cross the traffic lights in the middle lane into All Saints Way. 
 
At the island at the Expressway (New Rd) stop salting and return to Taylors Lane depot. 
 
 
Route P3 
Last Reviewed September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2015 
 
 

Page 550



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 41 

 SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P4 
 
For use as pre-salting route OR heavy dose route in snow situations. 
 
Start at Bromford Rd island (junc. Ringway and Church St.) 
 
Start salting Oldbury Ringway to McDonald's island and turn around. 
 
Return along Oldbury Ringway and continue along Bromford Rd, Bromford Lane, Moor St and 
Price Street. 
 
At the traffic lights turn left into St Michael's St and at the traffic lights turn left into High St and go 
on into Carters Green. 
 
At the island (Albion) turn right into the Expressway (New Rd) and cross the next island (All 
Saints). 
 
At the M5 island keep to the left hand lane over the motorway, go along Birmingham Rd to Park 
Lane and turn around. 
 
Return along Birmingham Rd to M5 island and keep to the left hand lane over the motorway. 
 
Return along the Expressway (New Rd), take left hand slip on to Fire Station island, circle island 
and take the slip road back on to The Expressway travelling towards Wednesbury.  
 
At the next island (Albion) turn right into Old Meeting St. 
 
Carry on along Old Meeting St, Black Lake, Hill Top, Holloway Bank, Bridge St, and Holyhead 
Rd. 
 
At the island turn left into Dudley St and at the next island turn left onto Black Country New Rd. 
 
At the island turn right into Leabrook Rd and after going over the canal bridge make sure you are 
positioned to spread salt to the full road width. 
 
At Ocker Hill island turn right and go along Gospel Oak Rd. 
 
At the traffic lights turn right into Farmer Way and at the end turn right into Charlotte Rd. 
 
At the end turn left into Willingsworth Rd and at the end turn left into Leabrook Rd  
 
Return along Leabrook Rd and at the island turn left into Black Country New Rd. 
 
At the island turn right into Dudley St and at the next island turn left into Holyhead Rd. 
 
At the island (Patent Shaft) turn around and return along Holyhead Rd. 
 
At the island turn left into High Bullen and at the next island turn left into Trouse Lane. 
 
Go on into Darlaston Rd to the Borough boundary at Woden Rd West. 
 
Turn around and return along Darlaston Rd into Trouse Lane to High Bullen island. 
 
Turn left into High Bullen, Walsall St and on into Wood Green Rd. 

Page 551



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 42 

 
Cross the traffic lights, continue along Wood Green Rd and u-turn at the Motorway island. 
 
Return along Wood Green Rd and Walsall St to High Bullen island and turn first left into High 
Bullen. 
 
At the next roundabout u-turn back along High Bullen to island, u-turn back along High Bullen at the 
island turn left into Holyhead Rd. 
 
Go along Holyhead Rd, Bridge St, Holloway Bank, Hill Top, Black Lake and Old Meeting St. 
 
At the island (Albion) cross into Carters Green and on into High St. 
 
At the end turn left into New Street, continue into Cronehills Linkway. Circle roundabout continue 
on to Cronehills Linkway, at Tesco roundabout circle island then turn left on to Cronehills Linkway to 
Fire station island. 
 
U-turn and return along Cronehills Linkway and take 1st exit at roundabout on to Congregation 
Way. At next roundabout make u-turn back along Congregation Way to Tesco island. Make u-turn 
and go back along Congregation Way to roundabout, circle roundabout and proceed along 
Congregation Way to Reform Street.  
 
At reform Street roundabout take 2nd exit into Reform Street, go straight over lights in to Bull Street. 
Straight over the lights onto West Bromwich Ringway. 
 
Take next left on to Spon Lane and turn left at end into Kelvin Way. 
 
Turn around at the island and take first right back into Spon Lane. At the traffic lights turn left into 
West Bromwich Ringway. 
 
At the traffic lights turn left into Moor St, go around Price Street gyratory to lights. Turn right into 
Moor Street then turn left into Moor Street and continue in to Bromford Lane. 
 
At the island cross into Bromford Rd and at the island at the Church St / Ringway junction STOP 
SALTING and return to Taylors Lane. 
 
 
Route P4 
Last Reviewed September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2015 
 

Page 552



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 43 

 SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P5 
 
For use as pre-salting route OR heavy dose route in snow situations. 
 
Travel to Freeth St island on Oldbury Ringway and start salting. 
 
Turn left into Dudley Rd, and go on into Dudley Rd East. 
 
Go on into Dudley Rd West and bear left on Tividale Rd, turn right onto New Birmingham Road to 
Burnt Tree traffic signals. 
 
Turn right into Burnt Tree and at the traffic lights turn left into Sedgley Rd East. 
 
Continue on into Park Lane West and cross the island into Sedgley Rd West. 
 
At the traffic lights turn left into Dudley Rd and at the junction with New Birmingham Rd go across 
the traffic lights into Tipton Rd and turn around through the central reservation. 
 
Return along Dudley Rd to the traffic lights and cross into Hurst Lane, Bloomfield Rd, High St, 
and Wednesbury Oak Rd. 
 
At the Gospel Oak traffic lights turn left into Bilston Rd. 
 
Continue into Great Bridge Rd and pass under railway bridge then turn around and return along 
Great Bridge Rd and Bilston Rd. 
 
At the Gospel Oak traffic lights cross into Gospel Oak Rd to Ocker Hill island. 
 
Go around the island, return along Gospel Oak Rd to the Gospel Oak traffic lights and turn left into 
Wednesbury Oak Rd. 
 
Continue along Wednesbury Oak Rd, High St, Bloomfield Rd and Hurst Lane to the traffic lights. 
 
Turn left into Sedgley Rd West, cross the island into Park Lane West and on into Sedgley Rd 
East. 
 
At the traffic lights at Dudley Port turn left, continue on into Horseley Heath and at the Great 
Bridge island turn left into New Rd. 
 
Continue on into Toll End Rd and at the Ocker Hill island turn around and return along Toll End Rd 
and New Rd. 
 
At the island turn left into Great Western Way and at Navigation island turn left into the Black 
Country New Rd. 
 
At Parkway island turn around and return along the Black Country New Rd and at Navigation 
island turn right into Great Western Way. 
 
At the island turn left into Market Place and go on into Great Bridge. 
 
Go on into Great Bridge St and at the end turn left to Swan island. 
 
Go around Swan island and go into Dudley St. 
 

Page 553



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 44 

At the end turn left into Carters Green and at Albion island turn around and return into Carters 
Green. 
 
Immediately turn right back into Dudley St and just before Swan island turn left into Great Bridge 
St. 
 
Go on into Great Bridge and Market Place and at the island turn left into Horseley Heath. 
 
Go on into Dudley Port and cross the traffic lights to continue along Dudley Port to Burnt Tree 
traffic signals. 
 
Turn left into New Birmingham Road then at next lights turn left in to Tividale Rd; continue on into 
Dudley Rd West at lights at end turn left into Tipton Rd. 
 
Go across the Dudley Port traffic lights, turn around and return along Sedgley Rd East, Tipton Rd, 
Dudley Rd East and Dudley Rd. 
 
At Oldbury Ringway stop salting and return to Taylors Lane depot. 
 
 
Route P5 
Last Reviewed September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2015 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 554



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

 
CARRIAGEWAY TREATMENT ROUTES 

 
PRIORITY 1 and 2 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 555



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 46 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R1 
 
OFF: Taylors Lane, Rounds green Road , Right on Oldbury Ringway , straight Birmingham 
Road , Oldbury Road Left at  
 
ON:Spon Lane South ,at island turn right into Kenrick Way and at next island turn left into 
Kenrick Way. At M5 J1, follow inner lane of island and return back along Kenrick Way. At 
island continue into Telford Way and at next island circle roundabout and return along 
Telford Way. At island turn left into Kenrick Way and at next island turn right into Trinity 
Way. At the traffic lights turn right into High St continuing on into Birmingham Rd. At M5 
J1,traffic island  take third exit onto  
 
OFF: Kenrick Way then at roundabout turn right onto Kenrick Way. At roundabout 
undertake a U-turn back onto Kenrick Way, take 2nd left into 
 
ON: Green Street, continue into Glover Street to Trinity Way, Turn left on to  
 
OFF: Trinity Way to roundabout. U-turn back on to Trinity Way continue lights at High 
Street. Proceed Straight over lights onto 
 
ON: Trinity Way to  
 
OFF: Expressway, join dual carriageway. Leave Expressway at slip road onto fire station 
island, at island turn right into 
 
ON: All Saints Way, continue into Newton Rd. Turn left on to Pear Tree Drive, turn left on to 
Pear Tree Rd to Pear Tree Drive, Turn Right on Pear Tree Drive to Newton Road. Turn left 
on to Newton Road. At Scott Arms continue into Queslett Rd, turn second  left on to White 
crest,  turn first  right on to Abbotsford Avenue proceed all the way round  to Scott Road 
and turn left into Scott Road .Turn 1st right into Carter Road .At the junction turn right onto 
Sundial lane and then left onto Birmingham  road.At the traffic lights turn left onto Queslett 
Road and take the first left into Sundial Lane bear left at the mini roundabout  and continue 
along Sundial Lane and turn first right into Carter Road .At the junction turn right onto Scott 
Road , continue to the end and turn left onto 
 
OFF: Whitecrest.Take the fifth right into  
 
ON:Peverill Way .at the junction turn right onto Abbotsford Avenue and take the next right 
into Lammermoor Avenue at the junction turn left onto  
 
OFF:Whitecrest. Continue to the junction and turn  left on to 
 
ON: Queslett Road. After passing under the M6 motorway bridge 
 
OFF: continue to traffic island at Asda and U-turn to return along Queslett Road to  
 
ON: M6 flyover 
 
At Scott Arms, turn right into Birmingham Rd; follow Birmingham Rd over the Motorway 
flyover to the Borough boundary just past 

Page 556



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 47 

 
OFF: Merrions Close. Turn through central reserve and return along Birmingham Rd at 
ON: Merrions Close continue on Birmingham Road over the flyover to Scott Arms. At Scott 
Arms turn right into Newton Rd and turn left into Hampstead Rd. Turn 1st right on to Hembs 
Crescent, turn right on to Tanhouse Ave, turn right on to Howard Road to Hembs Crescent, 
Turn right 
 
OFF: Hembs Crescent to 
 
ON: Tanhouse Ave, and turn left along Tanhouse Ave. Turn left on to Valley Road. Turn 
right on to Hampstead Road. Turn left in to Stanton Road, turn left in to Green Lane; turn 
left in to 
 
OFF: Hampstead Road.  
 
ON: junction Stanton road straight and turn 4th left on to Spouthouse Lane. Turn 3rd  left in 
to Appleton Avenue, Turn 2nd right in to Gorse Farm Rd to roundabout, u-turn back along 
 
OFF: Gorse farm Road to Appleton Avenue, turn left on Appleton Avenue to  
 
ON: Spouthouse Lane. Turn left in to Spouthouse Lane to Old Walsall Road, turn left and 
continue to junction with Walsall Road. Turn left to Scott Arms. 
 
OFF: At Scott Arms continue on into Birmingham Rd and turn left into  
 
ON: slip Rd for Motorway Island, circle roundabout and take slip Rd back onto Birmingham 
Rd towards Walsall. Take right turn into chapel Lane, continue across the boundary and 
turn around by the church , return along Chapel Lane turning Right into  Coronation Road, 
continue into Merrions Close up to Birmingham Rd and turn left. Take slip road on to 
Motorway Island and take 
 
ON: exit slip road on to Birmingham Road heading towards Birmingham.  
 
 
OFF: At Scott Arms, turn right on to Newton Road, turn 5th left into    
 
ON:Jayshaw Avenue, turn left into Waddington Avenue to turn left on to Newton Road. Turn 
left back  in to Jayshaw Avenue, turn 5th right in to Gorse Farm Rd,  go around the traffic 
island and return up Gorse Farm Road turn first right into Shenstone Road .At the end turn 
right onto Jayshaw Avenue  
 
 continue to Walsall Road and turn left. Make u-turn through centre reserve and turn right at 
light in to Old Walsall Road. Turn right on to Hampstead Road then turn right in to  
 
OFF: Spouthouse Lane. Turn 2nd left into  
 
ON: West Road, continue in to Templemore Drive, turn left in to 
 
OFF: Stanton Road to Hampstead Road, continue straight over roundabout in to  
 

Page 557



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 48 

ON: Tanhouse Avenue. Turn right in to  
 
OFF: Valley Road, turn left on to 
 
ON: Hampstead Road then turn right at the lights on to 
 
OFF: Newton Road. Turn 6th left in to  
 
ON: Pages Lane then left on to 
 
OFF: Birmingham Road, take left hand slip lane to jct 7 roundabout, take left slip on to 
Birmingham Road and keep in left slip road and  
 
ON: turn left in to Wilderness Lane. Continue in to Longleat to the bottom then turn right in 
to Monks field Ave. Turn right on to Newton Road and continue to All Saints Way. At traffic 
lights keep left into All Saints Way and turn left into Parsonage Street. Continue into Hallam 
St, Seagar St and Reform St to island. Circle the island and return along Reform Street, 
take the second right into Lloyd St and continue along Dagger Lane. At end turn right onto  
 
OFF: Church Vale and bear left into Parsonage St.At traffic signals, turn left into All Saints 
Way 
 
ON: and turn first right into Wilford Rd. At end of Wilford Road, turn right into  
 
OFF: Vicarage Rd to traffic signals turn right into Heath lane. Bear left into Walsall Rd then 
bear right into Lyndhurst Rd, and then turn right into Holly hedge Rd. 
 
At traffic signals, continue into  
 
ON:All Saints Way. Continue to fire station traffic island  
 
OFF: fire station island turn left onto slip road on to The Expressway, turn left onto  
 
ON: Trinity Way. Go straight over the lights at junction with High Street then at roundabout 
take second exit onto Spon Lane South. At roundabout stop gritting and return to the depot 
 
Route R1 
   
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   September 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 558



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 49 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R2 
 
OFF: Taylors Lane , straight Rounds Green Road , right onto Oldbury Ringway, straight 
Birmingham Road , Oldbury Road ,left onto Telford Way ,Straight onto Kendrick Way  onto 
junction 1 
 
ON. Turn onto The Expressway continue under the underpass to Albion roundabout, U-turn 
and return along the Expressway under the underpass to M5 J1. U-turn at motorway island 
return along  
 
OFF: Expressway, go up  
 
ON: slip road to fire station island and then down slip road back on to 
 
OFF: Expressway continuing to Albion island. U-turn back along The Expressway go  
 
ON: up slip road to fire station island and then continue down slip road on to The  
 
OFF: Expressway towards motorway island. At motorway island make u-turn back on to 
Expressway and continue Albion island, take the second exit onto 
 
ON: Black Country New Road to Lea brook Road island, Take 1st exit into LeabrookRoad, 
continue to Ockerhill  island and take the 4th exit onto Bilston Road. Continue over lights at 
Gospel Oak  in to Bilston Road and proceed along Great Bridge Road to boundary, at 
railway bridge and make u-turn. Travel back along 
 
OFF: Great Bridge Road/Bilston Road and at the Gospel Oak Pub turn right in to  
 
ON:Wednesbury Oak Road. Take the 4TH right into Union Road and turn right into Richards 
Road. Turn left on to  
 
OFF: Wednesbury Oak Road. Continue over signals on to  
 
ON: Farmer Way, at end of Farmer Way turn right on to Charlotte Road, turn left onto 
Willingsworth Road to Leabrook Road and turn left onto Leabrook Road. At the traffic island 
take the 3rd exit and return along Black Country New Road across Navigation Roundabout 
and Swann Roundabout to Albion Roundabout and then turn left into Old Meeting Street 
continuing over the traffic signals into Black Lake. At the traffic signals at Hill Top, turn left 
into New Street, continuing along Harvills Hawthorn, Bagnall Street and George Henry 
Road. At the island turn left onto  
 
OFF: Black Country New Road and turn 1st left into  
 
ON: Richmond Street continuing into Dial Lane. At the end turn left in to Harvills Hawthorn 
and the left into Wedgwood Avenue. Turn right into Anson Road,at the end turn left into 
Wolseley Road then 1st right in to St Vincent’s Crescent, turn 1st right into Marmion Way 
then left on to Dial Lane. Turn 1st right in to Ebenezer St continue in to Heronville Road, at 
the end turn right on to Norbury Road and continue to New Street. Turn right in to New 
Street and at the traffic signals turn left into Hill Top. 
 

Page 559



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 50 

At the traffic signals turn right into Witton Lane, continue in to Jowett’s Lane, turn left on to 
Allerton Lane then left on to Wyntor Lane up to Witton Lane then right and immediate left in 
to Coles Lane. Turn 2nd  left in to Bedford Road, turn 2nd right in to Huntingdon Road, at the 
end  left in to Denbigh Drive to end then turn right in to Wiltshire Way. Continue in to Bank 
Street then at the end  turn left onto Vicarage Road. At the end turn right onto Heath Lane 
and follow the road to the left into Walsall Road and turn fifth right into Charlemont Road. 
Cross over Hollyhedge Road into Charlemont Road and turn first left into Beacon View 
Road. Turn fourth right at the mini island  into Smithmoor Crescent and second left into 
Meadow Avenue. At the end turn right into Charlemont Road and at the end turn right onto 
Hollyhedge Road continuing into Jervoise lane. 
At the end turn right onto Walsall Road continuing to stone cross through the gyratory 
system along Walsall Road and take fourth left into Sandy Lane. and into Friar Park Road, 
turn third left in to School Road, turn second right on to Carrington Road, then turn  left 
along Manor Road turn 2nd  left into Carisbrooke Road then at the end turn  left in to Friar 
Park Road to the end and turn left at the mini roundabout  into Freeman Road and continue 
into Carrington Road. Continue over Carisbrooke Road into Astbury Road then turn left in to 
Roberts Road and then right on to Friar Park Road. Continue into Sandy Lane and turn left 
at the lights onto Walsall Road. 
Turn right into Greenside Way, and 7th left in to Redwood Road then c at the end right on 
to Birchfield Way then continue in to Thorncroft Way, then right back in to  
 
OFF:Redwood Road, turn left in to  
 
ON: Cherry Tree Avenue follow to end then left in to Greenside Way. Turn 3rd right in to 
Orchard Road, continue round in to Woodruff Way to Greenside Way and turn left. Turn left 
onto Walsall Road. At Stone Cross, go around gyratory and return back along  
 
OFF: Walsall Road, turning right into 
 
ON: Beacon view Road. Turn second left on to Bustle Holme Lane, circulate Andrew Road 
and Rayford Drive and return to Bustleholme Lane. Turn left on to Beaconview Road and 
turn second right into Wyndmill Crescent and follow round. At the end turn right onto  
 
OFF: Beacon View Road. Turn second left into 
 
ON: Smithmoor Crescent and second left into  
 
OFF: Meadow Avenue. At the end turn left onto  
 
ON Charlemont Road into Wigmore Lane and turn right into Water Lane continuing into 
Penny hill Lane. At the end turn left into Hollyhedge Road, keep to right hand lane. At the 
traffic signals continue into All Saints Way turning right into Heath Lane turning right into 
Walsall Road, turn right into Lyndhurst Road and turn left onto Hollyhedge Road. Turn fifth 
left into Charlemont Road and at the end turn right onto Walsall Road. Continue along 
Walsall Road and circle Stone Cross gyratory, returning along Walsall Road (towards West 
Brom). Turn first right into Beverley Road and turn fifth left into Westminster Road. Cross 
over Marsh Lane into Jubilee Street and at the end turn right into Heath Lane. Turn right 
into Marsh lane and at the end, turn left into 
 
OFF: Walsall Road and at Stone Cross gyratory turn left into  

Page 560



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 51 

 
ON: Hall Green Road and at island continue into Hydes Road. At island turn left into 
Rydding lane and continue into Allerton Lane. Turn Left in to Clarks Lane and then 2nd right 
in to Kesteven Road and then left in to Wiltshire Way. Turn 6th left in to Westmorland Road, 
1st right in to Somerset Road and then 1st  left  on to Essex Avenue. At the end Turn right 
back on to 
 
OFF: Kesteven Road and the at the end turn right on to 
 
ON: Clarks Lane  then right at the signals into Vicarage Road and continue along Church 
Lane. At traffic signals continue into New Swan lane (OFF OVER TRAM LINE) and at Swan 
roundabout, take second exit into Dudley Street. At the end turn left into Carters Green and 
at Albion round about stop gritting and return to depot  
 
Route R2 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2018 
 
 
  

Page 561



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 52 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R3 
 
OFF: Taylors lane, straight Rounds Green Road, Oldbury ringway ,Left onto Oldbury             
Ringway, across Freeth Street island  
 
ON: Turn left into West Bromwich Street and bear left into Oldbury Road. At canal bridge, 
turn right into Albion Road and at the end turn left onto  
 
OFF: Brandon Way 
 
ON: At the end turn left onto Greets Green Road and continue into across the lights into 
Whitehall Road, turn 2nd left on to Dunkirk Avenue then continue in to Elizabeth Road. Turn 
left on to Phillip Road and left on to Cophall Street and right on to Sheepwash Lane, then 
turn left on to Whitehall Road. At the end turn right onto Great Bridge Street, and at the end 
turn left into Dudley Street. At Swan Island, circle the island and return along Dudley Street 
and turn right into Great Bridge Street, continue into Great Bridge and Market Place. At 
island, turn right onto Great Western Way. At Navigation roundabout, circle roundabout and 
return along Great Western Way. At roundabout, return along  OFF: Great Western way 
ON: and at Navigation roundabout turn left into dedicated left filter lane onto  
 
OFF: Black Country New Road. Continue along Black Country New Road, cross  
 
ON: Parkway and Steel roundabouts and at Patent Shaft roundabout, turn left into Patent 
Drive. At next island turn left into Hallens Drive and turn right into Moorcroft Drive. Turn 
right into Patent Drive and at the roundabout turn right into Hallens Drive and continue to 
island. At Steel island turn left into 
 
OFF: Black Country New road and at 
 
ON: Patent Shaft roundabout, circle roundabout and return along Black Country New Road. 
At Steel Island turn left into Dudley Street, continue over roundabout into High Bullen and at 
next roundabout turn left into Trouse Lane and turn left into Bilston Road. At Patent Shaft 
roundabout turn left onto Holyhead Road. At roundabout continue straight over in to into 
Holyhead Road continuing into Bridge Street, turn left into Woden Road North , continue to 
the roundabout , make a u turn and return to Holloway Bank, Turn left into Holloway Bank. 
At the traffic signals turn left into   
 
OFF: Witton Lane and at the mini-roundabout turn right into Coles lane. 
 
ON: AT JUNCTION WITH MONMOUTH DRIVE At the traffic signals turn right into  
 
OFF: Hill Top. At the traffic signals turn right into Witton Lane and turn second left  
 
ON: into Crookhay Lane. Turn second right into Winchester Road and at the end turn right 
onto Windsor Road. At the end turn right onto Millfields Road and at roundabout, take 
second exit onto 
 
OFF:  Hydes Road into Hall Green Road. At roundabout turn left into  
 

Page 562



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 53 

ON: Crankhall Lane continue to the end and turn left before the bridge in to Oldbury Street. 
Turn left on to Elwell Street then take a left to return on to 
 
OFF: Crankhall Lane at the end of the road turn left onto  
 
ON: Brunswick Park Road. At the end turn left onto Hydes Road. At second mini-
roundabout, turn left into Paul Street then turn 1st right in to Moor Street, turn right at the 
end on to Richard Williams Road, bear left into Hackwood Road and at the end take a right 
on to Hydes Road, then turn right back on to 

 
OFF: Paul Street, continuing into Oxford street, Alma Street.  
 
ON: Turn left on to St Luke’s Road then left on to Oxford Street  
 
OFF: JUNCTION WITH OLDBURY ST and follow to end at Crankhall Lane, turn right on to 
Crankhall Lane. First left into  
 
ON: Woden Road East. Follow to end then turn left in to Wood Green Road. Turn left in to 
Brunswick Park Road and then left in to 
 
OFF: Crankhall Lane then take first left back in to Woden Road East. Turn second right into 
 
ON: Park Hill then left on to Coronation Road and right in to Rutland Road. Turn left in to 
Kent Road to Suffolk Road crossroads then turn right in to Kent Road. Turn left on to 
 
OFF: Rutland Road then left on to Coronation Road  
 
ON: JUNCTION PARK HILL and then turn right at the end on to 
 
OFF: Crankhall Lane.  
 
ON: Turn 1st left into William Green Road and continue along Price Road and then turn right 
in to Walton Road, take a right on to Warner Road, carry over Johnson Road into Bishop 
Road and turn left into Booth Road. Turn right on to Johnson Road and turn left in to 
 
OFF: Crankhall Lane.  
 
ON: Turn right in to Friar Park Road, bus bay circulate the green and take the exit in to 
Freeman Road turn right into 
 
OFF: Manor Road. At the end turn left into Crankhall Lane and at the roundabout, turn right 
into Hall Green Road continuing into Hydes Road. At the roundabout turn right into 
 
ON: Hydes Road and continue over roundabouts junction of Woden Road into Hydes Road, 
take next left into Chestnut Road and second right into Cedar road. At the end turn right 
onto Holden Road and at the roundabout, turn left onto Hydes Road. At the end turn left 
onto Walsall Street and into High Bullen. At the roundabout, circle the roundabout and 
return along High Bullen. Turn left in to Church Hill, continue down Vicarage Road and turn 
left at the end in to Wood Green Road. Turn left on to Hobs Road, turn 4th left in to 
Churchfields Road then at the end take a right on to  

Page 563



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 54 

 
OFF: Church Hill and at the end turn left in to 
 
ON: High Bullen Turn1st right into Walsall Street, turn left into Market Place continuing into 
Lower High Street and at the roundabout, turn right into Holyhead Road and turn right in to 
Russell Street, bear right on Russell Street, turn left on to Lower High Street and continue 
to Market Place. Turn left into The Shambles turn left back on to Russell Street, left on to 
Lower High Street. Turn right on to Rydding Lane and left in to Holden Road. and 
immediate right in to Cedar Road, take a right in to Chestnut Road. At the end turn left onto 
Woden Road South and at the roundabout turn left onto 
 
OFF: Hydes road. At the end turn right onto 
 
ON: Wood Green Road continuing to  
 
OFF:M6 J9, circulate and return onto  
 
ON: wood Green Road. Turn left into Axletree Way, turn left to follow Axletree Way under 
bridge to roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Axletree Way onto Wood 
Green Road. At traffic signals turn right into Myvod Road continuing into Woden Road 
North. At the end turn left into Old Park Road then left on to Hawthorn Road, left in to Ash 
Road then left on to 
 
OFF: Woden Road North, turn left back on to Old Park Road  
 
ON: JUNCTION OF HAWTHORNE ROAD and at the end turn left into Manor House Road. 
Take fifth right into Hobs Road and first left into Crew Road. At the end turn right into  
 
OFF: Myvod Road. At the traffic signals turn left into Wood Green Road  
and turn left into  
 
ON: Axletree Way. At roundabout,  
: circle and return along Axletree Way. Turn left onto  
 
OFF: Wood Green Road to M6 J9, circle roundabout and return along Wood Green Road. 
Continue over traffic signals and turn fourth right into Hobs Road. At the end turn right into 
 
ON: Park Lane, continue over roundabout and at next roundabout, turn right into Axletree 
Way. At the next roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Axletree Way. At 
roundabout, turn left into 
 
OFF: Park Lane then left in to 
 
ON: Dingley Road, 1st right on to Prince George Road then right in to Myvod Road. across 
the traffic island Take 1st right in to Simcox Road, right at the end onto Allen Road then 
right on to 
 
OFF: Park Lane, 
 

Page 564



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 55 

ON: JUNCTION HOBS ROAD along Manor House Road into whitley Street. At the end, 
turn right onto Darlaston Road and turn third left into Woden Road West. At the end turn left 
onto Black Country New Road and at Patent Shaft roundabout, circle the roundabout and 
return on to The Black Country New Road (towards Moxley),  
 
OFF: OPP WODEN ROAD turn left on to  
 
ON: Bull Lane, turn left on to Western Way then left at the roundabout on to  
 
OFF: Patent Drive to Black Country New Road. Go straight over the roundabout on to  
 
ON: Bilston Road. At the end, turn right into Trouse Lane and at the roundabout, turn right 
into High Bullen. Continue over next roundabout into Dudley Street. At Steel Island, turn left 
onto Black Country New Road and at Parkway Roundabout, turn right into 
 
OFF: Leabrook Road continuing over the roundabout into 
 
ON: Toll End Road and turn eighth right at the lights into Horsley Road continue into 
Alexandra Road. At roundabout, turn left into Lower Church Lane and at end turn left by the 
shops  on to Horsley Heath,  Turn third left  by the old post office into Horsley Road and at 
the end turn right into Horsley Road. Turn left into Bridge Road and at end turn right into 
Toll End Road continuing into New Road. At roundabout, turn right onto  
 
OFF: Horseley Heath and turn fifth left into  
 
ON: Tame Road continuing into Sheepwash Lane. At the end turn right into Whitehall Road, 
turn 4th right in to Whitgreave Street and in to Vernon Street. Take a right on to  
 
OFF: Oldbury Road then right in to Albion Road, go over the canal bridge in to West 
Bromwich Street, bear left in to  
 
ON: Fountain Lane to Bromford Road lights. Go straight over in to Broadwell Road. Follow 
to the end then turn right on to 
 
 Oldbury Road. STOP GRITTING and return to depot. 
 
Route R3 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2018  

Page 565



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 56 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R4 
 
OFF: Taylors Lane, Rounds green road , left onto Oldbury Ringway 
 
ON: left at roundabout onto Dudley Rd, continue along Dudley Rd East and at the traffic 
signals, bear left on to Dudley Rd West, continue in to Tividale Road then bear left to 
continue Tividale Road towards the New Birmingham Road. Turn left on to  
 
OFF: New Birmingham Road then turn right at signals on to 
 
ON: Regent Road, follow to end then turn left on to Oakham Road then first left on to 
Darbys Hill Road. Turn left on to Wheatsheaf Road to the end then turn right on to Regent 
Road. Turn second  left in to Red Lion Close and follow to end. Go straight over Regent 
Road in to Elm Terrace then take 1st right in to Pine Road then second left in to California 
Road. Turn left in to Mallen Drive,  at the end  turn left in to Taylor Way, right on to Hodges 
Drive then left on to Wakeman Drive, turn 1st  left in to Trafalgar Road, take the second right 
on to Poplar Avenue then 1st right on to Poplar Rise. Turn 1st left on to Mary Road and left 
back on to Poplar Avenue to Trafalgar Road and turn right. Continue down Trafalgar road to  
 
OFF:New Birmingham Road and turn right. 
 
ON: Turn right into City Road, turn 2nd right in to Poplar Rise and take the right in to  
 
OFF: Mary Road, turn right on to Poplar Avenue then right back on to   ON: City Road. 
Take the first right into Darby’s Hill Road continue to the end and turn left onto Oakham 
road . Take the 5th left into City Road  
 
OFF: Turn 4TH left into Poplar Rise then left in to Wakeman Drive then 1st right in to  
 
ON: Trafalgar Road. Turn 1st left into Elm Terrace. At the end turn left onto Regent Road. 
Take the 5th left into wheatsheaf road continue along Wheatsheaf Road then left in to 
Darby’s Hill Road then at the end turn left into City Road. Turn right into Tower Road then 
at the bottom turn left on to  
 
OFF: New Birmingham Road. Turn right in to  
 
ON:Lower City Road then left at end on to  
 
OFF: Dudley Road East. Bear right at the lights in to Tipton Road then turn right in to  
 
ON: Johns Lane, and right in to Temple Way. At the end of Temple Way turn right back on 
to  
 
OFF: Dudley Road East. Bear right again in to  
 
ON: Tipton Road into Sedgley Rd East and at the traffic signals turn left into Dudley Port 
into Burnt Tree and at Burnt Tree traffic signals turn left, onto A4123 and turn left in to 
Tividale Road and continue on Tividale Road, turn second  left in to Bradley Street. Turn 
right on to Burnt continue along Burnt Tree, Dudley Port, Horseley Heath and at roundabout 
at Great Bridge, circle the roundabout and return along Horseley Heath, Dudley Port 

Page 566



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 57 

through signals and left in to Groveland Road . Turn right on to Dudley Road West continue 
on to  
 
OFF:Tividale Road then turn right in to Bradley Street. Turn right at end on to Burnt Tree. 
Turn left in to  
 
ON:Coneygre Road then left on Coneygre Road to New Birmingham Road. Turn left on to 
 
OFF: New Birmingham Road to Burnt Tree signals and continue straight over. Turn left on 
to Tividale Road. Turn second  left back in to Bradley Street, then left on to Burnt Tree to 
signals then turn right on to New Birmingham Road.  
 
Turn right at signals  by the Black country Museum on to  
 
ON:Dudley Road. Turn second right on to High Street, turn right at roundabout on to Park 
Lane West, turn 1st  right on to Castle Street then right on to Dudley Road.at the traffic 
lights  Turn left onto Sedgley Road West to borough boundary and u-turn in Oxford Way. 
Go back to Pie Factory lights and turn left in to Hurst Lane. Continue up Hurst 
Lane/Bloomfield /Princess End then at the  lights  turn right on to Upper Church Lane. Turn 
right at signals on to Locarno Road then turn 1st right on to Central Avenue. Turn  5th right 
on to Salter Road then at the end  right back on to Upper Church Lane, through lights  to 
roundabout, turn right on to Alexandra Road.Turn 1st left on to Kirkham Way  at the end turn 
left in to Standbridge Way,  and first left into Puppy Green to the end  turning right on to 
Station Street, turn left on to Park Lane East. Turn right at the end onto Lower Church Lane 
,turn right at the lights onto Horseley Heath and first left into johns Lane . Turn first left into 
Bevan Road and first Right into Brook Road , turn left at the end into Morrison Road  and 
continue into  Hudson Road . Turn Right into Denbeigh Road .at the junction turn left onto 
Horseley Heath and second right in front of the shops Proceed straight over Lower Church 
into 
 
OFF: Park Lane East then right in to Station Street, turn left in to Puppy Green then 
continue along  
 
ON: Standbridge Way and Kirkham Way to end then turn left on to Alexandra Road.  
Follow Alexandra Road, into Owen Street up to roundabout, Turn Left on to Park Lane 
West then left at 1st set traffic  lights on to Coneygre Road, continue over roundabout onto 
Victoria Road, in to Queens Road and continue into Silver tree Road to end. Turn left on to 
Park Lane West and then left in to Manor Road then left in to Queens Road. Turn right in to 
Birch Street then left in to Waterloo Street to Lime Close roundabout and u-turn. Travel 
back along Waterloo Street then turn 3rd  left into Union Street then right in to Albion Street. 
Turn right on to  
 
OFF: Owen Street under the underpass then first left into  
 
ON: Alexandra Road to Robert Road and make u-turn by train station. Turn left in to 
Locarno Road then cross signals at Upper Church Lane in to Powis Avenue, at end of 
Powis Avenue turn right on to Toll End Road. Bare right in to Bridge Road then turn left on 
to Bourne Avenue. Turn right on to Powis Avenue then at end turn left on to Toll End Road. 
Turn 1st left at roundabout on to Ocker Hill Road and turn left in to Spring Street to Toll End 

Page 567



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 58 

Road and turn left again. Turn right at roundabout 3rd exit on to Blakeley Wood Road to 
end and make u-turn. 
Return to Toll End roundabout and take the second exit on to Ocker Hill Road and continue 
into St Marks Rd. Turn left on to Watt Road then left on to Highfield Road. Turn1st right 
right on to Cupfields Avenue then continue over Powis Avenue continuing on Cupfields 
Avenue  to Toll End Road. Turn right and then 1st right in to Bridge Road then right into 
Bourne Avenue. Turn right into  
 
OFF: Powis Avenue then go over roundabout and turn left in to  
 
ON: Highfield Road. Turn right on to Watt Road and left on to St Marks Road, left on to 
Glebefields Road, at Powis Avenue U-turn around triangle. Continue back along  
 
OFF:Glebefields Road and turn left in to 
 
ON: St Marks Road. Turn right at the end in to  
 
OFF: Upper Church Lane. At lights turn right on to High St then 1st left in to Union Street 
then bear left into to  
 
ON:Richards Road and turn right at end on to Batmans Hill Road, proceed to end at 
junction with Brierley Lane and carry out a  u-turn. Continue back along OFF: Batmans Hill 
Road into ON:Parkes Lane then turn right on to OFF:High Street. Continue through lights 
into Bloomfield Road  
 
ON: Piano bridge to pie factory lights, turn left on to Sedgley Road West, Continue over 
roundabout into Park Lane West. Turn 1st left in to Silvertrees Road and continue on to 
Queens Road and in to Victoria Road, across roundabout to Sedgley Road East lights, turn 
right on to Sedgley Road East. Turn right in to Mayfair Gardens. Turn right at mini-island in 
to Coneygree Road, at lights turn left onto Sedgley Road East. At signals turn right on to 
Dudley Port then turn 3rd left in to Tividale Street then left in to Dudley Road West, turn 
right in to Hill Road. At end turn left on to  
 
OFF:New Birmingham Road then 1st left in to ON:Lower City Road, turn 1st right in to 
Ashtree Road, left on to St James Road then left on to Brades Road, take 3rd left in to 
Brades Rise, and at the end turn left again in to Ashtree Road and proceed into Bury Hill 
Road up to lights. Turn left onto Wolverhampton Road then left in to Florence Road, turn 
right at the end in to Brades Road and return to depot. 
 
Route R4 
 
Last revised September 2021 
Last reviewed September 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 568



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 59 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R5 
 
ON: Taylors Lane ,At roundabout turn left into Brades Rd and continue to roundabout. At 
roundabout crossover into Roway Lane and at the end turn right into  
 
OFF:West Bromwich St, continuing into Fountain Lane. At the traffic signals turn left into 
 
ON: Bromford Rd, circulate around roundabout then continue into Bromford Lane and Moor 
St. At Price St gyratory continue into West Bromwich Ringway and at the traffic signals past 
the college turn right into Spon Lane. Turn fifth right into Bache St, turn left into Johnston 
St, turn right into Dawes Avenue, turn right into Gill St and left into Farm St. At the end turn 
right onto Sams Lane and at the end turn right into Spon Lane. At the end turn left onto 
Kelvin Way and at the roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Kelvin Way 
continuing over roundabout into Brandon Way. Turn third right into Albion Rd and turn right 
into Clifford Rd. Turn left into Westbourne Rd and right into Caroline St. Turn left into  
 
OFF: Bromford lane and turn second right into  
 
ON:Lyttleton St.  
 
OFF: Junction of Farm st at the end turn left into Spon Lane and at the traffic lights, turn 
right onto Westbromwich Ringway continue to Congregation Way /Reform street traffic 
island and return along Bull Street 
 
 turn left at the second set of signals  onto High Street .Continue over lights into 
 
OFF: Birmingham Rd. At  
 
ON:J1 M5 continue over roundabout using outer lane onto Birmingham Rd (towards West 
Brom stadium) and at traffic signals turn right into Halfords Lane. At traffic signals turn left 
into Lewisham Rd, at lights bear right into Lewisham Rd bear left into Downing St and turn 
right into Cornwall Rd. At lights turn left in to Rabone Lane, then turn right in to Anne Road, 
then right in to Woodburn Road, turn left into Foundry Lane. Continue into  
 
OFF: at the viaduct Wellington Street then turn right in to Winson Green Road, at the lights  
turn right in to Heath Street, into Cranford Street to roundabout, make u-turn and return 
along  
 
ON:Cranford Street into Heath Street. Turn 4th right in to Winson Green Road turn right on 
to Dudley Road. At roundabout turn right in to Grove Lane and continue to roundabout with 
Windmill Lane, make u-turn. Return along dual carriageway and at roundabout turn right on 
to Cape Hill. Turn right at lights in to Windmill Lane.Take the first Left into Sufferage Street 
and then second left into Corbett Street. Turn Left at the junction onto High Street.At the 
Traffic lights turn left back into  
 
OFF: Windmill Lane  
 
ON: Junction of Sufferage Street and follow to end. At roundabout turn left on to  
 
OFF: Soho Way and continue in to Tollhouse Way and turn right on to  

Page 569



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 60 

 
ON: Rolfe Street. Continue along Rolfe Street in to Rabone Lane then turn right into SOHO 
Street and left onto SOHO Way , at the island circle returning on Soho Way , take 1st right 
back into SOHO Street and at the junction turn right into Rabone Lane at lights turn right in 
to Foundry Lane 
 
OFF: Junction of Woodburn Road then onto Wellington St. Turn left off Wellington Street 
into Franklin Street, then take a left in to Foundry Road, turn 1st  right on to Perrott Street, 
then left in to 
 
ON: Woodburn Road. Take first right in to  
 
OFF: Anne Road then turn right in to 
 
ON: Rabone Lane. Turn left in to Downing Street. At junction turn left in to Downing Street 
then second left in to Bridge Street North. Turn right in to Rolfe Street and left in to New 
Street. Travel over Tollhouse Way in to Crocketts Lane and turn 1st left in to Brook Street. 
Continue along Brook Street in to Price Street and then turn left at end in to Thomas Street. 
Turn right into Messenger Road then left on to  
 
OFF: Windmill Lane then at roundabout make u-turn and return along Windmill Lane. Turn 
first right in to Messenger Road, turn second left into Thomas Street, and 4th right into 
 
ON: Tiverton Road, right at the end into Victoria Park Road then left at the end into  
 
OFF: Brook Street. Turn left in to 
 
ON: Crocketts Lane then right at signals on to High Street then take a left on to  
 
OFF:Tollhouse Way. Turn right on to Rolfe Street then left in to 
 
ON: North Western Road continuing into Brasshouse Lane and into  
 
OFF: Halfords Lane. At the traffic signals turn right onto  
 
ON:Birmingham Rd and turn left into 
 
OFF: Park Lane continuing into 
 
ON: Forge Lane. At the end turn right onto 
 
OFF: Newton Rd take the first left onto 
 
ON: Wigmore Lane take the 2nd right into Tompstone Road, circulate and return to Water 
Lane, turn left on to Wigmore Lane. At the end, turn right onto  
 
OFF: Newton Rd and turn left into Forge Lane continuing into Park Lane. At the end turn left 
onto  
 
ON:Birmingham Rd and turn right into  

Page 570



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 61 

 
OFF:Middlemore Rd.  
 
ON:boundary At lights turn right into 
 
OFF: Lewisham Rd and at the traffic signals continue over into  
 
ON:Dartmouth Rd. At roundabout turn right into  
 
OFF:Kenrick Way. At M5 J1 turn second left into 
 
ON:Birmingham Rd and turn right into Beeches Rd. Turn right into Europa Avenue and 
circle Europe Avenue returning to junction with Beeches Rd. Turn right onto Beeches Rd 
and third left into Jesson St. At the end turn right onto 
 
OFF: High St  
 
ON: Trinity Way traffic signals continue to the traffic signals at West Bromwich Ringway, 
turn left onto West Bromwich Ringway. Continue around West Bromwich Ringway, then 
turn right on to St Michaels Street. At the traffic signals continue into New Street turn left 
into High St and turn fourth left into Dartmouth St. At the end turn left into Oak Lane 
continuing into Oxford Rd and Izons Rd turning right at the end onto Oak Rd. Turn second 
right into Oak Lane and at the end turn left into Oak Lane. Turn second  left into Gadds 
Lane. At the end turn right into Albion Rd and right onto Brandon Way. At the end turn right 
onto Woods Lane and turn fifth right into 
 
OFF: Gadds Lane. At the bottom turn left into 
 
ON: Oak Rd. At Price St gyratory, turn left into Victoria St and left into Edward St. At the 
junction turn right into  
OFF:Lodge Road and at the next junction turn left onto  
 
ON:High Street .At the traffic lights continue along High Street.  At  
 
OFF: Albion roundabout turn left onto Black Country New Rd and at Swan roundabout, turn 
left into  
 
ON: Dudley St and turn second right into Phoenix St continuing along Ryders Green Rd, 
Oldbury Rd and Albion Rd turning left onto  
 
OFF: Brandon Way. At the end turn right into Woods lane and left into 
 
ON: Claypit Lane. Turn 4th right in to Turner St,and 4th right in to Harwood St.at the end 
Turn left in to Wheatley St and right in to  
 
OFF:Woods Lane. Turn right in to Claypit Lane.  
 
ON :Junction with Turner Street At the end turn right into  
 
OFF:Dudley St and at the end turn left into Carters Green. 

Page 571



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 62 

 
ON: At Albion roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Carters Green and at the 
traffic signals turn left into Sandwell Rd, at Bratt Street turn around and return to traffic 
signals at junction with High St. Turn left onto High St and turn next left into Lombard St. At 
the end turn right into Bratt St and turn left onto  
 
OFF: Cronehills Linkway and second exit at roundabout onto Congregation Way, turn right 
at next roundabout to continue along Congregation Way. At next roundabout turn left on to 
Reform Street, continue in to Seagar Street then turn left in to  
 
ON: St. Clements Lane, continue in to Lyndon then at end turn right on to All Saints Way. At 
lights turn left in to Wilford Road then 1st left in to Lily Street. bear right at the junction into 
Peel Street at the junction turn right onto Ruskin Street, follow Ruskin Street all the way 
around the outside loop coming back on yourself then turn left on the mini island and then 
right back onto  Ruskin, then turn left into Shaftesbury Street. Turn left on to High Street. 
Go through signals and turn right into Lodge Rd. At the end turn right into Oak Rd and turn 
left into Cambridge St and at the end turn right onto 
 
OFF: Bromford Lane. continue to Bromford Road  
 
ON: Sandwell and Dudley train station 
 
OFF:Freeth Street island return to depot  
 
Route R5 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   September 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 572



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 63 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R6 
 
OFF: Leave depot, turn left at roundabout onto Brades Rd and turn second left into St 
James Rd and at the end turn left into Bury Hill Rd. At the traffic signals turn left onto 
Wolverhampton Rd. ON: Turn right into Newbury Lane continue to Four Ways and turn right 
into Portway Hill Turn second right into Midhill Drive, follow round and at the end turn right 
onto Portway Hill and continue into Oakham Rd. 
 
OFF: Miles grove  At the end turn left into Buffery Rd and turn left into New Rowley Rd into 
Dudley Rd ON: Uplands Road and turn third right into Springfield lane. At the bottom turn 
right into Blackberry Lane and at the top turn right onto Dudley Rd. Turn fourth left into 
Tippity Green into Portway Rd into Newbury Lane and turn fourth right into Martley Rd into 
Hartlebury Rd and turn left into Shelsley Avenue. At the end turn right onto Throne Rd and 
at the traffic signals turn left onto Portway Rd. Turn next left into Hanover Rd and at the end 
turn left into Rowley Village. At the roundabout, turn right into Siviters Lane into Ross, cross 
over traffic signals into Holly Rd and Highfield Rd. Turn right into Perry Park Rd into 
Waterfall Lane and turn right into Station Rd. At roundabout, turn right onto Heathfield Way 
and at next roundabout, turn left onto Highgate St. At next roundabout turn right into 
Halesowen Rd to borough boundary,  
 
OFF:(mouse sweet brook) continue to traffic lights and turn right into Cole St. Turn third 
right into Oak St and right onto Withymoor Rd continuing into Gawne lane ON:(Brooklands 
Drive), Powke Lane, continuing over roundabout into Powke Lane and over traffic signals 
into High St. Continue into Henderson Way and turn 1st right between the car parks into 
Beet St. Turn right onto High St and at the end turn right onto Henderson Way. At the 
roundabout, turn right into Birmingham Rd and at the next roundabout continue into Long 
Lane, cross boundary OFF:(By Church) and at roundabout u-turn around returning along 
Long LaneON:(By Church). At the traffic signals turn right into Archer way, at the traffic 
signals turn left into Oldbury Rd continue to roundabout and take 2nd exit into Halesowen 
Street. Continue to 2nd roundabout and return towards Blackheath, bear left on to Bassano 
Road, and turn right on to High Street. Take the 1st exit of the traffic island into Birmingham 
Road and 1st exit at the next island onto Henderson Way, take a left on to Beet Street then 
left on to High Street. At roundabout turn left in to Birmingham Road then at roundabout 
continue over in to Birmingham Road into Rowley Village, Hawes Lane and Dudley Road 
Turn third left into Doulton Rd and at the bottom turn left into OFF: Powke Lane.  
 
Turn right into ON: Cox Lane and at the bottom turn left onto Halesowen Rd. At roundabout 
turn left into Highgate St, continue over next roundabout into Highgate St and turn right into 
Wrights Lane. At the end turn left onto Station Rd and turn right into Beauty Bank, turn right 
in to Halesowen Road, left in to Harcourt Road, 2nd left on to Trejon Road, right on to Barrs 
Road turn left on the island to Corngreaves Road and into Overend Rd. Turn around after 
boundary and return along Overend Rd. Turn 1st right into Corngreaves Rd and turn 
around by Corngreaves Hall after boundary returning along OFF: Corngreaves Rd. Turn 
right into ON: Timber tree Crescent and turn left into Valley Rd. At the end turn left onto 
OFF: Barrs Rd and at the roundabout turn right into ON: Corngreaves Rd and into 
Graingers lane. At the end (5 ways) turn left into Cradley Rd and continue over boundary 
turning right into 
OFF: Lyde Green Rd into Maypole Hill into Cradley Forge. 
 

Page 573



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 64 

Turn right into ON: Forge Lane. Continue into Lower High St turn left at the lights into St 
Annes Road , turn around at the mini island and return along St Annes Road , bear left onto 
Foxoak St, and at the lights turn left into Newtown Lane ,turn around by the holybush and 
return along Newtown Lane  turn left at the lights  ,and turn 3rd right onto Lawrence Lane 
continue on into Beechwood Road and at the end turn left onto Halesowen Road , at the 
island take the 1st exit continuing on Halesowen Road ,At the island take the 1st exit onto 
Reddall Hill Road  and on to Upper High Street . At the lights bear left into High 
Street.(short section) 
 
At the junction turn right into Newtown Lane and at the lights turn left onto Foxoak Street. at 
the next set of lights turn left into Cradley Road and next right at five ways. At the junction 
turn left onto Lower High Street and first left into Chester Road continue across the junction 
into Station Street .at the junction turn left onto Graingers Lane. At the traffic lights (five 
ways) turn right into High Street. At the junction turn right into Corngreeves Road to the 
bottom and turn left continuing along Corngreeves Road and turn left into Surfeit Hill into 
Codsall Rd, turn right in to Trejon Road, left into Barrs Road, at lights turn left in to 
Halesowen Road. At the roundabout, turn right into Station Rd. Turn second left into OFF: 
Wrights Lane and at the end turn right into ON: Garratts Lane and at the roundabout take 
2nd exit into Harvest Rd. At the end turn right into Knowle Rd and turn left into Doulton Rd. 
Turn third left into Cornfield Rd and turn left into Knowle Rd. Turn right into Harvest Rd and 
at the roundabout turn left into Moor lane continuing left into Siviters Lane. At the 
roundabout turn right into Rowley Village and turn left into Bell End and turn right into 
Britannia Rd. At the traffic signals turn left onto Oldbury Rd and at the next traffic signals 
turn right into OFF: Penncricket Lane. At the end turn right onto ON: Cakemore Rd and at 
the roundabout turn right into Station Rd. At the traffic signals turn left onto Oldbury Rd, turn 
left into archer way into Horner Way and at roundabout, make u-turn and return along 
Horner Way and OFF: Archer Way. At over traffic signals turn left into Oldbury Rd across 
the island in Blackheath and at the 2nd roundabout continue into ON: Halesowen St. 
Continue over traffic signals into Gorsty Hill. continue onto Coombs Road Continue on to 
the traffic lights and turn right onto OFF: Haden Hill Road and onto ON: Halesowen Rd, 
continue over traffic signals and at roundabout, circle roundabout and return along 
Halesowen Rd continuing to Haden Hill Road. OFF: Junction of the Crescent At traffic 
signals turn left into Coombs Rd, Take the first Left into ON: Longleat Road Take the third 
left into Chatsworth Road continue all the way round to the junction with Lodgefield road 
and Turn Left. Continue to Station Road and turn Right turn right onto Gorsty Hill Road and 
first right back into Station Road continue to waterfall lane and turn right on to Waterfall 
Lane, bear left into Waterfall Lane. At the end cross over Highfield Rd into Beeches Rd and 
turn right into Marlowe St and turn right into Highfield Rd continuing into Holly Rd. At traffic 
signals turn right onto OFF: High St into Henderson way and over roundabout into 
Henderson Way. At traffic signals turn left into Oldbury Rd. At traffic signals turn left into 
Britannia Rd and at the end turn right into ON: Bell End into Mincing Lane. At traffic signals 
continue into OFF: Penncricket Lane, bear left in to ON: Penncricket Lane and at the end 
turn left into Causeway Green Rd. Turn left into Ashes Rd into Titford Lane and cross over 
traffic signals into Throne Rd. Turn fifth left into Throne Crescent into Stuart Rd and at the 
end turn right  onto Hanover Rd. At the end turn left onto Portway Road. 
At the end turn left onto Hawes Lane and the at the traffic signals turn left into Hanover 
Road .continue to the bottom and turn right onto Portway Road , continue down Portway 
Road and return to the depot  Hawes Lane. 
 
Route R6 

Page 574



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 65 

 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   September 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 575



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 66 

ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R7 
 
ON: Continue over roundabout into Rounds Green Road and at Oldbury Ringway turn left. 
At next roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Oldbury Ringway, continue over 
next roundabout and at the next roundabout turn right into Churchbridge. Continue to 
Birchley roundabout and turn second exit onto Wolverhampton Road (towards 
Birmingham). Continue to Hagley Road West traffic signals, continue over and turn right 
through central reserve and return along Wolverhampton Road. Continue onto Birchley 
roundabout and take the 4th exit onto Churchbridge. At roundabout turn left onto Oldbury 
Ringway and the next roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along OFF: Oldbury 
Ringway. Continue overON: the next roundabout and turn first right into Seven Stars Road, 
continue along park Lane. Turn left onto Park Lane and continue into Station Road. Turn 
Left before the level crossing into Western Road. At The end turn Right onto Tat bank road. 
At the traffic lights Turn Right onto rood end Road. Continue to the Traffic island and take 
the third exit into cross wells Road.  
 
Turn Left before the level crossing into  Thompson Road and at the end turn right into New 
Henry Street. Turn next right into Langley Green Road continuing into Langley High Street, 
Broad Street and Old Park Lane. At the end turn right into Station Road, bear right on the 
gyratory and turn left into Tilford Road. Continue over Wolverhampton Road into Tilford 
Road and at the end turn right into Ashes Road. Turn next left into York Road and at the 
end turn right into Penncricket Lane. At the traffic signals turn right into Oldbury Road and 
continue to Birchley roundabout. Circle the roundabout and return along Oldbury Road, 
continue over traffic signals at Titford Lane and at next traffic signals turn left into 
Penncricket Lane at the end turn left into Cakemore Road and turn second right into Pound 
Road.  
 
Continue over Wolverhampton Road continuing along Pound Road and at the roundabout, 
take second exit onto Bristnall Hall Road and turn second left into Brookfields Road. At the 
end turn left into Vicarage Road and turn left into Moat Road. At the roundabout, take third 
exit into Brandhall Road and at the end turn left onto OFF: Wolverhampton Road. Turn 
second left into  
ON: Broadway and at the roundabout turn left onto Pottery Road. At the roundabout take 
second exit onto George Road and at the roundabout turn left into  
 
OFF: Brandhall Road and turn left onto Wolverhampton Road. Turn right into  
ON: Queensway and turn second right into Malvern Road. At the end turn left onto Tame 
Road and at the traffic signals turn right into Kingsway and turn fourth right into Aspley 
Road. At the end turn right into OFF: Kingsway. ON: Aspley Road At the end turn left onto 
OFF:Hagley Road West,  at  THE roundabout and take second exit down the ON: slip to 
Hagley Road West then take the first left onto Perry hill Road. Turn third left into Brennand 
Road and at the end turn left onto  
 
OFF: Queensway. ON: Junction of Malvern Road At the traffic signals turn right into Tame 
Road and turn fourth left into Oldacre Road. At the end turn right onto Kingsway and turn 
second left into Lewis Road. At the end turn right into Perry Hill Lane and turn left onto 
Hagley Road West. at the roundabout continue OFF:Hagley Road West and take the 
second left   intoON: Stanley Road and take the 4th left into Castle Road West and turn 
next right into Bleakhouse Road. At traffic signals, crossover Wolverhampton Road and turn 
second right into OFF: Broadway. At roundabout turn right into ON: Pottery Road and bear 

Page 576



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 67 

right by the Pheasant continuing up Pottery Road turn left into Harborne Road. Turn right 
into Abbey Road. Turn fourth right into Wigorn Road and turn third left into St Marys Road. 
At the end turn right onto Bearwood Road. At the traffic signals turn right onto Hagley Road 
West and continue through the traffic signals until the roundabout at Quinton Lane 
(Jefferson’s), turn around and return along Hagley Road West. Continue over traffic signals 
and at next traffic signals turn left into  
 
OFF: Bearwood Road. ON: St Marys Road Junction At traffic signals turn left into OFF: 
Three Shires Oak Road, turn right on to Thimblemill Road, at the island take the 1st exit on 
to Norman Road then turn left on to ON: Alexander Road. Turn left on to OFF: Abbey Road, 
turn Right into ON: Barclay Road continue to Lightwoods Hill and Turn Left, go around the 
traffic island and return up OFF: Lightwoods Hill. Turn Right Back into Barclay Road and 
Take the 1st Right into upper ON: St Marys road, then right on to Wigorn Road. Go straight 
over the roundabout at OFF: Lightwoods Hill ON: Junction with Barclay Road and take 
second left into Harborne Road and second left into Devon Road. At the end turn right into 
Beechwood Road and turn left onto OFF: Hagley Road West. 
 
Turn next left intoON: Galton Road and turn right into Lightwoods Hill and continue over 
roundabout into Adkins Lane. At end turn left onto Bearwood Road and turn left in to 
Anderson Road. Turn left in to Herbert Road to OFF: Adkins Lane. Turn left on to Bearwood 
Road, third left into St Marys Road. Turn left into ON: Lightwoods Road, turn left ontoOFF: 
Adkins Lane, left onto Bearwood Road, turn third left into St Marys Road and second left 
into ON: Milcote Road then turn right on to OFF: Adkins Lane, continue in to Lightwoods Hill 
and Harborne Road ON: Junction of Beechwood Road and turn fourth left into Pottery 
Road. Turn right into Abbey Road and next right into 
 
OFF: Harborne Road. Turn fourth right into ON: Castle Road East and at the end turn left 
on to OFF: Wolverhampton Road. Turn right in toON: Castle Road West, turn right on to 
Albert Road. Turn left on to OFF: Wolverhampton Road then right at lights into ON: 
Bleakhouse Road. Continue to roundabout and turn right in to  
OFF: Pottery Road. Turn right at roundabout onto Broadway then 1st left in to 
ON: Clent Road. Continue over OFF: Wolverhampton Road in to Albert Road then turn 1st 
right in to Castle Road West. Turn left in to Perry Hill Road then turn right in toON: Tame 
Road.  
 
At the lights turn left into Kingsway and first right behind coop into Foley Drive, at the lights 
turn left into Tame Road Continue along Tame Road under the OFF: bridge and turn right 
into Lansdowne Road under the (ON): bridge into Grafton Road. At the end turn right into 
Causeway Green Road continuing over Wolverhampton Road into Causeway Green Road 
into New Henry St, turn right on to Langley Road into Farm Road to end then turn right on 
to  
 
OFF: Pound Road. Continue over Wolverhampton Road in to Pound Road and turn left on 
to ON: Brook Road. Turn right in to Heron Road, left on to Ferndale Road, right on to OFF: 
Grafton Road. At end turn right on to Causeway Green Road, continue over 
Wolverhampton Road into Causeway Green Road, in to New Henry Street, ON:Joinings 
Bank and Vicarage Road. At the roundabout, continue 
OFF: Vicarage Road. and at the traffic signals turn left into Tatbank Road turn left into 
Western Road, at the junction turn right into  Park Lane ,at gyratory. Continue into Park 

Page 577



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 68 

Street and at the traffic signals turn left onto Churchbridge. At Birchley roundabout turn right 
onto Wolverhampton Road. At traffic signals turn right into 
ON: Portway Road and return to Depot.  
 
 
Route R7 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2018 
 
  

Page 578



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 69 

 ROUTINE PRESALTING - WHOLE NETWORK - ROUTE R8 
 
 
ON: Turn right into Taylors Lane. At roundabout turn right into Shidas Lane and at 
roundabout turn right into Portway Road. At the traffic signals turn left onto Wolverhampton 
Road and at Birchley roundabout, circle the roundabout and return along Wolverhampton 
Road to Burnt Tree signals go straight across and turn through the central reservation at 
Coneygree. Return along Wolverhampton road  
and.. Turn left into Portway Road and continue over roundabout into Portway Road. At the 
end turn left onto Churchbridge and at the roundabout turn right onto Oldbury Ringway 
continue to Birmingham Road, Oldbury Road, Tollhouse Way and Soho Way, circulate 
roundabout at Windmill Lane and return along Soho way, Tollhouse Way, Oldbury Road 
and Oldbury Ringway. At Churchbridge roundabout turn right into Halesowen Street, 
continue over roundabout into Church Street and at the next roundabout, circle the 
roundabout and return along Church Street. At the next roundabout, turn left into 
Birmingham Street and at the end turn right onto Oldbury Ringway. Turn left into Stone 
Street, continue into Tat Bank Road and cross the traffic signals into Warley Road. Turn left 
on to St Johns Road, turn right into Victoria Road, turn left in to Holly Lane, turn left onto 
West Park Road, continue to Mallin Street to Oldbury Road. At roundabout u-turn back in to  
 
OFF: Mallin Street and continue over signals into West Park Road. At the end turn left into 
ON: Holly Lane and at the end turn right into St Pauls Road continuing into High Street. 
Turn fifth right into Stony Lane and left onto Church Hill Street, at end turn around and 
return along Church Hill Street. Turn left onto Stony Lane continuing into Londonderry 
Lane, cross the traffic island at Manor Rd then turn right into Francis Road. Turn right on to 
Manor Rd then 1st right in to Shakespeare Road. Turn left in to Francis Road then right in to 
Londonderry Lane. At roundabout turn left into Queens Road and immediate left turn into 
Thimblemill Road.   
 
Turn second left into Hales Lane, continue over roundabout and turn right into The Uplands. 
At the end turn left into Church Road, circulate the roundabout and return into Manor Road 
and at the roundabout turn right into OFF: Hales Lane. Turn left into ON: The Uplands and 
second left into Londonderry Lane and right (short section to Stony Lane). At the end turn 
left into Stony Lane and turn left into Londonderry Lane. Turn right into Taylors Lane and at 
the end turn left into The Uplands. Turn right into Londonderry Lane and continue to 
Coopers Lane. Turn left at the traffic signals into OFF: High Street and left onto Tollhouse 
Way. At traffic signals turn right in to Rolfe Street, turn right in to  
 
ON: Hill Street (one way section) take 1st right on to one way section back on to Rolfe 
Street. Turn left back on to OFF: Rolfe Street. At end ON: turn left and return along 
Tollhouse Way turning right into High Street. Turn right into High Street then left in to OFF: 
Stoney Lane. Turn right in to ON: Devonshire Road, turn left into  
OFF: Holly Lane. Continue over roundabout into ON: Basons Lane and turn left onto Dog 
kennel Lane. Turn left on to Londonderry Road, turn right on to Queens Road, turn left onto 
OFF: Thimblemill Road, turn right onto ON: William Road, turn left onto Harold Road, turn 
left on to The Oval, turn left onto Goodyear Road, turn right onto Broadmoor Avenue.  
Continue straight over Hurst Road into Salop Road, go straight over mini roundabout onto 
Bristnall Hall Road then turn right at roundabout onto 
OFF: Londonderry Road.ON:Turn right onto Queens Road, continue in to Hurst Road then 
turn right into Eva Road, continue over Salop Road into Hill Top Road, continue left at mini-

Page 579



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 70 

roundabout into Hill Top Road. At end turn right into George Road and, then 2nd right into 
Sandfields Road, at the mini island turn right back into Hill Top Road , at the end turn left 
into Pottery Road and then left into Pottery  Road. Turn left into Edmonds Road and at end 
turn left into Salop Road.   
 
At roundabout turn right into Bristnall hall Lane and at roundabout, turn right into Hurst 
Road. Circulate Salop Road triangle back turning right onto Hurst Road, continue over 
roundabout then turn right onto Abbey Road. Bear right in to Pottery Road then at 
roundabout turn right into Norman Road and continue over roundabout into Stanhope 
Road, turning first right into Beakes Road. Turn left into Bearwood Road and at traffic 
signals bear left Bearwood Road, turn third right at the lights into Grange Road and at the 
roundabout turn left onto Waterloo Road. Turn third right into Shireland Road, turn left onto 
Montague Road then turn left onto Cape Hill. bear right over the lights to Newlands green, 
bear left on to Newlands Green, and turn left on to Bearwood Road, turn left on to Grange 
Road. At roundabout go straight over then turn right into Sycamore Road, perform u-turn at 
junction with Poplar Avenue and return down Sycamore Road. Turn left in to Grange Road 
then at roundabout turn left on to Waterloo Road.  
 
Continue over signals in to Bearwood Road. Turn right in to Three Shires Oak Road, turn 
right on to Thimblemill Road, At the roundabout turn right into Stanhope Road continuing 
over roundabout into Cheshire Road and at the end turn right into High Street bear right into 
Newlands Green and bear right back towards High Street. At traffic signals continue into 
High Street and turn left into High Street. Turn right in to Fenton Street, turn left at 
roundabout in to Oldbury Road. Turn1st left in to Holly Lane. Turn right on to St. Pauls 
Road into Cemetery Road into Rood End Road and into Vicarage Road. At the roundabout, 
turn left into Dog kennel Lane and take second left into Basons Lane and turn right into 
Warley Road and at the roundabout continue into Thimblemill Road. At roundabout turn left 
into 
 
OFF: Stanhope Road, then first right into Beakes Road. At the end turn left onto Bearwood 
Road and turn fourth left into Church Road. Continue over the roundabout into ON: Church 
Road over the roundabout into Manor Road. Turn left at roundabout in to Basons Lane, turn 
1st left in to Queens Road, at the roundabout take the third exit  on to Warley Road. Turn 
third right into OFF:St. Johns Road, turn left into 
ON: Victoria Road. At the end turn left into Cemetery Road and turn right into Rood End 
Road. OFF: Turn left onto Birmingham Road.  
 
Return to depot. 
 
Route R8 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   July 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 580



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 71 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 
 
 
 

DEMOUNTABLE SPREADER ROUTE (9) 
 

Roads covered by demountable spreader (forming priority 1 and 2 locations) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                   

Page 581



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 72 

ROUTE FOR DE-MOUNT GRITTER 

DEPOT -TURN LEFT AT THE TRAFFIC ISLAND ONTO ROUNDS GREEN ROAD ,TAKE 
SECOND LEFT INTO ST JAMES ROAD , AT THE JUNCTION TURN LEFT ONTO BURY HILL 
ROAD , AT THE TRAFFIC LIGHTS TURN RIGHT ONTO A4123 , TAKE THE SECOND LEFT 
INTO HILTON ROAD (START GRITTING) CONTINUE UP HILTON AND AT THE TOP TURN 
RIGHT ONTO ASHLEIGH ROAD , AT THE JUNCTION TURN LEFT ONTO GRACE ROAD 
,CONTINUE TO THE JUNCTION OF CITY ROAD (STOP GRITTING)TURN LEFT ONTO CITY 
ROAD .TAKE THE SECOND LEFT INTO HAWFEILD ROAD (START GRITTING ) CONTINUE 
TO THE JUNCTION OF TOWER ROAD (STOP GRITTING) TURN RIGHT ONTO TOWER 
ROAD , AT THE JUNCTION TURN LEFT ONTO CITY ROAD AND FIRST RIGHT  INTO 
DARBYS HILL ROAD .CONTINUE ACROSS THE TRAFFIC ISLAND AND TAKE THE FIRST 
RIGHT INTO WHEATSHEAF ROAD , TAKE THE FIRST RIGHT INTO CALIFORNIA ROAD 
(START GRITTING ) TAKE THE NEXT LEFT INTO FAIRWAY AVENUE AND THEN FIRST 
LEFT INTO HOLLIES ROAD , AT THE JUNCTION TURN RIGHT ONTO WHEATSHEAF 
ROAD AND THEN FIRST RIGHT INTO FAIRWAY AVENUE , AT THE END TURN RIGHT 
INTO CALIFORNIA ROAD (STOP GRITTING) CONTINUE TO WHEATSHEAF ROAD AND 
TURN LEFT , AT THE JUNCTION TURN LEFT ONTO DARBYS HILL ROAD ,  CONTINUE 
OVER THE TRAFFIC ISLAND AND TURN RIGHT ONTO CITY ROAD . AT THE JUNCTION 
TURN LEFT ONTO OAKHAM ROAD , CONTINUE DOWN PORTWAY HILL AND AT THE 
TRAFFIC LIGHTS TURN RIGHT ONTO PORTWAY ROAD , CONTINUE TO TIPPITY GREEN 
AND AT THE JUNCTION TURN RIGHT ONTO HAWES LANE ,AT THE TRAFFIC LIGHTS 
TURN LEFT INTO DOULTON ROAD , CONTINTUE TO THE BOTTOM AND TURN LEFT 
ONTO POWKE LANE ,CONTINUE TO THE TRAFFIC ISLAND AND TAKE THE SECOND EXIT 
ONTO MOOR LANE (START GRITTING )CONTINUE UP MOOR LANE ,AT THE END TURN 
LEFT ONTO SIVITERS LANE (STOP GRITTING) CONTINUE TO THE TRAFFIC ISLAND AND 
TAKE THE SECOND EXIT ONTO ROWLEY VILLAGE . CONTINUE THROUGH ROWLEY 
VILLAGE AND ON INTO BIRMINGHAM ROAD ,AT THE TRAFFIC ISLAND TAKE THE 
SECOND EXIT CONTINUING ON BIRMINGHAM ROAD .AT THE NEXT ISLAND TAKE THE 
SECOND EXIT INTO HALESOWEN STREET , CONTINUE ON INTO GORSTY HILL ROAD 
AND AT THE LIGHTHOUSE PUB TURN RIGHT INTO STATION ROAD AND THEN SECOND 
LEFT INTO HIGH HADEN ROAD (START GRITTING) CONTINUE ALONG HIGH HADEN 
ROAD BEARING LEFT CONTINUING ON HIGH HADEN ROAD .TURN FIRST RIGHT INTO 
HIGH HADEN CRESCENT AND THEN FIRST RIGHT BACK INTO HIGH HADEN ROAD , 
CONTINUE ON TO THE JUNCTION OF HALESOWEN ROAD (STOP GRITTING) TURN LEFT  
ONTO HALESOWEN ROAD CONTINUE TO THE TRAFFIC LIGHTS AND TURN LEFT INTO 
COOMBS ROAD . CONTINUE ON INTO GORSTY HILL, HALESOWEN STREET , TURN LEFT 
INT BASSANO ROAD AND THE RIGHT ONTO HIGHSTREET .AT THE TRAFFIC ISLAND 
TAKE THE FIRST EXIT INTO BIRMINGHAM ROAD , AT THE NEXT ISLAND TAKE THE 

Page 582



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 73 

THIRD EXIT ONTO HENDERSON WAY .AT THE TRAFFIC LIGHTS TURN LEFT ONTO 
OLDBURY ROAD ,CONTINUE ON INTO BIRCHFEILD LANE  ACROSS BIRCHLEY TRAFFIC 
ISLAND AND ON INTO CHURCH BRIDGE.AT THE TRAFFIC ISLAND TURN LEFT ONTO 
OLDBURY RINGWAY .CONTINUE ALONG OLDBURY RINGWAY AND ON INTO 
BROMFORD ROAD , BROMFORD LANE AND MOOR STREET .AT THE PRICE STREET 
TRAFFIC ISLAND TAKE THE SECOND EXIT INTO VICTORIA STREET ,TAKE THE FIRST LEFT 
INTO EDWARD  STREET .AT THE JUNCTON WITH LODGE ROAD CONTINUE STRAIGHT 
ACROSS CONTINUING ON EDWARD STREET (START GRITTING)AT THE JUNCTION 
WITH DARTMOUTH STREET TURN RIGHT (STOP GRITTING )CONTINUE TO THE 
TRAFFIC LIGHT S AND TURN RIGHT ONTO HIGH STREET , TAKE THE FIRST LEFT INTO 
LOMBARD STREET AND AT THE END TURN RIGHT ONTO BRATT STREET.AT THE 
TRAFFIC ISLAND TURN LEFT ONTO CRONEHILLS LINKWAY AND AT THE NEXT ISLAND 
TAKE THE FIRST EXIT CONTINUING ON CRONEHILLS LINKWAY .AT THE NEXT ISLAND 
TAKE THE SECOND EXIT ONTO ALL SAINTS WAY . CONTINUE ON ALLSAINTS WAY AND 
ON INTO NEWTON ROAD. CONTIUNUE THROUGH THE TRAFFIC LIGHTS AT 
HAMSTEAD AND TAKE THE NEXT AVAILABLE RIGHT INTO WADDINGTON AVENUE .AT 
THE JUNCTION TURN LEFT ONTO JAYSHAW AVENUE AND THE FIRST RIGHT INTO 
EASTWOOD ROAD (START GRITTING) CONTINUE DOWN EASTWOOD ROAD TO THE 
TRAFFIC ISLAND (STOP GRITTING AND RETURN TO DEPOT ) 

 
 

Route Demount 
 
Last Reviewed  September 2021 
Last Revised   September 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 583



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 74 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX E 
 
 
 

FOOTWAYS 
 

Hierarchy Category 1(a) Prestige Areas 
 

Page 584



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 75 

Footways - Hierarchy Category 1(a) Prestige Areas 
 

 
Description Town 

BIRMINGHAM ST FM RBT HALESOWEN ST TO OLDBURY R/WAY Oldbury 
HALESOWEN ST FM RINGWAY RBT TO RBT AT BIRMINGHAM ST Oldbury 
BIRMINGHAM RD FM RBT LONG LANE TO RBT HENDERSON WAY Rowley Regis 
HALESOWEN ST FM RBT OLDBURY RD TO BASSANO RD Rowley Regis 
HALESOWEN ST FM BASSANO RD TO RBT CAR PARK ENT Rowley Regis 
HIGH ST FM CORNGREAVES RD TO CRADLEY RD Rowley Regis 
HIGH ST FM C/L BASSANO RD TO HENDERSON WAY Rowley Regis 
HIGH ST FM BASSANO RD TO RBT OLDBURY RD Rowley Regis 
LONG LN FM RBT MARKET PLACE TO ARCHER WAY Rowley Regis 
OLDBURY ROAD FM HENDERSON WAY TO BIRMINGHAM ROAD Rowley Regis 
BEARWOOD RD FM THREE SHIRES OAK RD TO HAGLEY RD Smethwick 
CAPE HILL FM MONTAGUE RD TO SHIRELAND RD Smethwick 
HIGH ST FM END DCW A4030 TO WHITE RD Smethwick 
ST PAULS RD FM WHITE RD TO FENTON ST Smethwick 
BREWERY ST CDS FM HIGH ST TO END Smethwick 
BREWERY ST CDS FM CHURCH HILL ST TO END Smethwick 
GREAT BRIDGE FM C/L CANAL BGE TO C/L RIVER BGE Tipton 
MARKET PLACE GT BGE FM C/L RIVER TAME BGE TO RBT NEW RD Tipton 
MARKET PLACE GT BGE FM MARKET PLACE NR PH TO DCW Tipton 
MARKET PLACE BUS STATION LN 1 HORSELEY HEATH TO MKT PL Tipton 
UNION ST FM CAMPHILL LN TO MARKET PL Wednesbury 
MARKET PL FM WALSALL ST TO LOWER HIGH ST Wednesbury 
MARKET PL FM O/S 21 TO RIDDING LN 1W Wednesbury 
UPPER HIGH ST FM WALSALL ST TO HIGH BULLEN Wednesbury 
HIGH ST DUCHESS PARADE FM R/WAY TO C/L COVERED WAY West Bromwich 
HIGH ST PRINCESS PARADE FM C/L COVERED WAY TO R/WAY West Bromwich 
 

Page 585



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 76 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX F 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SALT BIN LOCATIONS 
 

Last reviewed August 2023 
  

Page 586



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 77 

Abbey Crescent Oldbury opposite No 53 
Abbotsford Avenue  Great Barr outside No 2 
Addenbrook Road Smethwick outside No 11 / 13 
Addenbrook Way Tipton opposite No 26 
Addenbrook Way Tipton outside No 3 
Addenbrook Way Tipton outside No 39 
Addison Terrace Wednesbury opposite Gregory Close 
Aldridge Road Oldbury junction Bodenham Gardens 
Aldridge Road Oldbury junction Queensway 
Allendale Grove Great Barr by No 2 
Anderson Crescent Great Barr by No 32 / 34 
Anderson Crescent Great Barr junction Greenhill Gardens 
Appleton Avenue Great Barr by No 2 
Appleton Avenue Great Barr o/s No 55 and 99 (Two bins) 
Ardav Road West Bromwich opposite No 20 (Two Bins) 
Arthur Harris Close Smethwick junction Arthur Harris Close 
Arthur Harris Close Smethwick junction Montague Road 
Arundel Drive Tividale opposite No 27 
Ascot Close Oldbury junction Newbury Lane 
Ashleigh Road Tividale outside No 32 / 34 
Aston Road Tividale junction Pine Road 
Baker Street Tipton by No 20 
Baker Street Tipton by jct to Birmingham New Road 
Barncroft Road Tividale junction Regent Road 
Barncroft Road Tividale opposite Barncroft Road cul-de-sac 
Barncroft Road Tividale opposite No 69 
Barncroft Street West Bromwich opposite No 59 / 61 
Barnford Crescent Oldbury on bend near No 58 
Barnfordhill Close Oldbury junction Moat Road 
Barnfordhill Close Oldbury side of No 56 
Barrs Crescent Cradley Heath halfway up hill 
Barrs Road Cradley Heath junction Lee Road 
Barrs Road Cradley Heath outside Fire Station 
Barston Road Oldbury outside No 63 
Bartleet Road Smethwick junction Manor Road 
Bartleet Road Smethwick on bend outside No 19 
Beaconview Road West Bromwich near lamppost No 1 
Beaconview Road West Bromwich outside "The Spinney" 
Bearwood Road Smethwick junction Church Road 
Beaumont Road Wednesbury junction Manor House Road 
Beeches Road West Bromwich by Expressway opposite Herbert St 
Beeches Road West Bromwich by Trinity Way outside No 120 
Berkshire Close West Bromwich junction Denbigh Drive 

Page 587



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 78 

Berkshire Close Smethwick outside No 63 
Bhullar Way Oldbury by substation opposite Ditta Drive 
Bilhay Lane West Bromwich outside No 71 / 73 
Birch Crescent Tividale near Elm Terrace 
Birch Crescent Tividale near Packwood Road 
Birch Lane Oldbury junction Hagley Road West 
Birch Road Oldbury junction Birch Lane 
Birch Road Oldbury junction Hagley Road West 
Birchley Park Avenue Oldbury junction Wolverhampton Rd 
Birkdale Drive Tividale by lamppost No 2 
Birmingham Road West Bromwich either side A41 footbridge 
Blackthorne Road Smethwick junction Thimblemill Road 
Blue Bell Road Cradley Heath opposite No.26 

Bluestone Walk Rowley Regis by lamppost No. 6 at rear of No's 
35/37 Portway Hill 

Bluestone Walk Rowley Regis outside No 19 
Blythfield Avenue Great Barr junction Longleat 
Bodenham Road Oldbury junction Aldridge Road 
Bodenham Road Oldbury junction Mavis Gardens 
Bond Street Rowley Regis outside No 17 
Boscobel Road Great Barr junction Packwood Drive 
Bowden Road Smethwick outside No 97 / 99 
Bramah Way Tipton junction New Road 
Brandhall Road Oldbury junction George Road 
Brasshouse Lane Smethwick on bend near steps 
Brecknock Road West Bromwich outside MEB sub-station 
Bridge Street West Bromwich opposite No 39 / 40 
Bridle Grove West Bromwich at end of cul-de-sac 
Bristnall Hall Crescent Oldbury opposite No 28 
Bristnall Hall Lane Oldbury near School entrance 
Britannia Street Oldbury opposite "Barnshaws" 
Broadmoor Avenue Smethwick opposite cul-de-sac 
Broadway Croft Oldbury end of service road 
Brookes Close Tividale in turning area 
Brookes Meadow Tipton junction Lower Comball 
Broomhill Lane Great Barr junction Heather Road 
Buckingham Road Rowley Regis next to MEB sub-station 
Bullfields Close Rowley Regis junction Hyatts Walk 
Burmese Way Rowley Regis junction Dudley Road 
Burn Close Smethwick next to lamp column 1 
Bury Hill Road Tividale opposite St James Road 
Caddick Crescent West Bromwich opposite No 1 / 2 
Caddick Crescent West Bromwich opposite No 27 / 28 

Page 588



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 79 

Caldwell Street West Bromwich 10m down from No 71 
California Road Tividale junction Fairway Avenue 
Calverton Grove Great Barr outside No 23 / 25 
Camp Street Wednesbury by lamppost No 8 
Camp Street Wednesbury on bend 
Camp Street Wednesbury outside car park to Farmfoods 
Capener Road Great Barr junction Willow Road 
Castle Road West Oldbury outside MEB sub-station 
Charlemont Avenue West Bromwich outside No 30 
Charlemont Avenue West Bromwich outside No 9 / 11 
Chatsworth Avenue Great Barr by No 27 / 29 
Cherry Orchard Cradley Heath by lamppost No 5 
Chestnut Road Oldbury outside No 64 
Chudleigh Grove Great Barr opposite No 8 
Church Hill Street Smethwick near jct of South Road 
Church Hill Street Smethwick opposite Lowry Close 

Church Road Smethwick junction Church Gardens flats by 
traffic signals 

Churchfields Road Wednesbury junction Vicarage Road 
City Road Tividale in lay by 
City Road Tividale outside No 377 
Clent Hill Drive Rowley Regis near lamppost No 6 
Clifford Road Tividale junction of Westbourne Road 
Clifford Road Tividale outside No 73 / 75 
Clun Close Tividale junction Red Lion Close 
Coneygree Industrial Estate Tipton opposite Unit No 37 
Coneygree Industrial Estate Tipton outside Unit No 29 
Coneygree Industrial Estate Tipton outside Unit No 3 
Coombe Hill Cradley Heath by Lansbury Green 
Coombe Hill Cradley Heath opposite No 12 
Coppice Road Cradley Heath junction Spring Crescent 
Corngreaves Walk Cradley Heath opposite No 1 
Cricketers Meadow Cradley Heath near Haden Park Road 
Crookhay Lane West Bromwich junction Chester Road 
Cumberland Road Oldbury opposite No 10 
Cumberland Road Oldbury outside No 34 
Cygnet Road West Bromwich by alleyway opposite No 11 
Dane Terrace Rowley Regis nexst to No 26 
Danford Way Great Barr opposite No 16 
Danford Way Great Barr opposite No 28 
Darbys Hill Road Tividale outside School 
Dawson Street Smethwick junction Dale Street 
Delville Road Wednesbury on bend 

Page 589



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 80 

Delville Road Wednesbury side of No 5 Delville Terrace 
Denbigh Drive West Bromwich junction Trotters Lane 
Denbigh Drive West Bromwich outside No 71 
Denbigh Road Tipton near jct Bevan Road 
Devon Crescent West Bromwich junction Sussex Avenue No 33 
Devon Crescent West Bromwich junction Sussex Avenue No 51 
Devonshire Drive West Bromwich junction Reform Street 
Devonshire Road Smethwick side of No 126 
Dibble Road Smethwick side of No 162 
Dingle Avenue Cradley Heath outside No 1 
Dingle Street Oldbury at jct Goldencrest Drive 
Doulton Drive Smethwick opposite No 47 / 49 
Doulton Road Cradley Heath by crossing point 
Druids Avenue Rowley Regis outside No 45 
Dudhill Road Rowley Regis opposite School 
Dudley Close Rowley Regis junction Dudley Road 
Duke Street Rowley Regis junction Powke Lane 
Eagle Street Tipton adjacent No 28 
Eastwood Road Great Barr near no 63 
Eastwood Road Great Barr opposite No 103 
Eden Grove West Bromwich by parking bays on bend 
Edgbaston Road Smethwick junction High Street 
Edinburgh Road Oldbury opposite No 73 
Elm Croft Oldbury junction Oak Road 
Embassy Road Oldbury on bend 
Enfield Road Rowley Regis junction Bell End 
Ennerdale Road Great Barr junction Kirkstone Crescent 
Ethel Street Smethwick junction Thimblemill Road 
Falcon Rise Oldbury junction Tower Road 
Farm Road Rowley Regis junction Fallowfield Road 
Farm Road Oldbury junction Langley Green Road 
Firs Lane Smethwick junction Coopers Lane 
Foley Drive Oldbury junction Kingsway 
Foxes Ridge Cradley Heath opposite No 3 
Frank Fisher Way West Bromwich next to traffic island 
Freda Rise Oldbury junction Hilton Road 
Gadds Drive Rowley Regis junction Throne Crescent 
Gale Walk Rowley Regis junction Springfield Lane 
Garratt Street West Bromwich near top on left hand side 
Garratts Lane Cradley Heath by C.M.T Ltd 
George Road Oldbury junction Colman Crescent 
George Road Oldbury junction Siskin Close 
George Road Oldbury opposite No 58 

Page 590



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 81 

Gladys Road Smethwick junction Thimblemill Road 
Gleneagles Drive Tividale top of cul-de-sac 
Goldby Drive Wednesbury junction Old Park Road 
Goodwyn Avenue Oldbury by lamppost No 1 
Goodyear Road Smethwick junction The Oval opposite No 14 
Gorse Farm Road Great Barr between No 54 and pub 
Grace Road Oldbury junction Ashleigh Road 
Grace Road Tividale junction Mount Road 
Granville Road Cradley Heath by garages 
Green Lane Great Barr junction Linden Avenue 
Greswold Street West Bromwich on bend near Milton Street 
Grove Vale Avenue Great Barr junction Newton Road 
Haden Park Road Cradley Heath junction Barrs Road 
Haden Park Road Cradley Heath junction Timbertree Road 
Haden Park Road Cradley Heath on corner by No 35 
Hadendale Cradley Heath outside No 3 
Hailstone Close Rowley Regis junction Wendover Road 
Hailstone Close Rowley Regis corner Springvale Road 
Hales Crescent Smethwick on grassed area 
Hales Crescent Smethwick outside No 91 / 93 
Hamilton Road Smethwick junction Alexander Road 
Hamilton Street Oldbury side of No 22 
Hampshire Road West Bromwich junction Surrey Crescent 
Hamstead Road Great Barr junction service road 
Hanover Road Rowley Regis outside No 124 
Harcourt Road Wednesbury junction Delville Road 
Hardwick Drive Cradley Heath outside No 27 
Hardy Road Wednesbury junction Vicar Street 
Hardy Road Wednesbury outside No 1 / 3 
Harewood Avenue Great Barr on bend  
Harlech Close Oldbury at end of cul-de-sac 
Harvest Road Smethwick on bend 
Harrington Croft West Bromwich outside No 10 
Harwood Street West Bromwich next to pathway side of No 7 
Hawfield Road Oldbury junction School Close 
Hawthorn Croft Oldbury junction Hagley Road West 
Haypits Close West Bromwich at end of cul-de-sac 
Hayseech Cradley Heath junction Haden Close by No 48 
Hembs Crescent Great Barr junction Tanhouse Avenue 
Hembs Crescent Great Barr junction Valarie Grove 
Higgs Field Crescent Cradley Heath junction Waterfall Lane 
Higgs Field Crescent Cradley Heath outside No 19 Terrace St 
High Avenue Cradley Heath by grass area on hill 

Page 591



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 82 

High Haden Road Cradley Heath outside No 59 / 61 
High Street Smethwick footbridge near to steps 
Highbury Avenue Rowley Regis side of No 22 
Highbury Road Oldbury junction Thompson Road 
Highcroft Great Barr outside No 6 
Highfield Crescent Rowley Regis opposite No 1 Walton Avenue 
Highfield Road Smethwick junction Westfield Road 
Hill Lane Great Barr opposite Red House Park Road 
Hillbank Oldbury junction Ash Tree Road 
Hillcrest Road Great Barr side of No 47 
Hillfield Walk Rowley Regis side of 47 Royal Oak Road 
Hillfields Smethwick junction Thimblemill Road 
Hillside Avenue Rowley Regis outside No 16 
Hillside Road Great Barr opposite No 4 
Hobhouse Close Great Barr outside No 32 
Hodges Drive Tividale junction Wakeman Drive 
Hodges Drive Tividale outside No 15 / 17 
Hollies Drive Wednesbury outside library 
Holly Wood Great Barr junction Whitecrest 
Hopkins Drive West Bromwich outside No 35 
Hopkins Drive West Bromwich outside No 59 

Howard Street West Bromwich half way down street o/s steel 
sections 

Hoylake Drive Oldbury junction Sunningdale Drive 
Hugh Road Smethwick junction Auckland Road 
Ingestre Drive Great Barr near No 27 
Ingestre Drive Great Barr opp No 17 
Ivy House Road Oldbury outside No 44 
James Watt Street West Bromwich outside No 48 
Jayne Close West Bromwich junction Walsall Road 
Jill Avenue Great Barr opposite No 21 
Jonah Drive Tipton opposite No 34 
Katherine Road Smethwick outside No 118 
Keir Road Wednesbury side of No 171 Crankhall Lane 
Kendal Rise Oldbury junction Moat Road 
Kenilworth Road Oldbury junction Castle Road West 
Kiln Croft Rowley Regis junction Doulton Road 
Kiniths Crescent West Bromwich top of cul-de-sac by No 22 
Kirkham Way Tipton near Hursey Drive junction 
Knotsall Lane Oldbury by No 330A 
Knotsall Lane Oldbury junction Bristnall Hall Road 
Ladbury Grove Walsall vicinioty No 18 
Lakeside Road West Bromwich by No 8 

Page 592



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 83 

Lammermoor Avenue Great Barr junction Whitecrest 
Langford Avenue Great Barr outside No 45 / 47 
Langford Avenue Great Barr outside Red Admiral Pub 

Langley High Street Oldbury on Uncle Bens Bridge opp Junction 
Street South 

Larchwood Green Walsall on bend outside No 15 
Law Close Oldbury junction Temple Way 
Lawton Close Rowley Regis oustide No 18 
Lechlade Road Great Barr opposite No 68 
Lechlade Road Great Barr outside No 2 
Lee Street West Bromwich junction Barrack Street 
Leicester Close Smethwick entrance to garage area 
Leslie Rise Oldbury outside No 13 /15 
Leveson Drive Tipton junction Factory Road 
Linden Avenue Great Barr junction Danford Way 
Linden Avenue Oldbury opposite No 51 
Linden Road Smethwick junction Merrivale Road 
Little Hill Smethwick junction Church Hill 
Little Lane West Bromwich opposite No 10 
Lochranza Croft Great Barr outside No 6 
Long Meadow Rowley Regis rear of No 34 
Longbank Road Oldbury junction Ashleigh Road 
Longbank Road Oldbury near lamppost No 6 
Lotus Drive Cradley Heath junction Best Street 
Lye Cross Road Oldbury opposite No 52 
Macdonald Close Oldbury junction Temple Way 
Mace Street Rowley Regis on bend 
Magnolia Drive Walsall junction Bellflower Drive 
Majestic Way Rowley Regis by No 2 
Majestic Way Rowley Regis opposite Sandringham Drive 
Majestic Way Rowley Regis outside No 64 
Mansion Crescent Smethwick on bend 
Maple Rise Oldbury outside No 6 

Marlborough Road Smethwick outside No 94 near junction 
Merrivale Road 

Marquis Drive Cradley Heath near junction of Hardwick Drive 
Marshall Road Oldbury opposite No 18 
Maurice Road Smethwick junction Abbey Road 
Meadow Road Oldbury junction Kenelm Road 
Meadow Road Smethwick junction Rosefield Road 
Meadow Walk Cradley Heath junction The Terrace side of No 3 
Meadowside Close Great Barr on splitter island 
Melbourne Close West Bromwich junction Castle Street 

Page 593



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 84 

Meredith Street Cradley Heath at side of No 30 
Mill Hill Smethwick by lamppost opposite No 2 
Millpool Way Smethwick junction Bearwood Road 
Millpool Way Smethwick on bend 

Milton Road Smethwick outside No 9-11 near junction of 
culd-de-sac 

Moatfield Terrace Wednesbury opposite Kendrick Street 
Monksfield Avenue Great Barr opposite Dale Close 
Monmouth Drive West Bromwich opposite John Bosco Close 
Moor Lane Rowley Regis junction Highams Close 
Morgan Close Cradley Heath by lamppost No 3 
Morgan Close Oldbury near junction of Brades Rise 
Mount Road Tividale junction Hilton Road 
Mountbatten Close West Bromwich by parking area adjacent No 15 
Mountford Close Rowley Regis by allotment fence 
Muirfield Crescent Tividale outside No 56 
Napier Drive Tipton junction Horseley Road 
Narel Sharpe Close Smethwick junction Grenville Drive 
Nelson Street West Bromwich junction James Eaton Close 
Newhall Road Rowley Regis opposite cable cabinet 
Newton Gardens West Bromwich outside No 18 
Newton Street West Bromwich junction Hollyhedge Road 
Nicholls Street West Bromwich by Trinity Way opposite No 54A 
Norfolk Road Oldbury opposite flats 
Norman Terrace Rowley Regis junction Hanover Road 
North Road Tipton opposite No 73 
Oak Crescent Oldbury on bend 
Oakdale Close Oldbury opposite No 7 
Oakswell Street Wednesbury near junction of Corporation Street 
Old Park Lane Oldbury outside Fire Station 
Old School Drive Rowley Regis outside No 24 / 26 
Old Walsall Road Great Barr corner Hobhouse Close 
Oldacre Road Oldbury junction Pitfields Road 
Oldacre Road Oldbury outside Perryfields School 
Orchard Close Rowley Regis in cul-de-sac 
Owen Street Tipton by Fountain pub on bridge 
Owens Way Cradley Heath opposite junction Mission Close 
Oxford Way Tipton Sedgley Road West 
Packwood Drive Great Barr junction Wrottesley Road 
Packwood Road Tividale opposite No 97 
Pargeter Road Smethwick opposite No 139 
Park Avenue Rowley Regis opposite No 47   
Park Avenue Rowley Regis junction Bell End 

Page 594



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 85 

Park Lane West Tipton outside flats 179 to 184 
Park Road Tividale junction City Road 
Park Street Cradley Heath opposite Oak Street 

Pavillion Avenue Smethwick on footway through large grass 
verge 

Payton Close Oldbury junction Brades Road 
Pembroke Road West Bromwich junction Winchester Road 
Penncricket Lane Rowley Regis junction Oldbury Road 
Perry Hill Lane Oldbury junction Hagley Road West 
Pine Avenue Wednesbury side of No 41 
Pitcairn Road Smethwick junction Norman Road 
Pleasant Street West Bromwich junction Lee Street 
Pleasant Street West Bromwich opposite No 2 
Pool Road Smethwick junction Brook Street 
Pool Road Smethwick opposite No 68 near gates to park 
Poplar Avenue Tividale junction Poplar Rise 
Poplar Avenue Tipton side of No 1 
Poppy Drive Walsall junction Woodruff Way 
Portersfield Road Cradley Heath junction Cradley Road 
Portobello Road West Bromwich outside No 10 
Portway Walk Rowley Regis in cul-de-sac 
Pottery Road Oldbury outside No 168 
Pound Road Wednesbury junction Brunswick Park Road 
Princes Road Tividale junction Dudley Road West 
Princess Grove West Bromwich end of cul-de-sac at side of No 9 
Princess Grove West Bromwich outside No 36 
Princes Road Tividale on bend 
Princess Road Oldbury outside No 39 
Pritchard Street Wednesbury by No 4 
Pryor Road Oldbury junction Brookfields Road 
Quarry Rise Tividale near head of cul-de-sac 
Quarry Rise Tividale near juntion California Road 
Queens Drive Rowley Regis opposite no 94 
Radnor Road Oldbury rear of "Avery Court" flats 
Ragley Drive Great Barr top of cul-de-sac 
Raleigh Croft Great Barr junction Poolhouse Road 
Raleigh Street West Bromwich on bend with Cromwell Street 
Rathbone Road Smethwick outside No 111 
Rawlings Road Smethwick junction Bearwood Road 
Readers Walk Great Barr by garages 
Red Lion Close Oldbury junction Harlech Close 
Regan Drive Oldbury by lamppost No 3 
Regent Avenue Tividale outside No 8 

Page 595



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 86 

Regent Drive Tividale by lamppost No 003 
Regent Road Tividale junction Beech Road 
Regent Road Tividale outside No 160 
Regent Street Smethwick junction High Street 
Regent Street Smethwick junction Piddock Road 
Regis Heath Road Rowley Regis opposite No 103A 
Reservoir Road Rowley Regis opposite Enfield Road junction 
Richard William Road Wednesbury outside No 56 / 58 
Richmond Road Smethwick junction Merrivale Road 

Rydding Square West Bromwich side of No 13 junction of Witton 
Lane 

Roman Way Rowley Regis opposite No 22 
Roman Way Rowley Regis side of No 40 
Ross Heights Rowley Regis outside No 31 
Rough Hill Drive Rowley Regis between Dudley Road and No 10 
Rowley Hall Avenue Rowley Regis opposite No 24 
Rowley Hill View Rowley Regis junction Barrs Road 
Royal Oak Road Cradley Heath junction Blackberry Lane 
Sabell Road Smethwick outside No 19 
Salop Drive Oldbury side entrance to Beechcroft 
Salop Road Oldbury junction Eva Road 
Sandfields Road Oldbury near George Road 
Sandfields Road Oldbury opposite Conway Avenue 
Sandfields Road Oldbury outside No 40 
Sandringham Drive Rowley Regis near lamppost No 6 
Sandringham Drive Rowley Regis opposite No 4 
Sandwell Grove Cradley Heath side of No 15 
Saxon Drive Rowley Regis by lamppost No 6 
Saxon Drive Rowley Regis junction Rowley Hall Avenue 
Schofield Avenue West Bromwich outside No 32 
School Street Cradley Heath on bend 
Scott Road Great Barr junction Birmingham Road 
Scotwell Close Rowley Regis junction Pennant Road 
Shaftesbury Square West Bromwich opposite No 1 
Sheepfold Close Rowley Regis junction Knowle Road 
Sheldon Avenue Wednesbury next to car park outside 3-11 
Shenstone Road Great Barr outside No 40 
Sherbourne Road Cradley Heath outside MEB sub-station 
Shire Close Oldbury opposite No 1 
Short Road Rowley Regis junction Harvest Road 
Shrubbery Avenue Tipton junction Menin Road 
Sidaway Close Rowley Regis on bend 
Silverlands Avenue Oldbury junction Moat Road 

Page 596



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 87 

Siviters Lane Rowley Regis opposite Siviters Close 
Smith Close Smethwick on bend opposite No 4 
Solari Close Tipton side of No 1 
Speakers Close Tividale junction View Point 
Spouthouse Lane Great Barr near aquaduct 
Springfield Close Rowley Regis  junction Dudley Road 
Springfield Lane Rowley Regis by canal bridge 
Squirrels Hollow Oldbury outsideend of road (Two bins) 
St Albans Road Smethwick junction St Pauls Road 
St Albans Road Smethwick outside No 47 / 49 
St Brades Close Oldbury opposite No 3 
St Brades Close Oldbury opposite No 55 / 57 
St Christophers Close West Bromwich on grass opposite No 66 
St Giles Avenue Rowley Regis junction St Johns Avenue 
St Johns Avenue Rowley Regis outside No 28 
St Katherines Road Oldbury junction Bristnall Hall Road 
St Lukes Close Rowley Regis on bend 
St Marks Road Smethwick junction Thimblemill Road 
St Marys Road Wednesbury junction Church Hill 
St Marys Road Wednesbury junction Ethelfred Terrace 
Stanford Drive Rowley Regis by lamppost No 1 
Stanhope Road Smethwick entrance to cul-de-sac 
Stanhope Road Smethwick junction Astbury Avenue 
Stanton Road Great Barr outside No 164 / 166 
Stella Grove Great Barr side of No 26 
Stokesay Close Oldbury end of footpath 
Stoney Lane Smethwick junction with Summer Street 
Strawberry Close Tividale junction Tower Road 
Strawberry Close Tividale opposite cul-de-sac 
Stuart Road Rowley Regis in cul-de-sac 
Summer Road Oldbury junction Oldbury Road 
Surrey Crescent West Bromwich junction Chester Road 
Surrey Crescent West Bromwich junction Hampshire Road 
Sutherland Road Cradley Heath opposite No 66 
Talbot Road Smethwick junction Merrivale Road 
Tame Rise Oldbury junction Tame Road 
Tame Road Oldbury junction Perry Hill Road 
Tame Road Oldbury outside Library 
Templemore Drive Oldbury junction Station Road 
Terrace Street Wednesbury junction Arundel Avenue 
Terrace Street Rowley Regis on the bend adjacent No 48 
The Broadway West Bromwich junction Mostyn Crescent 
The Grove Great Barr brow of the hill 

Page 597



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 88 

The Grove Great Barr end of cul-de-sac 
The Horseshoe Oldbury at both junctions (Two Bins) 
The Oval Smethwick corner Harold Road by No 40 
The Oval Smethwick corner Short Road by No 55 
The Retreat Cradley Heath shrubbed area opposite No 8 

Thompson Road Smethwick opposite No 31 outside Uplands 
Manor School 

Throne Close Rowley Regis junction Throne Road 
Throne Crescent Rowley Regis junction Throne Road 
Throne Crescent Rowley Regis on bend 
Thuree Road Smethwick junction Woodbourne Road 
Timbertree Crescent Cradley Heath junction Briery Close 
Timbertree Crescent Cradley Heath junction Timbertree Road 
Timbertree Crescent Cradley Heath side of No 88 
Timothy Road Tividale off Tower Road outside No 7 / 9 
Timothy Road Tividale outside No 19 
Tiverton Drive West Bromwich rear of No 31 
Topsham Road Smethwick outside No 67 / 69 
Trafalgar Road Tividale on hill at A4123 junction 
Trejon Road Cradley Heath opposite No 40b 
Trejon Road Cradley Heath opposite No 85 
Trinder Road Smethwick junction Norman Road 
Tunnel Road West Bromwich junction Castle Street 
Union Street West Bromwich two bins, locations 471 & 472 
Union Street Wednesbury Junction Kendrick Way 
Union Street Wednesbury junction Market Place 

Union Street Wednesbury on fence line at Camp Street Car 
Park 

Unketts Road Smethwick opposite No 22 
Uplands Avenue Rowley Regis side of No 121 
Uplands Avenue Rowley Regis outside No 24 
Valley Road Cradley Heath side of No 8 junction Mill Road 

Valley Road Great Barr next to lamp column 2 - opposite No 
18 

Vestry Close Cradley Heath on bend 
Vicarage Street Oldbury junction Vicarage Road 
Vicarage Street Oldbury opposite No 65 
Victoria Road Cradley Heath opposite No 21 / 22 
Victoria Road Cradley Heath side of No 35 
View Point Tividale junction Darbys Hill Road 
View Point Tividale outside No 33 
Vince Street Smethwick junction Dale Street 
Wall Close Smethwick on bend opposite parking bays 
Wallace Rise Cradley Heath outside No 1 

Page 598



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 89 

Wallace Road Oldbury opposite No 63 

Walsall Road West Bromwich on Roberts Road slip - opp 
Navigation Lane 

Walton Close Rowley Regis outside No 25 / 26 
Warley Hall Road Oldbury junction Wilson Road 

Warstone Drive West Bromwich near Old Peoples Home junction of 
Salters Lane 

Warwick Close Oldbury side of No 2 
Waterways Drive Oldbury on bend 
Watery Lane Tipton junction Queens Road 
Watery Lane Tipton on over-bridge 
Wellcroft Street Wednesbury junction Trouse Lane 
Wellington Street Cradley Heath junction of Regent Street 
Wendover Road Rowley Regis junction Crendon Road 
West Avenue Tividale junction City Road 
West Avenue Tividale outside No 30 / 32 
West Bromwich Road Walsall outside No 43 
Westmead Drive Oldbury outside substation next to No 21 
Wharfdale Street Wednesbury junction Spring Head 
Wharfdale Street Wednesbury opposite No 18 
Wheatley Close Oldbury near No 1 
Wheatley Close Oldbury opposite No 53 
White Road Smethwick outside No 9 
Whitworth Drive West Bromwich on footway opposite No 4 
Whycherley Way Cradley Heath junction Peartree Lane by LC 4 
Wickham Square West Bromwich on island in parking area 
Willow Drive Tividale junction Hawfield Road 
Windmill Street Wednesbury junction Walsall Street 

Windsor Road Rowley Regis 
side of No 33 opposite Rowley Hall 
School 

Windsor Road Rowley Regis 
side of No 35 opposite Rowley Hall 
School 

Woburn Drive Cradley Heath on grassed area near No 79 
Woburn Drive Cradley Heath outside No 38 
Woodfort Road Great Barr by lamppost No 6 
Woodgreen Road Oldbury side of Dominos Pizza 
Woodgreen Road Oldbury side of Kentucky (Two bins) 
Woodhouse Way Cradley Heath junction St Annes Road 
Woolpack Close Rowley Regis outside No 23 
Worcester Road Oldbury junction Queensway 
Worcester Road Oldbury opposite No 29 
Wylde Crescent Rowley Regis opposite No 63 Stuart Road 
Yardley Close Oldbury by entrance to car park 
Yew Tree Lane Rowley Regis junction Moor Lane 

Page 599



[ I L 0 :  U N C L A S S I F I E D ]  
P a g e  | 90 

Yew Tree Lane Rowley Regis junction Powke Lane 
 

Page 600



 

 
 
 

 
Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

Subject: Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Alliance 
Agreement 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social 
Care  
Cllr Suzanne Hartwell 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 
Cllr Simon Hackett 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities 
Cllr Syeda Khatun 

Director: Director of Adult Social Care 
Rashpal Bishop 
Director of Children’s Services 
Michael Jarrett 
Interim Director of Public Health 
Liann Brookes-Smith 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Contact Officer: Chris Guest 
Assistant Director Commissioning, Integration 
and Adult Safeguarding Board 
Chris_anne_guest@sandwell.gov.uk  

 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Sandwell Health & Care Partnership Annual Report 2022-23 be 

received and the aligned governance arrangements be noted. 
 

Page 601

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Chris_anne_guest@sandwell.gov.uk


 

1.2 That approval be given to the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership 
Alliance Agreement as set out in Appendix 1 and support its 
implementation across the Local Authority to include Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Social Care and Public Health. 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1    The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) approved the 

attached Alliance Agreement (Appendix 1) to be signed and upheld by 
participating partner organisations. The document, although not legally 
binding, sets out principles by which partners agree to work together as 
an integrated Place partnership and was developed in consultation with 
all members.  

 
2.2 It is anticipated that it will facilitate the delivery of the agreed vision and 

objectives, providing a formal, jointly agreed framework to support and 
strengthen the role of Sandwell Place as it matures over coming years. 
In addition, this will support the requirements of Place to achieve 
delegated accountability from the Integrated Care Board (ICB) in line 
with the ICB readiness checklist.   

 
2.3 The document includes a framework for the responsibility and 

accountability of individual organisations dependent on the mutually 
agreed level of involvement, enabling a tailored approach for partners.  

 
2.4 The agreement is designed to supplement and work alongside 3rd party 

service contracts as an overarching structure for collaboration and 
integration. 

  
2.5 The Terms of Reference for the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership 

Place Board which include the governance structure and partner 
members is attached (Appendix 3). 

 
2.6    The Sandwell Health & Care Partnership Annual Report 2022-23 

(Appendix 2) is attached which describes progress of the partnership 
over the past year and identifies clear priorities for the next year. 

 

Page 602



 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
Children and Education as well as the Children’s Trust are 
represented on the Sandwell Health and Social Care 
Partnership Board to ensure that the children’s agenda is 
central to the development of plans and priorities across 
Place to improve outcomes for children and young people. 
 

 

People live well and age well 
Both ASC and Public Health have a place on the Sandwell 
Health and Social Care Partnership Board and play an active 
role in Place discussions to ensure more positive outcomes 
for people are achieved across health and social care, 
inequalities are addressed, and duplication is removed to 
ensure better value for money for shared investments. 
 

 

Strong resilient communities 
Working together across Place supports the development of 
strong resilient communities which can support Sandwell 
people to lead independent lives in their own homes or close 
to home. The links to primary care and the development of a 
Town Teams model supports collaboration and integration to 
support positive outcomes for people. 
 

 
 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership are developing new 

integrated ways of working to improve the health and wellbeing 
outcomes of their population, increase the quality of care provided and 
provide long term financial sustainability for the system. This agreement 
is an integral part of the vision to promote integrated services that deliver 
personalised care and it is anticipated that this agreement will facilitate 
the objectives of Sandwell Health and Care Partnership as more fully 
described in this agreement. 

Page 603



 

 
4.2  The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) are developing a 

Place Based Partnership (PBP) through which to plan, manage and 
deliver integrated care, which will include informing future 
recommendations for improvements to the contractual environment and 
further develop and strengthen the role and responsibility of the 
Sandwell Place as this matures over the coming years. 

4.3 Over the period of this agreement, the partners will work together 
positively and in good faith in accordance with the alliance principles to 
achieve the alliance objectives.  The partners also envisage that this 
agreement will endeavour to provide flexibility to their relationship as 
may be required, from time to time, to implement the changes required 
either nationally or any subsequent changes to the Health or Social Care 
functions.   

4.4 This agreement is the overarching agreement that sets out how we will 
work together in a collaborative and integrated way and the Service 
Contracts, the Service Operations Manual and Third-Party Service 
Contracts respectively set out how we will provide the Services. 

Purpose 
 

4.5 The partners have agreed to form an alliance with the primary aim to 
improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for the population of 
Sandwell. In addition, the alliance will be established to improve the 
financial, governance and contractual framework for the delivery of the 
services within the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership scope. 

 
4.6 Partners recognise that the successful implementation of the alliance will 

require strong relationships and the creation of an environment of trust, 
collaboration and innovation. This agreement provides a formal 
mechanism in which the partners will work together to deliver the agreed 
governance arrangements and objectives of SHCP through a set of 
behaviours that are described in this agreement.  

4.7 This Alliance Agreement supports the wider Black Country and West 
Birmingham Integrated Care System Governance. 

Page 604



 

Term 
 
4.8 This agreement will come into force on the commencement date, once 

approved by all partners, and will expire on 31 March 2024. It is the 
intention of partners that this will be extended beyond this period. 

 

Exclusions 

4.9.1 Each partner is a sovereign organisation and the Alliance is not a 
separate legal entity and as such is unable to take decisions separately 
from or bind the partners. 

 
4.10  It is recognised that each partner has its own regulatory and statutory 

responsibilities and that there will be some decisions that will need to be 
reserved for consideration and determination by individual 
Boards/Cabinets/Governing Bodies. The limits of that authority will be 
recorded in partners’ respective Schemes of Delegation. 

 
Aims and Objectives 
 
4.11 The intention of the partners is that the alliance will deliver sustainable, 

effective, and efficient services with significant improvements over the 
term of the agreement. The partners have agreed to work collaboratively 
to:  
 

o Improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for the Sandwell 
population 

o Improve care delivery and quality standards in the provision of care 
o Meet the statutory financial duties of all partner partners 

 
4.12 The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership will deploy a programme of 

integrated working to contribute to the objectives above and the agreed 
outcomes of the Joint Partnership Board (JPB) and Health and 
Wellbeing Board strategy. 

 

Page 605



 

Behaviours 
 
4.13 Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust (SWBT) will host the 

partnership and will engage with partners in a coordinated and 
integrated way which encourages collaboration and integration to 
achieve the alliance objectives: 

 
• A shared vision and shared information 
• Delivery of system outcomes 
• Make ‘best for Sandwell’ decisions, understanding population needs and 

predicted demand to reduce duplication, mitigate risk and reduce costs 
• Always demonstrate the service user’s best interests are paramount and 

ensuring the partnership promotes prevention and overall health and 
wellbeing 

• Adopt an uncompromising commitment to trust, honesty, collaboration, 
innovation and mutual support.  

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) approved the 

attached Alliance Agreement (Appendix 1) to be signed and upheld by 
participating partner organisations. The option of not asking for Cabinet 
to support this agreement was considered but all partners agreed that 
each of the individual governance structures should be given the 
opportunity to support this document to show commitment to partnership 
working across Place. 

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: There are no resource implications  
Legal and 
Governance: 

The document is not legally binding but sets out 
principles by which partners agree to work together 
as an integrated Place partnership and was 
developed in consultation with all members.  
 

Risk: A risk assessment has been carried out to identify and 
assess the decisions associated with the 

Page 606



 

recommendations being sought. This has concluded 
that there are no significant risks that require 
reporting. For the risks identified, suitable measures 
are/ will be in place to manage these risks to an 
acceptable level. 

Equality: A focus on vulnerable and marginalised groups is a 
priority for members of the Alliance therefore it is 
anticipated that this work will have a positive impact 
on reducing inequalities. 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

In addition to reducing inequalities in health, the 
Strategy will contribute to the wider wellbeing of 
individuals, families and communities. 

Social Value: By working together across Place to a shared agenda 
which reduces duplication and gets maximum value 
from the Sandwell pound should have a range of 
beneficial impacts on Sandwell’s residents and 
communities. 

Climate 
Change: 

No direct impact 

 
7. Appendices 
 
 None 
  
8. Background Papers 
 
 None  

 
 
 

Page 607



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
Sandwell Health and Care Partnership 

Alliance Agreement (Memorandum of 
Understanding) (Draft) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 609



 

1 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 2 

Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Term ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

Exclusions .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Aims & Objectives ................................................................................................................. 4 

Behaviours ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Processes ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Governance  ........................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendices ............................................................................................................................. 9 

Appendix 1: Partnership Board Terms of Reference ........................................................ 9 

Appendix 2: Senior Management Team Terms of Reference .......................................... 9 

         Appendix 3: SHCP Governance Structure  

 

 

Page 610



 

2 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the                            day of                           20XX 

BETWEEN the parties listed in Schedule 1, each a ‘Partner’ and together the ‘Partners’ 

 

Introduction 

The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership are developing new integrated ways of working to 
improve the health and wellbeing outcomes of their population, increase the quality of care 
provided and provide long term financial sustainability for the system.  

This agreement is an integral part of the vision to promote integrated services that deliver 
personalised care and it is anticipated that this agreement will facilitate the objectives of 
Sandwell Health and Care Partnership as more fully described in this agreement. 

The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) are developing a Place Based Partnership 
(PBP) through which to plan, manage and deliver integrated care, which will provide the 
contractual environment to further develop and strengthen the role and responsibility of the 
Sandwell Place as this matures over the coming years. 

Over the period of this agreement, the Partners will work together positively and in good faith 
in accordance with the alliance principles to achieve the alliance objectives.  The Partners also 
envisage that this agreement will endeavour to provide flexibility to their relationship as may 
be required, from time to time, to implement the changes required either nationally or any 
subsequent changes to the Health or Social Care functions.   

This agreement is referred to in, supplements and works alongside the Services Contracts. It 
is designed to supplement and work alongside the Third-Party Service Contracts. In other 
words, this agreement is the overarching agreement that sets out how we will work together 
in a collaborative and integrated way and the Service Contracts, the Service Operations 
Manual and Third-Party Service Contracts respectively set out how we will provide the 
Services. 

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

Definitions  

In this agreement unless the context otherwise requires the following provisions shall have the 
meanings given to them below:- 

“Background IP” means:  Intellectual Property Rights that are held by any Partner at the 
beginning of the Contract Period or created thereafter, except 
as a result of performance of the Project and which are used or 
contributed to the Project. 

 

"Commencement Date" means [INSERT DATE]; 

Page 611



 

3 
 

"Confidential Information" means:- 

 (a) any information which has been designated as 

confidential by any partner in writing or that 

ought to be considered as confidential 

(however it is conveyed or on whatever media 

it is stored) including information the disclosure 

of which would or would be likely to prejudice 

the commercial interests of any person’s trade 

secrets Intellectual Property Rights and know-

how of any partner and all personal data and 

sensitive personal data within the meaning of 

Data Protection Legislation as defined below; 

and 

 (b) any information that is Commercially Sensitive 

Information; 

 and which does not include any information:- 

 

 (i) which was public knowledge at the time of 

disclosure; 

 (ii) which was in the possession of the receiving  

Partner without restriction as to its disclosure 

before receiving it from the disclosing Partner; 

 (iii) which is received from a third-party (who 

lawfully acquired it) without restriction as to its 

disclosure; or  

Page 612



 

4 
 

 (iv) is independently developed without access to 

the Confidential Information; 

"Force Majeure" means any event or occurrence which is outside the 

reasonable control of the Partner concerned 

and which is not attributable to any act or failure 

to take preventative action by that Partner. 

  

  

“Foreground IP” Means Intellectual Property Rights created as a direct 

result of performance of the Project. 

 

 

 

“Intellectual Property Rights” Patents, rights to inventions, trademarks and service 

marks, design rights (whether registerable or not), 

applications for any of the foregoing, copyrights, 

database rights, know-how , trade or business names 

and other similar rights or obligations whether 

registerable or not in any country. 

 

 

 

“Project” Discussions around the development of a ‘Place Based 

Partnership’ (PBP) through which to plan, manage and 

deliver integrated care’ 

 

 

Page 613



 

5 
 

 

1. PURPOSE 
 
1.1. The partners have agreed to form an alliance with the primary aim to improve the 

health and wellbeing outcomes for the population of Sandwell. In addition, the alliance 
will be established to improve the financial, governance and contractual framework 
for the delivery of the services within the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership scope. 

 
1.2. The Partners recognise that the successful implementation of the alliance will require 

strong relationships and the creation of an environment of trust, collaboration, and 
innovation. The Partners have agreed to enter into this Memorandum of 
Understanding, which is not legally binding, in order to record their wish to provide a 
formal framework within which to work together to deliver the agreed governance 
arrangements and objectives of SHCP through a set of behaviours that are described 
in this agreement.  
 

1.3. This Alliance Agreement supports the wider Black Country and West Birmingham 
Integrated Care System Governance. 

 
 

2. TERM 
 
2.1. This agreement shall be deemed to have come into force on the Commencement 

Date and, subject to Clause 3.2 and the provisions for earlier termination set out in 
this agreement, will expire on 31 March 2024 (“Initial Period”). 
 

2.2. It is the intention of the partners that this agreement will be extended beyond the Initial 
Period. Accordingly, unless the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership agrees 
otherwise, the partners shall not less than three (3) months prior to the expiry of the 
Initial Period consider extension of this agreement. 

 
 

3. EXCLUSIONS 
 
3.1. Each Partner agrees that: 

 
3.1.1. Each one of the Partners is a separate legal entity. 

 
3.1.2. The alliance is not a separate legal entity and as such is unable to take 

decisions separately from or bind the Partners. 
 

3.2. This agreement is referred to in, supplements and works alongside the services 
contracts. It is designed to supplement and work alongside the Third-Party service 
contracts. In other words, this agreement is intended to be the overarching framework 
that sets out how Partners will work together in a collaborative and integrated way and 

Page 614



 

6 
 

the service contracts, and Third-Party service contracts respectively set out how the 
partners will provide the Services. 
 

3.3. We recognise that each Partner has its own regulatory and statutory responsibilities 
and that there will be some decisions that will need to be reserved for consideration 
and determination by individual boards/cabinets/governing bodies. The limits of that 
authority will be recorded in Partners’ respective schemes of delegation. 

 
3.4. The Partners shall support each other to achieve compliance with each of our 

statutory responsibilities. Accordingly, nothing in this agreement will require any of the 
Partners to do anything which is in breach of legal obligations (including procurement 
and competition law) or which breaches any regulatory or provider licence 
requirements. 

 
3.5. The Partners acknowledge that commissioning arrangements remain unchanged. 

 

4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
 
4.1. The intention of the Partners is that the alliance will deliver sustainable, effective, and 

efficient services with significant improvements over the term of the agreement. The 
Partners have agreed to work collaboratively to:  
 

4.1.1. Improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for the Sandwell population.   
 

4.1.2. Improve care delivery and quality standards in the provision of care.   
 

4.1.3. Meet the statutory financial duties of all partner Partners. 
 

4.2. The alliance objectives will enable delivery of commissioner Partners' key objectives 
so as to be able to meet demand from changing levels of need, changing funding 
levels, new legislation and/or policy imperatives. 
 

4.3. The provider Partners acknowledge and accept that the Partners may seek to shift 
activity and service specifications under the respective services contracts in order to 
achieve the alliance objectives. 

 
4.4. The Sandwell Health & Care Partnership will deploy a programme of integrated 

working that will contribute to the 3 main objectives outlined in paragraph 4.1 above. 
Implementation and coordination of the integrated working will contribute to the 
agreed outcomes of the joint partnership and Health and Wellbeing Board strategy.  

 
 

4.5. Sandwell Health & Care Partnership will impact on the health and wellbeing of the 
population and will develop an Outcomes Framework with the following themes: 

Page 615



 

7 
 

4.5.1. Healthy communities, enabled to make health and wellbeing choices that 
improve quality of life, regardless of social background.  

4.5.2. Accessible, coordinated, holistic and responsive care overseen by a ‘care 
navigation centre’. 

4.5.3. A resilient and responsive primary care system that includes but is not solely 
reliant on general practice. 

4.5.4. A responsive and extended intermediate care offer that includes urgent 
community response, and a sustainable social care offer. This will enable people 
to receive the right care and support, at the right time and in the right place. 

4.5.5. Integrated town teams proactively supporting people with chronic illness and 
those in the community who are most vulnerable. There will be an emphasis on 
all age offer, supporting families and young people. We will ensure integrated 
working to support people to stay mentally well within their communities, and 
preventing escalation of needs (where possible)  

4.6 Our vision is: People living in Sandwell will receive excellent care and support within 
their local area, exactly when they need it. This will be delivered by a team of people working 
together in partnership with local citizens. We will support and engage with communities to 
enable people and families to lead their best possible lives regardless of health status, age, 
background, or ethnicity. Together we will tackle inequalities, supporting people born and 
living in Sandwell to have opportunities to lead happy, healthy lives.  
 
4.7 It is agreed that the partnership will undertake an operating model that delivers the 
priorities of the Sandwell Health and Wellbeing Board: 

• We will help people stay healthier for longer.  
• We will help people stay safe and support communities.  
• We will work together to join up services. 
• We will work closely with local people, partners, and providers of services. 

 

 
5. BEHAVIOURS 

 
5.1. It is agreed that Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust (SWBT) shall co-ordinate 

and manage all matters related to this Memorandum of Understanding 
 

5.2. Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust (SWBT) will engage with partners in a 
coordinated and integrated way, establishing an environment that encourages 
collaboration and integration. 

 
5.3. Accordingly, we have agreed a set of behaviours that the partners will work to in 

delivering our alliance objectives: 
 

5.3.1. Work towards a shared vision of integrated service provision. 
 

5.3.2. Commit to delivery of system outcomes.  

Page 616



 

8 
 

 
5.3.3. Commit to common processes, protocols, and other system inputs for those in-

scope services.  
 

5.3.4. Take responsibility to make unanimous decisions on a ‘Best for Sandwell’ as 
opposed to a ‘best for organisation’ basis, understanding population needs and 
predicting demand. 
 

5.3.5. Always demonstrate that service users’ best interests are at the heart of our 
activities, ensuring the partnership promotes prevention and overall health and 
wellbeing. 
 

5.3.6. Adopt an uncompromising commitment to trust, honesty, collaboration, 
innovation and mutual support.  
 

5.3.7. Establish an integrated collaborative team environment to encourage open, 
honest and efficient sharing of information, whilst complying with data protection 
laws.  
 

5.3.8. Co-produce with others, especially service users, families, and carers, in 
designing and delivering the services. 
 

5.3.9. Communicate openly about major concerns, issues or opportunities relating to 
the programme and the achievement of the outcomes. 
 

5.3.10. Share appropriate information, experience and knowledge so as to learn from 
each other and develop effective working practices. 
 

5.3.11. Work collaboratively to identify solutions, eliminate duplication of effort, mitigate 
risk and reduce cost. 
 

5.3.12. Adopt a positive outlook by behaving in a positive, proactive manner. 
 
5.3.13. Communicate with each other and all relevant staff in a clear, direct and timely 

manner to optimise the ability for each of partner, the Sandwell Health and Care 
Partnership Board and the supporting Governance Groups to make effective and 
timely decisions to achieve the alliance objectives. 

 
5.3.14. Agree together, appropriate use of funding that supports the needs of the 

population and delivers the agreed outcomes aligned to priorities  
 

5.4. Delegated Authority 
 

5.4.1. We shall strive to give as much advance notice of Sandwell Health and Care 
Partnership Board business as is reasonably possible so as to allow each partner 

Page 617



 

9 
 

to seek views and any necessary approvals or authority from their individual 
organisation. 
 

5.4.2. We shall seek to ensure that partners have appropriate levels of delegated 
authority in order to consider and determine issues at meetings of the Sandwell 
Health and Care Partnership Board 
 

5.4.3. Where there are limits on the delegated authority of Partners (as confirmed in 
the relevant Scheme of Delegation), each Partner shall advise the other Partners 
of those limits and what additional approvals or authorisations will be required to 
participate in and make decisions at meetings of the Sandwell Health and Care 
Partnership Board. 

 
 

5.5. Workforce 
 

5.5.1. All Partners understand that we each have certain responsibilities to each other 
in the way we deal with staff and employment law issues. For example, we need 
to manage the risk that some staff could transfer from one Partner to another 
under the Transfer Regulations contained in the relevant Service Contract. 
 

5.5.2. We agree that we will each have responsibility for our own staff and that, where 
internal reorganisation or redeployment of staff is needed, each Partner shall be 
individually responsible for any costs of that reorganisation or redeployment.  

 
5.5.3. In respect of staff that manage and run services in pursuant to this Agreement, 

each Partner commits to each of the others that we shall co-operate and 
negotiate, acting reasonably and in good faith, to agree how we will manage the 
financial, operational, legal and other consequences of such staff transfers. 

 

 
6. PROCESSES 

 
6.1. Any Partner that becomes aware of any actual or potential conflict of interest, which 

is likely to have an adverse effect on the partners ability to properly perform the 
obligations under this agreement, must notify the Sandwell Health and Care 
Partnership Board as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any event, within 48 
hours of the date of knowledge. The Board shall determine how best to manage any 
actual or potential conflict of interest. A conflict-of-Interest register will also be 
completed by members and documented within the governance section 
 

6.2. The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Board may resolve to terminate this 
agreement if an Event of Force Majeure renders the continuation of the agreement 
impossible.  
 

Page 618



 

10 
 

6.3. The Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Board may resolve to terminate this 
agreement if a dispute cannot be resolved. 

 

 

6.4. Members of the partnership will agree a shared funding mechanism for reasonably 
incurred management and administration costs. 

 
6.5. New partners shall be admitted on terms which are fair, reasonable and non-

discriminatory. Where a Partner or Partners wish to admit a new organisation to be a 
partner under this agreement, such a proposal shall be considered at the Sandwell 
Health and Care Partnership Board 

 
6.6. Partners may exit the agreement by resigning to the Sandwell Health and Care 

Partnership Board. 
 

6.7. Partners may submit a jointly agreed written proposal to the Sandwell Health and Care 
Partnership Board to recommend the removal of another Partner. The proposal shall 
outline the reasons for removal. Any removal will be considered on terms which are 
fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory. 

 
6.8. The provisions of this agreement may be varied at any time by a partner submitting a 

Notice of Variation to the Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Board. All Variations 
must be agreed by all partners. 

 
 

7. Governance  
 
7.1. Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Board (SHCP) 

7.1.1. Partners agree to form the SHCP Board, which is to be established as a sub-
committee of the host partner.  
 

7.1.2. The SHCP Board will be responsible for decision making and strategic 
direction, including responsibility for the delivery of the Sandwell Case for 
Change- and operating model. 
 

7.1.3. The SHCP Board will have responsibility for the oversight of service integration 
contractually in scope for the system integration and transformation. 
 

7.1.4. The SHCP Board will have other duties and the authority and accountability as 
defined in its Terms of Reference (Appendix 1). 

 
7.1.5. The SHCP Board will have a line of accountability to the Sandwell Health and 

Wellbeing Board (H&WBB) and commit to ensuring priorities of the partnership 
are aligned to priorities of the H&WBB 
 

Page 619



 

11 
 

 
7.2. Senior Management Team (SMT) 

 
7.2.1. Partners agree to establish the SHCP SMT to provide assurance to the SHCP 

Board that the objectives of the programme are being delivered. The SMT will be 
responsible for the delivery of system integration and transformation for in-scope 
services as per the clinical operating model. 
 

7.2.2. The SMT will have other duties and the authority and accountability as defined 
in its Terms of Reference as approved by the SHCP Board. 

 
7.2.3. The partners will also form the Sandwell ‘Operational management 

Committee’. This will oversee and drive forward transformation and operational 
improvement on behalf of the partners, reporting monthly to SMT.  

 
7.2.4. The partnership agrees to establish the Collaborative Commissioning and Joint 

Planning Board ‘where joint partners will make decisions regarding the allocation 
of funding streams for the benefit of the people of Sandwell, removing 
organisation bias.  

 
 
7.2.5. Partners agree that any allocation of funding that is specifically intended to 

support, sustain and transform individual organisation functions and / or delivery 
of mandated national or regional priorities will not be reallocated across the 
partnership.  

 
7.3. Executive Director of Integration  

 
7.3.1. We agree that the partners will engage an individual to undertake the role of 

the Executive Director of Integration. The Director will be responsible for the 
oversight of the transformation and integration of services, as well as coordination 
of the operational management of the partnership services.  
 

7.3.2. The Executive Director of Integration will be an Executive Director of the host 
partner; however, their appointment will be confirmed and apply to all partners. 
The Executive Director of Integration will work closely with all partners as a 
system integrator. 

 
 

7.4. Risk Management 
 

7.4.1. Risk implications of the partnership arrangements will be managed according 
to the host’s Risk Management Policy. Where relevant, each partner will transfer 
all or part of a risk to individual organisation Risk Registers in accordance with 
individual Risk Management Policies. 
 

Page 620



 

12 
 

7.4.2. Clinical and operational risks for the services in scope will continue to be 
reported and managed by the individual service providers and in accordance with 
the obligations under the Services Contracts. 

 
7.5. Confidentiality  

 

This agreement does not imply that any Partner shall have the right to use the 
Confidential Information or Background Intellectual Property of any other Partner 
without prior written consent. If the Partners anticipate that their collaborative 
efforts may result in the use of Background Intellectual Property or the creation of 
new intellectual property, they will first enter into a separate agreement establishing 
their respective rights therein. No Partner obtains by this MOU any right, title or 
interest in, nor any right to reproduce nor to use for any purpose, the name, trade 
names, trade- or service marks, logos or copyrights of any other Partner without 
its prior, written consent.      

 

7.6. Information sharing  
7.6.1. The Partners will provide to each other all information that is reasonably 

required in order to achieve the Objectives and take decisions based on what is 
in the best interest for people in Sandwell.  
 

8. Partner levels of involvement 
 

8.1 A defined levels of involvement matrix has been developed that outlines the specific 
expectations of partner organisations based on the expectation and commitment required. 
 

8.2 It is the responsibility of each partner, endorsed by their own specific internal governance 
arrangements to agree their level of involvement as defined below 

 
8.3 Partners can move between levels of involvement with the expectation that this does not 

occur more frequently that on an annual basis. 
 

 Table 1: Levels of involvement 

Page 621



 

13 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 –PARTNERSHIP BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

Page 622



 
 

 
 
 
 

Sandwell Health & Care Partnership  
ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23 

 
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
Sandwell is located within the heart of the West Midlands, comprising the six towns: Oldbury, Rowley Regis, 
Smethwick, Tipton, West Bromwich, and Wednesbury. According to the latest population estimates from 
the Office of National Statistics, Sandwell has a population of around 341,835. Approximately 27% (93,100) 
of these are children and young people aged under 19, and 15% (49,704) are 65 and over. 
 
In 2021, Sandwell’s population size had increased by 9.6% over the last decade. This is higher than the overall 
increase for England (6.1%) and reflects more rapid growth among children and working age adults, meaning 
that our population is ageing less quickly than in other parts of the country. Sandwell is the second most 
densely populated of the West Midlands’ 30 local authorities.  Sandwell is also ethnically diverse, with 47.9% 
of residents from black and minority ethnic minorities according to the ONS, higher than the England 
average of 26.5%.  
 
Our population is characterised by rich cultural diversity and vibrant communities but faces considerable 
socioeconomic challenges and health inequalities too. Ranked as the 8th most deprived Local Authority in 
England with a life expectancy at birth which is lower than the national average, our residents also spend 
more years in poor health.  The borough also has the poorest air quality outside London. 
 
Overall levels of socioeconomic deprivation and inequalities in physical and mental health have meant that 
the area has been among those hit hardest by the COVID-19 pandemic, austerity, and climate change. It is 
therefore even more important that agencies work together to provide the right care, to the right people, 
at the right time and in the right place. 
 
The Integrated Care Partnerships has represented an opportunity for local health and care providers to 
review current ways of working with the aim of developing a new relationship between public services and 
citizens and addressing the long-term sustainability of services.  The Place-based partnership has provided 
a key vehicle to drive greater levels of integration and coordination among local partners.  This, in turn, has 
helped to reduce fragmentation within the Place and enable the delivery of more joined-up services that 
deliver the care citizens need in the right setting at the right time. 
 
2.0 Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
 
The partnership approach has brought together the strengths of each of the two boards, with the Sandwell 
Health & Social Care Partnership looking into the system to innovate, and the Sandwell Health & Wellbeing 
Board looking out to engage communities.  

Page 623



 
 

 
The Health & Wellbeing Strategy is jointly owned by both boards and provides our shared outcomes driving 
the work of the joint workstreams across the Sandwell Place. The Strategy sets out how partnership working 
can help to improve the health and wellbeing of people in Sandwell.   Its purpose is not to overlap with other 
strategies from keyboards and partnerships but to demonstrate where the pieces fit together.  We recognise 
that there will be some crossover in the work undertaken by other boards and that not everything can be 
included in this strategy.   Therefore, the aim is to look at how we can link together to improve the health 
and wellbeing of people in Sandwell. 
 
3.0 Health Inequalities 
 
Ensuring a reduction in the Health Inequalities experienced in Sandwell is the ethos across all the 
workstreams at Place and form part of the Healthy Communities Workstream objectives, which have 
focused upon: - 
 

• Drug Harm 
• Alcohol Harm Reduction 
• Smoking Cessation 
• Weight Management & Physical Activity 
• Children’s Health & Education  
• Housing & Environment 
• Social Isolation & Community Development 

 

To further support the Partnership Outcomes a “Deep Dive” report was commissioned through Sandwell 
Public Health to review the need in Sandwell and the evidence base, and to propose where the Health 
Inequality funds could be utilised in Sandwell to reduce inequalities most effectively with regards to health 
and wellbeing. 
  
Through the partnership it was agreed that for 2022/23 the areas for provision of additional funding would 
be: 

1.  English Language and Health Literacy 
2.  Welfare rights support for those with Serious Mental Illness (SMI) 
3.  Diabetes Transition and Young Adult Care 
4.  Adolescent Mental Health 
5.  Cost of Living 

 
The impact of this additional funding will feed into ongoing work of the Partnership. 
 
 
3.0  Strategic Objectives 
 
To deliver the strategic objectives agreed by the Partnership it has been important to develop the supporting 
infrastructure around the governance at Place and the development of the key workstreams that support 
the strategic objectives and are linked to the joint outcomes agreed with the Health & Wellbeing Board to 
take forward the work within Sandwell Place.   
 

Page 624



 
 

 
 
Each workstream has an identified Senior Responsible Officer from the Partnership with an agreed Terms 
of Reference and appropriate membership made up of partners relating to the objectives of the 
workstream. 
 
In addition to the main work areas there are several supporting cross cutting workstreams all supporting 
the Sandwell Health & Care Partnership strategic aims, these are: - 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Healthy
Communi�es

Drug Harm Reduc�on

Alcohol Harm Reduc�on

Smoking Cessa�on

Weight Management
and Physical Ac�vity

Children’s Health
and Educa�on

Housing and Environment

Social Isola�on and
Community Development

Primary Care

Primary & Secondary Care
Interface

Demand Management

Workforce Planning

Restora�on, Recovery & Re -
imagina�on

Pathway development

Inves�ga�ons

Data / Business Intelligence

PCN DES Oversight &
Delivery

Mental Health

Integrated
Town Teams

Co loca�on of teams

Single leadership structure
Alignment of known

resources inc
accommoda�on op�ons

Coordina�on of ac�vity

• Demand and capacity
MDT’s

• Generic complex MDT’s
• Condi�on specific MDT’sFamily Safeguarding

Care home in reach and
management

Step Down support

Single referral processes –
two way

proac�vely supports high
risk ci�zen supported by the

use of popula�on health
data

Develop shared data and
records

Intermediate
Care

Step Up / Step Down /
Rehabilita�on

DTA: Pathways 1 – 4

STAR Review

Single Handed Care

Digital

Intermediate care provision
– Harvest View

Rowley and Leasowe beds

2 Hour Response

Mental Health

Integrated Discharge Hub

Care
Naviga�on

Virtual wards

Single naviga�on func�on
for

• Professionals
• 999 / 111

• Known service users

Virtual complex case
management

Central demand and
capacity overview

Ops centre

Advice and guidance for
remote professionals

Virtual mul� disciplinary
teams

Mental Health

Cross Cu�ng: Mental Health / Children’s / Estates / Digital / Safe Guarding / Workforce

Mental
Health

Community
Transforma�on

Children’s Emo�onal
Health & Wellbeing

In-reach to Care Homes

Older Adult Therapy
Services

Community Inclusion

Recovery College

Physical Health SMI

Rehabilita�on

Complex Emo�onal
Needs

Children’s

SEND

Early Health

Asthma

Diabetes

Obesity

Epilepsy

Infant Mortality

Community
Children's Services

Estates

One Public Sector
Estate approach

Buildings for Co -
loca�on

Review H&WB Hub
Loca�ons

Hot Desk Facili�es

Estate Reduc�on
Programme

Future Op�ons for
Primary Care Estate

Workforce

Joint Workforce
Plan

Future
Employment offer

for local people

Development of
new roles

Development of
career pathways

New ways of
working

Organisa�onal and
culture

development

Digital

Assisted digital
offer for the
popula�on

Digital Access
routes

Digital zones in
community

buildings

Shared Care
Records

Place WIFI, File &
Print Offer

Agile Working

Safe-
guarding

Mul�-Agency
Shared Records

Mul�-Agency Case
Discussions

Proac�ve support
for “at risk”
families and

ci�zens

Training &
Development

Shared Resource
for delivery of LPS

Comms &
Engagement

Brand & Logo

Social Media
Footprint inc

Website
Development

Stakeholder
Engagement

Ci�zen
Engagement

Stakeholder
Newsle�ers

Page 625



 
 

4.0  Key Achievements 
 
Through the work of the Partnership and the workstreams, a number of achievements have been made in 
the following areas: - 
 
 
Intermediate Care 
The Integrated Discharge Hub went live in November 2020 in response to the National Hospital Discharge 
Guidance. The Hub was set up very quickly as a rapid response to the guidance in the height of the second 
wave COVID outbreak. The Hub has grown considerably in the past 2 years both in terms of staff numbers, 
the overall remit of the Hub and the breadth of tasks undertaken. 
 
This has included: 
 

• Delivering an 8am – 8pm provision over 7 days a week 
• Becoming ‘post code blind’ in relation to discharges from SWBH NHS Trust 
• Community bed allocation for Harvest View (previously undertake by SMBC Brokerage) 
• Developing transformational processes and procedures to deliver the operational requirements 

from the national guidance.  
• Future view of bed allocation for IMC Pathway 2 (transfer from Capacity Team) bed allocation with 

check and challenge process for PCCT.  
• Managing Sandwell community crisis calls and all urgent care wraparound provision.  
• Managing community crisis step up’s to P2 beds 

 
During 2022 there has been progress through the “Right Sizing” and “7 Day Working” programmes of work 
that in April 2022 saw the Phase 1 investment agreed to increase staff and services to support the 
implementation of the National Guidance around D2A, and then this was further followed up by significant 
shift in investment with the repurposing of funding for 3 community wards  within Sandwell & West 
Birmingham to invest into Pathway 1 capacity.  Furthermore, in October 2022 the expansion of services was 
agreed to implement parity of provision over 7 days (historically 5-day services were stretched to cover 7 
days).  The increased investment has started making a real impact on the D2A pathway and improved 
services for the residents of Sandwell, however further work continues around the recruitment to get to full 
establishment and realise the expected benefits.  
 

During May 2023 colleagues from the Department of Health and Social Care visited our 
Integrated Discharge Hub (IDH) as it has been highlighted as an example of best practice. The 
work achieved was praised as an area of excellence for integrated care and supporting citizens. It 
is intended that the work undertaken by the IDH will be utilised as a point of reference for other 
areas in national planning.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 626



 
 

Harvest View 
 

On the 24th of November 2022 Harvest View was opened, 
which is an Integrated social care and health facility in 
Rowley Regis. 
 
With 80 en-suite rooms alongside communal areas for 
people who need specialist support from both social care 
and health staff all under one roof. 

The focus is on reablement, helping Sandwell residents 
get back home after a hospital stay or those who need 
some structured support to avoid a hospital stay 

altogether.  There is also a dementia unit as part of the development.   Since opening Harvest View has 
received and worked with 189 individuals with a view to support them to regain their independence, 
confidence and look to them moving on to a place they call home.  

This development consolidates all existing Sandwell EAB provision and acts as our primary Pathway 2 facility 
with a focus on reablement activity, with a vision to support people to return to their own homes. There will 
therefore be no permanent residents on any of the units and the unit is operated under a ‘Home First’ ethos. 
 
Integrated Front Door 
We are currently developing our Integrated Front Door service, which will see a group of clinical and 
professional staff support our Emergency Department (ED) to ensure people attending are seen quickly and 
safely, transferring to community care where possible. The service will reduce waiting times in ED and 
ensure that people get the right care at the right time. We have undertaken a number of trials of the IFD 
service with an average of 30% of patients seen by the team directed into community services. 

 
Virtual Wards 
Our Virtual Wards are in operation across several specialities: 

• Frailty 
• Respiratory 
• Palliative Care  
• Paediatrics  
• Cardiology 
• Hospital at Home (Epicentre) 

Our Multi-disciplinary Virtual Ward teams consist of acute consultant oversight and community clinical 
teams where acute care, interventions and monitoring can be provided in a person’s own home. We 
currently have a total of 68 beds open and are saving an average of 3 acute bed days for each patient and 
85% of patients remain in their usual place of residence following their virtual ward admission.  

Page 627



 
 

 

 

Sandwell ARI Hub 

Established in January 2022, the Sandwell ARI Hub located at Glebefields Health Centre in Tipton has been 
offering face to face same day appointments with a GP during Monday to Friday for children presenting 
with acute respiratory infections (ARI).  Access to the service was via GP referral only resulting in a booked 
appointment. 

 

During winter 2022/23, the service was expanded to accept referrals for adults, enabled to receive 
referrals from NHS111 and capacity increased to provide additional appointments including weekends and 
cover the Christmas and New Year bank holidays.  To improve access for patients a second hub was 
created in Smethwick.  Between January and March 2023, the hubs provided a total of 4,696 
appointments and helped to reduce the pressure on UTC’s and A&E. 

 
 
Town Team Community Engagement 
 

Working in partnership with our local citizens is a key focus to ensure we plan services that meet the needs 
of our community. It is imperative that we listen to people living in Sandwell who have experience of what 
works well and what requires improvement. With the support of Healthwatch, we have delivered citizen 
forums in each of the 6 Sandwell towns to discuss the work we are panning but more importantly listen to 
the experiences and ideas of residents.  

 

The events have been extremely well attended and have provided valuable insight into what we, as partners, 
need to do differently to support the needs of citizens. There were similarities and themes across Sandwell, 
but also some suggestions that were unique to individual towns. This has confirmed that a ‘one size fits all’ 

 Patient Story (frailty Virtual ward) 
Mr Khan is a 78-year-old living at home with his wife (who is housebound) and son in Sandwell. He was admitted 
to Sandwell ED and treated by the Frailty Intervention Team (FIT) for a fall, urine infection and delirium. He was 
identified as having high markers of infection on blood tests.  
Mr Khan was started on intravenous antibiotics and fluids. He remained in hospital for 24 hours before being 
discharged with 72 hours wrap around support (social care arranged rapidly by the SHCP) and review by the 
Virtual Ward team. He was reviewed daily by the community team who administered antibiotics and monitored 
vital signs, response to treatment and overall condition. The Fundamentals of Care framework was utilised safe 
and effective, personalised care.  A virtual Board round was completed daily by the frailty lead consultant.  
Mr Khan was discharged from the virtual ward after 6 days and stepped down to district nursing support. His 
condition improved and delirium resolved. He has not had any hospital readmissions to date. 
If the Virtual Ward had not been available, Mr Khan would have been in an acute hospital bed for at least 7 days 
and during this time he would not have had contact from his wife. 
 

Page 628



 
 

approach is ill advised and to support the reduction of inequalities, delivering care at neighbourhood level 
where possible is fundamental. We are planning to utilise the key themes to support out next stage of 
planning for our partnership and will further engage with local people to ensure we have a truly co-produced 
future strategy.  

 

 
 
 
Children & Education  
 
Social care and targeted early help services  for children and young people in Sandwell are delivered by 
Sandwell Children’s Trust, an independent company that is owned by Sandwell council. Established in 2018, 
the Trust has overseen improvements that include: the rating of its Youth Justice services as Good; its 
Fostering Services as Good; and its Adoption services as Good. Positively, its overall Ofsted rating is now 
Requires Improvement to be Good following a full inspection of Children’s Services in May 2022 following 
more than a decade of being inadequate. 
 
A strong purpose and ethos have been embraced by the Trust Family, supported by a range of newly co-
developed strategies that contribute to a positive and productive culture, including a robust approach to 
Equality, Diversity & Inclusion. 
 
The Trust is undertaking an aspirational Transformation Programme, closely aligned to the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan, which is driving change and ensuring that resources are focused on the areas that will make 
the most difference to children, young people and families. Sandwell Children’s Services were inspected by 
Ofsted in May 2022 resulting in an overall judgement of Requires Improvement to be Good following more 
than a decade of being graded as Inadequate.  
 
Sandwell Council was successful in it’s bid to the DfE to develop Family Hubs across Sandwell attracting 
additional financial investment to support a preventative offer for children and families up to the age of 19 
and 25 in the case of young people with SEND. 
 
Sandwell was confirmed as one of 55 Education Investment Areas and of the 55, one of 24 Priority Education 
Investment Areas attracting additional targeted resource to focus on educational attainment improvements 
across Key Stage 2 (primary) and Key Stage 4 (secondary) education. 

Page 629



 
 

 
Sandwell’s Attendance Service launched the new attendance campaign to drive up attendance rates and 
address areas of persistent absence. Attendance is everybody’s business has resulted in a renewed focus 
across the partnership and will contribute to improved educational outcomes for learners. 
 
The Sandwell Virtual School supported all children with a social worker in education setting and welcomed 
and supported children and young people as international new arrivals from Afghanistan and refugees from 
the Ukraine.  
 
The Sandwell early years’ service continue to promote communication and language programmes with 
partners to further strengthen the communication challenges of young children across the borough.  
 
The Sandwell Youth Service has engaged with the West Midlands Uniformed Organisations (YOU) to develop 
an integrated offer for young people across the borough. The service has replaced the two youth buses with 
purpose built, newly designed buses, that will be used to support targeted work in identified communities 
across the 6 towns.  
 
Sandwell council’s education services has developed a specialist place planning strategy to address the 
shortfall in specialist places required for increasing numbers of children with confirmed diagnosis’s and 
SEND. The strategy aligns with the universal pupil place planning strategy (School Organisation Plan) to 
provide a coherent borough-wide review of need. 
 
 
Sandwell Language Network 
 
The Partnership supported through Health Inequalities funding the Sandwell Language Network (SLN) which 
has implemented a community-based pre-entry and entry level informal English classes (informal but with 
structured learning).  The SLN has demonstrated the ability to address a key barrier to health equality. 
  

• Proven Hub and spoke model co-ordinated by Sandwell Consortium (hub) and local delivery 
partners (spokes) across the borough (comprising Consortium member and non-member 
organisations to achieve wide reach)  

• Strong partnership between VCS providers and SAFL – building on the strengths of all parties to 
make the best use of the resources that we already have. This will involve SAFL working closely with 
the programme to provide supported progression from ESOL to its community learning programmes 
and supporting progression from there to Sandwell College and/or employment. 

• All providers involve volunteers in the delivery of ESOL. 
• The project has been independently evaluated by a team at Wolverhampton University with the key 

preliminary findings and achievements summarised as follows: 
• 524 learners and 75 local volunteers engaged across Sandwell, 41 English language courses, 3 

International English Language Test System (IELTS) courses.  
• 88.5% learners either achieved progression and/or took up additional support services or learning.  
• Targeted reach - 64% of participants being in receipt of benefits and describing themselves as being 

unemployed, 37% of learners referred to employability support or training or higher education.  
• 20% of learners referred to and accessed other wellbeing advice and support services including 

Welfare benefits, housing advice and Health and wellbeing.  

Page 630



 
 

• Focus groups revealed key themes of improved social connectedness and integration with new 
friendships emerging and a sense of the sharing cultures, foods, and celebrations.  
 

 
5.0 Future Plans 
 
As the Partnership continues to develop and strengthen the key areas for work for the next year will be 
around taking forward the following priorities: - 
 

• Review and strengthen the structure and governance including streamlining workstreams. 
• Partnership & Risk Share Agreement 
• Refreshed JSNA to inform the strategic priorities. 
• Agree and drive forward improvement based on the board level metrics. 
• Strengthening the partnership and involvement contribution of all members including the voluntary 

sector 
• Ensuring local readiness for statutory and regulatory compliance 
• Develop and deliver a strategy for staff engagement. 
• Develop a strategy for co-production based on the preliminary from the Town Citizen Forums  
• Enhance our Care Navigation function to improve accessibility for all citizens to our services and 

reduce inequalities. 
• Improve the quality and sustainability of care homes within Sandwell. 
• Continue to develop and explore digital opportunities across the Partnership. 

 
 

Page 631



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SANDWELL HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 

Place Board 

TERMS OF REFERENCE:  Version 12 

RATIFIED  

NEXT REVIEW DUE: 12 months max 

 

1.  Context 
 

1.1. The main Health, Care and Voluntary organisations in Sandwell have been 
working together to form an integrated Place Based partnership, Sandwell 
Health and Care Partnership (SHCP) 

 
1.2. As the national and local context develops there is a clear route for the SHCP 

to gain greater autonomy to plan and deliver services for local people, including 
improving outcomes through the planning and utilisation of resources.   
 

1.3. SHCP to date have progressed with an operating model to improve care and 
reduce inequalities.  
 

1.4. We are focussed on providing integrated care that tackles inequalities, 
strengthening advocacy and driving change for our community. 
 

1.5. As a partnership, we have committed to: 
 

• Improve patient care by integrating frontline services - primary, 
community, mental health, secondary, social care and voluntary care 
services. 

• Co-design any future models of delivery with citizens, patients, primary, 
community,  

• Enhanced emotional resilience across our population and achieving 
parity of esteem across mental and physical health. 

• Re-engineer resources to get the best outcomes/results/outputs as per 
the outcome’s framework within the wider balance scorecard. 

• Ensure a sustainable health and care economy. 
• Tackle health inequalities inclusive of the wider determinants of health. 

 
1.6. Members of the partnership include: 

• Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust 
• Black Country Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
• Black Country ICB (Sandwell)   
• Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
• Sandwell Council of Voluntary Organisations 
• Citrus Health Primary Care Network 
• Newcomen Primary Care Network 

Page 633



 

• Oldbury and Langley Primary Care Network 
• Central Healthcare Partnership 
• Caritas Primary Care Network 
• Together4Healthcare Primary Care Network 
• Health Vision Partnerships Primary Care  
• Your Health Partnership Primary Care Network  
• Healthwatch Sandwell 
• Sandwell Childrens Trust  

 
 

 
1.7. All partners have agreed to: 

 
“Work together as one team so that together we can improve the Health and 
Wellbeing of the people in Sandwell”. 
 

1.8. Monitor the progress of the overall programme and collectively hold members 
accountable for agreed timelines. 

 
1.9. Oversee the progress of each of the agreed workstreams that form the basis of 

the operating model. 
 

1.10. To link together leaders from member organisations to share good practice and 
foster collaborative and integrated working.  
 

1.11.  Hold delegated authority, to ensure that partner organisations are achieving key 
objectives and KPIs as agreed by the partnership Board. 
 

1.12. Facilitate change and champion the programme to partners, stakeholders and 
service users. 
 

1.13. Recommend to SMT the prioritisation of the projects based upon the 
information provided by all partners.  
 

1.14. Resource the delivery of the programme appropriately and seek direction from 
SMT for resource not currently agreed within the scope of the programme. 
 

1.15. Work in collaboration to produce resources and solutions where necessary.  
 

1.16. To ensure the delivery of equitable high-quality services for the population of 
Sandwell 
 

1.17. To support the delivery of the out of hospital work  
 

1.18. To oversee the achievement of system and national targets appropriate to 
Place  
 

1.19. Escalate areas of concerns and under-performance that cannot be rectified by 
the Group to the SMT 
 

1.20. Oversee the efficient and effective use of resources for Sandwell.  
Page 634



 

 
1.21. Make recommendations to SMT regarding future priorities for the partnership.  

 
1.22. Ensure the citizens of Sandwell are at the centre of all processes and 

transformation.  
 

1.23. Ensure ongoing wider communication and engagement within partnership 
organisations. 
 

1.24. Provide a forum for the escalation of issues for partner organisations. 
 
 

1.25. To oversee the workforce issues across the system 
 

1.26. To promote the digital agenda to support positive outcomes for Sandwell 
citizens. 

 

2.  Role of the Board 
 

2.1.  The Board will hold partners to account to ensure delivery of the agreed 
outcomes. 
 

2.2. The board will oversee the delivery of new and existing services, challenging 
all partners to continuously work together to ensure citizens of Sandwell are at 
the centre of any transformation and delivery.  
 

2.3. Provide scrutiny to any recommendations by the partnership for transformation 
or alteration of services that have a material impact on partners and / or citizens 
of Sandwell.  
 

2.4. Set strategic direction, following recommendations from members of the Place 
Senior Management Team (SMT) 
 

2.5. Oversee the delivery of the partnerships agreed outcome measures.  
 

2.6. Ensure public accountability and transparency.  
 

2.7.  Support and steward partners to adopt an integration and partnership 
approach.  
 

3.  Governance Structure  
 

3.1   The following diagram depicts the agreed governance structure for the 
partnership. However, it is acknowledged that there are substantial 
interactions with wider system governance and partner organisation core 
governance.  

 

Page 635



 

 
 

 
4.  Membership   

 
4.1. At least one representative from each core organisation should be present at 

each meeting.  
 

4.2. Decisions about services for organisations that are not represented cannot be 
made by the group; however, this will not preclude the group from discussing 
the pertinent issues. 
 

4.3. Members will have delegated authority to take decisions on behalf of their 
organisations within the boundaries of the partnership. 
 

4.4. Members will be divided into core members (with key decision-making rights) 
and associate members as follows: 
 
Chair – the chair will be an independent lay member / Non-executive. 
Vice Chair – to be elected by the Board.  
 
Core members: 
 
Organisation Primary Role / member 
Sandwell & West 
Birmingham NHS Trust  

Chief Integration Officer 

Sandwell & West 
Birmingham NHS Trust 

Deputy Chief Integration Officer 

Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council  

Director of Adult Social Care 

Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Assistant Director of Commissioning & 
Integration 

Page 636



 

Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Director of Childrens’ Services 

Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Director of Public Health 

Black Country ICB Managing Director Sandwell Place  
Black Country ICB Head of Primary Care and Place Development 
General Practice  PCN Director for Sandwell Place  
General Practice Chair of Sandwell Primary Care Collaborative  
General Practice PCN Director (1 as agreed by the PCC) 
Black Country Healthcare 
Foundation Trust  

Chief Strategy and Partnership Officer  

Sandwell Council of 
Voluntary Organisations 

Chief Executive Officer 

Sandwell Children’s Trust Chief Executive Officer or Deputy  
Healthwatch Sandwell Chair or nominated deputy  

 
 
 

4.5. Each member will need to nominate an appropriate deputy to attend on their 
behalf with delegated authority for decision making. 
  

4.6. Quoracy – The Board will be Quorate when at least 90% of organisations are 
represented and must include representation from SWBT, SMBC, BC ICB and 
General Practice 
 

5. Accountability 
 

5.1 The Board will demonstrate transparency and accountability to local people, 
partners and stakeholders in the following ways: 
 

• Publishing these Terms of Reference and the future partnership agreement. 
• Publishing each year an annual report sharing the work, achievements, 

challenges, and future focus of the Board. 
• Complying with local authority health and scrutiny requirements 

 

6.  FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 
 

6.1.  The Board will meet on a monthly basis.  
 

7.  REVIEW AND REVISION 
 

7.1.  The Terms of Reference will be reviewed on an annual basis. 
 
 

8.  ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 

8.1. The chair shall be supported administratively by the Executive Assistant to the 
Chief Integration Officer at SWBT and duties in this respect will include: 

• Collation of agenda with Chair and attendees and collation of papers. 
• Taking the minutes. 
• Keeping a record of matters arising and issues to be carried forward. 

Page 637



 

• Advising the committee on pertinent issues/areas from previous papers 
 

8.2.  All papers presented to the OLG should be prefaced by a summary of key 
issues and clear recommendations setting out what is required. 

 

9.  REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS  
 

9.1. The SHCP Board will receive a highlight report monthly from the Senior 
Management Team (SMT) outlining key actions taken, assurances given and 
areas of risk. 
 

9.2. The Board will receive a monthly paper outlining progress against the agreed 
Board level metrics. 
 

9.3. The Board will receive papers and presentations relating to the progress of the 
workstreams at a frequency agreed by the Board. 
 

10.  Manging Conflicts of Interest  
 

10.1      Individual members of the Board or members from groups that report to the 
Board must:  

• comply with the arrangements determined by the Board for 
managing conflicts of interest.  

• This includes individuals directly involved with the business or 
decision making of the Board. 

• The process for managing conflicts of interest will be: 
• Conflicts of interest should be declared in advance of the meeting 

to the Chair once the 
• agenda is published. 
• For every interest declared, it will be the responsibility of the Chair 

to manage the conflict of interest or potential conflict of interests, 
to ensure the integrity of the Boards decision making processes. 

• Members are requested to follow the Nolan principles (Appendix 
1) for managing behaviour, which is in line with statutory 
guidance. As a next step, local government and NHS corporate 
leads will work together to review local government and the NHS 
policies and ensure the 

• Board is appropriately informed by any policies. 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 638



 

 

 

Page 639



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

Subject: Extension of contract for a non-executive director of 
Sandwell Children’s Trust board 
 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education,  
Councillor Simon Hackett 

Director: Director of Children and Education, 
Michael Jarrett 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
Contact Officer: Michael Jarrett, Director of Children and Education 

Michael_Jarrett@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Senior Commissioning Manager for Statutory Services, 
Mandip S. Chahal 
Mandip1_chahal@sandwell.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Recommendations 
 
1.1 That Cabinet, on behalf of the Council as the sole owner of Sandwell 

Children’s Trust: 
 

(a)  notes the completed sequence of events that are contractually 
required to extend the contract of a non-executive director of 
Sandwell Children’s Trust board.   
 

(b) notes and takes into account in its decision-making, the response 
from the Secretary of State for Education. 

 
(c) agrees the extension of contract to Stephen Rimmer as a non-

executive director of Sandwell Children’s Trust for the period of up 
to three years from 1 November 2023. 

 

Page 641

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Mandip1_chahal@sandwell.gov.uk


 

2. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1. The appointment of the non-Executive Director Stephen Rimmer took 

effect from 1st November 2017 and was for an initial term of 4 years. The 
board wishes to secure some continuity of non-executive director 
following a period that has seen a number of changes to the Board over 
a short period.  

 
2.2. The Council has written to the Secretary of State requesting consent to 

extend this appointment for a period of up to three years from 1st 
November 2023. At the time of writing this Cabinet report, DfE officials 
have confirmed by email that the Secretary of State for Education has 
not raised any objections to the extension. 

 
2.3. Following the completion of the required process to consult the Secretary 

of State, and to take into account the response, the Cabinet is now 
recommended to agree the recommendations set out in this report. 

 
3. How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 
 
SCT works with families, foster carers, schools, statutory and 
voluntary providers to support the achievements of vulnerable 
children and those in the care of the council 
 
SCT works to ensure that children in the care of the Council 
receive the support and opportunities that any parent would give 
their child 
 

 

People Live Well and Age Well 
 
SCT ensures coordination between social care and the NHS to 
better protect vulnerable children 
 

 

Strong Resilient Communities 
 
SCT supports families to improve children’s life chances  
 

Page 642



 

SCT works closely with the police to ensure that children are 
protected from the impact of crime, domestic violence, and all 
forms of exploitation 
 

 

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 
 
SCT supports care leavers to live independently in the community, 
working closely with Housing to ensure care leavers are able to 
good quality accommodation in Sandwell. 
 

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 
 
SCT works with families to access services and support so that 
they are able to improve their economic well-being and the life 
chances for their children 
 

 
4. Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 At its meeting on 19 October 2016, Cabinet was advised of the 

Government’s Statutory Direction (under Section 479A of the Education 
Act 1996) to set up a new arrangement in the form of a children’s trust to 
deliver children’s social care services.  As a result, Sandwell Children’s 
Trust started operating on 1 April 2018. 
 

4.2 On 22 March 2017, the Cabinet considered the types of decisions that 
would be of such strategic importance that they could not be decided at 
the board of the Trust but would be "reserved to" the owner of the Trust 
(the Council) for decision:  
 
4.2.1 As the decision maker for the Council in its capacity as the body 

that is responsible and accountable for the discharge of the 
relevant children’s social care services functions; and 
 

4.2.2 As the decision maker for the Council in its capacity as owner of 
the Trust in relation primarily to the Reserved Matters, as set out in 
the Memorandum of Understanding, and other legally required 
decisions. 

Page 643



 

 
4.3 The Cabinet agreed that: “In order to fulfil the role as sole owner of the 

Trust, it is recommended that the full Cabinet itself operates as the 
decision-making body for matters in relation to the Trust.”  It also agreed 
that, in order to clearly differentiate between decisions which Cabinet is 
considering in its two roles (i.e. as owner of the Trust and as children's 
services authority), separate reports be prepared to set out clearly which 
role the Cabinet is undertaking at any time. In relation to decisions taken 
in its role as owner of the Trust, the Cabinet agreed that any 
recommendations should include authority for officers then to formalise 
the decision in relation to any company law paperwork. 
 

4.4 The Governance Side Agreement which the Council entered into with 
the Department for Education sets out the composition of the board of 
directors of the Trust as follows: 
 

4.4.1 A Chair (non-executive director) as appointed by the Secretary 
of State in consultation with the Council; 

 
4.4.2 Three executive directors comprising the Trust’s Chief 

Executive and two other members of the executive 
management team; 

 
4.4.3 Three non-executive directors with collective knowledge and 

expertise across children’s services, public services; 
 

4.4.4 Two additional non-executive directors appointed by the 
Council (e.g. members and /or officers). 

 
4.5 Apart from the appointment of the Chair, all other appointments are 

required to be made in consultation with the Secretary of State for 
Education.  The appointment of the two non-executive directors 
appointed by the Council is a ‘Reserved Matter’ and therefore a decision 
to be taken by the Cabinet. 
 

Page 644



 

4.6 Appointed individuals will, as executive and as non-executive directors of 
the Trust, have a fiduciary duty to the Trust board, meaning that they will 
act in good faith, and in the best interests of the Company. 

 
4.7 The Council, as sole owner of the Company (Sandwell Children’s Trust) 

is required to consult with the Secretary of State on certain ‘Consultation 
Reserved Matters’ prior to notifying the Company of its decisions in 
respect of that Consultation Reserved Matter.  The Secretary of State is 
invited to: “make written representations to the Council within 10 working 
days of being notified of the matter…. In making its decision the Council 
must take into account the representations made by the Secretary of 
State.” 
 

4.8 The Consultation Reserved Matters relevant to the recommendations in 
this report are: 
 
4.8.1 Approval of the registering of any new member of the Company; 
4.8.2 Approval of any Additional Executive Director removals or 

appointments (including the approval of appointment terms for 
Additional Executive Directors and any amendments to such 
terms); 

4.8.3 Approval of any Independent Non-Executive Director removals 
or appointments (including the approval of the appointment 
terms for Independent Non-Executive Directors and any 
amendments to such terms). 

 
4.9 There have been several changes a Board level in recent months. Both 

the Cabinet appointed Officer and Member NED’s have been replaced 
since January with a further change in Officer NED required following the 
resignation of Gillian Douglas from the Council. In addition to this Jane 
Bleach was appointed in March 2023 to replace Vineeta Manchanda, 
whose term had come to an end. 
 

4.10 Due to the number of changes the Board would like to extend the term of 
Stephen Rimmer to maintain a level of continuity and ensure that the 
Trust continues on it’s improvement journey 

Page 645



 

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The alternative option would be to reject the recommendation.  However, 

in line with the Governance Side Agreement with the DfE and the Trust’s 
Articles of Association there would be a vacancy on the board that would 
still need to be filled. An alternative candidate would need to be identified 
via a competitive process and the process of consulting with the 
Secretary of State would need to be undertaken again. This would leave 
a potential gap in the governance arrangements of the Trust for a period. 

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: Sandwell Children’s Trust receives a significant 

financial resource to deliver the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities for children’s social care, this includes 
the cost of the non-executive Directors. 
 
The amount that SCT receives is agreed annually in 
line with mechanisms set out in the Service Delivery 
Contract. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Governance Side Agreement between the Council 
and Department for Education sets out the composition 
of the board of directors of the Trust.  
 
The Council is required, as sole owner of the Trust, to 
consult with the Secretary of State on certain 
‘Consultation Reserved Matters’ prior to notifying the 
Trust of its decisions in respect of that Consultation 
Reserved Matter. The approval of any removal or 
appointment of an Independent Non-Executive Director 
is such a matter. 

Risk: The corporate risk management strategy has been 
complied with and risks have been identified arising 
from the recommendations being sought. This has 
concluded that there are no significant risks that 
require reporting and that suitable measures are in 
place to mitigate the risks identified to acceptable 
levels.  

Equality: An Equality Impact Assessment screening is not 
required for this report.  

Page 646



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

SCT continues to support children and families in 
Sandwell and as the quality of service that they deliver 
improves so does the impact they have on improving 
the health and wellbeing of children and families. 

Social Value SCT supports children to achieve, feel safe, be 
supported and access opportunities. SCT supports 
care leavers to access education, employment and 
training. Having strong governance and oversight 
supports SCT to achieve service improvement and 
better support children and families in Sandwell.  

Climate 
Change: 

There are no climate change implications attached to 
this report 

Corporate 
Parenting 

Having a full compliment of non-executive directors in 
place strengthens the governance and oversight of the 
delivery of corporate parenting. 

 
7. Appendices 
 
 None 
 
8. Background Papers 
 

Cabinet Paper dated: 
 
19 October 2016 
04 - Formation of a Children's Trust 
04 - Formation of a Children's Trust - Appendix 
 
7 December 2016,  
04 -  Formation of Children' Trust - MoU 
04a - Appendix 1 Strategic Project Risk Register 
04b - Appendix 2 Formal Commissioner Response 

 
22 March 2017 
22 - Role of Sandwell MBC in relation to Sandwell Children's Social Care 
Trust 

 
 

Page 647



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Report to Cabinet 

 
 

18 October 2023 

 

Subject: Performance Management Framework – Q1 

Monitoring 

Cabinet Member: Deputy Leader, Cllr Bob Piper 

Director: Chief Executive – Shokat Lal 

Key Decision: No 

Contact Officer: Kate Ashley – Strategic Lead: Service 
Improvement  
Kayleigh Walker – Senior Lead: Service 
Improvement 
Jane Alexander – Senior Lead: Service 

Improvement  

Sarah Sprung – Senior Lead: Service 
Improvement  

 

1. Recommendations 
 

1.1 That Cabinet note progress on the further development of the Corporate 

Performance Management Framework and approve the Q1 monitoring 

reports.  

 

2. Reasons for Recommendations 
 

2.1 Council approved a Corporate Performance Management Framework 

(PMF) on 12 April 2022, to address the recommendations of the 

Governance Value for Money Review by Grant Thornton and as a key 

element of the Council’s Improvement Plan. 

 

2.2 Since then, the corporate PMF has been further refined and built into 

business processes. In June 2023, Cabinet approved a revised 

 

Page 649

Agenda Item 11



 

Corporate Plan with a revised set of Corporate Performance Indicators. 

This report sets out the Council’s progress against the delivery of the 

Corporate Plan and performance against the Corporate Performance 

Indicators for Q1 of 2023/24. Appendix 1 lists the measures and 

performance, including a RAG rating against target where applicable. 

The appendix also includes the direction of travel of performance since 

the last quarter of 2022/23 and compared to the same period last year. 

 

2.4 Performance of key contracts is included in the quarterly performance 

 reports to provide oversight of the performance of these services and  

 assurance that contract management mechanisms continue to be in  

 place and effective.  

 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan? 
 

   
 

   
 

   

The corporate PMF includes measures under 
all strategic objectives in the Corporate Plan to 
monitor progress in these key areas. The PMF 
also includes elements that measure the 
council’s use of its resources to ensure delivery 
of the strategic objectives.  
 

The Strategic Risk Register details the key 

strategic risks that need to be manged to 

ensure that they do not negatively impact on the 

successful delivery of the Corporate Plan 

objectives.  

 
 

3.1 An effective performance management framework facilitates increased 
accountability, learning and improvement. It also provides early warning 
signals and facilitates decision-making.  
 

3.2 On a quarterly basis, the council gathers and analyses a wide range of 
data and information to understand how effectively its plans are being 
implemented and whether the strategic outcomes contained in the 
Corporate Plan are being achieved.  
 

Page 650



 

3.3 The information collected is used to enable the authority to better 
understand the impact of its work on local people, and where necessary, 
target actions and resources. 

 

 

4. Quarter 1 Key messages 

 

Corporate Plan 

 

4.1 The table below shows that 167 Corporate Plan ‘We will’ statements and 

Directorate Business Plan Actions are rated as ‘green’ (on track), 37 are 

rated ‘amber’ (medium issues) and 8 are rated as ‘red’ (significant 

issues). Of those rated ‘amber’ or ‘red’, the vast majority are because of 

slippage of the project/programme/initiative. There are a small number 

where more work is needed to achieve the impact/outcome we want e.g. 

as part of the Early Help Strategy more work is needed to ensure 

partners take on a lead role. There are also a small number where the 

action or piece of work has stalled or need to be re-evaluated. These 

include: 

 

• The redesign of the communal areas at Walker Grange (extra care 

housing complex) have been prepared by Urban Design, but no 

budget has been approved yet because of the pressures on the 

HRA budget. HRA forecasts need to be remodelled, but a budget 

for Walker Grange will be included in the discussions to identify 

when the work could commence. (Rated ‘red’).  

• The plan for replacement of diesel fleet with sustainable fuel 

vehicles is an area of risk given the number of electric charging 

points available and technological limitations in replacing some of 

the larger fleet with EV or an alternative fuelling option. Progress is 

being made to address the risk and develop a plan for 

electrification going forwards (consultancy, EVP solutions recently 

appointed to look at this). There are now 12 EV charging points 

available for fleet vehicles to use, in addition to a further 14 which 

are for staff/public depending on location. In addition, there are 16 

public units at the aquatics centre. (Rated ‘red’). 

Page 651



 

• A number of new build housing schemes have been impacted by 

construction costs (due to increased inflation) and are not able to 

proceed at the current time. (Rated ‘amber’). 

• The government has withdrawn the Housing Transformation Fund 

so the planned work to support independent living using this 

funding is on hold. (Rated ‘red’). 

• Commercial bus services in the West Midlands are being reduced 

due to viability/footfall issues and this has impacted on the level of 

bus service provided in Sandwell.( However, the metro extension 

project from Wednesbury to Dudley is on track and in budget to 

open to passengers by December 2024.) (Rated ‘amber’). 

• Year-end commercial income projections for Sandwell Valley 
Visitor Centre, Forge Mill Farm, Lightwoods House and Park 
(Visitor Services) for 2023/24 are lower than target at the end of 
Q1 due to a range of factors including operational delays and 
poorer than expected weather. (Rated ‘amber’). 

 

Plans are being worked on to address these areas and an update will be 

provided in the Quarter 2 report.  

 

 
Best 

Start 

Live 

Well & 

Age 

Well 

Strong 

Resilient 

Communiti

es 

Qualit

y 

Home

s 

Strong 

Inclusive 

Economy 

Connected 

& 

Accessible 

One Council 

One Team Total 

No of 

Corporate 

Plan 'we wils' 
12 21 20 17 11 8 18 107 

No of 

Directorate 

Busines Plan 

Actions 

23 85 38 23 18 17 51 255 

Page 652



 

On Track 12 62 21 11 14 12 35 167 

Medium 

Issues 5 10 6 5 2 3 6 37 

Significant 

Issues - 4 1 1 - - 2 8 

No Update 

available 6 9 10 6 2 2 8 43 

 

Quarter 1 Performance  

 

4.2  In summary, of the 79 indicators given a RAG status this quarter, 23 are 

RAG rated ‘red’, 13 are rated ‘amber’ and 43 are rated ‘green’. 46 do not 

have a RAG rating as a target is not applicable or available, and the PI is 

for information only. For 38 PIs no data is available, and this is because 

the PI is either being developed or there is no information available this 

quarter.  

 

Area Total Red Amber Green 
RAG 
NA 

Data not 
available 

Annual 

Best Start 38 3 7 9 13 6 0 

Live well Age 
Well 

37 3 4 9 4 14 3 

Strong 
Resilient 
Communities 

24 0 1 6 3 4 10 

Quality Homes 21 5 1 6  1 1 7 

Strong 
Inclusive 
Economy 

15 0 0 1 4 4 6 

Connected and 
Accessible 

11 0 0 1 0 0 10 

One Team One 
Council 

57 12 0 11 21 9 4 

Total  203 23 13 43 46 38 40 

Page 653



 

 

4.3 For some Directorates including Adult Social Care, Children’s Services 

 and Public Health, Q1 data was not available because of the time lag in 

 reporting, so the most recent data has been provided. Some of these are 

 annual, and data will not be provided again until year end, but has been 

 provided here for context, given it is the first time it has been reported in 

 this format.  

 

4.4 For some indicators, a target is not applicable, or a target was not in  

 place for the time period the data relates too (this is the case for many 

 indicators in Children and Education; however, for most of these a target 

 has now been set for this year).  

 

4.5 The following sections provide on oversight of Corporate Plan monitoring 

  and performance across the strategic outcomes. 

 

 

5 The Best Start in life for Children and Young People 

 

 Corporate Plan Monitoring 

 

5.1     Good progress has been made under the theme of First 1,000 days in 

respect of new birthing visits. Sandwell achieves 97.9 of their new birth 

visiting, against a national average of 97.6.  

 

5.2  Libraries continue to provide good outreach with 110 Deliver Play, Talk, 

Read sessions in all libraries and 1175 under 5s active library users 

through the Sandy Bear project. 

 

5.3 The Council is continuously improving with the lessons learnt captured 

from SEND 2 incorporated into the project plan for SEND 3 developed 

with Local Partnerships. ITT documentation and specification is to be 

refreshed to drive continuous improvements and better outcomes for 

children and young people and their families. 

 

5.4 There has been some slippage on projects such as the Early Help 

Strategy where further work is required to ensure more partners are 

Page 654



 

taking on a Lead Professional role. Also, a review of existing school 

admission appeals service arrangements is due to commence in 

August/September 2023. 

 

Performance Reporting 

 

5.5 We are below target for ‘Financial performance against budget (SCT)’ - 

At the end of Q1 SCT were projecting a year end deficit of £224k against 

the Contract Sum, in real terms this is an overspend of £966k as there is 

an expectation for SCT to achieve a surplus of £742k by the end of the 

year. At the end of July 2023 SCT had provided an update to this and 

are projecting a year end deficit of £797k against the Contract Sum, in 

real terms this is an overspend of £1,537k as there is an expectation for 

SCT to achieve a surplus of £740k by the end of the year. These 

projections are based on 4 months of activity and subject to change. 

 

5.6 Whilst we are above target for ‘Early Help - Referrals to Social Care with 

 no evidence of Multi-Agency Early Help in the prior 12 months’ and  

 slightly above target tolerance, performance is on par with last quarter 

 and 1% lower than this time last year.  

 

5.7 We are above target for ‘Care Leavers that are NEET’, although within 

the tolerance (53%). The 19–21 year-olds Statistical Neighbour Average 

NEET is 45%, England is 41% and 43% for the West Midlands.  

 

5.8 Whilst the ‘% of 16s and 17s not in employment, education or training 

 (NEET)’ is slightly higher than target, last quarter and this point last year, 

performance is still below the figure for statistical neighbours (3.5%),  

 West  Midlands (3.1%) and England (3.2%). 

 

5.9 The ‘% children becoming subject of a CP Plan for the second or  
 subsequent time (within two years)’ is below target (‘Green’) and better 
 than last quarter and last year. This is a local measure the latest  
 regional performance is at 10.4%.  
 
5.10 The ‘Permanent vacancy rate of social workers’ is 22.7% (‘Green’). The 

current England and Statistical Neighbour Averages are 14.7% and 

Page 655



 

16.7%. This measure includes vacancies covered by agency workers. 
Performance has improved since last quarter (24%) 

 

5.11 The Children in Care with 3+ moves (placement moves) is 7.5% 
(‘Green’) and better than last quarter (8%) and this point last year (8.1%) 

 
5.12 The Number of Children/Young People receiving intervention (Early 

Help) was 1138 this quarter (‘Green’). Those allocated to Strengthening 
Families remained the same, however huge increase in Multi-Agency 
Early Help (+121) to the highest figure recorded.  

 
 
6 People Live Well and Age Well 

 
 Corporate Plan Monitoring 
 
6.1 Progress has been made in tackling health inequalities, data sharing 

with GPs, smoking cessation and improving air quality.  
 
6.2 Work continues to be underway with partners to reduce social isolation 

 and there is further investment into community based mental health  
 programmes.  

 
6.3 There has been slippage in some areas including implementing the new 

 day opportunities model across the market; Joint Equipment Stores site 

 development and relocation of Community Alarms and the upgrade of 

 the Walker Grange Accommodation (as set out in paragraph 4.1).  
 

Performance Reporting 
 
6.4 ‘The targeting of the health checks at those most in need’ is below 

target, (200 against a target of 1,500). This is because the new service 
started in February and due to data sharing, the service was delayed in 
starting the health checks. However, they are now catching up and 
performance will improve next quarter.  

 
6.5 ‘Vaccine take-up, childhood vaccines, flu season and COVID boosters’ is 

 below target but the data relates to MMR. The flu season  vaccination 

 doesn't start until October and the data will not be available until later in 

 the year. 

 

Page 656



 

6.6 Childhood Obesity is 34% (2021/22; this is the most recent data 
available. Data for the year prior to this is not available (pandemic year)). 
The source is the National Child Measurement Programme for Year 6. 
Sandwell is significantly above the regional (26.2%) and national figure 
(23%). 

 
6.7 ‘Smoking at time of delivery’ is 9.3% of women who deliver, this is below 

the regional value of 9.8% but slightly above the national value of 9.1%. 
Further work is being carried forward to increase uptake of smoking 
cessation offer for those who are smoking in pregnancy.  

 
6.8 In 2022-23, 51.9% of service users (ASC) said they have as much social 

 contact as they want with people they like, an increase from 47% in  

 2021-22. This is below target but within the target tolerance. The latest 

 benchmarking information for the service user survey relates to 2021/22. 

 The Sandwell score is higher than regional (41.6%) and national (40.6%) 

 average. 

 
6.9 During 2022-23, 63.7% of people were at home 91 days after being  

 discharged from hospital into a reablement service. This compares to  

 66% during 2021-22. The Sandwell score is below the regional (81.2%) 

 and national average (81.8%). Benchmarking also shows that Sandwell 

 offers significantly more episodes of reablement that other LAs. Work is 

 being done on the pathways that facilitate hospital discharges and the 

 criteria of the reablement offer. Please note, every local authority has  

 their own way of calculating their measure, so numbers that make up  

 this calculation can vary wildly across authorities, so not always useful to 

 compare results or processes. 

 
6.10 Deaths from drug misuse, Hospital admissions due to substance misuse 
 (15-24 years), Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions and  
 Smoking cessation uptake are all better than target (which is the national 
 average). Performance against these indicators is significant given the 
 demographics of the area. In particular, Sandwell still has one of the 

 lowest rates of drug related deaths in the region and within the lowest in 
 the country and alcohol related admissions are the third lowest in the  
 region for 2021/22. This is below Solihull and Malverns. 
 
6.11 The ‘Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care and 
 support’ is significantly above target and better than last year. The latest 

Page 657



 

 benchmarking information relates to 2021/22. The Sandwell Score is  
 significantly higher than the regional (62.2%) and national average  
 (63.9%).  
 
 
7. Strong Resilient Communities 
 

Corporate Plan Monitoring 
 

7.1 Delivery of the Legacy Build phase for the Sandwell Aquatics Centre and 
facility available for public use from Summer 2023 - SAC opened July 
2023, membership above target of 3,000 members and delivered on time 
and in budget. 

7.2 Green Flag accreditation achieved at SVC and Tipton Cemetery. In 
addition, Fallings Heath cemetery has been awarded Green Flag status 
for the first time. 

7.3 Corporate Climate Change Action Plan agreed to ensure we can meet 
our 2030 and 2041 targets for carbon neutrality. 

7.4 There were 2,772 attended fly-tipping incidents in Quarter 1. The total 
cost of removal of these fly-tips was £172,607. 

Performance Reporting 
 

7.5 There is no target for ‘Domestic Abuse incidents in Sandwell reported to 
police’, but this has increased significantly since Q1 22/23 and will 
continue to be monitored (2,855 in Q1 23/24 compared to 2,037 in Q1 
22/23).  

 
7.6 Data for ‘the number of cases referred to the MARAC’ is not yet  
 available. However, when looking at year end figures, MARAC cases  
 saw a 28.4% increase in 2022/23, in comparison to the previous year. 
 This includes a repeat rate of 49%, which is above the Safelives  
 recommendation of 28-40%. 2021/22 held a repeat rate of 43%, which 
 demonstrates a 6% increase, which may account for some of the   

increased referral figures.  2022/23 saw the commissioning of a new 5-
year contract with Black Country Women’s Aid to provide refuge safe 
 accommodation across the Borough. 2023/24 is also seeing more 
 investment into making community living safer for victims, which is a key 
 priority within safe accommodation. 

Page 658



 

 
7.7 ‘The number of library visits in person’, ‘the % of Meaningful gifting of  

Booktrust packs’, ‘the number of community activities & events held in 

 libraries or online’, ‘the number of PC sessions held in libraries’’ and 

‘percentage of Library users satisfied with the service overall (per 

quarter)’ are ‘green’, illustrating good use and high satisfaction with 

library services.  

 
8. Quality homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 

 

Corporate Plan Monitoring 

 

8.1 The majority of actions under this theme are on track. Those under  

 medium /risk of slippage include construction costs increasing for council 

 home new builds (as set out in paragraph 4.1)..  

 

8.2 SHDF Wave 1 – delivery of properties reduced due to delivery difficulties 

 with project expected to be concluded by October. 

 

8.3 There has been some slippage in bringing empty homes back into use in 

 terms of recruiting an Empty Property Officer, but this post is now filled. 

 

8.4 Government has withdrawn Housing Transformation Fund so work is on 

 hold and therefore a red risk (as set out in paragraph 4.1). 

 

Performance Reporting 

 

8.5 The ‘Percentage of homelessness cases successfully prevented (under 

 Homelessness Reduction Act duty)' is below target and below last  

 quarter and Q1 last year. This is due to the impact of the historical  

 backlogs with homelessness prevention, a number of cases have  

 escalated beyond prevention and into relief. This has been progressing 

 through the system and we expect prevention levels to return to target 

 levels by September 2023 

 

8.6 The ‘Number of long-term empty homes brought into use’ is 0 against a 

 target of 2. The Empty Property Officer has now been appointed and is 

Page 659



 

 anticipated to start in September. Precatory work has been underway 

 for a number of months and the service has a number of cases in train 

 which will be progressed and, in some instances, concluded by the new 

 post holder. The target is profiled throughout the year with a Q4 target of 

 20. 

 

8.7 ‘The percentage of properties with a Domestic Electrical    

 Installation Condition report (DEICR) under 5-years old (or in legal  

 resolution)’ is below target at 89.40% against a target of 100%. The  

 service self-referred last year to the housing regulator, with the intention 

 to increase work streams for the testing programme and implement a  

 new legal process along with the new tenancy agreement. We continue 

 to work with our contractors to provide more resource to meet demand. 

 Access is an issue in some instances and in some cases we require 2 

 visits, the first to test the installation and the second where significant  

 remedial work is required. Minor work is completed during the initial visit. 

 Current estimates are 100% compliance by April 2024.  

 

8.8 ‘The % of current tenancies with a live valid Home Check in place (in the 

 last 3 years)’ is below target at 12.7% against a target of 16%. A total of 

 1130 Home Checks have been carried out during Q1. This has had less 

 impact on the % of tenancies than we anticipated due to a higher than 

 anticipated number of tenancies ending in the period. Recruitment to  

 new Housing Service Office posts created by the restructure of the  

 service were completed by June, this will increase capacity to deliver  

 more home checks from Q2. 

 

8.9 ‘The total number of people assisted by Welfare Rights Service to  

 claim additional benefits’ is below target at 2,475 against a target of  

 2,750 due to the increase in complex cases, resulting in officers having 

 to spend more time on each case. Overtime has been introduced as well 

 as recruiting to a number of temporary posts to increase the number of 

 officers dealing with enquiries. This did not hinder performance on the 

 monetary gains for the quarter as the service was successful in gaining 

 £388,669 over target.   

 

Page 660



 

8.10 The proportion of homes for which all required gas safety checks have 

 been carried out is slightly below target (Amber 99.19%) because of a 

 shortage of labour in the market. However, there has been recent  

 improvement and so performance for the PI should improve moving  

 forwards.  

 

8.11 Significantly fewer Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are being approved 
due to the reduction in referrals received from Adult Social Care from 
April 2023 as all Council owned property referrals are being delivered 
directly by the Councils Asset Management Team and not by the Home 
Improvement Agency. However, we are still above target, and above 
target for the DFGs certified as complete.  

 
8.12 Fire Safety Checks, Water Safety Checks and Lift Safety Checks are 

new measures included in the Corporate Set for 2023/24 and are all 
100% in Q1.  
 

9. A Strong Inclusive Economy 

 

Corporate Plan Monitoring 

 

9.1 Most of this area is on track with only two actions rated as amber. 

 

9.2 We continue to work with partners in relation to retaining local spend in 

 the borough. Cabinet have given approval for the procurement of a  

 strategic delivery partner for regeneration projects in which local spend, 

 local employment and low carbon are essential requirements. 

 

9.3 The Council continues to work with key contractors to ensure that local 

 businesses and supply chain benefits from capital projects spend. For 

 example, 58% of the construction spend with Wates Ltd occurred within 

 a 10 mile radius of the Aquatic Centre. 

 

9.4 The Levelling Up Programme with interventions has been agreed with 

 DLUC and Cabinet. Spending profiles are very challenging, we will  

 continue to work with Government to maximise benefit of this   

 partnership. 

 

Page 661



 

Performance Reporting 

 

9.5 The number of businesses supported quarterly target has been   

 achieved. These businesses have come through either by direct referrals 

 or via other partners referring through to the Business Growth Team.  

 The majority of businesses have required support with access to finance 

 and business support and guidance. 

 

9.6 When looking at the Employment rate in Sandwell, of the 68% of people 

 economically active, 63.9% are employed. For the West Midlands,  

 77.5% are economically active with 73.8% in employment and for Great 

 Britain, 78.5% are economically active, with 75.6% in employment. The 

 employment rate has been on a downward trajectory since March 2021 

 when it peaked at 74%.  

 

9.7 The Economic Intelligence Unit provided some insight on this, stating  

 that ‘the data suggests that this is likely to be a continuation of the  

 participation/worklessness issues identified nationally since the   

 pandemic - with people (either in work or looking for work) leaving the 

 labour market and not returning. There are now 21,800 more people  

 inactive in Sandwell, mainly driven by those long-term sick which has  

 increased by 7,700 and those looking after the family or home - up  

 c.6,000.This participation issue can also be linked to higher   

 worklessness due to poor health (particularly mental health)   

 which suggests a need to improve access and the way in which health 

 services and employment services work together.’ 

 

10. A Connected and Accessible Sandwell 

 

Corporate Plan Monitoring 

 

10.1 Progress on delivering the capital programme of maintenance in relation 

 to highways infrastructure is on track. The expenditure profile delivers 

 more costly work in the final two quarters. 

 

Page 662



 

10.2 The Transportation Pipeline projects and the £30M Birchley Island Major 

 Junction Improvement are all long-term programmes with no departures 

 to report.    

 

10.3 Sandwell’s Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan projects are  

 generally on track to deliver, whether funded from the active travel fund, 

 the towns fund programme or CRSTS.  

 

10.4 Commercial bus services in the WM are being reduced due to   

 viability/footfall issues and this has impacted on the level of bus service 

 provided in Sandwell (as set out in paragraph 4.1)..  

 

Performance Reporting 

 

10.5 We have completed 1 more Road Safety scheme this quarter than  

 target. The Road Safety Schemes completed include Tollhouse Way,  

 Smethwick - Cycle Infrastructure Scheme Phase 3, Wednesbury Town 

 Centre Heritage Action Zone and Active Travel Improvements, Zebra  

 Crossing – Hobs Road, Wednesbury. 

 

11.  One Team One Council 

 

Corporate Plan Monitoring 

 

11.1 There has been slippage on customer engagement and development of 

 Customer Access Strategy. Revised date for draft strategy is now March 

 2024.  

 

11.2 Embedding and delivery of Corporate Plan and Service Planning  

 Framework through corporate approach in place and corporate plan  

 refresh completed. 

 

11.3 New approach to internal comms established that includes: CE blog, all 

 staff live events and in person briefings, Directorate live events, Team 

 Talk manager briefing, weekly news bulletin, dedicated wellbeing  

 bulletin. 

 

Page 663



 

Performance Reporting 

 

11.4 Performance in the Revenues and Benefits Contact Centre, whilst not 

meeting target, is significantly better than the same point last year and 

performance is projected to improve further in the future.  

 

11.5 There are resource issues in the Adult Contact Centre and Corporate 

Contact Centre which are impacting performance. Both centres are 

struggling to fill vacant posts, the Corporate Contact Centre is being 

affected by staff sickness and the Adult Contact Centre sadly lost a 

member of the team after a short illness, which impacted staff morale for 

a period in Q1.  

 

11.6 SARs compliance with timescales and FOI compliance within timescales 

are both below target. There has been an increase of SARs within 

Housing due to solicitors utilising the SAR process as a mechanism 

for obtaining records to pursue Housing Disrepair Claims. This is being 

managed by the Governance Team, Housing and Legal Services. There 

have also been resource issues within Adults Social Care which is 

negatively impacting SARS statistics. 

 

11.7 We have seen a reduction in our compliance with FOI timescales from 

the previous quarter, however there is a significant improvement on 

performance for the same time last year. During Q1 there was a high 

volume of FOI requests in Housing. There are also resource issues in 

ASC and Finance which has had a negative impact on performance of 

this measure.  

 

11.8 The number of stage 1 complaints has increased in Q1 compared to last 

quarter and Q1 last year, driving up the number of complaints 

received overall. However, there are fewer complaints (at both Stage 1 

and 2) upheld this quarter compared to last quarter and Q1 last year. 

Work is underway to analyse complaints, but no themes have been 

identified yet.  The number of compliments received remains consistent.  

 

11.9 The percentage of complaints responded to in 10 working days is below 

target and worse than Q1 last year. To address this, the Customer 

Page 664



 

Feedback Team (CFT) are working with all directorates to provide 

prompt, high quality responses. The CFT are also taking a lead in co-

ordinating a response where a complaint requires further investigation or 

involves multiple directorates, maintaining clear communication, trying to 

prevent delays and helping to minimise customer frustration. The Team 

is encouraging other directorates to adopt a similar approach, to improve 

performance.  

 

11.10 The number of MP enquiries has increased in Q1 compared to last 

quarter and Q1 last year. The satisfaction with Member Enquiries is 

monitored and the average rating is 4.84/5. However, this only based on 

19 responses.  

 

11.11 The number of customer contacts is increasing overall, but this is 

because there is more contact via MySandwell. Of the contacts via 

MySandwell, the increase is where no service response is needed; 

contacts where a service response is required has remained consistent 

over recent years (around 11-12%). This is alleviating pressure on other 

channels. The use of MySandwell is also increasing because of other 

reasons e.g. the need to book a slot to visit the tip, bin collection day 

reminders and the increase in people making payments. The number of 

telephone contacts last financial year was its lowest it has ever been 

(628.9k), other than 2020/21 (617.7k). 2020/21 was the Pandemic 

year when many services were closed or restricted. This 

again illustrates MySandwell is evidently minimising contact to other 

channels.   

 

11.12  Of the 7 Finance PIs with a RAG status, 2 are ‘Red’. These include 

‘Business Rates Collection’ and ‘Variance from budget – General Fund’.  

 

11.13 Business rates collection is down on last year (also the Q1 target figure); 

however due to revaluation there is more debt to collect. Collection for 

22/23 was also higher due to the effect of the team awarding £6m in 

Covid Additional Relief fund onto accounts which increased collection 

rates, so the two years are not directly comparable.  

 

Page 665



 

11.14 There is over £6m of overspend of the General Fund this quarter. Work 

is being undertaken to reduce the projected overspend and potential 

underspends may reduce overall position. 

 

11.15 Sundry debt collection is significantly above target and Q1 last year; 

however, from the 1/4/2023 invoices issued in the first 14 days are not 

included in this (the service are allowing residents 14 days to pay rather 

than the invoice being considered due for payment immediately). 

Therefore, performance figures are not comparable to last year but have 

been included for information.  

 

11.16  The  ‘Average working days lost per employee due to sickness absence 

 (FTE)’ is 2.87 days above a target of 2.24 days. Sickness levels have 

 increased for the last two consecutive years since the coronavirus  

 pandemic began in 2020-21. Housing and Regeneration and Growth  

 have achieved a  reduction in sickness compared to last year. All other 

 directorates have seen a marginal increase apart from Borough  

 Economy who encountered the highest increase. The most significant 

 increase is for stress related sickness and a decrease in infections. This 

 is due to the end of the pandemic which resulted in a decrease in  

 coronavirus cases.  

 

11.17 Stress related sickness increased by 1,107 working days (+55.4%)  

 compared to the previous year and the main causes of this increase  

 were: 

• work related stress (+525)  

• personal reasons (+559)  

• mental health (-12) 

 

The number of occurrences of stress, depression, mental health for this 

 year was 141. This is an increase of 39 upon last year. The average  

 per occurrence was 22 days this year compared to 19 days last year. 

Cost of sickness in Quarter 1 (2023-24) was £1.196m compared to 

£1.092m in 2022-23, this is an increase of almost £104k.  

 

Page 666



 

11.18 Targets are being developed for a number of HR PIs – this is the first 

time many are being reported quarterly. However, when comparing Q1 

to Q4 in 22/23, there are no significant changes in the data.  

 

11.19 The average satisfaction rating from members using the Councillor portal 

 is 4.08/5, below the target of 4.5. Training for the portal was given to new 

 Councillors on 25/07 and 03/08. From 04/05 (election day) to 03/08, not 

 all Councillors may have been accessing the portal, which will have  

 impacted performance figures. In addition, not all Councillors leave a  

 rating.  

 

11.20 A new PI ‘Members to undertake a minimum of 10 hours of development 

 annually’ is above target at 34.72%. This equates to 25 out of the 72  

 members. The year-end target is 90% 

 

12. Contract Governance 

 

12.1 Reports on contract governance have been provided for Sandwell 

Childrens Trust (SCT), Serco, Places Leisure and Sandwell Leisure 

Trust (SLT) and assurance of governance arrangements has been 

provided through these reports. A summary for each one is detailed 

below.   

 

Sandwell Children’s Trust   
 

12.2  Since April 2018, children's services have been delivered by Sandwell 
Children’s Trust on behalf of the Council. The Trust delivers the following 
range of services:  
• Children’s Social Care  
• Fostering  
• Targeted Early Help  

 
12.3 Performance against the contract KPIs continues to be monitored. At the 

end of Q1, 9 out of the 15 KPIs were green, with three in the amber 

tolerance zone. At the end of the previous quarter 11 out of the 15 KPIs 

were green. There continues to be significant issues in recruiting and 

retaining social workers, with the Vacancy Rate indicator remaining red 

however performance has improved since the end of Q4. 

Page 667



 

 

12.4 SCT attended the Children and Education Scrutiny Board in September 

2023 to present the half yearly performance report. This is in line with the 

contractual obligations. Discussion in respect of new KPIs are ongoing 

between the Trust and Council. The new KPI’s have been broadly agreed, 

with further work required to finalise them. This work has been delayed 

due to the Area SEND inspection being announced on 19th June and 

concluding 7 July 2023. 

 

12.5 The composition of the Board of Sandwell Children’s Trust is laid out in 

the Articles of Association.  It includes a requirement to have two Council 

appointed non-executive directors (NEDs). A vacancy arose in respect of 

the Member NED. As per the process previously agreed by Cabinet, Cllr 

Randhawa has taken over as the Council appointed Member NED, 

approved by Cabinet in July.  

 

12.6 With regard to finance, SCT Achieved a £39k surplus in 2022/23, which 

was significantly less than was expected due to the increasing pressures 

across the workforce and the significant and increased placement cost 

pressures. SCT secured third party income from the Integrated Care 

Board in excess of the sum budgeted for. 

 

12.7 Cabinet approved the contract sum, £74.475m for 2023/24 on the 15th 

February, representing an increase of £2.5m or approx. 3.5%. In addition 

to the base contract sum, £138,002 additional grant was agreed by Public 

Health towards the cost of the DECCA Service, which is delivered by SCT 

as part of their targeted youth offer. 

 

12.8 The 2023/24 target is that the contract sum will generate an in-year 

surplus of £0.74m which will contribute to the expectation of reducing the 

cumulative deficit position of £7m as at 1st April 2022. The Trust’s latest 

MTFP shows that the deficit is to be fully repaid by 2027/28. However, at 

Page 668



 

the end of Q1 the forecast is that the target will not be met (please see 

paragraph 5.5).  

 

Serco 

 
12.9 The council’s contract with Serco was awarded in 2010 and runs until 

2035. It has a contract value in the region of £34m per annum. The 

contract covers services including waste and recycling collection, 

household recycling centre management, street cleansing and fleet 

management and renewal. 

  

12.10 The contract has a set of regular meetings in place with standard 

agendas relating to the contractual requirements from key outcome 

targets (KOTs) to operational issues. These meetings are supported by 

regular cross channel communications between the SMB and Serco 

teams. Leadership Team also receive regular contract reports that 

provide oversight and issues are raised as appropriate.   

 
12.11 The contract contains the requirement for the provision of regular data 

from the contractor to be provided, there is also an associated requirement 

for SMBC to provide information to Serco, relating to Council priorities 

annually and fleet maintenance through a set of KPIs.  

 

12.12 Q1 performance is inevitably dominated by the industrial action that 

affected the service from 5 June. In addition, other pieces of work have 

been impacted. For example, it was necessary to stand down the work 

commissioned to sample resident participation and bin presentation 

to inform KOT1.  

 

12.13 Whilst industrial action was an extremely challenging period for the 

service, employees and residents, it provided further evidence of the 

improvements to contract management and partnership working. The 

Page 669



 

actions taken are considered to have significantly mitigated the impact of 

the industrial action and expedited the backlog catch-up. 

 

Places Leisure 

 

12.14 A 25-year contract is in place with Places Leisure to operate West 
Bromwich Leisure Centre and an annual management fee of 
approximately £20K is paid to the Council.  

  

12.15 Monthly operational reports are provided to update on performance – 
operational and technical.  Quarterly contract management meetings are 
held to ensure the ongoing monitoring of the contract and performance.  

 
12.16 In terms of Q1 participation, there has been an increase visits, Fitness 

Live memberships and swimming compared to 2022.   
 

Sandwell Leisure Trust   
 

12.17  In Q1, Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) managed the following leisure 
centres in Sandwell:  

• Haden Hill Leisure Centre  
• Hadley Stadium  
• Harry Mitchell Leisure Centre  
• Langley Swimming Centre  
• Portway Lifestyle Centre  
• Smethwick Swimming Centre  
• Tipton Leisure Centre  
• Tipton Sports Academy  
• Wednesbury Leisure Centre  

(in July 2023, Langley Swimming Centre and Smethwick Swimming 
Centre closed and the Sandwell Aquatics Centre opened) 

 

12.18 As part of the council’s resolution of the issues identified, Cabinet at their 
meeting 9 February 2022 terminated the Management Funding 
Agreement (MFA) with SLT with SLT will formally ceasing to deliver 
services on 30 April 2023.  

  
12.19Cabinet at their meeting 22 June 2022 decided that SLT will be replaced 

by a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC). However, following 
approval from Leadership Team and Cabinet, officers have extended the 

Page 670



 

termination period with SLT to March 2027, due to the cost benefit in 
relation to utility costs, improved partnership working and revised 
governance arrangements.   

  
12.20 In terms of performance, attendance is down in Q1 compared to 2022 – 

reflective of the winding down of Langley and Smethwick and also the 
closure of the swimming pool at Haden Hill, however, memberships have 
increased by 5.65%. There has also been a 3% growth in those enrolled 
on the Learn to Swim programme.  

 
 
12.21 The current improvement focus during Q1 was across 2 key work 

streams; trading – identifying how SLT’s post-Covid trading is 

rebounding in comparison to national and statistical comparators and 

supporting preparation for the public opening of Sandwell Aquatics 

Centre (SAC). 

 

 

13 Strategic Risk Register  
  
13.1 Effective risk management is a key element of good corporate 

governance, as noted in the council’s Code of Corporate Governance, 
and is essential to the overall performance of the council in meeting its 
corporate plan objectives. Good risk management will ensure that 
resources are used efficiently and effectively and that assets and 
resources are protected against risk in the most efficient way.  

  
13.2 The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) receive the Council’s 

Strategic Risk Register (SRR) on a regular basis for review and 
comment. The role of the ARAC is to provide assurance to the Council 
that it has a system of governance, risk management and internal control 
in place and that the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements 
continue to inform decision making.  

  
13.3  The SRR does not include all of the risks faced by the Council. Other 

risks are captured within directorate, programme and project risk 
registers in line with the Council’s risk management framework. The 
SRR was presented to ARAC on 21 September 2023.   

 
13.4 The risk register is a live document and reflects the Council risk profile 

position at the time of preparing this report in September 2023. The 

Page 671

https://www.proceduresonline.com/sandwell/cs/user_controlled_lcms_area/uploaded_files/TX387%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%202017.pdf


 

assessment of each strategic risk and the mitigations has been reviewed 
with the risk owners and the Leadership Team prior to reporting to the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. A summary of the strategic risk 
register is included at Appendix 3.  
 

13.5 The following associated risks are being subject to a wider review, while 
it is not envisaged that there will be any significant change in the risk 
scores an update will be presented to the November meeting of the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee: 

 

• Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Allocation 

• Future Government Policies and Funding Sources 

• Budget Monitoring and Management 

• Oracle e-Business Suite 

• Partner Organisations/Contractors Service Delivery 

• Inflation 
 

14.    Changes to the Corporate PI list (for Cabinet approval) 

  

Cabinet approved the Corporate Performance Indicators in June 

alongside the refreshed Corporate Plan. For some areas, there was a 

placeholder for PIs that have now been developed. Others have been 

reviewed and improved and for a small number, the case made for them 

to be taken out of the Corporate set. Cabinet are asked to review and 

approve this list.    

 

Corporate PIs - amendments or removal 

 
PI Strategic Outcome and 

Directorate 
Justification 

The number of care leavers 
accommodated by housing under 
their own tenancy 

Best Start in Life 
Children and Education 

This indicator relates to a small 
number of individuals. It will still 
be monitored at Directorate level.  

A 5-7% point reduction on the 
reported numbers of CYP 
experiencing emotional health 
and well-being challenges 

Best Start in Life 
Children and Education 

This indicator relates to a small 
number of individuals and is 
survey based. It will still be 
monitored at Directorate level.  

% of practice reviews and 
practice observations rated as 
good or outstanding 

People Live well and age well 
Children and Education 
 

This indicator relates to a small 
number of individuals. It will still 
be monitored at Directorate level. 
 

Smoking Prevalence in adults 
(18+) - current smokers (APS) 

People Live well and age well 
Public Health 
 

There has been a change to the 
methodology in calculating this PI 
and the sample it is based on is 
very small, therefore the data is 

Page 672



 

less meaningful. Smoking 
cessation uptake is included in 
the corporate set, as well as 
smoking at the time of delivery.  

Events Attendance / Participation 
(Forge Mill Farm) 

Strong Resilient Communities 
Borough Economy 

Amended to ‘Visitor spend per 
head (including secondary 
spend)’; this will present the 
narrative on a more commercial 
footing.  

Number of affordable homes 
delivered p.a. through the HRA 

Quality Homes 
Regeneration 

 

Changed to ‘Number of new 
council homes built p.a. (Council 
house new build programme and 
the high-rise programme)’ 

Number of affordable homes 
delivered p.a. via private 
developers 

Quality Homes 
Regeneration 

 

Changed to ‘Number of affordable 
homes delivered in total per 
annum (including council homes)’ 

  

 Corporate PIs - additions 

 
PI Strategic Outcome and 

Directorate 
Justification 

Educational Attainment CIC - 
attainment at KS2 

Best Start in Life 
Children and Education 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

To measure the following 
statement in the Corporate Plan 
‘We will be a good Corporate 
Parent for the children in our care, 
ensuring that those children are 
fully a part of our ‘family’, and 
promoting fostering and adoption.’ 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Educational Attainment CIC - 
attainment at KS4 

Educational Attainment KS2 
(overall) 

Educational Attainment KS4 
(overall) 

Children in Care - Same 
Placement for 2+ years 

Children in Care with 3+ moves 
(placement moves) 

Children in Care - Health 
assessments 

Children missing from placement 
and return interviews in time 

 
Deliver the statutory duty to 
provide travel assistance: 
Children moving onto personal 
travel budgets 

To measure ‘We will ensure that 
children and young people with 
SEND can access high quality 
local services when they need 
them, by working with partners to 
ensure there is a comprehensive 
local offer available to children 
and families’ and also because of 
the spend in this area.  
  

The total number of people 
assisted by the Welfare Rights 
Service to claim additional 
benefits 

Quality Homes 
Housing 

This measure shows the impact of 
the cost of living and the 
outcomes being achieved in 
supporting people experiencing 
financial pressures. 

Members to undertake a 
minimum of 10 hours of 
development annually 

One Council One Team 

Law and Governance 

To measure the Member 
development programme and 
delivery of training 

Page 673



 

Member PDPs completed (no 
PDPs completed in Q1. For 
2023/24 these will take place 
October- December and will be 
included in the Q3 report.  

One Council One Team 

Law and Governance 
 

To measure the Member 
development programme and 
delivery of training 
 

The percentage of top 5% of 
earners that are women 

One Council One Team 

HR 

HR Measures to underpin the 
One Team Framework 

The percentage of top 5% of 
earners from black and minority 
ethnic Communities 

The percentage of top 5% of 
earners who have a disability 

The percentage Disabled 
employees 

The percentage Ethnic Minority 
employees 

The percentage leavers from 
Sandwell Council 

The percentage new starters to 
Sandwell Council (include 
apprentices) 

Number of apprentices 

The number of graduates on the 
Sandwell Management Graduate 
Programme 

Gender Pay Gap Median 

Gender Pay Gap Mean 

Number of formal disciplinary 
investigations 

Number of formal grievance 
cases 

I am proud to work for the council 

I would recommend this council 
as a good place to work 

I feel a strong sense of belonging 
to this council 

Considering everything, I am 
satisfied to be working for this 
council 

This council motivates me to do 
more than is normally required in 
my work 

No. of Regeneration Pipeline 
projects in Concept Stage, 
Business Case Stage, Delivery 
Stage, projects on site, projects 
complete.  

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 
Regeneration 

Regeneration Pipeline PIs – a 
breakdown has now been 
provided. These will be reported 
on at year end.  

No. of Regeneration Transport 
Pipeline projects in Concept 
Stage, Business Case Stage, 
Delivery Stage, projects on site, 
projects complete. 
 

A Connected and Accessible 
Sandwell 
Regeneration 
 

Regeneration Transport Pipeline 
PIs - a breakdown has now been 
provided. These will be reported 
on at year end. 
 

   

  

Page 674



 

15. Implications  
  

Resources:  There are no direct financial implications to this report.   
  

Legal and 
Governance:  

A corporate performance management framework was 
identified as a key gap in the council’s governance 
arrangements by Grant Thornton in 2021. The 
establishment of the corporate performance 
management framework was a key action in the 
council’s Improvement Plan agreed by Council in 
January 2022 and updated in June 2022. The PMF will 
enable officer and political leadership to improve 
oversight and corporate grip of the council’s 
performance.   
  

Risk:  Should the council not implement a robust performance 
management framework, then it will not have the 
corporate oversight and intelligence to inform decision 
making and effectively manage risks   
to achieving service delivery and the strategic 
objectives identified in the Corporate Plan. These risks 
and the associated mitigations are noted in the SRR.    
The corporate performance management framework is 
a key mechanism to report progress and performance 
to the Government appointed Commissioners.   

Equality:  Equality measures are included in the PMF, including 
the Organisational Health workforce indicators and the 
progress of the Corporate Plan.   
  

Health and 
Wellbeing:  

The measures to track progress of the Corporate Plan 
include a series of health and wellbeing indicators. This 
enables the council’s leadership to see at a high level 
the direction of travel of the borough’s health and 
wellbeing and seek to continue good practice or identify 
mitigating actions to address issues.   
  

Social Value  Measures in the PMF include looking at percentage of 
spend in the local area.   
  

Climate 
Change 

There are measures in the PMF that look at air quality 
and passenger journeys on public transport and ‘we 

Page 675



 

will’ statements in the Corporate Plan on renewable 
energy measures in the build of new homes.  

Corporate 
Parenting 

There are measures in the PMF that look at children in 
care related to education, placements moves, health 
assessments and NEET figures.  

  
  
16. Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Corporate Performance Report 2023/24 Q1 

• Appendix 2 – Corporate Performance Report 2023/24 Q1 Annual 
PIs 

• Appendix 3 – Strategic Risk Register September 2023 
  
17. Background papers  
 

• Performance Management Framework – Q4 Monitoring 

• The appendices to this report are available here: 
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=
6561&Ver=4 
 
Report to Council 21 April 2022:  

• Performance Management Framework for the Council  
 

 

Page 676

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s16066/Performance%20Management%20Framework%20Q4%20Monitoring.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6561&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6561&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6590/08%20-%20Corporate%20Performance%20Management%20Framework.pdf


Corporate Performance Report Q1 2023/24 

Rag Rating
Green
Amber Worse than target but within target tolerance
Red

CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B8c
Financial performance against 
budget (SCT)

Bigger is 
better

 £740k 
Annual 
Surplus

5%
£224k 
deficit

£39K surplus £489k surplus

At the end of Q1 SCT were projecting a year end deficit of 
£224k against the Contract Sum, in real terms this is an 
overspend of £966k as there is an expectation for SCT to 
achieve a surplus of £742k by the end of the year. At the end 
of July 2023 SCT had provided an update to this and are 
projecting a year end deficit of £797k against the Contract 
Sum, in real terms this is an overspend of £1,537k as there is 
an expectation for SCT to achieve a surplus of £740k by the 
end of the year. These projections are based on 4 months of 
activity and subject to change.

Children and 
Education

B8f
SCT Ofsted rating - ILACS 
(Inspecting local authority 
children's services)

Bigger is 
better

Good NA

Requires 
improvement 

to be good
(2022)

NA
Inadequate

(2017)

Annual. The inspection was in May 2022. Whilst below the 
target of 'Good', performance has improved since the 
previous inspection in 2017. 

Children and 
Education

B12b

Early Help - Referrals to Social 
Care with no evidence of Multi-
Agency Early Help in the prior 
12 months

Smaller is 
better

<70% 70.1%-75% 76% 76% 77%
Remained on par with the previous quarter and is slightly 
below Q1 22-23 at 77%. 

Children and 
Education

B3c
% of Schools 'Good' or 
'Outstanding' OFSTED rating: 
Primary

Bigger is 
better

89% 5%
86%

(30th June 
2023)

86%
(Dec 2022)

86%
(30th June 

2022)

Data as at 30th June 2023. Regional average is 87% and 
national average is 90%. Please note that this data includes 
academies.

Children and 
Education

B3d
% of Schools 'Good' or 
'Outstanding' OFSTED rating: 
Secondary

Bigger is 
better

80% 5%
79%

(30th June 
2023)

79%
(Dec 2022)

79%
(30th June 

2022)

Data as at 30th June 2023. Regional average is 82% and 
national average is 81%. Please note that this data includes 
academies.

Children and 
Education

B6a
Rate of Children on a Child 
Protection Plan per 10,000 CYP 
population

Smaller is 
better

45 45.1 to 55 45.2 39.5 45.5

Our current rate of Children on a Child Protection Plan is 45.2 
per 10,000 (384 Children) this is below Statistical Neighbour 
Average of 52.6 per 10,000 but slightly above England 
Average of 42.1. 

Children and 
Education

B6c
% Care leavers that are NEET 
(aged 19-21)

Smaller is 
better

50% 50.1%-55% 53% 54% 52%
We are above target for this indicator, although within the 
tolerance. The 19-21 year olds Statistical Neighbour Average 
NEET is 45%, England is 41% and 43% West Midlands.

Children and 
Education

DOT 
On or better than target

Worse than target and outside the target tolerance

Direction of travel - comparator to previous quarter and the same quarter in the 
previous year

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People

P
age 677



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B6d
% of 16s and 17s not in 
employment, education or 
training (NEET)

Smaller is 
better

1.75% 5%
1.8%

(Qtr. 1 23/24)

1.2%
(Qtr. 4 
22/23)

1.5%
(Qtr1 22/23)

We are above target but within tolerance. Sandwell 
performance compares positively compared to Statistical 
Neighbours 3.5%; West Midlands 3.1%; England 3.2% 

Children and 
Education

B12a
Early Help - Number of 
Allocated Lead Professionals by 
Organization

Smaller is 
better 

(strengthenin
g families)
Bigger is 

better (other 
partners)

Strengtheni
ng Families 

<60%
Other 

Partners  
>40%

Strengtheni
ng Families 
60.1%-65%

Other 
Partners 

35%-39.9%

62% 
Strengthening 

Families
Other Partners 

38%

67% 
Strengtheni
ng Families
33% Other 
Partners

60% 
Strengthenin

g Families
40% Other 
Partners

Continues to be predominantly SCT (62%) and Childrens 
Centre's (32%) undertaking the LP role, the remaining 6% is 
led by Schools. 

Children and 
Education

B9e
Children in Care - Same 
Placement for 2+ years 

Bigger is 
better

68% 60-68% 65% 63.10% 67.20%

Performance is below target but has improved since last 
quarter. Performance is impacted by the difficulties in 
recruiting foster carers and the older demographics of foster 
carers (significant number in the 60-75 age group); many in 
this group are retiring or facing ill health which impacts 
placements. In addition, many children in care have complex 
needs and often a move to another placement is beneficial. 

Children and 
Education

B12c

Early Help - Number of Step 
Downs to Multi-Agency Early 
Help that do not return to 
Social Care within 12 months

Bigger is 
better

>80% 75%-79.9% 83% 81.30% 85%
Performance whilst above target, is slightly below average 
for the year (84.2%)

Children and 
Education

B3e

% of Schools 'Good' or 
'Outstanding' OFSTED rating 
Special and
alternative provision

Bigger is 
better

86% 5%
86%

(30th June 
2023)

Special - 
75%

Alternative - 
100%

(Dec 2022)

100%
(30th June 

2022)
Data as at 30th June 2023. Regional 80% and National 88%.

Children and 
Education

B6b

% children becoming subject of 
a CP Plan for the second or 
subsequent time (within two 
years)

Smaller is 
better

15% 15% to 22% 8.70% 10% 11.70%

Current performance is at 8.7%, 1.3% below last quarter. This 
is a local measure; the latest regional performance is at 
10.4%.  No England or Statistical Neighbour data available for 
this measure. 

Children and 
Education

B8a
Permanent vacancy rate of 
social workers

Smaller is 
better

<37% 37.1%-43% 22.70% 26% 24%

Current England and Statistical Neighbour Averages are 
14.7% and 16.7%.  This measure includes vacancies covered 
by agency workers. Performance has improved since last 
quarter. 

Children and 
Education

B8d SCT Ofsted rating - fostering
Bigger is 
better

Good NA
Good
(2021)

NA

Requires 
improvement 

to be good
(2019)

The inspection was in 2021 and the overall rating was 'Good', 
with the following also being considered 'Good'; how well 
children and young people are helped and protected and the 
effectiveness of leaders and managers.

Children and 
Education

P
age 678



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B8e SCT Ofsted rating - adoption
Bigger is 
better

Good NA
Good
(2022)

NA

Requires 
improvement 

to be good
(2019)

The inspection was in 2022 and the overall rating was 'Good', 
with the following also considered 'Good'; how well children 
and young people are helped and protected. The 
effectiveness of leaders and managers was considered 
'required improvement to be good'. 

Children and 
Education

B9f
Children in Care with 3+ moves 
(placement moves)

Smaller is 
better

9% 9-12% 7.50% 8.00% 8.10%
Performance is below target and better than last quarter and 
this point last year.

Children and 
Education

B9g
Children in Care - Health 
assessments

Bigger is 
better

88% 84% - 87.9% 96.70% 65.20% 92.20%
This includes review health assessments for all those children 
that have been in care prior to April 1 2023. 

Children and 
Education

B12d
Early Help - Number of 
Children/Young People 
receiving intervention

NA - 
dependent

900-1200
<>10% of 
the range

1138 1017 953
Those allocated to Strengthening Families remained the 
same, however huge increase in Multi-Agency Early Help 
(+121) to the highest figure recorded

Children and 
Education

B1

Percentage of children 
achieving a Good Level of 
Development in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage

Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
61%

(Provisional 
2023)

NA
59%

(2022)

Annual, Summer 2023 data is provisional and hasn't yet been 
published. Comparators not yet available.

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of 62% has 
been set for 2024.

Children and 
Education

B3a
% of 1st, 2nd or 3rd preference 
for state school place Primary 
(Reception)

Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
98.13

(23/24)
NA 97.17 (22/23)

Annual, data relates to Places offered for the 23/24 
Academic Year and includes late applications. 23/24 
comparative data not yet available.

There was no target set for 2023/24 but a target of 97% has 
been set for 2024/25.

Children and 
Education

B3b
% of 1st, 2nd or 3rd preference 
for state school place 
(Secondary)

Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
90.68

(23/24)
NA 91.58 (22/23)

Annual, data relates to Places offered for the 23/24 
Academic Year and includes late applications. 23/24 
comparative data not yet available.

There was no target set for 2023/24 but a target of 90% has 
been set for 2024/25.

Children and 
Education

B4a % Attendance: Primary
Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
92.4%

(21/22)
NA

74.2% 
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 92.8%, regional 
89.8% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 93% has 
been set for 2022/23.

Children and 
Education

B4b % Attendance: Secondary
Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
90.5%

(21/22)
NA

64.7% 
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 90%, regional 
92.5% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 91% has 
been set for 2022/23. 

Children and 
Education

P
age 679



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B4c
% of pupils with persistent 
absence (10% or more sessions 
missed): Primary

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
20.6%

(21/22)
NA

10.3% 
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 17.7%, regional 
19.3% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 20.10% 
has been set for 2022/23.

Children and 
Education

B4d
% of pupils with persistent 
absence (> 10% absence): 
Secondary

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
26.6%

(21/22)
NA

14.1% 
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 27.7%, regional 
28.9% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 26.2% 
has been set for 2022/23.

Children and 
Education

B4e
% of pupils severely absent 
(50% or more sessions missed) 
Primary

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
0.9%

(21/22)
NA

0.7%
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 0.6%, regional 
0.8% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 0.6% has 
been set for 2022/23 (available in the Autumn). 

Children and 
Education

B4f
% of pupils severely absent 
(50% or more sessions missed) 
Secondary

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
2.6%

(21/22)
NA

1.5%
(20/21)

Annual, with a lag in reported data.  National 2.7%, regional 
2.7% (21/22). 20/21 data affected by use of X codes during 
pandemic so not directly comparable.

There was no target set for 2021/22 but a target of 2.4% has 
been set for 2022/23 (available in the Autumn). 

Children and 
Education

B5a

Key Stage 4: Attainment 8 - 
Reduce the Points gap between 
the LA Disadvantaged and Non-
Disadvantaged pupils nationally

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
-14

(2022)
NA

-13.4
(2021)

Annual based on published SFR data, provisional then 
revised.  2021 Teacher Assessed data during the pandemic 
may not be comparable to 2022 data which is based on 
exams.  In 2022 the attainment of Sandwell disadvantaged 
pupils was 38.9 which compares positively with 37.7 
nationally.  The national gap  measure was also larger at -
15.2, regional was -14.2 and stat neighbours -13.3.

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of -13.5% has 
been set for 2024.

Children and 
Education

P
age 680



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B5b

Percentage point gap between 
LA disadvantaged and not 
disadvantaged pupils nationally 
at KS2, achieving the expected 
standard in reading,
writing and maths

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
-22.1

(2022 revised)
NA

-20.1
 (2019 

Revised)

Annual based on published SFR data, provisional then 
revised.  2019 reflects pre-pandemic.  There was a general 
decrease in performance between 2019 and 2022.  The gap 
in Sandwell did increase from -20.1 to -22.1 but nationally 
the gap went from -20.1 to -22.9. Regionally the 2022 gap 
was -21.6 and stat neighbours -19.6.  In 2022 the attainment 
of Sandwell disadvantaged pupils was 43.4%. above national 
performance of  42.6%.

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of -21% has 
been set for 2024.

Children and 
Education

B8g Area SEND Inspection
Bigger is 
better

Good NA NA NA NA Not yet available. 
Children and 

Education

B11a
% EHCP 20 week completion 
rate, including exceptions

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% 49.09% (2022) NA 74.6% (2021)

Annual 2022 calendar year available in Q1 of following year. 
Compares to national 47.64%, Regional 48.89% and stat 
neighbours 48.4%

Target is being determined by the service. 

Children and 
Education

B11b
% of EHCP annual reviews 
completion rate

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% TBC NA NA
Service is waiting for the final figure - 78% is provisional. 

Target is being determined by the service. 

Children and 
Education

B9a

Educational Attainment CIC - 
attainment at the expected 
level or above in reading, 
writing and maths at KS2

Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
36%

(2022)
NA  NA  

This is an annual PI. No official data for KS2 was collected in 
2021 by the DFE due to the pandemic. National CIC figure 
was 31% (2022)

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of 38% has 
been set for 2023. 

Children and 
Education

B9b
Educational Attainment CIC – 
KS4 attainment of English and 
maths at Grade 4 or above

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5%
30% 

(2022)
NA NA

This is an annual PI. Nationally it is anticipated that there will 
be a drop in performance compared to 2022 following return 
to pre-pandemic grading. Subsequent years up to 2022 were 
atypical. Targets set to reflect 2019 performance. National 
performance was 22% 2022, 16% in 2019. Sandwell CIC in 
2019 was 15%. 

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of 20% has 
been set for 2023. 

Children and 
Education

B9c

Educational Attainment 
Sandwell All Pupils – 
attainment at the expected 
level or above in reading, 
writing and maths at KS2

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5%
55% 

(2022)
NA NA

This is an annual PI. No official data for KS2 was collected in 
2021 by the DFE due to the pandemic. The National figure 
was 59%. 

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of 56% has 
been set for 2023. 

Children and 
Education

P
age 681



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

B9d

Educational Attainment 
Sandwell All Pupils  - KS4 
attainment of English and 
maths at Grade 4 or above

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5%
61% 

(2022 
NA NA

This is an annual PI. Nationally it is anticipated that there will 
be a drop in performance compared to 2022 following return 
to pre-pandemic grading. Subsequent years up to 2022 were 
atypical. Targets set to reflect 2019 performance. National 
performance was 69% for 2022, 65% for 2019. Sandwell's 
performance was in 2019 was 54%. 

There was no target set for 2023 but a target of 56% has 
been set for 2023. 

Children and 
Education

B11c
The number of Children who 
receive travel assistance (that is 
not transport to school)

Bigger is 
better

NA 5% 175 NA - New PI NA - New PI

No target has previously been set for this indicator. This is a 
new PI and the most recent data available is 175 children. A 
target of 201 (increase of 26 children) has been set for 
2023/24 (year-end). Quarterly updates will be provided on 
progress towards this year-end target.

Increasing the number of children who receive travel 
assistance (which includes parental mileage and personal 
budgets) will decrease the cost of SEND Transport. However, 
savings made may be impacted by an increase in the 
numbers of EHCP's (and overall increase in demand for SEND 
Transport). The Directorate will continue to monitor this 
closely and explore avenues to reduce costs.  

Children and 
Education

L1e
The targeting of the health 
checks at those most in need

Bigger is 
better

1500 5% 200 NA NA

Performance is below target. This is because the new service 
started in February and due to data sharing, the service was 
delayed in starting the health checks. However, they are now 
catching up. The annual target is 6,000 (1,500 per quarter)

Public Health

L3

We will continue to push for 
improved vaccine take up, 
childhood vaccines, flu
season and COVID boosters

Bigger is 
better

90% 5%
80.4%

(2021/22)
NA 82.60%

The data provided is for 2021/22 and relates to MMR. The flu 
season vaccination doesn't start until October and the data 
will not be available until later in the year.

Public Health

L13b Childhood obesity
Smaller is 

better
28.50% 5%

34%
(2021/22)

NA NA

34% is for 2021/22 and is the most recent data available. 
Data is from the National Child Measurement Programme for 
Year 6. Data for the year prior to this is not available 
(pandemic year). Sandwell is significantly above the regional 
(26.2%) and national figure (23%). 

Public Health

People Live Well and Age Well

P
age 682



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L13d Smoking at time of delivery
Smaller is 

better

9.1%
(national 
average

2021/22)

5%
9.3%

(2021/22)
NA 9.3

Smoking at time of delivery is 9.3% of women who deliver, 
this is below the regional value of 9.8% but slightly above the 
national value of 9.1%. Further work is being carried forward 
to increase uptake of smoking cessation offer for those who 
are smoking in pregnancy. This is the most recent data 
available.

Public Health

L4a/ASCOF 
5A (formerly 
1I)

The proportion of people who 
use services who reported that 
they had as much social contact 
as they would like 

Bigger is 
better

53%
(2022/23)

49%
(Tolerance 

score)

51.9%
(2022/23)

Annual PI
47%

(2021/22)

Data provided is the latest available.

In 2022-23 51.9% of service users said they have as much 
social contact as they want with people they like, an increase 
from 47% in 2021-22.The latest benchmarking information 
for the service user survey relates to 2021/22. The Sandwell 
score is higher than regional (41.6%) and England (40.6%) 
average.

This measure combines 2 results from the Adult Social Care 
Survey (ASCS) and the Survey of Adult Carers in England 
(SACE) ; the results shown here are from ASCS as the SACE 
results are biennial and there were no outturns in 2022/23. 
ASCOF 5A will be reported as one result for 2023/24 although 
2 separate targets will remain. For ASCS this is 52% and for 
SACE this is 36% (the outturn for SACE was 27% in 2021/22). 

ASC

L18a/2D 
(formerly 
2B) 

The proportion of older people 
(65 and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into 
rabblement/rehabilitation 
services

Bigger is 
better

75%
(2022/23)

66%
(tolerance 

score)

66.3%
(2022/23)

NA 66

Data provided is the latest available.

During 2022-23 63.7% of people were at home 91 days after 
being discharged from hospital into a reablement service. 
This compares to 66% during 2021-22. Latest benchmarking 
relates to 2021/22. The Sandwell score is below the regional 
(81.2%) and national average (81.8%). Benchmarking also 
shows that Sandwell offers significantly more episodes of 
reablement that other LAs. Work is being done on the 
pathways that facilitate hospital discharges and the criteria of 
the reablement offer.

Please note, every local authority has their own way of 
calculating their measure, so numbers that make up this 
calculation can vary wildly across authorities, so it is not 
always useful to compare results or processes. 

ASC

P
age 683



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L20b/3C 
(formerly 
3D1 and 
3D2)

The proportion of people and 
carers who use services who 
have found it easy to find 
information about services 
and/or support 

Bigger is 
better

73%
(2022/23)

64%
(tolerance 

score)
67.30% Annual PI 66.10%

There are two results for this measure; the one shown here is 
for ASCS , one for SACE. There was no outturn for 20222/23 
as it is biennial, but the outturn for 2021/22 was 49.4% 
against a target of 61%. It will be reported as one measure in 
2023/24, although have 2 separate targets. The one for 
service users at 67% is based on the 2022/23 survey result 
and the target for carers at 61% is the 2021/22 target carried 
forward. 

ASC

L1d

The use of the Sandwell 
Language Network to support 
learning English and
Health literacy.

Bigger is 
better

639 5% 639 NA NA This is a first year pilot. Public Health

L11a/C19d 
Deaths from drug misuse
(rate per 100,000)

Smaller is 
better

5
(national 
average 

2018-2020)

5%
2.2

(2018-20)
NA 1.5

Data is for 2018-2020 and is the most recent available. The 
target is to be better than the national average. The regional 
average is 5.3 per 100,00 population.

Sandwell still has one of the lowest rates of drug related 
deaths in the region and within the lowest in the country. We 
are challenging a decision of the PCC to no longer carry 
Naloxone, which is a mediation used to reverse and 
overdose. The Sandwell support system is highly regarded in 
the region.

Public Health

L11b
Hospital admissions due to 
substance misuse (15-24 years) 
(rate per 100,000)

Smaller is 
better

29.3
(national 
average

2018/19 - 
2020/21)

5%
18.2

(2018/19-
2020/21)

NA NA
Data is the most recent available. The target is to be better 
than the national average and Sandwell is well below this at 
18.2 per 100,000 population.

Public Health

L11d/C21 -

Admission episodes for alcohol-
related conditions (Narrow): 
New method
rate per 100,000

Smaller is 
better

494
(national 
average

2021/22)

5%
427

(2021/22)
NA NA

Data is the most recent available. The target is to be better 
than the national average. Alcohol related admissions are the 
third lowest in the region for 2021/22. This is below Solihull 
and Malverns. 

Public Health

L13c

Smoking cessation uptake 
(smokers that have successfully 
quite at 4 weeks - rate per 
100,000 smokers aged 16+))

Bigger is 
better

1808
(national 
average

2019/20)

5%
2,456

(2019/20)
NA NA

Data is the most recent available. The target is to be better 
than the national average. Performance is above the regional 
(1,154) and national figure (1,808). 

Public Health

L14a/ASCOF 
3A (formerly 
1B) 

The proportion of people who 
use services who report having 
control over their daily life 

Bigger is 
better

80%
(2022/23)

77%
(tolerance 

score)

80.7%
(2022/23)

Annual PI
76%

(2021/22)

Data provided is the latest available.

In 2022-23 80.7% of service users said they have as much 
control over their daily life as they want or they have 
adequate control over their daily life, an increase from 76.3% 
in 2021-22. Latest benchmarking information relates to 
2021/22 . The Sandwell score is higher than the regional 
(76%) and England average (76.6%). 

ASC

P
age 684



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L14b/1D 
(formerly 
3A) 

Overall satisfaction of people 
who use services with their 
care and support 

Bigger is 
better

67%
(2022/23)

64%
(Tolerance 

Score)

71.6%
(2022/23)

Annual PI
64%

(2021/22)

Data provided is the latest available.

During 2022/23 71.6% of service users said they were 
"extremely satisfied” or "very satisfied” with their care and 
support. This is an increase from 64% during 2021/22. Latest 
benchmarking information relates to 2021/22.  The Sandwell 
score is significantly higher than the regional (62.2%)and 
England average (63.9%).

ASC

L17a/ASCOF 
4A (formerly 
4A)

The proportion of people who 
use services who feel safe 

Bigger is 
better

75%
(2022/23)

73%
(tolerance 

score)

76.6%
(2022/23)

Annual PI
73%

(2021/22)
Data provided is the latest available. ASC

L14b/2E 
(formerly 
1G)

The proportion of people who 
receive long-term support who 
are enabled to live in their 
home or with family

Bigger is 
better

86%
(2022/23)

82%
(tolerance 

score)

86%
(2022/23)

86%
(Q3 

2022/23)

86%
(2021/22)

The components of this measure has been expanded to cover 
all those receiving support. The 2023-24 target is 86% and is 
carried forward from 2022-23 and is based on people aged 
18-64 with PSR Learning Disability. The target will be 
reviewed mid-year.

ASC

L1a
Proportion of households in 
fuel poverty

Smaller is 
better

NA 5%
20.8%
(2020)

NA
20.9

(2019)
20.80% is for 2020 and is the most recent data available. Public Health

L1b
Engagement of faith sector in 
Public Health work

Bigger is 
better

NA 5% NA NA NA Not yet recorded. Work has just started in the last 5 weeks. Public Health

L1c Healthy pregnancy programme
Bigger is 
better

NA 5% NA NA NA
Not yet recorded. Service has stalled due to inability to 
recruit. 

Public Health

L1f

The release of the Healthy 
Aging App - directed at 
providing information in
multiple languages

Bigger is 
better

NA 5% NA NA NA App to be released in Autumn 2023 Public Health

L1g
Universal Healthy Start 
Vitamins

Bigger is 
better

90% 5% NA NA NA
Not yet recorded. Since May 2023, every pregnant woman 
and new born are given these universally. Performance will 
be recorded by the service quarterly.

Public Health

L2

Number of grants provided 
concerning Vision 2030, Better 
Mental Health and
Healthy Lifestyles

Bigger is 
better

NA NA 16 16 16

The mental health programmes funded last year from the 
better mental health funds have continued for 2022/23. 
Programmes which have evaluated to work well may be 
funded from Public Health in 2024/25.

The team has secured further external funding for emotional 
wellbeing for teaching staff, mental health programmes for 
children facing the highest inequalities and anticipatory care 
voluntary sector lead programme to prevent the community 
escalating needs for NHS or social care support. There is no 
target for this indicator. 

Public Health

L4b
LGTBQ+ needs assessment and 
Challenge fund to support 
outcomes.

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA
Work has just started in the last 2 months. Grants to be 
shared once allocated. 

Public Health

P
age 685



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L4c Inclusive cycling programme
Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA Work has just started in the last 5 weeks. Public Health

L5a

Investment and support of 
community mental health 
programmes (including
pre-and post-natal support 
groups; a parenting 
programme; an anti-bullying
campaign)

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L5b

Grants to the SCVO around 
child wellbeing, Grants for child 
wellbeing for special
school mental health and 
wellbeing

Bigger is 
better

NA NA £550K NA NA

SCVO has received 550K for school age mental wellbeing in 
Q1. £120K is for those underserved such a Black boys, 18-24 
(transition years) and families with children suffering from 
mental health issues (non-clinical).  There is no target for this 
indicator.

Public Health

L5c
LGBTQ Support Fund to support 
outcomes

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L6
Towns based awareness of 
Public Health offer/ Stronger 
Sandwell

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L7

Sandwell Stride programme 
(volunteer-led walking scheme) 
and digital appbased
walking offer

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L8
Greenspace utilisation (physical 
activity in parks and open 
spaces)

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L10
Number of sites that are non-
compliant with the national 
NO2 air quality objective

Smaller is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L13a
Numbers of people physically 
active in Sandwell

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA Being developed this year. Public Health

L17b/ASCOF 
4B 

The proportion of section 42 
safeguarding enquiries where a 
risk was identified and the 
reported outcome was that this 
risk was reduced or removed

Bigger is 
better

95%
(2023/24)

92%
(tolerance 

score)
NA NA NA

New measure for 2023/24. The target figure of  95% for 
2023/24 is based on proportion of S42s achieved for 2022/23 
from Safeguarding Adults Return.

ASC

P
age 686



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L21b/6B 

The percentage of adult social 
care providers rated good or 
outstanding by the Care Quality 
Commission 

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC
57%

(106 /186 
providers).

NA NA
Although this is a new measure for 2023/24, we have 
calculated the Q4 figure from the latest CQC directory data.

ASC

C7c/L2

Under 16 issue figures (physical 
& electronic to include books, 
audiobooks, magazines & 
comics) (c)

Bigger is 
better

42,000 5% 41,833 44,652 42,873

Targets for this indicator have been profiled throughout the 
year.

Performance is slightly below target this quarter but is within 
the 5% tolerance.

Borough Economy

C5a
The number of Friends Groups 
working in Partnership with The 
Council

Bigger is 
better

8 5% 8 New PI New PI

Q1 taret is 8, the annual target is 14.

Friends Groups are a key partner in the development, 
maintenance, and championing of our green spaces. The 
Council is formalising the relationship with Friends Groups 
through partnership agreements and aims to increase the 
number of Friends Groups in Parks throughout 2023/24. 

Borough Economy

C7a
The number of library visits in 
person

Bigger is 
better

157,500 5% 157,731 New PI New PI
Performance is above target and on track to meet the year 
end target of 660,000. 

Borough Economy

C7b/L3
The % of Meaningful gifting of 
Booktrust packs

Bigger is 
better

95% 5% 95%
97%

(annual 
figure)

NA - was 
Annual

Performance for this PI remains consistent Borough Economy

C7d/L4
The number of community 
activities & events held in
libraries or online (c)

Bigger is 
better

1,750 5% 2,442 2,251 1,220

Targets for this indicator have been profiled throughout the 
year.

Performance has increased significantly since the same point 
last year and this is in line with the increase in Library usage 
overall. This can be attributed to more people using public 
spaces since COVID 19 and also more people using libraries 
since the warm spaces campaign over winter. 

Borough Economy

C7e/L6
The number of PC sessions held 
in libraries (c)

Bigger is 
better

20,000 5% 43,183 45,827 13,912

Targets for this indicator have been profiled throughout the 
year.

Performance has increased significantly since the same point 
last year and this is in line with the increase in Library usage 
overall. This can be attributed to more people using public 
spaces since COVID 19 and also more people using libraries 
since the warm spaces campaign over winter. 

Borough Economy

C7f/L7
% of Library users satisfied with 
the service overall (per quarter)

Bigger is 
better

93% 5% 93% 93% 93% Performance remains consistent at 93%. Borough Economy

Stong Resilient Communities

P
age 687



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

C10a
Forge Mill Farm Education 
Visits (students)

Bigger is 
better

2,100 5% 996 NA NA

The annual target is 2,100, quarterly targets will be set for 
Q2. This is a new programme with a new team, which 
launched in April 2023 and the team have been investing in 
securing future visits. Many schools plan 6 to 12 months in 
advance, however we were very pleased to welcome a large 
number children and venerable adults and recorded an 
income of £6140 which is a great achievement for a new 
programme. Encouragingly the programmes has seen a 
month on month increase in bookings and income showing 
that the programme is moving in the right direction and is 
expecting to meet its target by the end of the financial year. 

Borough Economy

C10b
Visitor spend per head 
(including secondary spend)

Bigger is 
better

No target 5% £5.84 per head NA NA  This is a new indicator. Targets will be set for Quarter 2. Borough Economy

C10f
Visitor Services and Events 
Mystery Shopper Scores

Bigger is 
better

Annual: 80% 5%
Figures not 

available for 
Q1

NA NA NA Borough Economy

C14/ 
NI195a,b,c,d

Improved street and 
environmental cleanliness
(levels of litter, detritus, graffiti 
and fly-posting).

Smaller is 
better

litter - 
2.50%

detritus - 
6.50%

graffiti - 
1.50%

fly-posting - 
0%

5% NA

litter - 4%
detritus - 7%

graffiti - 
1.50%

fly-posting - 
0%

Not yet 
available

We are awaiting the first set of data for this year. NI195 is 
measured 3 times a year: April-July, August-November, 
December-March

Borough Economy

C16a
Total recorded crime in 
Sandwell

Smaller is 
better

No target 5% 9,652 New PI New PI Safer Sandwell Partnership meeting Borough Economy

C16b
Domestic Abuse incidents in 
Sandwell reported to police

Smaller is 
better

No target 5% 2,855 2,750 2,037

Performance has increased significantly since Q1 22/23. 
Victims services are commissioned by Sandwell MBC and 
Office of Police and Crime Commission, which ensure 
adequate resources available for victims. This is reviewed 
regularly with the service provider, with quarterly monitoring 
data and meetings. 2022/23 saw the commissioning of a new 
5 year contract with Black Country Women’s Aid to provide 
refuge safe accommodation across the Borough. 2023/24 is 
also seeing more investment into making community living 
safer for victims, which is a key priority within safe 
accommodation. Part 4 of The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
outlines the provision of safe accommodation and support 
for victims, as a statutory duty for Local Authorities. 

Borough Economy

P
age 688



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

C16c
The number of cases referred 
to MARAC

Smaller is 
better

No target 5% NA 319 238

Data not yet available. However, when looking at year-end 
figures, MARAC cases saw a 28.4% increase in 2022/23, in 
comparison to the previous year. This includes a repeat rate 
of 49%, which is above the Safelives recommendation of 28-
40%. 2021/22 held a repeat rate of 43%, which demonstrates 
a 6% increase, which may account for some of the increased 
referral figures.

MARACs are now being held weekly because of the increase 
in demand, a challenge being seen across the region. An 
independent regional review of MARAC in 2021 by Linxs 
Consultancy, has identified that MARAC in its current form is 
not equipped to meet increasing demand. It is likely that the 
format will change, but that this will not be progressed 
during this financial year. 

Borough Economy

CP74 / 
HM02

Percentage of homelessness 
cases successfully prevented 
(under
Homelessness Reduction Act 
duty)

Bigger is 
better

65% 5% 58.70% 72.00% 63.10%

Due to the impact of the historic backlogs we are seeing a 
number of cases that have escalated beyond prevention and 
into relief. This has been progressing through the system and 
we expect prevention levels to return to target levels by 
September 2023

Housing

CP79 / 
PRS07

Number of long term empty 
homes brought into use (c)

Bigger is 
better

Q1 - 2 5% 0 NA 1

We have now appointed an empty property officer and HR 
are processing. We anticipate that they will be in post by 
September (coming in from external position with 2 months' 
notice). Precatory work has been underway for a number of 
months and the service has a number of cases in train which 
will be progressed and in some instances concluded by the 
new post holder

Housing

H12 / HC2
The % of current tenancies with 
a live valid Home Check in place 
(in the last 3 years) (c)

Bigger is 
better

Q1 - 16% 5% 12.70% 11.40% 6.80%

A total of 1130 Home Checks have been carried out during 
Q1. This has had less impact on the % of tenancies than we 
anticipated due to a higher than anticipated number of 
tenancies ending in the period. Recruitment to new Housing 
Service Office posts created by the restructure of the service 
were completed by June, this will increase capacity to deliver 
more home checks from Q2.

Housing

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods

P
age 689



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

H14 / RM3

The percentage of properties 
with a Domestic Electrical 
Installation Condition report 
(DEICR) under 5-years old (or in 
legal resolution)

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 89.40% 87.47%
72.82% 

2022/23

The service self-referred last year to the housing regulator, 
with the intention to increase work streams for the testing 
programme and implement a new legal process along with 
the new tenancy agreement. We continue to work with our 
contractors to provide more resource to meet demand. 
Access is an issue in some instances and in some cases we 
require 2 visits, the first to test the installation and the 
second where significant remedial work is required. Minor 
work is completed during the initial visit. Current estimates 
are 100% compliance by April 2024. 

Housing

CP78b/SLM0
54b

The total number of people 
assisted by Welfare Rights 
Service to claim additional 
benefits (c)

Bigger is 
better

Q1 - 2750 5% 2475
3026 (12635 

c)
3162

 

The number of residents assisted by Welfare Rights during 
the first quarter is below target due to the increase in 
complex cases, resulting in officers having to spend more 
time on each case. Overtime has been introduced as well as 
recruiting to a number of temporary posts to increase the 
number of officers dealing with enquiries. This did not hinder 
performance on the monetary gains for the quarter as the 
service was successful in gaining £388,669 over target. 

Housing

H14 / BS01 

Gas Safety Checks - Proportion 
of homes for which all required 
gas safety checks have been 
carried out

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 99.19% 98.24%
99.75% 

2022/23

The new contractor has been recruiting engineers to fulfil the 
requirements of the contract but this has been a slow 
process. In essence, they’ve been mobilising mid-contract at 
a time when there is a shortage of labour in the market. This 
has meant the compliance rate has suffered. The recovery of 
the gas compliance has been slow and there is no quick fix to 
this but it is currently on the right track and there has been 
an improvement .

Housing

CP77a /  
HIA2 

Home Improvement Agency - 
Number of Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG's) approved (c)

Bigger is 
better

69 5% 83 NA 141

Significantly fewer DFGs are being approved due to the 
reduction in referrals received from Adult Social Care from 
April 2023 as all Council owned property referrals are being 
delivered directly by the Councils Asset Management Team 
and not by the Home Improvement Agency.

Housing

CP77b /  
HIA3 

Number of DFG's certified as 
complete (c)

Bigger is 
better

55 5% 117 NA 69

Due to a reduction in the amount of DFG referrals received 
from Adult Social Care, there have been fewer cases certified 
as complete,  as work to Council owned properties are being 
completed by the Council’s Asset Management Team and not 
by the Home improvement Agency.

Housing

H8 / RS04
Rough sleepers bi-monthly 
count outturn

Smaller is 
better

Q1 - 2 5% 2 3 2
The service continues to perform well with effective support 
for people at risk of or already sleeping rough

Housing

P
age 690



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

H14 / BS02

Fire Safety Checks - Proportion 
of homes for which all required 
fire risk assessments have been 
carried out

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 100.00% N/A N/A New measure 2023/24 Housing

H14 / BS04

Water Safety Checks - 
Proportion of homes for which 
all required legionella risk 
assessments have been carried 
out

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 100.00% N/A N/A New measure 2023/24 Housing

H14 / BS05

Lift Safety Checks - proportion 
of homes for which all required 
communal passengers lift 
safety checks have been carried 
out

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 100.00% N/A N/A New measure 2023/24 Housing

CP76 / 
PRS04

No. of private sector properties 
reported to be in state of 
disrepair with a positive 
resolution (c)

Bigger is 
better

NA NA 149 NA 142
80 closed cases formally by inspectors. 69 closed at triage by 
Duty Officers.

Housing

H14 / BS03

Asbestos Safety Checks - 
Proportion of homes for which 
all required asbestos 
management surveys or re-
inspections have been carried 
out

Bigger is 
better

100% 5%
No checks 

planned for 
quarter 1 

N/A N/A

New measure 2023/24. There were none planned in for this 
period. There are a small number planned in for the next 
period which will conclude the whole programme of 
inspections.

Housing

A Strong and Inclusive Economy

E7a
The number of Businesses 
supported (c)

Bigger is 
better

Quarter 1 - 
40

5% 40 NA 70

The number of businesses supported quarterly target has 
been achieved.  These businesses have come through either 
by direct referrals or via other partners referring through to 
the Business Growth Team. The majority of businesses have 
required support with access to finance and business support 
and guidance. 

Regeneration

E1
TBC - % of council spend spent 
locally (Finance PI) (info not yet 
available)

Bigger is 
better

NA NA NA NA NA NA Finance 

E2
TBC - Money spent directly 
with suppliers in Sandwell (info 
not yet available)

Bigger is 
better

NA NA NA NA NA NA Finance 

E7b
Business receiving Financial 
Assistance or Grants

Bigger is 
better

NA 5% NA NA 3
Targets for this PI have been profiled throughout the year 
(Q2 - 20, Q3- 60, Q4 - 70). The Grants programme will be 
launched in August 2023.

Regeneration

P
age 691



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

E10 Employment rate (nomis)
Bigger is 
better

NA 5%
63.9%

(Jan 22 - Dec 
22)

64%
(Oct 21 - Sep 

22)

72.7%
(Jan 21 - Dec 

21)

Data provided is the latest available.

In Sandwell, of the 68% of people economically active, 63.9% 
are employed. For the West Midlands, 77.5% are 
economically active with 73.8% in employment and for Great 
Britain, 78.5% are economically active, with 75.6% in 
employment. The employment rate has been on a downward 
trajectory since March 2021 when it peaked at 74%. 

Regeneration

E11a
The number of work 
experience placements

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% 21 TBC TBC
There are a higher number of work experience placements in 
July so a larger figure will be reported in Q2.

HR

E11b
The number of supported 
internships

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% NA NA NA This PI is under development. HR

E11c
Number of apprentices (see 
note 2)

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% 53

47
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

The number of apprentices has increased since year end 
22/23. 

HR

E11d

The number of graduates on 
the Sandwell Management 
Graduate Programme (see note 
3) 

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC 2

5
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

The Council has a number of graduates starting as part of the 
National Graduate Development Programme (NGDP) in 
September so performance will improve this year. 

HR

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell

A2d/DSS5
The number of road safety 
improvement schemes (c)

Bigger is 
better

2 5% 3 NA NA - New PI

We have completed 1 more scheme this quarter than target.  
The Road Safety Schemes completed include Tollhouse Way, 
Smethwick - Cycle Infrastructure Scheme Phase 3, 
Wednesbury Town Centre Heritage Action Zone and Active 
Travel Improvements, Zebra Crossing – Hobs Road, 
Wednesbury.  

Borough Economy

One Team One Council

O1b
Average working days lost per 
employee due to sickness 
absence (FTE)

Smaller is 
better

2.24 days 5% 2.87 days NA - C 2.74 days

Sickness levels have increased for the last two consecutive 
years since the coronavirus pandemic began in 2020-21. 
Housing and Regeneration and Growth have achieved a 
reduction in sickness compared to last year. All other 
directorates have seen an marginal increase apart from 
Borough Economy who encountered the highest increase. 
The most significant increase is for stress related sickness and 
a decrease in infections. 

HR

P
age 692



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O4c
Average satisfaction rating 
from members using the 
Councillor portal

Bigger is 
better

4.5 / 5 5% 4.08 / 5 4.11/5 3.39/5

The average rating for this quarter incorporates outgoing 
Cllrs and incoming Cllrs.  Training for the portal was given to 
new Cllrs on  25/07 and 03/08.  From 04/05 (election day) to 
03/08, not all Cllrs may have been accessing the portal, which 
will have impacted performance figures. In addition, not all 
Members leave a rating. 

Law and 
Governance 

O8e
Adults Contact Centre Average 
Wait Measure

Smaller is 
better

30 seconds 5% 1 min 9 secs 1 min 4 secs 31 secs

Increased average wait from same point last year and last 
quarter due to staff absences and the vacancies. There are 
staff shortages and a number of vacancies within the team 
(3.1 FTE permanent vacancies and 4.2 FTE temporary or fixed 
term vacancies - equates to 31% of staffing). Additional 
resources were granted on a fixed term basis which have 
proved difficult to recruit to - agency is now being sought. 
 The passing of an agent has also meant reduced capacity and 
impacted morale. 

ASC

O8f
Revs and Bens Contact Centre 
Abandonment Rate

Smaller is 
better

8% 5% 8.60% 8.40% 19.20% Finance

O8g
Revs and Bens Contact Centre 
Average Wait Measure

Smaller is 
better

3 minutes 
30 seconds

5%
5 minutes 28 

seconds
6 min 43 sec 14 mins Finance

Performance is slightly above target but this is affected by 
large amounts of calls in April following annual billing. 
Performance has improved since this time last year and since 
last quarter and is expected to improve further moving 
forwards (however, in July we are trialling more customers 
being allowed to que to speak to an advisor and this may 
affect performance). There have been a number of new staff 
join the team and we have 4 further new starters in 
September, as well as better utilisation of staff resource to 
ensure backlogs are reduced, the triage system is embedded, 
appointment requests are utilised and a livechat service has 
been introduced that customers are using and the feedback 
so far has been positive. 

P
age 693



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O8h
Corporate Contact Centre 
Abandonment Rate

Smaller is 
better

8% 5% 13.21% 12.39% 5.96%

Corporate Contact Centre: 12.25%, Rents: 24.69%, Call Out: 
2.95%. (Performance would be 12.25% Excluding Rents & Call 
Out, which are included in the performance figure but not 
managed by the Corporate Contact Centre).

Performance is above target for both the Abandonment Rate 
and Average Wait. This is because of  continued staff 
vacancies (9 posts - 12.16%) and sickness (7.4%). in the 
Corporate Contact Centre.

The contact centre will continue to operate a rolling 
recruitment programme and have already carried out 3 
recruitment drives in the first quarter. We are currently 
creating a video to show prospective candidates the role of a 
Customer Service Advisor in the Contact Centre to encourage 
the right applicants to apply for the roles. This will be 
included as a link on West Midlands Jobs and on the council 
social media channels. We are also ensuring the Councils 

Regeneration

O8i
Corporate Contact Centre 
Average Call Wait
(also a service standard)

Smaller is 
better

3 minutes 
30 seconds

5%
5 mins
37 secs

4 mins 54 
secs

2 mins 37 
secs

Corporate Contact Centre 5 mins 52 secs, Rents 3 mins 33 
secs, Call Out 2mins, 7 secs (Performance would be 5 mins 52 
secs including Rents and Call Out which are included in the 
performance figure but not managed by the Corporate 
Contact Centre). 

Please see above comment in relation to the abandonment 

Regeneration

O8l
SARs compliance with 
timescales

Bigger is 
better

95% 5% 78% 54% 75%

We are aware of an increase of SARs within Housing due to 
Solicitors utilising the SAR process as a mechanism for 
obtaining records to pursue Housing Disrepair Claims (HDR). 
This has negatively impacted the statistics, however this is 
being managed by the Governance Team, Housing and Legal 
Services.

Similarly we are aware of resource issues within Adults which 
is negatively impacting the statistics.

Law and 
Governance

O8n FOI compliance with timescales
Bigger is 
better

95% 5% 80% 88% 66%

We have seen a reduction in our compliance with FOI 
requests from the previous quarter however there is a 
improvement on our stats for the same time last year. During 
Q 1 there was an influx of FOI requests in Housing. There are 
also resource issues in ASC and Finance which has had a 
negative impact on performance. 

Law and 
Governance

P
age 694



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O8p
% of complaints responded to 
in 10 working days (c)
(also service standard) 

Bigger is 
better

90% 5%
52.29% 
(54.05% 

excluding ASC)

NA
(c)

70.18%

(The overall figure includes ASC complaints which do not 
have 10 working day completion targets. The second figure 
excludes ASC complaints.)

The % of complaints responded to in 10 working days is 
below target and worse than Q1 last year.  

In a bid to enhance customer satisfaction and improve 
complaint resolution,  the Customer Feedback Team (CFT) 
assists all directorates to respond promptly to corporate 
complaints within a 10-day timeframe.  The Customer 
Feedback Team employs a customer-centric approach, 
prioritising timely responses without compromising on 
quality. In instances where a complaint requires further 
investigation or involves multiple directorates, the CFT take 
the lead in coordinating and maintaining clear 
communication channels. This proactive approach prevents 
delays and helps to minimise customer frustration.  The 
Customer Feedback Team is setting the benchmark for 
efficient complaint resolution, other departments and 
directorates are encouraged to adopt a similar One Council- 
One Team approach, to address customer concerns promptly 
across the council.

Regeneration

O11d
Business Rates Collection rates 
(c)

bigger is better 32.87% 5% 29.42% NA 32.87%

Collection is down on last year however due to revaluation 
there is more debt to collect. Collection for 22/23 was also 
higher due to the affect of the team awarding £6m in Covid 
Additional Relief fund onto accounts which increased 
collection rates so the two years are no directly comparable. 
Compared to last year the difference in collection is just over 
3% and at the end of May it was over 6% so difference is 
reducing.

Finance 

O11a
Variance from budget - General 
Fund

smaller is 
better

5% 5%
£6.309m 

overspend
-£400k

£2.2m 
overspend

There is over £6m of overspend this quarter. Work is being 
undertaken to bring this down. Potential underspends may 
reduce overall position.

Finance 

O3

Completion of the Audit and 
Assessment against the  
Equality Framework for Local 
Government (completed by 
June/July).

NA
July 

completion
NA Completed NA NA

Audit and Assessment to be considered by LT on 8 Aug. 
Following this audit further performance measures will be 
consider and developed as part of the LGA Equalities 
Framework. 

Law and 
Governance 

P
age 695



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O4e No. of Standards Complaints
Smaller is 

better
NA 5% 2 2 4

Nature of the complaints are low level. No specific trends 
emerging.

Law and 
Governance 

O4b
Members to undertake a 
minimum of 10 hours of 
development annually

Bigger is 
better

30% 5% 34.72% NA- new NA- new
As at Q1, we have 34.72% of members who have already 
achieved the 10 hours of development activity – this equates 
to 25 out of the 72 members. The year-end target is 90%. 

O8d
Adults Contact Centre 
Abandonment Rate

Smaller is 
better

6% 5% 3.52% 3% 1.57%

Abandonment rate whilst below target, has increased 
compared to this time last year and last quarter. This is due 
to a shortage of staff and a number of vacancies within the 
team. Additional resources were granted on a fixed term 
basis which have proved difficult to recruit to - agency is now 
being sought. All other substantive vacancies are in the 
recruitment process. 

ASC

O11c Council Tax Collection  (c)
Bigger is 
better

28.30% 5% 28.41% NA 28.30% Collection is up on same time last year Finance 

O11e Sundry Debt Collection (c)
Bigger is 
better

41.43% 5% 67.44% NA 41.43%

Performance has improved; however, invoices issued for the 
first 14 days are not included (as of the 1/4/2023). The 
service are allowing residents 14 days to pay rather than the 
invoice being considered due for payment immediately. 
Therefore, performance figures are not comparable to last 
year but have been included for information. 

Finance 

O11f
Prior year Council Tax 
collection (c)

Bigger is 
better

93% 5% 93% NA 94%
On target, will look to change this to a monetary value for 
next quarter - i.e. what's been collected this year for previous 
years

Finance 

O11g
Prior year Business Rates 
Collection (c)

Bigger is 
better

96% 5% 97% NA 97%
Up on target, will look to change this to a monetary value for 
next quarter - i.e. what's been collected this year for previous 
years

Finance 

O11h/SI66a
Rent collected as a % of rent 
due

Bigger is 
better

Q1 - 94.25% 5% 94.93% 95.86% 95.21%

Targets for this indicator have been profiled throughout the 
year. The Q1 outturn has exceeded the Q1 target, however 
this is slightly down on the same position last year at 95.21%. 
This outturn includes the arrears brought forward from the 
previous year. If these are excluded the outturn is 98.67%.

Finance 

O11i % of invoices paid on time
Bigger is 
better

95% 5% 97.00% 97% 77% Good performance is being maintained against this indicator. Finance 

P
age 696



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O11b
Variance from budget - Housing 
Revenue Account

smaller in 
better

5% 5%
-£472k 

underspend
-£350k

£0.8m 
underspend

The spend is within target this quarter. Finance 

O1c
The percentage of top 5% of 
earners that are women

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC 53.60%

53.2%
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

There is no target at present so this cannot be 'RAG rated, 
but performance has improved compared to the annual 
position for Q4 2022/23

HR

O1d
The percentage of top 5% of 
earners from black and 
minority ethnic Communities

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC 23.60%

23.6%
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

There is no target at present so this cannot be 'RAG rated, 
but performance has stayed consistent with the annual 
position for Q4 2022/23. 

HR

O1e
The percentage of top 5% of 
earners who have a disability 
(see note 1)

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC 1.80%

1.9%
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

There is no target at present so this cannot be 'RAG rated, 
but performance has got worse compared to the annual 
position for Q4 2022/23. 

HR

O1g
The percentage Disabled 
employees (see note 1)

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC 4.40% 4.30%
NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

There is no target at present so this cannot be 'RAG rated, 
but performance has improved compared to the annual 
position for Q4 2022/23

HR

O1h
The percentage Ethnic Minority 
employees

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% 25.40%

25.1%
(Annual 
position 
22/23)

NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.

There is no target at present so this cannot be 'RAG rated, 
but performance has improved compared to the annual 
position for Q4 2022/23

HR

O1i

The percentage leavers from 
Sandwell Council (aligned to 
WME definition from 2021/22 
onwards).

smaller is 
better

TBC 5% 2.80%
NA - 

Cumulative
NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.
The year end position for 2022/23 was 10.1%. 

HR

O1j
The percentage new starters to 
Sandwell Council (include 
apprentices)

Bigger is 
better

TBC 5% 4.90%
NA - 

Cumulative
NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly.
The year end position for 2022/23 was 10.9%. 

HR

O11j
PI being developed on social 
value (info not yet available)

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA Finance 

O1m
Number of formal disciplinary 
investigations

smaller is 
better

TBC TBC 4
NA - 

Cumulative
NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly and will not 
be measured cumulatively (although it was previously). 

At year end 2022/23 there were 21 formal disciplinary 
investigations. 

HR

P
age 697



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O1n
Number of formal grievance 
cases

smaller is 
better

TBC TBC 8
NA - 

Cumulative
NA - was 
annual

For 2023/24 this PI will be measured quarterly and will not 
be measured cumulatively (although it was previously). 

At year end 2022/23 there were 32 formal grievance cases.

HR

O1o
Employee Engagement Score 
(overall)

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA
The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O1p
I am proud to work for the 
council

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA
The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O1q
I would recommend this 
council as a good place to work

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA
The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O1r
I feel a strong sense of 
belonging to this council

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA
The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O1s
Considering everything, I am 
satisfied to be working for this 
council

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O1t
This council motivates me to do 
more than is normally required 
in my work

Bigger is 
better

TBC TBC NA NA NA The next survey will be run in September and the results will 
be available by the end of Q3. 

HR

O4d Member PDPs completed Bigger is 
better

80% 5% NA 27% NA
No PDP's were completed in Q1. For 2023/24 these will take 
place  October- December and will be included in the Q3 
report. 

Law and 
Governance 

O8a Contact by Channel
NA - awaiting 

strategy
NA NA

Telephone: 
152,150

MySandwell: 
234,246

Face to face: 
14,503

Email: 11,571

168,450 - T
184,089 - 

MS
16,071 - F2F

12,954 - E

152,894 - T
202,333 - MS
15,656 - F2F
10,656 - E

Regeneration

O8b % Contact by channel
NA - awaiting 

strategy
NA NA

Telephone: 
37%

MySandwell: 
57%

Face to face: 
3%

Email: 3%

44% T
48% MS
4% F2F

3% E

40% T
53% MS
4% F2F
3% - E

Regeneration

O8c
Satisfaction from process 
submissions (out of 5)

Bigger is 
better

NA - 
Establishing 

baseline
NA

4.58 out of 5
(37,874 total 

ratings)
NA NA

Rating is collected at time of initial submission through 
MySandwell.

Regeneration

The number of customer contracts via My Sandwell has 
increased significantly over the last year; at the same time 
the number of telephone contacts has decreased, illustrating 
that the use of My Sandwell is alleviating pressure on front-
line services. There has also been a general increase in the 
number of customer contacts via My Sandwell which has 
increased the number of customer contacts overall. 
However, the number of customer contacts on My Sandwell 
that require a response has remained consistent, suggesting 
that customers are finding answers to their queries online. 
Also the requirement for tip bookings, bin day service 
reminders etc. has increased the number of contacts on My 
Sandwell. 

P
age 698



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

O8j Ombudsman Numbers Upheld
Smaller is 

better
NA 5% 7 5 5

Housing Ombudsman: We have received 2 fault cases in Q1 
(these cases were from 2021, with one still in progress).
Local Government Ombudsman: For the LGO we have 
received 5 fault cases this quarter (these cases are from last 
year and 1 from the 1st quarter, consisting of 3 Adults, 1 
Housing and 1 Childrens).

Regeneration

O8k SARs volumes
Smaller is 

better
NA NA 62 51 48

There is no target for the number of SARs received as this 
can't be controlled.

Law and 
Governance

O8m FOI volumes
Smaller is 

better
NA  NA 274 300 297

There is no target for the number of FOIs received as this 
can't be controlled.

Law and 
Governance

O8o
Numbers of complaints 
received

Smaller is 
better

NA  NA

1,046 
(Stage 1's: 

1,004 
Stage 2's: 42)

916
(S1- 862 S2- 

54)

996
 (S1 -951 S2- 

45)

The number of stage 1 complaints has increased in Q1 
compared to last quarter and Q1 last year, driving up the 
number of complaints received overall. 

Regeneration

O8q
Numbers of stage 1 and stage 2 
Complaints upheld

Smaller is 
better

NA NA
229

(Stage 1 - 224 
Stage 2 - 5)

250
(S1 – 243 S2 -

7)

378
(S1 - 374 S2- 

4) 

There are fewer complaints upheld this quarter compared to 
last quarter and Q1 last year. 

Regeneration

O8r
Number of MP Enquiries 
received

Smaller is 
better

NA NA 673 636 620
The number of MP enquiries has increased in Q1 compared 
to last quarter and quarter 1 last year. 

Regeneration

O8s
Numbers of compliments 
received

Bigger is 
better

NA NA 112 111 111 The number of compliments received remains consistent. Regeneration

O8t
Satisfaction with Member 
Enquiries - the average 
satisfaction rating of a response

Bigger is 
better

NA - 
Establishing 

baseline
NA 4.84 New KPI New KPI Score is out of 5. This has been based on 19 responses. Regeneration

O8u Lessons learnt from Complaints NA NA NA

108 complaints 
looked into to 

see what 
lessons had 
been learnt

NA NA

This is an ongoing piece of work. The Customer Feedback 
Team have looked into a number of complaints in Q1, 
however at the moment no themes have been identified. A 
new system that allows for better analysis will make this 
exercise a lot quicker and easier. 

Regeneration

O10
Placeholder - development of 
further metrics as part of 
corporate governance plan. 

TBC TBC TBC NA NA Na
Metrica around decision-making are being developed and will 
be part of the Phase 2 development of Mod.Gov

Law and 
Governance 

P
age 699



CP & D 
reference

CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

Note 1 -  Disability is currently held in two places: Core HR Module and Employee Self Service (ESS) –  Above data is from Core HR as ESS is only part (43%) complete - in Fusion only ESS data will be available.
Note 2 - This metric is mainly limited to entry level apprenticeships recruited externally as a possible future talent pipeline.  Higher level Apprentices (Level 4-7) who are internal employees are excluded.
Note 3 – Identified from the position title – these will be technical / specialist graduates who have been recruited/ managed within individual service areas.

P
age 700



Corporate Performance Report Q1 2023/24 Annual PIs

Rag Rating
Green
Amber Worse than target but within target tolerance
Red

CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L14c/1E (formerly 
3B) 

Overall 
satisfaction of 
carers with 
social services 
(for them and 
for the person 
they care for) 

Bigger is 
better

39%
(2023/24)

35%
(tolerance 

score)
Biennial Biennial PI

35.5%
(2021/22)

A target of 39 has been set for 
2023/24, which was the same target 
from 2021/22.

ASC

L20a/3B (formerly 
3C)

The proportion 
of carers who 
reported that 
they have been 
involved in 
discussions 
about the 
person they care 
for

Bigger is 
better

71%
(2023/24)

65%
(tolerance 

score)
Biennial Biennial PI

55.1%
(2021/22)

A target of 71% for 2023-24 has 
been carried forward from 2021-22.

ASC

On or better than target
DOT Direction of travel - comparator to previous quarter and the 

same quarter in the previous year
Worse than target and outside the target tolerance

People Live Well and Age Well

P
age 701



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

L21a/6A

The proportion 
of staff in the 
formal care 
workforce 
leaving their role 
in the past 12 
months 

Smaller is 
better

TBC TBC New PI NA NA
This is a new measure for 2023/24. 
This is an annual PI

ASC

C2a

West Bromwich 
Town 
Investment Plan 
delivered
(target 2026)

Bigger is 
better

2 5% Annual NA NA

Sandwell Mechanical Engineering 
Centre - Construction completes 
August 2023.                                                                            
Urban Greening project - Completes 
March 2024. 

Regeneration

C2b

Smethwick Town 
Investment Plan 
delivered (target
2026)

Bigger is 
better

2 5% Annual NA NA

Smethwick Connected Project 
completes March 2024. Ron Davis 
Centre Construction completed April 
2023.

Regeneration

C2c

Rowley Regis 
Town 
Investment Plan 
delivered (target
2026)

Bigger is 
better

1 5% Annual NA NA
Canal Network Connectivity Project 
completes March 2024.

Regeneration

C5b

Green Space 
Published 
Programme of 
Works Achieved

Bigger is 
better

90% 5% Annual New PI New PI NA Borough Economy

Stong Resilient Communities

P
age 702



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

C5c

Britannia Park 
Town's Fund 
Project 
Completed

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% Annual New PI New PI NA Borough Economy

C5d

West Smethwick 
Park NLHF 
Project 
Completed

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% 80% New PI New PI NA Borough Economy

C5e

Black Patch Park 
Levelling Up 
Fund Project 
Completed

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% Annual New PI New PI NA Borough Economy

C10c

Forge Mill Farm 
Centre of 
Excellence - Play 
and Learning
Barn Completed

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

C10d
Sandwell Valley 
Urban Bike Track 
Completed

Bigger is 
better

Project completed NA Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

C10e
Enabled funding 
target through 
Friends Groups

Bigger is 
better

£30,000 5% Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

H1a
Number of new 
homes built 
each year

Bigger is 
better

550 5% Annual NA NA NA Regeneration

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods

P
age 703



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

H1b

Number of new 
council homes 
built p.a. 
(Council house 
new build 
programme and 
the high rise 
programme) 

Bigger is 
better

19 5% Annual NA NA NA Regeneration

H1c

Number of 
affordable 
homes delivered 
in total per 
annum 
(including 
council homes) 

Bigger is 
better

69 5% Annual NA NA NA Regeneration

H3a

% of new builds 
meeting 
accessible and 
adaptable 
standards 
(Council house 
new build 
programme)

Bigger is 
better

100% 5% Annual NA NA NA Regeneration

P
age 704



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

H17 / TP01

Satisfaction with 
the overall 
service provided 
(Tenant 
satisfaction 
survey)

Bigger is 
better

70% 5% Annual N/A
68% Yr. 
22/23

Housing

H1/H17/TP05

Satisfaction that 
home is safe 
(Tenant 
satisfaction 
survey)

Bigger is 
better

78% 5% Annual N/A
76% Yr. 
22/23

Housing

H17 / TP04

Satisfaction that 
home is well 
maintained 
(Tenant 
satisfaction 
survey)

Bigger is 
better

75% 5% Annual N/A
73% Yr. 
22/23

Housing

A Strong and Inclusive Economy

Results will come from the Tenant 
Satisfaction Survey which is likely to 
be reported in Quarter 3 23/24

P
age 705



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

E5

Local Plan 
progressed and 
successfully 
adopted in 
accordance with
the timeframe 
set out in the 
Local 
Development 
Scheme
(LDS) - target 
'timescale 
achieved'"

Bigger is 
better

Complete 
Regulation 
18 (Draft 

Plan) 
Consultatio

n

5% Annual NA NA NA Regeneration

E6a

No. of 
Regeneration 
Pipeline projects 
in Concept Stage 

Bigger is 
better

19 NA Annual NA NA Regeneration

E6b

No. of 
Regeneration 
Pipeline projects 
in Business Case 
Stage 

Bigger is 
better

3 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

E6c

No. of 
Regeneration 
Pipeline projects 
in Delivery Stage 

Bigger is 
better

7 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

It is critical to note that not all 
pipeline projects are within council 

control and as such their progression 
through the pipeline stages is not 

wholly accountable to the 
Directorate or the Council. They can 
therefore not be considered 'targets' 

more as forecasts with updates on 
progression. The Regeneration 

Pipeline figures reflect Regeneration 
& Towns Fund projects only - 

P
age 706



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

E6d

No. of 
Regeneration 
Pipeline projects 
On-Site

Bigger is 
better

22 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

E6e

No. of 
Regeneration 
Pipeline projects 
Complete

Bigger is 
better

5 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell

A2a/HAS1

The % of our 
unclassified 
carriageways in 
Red Risk 
condition

Smaller is 
better

<20% 5% Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

A2b/HAS9

National 
Highways and 
Transportation 
Public 
Satisfaction

Bigger is 
better

Top 15% for 
maintenanc

e 
(nationally)

5% Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

A2c/DSS3
Reduce number 
of all road traffic 
injuries

Smaller is 
better

<800 5% Annual NA NA NA Borough Economy

A5

The number of 
passenger 
journeys on 
public transport 
(bus service 
only)

Bigger is 
better

NA NA Annual NA NA This PI relates to Bus Service Only. Regeneration

& Towns Fund projects only - 
transport projects excluded from the 

figures. 

P
age 707



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

A7a

No. of Transport 
projects in the 
Regeneration 
Pipeline in 
Concept Stage 

Bigger is 
better

6 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

A7b

No. of Transport 
projects in the 
Regeneration 
Pipeline in 
Business Case 
Stage 

Bigger is 
better

5 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

A7c

No. of Transport 
projects in the 
Regeneration 
Pipeline in 
Delivery Stage 

Bigger is 
better

2 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

A7d

No. of Transport 
projects in the 
Regeneration 
Pipeline On-Site

Bigger is 
better

1 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

A7e

No. of Transport 
projects in the 
Regeneration 
Pipeline 
Complete.

Bigger is 
better

1 5% Annual NA NA Regeneration

It is critical to note that not all 
transportation projects are in the 
control of the council

P
age 708



CP & D reference CP Indicator 

Value
(Bigger is 
better or 
smaller is 

better)

Target
Target 

Tolerance
Performance

DOT
(Short 

term - last 
quarter)

DOT
(long term - 
same point 
last year)

Commentary Directorate 

A8

The number of 
on-street 
residential EV 
charging points 
installed

Bigger is 
better

74 5% Annual NA NA

Part of a Black Country wide project 
installing around 250 chargers. 
Installation rests with the 
commercial operator that won the 
contract who is contractually obliged 
to deliver them by March 2024.

Regeneration

One Team One Council

O5a

% of residents 
agreeing that 
your local area is 
a place where 
people from 
different 
backgrounds get 
on well together

Bigger is 
better

77% NA Annual NA NA NA
Service 

Improvement

O5b

% residents 
satisfied with 
how Sandwell 
Council runs 
things

Bigger is 
better

66% NA Annual NA NA NA
Service 

Improvement

O1k
Gender Pay Gap 
Median

smaller is 
better

0% TBC NA NA NA NA HR

O1l
Gender Pay Gap 
Mean

smaller is 
better

0% TBC NA NA NA NA HR

P
age 709



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Strategic Risk Register @ September 2023 
    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1. Best start in 
life for children 

and young 
people 

     
2. People live 
well and age 

well 

3. Strong resilient 
communities 

4. Quality homes in 
thriving 

neighbourhoods 

5. A strong and 
inclusive 
economy 

6. A connected 
and accessible 

Sandwell 

      

Page 711



 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

4 
07/12 

Children’s Social Care 
If the council does not put in place robust arrangements and 
receive appropriate assurances to ensure that the Sandwell 
Children’s Trust (SCT) addresses the areas of poor or 
inconsistent performance, as outlined by Ofsted (and as 
required by the Statutory Direction served on the council on 6 
October 2016), with rigour and pace, then the council will fail in 
its responsibilities to: 
• Safeguard vulnerable children 
• Promote and improve the outcomes of children in its care 
• Manage any adverse financial consequences arising from 

the failure to create favourable outcomes for children 
within the resources available to it  

• Continue on its progress to date and direction of travel to 
further improve the council’s reputation for children’s 
social care as currently demonstrated by the ILACS 
inspection. 

 
Risk Area – Children’s Services 
Risk Owners – Director of Children and Education 
Objectives impacted: 1 

8 
(amber) 

 

 8 
(amber) 

 

4 
(green) 
Good  

Outcome of 
ILACS 

inspection by 
May 2025 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Performance and contract management against KPIs and the improvement plan. The KPIs have been reviewed (to 

take effect from autumn 2023) as part of the contract review process and have taken into account the Ofsted findings, 
as well as any findings from the recent national Care Review commissioned by the DfE around early help, children’s 
social care and partner collaboration. 

• The most recent Ofsted inspection of the Fostering service rated all areas as ‘Good’. 
• Completion of case file audits and learning from the audit is used to ensure practice improvement.  
• Ongoing measures to improve staffing levels and recruitment via the development of a workforce strategy and market 

supplements. 
• The Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) took place in May 2022 and reported a judgement of 

‘Requires Improvement to be Good’ and continues to inform the risk score. 
• Contract review commenced in April 2022 resulting in a recommendation being made to the Secretary of State not to 

invoke the break clause within the Service Delivery Contract. 
Further actions 
• Embedment of the multi agency early help strategy which was launched in March 2022 (ongoing).  
• Consideration of the impact of the government’s full response to the Josh McAllister Care Review once published 

which government stated would be later this year. 
The acute shortage of social care workers (which is the position locally and nationally) continues to impact this risk despite 
actions being taken as noted in risk 064 below. 

Operational Partnership and Strategic Partnership 
Boards 
Ofsted monitoring visits 
Improvement Board 
Sandwell Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
Annual Report 
Grant Thornton – Value for Money Governance 
Review 2021 
Reports to Scrutiny  
ILACS Ofsted inspection July  
2022 
Independent Reviewing Officer function 
Rolling programme of audits of case files as part of 
the quality assurance framework 
Performance Management framework and Service 
Delivery Contract  
SCT business plan  
SCT external audit report 
Key Performance Indicators (including social 
worker vacancy rates) 
LG Futures benchmarking exercise 
Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review - Follow Up- December 2022 
Corporate Parenting Board 
 

 6b 
04/18 

Business Continuity Management  
If the council does not develop, review, monitor and test plans 
and capabilities that seek to maintain the continuity of key 
functions in the event of an unplanned disruptive incident, 
then it will be unable to perform critical business functions 
which will impact the provision of council services and result 
in potential financial loss and loss of public confidence in the 
council. 
 

Risk Area – All Council services 
Risk owner – Director of Borough Economy 
Objectives impacted: All  

12 
(red) 

 

 8 
(amber) 

 
 

8 
(amber) 

Achieved 
 
 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Business continuity plans are in place to mitigate the denial of staff (e.g. illness, industrial action), ICT (e.g. software 

failure, cyber-attack), facilities (e.g. building closure), stakeholders (e.g. suppliers, partners). These plans identify the 
criticality of each council service and the arrangements in place to restore services in the event of an unplanned 
incident.  

• The pandemic has provided some assurance around the robustness and effectiveness of the continuity of key 
functions over the last few years, through a shift to working remotely. 

• Following the incident in the ICT suite in May 2022 the council continues to revisit its resilience arrangements- in 
particular in relation to its Oracle business system, to ensure robust measures are in place to reduce both the 
likelihood and impact of a similar risk materialising in the future. Details in respect of the actions taken were presented 
to the Committee in November 2022. 

• All directorates have now reviewed the BCP to incorporate any learning from the ICT incident noted above.  
Further actions 
• Support from the cyber team to work with the resilience team to further improve all service area business continuity 

plans (ongoing). This is in progress and a workshop was held with Housing in July 2023 which focussed on resilience 
planning in relation to cyber security. 
 

Emergency Committee 
 
Resilience team reports to Leadership Team 
 
Post incident reports 
 
Test exercises including cyber exercise  
 
Computer room incident report to ARAC Nov 2022 

21a 
06/15 

Compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018), 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA)  
If the council does not ensure it has a robust framework in 
place to comply with the DPA 2018 (which includes GDPR) or 
FOIA then it faces significant external action from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office for failing to undertake its 
statutory duty.  Further, failing to comply could result in 
negative public reaction and reputational damage, significant 
monetary penalties, loss of confidential data and potentially 
legal action. 
 
Risk Area – Legal & Governance  
Risk Owner- Director of Law and Governance 
Objectives impacted: 3 
 
 
 

12 
(red) 

 
 

12 
(red) 

 

8 
(amber) 

March 2024 
(officers) 

 
    March 2024 

(members) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• The Information Governance Board which is chaired by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) or Data Protection 

Officer (DPO) meets monthly to monitor progress of the information governance (IG) workplan. 
• IG framework sets out the council’s policies, requirements, standards and best practice that apply to the handling of 

information. 
• Information Asset Registers capture the information held by the council service areas. 
• Information champions disseminate, feedback, facilitate and co-ordinate IG activity.  
• Annual completion of and compliance with the NHS self- assessment toolkit -NHS Digital which demonstrates the 

council processes in place to meet the requirements of the NHS’s data protection standards and sharing 
arrangements. 

• Annual mandatory data protection and cyber security training is entrained for all staff. 
• Compliance with the Council’s data retention policy, which is reviewed regularly. 
• Improved performance and monitoring arrangements for compliance with FOI and SAR responses. 
• Improved performance and monitoring arrangements for compliance with FOI and SAR responses. The Governance 

team report on performance to the IG Board and to Leadership Team on a quarterly basis. The latest statistics show 
that compliance continues to improve. The measures put in place in by the Council’s Information Governance Team 
are working and need to continue and be built upon. 

Further actions 
• A further programme of work to ensure compliance by elected members will now commence in Autumn/Winter 2023, 

which will be completed by April 2024. 
• The procurement and embedment of a new case management system for FOIs and SARs. Proposals assessed and 

agreed in principle by the Capital and Asset Management Board in May 2023. However, a review as to whether a joint 
procurement of both a new corporate Customer Relationship Management System in support of the customer journey 
and new FOI/SAR case management system is now to be considered. Strategic Finance to then assess the business 
case and funding options.  

Information Governance Board 
Information Champions 
Data Protection Officer 
Information asset registers 
Information Commissioner’s Office 
Internal Audit reviews 
Information incident log 
Performance data on compliance with FOI and 
SAR responses to Leadership Team and directors 

P
age 712

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80549
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10765/08%20-%20Sandwell%20Childrens%20Trust%20Contract%20Review.pdf
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/final-report/
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=157
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgReasonsRestricted.aspx?ID=11525&OID=3067&OT=A&RPID=534858&BM=AI3067


 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

• Further improvement is still necessary in response times of FOI requests, with a target of 95% compliance which 
continues to impact on the current risk rating.   

 

42a 
02/17 

Cyber Security 
The public sector continues to be the target of significant, 
sophisticated and increasingly frequent cyber-attack with these 
intent on causing service disruption or disclosure of sensitive 
data. If the council does not invest additional and sufficient 
financial resources into a cyber security resilience programme, 
then it will remain at significant exposure of receiving a 
successful cyber-attack. The consequences will be: 

• The inability of the council and SCT to deliver some 
or all services, particularly critical services for a 
significant period of time, ranging from days to 
months 

• The loss of corporate and sensitive personal data 
(including bank details)  

• Enforcement action 
• Significant financial loss  
• Employee stress; and 
• Reputational damage 

 Additionally, the council will be: 
• Unable to meet sector defined standards and 

compliance for cyber resilience e.g. PSN 
• Unable to share and collaborate with partner 

organisations in a joined-up manner as the council 
will not be viewed as a trusted partner 

Risk Area – Information Governance and ICT 
Risk Owner – Director of Finance 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 
 

12  
(red) 

 

8 
(amber) 

Sept 2024 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Participation in national cyber resilience programmes run by organisations such as DLUHC, LGA and the NCSC 
• Close collaboration between the ICT Service and the council’s Information Governance Team to develop a 

holistic approach to information protection 
• Appropriate technical controls to protect the council’s network perimeter and information assets 
• Updates and progress reports as requested to the Leadership Team and Corporate Scrutiny Board. 
• Training for all staff through the implementation of the annual online training. 
• Regular communications continue to be sent to employees pertaining to protecting themselves and the council 

from emerging and new cyber security threats. 
• Attendance at national C-TAG forum, DLUHC cyber clinics and West Midlands Warning, Advice and Reporting 

Point (WARP) where members can receive and share up-to-date advice on information security threats, 
incidents and solutions. 

• Subscription to relevant cyber intelligence threat reports providing early warning of emerging threats, 
vulnerabilities and trends. 

• Use of the Active Cyber Defence and Early Warning tools provided by the National Cyber Security Centre. 
• An ongoing programme addressing the retirement and upgrade of obsolete and unsupported technology 

platforms 
• Annual ICT Health Check and Network Penetration Test 
• Implementation of a 3rd party managed Security Operations Centre to detect potential threats within the council’s 

ICT environment providing timely alerts 24 hours a day 
• Establishment of a Cyber Resilience Governance Board as part of revised ICT governance arrangements 

Further actions  
• Reprofile remaining cyber budget following one-off saving due to identified budget pressure  
• Adopt the NCSC Cyber Assessment Framework (CAF) as a methodology across the public sector for 

demonstrating adequate and consistent cyber hygiene (April 2024 – timeline determined externally by DLUHC) 
• Develop a PCI-DSS improvement programme to identify the gaps in compliance across all council credit and 

debit card payment channels April 2024 
• Redefined governance structure to provide oversight of ongoing improvement programme following allocation of 

additional cyber funding (May 2023) 
• Development and maintenance of incident playbooks to activate in response to adverse cyber activity (March 

2024) 
• LGA Cyber 360 review to be scheduled and reprofile Cyber Resilience Improvement Programme (Dec 2023) 
• Undertake a Business Continuity Reaction Exercise in conjunction with LGA service offer (January 2024) 
• Technology Modernisation Programme to ensure all ICT assets are up to date, in support and patchable – 

includes storage, server and end points i.e. laptops (April 2025) 
• Council endorsement of a corporate cyber resilience strategy (April 2024) 
• Appointment of a cyber lead to assist with the development of the cyber resilience strategy and overall 

improvement plan (April 2024) 
• Uplift of Microsoft Enterprise Agreement Licensing to Enterprise 5 (E5) at anniversary date which includes a full 

suite of security and compliance tools (April 2024) 
• Implementation of new E5 security tools (September 2024) 
• Evaluation of vulnerability monitoring options and subsequent implementation (March 2023) 

  
 

Cyber Board 
 
LGA Cyber Assessment  
 
NHS Digital 
 
PSN certification 
 
Audit Committee risk reviews 
 
Self- assessment against cyber principles 

 

 

56a 
06/22 

Towns Fund Programme (Delivery) 

If the council does not manage the programme to ensure that 
all projects are delivered to scope, time and budget ,then this 
could result in financial implications, the inability to regenerate 
our town centres, create sustainable economic growth and 
create long term economic prosperity, and also reputational 
harm to the council. 
 

Risk area- Regeneration and Growth 
Risk owner – Director of Regeneration and Growth 
Objectives impacted – 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 

6 
(green) 

 6 
(green) 

4 
(green) 

 
Programme 

completion of 
all projects 

and delivery of 
intended 
outcomes  

This risk sets out the next phase of the programme following the ministerial approvals received by the council for all 16 
business cases that were submitted. 
Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Robust governance in place to oversee the programme throughout the delivery phase including three Town Deal 

Boards (one per Town Deal Area), that have inherited Superboard roles and responsibilities. Revised governance 
arrangements for Delivery Phase were reviewed and approved by Cabinet in May 2022.  

• The council is the Accountable Body for the Town Deal funding. The Director of Regeneration and Growth chairs a 
Towns Fund Programme Board (which is also attended by the Director of Finance/ representative and officers from 
procurement and legal as well as all project leads) to review risks and provide a forum for resolution of issues, as well 
as seeking assurances on the management of risk.  

• Fortnightly engagement with advisors from DLUHC 
• Programme management arrangements in place including appointment of a permanent programme manager, 

programme support officer, dedicated monitoring officer resource, programme risk register and project risk registers 
for agreed business cases, which are updated quarterly. 

Further actions 
• Implement delivery phase of projects and programme plan. 
• Ongoing reviews of financial profiles to manage supply chain issues and implications of cost inflation. 

 

Town Deal Boards 
Department Of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) 
 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Deep Dive 
Jan 2022 
Scrutiny Reviews 
 
Monitoring and reporting of outcome indicators, 
with processes in place to manage changes and 
risks during delivery stage. 
 
 
 

57b Customer Journey 

The delivery of Council Services, including through the One 
Stop Shop, must meet the demand and needs of Customers, 
in order to avoid reputational damage to the Council. 

12 
(red) 

 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

Oct 2024 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• New operating model for council employees is well embedded across all service areas. 
• Customer journey is one of the key priorities of the corporate transformation programme.  
• Regular discussions and focus sessions have taken place at Leadership Team to address concerns and issues. 

Customer satisfaction survey 
 
Customer compliments and complaints system 
 

P
age 713



 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

 
Risk area- Corporate Customer 
Risk owner – Director of Regeneration and Growth 
Objectives impacted - All 

• Customer Journey Priority Focus Sessions are also being delivered to Cabinet. A Business Case has been developed 
for a new telephony system and this is being presented to Capital & Asset Management Board Feb 2023. 

• The MySandwell offer is continuously being developed. 
• Collection of Customer Satisfaction data is continuously being looked at and new methods trialled. 
• Customer Journey (CJ) is one of the key priorities of the corporate transformation programme.  
• The four main CJ Workstreams are:   

- Development of a Customer Experience Strategy 
- Review of Contact centres 
- Review of the One Stop Shop & exploration of a Community Hubs offer for face to face services in each Town.  

• Technology – review of all Customer related technology & identification of any gaps: procure delivery partner to 
replace the Council’s telephony system (achieved). 

Further actions 
• Continued stakeholder engagement, in particular within the One Stop Shop (Ongoing). 
• Additional capacity and resources to be identified to meet current demand for face to face services. 
• Pilot local hub concept in two areas of the Borough (March 2024) - in progress I West Brom and Blackheath 
• Ensure consistency of customer experience across the council and not just in some areas, as is currently the case 

(Oct 24). 
• Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board is looking at the customer journey as part of its current work programme 

(23/24). 

Local Government Ombudsman report 
 
Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board Review 
 
Monitoring, reporting & governance through the 
Customer Journey Programme Board which will 
report in to the Corporate Transformation Office 
and to the Cabinet Member 
 
Weekley reports to Leadership team on Member 
Portal performance. 
Incorporate recent recommendations from Budget 
and Corporate Scrutiny into the Customer Journey 
Action Plan 

58 
06/21 

Equalities 

If the council fails to meet its legal obligations in respect of the 
Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty ensuring 
fairness is adhered to and is unable to demonstrate and 
evidence compliance with its obligations, then this will result in 
potential legal consequences for non compliance, reputational 
harm to the council as well as potential impact on recruitment 
and retention. 

Risk area- Legal 
Risk owner – Director of Law and Governance 
Objectives impacted - 5 
 

9 
(amber) 

 8 
(amber) 

6 
(green) 

July 2024 
When EDI 
strategy 
complete 

Current, Ongoing Controls and Further actions 
• An Equality Diversity and Inclusion Commission has been set up with agreed Terms of Reference. 
• The EDI Commission will be chaired by the Leader of the council. 
• Four Stakeholder Groups, have been set up including an Ethnic Minority group; LGBT+ group, a Disabilities 

stakeholder group and a Women’s group. 
• Funding has been secured and posts recruited to.  
• Additional EDI consultant support has been secured to help drive the EDI agenda further. 
• A review of the Equality policy has been completed and was launched in December 2022, following Cabinet approval. 
• New equality impact assessment toolkit and guidance has been issued and launched in December 2022 and drop-in 

clinics taking place to ensure the council’s consultations and decision making will withstand scrutiny. 
• An action plan has been developed based on feedback provided by employees across the council along with gaps 

identified in the workforce diversity data as well as best practice put forward by other public-sector organisations.  
• A robust governance framework to help monitor and review the objectives and actions in the plan is also in place. 
• An Equalities Calendar has been developed and implemented that details many EDI events to raise awareness of the 

agenda. 
• Various events such as Black History Month, LGBTQ+ History Month have been successfully delivered leading to 

improved awareness and understanding. 
• The council continues to engage with WMCA in relation to its Race Equalities taskforce. 
• The LGA Equality Framework has been approved for use by Cabinet will be used to develop the council’s first EDI 

Single Framework Strategy. (Jul 24) 
• Refresh of the council’s Equality Objective was published in March 2023 
• An EDI Audit based on the LGA Equality Framework is being undertaken. The audit findings will feed into an EDI 

action plan (Oct 2023) 
• We are preparing a Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) service user report which will be published in September 

2023. 

Employee Engagement Survey 2022 
 
Sandwell Equalities Commission 
 
LGA Peer Review 

59a 
02/22 

Council’s Improvement Plan 

If the council does not put in place and successfully implement 
an improvement plan  to address the concerns raised  by the 
Secretary of State in respect of the council’s best value duty 
and the recommendations made by the recent external 
reviews carried out by the council’s external auditors, Grant 
Thornton, CIPFA and the LGA Peer Review then this may 
result in a loss of confidence in the council’s corporate 
governance arrangements, government intervention, future 
audits providing a qualified opinion, a lack of trust in the 
council’s ability to deliver its corporate priorities and 
reputational harm to the council.  

Risk area- All services 
Risk owner – Chief Executive and Commissioners 
Objectives impacted – All 

8 
(amber) 

 8 
(amber) 

4 
(green) 

December 
2023 (in line 
with report to 

SoS) 

Current Controls  
This risk reflects and consolidates the government intervention as well as the findings and recommendations arising from 
previous reviews including the Grant Thornton – Audit Findings Report 2019/20, Grant Thornton - Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021, CIPFA Financial Management review and the LGA Peer review along with their follow up 
reviews conducted in 2022. 
• Two Commissioners have been appointed to oversee the improvement journey.  
• A performance management framework was approved by the council in April 2022 to help monitor performance and 

track progress on the delivery of the strategic outcomes in the Corporate Plan.  
• Constitutional review completed in December 2022 
• The appointment of a permanent Chief Executive has been completed. 
• An improvement action plan and governance arrangements are in place. Funding to implement the actions and deliver 

the improvement plan has been set aside.  
• Activity from the Improvement Plan embedded within the Council’s Corporate Plan and Business Plans 
• 6 monthly reporting from the Commissioners and from the Council to the Secretary of State is in place. The third 

Commissioners report was made in June 2023 and published in July 2023. In their report, Commissioners noted the 
significant hard work and considerable progress made, with next steps to further embed improvement and to 
demonstrate that this is sustainable, They commented that they consider that the Council continues to make progress 
on the right path. 

 
Further actions 
• Ongoing implementation and monitoring of the progress made against the plans. 
• Demonstrating evidence of sustainable and continuous improvement 
 

Grant Thornton- Audit Findings Report 2019/20 
 
Grant Thornton – Value for Money Governance 
Review 2021 
 
CIPFA Financial Management and Governance 
Review 2021 and follow up review 2022 
 
LGA Peer Review 2022 and follow up review 2022 
 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
 
Government appointed Commissioners 
 
Six monthly reports by the Commissioners to the 
Secretary of State 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review - Follow Up- December 2022 
 

P
age 714

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=175&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=514
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

62 
01/22 

Climate Change 
Failure to achieve the council’s commitments in relation to 
Climate Change, including the pledge to make council 
activities, buildings, housing, fleet, schools and street lighting  
net-zero carbon by 2030 may result in: 
 
• reputational damage 
• financial impact 
• increased demand for council resources (in the event of 

extreme weather) and 
• a loss in public confidence. 
 
In addition, managing the effects of climate change will also 
have significant financial impact which the council will need to 
address. 
 
Risk Area – All Services 
Risk Owner – Director of Regeneration and Growth 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 12  
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

2030 
 

Current Controls  
• Climate Change strategy 2020- 2041 in place which sets out the 2030 target for the council.  
• Member steering group to oversee implementation of the climate change action plan. 
• Climate change champions in place (officer level) and a Cabinet Member and member advisor champions in place.   
• An action plan for implementing the strategy was approved by Cabinet in March 2022.  
• Establishment of programme governance arrangements, including the Cabinet approval to the appointment of cross 

party membership to the Climate Change Committee to monitor the implementation of the action plan, A Climate 
Change Programme Board (represented by service managers from across the council) is leading on measures within 
the action plan.  

Further Actions 
• Gap analysis to be conducted to assess the councils’ ability to implement the action plan, followed by a report on 

available options which will be addressed in 2023/24. 
• To undertake stock condition surveys to enhance our understanding of investment needs and costs to achieve net-

zero targets in our social housing stock and to inform future revisions of the HRA business plan and opportunities to 
draw in external investment 

• Consideration of adapting works and activities to ensure that contractor selection, works methods and materials used 
are aligned and contribute to the climate change strategy. 

• Explore funding models for retrofit of Council and other homes in the Borough e.g. attend MIPIM investors conference 
/ WMCA Devolution Deal with Government in negotiation. 

• To implement the Asset Management Strategy approved by Cabinet in November 2022 which seeks to significantly 
rationalise the Councils buildings and assets 

• To establish EV charging infrastructure via ULEV programme (on street) and Council operational locations so that 
relevant Council fleet can transition to EV over the next 3 years– in progress. 

• To develop a policy on Single Use Plastics that is consistent with the national emerging policy. 
• Roll out Carbon Literacy Training to all elected Members, relevant officers and Climate Change Champions 
• The delivery of the action plan is the key measure that determines the current risk assessment. The deliverability of 

the Plan is heavily dependent upon future government initiatives and the availability of financial resources which will 
be the key driver in achieving the council’s 2030 target. 
 

Climate Change Programme Board 
 
Member Steering Group 
Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment 
Scrutiny Board  
review – Climate Change Implementation- March 
2021 
 
Internal audit review underway 

64 
08/22 

Workforce Recruitment and Retention 
The council is required to recruit and retain a skilled, qualified 
and experienced workforce in order to provide and deliver 
services to Sandwell residents.  If the council is unable to 
recruit and retain its workforce and deliver its statutory 
obligations to meet the needs of the community this could 
result in loss of reputation, penalties, litigation and in some 
cases imprisonment. 
 
Risk area – All council services 
Risk owner – Chief Executive and Head of HR 
Objectives impacted: All 

9 
(amber) 

 9 
(amber) 

6 
(green) 

March 2024 
 
 

The risk concerns issues are largely a reflection of the regional and national position also and not unique to the council, as 
supported by the LGA workforce survey completed in 2022. The target risk score was initially to be reached by March 
2023. However, this has been put back in order to allow the recruitment strategy to be agreed and fully embedded, and 
until results over the mid-term are known.  
Current and ongoing controls: 
• Directorates to continue to undertake comprehensive workforce planning at least annually, as part of business 

planning processes, with a focus on creating and nurturing talent pipelines.  
• Cabinet workshop planned for development of a workforce strategy. 
• Recruitment and selection refresher training for hiring managers in order to share best practice in recruiting qualified 

and skilled employees. 
• Pre-employment checks are carried out in line with requirements for the job role including any statutory requirements. 
• Regular 121 meetings (supervision) and annual appraisal process is in place to ensure employees are engaged and 

can raise any concerns. 
• Regular employment engagement (full) and pulse surveys are undertaken, and plans are developed and implemented 

to address any areas requiring further action. 
• Pay benchmarking to ensure the council is competitive relative to the relevant job market in sectors where there are 

specific and critical challenges to recruitment and retention. 
• Future Talent Strategy to be developed as part of the Organisational Development strategy – to build on current 

Apprenticeships and Graduates strategy and incorporate succession planning and talent development framework for 
all employees. We have recruited 6 graduates via the National Graduate Development Programme to start October 
2023. 

• The Resourcing Team alongside other teams across the council have attended a number of local job fairs either 
hosted by Sandwell Council or local colleges/universities to promote job opportunities. The Resourcing Team will 
continue to identify and attend local and regional job fairs to raise our profile and job opportunities. 

Further actions 
• Introduce and extend talent pools and open-ended recruitment campaigns to high turnover areas - this will form part 

of the recruitment strategy which is underway. 
• Review our recruitment branding and content to maximise the impact on candidate attraction - this will also form part 

of the recruitment strategy. 
• Review and extend advertising, to include focus on attraction of diverse applicants – again this will form part of the 

recruitment strategy. 
• Review of our long-term use of a neutral vendor agency provision where we are unable to fill roles to deliver a service 

to our residents 
 
 

Employee Engagement Survey 
 
Pulse surveys 
 
HR related KPIs and data 
 
Appraisal process 
 
Benchmarking analysis 
 
LGA Workforce Survey 2022  
 
 

66 
04/22 

Borough Archives 
Failure to achieve the National Archives Accreditation could 
lead to withdrawal of ‘Place of Deposit Status’. This will cause 
reputational damage and incur costs as public records will be 
stored in another location, which accrues a cost to the council 
and creates difficulties around access to the records. 

12 
(red) 

 

 12 
(red) 

8  
(amber) 

TBC 

Current and ongoing controls  
• Public records are stored at Dudley archives which meets the required standard (BS EN 16893). However, this can 

only be a temporary measure, as Dudley’s own archives increase and they will require the space currently occupied 
by Sandwell. 

• A feasibility study has been completed and a replacement archive solution for Sandwell’s archives has been identified 
and was approved by Cabinet in November 2022. 

• A Qualified Archivist is now in place having completed training. 

The National Archives 
 
Archive Service accreditation 

P
age 715

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/2022-local-government-workforce-survey
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6235&Ver=4


 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

Accreditation cannot be achieved without alternative 
accommodation that meets the required British Standard. 
 
Risk area – All council services 
Risk owner – Director of Borough Economy 
Objectives impacted: All 

• Discussions with The National Archives (TNA) around delaying an application for accreditation as it would fail. This is 
a temporary measure. 

• Appointment of a consultant has been undertaken to deliver second stage of feasibility that includes design, 
specification, costs and development of a funding strategy. This will enable submissions to be made to external 
funders. 

Further Actions  
• Funding sources for cost of capital to build the archives needs to be identified and agreed. 
• Some corporate capital will also need to be identified as part of the funding strategy. 
• A bid to Arts Council England to be considered for contribution to the cost of capital, once the funding strategy has 

been agreed. 
 

67 
05/22 

Elections Act  
The initial roll-out of voter identification was successful, 
following policy and secondary legislation confirmation and the 
implementation of the controls identified to mitigate risk, 
however it has not yet been stress-tested.  It is anticipated that 
the 2024 elections which are expected to include a general 
election will provide a broader assessment of the mechanisms 
in place.  
Implementation of the next phase of the elections act is due 
shortly, to include the ability for voters to apply for absent 
votes on-line.  There remain a series of technical and 
operational issues that are being explored nationally, with 
there being a concern over the readiness of new systems in 
line with the projected timeframe.  Whilst the application portal 
will be nationally hosted, the Returning Officer will remain 
locally responsible for the processing and issuing of postal 
votes.  Compounded by the multiple elections in 2024 and the 
potential for a snap general election, there are risks around the 
successful implementation of all of the Election Act 
requirements.  Should the Returning Officer be unable to 
implement the Elections Act 2022, this could result in low voter 
confidence and some voters may be dis-enfranchised leading 
to a lack of confidence in election results.   
 
Risk area – All council services 
Risk owner – Returning Officer 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 8  
(amber) 

4 
(green) 

May 2024 

Current and ongoing controls  
• There will be extra money from the Government for implementation, but this will not be ring fenced and will only cover 

costs associated with Voter ID not additional election costs. 
• A One Council approach is being taken in order that the wider council can provide necessary support.   
• The Electoral Commission will undertake much of the communication, but the Returning Officer needs to consider the 

demographics and harder to reach parts of the electorate and the support that they will require. 
• There is a review of polling stations to see which ones are suitable and unsuitable.   
• Robust and updated training programme will be in place for all polling inspectors and presiding officers. 
• Job roles for election staff are being updated to provide clarification on what is required and to assist in arriving at the 

correct fee. 
• The Electoral Services Manager is part of the Business Change Network facilitated by the Cabinet Office and 

consequently is very well informed. 
• Privacy ID booths will be provided to every station to reduce the need for a specific place. This will be private but still 

in the “voting room”  
• Awareness Campaign and media campaigns to promote Voter ID have begun to compliment the national campaign 

by the Electoral Commission (which includes use of the Herald, website, etc) 
• Regular briefings with members have commenced. 
• Regular networking meetings taking place by Director and Manager. 
• Capacity and resourcing options are being explored. 

 

Electoral Commission 
 
Elections Returning Officer  
 
Elections Service Manager 
 
Polling station inspectors 
 
 

68 
12/22 

Sandwell Local Plan 
Failure to prepare and adopt a Local Plan within the 
timescales required could result in Government intervention in 
the operation of the planning service and in the decision 
making process for planning applications resulting in a loss of 
local democratic oversight. 
 
Risk area - Regeneration 
Risk Owner – Director of Regeneration and Growth 
Objectives impacted: All 
 

8 
(amber) 

 8 
(amber) 

4 
(green) 
2025 

Having an up-to-date Local Plan is a statutory requirement. Following the halting of the Black Country Plan, Cabinet 
approved the preparation of the Sandwell local Plan on 16 November 2022. The timetable envisages adoption in late 2025. 
The process to adoption involves several rounds of public consultation and political approvals as well as an independent 
Examination in Public. 
Conformity with an up-to-date Local Plan is often a prerequisite for Government regeneration funding.  
Current and ongoing controls  
• Members regularly briefed on key and up to date issues. Informing of facts and evidence based.  
• Project Manager recruited to lead on the delivery of the Sandwell Plan (fixed term post to Dec 2026).  
• Additional revenue budget secured to deliver the Sandwell Plan (Cabinet Report Dec 2022).  
Further actions 
• Review of salaries allocated to technical disciplines within the organisation – Use of consultants if necessary. 
• Quarterly update reports to Leadership Team   

 

Regular updates to Leadership Team, Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Cabinet as 
appropriate. 
 
Appointment of dedicated project manager 

69 
08/22 

Adult Social Care Market Sustainability 
The Fair Cost of Care requirement for domiciliary care and 
older peoples residential and nursing home care & further 
requirement to produce a market sustainability plan will result 
in a significant financial pressure for the council in the region of 
15 million pounds, although government funding is available 
for a 3-year period, it is not expected to cover these increased 
costs. There is then a further risk that the remaining elements 
of the care and support market currently excluded from the 
Fair Cost of Care exercise will not be sustainable without 
further significant investment, so a further internal cost of care 
exercise will need to be completed.  
 
A number of providers are approaching the council with 
requests for significant uplifts in their fees and notice to 
withdraw care and support to individuals.  Should this not be 
addressed the capacity in the market will be unable to meet 

16 
(red) 

 9 
(amber) 

9 
(amber) 

Achieved 
 

Current and ongoing controls  
• Working with ARCC Ltd to complete the Fair Cost of Care exercise and Market Sustainability Plan. Draft 

document completed and submitted in October 2022.  
• Report presented to the Leader of the in October 2022 outlining the impact of the cost of care exercise and the 

options of how to support the market with the government allocations that have been made to date.      
• Ongoing dialogue with legal to ensure compliance with statutory Care Act duties and consideration of 

affordability. 
• Working with neighbouring authorities in the Black Country and the Integrated Care Board to agree a system 

response to provider demands. 
• Negotiating with individual providers regarding fee uplifts. 
• Commissioned independent provider to undertake reviews of individuals. 
• Final Market Sustainability Plan submitted (March 23) 
• Report to Cabinet for Fair Cost of Care approved for plans on how to sustain the market (February 23). 
• ARCC scrutinised the data presented by the care homes regarding the validity of the data provided. 
• ARCC supported additional market engagement to scrutinise the data presented. 
• Plan towards meeting cost of care once government allocations for 2023/24 and 2024/25 have been confirmed. 
• Annex B published 1st February 2023 and the final Market Sustainability Plan published 31 March 2023. 

Integrated Care Board 
 
Fair Cost of Care exercise 
 
ARCC Ltd 
 
 
 
 

P
age 716



 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

the demand and the recommissioned costs will be significantly 
higher adding to the budget pressures. 
 
Risk Area – Social Care 
Risk Owner – Director of Adult Social Care 
Objectives impacted: 2 

• Updated the Market Sustainability Plan and complete Annexe A in May 2023. 
• Complete Market Capacity Submission in June 2023 

 
Further Actions  

• Update the Market Sustainability Plan and complete Annexe A in May 2024. 
 

70 
06/22 

Organisational culture 
If the council does not have an effective organisational culture, 
then this could result in: 
• Poor officer and member relationships 
• Negative impact on employee engagement 
• Inability to demonstrate effective people management,  
• Weak diversity and inclusion practices 
• Recruitment and retention issues 
• Negative impact on the delivery of the improvement plan 

and  
• Potential for extended government intervention 
• Failure to deliver the corporate plan  
• Reputational damage 
• Missed opportunities for continuous improvement 
 
Risk area – All council services 
Risk owner – Chief Executive 
Objectives impacted: All 
 

8 
(amber) 

 8 
(amber) 

4 
(green) 

 
March 2024 

 

Current and ongoing controls  
• Regular meetings in place between senior members and officers to develop positive working relationships and 

information sharing. 
• LGA training on officer/member relationships delivered in September 2022 and planned for Autumn 2023 
• Launch of One Team Framework (values and behaviours) including Staff Conference and Managers workshops 
• Employee Engagement Survey 2022 results disseminated and discussed at Directorate Management Teams and 

team meetings - action plans developed and monitored at Leadership Team. 
Further Actions  
• Embedding One Team Framework Approval of Workforce Strategy. 
• Mechanisms to be identified for ongoing insight and assurance around health of Officer and Member Relationship 

(December 2023). 
• Management Development Programme Agreed ( 2023). 
• Employee Engagement Survey 2023 (September 2023) 

 

External Reviews (Grant Thornton and LGA) 
providing assurance that organisational culture 
change has started to occur. 
 
Employee Engagement Survey 
 
 

71 
08/23 

Strategic Workforce Development for Adult Social Care 
Recruitment, Retention and Sickness Absence  
 
A workforce strategy is in place and links directly with 
workforce planning and training.  This offers existing staff 
training opportunities to ensure that they are qualified and 
competent to face service needs.  If recruitment and retention 
are not prioritised within the service and amongst service 
providers, then there will not be the skilled staff to deliver 
appropriate social care. 
 
Risk Area – Social Care 
Risk Owner – Director of Adult Social Care 
Objectives impacted: 2 
 

New risk NA 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

April 2024 

Current and ongoing controls  

• Implemented Adult Social Care restructure for social work and therapy to deliver a career development pathway 
which will support retention, career development and succession planning within social work. 

• A student programme and the Assessed and Supported Year in Employment for Social Workers is in place.   
• An Occupational Therapist student programme with Worcestershire University is in place and works to secure 

university placements including access to Practice Educator training for SMBC Occupational Therapist 's to 
retain their skills and expertise.  

• Apprenticeships within the Directorate utilising the Apprenticeship Levy to access accredited qualifications. 
• An apprenticeship programme for social work is in place with Warwickshire University, a similar programme for 

Occupational Therapy is being developed with Wolverhampton University. 
• Qualification Sponsorship scheme to support employees to obtain recognised qualifications to enhance their 

work performance and skills. 
• Work around maintaining recruitment and retention: Phase 1 - A) Pay benchmarking B) Golden Hello C) Market 

Supplement completed. 
• Recruitment Events (exploring opportunity for joint partnership recruitment with health colleagues). 
• Regular 121 meetings (supervision) and annual appraisal process is in place to ensure employees are engaged 

and can raise any concerns. 
• Plans are developed and implemented to address any areas requiring further action from the employee 

engagement survey. 
• Sickness Absence Monitoring. 

 
Further Actions  

• New Draft Workforce Strategy to be finalised and approved. 
• Draft Workforce Strategy action plans to be finalised and approved. 
• Work around maintaining recruitment and retention: Phase 2 - A) Review of Job Descriptions and Person 

Specifications B) Further benchmarking C) Work with Children's Trust around these areas D) International 
recruitment. 

 
 
 
 
 

Employee Engagement Survey 
 
HR related KPIs and data 
 
Appraisal process 
 
National Minimum Data Set for social care 
 
Benchmarking analysis 
 

The following associated risks are being subject to a wider review, while it is not envisaged that there will be any significant change in the risk scores an update will be presented to the November meeting of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee  

27 
06/09 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and Resource 
Allocation 
Local Government continues to operate in an uncertain 
financial environment arising from reducing central 
government funding, increasing demand for services, Covid-19 
and more recently the impact of the high levels of inflation 
being reported. If the council is unable to identify sufficient 
savings and put in place the necessary policies, processes 
and actions to manage pressures, inflation and manage its 
plans, then this will impact on the council’s financial resilience 

8  
(amber) 

 

tbc tbc tbc Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Local government settlement announced for one year only. 
• A balanced budget approved by council  
• Directorate and service business plans in place. 
• The initial review by CIPFA on the council’s financial management and governance arrangements, noted that the 

council was a progressive two-star (out of five) authority. The follow up review subsequently undertook by CIPFA 
progressed this to a three-star. The review also looked at financial resilience and concluded that the council is 
financially stable and in recent years has been able to contribute towards reserves through achieving a balanced 
budget or an underspend.  

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 
 
External Audit  
 
CIPFA financial management review and follow up 
 
LGA Corporate Peer Review 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review - Follow Up- December 2022 

P
age 717

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=140
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

and its ability to effectively discharge its statutory 
responsibilities including the setting of  a balanced budget for 
future years. 
  
Risk Area – Finance   
Risk owner- Director of Finance and Leadership Team 
Objectives impacted: All 

• A fundamental review of the MTFP (in line with the CIPFA recommendations) has been completed, to ensure the 
council understands the challenges ahead and to ensure that the MTFP matches the ambitions of the corporate plan 
and regeneration plans for Sandwell. A further review will be undertaken following announcement of the local 
government settlement. The review includes an assessment of the impact the high levels of inflation currently being 
experienced and are forecast, are having on the MTFP and the mitigating measures being implemented. 

• Star chambers continue to be used to support budget setting.  
• The local government finance settlement for 2023/24 was received and included additional funding for Adult Social 

Care alongside confirmation that business rates reset will not happen in this Parliament.  
Further actions 
• Continued implementation of the action plan developed following the CIPFA review (as per the improvement plan 

timetable). 
• Ongoing review of the MTFS. 
• Use of benchmarking data to help identify opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements. 
 

 
LG Futures benchmarking data  

27a 
06/21 

Future Government Policies and Funding Sources 
If the government does not provide local authorities clarity over 
the future plans for health and social care reforms, the public 
health grant, Better Care Fund, future years funding and 
continuing, with one year funding settlements then this inhibits 
local authorities to effectively manage medium term/ three year 
plans and put in place the necessary processes and actions to 
manage future pressures. This will impact on the council’s 
ability to deliver sustainable services to the people of Sandwell 
and effectively discharge its statutory responsibility to set a 
balanced budget for future years 
 
Risk Area – Finance and Resources 
Risk owner- Chief Executive 

Objectives impacted: All 
 

8 
(amber) 

tbc tbc 
 

Tbc Current and Ongoing Controls  
Uncertainties remain around various central government funding sources, in addition to the national political uncertainties 
around economic growth and inflation, and whether this will be reflected in future funding policies. 
Further actions 
The council continues to horizon scan and consider the impacts of potential government initiatives and policies on future 
funding sources and demand for council services. (Ongoing) 
 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 

27b 
10/21 

Budget Monitoring and Management 2023/24 
If the council does not put in place effective arrangements to 
monitor and manage the current year’s budget to ensure that 
planned savings are achieved and efficiencies realised, then it 
will result in overspends and the resilience of the council’s 
finances. 

 
Risk Area – Finance and Resources  
Risk owner- Director of Finance 
Objectives impacted: All 
 

8 
(amber) 

Monitoring 
and 

management 
12 

(red) 
Budget 
position  

tbc tbc  tbc 
 
 
 
 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• The financial management and monthly budgetary control processes in place. 
• Regular reporting of financial performance to Budget Board, Scrutiny and Cabinet. 
• As noted above, an initial review by CIPFA and a subsequent follow up on the council’s financial management and 

governance arrangements was completed and an action plan developed to address the recommendations made. This 
is being monitored by the Corporate Improvement Board. 

Further actions 
The council continues to monitor and report its budgetary position on an ongoing basis.  

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 
CIPFA financial management review 
External Audit 
Annual Internal Audit review- budgetary control 
Management accounts 

53 
04/18 

Oracle e-Business Suite  

If the appropriate project governance arrangements are not put 
in place to ensure that the project is delivered to time, scope 
and budget, then this may result in: 

• The council’s business system being unsupported 

• Inability to transform services that would enable 
processes to be more efficient  

• Non-compliance/ misalignment with other council policies 
and projects such as Organisational development, the 
digital strategy, Work Place Vision and the IT 
transformation programme.  

Risk Area – Finance and Resources  
Risk Owners – Director of Finance   
Objectives impacted: All 

8 
(amber) 

tbc tbc tbc Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Appointment of Infosys Limited as the council’s Oracle Fusion implementation partner who have commenced contract 

delivery.  
• Revised project management and governance arrangements in place including a Project Board which meets weekly, 

new roles within the project team and a senior responsible officer (SRO).  
• A Business Design group meets fortnightly to monitor the outcomes and benefits from the programme. 
• A Business Readiness Group meets fortnightly which has oversight on the implementation plan activity. 
• An Implementation Board meets weekly to monitor progress on delivery of programme workstreams. 
• A Programme Management Office has been established and is utilising good practice programme management 

approaches.  
• Cross-cutting working groups on change management, reporting, data cleansing and migration, and implementation 

planning.  
• SOCITM have worked with the council to produce key programme documents. 
• Service engagement to better understand the new system. 
• Resource model and profiles developed setting out capacity and capability requirements. 
• A programme benefits framework has been produced and the strategic priorities for benefits have been agreed. 
• Completion and use of baselining exercise to identify cashable and non-cashable benefits that the new system will 

yield was reported to Cabinet on 18 January for approval.  
Further actions 
• Ongoing work is required on organisational-wide engagement. Engagement events being planned for teams that will 

be affected by the changes. 
• Ongoing systems development 
 

Project Board  
 
SOCITM 
 
Grant Thornton – Value for Money Governance 
Review 2021 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review - Follow Up- December 2022 
 
SRO updates to Leadership Team 

61 
10/21 

Partner Organisations/Contractors Service Delivery 
The council works closely with partners and contractors to 
provide services to its residents and businesses. 

8  
(amber) 

 

tbc tbc tbc Current Controls  
• Leadership Team continues to progress a reporting structure for the council’s key contracts and partnership 

arrangements. 

Grant Thornton – Value for Money Governance 
Review 2021 
 

P
age 718

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=140
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

Risk Ref Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Mar 2023) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current risk 
score 

(Aug 2023) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

In the event Partner organisations or contractors do not 
provide the required level of service to the public this may 
result in: 
• Efficient / good value for money / high quality services not 

being delivered  
• Enforcement action 
• Significant financial loss and 
• Reputational damage 

 
Risk Area – All Services 
Risk Owner – Chief Executive and Leadership Team 
Objectives impacted: All 
 

• All actions from the recommendations of the Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board review of 
the performance and management of the waste partnership contract with Serco are being implemented and progress 
updated quarterly.  

• Arrangements for scrutiny consideration of the council’s key contracts is in progress. 
• Regular review if the Serco key performance indicators continues. 
• A deed of variation and extension period has been agreed and signed with SLT to deliver services up to 2027. 
Further Actions 
• Establishment of consistent contract management for both significant capital and service contracts. 
• Review of the current arrangements in place for each key contractor to ensure they remain fit for purpose and that the 

partnership objectives are aligned to the refreshed corporate plan. 
 

CIPFA Financial Management and Governance 
Review and subsequent follow up 
 
LGA Peer Review 2022 
 
 
Reports to the Improvement Board 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review - Follow Up- December 2022 

65 
08/22 

Inflation  
Risk that the high levels of inflation are having on the cost of 
living for residents and their financial wellbeing and the impact 
of this on the demand for council services and resources. 
 
Risk area – All council services 
Risk owner – Chief Executive 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

tbc tbc tbc 
 

Current and ongoing controls and further actions 
• The council continues to offer its residents and businesses essential support to the cost of living crisis, responding to 

emerging needs and issues to support financial wellbeing and resilience.  
• Continued distribution of government support packages and initiatives.  
• Ongoing work to identify what further support can be offered to residents and  
• Supporting Sandwell information hub created online. 
• Local welfare provision in place. 
 
 

Resident survey 
 
Monitoring of relevant KPIs 
 
 

 

P
age 719

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
Report to Cabinet 

 
 

18 October 2023 
 
Subject: Sandwell Aquatic Centre Project Closedown 

Report and Financial Closure 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Charn Singh Padda, Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism 
Director: Tony McGovern, Director for Regeneration and 

Growth  
Key Decision: No 
Contact Officer: Alexander Oxley, Capital Projects Manager 

alexander_oxley@sandwell.gov.uk  
 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Director of Finance be authorised to identify and finance the 

£0.54m funding contribution previously committed, and then rescinded, 
by Sandwell Leisure Trust, from the most appropriate funding source for 
the Sandwell Aquatic Centre.  
 

1.2 That approval be given to authorise the Director of Regeneration and 
Growth, in consultation with Director of Finance, to fund an identified 
shortfall of £0.151m in business rate liability from project underspend 
and the Capital Project Support Reserve for the Sandwell Aquatic 
Centre. 

  

Page 721

Agenda Item 12

mailto:alexander_oxley@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
Sandwell Aquatic Centre (SAC) Completion 
 
2.1 Sandwell Aquatic Centre was completed on 6th July 2023 and formally 

transferred to Sandwell Leisure Trust as the operator on this date.  
 

2.2 It opened as a community leisure centre on the 24th July 2023, providing 
world-class facilities for the residents of Sandwell and the wider region.  
 

2.3 Over the first 8 weeks of being open to the public the centre has already 
achieved significant milestones, namely: 
- Averaging around 12,000 – 15,000 visits per week 
- Over 4,500 paying fitness direct debit customers  
- Circa 2,000 children signed up to the learn to swim programme  
- 46 schools attending weekly on the school swimming programme  
- The diving programme has commenced in Sept with 96 enrolled on 

the scheme  
- Over 80 group exercise classes on offer per week with an attendance 

of over 90%  
 

2.4 The centre was delivered on time and within the approved budget of 
£92.256m.  
 

2.5 SAC represents one of the primary legacy benefits from the B2022 
Commonwealth Games and will deliver much improved health outcomes 
for Sandwell and the region whilst also serving as a centre for elite 
aquatic sporting development.  

 
SLT Funding Contribution  
 
2.6 On 31st January 2018 SMBC Cabinet approved the development of 

Sandwell Aquatic Centre as a host venue for the 2022 Commonwealth 
Games.   

Page 722



 

2.7 On 20th November 2019 SMBC Cabinet approved the budget and 
contract award to deliver the centre, this approval was on the basis of an 
agreed funding package, which included: 

 

  
2.8 Sandwell Aquatic Centre was subsequently delivered on 19th April 2022 

upon which point a programme of preparatory activities were undertaken 
to prepare for the games.  
 

2.9 The funding package outlined above, and agreed by SMBC Cabinet, 
was based on contributions from a number of delivery partners. Most 
contributions were ratified with a formal funding agreement and have 
subsequently been received. However, the proposed funding 
contribution from Sandwell Leisure Trust (£0.54m) was never legally 
formalised and, upon termination of the MFA between SMBC and SLT 
(as operator) in 2022, SLT notified the Council that the previously 
committed funding would be withdrawn, citing ‘SLT’s commitment to 
provide financial support was on the basis that it would operate the 
facility, and it would not be reasonable for the Council to expect SLT to 

Page 723



 

provide such financial support in circumstances where SLT will not be 
the operator.’. 
 

2.10 SAC PMO have confirmed with SMBC Finance that the SLT contribution 
is the only outstanding funding commitment.  
 

2.11 The commitment of this contribution from SLT exists in the form of a 
letter dated 05/12/17 from the then Chief Executive Officer, addressed to 
the former Project Director of SAC.   
 

2.12 Due to the fact that this was never legally formalised through a funding 
agreement, SMBC have no legal recourse to recover this contribution. 
SMBC have recently received confirmation of this from the Council’s 
external legal advisory group.  
 

2.13 It is understood that the relationship between SMBC and SLT has 
improved significantly over the intervening period and SLT’s operator 
contract will now continue until 2027.   
 

2.14 A formal approach to SLT has been made requesting all or part of the 
originally proposed contribution on the basis that they will now be the 
operator of SAC, subject to confirmation of the extension.  
 

2.15 On the 18th May 2023 SAC PMO were advised that the formal response 
from the Chair of Sandwell Leisure Trust’s Board is that the £540,000 
contribution remains unavailable with no planned future provision at this 
stage.  
 

2.16 Whilst the relationship with SLT has been reset and both parties are 
moving forward with a renewed sense of partnership, the Trust still 
remain under notice of termination and continue as an interim operator 
so would reasonably struggle to allocate their resources to this original 
agreed contribution. 
 

2.17 As a result, without addressing this issue from existing reserves, SMBC 
do not have the funding to be able to meet current contractual 
commitments following the construction of SAC.  

Page 724



 

 
SAC Maintenance/Sinking Fund 
 
2.18 The SAC was handed over for operational management under lease by 

SLT from Summer 2023 with the current repairing and maintenance 
responsibility to remain with the Council. As it stands, no dedicated 
budget has been allocated for both the ongoing maintenance 
requirements including servicing of equipment, alongside a clear 
lifecycle investment programme with existing approved budgets not able 
to accommodate the same. This represents a significant area of risk for 
the Council both financially and reputationally. 
 

2.19 The Assets and Leisure Teams are currently compiling a joint report for 
Leadership Team/Cabinet providing a business case based on expected 
maintenance and lifecycle costs, with options for how this could be 
successfully managed moving forward via a sinking fund. 
 

2.20 It is proposed that this report be presented to Leadership Team in 
October 2023. Subject to the preliminary findings/proposals, it may 
require a further distinct Cabinet decision.  

 
Business Rate Liability 
 
2.21 Business rates are liable on the aquatic centre from the period 19th April 

2022 (coinciding with completion of phase one)- 10th August 2022 
(coinciding with the conclusion of the CWG and when SAC went back 
into an ‘under refurbishment’ status for the commencement of the legacy 
build phase).  
 

2.22 Accounting for all relevant rate relief, the outstanding balance is 
£0.151m. 
 

2.23 This cost was never identified as part of the project business case 
developed historically (2018/19), in part due to the short timescales 
associated with development of SAC for the Commonwealth Games.   

2.24 It is proposed that the business rates be met using the following funding 
streams:  

 
Fund Cost 

Page 725



 

SAC Project Management Office 
underspend 

£0.076m 

Capital Project Support Reserve  £0.075m 
 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People- SAC has, and 
will continue, to provide a facility for young people in Sandwell to 
engage in physical activity. 

 

People Live Well and Age Well- SAC delivers significant long-term 
health outcomes from the residents of Sandwell.   

 

Strong Resilient Communities- SAC does not only act as a leisure 
facility, it is also a meeting place, a park, a play area and a location 
for service provision across directorates such as Public Health and 
Leisure. These activities collectively drive resilience in our 
communities.   

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy- Over 40no. new FTE jobs have 
been created as a result of the delivery of SAC. Over half of these 
new roles have been filled by Sandwell residents. SAC will continue 
to be a key economic asset for the borough providing jobs for 
residents.  

 

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell- SAC has delivered much 
improved connectivity for this area of Smethwick and the 
surrounding highways improvements allow for improved movement 
through the wider transport network with a key focus on active travel 
and pedestrian prioritisation.   

 
 

4 Context and Key Issues 
 
Sandwell Aquatic Centre 
 
4.1 Sandwell Aquatic Centre was developed as a) the host venue for all 

aquatic activity at the B2022 Commonwealth Games and b) a new 
leisure centre for residents, allowing SMBC to condense other outdated 
local provision. The project delivered:  
 

4.2 Phase 1 – delivered on 19th April 2022 
 

Page 726



 

To deliver a modified building on time to host the swimming, para 
swimming and diving events for the Commonwealth Games 2022. 
Facilities delivered in this phase include: 
 

• 50m 10 lane competition swimming pool 
• Temporary 50m 6 lane training pool for CG2022 only 
• Competition diving structure with dive boards at 3m, 5m, 7m and 

10m 
• 5m deep diving pool 
• Changing and shower facilities 
• Dry diving centre with trampolines, cameras and screens 
• 1,000 permanent seats and 4,000 temporary seats for CG2022 
• Open Plan rooms on first floor for various uses during CG2022 
• Lobby and Reception Desk 
• Pool Filtration Plant 

 
4.3 Phase 2 – delivered by 22 July 2022 

 
To transfer facility to the Organising Committee to host the CG2022 
Aquatics events from 28 July to 9 August 2022. 
 
To facilitate the ‘fit out’ of the interior of the Aquatics Centre by the OC 
contractor to make the SAC Games Ready. 
 
To receive the facility back from the OC after the OC contractor has 
decommissioned all temporary structures for Games use. 
 

4.4 Phase 3 – Legacy Build – Delivered 6th July 2023 
 
To deliver the post Games legacy facilities for residents of Sandwell 
Metropolitan Borough Council including: 
 

• a community swimming pool size (20m x 10m) 
• three 150sqm activity studios 
• two 4-court sports halls (690sqm each) 
• 108-station fitness gym 
• 25-station ladies-only fitness gym 
• A 33-station indoor cycling studio 

Page 727



 

• changing village for up to 600 
• sauna/steam room 
• new outdoor football pitch and changing facilities 
• new urban park and children’s play area 
• parking for up to 300 vehicles 
• and a café (post construction specialist fit out).  

 
5 Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Do nothing- the financial liabilities outlined in section 2 cannot be 

avoided without significant risk of legal action being brought against the 
Council by the contractor given that SMBC have already contractually 
committed to these costs. Legal action will add costs to those outlined 
above and severely damage our reputation in the construction market.  

 
5.2 The £540,000 may still be recoverable, in full or in part, from SLT upon 

formal extension of their contract. There is informal expectation that SLT 
may be more favourable at the point in which this has been formalised. 
Open book accounting arrangements with SLT have been agreed and 
any surpluses will be returned to SMBC each year which may provide 
some mitigation towards the shortfall.  
 

5.3 Failure to obtain from SLT, subsidy will be required. This could either 
come from Prudential Borrowing or uncommitted capital receipts, subject 
to availability. The current Capital Programme could also be reviewed to 
identify any schemes which could be de-prioritised to free up resources 
or any projects which are forecasting an underspend. 

 
6 Implications 
 
Resources: No additional funding or contingency remains within 

the project budget and therefore the Council will be 
required to commit resources outlined in sections 1.1, 
1.2.  

Legal and 
Governance: 

Failure to meet the Council’s commitments as part of 
the project delivery will leave SMBC in breach of our 
contract and open to litigation.  

Risk: There is financial and reputational risk to the Council if 
SMBC cannot meet it’s contractual commitments.  

Equality: No implication.  

Page 728



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

SAC delivers significant health and wellbeing 
outcomes.  

Social Value: A full social value plan was produced and successfully 
implemented for SAC.  

Climate 
Change: 

No implication. 

Corporate 
Parenting 

No implications.  

 
7. Appendices 
 
 None  
 
8. Background Papers 
 
 None 
 

Page 729



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 731

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

 
18 October 2023 

 

Subject: Sandwell Local Plan – Approval to carry out 
consultation on the Draft Sandwell Local Plan  

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Regeneration & WMCA  
Councillor Peter Hughes 

Director: Director Regeneration & Growth 
Tony McGovern  

Key Decision: Yes 

Contact Officer: Andy Miller – Strategic Planning & Transportation 
Manager 
andy_miller@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Philippa Smith – Sandwell Plan Project Manager – 
Planning Policy Team 
philippa1_smith@sandwell.gov.uk  

 
 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That approval be given to the Draft Sandwell Local Plan (Appendix A), 

Sustainability Appraisal Reports and consultation material for 

consultation commencing on 6 November 2023 for 6 weeks. 

 

1.2 That Cabinet authorises the Director - Regeneration & Growth, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration & WMCA, be 

authorised to make minor and other necessary amendments, if required, 

to the Draft Sandwell Local Plan and its associated documents prior to 

the start of public consultation to enable effective consultation to be 

undertaken. 

 

 

Page 737

Agenda Item 13

mailto:andy_miller@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:philippa1_smith@sandwell.gov.uk


 

1.3 That a further report be presented to Cabinet summarising key issues 

raised during the consultation be submitted to a future meeting to inform 

preparation of the Publication of the Sandwell Local Plan under 

Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012. 

 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  

 

2.1 It is a statutory requirement of every Local Planning Authority to have an 

up-to-date Local Plan. Following the demise of the Black Country Plan in 

2022, Sandwell is producing its own plan – the Sandwell Local Plan.  

The Government has previously expressed a desire to see full Local 

Plan coverage across England by December 2023, or as soon as is 

practical after that date.  However, the Government is currently 

consulting on a proposed new system for producing local plans and has 

indicated that the last date for submitting a revised local plan under the 

current system will be 30th June 2025.  Officers have been working to a 

timetable that will enable the Sandwell Local Plan to be submitted prior 

to that date.  The timetable for the production of the Local Plan is set out 

in the Sandwell Local Development Scheme which is available to view in 

the Planning Policy pages of the Sandwell website.  The Draft Sandwell 

Local Plan is the next stage in the preparation of the Local Plan. 

 

3 How does this deliver the objectives of the Corporate Plan?  

 

 

Best start in life for children and young people – the Local 

Plan helps to develop policies that will contribute to the 

delivery of facilities, services and opportunities for children 

and young people through the local plan process. 

 

People live well and age well - Health and wellbeing is a key 

theme addressed throughout the documents of the Local 

Plan. It will promote healthy living and create opportunities 

for active lifestyles and healthy transport choices including 

walking, cycling and outdoor recreation. 

 

Strong resilient communities – The Local Plan will build in 

effective community involvement and will be important to 

local communities. 

Page 738



 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods – the Local Plan 

will play an important part in delivering the spatial and land 

use aspects of the Council’s vision 2030, particularly as it 

relates to housing, employment, transport, environment and 

education goals.   

 

A strong and inclusive economy - The Local Plan will provide 

the regeneration framework for future investments and 

projects. 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell - Sustainability is a 

key theme addressed throughout the documents of the Local 

Plan. They will help to deliver sustainable, prosperous 

communities, an integrated transport network and reduce the 

need to travel by car. 

 

4 Context and Key Issues 

 

Issues & Options   

4.1 The Issues and Options consultation held in February and March 2023 

was the first stage of the Local Plan process.  It is a scoping exercise 

that seeks to involve local people, businesses and other stakeholders in 

identifying what the new plan should address. It provides an initial 

opportunity for interested parties, the public and stakeholders to engage 

in the process, and to help inform the next stage of the plan. 

 

4.2 The Issues and Options consultation was held between 6th February and 

20th March 2023.  The Council received 613 representations from 42 

individuals.  The main issues arising from the consultation were reported 

to the Cabinet on 26th July 2023. 

 

4.3 The representations received during the Issues and Options consultation 

and the Council’s response to them, will be published as part of the 

evidence base for the Draft Plan consultation.  Since the close of the 

Issues and Options consultation, officers have been working to produce 

the Draft Sandwell Local Plan. 

 

 

 

Page 739



 

The Black Country Plan 

4.4 Prior to the Sandwell Local Plan, the four Black Country boroughs 

worked together to produce a joint local plan – the Black Country Plan.  

Unfortunately, the demise of the Black Country Plan in 2022 has meant 

that the four Black Country Authorities are now producing individual local 

plans.   

 

4.5 The Draft Sandwell Local Plan results from extensive work which has 

taken place since 2016 when the process of producing the Black 

Country Plan began.  A significant body of technical evidence has been 

produced for the Black Country Plan and this has been used to inform 

the Sandwell Local Plan.  The evidence includes Sandwell’s future 

housing need (both the overall number of homes required but also the 

breakdown between tenure and dwelling size that is likely to be 

required), the employment land need and supply (including the suitability 

of existing employment premises for long term retention), and studies of 

town centres, waste, minerals and environmental studies including flood 

risk and greenbelt.   

 

4.6 New evidence commissioned for the Sandwell Local Plan includes an 

update of the transport modelling, an Infrastructure Development Plan, a 

Viability and Deliverability Assessment, nature conservation 

assessments, a review of the Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space and an 

assessment of council owned sites as receptors for Biodiversity Net 

Gain.  An update to the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will also be 

commissioned.  Alongside this, a detailed assessment of over 120 

potential sites to be allocated in the Plan has been carried out to 

determine which site allocations would be most appropriate for the Plan.  

All of this evidence will be available on the Sandwell web-site. 

 

Key Elements of the Sandwell Local Plan 

 

4.7 The draft Sandwell Local Plan will comprise the following elements: 

• Sandwell 2041:  the spatial vision, priorities and objectives 

• The Spatial Strategy 

• The Development Strategy 

• Local Plan Policies 

Page 740



 

• The Site Allocations 

• The Policies Map 

• Sustainability Appraisal 

 

4.8 Cabinet will note that the full text of the Draft Sandwell Local Plan and its 

appendices (appendix A), along with the Policies Map (appendix B), the 

Sustainability Appraisal and its appendices (appendix C), the 

consultation and stakeholder engagement plan (appendix D) and the 

Equalities Impact Assessment (appendix E) are attached as appendices 

to this report.  The other supporting documents can be found on the 

Sandwell website.  https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/planning/sandwell-local-

plan/2    

 

4.9 This section of the report provides a brief overview and summary of 

some of the key aspects of the draft Sandwell Local Plan. 

 

Sandwell 2041: The Vision 

4.10 The Vision for Sandwell at 2041 includes the Council being at the 

forefront of the climate change agenda and mitigating the impacts of 

climate change.  This added to healthier residents, a sustainable 

economy and thriving town centres will put Sandwell at the forefront of 

urban renaissance in the West Midlands region. 

 

The Spatial Strategy 

4.11 The proposed Spatial Strategy aims to achieve a balance of housing and 

employment growth across the borough while at the same time, 

incorporating many elements of a green growth strategy. 

 

4.12 The strategy is realistic about what we can actually achieve over the next 

15 years, whilst at the same time being forward-looking and designed to 

deliver development that positively enhances opportunities for Sandwell 

residents to benefit from a greener and healthier environment.  As well 

as being an important factor in people’s health and wellbeing, a green 

environment is one that is more attractive to investors and future 

residents. 

 

 

Page 741

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/planning/sandwell-local-plan/2
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/planning/sandwell-local-plan/2


 

Climate Change 

4.13 The approach to climate change within the draft Sandwell Local Plan 

continues to deliver the approach set out in the Black Country Plan and 

will help developers and local people be clear about what they can do to 

help the Council address the issues.   Climate Change is now very much 

an issue for Local Planning Authorities and it is important that the council 

sets out its requirements in the Sandwell Local Plan, especially where 

we are pursuing our own agenda, such as heat networks for West 

Bromwich, power from waste etc.  This approach aligns with the 

Council’s adopted Climate Change Strategy and supports other aspects 

of the Council’s climate change agenda. 

 

Development Strategy 

4.14 The policies that make up the development strategy set out the scale 

and distribution of new development for the Local Plan period to 2041 

and aim to achieve the following: 

• the delivery of at least 11,167 net new homes and create sustainable 

mixed communities including a range and choice of new homes;  

• the retention and protection of at least 1,206ha of employment land 

(of which 29ha is currently vacant). 

• ensure that sufficient physical, social, and environmental 

infrastructure is delivered to meet identified requirements;  

• increased access to green spaces and new public open spaces;   

• minimise and mitigate the likely effects of climate change, 

recognising the multifunctional benefits that open spaces, 

landscaping, trees, nature conservation habitats and both green and 

blue infrastructure can deliver in doing so;  

• resisting inappropriate development in the green belt;  

• promote the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building 

techniques, materials and technologies in all new development.  

• delivering as much new development as possible on previously 

developed land and sites in the urban area;  

• regenerating existing housing and employment areas; 

• supporting and enhancing the sustainability of existing communities 

through the focussing of growth and regeneration into West 

Bromwich and other town centres and regeneration areas. 

Page 742



 

 

Housing and Employment Land 

 

4.15 Housing need is now determined by the standard method set by the 

Government. This indicates that an additional 29,773 homes need to be 

provided across Sandwell over the period 2022-2041.  Sandwell 

currently is only able to accommodate approximately 11,167 new 

dwellings during this period.  This has left the council with a substantial 

shortfall in housing supply of approximately 18,606. 

 

4.16 Employment land need has been determined through the economic 

forecasts in the Black Country Employment Demand and Needs 

Assessment (EDNA) up to 2040.  Based on past completions, the mid-

scenario figure of 185ha identified in the EDNA is considered achievable 

over the plan period. The supply of land available and suitable for 

employment use is just 42ha (including past completions for the period 

2020 – 2022). This includes windfall supply, generated through 

intensification / recycling, resulting in a vacant land supply of 29ha.  Any 

remaining shortfall will be met in the Black Council Functional Economic 

Market Area (the Black Country FEMA).  The local authorities that form 

part of the Black Country FEMA have been engaging through the Duty to 

Cooperate to help address the shortfall across the Black Country FEMA 

as a whole. 

 

4.17 The majority of development in the existing urban area is making use of 

brownfield land (i.e. previously developed land), vacant properties and 

surplus industrial land. This land is located in: 

• West Bromwich Town Centre. 

• The core Regeneration Areas of West Bromwich and Carters Green, 

Dudley Port, Smethwick and Wednesbury to Tipton metro line 

• Existing Towns and Neighbourhoods Areas. 

 

4.18 However, due to the constrained nature of Sandwell, in that it is an 

historic industrial area with many ground condition issues and is 

surrounded on all sides by metropolitan urban areas, the identification of 

new sites is difficult.  This means that we are running out of land for new 

housing. In addition, due to Sandwell’s relatively small amount of Green 

Page 743



 

Belt and its significant constraints, such as Nature Conservation 

protection and Flood Zone restrictions, the council will not be allocating 

any sites within the Green Belt. 

 

Duty to Co-operate 

4.19 In order to try to address some of the housing shortfall, Sandwell has 

been continuing with the Duty to Cooperate discussions with 

neighbouring authorities that were started as part of the Black Country 

Plan.  Discussions with South Staffordshire, Shropshire, Lichfield and 

Telford and Wrekin councils yielded potential housing and employment 

contributions of 295 homes and an amount of employment land yet to be 

determined.  Sandwell is continuing discussions with these authorities in 

order to clarify whether these offers are still available to us.  Discussions 

are also on-going with the Black Country authorities to agree how any 

remaining offers are apportioned within the Black Country and despite 

these contributions, a substantial shortfall will remain.  The final 

outcomes of these discussions have not yet been agreed and are 

subject to a number of factors, in particular the future Government 

announcements on the new planning system and a revised National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

 

Local Plan Policies 

4.20 The Draft Local Plan includes a number of new and updated policies.  

The existing Black Country Plan policies, Site Allocations & Delivery Plan 

and Area Action Plan policies and masterplanning work have largely 

been carried forward into the Plan with some updating. There are a 

number policy changes or updates which will be addressed in the 

following paragraphs. 

 

Green Belt 

4.21 The policy aims to maintain a defensible boundary around the Sandwell 

green belt, to help promote urban renaissance, to maximise its role in 

helping to mitigate climate change impacts and to support easy access 

to the countryside for residents.  Sandwell green belt’s nature 

conservation, landscape, heritage and agricultural value will be protected 

and enhanced. 

 

Page 744



 

Housing 

 

Affordable Housing 

4.22 In order to meet local needs, the Local Plan requires that a sufficient 

proportion of new homes provided over the plan period should be 

affordable.  The draft policy states that the minimum proportion of 

affordable housing that should be provided, subject to viability, is 25%. In 

addition, 25% of the affordable homes required by the policy will be First 

Homes tenure, as defined in national guidance.  The remaining tenures 

will be determined by local need. 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

4.23 An HMO is defined as homes accommodating three or more unrelated 

households who typically share kitchens, lounges, and bathrooms.  

There are a significant number of HMO properties in Sandwell and it is 

recognised that an over-concentration of HMO properties can lead to a 

loss of family-sized units in an area which is the type of house in greatest 

need.  This can pose a serious issue for maintaining a mixed sustainable 

housing offer across Sandwell.  The proposed HMO policy introduces a 

10% threshold for HMOs which means that no more than 10% of houses 

within a 100m radius of the planning application site can be HMOs.  

There is also a proposed new policy to protect family housing and 

prevent subdivision and conversion to small HMOs. 

 

Housing for People with Special Needs 

4.24 The draft Plan includes a new policy for Housing for People with Special 

Needs. The proposed policy states that any new proposals for specific 

forms of housing including children’s homes, care homes, nursing 

homes, extra care facilities are best located in areas that are close to 

local facilities and amenities and accessible by public transport, whilst 

not having a negative impact on the surrounding area. 

 

Employment Land 

4.25 The employment land policies aim to ensure sufficient development 

opportunities are provided to meet the demand for economic growth and 

support the diversification of Sandwell’s economy.  The policies aim to 

Page 745



 

deliver a portfolio of sites of various sizes and quality to meet a range of 

business needs, both strategic and local needs. 

 

4.26 The Strategic Employment Areas are characterised by excellent 

accessibility, high-quality environments and clusters of high technology 

growth sector businesses. These areas will be safeguarded for 

manufacturing and logistics uses within Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 

and B8.  The Local Employment Areas are characterised by a critical 

mass of industrial, warehousing and service activity with good access to 

local markets and employees.  These areas will provide for the needs of 

locally-based investment. 

 

Centres and Regeneration Areas 

 

Centres 

4.27 The priority for Sandwell's centres is to ensure they remain focused on 

serving the needs of their communities, through delivering a well-

balanced diversity of commercial, business and service functions. This 

includes retail provision and an increasing mix of leisure, office, 

residential and other appropriate, complementary uses that are 

accessible by a variety of sustainable means of transport. This will 

enable centres to make a key contribution to regeneration, tackling 

climate change, fostering healthy communities, and creating pleasant, 

safe public spaces to increase social interaction and cohesion.  The 

centres have been placed into a hierarchy to ensure that any 

development in centres reflects the centre’s scale, role, and function and 

that any proposals that would undermine this strategy are resisted. A 

series of policies have been included within the Plan to help to achieve 

this aim. 

 

Regeneration Areas 

4.28 The Regeneration Areas identified on the Policies Map and the strategic 

centre of West Bromwich will be the focus for new development, 

regeneration, and public and private investment in the borough.  

Proposals will be subject to relevant development plan policies and the 

form and location of regeneration will be guided by masterplans and /or 

Page 746



 

design briefs, which will be prepared by the Council in partnership with 

developers, promoters and other stakeholders. 

 

4.29 Regeneration Areas have been identified in: 

• West Bromwich and Carters Green 

• Dudley Port 

• Smethwick 

• Wednesbury to Tipton Metro Corridor 

 

4.30 A minimum of 3,414 new homes of mixed type and tenure will be 

delivered in these areas, plus those allocated in West Bromwich.  The 

regeneration areas will be the principal locations for strategic 

employment areas and provision of high-quality employment areas. 

 

Transport 

4.31 It is acknowledged that the Covid-19 pandemic and its aftermath, and 

the resultant shift towards homeworking, has impacted on the way in 

which transport is used. In particular, there has been a significant impact 

on public transport patronage levels which may take many years to 

recover to pre-pandemic levels.  However, high-quality public transport 

combined with the provision of an extensive safe and convenient active 

travel (walking and cycling) network remains at the heart of the West 

Midlands transport strategy. 

 

4.32 Key transport priorities identified for delivery during the lifetime of the 

SLP currently include the following: 

• M5 Improvements (Junctions 1 and 2)  

• Midlands Rail Hub  

• Wednesbury – Brierley Hill Metro corridor 

• A34 Walsall Road Sprint Corridor   

• Walsall – Stourbridge corridor tram-train extensions   

• A4123 Corridor Upgrade  

• A461 Black Country Corridor  

• A457 / B4135 Oldbury, Smethwick to Birmingham Corridor  

• A4034 Blackheath and Oldbury Corridor  

• Dudley Port Integrated Transport Hub 

Page 747



 

 

Car Parking 

4.33 The correct balance needs to be found between managing and pricing of 

parking to maximise the use of sustainable travel means to enter town 

and city centres, whilst avoiding restricting parking to the extent that 

consumers are dissuaded from using town centres and deterring new 

development.  Therefore, the Plan contains a policy for parking 

management. The policy aims to ensure that parking is not used as a 

tool for competition between centres and supports parking for leisure and 

retail customers.  The policy also sets out maximum parking standards 

for new developments as set out in the current guidance.  Providing 

more convenient, secure and accessible cycle parking will be a critical 

part of increasing cycling in Sandwell and making it a natural first choice 

for journeys.  Another key aim is to provide electric vehicle charging 

points in car parks and other public locations. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

4.34 The Council is committed to meeting its “Biodiversity Duty” under the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) and to 

delivering the principles of the NPPF by proactively protecting, restoring 

and creating a richer and more sustainable wildlife and geology.  With 

regard to our approach to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) the council is 

adopting a positive approach to solving the problem of a lack of 

opportunities for habitat improvement in Sandwell and delivering at least 

10% BNG by identifying sites and (eventually) projects on our own land 

that can be made available where developers don’t have sufficient land 

available to them on their sites.  This will enable Sandwell to benefit from 

retaining BNG units in the borough. 

 

Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space 

4.35 The Council has commissioned consultants to assess the current 

Strategic Open Space designation of the Rowley Hills and provide a 

reasoned justification for its continued designation as a Strategic Open 

Space.  The evidence suggests that the Rowley Hills remains an 

important area for recreation and biodiversity and the protection of the 

openness of the area should continue.  Therefore, the Rowley Hills will 

Page 748



 

remain designated as strategic open space and the policy will be 

updated to reflect the recent survey work and assessment. 

 

Development Management Policies 

4.36 The development management policies will remain in the plan and have 

been updated to reflect current circumstances and to take into account 

any changes in legislation.  However, two policies have been included in 

the Plan for the first time - Hot Food Takeaways and Gambling 

Institutions. 

 

Hot Food Takeaways 

4.37 The Council has pledged to improve its population’s health and 

wellbeing and to reduce health inequalities. One of the challenges the 

Council faces in promoting healthy eating is the unrestricted availability 

of foods high in fat, salt and sugar in local neighbourhoods, often 

associated with hot food takeaways.  Therefore, controls over the 

prevalence of hot food takeaways (HFTs) have been set out in planning 

policy. 

 

4.38 The policy introduces a limit for the appropriate number of HFTs in 

centres as follows: 

• 40 units or more = no more than 7% of frontages 

• less than 40 units = no more than 12% of the frontages 

This includes planning permissions and vacant units with an HFT as their 

lawful use. 

 

4.39 The policy also introduces a limit on the clustering of HFTs as follows: 

• No more than two hot food takeaway outlets should be located 

next to each other 

• No new hot food takeaway developments will be permitted where 

they are within 400 metres of a secondary school or college site. 

 

Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services 

4.40 The draft plan introduces a policy that will ensure that planning 

permission for a payday loan shop, pawnbroker, amusement arcade or 

betting shop within a retail centre will not be granted if to do so would 

cause an unacceptable grouping of uses that would have a negative 

Page 749



 

impact on the character and vitality of the centre.  Depending on the size 

of the centre, a threshold of between 5% and 10% will be applied to 

these uses, above which planning permission will not be granted.  In 

addition, permission will not be given if two or more of these uses are 

located immediately adjacent to each other, or if there are fewer than two 

units in other uses between gambling or arcade uses. 

 

Site Allocations 

4.41 In order to identify as many sites as possible to meet the identified need 

for both housing and employment land in the borough, a rigorous site 

assessment process has been undertaken following the methodology as 

was used for the Black Country Plan.  From this analysis and the 

subsequent sustainability appraisal, we selected the most appropriate 

sites for allocation for housing, employment and Gypsy and Travellers.  

The current list of sites is included as an appendix to the Draft Local Plan 

document (appendix A).  An interactive version of the Policies Map will 

be available on the Sandwell Plan web page during the consultation. 

 

Infrastructure Provision 

4.42 Officers have engaged with colleagues in Education, Utilities, 

Healthcare, Adult Social Care, Sport and Recreation, Parks, Burials and 

Crematoria, Flood Risk and Transport. Evidence so far is indicating that 

there are no major infrastructure 'showstoppers' which would prevent the 

deliverability of the proposed sites.   Further transport modelling work will 

be carried out to inform the next stage of the Plan process.  

Infrastructure provision such as open space, schools and health 

provision have also been factored into new policies. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal 

4.43 The Council is required to assess the environmental impacts of any plan 

which it produces. Accordingly, a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping report 

accompanied the earlier Issues and Options version of the plan. The 

subsequent version of the emerging Local Plan (the Draft Plan) has 

been accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal and a Habitat 

Regulations Assessment. These documents form an important part of 

the supporting evidence to the local plan review and help the Council to 

assess the possible impacts of the plan and its policies and therefore 

Page 750



 

how impacts can be addressed or mitigated against.  The latest version 

of the Sustainability Appraisal and its appendices are attached as 

appendix C.  The final version will be available for the commencement of 

the public consultation on 6th November. 

 

4.44 It is proposed to undertake a public consultation on the Draft Sandwell 

Local Plan for a six-week period, 6th November 2023 – 18th December 

2023.  The Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement Plan is attached 

as appendix D. 

 

4.45 In the meantime, officers will continue to refine the documents and make 

corrections where they are discovered.  Any minor changes will be 

agreed with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration and the WMCA in 

conjunction with the Director for Regeneration and Growth. 

 

5 Alternative Options 

 

5.1 The preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement under the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012.  The process for preparing a Local Plan is set out in additional 

legislation and guidance. As a result, there are no alternative solutions to 

the preparation of a new local plan for Sandwell, which is a matter of 

increasing urgency. Options relating to the form and content of the Local 

Plan were set out in the report to Cabinet on 16th November 2022. 

 

6 Implications 

 

Resources: The resource implications of preparing the Sandwell 

Local plan were outlined in the Cabinet report on 16th 

November.  There are no additional resource 

implications arising from the course of action 

recommended in this report. 

Legal and 

Governance: 

The process for the preparation of development plans 

is set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004 (as amended) and the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012. 

Page 751



 

 

In accordance with section 15 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, every local planning 

authority must prepare planning policy documents and 

maintain the Local Development Scheme, specifying 

the documents that will be local development 

documents; their subject matter and area; and the 

timetable for their preparation and revision. 

 

There are three consultation periods that are statutory 

requirements of The Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012; Issues 

and Options consultation (Regulation 18); Preferred 

Options/Draft Plan consultation (Regulation 18) and 

Publication/Pre-submission consultation (Regulation 

19). 

Risk: The Council’s corporate risk management strategy 

has been complied with, to identify and assess the 

risks associated with this decision/recommendation.  

The following should be noted: 

 

Failure to have a Local Plan that is based on sound 

evidence could result in the borough having 

insufficient land to meet the need for housing, 

employment and other land uses that are necessary 

to support the economic and environmental well-being 

of the area. It could also result in development taking 

place in inappropriate or harmful locations, leading to 

an inefficient use of resources, traffic congestion and 

other harm.  

 

Having an up-to-date Local Plan in place is also 

essential to defend the Council’s position at planning 

appeals. In the event of the Council not having, or 

working towards, an up-to-date Local Plan, there is a 

risk of intervention from Central Government which 

may compromise the ability to take decisions locally. 

Page 752



 

Equality: An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried 

out for the Draft Sandwell Local Plan and further 

iterations will be completed for future stages of the 

plan’s production. This ensures that any impacts likely 

to affect local communities / groups / individuals can 

be taken into account when decisions are made on 

the content and direction of the Local Plan.  The EqIA 

is attached as appendix E to this report. 

Health and 

Wellbeing: 

Health and wellbeing is a key theme which will be 

addressed throughout the Local Plan. It will promote 

healthy living and create opportunities for active 

lifestyles and healthy transport choices including 

walking, cycling and outdoor recreation. 

 

Later stages of the plan will be accompanied by a 

Health Impact Assessment. 

Social Value: The Local Plan will play an important part in delivering 

the spatial and land use aspects of the Council’s 

vision 2030, particularly as it relates to housing, 

employment, transport, environment and education 

goals.   

Climate 
Change: 

The main strategic objective of the Sandwell Local 
Plan is to ensure that new development takes a 
proactive approach to climate change mitigation, 
adaptation and carbon reduction, and that 
development is resilient to climate change.  Other 
objectives include: 

• the need to protect and enhance Sandwell’s 
natural environment, natural resources, 
biodiversity, wildlife corridors geological 
resources, countryside and landscapes, whilst 
ensuring that residents have good access to 
interlinked green infrastructure.  

• improving energy efficiency and a move towards 
becoming zero carbon. 

• help decarbonise the transport system by 
locating developments sustainably. 

 

Page 753



 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

The Sandwell Local Plan is a plan for the future 
(2041) and therefore, the council is aiming to engage 
young people in the forming of the final Plan.  The 
Plan aims to future proof the Borough against the 
impacts of climate change, leaving a legacy for young 
people.  Policies and proposals in the Plan aim to 
ensure that the education requirements arising from 
new development will be delivered and good quality 
jobs are available once young people leave 
education, along with a choice of living 
accommodation that will meet their needs. 

 

7. Appendices 

  

Appendix A -  Draft Sandwell Local Plan and appendices 

Appendix B - Draft Policies Map 

Appendix C -  Sustainability Appraisal and appendices 

Appendix D -  Consultation & Stakeholder Engagement Plan 

Appendix E - Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

8. Background Papers 

 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

The Localism Act 2011 

The National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) 

Report to Cabinet – 16/11/2022 

Sandwell Local Development Scheme (November 2022) 

Page 754



1 

 

Contents  
APPENDIX A – Nature Recovery Network and Biodiversity Net Gain .............................. 2 

APPENDIX B - Sandwell Site Allocations ......................................................................... 11 

Housing Allocations .......................................................................................................... 12 

APPENDIX C - Employment .............................................................................................. 30 

Employment Allocations – vacant land............................................................................ 31 

APPENDIX D – West Bromwich Masterplan and Carter’s Green Framework Plan........ 32 

APPENDIX E - Strategic Waste Sites ................................................................................ 34 

APPENDIX F - Minerals ..................................................................................................... 37 

APPENDIX G – Site allocations - changes ....................................................................... 38 

APPENDIX H – Rowley Hills .............................................................................................. 47 

APPENDIX I – Sandwell Local Plan Housing Trajectory ................................................. 49 

APPENDIX J - Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy (extract) ............. 51 

APPENDIX K – Open space and play provision standards for development ................ 58 

Open Space Hierarchy ...................................................................................................... 60 

APPENDIX L - Transportation Policy ............................................................................... 65 

APPENDIX M – Glossary ................................................................................................... 91 

 

  

Page 755



2 

 

APPENDIX A – Nature Recovery Network and Biodiversity Net Gain 

Black Country Local Nature Recovery Opportunity Map 

1. The development of a Nature Recovery Network (NRN) covering the whole of England is a major 

commitment in the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (2018). The plan states that the 

development of the NRN will provide 500,000 hectares of additional wildlife habitat, more effectively 

linking existing protected sites and landscapes, as well as urban green and blue infrastructure; and 

that as well as helping wildlife thrive, the NRN could be designed to bring a wide range of additional 

benefits: greater public enjoyment; pollination; carbon capture; water quality improvements and 

flood management. 

2. The Environment Act 2021 made Local Nature Recovery Strategies mandatory in England. 

Together the strategies are to cover the whole of the country, and the Secretary of State is to 

determine the areas within England to which individual Local Nature Recovery Strategies are to 

relate. 

Black Country Local Nature Recovery Opportunity Map (draft April 2021) 

3. A requirement of the Environment Act 2021 is a Local Habitat Map that identifies the existing 

distribution of different habitat types and the location of areas already important for biodiversity, 

overlaid by locations considered suitable for delivering the outcomes and measures identified in the 

Statement of Biodiversity Priorities. 

4. The emerging Sandwell Local Nature Recovery Opportunity Map forms part of a Birmingham and 

Black Country-wide map and strategy approach which has been produced by the Wildlife Trust for 

Birmingham and the Black Country and the Local Environmental Records Centre (EcoRecord). This 

has been undertaken through analysis of local and national data sets including designated sites, 

Priority habitats, species distribution, land use and ecological connectivity. The map comprises a 

number of components that depict the areas of current high ecological value, ecological connectivity 

between these areas, and prioritises opportunities for investment in nature’s recovery on a 

landscape scale. 

Core Landscapes 

a. Core Landscapes are large areas of land comprised of multiple land use parcels that are 

ecologically coherent, often sharing similar geology, soil types, habitats, landscape character and 

land use history. They are frequently those areas less impacted upon by urban development and 

often support features more typically associated with rural landscapes. Core Landscapes typically 

support the highest abundance and diversity of semi-natural and Priority Habitats, and the species 

assemblages associated with these. They provide significant opportunity and are a priority for 

investment in ecological recovery (e.g. habitat restoration and creation). 

Page 756



3 

 

Priority Network Restoration Zone 

b. Priority Network Restoration Zones are areas where investment in ecological recovery outside of 

Core Landscapes has been prioritised. These zones have been selected on the basis of being 

those areas that contain the highest density of Core Habitat and Core Expansion land use parcels 

which collectively link Core Landscapes (or their component parts), and their purpose is to support 

the creation of a coherent ecological network across the Black Country landscape. Priority Network 

Restoration Zones comprise the full range of landscape components (natural and built environment) 

and, where these exist, follow linear blue and green corridors (e.g. canals, rivers and dismantled 

railway lines).  

Core Habitat Zone 

c. The Core Habitat Zone is comprised of the land use parcels that contain the most ecologically 

valuable habitats. The zone includes all parcels with an ecological value score of 4 or above (see 

ecological evaluation methodology); all sites with a nature conservation designation not included in 

the above (e.g. some Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation); and any additional areas 

identified in Natural England’s Combined Habitat Network data set. The Core Habitat Zone is a 

priority for protection and restoration.  

Core Expansion Zone 1 

d. Core Expansion Zone 1 comprises those land use parcels that are of lower ecological value than 

those in the Core Habitat Zone but, due to inherent value or location, have the most potential to 

contribute to a coherent ecologic network. These sites are frequently within Core Landscapes and 

Priority Network Restoration Zones and are a priority for investment in the restoration and creation 

of new habitats. Included in this zone are all areas of green space scoring 3 in the ecological 

evaluation; all green space scoring 1 or 2 lying within 150 metres of a Core Habitat Zone; those 

areas identified as habitat bottlenecks; and vegetated railway cuttings and embankments. 

Core Expansion Zone 2 

e. Core Expansion Zone 2 comprises all areas of greenspace that do not meet the criteria for inclusion 

in Zone 1. These sites provide an opportunity for the restoration and creation of new habitats but 

investment in these areas is a lower priority than in Zone 1. 

Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 1 

f. Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 1 comprises all features of the built environment within 150 metres of 

the Core Habitat Zone, and may include residential and commercial properties, gardens, road 

verges, street trees and minor watercourses. Due to their proximity to sites of ecological value these 

features have the most potential of their type to contribute to a coherent ecologic network. The 

protection, enhancement and creation of green infrastructure within these areas is a priority. 

Page 757



4 

 

Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 2 

g. Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 2 comprises all features of the built environment outside of Zone 1. 

These areas provide an opportunity for the protection, enhancement and creation of green 

infrastructure but investment in these areas is of a lower priority than in Zone 1. 

National Habitat Network 

h. Natural England’s Combined Habitat Networks data set.  

 

Page 758



5 

 

Figure 1 - Sandwell Nature Recovery Network map 

 

Page 759



6 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) – Habitat Bank sites (Policy SNE2) 

See SLP Evidence base - Sandwell Biodiversity Net Gain Study (September 2023) - for more details 

5. The following are extracts from the report undertaken for Sandwell Council by Lepus Consulting on 

potential BNG habitat bank sites within the ownership of the Council. Six sites have been identified 

in the SLP, to help ensure that biodiversity net gain is retained within the borough as far as possible. 

Many of Sandwell’s new housing and employment allocations lie within heavily urbanised locations 

where the opportunities for on-site BNG provision are limited.  

6. The following criteria were used to establish suitable sites for consideration: 

• Sites / land wholly-owned by Sandwell Council. 

• Exclusion of certain open space typologies from consideration – allotments, cemeteries and 

churchyards, institutional land (schools, hospitals, sports grounds and reservoirs), outdoor 

sports facilities and provision for children and young people. 

• Exclusion of sites smaller than 10ha. 

• Use of the national Biodiversity Net Gain Calculator. 

7. Where sites under consideration contain public amenity open space, these specific areas were also 

excluded from consideration for improvement, as their role as accessible open space needs to be 

retained. 

8. The following map identifies the list of sites that were ranked by the consultants as being of high 

and medium value for BNG improvements and identified as potential habitat banks. 

 

  

Page 760



7 

 

Figure 2 - Extract from report - location of high and medium value sites for BNG 

 
Page 761



8 

 

9. The six sites included in the SLP (Policy SNE2) are detailed below: 

 

 

Page 762



9 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 763



10 

 

 

 

Warrens Hall Park 

  

Page 764



11 

 

APPENDIX B - Sandwell Site Allocations 
Introduction 

1. Sandwell has many growing and productive businesses and a higher than average proportion 

of its businesses are small, but residents are not always able to take up opportunities related 

to those employment and economic activities. Local businesses will often need a highly skilled 

workforce to be able to grow to meet modern demands; that workforce needs training and 

support to help deliver and accelerate innovation. Sandwell also has a limited amount of the 

type of high quality land needed to enable businesses to expand and grow in the borough’s 

industrial core. 

2. Creating a clean, attractive and safe living environment in Sandwell is a key priority, as is 

developing a robust response to climate change in an area with a complex industrial heritage 

and its associated legacy of land, water and air pollution 

3. Although Sandwell has many challenges, it also has a significant number of opportunities. 

Sandwell’s Inclusive Economy Deal will be focusing on the challenges for people, place and 

business and the opportunities that are available to make a difference. 

4. The aim is to deliver a healthier, more successful future for the people of Sandwell – working 

closely together with residents, businesses and other stakeholders.  

5. This Plan supports the delivery of 10,686 new homes and around 20,000 new jobs to 2041, 

supporting the growth of the borough’s population and workforce. To plan for this growth, the 

Council is prioritising locations that are both sustainable and deliverable in line with the Spatial 

Strategy set out in Policy SDS1.  

6. In addition, there are seven mixed use allocations providing both housing and employment / 

commercial uses. 

Page 765



12 

 

Housing Allocations 
 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH1 
(SA 5) 

Brown Lion 
Street 

Tipton 
Green 

Tipton 27 0.46 B 0.46 59 2027 Granted consent for 27 
dwellings DC/23/67972 

SH2 
(SA 12) 

Land adjacent 
to Asda, 
Wolverhampton 
Road, Oldbury 

Langley Oldbury 62 1.5 G 1.5 41 2031 Access issue will need to be 
overcome. Siting of houses 
should safeguard existing 
residential amenity and the 
asset of the watercourse. 

SH3 
(SA 21) 

88-90 Dudley 
Rd West 

Oldbury Oldbury 12 0.36 B 0.36 33 2032 Site assessment found the site 
offers an opportunity for c12 
dwellings based on a moderate 
density, given its location close 
to existing facilities. Density is 
lower than 40 due to shape of 
site. 

SH4 
(SA 23) 

Lower High 
Street (Station 
Hotel and 
Dunns Site). 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis 

20 0.28 B 0.28 71 2033 Residential allocation would be 
consistent with this land use 
and take advantage of the sites’ 
location close to public 
transport and connectivity to 
local services 

SH5 
(SA 24) 

Mill Street, 
Great Bridge  

Great 
Bridge 

Tipton 40 0.88 B 0.88 45 2028 Applications on part of site - 
DC/22/67019 Land at Mill 

P
age 766



13 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

Street Tipton. Proposed 20 no. 
dwellings with associated 
parking. 
DC/22/67018 - 8 homes 
pending consent 
Within Wednesbury 
Regeneration Area 

SH6 
(SA 25) 

Swan Lane, 
north of A41 
West Bromwich 

Greets 
Green and 
Lyng 

West 
Bromwich 

147 2.42 B 2.42 61 2027 Application - DC/22/66532: 
Proposed 147 dwelling houses 
(65 houses and 82 apartments) 

SH7 
(SA 26) 

The Boat 
Gauging House 
and adjoining 
land, Factory 
Road, Tipton 

Tipton 
Green 

Tipton 50 0.57 B 0.57 88 2026 Application - DC/21/65872 - 
Proposed residential 
development comprising of 46 
no. 1 and 2 bed apartments, 
and conversion of boat house 
to 4 no. 2 bed residential units. 
 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH8 
SA 27) 

Alma Street, 
Wednesbury 

Friar Park Wednesbury 23 0.52 B 0.52 44 2028 Landowner interested in 
bringing site forward for 
development for residential use. 

SH9 
(SA 28) 

The Phoenix 
Collegiate, 
Friar Park 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

84 4.8 B 2.84 30 2029 Application - DC/20/63911: 
Proposed residential 
development of up to 84 No. 
dwellings, associated public 

P
age 767



14 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

Road, 
Wednesbury 

open space and infrastructure. 
(outline application for access). 

SH10 
(SA 31) 

Tipton 
Conservative 
and Unionist 
Club, 64 Union 
Street, Tipton 

Tipton 
Green 

Tipton 18 0.19 B 0.19 95 2026 Application - DC/19/62733: 
Proposed change of use to 
residential, to include 7 No. 1 
bed properties and 7 No. 2 bed 
properties. 
 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH11 
(SA 32) 

Sandwell 
District and 
General 
Hospital, West 
Bromwich 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

121 0.82 B 0.82 148 2027 Application - DC/20/64894: 
Demolition of existing building 
and proposed mixed-use 
development comprising of 12 
No. houses and 109 No. 
apartments for key workers. 

SH12 
(SA 33) 

former 
Springfield and 
Brickhouse 
Neighbourhood 
Office and 
adjacent land, 
Dudley Road, 
Rowley Regis 

Rowley Rowley 
Regis 

26 0.65 B 0.65 40 2029 Application - DC/18/61922: 
Proposed erection of 22 No. 
new dwellings and 4 No. 2-bed 
apartments with new access 
road into site. 

P
age 768



15 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH13 
(SA 47) 

Silverthorne 
Lane/ Forge 
Lane Cradley 
Heath 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis 

81 2.41 B 1.81 45 2035 Site assessment found - The 
location of the site presents 
good opportunities for new 
housing of mixed density 

SH14 
(SA 48) 

Langley 
Maltings, 
Western Road, 
Langley 

Oldbury Oldbury 71 2.72 B 2.04 35 2040 Site assessment found - 
Residential redevelopment 
would be the appropriate use to 
continue the land use 
transformation in this area. 
Density reflects that this the site 
contains a Grade II listed 
building.  

SH15 
(SA 49) 

Macarthur 
Road Industrial 
Estate, Cradley 
Heath 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis 

13 0.3 B 0.3 43 2034 Site assessment found - 
Residential development would 
be the appropriate use to 
continue the residential 
redevelopment of the former 
Woods Lane industrial estate. 

SH16 
(SA 53) 

Cradley Heath 
Factory Centre, 
Woods Lane, 
Cradley 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis  

196 5.57 B 4.36 45 2032 Part of site has application - 
DC/21/66444: Proposed 
demolition of existing industrial 
buildings and development of 
34 No. dwellings. 

SH17 
(SA 54) 

Land adj 
Droicon Estate, 

Rowley Rowley 
Regis 

28 0.7 B 0.7 40 2030 Site assessment found - There 
is an opportunity to redevelop 
this and the adjoining site – 

P
age 769



16 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

Portway Road, 
Rowley Regis 

ideally in combination but 
possibly on an individual basis. 

SH18 
(SA 55) 

Friar Park 
(STW/SMBC 
Land), 
Wednesbury 

Friar Park Wednesbury  630 26.3  
G and B 

15.75 40 2032 Joint Venture between 
Sandwell Council and WMCA. 
A Masterplan and remediation 
strategy for the land has been 
produced. 
Community Open Space on 
part of site and will need 
mitigating. 
Mitigation needed for SLINC 
(SA004). 

Playing pitches on site - subject 
to demonstration of viability, 
reinstatement should be made 
in accordance with the 
PPOSS/Action Plan 2023. 

SH19 
(SA 57) 

Land at 
Horseley 
Heath, 
Alexandra 
Road, and 
Lower Church 
Lane, Tipton 

Great 
Bridge 

Tipton 76 2.26 B 1.9 40 2039 SLINC SA028 – Alexandra 
Road to the north of the site. 
SLINC SA103:1 Dixons Branch 
Canal to the south of the site 

P
age 770



17 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH20 
(SA 58) 

Elbow Street, 
Old Hill 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis 

33 0.77 B 0.77 43 2031 Land owner advised interested 
in developing site 

SH21 
(SA 59) 

Dudley Road 
East 

Oldbury Oldbury 90 2.65 B 1.99 45 2034 Employment review and site 
assessment found site suitable 
for housing 
Adjacent to a SINC SA038 – 
Gower Branch Canal 
 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH22 
(SA 60) 

Tatbank Road, 
Oldbury 

St Pauls Smethwick 52 1.15 B 1.15 45 2.41 Land owner advised will 
continue to operate but will look 
at opportunities to move and 
redevelop 

SH23 
(SA 62) 

28-64 High 
Street, West 
Bromwich 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

53 0.6 B 0.6 88 2032 Site assessment found - 
Residential development would 
be the appropriate use in this 
sustainable location on the 
edge of West Bromwich Town 
Centre with excellent public 
transport links. 

SH24 
(SA 64) 

Cokeland Place 
/ Graingers 
Lane, Cradley 
Heath 

Cradley 
Heath and 
Old Hill 

Rowley 
Regis 

16 0.36 B 0.36 44 2033 Land owner interested in 
bringing site forward for 
development for residential use 

P
age 771



18 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH25 
(SA 65) 

Bradleys Lane / 
High Street, 
Tipton 

Prince’s End Tipton 189 5.6 B 4.2 45 2039 Redevelopment with the 
cooperation of owners looking 
to relocate. 
Site assessment found - 
Residential development would 
be suitable should the 
constraints of site assembly 
and land contamination be 
overcome 
Adjacent to Brierley Lane Open 
Space, which is also a SLINC 
SA011- Dudley to Priestfield 
Disused Railway 

SH26 
(66) 

Lower City 
Road, Oldbury 

Oldbury Oldbury 73 1.83 B 1.83 40 2036 Site assessment found - 
Subject to overcoming the 
constraints of land remediation 
and site assembly there is the 
opportunity to exploit the canal 
side location. Housing would be 
an appropriate use for the site 
and would continue the 
residential transformation of the 
area  
Response from some land 
owners looking to bring site 
forward. 
 

P
age 772



19 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH27  
(SA 68) 

Site 
surrounding 
former Post 
office and 
Telephone 
Exchange, 
Horseley Heath 

Great 
Bridge 

Tipton 52 1.16 B 1.16 45 2035 Site assessment found - There 
is the opportunity to provide 
new comprehensive 
redevelopment in a highly 
sustainable location. 

SH28 
(SA 69) 

Friar Street, 
Wednesbury 

Friar Park Wednesbury 45 1.01 B 1.01 45 2039 Land owner interested in 
bringing site forward for 
residential use 
Adjacent to SLINC SA002 
Woden Road South. 

SH29 
(SA 70) 

Used car sales 
site, corner of 
Lower Church 
Lane and 
Horseley 
Heath, Tipton 

Tipton 
Green 

Tipton 23 0.56 B 0.56 41 2038 Site assessment found - 
Housing development would be 
the appropriate use in the 
surrounding area. 

SH30  
(SA 75) 

Land to east of 
Black Lake, 
West Bromwich 

Hateley 
Heath 

West 
Bromwich 

83 2.45 B 1.83 45 2039 Land owners want to develop 
for housing 
Site adjacent to SINC SA034 
Ridgeacre Branch Canal 

P
age 773



20 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH31 
(SA 76) 

Summerton 
Road, Oldbury 

Oldbury Oldbury 36 0.89 B 0.89 40 2034 Site assessment found - 
Residential redevelopment is 
ongoing to the south of the 
canal and would be appropriate 
in this location. 

SH32 
(SA 77) 

Bank Street 
(West), Hateley 
Heath 

Hateley 
Heath 

West 
Bromwich 

43 0.85 B 0.85 51 2030 Site assessment found - The 
use of the site for residential 
purposes is considered suitable 

SH33 
(SA 78) 

Wellington 
Road, Tipton 

Tipton 
Green 

Tipton 40 0.91 B 0.91 44 2038 The redevelopment of the site 
for residential purposes is 
considered suitable within this 
area. The landowner is willing 
to relocate his business. 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH34 
(SA 79) 

Brandhall Golf 
Course 

Old Warley Oldbury 190 5.18 G 3.88 48 2032 Application - DC/23/68540: 
Proposed demolition of existing 
buildings and erection of 1 No. 
primary school, 190 No. 
dwellings, public open space, 
landscaping and associated 
works (outline application with 
all matters reserved) – pending 
decision 

P
age 774



21 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH35 
(SA 85) 

Rattlechain site 
- land to north 
of Temple Way, 
Tividale 

Oldbury Oldbury 518 14.8  
G and B 

14.8 35 2040 Land owner in discussions to 
include neighbouring land.  
Developable area to be 
determined. 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH36 
(SA 86) 

Land between 
Addington Way 
and River 
Tame, Temple 
Way 
(Rattlechain) 

Oldbury Oldbury 36 0.9 G 0.9 40 2039 Awaiting discussions with 
neighbouring land owners. 
Adjacent to Community Open 
Space and SLINC SA041:2 
Brades Hall. 
Within Tipton and Dudley Port 
Regeneration Area 

SH37 
(SA 87) 

Edwin Richards 
Quarry, 
Portway Road, 
Rowley Regis 

Rowley Rowley 
Regis 

526 in plan 
period; 100 
in post-
plan period 
(total site 
capacity 
626) 

52 B 15 45 2041 Application - DC/23/67924 
(Reserved Matters) pending 
decision: Proposed residential 
development comprising of 276 
No. dwellings, pursuant to 
outline planning application 
DC/14/57745. 
0.86ha to north and 0.32ha to 
west of site is allocated as 
Strategic Open Space and 
cannot be built on. 

P
age 775



22 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SLINC SA070 Hailstone Quarry 
lies within the site and will need 
to be mitigated. 

SH38 
(SA 90) 

Brades Road, 
Oldbury 

Oldbury Oldbury 51 1.14 B 1.14 45 2033 Site assessment found the site 
suitable for residential use. 
Gas pipeline possibly running 
along line of canal could 
constrain the site and reduce 
development capacity. 

SH40 
(SA 94) 

Langley 
Swimming 
Centre, 
Vicarage Road, 
Oldbury 

Langley Oldbury 20 0.49 B 0.49 41 2028 Site assessment found that 
residential is considered to be 
an appropriate site allocation 

SH41 
(SA95) 

North 
Smethwick 
Canalside 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 500 8.7 B 6.5 77 2034 Corridor Framework approved 
by Cabinet February 2022 and 
a wider Masterplan for the Rolfe 
Street area completed March 
2023. 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH42 
(SA 97) 

Forge Tavern, 
Franchise 
Street, 
Wednesbury 

Wednesbury 
North 

Wednesbury 10 0.14 B 0.14 71 2031 Site assessment found that 
residential use would be the 
appropriate redevelopment on 
this site. 

P
age 776



23 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH43 
(SA 
166) 

Land off 
Tanhouse 
Avenue, Great 
Barr 

Newton West 
Bromwich 

46 1.66 G 1.15 40 2037 Site assessment found the site 
suitable for residential 
development. 
SLINC SA045:20 Tanhouse 
Avenue will need to be 
mitigated. 
Adjacent to SINC SA045 Forge 
Mill 

SH44 
(SA 
167) 

Wyndmill 
Crescent, West 
Bromwich 

Charlemont West 
Bromwich 

11 0.19 B 0.19 58 2032 Site assessment found the site 
suitable for residential 
development. 

SH45 
(SA 
165) 

Site of 30-144 
Mounts Road, 
Wednesbury 

Wednesbury 
South 

Wednesbury 45 1.07 B 1.07 42 2028 Site assessment found suitable 
for housing. 
DC/22/67797 - Proposed 
residential development 
comprising of 45 dwellings, 
landscaping and car parking. 
Pending decision. 

SH46 
 

Site of 118-152 
Whitehall Road 

Great 
Bridge 

Tipton 20 0.41 B 0.41 49 2024 Application DC/18/61925 – site 
under construction 

SH47 
 

Site of former 
Stone Cross 
Neighbourhood 
Office 

Charlemont 
with Grove 
Vale 

West 
Bromwich 

14 0.32 B 0.32 47 2024 Application DC/18/61923 - 
Proposed erection of dwellings. 

P
age 777



24 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH49 St Johns 
Street, Carters 
Green 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

33 0.82 B 0.82 40 2031 Estimated capacity based on 
ongoing Masterplan work for 
Carters Green regeneration 

SH50 
 

Tentec, Guns 
Lane 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

126 0.6 B 0.6 210 2030 Application DC/22/67454 - 
Proposed new build 
development of 129 apartments 
with amenities, 69 onsite 
parking spaces and associated 
landscaping – pending decision 
Within Carters Green 
Regeneration Area 

SH51 
 

Providence 
Place / Bratt 
Street, West 
Bromwich 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

40 0.74 B 0.40 100 2037 Part of West Bromwich 
Masterplan 
Within West Bromwich 
Regeneration Area 

SH52 
 

Overend 
Street, West 
Bromwich 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

70 0.71 B 0.71 99 2041 Remaining element of Eastern 
Gateway 
Within West Bromwich 
Regeneration Area 

SH53 Grove Lane/ 
Cranford 
Street/ London 
Street, 
Smethwick 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 500 1.23 B 1.23 406 2036 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan;  
Application on part of site - 
DC/22/67165: Proposed 
erection of a residential led, 
mixed use building of between 
7 and 14 storeys to include 392 
dwellings (Use Class C3) and 

P
age 778



25 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

555sqm (GIA) commercial 
floorspace (flexible within Use 
Class E, drinking 
establishments (sui generis) 
and hot food takeaway (sui 
generis) 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH54 Cranford Street 
/ Heath Street / 
Canal, 
Smethwick 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 115 5.0 B 2.88 40 2030 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH55  Cape Arm, 
Cranford Street 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 170 2.13 B 2.13 80 2030 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH56 Moilliett Street 
Park - Grove 
Lane 
masterplan 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 35 0.77 B 0.77 45 2028 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH57 Grove Street / 
MMUH / School 
- Grove Lane 
MP 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 85 2.18 B 0.59 144 2029 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH58 Abberley Street 
Grove Lane 
Master Plan 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 140 2.48 B 2.48 56 2032 Part of Grove Lane Masterplan 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

P
age 779



26 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess. 
Ref) 

Site Name 
and 
Address 

Ward  Town Indicative 
Capacity 
(net 
homes) 

Gross 
Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield 
(B) or 
greenfield 
(G) 

Indicative 
Net 
Developable 
Area (ha) 

Net 
Density 
(dph) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 
(completion 
year) 

Further Information 

SH59 Beever Road Great 
Bridge 

Tipton 18 1.01 B 1.01 18 2025 Application - DC/21/65582: 
Proposed 10 No. bungalows 
and 8 No. flats 

SH60 Former 
Simpson Street 
Day Centre, 6 
Simpson 
Street, Oldbury 

Oldbury Oldbury 10 0.05 B 0.05 200 2024 Application - DC/18/61924: 
Demolition of former day centre 
and proposed construction of 
10 No. 2 bed apartments. 

SH61 Thandi Coach 
Station, Alma 
Street, West 
Bromwich 

Soho and 
Victoria 

Smethwick 58 0.71 B 0.71 82 2027 Application - DC/17/60747: 
Proposed residential 
development of 54 No 
apartments and 4 No. houses – 
made a start on site. 
Within Smethwick Regeneration 
Area 

SH62 Star and 
Garter, 252 
Duchess 
Parade, West 
Bromwich 

West 
Bromwich 
Central 

West 
Bromwich 

60 0.05 B 0.05 200 2027 Application - DC/21/65798: 
Proposed nine storey mixed 
use development comprising of 
1 No. retail unit at ground floor 
and 60 No. apartments above 
Within West Bromwich 
Regeneration Area 

  

P
age 780



27 

 

Mixed Use Site Allocations 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess’t 
Ref) 

Site Name and Address Appropriate Uses and capacities Gross Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield (B) 
or greenfield 
(G) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 

Timescale 
(completion 

year) 

Further Information 

SM1 
(SA 91) 

Chances Glass Works, Land west 
of Spon Lane, north of Palace Drive 

Housing – 276 homes 
7208 sqm workspace 
779 sqm heritage centre 
1 ha open space 
New highways access on to Spon 
Lane 
 

0.64 B 118 homes – 
2030 

158 homes - 
2040 

Site assessment found employment and 
residential uses are appropriate and support 
the plans for a heritage-led regeneration 
programme. 
Grade II Listed Building 
Scheduled Ancient Monument 
Galton Valley Conservation Area 

SM2 
(SA 199) 

Lion Farm, Oldbury Residential – 200 units 
Retention of 6 sports pitches with 
changing facilities and car parking 
– 5ha 
Employment – 2.3ha 
Remainder of site would be 
retained as green space 

2.0 G 2035 Site assessment found It is considered that a 
mix of residential and employment uses could 
be accommodated on this site. Net loss of the 
existing sports pitches could be avoided ( nb 
this option is strongly caveated by the ability to 
relocate 6 pitches to the southern part of the 
borough) Sufficient community open space 
can be provided. 
A Masterplan will be prepared for the site. 

SM3 
 

Evans Halshaw car showroom, 
Carters Green 

Residential – 140 units 
Ancillary commercial – 7 units 
(approx. 2,000m2 total) 

0.89 B 2032 Estimated capacity based on ongoing 
Masterplan work for Carters Green 
regeneration 
 
Within Carters Green Regeneration Area 

SM4 
 

Army Reserve, Carters Green Residential – 63 units 
Ancillary commercial – 4 units 
(approx. 1,000 m2 total) 

1.17 B 2034 Estimated capacity based on ongoing 
Masterplan work for Carters Green 
regeneration 
 
Within Carters Green Regeneration Area 

SM5 Cultural Quarter, West Bromwich Residential – 52 units  1.09 B 2029 Part of West Bromwich Masterplan 

P
age 781



28 

 

Site Ref 
(Site 
Assess’t 
Ref) 

Site Name and Address Appropriate Uses and capacities Gross Site Area 
(ha)  
brownfield (B) 
or greenfield 
(G) 

Anticipated 
Delivery 

Timescale 
(completion 

year) 

Further Information 

 Food and Beverage – 1,054 m2 
Community / Leisure – 2,000 m2 
Parking – 10 spaces 

 
Within West Bromwich Regeneration Area 

SM6 
 

Queens Square Living, West 
Bromwich 

Residential – 396 units  
Retail – 7,447 m2 
Offices – 855 m2 
Community / Leisure – 1,395 m2 
Parking – 206 spaces 

3.06 B 2041 Part of West Bromwich Masterplan 
 
Within West Bromwich Regeneration Area 

SM7 
 

West Bromwich Central Residential – 343 units 
Retail – 2,302 m2 
Offices – 5,032 m2 
Educational – 5,060 m2 
Food and Beverage – 11,840 m2 
Community / Leisure – 9,862 m2 
Health – 5,205 m2 
Parking – 625 spaces 

4.53 B 2029 Part of West Bromwich Masterplan 
 
Within West Bromwich Regeneration Area 

SM8 
 

George Street Living, West 
Bromwich 

Residential - 327 units  
Community / Leisure – 1,150 m2 
Parking – 79 spaces 

2.36 B 2037 Part of West Bromwich Masterplan 
 
Within West Bromwich Regeneration Area 

  

P
age 782



29 

 

 

Sandwell Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocations 

Site Ref Address Gross Site 
Area 

Net Site Area Indicative 
Development 
Capacity 

Anticipated 
Delivery 
Timescale 

Further Information 

SG1 Brierley Lane 0.73  0.73 10 Plots 2030-2031 Extension to caravan site - funding 

required 

P
age 783



30 

 

APPENDIX C - Employment  
1. Under Policy SEC2, 221 hectares of employment land will be allocated as strategic 

employment land and will be safeguarded for manufacturing and logistics uses within Use 

Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), B2 and B8.  

2. Within Sandwell, high-quality employment land is concentrated in three main areas. Two of 

these are around the M5 - adjacent to Junction 1 in West Bromwich and adjacent to 

Junction 2 in Oldbury. The third area where there is a concentration of high quality 

employment land is along the Black Country New Road, from Tipton to Wednesbury. 

3. Under Policy SEC3, a further 944 hectares of employment land will be allocated as local 

quality employment land and will be safeguarded for manufacturing and logistics uses 

within Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), B2 and B8. The main concentrations of local quality 

employment are concentrated in Oldbury, Tipton, West Bromwich and Smethwick. 

4. In addition, there are a further 12 hectares of employment land that are not being allocated; 

Policy SEC4 will apply to these sites. 

5. In addition to the existing occupied employment it is proposed to allocate c29 hectares of 

vacant land for employment purposes. These proposed sites are set out below.

Page 784



31 

 

Employment Allocations – vacant land 
Sandwell Ref Site Assessment Ref Site Name, Address Site Area (Ha) 

SEC1-1 SA-0030-SAN Whitehall Road, Tipton 5.3 

SEC1-2   British Gas, Land off Dudley Road, Oldbury  1.05 

SEC1-3   Junction Two, Oldbury 1.12 

SEC1-4   Land adj. to Asda Wolverhampton Road Oldbury 1.6 

SEC1-5 SA-0026-SAN Coneygre Business Park  7.22 

SEC1-7   Site off Bilport Lane, Wednesbury 5.29 

SEC1-8   Legacy 43, Ryder Street, West Bromwich 0.88 

SEC1-9   Roway Lane, Oldbury  3.65 

SEC1-10   Brandon Way/ Albion Road 3.07 

   
29.18 

P
age 785



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

APPENDIX D – West Bromwich Masterplan and Carter’s Green Framework Plan 
 

  

P
age 786



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

 

 

P
age 787



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

APPENDIX E - Strategic Waste Sites 
The existing strategic sites, identified on the Waste Diagram and listed in the table below, are the 

significant waste management facilities operating in the Black Country. They have been identified 

through a detailed analysis of all known licenced and exempt facilities in each authority area. 

Sandwell Council will safeguard all existing strategic and other waste management facilities from 

inappropriate development, to maintain existing levels of waste management capacity and meet 

Strategic Objective 13. 

Strategic Waste Sites 

Site Ref Site Operational Capacity (tpa)  

Municipal Waste Recovery – Supporting Infrastructure 

WS07 Eagle Recovery and Transfer Hub 140,000 

WS08 Sandwell HWRC (Shidas Lane) 20,000 

Waste Disposal Installations (1) 

WS17 Edwin Richards Landfill  
250,000 

9,171,0001 

Significant Hazardous Waste Treatment Infrastructure 

WS19 Wednesbury Treatment Centre 40,000 

Significant Metal Recycling Sites (MRSs) 

WS23 Alutrade 24,000 

WS24 Cradley Metal Recycling Centre 165,000 

WS25 ELG CSR Depot (Rowley Regis) [1] 20,000 

WS26 EMR Smethwick 60,000 

WS27 Sims MRS Smethwick (Rabone Lane) 200,000 

WS28 Sims MRS Smethwick (Unit 60 Anne Road) 20,000 

Other Significant Waste Management Infrastructure 

WS36 Arrow Recycling 22,000 

WS37 Bescot LDC, Bescot Sidings 150,000 

                                                           
1  Estimated Total Landfill Capacity in tonnes has been calculated from the remaining landfill capacity in cubic metres at 

the end of 2018, using the following formula: 0.85 tonne = 1 cubic metre, therefore tonnes = cubic metres x 0.85.   

Page 788



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Site Ref Site Operational Capacity (tpa)  

WS38 Biffa Tipton WTS 65,000 

WS39 Bull Lane Works WTS 200,000 

WS40 Edwin Richards Inert Recycling and Soil Treatment Facility 75,000 

WS41 Envira Recycling 50,000 

WS42 Giffords Recycling 20,000 

WS43 Jayplas 70,000 

WS44 Metal & Waste Recycling (Cox’s Lane) 25,000 

WS45 ELG CSR Depot 75,000 

WS46 Trinity Street MRF 60,000 

WS47 Union Road Inert Waste Recycling Facility  40,000 

WS48 Wednesbury Aggregates Recycling Facility 35,000 

[1] Operational in 2018 but currently (April 2020) ‘mothballed.’ 

Sources: Environment Agency: Waste Data Interrogator (WDI) 2007 – 2018, Operational Incinerators, 2018, Public 

Register, Remaining Landfill Capacity in England as at end of 2018 Version 2. 

Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities 

6. Several employment areas have been identified in the Black Country Waste Study (BCWS) 

as being most suited to the development of new waste recovery, treatment and transfer 

infrastructure. In Sandwell, they are the sites contained in table 26. Under Policy W3, these 

areas are considered least likely to give rise to land use conflicts, and in several cases, 

there is already co-location of existing waste facilities to which new sites would contribute. 

Preferred Areas for new Waste Facilities 

Site Ref  Address Potentially Suitable Waste Use [1]  Area 

WPSa1  
Cornwall Road and Parkrose 
Industrial Estates, Soho 

Energy from waste treatment, in-vessel composting, 
anaerobic digestion, transfer, recycling 

60.1 

WPSa2  
Tat Bank, Langley Energy from waste treatment, in-vessel composting, 

anaerobic digestion, transfer, recycling 
53.1 

WPSa3  
Charles Street Enterprise Park, 
Queens Court Trading Estate, 
Swan Village 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, anaerobic 
digestion, transfer, recycling 

42.7 

Page 789



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Site Ref  Address Potentially Suitable Waste Use [1]  Area 

WPSa4  
Hill Top and Bilport Lane 
Industrial Estates, Wednesbury 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, anaerobic 
digestion, transfer, recycling 

19.9 

WPSa5  
Powke Lane and Waterfall Lane 
Trading Estates, Rowley Regis 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, anaerobic 
digestion, transfer, recycling 

46.1 

WPSa6  Dartmouth Road n/a 26.2 

1 As indicated in the Black Country Waste Study, Wood 2020 

  

Page 790



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

APPENDIX F - Minerals 
1. The Black Country Minerals Study (BCMS, Tables 12.9 and 12.10) lists all known existing 

mineral sites and mineral infrastructure sites in the Black Country.  

2. Existing Black Country mineral infrastructure sites include secondary / recycled aggregates 

production, rail-linked aggregates depots, coating plants, ready-mix (RMX) concrete 

batching plants, manufacture of concrete products, and dry silo mortar (DSM) plants. 

3. The Council will safeguard all existing mineral infrastructure sites from inappropriate 

development – this being necessary to retain existing capacity, and thereby helping to 

make best use of and conserve its resources. 

4. The locations of these mineral infrastructure sites are identified on the Policies Plan, and 

are listed in the following tables: 

Key Mineral Infrastructure 

Site 
Ref 

Site Location Type 

MIS1 Anytime Concrete Gerard House, Kelvin Way, West 
Bromwich 

Concrete batching plant 

MIS2 Bescot LDC - Rail 
Ballast Facility 

Land at Bescot Sidings, off Sandy 
Lane, Wednesbury 

Rail-related aggregates 
depot/ Aggregates recycling 

MIS3 Breedon Oldbury 
Concrete Plant 

Engine Street, Oldbury Aggregates recycling 

MIS4 Breedon Oldbury 
Concrete Plant 

Cemex House, Wolverhampton Road, 
Oldbury 

Concrete batching plant 

MIS5 Former Hanson Site 
(West Bromwich) 

Grice Street, West Bromwich Aggregates recycling 

MIS6 Hanson Ready Mixed 
Concrete Plant 

Roway Lane, Oldbury Concrete batching plant 

MIS7 Wednesbury Asphalt 
Plant 

Smith Road, Wednesbury Coating plant 

MIS8 Cradley Special Brick Corngreaves Trading Estate, Overend 
Road, Cradley Heat 

Brickworks 

MIS9 Oldfields Inert Recycling 
Facility 

Oldfields, Off Corngreaves Road, 
Cradley Heath 

Aggregates recycling 

 

  

Page 791



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

APPENDIX G – Site allocations - changes 
Changes to existing Local Plan designations (Waste and Minerals) 

 

  

Local Plan 
Document 

Designation / 
Site 
Reference 

Site Name Description 
of Change 

Reason for Change 

BCCS (also 

mapped in the 

DBDS) 

 MSA (BCCS 

Policy MIN1) 

Mineral Safeguarding Area 

(covers almost the whole of the 

Black Country) 

Removed Replaced in the draft BCP by 

more tightly defined MSAs in 

Walsall Borough  

Page 792



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Changes to existing housing allocations 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H8.3 2929  Site on corner of New Street, Hill Top, West Bromwich 1.11 allocated as 
both community 
open space and 
housing 

propose to delete the 
housing allocation and 
retain the community 
open space allocation. 

H9.7 1401 801 Bell Street / Dudley Road, Tipton 0.62 20 employment 

H9.6 1448 81 Station Street, Tipton 1.37 43 employment 

H13.8 1461 665, 80 
and 82 

Waterfall Lane and 101-126 Station Rd 0.34 8 employment 

HOC11 2232 263 United Steels Ltd, Upper Church Lane Tipton 1.58 73 employment 

H12.8 2372 121 Rabone Lane, Smethwick 5.98 209 employment 

WBPr30 2381  Bus Depot, Oak Road, West Bromwich 1.1 68 white land 

WBPr31 2384  Oldbury Road 16.8 588 employment 

WBPr32 2385  Brandon Way / Albion Road (North) 6.2 248 employment 

WBPr33 2386  Brandon Way / Albion Road (South) 1.5 494 employment 

WBPr34 2387  Brandon Way / Brandon Close 1 43 employment 

WBPr38 2389  Church Lane / Gladstone Street 2.8 111 employment 

H9.5 2463 150,  
856 

Coneygre Business Park 7.61 300 employment 

H8.5 2906 15 Darlaston Road / Old Park Road, Kings Hill, Wednesbury 5.2 200 employment 

H8.4 2907 34 Holloway Bank, Wednesbury 5.71 149 employment 

P
age 793



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H8.4 2911 334 Mounts Road, Wednesbury 1.1 39 employment 

H8.2 2916 553 Whitehall Industrial Estate, Whitehall Road, Great Bridge 2.51 65 employment 

H8.2 2917 555 Land between Whitehall Road and Walsall Canal, Great Bridge 0.75 23 employment 

H8.1 2920 634 Land to north and west of Ridgacre Road 1.63 51 employment 

H8.5 2921 642 Kings Hill Trading Estate, Darlaston Road, Wednesbury 3.28 86 employment 

H8.5 2922 643 Old Park Trading Estate site on Old Park Road, Wednesbury 2.62 68 employment 

H8.1 2923 654 Land to the south of Ridgacre Road, West Bromwich 1.11 35 employment 

H8.1 2924 657 Church Lane, West Bromwich 0.75 24 employment 

H8.4 2925 788 Site off Mount Road Wednesbury 0.49 17 employment 

H8.4 2926 791 Corner of Bridge Street and Mounts Road, Wednesbury 3.15 110 employment 

H8.4 2927 795 Site on corner of Woden Rd South and Bridge Street, 
Wednesbury 

1.61 56 employment 

H9.1 2935 966 Wellman Robey Ltd, Newfield Road, Oldbury 4.91 129 employment 

H9.4 2936 1239 CBF LTD, Wade Building Services, Groveland Road, Oldbury 1.26 40 employment 

H9.5 2937 151 Fisher Street / Coneygre Road, Tipton 1.7 60 employment 

H9.7 2938 265 Castle Street, Tipton 1.49 47 employment 

H9.5 2943 878 Coneygre Road / Burnt Tree, Tipton 1.11 35 employment 

H9.1 2944 967 Birmingham Board Co Ltd, Dudley Road East, Oldbury 1 32 employment 

H9.1 2945 968 Beswick Paper, Dudley Road, Oldbury 0.96 33 employment 

H9.1 2949 1196 British Gas Plc, land off Dudley Road, Oldbury 1.04 33 employment 

P
age 794



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H9.4 2950 1240 Land adjacent to Cleton Business Park, Tipton Road, Tipton 0.56 18 employment 

H9.4 2951 - Vaughan Trading Estate 19.92 349 employment 

(834) 2953  Sedgley Road West, High Street, Tipton 1.12 39 employment 

(145) 2955  Unit 1, Groveland Road 0.36 13 employment 

(147) 2956  Upper Chapel Street / Brittania Street / 70 - 74 Dudley Road West 0.63 22 employment 

(148) 2957  Dudley Road / 28 Dudley Road West 1.78 62 employment 

(149) 2958  Tipton Road, Oldbury 1.76 62 employment 

(247) 2960  Diamond Buses, Hallbridge Way, Oldbury 3.13 110 employment 

(248) 2963  Groveland Road 1.18 41 employment 

(578) 2965  Land between Great Bridge Street and William Street, Tipton 1.92 67 employment 

(300) 2966  Alexandra Industrial Estate, Locarno Road / Alexandra Road, 
Tipton 

2.2 77 employment 

(911) 2967  Black Country Park, Great Bridge Street, Great Bridge 2.18 76 employment 

(375) Post 
2021 

2969  Dudley Road West, Oldbury 0.46 16 employment 

(836) 2971  Hurst Lane / Birmingham Canal / Sedgley Road, West Tipton 2.19 77 employment 

(144) 2973  Burnt Tree Industrial Estate, Groveland Road 0.82 29 employment 

WBPr36 2975  Swan Village Industrial Estate, West Bromwich 0.8 25 employment 

H12.6 2990 200 Fitzgerald Lighting Ltd, Rood End Road 1.39 44 employment 

P
age 795



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H12.7 2994 854 Oldbury Road Industrial Estate 0.57 18 employment 

H13.5 3004 259,  
896 

Newlyn Road 3.37 103 employment 

H13.2 3010 1301 Corngreaves Road 2.8 98 employment 

(789) 3013  JAS Industrial Park, Titford Lane, Oldbury 0.93 33 employment 

(855) 3014  Oldbury Road, Oldbury 2.89 102 employment 

(1130) 3016  230 Oldbury Road 1.48 52 employment 

H13.8 3017 284 Sandwell MBC Depot and surrounds, Waterfall Lane, 
Cradley Heath 

1.36 43 employment 

3019 3019  Station Road (South), Rowley Regis 0.85 30 employment 

H13.8 3020 656 Broadcott and Broadway Industrial Estates 1.49 47 employment 

H13.4 3026 268 Station Street / Graingers Lane 1.3 41 employment 

H13.4 3027 280 Bridge Trading Estate 0.57 19 employment 

H13.5 3032 260 Oldfields 1.64 51 employment 

H13.6 3034 933 Foxoak Street, Newtown Lane, Providence Street 4.82 168 employment 

H13.7 3043 297 Station Road 3.21 84 employment 

(724) 3140  Land at Dolton Way, between Factory Road, Bloomfield Road and 
railway line, Tipton. 

2.62 99 employment 

H13.5 3142 1302 Spinners End 0.71 25 employment 

H16.2 3219 753 Bloomfield Road / Barnfield Road 0.83 26 employment 

P
age 796



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H16.3 3221 842 Bloomfield Road / Fountain Lane 1.5 53 employment 

H13.6 3226 1303 Bank Street, Cradley Heath (west of Kimber Drop Forgings site) 1.3 41 employment 

H9.8 3398 302 Alexandra Road / Upper Church Lane / Locarno Road, Tipton 10.43 142 employment 

 5129  Portway Road, Wednesbury 10.7 375 employment 

 5139  Brymill Industrial Estate, Brown Lion Street, Tipton 1.98 69 employment 

 5265  Phase 9, The Parkway, site between Stafford Street, Victoria 
Street and Potters Lane, Wednesbury 

0.94 33 employment 

 5450  Barnfield Trading Estate Tipton 2.24 78 employment 

 5551  Ridgacre Enterprise Park, Ridgacre Road, West Bromwich 0.8 28 employment 

 5553  Rimstock Plc, Ridgacre Road, Black Lake, West Bromwich 1.05 37 employment 

 5556  Vector Industrial Park, Church Lane, West Bromwich 5.2 182 employment 

 5623  Brook Street Business Centre, Brook Street Community Centre, 
196- 200 Bloomfield Road. 

1.5 53 employment 

 5641  Site between Great Western Street and Potters Lane, 
Wednesbury 

1.14 49 employment 

 5642  Land between Potters Lane and Stafford Street Wednesbury 0.85 30 employment 

 5646  Site on Stafford Street, Wednesbury 1.45 51 employment 

 5648  Land at Potters Lane, Wednesbury 0.74 26 employment 

 5972  Former Corus Premises, Bloomfield Road, Tipton 0.56 20 employment 

 5138  Nicholls Road, Tipton 3.96 139 employment 

P
age 797



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H9.5 354 91 Park Lane West (South Staffs Depot), Tipton 2.95 77 employment SEC4 

H9.5 6109 80 Groveland Road, Dudley Port, Tipton 0.11 7 employment 

H9.7 265 93 Old Cross Street, Tipton 0.48 14 white land 

H9.5 440 89 Orchard Street, Burnt Tree, Tipton 0.28 30 white land 

H12.5 585 466 Flash Road / Broadwell Road, Oldbury 0.68 5 (36) white land 

HOC18 841 431 Wilson Road / Sycamore Road Smethwick 1.07 37 white land 

H13.6 1436 71 St. Anne’s Road, Cradley Heath 1.13 36 white land 

WBPr37 1440  John Street North 0.49 18 white land 

H8.1 1443 51 Cardigan Close / Sussex Avenue 0.14 5 white land 

H12.7 1446 482 Holly Lane, Smethwick 0.53 29 white land 

H12.6 1698 614 Land adjacent to 88 Wellesley Road 0.26 9 white land 

H12.3 1919 1032 Former Starlight Auto Sales, Wolverhampton Road 0.23 14 white land 

H12.10 1997 1037 Tudor Works, 36A Windmill Lane 0.25 24 white land 

HOC9 2085 1047 Brunswick Park Trading Estate, Wednesbury 0.36 42 white land 

H13.9 2259 1071 Sentinel Plastics Ltd, Wrights Lane 0.17 13 white land  

HOC11 2368 262 Summerhill Primary School, Central Avenue, Tipton 1.09 40 white land 

H16.5 2370 303 Bradleys Lane / High Street 0.38 13 employment SEC4 

H12.7 2423 210 Churchill Road, Smethwick 0.5 60 white land 

H8.7 2910 269 Leabrook Road / Willingsworth Road, Tipton 0.37 13 white land  

H8.2 2913 439 Sheepwash Lane / Whitehall Road, Great Bridge 0.08 3 white land 

P
age 798



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H8.2 2915 550 Land between Tinsley Street and Whitehall Road, Tipton 0.28 10 employment 

H8.1 2930 804 Pembroke Way, Hateley Heath, West Bromwich 2.3 81 white land 

H8.2 2931 1120 Garage on Whitehall Road, Great Bridge, Tipton 0.14 5 white land 

H8.2 2932 1121 Old Inn site, Sheepwash Lane, Great Bridge, Tipton 0.04 1 white land 

H8.7 2933 45 Bannister Road, Wednesbury 2.22 76 white land 

H8.8 2934 154 Site on New Road, Great Bridge inc St Lukes Centre 0.4 14 white land 

H9.7 2942 779 Castle Street / High Street, Tipton 0.7 23 employment SEC4 

H9.9 2947 1117 Railway Street, Horseley Heath, Tipton 0.35 12 employment SEC4 

H9.9 2948 1119 Salem Street, Great Bridge, Tipton 0.32 11 white land 

(765) 2952  Lower Church Lane, Tipton 0.38 13 white land 

H12.4 2980 109 Clay Lane, Oldbury 0.28 12 employment SEC4 

HOC13 2982 40 Tippity Green, Hawes Lane, Rowley Regis 1.13 40 white land 

HOC13 2983 1135 Allsops Hill Rowley Regis 0.38 13 white land 

HOC13 2984 1282 Land at Tippity Green, Rowley Regis 4.47 150 white land 

H12.1 2987 5 Wolverhampton Road and Anvil Drive, Oldbury 0.31 9 white land 

H12.10 2997 123 Cape Hill / Durban Road 2.97 94 white land 

(205) 2999  South Road / Broomfield, Smethwick 0.27 10 white land 

(1129) 3015  104-110 Oldbury Road, Smethwick 0.68 24 white land 

H13.4 3029 587 Cradley Road (West) 0.99 33 white land 

P
age 799



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Allocation 
Ref 

Site 
Ref 

Old 
SAD 
Ref 

Address Site Area (ha) Est. Capacity proposed use 

H13.4 3031 1124 Cradley Road (East) 0.41 12 white land 

H13.11 3044 613 High Street, Blackheath 0.35 12 white land 

HOC3 3048 1014 Land at Newton Road, Great Barr 0.2 16 white land 

H16.5 3141 863 Batmanshill Road / Hobart Road 0.25 8 white land 

 3223  Summerton Road 0.52 18 employment SEC4 

H9.2 3224 310 10 - 60 Dudley Road East, Oldbury 2.00 70 employment SEC4 

H13.6 3225 217 Foxoak Street / St Annes Road (Kawasaki Garage) 0.4 14 employment 

H12.10 3462 122 Unett Street / Raglan Road 4.6 81 white land 

 5301  Potters Lane / Great Western Street, Wednesbury 0.19 6 white land  

 5381  Victoria Street / Albert Street, Wednesbury 0.19 7 white land  

 5643  Site between Dudley Street and Victoria Street, Wednesbury 1.18 41 white land  

 6206  West Cross Centre. Oldbury Road / Mallin Street, Smethwick 1.06 37 white land 

   Zion Street, Tipton 2.43  employment SEC4 

   70-74 Crankhall Lane 1.78  employment SEC4 

 

  

P
age 800



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

APPENDIX H – Rowley Hills  
 

Rowley Hills – Extent of Strategic Open Space Designation 

 

P
age 801



 

 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

Rowley Hills – Ecological and Nature Conservation Designations 

  

P
age 802



49 

 

 

APPENDIX I – Sandwell Local Plan Housing Trajectory 
Sandwell Housing Trajectory 

Year Draft Housing 
Supply (net) 

Draft Housing 
Plan Target 

MANAGE: Annual 
requirement taking 

account of past supply 
Cumulative 

Target 
Cumulative 

Housing 
Supply 

MONITOR: 
Variation from 

Cumulative Target 

Number of 
years left in 

Plan(s) 

              20 
2022/23 642 587.7 642 587.7 642 -54.3 19 
2023/24 272 587.7 585 1175.4 914 261.4 18 
2024/25 607 587.7 603 1763.1 1521 242.1 17 
2025/26 962 587.7 603 2350.8 2483 -132.2 16 
2026/27 623 587.7 579 2938.5 3106 -167.5 15 
2027/28 1005 587.7 576 3526.2 4111 -584.8 14 
2028/29 952 587.7 543 4113.9 5063 -949.1 13 
2029/30 785 587.7 509 4701.6 5848 -1146.4 12 
2030/31 631 587.7 483 5289.3 6479 -1189.7 11 
2031/32 587 587.7 469 5877 7066 -1189 10 
2032/33 525 587.7 456 6464.7 7591 -1126.3 9 
2033/34 507 587.7 447 7052.4 8098 -1045.6 8 
2034/35 421 587.7 438 7640.1 8519 -878.9 7 
2035/36 390 587.7 441 8227.8 8909 -681.2 6 
2036/37 491 587.7 451 8815.5 9400 -584.5 5 
2037/38 533 587.7 442 9403.2 9933 -529.8 4 
2038/39 527 587.7 411 9990.9 10460 -469.1 3 

2039/2040 397 587.7 353 10578.6 10857 -278.4 2 
2040/2041 313 587.7 309 11166.3 11167 -0.7 1 

P
age 803



50 

 

 

  

 

   

 

  

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Sandwell Housing Trajectory

Cumulative Target Cumulative Housing Supply

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200

Sandwell Housing Trajectory

Draft Housing Supply (net)

MANAGE: Annual requirement taking account of past supply

Draft Housing Plan Target

P
age 804



51 

 

 

APPENDIX J - Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy (extract)  
 
The tables below are taken from the Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy’s Assessment Report (October 2022). They highlight the 

quantitative headline findings identified for pitch and non-pitch sports included in it. For qualitative and site-specific findings, please see Part 4: Sport Specific 

Recommendations and Scenarios, and Part 6: Action Plan. 

Pitch Sports - Quantitative headline findings  

The table sets out the current and likely future capacity and demand for sports pitches: 

Sport Analysis area Pitch type Current supply/ demand balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand balance (match equivalent 
sessions)  

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

Oldbury Adult  Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 6 
Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 2 Spare capacity of 1.5 
Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 5.5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Mini 7v7 Shortfall of 1 Shortfall of 1 

Mini 5v5 Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1.5 

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

Rowley Regis Adult Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6.5 

Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5.5 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

Smethwick Adult  Shortfall of 6.5 Shortfall of 7 

Youth 11v11 At capacity Shortfall of 0.5 

Youth 9v9 At capacity At capacity 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

P
age 805



52 

 

 

Sport Analysis area Pitch type Current supply/ demand balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand balance (match equivalent 
sessions)  

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

Tipton Adult  Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Youth 11v11 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Youth 9v9 Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

Wednesbury Adult  Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 3 Shortfall of 3 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Mini 7v7 At capacity At capacity 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

Football (grass 
pitches) 
 

West 
Bromwich 

Adult  Spare capacity of 1.5 Spare capacity of 1 

Youth 11v11 Shortfall of 4.5 Shortfall of 5 

Youth 9v9 Shortfall of 1.5 Shortfall of 1.5 

Mini 7v7 Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Mini 5v5 At capacity At capacity 

3G pitches[2] Oldbury Full size  Shortfall of 2.5 Shortfall of 2.5 

3G pitches Rowley Regis Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

3G pitches Smethwick Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

3G pitches Tipton Full size  At capacity At capacity 

3G pitches Wednesbury Full size  At capacity At capacity 

3G pitches West 
Bromwich 

Full size  Shortfall of 0.75 Shortfall of 0.75 

Cricket Oldbury Saturday At capacity At capacity 

                                                           
[2] Based on accommodating 38 teams on one full size pitch  

P
age 806



53 

 

 

Sport Analysis area Pitch type Current supply/ demand balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand balance (match equivalent 
sessions)  

Sunday Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Midweek Spare capacity of 16 Spare capacity of 16 

Cricket Rowley Regis Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Sunday Spare capacity of 12 Spare capacity of 12 

Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Smethwick Saturday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 

Sunday Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 

Midweek Shortfall of 5 Shortfall of 5 

Cricket Tipton Saturday At capacity At capacity 

Sunday At capacity At capacity 

Midweek At capacity At capacity 

Cricket Wednesbury Saturday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 

Sunday Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 

Midweek Shortfall of 6 Shortfall of 6 

Cricket West 
Bromwich 

Saturday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Sunday Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Midweek Shortfall of 12 Shortfall of 12 

Rugby union Oldbury Senior Spare capacity of 0.5 Spare capacity of 0.5 

Rugby union Rowley Regis Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby union Smethwick Senior Spare capacity of 1 Spare capacity of 1 

Rugby union Tipton Senior At capacity At capacity 

Rugby union Wednesbury Senior Shortfall of 0.5 Shortfall of 0.5 

Rugby union West 
Bromwich 

Senior At capacity At capacity 

P
age 807



54 

 

 

Sport Analysis area Pitch type Current supply/ demand balance (match 
equivalent sessions) 

Future supply/ demand balance (match equivalent 
sessions)  

Rugby league Sandwell Senior No demand so no provision required No demand so no provision required 

Hockey (sand 
AGPs) 

Sandwell Full size, floodlit At capacity although improvements are required 
at Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy. 

At capacity although improvements are required at 
Ormiston Sandwell Community Academy. 

 

Quantitative headline findings (non-pitch sports) 

For non-pitch sports, quantitative shortfalls can be more difficult to determine, with capacity guidance differing and with less focus on formal club activity. The 

current picture for each sport is summarised below:  

Sport Current picture 

Tennis Current supply is sufficient for demand although quality and operational improvements are required at Old Hill Cricket & Tennis Club. In addition, there is 

a requirement to focus on informal activity at non-club courts and improving the recreational tennis offer (e.g., at local authority sites). 

Netball Demand is being met at George Salter Academy and Phoenix Collegiate. Focus should be placed on protecting these facilities as well as on supporting 

the various initiatives that are championed by England Netball. 

However, with the Dudley Netball League wishing to relocate back to Dudley and this been recommended in the Dudley PPOSS, a collective approach 

between the authorities should be sought, with this to be guided and informed by England Netball. 

Bowls Only one bowls club has a shortfall of capacity (Langley BC), whilst The George BC and Hamstead Social BC operate on the limit of the capacity 

threshold.  

Dartmouth Central BC is operating below the recommended capacity. 

P
age 808



55 

 

 

Sport Current picture 

Athletics With four 400-metre athletics tracks provided, supply is considered sufficient to meet demand. Options can be explored to re-purpose the track at 

Hadley Stadium as it is surplus to requirements in its current form. This could include an informal athletics facility, for which discussions regarding the 

provision of a trail running track on site have taken place. 

Cycling High demand for cycling is identified within Sandwell so protecting and sustaining what is provided at Sandwell Valley Country Park should be seen as 

key given the off-road facilities offered. Implementation of initiatives promoted by British Cycling should also be explored in order to encourage more 

people to get into cycling. 

Golf With five golf facilities in Sandwell and a mix of 18-hole and 9-hole courses, as well as a well-equipped driving range, supply is well placed to meet 

demand from all types of golfers. 

Water sports Sandwell is relatively well provided for in terms of outdoor water sports.  

Other sports For American football, no dedicated pitches are provided; there is a need for one facility to provide for Sandwell Steelers. No baseball / softball or Gaelic 

football demand is identified, although some isolated demand may be travelling to clubs in nearby authorities. 

 

Recommendations for future provision 

The following table outlines future considerations for both pitch and non-pitch sports across Sandwell (as identified in October 2022): 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Football • Protect provision. 

• Improve pitch quality at key sites to alleviate overplay, especially at key, poor quality and/or overplayed sites such as Britannia Park and St 

Michael’s CE High School.  

P
age 809



56 

 

 

Sport Priority recommendations  

• Look to reinstate pitches at sites such as Brickhouse Farm. 

• Formalise community use agreements for clubs utilising unsecure sites. 

• Consider asset transfer of sites to clubs.  

• Enable use of currently unavailable sites.  

• Improve changing facilities where required.  

3G pitches • Protect provision. 

• Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  

• Look to provide an additional full-size pitch within the Analysis Area to alleviate current and future overplay e.g., at Britannia Park. 

Cricket  • Protect provision. 

• Improve changing facilities where required. 

Rugby 
union 

• No action required. 

Hockey • Protect provision. 

• Ensure all existing pitches have a sinking fund in place.  

• Explore the feasibility of providing floodlights at Ormiston Forge Academy Main Site. 

Golf • Protect provision. 

• Support Dudley Golf Club to increase membership.  

Bowls • Protect provision. 

• Preserve the green at Cradley Heath Sports and Social Club or ensure it is appropriately mitigated.  

• If the green is lost, ensure the club is adequately relocated. 

P
age 810



57 

 

 

Sport Priority recommendations  

Tennis • Protect provision.  

• Support Old Hill TC to increase membership and improve courts at Old Hill Cricket Club.  

• Support the Council to improve court and ancillary facility quality at Britannia Park.  

Netball • Protect provision. 

Cycling • No action required. 

Athletics • No action required. 

Water 
sports 

• No action required. 

Other 
sports 

• No action required. 

P
age 811



58 

 

 

APPENDIX K – Open space and play provision standards for 
development 
Note: the availability, accessibility and quality of sports facilities / playing pitches will be assessed using data from the 
Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy (2022); please refer to Policy SHW5 and Appendix J, which contains an extract 
from the document’s strategy and action plan setting out detail of current levels of pitch and field supply and demand.  

1. This appendix provides guidelines on the quantity of green space required per 1,000 residents 

(minimum levels), the accessibility of green space (walking distance) and the broad quality 

requirements of all types of recreational open space. It also includes recommended dimensions for a 

range of formal spaces. 

2. The Council will seek the provision of new unrestricted open space at a minimum ratio of 3.63 
hectares per 1,000 population. The Council will also seek to ensure that at least one hectare of 

Community Open Space is provided within walking distance (0.4 km) of all the Borough’s residents. 

3. Sandwell’s minimum ratio for open space is derived in part from the Fields in Trust guidance2 on open 

space and outdoor playing space provision, although the scope of their standard is not directly 

equivalent to Sandwell’s definition of Community Open Space. It should be emphasised that this will be 

a minimum requirement. 

4. Open Space is defined in the NPPF (July 2021) as: 

All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, 

canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can 

act as a visual amenity. 

5. Green space is effectively a subset of open space that includes vegetated land or water within an 

urban area such as parks, public gardens, playing fields, children’s play areas, nature reserves, woods 

and other natural areas, grassed areas, cemeteries and allotments along with green corridors like 

paths, disused railway lines, rivers and canals. 

6. As set out in more detail in Policy SHW4, for the purposes of the Sandwell Local Plan, open and green 

spaces are those areas used for leisure and recreation by local communities and include: - 

• parks and gardens 

• natural and semi natural green places 

• green corridors 

• amenity green space 

                                                           
2 Fields in Trust’s Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play - Beyond the Six Acre Standard (2015) - 
https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf  

Page 812

https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf


59 

 

 

• play provision for children and young people 

• allotments3 

• cemeteries 

• institutional land 

• playing fields and sports pitches (see note above) 

7. The boundaries of existing open space are set out on the Policies Map and include existing open spaces 

that have been identified through the Sandwell Green Space Strategy 2020 - 2030. Any subsequent 

update of this document may result in the identification of other existing open spaces over the plan 

period. Where practicable, the Council will identify land as open space, to address current shortfalls and 

provide much-needed community facilities. 

8. The standards shown below relate to the quantity, quality and accessibility of each type of open space. 

More specifically:  

• Quantity standards refer to the area of open space in hectares required for every 1,000 residents, or 

per child for children and young people’s provision, within a set area.  

• Quality standards refer to a subjective rating of the quality of existing open space expressed as a 

percentage based on physical characteristics, value of the space, and benefits to the wider 

environment. The Council’s aim is to achieve quality scores within the ‘Upper Quartile’ range. All 

open space quality assessments will use data from the Green Spaces Strategy.  

• Accessibility standards refer to open spaces within a set distance away from people’s homes / 

communities. All open space in a given category within the set distance are determined as serving 

those homes / communities.  

9. In terms of its accessibility, open space can be unrestricted, limited or inaccessible. This is defined in 

the Green Spaces Strategy as follows: - 

• unrestricted - sites have unrestricted public access although some sites may have limitations to 

access between dusk and dawn; 

• limited - sites may be publicly or privately owned but access is limited either by a physical barrier 

such as membership, or a psychological barrier such as the sense that a green space is private; 

• not accessible - sites are out of bounds to the public. 

                                                           
3 Allotments are covered in more detail in Policy SHW6. 

Page 813



60 

 

 

10. Land could have limited or no public access but will still deliver many of the benefits of open space e.g. 

land for ecological habitats, green and blue infrastructure, climate change mitigation and improvements 

to air quality.  

Open Space Hierarchy 
11. The Sandwell Green Space Strategy Implementation and Business Plan4 also identifies a hierarchy 

that classifies types of green space according to its significance and thus the importance it will have 

when considering planning proposals that may impact on it: 

Hierarchy 
Level 

Description 

Borough Those sites whose significance should attract people from across the entire borough. 

Usually large sites with a range of facilities or designated importance for history or 

nature conservation. 

Neighbourhood Those sites which perform a function that serves a more immediate community. 

Unlikely to attract people from across the borough 

Local Those sites which perform a function to a small area – typically areas of amenity 

green space. 

Development and open space provision 

12. The quantum and typology of open space that may be applicable to a housing site will depend upon its 

intended occupants; for example, specialist housing for older people will not create demand for the 

typical amount and type of open space required for children and young people.  

13. New open space should be designed and located so that it performs multiple functions. It should be 

considered as part of the wider approach to green infrastructure planning, as set out in Policy SDS7.  

14. Where open space is to be provided on the same site as a development, this should be identified as 

part of the development’s green infrastructure within the design and access statement that 

accompanies the planning application. Reference should be made to those green space assets and / 

or corridors that apply to / exist near a site, and to what measures will be taken to enhance, extend and 

/or link to them.  

                                                           
4 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33192/green_spaces_strategy_implementation_and_business_plan_2223_%E2%
80%93_2526  

Page 814

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33192/green_spaces_strategy_implementation_and_business_plan_2223_%E2%80%93_2526
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33192/green_spaces_strategy_implementation_and_business_plan_2223_%E2%80%93_2526


61 

 

 

15. The incorporation of open space into new developments should also consider Policy SDS4, the 

principles set out in Secured by Design and Sport England and the Government’s Active Design 

initiative (May 2023). This document contains ten main principles, one of which relates to open space: 

Principle 5 — Network of multi-functional open spaces 

Accessible and high quality open space should be promoted across cities, towns and villages to 

provide opportunities for sport and physical activity, as well as active travel connections and natural 

or civic space for people to congregate in and enjoy. 

16. The inclusion of open space in new development is also an opportunity to have regard to features that 

minimise crime and perception of crime such as natural surveillance overlooking public spaces.  

17. Where redevelopment of an open space is being considered, regard will be had to whether its loss 

would have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area. Adverse impacts on 

habitats and ecological value are also important factors and will be taken into consideration when 

decisions are made. If, exceptionally, an existing open space is to be redeveloped, it must be replaced 

nearby to an equivalent standard or better.  

18. Proposals will be assessed in accordance with the standards set out below.  

Open space standards in Sandwell 

19. In terms of unrestricted green space, there are 323 green spaces covering just under 1200 hectares. 

Overall, 13.9% of the total land area of the Borough is accessible green space. This is characterised by 

large expanses of semi-natural green space covering 458 hectares, with parks and gardens covering 

264 hectares (as at 20205). This quantum of land with unrestricted access equates to 3.63 hectares of 

space per 1,000 population and provides more unrestricted green space access than some other local 

authorities. Natural and semi-natural green space makes up nearly 40% of the supply (by area) of 

unrestricted green space and is important in terms of contributing to landscape character and 

biodiversity. 

20. Sandwell’s amenity green spaces cover a total area of 214 hectares, although individually these 

typically tend to be smaller areas than semi-natural green space or parks and gardens. 

21. The distribution of open space across the borough is not even, with some areas and wards containing 

much larger areas of open land than others, such as Sandwell Valley and certain of the larger parks. 

This pattern masks a dearth of suitable and accessible space in other areas; for example, residents of 

West Bromwich Central Ward enjoy nearly fifteen times more green space than those in Old Warley 

Ward. 

                                                           
5 Sandwell Green Space Strategy 2020 - 2030 

Page 815



62 

 

 

22. Given Sandwell’s urban nature and the viability issues associated with providing additional facilities on 

sites, accessibility to high quality open space is therefore a significant consideration when proposals for 

new housing development are being considered. A site’s proximity to existing open spaces, play areas 

and active and passive leisure and recreational opportunities will help to determine how much open 

space is required on it.  

23. Where possible, new open space provision (which may also provide a basis for biodiversity net gain 

and sustainable drainage requirements on site as well, as part of a multi-functional green and blue 

infrastructure approach) will be required on development sites, especially where this will help meet 

local shortfalls by ward. Where this is not possible, the delivery / improvement of land adjacent to or 

within a suitable walking distance from new residential areas will be considered.  

24. Accessibility thresholds should be measured as a distance walked rather than as a simple straight-line 

measurement / radius. Significant obstacles or impediments to local access, such as main roads, 

should be considered when assessing the accessibility of open spaces. Open spaces and play facilities 

should be located close to and be accessible from bus stops, pedestrian and cycle routes, to help 

promote sustainable travel. 

25. Indicative walking distances can be determined from the broad data set out below: -  

• 250m - 2-3 minutes’ walk 

• 400m - 5 minutes’ walk 

• 800m - 10 minutes’ walk 

• 1,200m - 15 minutes’ walk 

• 1,600m - 20 minutes’ walk 

  

Page 816



63 

 

 

Quantity and Accessibility Standards Defined for Open Space Assessment6 

Open Space Type  Quantity guideline 
(hectares per 1,000 
residents) 

Walking 
guideline  

(walking 
distance: metres 
from houses)  

Quality guideline 

Amenity Green Space  0.6 480m  Parks to be of Green Flag status. 

Appropriately landscaped. 

Positive management. 

Provision of footpaths. 

Designed to be free of the fear of 

harm or crime. 

Parks and Gardens  0.8 710m  

Natural / Semi-Natural 
Greenspaces  

1.8 720m  

Provision for Children and 
Young People  

0.25  Quality appropriate to the 

intended level of performance, 

designed to appropriate technical 

standards. 

Located where they are of most 

value to the community to be 

served. 

Sufficiently diverse recreational 

use for the whole community. 

Appropriately landscaped. 

Maintained safely and to the 

highest possible condition with 

available finance. 

Positively managed taking 

account of the need for repair and 

replacement over time as 

necessary. 

Provision of appropriate ancillary 

facilities and equipment. 

Local Areas for Play (LAP) - 

aimed at very young children 
LAP – 100m 

(suggested 

minimum size 

0.01ha) 

Locally Equipped Areas for Play 

(LEAP) - aimed at children who 

can go out to play independently  

LEAP – 400m  

(suggested 

minimum size 

0.04ha) 

Neighbourhood Equipped Areas 

for Play (NEAP) - aimed at older 

children 

NEAP - 1,000m 

(suggested 

minimum size 

0.1ha) 

Other outdoor provision (Multi 
Use Games Areas and 
skateboard parks) 

0.3 700m 

                                                           
6 Taken from Fields in Trust’s Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play - Beyond the Six Acre Standard (2015) - 
https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf  

Page 817

https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf


64 

 

 

Open Space Type  Quantity guideline 
(hectares per 1,000 
residents) 

Walking 
guideline  

(walking 
distance: metres 
from houses)  

Quality guideline 

(suggested 

minimum size 

0.1ha) 

Provision of footpaths. 

Designed to be free of the fear of 

harm or crime. 

Allotments and Community 
Gardens  

0.2 400m  See Policy SHW6 

26. Table 2 sets out recommended benchmark guidelines for the provision of equipped / designated play 

space. A financial contribution (i.e. through S106 or CIL) towards improvement of an existing equipped 

/ designated play space may be sought in lieu of on-site provision for larger scale play spaces, or 

where existing play space lies within the walking distance guidelines of a proposed development 

Table 1 - Recommended Application of Quantity Benchmark Guidelines – Equipped / Designated 
Play Space7 

Scale of Development  LAP  LEAP  NEAP MUGA 

5 - 10 dwellings     

11 - 200 dwellings    Contribution 

201 - 500 dwellings    Contribution  

501+ dwellings     

 
  

                                                           
7 Taken from Fields in Trust’s Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play - Beyond the Six Acre Standard (2015) - 
https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf 

Page 818

https://www.fieldsintrust.org/Upload/file/guidance/Guidance-for-Outdoor-Sport-and-Play-England.pdf


65 

 

 

APPENDIX L - Transportation Policy  
Sandwell Parking Standards 

Purpose of this Statement 

1. The purpose of this work is to ensure future developments provide sufficient parking that will not result in on-street 

parking congestion to the detriment of the safe and efficient operation of the public highway and the amenity of the 

surrounding residential community. In implementing this approach, there must be a balance so that there is not an 

over provision of parking that would result in the inefficient use of land or discourage sustainable travel choices. 

Public safety will also be at the centre of the parking consideration. 

2. Tables 1 and 2 of this document set out the appropriate levels for parking for residential and non-residential 

developments to inform discussions between Highway Engineers and Planning Officers. However, local 

sustainability factors may allow for a reduction in off-street parking requirements, but this will require Transport, 

Accessibility and Parking assessments to be undertaken and for robust evidence to be provided that any 

proposed reductions would not unduly affect, or be to the detriment of, the safe and efficient operation of the 

surrounding highway network. 

3. Regardless of whether developments achieve the required parking standards or not, the Council will not be able to 

support developments that may give rise to road safety issues or which may have a detrimental impact on the free 

flow of the highway network or be considered to potentially cause severe residential amenity issues. 

4. A balance has to be struck between encouraging new development and investment, against providing adequate 

parking levels, potential increased traffic congestion and community amenity issues. 

Transport, Accessibility & Parking Assessments (TAPA’s) 

5. The information provided in transport related assessments helps to clarify the impact of any development on the 

Highway Network. The site’s impact, sustainability, accessibility and safety will be assessed using the TAPA’s 

(see Appendix 4). Sites that benefit from closely located public transport facilities, cycle routes and other useful 

facilities that encourage linked trips will be assessed to have a higher degree of accessibility and sustainability.  

6. This assessment may be used to help justify a reduction in the parking requirements through discussion with the 

Local Authority, coupled with robust evidence that any reductions in required parking standards would not have a 

detrimental effect on the operation and safety of the surrounding network. 

7. It is noted that the extent of detail required by the TAPA’s may not be known in the case of outline planning 

applications. As such, it is accepted that consideration will be given to the information which is available at outline 

application stage and be conditioned to ensure all the information is provided at full application stage. 

Residential Parking Standards for Housing 

8. The council recognises that ensuring the right amount of parking provision in the right location and off the right 

size is essential in the creation of new residential developments both in terms of layout and design highway safety 

and future amenity and access. The following standards have been derived from extensive practice, evidence 

gathering, benchmarking and feedback from previous schemes. 

9. Developments that are considered to result in on-street parking which would create or exacerbate issues of 

highway safety will not be supported. 

Page 819



66 

 

 

10. The council may consider reduced off street parking provision in highly sustainable locations based on local 

sustainability and access assessments, evidence from local surveys and census data published by the Office of 

National Statistics. 

Visitor Parking for Residential Properties 
11. On all housing schemes developers will be expected to provide additional space for visitor parking at a ratio of 1 

space per 3 dwellings for developments less than 10 properties and 1 space per 4 dwellings for developments of 

10 or more properties. On street visitor parking provision may be considered appropriate if the local road network 

design allows for on-street parking without causing any detriment to capacity or safety.  

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

12. For houses of multiple occupancy, (HMO), 1 off street space per 2 beds will be required within the curtilage of the 

site. However, reductions in parking provision in agreed highly sustainable locations may be considered. 

Garages 

13. For garages to be considered as practical parking spaces they should have minimum internal dimensions of 2.8m 

x 6m. Garages used to satisfy off street parking requirements will be conditioned to be retained as such to remove 

development rights to convert into a habitable room. 

Innovative use of design solutions 

14. Car parking provision can be provided in a variety of ways. Positive consideration will be given to innovative 

design solutions which deliver parking requirements safely and in the context of well-designed layouts.  

Table 1: Minimum Parking Standards for Residential Uses 

Residential Dwellings  

1 to 2 bedrooms 1 dedicated space 

3 to 4 bedrooms 2 dedicated spaces 

5 to 6 bedrooms 3 dedicated spaces 

7 to 8 bedrooms 4 dedicated spaces 

Visitor Spaces – Development less than 10 dwellings 1 space per 3 dwellings 

Visitor Spaces – Development of 10 or more dwellings 1 space per 4 dwellings 

Non-Residential Parking Standards 

Baseline Parking Standards 

15. Baseline parking standards are set out in Table 2 below. These maximum standards can be applied to smaller 

developments or used as a basis to calculate a reduced maximum standard for larger developments located in 

accessible areas. 

Page 820



67 

 

 

Table 2: Maximum Parking Standards for Non-Residential Uses 

(Table 2 will be applied to the total floor area on all applications including change of use applications) 

Use 
Class 

Description Baseline Parking Level 
Parking Standard per m2 

Class B – Businesses that primarily serve people 

B2 General Industry (office components to be assessed as Class E use 1:50 

B8 Distribution and Warehouse (office components to be assessed as 

Class E use 

Up to 250m2 -  1:50               

251m2 -1250m2 -   1:100      

Over 1250m2  -  1:200 

Class C – Locations where people sleep 

C1 Hotels and Guest Houses (Bar/Restaurant to be assessed as Sui 

Generis and Class E uses 

1 space per bedroom  

1 space per member of staff 

C2 Residential Institutions Residents 1 space per 4 

bedrooms. 

Staff 1 managers space and 1 

space per 3 FTE other staff  

C2a Secure Residential Institutions 

C4 Houses in multiple occupation incl. Large HMO 1 per 2 beds 

Class E - Commercial, Business and Service Users 

E Medical Facilities, Clinics, Health Centres, creches, day nurseries, 

day centre 

1 space per member of staff  

2 spaces per treatment room 

E  Hospitals 1 space per member of staff 

1 space per 3 visitors 

E  Food Retail (other than those shops that fall under Class F2) 1:14 

E Non-Food Retail (other than those shops that fall under Class F2) 1:20 

E Offices 1:30 

E Restaurants and Cafes 1:10 

Page 821



68 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Baseline Parking Level 
Parking Standard per m2 

E Research and Development 1:30 

E Industrial processes that can be carried out in a residential area 1:30 

E Gymnasiums and indoor recreations not involving motorised vehicles 

or firearms or those that fall under F2 

1:22 

Class F1 - Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

F1 Further Education Establishments and training centres 1 space per member of staff                                           

1 space per 15 students 

F1 Primary, Secondary and Special Schools 1 space per member of staff 

(FTE)  

F1 Museums, public libraries, public halls, exhibition halls, law courts 1:30 

F1 Places of Worship 1:5  

Class F2 - Local Community Uses 

F2 Shop not more than 280m2 mostly selling essential goods, including 

food and at least 1km from another similar shop 

 

1:14 

F2 Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating rinks, and outdoor sports 

or recreations not involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

1:22 

F2 Stadia 1 space per 15 seats  

(Note: coach parking should be 

agreed with SMBC and treated 

separately to car parking) 

F2 Hall or meeting place for the principal use of the local community 1:30 

Class Sui Generis – Locations that are unique in themselves 

Sui 

Generis 

Drinking Establishments 1:8 

Page 822



69 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Baseline Parking Level 
Parking Standard per m2 

Sui 

Generis 

Hot Food Takeaway 1:20 

Sui 

Generis 

Cinemas, Concert Halls and Conference Facilities 1 space per 5 seats 

Sui 

Generis 

Public Transport Interchanges, Metro Stops, Railway Stations Discuss with SMBC 

Sui 

Generis 

Theatres, Large HMOs, Hostels, Petrol Filling Stations, Vehicle 

Sales, Scrap Yards, Retail Warehouse Clubs, Night Clubs, 

Laundrettes, Taxi/PHV Business, Amusement Arcades, Casinos, 

Funfairs, Waste Disposal Facilities 

Discuss with SMBC 

Developments in Town Centres 

16. Parking requirements for developments in town centres should be assessed by baseline standards, through 

TAPA’s to give guidance as to the potential reduction in maximum standards and impact on the Highway Network. 

Appropriate development in town centres coupled with sustainable travel choices creates the opportunity for linked 

trips and more efficient land use. Existing and proposed transport infrastructure and proposed developments 

within the plan period for each centre will guide the decision-making process to determine the allowable minimum 

parking requirements for each successive development in a town centre. 

17. Parking standards will be determined on local need and circumstances. The flexibility of any potential acceptable 

parking reduction will depend on the distance of the development from the core of the town centre. For instance, a 

proposed development on the town centre boundary may be considered differently to the same development 

proposed in the core of the centre, taking into consideration other factors such as how much parking is currently 

available in the surrounding area. 

18. The quantum of parking available in each town centre will be monitored and the required parking standard may 

vary over time for similar developments in similar locations dependent on improvements to sustainable 

infrastructure and modal shift evidence or saturation of existing parking infrastructure in the centres. 

Minimum Parking Standards for People with Disabilities 

19. Parking for people with disabilities is an important consideration. Guidance on the design and location of parking 

for people with disabilities can be found in the Department of Transport (DfT) leaflet 5/95 (April 1995), DfT report 

‘Inclusive Mobility’ and BS8300:2009.  

Residential Developments 

20. Disabled parking bays are required as a percentage of the total off-plot communal parking provision in new 

residential developments. For smaller developments with up to 10 off-plot communal spaces at least 1 space 

Page 823



70 

 

 

should be provided as a widened bay and all other developments 5% of the parking allocation should be designed 

as disabled parking bays. 

Non-Residential Developments 

21. The minimum parking standard for non-residential developments is a percentage of the baseline maximum 

standard as shown in Table 3 below. Parking for disabled people should be additional to the maximum vehicle 

parking standards for non-residential development. 

22. For smaller non-residential developments with parking up to 10 spaces, at least 1 parking bay should be 

designated to accommodate disabled people. For developments up to 20 spaces 1 wider space and 1 marked 

disabled bay should be provided.  

23. Generally, for shopping, recreation and leisure facilities 6% of the total parking provision should be in the form of 

marked bays with 4% as widened bays. All other uses will be 5% marked and 5% widened bays.  

24. Parking spaces for people with disabilities should be created within 50m of the main entrance of the destination so 

that a round trip of no more than 100m has to be made. Provision for pick up and set down with level access to 

the pavement should also be made close to the main entrance.  

Table 3: Disabled Parking Space Provision 

(To be applied to all applications including change of use applications for total floor area) 

Use 
Class 

Description Marked Disabled Bay % 
of Max Baseline Standard 

Widened Bay 3.7m x 6m 
% of Max Baseline 
Standard 

Class B – Businesses that primarily serve people 

B2 General Industry (office components to be 

assessed as Class E use 

5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

B8 Distribution and Warehouse (office 

components to be assessed as Class E use 

5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

Class C – Locations where people sleep 

C1 Hotels and Guest Houses (Bar/Restaurant 

to be assessed as Sui Generis and Class E 

uses 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

C2 Residential Institutions 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee plus 

additional spaces 

dependent on the need of 

the establishment 

5% 

Page 824



71 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Marked Disabled Bay % 
of Max Baseline Standard 

Widened Bay 3.7m x 6m 
% of Max Baseline 
Standard 

C2a Secure Residential Institutions 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee plus 

additional spaces 

dependent on the need of 

the establishment 

5% 

C3 Dwellings 5% of unallocated parking 

provision 

5% of unallocated parking 

provision 

C4 Houses in multiple occupation incl. Large 

HMO 

5% 5% 

Class E - Commercial, Business and Service Users 

E Medical Facilities, Clinics, Health Centres, 

creches, day nurseries, day centre 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee plus 

additional spaces 

dependent on the need of 

the establishment 

4% 

E  Hospitals 6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee plus 

additional spaces 

dependent on the need of 

the establishment 

4% 

E  Food Retail (other than those shops that fall 

under Class F2) 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

E Non-Food Retail (other than those shops 

that fall under Class F2) 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

E Offices 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

E Restaurants and Cafes 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

Page 825



72 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Marked Disabled Bay % 
of Max Baseline Standard 

Widened Bay 3.7m x 6m 
% of Max Baseline 
Standard 

E Research and Development 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

E Industrial processes that can be carried out 

in a residential area 

5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

E Gymnasiums and indoor recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms or 

those that fall under F2 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

Class F1 - Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

F1 Further Education Establishments and 

training centres 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

F1 Primary, Secondary and Special Schools 6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

F1 Museums, public libraries, public halls, 

exhibition halls, law courts 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

F1 Places of Worship 6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

Class F2 - Local Community Uses 

F2 Shop not more than 280m2 mostly selling 

essential goods, including food and at least 

1km from another similar shop 

5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee  

5% 

F2 Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 

rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5-10% 

F2 Stadia 6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5-10% 

F2 Hall or meeting place for the principal use of 

the local community 

5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

5% 

Page 826



73 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Marked Disabled Bay % 
of Max Baseline Standard 

Widened Bay 3.7m x 6m 
% of Max Baseline 
Standard 

Class Sui Generis – Locations that are unique in themselves 

Sui 

Generis 

Drinking Establishments 6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

Sui 

Generis 

Hot Food Takeaway Discuss with SMBC Discuss with SMBC 

Sui 

Generis 

Cinemas, Concert Halls and Conference 

Facilities 

6% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee 

4% 

Sui 

Generis 

Public Transport Interchanges, Metro Sops, 

Railway Stations 

Discuss with SMBC Discuss with SMBC 

Sui 

Generis 

Theatres, Large HMOs, Hostels, Petrol 

Filling Stations, Vehicle Sales, Scrap Yards, 

Retail Warehouse Clubs, Night Clubs, 

Laundrettes, Taxi/PHV Business, 

Amusement Arcades, Casinos, Funfairs, 

Waste Disposal Facilities 

Discuss with SMBC Discuss with SMBC 

 

Parking for Cyclists 

25. Overlooked, well lit, secure and undercover cycle parking facilities should be incorporated into any development 

that has the potential to attract cyclists. Cycle parking should be in positions that are convenient to encourage 

their use and where possible within the building.  

26. The minimum standards set out in Table 4 below, will be required for development proposals in addition to the 

vehicle parking standards. In cases where reduced numbers off street parking can be justified as part of a 

development, the Council may require a significant increase in the number of cycle parking spaces to be provided 

above the minimum standards specified in Table 9.  

Table 4: Minimum Cycle Parking Standards 

Use 
Class 

Description Cycle Parking Standard Cycle Storage Type and 
Shower Facility 

Class B – Businesses that primarily serve people 

Page 827



74 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Cycle Parking Standard Cycle Storage Type and 
Shower Facility 

B2 General Industry (office components to be 

assessed as Class E use 

1 space per 300m2 for staff 

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long Stay 

B8 Distribution and Warehouse (office 

components to be assessed as Class E use 

1 space per 300m2 for staff 

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long Stay 

Class C – Locations where people sleep 

C1 Hotels and Guest Houses (Bar/Restaurant 

to be assessed as Sui Generis and Class E 

uses 

1 space per 10 bedrooms Long Stay 

C2 Residential Institutions 1 space per 10 members of 

staff 

Long Stay 

C2a Secure Residential Institutions 1 space per 10 members of 

staff 

Long Stay 

C3  Dwelling Houses 1 bed - 1 space 

2 bed - 2 spaces 

3 bed - 2 spaces 

4 bed - 3 spaces 

5 bed - 3 spaces 

6 bed - 4 spaces 

7 bed - 4 spaces 

8 bed - 5 spaces 

Visitor spaces – discuss 

with SMBC 

Long stay for residents 

Short stay for visitors 

C3 Dwellings (Apartments only) 1 space per 1 and 2 bed 

dwelling 

Long stay for staff / 

residents  

Short stay for visitors 

Page 828



75 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Cycle Parking Standard Cycle Storage Type and 
Shower Facility 

2 spaces per 3+ bed 

dwelling   

1 space per 5 apartments 

for visitors 

C4 Houses in multiple occupation incl. Large 

HMO 

1 space per 5 bedrooms 

1 space per 5 bedrooms 

for visitors 

Long stay for residents 

Short stay for visitors 

Class E - Commercial, Business and Service Users 

E Medical Facilities, Clinics, Health Centres, 

creches, day nurseries, day centre 

1 space per 300m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long stay for staff 

Short stay for visitors 

E  Hospitals 1 space per 300m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long stay for staff   

Short stay for visitors 

E  Food Retail (other than those shops that fall 

under Class F2) 

1 space per 200m2 Long stay for staff  

Short stay for visitors 

E Non-Food Retail (other than those shops 

that fall under Class F2) 

1 space per 200m2 Long stay for staff   

Short stay for visitors 

E Offices 1 space per 300m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long Stay 

E Restaurants and Cafes 1 space per 100m2 Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

E Research and Development 1 space per 300m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long Stay 

Page 829



76 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Cycle Parking Standard Cycle Storage Type and 
Shower Facility 

E Industrial processes that can be carried out 

in a residential area 

1 space per 300m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 1000m2 for 

visitors 

Long Stay 

E Gymnasiums and indoor recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms or 

those that fall under F2 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10 person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Class F1 - Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

F1 Further Education Establishments and 

training centres 

1 space per 5 students     

1 space per 5 members of 

staff   

1 space per 150 students 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff/students            

Short stay for visitors 

F1 Primary, Secondary and Special Schools 1 space per 5 students     

1 space per 5 members of 

staff  

1 space per 150 students 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff/students 

Short stay for visitors 

F1 Museums, public libraries, public halls, 

exhibition halls, law courts 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10-person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff   

Short stay for visitors 

F1 Places of Worship 1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10-person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff    

Short stay for visitors 

Class F2 - Local Community Uses 

F2 Shop not more than 280m2 mostly selling 

essential goods, including food and at least 

1km from another similar shop 

1 space per 100m2 Long stay for staff   

Short stay for visitors 

Page 830



77 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Cycle Parking Standard Cycle Storage Type and 
Shower Facility 

F2 Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 

rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10 person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

F2 Stadia 1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10 person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

F2 Hall or meeting place for the principal use of 

the local community 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10 person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Class Sui Generis – Locations that are unique in themselves 

Sui 

Generis 

Drinking Establishments 1 space per 100m2 Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Sui 

Generis 

Hot Food Takeaway 1 space per 100m2 Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Sui 

Generis 

Cinemas, Concert Halls and Conference 

Facilities 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10-person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Sui 

Generis 

Public Transport Interchanges, Metro Sops, 

Railway Stations 

1 space per 200m2 for staff                                      

1 space per 10-person trips 

for visitors 

Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Sui 

Generis 

Theatres, Large HMOs, Hostels, Petrol 

Filling Stations, Vehicle Sales, Scrap Yards, 

Retail Warehouse Clubs, Night Clubs, 

Laundrettes, Taxi/PHV Business, 

Amusement Arcades, Casinos, Funfairs, 

Waste Disposal Facilities 

Discuss with SMBC Long stay for staff             

Short stay for visitors 

Powered Two Wheeled Vehicles 

27. Powered two wheeled vehicles can play an important part in delivering integrated and sustainable transport. They 

offer reduced journey times, are easier to park in areas of limited on street parking, offer cheaper travel choices 

relative to a car and can potentially benefit climate change by generally producing lower emissions than cars. 

Page 831



78 

 

 

28. As a minimum it is proposed that developers should provide for safe, overlooked, well-lit and secure parking for 

powered two wheeled vehicles equal to 2% of the car parking spaces provided at retail developments and 4% of 

the car parking spaces at all other developments except residential.  

29. For housing developments space shall be made available within the dwelling curtilage or in allocated or bays. 

Table 5: Minimum Parking Standards for Powered Two Wheelers 

Use 
Class 

Description Percentage of Baseline 
Standard 

Threshold for at least 1 
parking space and 
shower facility 

Class B – Businesses that primarily serve people 

B2 General Industry (office components to be 

assessed as Class E use 

4% 100m2 or greater 

B8 Distribution and Warehouse (office 

components to be assessed as Class E use 

4%   100m2 or greater 

Class C – Locations where people sleep 

C1 Hotels and Guest Houses (Bar/Restaurant 

to be assessed as Sui Generis and Class E 

uses 

4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

C2 Residential Institutions 4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

C2a Secure Residential Institutions 4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

C3  Residential Dwellings Not required Not required 

C4 Houses in multiple occupation incl. Large 

HMO 

Not required Not required 

Class E - Commercial, Business and Service Users 

E Medical Facilities, Clinics, Health Centres, 

creches, day nurseries, day centre 

4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

E  Hospitals 4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

Page 832



79 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Percentage of Baseline 
Standard 

Threshold for at least 1 
parking space and 
shower facility 

E  Food Retail (other than those shops that fall 

under Class F2) 

2% 200m2 or greater 

E Non-Food Retail (other than those shops 

that fall under Class F2) 

2% 200m2 or greater 

E Offices 4% 50m2 or greater 

E Restaurants and Cafes 2% 200m2 or greater 

E Research and Development 4% 100m2 or greater 

E Industrial processes that can be carried out 

in a residential area 

4% 100m2 or greater 

E Gymnasiums and indoor recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms or 

those that fall under F2 

4% 200m2 or greater 

Class F1 - Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

F1 Further Education Establishments and 

training centres 

4% 200m2 or greater 

F1 Primary, Secondary and Special Schools 4% 200m2 or greater 

F1 Museums, public libraries, public halls, 

exhibition halls, law courts 

4% 200m2 or greater 

F1 Places of Worship 4% 200m2 or greater 

Class F2 - Local Community Uses 

F2 Shop not more than 280m2 mostly selling 

essential goods, including food and at least 

1km from another similar shop 

Not required Not required 

Page 833



80 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Percentage of Baseline 
Standard 

Threshold for at least 1 
parking space and 
shower facility 

F2 Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 

rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

4% 200m2 or greater 

F2 Stadia 4% 200m2 or greater 

F2 Hall or meeting place for the principal use of 

the local community 

4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

Class Sui Generis – Locations that are unique in themselves 

Sui 

Generis 

Drinking Establishments 2% 200m2 or greater 

Sui 

Generis 

Hot Food Takeaway 2% 200m2 or greater 

Sui 

Generis 

Cinemas, Concert Halls and Conference 

Facilities 

4% 200m2 or greater 

Sui 

Generis 

Public Transport Interchanges, Metro Sops, 

Railway Stations 

4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

Sui 

Generis 

Theatres, Large HMOs, Hostels, Petrol 

Filling Stations, Vehicle Sales, Scrap Yards, 

Retail Warehouse Clubs, Night Clubs, 

Laundrettes, Taxi/PHV Business, 

Amusement Arcades, Casinos, Funfairs, 

Waste Disposal Facilities 

4% When total vehicle parking 

provision is 20 or greater 

Provision of Infrastructure to Support Electric Vehicle Technology 

30. Applications for development should be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 

vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations 

Electric Vehicle Charging Point Specification 

Residential Development 

Page 834



81 

 

 

31. Infrastructure to allow an external charging point shall be provided adjacent to at least 1 parking space for each 

private dwelling. For flatted developments and apartments where the parking may be some distance from the 

dwellings, 1 charging point for every 10 unallocated spaces is required, although some  

Non-Residential Development 

32. It will be the responsibility of the developer to provide 5% of all parking spaces in these developments to be 

covered with an electric charging point. Appropriate cable provision shall be in place for a further 5% to meet any 

future increase in demand. 

Operational Parking Requirements 

33. The parking requirements in Table 6 below will be applied to the total additional floor area on all applications 

including change of use applications. 

Table 6: Operational Parking Requirements 

Use 
Class 

Description Operational Parking Requirement 

Class C – Locations where people sleep 

C2 Residential Institutions Space for ambulance, minibus or van.  

Space for one pick-up and drop off point 

C2a Secure Residential Institutions 5% plus 1 space for each 

disabled employee plus 

additional spaces 

dependent on the need of 

the establishment 

5% 

C3 Dwellings Adequate provision for refuse collecting vehicles and 

emergency vehicle access which should normally be 

separate from car parking spaces will need to be 

demonstrated 

Class E - Commercial, Business and Service Users 

E Medical Facilities, Clinics, Health Centres, 

day centre 

Space for one pick-up and drop off point 

E  Hospitals Space shall be reserved for ambulances adjacent to the 

main entrance  

Page 835



82 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Operational Parking Requirement 

Space shall be allocated for large delivery or refuse 

vehicles which shall be accessed in a manner which 

avoids conflict with access ways required by ambulances 

E  Retail Gross floor space Minimum load and unload 

500m2 50m2 

1000m2 100m2 

2000m2 150m2 

Service areas for loading and unloading must be laid out 

to allow lorries to enter and exit the site in forward gear 

E Financial and Professional Services Banks, Building Societies and other financial services 

used by the public – No operational parking required 

50m2 for loading and unloading 

E Restaurants and Cafes Service areas for loading and unloading must be laid out 

to allow lorries to enter and exit the site in a forward 

motion 

E Gymnasiums and indoor recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms or 

those that fall under F2 

50m2 loading and unloading area 

Class F1 - Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

F1 All Schools Adequate space should be allocated for coaches which 

may be used either to bring students to school or for 

school trips. For large schools, an on-site traffic flow 

system should be provided to accommodate a larger 

number of vehicles 

F1 Special Schools Space shall be allocated for mini-buses/ambulances 

adjacent to the main entrance of the building 

Page 836



83 

 

 

Use 
Class 

Description Operational Parking Requirement 

F1 Secondary Schools Where on site provision cannot be made, it must be 

clearly shown that on-street parking of coaches will not 

detrimentally affect the free flow of traffic on the highway 

F1 Primary Schools and Nurseries Pick up and drop off areas for parents’ vehicles should be 

provided in a safe place that will not have a detrimental 

impact on the highway or highway safety 

F1 Museums, galleries and libraries Minimum loading and unloading 50m2 

F1 Places of Worship Adequate spaces for wedding and funeral vehicles either 

within the site or on-street 

Class F2 - Local Community Uses 

F2 Shop not more than 280m2 mostly selling 

essential goods, including food and at least 

1km from another similar shop 

Discuss with SMBC  

F2 Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 

rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 

involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

50m2 loading and unloading area 

F2 Stadia To be determined on a case by case basis having 

regards to the type of activity proposed 

Class Sui Generis – Locations that are unique in themselves 

Sui 

Generis 

Drinking Establishments Service areas for loading and unloading must be laid out 

to allow lorries to enter and exit the site in a forward 

motion 

Sui 

Generis 

Hot Food Takeaway Service areas for loading and unloading must be laid out 

to allow lorries to enter and exit the site in a forward 

motion 

Sui 

Generis 

Cinemas, Concert Halls and Conference 

Facilities 

50m2 for loading and unloading area                             

Space for 1 pick-up and drop off point 

All Other Uses Discuss with SMBC 

Page 837



84 

 

 

Transport, Accessibility and Parking Assessment Form 

34. National Planning Policy recommends a broad approach to assessing the transport implications of development 

proposals. This Transport, Accessibility and Parking Assessment (TAPA) Form should be completed in 

conjunction with a planning application form. 

Reference 1. Transport, Accessibility and Parking Assessment Form 

1. Application Details 

Ref Number 

Description of proposed development land use/sq. metres/number of units/proposed car parking spaces 

(public/private) 

Address/Location 

 

 

2. Transport Characteristics of Scheme 

Non-residential: 

Expected number of employees visiting the site per day (if relevant) 

Of which approximately how many are expected to arrive by: 

Car 

Car Sharing 

Bus 

Train 

Bicycle 

Walking 

Other (please specify) 

 

Expected number of visitors per day visiting the development (if relevant) 

Of which approximately how many are expected to arrive by: 

Car 

Car Sharing 

Page 838



85 

 

 

Bus 

Train 

Bicycle 

Walking 

Other (please specify) 

 

Of which approximately how many are expected to be:  

Light good vehicles 

Other good vehicles 

Residential: 

Expected number of residential movements per day including likely destinations (if relevant) 

Of which approximately how many are expected to come and go by: 

Car 

Car Sharing 

Bus 

Train 

Bicycle 

Walking 

Other (please specify) 

 

All Uses: 

Identify any expected times of day and week for peak departures and arrivals 

 

 

Identify any special transport characteristics of the development 

 

 

Page 839



86 

 

 

State the relationship (if any) of the development to the Local Transport Plan proposals affecting the site 

 

 

Provide details of the number of parking spaces to be provided 

Cars 

Disabled Bays 

Cycles (state if covered) 

Motorbikes (state if covered) 

 

3. Outline of any planned measures to limit transport impacts (please read attached note 1) 

Describe any measures planned to influence the way employees and visitors access the site (such as encouraging 

walking, cycling and public transport) 

 

 

Describe any measures you propose to ensure freight and delivery traffic is efficient and causes as little disruption 

as possible 

 

 

Describe any proposed measures to alter or improve the surrounding road network 

 

 

Identify any improvements proposed to enhance walking, cycling and public transport within or outside the 

development site. 

 

 

Provide an explanation of any parking controls and parking management 

 

 

Page 840



87 

 

 

Note 1. As part of the planning application the Local Planning Authority may require additional information on 

proposed measures to reduce the impact of traffic generated activities at the site. This may take the form of a Travel 

Plan or changes to the layout and design of the buildings. It may also cover proposed changes to the surrounding 

road network. Emphasis will be placed upon addressing the likely impact of freight movements and deliveries. 

Reference 2. Accessibility 

Accessibility Assessment Accessibility Level 

High: 30-21 

Medium: 20-11 

Low: 10 or less 

Access Type Criteria Criteria Scores Score Sub Score 

Walking Distance to nearest bus stop from 

main entrance of building (via 

direct, safe route) 

<200m 

<300m 

<500m 

>500m 

5 

3 

1 

0 

 

Distance to nearest railway station 

from main entrance of building (via 

direct, safe route) 

<400m 

<1km 

>1km 

3 

2 

0 

 

Cycling Proximity to defined cycle routes <100m 

<500m 

<1km 

>1km 

3 

2 

1 

0 

 

Public Transport Bus frequency of principal service 

from nearest bus stop during 

operational hours of the 

development 

15 mins or less 

30 mins or less 

>3o minutes 

5 

3 

1 

 

Number of bus services serving 

different localities stopping within 

200m of the main entrance 

Localities 

served 

4 or more 

3 

 

5 

3 

2 

 

Page 841



88 

 

 

Accessibility Assessment Accessibility Level 

High: 30-21 

Medium: 20-11 

Low: 10 or less 

Access Type Criteria Criteria Scores Score Sub Score 

2 

1 

1 

Train frequency from nearest 

station (Mon-Sat daytime) 

30 mins or less 

30-59 mins 

Hourly or less 

3 

2 

1 

 

 Drive to nearest station Facilities on site 

or within 100m 

that reduce the 

need to travel: 

Food shop/café 

Newsagent 

Creche 

Other 

 

 

 

1 

1 

1 

1 

 

 

Page 842



89 

 

 

National Planning Policy Framework  

35. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes that Local Planning Authorities when setting local parking 

standards for residential and non-residential development should take into account: 

• The accessibility of the development; 

• The type, mix and use of development; 

• The availability of and opportunities for public transport; 

• Local car ownership levels; and 

• The need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission 

vehicles. 

36. However, there is no mention of minimum or maximum parking standards and the onus is firmly upon the Local 

Planning Authority to determine what is appropriate for their area by using local knowledge, benchmarking and 

best practice, taking into consideration the above criteria based on locally derived evidence. 

37. NPPF states that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan-making and development 

proposals and significant development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, 

through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes.  

38. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions and improve air quality and public health. However, 

opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this should 

be taken into account in both plan-making and decision-making.  

39. Maximum parking standards for residential and non-residential development should only be set where there is a 

clear and compelling justification that they are necessary for managing the local road network, or for optimising 

the density of development in city and town centres and other locations that are well served by public transport  

40. In town centres, local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking so that it is convenient, safe and 

secure alongside measures to promote accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists. 

41. In assessing development sites, it should be ensured that: 

• Appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken up, given 

the type of development and its location;  

• Safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;  

• The design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of associated standards 

reflects current national guidance 

• Any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), 

or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.  

42. NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
However, there is no definition or value given to what should be considered severe and relies on analysis, best 

practice, previous inspector rulings and local evidence to be used to instigate discussions between developers 

and the local authority.  

Page 843



90 

 

 

43. In addition, all developments that will generate significant amounts of movement should be required to provide a 

travel plan, and the application should be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the 

likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed.  

 

  

Page 844



91 

 

 

APPENDIX M – Glossary  
Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Active Design - Active Design is an approach to development that encourages and 

promotes sport and physical activity through the design and layout of the 

built environment, to support a step change towards healthier and more 

active lifestyles. All environments should support physical activity equitably 

across all ages, ethnicities, genders, and abilities, enabling everyone to be 

active and build long-term active habits and behaviours. This is essential for 

the delivery of all the principles of Active Design and is its foundational 

principle. It is promoted by Sport England and Public Health England. 

Affordable housing - Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market 

(including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and 

/ or is for essential local workers). 

Area Action Plan AAP A type of Development Plan Document focused upon a specific location or 

an area subject to conservation or significant change (for example major 

regeneration). 

Biodiversity net gain BNG An approach to development and land management that aims to leave the 

natural environment in a measurably better state than it was beforehand. 

The Biodiversity Gain objective requires the biodiversity value attributable 

to a development to exceed pre-development biodiversity value by at least 

10%. Post-development biodiversity value may comprise onsite habitat, 

offsite biodiversity gain and biodiversity credits. 

Black Country 

Authorities 

BCA The four local authorities of Dudley Council, Sandwell Council, Walsall 

Council and City of Wolverhampton Council 

Black Country Core 

Strategy 

BCCS Shared strategic plan covering the four Black Country districts. 

The four Black Country authorities worked together to produce the Black 

Country Core Strategy, covering the period 2006 to 2026. The Core 

Strategy was adopted in 2011 and provides the framework for various Site 

Allocation Documents and Area Action Plans, which set out local policies 

and site allocations for individual authority areas 

Black Country 

Employment Area 

Review 

BEAR Study produced by the Black Country authorities to assess the suitability of 

existing employment land across the Black Country for continued business 

and industrial use. The study: 

Page 845



92 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

• reviews the stock of existing operational employment land that is 

already in use;  

• identifies the best quality Strategic Employment Areas that should be 

safeguarded primarily for manufacturing and logistics activity;  

• identifies those employment areas that have a key role in meeting more 

local needs, where a wider range of uses can be supported;  

• identifies those employment areas that have a more limited economic 

role and could be suitable for release for alternative uses such as 

housing. 

Sandwell Local Plan SLP This is the proposed new local plan for the borough of Sandwell, which sets 

out a series of strategic and non-strategic local policies designed to support 

the delivery of housing, employment and infrastructure development, 

mitigate the impacts of climate change and protect the natural environment 

and areas of historic character.  

Brownfield land or site 

(see also “previously 

developed land”) 

- Land that is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the 

curtilage of the developed land and any associated fixed surface 

infrastructure.  

Climate change - Climate change refers to long-term shifts in temperatures and weather 

patterns. These shifts may be natural in part, such as through variations in 

the solar cycle. Human activities have been the main driver of climate 

change since the 1800s, primarily due to the burning of fossil fuels like coal, 

oil and gas. 

Burning fossil fuels generates greenhouse gas emissions that act like a 

blanket wrapped around the Earth, trapping the sun’s heat and raising 

temperatures. 

Examples of greenhouse gas emissions that are causing climate change 

include carbon dioxide and methane. These come from using petrol or 

diesel for driving a car or gas for heating a building, for example. Clearing 

land and forests can also release carbon dioxide. Landfills for waste are a 

major source of methane emissions. Energy, industry, transport, buildings, 

agriculture and land use are among the main emitters8. 

                                                           
8 https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/what-is-climate-change  

Page 846

https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/what-is-climate-change


93 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Climate change 

adaptation 

- Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to actual or expected 

climatic factors or their effects, including from changes in rainfall and rising 

temperatures, which moderate harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. 

Climate change 

mitigation 

- Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, 

primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

Conservation covenant  A conservation covenant agreement is a private, voluntary agreement to 

conserve the natural or heritage features of the land. This can include any 

buildings on it too. The parts of a conservation covenant agreement that set 

out what a landowner and responsible body must or must not do to help 

conserve the land become legally binding as part of it. 

   

Development Plan 

Document 

DPD Development Plan Documents are prepared by local planning authorities 

and outline the key development goals of the local development framework. 

They include the core strategy and, where needed, area action plans. 

There will also be an adopted proposals map which illustrates the spatial 

extent of policies that must be prepared and maintained to accompany all 

DPDs. 

All DPDs must be subject to rigorous procedures of community 

involvement, consultation and independent examination, and adopted after 

receipt of the inspector's binding report. Once adopted, development 

control decisions must be made in accordance with them unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

These are intended to be replaced by supplementary plans, as part of the 

Government’s proposed changes to planning guidance and legislation, in 

2023. 

Duty to co-operate DtC The duty to co-operate was created by the Localism Act 2011. It places a 

legal duty on local planning authorities, county councils and public bodies in 

England to engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis with 

each other to maximise the effectiveness of local plan preparation relating 

to strategic cross-boundary matters. 

This duty is intended to be replaced as part of the Government’s proposed 

changes to planning guidance and legislation, in 2023. 

Page 847



94 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Economic Development 

Needs Assessment 

EDNA The EDNA is a study that advises on the overall demand for employment 

land to 2039, with specific regard to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 

on overall demand and specific sectors including logistics and offices. 

The study confirms the land requirement and level of land supply over the 

Sandwell Local Plan period. It provides a basis for ongoing Duty to 

Cooperate engagement with neighbouring local authorities by confirming 

the gap between demand and supply. 

Flood risk assessment FRA An assessment of the likelihood of flooding in a particular area so that 

development needs and mitigation measures can be carefully considered. 

Functional Economic 

Market Area 

FEMA The spatial level at which local economies and markets operate. In most 

cases, these will extend beyond existing administrative boundaries. 

Green / blue 

infrastructure 

- A network of multi-functional green and blue spaces and other natural 

features, located in both urban and rural areas, which can deliver a wide 

range of environmental, economic, health and wellbeing benefits for nature, 

climate, local and wider communities and prosperity. 

Blue infrastructure refers to water elements, like rivers, canals, ponds, 

wetlands, floodplains, water treatment facilities, etc. 

Green belt 

(not to be confused with 

the term 'greenfield') 

 

GB A statutory planning designation for land around certain cities and large 

built-up areas, which aims to keep this land permanently open or largely 

undeveloped. The purposes of the green belt are to: 

• check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas 

• prevent neighbouring towns from merging 

• safeguard the countryside from encroachment 

• preserve the setting and special character of historic towns 

• assist urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land 

Green Belts are defined in a local planning authority's development plan. 

Greenfield land or site 

(not to be confused with 

the term 'green belt') 

- Land (or a defined site) that has not previously been developed. 

Page 848



95 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Heritage asset - A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a 

degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 

because of its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and 

assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing). 

High Speed 2 HS2 A planned high-speed rail network initially set to link London and the West 

Midlands with a further phase extending to cities in the North. 

Historic environment - All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between 

people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of 

past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped 

and planted or managed flora. 

Housing Market Area HMA A geographical area defined by household demand and preferences for all 

types of housing, reflecting the key functional linkages between places 

where people live and work. HMAs do not necessarily coincide with local 

authority administrative boundaries. 

infrastructure - Basic services necessary for development to take place, for example, 

roads, electricity, sewerage, water, education and health facilities. 

Irreplaceable habitat - Habitats that would be impossible or technically very difficult (or would take 

a very significant amount of time) to restore, recreate or replace once 

destroyed, considering their age, uniqueness, species diversity or rarity. 

They include ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees, blanket bog, 

limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland fen. 

Issues and Options 

document / consultation 

-  

Local Enterprise 

Partnership 

LEP A body, designated by the Secretary of State for Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities, established to create or improve the 

conditions for economic growth in an area. The Black Country Local 

Enterprise Partnership has now officially closed (2023), with its operations 

moving to the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA). 

Local nature reserve LNR Non-statutory habitats of local significance designated by local authorities 

where protection and public understanding of nature conservation is 

encouraged. 

Page 849



96 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Master plan / masterplan - A type of planning brief outlining the preferred usage of land and the overall 

approach to the layout of a developer. To provide detailed guidance for 

subsequent planning applications 

Memorandum of 

understanding 

MoU A memorandum of understanding outlines the main points of agreement 

that the parties involved in a negotiation have reached. The MOU is a 

mutually agreed summary of the areas of agreement and expectations of all 

signatories (those involved in the negotiations). It is not legally binding. 

Midland Metro / West 

Midlands Metro 

 West Midlands Metro (originally named Midland Metro) is a light-rail/tram 

system. Opened on 30 May 1999, it currently consists of a single route 

operating between Birmingham and Wolverhampton via Bilston, West 

Bromwich and Wednesbury, running on a mixture of reopened disused 

railway line and on-street running in urban areas. The line originally 

terminated at Birmingham Snow Hill station, but with extensions opened in 

2015 and 2019, it now runs into Birmingham City Centre to terminate in 

Centenary Square. Further extensions to Edgbaston and Wolverhampton 

are scheduled to open during 2022. 

Mineral Safeguarding 

Area 

MSA An area designated by minerals planning authorities, which covers known 

deposits of minerals that are intended to be kept safeguarded from 

unnecessary sterilisation by non-mineral development. 

National Design Guide - Guidance on how to recognise and deliver well-designed places, outlining 

and illustrating the government’s priorities for them in the form of ten 

characteristics. These relate to: context, identity, built form, movement, 

nature, public spaces, uses, homes & buildings, resources and lifespan. 

The guide also illustrates how well-designed places can be achieved in 

practice using a range of good practice examples. 

National Model Design 

Code 

 The National Model Design Code sets out design considerations that local 

planning authorities will be expected to take into account when developing 

local design codes and guides and when determining planning applications.  

National nature reserve NNR Areas designated with the aim of securing protection and appropriate 

management of the most important areas of wildlife habitat, and to provide 

a resource for scientific research. All National Nature Reserves are Sites of 

Special Scientific Interest 

Page 850



97 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

National Planning Policy 

Framework 

NPPF The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the UK Government's 

policies for planning, along with information on how said policies are 

expected to be applied. The NPPF is not a statutory document but local 

authorities are expected to take account of its contents when making 

decisions on planning applications or drafting new local plans. 

National Planning 

Practice Guidance 

NPPG The PPG provides more in-depth advice and guidance on planning topics 

outlined in the NPPF. 

National vocational 

qualification 

NVQ Work-based awards that are achieved through assessment and training. To 

achieve an NVQ, candidates must prove that they have the ability to carry 

out their job to the required standard. NVQs are based on National 

Occupational Standards that describe the 'competencies' expected in any 

given job role. 

Nature recovery network  NRN An expanding, increasingly connected, network of wildlife-rich habitats 

supporting species recovery, alongside wider benefits such as carbon 

capture, water quality improvements, natural flood risk management and 

recreation. It includes the existing network of protected sites and other 

wildlife rich habitats as well as and landscape or catchment scale recovery 

areas where there is co-ordinated action for species and habitats. 

   

Playing field - The whole of a site that encompasses at least one playing pitch as defined 

in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(England) Order 2015. 

Previously Developed 

Land (see also 

“brownfield land”) 

 

PDL Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the 

curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the 

whole of the curtilage could be developed) and any associated fixed 

surface infrastructure.  

This excludes:  

• land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry 

buildings;  

• land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste 

disposal by landfill purposes where provision for restoration has 

been made through development control procedures;  

Page 851



98 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

• land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, 

recreation grounds and allotments;  

• and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of 

the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended 

into the landscape in the process of time 

Regeneration Areas  Regeneration is the long-term upgrading of existing urban, industrial and 

commercial areas to bring about social and economic change. 
Regeneration can involve the investment of public money to encourage and 

direct private finance into an area. Governments often define regeneration 

as being a supportive measure in areas of economic and social decline 

where market forces have failed. 

• Regulation 18 

• Regulation 19 

• Regulation 20 

of the Town and Country 

Planning (Local 

Planning) Regulations 

2012 

- Regulation 18 requires that various bodies and stakeholders, including the 

public, be notified that the council is preparing a plan. It invites them to 

comment about what that plan ought to contain and about the policies and 

allocations it proposes Comments made at this stage will be considered by 

the Council and used to help amend the draft plan as necessary. 

The publication of the Regulation 19 Submission Local Plan policies 

update is not a consultation stage. Rather it is the point at which the council 

publishes the updated local plan policies that it intends to adopt, having 

been informed by earlier consultation and engagement, and that it is 

seeking representations under Regulation 20 on its soundness and legal 

compliance. These representations will be dealt with by the Inspector 

directly, rather than by the council. 

Renewable and Low 

Carbon Energy 

 

- Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating electricity. 

Renewable energy covers those energy flows that occur naturally and 

repeatedly in the environment – from the wind, the fall of water, the 

movement of the oceans, from the sun and from biomass and deep 

geothermal heat. Low carbon technologies are those that can help reduce 

emissions (compared to conventional use of fossil fuels). 

Sequential approach / 

sequential test 

 

- A planning principle that seeks to identify, allocate or develop certain types 

or locations of land before others. For example, brownfield housing sites 

before greenfield sites, or town centre retail sites before out-of-centre sites. 

Page 852



99 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

Site of Special Scientific 

Interest 

SSSI A site designated by Natural England under the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 as an area of special interest by reason of any of its flora, fauna, 

geological or physiographical features (plants, animals and natural features 

relating to the Earth's structure). 

Sites of importance for 

nature conservation 

SINC  

Sites of local importance 

for nature conservation 

SLINC  

Special Area of 

Conservation 

SAC Areas defined by regulation 3 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 which have been given special protection as important 

conservation sites. 

Statement of common 

ground 

SCG A written statement containing factual information about a proposal that is 

the subject of discussion between the developer / landowner and the 

council that the promoter reasonably considers will not be disputed by the 

local planning authority. 

An agreed statement of common ground is essential to ensure that the 

evidence considered at a hearing or an inquiry focuses on the material 

differences between the appellant and the local planning authority. It will 

provide a commonly understood basis for the developer and the local 

planning authority and provide context to inform the statements of case 

and, for an inquiry, the subsequent production of proofs of evidence. 

Strategic centre - West Bromwich 

Strategic Economic Plan SEP A plan created by the LEP for its area setting out economic development 

and growth priorities as the basis for negotiation with government. 

Strategic Housing Land 

Availability Assessment 

SHLAA A SHLAA is a study of sites that have the potential of accommodating 

residential development. It identifies the site, the constraints, the likely 

number of dwellings and determines when the land might be developed for 

housing. It is a technical exercise to determine the quantity and suitability of 

potentially available sites. A SHLAA is not a site allocations exercise and 

does not mean that a site will be developed for housing.  

It includes sites that may already be under construction but have further 

dwellings to be delivered and those that have planning permission or a 

Page 853



100 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

resolution to grant planning permission. Also included are housing 

allocations in the Local Plan which do not yet have planning permission and 

other sites without permission that have been identified by the authority or 

promoted by landowners, agents or developers, and are considered 

suitable for development. 

sui generis - A term given to the uses of land or buildings not falling into any of the use 

classes identified by the Use Classes Order, for example theatres, 

launderettes, car showrooms and filling stations. 

Supplementary Planning 

Document 

SPD Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan. They 

can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, 

or on issues such as design. Supplementary planning documents are 

capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not 

part of the development plan. 

Sustainability Appraisal SA An appraisal of the economic, environmental and social effects of a plan 

from the outset of the preparation process, to allow decisions to be made 

that accord with sustainable development. 

Towns and 

Neighbourhoods Areas 

-  

Unitary Development 

Plan 

UDP An old-style development plan prepared by a metropolitan district authority 

and some unitary local authorities. A unitary development plan contained 

policy like those found in both a structure plan and a local plan. These 

plans existed for a while after the introduction of the new development 

system under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 due to the 

transitional provisions provided for in that Act. 

Use Classes Order - The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (and 

subsequent amendments) essentially categorises different types of property 

and land into classes. Change between uses within the same class does 

not constitute development and therefore does not require planning 

permission. Further related legislation identifies some permitted 

development rights that allow the change of use from one class to another, 

subject to conditions, limitations and / or a prior approval process. 

viability - An individual development can be said to be viable if, after taking account 

of all costs, including central and local government policy and regulatory 

Page 854



101 

 

 

Word / Phrase Acronym Meaning  

costs and the costs and availability of development finance, the scheme 

provides a competitive return to the developer to ensure that development 

takes place and generates a land value sufficient to persuade a landowner 

to sell the land for the development proposed. If these conditions are not 

met, a scheme will not be delivered. 

West Midlands 

Combined Authority 

WMCA The West Midlands Combined Authority was established by statutory 

instrument under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 

Construction Act 2009. It is a strategic authority with powers over transport, 

economic development and regeneration. The authority formally came into 

being on 17 June 2016. 

Windfall sites - Sites for housing or other forms of development not specifically identified in 

the development plan when it was adopted. 

 

 

Page 855



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Consultation Information 

We are consulting on the draft Sandwell Local Plan (SLP). The consultation will run between 6th 

November and 18th December 2023. 

All consultation documents are available to view on the Sandwell website at:  

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/planning/sandwell-local-plan  

Or you can view them by using the following QR code: 

 

Copies of the Draft Plan and consultation documents are available in the reception areas of key 

Council buildings and public libraries. Details can be found on the Sandwell Local Plan website or 

by emailing or telephoning the numbers below.  

Throughout the consultation, planning officers will be available on an appointment basis to clarify 

aspects of the draft plan and provide additional information as appropriate.  

To make an appointment to speak to a planning officer, please use the information below: 

Phone - 0121 569 4054  

Email - Sandwell_LocalPlan@sandwell.gov.uk 

How to respond  

To give us your views, where possible please use the interactive online consultation document 

available on the webpage as this is the easiest way to view the Plan and make your comments to 

us. If this is not suitable, you can download a copy of the comments form as a Word document / 

PDF, to be completed and emailed or printed off and posted back to us.  

Please send your comments to us in writing by 18th December 2023 at 17.00hrs.  

Any comments received after this cannot be accepted as they will not have been duly made.  

We are unable to accept anonymous representations:  

• We will not publish your personal contact details, such as your home address, telephone 

number or email address, but your name and comments will be available for others to see as 

part of the public consultation process.  

Page 857

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/planning/sandwell-local-plan
mailto:Sandwell_LocalPlan@sandwell.go.uk


2 

 

• We may share responses including your personal details with the Planning Inspectorate as part 

of the statutory process of examination. Again, contact information will not be made public. 

Please note that we will not formally acknowledge responses and will only contact you if we need 

further clarification. Your details will be held on our database in accord with the provisions of the 

Data Protection Act 1998 and you will be contacted again at subsequent stages of the local plan 

process unless you explicitly tell us that you do not wish to be involved any further. 

You can also ask to be notified specifically about the subsequent adoption of the Local Plan. 

Additional Support  

Please let us know if you have any accessibility issues and wherever possible we will make 

additional documents available to accommodate them.   

Page 858



3 

 

Table of Contents 

Consultation Information ................................................................................................... 1 

Why does Sandwell need a Local Plan? ......................................................................... 10 

What will the Local Plan replace? ................................................................................... 11 

The Context of the Local Plan ......................................................................................... 11 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) .................................................................. 11 

Duty to Co-operate .......................................................................................................... 12 

Black Country Strategic Economic Plan .......................................................................... 12 

West Midlands Combined Authority ................................................................................ 12 

Previous consultations on the Sandwell Local Plan ......................................................... 12 

Black Country Core Strategy ........................................................................................... 13 

Sandwell Spatial Portrait ................................................................................................. 15 

Draft Sandwell Local Plan - contents............................................................................... 28 

1. Sandwell 2041: Spatial Vision, Priorities and Objectives ..................................... 29 

What is driving the Vision for Sandwell? ......................................................................... 29 

Vision for Sandwell ......................................................................................................... 33 

Priorities and Objectives ................................................................................................. 34 

2. Spatial Strategy ....................................................................................................... 40 

3. Development Strategy ............................................................................................. 48 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy ............................................................................. 48 

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell ........................................................................ 53 

Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas ........................................................................... 62 

Policy SDS4 - Achieving Well-designed Places .............................................................. 64 

Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy ............................................... 67 

Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt ............................................................................. 72 

Policy SDS7 - Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell ............................................... 76 

4. Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment ....................................................... 79 

Page 859



4 

 

Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation................................................................................ 79 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats .................................... 83 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows92 

Policy SNE4 - Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark .............. 102 

Policy SNE5 - The Rowley Hills .................................................................................... 105 

Policy SNE6 – Canals ................................................................................................... 108 

Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas .............................................. 115 

Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment .............................................. 117 

Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings ......................................................................... 119 

Policy SHE4 - Archaeology ........................................................................................... 120 

5. Climate Change ..................................................................................................... 122 

Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience ....................................................... 125 

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure ............................................................................. 129 

Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk .............................................................................. 133 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk ............................................................................................. 136 

Policy SCC5 - Sustainable drainage and surface water management ........................... 141 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards ............. 143 

6. Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell ........................................................................ 148 

Policy SHW1– Health Impact Assessments .................................................................. 151 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure ...................................................................... 154 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality ............................................................................................. 159 

Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation ................................................................. 164 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities ...................................................... 168 

Policy SHW6 - Allotments ............................................................................................. 172 

7. Sandwell’s Housing ............................................................................................... 175 

Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth ................................................. 175 

Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments .......................................................................... 179 

Page 860



5 

 

Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility ................................................ 180 

Policy SHO4 - Affordable Housing ................................................................................ 185 

Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing ...... 186 

Policy SHO6 - Financial Viability Assessments for Housing .......................................... 190 

Policy SHO7 - Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3) ............................................ 191 

Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation ............................................................... 193 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities ............................................................................... 198 

Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople .. 201 

Policy SHO11 - Housing for people with specific needs ................................................ 205 

8. Sandwell’s Economy ............................................................................................. 207 

Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs .............................................. 209 

Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas ................................................................. 211 

Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas ....................................................................... 213 

Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites ........................................................................ 215 

Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market ................................................ 217 

Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses ............................... 219 

9. Sandwell’s Centres ................................................................................................ 221 

Policy SCE1 - Sandwell's Centres ................................................................................. 222 

Policy SCE2 - Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres ....................................................... 228 

Policy SCE3 - Town Centres (Tier-Two centres) ........................................................... 230 

Policy SCE4 - District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres) ...................................... 231 

Policy SCE5 - Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres ......................... 233 

Policy SCE6 - Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development .................................... 236 

Town Centre Profiles .................................................................................................... 240 

Bearwood ..................................................................................................................... 241 

Blackheath .................................................................................................................... 250 

Cape Hill ....................................................................................................................... 255 

Page 861



6 

 

Cradley Heath ............................................................................................................... 263 

Great Bridge ................................................................................................................. 270 

Oldbury ......................................................................................................................... 276 

Wednesbury Town ........................................................................................................ 283 

10. West Bromwich ...................................................................................................... 290 

Policy SWB1 - West Bromwich Town Centre ................................................................ 293 

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich ........................................................... 299 

11. Transport ................................................................................................................ 303 

Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network ........................ 305 

Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN).......... 309 

Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development ............................... 310 

Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight and Logistics .................................... 312 

Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking ............................ 314 

Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices .......................... 316 

Policy STR7 – Network Management ............................................................................ 317 

Policy STR8 – Parking Management............................................................................. 318 

Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles ...................................................... 320 

Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation and Digital Connectivity ...................................... 321 

12. Infrastructure and Delivery ................................................................................... 323 

Policy SID1 - Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks ............................. 323 

Policy SID2- Mobile Network Infrastructure ................................................................... 327 

Policy SID3 - Digital Infrastructure / Equipment ............................................................. 328 

13. Waste and Minerals ............................................................................................... 329 

Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements ........................................... 329 

Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites .......................................................................................... 335 

Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities ............................................. 339 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities .............................. 343 

Page 862



7 

 

Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development .................................... 347 

Policy SMI1 - Minerals Safeguarding ............................................................................ 352 

Policy SMI2 - Managing the Effects of Mineral Development ........................................ 355 

14. Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy ................................................ 358 

Policy SCO1 - Hazardous Installations and Substances ............................................... 358 

Policy SCO2 - Pollution Control .................................................................................... 361 

Policy SCO3 - Land contamination and instability ......................................................... 364 

15. Development Management ................................................................................... 366 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality ...................................................................................... 366 

Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards ..................................................... 372 

Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites .......................................................... 374 

Policy SDM4 - Advertisements ...................................................................................... 376 

Policy SDM5 - Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters ............................................................ 379 

Policy SDM6 - Hot Food Takeaways ............................................................................. 381 

Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways ................................................... 385 

Policy SDM8 - Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services .......................... 388 

Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities .............................................................................. 390 

Policy SDM10 - Telecommunications ............................................................................ 393 

Delivery, Monitoring, and Implementation .................................................................... 395 

 

 

 

  

Page 863



8 

 

Table 1 - Employment and Unemployment in Sandwell ............................................................. 20 

Table 2 - Distribution of Jobs in Sandwell .................................................................................. 22 

Table 3 – Priorities, Strategic Objectives and Policies .............................................................. 34 

Table 4 - Summary of regeneration projects............................................................................... 61 

Table 5 - Housing Land Supply - sources ................................................................................. 175 

Table 6 - Minimum Housing Densities and Accessibility ......................................................... 181 

Table 7 - New housing types and tenures in Sandwell ............................................................ 184 

Table 8 - Methodology for calculating concentration of HMOs within a relevant area .......... 193 

Table 9 - Supply of Gypsy and Traveller Permanent Pitches up to 2031 ................................ 204 

Table 10 – Sandwell’s Hierarchy of Centres ............................................................................. 225 

Table 11 - West Bromwich Masterplan Projects ....................................................................... 296 

Table 12 - Black Country Waste Study – Waste Management Scenarios ............................... 333 

Table 13 - Preferred Areas for new waste facilities in Sandwell .............................................. 341 

Table 14 - ten-year rolling average annual sand and gravel sales in the WMMA 2011 - 2021 
(million tonnes) ........................................................................................................................... 350 

Table 15 - Sand and Gravel – WMMA Landbank Requirement December 2017 ..................... 350 

Table 16 - Key Mineral Infrastructure ........................................................................................ 354 

  

Page 864



9 

 

Figure 1 - Sandwell Metropolitan Borough ................................................................................. 16 

Figure 2 - Sandwell Spatial Map................................................................................................... 47 

Figure 3 - Regeneration Areas in Sandwell ................................................................................. 57 

Figure 4 - Determinants of health and wellbeing (Barton and Grant, 2010) ............................ 149 

Figure 5 - Bearwood Town Centre ............................................................................................. 242 

Figure 6 - Blackheath Town Centre ........................................................................................... 251 

Figure 7 - Cape Hill Town Centre ............................................................................................... 256 

Figure 8 - Cradley Heath Town Centre ...................................................................................... 264 

Figure 9 - Great Bridge Town Centre ......................................................................................... 271 

Figure 10 - Oldbury Town Centre ............................................................................................... 277 

Figure 11 - Wednesbury Town Centre ....................................................................................... 284 

Figure 12 - West Bromwich Town Centre .................................................................................. 295 

Figure 13 - Transport Key Diagram ........................................................................................... 304 

 

  

Page 865



10 

 

Introduction 

Purpose of the document  

1. The Sandwell Local Plan (SLP) contains strategic and non-strategic planning policies and 

land allocations intended to support the growth of Sandwell over the years to 2041. It has 

been prepared and approved for consultation by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council, 

referred to in this document as the Council. 

2. The draft SLP contains a Vision for Sandwell in 2041, underpinned by strategic objectives 

and priorities designed to deliver the Vision and its associated objectives. The planning 

policies will guide land use and development across the borough and set strong standards 

for growth and transformation.  

3. Once adopted, the SLP will provide a clear and robust strategy for bringing land forward, 

with a strong presumption in favour of sustainable development on previously-developed 

land. It will provide certainty and transparency to residents, businesses and developers 

around how Sandwell is expecting to grow to 2041.  

Why does Sandwell need a Local Plan?  

4. National planning legislation requires all local authorities to develop a long-term plan that 

sets out how and where land can be developed over a minimum timescale of 15 years, to 

meet the needs of local people and businesses. The SLP, which sets out strategic and 

development management policies1 for Sandwell, will provide a policy framework to:  

a) provide certainty over the types of development that are likely to be approved; 

b) address the issue of climate change;  

c) protect and enhance designated areas of ecological and environmental importance;  

d) promote and enhance health and well-being in accordance with health and well-being 

strategies; 

e) facilitate the delivery of the right development to meet identified and emerging needs in 

sustainable locations; 

f) help address housing needs between now and 2041;  

                                                

1  Paragraphs 20 – 21, NPPF (2021)  

Page 866



11 

 

g) attract new businesses and jobs and offer existing businesses the space to grow by 

meeting employment land needs;  

h) increase employment opportunities; 

i) support the aims of wider Black Country and West Midlands Combined Authority 

economic strategies; 

j) prevent uncoordinated development; 

k) ensure infrastructure, such as roads, public transport, new schools, new healthcare 

facilities, upgraded utilities and broadband, waste and sewage disposal, is provided at 

the right time to serve new homes and employment provision. 

What will the Local Plan replace?  

5. When adopted the SLP will replace the Black Country Core Strategy (adopted in 2011), the 

Sandwell Site Allocations and Development Plan Document (the SAD, adopted in 2012) and 

Area Action Plans for West Bromwich, Smethwick and Tipton.  

6. It will also incorporate elements of former supplementary planning documents as appropriate 

and will include details from the West Bromwich Masterplan and Interim Planning Statement. 

The Context of the Local Plan  

7. The SLP has been prepared in the context of national and local guidance and strategies. A 

range of evidence has also been commissioned by the Council to justify the draft spatial 

strategy and draft policies within this plan, which will be available to view on the Sandwell 

local plan web page alongside the consultation documents.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

8. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning guidance for England and how it should be 

applied. It provides the framework within which locally-prepared plans for housing and other 

development will be produced.  

9. Planning law requires that applications for planning permissions are determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

The NPPF must also be taken into account when preparing the development plan and is a 

material consideration in planning decisions. Planning policies and decisions must reflect 

relevant international obligations and other statutory requirements.  

Page 867



12 

 

Duty to Co-operate  

10. The Localism Act (2011) introduced a requirement on all local authorities to co-operate with 

neighbouring local authorities and other bodies with a regulatory or strategic interest in Local 

Plan issues. The duty requires ongoing, constructive and effective engagement on plan-

making, which may have strategic cross-boundary implications.  

Black Country Strategic Economic Plan  

11. The Black Country Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) sets out the vision, objectives, strategy, 

and actions to improve the quality of life for everyone who lives and works in the Black 

Country, an area with unique assets, challenges, and opportunities. In May 2019 the West 

Midlands Combined Authority, in partnerships with the region’s three Local Enterprise 

Partnerships (Black Country, Coventry and Warwickshire and Greater Birmingham and 

Solihull), published the West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy2, building on local Strategic 

Economic Plans. 

West Midlands Combined Authority  

12. The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) seeks to deliver a vision of a more 

prosperous West Midlands. The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) sets out the vision, 

objectives, strategy and actions needed to improve the quality of life for everyone who lives 

and works in the West Midlands. 

13. To deliver success for the West Midlands, the West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy was 

agreed with government and published in May 2019. It sets out various priorities intended to 

help increase the productivity of the West Midlands. 

14. The Sandwell Local Plan will provide a basis for public and private investment decisions in 

Sandwell, including for Towns Fund projects and devolved housing and land funds. Sandwell 

Council will continue to work with the WMCA and neighbouring authorities to ensure that 

investment and delivery in the Black Country continues across the plan period. 

Previous consultations on the Sandwell Local Plan  

15. The preparation of the draft SLP commenced in late 2022 with the production of an Issues 

and Options Review, on which public consultation was undertaken early in 2023. This used 

                                                

2  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-
midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf  

Page 868

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf


13 

 

both traditional and online mechanisms to support consultation and draw responses from 

residents, the development industry and statutory bodies. 

16. A total of 265 representations were received from stakeholders, developers and members of 

the public, covering various issues including the need to address climate change, protect 

open spaces, promote accessible and sustainable travel, deliver sufficient additional housing 

to meet Sandwell’s needs and preserve the historic environment, ecology and canals. 

17. In addition, 18 sites were identified through a Call for Sites exercise that ran at the same 

time as the consultation, identified by landowners and promoters / consultants. These were 

assessed as part of the SLP Site Assessment process. 

18. Following the Issues and Options consultation the next stage of the Plan is the production of 

this draft version. When producing the Draft Plan, the Council considered the 

representations received to the Issues and Options consultation, along with a range of 

evidence produced to inform decision-making. Consultation on the Draft Plan (Reg18) will 

take place in late 2023. 

19. The draft SLP is supported by a Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat Regulation 

Assessment. It also contains a series of appendices in an annex to this main document, 

which should be considered in accordance with the plan where necessary 

Black Country Core Strategy  

20. The Black Country encompasses the areas administered by Dudley Metropolitan Borough 

Council (MBC), Sandwell MBC, Walsall MBC and the City of Wolverhampton Council 

(CWC). The four authorities worked together to produce the Black Country Core Strategy, 

which was adopted in 2011. The existing Core Strategy provides the framework for various 

Site Allocation Documents and Area Action Plans, which themselves set out local policies 

and site allocations for individual authority areas.  

21. The Core Strategy covers the period between 2006 and 2026. From the outset there was a 

clear intention to review it five years after adoption, to ensure the spatial objectives and 

strategy were being effectively delivered and to keep the plan up to date. This is in line with 

national planning guidance. The most immediate issues both Sandwell and the Black 

Country are facing is that both their population and economy are continuing to grow and as a 

result there is a need to identify additional housing and employment sites. This demand is 

now beyond the capacity of’ the existing Strategy to address.  

22. The national economic situation has also changed. The existing Core Strategy was prepared 

as the country was emerging from the global recession of 2008, and the Black Country was 

Page 869



14 

 

recovering from a period of economic and population decline. This was reflected in the Core 

Strategy in a clear emphasis on the recycling of land previously in industrial use to provide 

for housing and newer employment activities such as offices. However, the manufacturing 

and industrial markets of the Black Country remained stable and have grown in some cases, 

meaning that the expected surplus of vacant brownfield land available for additional housing 

has not occurred in practice. There is now a significant demand for additional land to meet 

employment needs across the area. 

23. Looking to the future, the opening of HS2 and the extension to the Midland Metro are likely 

to have a significant impact on the wider Black Country in the medium to longer term. There 

have also been several changes to national policy, including a revised national planning 

policy framework in 2021 and associated guidance, national design guidance and changes 

to building regulations and environmental legislation. 

24. More recently, the COVID19 pandemic in 2020 – 2022 caused a significant shift in the way 

the sub-region’s residents work, shop and access services. There are likely to be some 

longer-term changes in the way communities operate that will have implications for land 

uses, and the SLP will seek to address those issues using robust, flexible and sensitive 

policies focussed on Sandwell’s needs and aspirations.  

Sub-regional Context 

25. The Black Country forms a distinctive sub-region on the western side of the West Midlands 

conurbation, close to the City of Birmingham. It shares an eastern boundary with 

Birmingham and to the north, west and south it is bounded by districts within Staffordshire, 

Shropshire and Worcestershire. It is in relatively close proximity to centres such as Cannock 

and Bromsgrove. It has a unique and rich economic history, settlement form and topography 

/ geology and is very much shaped by its industrial past.  

26. The four local authorities within the Black Country face a similar set of social, economic, and 

environmental challenges and have found it effective to tackle many strategic issues on a 

cross-boundary basis. The authorities have worked closely together since the early 2000s to 

establish a clear and collective set of ambitions and directions of travel, expressed in an 

agreed economic and spatial strategy. Joint working has strengthened and deepened over 

that time – moving from establishing a 30-year Vision in 2003, to adopting a Joint Core 

Strategy in 2011, through to securing funding through the Black Country LEP and the West 

Midlands Combined Authority in 2017 to deliver priority projects.  

Page 870



15 

 

Sandwell Spatial Portrait  

27. Background: Sandwell is a multi-centred and highly urbanised metropolitan borough. It 

comprises six historic former boroughs:  

• Oldbury;  

• Rowley Regis (including the town centres of Blackheath and Cradley Heath); 

• Smethwick (including the town centres of Bearwood and Cape Hill); 

• Tipton (including the town centre of Great Bridge); 

• Wednesbury; 

• West Bromwich. 

28. These historic former boroughs all maintain their own distinct identities and local 

communities. West Bromwich is designated as Sandwell's strategic centre and is the largest 

town in the borough, while Sandwell Council House (the headquarters of the local authority) 

is situated in Oldbury, the main civic centre. 

29. The Metropolitan Borough of Sandwell was formed in 1974 under the Local Government Act 

1972 and is an amalgamation of the former county boroughs of Warley and West Bromwich, 

which in turn had been created from the previous boroughs of Oldbury, Rowley Regis, and 

Smethwick (Warley County Borough), and Tipton, Wednesbury and West Bromwich (West 

Bromwich County Borough). 

30. Historically, metalworking in Sandwell dates from the Middle Ages, and coal was mined from 

the 13th century onwards. Sandwell’s main industrial growth, based on local coal and 

ironstone reserves, followed the coming of the canals in the 18th century. Several ironworks 

were established here, including the Soho Manufactory (1761) at Smethwick, which was 

associated with the engineers James Watt and Matthew Boulton. 

31. Sandwell is bordered by the cities of Birmingham and Wolverhampton and the metropolitan 

boroughs of Dudley and Walsall. Spanning the borough are the parliamentary constituencies 

of West Bromwich West, West Bromwich East, Warley and part of Halesowen and Rowley 

Regis, which crosses into the borough of Dudley.  

32. The borough covers an area of 86 square kilometres. It contains 1,200 hectares of parks, 

playing fields and local green space and around 66km of canals. 

 

Page 871



16 

 

Figure 1 - Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

 

33. The borough has excellent access to the wider national motorway network via two junctions 

of the M5 motorway (Junction 1 of the M5 in West Bromwich and Junction 2 of the M5 at 

Birchley Island), and two junctions of the M6 motorway (Junction 7 of the M6 at Great Barr 

and Junction 9 of the M6 at Wednesbury), which in turn serves the southwest, southeast and 

northwest regions of the UK. Sandwell also benefits from access to the national railway 

network via a mainline station (Sandwell and Dudley Railway Station), and the Midland 

Metro runs between Wednesbury and Birmingham city centre with a 15-minute journey time.  

34. In recent years, Sandwell has seen the successful delivery of several prestigious and highly 

visible projects and developments and this transformational growth trend is continuing. 

Projects that have been undertaken include:  

Page 872



17 

 

• Sandwell Aquatics Centre – the brand-new centre was built and delivered in time for 

the 2022 Birmingham Commonwealth Games and was used throughout the Games for 

swimming and aquatics events. Following the Games, the venue has been refurbished 

into a community health and wellbeing asset; 

• Birchley Island – a £25.5m scheme to improve connectivity to the adjacent M5 

Junction 2 by providing a new through lane for improved motorway access, enhanced 

facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and widened connected roads with signal control; 

• Elite Centre for Manufacturing Skills: National Foundry Training Centre - as part of the 

£12.7m Elite Centre for Manufacturing Skills scheme, this centre provides access to 

industrial facilities and a purpose-built training block of 950 sqm in Tipton; 

• Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro Extension via Dudley – this will create a direct public 

transport route from Wednesbury to the Wolverhampton to Walsall rail line at the 

Dudley Port interchange. 

35. Demographic Trends3: The 2021 Census estimates that Sandwell has 341,900 residents, a 

rise of 11.0% since 2011. This compares with a rise of 6.3% in England and Wales. The 11% 

rise in Sandwell since 2011 is the highest in the West Midlands Metropolitan County area, 

the next highest being in Coventry (8.9%).  

36. In 2021, Sandwell ranked 27th for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England, 

moving up six places in a decade. The borough’s population is predicted to grow at a faster 

rate than both the population of the West Midlands and the national average and is forecast 

to increase by 30,000 between 2016 and 2030. This area is the second-most densely 

populated local authority area across the West Midlands (after Birmingham)4. 

37. Sandwell has a young and diverse population, with more than 40% of its residents under the 

age of 30, compared to around 30% elsewhere in the UK. Just over 40% of residents are 

from an ethnic minority background, making the population more diverse than the regional 

and UK average of 18.8% and 14% respectively.  

38. The most common main languages spoken in Sandwell, other than English, are Panjabi 

(6.4%), Polish (1.7%), Bengali (1.0%) and Urdu (1.0%). 

                                                

3  Information in this chapter taken from Sandwell Trends, based on the 2021 census, unless otherwise stated. 
4  https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E08000028/ 

 

Page 873

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/2021-census/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E08000028/


18 

 

39. Health - the health of people in Sandwell does not on the whole compare well with England 

averages. Sandwell is one of the 20% most deprived districts / unitary authorities in England 

and around 25.5% (18,495) of its children live in low-income families. Life expectancy for 

both men and women is lower than the England average; 76.1 years for men and 80.7 years 

for women compared to 79.4 years (male) and 83.1 years (female) nationally5. Life 

expectancy inequality also exists within Sandwell itself – life expectancy is 8.6 years lower 

for men and 8 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of the borough compared 

to the least deprived areas6. 

40. Economy and Skills: Sandwell has a long history of industrial activity, especially in 

manufacturing. Until the 1980s the Black Country, together with neighbouring Birmingham, 

was the powerhouse of Britain’s manufacturing economy. The recessions in the early 1980s 

and during 2008 – 09 had significant and lasting adverse impacts on the local economy and 

saw the loss of a significant number of companies and a high level of unemployment, but the 

sub-region has recovered  

41. The West Midlands was one of the hardest hit parts of the UK economy during the COVID19 

pandemic7. Sandwell’s demography and urban structure exposed it to Covid, most notably in 

its central corridor of older, poor-quality housing and in ethnic minority groups where 

infection rates were highest.  

42. The impact of successive lockdowns in 2020-21 that were needed to contain the pandemic 

caused significant economic damage. Sandwell was already in recession when COVID hit 

and subsequently experienced many business failures, most visibly in high streets, and 

widespread rises in unemployment, particularly among young people.  

43. Sandwell borough is almost the same size in population terms as Nottingham and is bigger 

than Newcastle, Oxford, and Milton Keynes, but those locations all have larger economies 

than Sandwell. 

                                                

5  Public Health England - https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-
profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132696/ati/402/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1 

6  Public Health England - https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/e08000028.html?area-name=sandwell 
(2019) 

7  The West Midlands showed the largest negative growth in GDP in Quarter 2 2020 when compared with the same quarter a year 
earlier, at 24.7%; Source: ONS 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/gdpukregionsandcountries/apriltojune2020  

 

Page 874

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132696/ati/402/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132696/ati/402/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/e08000028.html?area-name=sandwell
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/gdpukregionsandcountries/apriltojune2020


19 

 

44. Sandwell has many growing and productive businesses and a higher-than-average 

proportion of its businesses are small, but residents are not always able to take up 

opportunities related to those employment and economic activities. Local businesses will 

often need a highly skilled workforce to be able to grow to meet modern demands; that 

workforce needs training and support to help deliver and accelerate innovation. Sandwell 

also has a limited amount of the type of high-quality land needed to enable businesses to 

expand and grow in the borough’s industrial core. 

45. Productivity - Sandwell’s economy (Gross Value Added) was worth £6.644 billion in 20208, 

which represents a value of £20,192 per head. While lower than both the West Midlands 

Metropolitan Area and the UK averages, Sandwell’s productivity is higher than that of the 

other authorities in the Black Country.  

46. Business Population - Sandwell has around 11,600 active business units9:  

• 9,585 (82.6%) are micro businesses;  

• 1,970 (17.5%) are Small and Medium Enterprises; and  

• 50 (0.4%) are large units.  

47. Of these businesses, only 40 are designated as ‘high growth’ enterprises10. There is 

however evidence of a considerable entrepreneurial spirit in the area, with approximately 

1,775 new businesses being created and 915 shutting down annually. 

48. Economic Activity - In Sandwell, 71% of employees work full time, with 29% working part 

time11. The challenge in Sandwell is in maintaining positive economic growth and keeping it 

moving forward, particularly following the COVID19 pandemic, and ensuring growth is 

sustainable.  

49. Two other factors that had a major underlying legacy effect on Sandwell’s economy were:  

                                                

8  Black Country Consortium Economic Intelligence Unit - 
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZGVkYjYzODMtN2Q0Ny00N2I3LWFiZmItZDE2OWZhOWI4OGViIiwidCI6ImNhM2RjZDRiLT
RiNDUtNGUyMi1iODFhLWQ5NjMzZDVhOGM5ZSJ9  

9  NOMIS – Business Counts 2022 https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx  
10  A business with average annualised growth greater than 20% per annum over a three-year period is considered a high-growth 

enterprise. Growth can be measured by the number of employees or by turnover (Eurostat − OECD Manual on Business 
Demography Statistics). 

11  Census 2021 

Page 875

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZGVkYjYzODMtN2Q0Ny00N2I3LWFiZmItZDE2OWZhOWI4OGViIiwidCI6ImNhM2RjZDRiLTRiNDUtNGUyMi1iODFhLWQ5NjMzZDVhOGM5ZSJ9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZGVkYjYzODMtN2Q0Ny00N2I3LWFiZmItZDE2OWZhOWI4OGViIiwidCI6ImNhM2RjZDRiLTRiNDUtNGUyMi1iODFhLWQ5NjMzZDVhOGM5ZSJ9
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx


20 

 

• the global financial crisis of 2007-2008, which reduced access to private sector 

finance; 

• a sustained period of public sector austerity beginning in 2010; this reduced both the 

overall ability of local government to protect vulnerable communities and reduced their 

capacity to spend locally on projects that helped deliver economic growth to 

businesses and better prospects of employment and skills to residents.  

50. During the early 2020s a range of economic shocks (including the COVID19 pandemic, the 

UK’s exit from the EU market in 2020, higher inflation and a more volatile energy and 

commodity market ensuing from the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022) have resulted in 

challenges for businesses of all sizes. Other significant changes to the economy have 

occurred through changes in working patterns, such as a significant rise in the number of 

Sandwell residents now working from home.   

51. It is within the context of this period of economic instability that the SLP is being developed. 

In effect this means that the underlying resilience of the local economic base has been 

through a significant period of disruption. In terms of its approach, Sandwell Council has had 

to prioritise a range of measures that have helped to mitigate the impacts of the current cost 

of living crisis on both local communities and businesses.  

52. Ensuring economic growth is sustainable remains a major priority for future development in 

Sandwell and the SLP delivers a key part of that process by identifying the right sites and 

policies to support economic growth. 

53. Sandwell has a higher-than-average level of economic inactivity and unemployment. 

Table 1 - Employment and Unemployment in Sandwell12 

Economic Activity Sandwell 
Numbers 

Sandwell % West 
Midlands Met 
% 

Great Britain 
% 

Economically Active 151,100 69.1 77.5 78.4 

In Employment 142,000 64.7 73.6 75.5 

Employees 125,100 57.3 64.9 66.0 

                                                

12 NOMIS (Employment and unemployment figures for April 2022 to March 2023) 

Page 876



21 

 

Economic Activity Sandwell 
Numbers 

Sandwell % West 
Midlands Met 
% 

Great Britain 
% 

Self Employed 16,300 7.0 8.4 9.2 

Unemployed 9,100 6.0 4.8 3.6 

54. Over the same period, NOMIS identified that 66,900 residents (32% of residents aged 16 - 

64) were economically inactive (compared with 21.6% in Great Britain)13. 

Economically Inactive (age 16-64) Sandwell Nos. % of overall 
workforce 

Total Inactive 64,400 30.9% 

Students 11,700 18.2% 

Looking After Family / Home 18,600 28.9% 

Long-Term Sick 20,500 31.8% 

55. 6% of the working population are classed as unemployed14 (as a proportion of economically 

active residents), with 14.2% of households classed as ‘workless’15 (where households 

contain at least one person aged 16 to 64 and where no-one aged 16 or over is in 

employment). Gross weekly incomes are below the national average, with the Sandwell 

median average wage for full-time workers being £549 per week compared to a national 

average of £64216.  

56. Qualifications and Skills: Around a third of the Sandwell working age population are 

graduates. This is significantly lower than the UK average rate for the equivalent group, 

forming the most highly skilled band of National Vocational Qualification (NVQ) level 4 or 

above. As a result, Sandwell has a smaller pool of workers able to compete for more highly 

skilled vacancies. 11.5% of the Sandwell working age population have no qualifications at 

                                                

13  NOMIS - Economic inactivity (Apr 2022 – March 2023) https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx  

14  NOMIS – Employment and unemployment (April 2022 – March 2023) 
15  NOMIS - Workless Households (Jan-Dec 2021) 
16  NOMIS – Earnings by place of residence (2022) https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx  

Page 877

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157189/printable.aspx


22 

 

all, which figure is around three quarters’ higher than the UK average. This means that the 

Sandwell workforce are more likely than those in the rest of the UK to work in lower skilled 

occupations.  

57. Employment: In terms of job numbers, the three main employment sectors in Sandwell are 

retail and wholesale, manufacturing and health and social care. In terms of critical or 

Sandwell-specific sectors, where Sandwell plays a stronger or more disproportionate role 

within the wider economy than the national average, the highest contributors are 

manufacturing (+111% greater than the national average); electricity, gas and air 

conditioning (+100% greater); water supply and waste management (+71% greater); 

transportation and storage (+59% greater); and retail and wholesale (+40% greater)17. 

Table 2 - Distribution of Jobs in Sandwell 

Sandwell Economic Sectors Workers % of workers Compared to 
UK average 

Wholesale, Retail & Vehicle Repair 25,000 20.2 +40% 

Manufacturing 20,000 16.1 +111% 

Health & Social Care 16,000 12.9 -6% 

Transportation & Storage 10,000 8.1 +59% 

Education 10,000 8.1 -8% 

Admin & Support Services 9,000 7.3 -18% 

Construction 7,000 5.6 +14% 

Accommodation & Food Service 6,000 4.8 -36% 

Professional, Scientific & Technical 5,000 4.0 -55% 

Public Administration & Defence 3,500 2.8 -39% 

Other Service Activities 3,500 2.8 +32% 

Arts, Entertainment & Recreation 2,500 2.0 -13% 

                                                

17  Source – ONS Business Register and Employment Survey, October 2022 

Page 878



23 

 

Sandwell Economic Sectors Workers % of workers Compared to 
UK average 

Real Estate 2,500 2.0 +11% 

Water Supply & Waste Management 1,500 1.2 +71% 

Information & Communication 1,500 1.2 -73% 

Finance & Insurance 1,250 1.0 -72% 

Electricity, Gas & Air Conditioning 1,000 0.8 +100% 

58. Workforce and travel to work: each day, 59,000 people come into Sandwell from 

neighbouring areas to work, and almost 62,000 of Sandwell’s residents work outside the 

Borough. The job density per working age population is 0.63, compared to 0.80 in the West 

Midlands Metropolitan area and 0.84 in the UK. 

59. Housing: In March 202118, Sandwell had 130,246 household spaces. 54% of households 

were in owner-occupation, 27% were social rented and 19% were rented from a private 

landlord. The average household size in Sandwell is 2.42, which is slightly above the 

England and Wales average of 2.4. In terms of household composition, in 2021, 38,042 

households in Sandwell are made up of only one person, which equates to just under 30% of 

the total. 

60. Transport: Sandwell lies at the heart of the national Strategic Road Network. The 

intersection between the M5 and M5 motorways is in the north of the borough and four 

motorway junctions, Junctions 7 and 9 of the M6 and Junctions 1 and 2 of the M5, provide 

access to and from all parts of the borough. The local road network consists of 880km (547 

miles) of highways, including the strategic A41, A461, A457 and A4123 routes, which link the 

borough’s centres to each other, the wider Black Country and Birmingham.  

61. There are three rail lines, serving thirteen stations, that pass through the borough;  

• the Stour Valley section of the West Coast Mainline provides local services from 

Tipton, Oldbury and Smethwick to Birmingham and Wolverhampton as well as inter-

city links to London and the north;  

                                                

18 2021 Census 

Page 879



24 

 

• the Chase Line links Birmingham New Street to Walsall and Cannock and serves the 

north of Sandwell;  

• the Birmingham Snow Hill to Worcester line serves Smethwick and the southwest of 

the borough.  

62. In addition, large parts of the borough are served by the West Midlands Metro network, 

which provides connections to Birmingham and Wolverhampton. An extension to Dudley 

Town Centre is expected to open in 2024, with a further phase to Brierley Hill expected to 

complete at a later date. 

63. To complete the picture, there is an extensive 66km (41 mile) canal network throughout the 

borough.   

64. The Covid19 pandemic combined with the shift to home working, particularly in the office 

sector, has changed the way people move around; this is true of both the times at which they 

make journeys and the mode by which these journeys are made.  

65. Car use has returned almost to pre-pandemic levels, with 1.29bn vehicle miles being 

travelled on Sandwell’s Roads during 2022, which is around the same as the figure for 2016 

and is approaching the record peak of 1.35bn vehicle miles seen during 2019. The 2023 

figures are expected to continue this upward trend19.  

66. In contrast the number of public transport journeys, particularly during commuter periods, 

has not recovered to the same degree. Bus use in 2021/22 was at around 70% of pre-

pandemic levels, whilst for metro the figure was 60% and for rail it was 50%. Whilst a 

recovery in journey numbers has continued, the 2022/23 figures are still expected to be 

significantly below pre-pandemic levels. In Sandwell, bus continues to be the most important 

public transport mode, accounting for approximately four out of every five such journeys 

made. 

67. Centres: Sandwell’s origins lie in six distinct Urban District Councils, which merged together 

to form a seamless and significant part of the wider West Midlands conurbation.  

68. Sandwell is a heavily urbanised metropolitan area, with a Strategic Centre at West 

Bromwich, seven town centres, thirteen district and local centres and many small parades of 

shops. It is a genuinely ‘polycentric’ borough. 

                                                

19 Dept. for Transport Road Traffic Statistics 2022 

Page 880



25 

 

69. Sandwell has been subject to the same trends in retailing other areas have, but also suffers 

from significant levels of deprivation and lower incomes, which in turn has had an impact on 

retailing activity across the borough. The rise of ‘big box’ supermarkets, internet shopping, 

limited range discounters, out-of-centre retail parks and standalone out-of-centre 

supermarkets have all impacted on the vitality of its centres. The pandemic lockdown 

conversely provided a boost to local centres as people tended to shop more locally. 

70. West Bromwich received a major boost with the delivery of the New Square development in 

2013 but has fallen back in comparative terms to other centres nationally. New Square 

shifted the ‘centre of gravity’ of the retail area, with a subsequent decline in footfall and 

occupancy levels at parts of its periphery towards Bull Street, but also in Queens Square. 

West Bromwich’s vacancy rate is 17.74%, compared to 13.81% nationally (as at 2022). 

71. As with other urban areas, comparison shopping (i.e., for clothes, electrical goods etc.) are 

increasingly concentrated in the strategic centre, with other centres taking on a more 

services-orientated role. 

72. Built heritage and natural environment: Despite its industrial heritage and highly urban 

nature, Sandwell is home to several significant areas of green and open space, a network of 

wildlife corridors and sites with significant ecological and environmental value and a number 

of historic and architecturally significant buildings and locations.  

73. Sandwell is home to 204 listed buildings and nine conservation areas. There are also five 

designated parks and gardens (all listed at Grade II) and seven scheduled monuments20. 

There are many pressures on built heritage assets - to modernise or demolish historic 

buildings, change their uses, develop within heritage conservation areas and remove 

landscaping. Given the irreplaceable contribution heritage assets make, the government has 

made it clear that it is important that heritage assets and their settings are preserved or 

enhanced as a reminder of the history and evolution of the area.  

74. All features of the outdoor environment contribute to environmental infrastructure, including 

natural and semi-natural habitats, parks and other open spaces, formal and informal 

recreation and sports facilities, historic buildings and landscapes, the public realm of spaces 

and streets, rivers, canals and drainage systems.  

                                                

20  Data from Historic England website (June 2023) 

 

Page 881



26 

 

75. Sandwell benefits from 543 green spaces, with 323 of those spaces (59%) offering 

unrestricted public access. This provides 3.63 hectares of open space per 1,000 population 

and offers more unrestricted green space access than some comparable local authorities, 

including Birmingham, Oldham, Hull, and Knowsley21. More formal green and open spaces 

in Sandwell include22: 

• 32 parks and gardens (including nine Green Flag parks) 

• 211 amenity green spaces (from small local spaces to larger communal green spaces) 

• 75 natural and semi-natural green spaces (including nine recognised nature reserves) 

• 22 green corridors (such as green walkways and other networks that connect areas) 

• 48 outdoor sports sites (including 15 playing pitches, 27 Multi-Use Games Areas, 33 

outdoor gyms, four bowling greens and 12 BMX and skate facilities) 

• 34 allotment sites (with 1,336 plots) 

• 69 play areas (including toddler and junior play facilities). 

76. Following aerial surveys completed as part of the recent Black Country iTree project23, it is 

estimated that Sandwell contains around 265,000 trees, covering 18.1% of the borough. This 

is higher than the UK average of 16%. It is estimated that 81% of these trees are in good or 

excellent condition.  

77. Broadband and 5G: Sandwell has high levels of broadband connectivity – in May 2022 

84.1% of premises were gigabit capable, compared to 66.6% in the UK. 85% of premises 

had speeds equal to or greater than 300 Mbit/s, compared to 68% in the UK. As at 

December 2022, Sandwell had superfast broadband coverage of approximately 99.7% and 

full fibre coverage of 40.49%; this compares to the UK average for superfast broadband of 

97.4% and full fibre coverage of 45.1%24. 

Challenges and Issues  

78. The following summarises the key strategic challenges and opportunities that have arisen 

since the Core Strategy was adopted in 2011. These issues form the main opportunities and 

                                                

21  Paragraph 3.3, Draft Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan 22/23 – 25/26 – Sandwell MBC Green 
Spaces 

22  https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200237/green_spaces_leisure_and_events/4941/green_spaces  
23  https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/8657602fefdc4e2f87c07e668aa47810  
24  https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/sandwell-district,E08000028  

Page 882

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200237/green_spaces_leisure_and_events/4941/green_spaces
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/8657602fefdc4e2f87c07e668aa47810
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/sandwell-district,E08000028


27 

 

challenges which the Plan Strategy, objectives and suite of policies and proposals seek to 

address: 

a) Climate change and protecting and enhancing the environment - the Plan needs 

to address the challenge of mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate change in 

ensuring sustainability principles are embedded across all areas. It will also need to 

create a strategy for the enhancement and protection of Sandwell’s environment and 

make provision for new environmental infrastructure required to support sustainable 

growth. 

b) Providing good quality housing that meets the needs of a growing population - 

the Plan needs to identify sufficient land for housing to meet the needs of people who 

are likely to live in the area over the period of the plan. 

c) Supporting a resurgent economy, which provides access to employment and 
opportunities for investment - the Plan should provide for a range of employment 

sites capable of meeting a wide variety of investment needs.  

d) Supporting strong and competitive centres - to address the health and enhance the 

vitality and viability of our centres and ensure Sandwell has realistic ambitions for 

growth. The Plan should provide a flexible policy framework to allow centres to serve 

the future growth identified in Sandwell (particularly housing and employment), 

diversify and provide strict tests to defend against proposals that could undermine 

centres, such as out-of-centre developments. 

e) Keeping Sandwell connected - a balanced approach to transport investment is 

required that recognises the need to invest in all modes of transport but identifies a 

priority in increasing the proportion of people using public transport, walking and 

cycling.  

f) Providing infrastructure to support growth - physical and social infrastructure is 

required to enable and support the growth required over the plan period. New housing 

and economic development will put pressure on existing services and utilities but may 

also create opportunities to provide infrastructure solutions. 

g) Health and Wellbeing - The role of the environment in shaping the social, economic 

and environmental circumstances that determine health and wellbeing is increasingly 

recognised and understood. The SLP seeks to address this. 

Page 883



28 

 

Draft Sandwell Local Plan - contents 

79. The Plan is structured as follows:  

• Section 1 sets out how the Plan has been prepared and establishes the local context, 

highlighting the strategic challenges Sandwell faces. 

• Section 2 provides the spatial vision, strategic objectives and priorities of the Plan that 

provide the basis for the policy and spatial approach. 

• Section 3 sets out the overall spatial strategy for Sandwell, containing overarching 

policies intended to deliver the vision and objectives of the Plan.  

• Sections 4-15 set out the detailed policies, organised by themes and reflecting the role 

of the Vision in delivering sustainable growth for Sandwell. 

80. In addition to this, the Plan contains several appendices that address in more detail certain 

aspects of the Plan policies and contain information on allocated sites for both housing and 

employment uses. Alongside the Plan sits a focussed evidence base that contains the up-to-

date information and data the Plan is based on. 

81. A series of topic papers have also been produced that address certain policy areas in more 

detail and explain the thinking behind the approach Sandwell Council has taken to the 

delivery of growth and development in the borough.  

82. The Council has also produced a paper on the background and choices related to the 

identification of the Spatial Strategy for the SLP, setting out the spatial and growth options 

that were considered reasonable alternatives. These were subject to sustainability appraisal 

and the outcome of this work resulted in the development strategy set out in Policy SDS1.   

Page 884



29 

 

1. Sandwell 2041: Spatial Vision, Priorities and Objectives 

What is driving the Vision for Sandwell?  

1.1 The Vision reflects what Sandwell will be like in the future if the needs and aspirations of 

those who live, work in or visit the area are met. It also needs to be flexible, to allow the 

Council to respond to future challenges in a way that is right for Sandwell, its residents and 

its businesses. 

1.2 The Vision has been written in the context of national, regional and local policy frameworks, 

including the Council’s own Corporate Plan and its own vision. The Sandwell Vision 203025 

is as follows: 

It’s where we call home and where we’re proud to belong - where we choose to 
bring up our families, where we feel safe and cared for, enjoying good health, 
rewarding work, feeling connected and valued in our neighbourhoods and 
communities, confident in the future, and benefiting fully from a revitalised 
West Midlands. 

1.3 The Sandwell Vision 2030 also sets out ten ambitions for a successful Sandwell and what 

success will look like, all of which will have direct or indirect relevance to the aims of the new 

SLP. These are included in the Vision 2030 document, available to view on the Sandwell 

Council website, but they are briefly set out below together with an explanation of the role 

the SLP will play in meeting them.  

Ambition 1 

Sandwell is a community where our families have high aspirations and where we pride 
ourselves on equality of opportunity and on our adaptability and resilience. 

SLP relevance:  

• promoting and supporting sustainable development that helps to meet local need / demand;  

• providing for sufficient services and facilities in locations accessible to all in Sandwell’s 

communities;  

• delivering a healthy supply of land for economic growth and employment;  

                                                

25  https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/Vision2030  

Page 885

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/Vision2030


30 

 

• delivering strong policy support to combatting climate change adaptation and mitigation;  

• protecting and enhancing the natural environment, nature conservation and open spaces;  

• delivering opportunities for biodiversity net gain, landscaping and tree planting. 

Ambition 2  

Sandwell is a place where we live healthy lives and live them for longer, and where those 
of us who are vulnerable feel respected and cared for. 

SLP relevance:  

• protecting, enhancing and making accessible land for sport and leisure including active and 

passive recreation;  

• providing clear policy support for development aimed to deliver health and welfare 

infrastructure. 

Ambition 3  

Our workforce and young people are skilled and talented, geared up to respond to 
changing business needs and to win rewarding jobs in a growing economy 

SLP relevance:  

• delivering a healthy supply of land for economic growth and employment. 

Ambition 4 

Our children benefit from the best start in life and a high-quality education throughout 
their school careers with outstanding support from their teachers and families. 

SLP relevance:  

• providing land and sites for sufficient services and facilities in locations accessible to all in 

Sandwell’s communities including schools, colleges and opportunities for higher education. 

Ambition 5  

Our communities are built on mutual respect and taking care of each other, supported by 
all the agencies that ensure we feel safe and protected in our homes and local 
neighbourhoods. 

Page 886



31 

 

SLP relevance:  

• promoting the development and improvement of attractive, safe and accessible public realm, 

support services and community infrastructure as part of new development and project 

delivery. 

Ambition 6  

We have excellent and affordable public transport that connects us to all local centres and 
to jobs in Birmingham, Wolverhampton, the airport and the wider West Midlands. 

SLP relevance:  

• delivering a co-ordinated and strategic travel and transport network through Sandwell that 

links communities to opportunities both within and beyond its boundaries, supported by 

appropriate planning policies and land use designations. 

Ambition 7 

We now have many new homes to meet a full range of housing needs in attractive 
neighbourhoods and close to key transport routes. 

SLP relevance:  

• delivering a healthy supply of land for the delivery of zero and low carbon housing across the 

borough; 

• supporting the creation of additional affordable and sustainable communities. 

Ambition 8 

Our distinctive towns and neighbourhoods are successful centres of community life, 
leisure and entertainment where people increasingly choose to bring up their families. 

SLP relevance:  

• promoting and supporting sustainable development that helps to meet local need / demand; 

• providing for sufficient services and facilities in locations accessible to all in Sandwell’s 

communities. 

Ambition 9  

Page 887



32 

 

Sandwell has become a location of choice for industries of the future where the local 
economy and high performing companies continue to grow. 

SLP relevance:  

• delivering a healthy supply of land for economic growth and employment;  

• supporting the delivery of sufficient high-quality physical / digital infrastructure;  

• delivering a co-ordinated and strategic travel and transport network through Sandwell;  

• providing land and sites for sufficient educational services and facilities in locations accessible 

to all. 

Ambition 10  

 Sandwell now has a national reputation for getting things done, where all local partners 
are focused on what really matters in people’s lives and communities. 

SLP relevance:  

• being an up-to-date local plan backed by sound evidence and robust policies that enable 

planning permissions to be granted swiftly and in close co-operation with applicants, 

developers and local communities. 

 

  

Page 888



33 

 

Vision for Sandwell 

1.4 The Sandwell Local Plan Vision is set out below:  

Sandwell Local Plan Vision 2041 

In 2041, Sandwell is a thriving, growing and active borough, leading the urban 
renaissance of the West Midlands conurbation. It is a place with a united and resilient 
community, a place of innovation and industry and a place with a vibrant and strong 
cultural heritage. 

Sandwell is at the forefront of tackling climate change, in its role as a hub for climate 
adaptation and mitigation technologies and industries. Its new buildings are clean and 
green in their design, materials and operations, its old buildings are carefully adapted 
to deliver low and zero carbon outputs. It sets the standard in both public and private 
sectors for embedding climate change awareness and sensitivity in all its actions, 
outcomes and decisions. 

Notwithstanding its urban character, Sandwell’s residents enjoy access to country and 
town parks, open spaces, green networks, natural corridors and pocket parks. They 
benefit from additional landscaping schemes and increased tree cover during their 
everyday activities and leisure time. Sandwell’s natural environment is valued for its 
own sake as well as for its role in creating a healthy, attractive and climate change-
resistant background for people living, working, learning in and enjoying the borough. 

Sandwell’s historic environment is a source of pride for its communities and continues 
to reflect its industrial and architectural heritage, in restoration and renovation 
schemes and in the sensitive design of new buildings. Historic buildings in Sandwell 
are reused, repurposed and retrofitted to enable their retention and occupation for 
years to come. 

Sandwell continues to deliver sustained and sustainable economic growth and 
investment opportunities from its highly accessible location at the heart of the country. 
It provides high-quality goods and services from its powerful industrial base and levels 
of employment, wages and economic activity are high and rising.  

As part of this forward-looking economic activity, Sandwell has also continued to 
support investment in critical waste, energy and transport infrastructure that has 
resulted in a robust circular economy, where not only does less waste end up in 

Page 889



34 

 

Sandwell Local Plan Vision 2041 

landfill, but less waste is produced overall in Sandwell, more recycling takes place and 
cutting-edge waste-to-energy operations provide the fuel for local heating networks. 

Sandwell’s residents enjoy longer and healthier lives than in previous decades, thanks 
to the increase in accessible open spaces, the provision of services and facilities 
designed to promote active recreation and leisure, the improvement of and increased 
accessibility to healthcare infrastructure and the promotion of healthy lifestyle choices. 
They have access to well-performing schools, higher and further education provision at 
all levels and to continued opportunities for skills development and training. 

There is a wide range of housing available to Sandwell residents, aiming to help meet 
housing needs, designed to support green living and suitable for adaptation to benefit 
all sections of the community. Affordable, social and local authority-provided homes 
are available to those who need them. New developments are located within attractively 
landscaped areas, with access to district and low-cost energy and heating projects, 
sustainable drainage designed to improve the local environment as well as provide 
reliable protection against flooding and run-off and all necessary services and facilities 
within walking and cycling distance or a short bus ride away.  

Sandwell’s town centres thrive by day and by night, with an expanded range of retail, 
leisure and socialising opportunities as well as acting as the foci for new residential 
developments, community activities and social enterprises. They are safe, welcoming 
and accessible locations during both day and night, designed to encourage positive 
public interactions and minimise antisocial behaviour. 

Priorities and Objectives 

1.5 To assist in the delivery of the Vision, a set of priorities have been identified, which form the 

basis of individual policies contained in the SLP. These priorities directly address the key 

strategic challenges and opportunities that have arisen since the Core Strategy was adopted 

in 2011 and the SAD was produced. 

1.6 The Vision will be delivered by the achievement of the strategic objectives identified in Table 

3. 

Table 3 – Priorities, Strategic Objectives and Policies 

Page 890



35 

 

Priority Strategic Objective Policy 

Climate 
Change 

Objective 1: Ensure new development takes 

a proactive approach to climate change 

mitigation, adaptation and carbon reduction, 

and that development is resilient to climate 

change 

Policy SDS1, Policy SDS4, 
Policy SDS6, Policy SDS7 

Policy SNE1 - Policy SNE3 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SHW3 – SHW6 

Policy STR5, Policy STR6, 
Policy STR9, Policy STR10 

Policy SDM1, Policy SDM2 

Objective 2: Deliver sustainable development 

in locations where people can access jobs 

and services, delivering wider positive social 

and economic outcomes and protecting and 

enhancing local built and natural 

environments 

Policy SDS1 - Policy SDS7 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SHO1, Policy SHO3 

Policy SEC1 – Policy SEC6 

Policy SCE1 

Policy STR1 – STR10 

Policy SDM1 - Policy SDM10 

Enhancing 
our natural 
environment 

Objective 3: To protect and enhance 

Sandwell’s natural environment, natural 

resources, biodiversity, wildlife corridors 

geological resources, countryside and 

landscapes, whilst ensuring that residents 

have good access to interlinked green 

infrastructure 

Policy SDS6, Policy SDS7 

Policy SNE1 - Policy SNE6 

Policy SHW4 - Policy SHW6 

Policy SHO1 

Enhancing 
our historic 
environment 

Objective 4: To protect, sustain and enhance 

the quality of the historic built environment, 

ensuring the retention of distinctive and 

attractive places and beautiful buildings, 

including listed parks, scheduled monuments 

and their settings. 

Policy SDS4, Policy SDS5 

Policy SHE1 - Policy SHE4 

Policy SCC1 

Policy SHW4 

Page 891



36 

 

Priority Strategic Objective Policy 

Objective 5: To manage and maintain the 

wider historic environment across Sandwell, 

including parks and gardens, areas of 

industrial heritage value, sites of geological 

and archaeological interest and locally listed 

buildings, structures and historic assets. 

Policy SDS4, Policy SDS5 

Policy SNE6 

Policy SHE1 - Policy SHE4 

Policy SHW4 

Policy SDM1, Policy SDM2 

Housing that 
meets all our 
needs  

 

Objective 6: Address Sandwell’s identified 

and wide-ranging housing needs by 

supporting the provision of high-quality new 

homes, to include a wide mix of housing type 

and tenure, that:  

• are capable of being adapted to meet the 

future needs of occupiers;  

• provide sufficient internal and external 

space; and  

• promote and support climate change 

adaptation and mitigation through good 

design and in the materials and 

techniques used in their construction.  

Policy SDS1 - Policy SDS4 

Policy SNE1 - Policy SNE3 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SHO1 - Policy SHO10 

Policy SDM1, Policy SDM2 

Objective 7: Ensure communities in Sandwell 

are safe and resilient and social cohesion is 

promoted and enhanced 

Policy SDS4, Policy SDS5 

Policy SHW2 

Policy SHO4, Policy SHO5, 
Policy SHO7, Policy SHO8 

Enabling a 
strong, stable 
and inclusive 
economy  

 

Objective 8: Support regeneration, business 

investment and job creation to maintain and 

grow a prosperous and resilient local and 

regional economy in ways that consider 

environmental and climate change factors 

Policy SDS1, Policy SDS2, 
Policy SDS7 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SEC1 - Policy SEC6 

Policy STR4, Policy STR5, 
Policy STR6, Policy STR10 

Page 892



37 

 

Priority Strategic Objective Policy 

Policy SID1 - Policy SID3 

Objective 9: to enable communities to share 

the benefits of economic growth through 

securing access to new job opportunities and 

enhanced skills and training programmes. 

Policy SDS1 

Policy SHO9 

Policy SEC5 

Policy STR1, Policy STR5 

Improving 
the Health 
and 
Wellbeing of 
residents and 
promoting 
social 
inclusion 

Objective 10: To provide a built and natural 

environment that supports the making of 

healthier choices through provision for 

physical activity and recreation, active travel, 

encouraging social interaction and 

discouraging harmful behaviours. 

Policy SDS6, Policy SDS7 

Policy SNE6 

Policy SHW1 - Policy SHW6 

Policy STR5 

Policy SDM6 – Policy SDM9  

Objective 11: Ensure new development and 

open spaces support health and wellbeing for 

all, reduce health inequalities and encourage 

active and healthy lifestyles 

Policy SNE3, Policy SNE6 

Policy SCC3 

Policy SDS4, Policy SDS5 

Policy SHW3 - Policy SHW6 

Policy STR5 

Objective 12: To provide a built and natural 

environment that protects health and 

wellbeing through minimising pollution (air, 

noise and other forms), providing healthy 

homes, reducing the negative health effects of 

climate change and providing streets safe for 

active, low emission travel for all. 

Policy SDS1 - Policy SDS4, 
Policy SDS6 - Policy SDS7 

Policy SNE1 - Policy SNE6 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SHW3 

Policy SHO5 

Good Design Objective 13: Require new development to 

deliver a high standard of design reflecting 

local character and distinctiveness and that 

creates greener and safer places that people 

feel proud to live and work in. 

Policy SDS4 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SDM1 

Page 893



38 

 

Priority Strategic Objective Policy 

Brownfield 
First 

Objective 14: Encourage the effective and 

prudent use of previously developed land, 

including the efficient use of land and 

buildings and the use of sustainable and 

climate-aware construction techniques within 

new developments, as well as providing for 

waste management and disposal 

Policy SDS1 - Policy SDS4 

Policy SCC1 - Policy SCC6 

Policy SWA1 - Policy SWA5 

Policy SCO1 - Policy SCO3 

Enhancing 
the vitality of 
our centres  

Objective 15: Support Sandwell’s towns and 

local centres as places for economic, 

residential and cultural activity with good 

access to services, in ways that protect their 

heritage, character and identity 

Policy SDS4, Policy SDS5 

Policy SHE1 - Policy SHE3 

Policy SCE1 - Policy SCE7 

Town Centre Profiles 

Policy STR8 

Policy SID1 - Policy SID3 

Policy SDM1 - Policy SDM10 

Promoting 
sustainable 
transport and 
active travel  

Objective 16: To prioritise sustainable and 

active travel and seek to improve transport 

infrastructure to ensure efficient and 

sustainable accessibility within an integrated 

network 

Policy SDS3 

Policy SNE6 

Policy STR1 - Policy STR10 

Meeting our 
resource and 
infrastructure 
needs  

Objective 17: To manage waste as a 

resource and minimise the amount produced 

and sent to landfill, including ensuring that the 

reliance on primary minerals during 

construction and development are kept to a 

minimum and that greater use is made of 

recycled or alternative building materials 

Policy SWA1 - Policy SWA5 

Objective 18: Ensure development is 

supported by essential infrastructure and 

services and promotes safe movement and 

Policy SDS3, Policy SDS4 

Policy SNE6 

Page 894



39 

 

Priority Strategic Objective Policy 

more sustainable modes of travel through 

promoting greener travel networks for walking, 

cycling and public transport 

Policy STR5, Policy STR6 

Policy SID1 - Policy SID3 

Policy SDM10 

  

Ensuring delivery of the Vision, priorities and strategic objectives 

1.7 Primarily, the Vision, objectives and priorities set out above will be delivered via the 

application of the policies of this Plan. The monitoring section at the end of the plan identifies 

targets for key indicators that will need to be achieved if these policies are to be successful.   

Page 895



40 

 

2. Spatial Strategy 

Introduction 

2.1 The Sandwell Local Plan can help achieve sustainable development by ensuring that 

Sandwell benefits from the right development in the right place at the right time. This 

development will meet the needs of people living and working in the borough, while 

protecting and enhancing the environment and the unique character of the area. 

2.2 The Spatial Strategy as set out in policies and illustrated on the Policies Map provides the 

overarching basis for the SLP’s proposals for growth and infrastructure improvements. In 

determining the spatial strategy for the Sandwell Local Plan, Sandwell Council balanced 

sometimes-conflicting elements to ensure it produced a plan that is sound, realistic and 

sustainable.  

2.3 The final choice of spatial strategy for the SLP also took account of the following:  

a) known environmental and other planning constraints  

b) evidence base; 

c) plan vision and objectives; 

d) consultation feedback; 

e) ongoing engagement with key stakeholders, including adjoining local authorities; 

f) testing of options through:  

i. the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) process, which incorporates Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SEA); and  

ii. a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA); 

g) consideration of land availability, viability and existing / future infrastructure 

capacity; and 

h) other plans and strategies affecting Sandwell. 

2.4 In March 2020 Sandwell Council declared a Climate Emergency. Council Members agreed 

that greenhouse gas emissions needed to be reduced to a level compatible with keeping 

global warming below 1.5C above pre-industrial levels. To achieve that, the Council 

committed to becoming carbon neutral in its own activities by 2030 and to seeing Sandwell 

become a carbon neutral borough by 2041.  

2.5 The SLP addresses this through adopting a suite of policies designed to help Sandwell 

mitigate and adapt to the changing climate at a strategic level, in line with the Council's 

Page 896



41 

 

adopted Climate Change Strategy. Climate change will also be a cross-cutting theme for the 

SLP, and every opportunity will be taken to address appropriate mitigation and adaptation 

across all topic areas. 

2.6 There is still, despite the number of housing sites that have been identified and allocated, a 

shortfall in the numbers of houses that need to be built to meet identified needs. Housing 

need is calculated using the Government’s standard method based on household growth 

projections. 

• Sandwell needs to identify land for 29,773 homes by 2041. 

• The supply of suitable residential land based on the most recent evidence stands at 

11,167 homes.  

• There is an unmet need for 18,606 homes.  

• The SLP provides for around one third of the housing need on the land that is available.  

2.7 There is a finite supply of land readily available for development and it is very likely that there 

is no scope to meet Sandwell’s housing need within Sandwell itself. The Duty to Co-operate 

means that the Council is in communication with neighbouring authorities and is actively 

seeking their agreement to accommodate some of Sandwell’s unmet need through their own 

housing provision.  

2.8 Sandwell is a borough with high levels of poor health and deprivation and a lower-than-

average life expectancy. The people of Sandwell experience significant inequalities in health 

when compared to the rest of England. On average, they do not live for as long as people in 

other areas of England and spend more of their lives ill or disabled.  

2.9 The largest influences on physical and mental health are the social determinants of health, 

for example, education, employment, social networks, housing, access to blue and green 

spaces and active modes of travel.  Therefore, the SLP will look to support the right 

development in the right places so that these aspects can be positively impacted.  

2.10 Health and wellbeing is a cross-cutting theme that will be addressed throughout the Local 

Plan. The SLP will promote healthy living and create opportunities for active lifestyles and 

healthy transport choices including walking, cycling and outdoor recreation. Later stages of 

the plan will be accompanied by a Health Impact Assessment. 

2.11 In recent years patterns of shopping have changed radically and perhaps permanently in 

some cases, predominantly due to the rise in online shopping and the impacts of the 

COVID19 pandemic.  The role of centres is increasingly moving away from their traditional 

primary functions. While there will clearly remain demand for in-person shopping and retail-

Page 897



42 

 

related activities, centres will also need to provide additional draws / opportunities (such as 

for leisure, education, community uses and recreation) to offset the loss in shopping-related 

footfall and to help retain their vitality and viability.  

2.12 The Plan provides a flexible policy framework to allow centres to serve the future growth 

identified in Sandwell (particularly housing and employment) and to diversify. It also provides 

strict tests to defend centres against proposals that could undermine them, such as further 

out-of-centre developments. 

2.13 In terms of job numbers, the three main employment sectors in Sandwell are retail and 

wholesale, manufacturing and health and social care.  Sandwell plays a stronger or more 

disproportionate role within the wider economy than the national average in the areas of 

manufacturing, electricity, gas and air conditioning, water supply and waste management, 

transportation and storage and retail and wholesale.  

2.14 Employment land need is based on economic forecasts in the EDNA up to 2041.  

• Sandwell is subject to a demand for 185ha of employment land. 

• The supply of land available and suitable for employment use is 42ha (after completions 

between 2020 – 2022 are considered). This includes windfall supply, generated through 

intensification / recycling, and includes a vacant land supply of 29ha. 

• Based on the amount of land required to grow the economy, there is a shortfall of around 

143ha.  

• In addition, the plan allocates 1,177ha of occupied employment as strategic, local or 

other employment land. 

2.15 Therefore, ensuring that an adequate supply of employment land is maintained throughout 

the plan period will be essential in enabling long term balanced growth to be sustained. The 

key issues to be addressed in the SLP are as follows:  

• Allocate land for new development within Sandwell, to facilitate growth and diversification 

of the economy  

• Accommodate a variety of business needs including high technology manufacturing and 

logistics sectors.  

• Protect and enhance land and premises within existing employment areas where this 

provides for the needs of jobs and businesses.  

• Recognise that some sites will become unsuitable for continued employment uses and to 

facilitate their redevelopment to alternative uses.  

Page 898



43 

 

• Enable local communities to share the benefits of economic growth.  

2.16 New housing and economic development will put pressure on existing services and utilities 

but may also create opportunities to provide infrastructure solutions. The SLP will need to 

provide clear guidance on the provision of suitable and sufficient infrastructure to support the 

regeneration and growth of Sandwell. Much of this infrastructure will need to be provided 

before or alongside new development and will need to be subject to viability considerations 

to ensure it does not make the development financially undeliverable. 

2.17 Despite its industrial heritage and highly urban nature, Sandwell is home to several 

significant areas of green and open space, a network of wildlife corridors and sites with 

significant ecological and environmental value and several historic and architecturally 

significant buildings and locations.  

2.18 The key issues addressed in the SLP include:  

• Nature Conservation  

• Nature Recovery Network and Biodiversity Net Gain  

• Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and hedgerows  

• Historic Character and Local Distinctiveness of the Black Country  

• Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark  

• Canals  

• The protection and enhancement of designated and undesignated heritage assets  

• Rejecting poor design 

2.19 In view of the levels of both housing and employment land needs, it is becoming apparent 

that Sandwell will not be able to meet them either within the borough or across the plan 

period in full. To try to do so would result in significant and harmful levels of 

overdevelopment in the urban areas and the loss of open and green spaces across the 

district; even then, development needs would not be fully met.  

2.20 This degree of overdevelopment would inevitably have an adverse effect on the living 

environment, health and wellbeing of Sandwell’s residents, alongside the exacerbation of 

climate change impacts and the degradation of the natural and built environment, habitats 

and green and blue infrastructure. 

2.21 Sandwell has very little green belt (it falls mainly within Sandwell Valley) and very few vacant 

/ unused open spaces; the areas of undeveloped and open land it does contain are 

Page 899



44 

 

extremely important to the borough’s environment and the health and wellbeing of its 

population. 

2.22 During the preparation of the SLP, Sandwell Council identified and tested a series of options 

relating to the potential quanta and distribution of housing and employment growth. These 

were then subjected to an impartial assessment of their sustainability, which demonstrated 

that the social, environmental and economic implications of the options identified for the 

spatial strategy were interrelated and varied. 

2.23 Given the outcomes of the assessment, the Council then considered what the most 

appropriate direction of growth might be for Sandwell, in relation to both opportunities and 

constraints and given the fact that the borough would not be able to meet its housing and 

employment requirements in full even if significant areas of open land were further identified 

and allocated for development.  

2.24 The Council needed to strike a balance between maximising the realistic amount and 

capacity of development land available to it and working towards delivering the aims set out 

in the SLP Vision. The Vision pictures a borough that could deliver both economic and 

housing growth while improving the health and life chances of its residents, addressing the 

challenges of climate change and protecting and enhancing its natural and built environment. 

2.25 There was little scope to identify or allocate greenfield land for new housing or employment 

development without adversely affecting vulnerable land uses, and to do so would also run 

counter to the Council’s stated aims in relation to creating a healthy and active borough, 

maintaining and enhancing the natural and built environment and tackling the impacts of 

climate change. As a result, allocation of greenfield land has only been undertaken if that site 

was a strategic size and in a sustainable location and the loss of any open or green space 

could be fully mitigated, by being replaced by better quality green / blue infrastructure, open 

spaces and / or facilities.  

2.26 Intended land uses have also been considered, with proposals for housing and employment 

taking precedence over other forms of use or activities more suited to town centres or in 

previously developed areas. 

2.27 The original Black Country Core Strategy identified a number of sites in employment use as 

suitable for reallocation to help meet housing needs. This was undertaken on the basis that 

the Black Country’s employment base was understood to be reducing in size as the nature of 

economic activity in the area changed. However, the anticipated fall-off in the level of 

manufacturing and industrial activity did not occur, and it became apparent during the 

drafting of the Black Country Plan that there was not only the need to maintain a healthy 

supply of employment land but also an increasing demand for additional suitable and 

Page 900



45 

 

sizeable sites for such uses. As a result, the potential supply of brownfield sites suitable for 

conversion from employment to housing use has effectively been reduced, to maintain 

economic stability and allow for growth. 

2.28 The Council has undertaken an assessment of the various housing and employment options 

available to it for meeting local needs and promoting climate change mitigation, 

environmental protection and the delivery of renewed and healthy communities. As a result 

of these considerations, it has identified a strategic approach to development that combines 

the delivery of a realistic and meaningful amount of growth to meet local needs with a 

forward-looking and innovative environmental approach to development in Sandwell. This 

will deliver what it is referring to as the Balanced Green Growth option for the delivery of 

development in Sandwell.  

2.29 The balanced green growth approach will allow Sandwell to provide a significant quantum of 

housing and additional employment opportunities in the borough. At the same time, it 

promotes a bold strategy that supports the delivery of climate change adaptation and 

mitigation, environmental protection and enhancement, the conservation and enhancement 

of the historic environment and the delivery of green and blue infrastructure. This in turn will 

support the Council’s wider aims and objectives in improving the health (physical and 

mental), wellbeing and life chances of people in Sandwell. 

2.30 Balanced Green Growth will provide the quantum of development identified previously using 

the following approach, which is also included in Policy SDS1: 

Balanced Green Growth  

a. maximise climate change adaptation and mitigation through the creation, protection and 

improvement of parks, woodland and tree planting, open spaces, landscapes and 

habitats across the borough; 

b. protect areas of ecological value, valuable habitats and open spaces within and beyond 

urban areas;  

c. conserve the historic and archaeological environment and protect areas with geological 

and landscape value; 

d. create new public open spaces to serve new housing developments;  

e. promote the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building techniques, materials and 

technologies in all new development; 

f. deliver as much new development as possible on previously developed land and sites; 

Page 901



46 

 

g. allocate housing in locations with the highest levels of sustainable transport access to 

residential services (retail provision, schools, healthcare facilities, fresh food, 

employment etc.);  

h. regenerate existing housing and employment areas and help them deliver:  

i. cleaner, more energy-efficient and more intensive areas of growth; and 

ii. improvements to the environmental, climate change, accessibility and socio-

economic capacity of existing residential and employment areas 

i. allocate new employment land where sustainable access and good public transport links 

are available; 

j. take advantage of existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise 

development on new sites. 

2.31 The Balanced Green Growth approach forms the basis of the Sandwell Local Plan’s 

Development Strategy (Policy SDS1) and informs the aims and objectives of both the 

strategic and local policies in the rest of the plan. This spatial strategy is considered to offer 

a positive, deliverable and sustainable approach to meeting development needs for the plan 

period. It has been informed by Sustainability Appraisal and reflects local priorities and 

national policy, including the NPPF. 

2.32 The spatial strategy is crucial in shaping the pattern of growth that will occur over the plan 

period and has formed the basis for the allocation of strategic sites across Sandwell. It will 

also help to ensure that the planned housing and employment growth is supported by 

appropriate investment in the infrastructure needed to create sustainable communities.  

 

 

Page 902



47 

 

Figure 2 - Sandwell Spatial Map 

  

Page 903



48 

 

3. Development Strategy 

Development Strategy 

3.1 Policy SDS1 provides the overarching spatial strategy for Sandwell, setting out the scale and 

distribution of new development for the Plan period to 2041. 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 

1. To support the attainment of the Sandwell SLP Vision, drive sustainable and 
strategic economic and housing growth and meet local aspirations, Sandwell, 
working with local communities, partners and key stakeholders, will make sure that 
decisions on planning proposals: 

a. deliver at least 11,167 net new homes and create sustainable mixed 
communities including a range and choice of new homes supported by 
adequate infrastructure; 

b. provide at least 1,206ha of employment land (of which 29ha is currently 
vacant); 

c. ensure that sufficient physical, social, and environmental infrastructure is 
delivered to meet identified requirements; 

d. support improvements to the health and wellbeing of Sandwell’s communities 
by requiring new development to address the following:  

i. increased access to green spaces;  

ii. active and passive recreation;  

iii. active travel;  

iv. improved and accessible education and healthcare infrastructure;  

v. opportunities for people to make healthier choices.  

e. minimise and mitigate the likely effects of climate change, recognising the 
multifunctional benefits that open spaces, landscaping, trees, nature 
conservation habitats and both green and blue infrastructure can deliver in 
doing so; 

f. create new public open spaces to serve new housing developments;  

Page 904



49 

 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 

g. protect and improve parks, woodland and tree planting, open spaces, 
landscapes and habitats across the borough; 

h. protect the openness, integrity and function of Sandwell’s designated green 
belt by resisting inappropriate development in it; 

i. protect habitats and areas of ecological value;  

j. conserve the historic and archaeological environment and protect areas with 
geological and landscape value; 

k. promote the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building techniques, 
materials and technologies in all new development. 

2. The SLP seeks to ensure this growth is sustainable by requiring the following 
issues are addressed in planning proposals:  

a. delivering as much new development as possible on previously developed land 
and sites in the urban area; 

b. allocating housing in locations with the highest levels of sustainable transport 
access to residential services (retail provision, schools, healthcare facilities, 
fresh food, employment etc.);  

c. regenerating existing housing and employment areas and help them deliver:  

i. cleaner, more energy-efficient and more intensive areas of growth; and 

ii. improving the environmental, climate change, accessibility and socio-
economic capacity of existing residential and employment areas; 

d. allocating new employment land where sustainable access and good public 
transport links are available; 

e. taking advantage of existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise 
development on new sites; 

f. supporting and enhancing the sustainability of existing communities through 
the focussing of growth and regeneration into West Bromwich and other town 
centres and regeneration areas (Policy SDS2); 

Page 905



50 

 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 

g. protecting and enhancing the quality of existing towns and local areas and re-
balancing the housing stock by delivering homes supported by jobs and local 
services. 

3. Appendices B and C show how the housing and employment land ambitions for 
Sandwell will be met. Those development needs that cannot be accommodated 
within the borough will be exported to sustainable locations in neighbouring local 
authority areas, following consultation. 

Justification 

3.2 The economy and population of Sandwell are both growing. The Council needs to plan for 

economic recovery and growth and enhanced business productivity. It has also identified 

land for at least 11,167 new homes within the plan period. To accommodate this future 

growth, sites and locations that are both sustainable and deliverable have been identified for 

development, at a level that does not breach the environmental capacity of the area.  

3.3 The Development Strategy is based on various considerations, including: 

a. the plan’s Vision, objectives and priorities; 

b. environmental constraints;  

c. the availability and viability of land for development; 

d. national planning policy. 

3.4 The Development Strategy has been arrived at through a comprehensive assessment of a 

range of alternative options. The Sustainability Appraisal shows that this Option will enable 

Sandwell to meet most of its growth needs in a broad development and delivery focussed 

manner that takes full account of the environment, climate change, accessibility and social 

requirements. By promoting the right type and amount of development in the most 

sustainable locations, the Strategy therefore plays a crucial role in delivering an inclusive 

Sandwell that supports communities to achieve their goals. 

3.5 The areas identified for major inward investment and funding are the primary foci for co-

ordinated and sustained renewal and infrastructure development, to support the delivery of 

significant growth and promote wider benefits to local communities. This plan sets out 

deliverable development targets for each centre, based on up-to-date evidence. 

Page 906



51 

 

3.6 The borough’s main strategic centre, West Bromwich, is already served by an extensive 

transport system and therefore provides a suitable location for economic and housing 

growth, although improvements are required to enhance connectivity, accessibility and 

environmental quality.   

3.7 Strong links will be created between the strategic town centre, the areas identified for 

regeneration and existing town and local centres and communities, through high-quality 

design, green infrastructure and transport investment, to help spread regeneration benefits, 

improve community cohesion and create an effective network.  

3.8 The Council is aiming to utilise land efficiently by using previously developed and surplus 

land and vacant properties where possible, and maximising housing densities where 

appropriate, but there is still a shortage of deliverable sites to meet housing and economic 

growth needs.  

3.9 Sandwell has identified and made effective and extensive use of brownfield and urban sites 

and has also undertaken density uplifts in relation to both existing and new allocations. Sites 

have been assessed in terms of their accessibility by all modes of transport. There is a need 

to provide for the continued managed growth of Sandwell, to enable it to provide capacity for 

economic prosperity while recognising and protecting the most sensitive environmental 

resources and ensuring that proposed development does not adversely affect certain areas 

unduly.  

3.10 The overall effect of Sandwell’s strategy is to direct housing growth and employment land 

development to the existing built-up area and onto brownfield sites wherever possible.  

3.11 The spatial strategy also seeks to protect other green spaces within Sandwell, including 

parks, open spaces and land with value for nature conservation and ecology. All these areas 

provide valuable open areas for recreation and ecology and contribute to a network of 

spaces across the wider Black Country that allows access to the surrounding countryside, 

including for wildlife.  

Duty to Co-operate 

3.12 This Plan will look for housing and employment land needs to be met within Sandwell in the 

first instance. However, the capacity of the borough is finite; it is not possible to provide for 

all the identified housing and employment land needs within its administrative boundaries, 

given the circumstances around land deliverability, extant land-use constraints and the need 

to protect its unique natural and built heritage.  

Page 907



52 

 

3.13 This Plan aims to allocate sites for 11,167 new homes in Sandwell over the period 2022-41, 

compared to a local housing need of 29,773 (2022 – 2041) homes; this identifies a shortfall 

of 18,606 homes. 

3.14 For employment land, the EDNA establishes a need for 185ha of vacant land for new 

employment development, an anticipated level of allocations of 1,206ha of employment land 

(of which 29ha is currently vacant) and a shortfall of 143ha (accounting for additional 

completions identified between 2020 and 2022). 

3.15 Current national planning policy requires this unmet housing and employment land need to 

be provided for across the Housing Market Area, Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) 

and other areas with which Sandwell has a physical or functional relationship. 

3.16 Sandwell has worked openly and constructively with neighbouring authorities to help provide 

as much certainty as possible about how and where its full housing and employment land 

needs will be delivered. The current position is set out in the Draft Plan Statement of 

Consultation and will be elaborated on in more detail at Publication stage. 

3.17 Sandwell recognises that this approach may only address a small proportion of the housing 

and employment shortfall, as it is beyond the legal powers of the Council to establish the 

limits of sustainable development in neighbouring authorities. If a shortfall remains over and 

above existing and anticipated contributions, Sandwell will undertake further work as 

appropriate to identify how the shortfall can be addressed. 

3.18 Notwithstanding this, Sandwell is committed to ongoing engagement with its neighbours to 

secure the most appropriate and sustainable locations for housing and employment growth 

to meet local needs. In terms of housing, the engagement will extend beyond the adoption of 

this plan and will build on the partnership approach developed across the Greater 

Birmingham and Black Country Housing Market Area. 

3.19 Where it is shown to be desirable, appropriate, sustainable and deliverable Sandwell will 

support its neighbours in bringing forward land for employment and housing that sits 

adjacent to existing administrative boundaries and will work in partnership to ensure 

infrastructure needs are met in full across administrative boundaries. 

Page 908



53 

 

Regeneration Areas 

3.20 Sandwell is committed to the regeneration of its towns and employment areas and has 

adopted a Regeneration Strategy26 that sets out exactly how this will be achieved. The 

strategy contains a vision for this process, set out below: 

Our vision is to create a wealthier Sandwell, regenerating our place and using the limited 
amount of new land available to create 

• an inviting place to live, with thriving communities and energy efficient housing in well 
planned neighbourhoods; 

• high quality employment space for decent jobs; 

• a convenient and reliable public transport and active travel network, which people 
prefer to private cars; 

• exciting, busy, and green centres where people meet throughout the day, with a 
thriving cultural and night-time economy. 

Taken from SANDWELL REGENERATION STRATEGY March 2022-2027 

3.21 Policy SDS2 sets out the strategic approach for Sandwell’s economic and regenerative 

growth. More detailed policy guidance on the role of West Bromwich and its importance to 

Sandwell’s economic, social and regeneration activities can be found in Chapter 10 of the 

SLP. 

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 

1. The Regeneration Areas identified on the Policies Map and the strategic centre of 
West Bromwich will be the focus for new development, regeneration, and public 
and private investment in the borough.  

2. Proposals will be subject to relevant development plan policies and the form and 
location of regeneration will be guided by masterplans and /or design briefs, which 
will be prepared by the Council in partnership with developers, promoters and other 
stakeholders.  

West Bromwich 

                                                

26 https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Regeneration-Strategy-Updated.pdf  

Page 909

https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Regeneration-Strategy-Updated.pdf


54 

 

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 

a. West Bromwich is a major destination for residents and visitors and will benefit 
from a step change in the quality of its public realm, including new green links, 
squares and parks. 

b. Residential and employment growth will be sought at a transformational level to 
help create a vibrant and sustainable town centre with a diverse range of uses, 
including commercial, educational, cultural, recreational, leisure and community 
facilities.  

c. Sustainable and active travel modes will be the default choice for accessing and 
moving within the town.  

Carter’s Green 

d. Carter’s Green will accommodate new residential development on under-used 
land. The scale of growth will be complementary and subordinate to the 
transformation of West Bromwich. 

Dudley Port 

e. The regeneration of Dudley Port will include employment development and the 
construction of new residential communities developed along Garden City 
principles.  

f. A new public transport hub will be developed around the interchange of the 
Midland Metro Extension and Dudley Port railway station.  

Smethwick 

g. The historic Smethwick to Birmingham canal corridor will accommodate new 
green neighbourhoods on re-purposed employment land and accessible active 
travel routes. 

h. Regeneration at Grove Lane will be focussed on the new Midland Metropolitan 
Hospital, and will include the development of new homes, employment, and 
education facilities.  

i. Industrial land at Rolfe Street will be regenerated to create a well-designed 
residential community that respects the heritage of the area and its canal-side 
setting. 

Wednesbury to Tipton Metro Corridor 

Page 910



55 

 

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 

j. Proposals for the regeneration of industrial land along the corridor of the Midland 
Metro Extension will be supported, including new employment development on 
vacant and underdeveloped land.  

k. Retail, residential, and mixed-use development will be encouraged in Wednesbury 
Town Centre, Great Bridge Town Centre and Owen Street District Centre in line 
with their position within the hierarchy of centres and the requirements of the 
relevant policies in the Centres chapter of the SLP. 

Development within Regeneration Areas 

3. Excluding West Bromwich (Policy SWB2) the regeneration areas will provide: 

a. the principal locations for strategic employment areas;  

b. high-quality employment areas to support the long-term success of Sandwell’s 
economy (Policy SEC2); 

c. the main clusters of local employment land providing for local jobs (Policies 
SEC3 and SEC4); 

d. the principal locations for new industrial and logistics development - providing 
at least 600ha of developable employment land to meet growth needs;  

e. a minimum of 2,581 new homes (discounted) of mixed type and tenure in 
sustainable locations well-supported by community services and local shops, 
set within and linked by comprehensive networks of green infrastructure with 
cycling and pedestrian routes; 

f. investment in existing, new, and improved transportation infrastructure with a 
focus on public transport routes and hubs, to maximise their use by residents, 
workers and visitors; 

g. strong links with surrounding communities and the wider network of centres; 
and 

h. enhanced green infrastructure, including enhancements to nature conservation 
sites and wildlife habitats, new and improved green spaces, and new urban 
greening features (Policy SDS7). 

Page 911



56 

 

Justification 

3.22 The re-energising and repurposing of West Bromwich is of fundamental importance to the 

regeneration of Sandwell and the wider Black Country. It is one of the main drivers of the 

Black Country’s economy and supports one of the main hubs of the sub-regional transport 

network. It is a sustainable location and is well-placed to provide the community with easy 

access to comparison shopping, leisure, entertainment and cultural facilities and office-

based employment. 

3.23 Regarding the rest of Sandwell, much of the growth and proposed regeneration taking place 

up to 2041 will be concentrated around the transportation network (including in West 

Bromwich and locations within regeneration areas), providing an opportunity to enhance both 

sustainability and viability. Promoting the distinctive strengths and unique opportunities 

provided by West Bromwich will also help to encourage investment.  

3.24 The regeneration areas broadly reflect the distribution of employment land across Sandwell 

and will accommodate most of its manufacturing and logistics businesses and jobs. The 

backbone of this network is a system of sustainable transport routes (including rail, metro, 

bus and for walking and cycling) and the extensive canal system. The key characteristics of 

the regeneration areas are as follows: 

a)  they are recognised as priority locations for existing or programmed multi-agency 

public sector intervention; 

b)  they contain existing or programmed multi-modal transport infrastructure; 

c)  they include clusters of housing / employment development opportunities providing at 

least 2,581 homes (discounted, these sites are already included in the supply 

detailed in Policy SHO1) and 600 ha of strategic and local employment areas.   

3.25 The regeneration areas represent an update of the network of Regeneration Corridors 

identified in the 2011 Core Strategy. These Regeneration Corridors served the Black 

Country by providing a clear focus for concerted intervention and growth. The SLP has taken 

the opportunity to review the Regeneration Corridors in the light of more up-to-date 

information on the deliverability of previously allocated development opportunities, changing 

infrastructure priorities and reflecting where planned investment and growth has already 

taken place.  

3.26 The strategy for the regeneration areas reflects two key issues arising from the evidence 

base – firstly, the need to provide for economic growth through the protection and 

enhancement of sustainable employment land and premises; and secondly, delivering 

Page 912



57 

 

housing growth through the release of poor quality and underused land to support the 

ongoing regeneration of Sandwell.  

3.27 Achieving the right balance of jobs and housing by 2041 is a key aim of the SLP. Sandwell’s 

annual Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), the Black Country 

Economic Development Needs Assessment (EDNA) and the Black Country Employment 

Area Review (BEAR) all provide key evidence on demand and supply of employment land to 

2041 and this work has directly informed the employment land and housing allocations in this 

Plan.   

Regeneration Areas 

Figure 3 - Regeneration Areas in Sandwell 

 

3.28 The following sections set out in more detail the areas identified in the policy and should be 

read in conjunction with the relevant sections in the Centres chapter and Chapter 10 (West 

Bromwich). 

WEST BROMWICH AND CARTERS GREEN 

3.29 West Bromwich is the strategic centre of Sandwell and as such is the focus for major 

investment opportunities for retail, commercial, leisure and educational uses.  

 

Wednesbury 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dudley Port and Tipton 

West Bromwich and Carter's Green 
 
 
 
 
 

Smethwick 

Regeneration 
Areas in 
Sandwell 

Page 913



58 

 

3.30 Carters Green lies to the northwest of the central core and acts very much as a separate 

retail centre. Apart from Lidl supermarket centrally located within Carters Green, the shops 

are predominantly independents providing a wide range of goods, especially European and 

world foods. To the rear of the main high street units lie varied uses including residential 

areas, places of worship and commercial operations. 

3.31 The Carters Green Development Framework27 sets out an overarching vision for the 

opportunities that will help in the transformational change in this area, which allows the 

centre to continue to operate independently of West Bromwich Town Centre, but which 

allows a natural link to the town, picking up the aspirations and vision from the West 

Bromwich Masterplan. The Development Framework identifies key priority opportunity sites 

that will be the subject of future funding bids, investing in the development for new residential 

units on currently underused sites. The Framework and individual site details focus on 

providing good quality new homes with new public realm, urban greening and improved 

linkages through the area. 

DUDLEY PORT AND TIPTON 

3.32 Dudley Port and Tipton Regeneration Area comprises a mix of both residential and 

employment uses, dissected by the Birmingham Canal and Rail line. The area contains 

several areas of greenspace, including the extensive Sheepwash Nature Reserve and 

Victoria Park. Access to and through the area is provided by both the canal and rail links, 

with Tipton and Dudley Port Railway Stations lying within the area. The canal also links this 

whole area with the green spaces, through to Tipton Town Centre and Dudley. In 2023 

following a bid to the Levelling Up Fund, Tipton was awarded £20m capital funding from the 

Government to regenerate sites within the town centre.  

3.33 Recent years have seen very little investment and development within the area. There have 

been very few residential sites brought forward and investment in industrial development has 

been limited. Owen Street District Centre, often referred to as Tipton Town Centre, has seen 

a steady decline in the take up of units, resulting in vacancies and underutilised sites. The 

funding bid aimed to address several underutilised and poor quality residential and 

commercial premises and, through acquisition of the freehold and construction of new 

residential and commercial units, help to deliver new high quality residential and commercial 

premises to support redevelopment of the town centre. 

                                                

27 See Appendix D 

Page 914



59 

 

3.34 The funding is intended to be the catalyst for wider investment opportunities within this 

regeneration corridor. Further employment development should be directed towards 

Coneygre and Vaughan Trading Estate. Whilst these sites were identified for residential 

development in the last Local Plan, this has not occurred. Both sites have instead delivered 

further employment development, indicating a need for further investment in this sector. 

Residential development is anticipated at Rattlechain, south of Sheepwash Nature Reserve. 

This would see the remediation of a long-standing problematic and heavily contaminated 

site, with it brought back into more efficient use and being able to assist in meeting the 

shortfall in housing numbers. The vision for the Dudley Port area is directed by a Garden 

City approach and principles, working with the area’s existing attributes, namely the green 

space, canals and linkages. 

3.35 The construction of the Midland Metro extension from Wednesbury to Brierley Hill will 

improve accessibility, providing sustainable modes of transport and link Sandwell to Dudley 

for those at work or visiting for leisure or recreation. Whilst much of the investment will be 

focussed on Dudley once completed, there may be opportunities along the Sandwell link for 

investment and regeneration at a smaller scale. There is an opportunity for a link to HS2 with 

the construction of the Interchange at Dudley Port railway station. 

3.36 Further opportunities exist to build upon the existing infrastructure, making the canals and 

greenspace a destination, linking to wider attractions such as the Dudley Canal Trust, Black 

Country Museum and Dudley Zoo, and joining up with Tipton High Street.  

SMETHWICK 

3.37 The Smethwick corridor encompasses a wide range of uses including residential, 

employment, education, health, retail and commercial. Lying to the southeast of the borough, 

the area has historic links to the industrial revolution with the Soho Foundry near Black Patch 

and contains several heritage structures, listed buildings and conservation areas throughout 

the corridor. Its proximity to Birmingham has resulted in close cross-boundary working with 

Birmingham City Council and other partners, culminating in the Smethwick to Birmingham 

Corridor Framework. The Framework sets out a vision and principles for bringing forward 

development on opportunity sites within the area, focussing on the delivery of good quality 

housing, linked to quality open spaces and the canal, and setting out a joined-up transport 

strategy that will contribute to the formation of a healthy and sustainable community. 

3.38 The area has seen investment in recent years with new housing at Windmill Eye and 

Brindley 2, and the construction of the Midland Metropolitan University Hospital at Grove 

Lane that will serve Sandwell and West Birmingham. Funding has recently been granted 

from the Towns Fund to bring forward residential development at Grove Lane and Rolfe 

Page 915



60 

 

Street; both areas have been the subject of recently approved Masterplans to help guide 

development. Further funding will deliver improved walking and cycling routes linking 

Smethwick Galton Bridge to the new hospital and further afield into Birmingham City Centre 

and other areas of Sandwell. 

3.39 However, due to the extensive size of the area and its fragmented ownerships, 

comprehensive development has not been forthcoming overall. The Towns Fund grants will 

act as a catalyst to attract further funding and private sector interest for regeneration on 

many of the vacant and underutilised sites across the corridor. The area surrounding the 

hospital is earmarked for housing, providing canalside living and has easy access to public 

transport routes. New social infrastructure will also feature within this area, to help meet the 

needs of the new residents. Grove Lane and Rolfe Street will receive most of the investment 

for new housing. 

3.40 Opportunities exist to invest in the historic Soho Foundry and surrounding area, creating a 

mixed-use facility that will attract visitors and revitalise this part of the borough. The area has 

also been identified as a location for waste operators, which could detract from its amenity; 

the challenge will be to improve the negative environmental impacts that generally 

accompany these operations. 

3.41 Investment in employment should be concentrated to the north of this Regeneration Corridor, 

around Middlemore Lane and Popes Lane, and to the west near Dartmouth Road, with its 

prime links to Junction 1 of the M5. Smethwick High Street will remain as the focus for retail, 

commercial, cultural and health facilities. 

WEDNESBURY 

3.42 This regeneration area focuses on Wednesbury Town Centre, moving south towards the 

industrial area of Hill Top and encompassing the area submitted to Government as 

Sandwell’s Levelling Up Zone. Wednesbury is a traditional market town and like many other 

similar places, has suffered a decline in the take-up of units in recent years. Investment has 

recently been secured as part of the High Streets Heritage Action Zone fund, with an 

injection of £3.6m to reintroduce a relocated marketplace in the centre of the town, new 

public realm works and shopfront improvements within the Conservation Area. However 

there remain several empty units and vacant sites available for redevelopment but there has 

been little developer interest. 

3.43 Hill Top is identified as a focus for employment uses. Existing investment in the nearby 

Midland Metro extension from Wednesbury to Brierley Hill would make this area attractive for 

further investment due to the high demand for high quality employment land. However, 

Page 916



61 

 

access remains problematic due to the area’s existing infrastructure and would require 

significant funds to overcome. 

3.44 Further south, the regeneration area encompasses land around Great Bridge town centre. 

Promotion of this area for mixed uses including the introduction of more residential 

development would inject additional vitality into the town, assist in delivering new homes to 

meet housing targets and repurpose underutilised land for more efficient uses. 

Table 4 - Summary of regeneration projects 

Regeneration 
Area 

Project Proposed 
delivery date 

West Bromwich Urban Greening  

Retail Diversification Programme 

West Bromwich mixed-use community 

2024 

2025 

2034 

Carter’s Green Carter’s Green residential community 2034 

Dudley Port Dudley Port Integrated Transport Hub 

Dudley Port Garden City 

2025 

2034 

Smethwick Construction of Midland Metropolitan University Hospital 

and associated University Learning Campus 

2025 

Smethwick to Birmingham Inclusive Growth Corridor  2027 

Rolfe Street Canalside Regeneration 2029 

Grove Lane Regeneration 2029 

Wednesbury to 
Tipton Metro 
Corridor 

Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro Extension 

Wednesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone 

Tipton Town Centre Regeneration (Owen Street District 

Centre) 

2024 

2025 

2026 

Towns and Local Areas  

3.45 Policy SDS3 sets out the strategic approach for Sandwell’s other towns and local areas. 

Page 917



62 

 

Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas  

1. Towns and local communities outside West Bromwich and the regeneration areas 
identified in Figure 3 will provide: 

a. 503 new homes delivered through: 

i. the allocation of previously identified housing sites or ones submitted as 
part of a Call for Sites exercise; 

ii. the repurposing of a small number of brownfield employment sites and 
other previously developed and surplus land for new housing;  

iii. small-scale residential development opportunities in highly sustainable 
locations; 

iv. housing renewal areas; 

v. estimating the capacity of vacant retail floorspace; 

b. Clusters of local employment land that provide land and premises to meet 
localised business needs.  

c. Approximately 606ha of additional employment land to meet employment 
needs; 

d. An integrated and (where possible) continuous network of green infrastructure 
and walking and cycling routes, as well as a network of centres, health, leisure, 
sports, recreation and community facilities; and 

e. Improved access and infrastructure links between regeneration projects, local 
areas and West Bromwich, to allow related positive outcomes to be integrated 
into existing and newer communities. 

Justification 

3.46 Sandwell is made up of several towns and smaller local communities and is a highly 

urbanised area. It also contains various existing Local Employment Areas. 

3.47 A key spatial priority of the SLP is to support the delivery of new housing development. A 

significant amount of new housing will be accommodated in existing town centres and their 

surrounding areas.  

3.48 These locations are intended to be places of choice for living, supported by sustainable 

access to job opportunities and a range of other services and facilities to meet the day to day 

Page 918



63 

 

needs of residents. They will provide housing choice for people, regardless of age and 

income, to help underpin the areas’ economic competitiveness and support the working 

population.  

3.49 Given that new development will generate the need for new infrastructure it is important that 

these uses are planned together, regardless of ownership. Sandwell Council has produced 

an Infrastructure Delivery Plan that sets out requirements for specific sites and wider areas.  

3.50 In some cases, especially on larger sites or where several smaller sites are in proximity to 

each other, phasing plans will be required that set out the triggers for the provision of 

required infrastructure (including green and blue infrastructure) and legal agreements will 

need to be put in place to deliver that infrastructure.  

3.51 Where appropriate, masterplans may be prepared through a collaborative process involving 

the landowner / developer(s) and the Council, together with other interested parties such as 

statutory bodies and relevant stakeholders.  

Housing renewal 

3.52 An essential requirement of any strong and stable community is for residents to have access 

to decent and secure homes. In the past, significant housing market renewal and 

regeneration programmes have taken place across Sandwell, to address poor quality 

housing and living environments.  

3.53 These interventions have been successful, and there are now a limited number of areas 

where housing market intervention activity is likely to be targeted over the plan period.  

3.54 Housing renewal also provides opportunities to upgrade housing stock to meet carbon 

reduction and climate change mitigation and adaptation requirements. This is also 

addressed in the climate change section of the SLP. 

Placemaking – achieving well-designed places 

3.55 The environmental and physical transformation of Sandwell is one of the fundamental 

principles of its regeneration agenda. Placemaking and high-quality urban design are key 

mechanisms through which this transformation will be achieved, and they will also help to 

mitigate and adapt to climate change and promote low / zero carbon growth. 

3.56 Sandwell’s ongoing transformation will be supported by the development of places and 

buildings providing a range of functions, tenures, facilities, and services, intended to support 

the needs of its diverse local communities. The design of spaces and buildings will be 

influenced by their context; development should enhance the unique attributes of Sandwell’s 

Page 919



64 

 

character and heritage whilst responding to locally identified community needs, changes in 

society and cultural diversity.  

3.57 The Council’s current Residential Design Guide identifies Sandwell as urban or suburban in 

nature, although some areas around Sandwell Valley and the Green Belt edges would be 

considered more rural in character. This means that in general, Sandwell is characterised by 

semi-detached and terraced housing, changing to higher density flatted development in town 

centres. 

Policy SDS4 - Achieving Well-designed Places 

1. Building designs will be sought that are appropriate to Sandwell and should be of a 
size, scale and type to integrate into their neighbourhood.  

2. All development will be required to demonstrate a clear understanding of the local 
and wider context, character, heritage and local distinctiveness of its location and 
show how proposals make a positive contribution to place-making and 
environmental improvement.  

3. The setting and significance of heritage assets should be conserved and enhanced 
where it exists and is likely to be impacted by new development (Policy SHE2). 

4. Development proposals should employ innovative design and sustainable 
technologies in their schemes to help climate change mitigation and adaptation and 
the Council will support schemes and projects adopting a climate-sensitive 
approach (Policies SCC1 – SCC6). 

5. To facilitate permeability and accessibility, transport proposals of a high design 
quality and utility will be sought. These should: 

a. include connections to and between transport hubs;  

b. promote active travel; 

c. ensure that transport and travel infrastructure make a positive contribution to 
place-making; and 

d. increase connectivity for all modes of travel. 

6. Development should contribute positively to creating high quality, active, safe and 
accessible places. Design approaches that will help contribute to healthier 
communities and reduce health inequalities should be incorporated in 
developments. 

Page 920



65 

 

Policy SDS4 - Achieving Well-designed Places 

7. To support the development of safe neighbourhoods, ensure quality of life and 
community cohesion are not undermined and minimise the fear of crime, the design 
of new development should create secure and accessible environments where 
opportunities for crime and disorder are reduced or designed out.  

8. An integrated and well-connected multifunctional open space network will be 
pursued throughout Sandwell (linking to opportunities in the wider Black Country 
where possible), including through the design and layout of new developments.  

9. A Design Code will be produced for Sandwell, reflecting local character and design 
preferences and providing a framework for creating high-quality places. 

Justification 

3.58 The importance of high-quality design in creating places where people want to live, work and 

invest with renewed confidence is a fundamental aspect of both national and local policy. 

Designing high-quality places will result in environmental, economic and social benefits, 

including community safety, health and well-being, inclusive communities, better public 

services, environmental sustainability, climate resilience, greater financial value of buildings 

and lower levels of unemployment.  

3.59 The aim of the SLP is to create the best conditions for economic and social growth, which 

will take place within a safe, attractive and accessible built and natural environment. The 

SLP also encourages and supports the growth of locations that encourage participation and 

community engagement. Successful placemaking in Sandwell will foster community stability 

and incorporate elements that create resilience to adverse economic and environmental 

impacts and will result in a place that residents can be proud of.  

3.60 The use of efficient building design, the choice of low- and zero-carbon materials, and 

intelligent site layout and building orientation can all help to reduce reliance on carbon-based 

products, energy and non-renewable resources. The Government has published national 

design guidance28 that states planning permission should be refused for poorly designed 

development, especially where it fails to reflect local policies and government guidance on 

                                                

28  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide  and 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code 

Page 921

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code


66 

 

design. National guidance emphasises that good design and beautiful places should be at 

the centre of plan-making and decision-making. 

3.61 Sandwell enjoys a unique heritage, reflected in its urban structure, which requires a sensitive 

approach to place-making and an insistence on a high quality of design for proposals that 

affect the historic environment. Designs should ensure that the significance of local heritage 

is recognised and reflected in designs and that new development retains and protects that 

significance to the greatest extent possible. 

3.62 Designs and layouts that create and support a higher quality of life in Sandwell will depend 

on many factors; good design will play an increasingly important role in attracting private 

sector investment and skilled workers and the success of this will be defined by its 

outcomes:  

• The creation of streets and spaces with their own distinct character that provide the 

framework for a coherent and interconnected network of places, supporting social 

interaction and a sense of personal wellbeing, and displaying a clear hierarchy of 

private, commercial and civic functions.  

• A permeable street network that encourages freedom of movement and a choice of 

sustainable means of transport, including support for the provision and extension of 

walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure. 

• A local hierarchy of centres providing a focus for essential local services and activities 

with easy access to residential areas.  

• Towns and centres that encourage commercial activity, promote prosperity and 

support the well-being of the area’s inhabitants.  

• An appropriate intensity of human activity in centres and elsewhere, the creation of 

natural surveillance and defensible spaces, active frontages and the provision of well-

located and accessible infrastructure. 

• Properly designed and well-located open spaces that help mitigate flood risk, provide 

space for wildlife, support biodiversity in the urban area and encourage informal 

recreation for local people as well as help create a high-quality living environment. 

3.63 The importance of high-quality design and place-making is central to the ambitions of other 

stakeholders in the region. The West Midlands Design Charter, launched by WMCA in 2020, 

confirms the West Midlands as a place to drive design innovation and creativity. The Charter 

aims to secure high-quality design in housing, civic architecture, urban spaces, parks and 

transport infrastructure. 

Page 922



67 

 

Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 

3.64 The Vision for Sandwell involves the delivery of transformational change whilst respecting 

and promoting the borough’s culture and heritage. The protection, promotion and expansion 

of existing cultural facilities, visitor attractions and associated activities will ensure their role 

as key economic drivers stimulating and regenerating the local economy is supported and 

will be enhanced as often as possible.  

3.65 As well as contributing directly to the local economy, the visitor economy promotes health 

and wellbeing as well as generating additional demand and growth in supporting services 

and facilities, which will also benefit residents and businesses. 

Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 

Development proposals 

1. Cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within Sandwell will, wherever possible, be 
protected, enhanced and expanded (where appropriate) in partnership with key 
delivery partners and stakeholders.  

2. Proposals for new development or uses that contribute to the attractiveness of 
Sandwell as a visitor destination (including for business tourism) will be supported 
in principle, subject to national guidance and the policy requirements set out 
elsewhere in this Plan. 

3. Proposals for new cultural, tourist or leisure facilities or uses, or extensions to 
existing ones, should:  

a. be of a high-quality design;  

b. be highly accessible and sustainable, being located within centres wherever 
possible;  

c. not adversely impact on residential amenity or the operation of existing 
businesses; and 

d. be designed to be flexible, adaptable, and where possible be capable of 
alternative or community use. 

Page 923



68 

 

Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 

4. Well-designed and accessible ancillary facilities in appropriate locations will be 
supported. Additional facilities within centres that support the visitor economy and 
business tourism sectors29 will be encouraged and promoted.  

5. An assessment should be undertaken (as part of the design of new developments 
likely to attract large numbers of people) to demonstrate and document how 
potential security and crime-related vulnerabilities have been identified, assessed 
and where necessary, addressed in a manner that is appropriate and proportionate. 

6. Development that would lead to the loss of an existing cultural / tourism facility in 
Sandwell will be resisted unless:  

a. the intention is to replace it with a facility that will provide an improved 
cultural or tourist offer;  

b. it can be demonstrated that there would be significant benefits to the local and 
wider community in removing the use and / or redeveloping the site; or 

c. An appropriate contribution is made to support and sustain an alternative 
local cultural, tourist or leisure facility. 

The Visitor Economy  

7. The improvement and further development of visitor attractions will be supported 
where appropriate, to ensure that accessibility is maximised and to continue to 
raise the quality of the visitor experience throughout Sandwell. This can be 
achieved by:  

a. enhancing / extending current attractions;  

b. providing inclusive access, particularly within town centres;  

c. enhancing the visitor experience; and  

d. delivering necessary infrastructure.  

8. Links should be made to town centres and those parts of Sandwell and beyond that 
are well-connected by public transport, considering the needs of business as well 

                                                

29  This will include the provision of hotels and other accommodation with strong links to key destinations and associated 
facilities. 

Page 924



69 

 

Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 

as leisure visitors, to encourage more sustainable local use of cultural and tourist 
attractions. 

9. The canal network is also a significant visitor attraction within the Black Country, 
providing waterway links to Birmingham, Staffordshire, Worcestershire and beyond. 
Facilities adjoining and serving the canal network should be maintained and 
expanded to help provide a network of linked amenities and visitor hubs.  

10. Physical and promotional links to visitor attractions close to Sandwell will be 
enhanced and encouraged, particularly in relation to Birmingham as a global city 
and a business economy destination.  

11. Proposals for heritage-related tourism will be supported where they provide 
positive and sustainable opportunities for social, educational and / or economic 
activity; heritage assets forming part of a tourist attraction will be protected from 
development or new or intensified activities that would adversely impact on their 
significance and setting (Policy SHE2). 

Cultural facilities and events  

12. Libraries across Sandwell together act as one of the borough’s main locations for 
the delivery of cultural events and activities (e.g., music, theatre, dance, poetry, 
literature). Their role as community venues should be maintained and supported as 
part of the wider cultural offer of the borough. 

13. To ensure Sandwell can provide opportunities for growth in cultural activities and 
participation in them, the retention and protection of venues providing performance 
spaces, recording facilities and practice amenities will be sought. The provision of 
new venues and facilities in sustainable and accessible locations will also be 
welcomed and supported, particularly within town centres.  

14. In cases where new development could potentially prejudice the successful 
ongoing operation of an adjacent cultural / performance venue, the agents of 
change principle will be applied30. 

                                                

30  Paragraph 187 of the NPPF (2023) states that both planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (e.g., places of worship, 
pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Unreasonable restrictions should not be placed on existing businesses because 
of development permitted after they were established. 

Page 925



70 

 

Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 

15. The promotion and protection of attractions and events that represent and celebrate 
the wide cultural and ethnic diversity across Sandwell will be encouraged, including 
spectator sports and other activities. This will include the protection of valuable 
cultural and religious buildings and the promotion of cultural, religious and 
community festivals on a Sandwell-wide basis in a range of suitable locations.  

Justification 

3.66 The Black Country has a unique past, having been at the forefront of the Industrial 

Revolution, which left a rich and varied industrial and cultural legacy as well as an extensive 

and historically significant canal network. The area’s bygone industrial activity and its 

geological richness is also reflected in a distinctive natural and built topography, consisting of 

small villages and settlements that retain their individual characteristics. There are other 

areas where attractions and facilities are clustered due to their industrial heritage or cultural 

value.  

3.67 In addition, the Black Country contains one of the world’s few urban geoparks, identified by 

UNESCO as a single, unified geographical area where sites and landscapes of international 

geological significance are located (Policy SNE4). 

3.68 These assets are attracting an increasing number of visitors to the sub-region and the visitor 

economy is a key growth sector. Business tourism is also a growing sector, particularly in 

terms of high-quality hotel and conferencing facilities and the proximity to Birmingham, a 

global business destination.  

3.69 The range and diversity of cultural and tourist assets in the Black Country include a historic 

built environment, museums and art galleries, markets, music venues and theatres, which 

are often part of town and city centres; parks and open spaces; and high-level sporting 

venues.  

3.70 In Sandwell, attractions include, but are not limited to, the following venues and locations:  

a) Sandwell Valley Country Park – this includes Sandwell Park Visitor Centre (formerly 

Sandwell Park Farm) and Forge Mill Farm, RSPB Sandwell Valley Reserve and wider 

facilities for leisure and recreation; 

b) Sandwell Aquatics Centre; 

c) The Hawthorns stadium – home of West Bromwich Albion FC; 

d) Smethwick Jamia Masjid;  

Page 926



71 

 

e) Guru Nanak Gurdwara, Smethwick; 

f) Shri Venkateswara (Balaji) Temple of UK; 

g) Wednesbury Museum; 

h) Bromwich Hall - West Bromwich Manor House Museum; 

i) Galton Valley Pumping Station;  

j) Lightwoods House; 

k) Oak House; 

l) Bishop Asbury Cottage; 

m) Traditional street and covered markets across the borough; 

n) Sites related to the Black Country Global Geopark, e.g., the Rowley Hills. 

3.71 Across the wider Black Country, attractions of significance also include: 

• Black Country Living Museum; 

• Dudley Castle and Zoo; 

• Walsall Arboretum; 

• Walsall Art Gallery and Museum; 

• Wolverhampton Civic Suite and Assembly Halls; 

• Wolverhampton Theatre.  

3.72 The sensitive development of heritage and cultural facilities appealing to the very diverse 

range of local communities will also contribute to social inclusion, health and wellbeing and 

improvements in quality of life for all sectors of the local population. Culture is also 

recognised by national government as making a significant contribution to ‘place making’ and 

delivering sustainable communities. 

3.73 The nature and often the scale of cultural festivals and entertainment events may mean that 

they will be best delivered at an open-air location. In Sandwell, such sites are likely to 

include (but are not limited to) key outdoor venues such as Sandwell Valley. Suitable 

locations for outdoor events will have appropriate levels of infrastructure, car parking and 

accessibility to local travel networks and use of them for events and activities should be in 

accordance with the other policies of this plan and wider legislation and guidance.  

3.74 Public venues used for entertainments and leisure purposes will also produce waste, 

especially relating to food and its packaging. Entertainment and environmental 

Page 927



72 

 

considerations are not always compatible, with a significant amount of waste being 

generated by festivals and large events. Consideration will be given to requiring the 

developers, operators and organisers of large-scale public events on open spaces Sandwell 

to design in systems to manage waste and litter at outdoor sites, should such systems not 

already be in place. 

3.75 Canals form a significant part of the heritage of both Sandwell and the Black Country and 

form an integral part of both its cultural history and its attraction for tourists. Sandwell’s 

canals also play a vital role in delivering both blue and green infrastructure throughout the 

borough, as they link into the canal network across Birmingham and the other Black Country 

authorities. They are also a potential focus for biodiversity and regeneration projects. 

3.76 Locations in or adjacent to Sandwell include:  

• Galton Valley Canal Heritage Area, Smethwick;  

• Bumble Hole and Warrens Hall Park on the Sandwell / Dudley border at Netherton / 

Tividale 

Green Belt 

3.77 Green Belts are identified and designated to prevent urban sprawl (including the 

coalescence of settlements) by keeping land permanently open. The essential 

characteristics of green belts are their openness and their permanence. The detailed 

boundaries of the West Midlands Green Belt in Sandwell are identified on the Policies Map.  

3.78 Green belt policy aims to prevent inappropriate development within designated areas. The 

following policies respond to local circumstances and provide clarity and interpretation of 

several of the terms set out in the NPPF.  

3.79 The protection of the green belt is a key aspect of the Vision and the overarching Strategic 

Priority of development in the most appropriate and sustainable locations whilst protecting 

the most vulnerable assets.  

Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt 

1. Sandwell Council will maintain a defensible boundary31 around the Sandwell green 
belt, to help promote urban renaissance, to maximise its role in helping to mitigate 

                                                

31  The boundary of the Sandwell Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map. 

Page 928



73 

 

Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt 

climate change impacts and to support easy access to the countryside for 
residents.  

2. Sandwell green belt’s nature conservation, landscape, heritage and agricultural 
value will be protected and enhanced.  

3. Opportunities will be taken to improve the value and recreational role of the green 
belt in Sandwell Valley: 

a. through improving safe accessibility for all users;  

b. by providing facilities for active and passive recreation (if this preserves the 
openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including 
land within it32);  

c. by protecting tranquil areas and locations with ecological and historic value. 

4. Extensions to existing buildings, the re-use of buildings33 or limited infilling / 
redevelopment / replacement of them within the footprint of an existing developed 
site within Sandwell’s Green Belt will be considered for approval provided:  

a. extensions are not disproportionately over and above the size of the existing 
building(s) as originally constructed;  

b. for replacement buildings, the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces; 

c. the scale, materials and general design of the proposed development or 
redevelopment are in keeping with the character of the buildings and their 
surroundings and avoid greater impact and harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt; and  

d. it does not lead to an increase in the developed proportion of the overall site. 

Justification 

3.80 Sandwell attaches great importance to the ongoing protection of the Black Country Green 

Belt, whose boundary is drawn tightly around parts of its urban edges, and which 

                                                

32  Paragraph 149c (or any subsequent update) of the NPPF (2023). 
33  Provided they are of permanent and substantial construction 

Page 929



74 

 

encompasses some of the most sensitive and important tracts of green and open space in 

the borough. The largest section of Sandwell’s designated green belt lies within the Sandwell 

Valley area, and links into Walsall’s green belt to the north-east of the borough. 

3.81 The Green Belt will be preserved from inappropriate development unless very special 

circumstances have been demonstrated in accordance with national planning policy and 

guidance. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 

not be approved except in very special circumstances. 

3.82 Sandwell Council recognises that the space needs of existing uses can change and evolve 

over time and some activities may require additional space. To remain in their current 

premises and to support a thriving community and economy, facilities currently located in the 

green belt may need to extend or alter their current operational buildings.  

3.83 To ensure the openness of the green belt is maintained, any extensions or alterations to 

buildings in it must not result in additions that are disproportionately over and above the size 

of the original building. For all non-residential buildings, the ‘original building’ is taken to be a 

building as it existed on 1 July 1948 or, if constructed after 1 July 1948, as it was built 

originally.  

3.84 While green belt is not itself a reflection of landscape quality or value, large parts of the local 

green belt are also identified as being of significant historic, environmental and landscape 

importance; should a permission be granted, the Council will require particularly high-quality 

design and materials to be used in such locations, in line with Policy SDS4, Policy SDM1 

and the policies in the Natural and Historic Environment section of the SLP. 

3.85 It is the Council’s view that there are no exceptional circumstances in Sandwell that would 

justify amending current boundaries and releasing any areas of green belt for new 

development. While there is an identified shortfall of land suitable for housing and economic 

development, this of itself does not outweigh the need to maintain the openness and 

permanence of the green belt within Sandwell, especially given the densely developed and 

urban character of most of the rest of the borough. 

Green and Blue Infrastructure 

3.86 Green and blue infrastructure are terms used to describe a multi-functional and connected 

network of green spaces, water and other environmental features in both urban and rural 

areas. It represents a collection of assets that provide multiple functions and services to 

people, the economy and the environment. It includes (but is not limited to) the following land 

types:  

a. woodland 

Page 930



75 

 

b. watercourses, including canals 

c. highway verges and railway embankments 

d. parks, playgrounds, allotments and other public open spaces 

e. urban trees 

f. private gardens 

g. the grounds of hospitals, schools and business parks 

h. sport pitches and recreational areas 

3.87 Green infrastructure can contribute to the provision of 'ecosystem services’, the direct and 

indirect contributions the natural environment provides for human wellbeing and quality of 

life. These services can be delivered in a practical sense, e.g., by providing food and water 

and regulating the climate, and through supporting cultural and social aspects such as the 

provision of green spaces that can then help reduce stress and anxiety. They include flood 

protection, water purification, carbon storage, land for food production, places for recreation, 

landscape and nature conservation.  

3.88 Green infrastructure performs multiple functions, some of which include:  

a. biodiversity and geodiversity – providing habitats for wildlife 

b. access and recreation – places for sports, play, walking and cycling 

c. health and wellbeing – supporting healthy lifestyles 

d. energy – providing an energy resource using biomass, hydro-electric and wind power 

e. townscape – making towns and villages better places in which to live 

f. economic development – supporting the economy by improving the image and 

'liveability' of places 

3.89 In 2023 Natural England published guidance on the delivery and enhancement of green 

infrastructure34. As a key resource for developers and local planning authorities, the 

framework integrates green infrastructure tools, principles, standards and design guidance. It 

is structured through five key standards, addressing:  

• urban nature recovery;  

                                                

34  https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Home.aspx  

Page 931

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Home.aspx


76 

 

• an urban greening factor;  

• an urban tree canopy cover standard;  

• accessible greenspace standards; and  

• a green infrastructure strategy. 

3.90 Of these elements, Sandwell Council already addresses most of them through existing 

Council strategies and many of the policies proposed in this plan. Relevant plan policies 

include those on biodiversity net gain, the nature recovery strategy, canals, SuDs, climate 

change mitigation and good design, which address urban nature recovery and urban 

greening; the policy on trees and hedgerows; the adopted Sandwell Tree Strategy, which 

covers urban canopy cover; and accessible green space standards, which form part of the 

Council’s Green Spaces Strategy and Audit. 

3.91 In respect of a Green Infrastructure Strategy, this standard supports the National Planning 

Policy Framework’s requirement that local authorities should develop strategic policies for 

green infrastructure. At an area-wide scale, the Green Infrastructure Standard will see local 

authorities develop delivery plans to support the creation and enhancement of new and 

existing greenspaces. 

3.92 This topic is also addressed across a range of policies in the Sandwell Local Plan and is 

addressed in the following strategic policy.  

3.93 A focussed green infrastructure strategy could also provide an overarching framework 

against which the Council’s success in achieving many of these positive outcomes could be 

monitored and measured. 

Policy SDS7 - Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell 

1. The Council will support a strategic approach to green and blue infrastructure by:  

a. working with relevant partners to prepare, adopt and implement a Green 
Infrastructure Strategy for the borough;  

b. planning, designing and managing green infrastructure in an integrated way 
to achieve multiple benefits; 

c. identifying key green infrastructure assets, their current function and their 
potential future contributions; 

Page 932



77 

 

Policy SDS7 - Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell 

d. identifying opportunities for addressing environmental and social challenges 
through strategic green infrastructure interventions. 

2. Sandwell’s green and blue infrastructure networks, including open spaces, green 
spaces, nature conservation sites, habitats, rivers, canals, other waterways, trees 
and green features, should be enhanced where possible (Policies SNE1 - SNE6).  

3. Development in Sandwell will be expected to maintain and where possible enhance 
the existing network of green infrastructure across the borough.  

4. Major developments will be required to ensure green spaces and urban greening 
features (including tree planting, vegetation, gardens, green roofs and green walls, 
sustainable drainage systems, etc.) are planned, designed and managed in an 
integrated way so that they deliver multiple climate change and environmental 
benefits over the lifetime of the development (Policies SCC1 – SCC6). 

5. Proposals that would result in the loss of existing green infrastructure will be 
resisted unless it can be demonstrated that new opportunities will be provided that 
mitigate or compensate for this loss and ensure that the ecosystem services of the 
area are retained (Policy SNE2). 

6. Major developments will be expected to maximise opportunities for enhancing 
existing green spaces and waterways by incorporating appropriate urban greening 
to improve the visual quality and ecological functions of the site.  

Justification  

3.94 A green infrastructure approach to development recognises that the network of green and 

blue spaces, street trees, green roofs and other major assets such as natural or semi-natural 

drainage features must be planned, designed and managed in an integrated way. This will 

include considering and enhancing where possible links to green and blue networks beyond 

Sandwell’s boundaries, in collaboration with neighbouring authorities and stakeholders. 

3.95 Green infrastructure creates a sense of place. It is a multifunctional benefit close to where 

people live, work and relax. It will help to support a healthy lifestyle, can reduce health 

inequalities in communities and offers social benefits as well by creating a sense of social 

cohesion and shared space. 

3.96 Policy SDS7 sets out a strategic green infrastructure approach and provides a framework for 

how this can be assessed and planned for. Further policies in the environment and climate 

Page 933



78 

 

change sections of the SLP provide more detail on specific aspects of green infrastructure, 

alongside other Plan policies designed to deliver multiple outcomes.  

3.97 Objectives include:  

• promoting mental and physical health and wellbeing;  

• adapting to the impacts of climate change and the urban heat-island effect;  

• improving air and water quality;  

• encouraging walking and cycling;  

• supporting landscape and heritage conservation;  

• learning about the environment;  

• supporting food growing; and  

• conserving and enhancing biodiversity and ecological resilience;  

alongside the more traditional functions of green space such as for play, sport and 

recreation.  

3.98 All development takes place within a wider environment and green infrastructure should be 

an integral element and not an ‘add-on’. Its economic and social value should be recognised 

as highlighted in the Black Country i-Tree Assessment and Sandwell’s Green Spaces 

Strategy and Trees Strategy.  

3.99 It is important to ensure that green and blue infrastructure are connected and resilient, to 

enable them to respond to climate change in a positive way. The use of green infrastructure 

should be optimised, but not maximised – this ensures such spaces will not be damaged by 

excessive activity and thus will retain their importance as part of a wider network of spaces 

and places for wildlife, ecology and habitats as well as supporting the physical and mental 

health of Sandwell’s residents. 

  

Page 934



79 

 

4. Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment 

4.1 The Black Country enjoys a unique physical and cultural heritage thanks to its origins as a 

mainstay of heavy industry and driver of the Industrial Revolution. The geological complexity 

of the area, its topography, its settlement pattern and the existence of significant areas of 

green and open space within one of the most densely-developed parts of the country require 

a set of robust and relevant planning policies that will help to protect and enhance what 

gives Sandwell and the wider Black Country its unique physical, ecological and historic 

character and appearance. 

Nature Conservation  

4.2 The protection and improvement of Sandwell’s biodiversity and geodiversity will safeguard 

and improve the environmental attractiveness and value of the area for residents and visitors 

while at the same time improving the physical and natural sustainability of communities 

within the conurbation in the face of climate change. This will directly contribute to delivering 

Strategic Objective 11, which is also associated with supporting the physical and mental 

wellbeing of residents. 

Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation 

1. Development will not be permitted where it would, alone or in combination with 
other plans or projects, have an adverse impact on the integrity of an internationally 
designated site, such as Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation or Fens 
Pools Special Area of Conservation. 

2. Development will not be permitted where it would harm nationally (Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest and National Nature Reserves) or regionally (Local Nature 
Reserves and Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation) designated nature 
conservation sites. 

3. Species that are legally protected, in decline, are rare within Sandwell / the Black 
Country or that are covered by national, regional, or local Biodiversity Action Plans 
will be protected when development occurs in accordance with Part I of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

4. Where, exceptionally, the strategic benefits of a development clearly outweigh the 
importance of a local nature conservation site (Sites of Local Importance for Nature 
Conservation), species, habitat or geological feature, damage must be minimised. 

Page 935



80 

 

Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation 

Any remaining impacts, including any reduction in area, must be fully mitigated. A 
mitigation strategy must accompany relevant planning applications. Compensation 
will only be accepted in exceptional circumstances. 

5. The movement of wildlife within Sandwell and into / out of adjoining areas, through 
both linear habitats (e.g., wildlife corridors) and the wider urban matrix (e.g., 
stepping-stone sites) should not be impeded by development. Developers must 
take account of the Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy (Policy SNE2) when 
preparing their schemes and should plan for the maintenance and where possible 
enhancement of such linkages. 

6. Details of how improvements (appropriate to their location and scale) will 
contribute to the natural environment, and their ongoing management for the 
benefit of biodiversity and geodiversity, will be expected to accompany planning 
applications. Adequate information must be submitted with applications for 
proposals that may affect any designated site or important habitat, species, or 
geological feature, to ensure that the likely impacts of the proposal can be fully 
assessed. Where the necessary information is not made available, there will be a 
presumption against granting planning permission. 

7. Over the plan period, Sandwell will update evidence on designated nature 
conservation sites and Local Nature Reserves as necessary in conjunction with the 
Local Sites Partnership and Natural England and will amend existing designations 
in accordance with this evidence. Consequently, sites may receive new, or 
increased, protection over the Plan period.  

Justification 

4.3 The past development and redevelopment of the Black Country has led to it being referred to 

as an “endless village”, which describes both the interlinked settlements and the many 

patches of encapsulated countryside present within it. The Black Country is home to 

internationally and nationally designated nature conservation sites and has the most diverse 

Page 936



81 

 

geology, for its size, of any area on Earth35. Many rare and protected species are found 

within its matrix of greenspace and the built environment. 

4.4 Development in Sandwell should positively contribute to the protection, enhancement and 

expansion of the natural environment across the wider Black Country by: 

• extending and improving the condition of habitats and nature conservation sites; 

• improving opportunities for the movement of wildlife within and beyond urban areas;  

• restoring or creating habitats / geological features that actively contribute to the 

implementation of Nature Recovery Networks, Biodiversity Action Plans (BAPs) and / or 

Geodiversity Action Plans (GAPs) at a national, regional, or local level;  

• ensuring that developments adjacent to canals and natural watercourses deliver 

improved and extended corridors for the movement of wildlife and people. 

4.5 Sandwell lies at the heart of the British mainland and the Birmingham and Black Country 

conurbation and therefore plays an important role in helping species migrate and adapt to 

climate change across the urban area as their existing habitats are rendered unsuitable. It is 

very important to increase the ability of landscapes and their ecosystems to adapt in 

response to changes in the climate by increasing the range, extent, and connectivity of 

habitats.  

4.6 To protect vulnerable species, the Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy will allow 

isolated nature conservation sites to be protected, buffered, improved and linked to others. 

When considering the movement of wildlife, development proposals should incorporate the 

recommendations from the Black Country Local Nature Recovery Network Opportunity Map 

and the ecological networks it identifies. Species dispersal will be aided by extending, 

widening, and improving the habitats of wildlife corridors. Conversely, fragmentation and 

weakening of wildlife sites and wildlife corridors by development will be opposed.  

4.7 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) and Sites of Local Importance for 

Nature Conservation (SLINCs) are identified though the process of local site assessment. 

This process is overseen by the Birmingham and Black Country Local Sites Partnership, 

whose role is to provide expert advice to the area’s local authorities and other organisations 

as appropriate on the selection, management, protection and review of the network of local 

sites throughout Birmingham and the Black Country. It is particularly important to protect and 

                                                

35 Comment by Black Country Geological Society – Black Country Core Strategy 

Page 937



82 

 

enhance SINCs; an up-to-date Local Site Assessment will be required to support any 

proposal that could harm a SINC. 

4.8 Development offers an opportunity to improve the local environment, and this is especially so 

in an urban area. The Council is committed to meeting its “Biodiversity Duty” under the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) and to delivering the principles of 

the NPPF by proactively protecting, restoring and creating a richer and more sustainable 

wildlife and geology. The local Biodiversity Partnership, Geodiversity Partnership, 

Birmingham and Black Country Local Nature Partnership and Local Sites Partnership will 

identify, map, and regularly review the priorities for protection and improvement throughout 

the Black Country, in accordance with the emerging Black Country Nature Recovery Network 

strategy. These will be used to inform planning decisions. The Local Environmental Records 

Centre hold, collate and disseminate the definitive and up-to-date register of locally 

designated nature conservation sites on behalf of the Black Country Authorities. 

4.9 The Council’s most recent Green Spaces Strategy Implementation and Business Plan (2022 

– 23) states that Sandwell is currently failing to meet the national ANGSt36 standard for local 

nature reserves and has committed to meeting the standard’s requirement of at least one 

hectare of Local Nature Reserve per 1,000 population. This equates to around 35ha or 

0.35km2 for Sandwell.  

Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

4.10 The Environment Act (2021) states that development proposals are required to provide a 

minimum 10% uplift in habitat quality on those sites that are being built on. This is referred to 

as biodiversity net gain (BNG) and it is a process that attempts to leave the environment in a 

more valuable condition than previously following development. This is a mandatory 

requirement on most development sites. 

4.11 This process involves the use of a nationally agreed formula to help identify what negative 

impacts on a site’s current ecological value will arise from a proposed development, and 

then calculating how much new or restored habitat, and of what type(s), is required to deliver 

an overall net gain in biodiversity value following that development. This formula is known as 

                                                

36  Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard; effectively updated by the Green Infrastructure Standards for England 
(2023) 
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/downloads/Green%20Infrastructure%20Standards%
20for%20England%20Summary%20v1.1.pdf  

 

Page 938

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/downloads/Green%20Infrastructure%20Standards%20for%20England%20Summary%20v1.1.pdf
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/downloads/Green%20Infrastructure%20Standards%20for%20England%20Summary%20v1.1.pdf


83 

 

the Biodiversity Metric (currently version 4) and it is produced by DEFRA and Natural 

England37. A simplified beta test version of the Biodiversity Metric has also been developed 

specifically for use on small development sites. 

4.12 Mandatory biodiversity net gain will also provide an incentive for development to support the 

delivery of nature recovery networks38, through the calculation of biodiversity units at sites 

identified by the strategy. These networks have been designed to help local planning 

authorities to focus policy and delivery on conserving and enhancing biodiversity in the most 

effectual and depleted parts of the local ecological system and to reflect this in land use 

plans for their area.  

4.13 Nature recovery networks are designed to be relevant to local areas, but also to link up with 

networks in adjacent areas too, with the intention of producing a national nature recovery 

network in due course. This will enable nature and wildlife to be planned for and protected at 

a much larger scale than is possible at present. 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

1. All development proposals in Sandwell shall deliver a minimum 10% net gain in 
biodiversity value when measured against baseline site information. Where 
achievable, a higher net gain may be agreed. Losses and gains will be calculated 
using the extant national Biodiversity Metric39.  

2. Where site clearance or other activities have lowered the biodiversity value of an 
on-site habitat after 30 January 2020, an estimate of the biodiversity units on site 
prior to those activities will be used as its baseline for calculating the site’s initial 
BNG value. This estimate will be based on habitat surveys, aerial photos and / or 
other appropriate evidence of the condition of the site, applying the precautionary 
principle. 

3. Biodiversity net gain must be provided in line with the following principles: 

                                                

37  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6049804846366720  
38  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nature-recovery-network  
39  BNG is measured using the Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Calculation Tool (version correct as at September 2023). Natural 

England have published detailed guidance on how to use the metric. 

Page 939

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6049804846366720
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nature-recovery-network


84 

 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

a) there will be a requirement for on-site habitat provision / enhancement wherever 
practicable, followed by improvements to sites within the local area, and then 
other sites elsewhere within Sandwell;  

b) where off-site measures are needed to meet biodiversity net gain requirements, 
it is expected that the off-site habitat enhancement or creation will be located as 
close to the development site as possible; 

c) the maintenance and enhancement of the ability of plants and animals (including 
pollinating insects) to move, migrate and genetically disperse across Sandwell 
and the wider Black Country must be supported; and 

d) the provision / enhancement of priority habitats identified at the national, 
regional, or local level, having regard to the scarcity of that habitat within 
Sandwell, will be expected. 

4. Compensation in the form of national biodiversity credits will only be accepted as a 
fall-back if mitigation is not possible within the development site boundary, 
elsewhere in its immediate vicinity or in the wider Sandwell area.  

5. Provision of on- or off-site compensation on other sites should not replace or 
adversely impact on existing alternative / valuable habitats in those locations; 
compensatory works on them should be established via a legal agreement or under 
way prior to the related development being undertaken. 

6. Monitoring of BNG compensation measures will be required to ensure its 
successful delivery, with further compensation being required in the event of initial 
measures being ineffective. Ongoing management of any new or improved BNG 
habitats together with monitoring and reporting will need to be planned for and 
funded for 30 years by developers, using a conservation covenant or s106 
agreement as necessary. 

7. Sandwell Council has identified the following site(s) as suitable for the provision of 
biodiversity units to developers unable to provide a minimum 10% net gain on their 
own sites (see Appendix A and evidence base): 

Location Potential project types Baseline 
units 

Potential 
uplift units (%) 

Page 940



85 

 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

Hill House 
Farm 

Large areas of ‘modified grassland’ within the site that 

could be improved to ‘other neutral grassland’ of good 

condition. The current land use may have to be 

adapted to accommodate these changes (arable). 

There is potential for uplift in other habitats on site. 

241.73 +255.87 

(105.85) 

Hill Farm 
Bridge Fields 

Vary sward height and increase species diversity to 

improve the condition of the grasslands. Condition of 

the woodland can be improved through introduction of 

deadwood and management of habitat regeneration. 

181.24 +65.90 (36.36) 

Menzies Open 
Space 

Woodland improvement, some grassland 

improvement  

Areas of ‘other neutral grassland’ can provide uplift. 

Site contains a pond (non-priority). There is potential 

to create more uplift by improving the condition of the 

pond from poor to good. 

157.4 +42.28 (26.86) 

Tibbington 
Open Space 
(The Cracker) 

Some grassland management / improvement, 

woodland improvement 

Relatively large areas of woodland offer strong uplift 

potential.  

‘Other neutral grassland’ habitats and the parkland 

habitat both provide uplift opportunities. 

90.57 +32.91 (36.17) 

Warrens Hall 
Park Strategic 
Open Space  

Woodland improvement, some grassland improvement 211.70 +26.93 (12.72) 

Tividale Park Scrub species and structural improvement, tree and 

woodland improvement  

49.65 +10.39 (20.92) 

NOTE: Developers are not required to buy units on Council-owned sites; public and private 
landowners may also provide them elsewhere in Sandwell.  

8. Exemptions to the need to provide biodiversity net gain on development sites will 
be as set out in the relevant legislation and national guidance. 

Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy 

Page 941



86 

 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

9. All development should help deliver the Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy in 
line with the following principles: 

a) take account of where in the Local Nature Recovery Network the development is 
located and deliver benefits appropriate to that zone, in accordance with section 
3d above; 

b) follow the mitigation hierarchy of avoidance, mitigation and compensation, and 
provide for the protection, enhancement, restoration and creation of wildlife 
habitat and green infrastructure; 

c) follow the principles of Making Space for Nature - recognise that spaces are 
needed for nature and that these should be of sufficient size and quality and 
must be appropriately connected to other areas of green infrastructure, to 
address the objectives of the local Nature Recovery Network Strategy. 

10. Priority locations for habitat creation and enhancement are as shown on the 
Sandwell Nature Recovery Network Map (Appendix A). Development sites within the 
identified zones will be expected to contribute towards the creation of appropriate 
habitat linkages and types to support those priority areas.  

11. Development should be designed to protect and enhance existing habitats and 
ecological networks, including wildlife corridors and stepping stones. Development 
should minimise any potential disturbance to species and habitats, including from 
site lighting. 

Local opportunities for habitats and wildlife 

12. All development shall secure the eradication of invasive species within site 
boundaries, where opportunities to do so arise. 

13. All major development proposals with an eaves height or roof commencement 
height of 5m and above are required to provide integrated nesting bricks / boxes for 
swifts, house martins, house sparrows, starlings, and / or bats as appropriate, to 
help preserve endangered species and urban biodiversity in Sandwell. 

14. All applicants, including those undertaking householder schemes and smaller-scale 
developments are asked to consider including additional enhancement 

Page 942



87 

 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

opportunities for wildlife and conservation in their proposals; the Council will 
consider such contributions positively when determining planning applications. 

Justification 

Biodiversity net gain 

4.14 Biodiversity net gain (BNG) has been described as a measurable target for development 

projects where impacts on biodiversity are outweighed by a clear mitigation hierarchy 

approach to first avoid and then minimise impacts, including through restoration and / or 

compensation. Net gain is an approach to development and land management that aims to 

leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than beforehand (DEFRA 

Biodiversity Metric 4 and its subsequent iterations). 

4.15 The Environment Act requires a minimum 10% increase in biodiversity within or near new 

development sites. New development should always seek to enhance rather than reduce 

levels of biodiversity present on a site. This will require a baseline assessment of what level 

of biodiversity is currently present, and an estimation of how proposed designs will add to 

that current level, supported by evidence that a minimum 10% net gain has been delivered. 

4.16 Including BNG in the Local Plan will also link biodiversity to other strategic objectives and the 

overall place-making strategy for Sandwell, enabling a more rounded approach to the 

environment. On-site biodiversity improvements will also be vital to enhancing the liveability 

of urban areas, and improving the connection of people to nature, particularly as 

development densities increase.  

4.17 Development should also contribute to wildlife and habitat connectivity in the wider area, in 

line with the Biodiversity Action Plan and the Black Country Nature Recovery Network 

Strategy. 

4.18 The ways in which developments secure a net gain in biodiversity value will vary depending 

on the scale and nature of the site. On some sites, the focus will be on the retention of 

existing habitats. For others, this may be impracticable, and it may be necessary instead to 

make significant provision for new habitats either on- or off-site.  

4.19 It can be challenging to establish new habitats. It is essential that the most important and 

irreplaceable habitats in Sandwell are protected, and so mitigation rather than retention will 

not be appropriate in some circumstances. BNG is not applied to irreplaceable habitats, such 

as ancient woodlands. Any mitigation and / or compensation requirements for sites identified 

Page 943



88 

 

and protected under European law or successor legislation should be dealt with as 

appropriate, and separately to biodiversity net gain provision. 

4.20 Under the Environment Act (2021), all planning applications granted (with few exemptions) 

will be required to deliver at least 10% Biodiversity Net Gain, measured through the 

application of the most up-to-date, and relevant, Biodiversity Metric and necessitating the 

submission of a Biodiversity Gain Plan.  

4.21 Some application types have been excluded from the requirements of the Environment Act 

and so the relevant regulations should be referred to once in effect to confirm this. 

Exemptions to the need to provide 10% BNG are made for:  

a. development impacting habitat of an area below a de minimis threshold of 25m2, or 5m 

for linear habitats such as hedgerows;  

b. householder applications;  

c. biodiversity gain sites (where habitats are being enhanced for wildlife);  

d. small-scale self-build and custom housebuilding; and  

e. temporary impacts that will be restored within two years.  

Existing sealed surfaces (such as tarmac or existing buildings) are given a zero score under 

the BNG metric, meaning that these surfaces are effectively exempted from the percentage 

gain requirement.  

4.22 It is important to note however that the development of brownfield or previously developed 

land is not exempt from the requirement to provide a minimum 10% net gain. 

4.23 Biodiversity net gain plans should be agreed prior to commencement40. Sites and areas 

identified to provide for biodiversity net gain requirements should be managed and 

monitored for at least 30 years post-provision, via s106 obligations or conservation 

covenants. Monitoring plans will be required as part of the grant of planning permission and 

should include indicators41 designed to demonstrate the amount and type of biodiversity net 

gain provided through development, which should be as specific as possible to help build an 

evidence base for future reviews of the plan.  

                                                

40  This can be after the grant of planning permission but must be before work starts on site 
41  Examples of indicators include (but may not be restricted to) the total number and type of biodiversity units created, the 

number of developments achieving biodiversity net gains and a record of on-site and off-site contributions. 

Page 944



89 

 

4.24 The identification and allocation of sites in Sandwell as BNG receptor sites is intended to 

recognise the dearth of opportunities for on-site provision in the most urban parts of the 

borough. While developers do not have to purchase units on these sites, the Council is keen 

to retain as much BNG value within the borough as possible and so has made these sites 

available and identified additional habitat creation opportunities on them to help provide net 

benefits in the area.  

4.25 The allocated sites are intended to accommodate those units that cannot be provided 

directly on a development site rather than as a wholesale receptor for all units; e.g., if a site 

requires 11 BNG units and only seven can be accommodated on site, the remaining four 

could be delivered on a receptor site. This is intended to promote the need for BNG on or 

adjacent to development sites wherever possible, but also to recognise the need for a 

degree of flexibility in delivery, especially where land availability and site viability are issues. 

As these sites are included on the national register, their accessibility solely to developers 

operating in Sandwell cannot be guaranteed. 

4.26 Most development generates some opportunities to help achieve an overall nature 

conservation benefit. It will often be possible to secure worthwhile improvements through 

relatively simple measures, even where there is no formal or mandatory requirement for 

biodiversity net gain to be delivered, such as for domestic or householder schemes and 

small scale or permitted development proposals.  

4.27 All applicants can contribute to increasing opportunities for nature conservation by making 

design choices that allow wildlife to continue to inhabit the same area. Artificial nest boxes / 

bricks can be incorporated within developments relatively easily, especially on taller 

buildings and / or at eaves level (refurbishments, extensions and / or new build), to provide 

nesting and roosting opportunities for birds, including species under threat such as swifts, 

house martins, swallows and house sparrows, and where appropriate, bats. 

4.28 Other examples of such measures may include:  

• lighting designed and positioned to reduce light pollution and avoid disturbing wildlife 

• hedgehog gates in new boundary fences or walls 

• insect “hotels”  

• the retention of trees, hedges and other vegetation (Policy SNE3) 

• wildlife –friendly green walls and roofs on new buildings and places such as communal 

bin areas, bus shelters and bike stores 

Page 945



90 

 

• the use of native, wildlife-friendly plants, trees and shrubs in planting and landscaping 

schemes 

• the incorporation of green and blue infrastructure, such as wildlife-friendly SuDS  

4.29 Biodiversity features of value frequently occur beyond designated wildlife and ecological 

sites and should be conserved, enhanced and see additional features created as part of 

nearby development where this can be achieved. 

4.30 The clearance of habitat from a site prior to the submission of a planning application is 

imprudent. Robust local evidence is generally available to local councils to prove what types 

of habitat and vegetation were until recently present on a cleared site, so there will still be a 

requirement to provide suitable and sufficient replacements as part of the biodiversity net 

gain requirements.  

4.31 This is addressed in the Environment Act (2021), which makes provision for sanctions 

against the clearance of sites prior to a planning application being submitted in relation to the 

requirement for biodiversity net gain. Under paragraph 6 of Schedule 7A of the Act, if the 

developer undertakes activities such as clearing the site in a way that reduces its biodiversity 

value, then the pre-development value to be considered is the one that existed before 

clearance took place. 

Local Nature Recovery Network Strategies (LNRNS)  

4.32 The Nature Recovery Network is a major commitment in the government’s 25-Year 

Environment Plan. The government has set out in the Environment Act (2021) that a Local 

Nature Recovery Network Strategy (LNRNS) will be prepared locally and published for all 

areas of England, and that these will:  

a) agree priorities for nature’s recovery;  

b) map the most valuable existing habitat for nature using the best available data; and  

c) map specific proposals for creating or improving habitat for nature and wider 

environmental goals.  

4.33 The LNRS will help restore many ecosystem functions and improve the services upon which 

society depends, benefitting nature, people and the economy, and helping to address three 

of the biggest challenges society faces: biodiversity loss, climate change and human 

wellbeing. LNRNS will help to map the Nature Recovery Network locally and nationally, and 

will help to plan, prioritise and target action and investment in nature at a regional level 

across England. 

Page 946



91 

 

4.34 LNRSs will support the delivery of mandatory biodiversity net gain and provide a focus for a 

strengthened duty on all public authorities to conserve and enhance biodiversity. They 

underpin the Nature Recovery Network and support partnership working and the greater 

integration of ecological and biodiversity considerations into other areas of land 

management. 

4.35 The Environment Act introduces a new duty on all public bodies to have regard to any 

relevant LNRNS, creating an incentive for a wide range of organisations to engage with the 

creation of an LNRNS and to take steps to support its delivery. Local authorities and other 

public bodies designated by the Secretary of State will also have to report on what steps 

they have taken, at least every five years.  

4.36 The four Black Country Authorities jointly commissioned a Local Nature Recovery Network 

Strategy. This has produced opportunities mapping that future development proposals will 

be required to consider in demonstrating how they deliver biodiversity benefits appropriate to 

the zones identified.  

4.37 The Nature Recovery Network Map for Sandwell (April 2021) is shown at Appendix A 

alongside a description of the components that make it up. This, together with similar 

strategies for the other three Black Country councils, will eventually form an integral part of a 

wider West Midlands LNRNS that is to be produced in the future. In the meantime, it will 

carry weight as evidence supporting Policy SNE2.  

Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, Woodlands, And Hedgerows 

4.38 Sandwell benefits from an estimated 265,000 trees, covering 18.1% of the borough. It is 

estimated that 81% of these trees are in good or excellent condition42. Sandwell Council will 

continue to support and protect a sustainable, high-quality tree population and will aim to 

significantly increase tree cover across its area during the Plan period. 

4.39 A main theme of the Government’s 25-Year Environment Plan is the need to plant more 

trees. This is to be achieved not only as part of the creation of extensive new woodlands but 

also in urban areas; this will be accomplished in part by encouraging businesses to offset 

their emissions in a cost-effective way through planting trees. The national ambition is to 

deliver one million new urban trees and a further 11 million new trees across the country.  

                                                

42 Tree Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023 – 2028 - 
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s13367/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Tree%20Strategy%20and%20Implementation%20Plan%202023%20-%202028.pdf  

Page 947

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s13367/Appendix%20A%20-%20Tree%20Strategy%20and%20Implementation%20Plan%202023%20-%202028.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s13367/Appendix%20A%20-%20Tree%20Strategy%20and%20Implementation%20Plan%202023%20-%202028.pdf


92 

 

4.40 It is important to encourage and support the delivery of green infrastructure and ecological 

networks through urban areas, especially in relation to their role in climate change mitigation 

and adaptation and to mitigate the health problems associated with air pollution. The 

provision of new trees and the protection of existing ones throughout Sandwell will be a key 

component of this approach.  

4.41 The Council’s aim is to increase Sandwell’s canopy cover by at least 6%43 over the plan 

period44, based on data establishing its current levels of provision and identifying 

opportunities for doing so derived from the Nature Recovery Network and biodiversity net 

gain targets. 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, 
Woodlands and Hedgerows 

Retention and protection of ancient woodland and veteran or ancient trees  

1. Development that would result in the loss of or damage to ancient woodland and / 
or ancient or veteran trees will not be permitted.  

2. Development adjacent to ancient woodland and / or groups of ancient or veteran 
trees will be required to provide an appropriate landscaping buffer, with a minimum 
depth of 15m and a preferred depth of 50m.  

3. Provision should be made for the protection of individual veteran or ancient trees 
likely to be impacted by development, by providing a buffer around such trees of a 
minimum of 15 times the diameter of the tree. The buffer zone should be 5m from 
the edge of the tree’s canopy if that area is larger than 15 times its diameter. 

Habitat Creation 

4. Opportunities for increasing tree cover across Sandwell through habitat creation 
and the enhancement of ecological networks, including connecting areas of ancient 
woodland, should be maximised in public and private sector development layouts 
and landscaping, in particular through biodiversity net gain and nature recovery 
network initiatives (Policy SNE2). 

                                                

43  Sandwell Tree Strategy and Implementation Plan 2023 - 2028 
44  See also the Woodland Trust’s Emergency Tree Plan 2020 - https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/trees-woods-and-

wildlife/british-trees/how-trees-fight-climate-change/    

Page 948

https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/trees-woods-and-wildlife/british-trees/how-trees-fight-climate-change/
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/trees-woods-and-wildlife/british-trees/how-trees-fight-climate-change/


93 

 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, 
Woodlands and Hedgerows 

5. Replacement trees must not be planted in locations where they would impact on 
sites identified / designated as ecologically important, unless this has been 
specifically agreed with the Council. 

Shading and air quality issues 

6. New houses and other buildings must be carefully designed and situated to prevent 
an incompatible degree of shade45 being cast on them by both existing and new 
trees, which might generate subsequent pressure for the trees to be removed.  

7. The positioning of trees in relation to streets and buildings should not worsen air 
quality for people using and living in them. Care should be taken when choosing 
and positioning new street trees, and designing streets and buildings, to allow for 
street-level ventilation to occur and to avoid trapping pollution between ground 
level and tree canopies (Policy SHW3). 

Canopy cover 

8. The planting of new, predominantly native, trees and woodlands will be sought46 in 
appropriate locations, to increase the extent of canopy cover in Sandwell by around 
6% by 2030, in line with the Council’s Tree Strategy.  

9. Tree planting on new development sites should make a minimum contribution of 
20% canopy cover and a recommended contribution of 30% canopy cover across 
the site47, especially in areas where evidence demonstrates that current levels of 
canopy cover are lower than the local average. 

10. Development proposals should use large-canopied species where possible48, as 
they provide a wider range of health, biodiversity and climate change mitigation 

                                                

45  This will be in the context of the requirements outlined in policies elsewhere in this plan on the role of trees in 
mitigating climate change and providing appropriate levels of shade and cooling. 

46 Where possible and in most cases, replacement trees should be UK and Ireland sourced and grown, to help limit the 
spread of tree pests and diseases, while supporting regional nurseries when acquiring them. 

47 Emergency Tree Plan for the UK – The Woodland Trust 2020 
48  Taking into account the requirements of points 6 and 7 of this policy. 

 

Page 949



94 

 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, 
Woodlands and Hedgerows 

and adaptation benefits because of their larger surface area; they will also make a 
positive contribution to increasing overall canopy cover49 within Sandwell, as set 
out in the Sandwell Tree Strategy.  

Trees and Design 

11. Development proposals should be designed around the need to incorporate trees 
already present on sites, using sensitive and well-designed site layouts to 
maximise their retention. Existing mature and healthy trees50, trees that are 
ecologically important, and ancient / veteran trees should be retained and 
integrated into landscaping schemes, recognising the important contribution they 
make to the character and amenity51 of a development site and to local biodiversity 
networks.  

12. For every tree removed from a development site, a minimum of three replacement 
trees will be required to be planted, in accordance with the Council’s aim to 
increase tree canopy cover across the district by 6% and to ensure that the 
minimum requirement of 10% biodiversity net gain is met and preferably exceeded.  

13. The species, eventual size and amenity value of replacement trees must be 
commensurate with the size, stature, rarity, and / or public amenity of the tree(s) to 
be removed. Where trees to be replaced form a group of amenity value (rather than 
individual specimens), replacements must also be in the form of a group 
commensurate with the area covered, size and species of trees and established 
quality of the original group. Where possible, they must be planted in a position 
that will mitigate the loss of visual amenity associated with the original group. 

14. Where planning permission has been granted that involves the removal of trees, 
suitable replacement trees must be provided onsite. Where sufficient suitable 

                                                

49 The area of ground covered by trees when seen from above. 
50 Health and status as assessed in a report produced by an accredited arboriculturist 
51  National planning guidance identifies trees worthy of retention on amenity grounds (through use of a TPO) as those 

that are visible in part or whole from a public place and / or those with individual, collective and wider impact (in terms 
of size, form, future potential, rarity, cultural / historic value, landscape contribution and / or contribution to a 
conservation area). Other factors such as value for nature conservation and climate change may also be considered.   

Page 950



95 

 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, 
Woodlands and Hedgerows 

onsite replacements cannot be provided, off-site planting or woodland 
enhancement, including support for natural regeneration, in the near vicinity of the 
removed tree(s) must be provided, in line with the mitigation hierarchy set out in 
Policy SNE2. 

15. Where new trees are to be planted on a development site, the species of trees and 
their location within the site should be informed by a site-specific survey carried 
out by a qualified ecologist / arboriculturalist. 

16. New trees on development sites should be planted in accordance with 
arboricultural best practice, including the use of suitably-sized planting pits52, 
supporting stakes, root barriers, underground guying, and appropriate protective 
fencing during the construction phase.  

Hedgerows 

17. There will be a presumption against the wholesale removal of hedgerows for 
development purposes, especially where ecological surveys have identified them to 
be species-rich and where they exist on previously undeveloped land.  

18. New hedgerows will be sought as part of site layouts and landscaping schemes. 

19. Protection of existing hedgerows before and during development must be 
undertaken. 

Justification 

4.42 Section 15 of the NPPF (2021) identifies the importance of trees in helping to create an 

attractive and healthy environment. The NPPF expects local plans to identify, map and 

safeguard components of ecological networks and promote their conservation, restoration, 

and enhancement. Ancient woodlands and ancient and veteran trees are an irreplaceable 

aspect of both the ecological and historic landscape and the NPPF is very clear about the 

need to protect such resources where they occur.  

                                                

52  To allow for an appropriate volume of soil in which to develop a viable root system and to prevent future stress that 
might affect the trees’ long-term health and lifespan 

Page 951



96 

 

4.43 Hedgerows are also a finite and vulnerable resource and their provision, retention and 

enhancement will be expected when new development is proposed.  

4.44 Wildlife corridors are important in helping overcome habitat fragmentation, by ensuring that 

species can reach the resources they need and that their populations do not become 

isolated, inbred, and prone to the adverse impacts of climate change. Supporting wildlife 

corridors will mean:  

• creating and maintaining a diverse tree population (including trees of all ages and 

sizes),  

• controlling invasive species,  

• promoting the reintroduction of native species in locations where they are appropriate 

and would have a positive impact on biodiversity, 

• retaining standing dead wood,  

• making sure that any new planting is in the right location and of the right species, and 

• recognising that woodlands are not simple monoculture habitats and will also contain 

glades, wet areas, understoreys, and grassland.  

4.45 The requirement to plant trees on development sites will also help support and deliver 

increased biodiversity and green network opportunities on sites that at present do not 

contain tree cover, e.g., some sites currently in managed agricultural use where trees and 

hedgerows have previously been removed.  

4.46 An example of the importance of trees in helping to manage and mitigate adverse impacts 

relating to air quality and climate change can be found in the report produced for the Black 

Country iTree project53 in 2021 - 22. This identified that the tree population of Sandwell 

(265,000 trees) stores 361,000 tonnes of carbon (a service valued at £328m), sequestering 

5,500 tonnes annually (£5m), which is equivalent to 1.6% of the borough’s annual emissions. 

They remove 15.3 tonnes of air pollution annually, an outcome that is valued at £828,000. 

They also intercept 130,000m³ of surface water annually, saving an estimated £128,000 in 

treatment costs. 

                                                

53  Black Country Natural Capital Valuation, i-Tree (Treeconomics, Birmingham Tree People, Forest Research), 2022 
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s13084/Appendix%20B%20-%20iTree%20Sandwell%20Report.pdf  

 

Page 952

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s13084/Appendix%20B%20-%20iTree%20Sandwell%20Report.pdf


97 

 

4.47 The loss of trees from urban environments has been demonstrated to have negative 

outcomes for human health. Social costs, such as an increase in crime, have also been 

associated with the loss of trees54. There is a growing body of evidence that the presence of 

trees in and around urban environments provides major public health and societal benefits. 

4.48 Trees in the urban landscape have a vital role to play in delivering ecosystem services55, 

such as in: 

• helping to improve residents’ physical health56 

• helping to improve residents’ mental health57 

• helping to mitigate climate change by sequestering carbon dioxide  

• providing shading and cooling benefits (including associated savings to the NHS from 

avoided skin cancer and heat stroke58) 

• improving air quality and reducing atmospheric pollution 

• reducing wind speeds in winter, thereby reducing heat loss from buildings 

• reducing noise 

• improving local environments and bringing people closer to nature  

• supporting ecological networks and green infrastructure  

• maximising people’s enjoyment of and benefits from their environment 

• contributing towards the aesthetic value of the urban area  

Trees on development sites 

4.49 It will be important to ensure that Sandwell’s existing stock of trees and woodlands is 

protected, maintained, and expanded as far as possible. Developers will be expected to give 

                                                

54  Urban Trees and Human Health: A Scoping Review - Published: 18 June 2020 https://www.mdpi.com/1660-
4601/17/12/4371 

55  A term for the benefits humans receive from natural processes occurring in ecosystems, such as providing clean 
drinking water and decomposition of waste. In 2004 the UN grouped services into four categories: provisioning - e.g., 
water supply; regulating - e.g., influence on climate; supporting - e.g., crop pollination; cultural - e.g., outdoor activities. 

56  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6416203718590464  
57  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4973580642418688  
58  Health Benefits of Street Trees - Vadims Sarajevs, The Research Agency of the Forestry Commission, 2011 

https://cdn.forestresearch.gov.uk/2022/02/health_benefits_of_street_trees_29june2011-1.pdf  

 

Page 953

https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/12/4371
https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/12/4371
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6416203718590464
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4973580642418688
https://cdn.forestresearch.gov.uk/2022/02/health_benefits_of_street_trees_29june2011-1.pdf


98 

 

priority to the retention and protection of landscaping, trees and hedgerows on development 

sites. Trees on development sites should be physically protected during development. Care 

must be taken to ensure that site engineering / infrastructure works59, the storage of plant 

and machinery, excavations and new foundations do not adversely impact their continued 

retention, in line with current arboricultural and Building Regulation requirements.  

4.50 There will be circumstances where the ratio of replacement planting will be different to that 

required in the policy – especially in cases where significant / mature trees contributing to the 

visual and ecological amenity of an area and its character are to be removed. Where a 

development site cannot accommodate additional planting, replacement trees will be 

expected to be planted in an appropriate off-site location. 

4.51 Tree species specified in submitted planting plans will be evaluated by either a chartered 

Landscape Architect or accredited arboriculturist employed by the local authority. This will 

ensure that a suitable variety of species and standard / size of tree is being planted and will 

deliver the most appropriate solution for a specific location. 

4.52 To ensure that good tree protection measures are maintained through the construction 

project, Sandwell Council will support and encourage the use of arboricultural clerks of work 

on development sites where trees are to be managed, removed and / or planted on the site. 

Where the likelihood of trees being adversely affected by construction activity is significant, 

or there are many trees on site that are likely to be affected (e.g., on larger sites) the Council 

will use appropriate conditions to require this level of oversight.  

4.53 An arboricultural survey, carried out to an appropriate standard, should be undertaken prior 

to removal of any trees or site groundworks and used to inform a proposal’s layout at the 

beginning of the detailed design process. Where proposed development will impact on the 

character, protection, safety and / or retention of trees of importance to the environment / 

landscape, the use of an arboricultural clerk of works may be required and will be made 

subject to a condition on the relevant planning permission. 

4.54 Other appropriate conditions will be included in planning permissions to ensure that new 

trees that fail on development sites are replaced within a specified period by trees of a 

suitable size, species, and quality.  

4.55 There will be a requirement to:  

                                                

59  i.e., The installation of buried services, drainage systems (such as swales and storage crates for SuDS), the 
installation of both temporary and permanent means of access, etc. 

Page 954



99 

 

• replace trees and woodlands that cannot be retained on development sites with a 

variety of suitable tree specimens (species and size);  

• ensure that where individual or groups of trees are of landscape or amenity value, they 

are retained and that developments are designed to fit around them; 

• encourage diversity in the tree population to help to counter ecological causes of tree 

loss, such as diseases, pests, or climate change; and  

• balance the impacts of the loss of trees on climate change and flooding by identifying 

opportunities to plant replacements via appropriate tree and habitat enhancement and 

creation schemes.  

Climate change and biodiversity 

4.56 There will be a presumption against the removal of trees that contribute to public amenity 

and air quality management unless sound arboricultural reasons support their removal60.  

4.57 As part of the requirement for biodiversity net gain (Policy SNE2), developers and others will 

need to pursue adequate replacements for trees and woodlands lost to allocated and 

approved development, as well as additional trees and other habitat creation to achieve 

appropriate compensatory provision on sites. The main imperative will be to ensure that 

trees are maintained in good health on development sites in the first instance but where this 

is not possible, the grant of planning permission will be conditional upon the replacement 

and enhancement of tree cover nearby. 

4.58 Native tree species able to withstand climate change should be used in landscaping 

schemes or as replacement planting, to maximise habitats for local wildlife / species and 

maintain and increase biodiversity. In circumstances where non-native tree species are also 

considered to be appropriate, a mix of native and non-native species should be provided, to 

help maintain a healthy and diverse tree population.  

4.59 Housing layouts should ensure that tree shading does not adversely affect houses in winter 

when the sun is lower in the sky but maximises it when the sun is higher in summer. The 

solution will lie in part through choosing suitable species (e.g., deciduous trees) in proximity 

to housing and locating them at an appropriate distance from the properties. 

                                                

60  The tree is a clearly identified and immediate threat to human safety; disease is significantly impacting the tree’s 
longevity and safety; the tree is causing clearly evidenced structural damage to property where remedial works cannot 
be undertaken to alleviate the problem; the tree is creating a clearly identified danger or causing significant damage to 
the adopted highway / footpath network. 

Page 955



100 

 

4.60 The clearance of trees from a site prior to the submission of a planning application is 

imprudent. Robust local evidence is generally available to prove that trees were until recently 

present on a cleared site, so there will still be a requirement to provide suitable and sufficient 

replacement trees.  

4.61 This is also addressed in the Environment Act (2021), which makes provision for sanctions 

against the clearance of sites prior to a planning application being submitted in relation to the 

requirement for biodiversity net gain. Under paragraph 6 of Schedule 7A of the Act, if the 

developer undertakes activities such as clearing the site that reduces its biodiversity value, 

then the pre-development value to be considered is the one that existed before clearance 

took place. 

Ancient woodland and veteran trees61 

4.62 The NPPF defines ancient woodland and veteran trees as an irreplaceable habitat. Ancient 

woodland is an area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD. It includes 

ancient semi-natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites. An ancient or 

veteran tree is a tree which, because of its age, size, and condition, is of exceptional 

biodiversity, cultural or heritage value. Veteran trees are of exceptional value culturally, in 

the landscape, or for wildlife, due to their great age, size or location. The soils in which these 

trees sit has been identified as having a high biodiversity value, given the length of time the 

trees have been successfully established. 

4.63 Individual trees can have historic and cultural value and can be linked to specific historic 

events or people, or they may simply have importance because of their appearance, 

contribution to landscape character and local landmark status. Some heritage trees may also 

have great botanical interest, for example as rare native trees or cultivars of historic interest. 

4.64 Very few trees of any species can be classed as ancient or veteran. Such trees / areas are a 

finite resource of great biodiversity value. For this reason, the Council considers that it is 

essential to provide absolute protection for ancient and veteran trees and ancient woodland 

sites in Sandwell. 

Hedgerows 

4.65 The planting of hedgerows not only enhances opportunities for wildlife but can also 

significantly improve the appearance of new development. It is particularly suitable on 

                                                

61  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences - national guidance on 
ancient woodland and veteran trees 

Page 956

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences


101 

 

frontages and along plot and site boundaries, both softening the appearance of the built form 

and supplementing the design of the overall scheme.  

4.66 Hedgerows are integral to ecological networks, given their linear form, and will be essential 

elements of habitat corridors within and beyond the Black Country. Planting additional 

hedgerows will help to support and increase the movement of wildlife and plants through the 

Black Country. The planting of bare root hedgerow plants is an economical way of providing 

green infrastructure on sites. 

4.67 Hedgerow retention and reinforcement will be of particular importance where hedgerows 

form part of an established ecological network currently enabling the passage of flora and 

fauna into and out of rural, suburban, and urban areas. If hedgerow removal is needed to 

accommodate a high-quality site layout, replacement hedgerow planting will be required.  

4.68 Hedgerow protection on development sites and elsewhere where potentially damaging work 

is to be carried out will include the provision of landscape buffers where appropriate; 

protective fencing; and careful management of plant and materials on site to avoid damage 

to the hedgerow(s) and root systems. 

Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark 

4.69 The Black Country enjoys a rich geological heritage. Limestone, ironstone, fireclay, coal and 

other minerals provided the ingredients to make iron and paved the way for the Industrial 

Revolution to begin in the area. 

4.70 The Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark was declared on Friday 10 July 2020. The 

Executive Board of UNESCO confirmed that the Black Country had been welcomed into the 

network of Global Geoparks as a place with internationally important geology, because of its 

cultural heritage and the extensive partnerships committed to conserving, managing and 

promoting it. The boundary of the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark is the same as 

that of the Black Country itself. 

4.71 A UNESCO Global Geopark uses its geological heritage, in connection with all other aspects 

of the area’s natural and cultural heritage, to enhance awareness and understanding of key 

issues facing society in the context of the dynamics of modern society, mitigating the effects 

of climate change and reducing the impact of natural disasters. By raising awareness of the 

importance of the area’s geological heritage in history and society today, UNESCO Global 

Geoparks give local people a sense of pride in their region and strengthen their identification 

with the area. The creation of innovative local enterprises, new jobs and high-quality training 

Page 957



102 

 

courses is stimulated as new sources of revenue are generated through sustainable 

geotourism, while the geological resources of the area are protected.  

Policy SNE4 - Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global 
Geopark 

1. Development proposals in Sandwell will not be supported where they would have 
significant adverse impact on Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark geosites, 
except:  

a. where suitable mitigation and / or compensation is provided to address the 
adverse impacts of the proposed development;  

or  

b. where any residual harm following mitigation / compensation, along with any 
other harm, is clearly outweighed by the benefits of the development. 

2. Development proposals in Sandwell should: 

a. wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the protection and 
enhancement of geodiversity within the boundaries of the Black Country 
UNESCO Global Geopark and in relation to the geosites identified within it; 

b. give locally significant geological sites62 a level of protection commensurate with 
their importance;  

c. consider, and avoid any disruption to, the importance of the inter-connectivity of 
greenspace and public access between geosites within the boundary of the 
Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark; 

d. ensure geological sites of importance63 are clearly identified where they are 
within or close to development proposals; 

e. make it easy to access geoheritage features – including temporary exposures – 
for research and educational purposes; and / or 

                                                

62  Many of which are identified as Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs) or Sites of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINCs), and / or lie within areas of significant historic value, such as conservation areas, 
registered parks and gardens or other parts of the Black Country’s historic landscape. 

63  Statutory designations and sites of local importance such as SINCs and SLINCs with a geological component  

Page 958



103 

 

Policy SNE4 - Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global 
Geopark 

f. enable access to records and samples as part of local and national geological 
record keeping. 

3. Where necessary, conditions will be put in place on approvals for planning 
permission to ensure appropriate monitoring is undertaken and to make sure 
mitigation, compensation and offsetting is delivered effectively. 

Justification 

4.72 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021) requires local authorities to protect sites of geological 

value, “… in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the 

development plan”. The draft Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (September 

2021)64 states that development should at the very least aim to avoid significant harm to 

geological conservation interests including through mitigation and consideration of 

reasonable alternatives. 

4.73 Areas of geological interest also form a significant part of the industrial landscapes of 

Sandwell and the wider Black Country. They reflect the area’s history of mining and 

extraction and will often co-exist with, and form part of the setting of, protected / sensitive 

historic landscapes. In many cases they also form an intrinsic part of the green infrastructure 

network, contributing to landscape and ecological diversity as part of the wider natural 

environment.  

4.74 As part of this strategic network of green infrastructure, geosites should be retained 

wherever possible and their contribution to GI recognised and considered when 

development is proposed that would affect the areas they form part of.  

4.75 New development should have regard to the conservation of geological features and should 

take opportunities to achieve gains for conservation through the form and design of 

development.  

4.76 Where development is proposed that would affect an identified geological site the approach 

should be to avoid adverse impact to the existing geological interest. If this is not possible, 

the design should seek to retain as much as possible of the geological Interest and enhance 

                                                

64  Paragraph 5.4.6 

Page 959



104 

 

this where achievable, for example by incorporating permanent sections within the design, or 

creating new interest of at least equivalent value by improving access to the interest.  

4.77 The negative impacts of development should be minimised, and any residual impacts 

mitigated.  

UNESCO Global Geoparks  

4.78 A UNESCO Global Geopark65 is a single, unified geographical area where sites and 

landscapes of international geological significance are located. It is an area of geological 

significance, managed with three main objectives in mind: 

a) to protect the geological landscape and the nature within it;  

b) to educate visitors and local communities; and  

c) to promote sustainable development, including sustainable tourism.  

4.79 All UNESCO Global Geoparks contain internationally significant geology and are managed 

through community-led partnerships that promote an appreciation of natural and cultural 

heritage while supporting the sustainable economic development of the area. 

4.80 UNESCO Global Geopark status is not itself a statutory designation. 

The Rowley Hills 

4.81 The Rowley Hills are a range of four hills – Turner’s Hill, Bury Hill, Portway Hill and Darby’s 

Hill – located mostly within Sandwell (a small section lies in Dudley66). Together they form a 

ridge that divides the Black Country into two parts with distinctly differing topographic 

features. The ridge also coincides closely with the main watershed of England, between the 

Rivers Severn to the west and Humber to the east. Turner’s Hill at 271m (870ft) is the 

highest point, visible from most parts of the Black Country and is a distinctive landscape 

feature that can be seen from the adjacent motorway and railways.  

4.82 Traditionally the Hills have been the location for stone quarrying and coal mining but are now 

mostly used for informal recreation. The Hills have importance both for historic landscape 

reasons and for their value for nature conservation. Most of the Rowley Hills have either 

                                                

65  https://www.unesco.org.uk/geoparks/   

66 See Appendix H 

 

Page 960

https://www.unesco.org.uk/geoparks/


105 

 

SLINC (Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation) or SINC (Site of Importance for 

Nature Conservation) designations (Policy SNE2). There is a Local Nature Reserve located 

on Portway Hill67. The Rowley Hills also form an important part of the Black Country Global 

Geopark designation and contain sites of geological importance and interest. 

4.83 The extent of the identified Rowley Hills area is around 135ha (of which Turner’s Hill covers 

approximately 7.3ha, Portway Hill and Bury Hill together cover around 38ha and Darby’s Hill 

covers 4ha) and is encapsulated within the urban areas of Sandwell and Dudley. 

4.84 Evidence suggests that there is pressure for additional development on the Rowley Hills. To 

date, the Council has been successful in preventing inappropriate development from 

occurring, which has been helped by SAD policy EOS3, formal recognition of the ecological 

and geological value of the area and through the adoption of the Rowley Hills District Plan. 

This sought to maintain and improve the area as open space for recreation and to protect 

the skyline from inappropriate and intrusive development. 

Policy SNE5 - The Rowley Hills 

1. The strategic importance of the Rowley Hills to the character and amenity of 
Sandwell and the wider Black Country is derived from their prominent location, 
open appearance and importance for the natural environment and recreation, 
which will be defended from the incursion of built development or other 
inappropriate uses. 

2. Development will not be permitted within the Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space 
that would impact on any of the following valued qualities, which include 
natural, cultural, perceptual and aesthetic aspects: 

• an open and undeveloped skyline; 

• expansive panoramic views into and out of the strategic open space; 

• wildlife habitats that support biodiversity; 

• ecological and geological designations; 

• areas of relative tranquillity; 

• the setting of designated heritage assets; 

                                                

67 See Appendix H 

Page 961



106 

 

Policy SNE5 - The Rowley Hills 

• multi-functional green infrastructure assets; 

• highly valued open spaces for informal recreation. 

Justification 

4.85 The Rowley Hills form a prominent and distinctive upland landscape feature on the horizon 

of the Black Country. 

4.86 The Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space (RHSOS) designation was identified at the time of 

the West Midlands Structure Plan. The local area was subject to the Rowley Hills District 

Plan, adopted in 1988; it was designed to address issues considered to be of strategic 

significance, including minerals, waste disposal, sub-regional recreation and transportation. 

The importance of the open character and appearance of the Hills was also recognised, and 

the District Plan reiterated the need to avoid development that would adversely affect the 

open space and the visual amenity of the skyline.  

4.87 Given their role as part of an open green wedge running between Sandwell and Dudley, their 

historic significance, their value for recreation and the environment and their importance as a 

source of minerals, the Rowley Hills were identified as performing a strategic role. While the 

Hills are no longer the source of active mineral extraction activity, their importance as open 

space, as sites of ecology and geodiversity value and as a significant and sensitive part of 

the skyline of the Black Country has not changed since the original designation was made. If 

anything, the importance of the Hills to the environment, visual amenity and the mitigation of 

climate change impacts has increased.  

4.88 The area exists as a coherent green network of open spaces and wildlife corridors from 

Bumble Hole, Dudley across the top of the Rowley Hills to Wolverhampton Road, Sandwell. 

The RHSOS designation expresses numerous valued landscape qualities that will be 

protected from development: 

a. highly valued open spaces for informal recreation - the network of public rights of way 

provides opportunities to benefit residents’ physical health and well-being and provides 

opportunities for contact with nature within an otherwise heavily built-up area; 

b. the open and undeveloped skyline, which rises above the surrounding urban areas; 

c. expansive panoramic views across the Black Country and beyond; 

Page 962



107 

 

d. multi-functional green infrastructure assets such as broadleaved woodlands, grasslands 

and soils that provide a range of ecosystem services for biodiversity, carbon storage and 

recreation; 

e. a range of habitats supporting biodiversity, including deciduous woodlands, good quality 

semi-improved grasslands, scrub, hedgerows, ponds and canals; 

f. biodiversity designations that contribute to landscape character including Warrens Hall 

Country Park Local Nature Reserve, three Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation, 

five Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (Policy SEN2) and five Potential 

Sites of Importance68; 

g. rich geological and industrial history, evidenced by rock exposures and residual 

landscape morphology associated with former industries notably former coal mining and 

quarrying of Rowley Ragstone, recognised through three UNESCO Black Country Global 

Geopark Geosites (Policy SEN4); 

h. the setting to designated heritage assets, including three Grade II Listed Buildings, 

Cobb’s Engine House Scheduled Monument, Windmill End Conservation Area, Warrens 

Hall Nature Reserve and Bury Hill Park Areas of High Historic Landscape Value 

(AHHLV) and an Archaeological Priority Area (APA); 

i. relative tranquillity within enclosed and wooded parts of the designation particularly in the 

west. 

4.89 There is a Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 

Direction made under Article 4(1) to which Article 5(4) applies at land off Portway Hill that 

has been in place since 2007. The direction removes all permitted development rights within 

its boundary. This was intended to protect and preserve the openness of the area by 

preventing any intrusive development. 

4.90 The Article 4 Direction is located at the highest western extent of Portway Hill and to the east 

of the summit of Turner’s Hill, the highest point in the Rowley Hills at 271m AOD. 

Development at this open and exposed location would potentially impact on the highly 

valued open and undeveloped skyline and the expansive panoramic views outwards across 

                                                

68  Potential Sites of Importance (PSIs) in Birmingham and the Black Country are possible ecological designation sites 
that have not yet been assessed against the Local Wildlife and Geological Sites selection criteria but may potentially 
support species of note, areas of important semi-natural habitat or valuable geological features. 

Page 963



108 

 

the Black Country and beyond. For these reasons, the boundary of the Article 4 Direction 

remains appropriate and should be retained to preserve the openness of the area. 

Canals in Sandwell 

4.91 The canal network is one of the Black Country’s defining historical and environmental assets 

and its preservation and enhancement remains a major objective. Canals play a 

multifunctional role, providing economic, social, environmental and infrastructure benefits. 

They form a valuable part of the green infrastructure and historic environment of Sandwell 

and have a significant role to play in promoting both mental wellbeing and physical health, 

allowing people opportunities for exercise and access to nature. 

4.92 Sandwell’s canal network provides a focus for future development through its ability to 

contribute towards the delivery of a high-quality environment and enhanced accessibility for 

boaters, pedestrians, cyclists, and other non-car-based modes of transport. 

4.93 Sandwell is home to 66km of canal, including the New Main Line Canal and Old Main Line 

Canal, which offer many opportunities for residents and visitors. 

4.94 As structures that made the industrial revolution possible, the canals in Sandwell offer 

opportunities to observe and experience key sites of historical interest such as the Galton 

Valley Bridge, Smethwick Pump House and the site of Smethwick Engine Arm. The canals in 

Sandwell have also been afforded Conservation Area status in both Tipton (Factory Locks) 

and Smethwick (Smethwick Summit, Galton Valley) owing to their historic significance; there 

are several valuable heritage buildings located adjacent to the canals and they play an 

important part in the industrial heritage of the Borough. They include Soho Foundry and 

Chances Glassworks in Smethwick and Malthouse Stables in Tipton. 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

1. Sandwell’s canal network comprises the canals and their surrounding landscape 
corridors, designated and non-designated heritage assets, character, settings, 
views and interrelationships.  

2. All development proposals likely to affect the canal network must: 

Page 964



109 

 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

a. demonstrate that they will not adversely affect the structural integrity of canal 
infrastructure69 to avoid increased flood risk, land instability and / or harm to the 
usability of the canal (including its towpath) as a green-blue infrastructure asset; 

b. ensure that any proposals for reinstatement or reuse would not adversely impact 
on locations of significant environmental value where canals are not currently 
navigable; 

c. protect and enhance its special historic, architectural, archaeological, and 
cultural significance and its setting, including the potential to record, preserve 
and restore such features; 

d. protect and enhance its nature conservation value including habitat creation and 
restoration along the waterway and its surrounding environs; 

e. protect and enhance its visual amenity, key views and setting; and / or 

f. protect and enhance water quality in the canal and protect water resource 
availability both in the canal and the wider environment. 

g. reinstate and / or upgrade towpaths, including through the introduction of 
suitably designed and sized wayfinding information, and link them into high 
quality, wider, integrated pedestrian and cycle networks, particularly where they 
can provide links to transport hubs, centres and opportunities for employment. 

3. Where opportunities exist, all development proposals within the canal network 
must: 

a. support and complement its role in providing opportunities for leisure, 
recreation and tourism activities; 

b. enhance and promote opportunities for off-road walking, cycling, and boating 
access, including for small-scale commercial freight activities; 

c. protect and enhance the historical, geological, and ecological value of the canal 
network and its associated infrastructure; 

                                                

69  Including (but not limited to) waterway walls, embankments, cuttings, locks, culverts, weirs, aqueducts, tunnels and 
bridges 

Page 965



110 

 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

d. relate positively to the adjacent waterway by promoting high quality design, 
including active frontages onto the canal and improving the public realm; 

e. integrate sensitively with the canal and any associated canal-side features and, 
where the chance to do so arises, incorporate canal features into the new 
development; and / or 

f. explore opportunities associated with alternative or new uses for the canals and 
their towpaths, such as to help mitigate the effects of climate change or support 
the delivery of fibre networks and communications technology (Policy SID1, 
Policy SCC3). 

4. Development proposals must be supported by evidence that the above factors have 
been fully considered and properly incorporated into their design and layout. 

5. Where proposed development overlays any disused canal features, the potential to 
record, preserve and restore such features must be fully explored unless canals 
have been removed in their entirety. 

6. Development on sites that include sections of disused canals should protect the 
line of the canal through the detailed layout of the proposal. 

7. Development will not be permitted that would sever the route of a disused canal or 
prevent the restoration of a canal link where there is a realistic possibility of 
restoration, wholly or in part. 

8. Proposals must safeguard the amenity of existing residential moorings when 
planning consent is sought on sites adjacent to them. 

Residential Canal Moorings 

9. For residential moorings, planning consent will only be granted for proposals that 
include the provision of: 

a. all necessary boating facilities; 

b. appropriate access to cycling and walking routes; and 

c. an adequate level of amenity for boaters, not unduly impacted upon by reason of 
noise, fumes or other nearby polluting activities. 

Page 966



111 

 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

10. In determining a planning application for residential moorings, account will be 
taken of the effect that such moorings and their associated activities may have on 
the amenities or activities of nearby residential or other uses. 

Justification 

4.95 The development of the Black Country’s canal network had a decisive impact on the 

evolution of industry and settlement during the 18th, 19th, and 20th centuries. It was a major 

feat of engineering and illustrates a significant stage in human history - development of 

mercantile inland transport systems in Britain’s industrial revolution during the pre-railway 

age. As such, the historic value of the canal network today should be acknowledged, 

protected, and enhanced. The network also plays a major part in the Black Country 

Geopark, as the mineral wealth of the area meant that canals were a vital link to areas within 

and beyond Sandwell and the wider Black Country and continue to provide this link today. 

4.96 The canal network is a major unifying characteristic of Sandwell’s historic landscape. The 

routes of the canals that make up the network have created landscape corridors with a 

distinctive character and identity based on the industries and activities that these transport 

routes served and supported. The network has significant value for nature conservation, 

tourism, health and wellbeing and recreation, and the potential to make an important 

contribution to economic regeneration through the provision of high-quality environments for 

new developments and a network of pedestrian, cycle and water transport routes. The canal 

network forms a valuable continuous habitat network, that links to other ecological sites. 

Many of them are also designated as local nature sites in part or for whole sections of the 

canal corridor. 

4.97 It is also important for development in Sandwell to take account of disused canal features, 

both above and below ground. Only 54% of the historic canal network has survived in use to 

the present day; a network of tramways also served the canals. Proposals should preserve 

the line of the canal through the detailed layout of the development. Where appropriate, 

opportunities should be explored for the potential to preserve the line of the canal as part of 

the wider green infrastructure network. Where feasible and sustainable, proposals should 

consider the potential for the restoration of disused sections of canal.  

4.98 It is acknowledged that there are aspirations to restore disused sections of the canal 

network. However, it is also recognised that there are very limited opportunities to reinstate 

such canal sections as navigable routes because of the extensive sections that have been 

Page 967



112 

 

filled in, built over or removed making their reinstatement (and necessary original 

realignment) financially unviable and unachievable within the Plan period.  

4.99 There are also disused parts of the canal network that have naturally regenerated into 

locations with significant ecological and biodiversity value; to re-open or intensify use on 

these sections of the network could have an adverse impact on sensitive habitats and 

species.  

4.100 Any development proposals that come forward to restore sections of the canal network will 

be expected to demonstrate that the proposals are sustainable, sufficient water resources 

exist and that works will not adversely affect the existing canal network or the environment. 

4.101 Residential moorings must be sensitive to the needs of the canal-side environment in 

conjunction with nature conservation, green belt and historic conservation policies but also, 

like all residential development, accord with sustainable housing principles in terms of design 

and access to local facilities and a range of transport choices. 

4.102 Extant residential moorings in Sandwell include:  

a. Walsall Canal Arm, Bayley’s Lane / Bankfield Road, Ocker Hill (30 spaces) 

b. Engine Arm Branch, Rolfe Street / Rabone Lane Smethwick (15 spaces) 

c. Titford Canal Arm, Engine Street, Oldbury (ten spaces) 

d. Malthouse Stables, Hurst Lane, Tipton (up to six spaces) 

e. Churchbridge, Oldbury (up to six spaces – informal) 

f. Caggy’s Boatyard, Watery Lane Tipton (up to six spaces - informal) 

g. The leisure mooring sites currently available in Sandwell include the Canal and River 

Trust (CRT)70 mooring sites, which include those at Titford Pump House, Engine Arm 

residential and Ocker Hill Moorings.  

4.103 Non-CRT permanent moorings are found at the Malthouse Stables and Caggy’s Boatyard; 

there are also two in Oldbury, on either side of Seven Stars Road. 

4.104 Where new residential development is proposed adjacent to canals, there is a potential to 

increase the number of long-term and residential moorings, as new development can 

provide greater access to facilities and a more secure and naturally surveyed environment. 

                                                

70  https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/about-us  

Page 968

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/about-us


113 

 

The Historic Environment  

4.105 The Black Country has a rich and diverse historic environment, which is evident in the 

survival of individual heritage assets and in the local character and distinctiveness of the 

broader landscape. The geodiversity of the Black Country underpins much of the 

subsequent development of the area, the importance of which is acknowledged by the 

inclusion of the Black Country Geopark in the UNESCO Global Geopark Network. The 

exploitation of abundant natural mineral resources, particularly those of the South 

Staffordshire coalfield, together with the early development of the canal network, gave rise to 

rapid industrialisation and the distinctive settlement patterns that characterise the area. 

4.106 Towns and villages with medieval origins survive throughout the area and remain distinct in 

character from the later 19th century industrial settlements, which typify the coalfield and 

gave rise to the description of the area as an “endless village” of communities, each boasting 

a particular manufacturing skill for which many were internationally renowned.  

4.107 Beyond its industrial heartland, the character of the Black Country can be quite different and 

varied. The green borderland, most prominent in parts of Dudley, Walsall, and the Sandwell 

Valley, is a largely rural landscape containing fragile remnants of the ancient past. 

Undeveloped ridges of high ground punctuate the urban landscape providing important 

views and points of reference that define the character of the many communities. Other parts 

of the Black Country are characterised by attractive, well-tree’d suburbs with large houses in 

substantial gardens and extensive mid-20th century housing estates designed on garden city 

principles.  

4.108 This diverse character is under constant threat of erosion from modern development, some 

small-scale and incremental and some large-scale and fundamental. As a result, some of the 

distinctiveness of the more historic settlements has already been lost to development of a 

homogenising nature. In many ways the Black Country is characterised by its ability to 

embrace change, but future changes will be greater and more intense than any sustained in 

the past. Whilst a legislative framework supported by national guidance exists to provide for 

the protection of statutorily designated heritage assets, the key challenge for the future is to 

manage change in a way that realizes the regeneration potential of the proud local heritage 

and distinctive character of the Black Country, including Sandwell. 

4.109 To ensure that heritage assets make a positive contribution towards the wider economic, 

social and environmental regeneration of the area, it is important that they are not 

considered in isolation but are conserved and enhanced within their wider context. A holistic 

approach to the built and natural environment maximises opportunities to improve the overall 

Page 969



114 

 

image and quality of life in the Black Country by ensuring that historic context informs 

planning decisions and provides opportunities to link with other environmental infrastructure 

initiatives. 

4.110 An analysis and understanding of the local character and distinctiveness of the area has 

been made using historic landscape characterisation principles. Locally distinctive areas of 

the Black Country were defined and categorised in the Black Country Historic Landscape 

Characterisation Study71 (2019) as Areas of High Historic Townscape Value, Areas of High 

Historic Landscape Value, Designed Landscapes of High Historic Value, and Archaeology 

Priority Areas. This builds on the work of the original Black Country Historic Landscape 

Characterization work (2009), other local historic landscape characterisation studies and 

plans, and the Historic Environment Records.  

Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

4.111 Historic England maintains a statutory list of buildings of special architectural or historic 

interest, known as listed buildings. 

4.112 Buildings are listed so that: 

• care is taken over decisions affecting its future; 

• any alterations respect the character and special interest of the building; 

• indiscriminate demolition is prevented; 

• irreparable damage to historic buildings caused by poorly executed alterations and 

extensions is avoided. 

4.113 There is a general presumption in favour of the preservation of listed buildings. Any 

substantial public benefits put forward to be balanced against substantial harm must directly 

relate to the development itself, must benefit the local community in the long term and must 

not otherwise be achievable. In addition, demolition or major alteration will not be considered 

without acceptable detailed plans for the site's development. 

4.114 The whole of a building is listed, both the interior and the exterior, as well as objects or 

structures fixed to the building, or which has been in the curtilage or formed part of the land 

associated with the building since before 1948. This means that it is the main building, both 

                                                

71 https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-
lr_redacted.pdf  

Page 970

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf


115 

 

inside and out, as well as anything within the garden or associated outside area (including 

the boundary walls) that are listed. 

4.115 Conservation Areas may be created where a local planning authority identifies an area of 

special architectural or historic interest, which deserves careful management to protect that 

character. In conservation areas there are some extra planning controls and considerations 

in place to protect the historic and architectural elements that make the place worthy of 

further consideration. 

4.116 Research by the London School of Economics72 has found that people value living in 

conservation areas. This is evidenced by properties in conservation areas having higher 

prices and greater price appreciation, even after adjusting for location and other factors that 

affect prices. 

Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

1. The impact of development proposals on the significance of Sandwell’s heritage 
assets and their settings will be considered in accordance with case law, legislation, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

2. Development proposals will be required to conserve and enhance local character 
and those aspects of the historic environment together with their settings that are 
recognised as being of special historic, archaeological, architectural, landscape or 
townscape quality.  

3. All proposals for development that may affect a heritage asset or its setting must be 
accompanied by an Assessment of Significance that should form part of a Design 
and Access Statement and / or a Heritage Impact Assessment. It should set out 
clearly the significance of the heritage asset, including any contribution made by its 
setting. The proposals should demonstrate how they respond to the significance of 
the asset. 

4. Sandwell Council will seek to conserve and enhance the settings of listed buildings 
by exercising appropriate control over the design of new development in their 
vicinity and the use of adjacent land; and, where appropriate, by the preservation of 
trees and landscape features. 

                                                

72  https://historicengland.org.uk/content/docs/research/assessment-ca-value-pdf/  

Page 971

https://historicengland.org.uk/content/docs/research/assessment-ca-value-pdf/


116 

 

Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

5. Proposals for new build, alterations or extensions within Sandwell’s conservation 
areas must respect the local historic character and architectural styles. This will 
include considering building scale, grouping, materials and fenestration. Design and 
Access Statements should highlight the significant components of the conservation 
area in relation to the proposal and clearly demonstrate how these proposals 
conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

6. Proposals for enabling development that helps secure a viable future use or 
improvement to a historic asset may be supported. 

Justification 

4.117 The protection and promotion of the historic character and local distinctiveness of Sandwell’s 

buildings, settlements and landscapes are key elements of sustainability and transformation 

and help to deliver Strategic Objective 4, to protect, sustain and enhance the quality of the 

built and historic environment, whilst ensuring the delivery of distinctive and attractive places.  

4.118 Local distinctiveness arises from the cumulative contribution made by various features and 

factors, both special and commonplace. It is the ordinary and commonplace features of 

Sandwell that, in fact, give it its distinctiveness and help to create a unique sense of place. 

This is beneficial for community identity and wellbeing as well as making places attractive to 

investment. 

4.119 Policy SHE1 aims to ensure that where physical evidence of local character persists, it 

should be conserved. Where development is proposed, every effort should be made to 

ensure that Sandwell’s historic environment is fully appreciated and enhanced in terms of its 

townscape, landscape and individual heritage assets, and that new development makes a 

positive contribution to the local character and distinctiveness of Sandwell. 

Development in the Historic Environment 

4.120 The NPPF states that plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 

enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, 

decay or other threats. 

4.121 To ensure that heritage assets make a positive contribution towards the wider economic, 

social and environmental regeneration of Sandwell, it is important that they are not 

considered in isolation but are conserved and enhanced within their wider context. A holistic 

approach to the built and natural environment maximises opportunities to improve the overall 

Page 972



117 

 

image and quality of life in Sandwell by ensuring that historic context informs planning 

decisions and provides opportunities to link with other environmental infrastructure initiatives. 

Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment 

1. New development in Sandwell that impacts on the historic environment should 
demonstrate that: 

a. all aspects of the historic character and distinctiveness of the locality, including 
any contribution made by their setting, and (where applicable) views into, from, 
or within them, have been fully assessed and used to inform proposals; and 

b. proposals have been prepared with full reference to the Black Country Historic 
Landscape Characterisation Study (October 2019), the Historic Environment 
Record, relevant conservation area appraisals and national and local policy.  

2. Development proposals that could have an impact on the historic significance73 of 
either designated heritage assets74 or non-designated heritage assets75 should be 
supported by evidence that their historic character and distinctiveness has been 
fully assessed and used to inform proposals. 

3. Historic assets that contribute positively to the local character and distinctiveness 
of Sandwell’s specific townscapes should be retained and, wherever possible, 
enhanced and their settings respected.  

4. The locally specific urban grain, vernacular and other architectural and historic 
details that contribute to local character and distinctiveness should be used to 
inform the form, scale, appearance, details, and materials of new development.  

5. All proposals should aim to sustain and reinforce special character and conserve 
the locally distinctive historic aspects of Sandwell; for example: 

                                                

73  NPPF Annex 2 - Significance: The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage 
interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic, or historic. Significance derives not only from a 
heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. 

74  NPPF 2021 Annex 2 - Designated heritage asset: A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, 
Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated under the 
relevant legislation 

75  NPPF 2 2021 Annex 2-  Heritage asset: A building monument, site, place, area, or landscape identified as having a 
degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes 
designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing). 

Page 973



118 

 

Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment 

a. The surviving pre-industrial settlements of medieval origin such as Wednesbury 
and Oldbury;  

b. Areas of Victorian and Edwardian higher-density development, which survive 
with a high degree of integrity, including terraced housing and its associated 
amenities, such as residential areas within West Bromwich Conservation Area; 

c. Areas of extensive lower density suburban development of the early and mid-
20th century, including public housing and private developments of semi-
detached and detached housing;  

d. Public open spaces, including Victorian and Edwardian municipal parks, often 
created upon land retaining elements of relict industrial landscape features such 
as Windmill End; 

e. The canal network and its associated infrastructure, surviving canal-side pre-
1939 buildings and structures, and archaeological evidence of the development 
of canal-side industries and former canal routes;  

f. Buildings, structures and archaeological remains of the traditional industries of 
Sandwell, including metal trades like chain-making and extractive industries 
such as quarrying on the Rowley Hills; 

g. The Rowley Hills (Turners Hill) and other largely undeveloped high prominences 
and views to and from these locations.  

Justification 

4.122 It is important to recognise that the historic character of Sandwell is made up of various 

heritage assets. Individually, some of these may be more important than others, but even the 

lesser ones are important in contributing to the borough’s overall character and quality.  

4.123 Different elements of the historic environment need to be taken into consideration, 

conserved and enhanced where possible as part of any proposed development in the area. 

Guidance for this can be obtained through a wide range of existing resources, such as 

landscape character assessments, conservation area appraisals, listed building and 

scheduled ancient monuments information and archaeological records; but it is also usually 

necessary to undertake a heritage impact assessment.  

Page 974



119 

 

4.124 The Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation (2009), along with other urban 

historic landscape characterisation studies, has provided a key evidence base to inform an 

understanding of the historic character of the Black Country. This work was built upon during 

the preparation of the Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study (2019)76. 

This was a review of the existing historic environment evidence base carried out to identify 

areas of significance to the historic environment, based upon the area’s historic landscape 

and townscape, as well as its archaeological and designed landscape value. 

Locally Listed Buildings 

4.125 A Local List contains details of buildings, structures or features that are not included by the 

Government on the statutory record of listed buildings, but which the Council believes are an 

important part of Sandwell’s heritage. Buildings and other structures included on the Local 

List need not be less significant in their context than designated assets; they will have 

important local significance.  

Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings 

1. Proposals for the alteration, extension and change of use of locally listed buildings 
or structures should clearly demonstrate that they will positively contribute towards 
the architectural or historical significance of the heritage asset.  

2. Demolition of locally listed buildings will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated 
that no viable use can be found for the building or that the proposed development 
will have a substantial public benefit. 

3. When demolition of a locally-listed building is unavoidable as part of a wider 
development, the Council will require an appropriate level of building recording prior 
to demolition taking place through the imposition of planning conditions. The 
approved recording shall be incorporated within the Historic Environment Record. 

Justification 

4.126 Under the National Planning Policy Framework, the conservation of locally listed heritage 

assets and the contribution they make to the local area will be a material consideration in 

                                                

76  https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf  

Page 975

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf


120 

 

planning decisions that directly affect them or their setting. Demolition of a building in a 

conservation area will need planning permission. 

4.127 Any works carried out to buildings on the local list should preserve or improve the building 

and any features of architectural or historical interest should be kept, and suitable materials 

used in any development affecting it. 

4.128 In considering planning applications involving locally listed buildings or heritage assets, the 

council will consider the need to preserve their character or appearance. It will look to protect 

locally listed buildings and assets and will encourage owners and developers to work to find 

suitable alternative uses for them wherever possible. 

Archaeology 

4.129 Archaeological assets provide important evidence of earlier human activity within the 

borough. They are particularly sensitive to damage from development and understanding of 

their significance may change as development takes place. 

Policy SHE4 - Archaeology 

1. Development should safeguard both designated and non-designated archaeological 
assets and the character and setting of areas of acknowledged archaeological 
significance.  

2. In considering proposals for development, Sandwell Council will seek to ensure 
that designated archaeological assets are preserved in situ, avoiding loss or harm 
to their significance, and their settings are also conserved and enhanced, to fully 
understand and utilise their archaeological, recreational and educational value.  

3. Development proposals that are likely to have a significant adverse impact on 
designated archaeological assets and their settings that cannot be avoided, or 
where the asset cannot be conserved in situ, will be resisted.  

4. Non-designated archaeological assets must be conserved wherever possible. 
Where it would be unreasonable to withhold planning permission for the 
development of such sites, provision will be made through agreements and 
conditions of planning permissions for an appropriate level of archaeological 
evaluation and recording to be undertaken, prior to impact on or loss of the asset. 
Evaluations / recordings will be included within Sandwell’s Historic Environment 
Record. 

Page 976



121 

 

Policy SHE4 - Archaeology 

5. For sites with known archaeological potential, Sandwell Council may require 
developers to provide archaeological assessments and / or field evaluation to 
support their proposals. This information will be used to assess the archaeological 
implications of the development and to identify requirements for archaeological 
preservation or investigation.  

Justification 

4.130 Sandwell’s heritage assets of archaeological interest include six Scheduled Monuments. 

Further locations within the borough have known archaeological potential.  

4.131 Scheduled monuments in Sandwell include the following:  

• Chances Glassworks, Smethwick 

• Engine Arm Aqueduct, Warley 

• Remains of the Boulton and Watt Soho foundry and mint, Birmingham Canal, 

Smethwick 

• Sandwell Priory, a Benedictine monastery 

• Smeaton's Summit Bridge 

• Smethwick Engine House 

4.132 Sandwell's archaeological heritage is a vital component of its historic environment 

comprising sites, buildings and structures. All archaeological remains potentially hold the key 

to a better understanding of the borough's past.  

4.133 Sandwell has identified several areas of archaeological importance to date; when new 

development is proposed within these areas an archaeological desk-based assessment 

should accompany the planning application. A record of all Sandwell's known archaeological 

sites is kept on the Historic Environment Record (HER). 

4.134 Desk-based assessment should include the results of the HER, information taken from the 

Heritage List for England, and any other relevant sources. It should examine and define the 

likelihood of encountering archaeological finds or features of all periods on the site during 

development works, and identify the need for and scope of, any further evaluation that might 

be necessary. 

  

Page 977



122 

 

5. Climate Change 

5.1 The impacts of flooding, overheating and other consequences of climate change will hinder 

the creation of vibrant, healthy and sustainable communities in Sandwell. The outcomes of 

climate change will also have serious impacts on vulnerable and deprived communities and 

those least able to respond.  

5.2 In response to this, the Council declared a climate change emergency and adopted a climate 

change strategy in 2020, with the aims of reaching carbon neutrality across all Council 

functions by 2030 and reaching carbon neutrality borough-wide by 2041. 

5.3 Without comprehensive action, climate change will severely limit economic growth. However, 

the approaches now required present a significant opportunity to deliver a decarbonised and 

resilient economy that supports job creation. 

5.4 Through the Climate Change Act 2008 and as a signatory of the Paris Agreement, the UK 

Government has committed to: 

• reduce emissions by at least 100% of 1990 levels by 2050; and 

• contribute to global emissions reductions aimed at limiting global temperature rise to 

well below 2°C and to pursue efforts to limit temperatures to 1.5°C above pre-industrial 

levels. 

5.5 Information from the Met Office77 indicates that under projections looking at potential climate 

change over land to the 2070s, a location in the middle of England is likely to experience 

changes in precipitation and temperature in both summer and winter78 equating to:  

Summer rainfall change 

41% drier to 9% wetter [low emissions scenario].  

57% drier to 3% wetter [high emissions scenario] 

Winter precipitation change 

3% drier to 22% wetter [low emissions scenario].  

2% drier to 33% wetter [high emissions scenario] 

Summer temperature change  

                                                

77  https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/metofficegovuk/pdf/research/ukcp/ukcp18-infographic-headline-
findings-land.pdf  

78  All results are for the 10th - 90th percentile range for the 2060 - 2079 period relative to 1981-2000 

Page 978

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/metofficegovuk/pdf/research/ukcp/ukcp18-infographic-headline-findings-land.pdf
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/metofficegovuk/pdf/research/ukcp/ukcp18-infographic-headline-findings-land.pdf


123 

 

No change to 3.3 °C warmer [low emissions scenario]. 

1.1°C warmer to 5.8 °C warmer [high emissions scenario] 

Winter temperature change 

-0.1 °C cooler to 2.4 °C warmer [low emissions scenario].  

0.7 °C warmer to 4.2 °C warmer [high emissions scenario] 

5.6 Local planning authorities are bound by the legal duty set out in Section 19 of the 2004 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, as amended by the 2008 Planning Act, to ensure 

that planning policy contributes to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. 

According to recent guidance issued by the Town and Country Planning Association and the 

Royal Town Planning Institute, 

The Section 19 duty is much more powerful in decision-making than the status of the 

NPPF, which is guidance, not statute. Where local development plan policy which 

complies with the duty is challenged by objectors or a planning inspector on the 

grounds, for example, of viability, they must make clear how the plan would comply with 

the duty if the policy were to be removed.79 

5.7 Chapter 14 of the NPPF addresses the duty of planning in helping to contend with a 

changing climate and the vulnerabilities it generates in the built and natural environments. 

This includes planning for zero and low carbon development, requiring renewable and low 

carbon energy supply, reducing emissions and greenhouse gases, the mitigation of flood 

risks and employing appropriate policy and design solutions to address rising temperatures, 

ventilation, the need for additional green infrastructure and the protection of the natural 

environment.  

5.8 Addressing climate change using strategic policies and requiring development to meet and 

sometimes exceed current standards makes economic sense both for local authorities and 

for homeowners and businesses potentially impacted by climate change: 

a) ensuring projects, plans and processes are resilient to climate change strengthens the 

ability to achieve identified objectives over the long-term, helping local authorities and 

other organisations achieve their wider plans and ambitions.  

b) screening public and strategic regeneration plans for climate risks can make them more 

attractive to inward investors by ensuring mitigation and adaptation aspects are 

                                                

79  https://tcpa.org.uk/resources/the-climate-crisis-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-planning-for-climate-change/  

Page 979

https://tcpa.org.uk/resources/the-climate-crisis-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-planning-for-climate-change/


124 

 

considered at an early stage, while ensuring buildings provide adequate heating and 

cooling supports workforce health and productivity; 

c) appropriate adaptation and mitigation allow assets and activities to continue performing 

during climate changes and will help to protect occupiers and users of buildings to 

continue to use them during times of environmental stress, such as flooding;  

d) pre-emptive adaptation action is generally more cost effective over time80 than the costs 

incurred in responding to the outcomes of extreme weather events; 

e) through careful planning, adaptation actions can deliver multiple benefits to projects / 

activities, such as improving health and wellbeing, increasing property values, skills, and 

employment, reducing emissions, and supporting biodiversity. 

5.9 The West Midlands Combined Authority declared a climate change emergency in June 

2019. In July 2019, it committed to net zero carbon emissions by 2041. This means that the 

region will be working towards meeting these targets through the timescale of the Sandwell 

Local Plan. 

5.10 To help Sandwell become a more efficient and resilient place, policies in the SLP will 

encourage development to:  

a) improve energy efficiency and move towards becoming zero carbon, in accordance 

with national targets and with the aims of the West Midlands Combined Authority 

commitment to achieve net zero carbon by 2041; 

b) help decarbonise the transport system by locating developments sustainably to reduce 

new trips and encouraging less energy intensive and more sustainable modes of 

transport (as set out in the Transport Chapter); 

c) ensure buildings and infrastructure are designed, landscaped, and made suitably 

accessible to help adapt to a changing climate, making efficient use of water, reducing 

impacts from natural hazards like flooding and heatwaves, and avoiding contributing to 

the urban heat island effect; 

d) create a safe and secure environment that is resilient to the impacts of climate-related 

emergencies; 

e) take an integrated approach to the delivery of strategic and local infrastructure by 

ensuring that public, private, community and voluntary sectors plan and work together. 

                                                

80  https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/adaptation_en  

Page 980

https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/adaptation_en


125 

 

Factors which may lead to the exacerbation of climate change (through the generation 

of more greenhouse gases) must be avoided (e.g., pollution, habitat fragmentation, 

loss of biodiversity) and the natural environment’s resilience to change should be 

protected.  

Increasing efficiency and resilience 

5.11 The Government has stated that all buildings need to be net zero carbon by 2050. Section 

19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), Section182 of the Planning Act 

(2008), the Planning and Energy Act (2008), and Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2023) all 

empower local planning authorities to enforce policies that seek to reduce carbon emissions 

from new homes.  

5.12 The NPPF (2023) states that plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and 

adapting to climate change. As part of this, new development should be planned for in ways 

that can help to eliminate greenhouse gas emissions, through careful consideration of 

matters such as its location, orientation and design. The following policies aim to ensure that 

future development address national energy and climate change objectives. 

5.13 Policy SCC1 sets out how new development proposals will be required to demonstrate they 

are designed to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change through a range of 

design requirements 

Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience 

1) Development should be designed to mitigate climate change impacts and provide 
adaptations that will help communities and individuals to continue to avoid or 
mitigate adverse effects on human health.  

2) Proposals for development will need to demonstrate how they have been designed 
to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change through addressing the 
following requirements:  

a. new buildings will be located, orientated and designed to maximise 
opportunities for both natural heating and ventilation and to reduce exposure 
to wind and other elements (Policy SDS4; Policy SDM1); 

b. development proposals will need to meet the needs of all sections of the 
community by including a range of sustainable and low carbon transport 
modes as alternatives to private car use (Policy STR6);  

Page 981



126 

 

Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience 

c. use of trees and other planting in landscaping schemes will be required 
throughout Sandwell, to provide for the shading of amenity areas, buildings 
and streets, mitigate against poor air quality and help connect fragmented 
habitats and protect and support biodiversity networks (Policy SNE3);  

d. landscaping schemes should be designed using a mix of native tree species 
and plants where appropriate and should also use species that are able to 
adapt to changing climate conditions (Policy SNE3); 

e. all development will need to minimise the impact of surface water runoff 
through the design of proposed drainage systems, including where possible 
grey water recycling and rainwater collection, and the use of permeable 
surfaces (Policy SCC4);  

f. development should make provision for sustainable drainage infrastructure, 
which should be built into landscaping schemes / open space provision as 
appropriate (Policy SCC5); 

g. development will be required to incorporate mitigation and resilience measures 
designed to reduce the risk of river, surface and other potential water flooding 
(Policy SCC4);  

h. the conversion of non-domestic buildings to residential use will be expected to 
employ high environmental standards, incorporating improved thermal 
insulation, appropriate levels of natural ventilation and measures to improve 
water efficiency; 

i. applications for planning permission should promote circular economy 
outcomes and seek to reduce whole life-cycle carbon emissions of 
development proposals by considering the reuse of existing resources, 
including the conversion of existing buildings, early in the design stage; and / 
or 

j. proposals for increasing the energy efficiency and resilience to climate change 
of designated heritage assets will be supported only where this will not cause 
an unacceptable level of harm to the historic fabric, character, setting or 
appearance of the asset. 

Page 982



127 

 

Justification 

5.14 Buildings, services, and infrastructure need to be able to cope with the impacts of climate 

change. Part of this will relate to ensuring that development is able to cope with more 

intense rainfall, the possibility of flooding, heat waves and droughts. The design of 

development therefore needs to address shading, insulation and ventilation, surface water 

runoff and storage and the use of appropriate tree planting and landscaping, to futureproof 

schemes against more extreme weather conditions. 

5.15 Where possible and appropriate, the retrofitting of residential and other properties to achieve 

higher standards of energy and water efficiency will be encouraged and supported.  

5.16 This policy should be read in conjunction with Policy SCC6, which covers the use of 

renewable and low carbon energy and energy-saving measures. It should also be read in 

conjunction with Policy SDM1, which promotes good design including the management of 

water resources, and Policies SCC4 and SCC5, which look in more detail at the provision of 

SuDS and the control and mitigation of flooding. 

5.17 Policies in the SLP demonstrate that adaptation to and mitigation of climate change can be 

achieved across all forms of development.  

5.18 The Planning Practice Guidance section on climate change81 identifies examples of 

mitigating climate change, which promote low and zero carbon technologies, sustainable 

modes of transport and the use of innovative design and energy production.  

5.19 The provision of trees and other elements of green infrastructure will be essential in helping 

to mitigate and adapt to changing climates; their positive impacts on air quality, heat 

reduction and ecological networks and habitats will be vital in helping to deliver sustainable 

and comfortable living and working environments across Sandwell. Development will be 

expected to increase local tree canopy cover through habitat creation, landscaping and 

biodiversity net gain. This is explained in more detail in Policy SNE3. 

5.20 Examples of adapting to climate change include: 

a) considering future climate-related risks when allocating development sites, to ensure 

risks are understood and accounted for over the development’s lifetime; 

b) considering flood risk in the design of developments; 

                                                

81  Paragraph: 003 reference ID: 6-003-20140612 

Page 983



128 

 

c) considering the availability of water and water infrastructure, and design to promote 

water efficiency and protect water quality; 

d) promoting adaption in design policies, developments and works in the public realm. 

5.21 The UK generates 50-60 million tonnes of non-hazardous construction and demolition waste 

each year82. The Green Construction Board published The Routemap for Zero Avoidable 

Waste in Construction in 2021 with support from Government83. This recommends steps that 

could be taken to reduce construction and demolition waste, including giving first 

consideration to the retention and reuse of existing resources and buildings.  

5.22 Whole life carbon emissions are the entire amount of carbon produced by buildings and 

infrastructure and can be divided into embodied and operational emissions. Embodied 

carbon refers to the carbon emissions that are released during the manufacture, 

transportation, construction and end of life phases of all buildings and infrastructure84. The 

retention and reuse of existing resources and buildings can reduce the embodied carbon 

associated with a development project. 

Energy Infrastructure 

5.23 The NPPF (2023) states that plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and 

adapting to climate change. Development should be planned for in ways that help eliminate 

greenhouse gas emissions, such as through consideration of its location, orientation and 

design. 

5.24 To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat, plans 

should provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources. Policy SCC2 sets out how 

energy infrastructure will be considered, including how opportunities for decentralised 

energy85 and district heating86 will be identified.  

                                                

82  https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data/uk-statistics-on-waste#recovery-rate-from-non-hazardous-
construction-and-demolition-cd-waste 

83  https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/ZAW-Interactive-Routemap-FINAL.pdf 
84  https://worldgbc.org/advancing-net-zero/embodied-carbon/  
85   Energy that is generated close to where it will be used, rather than at an industrial plant and sent through the national 

grid, including micro-renewables, heating and cooling. It can refer to energy from waste plants, communal or district 
heating and cooling, as well as geothermal, biomass or solar energy. Decentralised heat or power networks can serve 
a single building or a whole community, even being built out across entire cities  

86  A system that distributes heat or hot water from a central source to a group of residential or commercial buildings 
through a network of underground pipes carrying hot water. Heat networks can be supplied by a range of sources 
including energy-from-waste (EfW) facilities, combined heat and power (CHP) plants and heat pumps. The advantages 
include cost savings, higher efficiencies and carbon emission reductions. 

Page 984

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data/uk-statistics-on-waste#recovery-rate-from-non-hazardous-construction-and-demolition-cd-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data/uk-statistics-on-waste#recovery-rate-from-non-hazardous-construction-and-demolition-cd-waste
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/ZAW-Interactive-Routemap-FINAL.pdf
https://worldgbc.org/advancing-net-zero/embodied-carbon/


129 

 

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure 

Decentralised energy networks and district heating provision 

1. Any development including ten homes or more, or non-residential floorspace 
of 1,000m2 or more must include opportunities for decentralised energy 
provision within the site, unless it can be demonstrated that the development 
is not suitable, feasible or viable for district heat or decentralised energy 
networks.  

2. Where there is existing decentralised energy provision available close to the 
site, the development will be expected to link into it, or should be designed to 
accommodate a subsequent connection87 if a source has not yet become 
operational.  

3. Where developers can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council that a 
link to an existing or committed decentralised energy source nearby is not 
viable, the local authority will support the provision of alternative onsite 
carbon elimination measures that can be incorporated into the scheme (Policy 
SCC6).  

4. Proposals intended to deliver decentralised networks and related 
infrastructure will need to prevent or minimise any adverse impacts on the 
historic environment by ensuring that they protect the significance of heritage 
assets, including their setting. 

Onsite energy provision 

5. Developers should engage with relevant energy companies and bodies at an 
early stage in the development process to establish the likely future energy 
and infrastructure requirements arising from large-scale development 
proposals including 100 homes or more, or non-residential floorspace of 
10,000m2 or more. Proposals for addressing energy provision on such sites 
should be developed and agreed between the local planning authority and 
developer(s) to establish the lowest lifetime carbon energy provision.  

                                                

87  Where a decentralised energy source is extant or will become operational during the construction of the development, 
and a proposed linkage has been agreed, suitable means of access / connection should be provided along roads / 
footpaths as a minimum form of infrastructure.  

Page 985



130 

 

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure 

6. Information to support the preferred solution(s) should identify and address: 

a) current and future major sources of demand for heat (e.g., sites such as 
industrial / manufacturing sites, universities, large-scale sporting or 
leisure development, hospitals and social housing); 

b) demands for heat from existing buildings that can be connected to 
future phases of a heat network; 

c) major heat supply plant; 

d) possible opportunities to utilise energy from waste or waste heat from 
industrial processes; 

e) opportunities for heat networks; 

f) opportunities for private wire electricity supply; 

g) possible land for energy centres and / or energy storage; 

h) possible heating and cooling network routes; 

i) infrastructure and land requirements for electricity and gas supplies; 

j) feasibility of built-in renewable energy generation (Policy SCC6); and 

k) implementation options for delivering feasible projects, considering 
issues of procurement, funding and risk, and the role of the public 
sector. 

Heating / hot water systems 

7. Heat sources for a district heating system should be chosen to minimise 
likely emissions and to make best use of any local decentralised networks, in 
preference to other solutions. 

8. Where a district heating system is provided, development proposals must 
provide evidence to show that NOx emissions related to energy generation 
will be equivalent to or lower than those of an ultra-low NOx88 gas boiler. 

                                                

88  Ultra-low NOx boiler Standard specified in the Black Country Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document. 

Page 986



131 

 

Justification 

5.25 The ways in which heating and power are delivered to and used in development will need to 

change to meet the requirements of a zero carbon future and the intended elimination of 

greenhouse gas emission. The use of fossil fuels and traditional forms of energy generation 

will need to be phased out and replaced by zero-carbon, non-polluting and energy-efficient 

sources. These methods will include the use of heat networks and communal heating 

systems wherever possible. 

5.26 The policy requires that the feasibility of incorporating opportunities for decentralised energy 

provision is considered for all applicable development proposals. If low-carbon decentralised 

power and heating systems do not currently exist or are still in the process of being 

delivered, developers should ensure that new housing and employment schemes are 

provided with the infrastructure to link into those networks when they become available. 

Information on these links should be included in a design and access or planning statement, 

which should also explain how access to a decentralised network can be achieved in the 

future if it is not currently operational or available. 

5.27 Once a heat network is in place, heat that otherwise goes to waste can be harnessed and 

used; for example, waste heat from industry, from power stations or from low temperature 

heat sources such as from data centres. Heat can even be taken from rivers and canals that 

run through urban areas like Sandwell and from the warm mine-water left in old coal mines. 

5.28 Where a link to an existing or committed decentralised energy source is not viable, the 

Council will support the provision of alternative on-site zero carbon measures. This may 

include, for example, the provision of built-in renewable energy generation for individual 

buildings or other forms of decentralised energy provision within the site.  

5.29 The Government is intending to introduce Heat Network Zoning in England by 2025 and the 

connection of certain buildings to heat networks within these zones will become mandatory 

on adoption of the legislation. This zoning will provide the market with a level of certainty that 

the demand for heat networks will be there to support investment decisions and growth in 

the market.  

5.30 Within Heat Network Zones, large public-sector buildings, large non-domestic buildings, all 

new-builds and residential buildings that are already heated via communal systems (such as 

tower blocks) would be required to connect to the heat network within a given timeframe89. 

                                                

89  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/heat-and-buildings-strategy  

Page 987

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/heat-and-buildings-strategy


132 

 

5.31 Heat networks are not limited to a particular source of energy and can be delivered with a 

degree of flexibility to reflect local circumstances. Heat Networks can also be future-proofed 

for transition to other fuels. Government funding is available to support the transition to heat 

networks90 and is intended to incentivise heat network market transition to low carbon heat 

sources via targeted financial support, which will help stimulate the increased deployment of 

low carbon technologies at scale.  

5.32 In the Black Country, Repowering the Black Country is a programme of initiatives supporting 

Black Country businesses to take advantage of global clean growth opportunities and to 

make the transition to a net zero industrial future. The project will initially develop four zero 

carbon industrial hubs in the Black Country. Within the next ten years, the aim is to reduce 

industrial carbon emissions by around 1.3M tCO2
91. 

Heating and hot water systems 

5.33 There is a broad hierarchy of provision that should be followed when considering and 

providing for communal heating systems on major residential schemes and where non-

residential development would be of a scale to warrant some element of on-site provision. As 

an illustration, an appropriate hierarchical approach might be as follows:  

a) local existing or planned heat networks; 

b) use available local secondary heat sources (in conjunction with heat pumps, if 

required, and a lower temperature heating system); 

c) generate clean heat and / or power from zero-emission sources; 

d) use of fuel cells. If using natural gas in areas where legal air quality limits are 

exceeded, all development proposals must provide evidence to show that any 

emissions related to energy generation will be equivalent to or lower than those of an 

ultra-low NOx gas boiler; 

e) use ultra-low NOx gas boilers only if more sustainable alternatives are unavailable; 

f) ultra-low NOx gas boiler communal or district heating systems, designed to ensure that 

there is no significant impact on local air quality. 

                                                

90  The Green Heat Networks Fund is a three-year, £288m capital grant fund that opened to applicants in March 2022; it 
provides support to delivery of low carbon networks. 

91  https://idric.org/stakeholders/black-country-cluster/  

Page 988

https://idric.org/stakeholders/black-country-cluster/


133 

 

Managing Heat Risk 

5.34 As part of the plan’s proactive approach towards mitigating and adapting to climate change, 

Policy SCC3 sets out the requirements for managing heat risk within new development 

proposals. 

Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk 

1. Development proposals92 should minimise both internal heat gain and the impacts 
of urban heat islands93 by using appropriate design, layout, orientation and 
materials.  

2. Opportunities to benefit from the proximity of existing heat sinks such as canals 
and other bodies of water should be explored and incorporated into proposals 
where available. 

3. Development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how their potential for 
overheating and reliance on artificial cooling systems will be reduced, in 
accordance with the following cooling hierarchy: 

a) minimise internal heat generation through energy-efficient design; 

b) reduce the amount of heat entering a building through orientation, shading, 
albedo94, fenestration, insulation and the provision of green roofs and walls 
(Policies SDS4 and SDM1); 

c) manage heat within a building through exposed internal thermal mass95 and 
high ceilings; 

d) provide passive ventilation; 

e) provide mechanical ventilation;  

                                                

92  Excluding domestic extensions.  
93  Caused by extensive built-up areas absorbing and retaining heat. 
94  The reflectivity of a surface. A high albedo surface reflects the sun’s heat back into the atmosphere; low albedo 

surfaces absorb it. Pale-coloured surfaces have a high albedo and can help to minimise heat gain. 
95  'Thermal mass' is a material's capacity to absorb, store and release heat. 

 

Page 989



134 

 

Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk 

f) provide active cooling systems96. 

Justification 

5.35 Global temperatures are rising, and this has been paralleled by changes in the weather in 

the UK. The Met Office published a document97 in 2022 outlining current trends and 

predictions in the UK, including the following:  

2.1 … The average temperature over the most recent decade (2009-2018) has been 

on average 0.3°C warmer than the 1981-2010 average and 0.9°C warmer than the 

1961-1990 average. All the top ten warmest years for the UK, in the series from 

1884, have occurred since 2002. 

5.36 The urban heat island effect98 is caused by extensive built-up areas absorbing and retaining 

heat during the day and night, leading to those areas being several degrees warmer than 

their surroundings. With higher temperatures across the country, the likelihood of heat being 

trapped in this way is very likely to increase. 

5.37 Retained heat can become problematic, to the point where circumstances can lead to 

physical discomfort and disruption, but for those with certain health conditions, the very 

young or the elderly, the effects can be serious. The use of green roofs and / or walls can 

provide some mitigation by shading roof surfaces and through the mechanism of 

evapotranspiration. 

5.38 The concept of thermal inequity99 will also have relevance in areas of the Black Country 

including Sandwell, whereby because of uneven social geographies, urban heating effects 

impact disproportionately on poorer / marginalised communities living in urban environments. 

This is exacerbated by a planning policy approach that concentrates development in urban 

areas, at higher densities and in taller forms. The removal of urban greening and trees to 

facilitate increased development densities will have further adverse effects on ambient 

temperatures in the vicinity. 

                                                

96  Systems using energy to provide cooling. They circulate a coolant (gas, fluid) to transfer heat from one place to 
another. 

97  UK Climate Projections: Headline Findings (September 2022) Version 4 
98  www.metlink.org/fieldwork-resource/urban-heat-island-introduction/ 
99  Jason Byrne et al 2016 Environ. Res. Lett. 11 095014 

Page 990

http://www.metlink.org/fieldwork-resource/urban-heat-island-introduction/
https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/11/9/095014/meta


135 

 

5.39 Certain aspects of building design intended to increase energy efficiency and reduce heat 

demand, such as increased glazing and airtightness, can also exacerbate heat risk and 

cause uncomfortable living conditions. Design solutions can be found in the hierarchy 

proposed in Policy SCC3.  

5.40 Means of minimising heat risk may include, though not be limited to, inclusion of mitigation 

measures such as:  

a) solar shading, for instance through landscaping or brise-soleil100,  

b) using appropriate materials in areas exposed to direct sunlight,  

c) using landscaping and permeable surfaces to mitigate against flooding / run-off, 

counter poor air quality and allow for heat absorption. 

5.41 Mechanical air conditioning will use more energy and generate significant amounts of 

additional greenhouse gases and thus should be avoided where possible. 

5.42 As addressed in Policy SNE3, the use of trees in landscaping schemes can generate 

significant natural shading. The layout and orientation of new houses should also be 

considered carefully, to avoid existing or newly-planted trees creating excessive shading 

during cooler, darker times of the year. 

5.43 In addition to this, the Canal and River Trust and the University of Manchester collaborated 

on a 2019 study that demonstrated that canals can effectively act to cool adjacent buildings 

in urban areas. The research showed that there is likely to be a cooling effect between 0.3°C 

and 1.6°C within a 100-metre-wide corridor of the canal during the hottest hours of the day 

(the variation in temperature was from differing orientations of the canals tested and the 

configuration of the surrounding buildings)101. Where canals and other bodies of water exist 

adjacent to development sites, opportunities to make use of this feature should be 

incorporated into designs where possible. 

Flood Risk  

5.44 In recent years floods, storms and droughts have shown how vulnerable the UK is to 

extremes of weather, resulting in significant economic, social, and environmental cost. 

Climate change also means that extreme weather events will become more frequent and 

have the potential to cause damage to affected communities.  

                                                

100  Architectural feature that reduces heat gain within a building by deflecting sunlight 
101  https://www.manchester.ac.uk/discover/news/canals-can-help-the-

uk/#:~:text=Research%20published%20by%20The%20University,wide%20corridor%20along%20the%20waterway.  

Page 991

https://www.manchester.ac.uk/discover/news/canals-can-help-the-uk/#:%7E:text=Research%20published%20by%20The%20University,wide%20corridor%20along%20the%20waterway
https://www.manchester.ac.uk/discover/news/canals-can-help-the-uk/#:%7E:text=Research%20published%20by%20The%20University,wide%20corridor%20along%20the%20waterway


136 

 

5.45 The most significant sources of flood risk in Sandwell are fluvial (river) and pluvial (surface 

water) flooding, which pose significant risks to several areas within Sandwell’s boundary. 

The primary fluvial flood risk lies along the River Tame and River Stour and the tributaries of 

these watercourses. Surface water flooding is mostly caused by intense rainfall events. 

There are many areas at high risk of surface water flooding in the Black Country, due to the 

heavily urbanised nature of the area that impedes natural infiltration and drainage. 

5.46 Climate change projections show an increased chance of warmer, wetter winters and hotter, 

drier summers, with a higher likelihood of more frequent and intense rainfall. This is likely to 

make severe flooding occur more often; effective flood risk management is one of the most 

important ways of adapting to intensive rainfall events. Ensuring that developments are 

planned to avoid vulnerability and manage risks with suitable adaptation measures where 

required will help to mitigate against related adverse impacts and disruptions. 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

1. Sandwell Council will seek to minimise the probability and consequences of flooding 
from all sources by adopting a strong risk-based approach to site allocations and the 
granting of planning permission, in line with the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

2. A Sequential Test102 will:  

a. be applied to all developments to ensure that development takes place in areas 
with the lowest flood risk, in line with NPPF requirements; 

b. take account of the most up-to-date information available on river flooding and 
all other sources of flooding, making use of the information provided in the 
2020 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) updated in 2021 and any future 
updates; and 

c. consider the impact of climate change over the lifetime of that development.  

3. Developers should apply the Sequential Test to all development sites, unless the 
proposal is for:  

a. a strategic allocation, and the test has already been carried out by the LPA; or  

b. a change of use (except to a more vulnerable use); or  

                                                

102  NPPF (2023), paragraph 162 

Page 992



137 

 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

c. a minor development (householder development, small non-residential 
extensions with a footprint of less than 250m2); or  

d. a development in Flood Zone 1, unless there are other flooding issues in the 
vicinity of the development (i.e., surface water, ground water, sewer flooding). 
The SFRA can be used to identify where there are flooding issues from sources 
others than rivers.  

4. Developers should provide evidence to the Council that they have considered all 
reasonably available alternative sites that are at a lower risk of flooding prior to 
determining the suitability of the chosen site for the proposed development type, in 
relation to all sources of flood risk on it. 

5. For all developments the vulnerability of the development type to flooding should be 
assessed using the most up-to-date flood zone information in accordance with the 
NPPF, as set out below: 

a. Flood Zone 3 

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 3b (Functional Floodplain), all development 
other than essential infrastructure (subject to the Exception Test) will be 
refused (including extensions and intensification of use and changes of use) 
and opportunities to relocate development out of the floodplain should be 
sought; 

ii. Where the site is in Flood Zone 3a (High Probability), new homes can only be 
permitted subject to the Exception Test. 

b. Flood Zone 2 

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 2 (Medium Probability), most development can 
be permitted, subject to a site-specific flood risk assessment; 

ii. Highly vulnerable developments, such as caravans, mobile homes and park 
homes with permanent residential use can be permitted, subject to the 
Exception Test; 

c. Flood Zone 1 

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 1 (Low Probability), the information in the 2020 
SFRA should be used to assess if a development is at risk from other sources 

Page 993



138 

 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

of flooding and / or if there is an increased risk of flooding in the future due to 
climate change. If this site is shown to be at risk, a site-specific flood risk 
assessment should accompany a planning application. 

6. To pass the Exception Test, developments will need to:  

a. demonstrate that wider sustainability benefits to the community outweigh flood 
risk. Matters such as biodiversity, green infrastructure, historic environment, 
climate change adaptation, flood risk, green energy, pollution, health and 
transport should be considered;  

b. prove that the development will be safe from flooding for its lifetime, taking 
account of the vulnerability of its users; and 

c. prove that the development can be achieved without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere, and, where possible, will result in a reduced flood risk overall. 

7. All new developments in the following locations should be accompanied by a flood 
risk assessment and surface water drainage strategy that sets out how the 
development will provide a betterment in flood risk terms i.e., help to reduce flood 
risk both on and off site:  

a. where any part of the site is within Flood Zone 2 or Flood Zone 3;  

b. where the site is greater than one hectare and is within Flood Zone 1;  

c. where the site is a minerals or waste development;  

d. where the site is within five metres of an ordinary watercourse;  

e. where the site is within 20m of a known flooding hotspot; or 

f. where the site is within the 1 in 100-year flood extent based on the Risk of 
Flooding from Surface Water Map.  

8. Surface water drainage strategies are also required for all major developments. 
These should consider all sources of flooding to ensure that future development is 
resilient to flood risk and does not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

Groundwater Source Protection Zones 

9. No development will be permitted within a groundwater Source Protection Zone that 
would physically disturb an aquifer. A risk assessment demonstrating there would 

Page 994



139 

 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

be no adverse effect on water resources will be required prior to the grant of 
planning permission. 

Watercourses and flood mitigation  

10. Developments should, where possible naturalise urban watercourses (by 
reinstating a natural, sinuous river channel and restoring the functional floodplain) 
and open up underground culverts, to provide biodiversity net gain as well as 
amenity improvements; reference should be made to the latest River Basin 
Management Plans103.  

11. Developers should set out how their mitigation designs will ensure that there is no 
net increase to fluvial flood risk downstream and where practicable how the 
development could help mitigate against downstream fluvial flood risk.  

12. Development should not take place over culverted watercourses and a suitable 
easement should be provided from the outside edge of the culvert.  

13. There should be no built development within five metres of an ordinary 
watercourse and within ten metres of the top of the bank of a main river. This is to 
enable the preservation of the watercourse corridor, wildlife habitat, flood flow 
conveyance and future watercourse maintenance or improvement.  

14. Where there is a known or suspected culverted watercourse either on or 
immediately downstream of a site, where the SFRA highlights there may be a risk of 
flooding, developers should:  

a. confirm the location and presence of a watercourse (or otherwise) through 
ground-truthing strategic datasets and undertaking an assessment of the 
culvert extent and condition;  

b. confirm by survey, modelling and mapping, the flood extents of the 
watercourse(s), as many of the flood outlines associated with such 
watercourses have been carried out at a broad scale and may not take into 
account specific local features, such as culverts, bridges and detailed 
topographical survey; and 

                                                

103  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/river-basin-management-plans-updated-2022  

Page 995

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/river-basin-management-plans-updated-2022


140 

 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

c. design the development to accommodate the floodplain of the watercourse and 
mitigate against flooding to properties on the site. This should include a 
consideration of residual flood risk e.g., if a culvert were to block downstream.  

15. All developments should seek to provide wider betterment by demonstrating in 
site-specific flood risk assessments and surface water drainage strategies (where 
required) what measures can be put in place to contribute to a reduction in overall 
flood risk downstream. This may be by:  

a. provision of additional storage on site e.g., through oversized SuDS, natural 
flood management techniques, green infrastructure and green-blue corridors; 
and / or  

b. by providing a partnership funding contribution towards wider community 
schemes (both within and beyond the Black Country, in shared catchments with 
Southern Staffordshire and Birmingham).  

16. Consultation on site-specific requirements should be undertaken with the Council, 
the Environment Agency and Severn Trent Water (where this is a sewer flooding 
issue) at the earliest opportunity. 

Justification 

5.47 The Black Country is a densely populated and, in places, steeply sloping urban area. This 

makes it prone to rapid surface water flooding following heavy rainfall and flooding from 

smaller watercourses that are tributaries of the Rivers Trent and Severn. The industrial 

legacy has left complex urban drainage challenges, with many watercourses that have been 

heavily modified and culverted in places, providing little if any biodiversity benefit and being 

prone to blockages. Several main rivers flow through the area; these are the watercourses 

used to support the general requirement of 10m easement from main rivers. 

5.48 Watercourses within Sandwell are predominantly culverted, with two significant exceptions to 

this; the River Tame, which drains most of the borough, and the River Stour, located in the 

southwest. The borough lies in the upper reaches of these river systems, which eventually 

flow into the River Trent and River Severn respectively. There is an extensive canal network 

throughout the Sandwell area, including culverts and feeder streams. 

5.49 Climate change will increase the likelihood of surface water and localised flooding from 

smaller and culverted watercourses. Alongside this the condition of many culverted 

Page 996



141 

 

watercourses are failing as they age, and where they lack maintenance, and therefore the 

likelihood of blockages or failure increases. Sustainable Drainage Systems provide an 

opportunity to replicate natural drainage systems through new development, which will help 

to reduce flood risk, improve water quality, and provide wider environmental benefits. Hence 

an approach is needed to new development that recognises local flood risk constraints and 

contributes wherever possible to wider environmental and flood risk improvements.  

5.50 The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance requires that inappropriate development in areas 

at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest 

risk, applying the Sequential Test and if necessary, applying the Exception Test. Where 

development is necessary the NPPF and technical guidance recognises that there may be 

exceptions for certain at-risk sites where there are no suitable and reasonably available 

lower risk sites. In exceptional circumstances, where development is necessary in areas of 

risk and an alternative site at lower risk cannot be found, appropriate mitigation measures 

will be required to make it safe. These must not increase or displace flood risk elsewhere. 

Sustainable drainage and surface water management (SuDS) 

5.51 As a heavily urbanised and industrial borough, much of the land in Sandwell is covered in 

impervious surfaces (such as roads, pavements, hardstanding, and rooftops), which are 

water-resistant and prevent rainwater from soaking away into the ground. This has led to a 

high dependence on hard engineering solutions to manage rainwater run-off, storage and 

drainage, and has increased the risk of isolated surface water flooding. 

5.52 Policy SCC5 sets out the requirements for new development to incorporate sustainable 

drainage and surface water management solutions (SuDS), to increase the amount of 

rainwater that is drained in sustainable ways. 

Policy SCC5 - Sustainable drainage and surface water management  

1. All new developments in Sandwell should incorporate Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS); development proposals should provide details of adoption, 
ongoing maintenance and management of SuDS.  

2. SuDS shall be designed in line with the Black Country Local Standards for SUDS. 
Preference will be given to systems that also contribute to the conservation and 
enhancement of biodiversity and green infrastructure in the wider area. 

3. For all major developments, surface water flows must be reduced back to 
equivalent greenfield rates. If greenfield runoff rates are not considered to be 

Page 997



142 

 

Policy SCC5 - Sustainable drainage and surface water management  

feasible for viability or other reasons, the developer must submit evidence 
demonstrating what the constraints are and how the development will 
accommodate runoff rates that are as close as possible to greenfield rates.  

4. For all minor developments, a minimum reduction of 30% over pre-development 
runoff rates will be required. Under no circumstances will post-development runoff 
rates that are greater than pre-development runoff rates be permitted. Surface water 
run-off should be managed as close to its source as possible. 

5. Surface water drainage strategies are required for all major developments, 
regardless of their size and the flood zone and catchment they are in to meet the 
requirements of the Lead Local Flood Authority. These should consider all sources 
of flooding to ensure that future development is resilient to flood risk and does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere and should look to provide wider betterment. 

6. A hydrogeological risk assessment is required where infiltration SuDS is proposed 
for anything other than clean roof drainage in a Source Protection Zone 1104. 

Justification 

5.53 The incorporation of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) into new developments helps to 

manage and minimise surface water. SuDS are generally landscaped facilities such as 

wetlands, retention ponds, soakaways, swales and /or permeable surfaces. Their primary 

function is to reduce the volume and peak rates of water run-off from new development, but 

they should also be designed to fulfil their potential to provide new wildlife habitats and 

amenity spaces in new developments; they should be multifunctional.  

5.54 SuDS can also improve water quality by increasing the filtration of pollutants and will thereby 

help to support the objectives of the Water Framework Directive. They allow the 

management of diffuse pollution generated in urban areas by treating water and reducing the 

level of pollutants that enter rivers and other watercourses therefore resulting in less 

wastewater requiring treatment.  

                                                

104  Source Protection Zones are designed to control activities close to water supplies intended for human consumption. 
These water sources include wells, boreholes and springs, all of which are used for public drinking. Zone 1, defined as 
the inner zone, is the most sensitive part of an area within a zone. 

 

Page 998



143 

 

5.55 The NPPF makes it clear that:  

Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is 

clear evidence that this would be inappropriate105. 

5.56 Due to the legacy of contaminated land created by heavy industry and extractive activities in 

Sandwell, there is a risk of polluting groundwater and /or surface water if SuDs are not 

properly designed. The presence of contaminated land needs to be considered when 

planning SuDS; national guidance such as the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753 provides guidance 

for the use of SuDS on contaminated land. 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards 

5.57 It is essential for the successful delivery of the SLP that a high standard of sustainable 

design is secured on all new developments over the Plan period. This will reduce carbon 

emissions from new development, improve design quality and “liveability” and help create a 

high-quality environment, which in turn will maximise economic competitiveness and housing 

choice. 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM 
Standards 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy generation 

1. Proposals involving the development of renewable or low carbon energy sources will 
be permitted where the proposal:  

a. accords with local and national guidance;  

b. would not significantly harm the natural or built environment; 

c. maintains and safeguards the historic environment and heritage assets, including 
their setting; and / or 

d. will not have a significant adverse effect on the amenities of those living or 
working nearby106.  

Low carbon and renewable requirements for development 

                                                

105  NPPF (2021) paragraph 169 or later iteration 
106  E.g., by generating adverse visual, noise, odour, air pollution or other effects 

Page 999



144 

 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM 
Standards 

2. Small developments creating between one and nine homes or non-residential 
floorspace of less than 1,000m2 gross (whether new build or conversion) must 
incorporate energy generated from renewable or low carbon sources sufficient to 
off-set at least 10% of the estimated residual energy demand107 of the development 
on completion. 

3. Major developments creating ten or more homes or non-residential floorspace of 
1,000m2 gross or more (whether new build or conversion) must incorporate the 
generation of energy from renewable or low carbon sources sufficient to off-set at 
least 20% of the estimated residual energy demand of the development on 
completion. 

4. A variety of renewable and low-carbon energy sources and generation methods 
should be assessed and costed, including on-site and off-site sources where 
appropriate and the use of district heat and / or decentralised energy networks where 
available or proposed. An energy assessment must be submitted with the planning 
application to demonstrate that these requirements have been met. 

5. The potential for inland waterways to promote low carbon technologies is 
recognised; in appropriate locations adjacent to Sandwell’s canal network, 
proposals to heat and cool new properties using water source heat pumps will be 
welcomed and supported.  

6. The renewable energy target will only be reduced if it can be demonstrated that 
achievement of the target would: 

a) make the proposal unviable through submission of an independently assessed 
financial viability appraisal; or 

b) would not be feasible due to practical constraints. 

BREEAM Standards 

                                                

107  Residual energy demand means that the estimated energy demand for the operational development after allowance 
has been made for the full range of energy efficiency measures required under Building Regulations (at the time of 
construction). 

Page 1000



145 

 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM 
Standards 

7. All new build non-residential developments, student housing and care homes of 
1,000 sqm gross or more should achieve the following standards of BREEAM New 
Construction certification, including full credits for category Wat 01 (water 
efficiency): 

Size Standard Year 

1,000 - 5,000m2 
gross 

BREEAM Very Good  up to 2029* 

BREEAM Excellent 2029 - 2039* 

>5,000m2 gross BREEAM Excellent  

* Year refers to date planning permission is granted 

8. BREEAM requirements may be varied if it can be demonstrated that achievement of 
the standard would make the proposal unviable, through submission of an 
independently assessed financial viability appraisal. 

Justification 

5.58 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act of 2004 requires local plans to include policies 

designed to secure the contribution of development towards the mitigation of, and adaptation 

to, climate change.  

5.59 Changes to Part L of Building Regulations came into effect in June 2022, which introduced a 

carbon reduction improvement of c.31% for all major developments. The changes also 

significantly improve energy efficiency standards for new homes and further improvements 

under the “Future Homes Standard” are anticipated during the Plan period. However, given 

the urgency of the climate change crisis and the amount of development planned in 

Sandwell across the Plan period, it is vital that use of energy from non-renewable sources by 

new homes, and other types of development, is minimised as far and as early as possible, 

until overtaken by any further changes to Building Regulations. 

5.60 Although there is currently limited renewable energy generation in the borough, evidence 

shows that there is considerable untapped capacity to produce and export renewable energy 

at a local level. Therefore, it is important that all new developments should make the 

Page 1001



146 

 

maximum contribution towards renewable and low carbon energy generation, where this is 

financially viable and feasible to implement. 

5.61 According to the Canal and River Trust, the canals of England and Wales can provide 

enough latent thermal energy to support the heating and cooling needs of around 250,000 

homes, using water source heat pumps. Sandwell’s network of canals and the proposed 

development of canal-side development sites will therefore provide opportunities for 

developers to install water source heat pumps. 

5.62 Assuming energy use under current Building Regulations, it is generally not practical to 

provide more than 20% renewable energy generation within a new development. Solar 

power is the most suitable technology on most sites. Solar energy generation is limited by 

the orientation and extent of roofs within a development, so on average 50% of roof space in 

a housing development can support solar panels. This typically limits renewable energy 

generation to 20% of average residual energy demand. The Viability and Delivery Study has 

demonstrated that this level of requirement will not prejudice the delivery of most major 

developments in the Black Country. To limit the financial burden on smaller developers, a 

lower requirement of 10% has been set for small developments. Where several smaller 

developments are taking place close together and it is considered that these form phases of 

a major development, the 20% requirement will be sought. Residual energy demand means 

that the estimated energy demand for the operational development should be calculated 

after allowance has been made for the full range of energy efficiency measures required 

under Building Regulations at the time of construction.  

5.63 Sandwell Council will lead by example by seeking to maximise energy efficiency and 

incorporation of renewable and low carbon energy generation through the refurbishment and 

redevelopment of land and buildings in its ownership. 

5.64 Many types of renewable and low carbon energy generation can be developed in Sandwell, 

including solar photovoltaics, solar thermal, air, water and ground source heat pumps and 

other technologies (see Policy SCC6). The Black Country Utilities Infrastructure Capacity 

Study108 concludes that there are no parts of the Black Country that would be suitable for 

large-scale wind turbine development. However, there is no evidence to suggest that any 

other type of renewable or low carbon energy technology would be inappropriate. Therefore, 

any form of renewable or low carbon energy proposal will be treated on its merits in 

                                                

108 https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13890/20190906-46106-black-country-uic-study-final-
2_redacted.pdf - paragraph 5.3.7 

Page 1002

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13890/20190906-46106-black-country-uic-study-final-2_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13890/20190906-46106-black-country-uic-study-final-2_redacted.pdf


147 

 

accordance with this policy, Policy SCC2, other relevant local plan policies and national 

guidance. 

5.65 The SLP includes a range of aspirations for high quality design and climate change 

mitigation and adaptation, particularly those set out in Policies SDM1 and SCC1. An 

effective way of ensuring these aspirations are delivered in a consistent manner is by using 

tools for assessing and improving design quality. The Building Research Establishment 

(BRE) administers a range of robust national standards that can support this approach. 

BREEAM standards are well established and certify quality and sustainability in the built 

environment, including running costs, health and wellbeing and environmental impact. 

Minimum standards are first applied – these will include the national water efficiency and 

space standards for housing set out in Policy SDM2. Developers are then able to choose 

from a menu of other measures to reach the total credits necessary to achieve certification to 

the required level. 

5.66 Application of the BREEAM New Construction standards set out in Policy SCC6 will ensure 

that all major developments in Sandwell meet a minimum level of quality and sustainability 

that is independently certified throughout the planning and construction process and, in most 

cases, following completion. To allow for an improvement in standards over time, the level of 

certification required for medium-sized developments of 1,000 - 5,000m2 gross will be 

increased after 2028 in line with larger developments.  

5.67 The use of other standards, such as Passivhaus and the BRE Home Quality Mark, which 

use third party assessment and certification to robustly verify that the quality of approved 

development is not materially diminished between permission and completion, will also be 

supported.  

Page 1003



148 

 

6. Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell 

Introduction 

6.1 The purpose of the planning system in England is to contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development. The built and natural environments are key determinants of health 

and wellbeing. The NPPF states that one of the three overarching objectives of the planning 

system is supporting strong, vibrant, and healthy communities. The Health and Social Care 

Act (2012) gave local authorities new duties and responsibilities for health improvement and 

requires every local authority to use all levers at its disposal to improve health and wellbeing; 

Local Plans are one such lever. 

6.2 Sandwell Council recognises the important contribution that planning can make to improving 

public health and wellbeing and this is embedded throughout this Plan. Well-designed 

development proposals can support strong, vibrant and healthy communities and help create 

healthy living environments that encourage people to adopt healthier lifestyles. In some 

instances, however, a proposed development may have a direct impact on people’s health 

and in other cases, it may contribute to poor health by encouraging or making it easy for 

individuals to make unhealthy choices. Particular issues prevalent within Sandwell are 

obesity and related illnesses, diseases related to smoking, and the effects of alcohol. 

Linkages between health and the built and natural environment 

6.3 The linkages between health and the built and natural environment are long-established and 

the role of the environment in shaping the social, economic, and environmental 

circumstances that determine health is increasingly recognised and understood. Climate 

change will have a negative impact on health and wellbeing and actions to eliminate 

emissions and adapt to climate change, such as promoting active travel and improving the 

energy efficiency of buildings, will also benefit public health through outcomes such as 

reduced obesity and fuel poverty. 

6.4 An increasing body of research indicates that the environment in which people live is linked 

to health across their lifetime. For example, the design of neighbourhoods can influence 

physical activity levels, travel patterns, social connectivity, food consumption, mental and 

physical health, and wellbeing outcomes. These are illustrated below in the Barton and 

Grant (2010) Health Map. 

Page 1004



149 

 

 

Figure 4 - Determinants of health and wellbeing (Barton and Grant, 2010) 

 

Health and Wellbeing  

6.5 Planning policies and decisions should make sufficient provision for facilities such as health 

infrastructure and aim to achieve healthy, inclusive, and safe places that support healthy 

lifestyles, especially where they address identified local health and well-being needs. 

Ongoing engagement between Sandwell Council and relevant organisations will help ensure 

that the SLP supports both these aims.  

6.6 Sandwell’s unique circumstances give rise to several challenges to health and well-being, 

which are reflected in its related strategies. Ensuring a healthy and safe environment that 

contributes to people’s health and wellbeing is a key objective of the Council and its partners 

in the health, voluntary and other related sectors.  

6.7 Sandwell has lower rates of both life expectancy and healthy life expectancy than the rest of 

England, meaning people not only die earlier but live more of their life with ill health, which 

has implications for their ability to be productive and for how they use the built and natural 

environment. According to a Local Authority Health Profile for the borough published in 2019 

by Public Health England, Sandwell is one of the 20% most deprived districts / unitary 

Page 1005



150 

 

authorities in England and about 25.5% (18,495) of its child population live in low-income 

families109.  

6.8 Life expectancy is 8.6 years lower for men and 8.0 years lower for women in the most 

deprived areas of Sandwell than in the least deprived areas. In Year 6, 28.3% (1,343) of 

children are classified as obese, worse than the average for England. The rate for alcohol-

specific hospital admissions among those under 18 is 25110. This represents 20 admissions 

per year. Levels of teenage pregnancy, GCSE attainment (average attainment 8 score) and 

breastfeeding are worse than the England average111. Estimated levels of excess weight in 

adults (aged 18+) and physically active adults (aged 19+) are worse than the England 

average. 

6.9 Previously, the four Black Country Councils and their public health partners worked together 

on the Black Country Plan to ensure it was aligned with the plans of the area’s Sustainability 

and Transformation Partnership (STP), as well as with each borough’s Health and Wellbeing 

Strategies. The STP recognised that reducing health inequalities would help reduce financial 

burdens on the NHS. It also recognised that residents of the Black Country, on average, 

suffer from poorer health outcomes than people in the rest of England. 

6.10 The STP identified several key drivers that play a significant role in the development of future 

illness in the Black Country, and which directly link to demand for health provision. These are 

education, employment, wealth, housing, nutrition, family life, transport and social isolation. 

These are all influenced by the built and natural environment. The Black Country's Health 

and Wellbeing Strategies identified the following as key priorities for tackling health and 

wellbeing: 

a) Healthy lifestyles including physical activity, healthy eating, and addressing tobacco 

and alcohol consumption and obesity;  

b) Access to employment, education, and training; 

c) Quality, affordable homes that people can afford to heat; 

d) Mental health and wellbeing, including having social connections and feeling lonely or 

isolated; 

e) Air quality and the wider environment. 

                                                

109  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000028.html?area-name=Sandwell  
110  Rate per 100,000 population (PHE Local Authority Health Profile 2019; link above) 
111 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000028.html?area-name=Sandwell  

Page 1006

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000028.html?area-name=Sandwell
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000028.html?area-name=Sandwell


151 

 

6.11 There is therefore a need for the Sandwell Local Plan to continue to support those initiatives 

aimed at encouraging healthier lifestyle choices and mental wellbeing and addressing socio-

economic and environmental issues that contribute to poor health and inequalities. 

Health and Wellbeing 

6.12 This policy provides the context for how health and wellbeing are influenced by planning 

decisions and contains links to other policies in the SLP. Sandwell Council intends to create 

an environment that protects and improves the physical, social and mental health and 

wellbeing of its residents, employees and visitors, including children, other young people and 

vulnerable adults, and which reduces health inequalities. 

Policy SHW1– Health Impact Assessments  

1. Sandwell Council will require the following forms of development to provide an 
assessment of its potential impacts on the health and wellbeing of adjacent 
communities, residents and businesses, and to mitigate any potential negative 
impacts, maximise potential positive impacts and help reduce health inequalities;  

a. housing developments of over 10 dwellings;  

b. non-residential developments of 1,000m2 or more floorspace. 

c. major new waste handling / processing development; 

d. any development that would have an adverse impact on locations with 
currently poor air quality; 

e. any other development that the Council considers has the potential to 
impact on public health.  

Such development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that it will not, in 
isolation or in conjunction with other planned, committed or completed 
development, contribute to a negative impact on the health of the borough’s 
population.  

2. To ensure that new developments have a positive impact on the health and 
wellbeing of new and existing residents the Council will require an HIA of 
development proposals to a level of detail appropriate to its scale and nature;  

a. For developments of 100 or more dwellings, or non-residential development 
that extends to 5,000m2 or more in area, a full Health Impact Assessment will 
be required; 

Page 1007



152 

 

Policy SHW1– Health Impact Assessments  

b. For developments of between 20 to 100 dwellings or non-residential 
development that extends from 1,000 - 5,000m2 in area, the Health Impact 
Assessment will take the form of an extended screening or rapid Health 
Impact Assessment; 

c. For developments of 10 – 19 dwellings, or other developments that the 
Council considers may have a potential impact on public health, either a 
Design and Access Statement, Planning Statement or an extended screening 
or rapid Health Impact Assessment should be provided. 

3. Sandwell Council will support vibrant centres and local facilities, which offer 
services and retail outlets that promote choice, and which enable and encourage 
healthy choices. This will include managing the location, concentration of and 
operation (including opening hours) of businesses that contain uses potentially in 
conflict with these aims, including:  

a. hot food takeaways (sui generis), or hybrid uses incorporating such uses 
(Policy SDM6);  

b. betting shops and amusement arcades (Policy SDM8); 

c. shisha cafes / lounges, where the balance of uses is such that the use of the 
premises is predominantly for shisha smoking. 

4. Where the development of a new shop is acceptable in principle under other 
policies, planning permission will only be granted where a condition can be 
imposed that prevents the subsequent establishment of a stand-alone off-licence 
without the need to apply for planning permission where there is evidence of 
existing alcohol drinking establishments contributing to existing negative health 
and wellbeing impacts and patterns of anti-social behaviour. 

Justification 

6.13 Proposals for major development or others with the potential to have negative effects on the 

mental and physical health and wellbeing of communities should provide an assessment of 

their potential impacts through health impact assessments, as set out in the policy. 

6.14 Such an assessment should consider, where relevant, how the proposed development 

demonstrates that: 

Page 1008



153 

 

a. it is inclusive, safe, and attractive, with a strong sense of place, encourages social 

interaction and provides for all age groups and abilities; 

b. it is designed to enable active and healthy lives through prioritising access by 

inclusive, active, and environmentally sustainable forms of travel and through 

promoting road safety and managing the negative effects of road traffic as set out in 

Policies STR5, STR6 and STR9;  

c. it will provide a range of housing types and tenures that meet the needs of all sectors 

of the population including for older people and those with disabilities requiring 

varying degrees of care; extended families; low-income households; and those 

seeking to self-build as set out in Polices SHO3, SHO4 and SHO5; 

d. it is energy efficient and achieves affordable warmth; provide good standards of 

indoor air quality and ventilation; is low carbon; mitigates climate change; and is 

adapted to the effects of climate change as set out in Policies SCC1 – SCC6; 

e. it is designed and located to achieve acceptable impacts by developments on 

residential amenity and health and wellbeing arising from: noise; ground and water 

contamination; flood risk; vibration; and poor indoor and outdoor air quality as set out 

in Policies SCC4, SHW3, SCO1 – SCO3, SDM1; 

f. it will provide a range of quality employment opportunities for all skillsets and abilities 

along with the education and training facilities to enable residents to fulfil their 

potential and support initiatives to promote local employment and procurement during 

construction as set out in Policies SHO9 and SEC5;  

g. it will protect and include a range of social infrastructure such as social care, health, 

leisure, sport and recreation, retail and education facilities close to where people live, 

which are accessible by means of inclusive, active and environmentally sustainable 

forms of travel as set out in Policy SHW2, SHW4; 

h. it will protect, enhance, and provide new green and blue infrastructure, sports 

facilities, play and recreation opportunities to support access for all and meet 

identified needs as set out in Policies SDS7, SHW4 and SHW5; 

i. it will protect, enhance, and provide allotments and gardens for physical activity, 

mental wellbeing, recreation and for healthy locally-produced food as set out in Policy 

SHW6; 

Page 1009



154 

 

j. it will provide high-quality broadband and other digital services to homes, educational 

facilities, employers, and social infrastructure, to support digital inclusion and the 

application of new technology to improved healthcare, as set out in Policy SID1. 

6.15 Sandwell experiences significantly higher than average levels of poor health among its 

population. Issues include obesity and related illnesses, diseases related to smoking and the 

effects of alcohol. The Council and its partners are concerned about the health of children, 

other young people and vulnerable adults, both in terms of immediate term safeguarding and 

the potential long-term consequences that aspects of their lifestyles will have for their health. 

6.16 The Council and its partners are engaged in a range of long-term actions to address these 

issues, as well as to encourage people to take greater responsibility for the choices they 

make themselves. Planning is one aspect of these actions. In some instances, a proposed 

development may have a direct impact on people’s health and will need to be mitigated. In 

other cases, it may be that the planning process can contribute to improving health by 

supporting individuals to make healthy choices, through encouraging a suitable range and 

mix of shops, outlets and activities.  

6.17 Making it easier for people to make these healthy choices will increase the likelihood that 

they will do so; and this change in behaviour will improve health outcomes over time. Policy 

SHW1 sets out an approach to assessing development to help influence these issues.  

6.18 Proposals for hot food takeaways will be assessed in relation to a range of policies, including 

Policy SDM6. Betting shops, amusement arcades and similar uses will be considered in line 

with Policy SDM8. 

6.19 Shop uses currently fall within Class E - Commercial, Business and Service of the Town and 

Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) and therefore any condition 

preventing the subsequent establishment of a stand-alone off-licence would apply to any 

permission within Class E or any successor use class should there be changes within the 

lifetime of the plan. 

Healthcare Infrastructure 

6.20 This policy sets out the requirements for the provision of health infrastructure to serve the 

residents of new developments in support of Policy SHW1. 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

1) New healthcare facilities should be: 

Page 1010



155 

 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

a. well-designed and complement and enhance neighbourhood services 
and amenities; 

b. well-served by public transport infrastructure, walking and cycling 
facilities and directed to a town centre appropriate in role and scale to 
the proposed development, and its intended catchment area, in 
accordance with Policies SCE3 and SCE4. Proposals located outside 
centres must be justified in terms of relevant policies such as Policy 
SCE6, where applicable; 

c. wherever possible, located to address accessibility gaps in terms of the 
standards set out in Policy SHO3, particularly where a significant 
amount of new housing is proposed; and 

d. where possible, co-located with a mix of compatible community services 
on a single site. 

2) Existing primary and secondary healthcare infrastructure and services will be 
protected, unless it has been demonstrated that the loss or partial loss of a 
facility or site arises from a wider public service transformation plan that 
requires investment in modern, fit for purpose infrastructure and facilities. 
New or improved healthcare facilities and services will be provided in 
accordance with requirements agreed between Sandwell Council and local 
health organisations.  

3) Proposals for major residential developments of ten units or more must be 
assessed against the capacity of existing healthcare facilities and / or 
services as set out in local development documents. Where the demand 
generated by the residents of the new development would have unacceptable 
impacts upon the capacity of these facilities, developers will be required to 
contribute to the provision or improvement of such services, in line with the 
requirements and calculation methods set out in local development 
documents.  

4) Where it is not possible to address such provision through planning 
conditions, a planning agreement or planning obligation may be required.  

Page 1011



156 

 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

5) In the first instance, infrastructure contributions will be sought to deal with 
relevant issues on the site or in its immediate vicinity. Where this is not 
possible, however, any contribution will be used to support offsite provision 
of healthcare infrastructure and / or related services. 

6) The effects of the obligations on the financial viability of development may be 
a relevant consideration. 

Justification 

6.21 Meeting Sandwell’s future housing needs will have an impact on existing healthcare 

infrastructure and generate demand for both extended and new facilities across the Plan 

area, as well as impacting upon service delivery as population growth results in additional 

medical interventions in the population. Such facilities need to be in locations that support 

wider aims of supporting centres and of ensuring accessibility by a range of sustainable and 

inclusive forms of transport. 

6.22 Health services in Sandwell are currently experiencing limitations on their physical and 

operational capacity, which inhibit their ability to respond to the area’s health needs. 

6.23 Sandwell Council and its partners, including other healthcare infrastructure providers, have a 

critical role to play in delivering high-quality services and ensuring essential healthcare 

infrastructure amenities and facilities are maintained, improved and, where necessary, 

expanded112. Healthcare infrastructure planning is inevitably an on-going process, and the 

Council will continue to work closely with these partners and the development industry to 

assess and meet existing and emerging healthcare infrastructure needs.  

6.24 As Sandwell grows and changes, social and community facilities must be developed to meet 

the changing needs of the region’s diverse communities. This will in turn mean that new 

improved and expanded healthcare facilities will be required. It is proposed to support and 

work with the NHS and other health organisations to ensure the development of health 

facilities where needed in new development areas. Where appropriate, these will be included 

in Local Development Documents and masterplans. It is also proposed to explore the co-

location of health and other community facilities such as community centres, libraries and 

sport and recreation facilities. 

                                                

112  The infrastructure strategies of these partner organisations have helped inform this policy. 

Page 1012



157 

 

6.25 Funding for many healthcare infrastructure projects will be delivered from mainstream NHS 

sources, but for some types of infrastructure, an element of this funding may also include 

contributions from developers. This may relate to the provision of physical infrastructure, 

such as premises, or social infrastructure, such as the delivery of additional services. These 

contributions will be secured through planning agreements or planning obligations, in line 

with the relevant regulations in operation at the time; these are currently the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended). For larger sites that generate the 

need for new physical infrastructure, delivery will initially be sought on-site or in the site’s 

immediate vicinity. Where this is not possible, or where the contributions will be required to 

support additional healthcare infrastructure at existing or permissioned new facilities, such 

provision will be in alternative locations that are accessible to the site. Any new facilities will 

need to be provided at locations that meet the wider aims of the Policy of supporting centres 

and of ensuring accessibility by a range of sustainable and inclusive forms of transport.  

6.26 In establishing the need for and level of any developer contribution, residential developments 

will be assessed against the ability of nearby primary, secondary and community healthcare 

provision to be delivered without being compromised by demand from additional residents. 

Assessment of the capacity of existing healthcare facilities to meet the demand generated by 

residents of new development uses an established method adopted by the Group Integrated 

Care System (ICS). Applicants should consult the ICS in advance of the submission of a 

planning application where a significant amount of housing is to be provided. For strategic 

sites, an application of this methodology has identified no requirement for on-site provision 

for new health facilities. Where there is a requirement for off-site provision this is set out in 

details of site allocations and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

6.27 The formula used for calculating contributions for will be as follows: 

Primary Care: 

• Number of projected residents per development / number of patients per consulting 

room = number of consulting rooms required. 

• Number of consulting rooms required x build costs per consulting room = developer 

contribution. 

Secondary Care: 

• Number of projected residents per development x cost per head of population = 

developer contribution. 

Page 1013



158 

 

Build costs will be updated on an annual basis and the formula will be reviewed when 

required by changes in NHS practice or significant changes in build or operational costs 

6.28 The Viability and Delivery Study provides evidence that greenfield sites and most brownfield 

sites can sustain the full range of planning obligations required. However, the Viability and 

Delivery Study also indicates that, depending on the extent of other planning obligations 

required, such contributions may not be viable on some sites. Where it can be proved that it 

is not viable for a housing developer to fund all its own healthcare needs, alternative funding 

sources will be sought.  

Air Quality 

6.29 Promoting healthy living is a key element of the Sandwell Local Plan. Reducing exposure to 

poor air quality will help improve the health and quality of life of the population and support 

the Plan’s aims and objectives113. The need to address climate change and its associated 

impacts will include the need to tackle pollution and poor air quality, especially where it has 

impacts on both human and environmental health. 

6.30 The WHO published data on the impacts of ambient and household air pollution on human 

health for the European High-Level Conference on Non-Communicable Diseases held in 

April 2019. The paper stated that more than 550,000 deaths in the WHO European region 

were attributable to the joint effects of household and ambient air pollution in 2016, with over 

500,000 being due to ambient air pollution and more than 50,000 to household air 

pollution114. 

6.31  According to the 2019 Clean Air Strategy published by DEFRA115,  

Air pollution is the top environmental risk to human health in the UK, and the fourth 

greatest threat to public health after cancer, heart disease and obesity. It makes us 

more susceptible to respiratory infections and other illnesses, and we estimate that the 

actions outlined in this document could cut the costs of air pollution to society by £1.7 

billion every year by 2020, rising to £5.3 billion every year from 2030. 

6.32 Paragraph 4.1 of the same publication outlines the impacts of air quality on economic 

growth. Cleaner air helps to reduce the likelihood of workplace absences through ill-health; 

                                                

113  https://uk-
air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/2006240802_Impacts_of_Net_Zero_pathways_on_future_air_quality_in_the_
UK.pdf  

114  http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/397787/Air-Pollution-and-NCDs.pdf?ua=1  

115   https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019   

Page 1014

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/2006240802_Impacts_of_Net_Zero_pathways_on_future_air_quality_in_the_UK.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/2006240802_Impacts_of_Net_Zero_pathways_on_future_air_quality_in_the_UK.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/2006240802_Impacts_of_Net_Zero_pathways_on_future_air_quality_in_the_UK.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/397787/Air-Pollution-and-NCDs.pdf?ua=1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019


159 

 

the strategy identifies that particulate matter; nitrogen dioxide and ozone were estimated to 

be responsible for total productivity losses of up to £2.7 billion in 2012. Clean air also helps 

to create and sustain a pleasant and attractive living and working environment, which is 

more likely to encourage growth and investment in an area.  

6.33 Following adoption of the Black Country Core Strategy in 2011 further guidance and advice 

was provided through the adoption of the Black Country Air Quality Supplementary Planning 

Document in 2016. This built on work undertaken on the West Midlands Low Emissions 

Towns and Cities Programme, including the West Midlands Good Practice Air Quality 

Planning Guidance (2014). The planning guidance offered further advice on issues around 

ambient and indoor air quality and model conditions for use by the local planning authorities.  

6.34 This document will need to be revised and republished following adoption of the Sandwell 

Local Plan, considering new national legislation, regulations and targets and regional and 

sub-regional developments regarding air quality. 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

Strategic Approach 

1. The SLP will support a diverse approach to addressing the issue of poor air 
quality across the borough, including:  

a. requiring development and other land use proposals to promote the 
integration of cycling, walking, public transport and electric charging points 
as part of their transport provision;  

b. promoting and supporting (including through continued joint working with 
adjacent Black Country authorities and others) a modal shift from private 
motorised vehicles to the use of clean, fast and accessible public transport 
alternatives such as rail, the Metro and bus transport networks, cycling and 
walking; 

c. including a range of measures relating to energy generation at developments 
as set out in the hierarchy identified in Policy SCC2 - Energy Infrastructure, 
such as the installation of renewables-based systems, or the use of ultra-low 
emission NOx boilers; 

d. requiring the provision and protection of green open spaces and significant 
additional tree cover (Policies SDS7 and SNE3);  

Page 1015



160 

 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

e. ensuring the sustainable location of new residential and employment 
development to minimise commute times; and  

f. as part of an integrated zero-emission public transport system, promoting 
and requiring the use of sustainable technologies, zero-emission vehicles, 
design and materials and providing new or extended bus services to meet 
demand when development of a strategic nature is planned and constructed. 

2. New development must be at least air quality neutral following any required 
mitigation. Planning permission for new development or changes of use will be 
refused where data assessment indicates that development will:  

a. lead to deterioration of existing poor air quality; 

b. create any new areas that exceed air quality objectives; or  

c. delay compliance being achieved in areas that are currently in exceedance of 
legal limits unless sufficient mitigation can be achieved. 

Improving air quality 

3. Residential or other sensitive development such as schools, hospitals / health 
care and care facilities should be sited in areas where air quality already meets 
national objectives, or where compliance with those objectives can be achieved 
with suitable mitigation proposed as part of the development proposal and 
verified as being achieved before occupation of the development.  

4. Developments that will have a moderate air quality impact, and which can be 
dealt with through standard mitigation measures, will not require an air quality 
assessment.  

5. Whenever development is proposed in locations where air quality does not or 
will not meet national objectives, or where significant air quality impacts are 
likely to be generated onsite or elsewhere by the development itself or its 
subsequent use / activities, an appropriate Air Quality Assessment will be 
required to demonstrate that the proposed development will improve air quality 
to meet relevant objectives once the development is completed and occupied / 
operational: 

Page 1016



161 

 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

a. the assessment must take into consideration the potential cumulative impact 
on air quality of all extant planning permissions in the locality, for both large / 
strategic and small schemes;  

b. the impact of point source emissions116 of pollutants to air on the scheme 
must also be addressed;  

c. the assessment must take into consideration the types of pollutant emissions 
likely to be generated by the development and its future use / associated 
activities that will have an impact on human health; 

d. where assessments show that a development is likely to result in exposure to 
pollutant concentrations that exceed national objectives, a mitigation plan 
will be required to determine that the development will improve air quality, in 
order that it will meet air quality objectives once it is complete and occupied / 
operational; and  

e. adequate and satisfactory mitigation measures that are capable of 
implementation, including the planting of additional and replacement trees in 
appropriate locations, must be identified, submitted as part of an application, 
and made subject to appropriate conditions before planning permission is 
granted. 

6. Developments should not include materials or be positioned or ventilated in a 
way that would result in poor indoor air quality. Guidance will be provided to 
detail how such issues should be addressed. 

Emissions from Construction Sites 

7. For all types of development, the control of emissions from construction sites 
will be agreed with the local authority. 

Justification 

6.35 National planning guidance identifies the need for local planning authorities to address the 

problems created by pollution, in terms of poor air quality and its impacts on human and 

                                                

116 Pollution that originates from one place 

Page 1017



162 

 

environmental health. Major air pollutants that impact on human health include particulate 

matter (PM10 and PM2.5 and fine / very fine particulates) and nitrogen oxides (NOx). These 

gases may also combine to create ozone, a greenhouse gas that impacts on the 

atmosphere. 

6.36 The main cause of poor air quality across the Black Country is related to vehicular transport. 

Locations have been identified that do not comply with current national objectives and that 

will result in relevant exposure; there are several air quality hotspots where on-going 

monitoring is required. Sandwell Council is working to reduce pollutant concentrations and to 

minimise exposure to air quality that does not meet with national objectives. Like the other 

Black Country Councils, it has declared air quality management areas to try to address the 

issue of poor air quality and provide protection for human health.  

6.37 It is important that development likely to have a negative impact on air quality is fully 

assessed and measures taken to make it acceptable, particularly in parts of the Black 

Country where air quality is currently, or is likely to become, a concern. Most developments 

will have a moderate air quality impact, which can be dealt with through standard mitigation 

measures, without the need for an Air Quality Assessment (AQA), as detailed in the Black 

Country Air Quality SPD. These standard mitigation measures are designed to deal with the 

cumulative impact of many moderate impact developments over time and over a wide area. 

6.38 AQAs should be proportionate to the type and scale of development proposed, in 

accordance with the guidance provided by the Black Country Air Quality Supplementary 

Planning Document and relevant national standards for air quality. National planning policy 

guidance on air quality offers several examples of what might usefully be incorporated in 

such assessments, including baseline conditions, specific concerns, the assessment 

methods to be adopted, the basis for assessing impact and determining the significance of 

an impact and mitigation117.  

6.39 For some developments a basic screening assessment of air quality is all that will be 

required, whereas for other developments a full AQA will need to be carried out, using 

advanced dispersion modelling software. An appropriate methodology informed by the Black 

Country Air Quality SPD should be agreed with the relevant development management team 

/ officer on a case-by-case basis. 

6.40 Where a potentially adverse impact on air quality is identified, mitigation measures may 

include: 

                                                

117  NPPG, Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 32-007-20140306  

Page 1018



163 

 

a) increasing the distance between the development and the pollution source; 

b) using green infrastructure, particularly trees, to help absorb dust and other pollutants 

(see Policy SNE3 – care must be taken to ensure the type and location of such trees 

do not exacerbate air pollution by trapping it close to the street118); 

c) using ventilation systems to draw cleaner air into buildings; 

d) improving public transport access to all development; 

e) implementing travel plans to reduce the number of trips generated; 

f) implementing low emission strategies; 

g) controlling dust and emissions from construction, demolition and working projects. 

Open Spaces and Recreation 

6.41 The principles of national planning policy on open space, sport and recreation need to be 

applied in a Sandwell context to support the vision for urban renaissance and environmental 

transformation and to deliver opportunities for safe, attractive, functional, linked and 

accessible green spaces for people to exercise and play sport in and enjoy. This resource 

also promotes the enhancement of the natural environment to support greater biodiversity, 

maximises benefits for health and well-being, helps to mitigate and adapt to climate change 

and promotes economic regeneration. 

6.42 All open spaces and sport and recreation facilities in Sandwell, both existing and proposed, 

are subject to the policies and requirements of national planning guidance as well as more 

detailed local policies. These policies will apply to existing sites that have an open space, 

sport or recreation function, regardless of whether they are shown on the Sandwell Local 

Plan’s policies map. The National Planning Policy Framework sets out national policy for the 

protection of existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, which should 

be read alongside Policies SHW4 and SHW5.  

6.43 It should be noted that Policy SHW4 relates to the strategic approach to open space and 

recreation, whereas Policy SHW5 relates specifically to playing fields and built sports 

facilities.  

6.44 Up-to-date local need assessments (for open space, playing pitches and built sports 

facilities) are central to the implementation of national policy. Local standards for different 

types of open space and recreation facilities have been developed for Sandwell, based on 

                                                

118  https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70  

Page 1019

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70


164 

 

robust audits and needs assessments; these can be found in Appendix K. These standards 

will form the basis for the application of national planning guidance. 

6.45 To promote healthy living, it is important that open space and sports facilities, and places 

that people visit every day such as shops and schools, are located and designed so that 

people are encouraged to walk or cycle to them from their homes. This can be achieved 

through: 

a) Location of key facilities in the most accessible locations; 

b) Meeting open space quantity, quality and access standards; 

c) Setting of accessibility standards for new housing developments;  

d) Co-location of key facilities and promotion of community use, such as dual use 

schools; 

e) On and off-site measures such as signage and cycle storage; 

f) Encouraging implementation of the Sport England Active Design policy. 

Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation 

1. All new housing sites providing over ten units will be expected to contribute 
towards the provision of unrestricted open space, in line with the standards set out 
in Appendix K. Where such provision on-site would make a site unviable or where 
there is no physical capacity to include it, the Council will in exceptional 
circumstances accept a commuted sum for nearby off-site provision in lieu or for 
the improvement of existing facilities within walking distance. 

2. On new housing sites of 2ha or over, Sandwell Council will seek the provision of 
new unrestricted open space at a minimum ratio of 3.63 hectares of space per 1,000 
population. This open space will be provided on site.  

3. The Council will seek to ensure that at least one hectare of unrestricted open space 
is provided within walking distance (0.4 km) of all the Borough’s residents and 
proposals that help it meet this aim will be welcomed. 

Page 1020



165 

 

Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation 

4. Sandwell Council will support proposals119 that: 

a. deliver against up-to-date local open space120 and recreation standards for the 
borough, and address any shortfalls in provision, in terms of quantity, quality 
and access;  

b. address the ecological and environmental priorities set out in the Black 
Country Nature Recovery Network Strategy; 

c. make more efficient use of open spaces in the urban area by: 

i. creating more multifunctional open spaces; 

ii. protecting the existing open space network for recreation and 
biodiversity and taking opportunities to strengthen and expand it; 

iii. significantly expanding community use of open space and recreation 
facilities provided at places of education; 

iv. making creative use of land exchanges and disposing of surplus assets 
to generate resources for investment; 

v. increasing access to open space and recreation facilities for all, including 
people with disabilities and other target groups with limited access at 
present; and 

vi. where a place, site or facility has a cross-boundary catchment, 
identifying the most appropriate location to maximise community access 
and use of new facilities. 

5. Aspects of development proposals that would increase the overall value of the 
open space and recreation network in Sandwell will be supported, especially in 
areas of proven deficiency against adopted quantity, quality and accessibility 
standards.  

6. Proposals should maintain and / or enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility 
of open space and help address any shortfalls in provision, when measured against 

                                                

119  Involving both current activities and facilities and where there are plans for new open spaces and recreation sites / 
uses 

120 See SLP Appendix K 

Page 1021



166 

 

Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation 

adopted local standards. Where practicable, new open space should be provided 
on-site and relate well to other green infrastructure features. 

7. Development that would result in the loss of land allocated as open space and used 
for recreation in Sandwell will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that  

a. there is a robust and overriding matter of public interest at stake; and 

b. a sufficient quantity of alternative open space can be provided in the vicinity, 
of the same or higher quality than what was lost; or 

c. if open space of sufficient quantity and quality cannot be delivered in the 
immediate vicinity, a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision will be 
made available and compensatory gains in quality / accessibility secured on 
other open spaces or facilities that are of value to the local area. 

8. Development proposals should focus on supporting / delivering the following 
functions of open space in Sandwell: 

a. improving the image and environmental quality of the borough; 

b. protecting and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and their 
settings; 

c. enhancing visual amenity; 

d. providing buffer zones between incompatible uses; 

e. mitigating the effects of climate change, e.g., through flood risk betterment, 
installing SuDS, reducing potential urban heat island effects and providing 
opportunities for additional landscaping and tree planting; 

f. preserving and enhancing environmental and habitat diversity and 
preventing the fragmentation of ecological networks; 

g. extending, increasing access to and enhancing the ecological value of 
multifunctional green spaces and networks; 

h. supporting outdoor sport and physical activity, including through footpath 
and cycle network infrastructure, and providing areas for informal recreation 
and children’s play; 

Page 1022



167 

 

Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation 

i. providing opportunities for people to grow their own food on allotments and 
encouraging urban horticulture. 

Justification 

6.46 Being in green spaces boosts various aspects of thinking, including attention, memory and 

creativity, in people both with and without depression121, as well as producing positive 

improvements in physical and mental wellbeing. All features of the outdoor environment 

contribute to environmental infrastructure, including natural and semi-natural habitats, parks 

and other open spaces, formal and informal recreation and sports facilities, historic buildings 

and landscapes, the public realm of spaces and streets, rivers, canals and drainage 

systems. 

6.47 Sandwell’s previous local plan identified a green space hierarchy in Sandwell, intended to -  

“… analyse existing provision of green /open space, to identify strengths and weaknesses 

in the provision, and to guide decisions about improvements, new and replacement 

provision, and development proposals which impact on the provision.” 

6.48 The hierarchy identified types of green space, ranging from Regional / Sub Regional Green 

Space, such as Sandwell Valley and Strategic Open Space such as the Rowley Hills down 

to local formal and informal areas of open space, such as gardens, playgrounds and 

landscaped public spaces. The hierarchy is set out in Appendix K. 

6.49 The provision of high-quality open space to serve new residential developments and the 

improvement of existing open spaces is critical to the overall aims of urban renaissance and 

environmental transformation. Policy SHW4 therefore identifies the functions of open space 

that are of importance to Sandwell, in addition to those set out in national guidance. 

6.50 Greenways are defined as linear features of mostly open character, including paths through 

green spaces, canal corridors and disused railway lines (although some of these could be 

brought back into rail use in the future), which act as wildlife corridors and provide attractive 

and safe off-road links for pedestrians and cyclists. They form an important network 

throughout the Black Country but in some cases are of poor quality or are severed by other 

                                                

121  https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/nature-how-connecting-nature-benefits-our-mental-health  

 

Page 1023

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/nature-how-connecting-nature-benefits-our-mental-health


168 

 

infrastructure or barriers. The restoration of towpaths, bridges, public rights of way and the 

creation of cycle and pedestrian links to enhance the greenway network will be sought 

through planning conditions and obligations, transportation funding, and the support of other 

organisations such as the Canal and River Trust. Blue infrastructure features such as rivers 

and streams also provide opportunities for physical activity. 

6.51 Open space and play standards and requirements are set out in Appendix K and will be 

subject to review as evidence is updated over the Plan period. 

6.52 Some common themes regarding open space, sport and recreation have emerged through 

audits and needs assessments. Communities greatly value local open spaces. However, 

quantity and accessibility for each type of open space and facility varies considerably from 

area to area, and an increasing population in certain areas of Sandwell over the Plan period 

will further affect these imbalances. In general terms, prosperous areas have low levels of 

provision but of a higher quality, whereas deprived areas may have sufficient quantities of 

open space but of limited quality and function.  

Sports and playing fields 

6.53 Playing pitch strategies for the four Black Country authorities were updated during 2021-22 

and this evidence has informed the SLP. The Sandwell strategy will be updated as 

appropriate during the Plan period and new priorities may therefore emerge over time.  

6.54 The Black Country-wide Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy commissioned by the 

four councils has provided action plans for each of the individual authorities and this in turn 

has been used to identify the quantitative and qualitative situation for sports pitch and 

playing field provision in Sandwell.  

6.55 Appendix J contains an extract from the current Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports 

Strategy action plan identifying the quantitative situation for playing field provision as at 

October 2022. Where appropriate, developers will need to demonstrate that they have taken 

account of the findings of the Sandwell PPOSS in their schemes. 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

1. Existing playing fields and built sports facilities must be retained unless: 

a) an assessment has been undertaken that has clearly shown the playing 
fields or built sports facilities to be surplus to requirements (for existing 
or alternative sports provision) at the local and sub-regional level; or 

Page 1024



169 

 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a 
suitable and accessible location; or 

c) the development is for alternative sports provision, the benefits of which 
clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use; or 

d) The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming part 
of a playing pitch and would not prejudice the use of any playing pitch 
or remaining areas of playing field on the site. 

2. New build sports facilities should be: 

a) in accordance with local needs identified in the current Playing Pitch 
and Outdoor Sports Strategy, to ensure provision of appropriate 
facilities in a suitable location to meet that need; 

b) well-designed, including through the provision of high-quality 
landscaping and public realm enhancements, and well-related to 
neighbourhood services and amenities; and 

c) well-linked to public transport infrastructure and footpath and cycleway 
networks and directed to a centre appropriate in role and scale to the 
proposed development and its intended catchment area. Proposals 
located outside centres must be justified in terms of relevant national 
policy. 

3. Where assessments demonstrate that a housing development would increase 
the need for playing pitches or built sports facilities to a level where 
significant new or improved facilities are required to meet demand, 
proportionate planning obligations or Community Infrastructure Levy will be 
used to acquire or create sufficient provision, where it is financially viable and 
appropriate to do so, and long-term management arrangements can be 
secured and funded.  

4. Where land is provided for a new built sports facility as part of a housing 
development, the financial contribution made by that development towards 
built sports facilities will be reduced accordingly. 

Page 1025



170 

 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

5. The wider community use of school playing fields, other school facilities, 
such as sports halls, and private facilities will be encouraged, especially in 
areas where public provision is deficient. 

Justification 

6.56 Publicly accessible urban open space, play and sports facilities all have a vital role to play in 

helping to promote healthy lifestyles. As sports participation rates in the Black Country are 

below the national average, needs assessments for sports facilities will consider the need to 

increase sports participation and improve health as well as meet existing needs. Existing 

and potential cross-boundary effects will also be considered when developing proposals that 

would affect sports facility provision. Cross-boundary issues particularly affect facilities with 

large catchment areas, such as swimming pools. 

6.57 An issue in Sandwell is the low quality of playing pitch sites, which would benefit from 

improved changing facilities and a shift towards more small pitches. Increasing community 

access to school sports facilities would also help to address shortfalls in some areas. 

6.58 This policy recognises that, in some circumstances where there is a significant gap in 

provision of natural turf playing pitches or built sports facilities such as courts and swimming 

pools, it may be necessary for housing developments to contribute towards improvements to 

such facilities over and above general open space and recreation contributions. In such 

cases, the Sport England Playing Pitch and Sports Facilities Calculator tools will be used to 

determine an appropriate level of contributions. The high capital and revenue costs of such 

facilities and the challenges of securing appropriate, long-term management and 

maintenance for them are recognised. Contributions will be considered alongside 

requirements for other infrastructure in the context of scheme viability. 

6.59 From a quantitative perspective and as set out in the Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor 

Sports Strategy Action Plan (Appendix J), the existing position for each sport is either that 

demand is being met or that there is a shortfall in provision. An estimated future position 

(based on anticipated future housing provision in Sandwell) shows the development of new 

shortfalls for some pitch types and in some areas where demand is currently being met, as 

well as the exacerbation of existing shortfalls. There are current122 shortfalls of adult, youth 

                                                

122 Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy & Action Plan - October 2022 

Page 1026



171 

 

11v11, youth 9v9 and mini 7v7 football pitches as well as 3G pitches, cricket squares and 

rugby union pitches, all of which will be exacerbated when addressing future demand driven 

by new housing provision.  

6.60 Where demand is currently being met, this does not necessarily mean that there is a surplus 

of provision; any spare capacity is effectively taken up in overcoming current or future 

shortfalls. There is a need to protect all existing outdoor sport provision until demand is met, 

or a requirement to replace provision in accordance with the NPPF and Sport England’s 

Playing Fields Policy.  

6.61 The Action Plan and Strategy identified that contributions from housing developments could 

be pooled together to improve key sites and listed those high-priority locations that would 

provide the most benefit from additional investment:  

• Barnford Park  

• Birmingham County FA Headquarters  

• Britannia Park  

• Cakemore Playing Field  

• Charlemont Playing Fields  

• Hadley Stadium  

• Hydes Road Playing Fields 

• Lion Farm Playing Fields 

• Sandwell Academy 

• Tipton Sports Academy 

• Warley Rugby Club 

• West Bromwich Dartmouth Cricket Club 

• West Smethwick Park 

6.62 However, if high priority sites in the local area of the development cannot be identified for 

investment, contributions should be pooled to fund the creation of new provision, particularly 

for cricket, in consultation with Sport England and the relevant NGB, to ensure the potential 

provision would be utilised and sustainable. 

6.63 There are other solutions available to help meet existing shortfalls, including by better 

utilising current provision, such as:  

Page 1027



172 

 

• through improving quality;  

• re-configuration; 

• installing additional floodlighting; 

• improving ancillary facilities; and  

• enabling access to existing unused provision, such as at unavailable school sites.  

6.64 However, there remains a shortfall of 3G pitches that can only be met through increased 

provision. With resources to improve the quality of grass pitches being limited, particularly at 

sites managed by the Council, an increase in 3G provision could also help reduce grass 

pitch shortfalls through the transfer of play, which in turn can reduce overplay and aid pitch 

quality improvements. 

Allotments 

6.65 The Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908 placed a duty on local authorities to provide 

sufficient allotments according to local demand. It also made provision for local authorities to 

compulsorily purchase land to provide allotments. 

6.66 The National Model Design Code states that as part of open space design for large 

developments consideration should be given to the provision of land for allotments and 

community growing projects for food production, learning and community engagement. 

6.67 Sandwell currently contains 34 allotment sites that in turn provide 1,336 plots; it encourages 

the continued use of allotments and will support the use of green space for local food 

growing, including community farming, gardening and orchards. 

Policy SHW6 - Allotments 

1. The provision and promotion of allotments and community gardens in Sandwell will 
be supported by the Council. This will be achieved by:  

a. retaining existing allotments and resisting their loss unless in accordance 
with allocations identified in this plan; 

b. working with partners and local communities to identify sites with potential 
for local food growing; and 

c. supporting projects that promote community gardening, farming and 
orchards. 

2. If allotments are to be redeveloped, compensatory measures will be required for the 
loss, either through provision of new allotments on an open space of equivalent 

Page 1028



173 

 

Policy SHW6 - Allotments 

value nearby, or through a commensurate contribution to the enhancement of 
existing allotment provision in the vicinity.  

3. Proposals for community agriculture will be supported where appropriate. 

4. Development proposals that are located next to, or which may have an impact on, 
existing allotments will be expected to avoid or mitigate adverse impacts on them 
by employing the agent of change principle. 

Justification 

6.68 Allotments and community agriculture are important to local communities, and they have a 

unique place in Britain’s heritage.  

6.69 Allotments have nature conservation and open space value alongside their primary use for 

food growing. Allotment sites will be strongly protected unless it can be clearly demonstrated 

that their use is no longer required. 

6.70 A study carried out in 2016123 identified that allotment gardening can result in significant 

improvements in self-esteem and mood via reductions in tension, depression, anger and 

confusion. These findings are supported by previous research demonstrating the health and 

well-being benefits of participating in green exercise activities. 

6.71 Further evidence124 on the social, physical and mental benefits of allotment gardening 

demonstrates that:  

a. it provides various environmental benefits, including the support and regulation of 

ecosystem services;  

b. it results in more sustainably produced food, promotes healthy eating and acts as an 

educational resource;  

c. it improves general health, aids recovery from stress, increases life satisfaction, 

promotes social contact and provides opportunities for low to moderate–high intensity 

physical activity, all of which promote mental wellbeing; 

d. people who grow their own food are happier than those who do not;  

                                                

123  https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/38/3/e336/2239844  
124  https://www.nsalg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/health-and-well-being-allotments.pdf  

Page 1029

https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/38/3/e336/2239844
https://www.nsalg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/health-and-well-being-allotments.pdf


174 

 

e. compared with an indoor exercise class, allotment gardening results in significantly lower 

levels of stress. 

6.72 Allotment gardening might also play a key role in promoting health and wellbeing in the more 

vulnerable groups in society through the development of social support and cohesion. 

  

Page 1030



175 

 

7. Sandwell’s Housing 

Introduction 

7.1 The policies in this chapter will help to create a network of cohesive, healthy and prosperous 

communities across Sandwell. This is a fundamental element of the Plan’s Vision and 

objectives and will help deliver its strategic priorities. The policies will also ensure the 

provision of a balanced range of housing in terms of type, tenure, wheelchair accessibility 

and affordability, and specialist provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

and for those who wish to undertake self-build or custom build. New housing will be of a high 

build quality and will be well-designed, meeting national space and water efficiency 

standards and delivering high levels of energy efficiency and adaptation to climate change. 

7.2 Maximising sustainable transport access to key residential services and focusing high 

density increases in areas of greatest accessibility is at the heart of the Spatial Strategy, 

helping to deliver Strategic Objectives 6, 7 and 15. Providing a balanced network of quality 

education facilities is a further key part of this approach and will help to deliver economic 

prosperity. 

Sustainable Housing Growth 

7.3 A key role of the SLP is to set out realistic targets for the delivery of sustainable housing 

growth over the plan period up to 2041. 

Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth  

1. Sufficient land will be provided to deliver at least 11,167 net new homes over the 
period 2022 - 2041.  

2. The key sources of housing land supply are summarised in Table 5, which also sets 
out the minimum housing target for each of the Plan phases: 2022 - 2027, 2027 - 
2032, 2032 - 2037 and 2037 - 2041. Housing allocations are set out in Appendix B.  

Table 5 - Housing Land Supply - sources 

Source of Supply Type of Supply 2022-
2027 

2027-
2032 

2032-
2037 

2037-
2041 

Total 

Sites Under Construction 1,020 40 0 0 1,060 

Page 1031



176 

 

Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth  

Current Supply as 

of April 2022 

Sites with Planning Permission 

or Prior Approval  

998 0 0 0 998 

Sites with Other Commitments 

(as set out in 2022 SHLAA)  

18 36 7 0 61 

Gypsy and Traveller Pitches 10 0 0 0 10 

Housing 

Allocations  

Occupied Employment Land  0 1,131 769 334 2,234 

Other  347 1,328 704 715 3,094 

Sites with planning permission 
 

634  629  92  190  1,545  

Sites under construction 78 0 0 0 78 

Total Identified Sites 3,105  3,164  1,572  1,239  9,080  

Total Windfall 
Allowance  

Small sites (<10 homes / 

0.25ha) 

0 671 665 532 1868 

Additional 

Floorspace in 

centres  

West Bromwich 0 16 0 0 16 

Town Centres 0 50 45 0 95 

District and Local Centres 0 58 50 0 108 

Total additional floorspace in centres 0 124 95 0 219 

Total supply 3,105  3,959  2,332  1,771  11,167  

 Discounted by 5%  Discounted by 10% Discounted by 15% 

3. Most of the requirement will be met through sites with existing planning permission 
and sites allocated for housing by this Plan. Additional housing supply will also be 
secured on windfall sites throughout the urban area. The estimated net effect of 

Page 1032



177 

 

Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth  

housing renewal up to 2041 will be reviewed annually and used in the calculation of 
housing land supply.  

4. The development of sites for housing should demonstrate a comprehensive 
approach, making best use of available land and infrastructure and not prejudicing 
neighbouring uses. Incremental development of an allocated site will only be 
allowed where it would not prejudice the achievement of high-quality design across 
the wider site. Masterplans and other planning documents125 will be produced, 
where appropriate, to provide detailed guidance on the development of allocations. 

5. Ancillary uses appropriate for residential areas, such as health facilities, 
community facilities and local shops, may be acceptable where there is a gap in 
service provision and where they can be integrated successfully into the residential 
environment. Other uses will not be acceptable on these sites. 

6. A minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain is required for each site in accordance with 
Policy SNE2. 

Justification  

7.4 The council has identified sufficient land to provide 11,167 additional homes by 2041. 97% of 

the supply is on brownfield land and 3% of the supply is on greenfield land. The Sandwell 

Policies Map illustrates the distribution of housing sites across the borough. A balanced 

range of sites has been provided, in terms of size, location and market attractiveness, which 

will help to maximise housing delivery over the Plan period. Across the borough, 10% of 

identified supply in the Plan and in the most recent Brownfield Register is on sites no larger 

than 1ha, which is in accordance with the requirement set out in the NPPF at paragraph 069.  

7.5 The details of proposed housing allocations are provided in Appendix B and sites are shown 

on the Policies Map. Housing capacity has been identified in accordance with the Spatial 

Strategy and is based on the following information:  

a. Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments (SHLAAs) and the Black Country 

Employment Area Review (BEAR);  

b. An estimate of the likely scale of housing renewal up to 2041;  

                                                

125  E.g., design codes, development frameworks and supplementary plans 

Page 1033



178 

 

c. An estimate of likely windfall development on small sites up to 2041;  

d. An assessment of the capacity of West Bromwich strategic centre above existing 

supply, drawing on the West Bromwich Master Plan and Interim Planning Statement; 

e.  An estimate of the likely capacity of vacant floorspace in town, district and local 

centres; 

f. Application of a density uplift to existing allocations likely to gain permission after 2025, 

in line with Policy SHO3;  

g. An estimate of the additional ‘aspirational’ growth that will be delivered in the 

regeneration areas and on sites identified in masterplans and other supplementary 

guidance; 

h. A comprehensive land review and site assessment process. 

7.6 The housing supply from allocations on occupied employment land has been discounted by 

15% to take account of the multiple delivery constraints that typically affect such sites and 

that are likely to reduce delivery on a minority of sites. Delivery constraints include poor 

ground conditions and the need for large-scale master-planning, land assembly, business 

relocations and residential service access improvements.  

7.7 The supply from allocations on other land in the urban area and on small (<10 home / 0.25 

ha) sites without planning permission has also been discounted by 10% to allow for non-

implementation, as some of these sites are also affected by delivery constraints such as 

poor ground conditions.  

7.8 The supply from sites with planning permission but not yet under construction has been 

discounted by 5% in accordance with historic lapse rates. These discounts are balanced 

rates that take account of the likely availability of external funding to address constraints, as 

set out in the Viability and Delivery Study.  

7.9 Together, these discounts provide sufficient flexibility in the housing land supply to meet any 

unforeseen circumstances.  

7.10 Allowances for structural change, as detailed in the Urban Capacity Review (2023), are 

made up of two sources - potential sites and surplus floorspace within West Bromwich 

Strategic Centre (drawing on the West Bromwich Master Plan and Interim Planning 

Statement) and for Tiers Two and Three centres (as defined in Policies SCE4 and SCE5). 

The structural change allowances are over and above the small windfall site allowance. The 

latter represents a continuation of historic rates, whereas the former represents a structural 

change in the factors giving rise to new housing sites which is it predicted will generate 

Page 1034



179 

 

additional supply over the Plan period. These include changes to shopping patterns, 

permitted development rights and work patterns arising from COVID impacts.  

7.11 The Plan period has been divided into four phases, covering every five years from 2022. 

Housing targets for each phase are provided in Table 5. These are based on the housing 

trajectory set out in Appendix I, with further detail provided in the SHLAA. The trajectory 

demonstrates a steady supply of housing completions over the Plan period, justifying 

consistent housing targets throughout the Plan period. As set out in the NPPF (paragraph 

74), the Council is seeking to confirm through the SLP the existence of a five - year housing 

land supply from the year of adoption (2025). For this purpose, the buffer applied to housing 

supply (as set out in the housing trajectory) will be 20%, in line with the most recent Housing 

Delivery Test results (2022). 

Windfall Development 

7.12 A robust small windfall site allowance has been included in the supply, which reflects historic 

completion rates for sites of less than ten homes. Windfall sites are subject to policy, 

sustainability, and detailed site considerations.  

Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments 

1. Proposals for residential development on sites not specifically allocated for 
residential use (windfall developments) will be permitted where the site is 
previously developed land and in accordance with other local plan policies. 

2. Proposals for residential development on unallocated greenfield land will be 
resisted. Such sites will only be considered where: 

a. the site is not protected as community open space;  

or 

b. the site is Council-owned land that is deemed surplus to requirements;  

or 

c. the development of the site will bring an under-used piece of land back into 
beneficial use and will not harm the environmental, ecological or historic 
value of the site and the wider area, in accordance with other relevant policies 
in the SLP. 

Page 1035



180 

 

Justification 

7.13 In addition to the sites allocated for residential development within the Plan, it is recognised 

that other sites will become available for development during the Plan period as it is 

impossible to identify all potential redevelopment proposals that may arise within an urban 

area such as Sandwell. These sites are likely to include surplus public land, small non-

conforming employment uses and some residential intensification sites where appropriate. 

However, greenfield proposals will only be considered if they meet the criteria above. 

Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

7.14 It is important that the new homes delivered over the plan period:  

• are provided in places with good sustainable transport access to key residential 

services;  

• can provide a mix of types and densities that are appropriate to their location; and  

• can help to meet local needs. 

Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

1. The density and type of new housing provided on any housing site should be 
informed by:  

a. The need for a range of types and sizes of accommodation to meet identified 
local needs;  

b. The level of accessibility by sustainable transport to residential services, 
including any improvements to be secured through development, as set out in 
Table 6; and 

c. The need to achieve high-quality design and minimise amenity impacts, 
considering the characteristics and mix of uses in the area where the proposal 
is located. 

2. The council will aim to provide an overall mix of house types over the plan period, 
tailored to best meet local needs and will support development that creates mixed, 
sustainable and inclusive communities. Developments of ten homes or more 
should provide a range of house types and sizes that will meet the accommodation 
needs of both existing and future residents, in line with the most recently available 
information.  

Page 1036



181 

 

Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

3. All developments of ten homes or more should achieve the minimum net density 
set out below, except where this would prejudice historic character and local 
distinctiveness as defined in Policy SHE2:  

a. 100 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for very high-
density housing are met and the site is located within West Bromwich.  

b. 45 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for high density 
housing are met;  

c. 40 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for moderate 
density housing are met.  

4. Table 6 provides details of the appropriate density and, where appropriate, house 
type mix, to be sought on each housing allocation site, in accordance with the 
requirements set out in this Policy. Further details of design requirements for 
housing developments will be set out in Sandwell’s Design Codes.  

Table 6 - Minimum Housing Densities and Accessibility 

Density (homes per hectare net) 

Very High: 100 + 

Only appropriate 
within West 
Bromwich 

High: 45 + Moderate: 40 + 

Indicative proportion of flats 100% >15% 0 – 15% 

Indicative amount of housing suited to 

families 
low medium high 

Accessibility (by either walking or public transport, unless stated) 

Employment - Strategic Centre or other 

employment area 
20 mins 20 mins 30 mins 

Health – Primary Care e.g., GP Surgery or 

Health Centre 
10 mins 10 mins 15 mins 

Fresh Food - Centre or food store N/a 10 mins 15 mins 

Page 1037



182 

 

Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

Education - Primary School (walking 

distance only) 
N/a 15 mins 10 mins 

Education - Secondary School N/a 25 mins 20 mins 

5. Any development that fails to make efficient use of land, by providing a 
disproportionate number of large, 4+ bedroom homes when compared with 
evidenced local housing need, will be refused in accordance with the requirements 
of this policy. 

6. Development proposals should be consistent with other Local Plan policies. 

Justification 

7.15 Achieving an appropriate density and house type mix is crucial both to the success of each 

new housing development and the overall sustainability of the Spatial Strategy. It is 

important that every major development, of ten homes or more, contributes to providing an 

appropriate house type mix and density, aligned with current local needs. Achieving the right 

density and mix of house types will also help to protect and improve physical, social and 

mental health and wellbeing, as set out in the Health and Wellbeing Chapter.  

7.16 The accessibility of all housing developments by walking, cycling or public transport to a 

range of residential services is key to achieving sustainable communities. As higher density 

developments will accommodate more people, they should generally be delivered in those 

areas with good access to services, to encourage use of sustainable transport modes. The 

highest densities of 100 homes per hectare should be in areas with the best access to public 

transport and services, but also where a high proportion of flats will provide design solutions 

that best reflect historic character and local distinctiveness. Therefore, such densities will 

only be acceptable within West Bromwich Strategic Centre.  

7.17 Conversely, lower density developments, accommodating more families, should enjoy high 

levels of accessibility to schools. Not all developments with good sustainable access to 

services will be suited to the highest densities – in some cases a lower density will be more 

appropriate, for example in areas of historic character, to reflect the density of adjacent uses 

or to meet the need for a mix of housing types.  

7.18 Table 6 provides access standards for differing house type mixes / densities, in relation to 

four priority residential services: employment, health, fresh food and education. Proxies have 

Page 1038



183 

 

been selected for each service. Employment is represented by West Bromwich Strategic 

Centre and retained employment areas. The proxy used for fresh food is a centre, or an 

existing food store outside a centre that currently provides a range and choice of fresh food. 

The access standards have been developed based on survey evidence regarding the 

distance people are prepared to travel to each service by foot and public transport and are 

designed to help create well-connected and walkable neighbourhoods. Although open space 

does not form one of the priority residential services for the purposes of establishing the 

appropriate density and type of housing, Policy SHW4, taken together with local standards 

and policies, will ensure that a sufficient quantity and quality of different types of open space 

is available close to where people live.  

7.19 Housing developments of ten homes or more will be expected to meet the accessibility 

standards set out in Table 6, which vary according to density and likely house type mix. The 

priority is for the service needs of future communities to be served by the existing network of 

centres, to ensure their future vitality and viability, and to secure future regeneration. Any on-

site service provision potential required to meet accessibility standards is identified in the 

housing allocations. Where there is an identified gap in service provision against one or 

more of these standards, investment will be sought to improve either service provision or 

access to existing services sufficient to ensure standards are met.  

7.20 New service provision, including for centre uses, should be located and justified in 

accordance with Policies SCE3 and SCE4.  

7.21 Current accessibility to residential services by sustainable transport modes across Sandwell 

has been modelled. This modelling shows the high levels of accessibility achieved by the 

Spatial Strategy. However, there are some gaps in provision that will need to be addressed 

through service or access improvements. The model will be updated on a regular basis to 

reflect changes in service provision and public transport services. Local circumstances, such 

as planned changes to service provision, will be considered when assessing accessibility on 

a site-by-site basis.  

7.22 The Black Country Housing Market Assessment (HMA) 2021 demonstrates that new 

households generated by 2039 will need the following mix of home tenures and types:  

Page 1039



184 

 

Table 7 - New housing types and tenures in Sandwell 

Size of 
home 

Owner 
occupied 

Private 
rented 

First 
Homes 

Shared 
Ownership 

Social / 
affordable 
rented 

1 bedroom 15.5% 22.4% 17.6% 25.5% 25.5% 

2 bedrooms 30.0% 24.7% 25.9% 30.9% 15.1% 

3 bedrooms 29.3% 20.7% 35.9% 28.0% 23.6% 

4+ bedroom 25.1% 32.2% 20.7% 15.7% 35.7% 

It is important that housing provision reflects the needs of these new households, allowing 

for at least one bedroom per person 

7.23 Land supply is limited, and this has an impact on the number of homes that can be 

delivered, therefore it is essential that any new development makes the most efficient use of 

the land. On sites where homes are proposed to be delivered, the Council will be looking for 

housing sizes that improve the choice in an area; the Council will also expect smaller family 

housing to be included in the overall mix of housing. Furthermore, new developments need 

to provide a range of typologies / mix of homes to complement the existing / surrounding 

housing context; a consistent run of overly-large units on a site can be at odds with 

neighbouring sites in terms of street or plot context. Therefore, developments that fail to 

make the most efficient use of land by proposing developments of 4+ bedroom homes when 

compared with evidenced local housing need, will be refused in accordance with the 

requirements of this policy and Policy SHO1. 

Affordable Housing 

7.24 To meet local needs, a sufficient proportion of new homes provided over the plan period 

should be affordable.  

Page 1040



185 

 

Policy SHO4 - Affordable Housing 

1. Developments of ten homes or more should, where financially viable, provide a 
range of tenures that will meet the accommodation needs of both existing and 
future residents, in line with the most recently available information. 

2. All developments of ten homes or more should provide a proportion of affordable 
housing, where this is financially viable. Smaller sites, which could reasonably be 
expected to form part of a major development in the future, will also need to take 
this policy into account. The minimum proportion of affordable housing that should 
be provided, subject to viability, is 25%. 

3. 25% of the affordable homes required by this policy will be First Homes tenure, as 
defined in national guidance. 

4. Beyond the tenure requirements set out in Parts 2 and 3 of this policy, the tenure 
and type of affordable homes sought will be determined on a site-by-site basis, 
based on national planning policy and best available information regarding local 
housing needs, site surroundings and viability considerations.  

5. Where providing 25% affordable homes cannot be achieved, the maximum 
proportion of affordable housing will be required that does not undermine the 
development's viability (Policy SHO6).  

6. The affordable housing created will remain affordable in perpetuity. 

Justification 

7.25 Rising house prices and low average incomes over a long period have made market housing 

increasingly unaffordable for many Sandwell households. The Black Country HMA (2021) 

identifies a requirement for 16.9% of new homes to be made available for affordable or 

social rent, 7% to be shared ownership and 8.2% to be First Homes. To meet this level of 

need over the Plan period, 32.1% of new housing would have to be affordable. Sandwell 

aspires to provide this level of affordable housing, through a range of schemes delivering up 

to 100% affordable housing funded through grant and other financial sources and supported 

by developer contributions where viable. 

7.26 Viability issues can vary significantly from site to site and are often caused by poor ground 

conditions, the extent of which cannot be accurately assessed until planning application 

stage. Therefore, to maximise delivery of affordable housing over the Plan period, it is 

important that affordable housing is sought on all eligible sites, that viability is assessed on a 

Page 1041



186 

 

site-by-site basis where required, and that a flexible approach is employed wherever 

possible to allow for changing market conditions.  

7.27 The tenure of affordable housing to be funded by developers through planning obligations is 

constrained by national planning policy, as set out above. At least 25% of any affordable 

homes funded should be First Homes tenure – a specific kind of discounted market sale 

housing to be sold at 30% below current market value, to eligible persons only, at every 

future sale126. National guidance allows for evidenced local variations in First Homes 

requirements, however there is no evidence that such variations are required in Sandwell. In 

addition, the NPPF (paragraph 65) requires at least 10% of all homes on major 

developments (of ten homes or more) to be affordable home ownership tenure. First Homes 

and shared ownership properties can contribute towards this requirement.  

7.28 Beyond national requirements, the tenure and type of affordable housing required over the 

Plan period will vary according to local housing need and market conditions. In general, a 

mix of tenures will be sought on all sites of ten homes or more, to help create mixed 

communities across the borough. However, there may be circumstances where this goal is 

better achieved through the provision of 100% affordable housing development to boost 

affordable housing provision, or through delivery of 100% market housing development with 

off-site provision of the affordable housing requirement. 

Delivering Wheelchair Accessible Homes and Self-build and Custom Housing 

7.29 To meet local needs, a sufficient proportion of new homes provided over the plan period 

should be wheelchair accessible, and enough plots should be provided to meet local 

demand for self-build and custom build housing. 

Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom 
Build Housing 

National Accessibility and Wheelchair Housing Standards 

1. All new homes will be required to meet M4(2) (Category 2: Accessible and adaptable 
dwellings) requirement in Building Regulations127. 

                                                

126  Detailed guidance is available at: www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes  
127  Or any subsequent national equivalent standard 

Page 1042

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes


187 

 

Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom 
Build Housing 

2. Developments of ten homes or more should provide a proportion of accessible and 
adaptable or wheelchair user housing, where this is financially viable. The 
minimum proportion that should be provided is: 

a. an additional 15% of homes to meet the optional Building Regulations 
Requirement M4(3): Wheelchair User Dwellings128. 

3. Other than for reasons of financial viability, these requirements will only be reduced 
where it can be demonstrated that any of the following apply: 

a. it is not practically achievable given the physical characteristics of the site; or  

b. site specific factors mean that step-free access to the dwelling cannot be 
achieved; or 

c. the homes are located on the first floor or above of a non-lift serviced multi-
storey development; or 

d. the amount of M4(3) housing is limited by the number of homes that can be 
provided where the local authority is likely to be responsible for allocating or 
nominating a person to live in that home.  

Self-Build and Custom Build Plots 

4. On developments of 100 homes or more, where there is currently a demand for self-
build and custom build plots (defined as the number of entries added to the self-
build and custom build register in the most recent base period for the local 
authority where the site is located), at least 5% of plots should be made available 
for self-build or custom build, or sufficient to match demand if lower.  

5. All plots set aside for self-build or custom build housing (secured via a legal 
agreement or planning condition) must include:  

a. legal access onto a public highway;  

b. water, foul drainage, broadband connection, and electricity supply available at 
the plot boundary;  

                                                

128  Or any subsequent national equivalent standard 

Page 1043



188 

 

Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom 
Build Housing 

c. sufficient space to build without compromising neighbouring properties and 
their amenity and the amenity of future occupiers; and  

d. an agreed design code or plot passport for the plots.  

6. If a plot remains unsold after six months, after a thorough and proportionate 
marketing exercise that includes making details available to people on the custom 
and self-build register, the requirement to make the plot available for self-build or 
custom build will fall away. 

Justification 

Wheelchair accessible and adaptable homes 

7.30 Sandwell Council will work with partners to meet identified needs to accommodate older 

people, people with disabilities and those with other special needs. The Black Country HMA 

(2021) concludes that an additional 5,516 accessible and adaptable homes, including 656 

wheelchair user homes, will be required by Sandwell households in 2039 due to disability or 

old age.  

7.31 There is a need for these types of home across all tenures. This implies that a significant 

uplift will be required to the number of homes that meet these standards currently. Although 

some improvements to existing homes funded through Disabled Facilities Grants may 

contribute towards this uplift, the provision of new homes meeting the standards would 

reduce the need for adaptations to be retrofitted and make the housing stock more 

responsive to the evolving needs of the local population. 

7.32 People’s housing needs change as they get older, and homes designed in a way that makes 

them more easily accessible and adaptable allow people to stay in their own homes for 

longer. With public health and social care strategies placing more emphasis on supporting 

people in their own homes rather than moving to residential care, it is important that more 

adaptable and accessible homes are provided. Studies have shown that older properties are 

generally less accessible, and harder to adapt.  

7.33 In line with new Building Regulations all new homes must meet the M4(2) (Category 2: 

Accessible and adaptable dwellings) requirement. Accessible and adaptable homes that 

meet the M4(2) Building Regulations are designed and built to a standard that meets the 

needs of occupants with differing needs, including some older or disabled people, and are 

Page 1044



189 

 

only slightly more expensive to build than standard housing. They must also allow adaptation 

to meet the changing needs of occupants over time. Homes built to this standard are more 

flexible and readily adaptable as people’s needs change, for example if they have children 

and require easy access for pushchairs, if they have a temporary or permanent disability or 

health issue, or as they gradually age and their mobility decreases.  

7.34 Wheelchair user homes that meet the M4(3) Building Regulations are required by fewer 

households but attract significantly increased costs. M4(3) standards can only be applied to 

homes where the local authority is responsible for allocation or for nominating a person to 

live in that home. 

7.35 Therefore, for major housing developments there will be a requirement for 15% of wheelchair 

user homes at the M4(3) standard. 

7.36 The standards will be applied through planning conditions or section 106 agreements, which 

will require an agreed number of units to be constructed to the specified Building 

Regulations requirements.  

7.37 Policy SHO5 allows for an element of flexibility in recognition of the practicalities of delivering 

these standards, given the challenges that may arise in view of the topography of some 

sites, where access within the gradients specified in the Building Regulations Approved 

Document may not be achievable. Where step-free access to dwellings cannot feasibly be 

achieved due to site specific factors, the optional standards will not be required for the 

homes affected. Where multi-storey flats or apartments are being developed without lift 

provision, homes on the first floor or above will not be required to meet the M4(2) or M4(3) 

standards. Ground floor flats in multi-storey developments will still be required to meet the 

optional standards. Where lifts are provided the standards will be applied in accordance with 

the Policy.  

Self and Custom Build Housing 

7.38 National guidance requires local authorities to permit sufficient serviced plots of land to meet 

the demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in their area, defined as the number of 

entries to the authority’s self-build and custom housebuilding register in the most recent 

base period (12 months running from 31 October to 30 October). The current129 demand for 

the base period of 31 October 2022 to 30 October 2023 is 10.  

                                                

129 As at July 2023 

Page 1045



190 

 

7.39 Therefore, where there is identified demand in the borough when an application is submitted, 

developers of larger sites (sites of 100 homes or more) will be expected to make available a 

small proportion of the development as serviced self-build and custom build plots, as defined 

in national guidance and legislation and that meet the criteria set out in Policy SHO5 parts 

5a-d. Appropriate marketing of these plots, for example through specialist plot finding 

services, residential property websites and local estate agents, will be required for a period 

of at least six months. These plots will not form part of the affordable housing requirement for 

the development. Detailed guidance for the plots, for example on design, will be provided 

where appropriate. 

Financial Viability Assessments for Housing 

7.40 Viability must be considered in the delivery of sites. 

Policy SHO6 - Financial Viability Assessments for Housing 

1. A planning application that complies with up-to-date policies within this plan will be 
assumed to be viable and should seek to provide any relevant planning 
contributions necessary to make it acceptable in planning terms. The onus will be 
on the applicant to demonstrate that the provision of planning contributions would 
adversely affect the financial viability of the development proposals. 

2. Financial viability assessments conforming to national guidance will be required to 
be submitted and, where necessary, independently appraised by an appropriate 
professional appointed by the local planning authority at the cost of the applicant. 
Flexible arrangements will be sought through planning agreements, wherever 
possible, to allow for changing market conditions in future years.  

3. Any viability assessment should be prepared on the basis that it will be made 
publicly available other than in exceptional circumstances, and in such 
circumstances an executive summary will be made publicly available. 

4. On sites where applying the affordable housing or accessibility and wheelchair user 
requirements set out in Policies SHO4 and SHO5 can be demonstrated to make the 
development unviable, the maximum proportion of such housing will be sought that 
will not undermine the viability of the development, subject to achieving optimum 
tenure mix and securing other planning obligations necessary for the development 
to gain planning permission.  

Page 1046



191 

 

Justification 

7.41 Viability issues can vary significantly from site to site and are often caused by poor ground 

conditions, the extent of which cannot be accurately assessed until planning application 

stage. Therefore, to maximise delivery of affordable housing over the Plan period, it is 

important that affordable housing is sought on all eligible sites, that viability is assessed on 

a site-by-site basis where required, and that a flexible approach is employed wherever 

possible to allow for changing market conditions. 

Protecting Family Housing 

7.42 There is sufficient demand in Sandwell for family accommodation that the Council believe it 

is appropriate to include a policy requiring the retention of family houses except where 

identified circumstances apply.  

Policy SHO7 - Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3)  

1. To address the shortage of homes that are suitable and attractive to families 
throughout the borough, and to encourage the provision of sustainable, inclusive and 
mixed communities, there will be a presumption against the loss of dwelling houses 
(Use Class C3) for family occupation through either sub-division, conversion to Use 
Class C4130, conversion to other non-residential uses or demolition and 
redevelopment, unless: 

a) the property / properties is / are located within a site allocation and the 
corresponding development principles indicate that an alternative use or mix of 
housing will be more appropriate; 

b) the proposed development fulfils other regeneration aspirations of the Council; 

c) evidence of local housing need and demand indicates that an alternative mix of 
housing is appropriate; 

d) alternative provision will help meet other housing priorities of the Council, such 
as provision for elderly persons (including bungalows); or 

e) an applicant can demonstrate that the property / properties will no longer be 
suitable for family occupation, in which case, replacement with a new Class C3 

                                                

130 Or subsequent / equivalent iterations 

Page 1047



192 

 

Policy SHO7 - Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3)  

dwelling house(s), suitable for family occupation will be the preferred approach, 
unless one of the criteria set out above can be satisfied. 

Justification 

7.43 The Black Country Housing Market Assessment (2021) demonstrates a need for homes 

with one bedroom (19%), two bedrooms (26%), three bedrooms (27%) and four bedrooms 

(27%). Sandwell’s waiting list register demonstrates that more people are waiting for one- 

and two- (42% and 32%) bedroom homes, with three- bedroom homes seeing the third 

highest level of demand (17.5%). 

7.44 Sandwell is limited in its capacity to identify areas of land for housing to meet the borough’s 

needs, and many family homes have been lost through conversion into separate flats and 

Houses in Multiple Occupation. Therefore, existing family homes should be retained unless 

there are circumstances identified where it may not be appropriate to do so. 

7.45 Such circumstances may arise where the property or properties form part of a site 

allocation within this Plan, and the accompanying development principles for that site state 

that an alternative use for the property has been identified; or where an alternative type of 

housing is more appropriate.  

7.46 Another example would be where an alternative form of development would fulfil 

regeneration aspirations endorsed by the Council or where alternative provision meets 

other housing priorities of the Council, as set out in the Housing Strategy.  

7.47 Where applicants feel that a property or properties are no longer suitable for family 

occupation, a robust justification will be required for their conversion or replacement. 

Factors that will be taken into consideration will include:  

a. location of the property, compatibility of neighbouring uses; 

b. provision of private outdoor amenity space, car parking, outlook and adaptability of 

internal layout.  

Housing in Multiple Occupation 

7.48 Over the last few years, the issue of the number and location of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation131 (HMOs) in Sandwell has risen in importance. A combination of changes to 

                                                

131  https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation 

Page 1048

https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation


193 

 

permitted development rights and the need to provide affordable accommodation for 

people on low incomes has led to an increase in the number of HMOs and in the numbers 

of related planning applications being determined by Sandwell’s Planning Committee.  

7.49 HMOs provide an additional and valuable source of lower-cost accommodation for sections 

of the community who cannot afford to purchase their own property or who do not qualify 

for other forms of social housing. They also provide for the needs of students and people 

commuting from elsewhere to work in Sandwell. 

7.50 There is a perception however that HMOs lead to increases in anti-social behaviour, 

increased activity, parking problems, noise nuisance and more transient occupiers leading 

to a weakening of community coherence. 

Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  

1. Proposals for the creation of a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO), including the 
conversion of buildings or sub-division of dwellings, will only be permitted if this 
would not result in over 10% of the number of residential properties132 within a 100-
metre radius of the application site, measured from the centre point of the property 
(referred to in this policy as the “relevant area”) operating as HMOs and if the 
proposals would meet the additional criteria set out in this policy.  

2. The methodology for establishing the quantum of HMOs in a relevant area is set out 
in the table below: 

Table 8 - Methodology for calculating concentration of HMOs within a relevant area 

Methodology / Evidence: 

The Council will calculate the number of HMOs in the relevant area for each individual planning 
application by using the following approach:  

i. Identifying the current distribution of residential properties in the relevant area -  

For the purposes of assessing applications for HMO development, dwelling houses 
and HMOS that are located within blocks of flats or subdivided properties are counted 
as one property. Residential institutions, care homes, hostels and purpose-built 
student accommodation and other specialist housing types are also counted as one 

                                                

132  See paragraph 7.57 

Page 1049



194 

 

Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  

property per block. This will ensure that calculations of HMO concentration are not 
skewed.  

ii. Calculating the number of HMOs in the relevant area -  

Current HMO numbers will be identified from the following sources:  

• Properties licensed as a HMO  

• Properties with C4 or Sui Generis HMO planning consent or issued with a 
Certificate of Lawful Development  

• Council tax records – student exemptions for council tax excluding purpose-built 
student accommodation and private flats 

iii. Calculating the concentration of HMOs in the relevant area - 

The concentration of HMOs surrounding the application site is calculated as a 
percentage of the total estimated number of existing HMO units against the total 
number of residential properties. It is accepted that although the HMO sources listed 
above provide the most robust approach to identifying the numbers and locations of 
HMOs in an area, it will not identify all HMOs. 

3. Once the current level of HMO provision has been established in a relevant area, 
the following criteria will be applied to a new proposal: 

b) the development would not:  

i. result in the loss of C3 family-sized dwellings in areas where there is a 
proven demand for such accommodation (Policy SHO7); 

ii. result in a C3 family dwelling house being sandwiched133 between two 
HMOs or other non-family residential uses134; 

iii. lead to a continuous frontage of three or more HMOs or non-family 
residential uses.  

c) the development is unlikely to be detrimental to the amenities of the occupiers 
of adjoining or neighbouring properties by way of noise, overlooking, general 
disturbance, or impact on visual amenity; 

                                                

133 See justification for more detailed explanation 
134  For the purposes of this policy a non-family residential use is defined as a HMO, student accommodation, residential 

accommodation within C1 and C2 Use and self-contained flats 

Page 1050



195 

 

Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  

d) the development would not have a significant adverse impact on the character 
or appearance of the area, or of the historic or natural environment; 

e) the development would not give rise to unacceptable adverse cumulative 
impacts on amenity, character, appearance, security, crime, anti-social 
behaviour or the fear of crime135;  

f) in areas at risk of a 1 in 100-year plus flood event, finished ground floor levels 
are at least 60cm above the 1 in 100-year plus flood level;  

g) provisions for off- and on-street car and cycle parking are sufficient and 
appropriately incorporated and would not have an adverse impact on the 
surrounding area by way of increased on-street parking, impaired highway 
safety or impeding proper access to the area;  

h) the site is in an area that has good access by walking and public transport to 
residential services, as set out in Policy SHO3; and 

i) the development provides a satisfactory standard of living accommodation and 
the internal layout is shown to be suitable for the number of units proposed in 
terms of daylight, outlook and the juxtaposition of living rooms and bedrooms;  

4. The construction or conversion of the building / dwelling intended to form the HMO 
should be undertaken to provide adequate personal living space and residential 
facilities136, including:  

a. bedrooms of at least 7.5m2 (single) and 11.5m2 (double);  

b. communal living space comprising lounge, kitchen and dining space either as 
distinct rooms or in an open plan format;  

c. washing facilities;  

d. adequate provision for the storage and disposal of refuse and recycling;  

                                                

135  It is recommended that pre-application and planning application advice is sought for HMO proposals from the West 
Midlands Police Design Out Crime Offices 

136  Some national planning guidance is available, covering licensing and mandatory minimum room sizes 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and
_residential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf  . 

 

Page 1051

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and_residential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and_residential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf


196 

 

Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  

e. outdoor amenity space for sitting out, play and drying clothes and external 
storage space, including cycle storage137. 

5. Where an HMO has been established in breach of the need for planning permission, 
retrospective consent will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.  

6. Proposals for the intensification or expansion of an existing HMO should comply 
with the criteria above, having regard to the size and character of the property.  

Justification  

7.51 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) are defined as homes accommodating three or 

more unrelated households who typically share kitchens, lounges, and bathrooms. 

7.52 HMOs are an increasingly popular part of the housing market within many parts of the 

Black Country. As rooms can be rented individually, they provide additional affordable 

accommodation options, used primarily by students, young people, and those on lower 

incomes.  

7.53 Whilst the area’s stock of HMOs is contributing to meeting housing needs, increased 

numbers of multiple occupancy properties have the potential to create harmful impacts. 

Concentrations of HMOs within neighbourhoods can lead to imbalanced and unsustainable 

communities and harm the social mix and fabric of the area by increasing the proportion of 

short-term households. They can damage the residential amenity and character of 

surrounding areas, as the level of activity associated with a HMO is significantly greater 

than a typical family house, thus increasing the potential for noise and disturbance. 

7.54 Harmful impacts associated with high numbers of HMOs can include: 

a. reduced social cohesion resulting from demographic imbalance and unsustainable 

communities; 

b. reduced housing choice resulting from housing type / tenure imbalance (e.g., a shift 

from permanent family housing to more transient accommodation and a growth in the 

private sector at the expense of owner-occupation); 

                                                

137  This would normally be calculated to match the same amenity provision for an apartment block (10m2 per person) 

Page 1052



197 

 

c. reduced community engagement from residents resulting from an increase in the 

transient population of an area;  

d. noise and disturbance resulting from intensification of the residential use and / or the 

lifestyle of occupants;  

e. detriment to the visual amenity and character of the area resulting from poor or 

accumulative external alterations to properties and / or poor waste management;  

f. reduced community facilities resulting from a shift in the character of shops and 

businesses;  

g. increased anti-social behaviour and fear of crime resulting from the lifestyles of some 

HMO occupants, the transient nature of the accommodation and inadequately designed 

/ maintained properties;  

h. highway safety concerns resulting from congested on-street parking. 

7.55 Whilst this type of accommodation can address certain housing needs, HMOs tend to be 

grouped together in parts of the urban area, becoming the dominant type of housing, which 

can lead to social and environmental problems for local communities. Alongside this, an 

over-concentration of HMO properties can lead to a loss of family-sized units. This in turn 

can lead to a consequential increase in the overall number of units unsuited to family 

occupation. This can pose a serious issue for maintaining a mixed sustainable housing 

offer across the Black Country.  

7.56 The Black Country HMA (2021) signalled that the greatest demand in the future will be for 

homes of three bedrooms or more. It is important, therefore, that an approach is taken to 

the creation of HMOs and the sub-division of existing properties that only allows those 

proposals that do not impact upon the overall supply of family-sized homes to be 

consented. In applying this policy, ‘family-sized dwellings’ means houses with three or 

more bedrooms. 

7.57 In determining the concentration of HMOs surrounding the application site, it is calculated 

as a percentage of the total number of residential properties.  HMOs should not form over 

10% of the number of residential properties within a 100-metre radius.  Any application that 

would result in a higher figure e.g., 10.04% would be refused. 

7.58 Planning permission will not be granted where the introduction of a new HMO would result 

in an existing C3 dwelling being ‘sandwiched’ by any adjoining HMOs or non-family 

residential uses on both sides. In the context of the policy, this is defined as:  

Page 1053



198 

 

a. Up to three single residential properties in a street located between two individual HMO 

properties;  

b. Individual HMO properties in any two of the following locations: adjacent, opposite or to 

the rear of a single residential property;  

c. A residential flat in a building where most of the other flats are proposed for use as 

HMOs;  

d. A residential flat within a building located between two other sub-divided buildings with 

at least one HMO flat in each of the other building;  

e. A residential flat located between HMOs above and below or between HMO flats on 

either side. 

7.59 This would not apply where the properties are separated by an intersecting road or where 

properties have a back-to-back relationship in different streets. Planning permission would 

also not be granted where it would result in a continuous frontage of three or more HMOs 

or non-family residential uses 

7.60 In situations where properties are not traditional houses situated along a street frontage, 

the policy can be applied flexibly depending on the individual circumstances of the 

proposal. 

Exceptional circumstances  

7.61 In some areas, the concentration of HMOs in an area may be at such a high level that the 

introduction of a new HMO use would be difficult to resist. In these circumstances the 

retention of a property as a family dwelling would have little noticeable or meaningful effect 

on the balance and mix of households in a community already dominated by the proportion 

of existing HMOs. Therefore, the conversion of remaining buildings to a HMO could not 

harm the character of the surrounding area any further. 

Education Facilities 

7.62 A variety of services are required to meet the needs of new residents, including education 

facilities. It is important that these facilities can be easily accessed by sustainable forms of 

transport and meet the variety of needs for different age groups and educational needs. 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

1. New nursery, school and further and higher education facilities should be: 

Page 1054



199 

 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

a. well-designed, to the relevant local / national standards / guidance in place, and 
should complement and enhance neighbourhood services and amenities; 

b. well-served by public transport infrastructure, walking, and cycling facilities, 
particularly in centres, and located to minimise the number and length of 
journeys needed in relation to the home to school travel distances; and 

c. wherever possible, located to address accessibility gaps in terms of the 
standards set out in Policy SHO3, particularly where a significant amount of 
new housing is proposed. 

2. New and improved education facilities will be secured through a range of funding 
measures:  

a. Where a housing development of ten or more homes would increase the need 
for education facilities to the extent that new or improved facilities would be 
required to meet this need, planning obligations or Community Infrastructure 
Levy will be secured sufficient to meet the need in a timely manner, where this 
is financially viable.  

b. Contributions will be secured retrospectively where forward funding of 
improvements is necessary to meet immediate needs.  

c. For sites where there is likely to be a requirement for on-site provision of new 
schools, this is set out in Appendix B.  

3. Where land is provided for a new school as part of a housing development, the 
financial contribution made by that development towards education facilities will be 
reduced accordingly. 

4. On sites where the education facility requirement is proven not to be viable, the 
maximum proportion of funding will be sought that will not undermine the viability of 
the development, subject to securing other planning obligations necessary for the 
development to gain planning permission. A financial viability assessment will be 
required to be submitted, meeting the requirements set out in Policy SHO6. 

5. New and redeveloped education facilities should include provision for wider 
community use of sports and other facilities where this would be in accordance with 
evidence of need, secured through a suitably worded community use agreement 

Page 1055



200 

 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

6. The existing network of education facilities will be protected and proposals that seek 
to enhance this network will be supported. The physical enhancement and 
expansion of higher and further educational facilities and related business and 
research will be supported where it helps to realise the educational, training and 
research potential of Sandwell.  

7. Proposals involving the loss, in part or the whole of an education facility will be 
permitted only where adequate alternative provision is available to meet the needs of 
the community served by the facility. 

Justification 

7.63 Rising demand for school places in recent years, due to a combination of high birth rates, 

inward migration, retention levels and housing growth, has resulted in the expansion of a 

significant number of existing schools and an increased need for new schools across the 

Black Country. This investment has largely been funded by Local Education Authorities, as 

housing sites within the Sandwell area do not demonstrate sufficient viability to provide for 

their own educational needs. 

7.64 Housing growth over the Plan period is likely to generate the need for further investment in 

education provision for all age groups, including nursery and further and higher education. 

National guidance sets out the presumption that housing developments will fund the 

provision of education facilities sufficient to meet their own needs, including the provision of 

land for the construction of new buildings where necessary. However, the Viability and 

Delivery Study indicates that depending on the extent of other planning obligations 

required, this may not be viable on some sites. Where it can be proved that it is not viable 

for a housing development to fund all its own education facility needs, the developer should 

work with the Local Education Authority to investigate available options and ensure that 

these needs can and will be met. 

7.65 Improvements to existing educational settings should be explored to help address low 

educational attainment. It is important that any investment in educational settings is 

focussed to support centres, address accessibility gaps, generate maximum service 

improvements and secure community benefits. Increasing community use of school sports 

facilities would make a major contribution towards meeting open space, sport and 

recreation standards and improving health through increased sports participation.  

Page 1056



201 

 

7.66 The preferred location for major education facilities, which generate many trips, is the 

network of identified centres. However, there may be cases where a development is 

isolated from a centre or provision within a centre may not be possible. In such cases the 

priority, when selecting a location, should be addressing accessibility gaps in accordance 

with access standards set out in Policy SHO3, to maximise sustainable access to the 

facility. 

7.67 Locally-based Academy Trusts, higher and further education institutions, play a major role 

in the Sandwell economy and have a key role in helping deliver economic and social 

transformation. Attracting and retaining graduates within Sandwell is also key to securing a 

knowledge-based economy. The Higher and Further Education sector is a major driver of 

economic, social, and cultural regeneration and ongoing investment in the existing network 

of this sector is supported. Initiatives that strengthen linkages between the sector and the 

wider economy will also be supported. 

Accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

7.68 Sandwell has a small, settled community of Gypsies and Travellers, and Travelling 

Showpeople, and has experienced unauthorised encampments in the past. In accordance 

with national guidance, the SLP aims to provide sufficient, appropriately designed and 

integrated sites to accommodate the needs of these communities over the plan period 

Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople 

Safeguarding Existing Supply 

1. Existing Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites (shown on the 
Policies Map) will be protected unless it can be demonstrated that they are no 
longer required or suitable alternative provision can be made. 

Meeting Future Need 

2. New Gypsy and Traveller permanent pitches will be provided to meet identified 
need up to 2031 as set out in Table 9, in accordance with the Black Country Gypsy 
and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 2022. 

3. Accommodation needs for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople over 
the Plan period will be met through sites with outstanding planning permission, 
allocated sites and other sites granted planning permission during the Plan period 

Page 1057



202 

 

Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople 

in accordance with the criteria set out below. The council will pursue funding and / 
or management arrangements for new sites, where necessary. 

4. Proposals for permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople 
plots will be assessed against the following criteria: 

a. The site should be suitable as a place to live, particularly regarding health and 
safety, and the development should be designed to provide adequate levels of 
privacy and amenity for both occupants and neighbouring uses; 

b. The site should meet moderate standards of access to residential services as 
set out in Policy SHO3, Table 6; 

c. The site should be located and designed to facilitate integration with 
neighbouring communities; 

d. The site should be suitable to allow for the planned number of pitches, an 
amenity block, a play area, access roads, parking and an area set aside for 
work purposes where appropriate, including, in the case of Travelling 
Showpeople, sufficient level space for outdoor storage and maintenance of 
equipment; 

e. The site should be served or capable of being served by adequate on-site 
services for water supply, power, drainage, sewage and waste disposal 
(storage and collection); and 

f. A minimum 10% biodiversity net gain is demonstrated in accordance with 
Policy SNE2. 

5. The location, design and facilities provided on new sites will be determined in 
consultation with local Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and will 
also consider / reflect any available national guidance.  

6. Proposals should be well designed and laid out in accordance with Secured by 
Design principles and as set out in Policy SDM1. It is recommended that pre-
application advice is sought from the West Midlands Police Design Out Crime 
Officers. 

Page 1058



203 

 

Justification 

7.69 A Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) for the Black Country was 

completed in 2022, in accordance with national guidance, and identified the likely future local 

need for Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation. It is anticipated 

that allocations and permissions will provide sufficient supply to meet targets up to 2031, and 

small windfalls within the urban area are expected to meet remaining need over the Plan 

period. Appendix B provides details of sites allocated in the SLP for gypsy and traveller 

pitches. Planning permission will also be granted for additional sites that meet the criteria set 

out in Policy SHO10, where appropriate. 

7.70 Permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches, and Travelling Showpeople plots, have fixed 

infrastructure with all the normal residential amenities, and are used as a base to travel from. 

They are intended to allow Gypsies and Travellers to obtain good access to education, 

health, and other services. It is important that pitches and plots are well designed in line with 

Secured by Design principles, and it is recommended that advice is sought from West 

Midlands Police Design Out Crime Officers. 

7.71 The GTAA identified that Gypsies and Travellers prefer small, family-sized sites with 

approximately 10 - 15 pitches but will accept larger sites if they have been carefully planned 

and designed in consultation with the Gypsy community. Local authorities may assist 

Gypsies and Travellers living on their own land without planning permission to obtain 

retrospective planning permission where this is deemed appropriate. 

Gypsy and Traveller Permanent Pitches 

7.72 The SLP aims to meet the needs of existing families that meet the Planning Policy for 

Travellers Sites 2015 (PPTS) travel for all definition (excluding those living in bricks and 

mortar accommodation) as identified in the GTAA, by continuing to deliver privately and 

publicly owned sites and pitches. The total need identified is for eight pitches up to 2031, 

and an additional six pitches from 2031 to 2041.  

7.73 The evidence supports the following approach towards meeting need up to 2029: 

a. safeguard existing Gypsy and Traveller pitches; 

b. allocate existing temporary or unauthorised sites for permanent use (subject to 

other planning considerations); 

c. intensify and extend existing sites, where appropriate; 

d. carry forward existing pitch allocations from adopted Plans; 

Page 1059



204 

 

e. allocate new pitches on sites which have emerged since adopted Plans. 

Table 9 - Supply of Gypsy and Traveller Permanent Pitches up to 2031 

Type of Supply Number 

Existing Authorised Pitches 16 

Regularise temporary / unauthorised sites (b) 0 

Intensify and extend existing sites (c) 0 

Pitch Allocations (d, e) 10 

Total New Pitches 10 

7.74 Table 9 demonstrates how this approach will deliver sufficient pitches to meet the need up to 

2031 plus a buffer of two pitches (20%) - providing a five-year deliverable supply of pitches 

from adoption of the SLP in 2025, as required by the PPTS. The approach will also provide 

71% of the total need for 14 pitches over the Plan period (2023-41). 

7.75 It is not possible to identify and allocate further sites to meet the remaining need for four 

pitches up to 2041, as no deliverable site options were put forward through the Sandwell 

Local Plan preparation process, which included a “call for site” opportunity and an 

assessment of Council-owned land. Therefore, this remaining need will be met within the 

borough through the planning application process, with proposals considered against the 

criteria set out in Policy SHO10 and any other relevant Local Plan policies. This is consistent 

with past trends, where small windfall sites have come forward within the urban area, and 

these have been approved where in accordance with other planning policies. 

Travelling Showpeople Plots 

7.76 The GTAA identifies a need for 32 Travelling Showpeople plots over the Plan period. It is not 

possible to identify and allocate sites to meet this need, as no deliverable site options have 

been put forward through the Sandwell Local Plan preparation process, which included one 

“call for sites” opportunity. Therefore, this need will be met within the borough, through the 

planning application process, with proposals considered against the criteria set out in Policy 

SHO10 and any other relevant Local Plan policies. This is consistent with past trends, where 

small windfall sites have come forward within the urban area, and these have been approved 

where in accordance with other planning policies. 

Page 1060



205 

 

7.77 Travelling Showpeople have different accommodation requirements to those of Gypsies and 

Travellers, and form part of a different community. They require large plots capable of 

accommodating lorries and equipment, which are more suited to mixed use areas. 

Housing for people with specific needs 

7.78 Sandwell Council will work with partners to meet the identified needs of all sections of the 

community, including older people, people with disabilities and those with other special 

needs. 

Policy SHO11 - Housing for people with specific needs 

1. Proposals for specific forms of housing including children’s homes, care homes, 
nursing homes, extra care facilities, or any other identified need, will be considered 
in relation to the following criteria:  

a. compatibility with adjacent uses;  

b. the suitability of the site and building;  

c. the potential for undue noise and general disturbance to surrounding 
residents; 

d. the character and quality of the resulting environment;  

e. the impact on parking provision and highway safety;  

f. accessibility by a choice of means of transport; and 

g. proximity to facilities.  

2. Supporting information will be required in the form of a planning statement which, 
as a minimum, must set out the day-to-day activities associated with the use, 
staffing numbers and visitor numbers. Additional information such as a transport 
statement or noise statement may be required depending on circumstances. 

Justification 

7.79 To plan effectively for people with specific needs, the Council will develop a series of 

strategies to help meet these needs138, which will be implemented over the Plan period. 

                                                

138 Sandwell Housing Strategy 2023-2028 
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33803/housing_needs_assessment_2022  

Page 1061

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33803/housing_needs_assessment_2022


206 

 

7.80 However, it is also considered that accommodation for people with specific needs is best 

located in areas that are close to local facilities and amenities and accessible by public 

transport, whilst not having a negative impact on the surrounding area. Therefore, when 

identifying sites for these facilities, the Council will use the above criteria as well as the 

accessibility criteria set out in Policy SHO3.  

Page 1062



207 

 

8. Sandwell’s Economy 

Introduction 

8.1 The policies in this chapter are concerned with promoting and supporting employment in 

manufacturing, research and development (Use Class E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii) and B2), warehousing 

(Use Class B8) and other uses that are appropriately located in industrial employment areas.  

8.2 Offices (Use Class E(g)(i)) are not classed as an employment use for the purposes of these 

policies; they are covered by Policies SCE1 - SCE7, which relate to uses that are more 

appropriately located in town centres. 

8.3 The evidence base for the employment land policies primarily consists of a two-stage 

Economic Development Needs Assessment (EDNA)139, and the Sandwell Employment Area 

Review (SEAR) formerly the Black Country Employment Area Review (BEAR)140. The EDNA 

provides an objective assessment of the employment land requirement for Sandwell to 2041, 

based upon an independent assessment of the area’s economic development needs.  

8.4 The key conclusions of the EDNA studies are:  

a) Sandwell forms part of the Black Country Functional Economic Area (FEMA) and is a 

clearly defined geographical unit. It has strong employment and labour market links to 

a hinterland that includes southern Staffordshire, north Worcestershire, Birmingham, 

and Solihull;  

b) Sandwell has an employment land shortfall, which will be met through the Black 

Country FEMA141 and the Duty to Co-operate with those neighbouring Local Authority 

Areas identified as having a strong or moderate relationship with the Black Country 

FEMA and other areas with an evidenced functional relationship. 

c) Sandwell has been hit hard by the COVID19 recession but is expected to recover 

strongly and has the capacity to deliver significant growth, given the diversity, 

resilience and concentration of key national sectors located in the area; 

                                                

139  Prepared by Warwick Economics & Development Limited (WECD) 
140  Led by the Black Country Local Planning Authorities  
141  National Planning Practice Guidance states that economic needs should be assessed in relation to relevant Functional 

Economic Market Areas (FEMAs), that is, the spatial level at which local economies and markets actually operate. 

Page 1063



208 

 

d) even pre-COVID19, recent growth was achieved against a backdrop of a weak local 

skills base, low business start-up rates and low GVA per head in comparison with the 

West Midlands and UK averages; 

e) economic development strategies including the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and 

Local Industrial Strategy seek to address these challenges to accelerate the growth 

of the local economy; 

f) Sandwell’s employment land supply in 2020 was largely that inherited from the Black 

Country Core Strategy and the suite of Tier 2 Plans that supported it. This land 

supply is dominated by small sites in the urban area. The plan will allocate 1,206ha of 

occupied employment land for strategic, local or other employment provision; 

g) going forward, attracting high-growth knowledge-based industries in line with SEP 

ambitions will require the provision of more prestigious sites, high-quality space with 

easy access to key transport hubs and good connectivity;  

h) the Plan also needs to ensure Sandwell can accommodate a variety of business 

needs, including start-ups and smaller businesses. This means that a mixed portfolio 

of sites will need to be made available, including larger and smaller sites and spaces, 

and areas of both higher and lower quality; 

i) it is imperative to protect the existing supply of land to meet future needs that will 

arise from a high growth-driven economy; 

j) there is a significant gap between the employment land supply, inherited from the 

Core Strategy and subsequent Tier 2 Plans, and forecast future needs. 

8.5 To address these issues, the strategy that underpins the SLP policies contains the following 

objectives:  

a) to facilitate the growth and diversification of the economy, the Plan allocates land for 

new development within Sandwell to accommodate jobs and output growth (Policy 

SDS1); 

b) to accommodate a variety of business needs including high technology 

manufacturing and logistics sectors, the Plan provides for a balanced portfolio of sites 

(Policy SEC1); 

c) to protect and enhance land and premises within existing employment areas where 

this provides for the needs of jobs and businesses (Policies SEC2, SEC3 and SEC4); 

d) to recognise that some sites will become unsuitable for continued employment uses 

and to facilitate their redevelopment to alternative uses including housing (Policy 

Page 1064



209 

 

SEC4). However, the number of such sites is expected to be considerably less than 

was envisaged by the Black Country Core Strategy adopted in 2011; 

e) to enable local communities to share the benefits of economic growth (Policy SEC5). 

8.6 The spatial strategy in relation to employment land is to focus new development to sites 

within the Regeneration Areas as set out in Policy SDS2. This will be achieved through the 

development of currently vacant sites allocated for development in the Plan, and the 

redevelopment and ‘intensification’ of existing premises. The great majority of existing 

employment areas which accommodate most of the Sandwell’s existing manufacturing and 

logistics jobs and businesses are also located within the Regeneration Area. 

Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs 

8.7 Policy SEC1 seeks to ensure a sufficient quantum of development opportunities are 

provided to meet the demand for economic growth and support the diversification of 

Sandwell’s economy. This Policy supports Strategic Objectives 2, 8 and 9. 

Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs 

1. The Sandwell Local Plan will provide at least 1,206ha of employment land (of 
which 29ha is currently vacant) within the borough142 between 2020 and 2041, to 
support the growth of the sub-regional economy and increase productivity. Most 
of this requirement will be met through sites allocated for development in this 
Plan as set out below. 

2. Additional employment development will be brought forward on other sites 
throughout Sandwell, mainly through the redevelopment, intensification and 
enhancement of existing employment areas and premises.  

3. The Plan will deliver a portfolio of sites of various sizes and quality to meet a 
range of business needs. This land is in addition to those sites currently 
occupied for employment purposes. These sites will be safeguarded for 
industrial employment uses143.  

4. Within the existing employment areas subject to Policies SEC2, SEC3 and SEC4, 
the Council will support, with public intervention as necessary, the regeneration 
and renewal of such areas, including their environmental enhancement and 

                                                

142  In Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2, and B8 
143  In Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2, and B8 

Page 1065



210 

 

Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs 

incorporation of sustainable measures to mitigate climate change impacts. 
Industrial developments will need to demonstrate how they have been designed 
to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change, as set out in Policy 
SCC1.  

5. To enable Sandwell’s employment areas to remain competitive and fit-for-
purpose in the long term, and to aid in the economic recovery and rejuvenation 
of the borough’s industrial economy, new and resident companies should be 
encouraged to adopt a circular economy approach and related infrastructure144.  

Justification 

8.8 Building a strong, responsive, and competitive economy is one of the three overarching 

objectives of the NPPF. This should be achieved by ensuring that sufficient land of the right 

type is available in the right place and at the right time to support growth, innovation, and 

improved productivity and by identifying and co-ordinating the provision of infrastructure.  

8.9 To support the ongoing growth of the distribution sector and a strong resurgence in 

manufacturing, the EDNA recommends that this Plan should provide for a minimum of 

185ha145 of land for employment development for the period up to 2041, based on an 

average of 9.07ha per annum and allowing for the replacement of some poorer quality 

employment land and premises redeveloped for non-industrial uses. The employment land 

supply baseline figures also include completions between 2020 and 2022. 

8.10 The Local Plan allocates 29ha of vacant employment land for development for the period 

between 2020 - 2041 and further employment development will come forward through the 

redevelopment of existing employment land and premises. Further land is provided on other 

sites that have planning permission for employment development. 

8.11 143ha of the employment land need arising in Sandwell cannot be met solely within the 

Borough. This unmet need should be exported, as far as possible, to authorities that have a 

strong existing or potential functional economic relationship with Sandwell, for example in 

                                                

144 The circular economy is a model of production and consumption, which involves sharing, leasing, reusing, repairing, 
refurbishing and recycling existing materials and products as long as possible 
(https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/headlines/economy/20151201STO05603/circular-economy-definition-
importance-and-benefits#:~:text=The%20circular%20economy%20is%20a,products%20as%20long%20as%20possible).  
145 Based on work undertaken by Oxford Economics in 2023 

Page 1066

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/headlines/economy/20151201STO05603/circular-economy-definition-importance-and-benefits#:%7E:text=The%20circular%20economy%20is%20a,products%20as%20long%20as%20possible
https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/headlines/economy/20151201STO05603/circular-economy-definition-importance-and-benefits#:%7E:text=The%20circular%20economy%20is%20a,products%20as%20long%20as%20possible


211 

 

terms of migration patterns, commuting links and / or connectivity through physical 

infrastructure such as rail and motorway. This work is ongoing and will be secured through 

the Duty to Co-operate and evidenced through Statements of Common Ground. 

Strategic Employment Areas 

8.12 Policy SEC2 provides for a sufficient stock of Strategic Employment Land suitable for a 

growing and diversified economy. This Policy supports Strategic Objectives 2 and 8. 

Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas 

1. The Strategic Employment Areas are shown on the Policies Map. They are 
characterised by excellent accessibility, high-quality environments and clusters of 
high technology growth sector businesses. These areas will be safeguarded for 
manufacturing and logistics uses within Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 and B8. 

2. Within Strategic Employment Areas, high-quality development or redevelopment of 
sites and premises will be required, and planning applications that prejudice or 
dilute the delivery of appropriate employment activity, or deter investment in such 
uses, will be refused.  

3. Strategic Employment Areas will be safeguarded from redevelopment for other non-
manufacturing / logistics uses.  

4. Some ancillary employment-generating non-Class E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), and Class-B2 
and B8 uses, such as childcare facilities and small-scale food and drink outlets, 
may also be permitted in Strategic Employment Areas, where they can be shown to 
strongly support, maintain or enhance the business and employment function and 
attractiveness of the area, and meet sequential and other national or local policy 
tests relating to appropriate uses as necessary. 

Justification 

8.13 Strategic Employment Areas (SEAs) are high-quality employment areas that are considered 

essential to the long-term success of Sandwell’s economy. They correspond to areas of the 

strongest occupier and market demand and are of high environmental quality with excellent 

links to the Strategic Highway Network and should be protected from non-employment uses 

that could impact upon their viability as employment locations. These areas contain, or have 

the potential to attract, those knowledge-based growth sector businesses whose success will 

be critical to the delivery of Sandwell’s economic ambitions.  

Page 1067



212 

 

8.14 Policy SEC2 is based on the approach set out in the 2011 Core Strategy, which 

distinguished between Strategic High-Quality Employment Areas and Local Employment 

Areas. The EDNA recommended that the approach set out in the Black Country Core 

Strategy has served the Black Country well.  Subject to some refinement, this approach has 

been carried forward into the SLP. Consequently, the Strategic Employment Areas identified 

in the SLP are the equivalent of the Strategic High-Quality Employment Areas in the former 

Core Strategy.  

8.15 The characteristics and extent of the Strategic Employment Areas reflect the findings of the 

Sandwell Employment Area Review (SEAR). The SEAR re-examined the totality of 

Sandwell’s employment areas against a set of criteria based on those set out in the Core 

Strategy and the recommendations of the EDNA.  

8.16 The key characteristics of Strategic Employment Areas are as follows:  

a) to be highly accessible to the Strategic Highway Network, preferably well- located in 

relation to the motorway network, to provide good accessibility to international, 

national, and regional markets and supply chains; 

b) to have good public transport accessibility; 

c) to maintain a critical mass of active industrial and logistics sites and premises that are 

well suited to the needs of modern industry; 

d) to maintain an existing (or develop a potential) high-quality environment, including 

suitable landscaping and greenspace and an attractive and functional built 

environment; 

e) to be attractive to national and / or international investment. 

8.17 The majority of the defined strategic employment areas satisfy all these characteristics or are 

considered capable of acquiring them. The SEAR has found that it is not always necessary 

for an area to display all these characteristics to attract high-quality development.  

8.18 The broad extent of the strategic employment areas is shown on the Policies Map.  

8.19 The Plan seeks to safeguard land and premises within strategic employment areas for 

industrial and logistics activity and supports proposals that involve the improvement and 

renewal of land and premises within them. This process of redevelopment, intensification 

and enhancement of existing Local Employment Areas will provide a significant source of 

land to meet future growth needs.  

8.20 Some small-scale ancillary uses will be supported in strategic employment areas where this 

meets the day-to-day needs of employees of businesses within the SEA. Such uses include 

Page 1068



213 

 

food and drink or childcare facilities. They should be of a scale, nature, and location to serve 

the needs of the employment area, where existing facilities are inadequate and where such 

needs cannot be met in adjacent town centres. While Policy SEC2 considers development 

for uses that are not within an industrial employment use class, these will only be supported 

in exceptional circumstances as it is the intention to safeguard strategic employment areas 

from non-manufacturing / logistics uses (B Use Classes). 

Local Employment Areas 

8.21 To achieve the appropriate balance of employment uses and successfully underpin the local 

economy, it is essential to make provision for those types of industrial, logistics and 

commercial activities that do not need to be situated in strategic employment areas and are 

not appropriate for town centres or residential locations. This Policy supports Strategic 

Objectives 2 and 8. 

Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas 

1) Local Employment Areas are shown on the Policies Map. They are characterised by a 
critical mass of industrial, warehousing and service activity with good access to 
local markets and employees.  

2) These areas will provide for the needs of locally-based investment and will be 
safeguarded for the following uses; 

a) Industry and warehousing146  

b) Motor trade activities, including car showrooms and vehicle repair 

c) Haulage and transfer depots 

d) Trade, wholesale retailing and builders’ merchants 

e) Scrap metal, timber and construction premises and yards 

f) Waste collection, transfer and recycling uses 

3) Not all areas will be suitable for all uses. 

4) Some ancillary employment-generating non-Class E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)) and B uses such 
as childcare facilities and food and drink outlets may also be permitted in Local 
Employment Areas where they can:  

                                                

146  Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 and B8 uses 

Page 1069



214 

 

Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas 

a. be shown to strongly support, maintain or enhance the business and 
employment function of the area; and  

b. meet sequential and other national or local policy tests (particularly Policies 
SCE5 and SCE6) relating to appropriate uses, as necessary. 

Justification 

8.22 Local Employment Areas (LEAs) are particularly prevalent in Sandwell and play an important 

role in the local economy. They offer a valuable source of mainly low-cost industrial units that 

are vital in providing local jobs and a balanced portfolio of sites of different sizes and quality, 

including for small or new businesses that do not require higher-quality or large-scale 

premises and land. 

8.23 Policy SEC3 is based on the approach set out in the 2011 Black Country Core Strategy, 

which distinguished between Strategic High-Quality Employment Areas and Local Quality 

Employment Areas. The EDNA recommended that the approach set out in the Core Strategy 

has served the Sandwell well and, subject to some refinement, should be continued. The 

Local Employment Areas in the Sandwell Local Plan are the equivalent of the Local Quality 

Employment Areas in the Core Strategy. 

8.24 The characteristics and extent of the Local Employment Areas reflects the findings of the 

SEAR. The SEAR re-examined all of Sandwell’s employment areas against a set of criteria 

based on those in the Core Strategy and with regard to the recommendations of the EDNA.  

8.25 The key characteristics of Local Employment Areas are as follows; 

• a critical mass of active industrial and service uses and premises that are fit for 

purpose; 

• good access to local markets, suppliers, and employees; 

• the existing or potential use and / or the traffic generated by the use does not have an 

unacceptable impact on the amenity of surrounding land uses or on the highway 

network; 

• good public transport accessibility. 

8.26 The broad extent of the Local Employment Areas is shown on the Employment Land Key 

diagram and the detailed boundaries on the Sandwell Local Plan Policies Map.  

Page 1070



215 

 

8.27 The SLP seeks to safeguard Local Employment Areas as locations for industrial and logistics 

activity and uses that share the characteristics of Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)) and B2 and B8 

uses, which are typically located within industrial areas.  

8.28 The Plan also supports proposals that involve the improvement and renewal of land and 

premises within them, particularly where this involves older or outdated industrial premises 

that are no longer fit for purpose. This process of redevelopment, intensification and 

enhancement of existing Local Employment Areas will help deliver a significant source of 

land to meet future growth needs.  

8.29 Local Employment Areas are often vulnerable to pressure for redevelopment to other uses 

such as housing. However, the loss of local employment land will compromise the successful 

delivery of Sandwell’s employment strategy. It would inhibit economic development, 

endanger the viability of businesses and affect the balance of jobs and workers. People 

working for companies in Local Employment Areas that are displaced by new forms of 

development would have to travel increased distances to work and the viability and 

sustainability of those firms would be put at risk. These areas will therefore be primarily 

safeguarded from non-employment uses. 

8.30 Sites within Local Employment Areas may also be appropriate for uses that serve the needs 

of businesses and employees working in the area. Such uses may include small-scale food 

and drink provision or childcare facilities. They should be of a scale, nature, and location to 

serve the needs of an employment area where existing facilities are inadequate or where 

such needs cannot be met in adjacent town centres. 

Other Employment Sites 

8.31 The Council recognises that there are several older employment areas across Sandwell that 

are not of the quality of Strategic or Local Employment Areas. Sites and premises within 

these areas may be suitable for redevelopment for continued employment use, or for 

alternative uses such as housing. Policy SEC4 provides a flexible policy framework to guide 

development proposals in these areas. This policy supports Strategic Objectives 2 and 8. 

Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites 

1) In employment areas that are not designated as either Strategic Employment Areas 
or Local Employment Areas on the Policies Map, but which comprise land / sites 
that are currently in use (or if currently vacant, were last used) for employment 
purposes, development will be supported for: 

Page 1071



216 

 

Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites 

a. new industrial employment uses or extensions to existing industrial 
employment uses, or 

b. housing or other non-ancillary, non-industrial employment uses. 

2) Development or uses under part 1(b) will only be supported where there is robust 
evidence that:  

a. if the site is vacant, that it has been marketed for employment use for a period 
of at least 12 months, including by site notice and through the internet or as 
may be agreed by the local planning authority; 

b. if the site is occupied or part-occupied, that successful engagement has been 
undertaken with the occupiers to secure their relocation 

c. if the site forms part of a larger area occupied or last occupied for employment, 
that residential or any other use will not be adversely affected by the continuing 
operation of employment uses in the remainder of the area; 

d. the site could be brought forward for housing in a comprehensive manner and 
would not lead to piecemeal development;  

e. residential development would not adversely affect the ongoing operation of 
existing or proposed employment uses on the site or nearby; and 

f. the site is suitable for housing or other non-ancillary non-employment uses in 
accordance with local or national policies relating to these uses. 

Justification 

8.32 There are various existing employment locations in Sandwell that are not currently 

designated as either Strategic or Local Employment Areas. They tend to be older, less 

marketable employment sites close to or within residential areas, which may be in poor 

physical condition. They are however important to the employment land supply in Sandwell, 

as they provide smaller-scale and inexpensive sites and premises, suitable for use by 

companies who do not need, or cannot afford, larger and more modern premises.  

8.33 Proposals for redevelopment to other uses could give rise to significant regeneration 

benefits in some cases on those sites that, when assessed, do not meet the thresholds for 

being allocated as local employment areas. Larger sites (over 0.4ha) subject to this policy 

are shown on the Policies Map; smaller sites and areas are not included on it. 

Page 1072



217 

 

8.34 Whilst Sandwell will continue to support these existing businesses, it is also necessary for 

the SLP to allow flexibility for them to be considered for alternative forms of appropriate 

development.  

8.35 The circumstances where such redevelopment will be permitted are set out in sections 2a – 

f of the policy. In addressing criteria a and b, applicants will be required to submit an 

Economic and Market appraisal that demonstrates that the site is unsuitable for continued 

employment use. The sustainability of the location (including its accessibility by a choice of 

modes of transport) will be a matter that should be considered in this context.  

8.36 In assessing the potential of attracting continued employment use, the Economic and 

Market Assessment must consider whether the costs of the necessary remediation works 

would make the reuse or redevelopment for employment uses unviable. The Economic and 

Market Assessment should also include evidence that the site is vacant (unless it can be 

demonstrated that occupiers are to be relocated) and has been marketed over a 

reasonable period and at realistic rental and capital values. 

Improving Access to the Labour Market 

8.37 Restructuring Sandwell’s economy is one of the key principles of the Plan’s Vision, but the 

provision of land and premises alone will not deliver the necessary economic 

transformation without new skills and training in the workforce to help it meet the 

challenges of changing work requirements and patterns. This policy supports Strategic 

Objectives 8 and 9. 

Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market 

1) Planning applications for new major job-creating development will be required to 
demonstrate how job opportunities arising from the proposed development will be 
made available to the residents of Sandwell, particularly those in the most deprived 
areas of the borough and other priority groups.  

2) Planning conditions or obligations will be negotiated with applicants and applied as 
appropriate to secure initiatives and /or contributions to a range of measures to 
benefit the local community, including the potential for working with local colleges 
and universities, to ensure: 

a) the provision of training opportunities to assist residents in accessing 
employment opportunities; 

Page 1073



218 

 

Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market 

b) the provision of support to residents in applying for jobs arising from the 
development; 

c) enhancement of the accessibility of the development to residents by a choice 
of means of transport, including walking, cycling and public transport (see 
Policy STR1); 

d) child-care provision which enables residents to access employment 
opportunities; 

e) measures to assist those with physical or mental health disabilities to access 
employment opportunities. 

3) In respect of planning applications for new employment-generating development 
Sandwell will negotiate with applicants on financial or other contributions, to be 
secured through planning obligations or the CIL Charging Schedule. 

Justification 

8.38 The Plan plays a key role in ensuring that people who suffer from social exclusion and 

disadvantage can contribute fully to the regeneration of Sandwell. It is therefore important 

that jobs created through new developments across the borough are accessible to as many 

of Sandwell’s residents as possible, especially those in the most deprived areas or who 

belong to priority groups.  

8.39 There are several aspects to increasing the accessibility of job opportunities to residents. 

Firstly, it may be necessary for improvements to public transport infrastructure and services 

to be funded, and better facilities for pedestrians and cyclists to be provided, to ensure that 

residents are able to travel to and from their places of employment within reasonable 

timescales. 

8.40 Support may also need to be provided to assist residents, particularly those from 

disadvantaged groups or areas, in applying for new jobs and to receive training that will 

assist them in accessing employment opportunities. Childcare provision may also help in 

enhancing access to employment and individuals with mental or physical health difficulties 

may also require additional support to enable them to access jobs. 

8.41 There are existing support structures and facilities in place across the sub-region to help 

ensure that local people can access and receive appropriate training to develop the 

necessary skills to compete successfully for jobs.  

Page 1074



219 

 

8.42 To assist with this, where major new employment-creating development is proposed, the 

Council will negotiate with companies to devise suitable bespoke training and recruitment 

programmes that can benefit local people. 

8.43 Attracting graduates to, and retaining them within, Sandwell will also be key to securing the 

growth of a knowledge-based economy. The higher and further education sector is a major 

driver of economic, social and cultural regeneration and ongoing investment in this sector is 

supported. The Council will also support initiatives that strengthen linkages between the 

education sector and the wider economy. 

Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses  

8.44 As Sandwell is a predominantly urban area, there are parts of the Borough where industrial 

sites and premises are situated adjacent to sensitive uses such as residential, which can 

lead to adverse effects on neighbouring uses. 

Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses 

1. Proposals for new industrial development that is likely to have an adverse effect147 
on neighbouring uses will not be permitted, unless the adverse effects can be 
reduced to an acceptable level, by means of a buffer148 or other robust mitigation 
measures. 

2. Equally, new proposals that may adversely affect, or be adversely affected by, 
existing industry operating in appropriate locations will not be permitted unless the 
adverse effects can be reduced to an acceptable level. Where this is to be achieved 
by means of a buffer, the new development will be required to provide and maintain 
the buffer.  

3. Where existing industry operates within residential areas the Council will seek to 
ensure that any harmful effects are mitigated. If necessary, the Council will 
consider the enforcement of appropriate regulations or other means to reduce the 
problem. 

                                                

147  E.g., excessive traffic, pollution (air, noise, fumes, water, soil), disturbance, visual amenity etc.  
148  An appropriate buffer may take a variety of forms such as open space, a landscaped area, a wall or other physical 

barrier. 

Page 1075



220 

 

Justification 

8.45 As Sandwell is an urban borough with a thriving industrial and manufacturing based 

economy, there are areas within it where employment land is situated adjacent to sensitive 

uses. There is the potential for housing to be adversely affected by the businesses 

operating in these areas.  

8.46 Equally, given pressure on older and underused industrial areas to be redeveloped for 

housing, the existing businesses operating in these areas should not have unreasonable 

restrictions placed on them because of development permitted after they were established. 

Where the operation of an existing business could have an adverse effect on new 

development (including change of use) in its vicinity, the applicant for the incoming 

development will be required to provide suitable mitigation measures before the 

development is completed. 

8.47 This is dealt with in the NPPF149 as the “agents of change” principle. This places the 

responsibility for mitigating impacts from existing noise-generating activities or uses on the 

proposed new noise-sensitive development; effectively, the person or business responsible 

for creating the conditions causing the change must also be responsible for managing the 

impact of it on the new / potential occupants.   

                                                

149 Paragraph 187 (2023) 

Page 1076



221 

 

9. Sandwell’s Centres 

Introduction  

9.1 The purpose of Sandwell's centres policies is to help secure the investment, jobs and 

regeneration needed to create a mature, balanced and well-functioning network of centres 

where residents shop, work, live and spend their leisure time. 

9.2 Concentrating development in centres that are highly accessible by a variety of sustainable 

means of transport contributes towards planning priorities such as health and wellbeing and 

addressing climate change.  

9.3 Delivering a vital and viable network of centres will contribute significantly towards meeting 

the current and future service needs of Sandwell's residents, particularly through serving 

future housing and employment growth, as well as providing a unique opportunity to improve 

the quality and experience of the built environment.  

9.4 Centres are crucial to the delivery of Strategic Objective 15. 

Sandwell’s Centres 

9.5 Sandwell's centres are evolving and are subject to ongoing challenges as the focus shifts 

from their primary retail function to other activities such as leisure, commercial, residential, 

community services, health, local facilities and further education and civic uses.  

9.6 It is a priority for Sandwell Council to maintain and enhance centres appropriate to their 

scale, role, and function enabling them to underpin the vital role they play in contributing to 

the economic growth, character and identity of the Borough.  

9.7 West Bromwich is the strategic centre of Sandwell and provides the focus for higher-order 

and sub-regional retail, office, leisure, cultural and service activities. It is supported and 

balanced by the network of town, district and local centres, which offer complementary uses 

including meeting the day-to-day needs of local communities, particularly for convenience 

(food) shopping.  

9.8 It is recognised that the repurposing / diversification of centres needs to be delivered, to 

ensure their ongoing vitality and viability and secure their future regeneration. Policy SCE1 

sets out the overall priorities and strategy for Sandwell’s centres. It defines the hierarchy of 

centres and sets out, where subject to planning control, appropriate uses, requirements and 

links to other relevant policies. 

9.9 This policy establishes that the strategic approach to future growth identified in Policy SDS1, 

the specific levels of housing and employment growth identified in Policies SHO1 and SEC1, 

Page 1077



222 

 

and the allocations identified on the Policies Map (site allocations), should have their needs 

met in the first instance by the existing network of centres. It also emphasises a flexible 

approach to format and scale to maximise use of town centre or edge-of-centre sites. 

Policy SCE1 - Sandwell's Centres 

1. The priority for Sandwell's centres is to ensure they remain focused on serving the 
needs of their communities, through delivering a well-balanced diversity of 
commercial, business and service functions. This includes retail provision and an 
increasing mix of leisure, office, residential and other appropriate, complementary 
uses that are accessible by a variety of sustainable means of transport. This will 
enable centres to make a key contribution to regeneration, tackling climate change, 
fostering healthy communities, and creating pleasant, safe public spaces to 
increase social interaction and cohesion.  

2. Sandwell's centres comprise a hierarchy, set out in Table 10. This hierarchy will be 
supported and protected by ensuring that development in centres is facilitated in a 
manner that reflects their scale, role, and function, and resisting proposals that 
would undermine this strategy. 

3. Proposals for centre uses that are in-centre150 are subject to specific policy 
requirements, as set out in Table 10, Policies SCE4 and SCE5, centre insets and 
Policies SWB1 and SWB2 (West Bromwich). 

4. Proposals for centre uses that are not in-centre151 must meet the sequential test 
and other relevant requirements, such as impact tests (as set out in Table 10 and 
Policy SCE6), as well as any specific policies in the town centre insets. 

5. Future growth and allocations in Sandwell, particularly housing and employment 
development identified in Policies SDS1, SHO1 and SEC1, should have their service 
needs met by, and contribute to the regeneration of, the existing network of 
centres. 

                                                

150  Within the relevant boundaries or Primary Shopping Areas of defined centres 
151  Not within the relevant boundaries / Primary Shopping Areas of a defined centre but are in edge-of-centre or out-of-

centre locations 

Page 1078



223 

 

Policy SCE1 - Sandwell's Centres 

6. A land use approach will be adopted to encourage regeneration and to meet the 
challenges facing Sandwell's centres, particularly as little retail capacity has been 
identified to support additional floorspace, through supporting: 

a. diversifying and repurposing of centres enhanced by appropriate 
complementary uses, particularly residential, education, health and community 
uses and supporting the evening economy; 

b. the consolidation and reconfiguration of vacant floorspace into a mix of uses, 
especially the use of upper floors, and / or extensions to existing floorspace, 
with any new development being well-integrated with existing provision; 

c. enhancing the vitality, accessibility and sustainability of centres, including 
maximising public realm, open space, provision of suitably-located and 
accessible pedestrian and cycle networks, and provision of green 
infrastructure and vehicle charging points 

Justification 

9.10 The challenges facing consumers, businesses and town centres continue to intensify and 

the scale of the post-pandemic rebound is uncertain given inflationary pressures. 

Households are faced with rapidly rising inflation, energy price increases, higher interest and 

mortgage rates and the prevailing global economic situation. 

9.11 A ‘cost of living crisis’ has emerged, which will have significant adverse impacts on the least 

affluent households. This will spark recessionary behaviours such as weaker spending and 

softer confidence. Rising prices are eroding the real value of wages and reducing living 

standards.  

9.12 Forecasts are for a ‘flatlining’ of convenience spend up to 2040, and a modest growth in 

comparison spend over the same period of 2.9% per annum152, significantly reduced from 

the long-term trend of 5.1% (Black Country Centres Study 2021).  

9.13 These challenging economic conditions and the growth in online sales continues to have a 

significant and permanent impact on consumer shopping and spending behaviour. This is 

                                                

152 Convenience shopping includes food, newspapers etc., while comparison shopping includes white goods, clothing, 
shoes etc. 

Page 1079



224 

 

seen against a backdrop of weakened demand for retail property, high vacancy levels and a 

significant fall in new retail-led development in centres across the UK. 

9.14 There has been a significant move towards hybrid working. This impacts on the demand for 

office floorspace, resulting in increased levels of vacancies for offices in centres. There are 

related adverse effects for the service-led element of centres provision who rely in part on 

trade from office-based workers. 

9.15 With close to one-fifth of shopping centre units standing vacant, there is an oversupply of 

retail space in many UK locations; the consensus is that somewhere between 20 - 40% of 

UK retail space may ultimately need to be redeveloped or repurposed153.  

9.16 Changes to permitted development rights (PDRs) and the Use Classes Order also have 

potentially significant implications for the planning, management and development of 

centres. 

9.17 There is therefore a need to consider the repurposing of existing vacant and under-utilised 

commercial floorspace in Sandwell, especially in retail and office provision, with the aim of 

generating a wider mix of uses in town centres and making up for the loss of economic 

activity caused by the fall in demand in those markets.  

9.18 Residential development will form a significant part of this new approach, which will bolster 

the vitality and viability of the remaining retail units. This is especially relevant in Sandwell, 

where there is a significant shortage of residential land. Other uses in centres such as 

education, health and community use will also be able to exploit their excellent sustainable 

transport links.  

9.19 Uses with intergenerational provision, green space and a variety of leisure activities will play 

a key part in the path to recovery and in attracting footfall back to centres and high streets. 

Centres in the future will require curation to enable them to continue to thrive and 

accommodate inclusive social and spatial interaction.  

9.20 Due to the more limited retail spending power available to centres, it is necessary to direct 

suitable uses to the existing network of centres as they will be well-placed to serve future 

development, consistent with national guidance. It is also important to protect centres from 

edge-of-centre development that would reduce their financial capacity beyond already 

constrained limits, to safeguard their vitality and viability.  

                                                

153  LSH and REVO Research (April 2022) - How Can We Deliver the Recovery & Renaissance of Our Towns, High 
Streets and Shopping Centres? 

Page 1080



225 

 

9.21 Therefore, a locally-set threshold for requiring an impact test has been identified. An impact 

test is needed to assess whether a proposed shop or retail outlet would have a negative 

impact on the vitality and viability of an existing centre; for example, where edge-of-centre or 

out-of-centre supermarkets are proposed. An impact test will be required for any premises at 

the edge of, or outside, a current town centre where the new development would be more 

than 280 m2, or where extensions to an existing shop in that type of location is proposed, 

where the total development would then be over 280m2.  

9.22 Strong justification will be needed for out-of-centre or edge-of-centre provision, with most 

centre-type development being rearrangements of existing floorspace, redevelopment of 

existing sites and extensions to existing provision. 

Table 10 – Sandwell’s Hierarchy of Centres 

 Relevant policies to apply to locations154: 

In Centre Edge of Centre Out of Centre 

West Bromwich Strategic Centre (tier-one) 

West Bromwich Policy SWB1, SWB2 
- West Bromwich 

Policies SCE1, SCE2 

- Sandwell’s Centres  

Policy SCE5  

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

 (if floorspace uplift / 

unit size less than 

280m2 see paragraph 

9.42) 

Needs Sequential 
Test  

Needs Impact Tests  

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

 (if floorspace uplift/ 

unit size less than 

280m2 see paragraph 

9.42) 

Needs Sequential 
Test  

Needs Impact Tests 

if total floorspace 

more than 280 m2 see 

if total floorspace 

more than 280m2 see 

                                                

154 Where proposals are subject to the requirement for planning permission 

Page 1081



226 

 

 Relevant policies to apply to locations154: 

In Centre Edge of Centre Out of Centre 

paragraphs 9.20 – 

9.21)  

paragraphs 9.20 – 

9.21)  

Town Centres (Tier-Two) 

Bearwood  

Blackheath  

Cape Hill  

Cradley Heath  

Great Bridge  

Oldbury  

Wednesbury  

Policies SCE1, SCE2 
- Sandwell’s Centres 

Policy SCE3 - Town 
Centres 

Policy SCE3 - Town 
Centres 

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

 (if floorspace uplift/ 

unit size less than 

280m2 see paragraphs 

9.42) 

Policy SCE3 - Town 
Centres 

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

 (if floorspace uplift/ 

unit size less than 

280m2 see paragraph 

9.42) 

District and Local Centres (Tier-Three) 

Local Centres: 

Brandhall  

Bristnall  

Carters Green 

Causeway Green  

Charlemont  

Crankhall Lane  

Dudley Port  

Hamstead 

Hill Top  

Langley  

Lion Farm  

Policies SCE1, SCE2 
- Sandwell’s Centres 

Policy SCE4 - 

District & Local 
Centres 

Policy SCE4 - 

District & Local 
Centres 

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

 (if floorspace uplift / 

unit size less than 

280m2 see paragraph 

9.42)  

Needs Sequential 
Test  

Needs Impact Tests  

Policy SCE4 - 

District & Local 
Centres 

Policy SCE6 - Edge 
of Centre and Out of 
Centre Development 

Page 1082



227 

 

 Relevant policies to apply to locations154: 

In Centre Edge of Centre Out of Centre 

Old Hill 

Park Lane  

Poplar Rise  

Princes End  

Queens Head  

Rood End  

Smethwick High 

Street (Lower)  

St. Marks Road  

Tividale  

Vicarage Road 

West Cross  

Whiteheath Gate  

Yew Tree  

District Centres: 

Owen Street 

Quinton 

Scott Arms 

Smethwick High 

Street 

Stone Cross 

Proposed local 
centres: 

Hagley Road West 

(Hollybush)  

(if total floorspace 

more than 280m2 see 

paragraphs 9.20 – 

9.21)  

Page 1083



228 

 

 Relevant policies to apply to locations154: 

In Centre Edge of Centre Out of Centre 

Abbey Road 

(Bearwood)  

Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres 

9.23 Changes to the Use Classes Order and to permitted development rights will see centres 

fundamentally change from having a retail focus to a genuine mix of uses. This policy 

seeks to restrict non-E Class developments in town centres where they would have a 

deleterious effect. 

Policy SCE2 - Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres  

Primary Shopping Areas and Retail Frontages  

1. The Retail Core / Primary Shopping Areas within the centres of Sandwell are 
defined on the Policies Map.  

2. To ensure that uses defined by Use Class E (commercial, business and services155) 
remain the predominant uses within the defined retail core / primary shopping 
areas, new development, including that with residential use above ground floor, will 
be permitted where:  

a. the proposal is for commercial Class E use at ground floor level (or ground floor 
plus higher storeys); or  

b. the proposal is for other town centre uses falling outside of Class E that would 
support the overall vitality and viability of the centre and fall within sui generis 
uses, to include the following:  

i. public houses, wine bars, or drinking establishments;  

ii. hot food takeaways (subject to the provisions of the relevant SLP policies);  

iii. live music venues.  

3. Changes of use of ground floor premises that require planning consent in Retail 
Core / Primary Shopping Areas will be assessed on whether the proposed use:  

                                                

155  https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes  

Page 1084

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes


229 

 

Policy SCE2 - Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres  

a. retains an active frontage and maintains or enhances the vitality, attractiveness, 
and viability of the primary shopping frontage and the wider commercial area;  

b. is complementary to the shopping / commercial function of the area and 
provides a direct service to the public;  

c. is for a temporary period to occupy temporarily vacant units such as for 
occupiers testing new business concepts, a pop-up store, or for use for events 
which would support the vitality and viability of the town centre;  

d. does not result in an over-concentration of sui generis uses within one area, and 
contributes to an appropriate mix and diverse offer: 

e. does not conflict with other Sandwell Local Plan policy objectives and 
requirements (e.g., Policy SDM6, Policy SDM8).  

Other Shopping Areas and Retail Frontages 

4. In centres with no defined retail core or primary shopping area, proposals for non- 
‘E’ Class uses that require planning consent will be resisted where they do not 
contribute to the vitality and viability of the centre, or where they would undermine 
its primary commercial, business and services functions. 

Justification 

9.24 The Centres Study and Addenda show that centres need to function as much more than a 

retail destination, providing a large range of services, facilities, employment and experiences 

for residents in an accessible location.  

9.25 Changes to the NPPF, the Use Classes Order and to permitted development (PD) rights 

mean centres will be much more dynamic places, reacting faster than before to market 

forces, fulfilling different roles in the same building and potentially performing different roles / 

functions throughout the day.  

9.26 Additional dwellings in the high street, supporting the economy and enabling sustainable 

travel, will be a positive result and will contribute towards the rejuvenation of these central 

areas. At the same time, control over development in the centres should recognise the need 

to retain active frontages where possible and the significant retail function of centres in any 

proposed mix of uses. Therefore, control over Non-E Class development in centres is 

required i.e., to prevent unacceptable clusters of Non-E Class development.  

Page 1085



230 

 

9.27 Centres in the future will require curation to enable them to continue to thrive and 

accommodate inclusive social and spatial interaction (Black Country Centres Study 2021 

paragraph 2.48).  

Town Centres (Tier-Two centres)  

9.28 Sandwell’s Tier-Two centres, as identified in Table 10, are Bearwood, Blackheath, Cape Hill, 

Cradley Heath, Great Bridge, Oldbury and Wednesbury. 

9.29 They are a distinctive and valued part of Sandwell’s character and will help to meet local and 

wider needs in the most accessible and sustainable way. This policy supports the important 

local function provided by Tier-Two Centres, particularly convenience retail provision, and 

their future diversification and regeneration of town centres.  

Policy SCE3 - Town Centres (Tier-Two centres) 

1. Proposals for appropriate uses will be supported within Tier-Two Town Centres (in-
centre locations defined in Policy SCE1, parts 3 and 4), particularly where they 
contribute to providing a diverse mix of uses, such as retail, office, leisure, 
residential, community, health, education and cultural facilities, and where they are 
of a scale that reflects the size, role and function of those centres and the 
catchments the centres serve. 

2. It is a priority for Town Centres to serve the needs of development identified in the 
SLP, particularly for residential and employment allocations (Policy SCE1). 

3. Convenience retail development is encouraged, and proposals to extend or 
refurbish existing stores where they are well-integrated with the centre will be 
supported. 

4. In the assessment and determination of planning proposals, the distinctive offer, 
unique character, and special roles played by individual Town Centres will be 
recognised and will be given appropriate weight when decisions are taken on 
applications that may affect the characteristics of the area. 

5. Proposals in edge-of-centre and / or out-of-centre locations (Policy SCE1 parts 3 
and 4) must meet the relevant requirements set out in Policy SCE6 - such as 
accessibility, impact and sequential tests and flexibility. 

Page 1086



231 

 

Justification 

9.30 Sandwell’s network of town centres (Tier-Two centres) performs an important role. The food 

(convenience) shopping function will be protected and supported, especially as these uses 

help anchor the retail offer of the wider centres and encourage linked trips, and thereby help 

ensure the vitality and viability of centres.  

9.31 The Black Country Centres Study health check identified little capacity for these centres to 

support additional retail floorspace. The priority is for future housing and employment growth 

in Sandwell to be served by the existing network of centres, providing the opportunity to 

support the network of Tier-Two centres (as set out in Table 10).  

9.32 There is, therefore, a need for strategic interventions to enable centres to diversify further to 

ensure their future vitality and viability.  

9.33 Projects should reflect the distinctiveness of town centres, for example the heritage focus of 

Wednesbury, the civic function of Oldbury, or the specialist retail role of Cape Hill. These can 

inform funding initiatives such as the Future High Street Fund, Levelling Up Fund, or other 

initiatives.  

9.34 Edge and / or out-of-centre proposals (as defined in Policy SCE6) must meet all relevant 

requirements to protect centres from the impacts of any inappropriate edge or out-of-centre 

proposals and ensure their vitality and viability.  

District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres) 

9.35 This policy protects and supports the large network of centres that provide day-to-day 

convenience shopping and local service needs. 

Policy SCE4 - District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres) 

1. Proposals for appropriate uses (paragraph 9.60) will be supported within Tier-Three 
centres (in-centre locations being defined in paragraph 9.60) particularly 
commercial, business and service uses that meet day-to-day needs and serve local 
communities within the catchment area of those centres  

2. It is a priority for Tier-Three centres to serve the day-to-day shopping and service 
needs of development identified in the Sandwell Local Plan, particularly residential 
and employment allocations (Policy SCE1). Convenience retail development is 
encouraged and proposals to extend or refurbish existing food stores where they 
are well-integrated with the centre will be supported. 

Page 1087



232 

 

Policy SCE4 - District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres) 

3. Proposals in edge-of-centre (directly adjoining a centre boundary) and / or out-of-
centre locations must meet the relevant requirements as set out in Policies SCE1 
Table 10, SCE5 and SCE6.  

Justification 

9.36 The network of district and local centres is crucial to serving the local needs of Sandwell’s 

communities in the most sustainable way. Existing centres are dependent on smaller 

supermarkets and / or convenience stores to anchor their retail offer.  

9.37 The priority is for housing and employment allocations to be served by the existing network 

of centres, providing the opportunity to support the network of Tier-Three centres (Policy 

SCE1, Table 10). Edge-of-centre and out-of-centre proposals must meet the relevant 

requirements of Policy SCE6 to protect centres from the impacts of any inappropriate edge- 

or out-of-centre proposals and ensure their vitality and viability.  

9.38 The Local Plan has adjusted local centre boundaries, designated new local centres, and 

removed local centres from the network and hierarchy. New local centres identified in this 

way become part of the network of Tier-Three centres in the hierarchy (SCE1, Table 8) and 

are subject to relevant policies.  

9.39 A new local centre has been designated on Hagley Road West (Hollybush). Its designation 

corrects an anomaly. This centre includes 37 commercial units providing convenience and 

comparison outlets, food outlets, financial services, grooming and health services, some of 

which are double fronted. Until comparatively recently it had no convenience offer. This has 

since changed, hence its eligibility for inclusion as a centre. It is located on the boundary 

between Sandwell and Birmingham City Council, with further commercial units in 

Birmingham; functionally it is significantly larger than several existing Sandwell Tier-Three 

centres. It has been monitored annually for several years. The review of the Local Plan is the 

correct time to incorporate it into the hierarchy of centres. Another new centre, Abbey Road 

Local Centre, is proposed at the junction of Wigorn Road and Abbey Road, Smethwick. Its 

designation corrects an anomaly. This centre includes 24 commercial units providing a post 

office, comparison outlets, food outlets, grooming and health services, some of which are 

double fronted. It also has a long-standing convenience offer. Functionally, it is larger than 

several existing Sandwell Tier Three centres. The review of the Local Plan is the correct time 

to incorporate it into the Hierarchy of Centres. 

Page 1088



233 

 

9.40 The former Tier-Three centre located at the junction of Hagley Road and the A4123 (known 

as Hagley Road / Jonathans) has been removed from the Hierarchy of Centres as it no 

longer fulfils the function of a local centre, having lost most of its functions since it was first 

identified, including the key convenience aspect of its offer. 

Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres  

9.41 The priority is for local service needs, including those generated from the residential and 

employment allocations in the SLP, to be met in the existing network of centres; this will help 

to ensure their vitality and viability. However, some small-scale provision may be justified in 

certain circumstances to meet local community needs.  

9.42 This policy relates to proposals for small-scale local facilities for units of up to 280m2 (gross) 

of floorspace and extensions (including internal floorspace increases such as the provision 

of mezzanine floors) where the proposed uplift in floorspace is up to 280m2 (gross). 

Policy SCE5 - Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres 

1. Small-scale (up to 280m2 gross) proposals for centre uses and complementary uses 
that are subject to planning control will only be permitted if all the following 
requirements are met:  

a. The proposal does not unduly impact on the health and wellbeing of the 
community it is intended to serve.  

b. The proposal is of an appropriate scale and nature to meet the specific day-to-day 
needs of a population within convenient, safe walking distance for new or 
improved facilities.  

c. Local provision could not be better met by investment in a nearby centre.  

d. Existing facilities that meet day-to-day needs will not be undermined.  

e. Access to the proposal by means other than by car can be demonstrated; this will 
be evidenced by the proposal being within convenient, safe walking distance of 
the community it will serve.  

2. Development involving the loss of a local facility, particularly a convenience shop, 
pharmacy, community facility or post office, will be resisted where this would result 
in an increase in the number of people living more than a convenient, safe walking 
distance from alternative provision.  

Page 1089



234 

 

Policy SCE5 - Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres 

3. Where planning consents are granted, effective planning conditions and / or 
planning obligations will be required to support the regeneration strategy and 
minimise impacts (Policy SDS2).  

4. Proposals where total floorspace exceeds 280m2 (gross) will also have to meet the 
requirements of Policy SCE6. 

Justification 

9.43 The existing network of centres plays a crucial role in serving the local needs of the 

Borough. Centres are dependent on smaller units, such as express supermarkets and 

convenience stores, to anchor their retail and service offer. It is therefore a priority to protect 

and support this approach. Local facilities are also provided in existing stand-alone locations 

and in small parades of shops. It is recognised that stand-alone provision can play a positive 

role in serving local communities, particularly where it offers social infrastructure. 

9.44 It applies to new development, changes of use and variations of conditions, including: 

a. proposals related to petrol filling stations and drive-through facilities;   

b. proposals for ancillary uses under Policy SEC3;   

c. where the potential for an element of on-site provision of new local facilities is identified, 

or in exceptional circumstances where such proposals are brought forward through 

speculative planning applications, (whereby the requirements of Policy SHO2 also must 

be met, particularly with respect to demonstrating high levels of accessibility by 

sustainable modes of transport).  

9.45 For the purposes of applying the criteria, nearby centres include those centres whose 

catchment areas overlap with the catchment area of the proposal, with 400m being a safe, 

convenient walking distance.  

9.46 For the purposes of applying the Impact Assessment, proposals that have unit sizes under 

280m2 (gross) but comprise several units where the total floorspace of the proposal exceeds 

280m2 (gross), and / or where the proposed uplift in floorspace of unit size(s) is under 280m2 

but would create unit(s) over 280m2 (gross), will also have to meet the requirements of 

Policy SCE6. Proposals whose unit size(s) are over 280m2 (gross) will have to meet the 

requirements of Policy SCE6.  

Page 1090



235 

 

9.47 280m2 (gross) is the locally set threshold for undertaking impact tests on retail and leisure 

proposals as set out in national guidance in edge and out-of-centre locations. This threshold 

applies to:  

• new development,  

• changes of use,  

• variations of conditions,  

• extensions or increases to the floorspace of existing unit(s) (e.g., through increasing 

sales areas, mezzanine floors) that would create outlets with floorspace over 280m2 

(gross),  

• and / or proposals whose unit sizes are under 280m2 but the total floorspace of the 

proposal is over 280m2 (gross). 

9.48 This policy can contribute to achieving priorities such as promoting the health and well-being 

of local communities. In making planning decisions further guidance is set out in other Plan 

policies, such as those relating to hot food takeaways.  

9.49 Where planning permission is granted, effective planning conditions and /or planning 

obligations will be required to support the regeneration strategy and minimise impacts. 

Conditions should include defining as specifically as possible:  

a. the types and (sub)categories of uses that are acceptable;  

b. the types of goods and service to be sold;  

c. unit sizes and sales areas, including relating to mezzanine floors;  

d. any proposed future sub-division of units; and  

e. opening hours. 

Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development 

9.50 The Sandwell Local Plan strategy requires most new development and investment to be 

focussed in centres. Therefore, robust justification will be required for any edge-of or out-of-

centre schemes that could otherwise undermine the strategy for the regeneration of the 

Borough and adversely affect the vitality of existing centres.  

9.51 This policy applies to proposals not in a centre (in edge and / or out-of-centre locations), 

which have a proposed floorspace of over 280m2 (gross), as set out in Policy SCE1 and 

Table 10. 

Page 1091



236 

 

9.52 The approach is intended to focus appropriate uses within the existing network of centres. 

Very limited existing and future capacity means that any growth not in centres can cause 

adverse impacts on them. This policy sets out robust requirements that will ensure that 

investment in centres is maximised and significant adverse impacts are prevented. The 

policy notes that certain existing local facilities that are not in a centre provide an important 

service to a local area and will wherever possible be protected.  

Policy SCE6 - Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development 

1. There is a clear presumption in favour of focusing appropriate uses in centres.  

Sequential Test  

2. All edge-of-centre and out-of-centre proposals (as defined in paragraph 9.60) for 
centre uses (paragraph 9.62) should meet the requirements of the sequential test 
set out in the latest national guidance.  

3. Edge and out-of-centre proposals should be assessed for accessibility by a choice 
of modes of transport, in particular public transport, walking and cycling, and 
should demonstrate that they will support both social inclusion and cohesion, and 
the need to sustain strategic transport links.  

4. Edge-of-centre proposals will need to demonstrate that they will be well-integrated 
with existing in-centre provision, for example through the availability of safe and 
well-located pedestrian access across major roads that would otherwise bisect a 
centre.  

5. When assessing sequentially preferable locations, proposals will need to 
demonstrate flexibility in their operational requirements, particularly in terms of 
their format and the types of goods being sold. 

Impact Tests  

6. The locally-set floorspace thresholds for edge and out-of-centre retail and leisure 
proposals to meet the requirements of the Impact Assessment as set out in the 
latest national guidance is 280m2 (gross) (Policy SCE1, Table 10).  

7. Impact tests should be proportionate to the nature and scale of proposals.  

8. Proposals should be informed by the latest available robust evidence.  

Page 1092



237 

 

Policy SCE6 - Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development 

9. Where planning permissions are granted, effective planning conditions and / or 
planning obligations will be required to support the regeneration strategy and 
minimise adverse impacts (Policy SDS2).  

10. Proposals that include unit sizes under 280m2 (gross) will also have to meet the 
requirements of Policy SCE5. 

Justification 

9.53 The intention of Policy SCE6 is to ensure that investment is focused in centres, with the 

priority for the existing network of centres being to serve the Borough’s needs, particularly 

with future growth identified in housing and employment allocations (Policy SCE1). Strong 

justification is therefore required for edge-of-centre and out-of-centre schemes that could 

otherwise undermine the strategy for the regeneration of Sandwell and instead help ensure 

the vitality of centres.  

9.54 The Centres Study and its updates identifies little capacity to support additional retail 

floorspace, which means that proposals that lie outside centres are likely to adversely impact 

upon their vitality and viability. The regeneration strategy for centres is focussed on bringing 

vacant floorspace back into use, and a consolidated retail and leisure offer is essential to 

facilitate diversification, e.g., through encouraging linked trips. Centres are also dependent 

on units such as supermarkets and convenience stores to anchor their retail and service 

offer. It is therefore a priority to protect and support this approach.  

9.55 Consequently, the impact of proposals for centre uses not located in centres are a cause for 

concern. There is a need for an appropriately robust policy approach to ensure all potential 

options to focus development in centres are thoroughly explored, and that those proposals 

are tested for their potential significant adverse impacts on existing centres. This is 

particularly the case for large-scale out-of-centre speculative retail and / or leisure proposals 

9.56 Flexibility should be demonstrated when assessing potential in-centre locations, including in 

terms of specific types of goods and services and elements of the business models of 

proposals, such as ‘drive through’ facilities not necessarily needing to be outside a centre 

solely for vehicular access and circulation reasons.  

9.57 It is important to ensure edge-of-centre proposals do not cause significant adverse impacts, 

particularly as they share catchment areas with in-centre provision. Edge-of-centre proposals 

Page 1093



238 

 

should support regeneration through being well-integrated, particularly through direct 

pedestrian linkages complementing and enhancing adjacent in-centre provision.  

9.58 Impact tests should be proportionate to the nature and scale of proposals; to assist with the 

determination of proposals they should include as a minimum the estimated turnover and 

trade draw from relevant centres of the proposal.  

9.59 Where planning permission is granted, effective planning conditions and /or planning 

obligations will be required to support the regeneration strategy and minimise impacts. 

Conditions should include defining as specifically as possible:  

a. the types and (sub)categories of uses that are acceptable;  

b. the types of goods and service to be sold;  

c. unit sizes and sales areas, including relating to mezzanine floors;  

d. any proposed future sub-division of units; and  

e. opening hours. 

Definitions of in, edge and out-of-centre locations and town centre uses 

9.60 To assist with applying relevant policies and national tests, the specific locations that are 

defined as being either in, edge-of or out-of-centre for various uses are defined as follows:  

a. In-centre locations for appropriate uses156 are those defined in centres, such as primary 

shopping areas / retail core and centre boundaries and are subject to Policies SCE3 

and SCE4. 

b. Edge-of-centre locations for tier-one and tier-two centres are those locations defined by 

national guidance (currently within 300m of in-centre locations).  

i. For retail purposes, this is a location that is well-connected to, and up to 300 

metres from, the primary shopping area.  

ii. For all other main town centre uses, this will be a location within 300 metres of a 

town centre boundary.  

iii. For office development, this includes locations outside the centre but within 500 

metres of a public transport interchange.  

                                                

156 “Appropriate uses” include business, commercial, service and community use 

Page 1094



239 

 

c. Locations immediately adjoining the boundaries of tier-three centres are defined as 

edge-of-centre. 

d. Out-of-centre locations are those locations neither in nor on the edge of a centre. 

e. Proposals in edge and out-of-centre locations need to meet the requirements of Policy 

SCE6. 

9.61 Main town centre uses are those uses and “sui generis” designations that should be directed 

to defined centres in the first instance and are subject to requirements set out in national 

guidance, such as:  

a. the sequential test and impact assessments;   

b. local policy (particularly Policies SCE1 - SCE6);  

c. floorspace thresholds for undertaking the impact assessments set out in national 

guidance;  

d. and relevant Local Plan policies (such as frontage policies).  

9.62 Main town centre uses are set out in NPPF Annex 2:  

a. retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres);  

b. leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including 

cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, casinos, 

health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls);  

c. offices; and 

d. arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and 

concert halls, hotels and conference facilities). 

9.63 Additional uses are those uses that are highly compatible with main centre uses, such as 

banks, cafes and hot food takeaways. 

9.64 Complementary uses are those uses well-placed to be provided in centres and where 

proposals for such uses to serve centres will be supported, such as residential and social 

infrastructure, i.e., health, education and community uses. 

  

Page 1095



240 

 

Town Centre Profiles 

9.65 The following section sets out a series of appraisals of the main Tier Two town centres in 

Sandwell. Each profile briefly identifies:  

a. the background, residential and economic demographic of the centre;  

b. its perceived strengths and weaknesses; and  

c. any aspirations, proposals or potential improvements.  

9.66 Where appropriate, policies designed to address issues of local concern or importance have 

been included. These are to be considered alongside the other policies in the SLP that will 

continue to apply in all parts of Sandwell.  

9.67 Any sites identified through the site allocation process that fall within the centre boundaries, 

and their likely capacities, have been identified. 

9.68 References to town centre health checks in the following profiles relate to the Black 

Country Centres Study 2020: Volume 2 – Health Checks157 document produced for the Black 

Country Plan. 

9.69 Consultants were commissioned by Sandwell Council in 2020 to develop a Local Cycling 

and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). The Sandwell LCWIP (SCWIP) builds on work 

already completed at a regional level as part of the West Midlands LCWIP.  

9.70 The SCWIP is a Sandwell-wide review of the cycle network and walking routes across 

Sandwell. It incorporates:  

• the four strategically relevant cycling corridors put forward as part of the West Midlands 

LCWIP;  

• the Black Country cycling and walking vision and strategy as well as Cradley Heath 

railway station as a core walking zone;  

• the Cycling Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); and 

• the Sandwell Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP)  

as well as identifying gaps in the network. 

  

                                                

157  https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/18592/black-country-centres-study-2020-vol-2-healthchecks.pdf  

Page 1096

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/18592/black-country-centres-study-2020-vol-2-healthchecks.pdf


241 

 

 

Bearwood 

 

Background 

9.71 The town of Bearwood lies within Abbey Ward.  

9.72 The population of Abbey Ward, according to the 2021 Census was 12,186, a rise of 3.7% 

since 2011. Abbey ward has the third smallest population in the borough. Abbey ward has a 

smaller proportion of under-16s than average (20.2% compared with 25.1% for the town) but 

a larger proportion of those aged 25 - 49 (39.3% compared with 37%). 

9.73 Abbey Ward has a high proportion of residents in full time employment (39.3%); this is the 

highest of all Sandwell wards. 

Page 1097



242 

 

Figure 5 - Bearwood Town Centre 

 

Town Centre Key 

Centre Boundary 

Retail Core/Primary Shopping Area 

Area of Potential Archaeological Importance 

Proposed changes to town centre boundary 

Proposed new Centre (Abbey Road) 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Page 1098



243 

 

Boundary Changes 

9.74 Boundary changes are suggested for the northern end of Bearwood Road, with the proposed 

new boundary ending at the junction of Linden Road and Bearwood Road.  

9.75 Several reasons inform this decision. Past this point, the retail units on the eastern side of 

Bearwood Road are set back from the street and cause a break in the high street line that is 

not reformed. Additionally, the dominance of residential properties on the western side and 

lack of continuous commercial units in general distinctly separate this area from the rest of 

the Town Centre. 

9.76 It has been suggested that the southern section of the centre should also exclude the units 

on Hagley Road. 

9.77 Further suggestions are for the inclusion of the shops at the junction of Abbey Road and 

Wigorn Road within the centre boundary. The issue here would be the significant increase in 

the extent of the town centre boundary. It would also include many non-retail, residential 

uses at ground floor level. It is therefore proposed that the shops at Abbey Road / Wigorn 

Road should form a new Local Centre, due to the number of shops and facilities the units 

offer. 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.78 Bearwood Town Centre runs along Bearwood Road (c.700m), from Waterloo Road in the 

north to Hagley Road in the south in a traditional linear high street form. The centre also 

includes sections of several smaller roads off Bearwood Road such as Three Shires Oak 

Road and Sandon Road.  

9.79 Bearwood contains a retail core that begins south of Belmont Road and continues to the 

centre’s boundary with Hagley Road.  

9.80 Bearwood has shown a slight decline in function. It is over-represented in convenience style 

goods shopping and under-represented in comparison goods. Although Bearwood maintains 

a good level of national multiples, there has also been a reduction in the number of national 

multiples outlets since the Health Check study took place in 2020 in terms of service area. 

9.81 The service industry has increased in Bearwood since 2009 and as such has improved the 

evening economy, with the introduction of at least six new pubs, restaurants and cafes. 

9.82 According to 2019 data and recent trends, Bearwood has 253 total commercial units, which 

is 12 fewer than it had in 2009. The number of comparison goods units makes up 22% of the 

centre’s total commercial units, 14% below the UK national average. This under-

representation is also reflected in the level of comparison goods floorspace available, which 

Page 1099



244 

 

stands at 25.2% of the total commercial floorspace, compared to the national average of 

32%. Since 2009, the number of comparison goods units has decreased by 21, with the 

floorspace decreasing by 1,365m2 (a 28% decrease in the number of units). 

9.83 Convenience goods fall slightly below the national average for number of units at 13% 

compared to 15%. This is contrasted by the floorspace figures which show that convenience 

goods are overrepresented, making up 18% of the total commercial floorspace compared to 

the national average of 9%. The small number of convenience goods units and large amount 

of floorspace is predominantly made up of Aldi, followed by Iceland, The Market, and The 

Co-operative, which collectively make up 52% of Bearwood’s convenience goods floorspace. 

Aldi alone consists of 1,390m2, stands in a prominent central location and acts as an anchor 

for the area. There has been a minimal change to the number of units and floorspace of 

convenience goods since 2009, with four additional units adding 141m2. 

9.84 The levels of floorspace for retail services closely align to national averages; in terms of 

number of units Bearwood is 13% higher at 20% compared to 7%. This shows that there is a 

high volume of small floorplate retail service units, typical for this type of centre. Leisure 

services are comparable to national averages in both number of units and floorspace. 

Service industry representation has increased by eight units and 955m2 since 2009. 

9.85 A vacancy rate of 10% (27 units vacant in 2019) is comparable to the national average of 9% 

and is 3% lower in terms of floorspace. Since 2009 the area of vacant commercial units has 

decreased from 3,995m2 in 2009 to 3,370m2 in 2019, which reflects the loss of two units. 

9.86 The large floorplate convenience stores are located towards the centre of Bearwood Road at 

the shopping centre, with vacant units appearing to be focussed on the southern end of 

Bearwood Road. Apart from this there is generally an even distribution of commercial uses 

around the Town Centre. 

9.87 Bearwood includes a reasonable number of national multiples. It also includes two leading 

supermarket chains and many other retail and service units. This provides the centre with a 

strong retail and service foundation that helps to support its role as a town centre and the 

high number of smaller local shops.  

9.88 It is noted however that several multiples have left the centre, including HSBC, NatWest, 

Barclays and Lloyds. 

9.89 Bearwood is currently under the limit for HFTs (Policy SDM6). 

Facilities provision:  

Page 1100



245 

 

9.90 The centre is supported by a range of community facilities including five churches, two 

schools and various dental and medical services. 

Accessibility  

9.91 Due to the centre’s location along a linear A-road, it benefits from a high number of bus 

services, with numerous stops along the length of Bearwood Road and streets such as 

Three Shires Oak Road and Sandon Road. These stops provide frequent services across 

the Black Country, including to Birmingham, Dudley, West Bromwich and Oldbury. A small 

bus interchange is also present on Adkins Lane at the end of Bearwood Road. 

9.92 Eight pedestrian crossing points are present across the length of Bearwood Road, providing 

safe routes for pedestrians across the heavily congested road. The wide pavements feature 

bollards and barriers, which provide some separation between pedestrians and vehicular 

traffic; these are specifically focused at junctions and around the Bearwood Shopping 

Centre. 

9.93 There is a high volume of traffic along Bearwood Road. 

Accessibility – Provision for cyclists 

9.94 The Active Travel Fund-funded route from Thimblemill Baths to Hadley Stadium via High 

Street and Beaks Road (20 mph) has just been completed. This will connect to SCWIP cycle 

route 5, Oldbury Town Centre to Bearwood via the Aquatic Centre. As of 2023, cycle route 5 

does not have funding. 

9.95 Cycle parking provision on Bearwood High Street is limited, with a small number of cycle 

stands provided outside Aldi and Argos.  

9.96 Due to the linear nature of the High Street and pavement widths, it would be difficult to 

provide additional parking stands on the main road frontages. 

Environmental Quality 

9.97 The character and period style of Bearwood’s buildings vary considerably and range from 

the late 19th Century to the present day. This creates a contrasting environment that works 

well in many places, such as with the blending of terracotta buildings around Bearwood 

Shopping Centre. However, it is less successful in other areas such as the sudden change in 

building height and style with the unit formerly occupied by The Co-operative (510 - 513 

Bearwood Road) and its surroundings. 

9.98 Despite it including several attractive buildings and terraces, Bearwood contains various 

shop frontages in poor condition, which may adversely affect its attractiveness to potential 

new occupiers or for new development / investments. This includes units for both local 

Page 1101



246 

 

retailing and some national multiple outlets. Dated and excessive advertisements also 

detract from the character and quality of the area. 

9.99 There is a clear lack of street furniture and investment in the public realm, such as benches, 

planting and other landscaping schemes. Though the linear nature of the centre does limit 

the amount of space for such investment, there are areas that would benefit.  

9.100 Heavy vehicular traffic has a clear and obvious negative impact on the environmental quality 

of the area. Though this is unavoidable given the key network function of the route, 

investment should be made in making the pedestrian environments as safe and appealing 

as possible. Areas of additional planting could increase the environmental quality of the 

centre and break up the visual impacts of large areas of hardstanding. 

9.101 Although there are no opportunities within Bearwood town centre itself for BNG sites, there is 

a possibility within nearby and adjacent parks at Warley Woods and Lightwoods Park. 

Historic Environment Allocations 

9.102 There is no conservation area in the centre, though both the Bearwood War Memorial 

outside St Mary’s Church, and St Gregory’s Church itself are Grade II listed. Additionally, 

there are several attractive historic buildings in the area, including the Bear Tavern with its 

clock tower.  

SWOT 

9.103 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Bearwood: 

Strengths 

• Very accessible by bus; 

• Strong convenience anchor with Aldi; 

• Several attractive buildings. 

Weaknesses 

• Some poor-quality frontages; 

• Lack of street furniture and investment 

in public realm. 

• Lack of landscaping and public open 

space in centre 

Opportunities 

• Undertake a parking assessment to 

determine if the level of parking for 

Bearwood is sufficient; 

Threats 

• Continued decrease of comparison 

goods; 

• Over-saturation of small scale retail 

services. 

Page 1102



247 

 

• Encourage refurbishment of poor shop 

frontages; 

• Street furniture, public realm 

improvements and urban greening 

should be sought where possible, to 

improve the character and appearance 

of the centre.  

Aspirations: 

9.104 The repurposing of listed buildings could improve the perception of Cape Hill and it can also 

make use of attractive architecture to encourage improvement in the vicinity 

9.105 Opportunities for funding to spruce up shop front improvement / townscape quality and 

upgrade general frontages within Bearwood could be sought as they are currently quite poor. 

Dated and excessive advertisements also detract from the character and quality of the area. 

This should also be addressed through Policy SDM5. 

9.106 There is a clear lack of street furniture and general investment in the public realm such as 

benches, planting and other landscaping schemes. Though the linear nature of the centre 

does limit the amount of space for such investment, there are clear areas that would benefit.  

9.107 Consideration should be given to improvements designed to mitigate issues related to road 

traffic, such as poor pedestrian accessibility and high levels of air pollution, which is a 

dominant feature of the centre. 

9.108 Due to lack of opportunity for public spaces within Bearwood, links to Lightwoods Park 

should be made more obvious  

9.109 At the southern end of the town centre, at the junction of Adkins Lane, Bearwood Road, and 

Hagley Road, there is an area of public space / realm that was redeveloped at some point in 

the last five years prior to 2023. The redeveloped area features paving and a clock; 

however, it is let down by having a small number of benches that are awkwardly located. 

Furthermore, the adjacent roads are heavily congested, noisy and subject to higher levels of 

pollution through vehicle fumes and emissions. This is an example of an area that could be 

improved to encourage use of the space. The introduction of green space, a pocket parklet 

and / or landscaping would be beneficial. 

9.110 The following changes would be welcomed, to help make the centre more user-friendly:  

Page 1103



248 

 

• An increase in comparison shops would help to offer a wider range of goods and 

services. 

• If the centre was reduced in size, an effective focal point could be created, with an 

attempt to try and consolidate core uses of the centre into a smaller area. 

Proposals 

9.111 The following locations offer opportunities for future improvements and additions to 

the public realm and character of the area. 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

BE1 Land at Bearwood Road opposite Ethel 

Street (between Merrivale Road and 

Bearwood Chapel)  

The pedestrian area here is wider than 

elsewhere along Bearwood Road and 

there is an element of greenery and 

planting as well as two benches. 

Opportunities exist here to create a focal 

point and to make this area greener by 

connecting all the planted areas to form 

one garden area. This will include the 

removal of the advertisement sign as 

this adds to the street clutter 

BE2 The junction of Bearwood Road (A4040) 

and Three Shires Oak Road (B4182) 

At present, pedestrians must cross at 

the junction twice in some instances to 

get to their destination. A diagonal 

crossing at this junction could aid in 

permeability of the centre. 

BE3 Pavements along Bearwood Road At various points along Bearwood Road 

there is vegetation growing from the 

base of the buildings. Opportunities will 

be explored to remove such vegetation 

which will aid in improving the 

appearance of the centre 

Page 1104



249 

 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

BE4 Throughout the Town Centre core Opportunities will be explored to 

introduce more cycle parking stands 

where space allows 

BE5 Area outside of Aldi As the pedestrian area is wider in this 

location, there is opportunity to add 

benches 

BE6 Adkins Road / Hagley Road – outside 

Dixons Estate Agents 

The large paved area here looks tired. 

Opportunities exist here to make the 

area greener and more inviting through 

planting and adding benches  

 Changes to town centre boundary See paragraph 9.40 and paragraphs 

9.74 to 9.77 

  

Page 1105



250 

 

Blackheath  

 

9.112 Blackheath is a town centre in the Rowley Town area of Sandwell, which comprises Tividale, 

Blackheath, Rowley and Cradley Heath and Old Hill wards. It is the principal town centre in 

Rowley Regis. Blackheath has seen a fall in population of about 2% in the latest census data 

over a 10-year period, compared to an increase across Sandwell of 11% over the same 

period.  

9.113 22.5 % of Blackheath’s residents are from ethnic minority backgrounds, compared to 48% of 

residents across Sandwell as a whole.  

9.114 Latest census data shows a proportionally older age profile than Sandwell, but a younger 

age profile than England. Blackheath ward has the highest proportion of residents who are 

retired (22.5%). 

9.115 Rowley town has the second highest proportion of residents who are economically active 

(59.7%) and the proportion of those who are unemployed is lower than the average for 

Sandwell as a whole. 

 

Page 1106



251 

 

Figure 6 - Blackheath Town Centre 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.116 Blackheath Town Centre is centred on The Market Place, where five routes to surrounding 

towns converge, and has a High Street extending westwards from Market Place. A by-pass 

was constructed in stages around the town centre during the 1980s /1990s, but due to an 

absence of parallel traffic restraint measures in the town centre, the central streets and 

Market Place remain congested with through traffic. 

9.117 The town offers a good mix of retail and non-retail uses. It is anchored by a medium-sized 

Sainsburys foodstore, which opened in 1997, and a more recent Lidl store just beyond the 

eastern edge of the town centre, at Oldbury Road / Archer Way. The centre has a range of 

retail shops, covering national brands (Wilco, Poundland, Iceland) and local independent 

traders. It has a thriving indoor market off Market Place, with over 60 market stalls, which 

trades three days a week and is fully let. The centre is noticeably busier on market days 

(Monday, Friday, Saturday) than at other times and the market has a wide draw. There are a 

range of non-retail uses and a reasonable evening economy, with cafes, restaurants, 

traditional pubs and a microbar all represented. Towards the western end of High Street 

there is a modern purpose-built library, which functions as a busy and popular community 

hub and warm space in the town.  

9.118 The Centres Study and its Addenda show the town is stable, with no great increase in 

vacancies or extra floorspace from previous studies. Blackheath appears to have weathered 

the pandemic and benefited from increased local demand as travelling was discouraged. 

Page 1107



252 

 

The town has relatively few vacancies and a good mix of uses. It is a vital and viable town 

centre. 

9.119 The quality of the public realm, and that of shopfronts varies through the town. Retail is 

forecast to decline in relative terms, meaning there is likely to be an increased role for social 

and community functions in Blackheath, building on its improved access. The Centres Study 

noted a lack of appropriate street furniture such as benches and planting in the town, which 

would assist public and personal interactions if provided.  

9.120 Britannia Park, although around 500 metres outside the town centre, is Blackheath’s main 

public park. It is benefiting from Towns Fund investment. This includes the provision of new 

changing rooms, play facilities, skate park, parking and access improvements, with improved 

links to the town centre for cyclists and pedestrians provided through the complementary 

Rowley Connected project – a walking, cycling and wayfinding Towns Fund project.  

9.121 The Centres Study shows that Blackheath, like other towns in Sandwell, demonstrates no 

capacity for additional comparison retail - and limited capacity for convenience retail - as far 

ahead as can be forecast. To protect the centre’s vitality and viability, new out of centre and 

edge of centre town centre uses should be robustly tested via impact and sequential tests, 

with any new retail proposals being focused on the redevelopment and reconfiguration 

/extension of existing capacity within the centre. 

Historic Environment 

9.122 Blackheath has no listed buildings, Conservation Areas or Areas of Potential Archaeological 

Importance.  

Primary Shopping Area 

9.123 No Primary Shopping Area (PSA) has been identified; the current Town Centre boundary 

acts as an appropriate PSA. 

Hot Food Takeaways 

9.124 Blackheath has nine takeaways according to the 2022 centres survey; this is close to but still 

under the 7% limit under the HFT threshold.  

Accessibility 

9.125 Blackheath is sustainably located, with many existing bus services available and a railway 

station outside the centre. It is an important hub for local bus services to a variety of 

destinations, with over 35 departures on ten different routes in a typical weekday off-peak 

hour. Rowley Regis railway station has frequent direct trains to Birmingham city centre, 

Stourbridge, Kidderminster and Worcester. It is located around 500 metres east of the town 

Page 1108



253 

 

centre and the route between it and the town centre, was improved in 2021 using funding 

from the Government’s Towns Fund initiative. Bus services will benefit from the Towns Fund-

supported new bus interchange at Market Place, along with an improved public realm and 

pedestrian space at the heart of the town centre, again in Market Place. These works, which 

are currently undergoing design refinements, are scheduled to be implemented by 2025.  

9.126 Rowley Regis Connected (also a Towns Fund project) will improve access for pedestrians 

and cyclists to bus and rail and employment nodes in Blackheath and wider Rowley Regis.  

SWOT  

9.127 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Blackheath: 

Strengths 

• Good bus service links; 

• Good range of uses, good national multiple 

representation. 

Weaknesses 

• Tired frontages of some commercial units; 

• Lack of continuity in paving and 

landscaping. 

Opportunities 

• Improve store frontages; 

• Consider improving street furniture such as 

benches and planting schemes. 

Threats 

• Further decline in environmental quality 

could deter visitors. 

 

Proposals 

9.128 Development opportunities are limited in the centre. However, a few small sites have been 

identified as potential development locations and are identified in the table below, together 

with other possible improvements to local amenity and character. 

Site Location Proposal  

BH 1 Bassano Road 

 

There is a long-established taxi operation in the centre at 

Bassano Road. Although this is an acceptable use, it 

comprises a portacabin within a large plot and does not 

make the best use of a central site. This could be better 

developed for residential use in this sustainable location 

and thus bolster the existing retail and commercial 

Page 1109



254 

 

Site Location Proposal  

functions of the centre.  This will depend on relocating 

the existing business, perhaps to a vacant unit within the 

centre, that is adjacent to a car park. 

BH2 land to the rear of St Pauls 

Court on Horner Way  

 

This is a site allocated in the previous development plan. 

Although it has had several consents granted, the site 

remains undeveloped. It is suitable for a variety of Centre 

type uses, possibly including residential with appropriate 

design to take account of its location on Horner Way. 

This site is outside the current centre, but would be 

functionally within it, were it developed. 

BH3 Bassano Road / Halesowen 

Street 

This site is currently grassed with an area of dilapidated 

seating. The Centres Study identified a lack of outside 

seating in Blackheath. To aid in non-transactional 

interactions opportunities will be sought to expand 

replace and expand the seating. 

BH4  

 

Archer Way / Long Lane This site was allocated in the previous plan. It would be 

suitable for a limited amount of a centre type use, with 

residential above. It could also function as a pocket park, 

as lack of seating in the town was noted by The Centres 

Study. These would complement seating proposed within 

Market Place as part of the bus interchange scheme 

BH5 Vacant land between 

Cardale Street, Park Street 

and Archer Way.   

This would be suitable for residential development that 

would support the town centre, particularly social housing 

 

9.129 BH3 and BH4 are small sites left after road improvements.   

Page 1110



255 

 

Cape Hill 

 

9.130 The town of Cape Hill lies within the ward of Soho and Victoria. 

9.131 The population of Soho and Victoria Ward is 19,629 according to the 2021 census. This is 

an increase of 30.5% since the 2011 Census, which is the largest growth in population in 

Sandwell. Soho and Victoria is now the most populous ward in Sandwell. 

9.132 Soho and Victoria ward has seen a particularly large population increase in younger age 

groups, with a 10% increase in the proportion aged under 20, and a 20% increase in the 

number of people aged between 20 - 64 (the largest increase of all of Sandwell wards for 

both age groups). There has also been a slight rise in those aged 65 and over. 

9.133 In Soho and Victoria Ward, 90.2% of residents are from groups other than White British; it 

has the highest proportion of people from the Pakistani, Chinese and Asian Other, Black 

African and Black Other groups in Sandwell158.  

9.134 Regarding employment levels, 48.5% of residents are economically active and in 

employment; this is lower than the England average. Soho and Victoria Ward has the 

highest rate of unemployment of all Sandwell wards (6.2% of those aged 16+)159. 

                                                

158 Taken from Sandwell Trends, source: 2021 Census 
159 Source: 2021 Census (Sandwell Trends) 

Page 1111



256 

 

Figure 7 - Cape Hill Town Centre 

          Town Centre Key 

Town Centre Boundary 

Retail Core/Primary Shopping Area 

Area of Potential Archaeological Importance 

Conservation Area 

  Listed Building 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.135 Cape Hill is one of the main town centres within Smethwick. The Town Centre primarily 

consists of the Windmill Shopping Centre, Cape Hill Road, and sections of surrounding 

roads: Waterloo Road, High Street, Shireland Road, and Windmill Lane.  

9.136 Cape Hill contains a retail core, which includes most of the centre. The spurs of retail activity 

off Waterloo Road, Shireland Road and the east side of Cape Hill from its junction at Durban 

Road are not included within the retail core as they lie further away from the main retail hub 

of the centre and have a lower footfall. 

9.137 The Windmill Shopping Centre creates a greater draw while the rest of the centre acts more 

as a local centre serving a more immediate local need 

9.138 From the 2019 Black Country Centres Study, Cape Hill demonstrated a small increase in the 

number of occupied commercial units within the centre. The centre tends to be busy with 

vehicular traffic but is not particularly busy with pedestrians, though there is a consistent 

amount of people throughout most of the area. The busiest area is the entrance to the 

Windmill Shopping Centre from Cape Hill, with many pedestrians moving between the 

shopping centre and eastwards down Cape Hill Road. The study also concluded that 

Shireland Road and Waterloo Road were equally busy. 

9.139 Cape Hill had a total of 207 commercial units with a total floorspace of 38,455m2 as at 2019 

compared to 198 units and 36,585m2 in 2009, suggesting a degree of overall growth in the 

centre in the last ten years. 

Page 1112



257 

 

9.140 Comparison goods units make up 28% of the centre’s uses by number of units, 7% below 

the UK national average of 36%. When comparing floorspace, comparison goods make up 

32% of the centre’s total, exactly aligning with the national average. For a town centre this is 

a healthy position, although this sector has declined by 11 units and 2,056m2 floorspace 

since. The presence of the Windmill Shopping Centre directly within the Town Centre has a 

positive impact on the floorspace of comparison goods when compared to nearby Town 

Centres. 

9.141 Convenience goods account for 20% of Cape Hill’s commercial units which is 5% above the 

national average; the floorspace of these units makes up 37% of the centre’s total, which is 

28% above average. This over-representation of convenience goods floorspace can mostly 

be attributed to the large 6,320m2 Asda store, which represents 44% of all convenience 

floorspace in the centre. The second and third largest convenience stores include Windmills 

Market (1,510m2) and PAK Supermarkets (1,290m2). Convenience goods have increased in 

both number of units and floorspace (13 units and 2,908m2) since 2009. This shows that 

convenience retail plays a major role in the centre. 

9.142 The floorspace levels of retail services, at 9%, are below the national average of 14%; 

however, the number of units providing retail services is higher than average at 23% 

compared to the national average of 7%. This shows that there is a high volume of small 

floorplate retail service units, which is typical for this type of centre. 

9.143 Leisure services are under-represented in terms of both number of units and floorspace, 

falling 10% and 14% below the national average of 24% and 25% respectively. What leisure 

services there are, are heavily focused towards takeaways, which make up 65% of the 

sector. Financial and business services align to the national average for number of units at 

7%, but fall 6% below average for floorspace at 10%, again highlighting the prevalence of 

small units. Collectively the service industry has increased by 21 units and 346m2 since 

2009, which is a positive sign. 

9.144 Cape Hill has a below-average level of vacancies in terms of both number of units (13 

vacant) and floorspace (2,986m2), which stand at 6% and 8% respectively, both 3% below 

the national average. This compares well to other centres in the borough, which are 

experiencing above average vacancy rates. It has also improved considerably since 2009, 

when the vacancy rate was 14%. 

9.145 Spatially, Cape Hill contains several high-density parades of small units along its main roads, 

with significantly larger units at the Windmill Shopping Centre and medium-sized units at the 

Cape Hill Retail Centre at the eastern end of Cape Hill. There is little pattern in the 

Page 1113



258 

 

distribution of uses, though there is a higher proportion of comparison goods units towards 

the western end of Cape Hill Road. Several national multiples are also present, most of 

which are located within the Windmill Centre, with the remainder situated along Cape Hill 

Road and the retail centre.  

9.146 Cape Hill has exceeded the threshold for HFTs (Policy SDM6). 

Facilities provision  

9.147 There are several community facilities, including several religious institutions, two primary 

schools and a health centre. Cape Hill also benefits from its proximity to a large green space 

at Victoria Park. 

Accessibility 

9.148 Due to the presence of multiple busy roads, the centre is well-connected for vehicles and is 

served by at least six different bus services to various destinations including Birmingham, 

Smethwick, and West Bromwich. These include the 80, 82, 897, 89, 54, and 54A160  

9.149 There are a high proportion of pedestrian crossings at The Windmill Centre and the main 

junction on Cape Hill Road; this contrasts with the rest of the centre in which there is a clear 

lack of such crossings.  

9.150 A lack of crossing points negatively impacts pedestrian flows and makes it difficult to cross 

busy roads without heading towards The Windmill Centre.  

Accessibility – Provision for cyclists 

9.151 Cape Hill forms part of the A457 corridor from Oldbury to Cape Hill, which includes SCWIP 

cycle route (CR) 11.  

9.152 Smethwick Connected is a connectivity project promoting walking and cycling improvements 

between Smethwick High Street and the Midland Metropolitan Hospital. This includes 

walking improvements within the Windmill Eye estate, although it does not affect the High 

Street to any great extent. Towns Fund money is being used to deliver new cycle and 

pedestrian facilities along the A457 in incremental phases from Smethwick Galton Bridge 

Station to Cape Hill. The scheme is being delivered in different phases as follows:  

• Phase 1: A two-way segregated cycle way on the south side of the A457 from Galton 

Station to Rolfe Street junction.  

                                                

160 Transport for West Midlands - Sandwell-Dudley-area-map-20230625.pdf www.tfwm.org.uk   

Page 1114

http://www.tfwm.org.uk/


259 

 

• Phase 2: A two-way segregated cycle way from Rolfe Street to Cross Street on both 

sides of A457. The carriageway was realigned to allow the construction of a new 

footway and cycleway from High Street junction to Lynton Avenue, with a link for both 

onto Lynton Avenue. A new traffic signal crossing was installed on the A457 adjacent to 

Cross Street junction. This Phase was completed in June 2023. 

• Phase 3: Lynton Avenue to Metropolitan Hospital Walking Route; new and upgraded 

pedestrian facilities such as dropped crossing and tactile paving.   

• Phase 4: A two-way segregated cycleway along the A457 from Lynton Avenue to Soho 

Street junction. This Phase will connect onto the end of Phase 2. This Phase is due to 

start in Autumn 2023, with completion expected by Spring 2024. 

• Phase 5: in development as of 2023 and will be delivered by the Canal and River Trust. 

It includes the construction of a towpath from the canal to the path at the side of Heath 

Trading Park. This will then be connected to the cycle routes on Winson Street; 

completion is expected by November 2023 

9.153 SCWIP CR11 already partially exists but it requires updating to the standards identified in 

the Local Transport Note 1/20 (LNT1/20). There is a £19 million budget available from The 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements (CRYSTS) funding to improve access to the 

hospital, which will be split between Sandwell and Birmingham and will be used to create a 

cycle route from the A457 to the National Cycle Network via route 5 along the Birmingham 

canals (NCN5), borough boundary links with Birmingham and SCWIP 11 upgrades. 

9.154 There are several cycle stands provided within the Windmill Shopping centre, but these are 

spaced too closely together, which renders half of them effectively unusable. The current 

Sandwell Cycling supplementary planning guidance suggests that cycle stands should be 

spaced one metre apart. Every other cycle stand in the row should therefore be removed 

and relocated elsewhere within the vicinity. 

9.155 There is a lack of provision elsewhere in the centre due to the narrow widths of the 

pavements.  

Accessibility - Transport Proposals:  

9.156 Although there are no new transport proposes for Cape Hill itself, it will be impacted by the 

Smethwick Connected Project, which includes walking improvements within the Windmill 

Eye estate. 

Environmental Quality 

Page 1115



260 

 

9.157 Outside of the Windmill Centre the environmental quality of the area is generally poor, with 

most of the shop frontages in need of significant maintenance and modernisation. Despite 

having a lower-than-average number of vacant units (proportionally), the low quality of the 

occupied properties makes the area feel like it is in a state of decline, despite figures 

suggesting otherwise. 

9.158 The centre is dominated by rows of two to three storey terraced properties of varying styles 

and appearances though generally constructed of red brick. The type and quality of paving 

varies across the centre; Shireland Road and Waterloo Road feature mostly red and grey 

bricked paving, whilst Cape Hill Road comprises a mixture of concrete and dark brick. The 

centre would benefit from a consistent paving scheme of higher quality. 

9.159 Though constrained by pavement sizes and main roads, there is a lack of any significant 

street furniture or decorative finishes such as a planting scheme, which would help to raise 

the quality of the area. 

Historic Environment Allocations 

9.160 There is a conservation area within Cape Hill town centre, designated in August 2012. The 

conservation area comprises the heart of Cape Hill and is focused on the junction of Cape 

Hill with Waterloo Road and Shireland Road; it runs east along Cape Hill to the junction with 

Rosebery Road 

9.161 There are four listed buildings within the centre, including the Grade II* Waterloo Hotel. 

Unfortunately, these listed buildings are not being utilised to their potential and their 

architectural quality is let down by their vacancy (they are all vacant as at July 2023), their 

poor physical quality and the generally poor appearance of neighbouring units, which 

adversely affects their setting.  

SWOT 

9.162 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Cape Hill: 

Strengths 

• Very accessible by bus; 

• Strong comparison goods offer 

compared to nearby centres; 

• Windmill Centre provides a very strong 

anchor; 

Weaknesses 

• Mostly poor-quality frontages; 

• Lack of street furniture and investment 

in public realm. 

Page 1116



261 

 

• Low level of vacancies. 

Opportunities 

• Develop/repurpose listed buildings to 

capitalise on their attractive 

architecture; 

• Encourage refurbishment of poor shop 

frontages; 

• Invest in street furniture and public 

realm. 

Threats 

• Loss of the pub or any of the 

restaurants, further decreasing 

evening generating activity; 

• Poor environmental quality begins to 

impact occupancy of units. 

 

Aspirations 

9.163 The health checks identified that there is limited evening activity due to the lack of leisure 

facilities around Cape Hill, including the strict definition of leisure as well as restaurants or 

cafes. There is just one pub and 11 restaurants, although a number of these also act as hot 

food takeaways. 

9.164 There may also be opportunity to provide improved public and active transport links to the 

new aquatics centre in Smethwick from Cape Hill and other surrounding centres  

9.165 Opportunities for funding to improve shop fronts and townscape quality should be 

investigated. Generally, frontages within Cape Hill are in a poor condition, which may 

adversely affect its attractiveness to potential new occupiers or for new development / 

investment.  

9.166 There is council housing under construction (2023) to the rear of the High Street on Church 

Hill Street.  

9.167 An increase in the number of banks and / or the introduction of a post office would mean that 

certain groups of the community are not excluded, and people can continue to have a 

physical facility to deal with financial cash transactions. 

Proposals 

9.168 The following locations offer opportunities for future improvements and additions to the 

public realm and character of the area. 

Page 1117



262 

 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

CH1 The wider area outside the Windmill 

centre 

The environmental quality of the area 

is generally very poor, with most of 

the shop frontages in need of 

significant maintenance and 

modernisation. Opportunities will be 

sought to secure funding to improve 

the appearance of shop frontages and 

general environmental quality of the 

area 

CH2 • Former Lloyds Bank (Sampson 

Lloyd), Cape Hill 

• Waterloo Hotel, Shireland Road 

• Mecca Bingo Club, Windmill Lane 

• Cape House, Cape Hill / Durban 

Road 

There are four listed buildings within 

the centre, including the Grade II* 

Waterloo Hotel building. 

Unfortunately, these listed buildings 

are not being utilised to their potential 

and their architectural quality is let 

down by their vacancy (all vacant - 

2023).  Opportunities will be sought to 

assist developers with the upkeep of 

the Listed Building when planning 

permission is sought. 

CH3 The wider area outside the Windmill 

centre 

The type and quality of paving varies 

across the centre; Shireland Road 

and Waterloo Road feature mostly red 

and grey bricked paving, whilst Cape 

Hill Road comprises a mixture of 

concrete and dark brick. The centre 

would benefit from a consistent paving 

scheme of higher quality 

Page 1118



263 

 

Cradley Heath  

 

9.169 Cradley Heath is a linear town in the Rowley Town area, one of Sandwell’s six historic 

centres, and lies in the southwest corner of the borough. Cradley Heath is in the Cradley 

Heath and Old Hill Ward. 

9.170 It is the largest ward in Rowley with 14,961 residents, which has increased by around 10.3% 

since the 2011 census. This echoes changes in Sandwell as a whole, which has seen an 

11% rise in population.  

9.171 Cradley Heath and Old Hill Ward is the ninth most populous in Sandwell. It has a high 

prevalence of single person households (non-pensioners). At 20.7% this compares with a 

town average for Rowley of 16.9%. 

9.172 Cradley Heath’s population is 77.6% white British / white Other, 4.4% Mixed, 11% Asian or 

Asian British and 4.2% Black or Black British groups: Sandwell’s population overall is 57.3% 

white British / white other161. 

                                                

161  Sandwell Trends – https://www.sandwelltrends.info/ethnicity-religion-country-of-birth/  

(In 2021, 57.3% (195,620) of usual residents in Sandwell identified their ethnic group within the high-level "White" 
category, compared with 81.7% in England & Wales.) 

Page 1119



264 

 

9.173 19.5% of the residents of Cradley Heath and Old Hill are retired. The proportion of residents 

who are long-term sick or disabled in Rowley is highest in Cradley Heath and Old Hill ward 

(6.1%). 

9.174 Cradley Heath and Old Hill has a lower level of owner-occupation than the Borough average. 

It has the highest proportion of social and private renting and shared ownership in the town. 

The proportion of households renting from a private landlord or letting agency has increased 

from 12.5% in 2011 to 17.8% in 2021. 

9.175 53.4% of the population Cradley Heath and Old Hill ward are economically active and the 

proportion of those who are unemployed is lower than the average for Sandwell as a whole 

(4.2% compared to 4.5%).  

Figure 8 - Cradley Heath Town Centre 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Page 1120



265 

 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.176 The centre has a large ‘Tesco Extra’ store, which acts as an ‘anchor’ and generates many 

pedestrian and vehicle trips to the town. However, away from this immediate area, activity 

drops off significantly. The environment near to the superstore has good quality public realm 

with opportunities for visitors to sit and interact. Away from this immediate area the 

townscape is less welcoming, and parts of the town have poor-quality and aging shop fronts, 

with several shuttered and vacant units and little opportunity for public interaction.  

9.177 In other towns the arrival of a major food retailer has complemented and boosted trade in 

independent stores throughout the centre. In Cradley Heath, however, this does not seem to 

be the case. Here, the size of the Tesco store and the pre-existing fragility of the town’s 

traditional retail offer means that Tesco offers a one-stop retail destination that has drawn 

activity away from the rest of the town. 

9.178 Vacancies have been rising in the centre, particularly in the Market Square, indicating a 

period of decline. This centre, like many others, needs to move away from being principally 

concerned with retailing and towards fostering non-transactional interactions and providing 

more residential opportunities on unoccupied sites and upper floors. The vacant commercial 

premises and sites in the town, if redeveloped for residential use, will bolster the remaining 

retail and commercial functions.  

9.179 Cradley Heath, along with other towns in Sandwell and the Black Country, shows no 

capacity for additional comparison retail and limited convenience retail as far as can be 

forecast. To protect the centre’s remaining vitality and viability, out-of-centre and edge-of-

centre town centre uses should be robustly tested through impact and sequential tests 

before permission is granted, with retail development focused on redevelopment and 

reconfiguration / extension of existing capacity in the centre. 

SWOT 

9.180  The Centres Study identified the following characteristics for Cradley Heath: 

Strengths 

• Within walking distance from a 

transport interchange with rail and bus 

facilities 

• Significant levels of free parking at 

Tesco 

Weaknesses 

• Declining uses by number of units and 

floorspace 

• Increasing vacancy floorspace 

Page 1121



266 

 

• Very strong anchor with Tesco Extra. 

Opportunities 

• Promote refurbishment and 

modernisation of frontages 

• Improve street furniture and other 

aesthetic elements. 

Threats 

• Continued decrease of all uses 

• Complete decline of centre. 

 

Aspirations 

9.181 An increase in street furniture and other decorative schemes such as planting would make 

the area both more attractive and more functional.  

9.182 The centre’s frontages need refurbishment and modernisation to improve their current tired 

and neglected appearance. 

9.183 Rowley Regis Towns Fund includes an improved scheme called “Rowley Connected”, aimed 

at promoting improvements to walking and cycling across Rowley. A committed element of 

this scheme involves a project to create safe cycle linkages along Cradley Heath High 

Street, continuing via Lower High Street and as far as Cradley Heath interchange. This work 

is scheduled for completion in 2024. 

9.184 As part of the “Rowley Connected” scheme, there are plans under consideration to upgrade 

and resurface an informal footpath connecting St Luke’s Church with the open space at 

Bearmore playing fields, and for this ultimately to be extended to provide a low-traffic route 

between Cradley Heath and Old Hill centres, for walkers and cyclists. 

9.185 Rowley Regis Satellite Education Hub has funding from the Towns Fund and will provide 

education and training facilities for young people and adults. Although just outside the 

current Centre boundary, immediately beyond LIDL and opposite Mary Macarthur Gardens 

on Lower High Street, it will add to the vitality and viability of Cradley Heath by promoting 

economic growth, rectifying skills shortages and contributing to a suitably skilled workforce. It 

will also strengthen the formation of a nascent growth hub centred around Cradley Heath 

interchange. 

Opportunities for improvement 

9.186 The Centres Study Health Check noted that frontages in the centre appear dated and tired-

looking. Obtaining funding to upgrade frontages, the general streetscape and street scene 

Page 1122



267 

 

improvements would all make the centre appear more welcoming, improve dwell times and 

reinforce the non-transactional interactions the centre needs to improve its vitality and 

viability and trade on its excellent connectivity. 

9.187 The Centres Study suggested the southern town centre boundary be amended; that Lidl 

(Lower High Street) be added, the area of St Anne’s Road removed due to a lack of any 

commercial units; and that the boundary should end at the post office on Cradley Road 

again due to a lack of occupied commercial units. 

Proposals  

9.188 The following table identifies locations that offer opportunities for future improvements and 

additions to the public realm and character of the area, as well as smaller-scale development 

opportunities. 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

CrH1 A substantial development opportunity on 

the site of the former Majestic Cinema and 

its car park at Cradley Road.  

These sites are a high priority for 

development for two reasons:  

• they have lain vacant, derelict and 

overgrown for some time and have 

been the subject of numerous 

complaints, and contribute to an air of 

neglect and decline in this part of the 

centre;  

• new development will link to recent 

and proposed residential growth zones 

south west of the town centre between 

Chester Road and Woods Lane. 

These sites are in the process of 

delivering a total of around 250 homes 

and will transform a former industrial 

area into an aspirational residential 

neighbourhood in a sustainable 

This is suitable for residential 

development, with an indicative capacity 

of up to 50 dwellings, dependant on house 

type and design.  

A mix of uses may be possible, with 

limited commercial opportunities on the 

ground floor due to the limited capacity in 

the centre, and residential above as is 

found in adjacent sites. 

Page 1123



268 

 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

location that will help to support the 

viability of the town centre. 

CrH2 At the western entrance to the centre a 

used car lot and hand car wash operation 

occupy land at High Street / St Anne’s 

Road / Lower High Street. These currently 

have a low-quality visual appearance and 

do not contribute positively to the 

character and amenity of the centre.  

An opportunity exists to redevelop this 

gateway site, possibly for residential use, 

or to improve and maintain the visual 

quality of the existing uses.  

Funding opportunities will be sought to 

this end. 

CrH3 St Luke’s church closed in 2014 and was 

demolished due to rising repair costs. The 

site is a tranquil green location and 

contains mature trees in the northern part 

of the town. The Council will explore with 

the Church Commissioners how to 

sympathetically improve the site and 

maintain public access as an asset for the 

community.  

Any proposals must respect the site’s 

sensitive former use, as well as the status 

of the adjoining graveyard. The aim is to 

create an informal quiet area of nature 

and contemplation for the northern end of 

Cradley Heath. This will form a 

counterpoint to Mary MacArthur Gardens 

in the south of Cradley Heath. External 

funding mechanisms will be explored.  

As part of the approved Rowley Regis 

Towns Fund “Rowley Connected” scheme, 

there are plans under consideration to 

upgrade and resurface an informal 

footpath that connects St Luke’s Church 

with the open space at Bearmore playing 

fields. The intention is for this ultimately be 

extended to provide a low-traffic route 

between Cradley Heath and Old Hill 

centres for walkers and cyclists. 

CrH4 At the northern entrance to the town 

adjacent to No1 High Street, a site 

Suitable for residential development of 

high quality design and materials to reflect 

its gateway location. Alternatively, 

development as a ‘pocket park’ would 

Page 1124



269 

 

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

currently set out as grass with anti-vehicle 

trespass mounding 

augment the currently very limited other 

opportunities in the centre for non-

transactional socialising / amenity use. 

If the site is developed for commercial 

use, this aspect should be limited to reflect 

the lack of retail capacity in the centre. 

Encouragement will be given to using 

upper floors for residential use to bolster 

the centre and make best use of its 

sustainably-located position.  

  

Page 1125



270 

 

Great Bridge 

 

9.189 Great Bridge is the main town centre in Tipton and makes up one of its three wards. The 

population of Tipton in 2021 was 44,125, making up 12.9% of Sandwell’s total population. Of 

this total, 19% of Tipton’s population are from ethnic minority backgrounds.  

9.190 The population profile of the town in terms of age structure is very similar to that of Sandwell 

overall. The main difference is a slightly larger proportion of residents aged under 16. Tipton 

also has the lowest number of people aged 65 and over of any part of Sandwell.  

9.191 Tipton’s Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index and Income Deprivation Affecting Older 

People Index Scores put it in the 20% most deprived areas in England for both indices.  

9.192 Healthy life expectancy was statistically and significantly lower than the average for England 

in all three wards in Tipton. Healthy life expectancy for both women and men was lower than 

the present state pension age (66) in all three wards and when compared to the average in 

England; this suggests that people may not necessarily be healthy enough to work until the 

state pension age. 

Page 1126



271 

 

Figure 9 - Great Bridge Town Centre 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.193 The centre is currently designated as a town centre in the Sandwell Local Plan. The current 

boundary of the centre accurately reflects the extent of the retail area and does not require 

consolidation. 

9.194 The town centre designation does include Great Bridge Retail Park. Whilst the retail park 

and the main centre operate independently, there appears little benefit in removing the 

former from the Town Centre boundary. However, better integration between the two 

elements is required for the retail centre to truly form part of the town centre. 

9.195 There is no Primary Shopping Area boundary currently defined, and it is not recommended 

that one is needed, as the role of the centre is primarily in retail use across all areas. 

9.196 Great Bridge currently has 86 commercial units with a total floorspace of 13,850m2. 2009 

data appears to include Great Bridge Retail Park as well, which is not included within the 

Page 1127



272 

 

2019 GOAD data162. As such, a comparison of the number of units and their floorspace over 

the past ten years is not directly available. However, the 2009 study recorded 90 units; it is 

likely that this comprised 86 units in the traditional centre and four in the Retail Park, 

meaning that the traditional centre has remained the same size. Two drive-through 

restaurants have been added to the retail park in the interim (these were not mentioned in 

the 2009 report). In 2009 there were four vacant units and there are now five vacant units. 

Therefore, the centre has remained generally consistent in size and stability in terms of the 

level of vacancies over the last ten years. 

9.197 The various commercial uses in Great Bridge are evenly spaced through the centre with no 

clear patterns or grouping. The units themselves are typically small (<160m2) and are 

grouped in terraces, occasionally broken by larger stores, lanes, or empty areas. There are 

very few community uses within or near to the centre, with only a library and medical centre 

in evidence. There are seven main national multiples (excluding the Retail Park), which are 

evenly distributed around the centre (these include a Lidl store and various bookmakers). 

9.198 Comparison goods retailers occupy 20% of the centre’s units, well below the UK national 

average of 36%. When comparing floorspace, comparison goods make up 32% of the 

centre’s total, which is the same as the national average. This level of comparison goods is 

above average when compared to nearby town centres, suggesting a stronger market 

presence. Convenience goods account for 15% of Great Bridge’s commercial units, which 

aligns with the national average; however, the floorspace of these units makes up 21% of 

the centre’s total, which is 12% above the national average. This over-representation of 

convenience goods can mostly be attributed to the relatively large 1,380m2 Lidl store, which 

represents 48% of all convenience floorspace in the centre. Again, this high level of 

convenience floorspace is typical for such town centres, which tend to have one or several 

large floorplate supermarkets. 

9.199 The floorspace levels of retail services are below the national average, at 11% compared to 

14%. However, in terms of number of units, levels of retail services are higher than average 

at 22% compared to 7% nationally. This shows that there is a high volume of small floorplate 

retail service units, a trend throughout most local town centres. 11 of these 18 units are 

hairdressers. 

                                                

162  Experian’s GOAD plans show the fascia name, retail category, floor space and exact location of all retail outlets and 
vacant premises. Key location factors such as pedestrian zones, road crossings, bus stops and car parks are also 
featured. 

Page 1128



273 

 

9.200 Leisure services closely align with the national average, with the number of units making up 

28% of the centre’s total (3% above average), and the floorspace totalling 21% of the 

centre’s total (3% below average). These levels are above average when Great Bridge is 

compared to other town centres and suggest a comparably healthier leisure market. 

However, it is worth noting that 50% of these leisure services are takeaways; this limits the 

evening economy-generating uses to the three restaurants in the centre.  

9.201 In accordance with Hot Food Takeaway Policy SDM6, the threshold for Great Bridge Town 

Centre is 7% and as of 2023 there are seven hot food takeaways in the centre, representing 

7.69% of the total number of units. Therefore, Great Bridge is over the threshold for the 

number of hot food takeaways in the town centre. 

Facilities Provision 

9.14 There are very few community uses within or near to the centre, with only a library and 

medical centre in evidence. 

Accessibility 

9.202 Although there are no new transport proposes for Great Bridge itself, the centre will benefit 

from the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro line. 

9.203 The centre is dominated by road traffic, to the significant detriment of pedestrian movement. 

Pavements vary from being wide (i.e., outside Lidl) to narrow (around Market Place) and 

sometimes pedestrians must contend with cars parked on the pavement. The roads, in 

addition to being busy with traffic, are also relatively narrow and there is no cycle 

infrastructure, making the centre difficult to access for cyclists. 

9.204 Crossing the road is only possible at signalled pedestrian crossings, which are relatively far 

apart (there are four within the centre). They are generally well-located; one aligns with the 

footbridge to the retail park, and one with the market, although the crossing to Aldi is more 

difficult, being a staggered and indirect one.  

9.205 This level of inconsistency and lack of provision makes the centre particularly difficult to 

access for those with disabilities. The footbridge provides a direct, though unappealing, link 

to the retail park, though this is DDA accessible. 

9.206 Dudley Port Rail Station is 0.6m west of the town centre and the nearby Black Country Route 

provides access to both the M5 and M6 motorways.  

Accessibility – Provision for cyclists 

9.207 There are several proposed SCWIP routes - CR 3, CR 14 and a West Midlands LCWIP route 

from Burnt Tree to West Bromwich via Great Bridge and Carters Green. 

Page 1129



274 

 

Environmental Quality 

9.17 The environmental quality of the town centre is generally poor, with most of the shop 

frontages in need of significant maintenance and modernisation. Despite having a lower than 

average number of vacant units (proportionally), the low quality of the occupied properties 

makes the area feel like it is in a state of decline, despite figures suggesting otherwise. 

SWOT 

9.208 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Great Bridge: 

Strengths 

• Low vacancy rate 

• Anchored by Lidl and outdoor market 

• Healthy diversity of uses 

• Ample car parking 

Weaknesses 

• Centre is dominated by heavy through traffic 

• Poor public realm 

• Poor physical environment 

• Poor quality pedestrian link to the retail park 

• Offer is limited to cheaper goods and services 

(e.g., only a discount supermarket, leisure 

• sector dominated by take-aways, markets 

focus on cheap goods) 

• General lack of community facilities 

Opportunities 

• The Outdoor Market site could be 

physically improved 

• The public realm and built form could 

be improved throughout 

• A better pedestrian environment and 

pedestrian prioritisation would be 

welcomed, alongside better cycle and 

DDA provision 

• Large cleared site at eastern edge of 

centre – has planning permission for 

48 apartments 

Threats 

• Great Bridge Retail Park draws trade away 

from the traditional centre and is reliant on 

private car use 

 

Page 1130



275 

 

Aspirations 

9.209 The health checks identified that there is limited evening activity due to the lack of leisure 

facilities around Great Bridge, including the strict definition of leisure as well as restaurants. 

9.210 Opportunities for funding to improve shop fronts and townscape quality should be 

investigated. Generally, frontages within Great Bridge are in a poor condition, which may 

adversely affect its attractiveness to potential new occupiers or for new development / 

investment.  

9.211 There should also be opportunity to provide improved public and active transport, to provide 

more cycle lanes. 

  

Page 1131



276 

 

Oldbury 

 

9.212 Oldbury Town is centrally located and is the administrative centre for Sandwell. It contains 

the wards of Bristnall, Oldbury, Langley and Old Warley. It borders Birmingham and Dudley 

to the south and southwest. 

9.213 The population of Oldbury town in mid-2020 was estimated to be 53,707163. Oldbury town 

has seen an increase in all age groups between 2011 and 2021, but the rise in those aged 

65 and over is smaller (+2.6% and +5.3% for under 20s and 20-64s, but only 0.5% for those 

aged 65 and over.  

9.214 Oldbury Ward has the largest population, with 15,607 residents.  

9.215 41.5% of Oldbury town’s population are from ethnic minorities; this is lower than the 

borough’s average of 48% and higher than the 26% for England and Wales164. 

9.216 90% of the Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in Oldbury are in the 50% most 

deprived LSOA in England (Sandwell - 86.0%)165. 

                                                

163  Sandwell Trends - https://www.sandwelltrends.info/oldbury/  
164  Sandwell Trends – Census Sandwell Profile - https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-

content/uploads/sites/5/2023/04/Sandwell-Census-Profile-2021.pdf  
165  Sandwell Trends - https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/09/Oldbury-Town-Profile-

September-2022.pdf  

Page 1132

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/oldbury/
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2023/04/Sandwell-Census-Profile-2021.pdf
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2023/04/Sandwell-Census-Profile-2021.pdf
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/09/Oldbury-Town-Profile-September-2022.pdf
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/09/Oldbury-Town-Profile-September-2022.pdf


277 

 

9.217 Of the six main towns, Oldbury town has the greatest proportion of residents who are 

economically active (60.3%) and the second highest proportion of residents in full-time 

employment (34.8%).  

9.218 Oldbury town has the highest level of owner-occupation of the six towns in the Borough. The 

proportion of households in privately rented accommodation has increased to 18.5%, which 

is similar to Sandwell as a whole. It has the lowest proportion of social rented housing of the 

six towns. 

Figure 10 - Oldbury Town Centre 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No 100023119 

 

Page 1133



278 

 

Existing Centres Boundary  

9.219 The centre is designated as a town centre in the Black Country Core Strategy centres 

hierarchy and it is proposed to continue with this designation. 

9.220 The town centre boundary is well-contained to the west by the Oldbury Ring Road. To the 

east the boundary follows the length of Birmingham Street to its junction on Birmingham 

Road. The Centres Study166 identified that the boundary could be altered to include the 

whole health centre rather than the boundary intersecting it currently. 

Primary Shopping Area  

9.221 Oldbury Town Centre does not have an existing Primary Shopping Area (PSA) / Retail Core. 

Due to the nature of Oldbury as more of a service driven Town Centre, a PSA / Retail Core 

is not considered necessary. 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.222 Oldbury is the only town centre in the Oldbury wards. It predominantly consists of the 

Sainsbury’s supermarket / parking, the Sandwell Council offices and a variety of commercial 

units along Halesowen Street, Church Street and Birmingham Street. 

9.223 Latest available information167 details that the centre in total currently has 95 outlets with a 

combined floorspace of approximately 25,500 sqm. Since 2016 there has been an increase 

of eight outlets and some 2,350 sqm in terms of floorspace. The increase in floorspace is 

seen across all goods categories except for leisure services. The centre currently has 14 

vacant outlets, compared to the nine reported in 2016. 

9.224 The Black Country Centres Study 2020168 identified that Oldbury comprised 7% comparison 

goods of Oldbury’s number of commercial units, 8% below the national average.  Whereas 

convenience goods comprised 47% of the centre’s total commercial floorspace compared to 

9% nationally.  Sainsbury’s represents 97% of the convenience goods floorspace, 

accounting for the small number of units but high volume of floorspace. 

9.225 Financial and business services and retail services provide a more than average number of 

units (12% and 17% above the average respectively) but provide floorspace figures 

comparable to the average, suggesting a high volume of small floorplate stores. Leisure 

services are under-represented both in terms of number of units and their floorspace. 

                                                

166 Black Country Centres Study 2020, Volume 2: Healthchecks 
167 Experian Goad data for Oldbury (March 2022) 
168 Black Country Centres Study 2020, Volume 2: Healthchecks 

Page 1134



279 

 

9.226 In accordance with Policy SDM6, the HFT threshold for Oldbury town centre is 7%; in 2022 

the percentage of HFT in the centre was 5.7%. 

Facilities Provision 

9.227 The centre is supported by a small range of community facilities including five churches, two 

schools, a library, health centre and Sandwell Council’s main offices. 

Accessibility 

9.228 Oldbury Town centre is close to a major motorway junction (M5, Junction 2). It is served by 

Sandwell and Dudley railway station, which lies on the edge of the town centre, offering 

direct inter-city trains to Birmingham International Airport, London and the north-west. 

9.229 Oldbury bus interchange is situated in the middle of the town and is well-connected to the 

wider area, with excellent links to Walsall, West Bromwich and Birmingham. 

9.230 There are two core walking zones around Sandwell and Dudley and Langley Railway 

Stations.  

Accessibility – Provision for Cyclists 

9.231 Oldbury Town Centre is served by the National Cycle Network Route No.81.  

9.232 Proposed SCWIP route 4 A4034, from Oldbury Town Centre to Blackheath Town Centre via 

Birchley Island, will see a major junction improvement. The cycle route is at preliminary 

design stage and will be delivered incrementally.  

9.233 Another West Midlands LCWIP cycle route runs from Sandwell and Dudley Railway Station 

to Cradley Heath via Langley and Blackheath. This route connects to proposed SCWIP cycle 

route 5 from Oldbury Town Centre to Bearwood via the Sandwell Aquatic Centre 

9.234 SCWIP Cycle Route 6 A457 (Air Quality Hot Spot) Oldbury Town Centre to Smethwick 

Galton Bridge Railway Station is currently at Strategic Outline Business Case stage; the 

section from Smethwick Galton Bridge to Rolfe Street Railway Station was delivered under 

Towns Fund (accelerated fund). Further phases to the junction of Grove Lane and Cranford 

Street are being delivered via Towns Fund over the next three financial years. The route will 

connect with West Midlands Metropolitan University Hospital and Birmingham Cycle Network 

9.235 SCWIP cycle route 3 is proposed from Great Bridge Town Centre to Roebuck Lane (National 

Cycle Route 5) via Brandon Way, Kelvin Way and Kenrick Way 

Page 1135



280 

 

Accessibility – Transport Proposals 

9.236 The A4123 is subject to a proposed multimodal corridor improvement project that intersects 

with the A4034 at Birchley Island. Phase one has been delivered, from Tipton Road to Burnt 

Tree junction, and Phase 2 (Burnt Tree junction to Lower City Road) is under development. 

This route will be delivered incrementally up to Hagley Road 

9.237 There are bus priority measures proposed from Dudley Road, through the junction of 

Oldbury Ringway / Freeth Street. 

9.238 The Birchley Island / M5 Junction 2 link project169 lies at the intersection of the M5, A4123 

and A4034 in Sandwell. These routes connect Birmingham, Blackheath, Dudley, Oldbury, 

Walsall, West Bromwich and Wolverhampton to each other as well as linking much of the 

southern part of the Black Country to the national motorway network.  

9.239 Works to improve the junction and its accessibility were scheduled to start in 2023 but this 

has now been pushed back to 2024 / 2025. Several upgrades will be made to this junction, 

including the addition of a fourth lane for all traffic; extending the length of Lane 3; creating 

segregated cycle tracks / footways; installing controlled crossings; and road widening. These 

works will address ongoing issues at the junction and improve road user experience. 

9.240 The junction improvement is a crucial part of the Black Country transport network and is of 

importance to both commuters and businesses. 

Environmental Quality 

9.241 Existing green space designations are supported and the valuable contribution that they 

make is recognised.  

9.242 There is important established green planting and tree coverage that contributes to the 

setting of areas and public spaces in Oldbury. This includes areas around Sainsburys and 

the council offices and a variety of public spaces and they provide valuable areas for people 

to stop and rest.  

9.243 Other areas on Birmingham Road could benefit from public realm and shop front 

improvements, which could make the centre more attractive, helping to attract new 

businesses to the area and reduce the number of vacant commercial units.   

                                                

169 https://www.blackcountrytransport.org.uk/projects/birchley-Island-a4123-phase-1.html  

Page 1136

https://www.blackcountrytransport.org.uk/projects/birchley-Island-a4123-phase-1.html


281 

 

Historic Environment Allocations 

9.244 Oldbury Conservation Area was formally designated in March 1974 and reassessed in 2008. 

Currently the Oldbury Conservation Area centres on Church Square and Unity Place, which 

is the focal point of the core town centre. The area was substantially built before 1857 at a 

time when Oldbury was a nationally important industrial centre. This is reflected in the quality 

of the buildings, many of which, by virtue of their individual character and their relationship to 

the surrounding spaces and buildings, make a positive contribution to the quality of the 

environment. 

9.245 The Town Centre features 19 Grade II and one Grade II* listed buildings, with most of them 

falling within the conservation area. Many of the listed buildings and others present attractive 

early to mid-19th Century styles that provide the centre with a distinct character. 

SWOT 

9.246 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Oldbury: 

Strengths 

• Generally high-quality environment; 

• Historic buildings give character to the 

centre. 

Weaknesses 

• Lack of comparison goods stores; 

• Heavily reliant on Sainsbury’s as an 

anchor; 

• Poor links to the Retail Park 

Opportunities 

• Create better pedestrian links to 

Oldbury Green Retail Park; 

• Encourage more comparison goods 

retailers; 

• Enhance shop frontages along 

Birmingham Street. 

Threats 

• Retail park continues to impact centre 

and reduce comparison offering; 

• Complete withdrawal of comparison 

goods and other traditional high street 

uses 

 

Aspirations 

9.247 The large number of bus services and levels of parking make Oldbury very accessible; 

however, consideration should be given to better integrating the Town Centre with Oldbury 

Green retail park. 

Page 1137



282 

 

9.248 The upgrade of building stock within Oldbury Town Centre to encourage businesses to grow 

and create new jobs, considering the Conservation Area designation, will be supported. 

9.249 Opportunities to provide improved public and active transport, to provide more cycle lanes 

should be investigated. 

9.250 Encouraging active uses towards the eastern end of Birmingham Road would help to 

increase the sense of safety.  Improving the environment on Birmingham Road may also 

help to attract businesses. 

9.251 Residential use on the upper floors in Oldbury Town Centre is considered an appropriate 

use. 

9.252 Opportunities will be sought to secure funding to improve the appearance of shop frontages 

and the general environmental quality of the area. 

9.253 The Council have secured funding from UK Shared Prosperity funding to create a work 

business hub at Jack Judge House. 

Proposals  

Site  Location Indicative Land Use 

OL1 Town Centre  An amended boundary is proposed, as 

shown in Figure 10, to include the whole 

health centre on Birmingham Street. 

  

Page 1138



283 

 

Wednesbury Town 

 

9.254 Wednesbury is a market town in the West Midlands, located approximately ten miles 

northwest of Birmingham and six miles southeast of Wolverhampton. Wednesbury is one of 

the six main towns of Sandwell, and is in the north of the borough, approximately three miles 

north of West Bromwich. The town contains the wards of Friar Park, Wednesbury North and 

Wednesbury South.  

9.255 The population of Wednesbury in mid-2020 was estimated to be 39,491 with 19,503 males 

(49.4%), and 19,988 females (50.6%). Wednesbury has the smallest population of the six 

main towns in Sandwell. 18.6% of population are from ethnic minority backgrounds. 

Wednesbury has a proportionally older age profile than Sandwell, but a younger age profile 

than England on average.  

9.256 Overall, Wednesbury is more deprived than England and compared to the rest of Sandwell, 

and its deprivation score would put it in the 20% most deprived areas in England. 26% of its 

residents are living in income deprived households and 13% are claiming job seekers’ 

allowance. 

9.257 Female and male healthy life expectancy were statistically significantly lower than the 

average for England in all three wards in Wednesbury. Healthy life expectancy for both 

Page 1139



284 

 

females and males was lower than the present state pension age (66) for all three wards and 

compared to the rest of England; this indicates that people may not necessarily be healthy 

enough to work until the state pension age. 

Figure 11 - Wednesbury Town Centre 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023, Ordnance Survey Licence No AC0000824500 

Retail and Town Centre Uses 

9.258 Wednesbury currently (2023) has a total of 176 commercial units, with a total floorspace of 

34,720m2; this compares to 183 units and 29,154m2 in 2009, revealing a relatively large 

increase in floorspace but a small decrease in overall units in the last ten years. Comparison 

goods units make up 28% of the centre’s units, compared to the UK national average of 

36%. When comparing floorspace, comparison goods make up 25% of the centre’s total, 

which is 7% below the national average. A small level of comparison goods is expected in 

Page 1140



285 

 

this type of centre. This sector has declined by nine units but has maintained its share of 

floorspace since 2009. 

9.259 Convenience goods account for 11% of Wednesbury’s commercial units, which is 4% below 

national average. However, the floorspace of these units makes up 32% of the centre’s total, 

which is 23% above average. This over-representation of convenience goods can mostly be 

attributed to the large 7,020 sq. m. Morrisons store, which represents 64% of all convenience 

floorspace in the centre. Large floorplate anchor convenience stores are very typical in these 

types of town centre. Convenience goods outlets have decreased by four units, but 

floorspace has increased significantly by 5,211m2 since 2009. 

9.260 The floorspace proportion of other retail services stands at 10%, which is below the national 

average of 14%; however, in terms of the number of units in such uses, retail services 

occupy 20% compared to a national average occupancy rate of 7%. This shows that there is 

a high volume of small floorplate retail service units, typical for this type of town centre. 

These are mostly hairdressers and beauty salons. 

9.261 Leisure services are under-represented in terms of both number of units and floorspace, 

falling 8% and 7% below the national average respectively. Over a third (11) of leisure 

services are takeaways, with only one restaurant. However, this restaurant and the five pubs 

/ bars that are evenly distributed in the centre could help to generate an evening economy. 

Collectively the service industry has lost four units and 1,767m2 since 2009.  

9.262 Vacancies have increased from 18 units in 2009 to 28 in 2019, or in floorspace terms from 

1,914m2 in 2009 to 4,040m2 in 2019. This currently represents 15% of units, which is above 

the national average of 9%. This level of vacancy is concerning, especially given its 

significant increase since 2009. In terms of floorspace though, it represents 12% which is 

very similar to the national average of 11%. 

9.263 Retail, leisure and business and financial services are evenly distributed around the centre 

with no specific areas where these are grouped. Contrasting this, comparison and 

convenience goods are concentrated towards Union Street although they are also present 

throughout the centre. Whilst Union Street has been a focus for comparison goods, this is 

also experiencing a higher number of vacant units. The centre features a diverse range of 

community uses, including an art gallery, leisure centre, library and primary school. National 

multiples are well represented and include several high street banks and supermarkets. 

9.264 Wednesbury has an attractive environment and retains its market town role and related 

identity. Market Place and the buildings around it provide the historic focus for this and 

represent a distinctive presence, with its historic triangular space and street frontages.  

Page 1141



286 

 

9.265 In accordance with Policy SDM6, the threshold for Wednesbury Town Centre is 7% and as 

of 2023 there are 12 hot food takeaways in the centre, representing 6% of the total number 

of units. 

Facilities Provision  

9.266 There are several community facilities, including several religious institutions within the 

centre. Adjacent to the town centre boundary there is Wednesbury Town Hall and Museum 

to the south, to the north is Wednesbury Library and to the east is Wednesbury Leisure 

Centre. 

Accessibility 

9.267 The town centre is well connected by road, with the A461 providing access to Junction 9 of 

the M6 Motorway and the A41 providing access to Junction 1 of the M5 Motorway.  

9.268 The centre is well-served by regular bus services, with on-street stops and a large bus 

station at the end of Union Street. To the south of the town centre is the Wednesbury Great 

Western Street Metro stop. Regular services run from the stop to Birmingham and 

Wolverhampton; in the future, services will also run to Dudley.  

9.269 The centre is easily accessible by road via Walsall Street. Parking is generally sufficient for 

current levels of use. Options comprise: 

• High Bullen: 137 spaces  

• Morrisons: 390 spaces  

• Ridding Lane: 48 spaces  

• Spring Head: 62 spaces  

9.270 The quality of the pedestrian environment is mixed. Union Street offers an easy pedestrian 

experience on a traffic-free street. On other streets, pavements are relatively narrow and 

cluttered with highway signage. The junction at Market Place / High Bullen is dominated by 

highways infrastructure and is difficult for pedestrians to cross. 

Accessibility – Provision for cyclists 

9.271 There is an existing cycle route which links the town centre with the Tamebridge Rail station. 

Accessibility - Transport Proposals:  

9.272 The Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro Line is currently under construction.  

Centre Boundary 

Page 1142



287 

 

9.273 The centre is designated as a town centre and its boundary is formed by the Walsall Road 

dual carriageway to the north and west. At the eastern and southern edges, it may be 

necessary to consider whether the boundary should be consolidated.  

Primary Shopping Area / Retail Core  

9.274 Wednesbury has an identified retail core, which has not changed recently.  

Wednesbury Conservation Area 

9.275 Wednesbury Market Place was designated as a Conservation area in 1980 because of its 

special architectural and historic interest; it covers an area of 3.041 hectares. 

9.276 Wednesbury Market Place conservation area is of special interest for its largely late-

medieval street pattern and its concentration of 18th and 19th century buildings around a 

triangular market place. Although it may potentially have even earlier origins, related to an 

earlier fortified settlement or ‘burh’ to the north of the town, the modern settlement developed 

between two key communication routes that led to important crossing points over the River 

Tame. These were in use from at least the 13th century onwards. 

9.277 The survival of the historic layout of the town, and the retention and adaptation of the 

buildings and their plot structure, also has special interest for their potential to provide 

information about the development of the town and the form and use of the buildings over 

time. The relationship with the roads and the tight-knit 18th, 19th and early 20th century retail 

frontages document the evolution of commerce in the town. The marketplace also has 

historic and communal significance as a site of commercial and civic interaction for hundreds 

of years.  

Area of Potential for Archaeological Importance 

9.278 The town centre is situated in a wider Area of Potential Archaeological Importance in 

Wednesbury. 

SWOT 

9.279 The Centres Study Health checks noted the following characteristics for Wednesbury: 

Strengths 

• Some strong townscape features (e.g., 

Market Place); 

• Significant historic building mix 

throughout the town; 

Weaknesses 

• Central junction is dominated by 

highways and is a weak pedestrian 

environment; 

Page 1143



288 

 

• Strong market function retained; 

• Large Morrison’s store anchors the 

centre; 

• Very accessible by public transport 

with bus station; 

• Pedestrianised street offers ease of 

pedestrian movement; 

• Good provision of community facilities. 

• Union Street / outdoor market / bus 

station forms poor environment; 

• Need for a higher quality leisure 

sector. 

Opportunities 

• Opportunities to make more of the 

sense of place, e.g., at Market Square; 

• Surplus parking may offer development 

opportunities. 

Threats 

• Growing vacancies on Union Street as 

comparison goods sector declines; 

• Centre is somewhat over-reliant on 

Morrison’s as the only supermarket 

present. 

 

Aspirations 

9.280 The health checks identified that there is limited evening activity due to the lack of leisure 

facilities around Wednesbury, including the strict definition of leisure as well as restaurants. 

9.281 There should also be opportunity to provide improved public and active transport, to provide 

more cycle lanes 

9.282 Generally, frontages within Wednesbury are in a poor condition, which may adversely affect 

its attractiveness to potential new occupiers or for new development / investment. There is 

the opportunity to celebrate, respect and enhance the town’s heritage. Opportunities for 

funding to improve shop fronts and townscape quality have been investigated and in 

partnership with Historic England, have identified a Heritage Action Zone170 within the centre 

                                                

170 https://historicengland.org.uk/services-skills/heritage-action-zones/regenerating-historic-high-streets/  

 

Page 1144

https://historicengland.org.uk/services-skills/heritage-action-zones/regenerating-historic-high-streets/


289 

 

of Wednesbury.  Various proposals offer opportunities for future improvements and 

additions to the public realm and character of the area.  These are set out below. 

Wednesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone171 

9.283 As part of Sandwell Council's commitment to support struggling high streets, and to highlight 

the historic significance of the area, it has partnered with Historic England to deliver a 

c.£3.6m heritage regeneration scheme within Wednesbury itself. This will provide both 

funding for physical improvements to the buildings in the identified zone and opportunities for 

shop owners, residents, organisations and visitors to Wednesbury town to enjoy an improved 

and richer experience when in the centre. 

9.284 The project involves three main approaches: 

• Improvements to shop fronts and buildings within the town’s conservation area, to help 

revitalise the town centre; the possible introduction of more homes through first floor 

conversions; and the creation of a more enjoyable experience for residents and visitors. 

• Public realm improvements, including repaving footpaths and streets with high-quality 

materials, planting trees and replacing street furniture, to help create a safer space for 

pedestrians and shoppers. 

• The delivery of cultural activities designed to engage the community within and around 

the high street. 

9.285 As part of the regeneration of the historic town centre, funding is available for the renovation 

of shop frontages, with up to 80% of the cost being met by the scheme. Shop owners can 

use this non-repayable grant to replace shop fronts and signage, to reinstate the historic 

features of their building.  

9.286 Shop front renovations will need to reflect the heritage of the town and guidance will be 

given to those who wish to take up the grant offer. A shop front design guide outlining the 

types of works that can be funded has been produced to provide this advice. 

 

 

                                                

171 https://historicengland.org.uk/services-skills/heritage-action-zones/wednesbury/  

Page 1145

https://historicengland.org.uk/services-skills/heritage-action-zones/wednesbury/


290 

 

10. West Bromwich 

West Bromwich 

10.1 West Bromwich, as designated on the Policies Map and shown on Figure 16, is the third 

largest centre in the Black Country. It is the focus for a wide range of civic, retail, cultural and 

leisure functions. The centre is organised around a strong linear high street form. The High 

Street itself runs north-west to south-east with a focus on high street retail activity along the 

Princess Parade / Duchess Parade section, which is enclosed by the West Bromwich 

Ringway. It is in a highly accessible location via a range of public transport options including 

rail, metro and bus services; users of the Metro can reach Birmingham city centre in 15 

minutes and buses run between West Bromwich and the other towns in Sandwell on a 

regular basis.  

10.2 The SLP supports the diversification, repurposing and rejuvenation of the strategic centre, 

with it being the focus for a well-balanced mix of residential, leisure, commercial, business 

and service uses. Changing shopping patterns and challenges to the high street will be 

addressed through increased flexibility and facilitating the consolidation of the shopping core 

(particularly to reduce vacancy rates), complemented by surrounding mixed uses, and 

supported by maximising residential provision in all locations (including the use of upper 

floors).  

10.3 The West Bromwich Masterplan states the aspirations for the centre of the town as, “A mixed 

use centre with central market square at its heart and comprising food and beverage and 

leisure blocks to the North / West, office blocks and residential to the South and education 

and multi-storey car park to the East of central courtyard”. 

10.4 The future of the centre, as with most strategic centres across the Black Country, is 

dependent on reducing reliance on retail to generate footfall and generating alternative uses 

(potentially mixed uses) that function both during the day and into the evening. 

Background 

10.5 West Bromwich is the largest town by population size and by area in the borough, giving it 

the lowest population density. It includes the main commercial and retail centre of Sandwell. 

Its housing markets include older terraced housing in the town centre, extensive council-built 

neighbourhoods to the north and the more affluent suburban Great Barr area. The town also 

has one of the most successful new residential developments in the Midlands at the Lyng – 

Page 1146



291 

 

the Urban 180 / Eastern Gateway area is an award winning172 social housing scheme. West 

Bromwich has the second oldest age profile in Sandwell with 16.6% of its population aged 

over 65. It has the second highest number of jobs at 36,400 and has experienced 6% 

employment growth since 2012. Its 2,430 businesses have experienced similar growth173. 

10.6 West Bromwich is also the strategic centre for Sandwell and as such is the focus for major 

investment opportunities for retail, commercial, leisure and educational uses. The town 

centre has excellent accessibility to the motorway network with Junction 1 M5 within 1.5km 

providing access to the M6. Within the town sustainable travel options are provided by a bus 

station, the Midland Metro providing access in 15 minutes to both Wolverhampton and 

Birmingham via five stops within the regeneration area boundary, and excellent pedestrian 

and cycle links to and through the area.  

10.7 Traditionally the High Street was at the core of the town. However, there has been a shift 

towards increased activity within the New Square development, built ten years ago. With 

anchor stores Tesco Extra and Primark, a selection of food and beverage offers and a 

cinema, this became the more popular shopping and leisure destination. This led to a 

decline in the quality and quantity of shops in the High Street. Further relocations out of 

Queens Square, one of the town’s key precincts, have also contributed to the overall 

perception of decline. Conversely, Kings Square continues to trade well. 

10.8 Education provision in the town continues to grow. Sandwell College and Central Sixth have 

been resident for some years and moving into the town has resulted in some of the vibrancy, 

lost in previous years, being regained with the additional student footfall. Furthermore, 

Shireland University Technical College and the emerging Mechanical and Engineering 

Centre will continue to add to this offer. 

10.9 The new Sandwell Civil and Mechanical Engineering Centre (Sandwell MEC) lies on West 

Bromwich’s High Street and is due to be completed in 2023. It is a new technical campus for 

Sandwell College and will deliver opportunities in engineering, advanced manufacturing, civil 

engineering, construction and hybrid electric vehicles for adults and young people. The new 

facility will provide programmes for the unemployed as well as reskilling the workforce 

through Apprenticeships Standards and other technical and professional qualifications. 

                                                

172 Best Social or Affordable New Housing Development - LABC Awards 2014 (Winner); Best New Affordable Housing 
Scheme- Housing Excellence Awards 2017 (Shortlisted) 

173 https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/vision2030  

Page 1147

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/vision2030


292 

 

10.10 Recent years have seen a change in shopping habits. Even prior to the COVID pandemic, 

retail centres were struggling with increasing rents and business rates, competition from out-

of-town retail complexes and an increase in online shopping with the loss of comparison 

retail (i.e., clothes, shoes, electrical goods) in particular to the internet. The pandemic only 

served to exacerbate the situation with many of the high street names switching to online 

shopping only, removing their presence from the High Street. 

10.11 National permitted development rights have also changed considerably, allowing for offices 

to be converted to residential uses without needing planning permission. Changes in 

technology have allowed for more people to work from home or adopt flexible working 

patterns (especially during the pandemic). This has led to reduced demand for offices in 

centres with levels of future demand now. 

10.12 A side effect of the above has been the adverse impact on service sectors dependent on 

high footfall in West Bromwich and elsewhere and supported in part by office-based workers, 

such as food and drink sales, convenience retailing and smaller service industries. 

West Bromwich Town Centre 

10.13 To aid regeneration of the centre and stimulate a COVID -19 recovery, a masterplan and 

Interim Planning Statement were produced for West Bromwich. The masterplan will act as a 

catalyst for on-going and new regeneration schemes – unlocking further investment and 

opportunities to boost the town’s future economic growth and fostering, promoting and 

supporting strong urban design principles throughout those interventions. The interim 

planning statement was designed to provide updated planning advice for development 

following changes to national planning legislation over time. The guidance offered in the 

statement has now been incorporated into these policies. An extract from the Masterplan 

showing the main locations for new development can be found in Appendix D. 

10.14 The Masterplan and Interim Planning Statement were approved by Cabinet in February 2022 

and set out an ambitious programme of development opportunities to reinvigorate the town, 

helping to deliver new jobs, a more resilient centre and reinventing its function as the 

strategic centre.  

10.15 To support these proposals, £25m was awarded from the national Towns Fund to progress 

various projects within the town including retail diversification, cultural, educational and 

urban greening schemes. 

Page 1148



293 

 

Policy SWB1 - West Bromwich Town Centre 

1. The strategic priorities for West Bromwich are  

a. to reinvigorate the town centre;  

b. to unlock land to aid regeneration;  

c. to support good quality jobs;  

d. to stimulate COVID19 recovery; 

e. to promote the highest standards of sustainable urban design.  

2. This will be achieved by:  

a. delivering a significant number of new homes in and around the centre (Policy 
SWB2) to support the creation of a vibrant, active and sustainable town centre; 

b. creating a Metro gateway and new town square and promoting a step change in 
the quality of local places / the public realm; 

c. delivering mixed use, leisure, commercial and ancillary office growth in 
sustainable core locations; 

d. repurposing vacant premises and sites in the centre to deliver community, 
education and healthcare provision;  

e. undertaking site assembly and redevelopment to provide land suitable for new 
markets, education facilities and high-quality housing; 

f. regenerating the Town Hall Quarter to establish a fully restored cultural and 
evening / night-time offer in the town centre; 

g. creating sustainable travel networks across the centre and into surrounding 
locations; 

h. providing a green link from the Metro through the heart of the town centre to 
connect the town centre to Dartmouth Park and Sandwell Valley, including 
cycling and walking routes across the town centre through to Sandwell Valley; 

i. providing landscaping, green links, squares, parks and parklets, sustainable 
travel networks and additional green infrastructure throughout the centre. 

3. Opportunities for future development in and around West Bromwich will be 
supported where they help deliver the aims and objectives set out above.  

Page 1149



294 

 

Policy SWB1 - West Bromwich Town Centre 

4. Areas such as The Lyng may be suitable for high quality, well-designed mixed-use 
development and investment; should such sites become available through land 
assembly or allocation during the timescale of the SLP, the Council will support the 
production of masterplans that demonstrate how sustainable new development 
could be brought forward in those areas. 

Justification 

10.16 The transformational change proposed for West Bromwich will see the redevelopment of 

some existing uses and the relocation of the indoor market to a new unit providing links 

directly to the High Street. The main reconfiguration will involve legacy retail and vacant sites 

and is intended to create a mix of high-quality leisure uses encouraging people from the 

Metro into the centre of the town and onto New Square.  

10.17 New homes will be introduced to increase sustainable town centre living and increase 

natural surveillance throughout the day and evening. Opportunities to promote more leisure 

and night-time uses will be available for selected sites and the town will continue to support 

further educational uses where there is a demand. This mix of uses will help to create a 

vibrant, sustainable and inclusive community that is accessible to, and providing for, all age 

groups.  

10.18 A network of green spaces, new connections and improved public realm will connect the old 

with the new, linked to the cultural quarter near the Town Hall, through the High Street and 

through to Dartmouth Park. Cycle routes are to be extended east to west and north to south 

to further strengthen connectivity and access across the town centre and beyond. 

10.19 The Strategic Centre benefited from an Area Action Plan (AAP) that was adopted in 2011. 

Until the local plan review is completed, all AAP policies remain relevant for proposals within 

the boundary of West Bromwich Strategic Centre.  

10.20 The masterplan is intended to act as a catalyst for on-going and new regeneration schemes 

for West Bromwich – unlocking further investment and opportunities to boost the town’s 

future economic growth. The masterplan strengthens the links between the town centre and 

adjoining areas such as the Cultural Quarter and Dartmouth Park / Sandwell Valley by 

creating strategically connected functional and active zones with playful street furniture, 

public art and art trails connecting spaces along the routes.  The masterplan builds on the 

Towns Investment Plan for West Bromwich, which successfully bid for £25 million to 

reinvigorate the town, underpinned by strong urban design principles. 

Page 1150



295 

 

10.21 The housing capacity for West Bromwich is based on existing permissions, but also includes 

an estimated uplift based on more recent evidence, including the Black Country Centres 

study and estimated capacity identified in the West Bromwich Interim Planning Statement 

and Master Plan.  

Delivering the Strategy 

10.22 This strategy will be delivered by the allocation of sites and implementation of policies in this 

Plan across the administrative area to accommodate housing and employment development. 

Figure 12 - West Bromwich Town Centre 

 

   West Bromwich Centre Key 

 

Page 1151



296 

 

Regeneration in West Bromwich 

10.23 The re-energising and repurposing of West Bromwich is of fundamental importance to the 

regeneration of Sandwell and the wider Black Country. It is one of the main drivers of the 

Black Country’s economy and supports one of the main hubs of the sub-regional transport 

network. It is a sustainable location and is well-placed to provide the community with easy 

access to comparison shopping, leisure, entertainment and cultural facilities and office-

based employment.  

10.24 Table 1 sets out a list of projects and proposals designed to support the ongoing 

regeneration of West Bromwich that were identified in the Masterplan. 

Table 11 - West Bromwich Masterplan Projects174 

Zone Location Indicative land use 

1 West Bromwich Central Mixed-Use Centre 

A new multi-purpose town centre and a square at 

the centre of enhanced linkages and green public 

realm, with an emphasis on high quality public 

space and surrounding amenities and encouraging 

interaction and entertainment. This will include a 

mixed-use centre with central market square, 

comprising food and beverage outlets and leisure 

uses to the north / west, office blocks and 

residential to the south and education and a multi-

storey car park to the east of the central courtyard. 

Retail - 4,502m2,  

Offices - 5,032 m2  

Residential – 343 homes 

(undiscounted) 

Education - 5,060 m2 

Food and beverage - 11,840 m2 

Community / Leisure - 9,862m2 

Health - 5,205m2 

Parking – 625 parking spaces 

2 Queens Square Living 

A centrally-located high-density residential 

community set within a green park with external 

parking spaces, office and gym / amenities space 

at ground level of the northern residential block. 

Retail blocks with town houses above to the north 

and east of the square create a well-defined edge 

Retail – 7,447m2,  

Offices - 8,55m2,  

Residential – 396 homes 

(undiscounted) 

Community / Leisure - 1395m2  

Car Parking – 206 parking spaces 

                                                

174 See also Appendix D 

Page 1152



297 

 

Zone Location Indicative land use 

with active market streets to the High Street and 

Queens Street. 

3 Cultural Quarter  

Main block along High Street adjacent to the 

Town Hall provides scope for cultural / community 

spaces with restaurant / food and beverage uses 

helping to create an active street. This is likely to 

be brought forward as a Social Housing residential 

scheme as a social housing provider has acquired 

this site. 

The building to the rear facing Edward Street and 
Lodge Road is proposed as aged living 

accommodation, set beside a cultural offer. It 

could also provide a site for a Youth Building / 

Hub. 

Residential – 52 homes 

(undiscounted) 

Food and beverage - 1,054 m2 

Community / Leisure - 2,000 m2 

Parking – 10 parking spaces 

4 Urban Pocket Park 

A new park / route that connects St. Michael 

Street, the Astle Retail centre and the High Street. 

Work with key stakeholders and landowners to 

bring forward future connections and management 

of spaces. 

Food and beverage - 260m2 

Community / Leisure - 1,350m2 

Parking – 5 parking spaces 

5 George Street Living 

A high-density residential community comprising a 

series of 3 - 8 storey blocks with landscaped 

courtyards and amenities. The site is ideally 

positioned close to Trinity Way Metro and 

accommodates on-site parking and amenities. 

Residential – 327 homes 

(undiscounted) 

Community / Leisure - 1,150m2 

Parking – 79 parking spaces 

The 

Lyng 

The Lyng falls under Policy SEC4 (Employment 

Use). This protects the area from piecemeal 

development that would prejudice the long-term 

New Industrial or Employment uses, 

housing or other non-ancillary, non-

Page 1153



298 

 

Zone Location Indicative land use 

planning of the area while allowing comprehensive 

redevelopment of the area for a variety of types of 

use should viability and relocation issues be 

resolved. 

industrial employment uses (criteria 

apply). 

10.25 In addition to those proposals identified in the Masterplan, there are several sites that also 

remain a priority in terms of their value to the ongoing revitalisation of the strategic centre:  

Location Indicative land use 

George Street  

Community use - currently laid out as a car park, this is 

expected to form part of an extended Temple / community 

facility. 

Gurdwara (Temple) Extension 

Providence Place  

This site is a possible council land disposal. It is in a 

comparatively tranquil, well-connected location, suitable for 

residential use.   

The site is adjacent to a listed building (Highfields) and lies 

in a Conservation Area.  For these reasons the attractive 

treescape within the site must be preserved, which will 

constrain the amount of development possible on this site. 

The site is also suitable for offices, or as a potential 

expansion site for the existing CBSO School. Its location 

behind the High Street on a no through road and behind the 

Expressway makes it a comparatively tranquil well-

connected location, also suitable for residential use.  

On this 0.73ha site approximately 

0.4ha could be developed, 

providing capacity for up to 40 

apartments (undiscounted).  

Overend Street  

Contains an active builders’ merchants and is becoming an 

incompatible use within the wider residential-led 

regeneration of the area. Its relocation would free up a well-

connected, accessible site suitable for next generation eco 

Residential - this 0.70ha site could 

support up to 70 dwellings 

(undiscounted) in a highly 

accessible location in the Strategic 

Centre. 

Page 1154



299 

 

Location Indicative land use 

homes, building on the established ‘Eastern Gateway’ 

scheme. It is considered a priority site. 

Environment and climate change 

10.26 In line with the Council’s Climate Change Strategy, a local heat network for West Bromwich 

is at Commercialisation stage. This is part of the strategy towards achieving carbon neutrality 

for Sandwell Council buildings and operations by 2030 and for the borough by 2041. 

10.27 Other heat networks are being explored, albeit these are currently at an initial stage. General 

‘greening’ of the centre, via landscaping and other environmental enhancements is 

proposed, with improved links to Dartmouth Park and Sandwell Valley.  

10.28 As part of the above, the central area will have more meet-and-greet areas to foster non-

transactional interactions and drive footfall, thus bolstering a reduced but viable amount of 

retail and other centre uses. 

Sandwell Valley 

10.29 The Council will investigate opportunities for utilising Sandwell Valley for leisure and tourism 

through the Cultural Strategy, whilst respecting its green belt status and the other nature 

conservation allocations it contains. 

Development in West Bromwich  

10.30 The Centres Study undertaken for the BCP and its addendums were informed by a 

Household Survey that identified changes in shopping patterns, especially the continued 

growth of online shopping. The health checks recognised that West Bromwich is facing 

several challenges – particularly in relation to relatively high vacancy rates.  

10.31 The commercial market across all sectors, but particularly affecting the traditional High 

Street, has materially evolved and changed.  

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich 

1. It is a priority for West Bromwich to serve identified housing and employment 
growth aspirations (Policy SDS1, Policy SDS2). The diversification of West 
Bromwich to provide a re-purposed, well-balanced mix of appropriate uses will be 
supported, in particular: 

Page 1155



300 

 

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich 

a. Residential provision will be maximised, to increase and strengthen 
communities, with indicative housing capacity identified by the West Bromwich 
Masterplan and West Bromwich Inset, providing a minimum of 1,162 new 
homes in the strategic centre by 2041. 

b. Most new homes will be built at very high densities (Policy SHO3, Table 5) and 
as part of mixed-use developments where suitable, with additional residential 
use helping to attract investment and promoting the vitality of the centre. 

c. Complementary uses, particularly community, leisure, health and education use 
(Policy SDS5, Policy SDM9). 

2. Large-scale proposals to serve wider catchment areas should be focussed in West 
Bromwich to maximise linked trips, promote the use of sustainable modes of 
transport and support regeneration. 

Retail 

3. Existing convenience and comparison retail provision will be protected and 
appropriate new development for these uses supported, to meet both local 
shopping needs and large-scale provision serving the wider catchment; this should 
be focused on re-purposing vacant floorspace and re-using existing sites within the 
centre in the first instance.  

Leisure 

4. Leisure uses, especially large-scale public and commercial facilities such as 
cinemas, hotels, and a wide range of high-quality family venues and activities, will 
be supported where they help to diversify the centre, encourage linked trips and 
enhance the evening economy and visitor experience  

Office 

5. Office provision will be supported, as West Bromwich is an important location for 
such employment. Future demand will be market-led; suitable sites are identified in 
the Masterplan.  

6. Proposals in edge-of-centre and / or out-of-centre locations must meet the relevant 
requirements set out in Policy SCE6. 

Sustainability  

Page 1156



301 

 

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich 

7. West Bromwich is a highly sustainable focus for service provision; it is a priority to 
ensure high quality public realm and standards of design are delivered and 
supported through environmental policies to deliver the aims and objectives in the 
Masterplan. 

Accessibility 

8. Proposals for commercial and business development that involve more than 500m2 

(gross) of floorspace within the primary shopping areas of the centre and well-
linked edge-of-centre locations should provide a travel plan. 

Justification 

10.32 A more pragmatic and flexible approach needs to be undertaken in addressing the future 

growth of West Bromwich, which does not necessarily place sole emphasis on the retail 

sector. Rather, this approach allows for greater emphasis on services, communal or civic 

uses, and incorporates qualitative enhancements to the existing provision. It also supports a 

mix of uses in relation to new development, including consideration for different types 

including the concurrent175, meanwhile176 and co-operative uses of units. This means it is 

essential to provide appropriate flexibility to enable the centre to diversify and be re-

purposed to ensure its future vitality and viability is maintained and enhanced. This includes 

prioritising high-quality public realm including the provision of high-quality open spaces, 

green infrastructure, pedestrian and cycle networks and electric vehicle charging points. 

10.33 Current evidence shows there is no capacity to support additional retail and office 

floorspace; it would not therefore be appropriate to include specific formal targets for 

different uses in policy except where indicated by the West Bromwich Masterplan.  

10.34 Planning decisions should be informed by the latest available evidence, and the Council will 

seek to re-model capacity, particularly for retail, periodically in the future. The emphasis 

therefore is on the consolidation of core areas as opposed to expansion or identifying larger 

comprehensive development at in-centre or edge-of-centre sites, with any future potential for 

                                                

175  Concurrent uses - a building may be in several different uses concurrently or be used for different uses at different 
times of the day 

176  Meanwhile uses - a site is utilised for a duration of time before it is turned into a more permanent end state, taking 
advantage of a short window of opportunity 

Page 1157



302 

 

new floorspace likely to be met through infill development, reuse / reconfiguration of vacant 

units, change of use applications and / or extensions to existing stores,  

10.35 It is important that any new large-scale commercial and public leisure provision is focussed 

in West Bromwich, to encourage linked trips, enhance the evening economy and diversify 

the experiential nature of the centre.  

10.36 Changing working patterns, including an increase in agile and flexible working, means that 

future office environments are likely to be configured differently. Future office provision is 

likely to be predominantly market-led. West Bromwich remains an important place of work, 

with office workers making a positive contribution towards ensuring vitality and viability.  

10.37 The Masterplan and West Bromwich inset plan identify potential office sites, particularly as 

part of mixed-use development. This will ensure sites are available for office development 

when demand emerges whilst ensuring other appropriate uses can also come forward. 

10.38 City living and residential development in centres is likely to be a growth area over the plan 

period and will make a positive contribution to regeneration, particularly as a part of mixed-

use development and upper floor living. Residential provision should therefore be maximised 

to facilitate the centre as important places to live, supporting a resident population and local 

service provision. Planning decisions will be informed by the indicative residential locations 

in the Masterplan and Inset allocations; the principles of good urban design must be applied 

through all schemes. 

10.39 Housing and employment allocations will be served by the existing network of centres. The 

fragility of centres and the challenges in ensuring their vitality and viability means it is 

important to have robust tests for new proposals within 300m of a relevant boundary, as set 

out in Policy SCE6.  

10.40 West Bromwich is accessible by a variety of means of transport, particularly walking, cycling, 

the Metro and buses. Relevant in-centre and edge-of-centre development will contribute to 

sustainability and encourage a modal shift in transport towards public transport, cycling and 

walking and reduce the need to travel. 

10.41 The strategic centre boundary is identified on the Policies Map. It is used for determining 

what is in and out-of-scope in terms of proposals.  

 

Page 1158



303 

 

11. Transport 

Introduction 

11.1 The Local Transport Authority for the West Midlands metropolitan area, including Sandwell, 

is the West Midlands Combined Authority through its transport arm, Transport for West 

Midlands (TfWM). TfWM has strategic oversight of the whole network including public 

transport and major highways, other than the national Strategic Road network (SRN). The 

region’s transport strategy, along with the policies and programmes that support it, are set 

out in the Local Transport Plan (LTP) - Movement for Growth (2016). A review of the LTP is 

currently underway and where appropriate, Sandwell transport policies reflect the approach 

being taken through this review. 

11.2 The delivery of an improved and integrated transport network both within Sandwell and in 

links to regional and national networks is fundamental to achieving the Vision and in helping 

to transform the borough, deliver housing growth and improve economic performance, and 

thus in achieving Strategic Objective 10. The development of transport networks in the West 

Midlands is focused on a step change in public transport provision serving and linking 

centres, improving sustainable transport facilities and services across the area, improving 

connectivity to national networks and improving the efficiency of strategic highway routes. 
The improvements needed to deliver the transport strategy are shown on the Transport Key 

Diagram (Figure 13).  

11.3 To help address the climate change crisis, strategic and local transport policies, plans and 

programmes must emphasise the delivery of a modernised and sustainable transport 

network. Specific objectives include reducing pollution and road congestion through 

improvements to public transport, promoting walking and cycling networks and reducing the 

need to travel. National policy also focuses on the need for the transport network to support 

sustainable economic growth. 

11.4 Additionally, the West Midlands LTP has a key role to play in reducing carbon emissions and 

the impact on the natural environment. The Sandwell Local Plan will therefore need to focus 

on promoting the appropriate design, location and layout of development, increasing 

investment in infrastructure, improving the quality, equality and accessibility of public 

transport, supporting walking and cycling, enhancing road safety and reducing the amount of 

emissions produced by transportation. 

 

 

Page 1159



304 

 

Figure 13 - Transport Key Diagram 

 

Page 1160



305 

 

Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network 

11.5 It is acknowledged that the COVID19 pandemic and its aftermath, and resultant the shift 

towards homeworking has impacted on the way in which transport is used. In particular, 

there has been a significant impact on public transport patronage levels which may take 

many years to recover to pre-pandemic levels. 

11.6 However, high-quality public transport combined with the provision of an extensive safe and 

convenient active travel (walking and cycling) network remains at the heart of the West 

Midlands transport strategy. The development of the transport network is focused on a step 

change in public transport provision serving and linking centres, improving sustainable 

transport facilities and services across the area, improving connectivity to national networks 

and improving the efficiency of strategic highway routes. 

11.7 Additionally, transport strategy in Sandwell, and the wider West Midlands, has a key role to 

play in reducing carbon emissions and the impact on the natural environment. The Sandwell 

Local Plan will therefore need to focus on promoting the appropriate design, location and 

layout of development, increasing investment in infrastructure, improving the quality, equality 

and accessibility of public transport, supporting walking and cycling, enhancing road safety 

and reducing the amount of emissions produced by transportation. 

Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network 

1) Land needed for the implementation of priority transport projects will be 
safeguarded to allow for their future delivery.  

2) All new developments must provide adequate access for all modes of travel, 
prioritising walking, cycling and public transport to influence travel choices. 
Residential development will be expected to meet the accessibility standards set 
out elsewhere in this Plan.  

3) Key transport corridors will be prioritised through the delivery of infrastructure to 
support active travel (walking, cycling), public transport improvements, traffic 
management (including localised junction improvements) and road safety.  

4) Key transport priorities identified for delivery during the lifetime of the SLP 
currently include the following:  

a) Motorways: 

M5 Improvements (Junctions 1 and 2) 

Page 1161



306 

 

Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network 

b) Rail:  

Midlands Rail Hub 

c) Rapid Transit: 

Wednesbury – Brierley Hill  

A34 Walsall Road Sprint Corridor  

Walsall – Stourbridge corridor tram-train extensions  

d) Key road corridors including the following (but not limited to): 

A4123 Corridor Upgrade 

A461 Black Country Corridor 

A457 / B4135 Oldbury, Smethwick to Birmingham Corridor 

A4034 Blackheath and Oldbury Corridor 

e) Interchanges: 

Dudley Port Integrated Transport Hub 

Justification 

11.8 Good connectivity to the wider regional national transport networks and Birmingham 

International Airport for both passengers and freight has been identified as being necessary 

to support the regeneration of Sandwell. The economic growth will be supported by 

improved access to major global economies. 

11.9 Movement for Growth seeks to enable all residents being able to access at least three 

strategic centres within 45 minutes (AM peak). It envisages this being achieved through a 

combination of frequent rapid transit services and high quality “turn up and go” bus services.  

11.10 A strategic public transport “spine” comprising high quality, reliable, fast and high-capacity 

rapid transit between the strategic centres - Brierley Hill, Walsall, West Bromwich, 

Wolverhampton and Birmingham remains as a crucial element of the Black Country’s and 

Sandwell’s transport strategy. It is necessary to support the role of these centres as a focus 

for employment, shopping and leisure and increasingly, housing.  

11.11 Currently Metro line 1 provides the required standard of link between Wolverhampton, West 

Bromwich and Birmingham but it is important that the public transport modes of rail, metro 

Page 1162



307 

 

and bus are better integrated to ensure that people can use them to travel where and when 

they need to. The combination of the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill metro extension and the 

proposed Dudley Port Integrated Transport Hub will add Brierley Hill (and Dudley) to the 

rapid transit network.  

11.12 The Black Country Rapid Transit study of 2016 concluded that full delivery of the Public 

Transport Spine would best be achieved by completing the Stourbridge to Walsall corridor as 

a tram-based facility (subject to the adoption of Tram-Train technology) whilst the Walsall to 

Birmingham link should be catered for through bus rapid transit. This is the A34 SPRINT 

project, Phase 2 of which is currently being delivered. 

11.13 The completion of feasibility studies into the provision of the Stourbridge to Brierley Hill and 

Wednesbury to Walsall rapid transit proposals will be an early requirement for taking the 

strategy forward, with the latter providing improved connectivity for residents in Tipton and 

Wednesbury in particular. 

11.14 It is vital that new development has access to high quality public transport facilities and 

services from the outset as this will ensure that people travelling to and from these areas do 

not establish unsustainable travel patterns due to the initial absence of good public transport.  

11.15 The Sandwell Local Plan supports the delivery of an enhanced transport network for the 

borough, to ensure a seamless integration of land-use and transport planning and to 

demonstrate the strong interdependency of future land-use decisions and adequate 

servicing by a variety of travel modes. The exact mode of public transport should reflect 

existing demand and take account of potential future economic or housing growth points to 

ensure an integrated approach to sustainable development and travel patterns. This is 

essential to support the scale of growth proposed for the core regeneration areas and 

strategic centres and to create an effective transportation system to support sustainable 

communities. This transport network will provide communities with access to employment, 

leisure, education and health care and will facilitate improved access to employment sites. 

11.16 In this regard the re-opening of rail corridors such as Walsall to Aldridge, and the delivery of 

an upgraded Wolverhampton to Shrewsbury line and the Midland Rail Hub (developed 

through Midlands Connect) will support housing growth both within Sandwell and in those 

areas meeting housing and employment need beyond the borough’s boundaries. 

11.17 The operation of the highway network needs to be improved to support the growth and long-

term viability of Sandwell’s economy whilst limiting the environmental effect of transport 

usage. Movement for Growth sets out a strategy of making the best of the existing highway 

network in a coordinated way through a programme of Key Route Network (KRN) corridor-

Page 1163



308 

 

based multi-modal improvements. Movement for Growth is currently being reviewed during 

2021 with the aim of further strengthening the strategy to help achieve the West Midlands 

target for net zero carbon emissions by 2041.  

11.18 New highway building within Sandwell will be mainly in support of regeneration, but some 

key junctions on the DfT’s Major Road Network and the West Midlands Key Route Network 

such as important links for public transport and to the motorway network for freight will be 

improved by major construction schemes. Highway improvements will be expected to 

address the needs of all users especially pedestrians and cyclists and to cater for bus 

priority in line with current Government guidance. 

11.19 Strategic Employment Areas are defined in terms of good access standards to the motorway 

network. As no new motorways are planned within the lifetime of this plan the M6, M5 and 

M54 motorways will remain vital transport links for Sandwell business and freight.  

11.20 Buses will continue to dominate local public transport provision in Sandwell throughout the 

life of the plan period. 85% of all passenger miles were catered for by bus prior to the 

COVID19 pandemic and bus services have recovered at a faster rate than either rail or 

metro/ by 2026. The National Bus Strategy (2021) requires bus priority to be an integral part 

of all highway improvements. Therefore, work on the key highway corridors identified 

through the Key Route Network Action plans will play a significant role in delivering this 

requirement through a partnership of TfWM, Local Highway Authorities and operators. 

Specific local measures to help buses will be delivered in other locations where appropriate 

along with the upgrading of bus stations in strategic and other centres where demand 

resulting from the concentration of new developments requires it. Coaches have a role to 

play in providing affordable long-distance connectivity and access facilities to major Black 

Country destinations and will be encouraged. 

11.21 While improvement of accessibility to bus services will be a priority, some people will have 

little choice but to make the first part of their journey by car. The success of Park and Ride in 

contributing to a sustainable travel pattern will depend on minimising the distance driven 

before transferring to public transport. Well-located Park and Ride facilities can provide a 

realistic alternative for many car drivers and contribute to environmental improvement by 

reducing congestion on radial routes into centres at peak times and by improving public 

transport patronage. However, new Park and Ride sites will only be developed in 

accordance with the adopted West Midlands Park & Ride strategy. 

11.22 As transport projects reach the design stage there will be a need to safeguard the land 

needed for the implementation of schemes. Where projects are sufficiently advanced, 

Page 1164



309 

 

improvement lines will be imposed, and land will be safeguarded through the Local plan and 

the Policies Map. 

Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN) 

11.23 The West Midlands Key Route Network (KRN) caters for the main strategic demand flows of 

people and freight across the metropolitan area whilst providing connections to the national 

Strategic Road Network (SRN). Highway capacity will be used to effectively cater for 

movement by rapid transit and core bus routes, the Metropolitan Cycle Network, lorries, vans 

and private cars. This will involve the reallocation of road space where appropriate to provide 

reliable, fast, high volume public transport and an enhanced role for traffic management 

using new technology via the West Midlands Regional Traffic Control Centre (RTCC). 

Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route 
Network (KRN) 

1. Sandwell will, in conjunction with Transport for West Midlands (TfWM) and other 
neighbouring local highway authorities, identify capital improvements and 
management strategies to ensure the KRN meets its strategic functions. 

2. Land needed for the implementation of improvements to the KRN will be 
safeguarded to assist in their future delivery.  

3. Where new development is expected to result in adverse impacts on the KRN, 
appropriate mitigation measures will need to be identified through transport 
assessments and provided through planning obligations. 

4. When working with neighbouring authorities, sub-national transport bodies, 
infrastructure providers and statutory bodies, there will be a focus on reducing the 
impact of private car use on the KRN and delivering a net-zero transport system. 

Justification 

11.24 The West Midlands Key Route Network not only serves the main strategic demand flows of 

people and freight across the metropolitan area and provides connections to the national 

strategic road network. It also serves large local flows which use main roads and will need 

to provide good access for businesses reliant on road-based transport. The network will 

use highway capacity effectively to cater for movement by rapid transit and core bus 

routes, the Metropolitan Cycle Network, lorries, vans and private cars. This will involve the 

Page 1165



310 

 

reallocation of road space where appropriate to provide reliable, fast, high volume public 

transport and enhanced cycling facilities. 

11.25 The Key Route Network has been defined on the basis of a Combined Authority definition 

agreed with the seven highway authorities, in consultation with neighbouring highway 

authorities. The KRN features agreed performance specifications drawn up for different 

types of link in the network in accordance with their role for movement (“link”), and their role 

as a destination in its own right e.g., a suburban / town centre high street (“place”).  

11.26 Improvements will be performed to meet the agreed performance specification for the links 

and junctions involved to support road based rapid transit proposals such as SPRINT (Bus 

Rapid Transit) and Metro. Improvements will take into account guidance contained in the 

National Bus Strategy and the West Midlands Vision for Bus. Where routes also form part 

of the Metropolitan Cycle Network, the standards contained in Local Transport Note 1/20 

will be applied. 

11.27 Capital scheme improvements will be identified where appropriate, but it also is vital that 

this network is managed efficiently through the collaboration of all four authorities in their 

role as LHA. 

Managing Transport Impacts of New Development  

11.28 To ensure that the transport elements of the Sandwell Local Plan are deliverable, it is 

essential that both new developments and existing facilities identify travel and transportation 

impacts and proposals for mitigation. It is important that accessibility by a choice of 

sustainable modes of transport is maximised. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 

produced by developers, employers, schools and facility operators are essential to bring 

about sustainable travel solutions and help deliver Strategic Objectives 2 and 16. 

Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development 

1. Planning permission will not be granted for any proposals that are likely to have 
significant transport implications, unless accompanied by mitigation schemes that 
demonstrate an acceptable level of accessibility and safety can be achieved using 
all modes of transport to, from and through the development. Mitigation schemes 
must in particular address access by walking, cycling, public transport and shared 
transport.  

2. These proposals should be in accordance with an agreed Transport Assessment, 
where deemed necessary by the Local Highway Authority, and include the 

Page 1166



311 

 

Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development 

implementation of measures to promote and improve such sustainable transport 
infrastructure and facilities through agreed Travel Plans and similar measures.  

3. Sustainable transport modes must be made more convenient than car usage for the 
majority of journeys in order to promote genuine modal shift. They should be 
supported by the necessary management and regulatory measures if deemed 
necessary by the Local Highway Authority. Planning conditions and /or legal 
agreements may be required to ensure the implementation of agreed measures. 

Justification 

11.29 All developments will be assessed both in terms of their impact on the transport network and 

the opportunities that could be available to ensure that the site is accessible by sustainable 

modes of transport. The supporting documentation will either take the form of a full Transport 

Assessment (TA) or a less detailed Transport Statement (TS) and will generally be 

determined by the size and scale of development or land use. This will be based on 

guidance from individual authorities with a TA sometimes being required instead of a TS 

based on reasons other than spatial thresholds; road safety concerns, existing congestion 

problems, air quality problems, concerns over community severance or likelihood of off-site 

parking being generated. 

11.30 TfWM’s guide for developers should be routinely consulted for larger developments. 

11.31 Where a development is considered to have a potential significant effect on the Strategic 

Road Network, National Highways will be involved. 

The Efficient Movement of Freight and Logistics 

11.32 New freight railways and rail sidings will present an economic opportunity for Sandwell’s 

businesses. Improved journey times on the Key Route Network will support economic 

prosperity and switching traffic to rail or inland waterways will relieve the highway network of 

traffic, thereby reducing congestion, improving air quality and the environment and reducing 

carbon emissions. The siting of key employment proposals will be steered towards locations 

with good access to the KRN to assist with reducing environmental impact, improve air 

quality and reduce carbon emissions. Improvements to the freight network are fundamental 

to achieving the Vision for sustainable communities, environmental transformation and 

economic prosperity and to delivering Strategic Objectives 2, 8 and 16. 

Page 1167



312 

 

Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight and Logistics 

1. The movement of freight by sustainable modes of transport such as rail and 
waterways will be encouraged. Road-based freight will be encouraged to use the 
Key Route Network whenever practicable. 

2. Junction improvements and routeing strategies will be focussed on those parts of 
the highway network evidenced as being of particular importance for freight access 
to employment sites and the motorway network. 

3. Proposals that generate significant freight movements will be directed to sites with 
satisfactory access to the Key Route Network.  

4. Existing and disused railway lines will be safeguarded for rail-related uses. 

5. Sites with existing and potential access to the rail network for freight will be 
safeguarded for rail-related uses. 

6. Consideration will be given to the movement of freight, goods and other courier 
services on Sandwell’s roads when determining location of new development.  

Justification 

11.33 The level of motor traffic on Sandwell’s roads has increased, partly driven by the growing 

number of trucks, vans, mopeds, and bikes delivering groceries, parcels, and food 

takeaway services to online shoppers’ homes. There is a need to reduce the strain placed 

by e-commerce deliveries on Sandwell’s roads by, for example, identifying sites for parcel 

lockers, incentivise more “Click and Collect” options to reduce the volume of home delivery 

vehicles on the roads, catering for the use of e-cargo bikes, low emission vehicles and the 

use of micromobility to transport goods. 

11.34 Within the wider Black Country, freight traffic has always been particularly important 

reflecting the area’s past level of manufacturing and it remains significant today with 

industry, distribution and logistics giving rise to much freight traffic. This is reflected in both 

the M5 and M6 motorways, where the proportion of heavy goods vehicles can be 30% of 

total traffic, and the local road network where the traffic on many main routes has an 

exceptionally high percentage of heavy goods vehicles. 

11.35 Heavy Goods Vehicles account for 21% of all transport emissions with Light Duty Vehicles 

accounting for 13%, meaning the road freight sector contributes 34% of transport emissions, 

despite freight representing just 19% of all vehicle miles undertaken in the UK. Making the 

Page 1168



313 

 

most efficient use of the highway network whilst providing facilities to transfer freight from 

road to rail and inland waterways will play a major part in achieving the region’s climate 

change targets. 

11.36 The design and layout of much of the KRN in Sandwell dates from a period when goods 

vehicles were significantly smaller and lighter than those currently in use and this gives rise 

to problems of reliability and with deliveries and servicing. In many cases upgrading of these 

routes is neither economically viable or environmentally desirable. 

11.37 Sandwell is a member of the West Midlands Freight Quality Partnership, as are freight 

operators and their national representative bodies. The Regional Freight Strategy sets a 

context for planning for freight within the Black Country sub-region. Removal of freight from 

the road to rail or canal will reduce congestion, and support investment in rail and canals. 

11.38 The railway network serving Sandwell and the wider Black Country suffers from capacity 

problems during the day when there is high demand for passenger services, and this has 

shifted much freight traffic to night-time operation. Of the disused lines the most important is 

Stourbridge-Walsall-Lichfield which has been identified in the Regional Freight Strategy as 

being an important link for freight moving between the southwest and northeast regions. 

Locally, four sites have been identified as being suitable for rail connection if rail freight 

services are reinstated. Within the West Midlands conurbation, the Stourbridge to Lichfield 

link would act as a bypass for the rail network around Birmingham which has severe 

capacity constraints. The capacity released by the reopening of Stourbridge-Walsall-

Lichfield, as well as benefiting the freight network, would allow extra passenger services to 

operate to and through Birmingham to the benefit of the wider West Midlands. 

11.39 The Regional Freight Strategy notes a shortage of private sidings in the West Midlands 

Region. Sites with existing or potential rail access along existing and proposed freight routes 

particularly Stourbridge - Walsall and Walsall - Lichfield will be protected for rail related uses. 

11.40 The Freight Strategy notes the need to address the increased importance of ‘last mile’ 

logistics and the role that transport innovation can play in this; parcel hubs, EV charging for 

delivery vehicles. Where appropriate, locations for infrastructure to facilitate this will be 

identified through site allocations and in the SLP Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

Cycling and Walking Networks 

11.41 The development of sustainable modes of travel and encouraging people out of their cars, 

particularly for shorter and commuter journeys, is an important element of Strategic 

Objectives 1, 2, 8, 9, 10, 11, 16 and 18. Places need to be well-connected with attractive, 

convenient, direct and safe routes available to non-car users, thus providing real choice. 

Page 1169



314 

 

11.42 The cycle network in the West Midlands consists of three tiers;  

a. The National Cycle Network (NCN) – identified and developed by Sustrans in 

partnership with local authorities and shown on the Transport Key Diagram. This 

network provides long distance routes across the country linking major destinations.  

b. The Metropolitan Network (known as the Starley Network) – identified by WMCA in 

Movement for Growth and developed through the West Midlands Cycling & Walking 

Infrastructure Plan (WM LCWIP). These routes link strategic locations in the West 

Midlands and are also shown on the Transport Key Diagram.  

c. Local Networks – These are identified through individual authorities’ LCWIPs and are 

identified on the Transport Key Diagram (Figure 13).  

11.43 The emerging Black Country Cycling Strategy will provide greater detail on those sections of 

the Starley network and the most important links in the local network. 

Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking 

1. By working in partnership with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring local 
authorities, Sandwell will ensure that it can create and maintain a comprehensive 
cycle network based on the four tiers of the West Midlands cycle network, including 
the use of common cycle infrastructure design standards such as LTN1/20 and 
Manual for Streets 2 or such future relevant guidance as may be appropriate. 

2. Creating an environment that encourages active travel requires new developments to 
link to existing walking and cycling networks. The links should be coherent, safe, 
direct, comfortable, attractive, and not impeded by other infrastructure including that 
provided for other forms of transport and digital / communication infrastructure. 

3. Where possible, existing links including the canal network should be enhanced and 
the networks extended to serve new developments.  

4. New developments should have good walking and cycling links to public transport 
nodes and interchanges. 

5. Where possible, a compact and legible urban realm with easy to reach destinations 
on foot and by cycle should be delivered, including appropriate signage and 
wayfinding. 

Page 1170



315 

 

Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking 

6. Cycle parking facilities should be provided at all new developments and should be in 
convenient locations with good natural surveillance, e.g., near to main front 
entrances for short stay visitors or under shelter for long stay visitors.  

7. The number of cycle parking spaces required in new developments and in public 
realm schemes should be determined using the guidance and standards set out in 
Appendix L. 

8. Sandwell Council will work with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring local 
authorities on expanding the West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme and location and 
provision of cycle hire infrastructure will be integral when determining new 
development.  

9. The design of cycle infrastructure should be in accordance with the principles and 
standards contained in the Department for Transport’s Local Transport Note 1/20 
(LTN1/20): Cycle Infrastructure Design.  

10. Where feasible, to improve the local environment for pedestrians and cyclists, 
measures to manage traffic should be considered, which may include measures such 
as modal filters, reducing traffic speeds, road space reallocation, and implementing 
parking management policies. 

Justification 

11.44 It is essential that the development of walking and cycling facilities are an integral part of the 

transport system both on the highway network, canal corridors, Public Rights of Way and on 

other paths. Comprehensive cycle and walking networks within Sandwell will enable 

communities to access employment, public transport interchanges, services and facilities in 

a sustainable way.  

11.45 A transport network that facilitates car use and disadvantages walking and cycling can 

adversely affect the health and well-being of its communities. Identifying and overcoming 

barriers to walking and cycling during development processes will encourage a renaissance 

of walking and cycling within the borough and help improve the health and well-being of local 

communities by reducing the incidence of obesity, coronary heart disease, strokes, and 

diabetes.  

11.46 Both walking and cycling are active modes of travel with clear health benefits. The 

implementation recognises the specific requirements of each with dedicated, segregated 

Page 1171



316 

 

cycling provision being the default objective along with a comprehensive network of walking 

opportunities available both on highway and off road. 

11.47 Walking and cycling strategies are incorporated within Movement for Growth. The over-

arching framework is the West Midlands Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan. The 

four Black Country local authorities are jointly preparing a Cycling Strategy for the sub-region 

and each will develop their own local cycling and walking infrastructure plans during the 

lifetime of the SLP. 

11.48 All new cycle facilities will be design in accordance with guidance set out in Local Transport 

Note 1/20 and TfWM’s Cycle Design Guidance.   

Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices 

11.49 The management of the demand for road space and car parking, together with influencing 

travel choices, is fundamental to achieving the Vision for sustainable communities, 

environmental transformation and economic prosperity and to delivering Spatial Objectives 

1, 2, 8, 16 and 18.  

Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices 

1) Sandwell is committed to considering all aspects of traffic management in the 
centres and wider area in accordance with the Traffic Management Act 2004. The 
priorities for traffic management in Sandwell are:  

a. identifying appropriate strategic park and ride sites on current public transport 
routes to ease traffic flows into centres;  

b. working together with the rest of the region to manage region-wide traffic flows 
through the West Midlands Regional Traffic Control Centre and further joint 
working; 

c. implementing demand management measures to restrain car usage and 
managing car parking demand, thereby encouraging behaviour change and 
increasing travel by sustainable modes of transport; 

d. providing better accessibility to shared transport services such as demand 
responsive transport services and mobility hubs, reducing the need to travel 
long distances by car or helping people to travel by more sustainable modes of 
transport; 

Page 1172



317 

 

Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices 

e. maximising access to high-speed broadband / digital infrastructure will be 
required to enable smarter working for those that are able to do so, thus further 
reducing the need to travel. 

Justification 

11.50 The SLP Development Strategy aims at making the network of town and city centres as 

attractive and accessible as possible, to encourage use of the most sustainable modes of 

travel. 

11.51 Other important aspects of demand management are the prioritisation of allocation of road 

space towards sustainable methods of travel such as walking, cycling and buses by using 

schemes such as traffic calming measures and full or time limited pedestrianisation so 

making these modes more attractive to people visiting the centres. 

11.52 Other important elements include the promotion and marketing of sustainable transport 

through travel plans (Policy STR3), planning conditions / obligations and other associated 

sustainable mobility initiatives, including the promotion of schemes and opportunities for 

walking, cycling, micro-mobility (such as e-scooters), public transport and car sharing. These 

policies will reduce road traffic congestion and pollution, improve road safety, promote social 

inclusion and accessibility, therefore encouraging consumers to access the four strategic 

centres using sustainable transport. 

Network Management 

11.53 Sandwell Council is committed to making the best use of its budgets and advocates an asset 

management approach for the maintenance of its highway network, to help deliver the best 

long-term outcomes for local communities. 

Policy STR7 – Network Management 

1. Depending on the location of new development, the deployment of advanced and 
smart technologies that allow the public to plan their journeys more effectively may 
be appropriate, for example providing real time travel information and satellite 
navigation systems, Variable Message Signs (VMS) along congested parts of the 
network and digital sensors / cameras to monitor traffic and collect data on traffic 
patterns for future planning.  

Page 1173



318 

 

2. All new developments that impact the existing highway network, or which result in a 
new asset to be adopted by the Local Highway Authority, may be subject to fees and 
obligations for the maintenance of the highway network as part of a relevant legal 
agreement  

Justification 

11.54 Much of the highway network in Sandwell is constrained by the urban fabric resulting in 

narrow roads and footways. In many cases the overall highway width is such that there is 

limited scope to accommodate infrastructure dedicated to specific modes or groups of 

vehicles. Therefore, the use of advanced technology to help manage the use of road space 

will be vital to ensuring that maximum benefit can be derived from the asset. 

11.55 However, where development includes the provision of new infrastructure, including 

dedicated infrastructure for cyclists, buses etc., there will be a need to provide for its ongoing 

maintenance to mitigate the impact on future highway authority budgets. 

Parking Management 

11.56 The management of car parking is fundamental to achieving the Vision for sustainable 

communities, environmental transformation and economic prosperity. It also has a key role 

in reducing the impact of vehicle trips on air quality and carbon emissions.  

Policy STR8 – Parking Management 

1. The priorities for traffic management in Sandwell include the sustainable delivery 
and management of parking in centres and beyond, through use of some or all the 
following measures as appropriate:  

a. The management and control of parking - ensuring that it is not used as a tool 
for competition between centres; 

b. The type of parking – ensuring that where appropriate long-stay parking is 
removed from town centres, to support parking for leisure and retail customers 
and to encourage commuters to use more sustainable means and reduce peak 
hour traffic flows; 

c. Maximum parking standards – ensuring that a consistent approach to maximum 
parking standards is enforced in new developments as set out in the guidance 
and standards contained at Appendix L;  

Page 1174



319 

 

Policy STR8 – Parking Management 

d. The location of parking – by reviewing the location of town centre car parks 
through the “Network Management Duty”, to ensure that the flow of traffic 
around town centres is as efficient as possible 

e. Providing more convenient, secure and accessible cycle parking will be a critical 
part of increasing cycling in Sandwell and making it a natural first choice for 
journeys. Considering different users and types of cycle parking will be an 
essential part of this and new developments should consider this in accordance 
with guidance set out in Appendix L.  

Justification 

11.57 The correct balance needs to be found between managing and pricing of parking to 

maximise the use of sustainable travel means to enter town and city centres, whilst avoiding 

restricting parking to the extent that consumers are dissuaded from using town centres and 

deterring new development. 

11.58 The control and management of parking in centres will require a variety of approaches, 

recognising that not all publicly available car parking is in local authority control or 

management. The use of planning conditions to ensure that new public parking is managed 

appropriately will therefore be an important aspect of this policy. 

11.59 The continued adoption of maximum parking standards for all but residential development is 

an important tool in managing demand for single-occupancy vehicle trips to centres and 

major employment destinations, leisure and other facilities. 

11.60 Reduced levels of long-stay car parking in centres will enable more efficient use of land. 

11.61 Where new development that includes parking controls and management to encourage 

alternative modes for staff and visitors has the potential to impact on adjacent residential 

areas, post-occupation monitoring may indicate a need for the introduction of residents 

parking schemes and other traffic management measures. Agreements to secure this will be 

sought as part of the Development Management process.  

11.62 Additional parking enforcement may be required because of new development. Should this 

require additional Local Authority resources and increases the cost of enforcement for the 

Local Authority, the developer may be required to contribute to the increased cost of 

undertaking parking enforcement activities as part of any planning obligations agreement. 

Page 1175



320 

 

Planning for Low Emission Vehicles 

11.63 The UK government has committed to banning the sale of petrol and diesel cars by 2030. 

The resultant societal shift from petrol and diesel internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles 

to ULEVs will require widespread support from local authorities. It is projected that there will 

an addition 42,500 ULEVs within the Black Country by 2025. The Black Country ULEV 

strategy sets out a framework for how the authorities can support this transition 

Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles 

1) Proposals for low emission vehicles will be supported by: 

a. Ensuring that new developments include adequate provision for charging 
infrastructure e.g., electric vehicle charging points in car parks, measures to 
encourage LEV use through travel plans and other initiatives. 

b. Where appropriate the Council will facilitate the introduction of charging points in 
public locations. 

c. Working with partners to explore support for alternative low emission vehicle 
technologies, such hydrogen fuel cells, across a range of modes; private cars, 
buses and / or small passenger and fleet vehicles 

Justification 

11.64 In July 2019, the West Midlands Combined Authority committed to setting a ‘net zero’ 

emissions target by 2041, with a climate action plan being approved by the WMCA board by 

January 2020. The WMCA Board further approved a regional ULEV strategy, in February 

2020. The Black Country ULEV strategy sits under this regional document. Whilst the 

WMCA ULEV Strategy focusses on sharing best practice, co-ordination and possible joint 

delivery of a large-scale network of rapid charging ‘hubs’, the Black Country ULEV strategy 

takes a more granular approach, focussing on the specifics of each authority and offering a 

framework for the delivery on infrastructure on the ground. 

11.65 The study found that the Black Country lags behind the rest of the country when it comes to 

adoption of ULEVs.  This is reflected in the availability of charging infrastructure across the 

four authorities, with around 80% of the sub-region further than one km from the nearest 

publicly available charge point. However, relative to median wage, Sandwell sits on or above 

the trend for ULEV adoption, indicating higher uptake than might be expected given the 

average wage across each of the four authorities.  

Page 1176



321 

 

Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity 

11.66 The historic relationship between the West Midlands’ economic success and mobility goes 

beyond increasing travel. The West Midlands is a key UK centre of automotive 

manufacturing and production. It is also part of the UK’s so called “Golden Triangle”, within a 

four-hour drive to all major UK ports and 90% of the UK’s population. As such, Sandwell is 

the location of choice for some of the UK’s major industries and largest distribution centres. 

Freight and logistics, a key sector for Sandwell and the wider West Midlands, supports 

almost every other economic sector, employing thousands of people and contributing 

extensively to Inclusive Growth. There are also those employed in public transport services 

in the region, including many who work for Mobico (formerly National Express Group), a 

leading public transport operator with bus, coach and rail services across the world, and 

headquartered in the West Midlands. 

11.67 An ever-evolving industry will represent great challenges and opportunities to industry, both 

in terms of products and services created here and exported, and products and services 

created here and used by residents of Sandwell. For example, the freight and logistics sector 

face a great challenge with phasing out internal combustion engines, but also with reducing 

vehicle miles through consolidation of deliveries and minimising the impacts of delivery 

vehicles in places with high pedestrian footfall. However, there are also plenty of 

opportunities for new industrial activity in the provision of transport products and services 

that better support Inclusive Growth given that significant demand for transport will remain. 

Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation and Digital Connectivity 

1. Opportunities for integrating 5G connectivity within the transport network should 
be explored when development proposals, masterplanning and major housing and 
employment schemes are being promoted, to improve transport services and 
ensure there is 5G connectivity throughout Sandwell. This should include the 
provision of 5G connectivity as part of new development proposals, which will 
encourage more people to connect remotely, reducing the need to travel (see 
Policy SID1). 

2. Sandwell will ensure the integration of ‘smart infrastructure’ where possible as part 
of new development proposals. In transport terms, examples of smart 
infrastructure include:  

a. smart parking sensors, which provide live parking capacity data;  

Page 1177



322 

 

Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation and Digital Connectivity 

b. traffic signals that can respond to levels of congestion and prioritise 
sustainable transport modes; and  

c. transport volume monitoring sensors, which can provide information on the 
use of different modes, journey time or tracking data. 

3. Working in partnership with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring Local 
Authorities, Sandwell will facilitate Mobility as a Service177 and will ensure this is 
integrated into any new infrastructure where applicable. 

Justification 

11.68 The West Midlands currently leads on the Industrial Strategy’s ‘Future of Mobility’ grand 

challenge building on its existing strengths in automotive innovation (e.g., the UK Battery 

Industrialisation Centre), and connected supply chains in rail, automotive and aerospace as 

well as digital communications with the West Midlands 5G testbed. We are piloting and 

leading on a broad spectrum of transport innovations and technologies including 

micromobility (such as e-scooters), Mobility as a Service (MaaS), connected autonomous 

vehicles (CAV) and mobility credit trials. The region has also developed a UK first proposal 

for a transport regulatory ‘sandbox’ to help test and develop new solutions to our transport 

challenges. The West Midlands already has well-developed infrastructure and energy plans 

to support the shift to zero carbon. Therefore, cementing its position as a UK industry leader 

in mobility sectors will attract new investment, create and sustain highly skilled jobs, 

accelerate clustering and catalyse innovation - boosting the international competitiveness of 

the region. 

 

  

                                                

177  Digital transport service platforms that enable users to access, pay for, and get real-time information on, a range of 
public and private transport options. 

Page 1178



323 

 

12. Infrastructure and Delivery 

Introduction 

12.1 A key role of the SLP is to plan for the growth required for a sustainable and prosperous 

Sandwell. The Borough is planning to accommodate 11,167 new houses and provide for 

1,206ha of employment land (of which 29ha is currently vacant) up to 2041. Ensuring 

effective delivery of this amount of development will require strong collaborative working with 

public, private and third sector partners, involving a robust process of infrastructure planning 

and delivery. 

Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks 

12.2 Planning policy can play an important role in helping to address the key digital connectivity 

infrastructure needs of Sandwell. The following policy sets out proposals for ensuring the 

provision of full fibre broadband connectivity is considered in all new major development 

proposals. It also sets out the approach for supporting and assessing 5G Network 

infrastructure proposals. 

Policy SID1 - Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks 

Fibre to the Premise 

1. Fibre to the Premises (FTTP) is essential infrastructure and is vital to the delivery of 
sustainable development. All major developments that provide ten or more new 
homes or more than 1,000m2 of non-residential floorspace will be required to 
deliver FTTP capacity / infrastructure to all individual properties.  

2. All eligible proposals should be supported by an FTTP Statement that details how 
FTTP will be provided to serve the development and confirms that FTTP will be 
available at first occupation.  

5G Networks  

3. Any proposals for infrastructure to support the delivery of 5G networks will be 
supported in principle, subject to meeting the following criteria and the 
requirements of other local policies and national guidance:  

a. Proposals should be sensitively sited and designed to minimise impacts on the 
environment, amenity, and character of the surrounding area.  

Page 1179



324 

 

Policy SID1 - Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks 

b. Proposals should not have an adverse impact on areas of ecological interest or 
areas of landscape importance, and should protect and, where possible, 
enhance the significance of heritage assets and their setting (Policies SNE2 and 
SHE2).  

c. Proposals should demonstrate that proper regard has been given to location 
and landscaping requirements, including the potential for innovative solutions 
complementary to the immediate surroundings.  

d. The potential to use canal towpaths to accommodate 5G or other network 
infrastructure and cabling should be explored, where this would not adversely 
affect areas of ecological or historic interest (Policy SNE6). 

4. Operators proposing 5G network infrastructure are strongly recommended to enter 
early discussions with the Council.  

Justification 

12.3 Full fibre broadband is the future of connectivity and increases speeds from the 30MB 

available for superfast broadband to 1000MB (1GB). Currently, full fibre coverage is very low 

at 2.1% in Sandwell - compared to 11.5% across England. Full fibre provision is required to 

meet future demands for connectivity, as highlighted by a 50% increase in demand each 

year, and to enable the wider economic, health and service delivery benefits it will support. 

12.4 At the local level, the availability, reliability and speed of broadband provision is a key 

consideration for house buyers and many view it to be as essential as more traditional 

utilities. Wider adoption will help reduce the need to travel, thereby improving highway safety 

and mitigating the transport impacts of new development, as reflected in the Key Route 

Network’s ‘Connecting Communities’ programme. Similarly, it is also a key concern in the 

public health and business sectors. However, despite the obvious benefits to developers and 

end-users, full fibre is not always provided in new residential and commercial properties. 

12.5 Planning policy can play a role in helping to achieve the necessary transformation in 

broadband connectivity. The NPPF clearly recognises this and supports the delivery of 

advanced, high-quality communications infrastructure and the expansion of highspeed 

broadband where possible. 

5G 

Page 1180



325 

 

12.6 Sandwell has nominated a Digital Infrastructure Champion and Co-ordinator to drive this 

agenda forward in the borough and are working together with other authorities as part of the 

WM5G Digital Forum to support the rollout of future proofed digital infrastructure. 

12.7 Currently most properties in the Black Country are connected to superfast broadband (fibre 

to the cabinet and copper to the premises with speeds up to 30MB) but future provision will 

be full fibre (fibre to the premises with speeds up to 1GB). Fibre to the premises (FTTP) is 

recognised by the Government as a Next Generation Access (NGA) technology178 and as a 

priority for investment. While superfast speeds can be achieved on current generation 

copper networks, it is widely accepted that NGA technologies should be prioritised.  

12.8 The Government has committed to gigabit-capable broadband by 2025 and it is Sandwell’s 

aspiration to support rollout of full fibre across the borough as soon as possible. As part of 

the WM5G work, an options appraisal case is being pulled together around full fibre. By 

seeking FTTP, Sandwell is aiming to provide a futureproof solution for broadband delivery. 

Adopting this approach will prevent the need for fibre retrofitting programmes in the future, 

which have significant cost implications and can cause considerable disruption through road 

works. In Sandwell and elsewhere in the Black Country, canal and waterway corridors 

(especially towpaths) can provide alternative opportunities to provide digital communications 

infrastructure. 

12.9 To help deliver this aspiration, Policy SID1 requires developers to ensure FTTP is available 

at every new property on all major developments. 

12.10 In exceptional cases, where FTTP is not practical, consideration will be given to: 

a. non-Next Generation Access technologies that can provide speeds in excess of 30MB 

per second (or the latest requirement if higher) as an alternative; 

b. an affordable 1GB/s- capable connection being made available to all end users. 

12.11 The intention of Policy SID1 is not to require developers to deliver FTTP solutions 

themselves. Instead, it focuses on the need to conduct early dialogue with telecom providers 

to best understand what their infrastructure specifications are and how these can be 

accommodated as part of the new development. The involvement of multiple telecoms 

providers at build stage will minimise the impact later. 

                                                

178  Next Generation Access Networks: ‘wired access networks that consist wholly or in part of optical elements, and which 
are capable of delivering broadband access services with enhanced characteristics (such as higher throughput) as 
compared to those provided over already existing copper networks.’ Commission Recommendation 2010/572/EU of 20 
September 2010 on regulated access to Next Generation Access Networks technology. 

Page 1181



326 

 

12.12 To facilitate this, any application for a qualifying development should be supported by an 

“FTTP Statement”, which provides details of: 

a. dialogue with the telecom operators;  

b. how FTTP will be provided to serve the development;  

c. confirms that this process will be completed upon occupation of the first property on  

the development; 

d. that sufficient ducting space for future digital full fibre connectivity infrastructure is 

provided to all end users within that development. 

12.13 Conditions will then be applied to any subsequent permission to ensure that FTTP will be 

secured as envisaged by the statement. For outline applications, the statement may be more 

limited on specific details relating to the imminent implementation of FTTP and provide a 

commitment to supply these details later, including how and when the telecom operators will 

be consulted. 

5G Networks 

12.14 5G is mobile internet that is as fast as fibre, with speeds up to 1GB – five to ten times faster 

than current home broadband connectivity. 5G benefits include huge capacity, with the 

ability to connect thousands of users and devices at the same time at consistently ultrafast 

speeds. They are ultra-reliable and secure with low latency, which will be transformational for 

industry. The demand for mobile data in the UK is growing rapidly, and as households and 

businesses become increasingly reliant on mobile connectivity, the infrastructure must be in 

place to ensure supply does not become a constraint on future demand.  

12.15 The Government wants the UK to be a world leader in 5G, and for communities to benefit 

from investment in this new technology. The NPPF expects planning policies and decisions 

to support the expansion of next generation mobile technology such as 5G. The West 

Midlands has been selected as the UK’s first multi-city 5G test bed, paving the way for the 

future rollout of 5G across the UK, making the region the first in the UK ready to trial new 5G 

applications and services at scale. 

12.16 To deploy 5G and improve coverage in partial “not-spots” (a place where wireless internet, 

especially broadband, services are not available), mobile network operators will need to 

strengthen existing sites to accommodate additional equipment. To extend coverage into 

total not-spots or to add capacity in areas of high demand, mobile network operators will also 

need to identify and develop new sites. Masts will need to be higher than at present to 

accommodate 5G, which may impact on local amenity and character in some areas.  

Page 1182



327 

 

12.17 Mobile Network Operators are encouraged to have early discussions with planning 

authorities and to communicate and consult with local communities, especially in the case of 

new sites. This will help to ensure that the best sites are selected for 5G infrastructure and 

that equipment is sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate, in line with 

principles set out in the NPPF and relevant local planning policies. 

12.18 Where larger developments are planned, developers can consider the incorporation of 

potential sites for telecoms equipment to ensure 5G coverage. 

Policy SID2- Mobile Network Infrastructure 

1. To ensure that the installation of masts is in full compliance with the 
requirements of the radio frequency (RF) public exposure guidelines of the 
International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) 
applications for all prior approval and full planning applications must: 

a. provide self-certification to the effect that a mobile phone base station 
when operational will meet the ICNRP guidelines; and  

b. provide a statement for each site indicating its location, the height of the 
antenna, the frequency and modulation characteristics and details of power 
output and where a mobile phone base station is added to an external mast 
or site, confirmation that the cumulative exposure will not exceed the 
ICNRP guidelines.  

2. Infrastructure should be located where it will have the least adverse impact on 
local landscapes, biodiversity and heritage assets wherever possible. Where 
unavoidable impacts arise in sensitive locations, they should be considered fully 
and avoided or mitigated accordingly. 

Justification 

12.19 The ICNIRP guidelines are a set of radiation levels proposed by an international body. 

These are used as the maximum recommended levels of radiation for base stations. 

12.20 To ensure that the proposed mobile phone base station will be within the levels set out by 

ICNRP, with every application, the operators must provide a certificate of compliance with 

these radiation levels. Without this certificate, the application will not be determined. 

Page 1183



328 

 

Policy SID3 - Digital Infrastructure / Equipment 

1. The siting and design (including materials) of digital infrastructure / equipment, 
which includes (but is not limited to) telephone kiosks and digital interactive finger 
posts, will be carefully controlled to ensure:  

a. they do not detract from the visual amenities of the street scene; 

b. they avoid harmful impacts on public amenity or unacceptable street clutter 
in the public realm;  

c. they avoid harm to the significance of heritage assets or their settings and 
support local distinctiveness. 

Justification 

12.21 To encourage high quality design and the protection of amenities within the borough through 

appropriate design of telecommunications equipment and digital infrastructure and ensure 

that digital infrastructure installations do not harm the significance of heritage assets when 

situated close to historic buildings or places. 

Page 1184



329 

 

13. Waste and Minerals 

Waste - Introduction 

13.1 Sandwell Council is the waste collection, waste disposal and waste planning authority for the 

borough. 

13.2 The key objective for waste across Sandwell is to minimise its generation across all sectors 

and increase the re-use, recycling, and recovery rates of waste material. 

13.3 The following policy aims are likely to be important for Sandwell going forward: 

a) the proposed introduction of a requirement to segregate certain municipal wastes for 

collection, which implies a need for a review and the revision of collection regimes for 

the Local Authority and businesses producing commercial waste; 

b) continued focus on measures to encourage waste prevention including, in line with 

national policy, the introduction of produce responsibility obligations for packaging 

wastes and reduction of single use plastics; and 

c) continued focus on the protection of the environment and human health and tackling 

waste disposal crime. 

Waste Infrastructure – Future Requirements 

13.4 This policy sets out the overall strategy and principles for waste management in Sandwell 

and the types of waste development that will support this. It also identifies how much new 

waste management capacity Sandwell is likely to need to support planned levels of housing 

and growth over the plan period, and to help deliver the Strategic Priority of meeting the 

Sandwell’s resource and infrastructure needs. 

Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements 

1. Proposals for relevant, major development shall evidence how its operation will 
minimise waste production, as well as facilitating the re-use and recovery of waste 
materials including, for example, through recycling, composting and energy from 
waste. 

2. Waste operators will be expected to demonstrate that the greenhouse gas emissions 
from the operations involved and associated transport of waste from source to 
processing facility have been minimised, in line with national and local targets for 
the transition to a net zero carbon economy. 

Page 1185



330 

 

Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements 

3. Proposals for waste management facilities will be supported based upon the 
following principles; 

a) managing waste through the waste hierarchy in sequential order. Sites for the 
disposal of waste will only be permitted where it meets a need which cannot be 
met by treatment higher in the waste hierarchy; 

b) promoting the opportunities for on-site management of waste where it arises 
and encouraging the co-location of waste developments that can use each 
other’s waste materials; 

c) ensuring that sufficient capacity is located within Sandwell to accommodate 
the waste capacity requirements during the plan period and reducing the 
reliance on other authority areas; 

d) enabling the development of recycling facilities across Sandwell, including 
civic amenity sites, and ensuring that there is enough capacity and access for 
the deposit of municipal waste for re-reuse, recycling, and disposal; 

e) waste must be disposed of, or be recovered in, one of the nearest appropriate 
facilities, by means of the most appropriate methods and technologies, to 
ensure a high level of protection for the environment and public health; 

f) ensuring new waste management facilities are located and designed to avoid 
unacceptable adverse impacts on the townscape and landscape, human health 
and well-being, nature conservation and heritage assets and amenity; 

g) working collaboratively with neighbouring authorities with responsibilities for 
waste who import waste into, or export waste out of, Sandwell, to ensure a co-
operative cross boundary approach to waste management is maintained. 

Justification 

13.5 There have been significant policy changes in the management of waste over the last 20 

years primarily due to the implementation of the waste hierarchy and the need to reuse and 

recycle waste before disposing of it. In addition, the management of waste should be 

considered alongside other spatial planning matters, including economic development, 

regeneration and the national obligation to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The National 

Planning Policy for Waste requires that areas and / or sites for the location of waste 

Page 1186



331 

 

management facilities are identified in Local Plans. The Plan identifies several preferred 

areas for the location of new waste facilities. 

13.6 In line with national waste planning guidance, the Plan will, where necessary, make 

provision for the suitable management of non-hazardous waste; Local Authority Collected 

Waste (LACW) and Commercial and Industrial Waste (C&I); construction, demolition and 

excavation waste (CD&E); hazardous waste such as asbestos or batteries, low-level 

radioactive waste, agricultural waste and wastewater produced from water treatment. 

13.7 Findings in the Black Country Waste Study (BCWS) (2020) show that the waste industry has 

grown quickly over the past twenty years and makes a significant contribution to the national 

economy. The past two decades has seen growth of around 55% in employment and 

incomes in the sector. 

13.8 The waste sector is of importance to Sandwell, where it makes a far more significant 

contribution to the economy (0.88% of total local jobs) when compared with national figures 

(0.55% of jobs nationally). It is expected that this sector’s contribution to GVA will grow by 

nearly 250% by 2030. To deliver these environmental and economic benefits, the Plan will 

have an important role in providing the land use policy in its support. 

13.9 Housing and employment land are projected to increase in Sandwell as the regeneration of 

the urban area progresses, to help meet strategic housing and employment targets. The 

needs of new waste infrastructure will be required to be balanced with those of housing and 

employment for suitable development sites. In seeking to identify development sites for 

waste infrastructure, priority shall be given to the safeguarding of existing and allocated sites 

for their continued use and the retention of the local employment areas in which they occur.  

13.10 Waste reduction and resource efficiency improvements will have a significant influence on 

future waste growth. Waste per household decreased from a peak of 1,056 kilograms per 

household per year (kg/hh/yr) in 2002 - 03 to 983 kg/hh/yr in 2017 - 18 (a reduction of over 

7.5%). This has been driven by a range of factors, including household income, increased 

resource efficiency (such as lightweighting179) and changes in consumer behaviours. Similar 

factors are also thought to be driving reductions in C&I waste.  

13.11 In addition, the transition towards a circular economy, the approach to economic 

development designed to benefit businesses, society and the environment, is expected to 

                                                

179  Lightweighting is a concept that originated in the auto industry about manufacturing vehicles that are less heavy to 
achieve better fuel efficiency and reduce raw material use and costs. The term has also been used to describe the 
process of making packaging lighter or replacing it with lighter weight alternatives. 

Page 1187



332 

 

significantly change the way waste will be managed in future. In particular, the quantities of 

waste reused, recycled, and composted are expected to increase substantially. 

13.12 Transitioning towards the circular economy will involve a significant reduction in the amount 

of waste produced by households and businesses, because avoidable waste will be 

‘designed out’ of products at the manufacturing stage. It will also mean a significant shift 

away from methods of managing unavoidable waste at the bottom of the ‘waste hierarchy’ 

(waste disposal and energy recovery) and towards those at the top of the hierarchy which 

can ‘close the loop’ (re-use and recycling). 

13.13 As waste facilities are an essential part of the infrastructure of an area, it is not only 

important that they are appropriately located, but also that policy protection is applied to 

areas suitable for waste uses, to help achieve the objectives of moving waste up the 

hierarchy.  

13.14 A different set of assumptions have been applied to the CD&E stream, based on the 

construction waste targets set under the Waste Framework Directive (2009/98/EC), the 

management of current CD&E arisings and the likely targets to be set in the future. 

13.15 Total waste management capacity in Sandwell is driven by decreasing disposal capacity as 

existing landfill and other disposal sites run out of void space. The capacities include both 

internal and external capacity for recycling and transfer, based on exports of waste from the 

Black Country; the capacities of these site categories are not anticipated to increase or 

decrease significantly over the plan period. 

13.16 To account for likely changes in operational capacity at the waste management sites, 

internal capacity is based on five-year average (mean) tonnages of ‘waste received’ at 

permitted sites and operational incinerators by site category, 2013-2017. Material legislative 

and collection approach changes have been minimal over this period, so a five-year average 

is a more reliable figure than using the longer ten-year average. It should be noted that 

external capacity is based on 2017 input tonnages of ‘waste received’ at permitted sites and 

operational incinerators, by site category. 

Expected Changes – Waste Management 

13.17 Under current projections, the quantity of waste Sandwell is projected to manage increases 

from 1.75 mt in 2021 to 2.2 mt in 2040 – 41, equating to an increase of 26% or 1.2% per 

annum. An ongoing emphasis on waste reduction has seen a 7.5% reduction in waste per 

household since 2006 - 07 and this trend could have a significant influence on future waste 

growth. However, there are emerging changes in the need for different types of waste 

management capacity. 

Page 1188



333 

 

13.18 The waste projections have also considered a range of waste management scenarios based 

on the recycling rates that may be achieved, and these are summarised in Table 12 below. 

The BCWS considers that Waste Management Scenario 2 (WMS2) is the most likely 

scenario for Sandwell. 

13.19 WMS2 (Circular Economy) assumes that the targets for reuse and recycling of municipal 

waste will be achieved for household and C&I waste over the plan period (i.e., 65% of waste 

from these streams will be recycled by 2035). A different set of assumptions has been 

applied to the CD&E waste stream, based on existing CD&E waste management rates in the 

Black Country and potential future recycling targets suggested in the ‘Circular Economy 

Package’ proposals. 

Table 12 - Black Country Waste Study – Waste Management Scenarios 

Scenarios Household Waste C&I Waste CD&E Waste 

Waste Management 

Scenario 1 (WMS1): no 

change in recycling 

performance 

No change in household 

waste recycling 

No change in C&I waste 

recycling 

No change in CD&E 

waste recycling180 

Waste Management 

Scenario 2 (WMS2): 

meet indicative EU 

Circular Economy 

targets  

65% household waste 

reuse, recycling and 

composting by 2035 

65% C&I waste reuse 

recycling and 

composting by 2035 

c.85% CD&E waste 

recycling or recovery by 

2030 

Waste Management 

Scenario 3 (WMS3): 

progress towards EU 

Circular Economy 

targets 

60% household waste 

reuse, recycling and 

composting by 2035 

55% C&I waste reuse, 

recycling and 

composting by 2035 

c. 80% CD&E waste 

recycling or recovery by 

2030 

Source: BCWS, Table 4.7 

                                                

180  It is estimated that the recycling and recovery rate achieved for CD&E waste in the Black Country in 2017 was around 
33% (see BCWS, Table 3.10). This suggests that the Black Country is currently not meeting the existing Waste 
Framework Directive (2009/98/EC) target to recycle or recover 70% of non-hazardous C&D waste by 2020. The likely 
reasons for this are identified above. 

Page 1189



334 

 

Waste Imports and Exports 

13.20 The BCWS waste projections also considered net waste imports. Around 1.35 million tonnes 

of waste were received at permitted waste sites (including landfill sites) and operational 

incinerators in Sandwell in 2021 (BCWS Table 2.10). The total imports into Sandwell 

originating from the West Midlands Region was 746 tonnes, representing 68% of the total 

waste received. 

13.21 More than 80% of the waste received at permitted waste facilities in Sandwell (excluding 

incinerators) in 2021 by tonnage originated within the former West Midlands region (BCWS 

Appendix J, Table J4). However, the originating authority of 29.5% of this waste is not 

known. 15% of the waste is recorded as originating from within the Black Country, and 15% 

from Birmingham.  

13.22 Similarly, more than 80% of the waste received at permitted sites in England which was 

recorded as having originated in Sandwell in 2021 (by tonnage) did not travel beyond the 

former West Midlands region. Outside the West Midlands, the East Midlands, Southwest and 

East of England were the three largest importers of waste into Sandwell, importing 9% of 

total waste. 

13.23 In 2021 nearly 608kt of waste originating in Sandwell were exported to permitted sites in 

England and Wales. 

Waste Growth Projections 

13.24 The waste projections for Sandwell are a function of waste growth projections and waste 

management scenarios. These have been informed by Sandwell and the Resources and 

Waste Strategy and incorporate differences in waste growth and recycling and recovery 

performance which may vary over the plan period. 

 ‘Capacity Gaps’ and Need for New Waste Infrastructure 2018 – 2041 

13.25 Housing and employment land demand are projected to increase as Sandwell’s regeneration 

of the urban area progresses. The needs of new waste infrastructure need to be balanced 

with those of housing and employment for suitable development sites. The Council will look 

to identify development sites for waste infrastructure, with priority placed upon the 

safeguarding of existing and allocated sites for continued use. 

13.26 In addition, the way waste will be managed in future is expected to change significantly as 

the UK transitions towards a circular economy. The quantities of waste reused, recycled and 

composted are expected to increase significantly. 

Page 1190



335 

 

13.27 Based on the assumption that the circular economy recycling targets identified in Table 12 

above will either be met (WMS2) or partially met (WMS3), the BCWS (Table 4.9) predicts 

that the following additional waste management capacity will need to be delivered in the 

Black Country between 2021 and 2041 to maintain net self-sufficiency: 

a. re-use / recycling (non-hazardous municipal waste) – 813 kt to 4tpa 

b. energy recovery (residual municipal waste) – 335 to 663 kt tpa 

(Source - BCWS, paragraphs 3.5.1 – 3.5.29, Table 3.9) 

13.28 Most of the new capacity requirements identified in the policy are expected to be delivered 

by the waste industry rather than by the local authority. Delivery will therefore depend on 

whether new projects are financially viable and attractive to investors. This will in turn 

depend on demand from waste producers, the effectiveness of government initiatives to 

incentivise re-use and recycling of waste in preference to energy recovery and disposal to 

landfill, and the availability of suitable sites where the new facilities can be built (Policy W3). 

Waste Sites 

13.29 Policy SWA2 relates to the protection of sites identified for or currently in use as waste 

treatment facilities and seeks to manage the interactions between such sites and 

surrounding uses. 

Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites 

Protecting Waste Sites 

1. Sandwell will safeguard all existing strategic and other waste management 
facilities from inappropriate development, to maintain existing levels of waste 
management capacity and meet Strategic Objective 17, unless it can be 
demonstrated that: 

a) there is no longer a need for the facility; and 

b) capacity can be met elsewhere; or 

c) appropriate compensatory provision is made in appropriate locations 
elsewhere in the Black Country; or 

d) the site is required to facilitate the strategic objectives of the Sandwell. 

2. This policy will also apply to all new waste management sites that are implemented 
within the lifetime of the plan. 

Page 1191



336 

 

Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites 

New development near existing waste facilities 

3. Proposals for housing and other potentially sensitive uses will not be permitted near 
to or adjacent to an existing waste management site where there is potential for 
conflict between the uses,  

a) unless a temporary permission for a waste use has expired, or the waste 
management use has otherwise ceased, and the site or infrastructure is 
considered unsuitable for a subsequent waste use;  

b) or redevelopment of the waste site or loss of waste infrastructure would form 
part of a strategy or scheme that has wider environmental, social and / or 
economic benefits that outweigh the retention of the site or infrastructure for the 
waste use and alternative provision is made for the displaced waste use;  

c) or a suitable replacement site or infrastructure has otherwise been identified and 
permitted.  

4. Waste Site Impact Assessments will be expected to demonstrate that at least one of 
the above criteria applies. Applications should also identify any ‘legacy’ issues 
arising from existing or former waste uses, and how these will be addressed through 
the design of the development and the construction process. 

Justification 

Waste Sites 

13.30 The existing pattern of waste management infrastructure is illustrated in the Black Country 

Waste Study, which shows the location of all known waste management facilities in 

Sandwell. 

13.31 They have been identified through a detailed analysis of all known licenced and exempt 

facilities in each authority area and include waste treatment, waste transfer, waste to energy 

and landfill facilities. 

13.32 The definition of a strategic waste management site is; 

a) all facilities that form a vital part of Sandwell’s municipal waste management 

infrastructure, e.g., energy from waste plants, waste transfer facilities and HWRCs, 

depots; 

Page 1192



337 

 

b) all commercial waste management facilities that fulfil more than one local role, e.g., 

they are part of a nationwide or regional operation linked to other facilities elsewhere 

and take in waste from all over the Black Country and / or beyond; 

c) all commercial facilities specialising in a particular waste stream or waste management 

technology, of which there are no others, or very few other of the same type operating 

elsewhere in Sandwell; 

d) all facilities likely to make a significant contribution towards existing waste 

management capacity; 

e) a site with sufficient capacity to recover, treat or dispose of at least 20,000 tonnes of 

waste per annum; 

f) a facility forming part of the UK’s network of installations for waste disposal, such as 

landfill sites; 

g) a hazardous waste recovery facility of sufficient size to qualify as a Nationally 

Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP). 

Safeguarding Existing and Planned Waste Sites 

13.33 Sandwell is expected to see significant housing and employment land growth between now 

and 2041. However, the need for new housing and employment development has to be 

balanced against the need to retain the infrastructure needed to support local households, 

businesses, and the construction industry. This includes the infrastructure that manages the 

waste they generate. Waste Planning authorities must therefore ensure that the impact of 

non-waste development on existing and planned waste facilities is acceptable, and “does not 

prejudice the implementation of the waste hierarchy and/ or the efficient operation of such 

facilities” (NPPW, para. 8). 

13.34 The BCWS therefore recommends a safeguarding policy for existing strategic and other 

waste sites and preferred industrial areas, identified for the development of new waste 

infrastructure (BCWS, 5.6.1 – 5.6.5 and 6.2.1). However, it also recognises that the 

redevelopment of existing or former waste management sites with new housing, employment 

or other land uses is sometimes justified and the policy reflects this. For example, 

redevelopment is likely to be acceptable where the waste facility has already closed, or the 

operator is proposing to close it or relocate the operations to another site. 

13.35 Another important material consideration will be whether the waste operations are lawful, 

i.e., whether they have planning permission or a lawful development certificate. For example, 

Page 1193



338 

 

if the waste operations are unauthorised and unsuitable for the location, the Council will 

normally consider taking enforcement action to stop them.  

Potential Losses of Waste Management Capacity 

13.36 When determining applications for non-waste development within a short distance or 

adjacent an existing waste management facility, regard will be had to any potential adverse 

impacts the proposed development might have on the future of the site as a location for the 

continuation of waste management activities. If a development is likely to have an 

unacceptable impact on the future of the site as a location for waste management, it will be 

refused. 

Waste Site Impact Assessments 

13.37 Taking on board the BCWS recommendations, the policy requires applications for non-waste 

development, which could be sensitive to the operation of a waste management site, on or 

near to an existing or planned waste site to include a Waste Site Impact Assessment. This 

should: 

a) identify the waste site potentially affected;  

b) explain the spatial relationship between the application site and the waste site; 

c) provide a brief description of the waste site, which should include: 

i. its operational status and any proposed changes; 

ii. the facility type; 

iii. whether the site is a strategic waste site; 

iv. the types of waste managed; 

v. the waste operations permitted on the site. 

d) summarise the main effects of the waste operations 

e) identify any effects that could be harmful to the health, wellbeing, and amenity of the 

occupiers of the new development; 

f) consider how the occupiers of the new development could be affected; 

g) consider how the waste site could be affected by the development; 

h) demonstrate how the development complies with the policy and the measures 

proposed to ensure that the waste site and the proposed development can co-exist 

without compromising each other. 

Page 1194



339 

 

Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities  

13.38 The identification and delivery of new waste management facilities will make a significant 

contribution towards meeting new capacity requirements set out above and will meet the 

aims and objectives of the Plan. 

Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities 

1. The preferred locations for waste management facilities are the Local Employment 
Areas shown on the Sandwell Local Plan Policies Map.  

2. All proposals for new waste management facilities should demonstrate how they 
will contribute to Strategic Objective 17 and the strategic objectives of Policy SWA1, 
such as the contribution they will make to landfill diversion, delivery of new waste 
management capacity and diversification of the range of facilities currently 
available.  

3. All applications for waste development will be expected to comply with the 
requirements in Policy SWA4. 

Justification 

13.39 The Sandwell Local Plan is a strategic plan and therefore it focuses on safeguarding 

strategic waste sites. The quantity of waste Sandwell is projected to manage (included 

imported waste) is predicted to increase from 1.75 million tonnes (mt) in 2021 to 2.1 mt in 

2040-41, equating to an increase of 23% or 1.1% per annum. The SLP will also need to give 

appropriate protection to other waste sites. 

13.40 Waste facilities are an essential part of the infrastructure of an area; hence provision must be 

made in the Local Plan to deliver facilities and enable the objectives of moving waste up the 

hierarchy.  

13.41 Certain forms of waste infrastructure are relatively specialised or of strategic scale or are in 

other ways particularly important in terms of the contribution they make to the overall 

network. However, and in combination, all facilities can contribute to delivering these 

objectives. 

13.42 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) requires the Waste Management Authorities to 

identify suitable sites and areas for waste management in Local Plan documents. Several 

specific locations were identified in the Black Country Waste Study 2020, where new waste 

management facilities could be located. 

Page 1195



340 

 

13.43 When deciding which areas should be allocated, waste planning authorities should assess 

their suitability against a range of criteria:  

a) the extent to which the site or area will support the other policies set out in the NPPW; 

b) physical and environmental constraints on development, including existing and 

proposed neighbouring land uses; 

c) the capacity of the existing and potential transport infrastructure to support the 

sustainable movement of waste and products arising from resource recovery, seeking 

when practicable and beneficial to use modes other than road transport, and; 

d) the cumulative impact of existing and proposed waste disposal facilities on the well-

being of local community, including any significant adverse impacts on environmental 

quality, social cohesion and inclusion or economic potential. 

13.44 The NPPW advises that when identifying suitable sites and areas for waste, waste planning 

authorities should consider opportunities for on-site management of waste where it arises. 

This is addressed in Policy SWA1. 

13.45 The NPPW also recommends looking at a broad range of locations for the development of 

new waste infrastructure, including industrial sites (particularly where there are opportunities 

to co-locate waste management facilities together). Priority should be given to the re-use of 

previously developed land, sites allocated for employment use and redundant agricultural 

buildings (NPPW, paragraph 4). 

13.46 As the strategy towards sustainable waste management involves broadening the range of 

waste management facilities available in the Black Country it is necessary to identify a range 

of opportunities that can accommodate different types of operation and technology. Many 

waste operations are similar to industrial processes and can be accommodated in Local 

Employment Areas.  

Identification of Preferred Sites 

13.47 It is not proposed to allocate specific sites for waste in the Local Plan because no new sites 

likely to be deliverable within the plan period have been identified, apart from sites that 

already have planning permission (NPPF, 16, 35, Annex 2). To have sufficient confidence to 

allocate a site, it would need to be actively promoted for a waste management use by the 

Council, a landowner and / or a commercial waste operator.  

Identification of Preferred Areas 

13.48 Several employment areas have been identified in the BCWS as being most suited to the 

development of new waste recovery, treatment, and transfer infrastructure. These sites were 

Page 1196



341 

 

identified through a three-stage screening process followed by an assessment of 

employment locations and selected sites promoted through the ‘call for sites’ which fell 

outside of the excluded areas181. 

13.49 Waste site options within the resulting ‘refined study area’ were then identified in 

consultation with the Council. These were then subjected to two further rounds of 

assessment: 

a) Stage 4: Positive Local Factors - using criteria similar to Stage 1 to identify 

characteristics likely to be attractive to waste operators and to encourage delivery of 

new waste infrastructure; and 

b) Stage 5: Detailed Non-Spatial Assessment – focusing on site constraints, potential 

land use conflicts and transport/ access constraints likely to be a potential barrier to 

delivery of new waste infrastructure. 

13.50 The results of the assessments are presented in Appendix M of the BCWS and are 

summarised in Table 5.10 of the main report. These areas are considered least likely to give 

rise to land use conflicts, and in several cases, there is already co-location of existing waste 

facilities to which new sites would contribute. 

Table 13 - Preferred Areas for new waste facilities in Sandwell 

Site 
Ref 

Address Potentially Suitable Waste Use [1]  Area 

M.4 Cornwall Road and Parkrose 

Industrial Estates, Soho 

Energy from waste treatment, in-vessel 

composting, anaerobic digestion, 

transfer, recycling 

60.1 

M.5 Tat Bank, Langley Energy from waste treatment, in-vessel 

composting, anaerobic digestion, 

transfer, recycling 

53.1 

M.6 Charles Street Enterprise Park, 

Queens Court Trading Estate, 

Swan Village 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, 

anaerobic digestion, transfer, recycling 

42.7 

                                                

181 BCWS (2020), paragraphs 5.2.3 – 5.2.15, tables 5.1 – 5.4 and figures 5.1 – 5.3 

Page 1197



342 

 

Site 
Ref 

Address Potentially Suitable Waste Use [1]  Area 

M.7 Hill Top and Bilport Lane 

Industrial Estates, Wednesbury 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, 

anaerobic digestion, transfer, recycling 

19.9 

M.8 Powke Lane and Waterfall 

Lane Trading Estates, Rowley 

Regis 

Treatment, in-vessel composting, 

anaerobic digestion, transfer, recycling 

46.1 

M.9 Dartmouth Road n/a 26.2 

13.51 While most types of waste facilities are likely to be acceptable in all Local Employment 

Areas, the list of facilities acceptable on Strategic Employment Areas is much shorter. They 

will normally be restricted to fully enclosed operations that fall within Use Classes B1 (c) or 

B2 and are already classified as employment uses, or sui generis operations that would be 

compatible with a Strategic Employment Area location and would not compromise existing or 

potential future employment uses falling within Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 or B8. 

13.52 Certain waste operations may be acceptable on employment land not identified as strategic 

or local employment areas for long-term retention in employment land use. However, given 

the status of these sites and the potential that they will be developed for a non-employment 

use, the Council is only likely to grant a temporary permission for waste development in 

these types of location. 

13.53 The policy recognises that some types of waste operation involve the processing of waste in 

the open air and are therefore unlikely to be suitable on employment sites; for example, the 

disposal of inert waste onto or into land. 

Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities  

13.54 The Black Country Waste Study has been undertaken to review the existing operating 

capacity of waste infrastructure across the Black Country and to assess future requirements 

over the Plan period.  

13.55 Steering waste management facilities towards the most suitable locations where they are 

likely to generate maximum benefits in terms of co-location, provide supporting infrastructure 

for other uses and minimise potential harmful effects on the environment and local 

communities, will support the strategic priorities of the Plan. 

Page 1198



343 

 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

Key Locational Considerations for All Waste Management Proposals 

1. Proposals should demonstrate how they will contribute to Strategic Objective 17 and 
the strategic objectives of Policy SWA1, such as the contribution they will make 
towards landfill diversion, delivery of new waste management capacity and 
diversification of the range of facilities currently available. 

2. Development for new-build waste management facilities182 should be focused in 
local employment areas and will be required to meet the following criteria: 

a) evidence the need for the facility; 

b) all waste processes and operations must be contained, processed and 
managed within buildings unless there are acceptable operational reasons why 
these processes cannot be contained in buildings; 

c) proposals must accord with other relevant Plan policies in relation to the 
protection of the environment and public amenity, or demonstrate that other 
material considerations outweigh any policy conflicts; 

d) consideration will be given to the potential impacts of waste management 
proposals on:  

i. minimising adverse visual impacts; 

ii. potential detrimental effects on the environment and public health; 

iii. generation of odours, litter, light, dust, and other infestation; 

iv. noise, excessive traffic and vibration; 

v. risk of serious fires through combustion of accumulated wastes; 

vi. harm to water quality and resources and flood risk management; 

vii. land instability; 

viii. land use conflict; proposals should demonstrate compatibility with the 
uses already present within / adjacent to the area; 

                                                

182  Waste development covers the use of any land or buildings for the storage, treatment, processing, transfer, bulking-up, 
recycling, recovery, or final deposit of any substance classified as 'waste'. 

Page 1199



344 

 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

ix. where necessary mitigation measures should be identified to reduce any 
adverse effects to an acceptable level.  

x. whether the proposal would provide opportunities for co-location of 
related uses and / or generate other benefits (for example; produce a 
range of waste types or streams, produce high quality aggregates or other 
useful raw materials, or supply heat and power or other forms of energy 
to adjacent uses). 

Waste Applications – Supporting Information 

3) Planning applications for waste development183 should include a supporting 
statement that clearly describes the key characteristics of the development. It should 
also explain how the development aligns with Strategic Objective 17 and the General 
Principles and Preferred Methods of managing waste in Policy SWA1. In particular, 
the application should explain the contribution the development would make 
towards driving waste up the waste hierarchy, supporting the development of a more 
circular economy, meeting the Black Country’s additional waste capacity 
requirements, and broadening the range of waste facilities currently available in the 
plan area. 

4) The following information should also be included in the supporting statement and / 
or on the planning application form: 

a) the type of waste facility or facilities proposed; 

b) the waste streams and types of waste to be managed; 

c) the types of operation to be carried out on the site; 

d) whether waste would be sourced locally, regionally or nationally;  

e) the maximum operational throughput in tonnes per annum; 

f) for waste disposal, the total void space to be infilled in cubic metres; 

g) the outputs from the operations, including waste residues; 

                                                

183 This includes applications for new build waste developments, changes of use to waste developments, applications for 
new operational development and other material changes to existing waste sites, and ‘s73’ applications to vary a 
condition attached to an existing waste permission 

Page 1200



345 

 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

h) the expected fate and destination of the outputs; 

i) the number of associated vehicular movements; 

j) the number of jobs created. 

Justification 

13.56 National policy guidance requires authorities to identify suitable areas for waste 

management in development plan documents. When deciding which ones should be 

chosen, their suitability should be assessed against a range of criteria, including physical 

and environmental constraints, cumulative impacts, and transport effects.  

13.57 Several broad locations suitable for the development of new waste management facilities in 

Sandwell have been identified in Table 13 of Policy SWA3. 

13.58 There are a number of spatial issues common to all waste management proposals that 

should be addressed in all cases. The relationship of a proposal to the strategy for waste, as 

set out in Strategic Objective 17 and Policy SWA1, is of paramount importance and all 

proposals should demonstrate how they will contribute towards this. They should also 

address other locational issues such a proximity to the source of waste, relationships to 

adjoining / neighbouring uses, visual impacts and other potential effects on the surrounding 

area. Potentially harmful environmental / amenity impacts will be minimised where 

operations are contained within a building or enclosure, so facilities should always be 

enclosed where feasible. 

13.59 As the strategy for sustainable waste management involves broadening the range of waste 

management facilities available in the area, it is necessary to identify a range of 

opportunities that can accommodate different types of operation and technology. 

13.60 Many of the waste management facilities have operations that are similar to industrial 

processes and therefore may be located in retained employment areas. Operators seeking a 

location for new waste management facilities should be focusing their search on areas to be 

retained as employment land and should avoid those areas proposed to change to housing. 

The Waste Study identifies several areas across the Black Country that are considered 

suitable for locating new waste management facilities. 

13.61 There are certain types of waste management facilities that require an open site (e.g., open 

window composting facilities) and will therefore be difficult to accommodate within the urban 

areas of Sandwell due to the lack of suitable sites. These types of facility are subject to strict 

Page 1201



346 

 

regulation by the Environment Agency and must be located at least 250m away from 

sensitive receptors. 

13.62 The last part of the policy sets out the criteria against which new waste management 

proposals will be assessed. 

Waste Applications – Supporting Information 

13.63 All waste applications should be accompanied by a supporting statement which provides a 

general description of the development. There are a number of other issues common to all 

waste developments that should also be addressed in all cases. For example, the 

relationship of the proposal to the strategy for waste and resources as set out in Strategic 

Objective 17 and in the general principles and preferred methods of managing waste in 

Policy SWA1 is of paramount importance, and all applications should explain how the 

proposed development is aligned with these principles.  

13.64 Applicants will be required to provide a certain amount of information about their proposed 

development on the planning application form, including information about the waste 

streams to be managed and the maximum annual throughput in tonnes and/ or void space in 

cubic metres. However, as the space available on the form is limited, a more comprehensive 

description of the proposed waste operations should be provided in the main supporting 

statement.  

13.65 To assist applicants, the policy sets out the key pieces of information they should provide to 

enable the Council to understand the types of operation proposed and the potential effects of 

the development on the environment and on the health, wellbeing and amenity of people 

living or working near the site. This information should be collated together into the summary 

included in the supporting statement.  

13.66 The most appropriate place to set out, describe in detail and assess such a proposal against 

relevant planning policies is within a Planning Statement. In addition, if the development 

requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (as it represents Schedule 1 or 2 

development), details should be included in an Environmental Statement. 

Resource Management and New Development 

13.67 Managing material resources – including waste - in a responsible way is an important 

element of sustainable development and will support Strategic Objective 17 of the Plan. 

Page 1202



347 

 

Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development 

Waste Management in new developments 

1. All new developments should;  

a. address waste as a resource; 

b. minimise waste as far as possible; 

c. design sites with resource and waste management in mind; 

d. manage unavoidable waste in a sustainable and responsible manner; and 

e. maximise use of materials with low environmental impacts. 

2. Where a proposal includes uses likely to generate significant amounts of waste, 
these should be managed either on-site or in as close a proximity as possible to the 
source of the waste. 

3. Resource and waste management requirements should be reflected in the design 
and layout of new development schemes. Wherever possible building, engineering 
and landscaping projects should use alternatives to primary aggregates, such as 
secondary and recycled materials, renewable and locally sourced products and 
materials with low environmental impacts. Consideration should also be given to 
how waste will be managed within the development once it is in use.  

4. Where redevelopment of existing buildings or structures and / or remediation of 
derelict land is proposed, construction, demolition and excavation wastes (CD&EW) 
should be managed on-site where feasible and as much material as possible should 
be recovered and re-used for engineering or building either on-site or elsewhere. 

Justification 

13.68 The management of material resources including waste in a responsible way is an important 

element of sustainable development. This policy sets out general principles on waste 

management and resource efficiency to be addressed by new developments, including 

requirements to manage large amounts of waste on site or nearby, recycle and re-use 

products as far as possible. 

13.69 The waste hierarchy ranks waste management options according to what is best for the 

environment. It gives top priority to preventing waste arising in the first place. When waste is 

created, it gives priority to preparing it for re-use, then recycling, then recovery, and finally 

disposal (e.g., landfill). 

Page 1203



348 

 

13.70 Achieving zero waste growth and driving waste up the waste hierarchy are important 

objectives of national policy guidance and the strategy for waste management in Sandwell. 

Delivering on site-waste management of waste and making better use of waste generated 

through development are critical to the delivery of these objectives.  

13.71 The scale of development across Sandwell presents a major opportunity to influence 

decisions over how resources are managed and to develop a more integrated and holistic 

approach towards this at a local level. This policy sets out the minimum requirements for 

planning applications for all developments to demonstrate how they have addressed waste 

and resource issues. 

13.72 Residential developments should include adequate storage for recyclable and non-

recyclable waste pending collection, including storage for recyclable wastes and access for 

waste collection vehicles.  

13.73 The resources and waste management requirements of businesses will be an important 

consideration in development projects to improve employment areas, town, and district 

centres. Where feasible, regeneration schemes should include provision for on-site waste 

management. 

13.74 Where organisations are generating significant amounts of a particular type of waste, which 

is not currently managed in Sandwell, consideration should be given towards waste being 

disposed of or being recovered at the nearest appropriate facility(s). 

13.75 Opportunities for symbiosis – matching waste producers with organisations who might have 

a use for the waste produced - should be explored.  

MINERALS 

13.76 Local plans are expected to make sufficient provision for all forms of development, including 

for minerals. The policies for minerals in this section also support the overall Vision, 

Objectives and Priorities by ensuring that in 2041, Sandwell will: 

• Use mineral resources responsibly, including maximising the use of alternatives to 

maintain a supply of minerals and mineral products to support the local economy and 

growth;  

• Ensure that other development does not needlessly prevent mineral resources from 

being worked in the future if it is feasible and economically viable to do so; and  

• Manage and use mineral products in ways that avoids significantly harming the 

environment and the health and wellbeing of local communities. 

Page 1204



349 

 

13.77 Planning policies for minerals should provide for the extraction of minerals of “local and 

national importance” (NPPF paragraph 210). While sand and gravel, brick clay and fireclay 

occur naturally in Sandwell, it does not produce any primary minerals. For minerals planning 

purposes, past trends and future provision is planned at the West Midlands Metropolitan 

Area (WMMA)184 level. 

13.78 Despite not producing any minerals itself, it is possible that in some parts of Sandwell there 

remain mineral resources that are effectively sterilised by their location in an urban area, 

hence the need for minerals policies in the SLP. As with all unitary authorities, Sandwell is 

also the minerals planning authority for the borough. 

13.79 Mineral Planning Authorities are expected to maintain a landbank of at least seven years of 

permitted reserves of sand and gravel (NPPF paragraph 213) to ensure a steady and 

adequate supply of aggregates for the construction industry. This means that sites with 

planning permission for sand and gravel extraction need to have enough minerals left in 

them to sustain the expected demand over the whole of the plan period plus seven years 

beyond that.  

Construction Aggregates - Expected Demand over the Plan Period 

13.80 Current national policy guidance on minerals identifies past sales as an indicator of current 

demand for aggregate minerals (NPPF paragraph 207), but as it is not necessarily a reliable 

indicator of future demand, “other relevant local information” should also be considered 

when planning for future supplies.  

13.81 Data on historic sales of aggregates within the WMMA is contained in the West Midlands 

Aggregates Working Party (AWP) annual monitoring reports, as informed by the annual 

aggregates monitoring survey. The latest information available relates to the 2021 calendar 

year. Sales data for the ten years from 2012 - 2021 and average (mean) sales over the ten-

year period are shown in Table 14, compared to the indicative ‘apportionment’ for the 

WMMA and the annual requirement from the WMMA LAA 2015. Production of data for 

specific sites is regarded as commercially confidential, so in line with what has been agreed 

by the AWP, figures are provided only for total annual production in the WMMA rather than 

for individual Mineral Planning Authorities.  

                                                

184  The West Midlands Metropolitan Area (WMMA) comprises the seven unitary authorities of Birmingham, Coventry, 
Dudley, Sandwell, Solihull, Walsall, and Wolverhampton and for minerals planning purposes, past trends and future 
provision is planned at the WMMA level. 

Page 1205



350 

 

13.82 The economic recession has clearly had a significant effect on sales of sand and gravel in 

the WMMA and wider West Midlands region over the ten years up to 2017, which was the 

latest information available at the time the 2020 Black Country Minerals Study was prepared.  

Table 14 - ten-year rolling average annual sand and gravel sales in the WMMA 2011 - 2021 
(million tonnes) 

Year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Annual Sales 0.401 0.46 0.49 0.5 0.53 0.58 0.48 0.36 0.26 0.39 0.51 

Apportionment 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 

Deviation (+/-) -0.15 -0.09 -0.06 -0.05 +0.09 +0.14 +0.04 -0.08 -0.18 -0.05 +0.07 

10 Year Period Total 10 Year Sales (MT) 10 Year Average (mean) Sales (MT) 

2012 – 2021 4.56 0.456 

Source: WMMA LAA 2023 

13.83 Based on the last ten-year average sales figure, the WMMA would need to identify nearly 13 

million tonnes of permitted sand and gravel reserves and other potential sand and gravel 

resources to provide a ‘rolling’ landbank over the Black Country Plan period. Table 16 below 

shows how this has been calculated. 

13.84 Another indicator of current demand for construction aggregates in the WMMA is provided by 

the national aggregate minerals surveys, which record consumption of construction 

aggregates by region and sub-region. The last survey to have been carried out in 2014 

found that the WMMA consumed around 1.9 million tonnes of sand and gravel and around 

one million tonnes of crushed rock in that year.  

Table 15 - Sand and Gravel – WMMA Landbank Requirement December 2017 

Sand and Gravel Landbank Requirement in West Midlands Million tonnes 

Ten-year average sales 2012 – 2021 0.46 

20-year requirement to the end of the BCP Period in 2041185 (ten-year average sales x 

20 years)  
9.20 

Requirement for Landbank (ten-year average sales x seven years) 3.22 

                                                

185  Trends in annual sales and landbank supplies of construction aggregates are monitored by calendar year (1 January – 
31 December) rather than by the usual monitoring years (1 April – 31 March), therefore the sand and gravel 
requirement for the plan period runs from the 2019 calendar year to the 2039 calendar year. 

Page 1206



351 

 

Sand and Gravel Landbank Requirement in West Midlands Million tonnes 

Total Landbank Requirement (20 years + 7 Years) 12.44 

Source: WMMA LAA 2023 

13.85 Reliable consumption figures for the pre-recession period are not available for the WMMA. 

However, data from the 2005 national survey indicates that Birmingham and the Black 

Country alone consumed at least one million tonnes of sand and gravel and at least 1.7 

million tonnes of crushed rock186. 

13.86 The planned housing and employment growth in Sandwell over the plan period will increase 

the demand for minerals and will impact on mineral consumption. However, as established in 

the 2020 Black Country Minerals Study, it is difficult to quantify what the projected housing 

and employment growth mean in terms of the amount of minerals that needs to be planned 

for, specifically construction aggregates. The minerals provision in this plan will therefore be 

continually monitored in conjunction with continued liaison with those Minerals Planning 

Authorities who form the wider West Midlands region.  

13.87 Notwithstanding the above, the requirement to maintain a ‘rolling’ landbank over Sandwell’s 

Local Plan period of nearly 13 million tonnes for sand and gravel (as set out in Table 15) 

remains unaffected. 

Sand and Gravel Supply 

13.88 Solihull is the only authority in the sub-region with workable sand and gravel resources. 

13.89 At the end of 2017, Solihull had nearly four million tonnes of permitted sand and gravel 

reserves. However, a high proportion of these reserves are expected to be sterilised by HS2, 

and this has already led to the closure of one site (Stonebrook Quarry). It is therefore 

unlikely that Solihull will be able to sustain the same rates of sand and gravel sales seen 

over the last ten years, at least in the short-term until new sites come forward. 

Crushed Rock Supply 

13.90 The last quarry in the Black Country to produce crushed rock (dolerite), Edwin Richards in 

Sandwell, closed in 2008. As detailed in the 2020 Black Country Minerals Study, there are 

                                                

186  CLG (2007), Collation of the results of the 2005 Aggregate Minerals Survey for England and Wales, Table 11. This 
does not include any apportionment of the sales assigned to the West Midlands only, some of which must have been 
consumed in Birmingham and the Black Country. 

Page 1207



352 

 

no winnable crushed rock resources remaining anywhere in the Black Country, therefore no 

provision is identified for this mineral. 

13.91 Coating plants and construction projects in Sandwell are expected to continue to rely on 

imports of crushed rock from outside the area. The latest information available suggests that 

most of the crushed rock imported into the West Midlands Metropolitan Area is imported 

from Leicestershire, Shropshire, and Derbyshire. 

Supply of Secondary and Recycled Aggregates 

13.92 Secondary and recycled aggregate sites expected to continue in production up to the end of 

the plan period will be safeguarded (Policy SMI1). Due regard should also be had to the 

relevant Sandwell Local Plan waste policies (Policy SWA5). 

Mineral Safeguarding 

13.93 This policy sets out how mineral resources in Sandwell, and sites that are expected to be 

producing, processing or transporting minerals and mineral products, will be protected from 

other types of development that could compromise their continued operation over the plan 

period. 

Policy SMI1 - Minerals Safeguarding 

1. Mineral deposits that are identified as being, or may become of, economic 
importance will be safeguarded from unnecessary sterilisation. 

2. Where development is proposed, encouragement will be given to the extraction of 
the mineral resource prior to or in conjunction with, development, where this would 
not have unacceptable impacts on neighbouring uses. Developments over five 
hectares should be accompanied by supporting information (as set out in the 
Justification) demonstrating that mineral resources will not be needlessly sterilised.  

Secondary and Recycled Aggregates 

3. At the end of 2017 Sandwell was estimated to be producing around 330,000 tonnes of 
secondary and recycled aggregates per annum at permitted production sites. As a 
minimum, Sandwell will aim to maintain this level of production throughout the plan 
period. In support of this, permitted secondary and recycled aggregate sites 
expected to continue in production up to 2041 will be safeguarded. 

4. The location of all permitted mineral infrastructure sites in Sandwell, are identified 
on the Policies Map and these sites are also listed below. Applications for 

Page 1208



353 

 

Policy SMI1 - Minerals Safeguarding 

development within a 150m buffer zone of these sites will need to demonstrate they 
will not have any unacceptable impacts on these sites that would prevent them from 
continuing to operate. 

Justification 

13.94 To prevent the unnecessary sterilisation of minerals resources the prior extraction of these 

resources is encouraged where non-mineral development is proposed (except for 

conversions /changes of use that do not involve any new building or excavation works).  

13.95 Mineral sterilisation issues will only generally come into play when larger development sites 

are concerned, i.e., those generally above five hectares, and such developments should be 

accompanied by supporting information demonstrating that mineral resources will not be 

needlessly sterilised. The supporting information should include details of a prior extraction 

scheme or, where this is not considered feasible, evidence that: 

a) mineral resources are either not present, are of no economic value or have already 

been extracted as a result of a previous site reclamation scheme or other 

development; or 

b) extraction of minerals is not feasible, for example due to significant overburden or 

because mineral extraction would lead to or exacerbate ground instability; or 

c) prior extraction of minerals would result in abnormal costs and / or delays which 

would jeopardise the viability of the development; or 

d) there is an overriding need for the development which outweighs the need to 

safeguard the mineral resources present; or 

e) extraction of minerals would have unacceptable impacts on neighbouring uses, the 

amenity of local communities or other important environmental assets. 

13.96 Where prior extraction is proposed, conditions will be imposed on any grant of permission 

requiring applicants to provide details of the types and tonnages of minerals extracted once 

the scheme has been completed.  

Mineral Processing Infrastructure in Sandwell 

13.97 As mineral infrastructure facilities are an essential part of the total infrastructure of the area, 

it is not only important that they are appropriately located but also there is policy protection 

applied to these sites to help maintain an adequate and steady supply of minerals. 

Page 1209



354 

 

Table 16 - Key Mineral Infrastructure 

Site 
Ref 

Site  Location Type 

MIS1 Anytime Concrete West Bromwich Concrete batching plant 

MIS2 Bescot LDC Depot Wednesbury Rail-related aggregates depot 

MIS2 
Bescot LDC Depot and Rail 

Ballast Facility 

Bescot, 

Wednesbury 
Aggregates recycling 

MIS3 
Breedon Oldbury Concrete 

Plant 
Oldbury Concrete batching plant 

MIS4 
CEMEX Concrete Batching 

Plant 
Oldbury Concrete batching plant 

MIS5 
Former Hanson Site (West 

Bromwich) 
West Bromwich Aggregates recycling 

MIS6 
Hanson Ready Mixed 

Concrete Plant 
Oldbury Concrete batching plant 

MIS7 Wednesbury Asphalt Plant Wednesbury Coating plant 

MIS8 Cradley Special Brick Cradley Heath Brickworks 

MIS9 Oldfields Cradley Heath Aggregates recycling 

MIS10 Metamix Tipton Concrete batching plant 

Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

13.98 This policy sets out the requirements that planning applications for potential mineral 

working and minerals infrastructure will be expected to address. The policy identifies some 

general requirements that any potential mineral development proposals will need to satisfy, 

and then lists several additional criteria against which such proposals will be further 

assessed. The policy applies to both proposals at existing sites and those at new ones. 

Page 1210



355 

 

Policy SMI2 - Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

General Requirements for Minerals Developments 

1. When working ceases, all plant and equipment should be removed, and sites 
should be restored as soon as possible. 

2. The working, processing or recycling of minerals must accord with all other 
policies in relation to the protection of the environment, public amenity and health, 
and surrounding land uses as set out in this plan or in any other adopted 
development plan – or otherwise demonstrate that other material considerations 
outweigh any policy conflict.  

3. Subject to other policies within the Plan, planning permission will be granted for 
built development within the Consideration Zones around Coneygre Mine and 
Blackham Mine, where the applicant is able to demonstrate that a collapse in the 
mine would not prejudice public safety or compromise the structural integrity of the 
proposed structures.  

4. Proposals should address the impact of transporting minerals and mineral 
products on the highway network and should be accompanied by a Transport 
Assessment if generating a significant number of vehicle movements.  

Additional Assessment Criteria for Minerals Developments 

5. In addition to the general requirements set out above, proposals for mineral 
working or mineral-related infrastructure at both new and existing sites will be 
further assessed in terms of: 

a) minimising any adverse visual impacts; 

b) effects on natural, built, and historic (including archaeological) environments 
and on public health; 

c) generation of noise, dust, vibration, lighting, and excessive vehicle 
movements;  

d) compatibility with neighbouring uses – taking into account the nature of the 
operations, hours of working, the timing and duration of operations and any 
cumulative effects;  

e) harm to water quality and resources and flood risk management; 

Page 1211



356 

 

Policy SMI2 - Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

f) ground conditions and land stability; 

g) land use conflict – proposals should demonstrate compatibility with the uses 
already present within the surrounding area; 

h) impacts on the highway, transport, and drainage network;  

i) where necessary, mitigation measures should be identified to reduce any 
adverse effects to an acceptable level. 

Justification 

General Requirements for Mineral Developments 

13.99 This policy sets out the general requirements that will apply to all proposals involving the 

development of mineral infrastructure and mineral working. 

13.100 Mineral infrastructure proposals are defined as storage, handling, and processing facilities 

(such as depots and recycling facilities) and transportation facilities (such as rail sidings, 

rail heads and canal wharves). Mineral working proposals (of which there are currently 

none in Sandwell) include activities such as prior extraction in advance of a redevelopment 

scheme, extensions to existing quarries, new quarries, borrow pits, stockpiles, and 

exploitation of coal bed methane. 

13.101 Mineral developments differ and early discussion with the Council is recommended to 

clarify the scope and detail of information that will be required. It will be important that the 

applicant demonstrates the proposal to be consistent with national policy guidance and the 

overall Spatial Strategy. 

Environment and Amenity 

13.102 Impacts need to be carefully managed, to maintain the environmental quality and amenity 

of neighbouring uses. For example, proposals should consider the potential: 

a) impacts on air quality arising from the transportation of material or dust and particles 

from excavation and processing; 

b) impacts on important environmental assets such as sites designated for their 

importance for biodiversity / geodiversity, historic buildings, conservation areas, and 

important archaeological remains; 

c) visual impacts on the local landscape, particularly on prominent and highly visible 

sites; 

Page 1212



357 

 

d) impacts on local communities (including their health) near to mineral handling or 

production sites. 

Cumulative Impacts 

13.103 The cumulative impact on the amenity of local communities already affected by quarrying is 

also an important issue. One of the main sources of complaint is noise and dust from heavy 

goods vehicles, so haulage routes should minimise these impacts where possible. Without 

proper management and mitigation, a concentration of quarries and related activities may 

make particular areas less attractive to live in. 

Transportation 

13.104 There is little scope for the transportation of minerals by modes other than road in the Black 

Country, as the rail network does not reach the main mineral resource areas, and the canal 

network is generally not considered suitable for transporting minerals other than on a short-

term temporary basis. Nevertheless, and in the interests of moving towards more 

sustainable transport, proposals should consider the potential for moving mineral products 

by rail or inland waterways where feasible. 

  

Page 1213



358 

 

14. Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy 

14.1 Within Sandwell there are a range of areas that contain constraints that could affect 

development. 

Hazardous Installations and Substances 

14.2 Major accidents at sites storing hazardous substances are rare, but when they do occur the 

effects on people living nearby can be devastating. The planning system seeks to manage 

the prevention and limitation of major accidents from hazardous installations and substances 

through three processes. 

Hazardous substances consent 

14.3 The storage or use of hazardous substances at or above defined limits requires hazardous 

substances consent. Applications for hazardous substances consent should be made to the 

relevant hazardous substances authority. This is Sandwell Council as the local planning 

authority.  

The plan-making process 

14.4 Sandwell Council as local planning authority is required to have regard to the prevention of 

major accidents and limiting their consequences when preparing Local Plans. The Council 

must also consider the long-term need for appropriate distances between hazardous 

establishments and population or environmentally sensitive areas. The Council must also 

consider whether additional measures for existing establishments are required so that risks 

to people in the area are not increased. 

The determination of planning applications 

14.5 Sandwell Council as local planning authority is expected to seek technical advice from the 

Health and Safety Executive and Environment Agency on the risks presented by major 

accident hazards affecting people in the surrounding area and the environment when 

considering development proposals around hazardous installations. Those risks will be given 

appropriate weight and will be balanced against other relevant planning considerations when 

determining applications for planning permission. 

  Policy SCO1 - Hazardous Installations and Substances 

1. The Council will seek the reduction or removal of the hazardous component of 
notified installations. Where any existing or proposed industrial development 
presents a significant potential hazard to the health and safety of employees, or to 

Page 1214



359 

 

  Policy SCO1 - Hazardous Installations and Substances 

people living and working in the surrounding area, the Council will seek either a 
reduction in the risk or its elimination. 

2. The Council will use its powers under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 
1990 (or any subsequent legislative powers that supersede this Act) to revoke or 
modify a hazardous substances consent where either the consent has not been 
relied upon for five years or where all potential claimants for compensation indicate 
that they will not seek compensation. 

3. The Council will oppose the expansion of existing hazardous installations unless it 
can be demonstrated that consent will not:  

a. increase the population at risk or the level of risk itself; or  

b. adversely impact on the potential for development and / or redevelopment of 
adjoining land. 

4. The Council will consult the Health and Safety Executive, the Environment Agency 
and other relevant bodies on all applications for hazardous substances consent 
and planning permission in the consultation zones around hazardous premises as 
may be notified from time to time to the Council by the Health and Safety Executive.  

5. The Council will not grant either planning permission or hazardous substances 
consent for new development that when operational will:  

a. result in a significant increase to the risk or consequences of a major incident; 
and / or 

b. adversely impact on the potential for development / redevelopment of adjoining 
land.  

Justification 

14.6 The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 requires consent to be granted for the 

storage and use of certain toxic, explosive, inflammable, highly reactive and hazardous 

substances. The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2015 sets out the 

hazardous substances and their controlled quantities that require consent. Nevertheless, the 

application of these regulations cannot guarantee that there will be no residual risk to people 

in the vicinity, meaning that the risk remains unavoidable despite all legally required 

measures being taken to prevent and mitigate the impacts of a major accident. 

Page 1215



360 

 

14.7 To address this, the Council will exercise a degree of control over the presence of hazardous 

substances through the development control system, where these products are directly 

associated with a proposed development. However, there are situations where hazardous 

substances may be introduced onto a site, or used in a different way within it, without there 

being any associated development requiring planning permission. The provisions fill the gap 

in planning control by enabling specific control to be exercised over the presence of 

hazardous substances whether associated development is involved or not. The Council must 

decide if, in the light of the residual risk and having regard to the existing and prospective 

uses of a site and its surroundings, the proposed presence of a hazardous substance is an 

appropriate land use for that site. 

14.8 Where planning permission is required in addition, because the proposed storage or use of a 

hazardous substance is associated with a development proposal, two separate applications 

and approvals will be necessary. The Council will wish to ensure that related applications for 

hazardous substances consent and for planning permission are dealt with together. 

14.9 The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) must be consulted on every application for 

hazardous substances consent and will assess the risks arising to persons in the vicinity 

from the presence of a hazardous substance. But the decision on whether those risks are 

tolerable in the context of existing and potential uses of neighbouring land is one to be made 

by the local planning authority. Hence, the Act confers responsibility for determining 

applications for hazardous substances consent, for vetting claims for deemed consent and 

for enforcing the controls on the local planning authority. The HSE is responsible for notifying 

local planning authorities of the relevant consultation zones around sites where certain 

hazardous substances are present. Applicants can use the Health and Safety Executive 

Planning Advice web app to determine whether a proposal is within a consultation zone.  

14.10 The types of development within the consultation zone on which HSE should be consulted 

include all residential development; retail, office and industrial development above a 

specified floor area; and any development likely to result in a material increase in the 

number of persons working within or visiting the notified area.  

14.11 Sandwell Council is concerned with stabilising and reducing the population at risk from 

hazardous substances. Consequently, it will oppose applications which will increase the 

population at risk, or put at risk vulnerable groups, and will seek the reduction or removal of 

the hazardous component of notified installations. 

14.12 As with planning permission, hazardous substance consent provides an entitlement that runs 

with the land; as a general principle, it is considered that compensation should normally be 

Page 1216



361 

 

payable when loss or damage results from a revocation or modification. However, it may be 

undesirable for a hazardous substances consent to continue to have effect when it has fallen 

into disuse, as it could restrict unnecessarily the uses to which neighbouring land can be put 

or continue to impose onerous requirements on those who benefit from the consent. 

Consequently, the Council will use its powers under Section 14 to revoke consent, when 

appropriate, and when compensation is not payable. 

Pollution Control 

14.13 Sandwell Council aims to protect existing and future residents of the borough and the 

environment from the effects of pollution, both existing and that originating from new 

development. Controlling pollution appropriately can contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development by fulfilling environmental objectives to minimise pollution and 

social objectives to support healthy communities.  

Policy SCO2 - Pollution Control 

1. Development proposals that are likely to cause or increase pollution or expose their 
occupants, users or adjacent residents to new or increased pollution will only be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that sufficient mitigation measures are 
available and will be used to minimise harmful impacts to a level that protects the 
health and amenity of people and the environment. Measures that seek to eliminate 
existing pollution sources or reduce existing levels of pollution will be supported. 

2. Development proposals must not, either individually or cumulatively, contribute to 
or produce poor air quality, odour nuisance and / or unacceptable levels of 
emissions from commercial and industrial premises that could cause detriment to 
local amenity. Proposals should be designed to reduce the exposure of occupants 
and users of the development to poor air quality and mitigate the effects of all 
relevant pollution sources187. The Council will seek to improve air quality across the 
borough (Policy SHW3). Proposals that include measures to improve air quality will 
be supported.  

3. Development proposals that incorporate artificial lighting must have regard to the 
siting, design and luminance of external lighting sources, and the relationship 

                                                

187  Further guidance in relation to air quality is provided by policy SHW  

 

Page 1217



362 

 

Policy SCO2 - Pollution Control 

between light spill and the design of the scheme, to avoid adversely affecting local 
amenity and nature conservation188. Measures should be employed to ensure 
external lighting is only used when required.  

4. Development proposals must not give rise to noise and vibration at such levels that 
they are likely to adversely impact health and quality of life, both during the 
construction of development and following its completion.  

5. Development proposals that are sensitive to noise should not be located within an 
area of existing high levels of noise unless it has been demonstrated that noise 
impacts can be satisfactorily mitigated by the design and layout of the scheme, and 
/ or the incorporation of insulation, including acoustic glazing.  

6. The ‘agent of change’ principle set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
will be applied when determining applications for planning permission.  

Justification 

14.14 The NPPF requires planning policies to prevent new and existing development from 

contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 

unacceptable levels of air, water or noise pollution189. 

14.15 The whole of Sandwell Borough was declared an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 

July 2005 due to likely exceedances of the Air Quality Objective for Nitrogen Dioxide of 40 

micrograms per cubic metre (ug/m3) 190. The Borough has historically had poor air quality 

due to industrial emissions; however, air quality has improved due to cleaner technology and 

the closure of many traditional heavy industrial premises. The main concern now is traffic-

related pollution, due to high traffic volume and the presence of the busy M5 and M6 

motorway networks191.  

                                                

188  See also Policy SNE* - habitats 
189  NPPF (2021) paragraph 174, section (e) 
190  https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=222  
191  https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200274/pollution/485/air_quality  

 

Page 1218

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=222
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200274/pollution/485/air_quality


363 

 

14.16 National planning guidance states that odour can be a planning concern because of its effect 

on local amenity192. The Institute of Air Quality Management’s guidance on the assessment 

of odour for planning (revised in 2018) explains that there must be odour exposure before an 

adverse effect can occur193. Odour exposure requires the presence of all three links in the 

source-pathway-receptor chain194. Removing a link within the chain can prevent odour 

exposure.  

14.17 National planning guidance also explains that light pollution can be a source of annoyance to 

people, can be harmful to wildlife and can undermine enjoyment of the countryside or the 

night sky195. It states that the planning system can ensure that external lighting 

arrangements are deemed appropriately from the outset. Applications for planning 

permission that introduce new external lighting sources may require sufficient information for 

the local planning authority to assess the impact of the lighting proposals. The Council may 

require the incorporation of lighting shields and baffles into the design of new external 

lighting proposals to mitigate against any negative impacts of the lighting.  

14.18 Sandwell Council will seek to safeguard the health and quality of life of its residents by 

refusing applications for planning permission that would give rise to unacceptable levels of 

noise and vibration, both during construction and following the completion of development. 

The Council’s validation checklist for planning applications sets out the situations in which an 

application for planning permission should be accompanied by a noise impact assessment. 

Such assessments should be carried out and reported in accordance with current 

authoritative guidance, British Standard and best practice by a competent person. 

Appropriate mitigation and / or remedial measures should be identified and secured through 

planning conditions and / or obligations. 

14.19 The local planning authority will apply the ‘agent of change’ principle set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework to ensure that new development does not place unreasonable 

restrictions on the functioning of existing businesses and community facilities 

                                                

192  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3  
193  http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/odour-guidance-2014.pdf  
194  The source of pollution is the activity that leads to the pollutants being released. The pathway is the part of the 

environment that a pollutant travels along on its journey towards the receptor. The receptor is the thing that is being 
harmed by the source, e.g., humans, trees, wildlife and non-living items such as a monument or building. 

195  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/light-pollution  

Page 1219

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3
http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/odour-guidance-2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/light-pollution


364 

 

Land contamination and instability  

14.20 Much of the land within Sandwell has been impacted by historic heavy industry, 

contaminating uses and the extensive mining of mineral resources using small open pits and 

underground pits. This has left a legacy of poor quality and unstable land, with ground 

conditions varying greatly over relatively small distances within the borough.  

14.21 The presence of contamination or ground instability can affect the use of land; however, 

development can help address these issues and bring the land back into beneficial use. 

  Policy SCO3 - Land contamination and instability 

1. Planning permission will be granted for development on:  

a. land that is unstable;  

b. land that is contaminated or suspected of being contaminated due to its 
historic use or geology; or  

c. land that will potentially become contaminated as a result of the 
development;  

subject to the submission of satisfactory information relating to ground conditions 
and the presence of ground gas, and full details of the assessment and remedial 
measures that will be used to deal with instability and contaminants.  

2. The assessment must demonstrate that:  

a. there will be no significant harm, or any risk of significant harm, to the health 
and wellbeing of people and the environment;  

b. there will be no current likelihood, or future risk, that watercourses and 
groundwater will become contaminated; and 

c. any necessary remedial action is undertaken to safeguard users of the land 
or neighbouring land both during the construction of development and 
following occupation.  

3. The Council will support the reclamation and remediation of derelict, despoiled, 
degraded and contaminated land as part of the ongoing regeneration of the 
borough. 

Page 1220



365 

 

Justification   

14.22 The NPPF requires planning policies to prevent new and existing development from 

contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, land 

instability196. Planning policies should also enhance the environment by supporting the 

remediation and mitigation of despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, 

where appropriate197. 

14.23 Most applications for planning permission will be expected to provide a desk-based study of 

ground conditions as a minimum requirement. Applicants should refer to the Council’s 

validation checklist and seek advice from officers to determine the need for and scope of a 

desk-based study and / or intrusive site investigation. Regard should be had to the potential 

for migrating contaminants, and the possible presence of ground gas from historic landfill 

and mining sites. A land stability or slope stability risk assessment may be required where 

unstable ground is known or suspected198. 

14.24 Sandwell Council will consult the Coal Authority on applications for planning permission 

within a Development High Risk Area199 unless the application is an exempt one. 

Applications for planning permission within a Development High Risk Area will need to be 

accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment, again unless the proposed development is 

exempted.  

14.25 The Council will impose conditions and / or obligations on the grant of planning consent to 

ensure satisfactory information is provided in relation to ground conditions, and that agreed 

remedial action is completed prior to the occupation of development. 

  

                                                

196  NPPF (2021) paragraph 174, section (e) 
197  NPPF (2021) paragraph 174, section (f) 
198 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/land-stability  
199 https://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html  

Page 1221

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/land-stability
https://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html


366 

 

15. Development Management  

15.1 The following section contains policies designed to provide guidance for householders, 

business owners and others wanting to undertake development in Sandwell.  

Design Quality 

15.2 High quality design is an essential element both in placemaking and in reflecting the 

distinctive character of the area and will help deliver the Strateic Objectives by setting 

challenging but appropriate standards. Achieving sustainable development is fundamental to 

the Vision for transforming Sandwell environmentally, socially and economically. Each part of 

the borough is distinct and successful place-making will depend on understanding and 

responding to their unique identities through high-quality and sensitive design proposals. 

Development proposals will be expected to deliver successful urban regeneration and 

expansion through high quality design that provides economic, social and environmental 

benefits. 

15.3 Innovative modern design will also have a significant part to play in mitigating and adapting 

to climate change. This is achieved by ensuring that buildings and landscaping are designed 

to offer comfortable and attractive living environments reflecting local traditional design 

qualities and features, while also addressing issues around climate change in the form of the 

use of green energy technologies, a reduction in carbon generation and the efficient and 

effective use of water, planting and materials.  

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

1) Developments must be designed to high standards and should create a strong sense 
of place and reflect Sandwell’s unique character. They must address as appropriate: 

a) the topography, townscapes and landscapes of Sandwell;  

b) the need to maintain strategic gaps and views, including to and from the 
Rowley Hills;  

c) the built and natural settings of development; 

d) the need to ensure that domestic extensions should generally be subservient 
and proportionate to the existing dwelling and should be in keeping with their 
surroundings by virtue of their scale, architecture and materials. 

e) the treatment of ‘gateway’ opportunities where they occur in key locations; 

Page 1222



367 

 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

f) Sandwell’s industrial and domestic architecture;  

g) the need to ensure development has no harmful impacts on key environmental 
and historic assets, townscapes and locations and that wherever possible it 
contributes to the conservation and enhancement of environmental and 
historic assets and their settings; 

h) the presence of canals in Sandwell’s urban environments and the opportunities 
they offer for design, accessibility, the environment and technology; 

i) the matter of land instability where this is an issue in relation to specific 
development proposals. 

2) Development proposals must demonstrate that the following have been addressed in 
design and access statements that reflect their Sandwell-specific context:  

a) the ten characteristics of the National Design Guide200, to provide a high-quality 
network of streets, buildings and spaces; 

b) the principles of Manual for Streets201, to ensure urban streets and spaces 
provide a high-quality public realm and an attractive, safe and permeable 
movement network; 

c) use of the Building for a Healthy Life202 criteria (or subsequent iterations) and 
Sandwell’s local housing design codes, masterplans and guidance for new 
housing developments, to achieve high design standards, good place-making 
and sustainable development; 

d) crime prevention measures, Secured by Design and Park Mark principles and 
the requirements of Part Q of the Building Regulations 2010 or any successor 
legislation; 

                                                

200  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide  
201  Current and future iterations - https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-

streets/  
202  https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life  

 

Page 1223

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-streets/
https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-streets/
https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life


368 

 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

e) the agent of change203 principle, in relation to existing uses adjacent to 
proposed development sites. 

3) Major development proposals should contribute to the greening of Sandwell by:  

a) including urban greening204 as a fundamental element of site and building 
design;  

b) incorporating measures such as high-quality landscaping and tree planting205, 
other soft landscaping, green roofs, green walls and sustainable drainage and 
conserving existing green spaces and natural resources;  

c) optimising the use of multi-functional green infrastructure (including water 
features, green roofs and planting) for urban cooling, local flood risk 
management and to provide access to outdoor space and shading.  

4) Development must not cause an adverse impact on the living environment of 
occupiers of existing residential properties, or unacceptable living conditions for 
future occupiers of new residential properties, in terms of: 

a) privacy and overlooking  

b) access to sunlight and daylight; 

c) artificial lighting; 

d) vibration; 

e) dust and fumes; 

f) smell; 

g) noise; 

h) crime and safety; and / or 

i) wind, where the proposals involve the development of tall buildings. 

                                                

203  Paragraph 187 of the NPPF (2021) states that both planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (e.g., places of worship, 
pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Unreasonable restrictions should not be placed on existing businesses because 
of development permitted after they were established. 

204  e.g., landscaping, provision of formal / informal open space, habitat creation and improvement, tree planting, certain 
forms of infrastructure such as types of SuDS etc. in urban locations 

205  Including street trees where appropriate and in accordance with other policies of the SLP 

Page 1224



369 

 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

5) To improve the quality and perception of the public realm in Sandwell, the Council 
will encourage the promotion of public art, subject to appropriate public consultation 
and in accordance with other relevant policies. Where new development changes or 
creates public spaces, the Council will welcome the provision of public art as part of 
the proposal. 

Justification 

15.4 Urban areas, settlements, towns and villages in the Black Country all possess their own 

distinct character. Successful place-making will depend on understanding and responding to 

these unique localities and supporting the delivery of high-quality design proposals that are 

complementary to local character and vernacular.  

15.5 High-quality design will help to stimulate economic, social and environmental benefits, 

including ensuring that new homes and other buildings are designed and built to help to 

mitigate and minimise climate change impacts. Ensuring good design is embedded across 

Sandwell will help support regeneration and the delivery of an inclusive and robust economy, 

attracting people and businesses to both relocate to and remain in the area.  

15.6 The Government published an updated National Design Guide in January 2021 that set out 

a series of aims and objectives for achieving well-designed places. The document identified 

the key themes of good design and goes on to set out a list of ten characteristics206 that drive 

it. Paragraph 36 of the Guide was clear that the ten characteristics reflect the Government’s 

priorities and so provide a common overarching framework within which issues around good 

design should be considered: 

36.  ‘Well-designed places have individual characteristics which work together to create 

its physical Character. The ten characteristics help to nurture and sustain a sense of 

Community. They work to positively address environmental issues affecting 

Climate. They all contribute towards the cross-cutting themes for good design set out 

in the National Planning Policy Framework.’ 

15.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) addresses the issue of good design 

throughout, including in paragraph 130, which states that permission should be refused for 

                                                

206  Context; Identity; Built form; Movement; Nature; Public spaces; Uses; Homes and buildings; Resources; Lifespan. 

Page 1225



370 

 

development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 

character and quality of an area and the way it functions.  

15.8 Locally, the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) have published a West Midlands 

Design Charter207. The Charter was produced in collaboration with the various public bodies 

that make up the WMCA and was tested with developers, designers and investors from the 

private sector. 

15.9 The Charter represents a regional commitment to good place-making and will be used to 

support applications for WMCA funding for new development (including residential, 

commercial and mixed use). Its key themes include:  

a) character; 

b) connectivity and mobility; 

c) future readiness; 

d) health and wellbeing; 

e) engagement; 

f) stewardship and delivery; 

which in turn encompass 12 further principles of good placemaking208. 

15.10 Sandwell Council will support urban regeneration by ensuring all new developments exhibit 

high-quality design. A high-quality environment is also an essential prerequisite for economic 

competitiveness and housing choice.  

15.11 Great opportunities exist to transform areas into high quality places for people to live, work 

and invest in. This will involve, in some cases, the reinforcement or reinvention of a sense of 

place and local identity within Sandwell and a commitment to high-quality design if it is to 

maximise the benefits from the opportunities offered by transformation on this scale. 

15.12 At the same time, Sandwell has a strong tradition of housing existing immediately alongside 

industrial and employment uses; this aspect of its character and economy should be 

protected by the application of the agent of change principle, in relation to existing uses 

                                                

207  https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3647/wmdesigncharter.pdf  
208  Regional Ambition; Local Distinctiveness; Regional Network; Modal Shift; Climate Resilience; Delivering Low Carbon 

Development; Technological Resilience; Building Active Communities; Promoting Wellbeing; Engagement; 
Stewardship; Securing Social Value. 

Page 1226

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3647/wmdesigncharter.pdf


371 

 

adjacent to proposed development sites, which can be found in Paragraph 182 of the NPPF 

(2019). 

15.13 This policy seeks to integrate key design principles with an approach that interprets and 

reflects both local distinctiveness and the overall character of Sandwell. High-quality design 

relates to buildings, architecture, the spaces within which buildings sit, the quality of the 

public realm reflected in its streets and spaces and the relationship between the 

development and the surrounding area.  

15.14 To ensure that development proposals accord with policy requirements, the Design and 

Access Statements accompanying planning applications should follow Commission for 

Architecture and the Built Environment guidance. 

15.15 The protection and enhancement of Sandwell’s canal network and natural waterways will be 

sought to the extent possible through the design and layout of appropriately located housing 

and employment development and by the integration of waterways into those proposals to 

create attractive waterside development. This will act as a unifying characteristic with the 

wider Black Country’s urban structure and landscape. 

15.16 Sandwell recognises the potential of public art to enhance the design of development and 

the quality and amenity of local areas. Public art can be free-standing or incorporated within 

the overall quality and design of buildings and landscaping and can involve the engagement 

of local artists. The Council will welcome the inclusion of public art in schemes across 

Sandwell. 

15.17 A key objective for new developments should be that they create safe and accessible 

environments where crime, the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour do not undermine the 

quality of life, health or community cohesion. Good design, layout and spatial relationships 

(including the use of sensitively designed and located landscaping that reduces opportunities 

for anti-social behaviours) can make a positive contribution towards improving community 

safety in an area. It is the intention of Sandwell Council to work with the police towards the 

reduction of crime and the fear of crime, and anti-social behaviour across Sandwell. This will 

be a material consideration in all planning proposals. 

15.18 Sport England’s Active Design guidance promotes public health and community activity 

through building an infrastructure that creates opportunities for all types of physical activity, 

and the Council welcomes its use in designing schemes and housing layouts. 

15.19 The fifth principle of the West Midlands Design Charter refers to the need to address climate 

change through good design; 

Page 1227



372 

 

Principle 5 – Climate Resilience 

Developments should incorporate climate adaptation measures that respond to the short and 

long-term impacts of climate change and address the environmental impact of the proposal 

across its lifecycle. 

15.20 Climate change mitigation and adaptation measures will be addressed through the specific 

climate change policies in the SLP and the renewable energy and BREEAM requirement for 

new development, which are set out in Policies SCC1 - SCC6. 

Development and Design Standards 

15.21 There are three optional national technical standards for housing, which can be adopted 

through planning policy. Policy SDM2 adopts two of these standards for new housing in 

Sandwell, covering internal space standards and water efficiency.  

Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards 

Nationally Described Space Standards 

1. New residential development (including the conversion of buildings) will be required 
to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS)209, except where it can be 
clearly evidenced that the implementation of the NDSS would cause harm to the 
significance of a heritage asset210. 

2. Where NDSS are not used, development211 should reflect National Design Guide 
principle H1212 in delivering functional, healthy and sustainable homes and buildings, 
particularly in relation to creating healthy, comfortable and safe internal and external 
environments.  

Water efficiency in new dwellings 

3. New residential development (including conversions from non-residential properties) 
and houses in multiple occupation will be required to meet the lower water efficiency 

                                                

209  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards#internal-space-standards  
210  More specialised types of housing provision will be required to meet the relevant space standards for their typology 
211  Excluding prior notification / permitted development where new dwellings are being created – NDSS will apply in all 

such cases 
212  Or any succeeding guidance or legislation on design standards.  

Page 1228

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards#internal-space-standards


373 

 

Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards 

standard of 110 litres per person per day, as set out in Part G2 of current Building 
Regulations or as identified in any successor legislation. 

Justification 

15.22 The Council believes that everyone has the right to a high standard of residential 

accommodation, with sufficient space to meet their needs. To address this, Policy SDM2 

adopts the optional national space standards covering internal floor area and dimensions for 

key parts of the home.  

15.23 The standard is modest and is generally met in most new build housing across the borough; 

however, in a minority of cases the standard would help to achieve better living conditions. 

The requirement for a minimum space standard can also add to the attractiveness of a 

development and increase the marketability of properties.  

15.24 The standard will apply to all tenures except where national planning guidance suggests 

otherwise.  

15.25 Evidence provided by the Sandwell Viability and Delivery Study (2021) suggests that 

introduction of this standard is very unlikely to impact on development viability, given the 

relatively modest increases in room sizes.  

15.26 Introduction of the higher water efficiency standard for all new homes is justified by evidence 

provided in the Water Cycle Study (2020) and more recently (July 2021) by the Secretary of 

State’s determination that Severn Trent Water’s catchment (except in their Chester zone) is 

now considered to be an area of serious water stress for the purposes of water resources 

planning. This change in water stress classification adds further weight to the tighter water 

efficiency limit and will be enforced through the building regulations system. 

Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites  

15.27 Tall buildings can help to accommodate new development as well as communicating 

ambition, energy and innovation. They make efficient use of land to deliver jobs, homes and 

mixed communities. Tall buildings in the right locations and of the right design have the 

potential to enhance the appearance and character of areas and to deliver regeneration. In 

all cases the design of a tall building should create a high-quality environment both for its 

users and for surrounding development and the public realm.  

Page 1229



374 

 

15.28 Tall buildings can also give rise to issues related to their height, massing and prominence. 

Design principles for high density development also apply to tall buildings, including 

liveability considerations for residential development. 

15.29 Gateway sites in Sandwell may be marked by tall buildings but do not have to be: the 

important feature of gateway sites will be their overall design quality and distinctiveness, as 

they will act as signals of Sandwell’s ambitions for growth. 

Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites  

Tall buildings 

1. The proposed heights for buildings should reflect other design and policy 
requirements, including the need to have regard to the existing or emerging 
character and context of the area. 

2. The height and location of tall buildings in relation to other existing and 
proposed buildings / structures should be clearly identified in masterplans and / 
or design and access statements, which should also set out a clear rationale for 
the development of tall buildings. 

3. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments will be necessary to enable the visual 
impact of tall buildings to be assessed from near and distant viewpoints. 
Accurate visual representations of the submitted scheme should be provided 
from key viewpoints agreed with Sandwell Council. Information on local 
microclimate impacts should also be submitted, as a separate assessment or as 
part of the Design and Access Statement. 

4. For development proposals that include taller buildings, applicants must submit 
design appraisals with alternative options to demonstrate whether similar densities 
can be achieved using more traditional and human- scaled typologies including 
terraced housing, maisonettes, and courtyard apartments. 

5. The planning application and its supporting information must demonstrate that: 

a) there is sufficient access to public transport for occupants / users of the 
building; 

b) there is access to local services and facilities, depending on the number and 
type of residents expected; 

Page 1230



375 

 

Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites  

c) the proposal will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on local character, 
including heritage assets; 

d) the design considers topography; 

e) the proposal will not create unacceptable adverse environmental impacts, 
including flood risk, creation of a wind tunnel, loss or lack of daylight / sunlight; 

f) the design is of high architectural quality; and 

g) the proposal will integrate into its surroundings at all levels, particularly at 
street level and skyline. 

Gateway Sites 

6. When assessing proposals and applications for planning permission on gateway 
sites213 the Council will apply the following principles:  

a) Key landmark buildings, structures and features will be preserved and 
improved; 

b) The topography of the area will be emphasised in the design and location of 
new buildings or features; 

c) New development should be of architectural merit and use high-grade 
materials. 

d) Proposals should include hard and soft landscaping, including trees, water 
and public art; 

e) Where possible and appropriate, redundant street furniture, associated clutter 
and advertisements should be removed. 

 

Justification 

15.30 This policy does not aim to hide tall buildings but to ensure that they are located and 

designed to create a positive feature in the urban environment from all viewpoints.  

                                                

213  Sites and other development opportunities that stand at major road- or rail-linked points of access into Sandwell, or on 
the outskirts of West Bromwich and other main town centres. 

Page 1231



376 

 

15.31 In designing tall buildings, emphasis should be given to the appearance of its roof form, 

recognising the building’s impact on the skyline, and to the relationship of the base section of 

the building with the surrounding environment. This last consideration is intended to ensure 

there is enough activity and interest at ground level to counter the potentially dominating 

impact of the building’s greater height. It may also be appropriate to set taller elements of the 

building back from the street frontage.  

15.32 Proposals for tall buildings should be accompanied by sufficient information on which to 

assess their impact. Tall buildings will not be permitted where the required information has 

not been provided.  

15.33 Gateway sites are prominent development opportunities around the existing strategic town 

centre of West Bromwich and the other main town centres in Sandwell, as well as similar 

opportunities that occur along major transportation networks including railways and public 

transport interchanges. These development sites will, if managed and designed 

appropriately, assist in welcoming visitors to a centre and signifying its functional importance, 

as well as acting as signifiers of Sandwell’s growth ambitions.  

15.34 Gateways may be marked by appropriately designed tall buildings but not always; the 

expectation of this policy is that gateway sites would be marked by development of 

exceptionally high quality, which relies for its distinctiveness on design aspects other than 

just size and height. 

Advertisements  

15.35 As set out in The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 

Regulations 2007, the Council may exercise its powers in the control of advertisements in 

the interest of amenity and public safety. This policy sets out criteria against which an 

advertisement’s relationship to amenity and public safety will be assessed. 

Policy SDM4 - Advertisements 

1. Proposals for advertisements will not be given consent where they would have an 
unacceptable impact on amenity or public safety. 

2. An advertisement will be considered to have an unacceptable impact on amenity 
where it would:  

a. create or reinforce a negative visual impact in its immediate neighbourhood;  

Page 1232



377 

 

Policy SDM4 - Advertisements 

b. detract from the character or setting of any feature of historic, architectural or 
cultural interest;  

c. generate a negative impact on the living conditions of nearby residents by 
reason of its siting or illumination. 

3. Advertisement proposals of all types will be considered harmful to public and road 
safety where they would:  

a. obscure views into an area, reducing natural surveillance;  

b. create an unwelcoming sense of enclosure;  

c. obscure safety cameras;  

d. unsafely reduce natural or street lighting;  

e. create visual distraction that would be harmful to the attention of drivers or the 
ready interpretation of road signs, traffic signals and / or visibility at junctions 
(see sections 6 – 8 below for details). 

Poster Panels and Hoardings 

4. Applications for poster panels will be considered in light of local amenity and 
public safety. Regard should be given to the scale of buildings and the character of 
the location in which they are to be sited, together with any potential impact on 
highway safety.  

5. In general, advertisement hoardings will not be appropriate in wholly residential 
areas. Poster advertising may be appropriate in predominantly shopping and 
business parts of Conservation Areas and Areas of Townscape Value, though care 
will be needed in how they are accommodated. 

Illuminated and Moving Advertisements  

6. The intensity of the illumination of an advertising unit and display should be set at a 
suitable level of luminance at night for its size and location and the panel must be 
fitted with a light sensor designed to adjust the brightness when changes in 
ambient light levels occur. 

7. For moving / electronic advertising, the minimum display time for each 
advertisement shall be 10 seconds. There must be no moving images, animation, 

Page 1233



378 

 

Policy SDM4 - Advertisements 

video or full motion images or any images that resemble road signs, traffic lights or 
traffic signs of any kind before, during or after the display of any advertisement 

8. The interval between the display of each moving advertisement shall be 0.1 
seconds or less and the complete display screen shall change without visual 
effects (including fading, swiping or other animated transition methods) between 
each advertisement. 

Justification 

15.36 The policy aims to prevent proposals that would be harmful to local character and amenity in 

any part of the borough. Perception of lower levels of visual amenity in any area will not 

serve as a benchmark for harmful proposals including increased clutter of advertisements. 

15.37 The use of digital advertisements has increased in recent years. The illumination and 

movement associated with such advertisements can increase their capacity to adversely 

impact the amenities of an area or to affect public safety. Digital and illuminated 

advertisements should have regard to the Institute of Lighting Professionals’ guidance note 

PLG05 The Brightness of Illuminated Advertisements214. Such advertisements should be 

able to ensure they will not have harmful impacts associated with their luminance though:  

a) restricted operation hours;  

b) maximum luminance levels;  

c) the provision of ambient lighting sensors;  

d) the provision of a default black screen.  

15.38 In conservation areas, proposals will also be expected to demonstrate how they would 

conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the area, as required under Section 

72 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Design and Installation of Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters   

15.39 It is considered that the quality and appearance of the Borough’s Town Centres is vital to 

their sustainability. The quality of shop fronts plays a significant role in this and a policy is 

                                                

214  2023 or subsequent iterations 

Page 1234



379 

 

required that ensures they are designed and delivered to a standard that makes a positive 

contribution to the character and appearance of their location. 

Policy SDM5 - Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters 

Roller Shutters 

1. Planning permission is required for the installation of all permanent roller 
shutters. All applications for the installation of roller shutters will be assessed 
using the following criteria:  

a) Encouragement will be given to the integration of roller shutters as part of 
development proposals for new shop fronts, through the planning 
application process and pre-application discussion.  

b) The applicant must satisfy the local planning authority that the type of 
security shutter they are proposing is the most appropriate. 

c) Roller shutters should, wherever possible, not project across the pilasters 
of the shop front, or obscure any architectural detail. The submitted plans 
should indicate this. 

d) Roller shutter boxes should, wherever possible, be hidden within the 
structure of the building or behind shop fascias, so as not to affect the 
character and architecture of the building. 

e) Metal roller shutters should be perforated and be colour powder coated or 
painted  

f) Details of materials should be submitted with the planning application. 

g) No more than 50% of the shutters should be solid. 

h) Roller shutters that are totally solid will not be acceptable. 

Shop Front Design 

2. All planning applications for the installation of shop fronts will be assessed 
against the following criteria:  

a) All shop fronts should be designed to fit in with the scale and architectural 
character of the building in which they are to be contained. 

Page 1235



380 

 

Policy SDM5 - Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters 

b) All shop fronts should remain within their existing structural openings and 
be fully framed with fascia signs. Shop fronts and fascias must also be 
recessed behind pilasters. 

c) Adjacent shop fronts should be separated by a pilaster, matching the 
building. However, original pilasters should be retained where they exist. 

d) Original features, such as iron columns, ornamental brackets or carved 
stonework, should be preserved or restored. 

e) Canopies should be retractable and sited below the fascia.  

f) To ensure a high standard of shop front design, all applications for 
planning permission will require the submission of a detailed elevation of 
the proposed shop front in relation to the building within which it is to be 
contained, as well as adjacent shop fronts. 

g) Retention of facades above shop fronts that are of good quality, or which 
have special, architectural or historic interest, should be encouraged.  

h) Whilst the appearance of a building should not be compromised, 
consideration should be given to natural surveillance, safety and security 
when designing new shop fronts. 

Justification 

15.40 The design of shop fronts should be of good quality and use high grade materials. In addition 

to this, they should be designed to reflect the character and context of an area. Care should 

be taken to ensure the sympathetic design of shop fronts and security measures where 

buildings are in sensitive areas such as conservation areas, or on listed buildings.  

15.41 The design of new shop fronts should incorporate security measures at an early stage of the 

design process, to prevent the need for shutter boxes to be added on later. Their design 

should also pay due regard to excluding features that may hinder community safety or 

contribute to criminal activity. The location of window openings and the types of materials 

used should be to an approved design standard that will help to prevent unauthorised 

intrusion. Display windows should incorporate stall risers and avoid floor to ceiling designs.  

15.42 Additional security, such as grilles and lights, should be provided to safeguard shop 

premises and their customers. Consideration needs to be given to the design of roller 

shutters.  

Page 1236



381 

 

15.43 The introduction of perforated shutters, which are illuminated from the interior, provide 

additional lighting of the street scene, prevent dead frontages in addition to allowing natural 

surveillance into the shop as well as the goods on display to be viewed. Well-designed roller 

shutters will prevent a solid, unwelcoming appearance especially at night when most 

businesses are closed. Galvanised shutters will be unacceptable as they have a detrimental 

effect upon the street scene, creating dead frontages and intimidating environments. 

Hot Food Takeaways  

15.44 Hot food takeaways are common within retail centres. They complement the retail function of 

a centre, contributing to its vitality and viability and ensuring a mix of day and evening uses. 

However, an over-concentration of hot food takeaway uses can also undermine the role and 

function of retail centres. It is also recognised that hot food takeaways have a greater 

potential than other retail uses to have a detrimental impact on residential amenity, 

environmental quality, and the health of the local population. 

15.45 The government have set out a plan to halve childhood obesity by 2030215 and have noted 

that planning authorities can restrict numbers of hot food takeaways around schools and 

areas where there is already an over-concentration216. 

Policy SDM6 - Hot Food Takeaways 

Vitality and Viability 

1. A percentage limit for the appropriate number of hot food takeaways in centres, 
including hot food takeaway permissions, and vacant units with a hot food 
takeaway as their lawful use (strategic, town, district and local) is as follows: 

a. In centres with 40 units or more – no more than 7% of frontages should be 
occupied by hot food takeaways. 

b. In centres with less than 40 units – no more than 12% of the frontages 
should be occupied by hot food takeaways. 

Clustering of hot food takeaways in centres. 

                                                

215  https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-measures-announced-to-halve-childhood-obesity-by-2030  
216 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296248/Obesity_an
d_environment_March2014.pdf  

Page 1237

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-measures-announced-to-halve-childhood-obesity-by-2030
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf


382 

 

Policy SDM6 - Hot Food Takeaways 

2. No more than two hot food takeaway outlets should be located next to each other. 
Any application for a further hot food takeaway use that would exceed this limit will 
not be permitted. 

3. Where two hot food takeaways are located next to each other, they should be 
separated by at least two non- hot food takeaway units from any similar uses. 

Exclusion zones 

4. An exclusion zone will be implemented near to secondary schools and higher 
education establishments; no new hot food takeaway developments will be 
permitted where they are within 400 metres of a secondary school or college site 
(as measured in a direct line from the school entrance(s) used by pupils / students). 

Justification 

15.46 The Council has pledged to improve its population’s health and wellbeing and to reduce 

health inequalities. One of the challenges the Council faces in promoting healthy eating is 

the unrestricted availability of foods high in fat, salt and sugar in local neighbourhoods, often 

associated with hot food takeaways. Controls over the prevalence of hot food takeaways are 

set out in this and the following policy, which will be used within retail centres and beyond to 

limit the availability of such foods in specific circumstances, whilst still permitting personal 

choice. 

15.47 The council strongly encourages hot food takeaway operators to adopt healthy eating 

measures. Such measures may include:  

• demonstrating a commitment to reducing the levels of saturated fat, salt and sugar in the 

food sold in their premises, and to make smaller portions available on request; 

• offering healthy alternatives on the menu; 

• making small changes to the way they cook and serve food. 

Obesity 

Page 1238



383 

 

15.48 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Sandwell identifies that the general health 

of people in Sandwell is improving, but not as fast as the England average217. However, the 

Office for Health Improvement and Disparities has identified that the prevalence of Year 6 

children being overweight is worsening, with Sandwell having the highest number within the 

West Midlands region, according to 2021-22 data218.  

15.49 Sandwell has higher levels of obesity than the national average, both amongst children and 

adults219. Reducing the levels of obesity in Sandwell will be a big step towards achieving the 

Council’s 2030 ambition of Sandwell being a ‘place where we live healthy lives and live them 

for longer’. 

15.50 In 2021 - 22, 14.9% of Reception-aged children in Sandwell were obese, compared to an 

average of 10.1% for England. This rose to 34% of Year 6 children in Sandwell, compared to 

23.4% nationally. Over-18s also fared badly, with 34.3% of all adults in Sandwell being 

overweight or obese, compared to 25.9% in England220. 

15.51 Obesity contributes to the onset of many diseases and premature mortality and is the sixth 

most important risk factor contributing to the overall burden of disease worldwide. Moderate 

obesity (BMI 30-35 kg/m2) can reduce life expectancy by an average of three years, while 

morbid obesity (BMI 40-50 kg/m2) reduces life expectancy by eight to ten years. This eight to 

ten-year loss of life is equivalent to the effects of lifelong smoking221. 

15.52 Significant health problems related to obesity start to develop at primary school age and 

behaviours established in early life have been shown to track into adulthood222. This hot food 

takeaway policy relates to schools covering the age range for secondary schools and 

                                                

217  https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/06/JSNA_Obesity-May-2011.pdf ; 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-
06#E08000028  

218  https://www.sandwelltrends.info/healthy-weight 
219  https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-

06#E08000028  
220  Information in paragraph taken from Office of Health Improvement & Disparities: 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/obes#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000005/ati/402/are/E08000028/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4/cat/-
1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1_tre-ao-0  

221  https://www.ox.ac.uk/news/2009-03-18-moderate-obesity-takes-years-life-expectancy  
222  Craigie, A. M., A. A. Lake, et al. (2011) Tracking of obesity-related behaviours from childhood to adulthood: A systematic review. 

Maturitas 70(3): 266-284 

 

Page 1239

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/06/JSNA_Obesity-May-2011.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-06#E08000028
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-06#E08000028
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/healthy-weight
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-06#E08000028
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/subnationalindicatorsexplorer/2022-01-06#E08000028
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/obes#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000005/ati/402/are/E08000028/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1_tre-ao-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/obes#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000005/ati/402/are/E08000028/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1_tre-ao-0
https://www.ox.ac.uk/news/2009-03-18-moderate-obesity-takes-years-life-expectancy


384 

 

academies but not to primary schools, where children cannot leave the premises without 

adult supervision. 

Relationship to sensitive uses 

15.53 Research has indicated that children attending schools near fast food outlets are more likely 

to be obese than those whose schools are more inaccessible to such outlets; therefore, new 

hot food takeaway units should not be located where they would increase the exposure of 

school children / young adults to these opportunities223.  

15.54 This approach will not be applied in local, district or strategic centres where they overlap the 

400m buffer zone. In these areas percentage policies will take precedence. 

15.55 On average, there are more fast food outlets in deprived areas than in more affluent areas, 

and research shows a strong correlation between hot food takeaways per 100,000 

population and levels of deprivation. 

Town and local centres 

15.56 Hot food takeaways are classed as additional retail uses, as they are compatible with town 

centre locations. Hot food takeaways will be discouraged outside defined centres, as they 

often attract considerable customer numbers and are associated with issues such as litter, 

waste disposal, noise, odour and additional traffic movements. For these reasons, they will 

normally only be supported in areas where residential amenity is less likely to be an issue.  

15.57 Limitations on hot food takeaway units exists to ensure the vitality and viability of Sandwell’s 

centres and parades are maintained. This policy is designed to manage the over-

concentrations of these types of outlets to a point where they will not affect the viability of 

centres to deliver services to members of the public. In doing so, this will also help to 

address some of the related health and social impacts associated with over-consumption of 

fast food. 

15.58 It is recognised that hot food takeaway establishments provide convenience as part of a 

wider food offer, particularly in town centres. However, compared to other retail uses, they 

are more likely to have a detrimental impact on amenity and on the retail character and 

function of shopping centres. Such harmful impacts tend to reduce town centre viability and 

increase the incidence of litter, smells, anti-social behaviour, noise and general disturbance, 

parking and traffic problems.  

                                                

223  Engler-Stringer, R., Ha, L., Gerrard, A. and Muhajarine, N. (2014) The community and consumer food environment and children’s 
diet: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 14 (522) 

Page 1240



385 

 

15.59 In recent years several retail units in the borough have been converted into hot food 

takeaway establishments. Even with the introduction of planning guidance on hot food 

takeaways, implemented in 2012 and amended in 2016 that imposed a limit on the number 

of hot food takeaway units permitted within a retail centre, there has still been a net increase 

of 29 hot food takeaway units within the borough between 2015 and 2022. In seven out of 38 

centres in Sandwell, there has been a reduction in the number of hot food takeaway units, 

but only of one unit in each. Of these seven centres, all but one are already in breach of the 

threshold or will be in breach should another hot food takeaway receive consent224. 

Vacant Hot Food Takeaway Units  

15.60 Vacant lawful hot food takeaway uses will be included as part of the relevant hot food 

takeaway threshold calculation. The policy will reduce the possibility of an excessive number 

of hot food takeaways being operational in a centre and thereby exceeding the identified 

thresholds. It will also encourage the re-use of vacant hot food takeaway premises in the 

immediate area, which may in turn help prevent long-term vacancies and offer a degree of 

viability and vitality to the immediate area. 

Clustering of Uses 

15.61 The clustering of hot food takeaway outlets can create areas in centres that are effectively 

dominated by one use. These types of outlets are only open and active in the evening and 

often shuttered during the day, leading to dead frontages. By reducing the clustering of these 

types of outlets, the variety of different types of shop fronts in an area will increase. This in 

turn will therefore improve the appearance and vitality of the centre. 

Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

15.62 In addition to Policy SDM6, Policy SDM7 offers guidance on the requirements for the 

provision of hot food takeaways. Applicants wishing to provide or alter a hot food takeaway 

outlet should ensure they address the issues raised in the policy, which is designed to 

manage adverse impacts on adjacent residents and properties. 

Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

Measures to protect the amenity of surrounding residential occupiers 

                                                

224  Primary data collected by Sandwell MBC – annual survey 

Page 1241



386 

 

Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

1. No new hot food takeaways will be permitted where they are directly adjacent to 
residential property at ground floor level. This does not apply to first / second floor 
flats above or diagonally above a proposed hot food takeaway.  

2. Where there is an existing residential unit above a hot food takeaway, which is not 
connected with its operation, private residential amenity should not be prejudiced. 
Specific care will need to be given to odour extraction, noise insulation, private 
accessibility and public convenience. Appropriate mitigation measures will include 
control over hours of opening hours. Where appropriate provisions cannot be 
included then such uses will not be supported, even within designated centres. 

Local environmental issues 

3. All hot food takeaways will require appropriate fume extraction equipment to be 
installed, retained and maintained to reduce / remove potential nuisance from 
odours. Extraction systems should be effective in dispersing odours from hot food 
takeaways, whilst satisfying the council’s design policies, especially in areas of 
historic character. 

Disposal of waste products and litter 

4. Appropriate fat traps / interceptors must be installed on sinks and drains to prevent 
fats from reaching the wastewater system, to avoid blockages and the subsequent 
flooding of property. 

5. Appropriate storage areas must be specified for food waste bins and packaging 
waste and be included in any new proposal. 

6. The bins to be provided must be a suitable size and should be stored in a location 
that will not cause a nuisance to neighbouring residential or commercial properties, 
including regarding odours and accessibility.  

7. Commercial bin stores must be contained within the site. Where this is not 
possible, secure storage structures should be provided, designed to prevent 
vermin infestation and reduce odours.  

Management of Associated Impacts 

8. Proposals for new hot food takeaways will only be granted permission subject to 
stringent planning conditions, to address matters such as (but not limited to):  

Page 1242



387 

 

Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

a. opening hours;  

b. parking restrictions;  

c. highway safety;  

d. where it is considered necessary, the installation of or contributions towards 
monitoring technology such as CCTV.  

In some cases, they may be limited to a personal permission and / or a temporary 
consent. 

Justification  

Environmental and residential amenity issues 

15.63 Many hot food takeaways produce odours during opening times. The potential impact of 

odours will be taken into account by the Council when a hot food takeaway planning 

application is being determined. Some types of food preparation and cooking practices will 

produce more odours than others and therefore may require a higher specification and 

control to remove odour, grease and smoke particles.  

Disposal of waste and litter  

15.64 Where possible, bins and bin stores must be located where they will be  

• shaded from hot summer sunshine;  

• screened;  

• emptied and cleaned regularly.  

This will contribute toward preventing odours and flies. The bin stores should also be 

appropriately located to maintain clear and convenient access for refuse collection services 

and be accessible at all times to those working at the premises. 

Additional local impacts 

15.65  It should be noted that the fear of crime can be a material consideration in determining all 

planning applications.  

15.66 Whilst most hot food takeaways will operate without problems, in some cases they can 

attract gatherings of people and can become a focus for anti-social behaviour, especially at 

Page 1243



388 

 

night, including excessive noise, vehicle movements and litter. This will be considered when 

a decision is being made on such planning applications.  

15.67 Where there are concerns over nuisance and anti-social behaviour in the area in which the 

proposal is to be located, the applicant may be asked to contribute towards or install safety 

and security measures, such as CCTV systems.  

15.68 The provision of new hot food takeaways should not create or exacerbate road safety 

problems such as dangerous on-street parking or vehicle movements, or increase risks 

associated with pedestrians crossing busy roads to reach the business. 

Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services 

15.69 Sandwell Council wishes to minimise any negative impacts related to licensed gambling. 

Operators are expected to take account of Sandwell’s Gambling Objectives as set out in its 

Gambling Statement of Principles225 to safeguard those who participate in gambling 

activities. 

15.70 A proliferation of gambling uses, payday loan shops and pawnbrokers are not considered 

compatible with the positive outcomes sought through town centre regeneration. 

Policy SDM8 - Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services 

1. Planning permission for a payday loan shop, pawnbrokers’, amusement arcade or 
betting shop within a retail centre will not be granted if to do so would cause an 
unacceptable grouping of uses that would have a negative impact on the character 
and vitality of the centre. 

2. A negative impact on the character of the centre is likely to occur when the 
following thresholds226 are exceeded: 

a. Within a town centre: more than 5% of the number of ground floor units being 
in a gambling or arcade use. 

b. Within a district or local centre, or local shopping centre / parade: more than 
10% of the number of ground floor units being a gambling or arcade use. 

c. In all locations: two or more uses immediately adjacent to each other. 

                                                

225  https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200367/licensing/4923/gambling_and_lottery_policy  
226  Taken from the Knowsley Town Centre Uses SPD 2022 

Page 1244

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200367/licensing/4923/gambling_and_lottery_policy


389 

 

Policy SDM8 - Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services 

d. In all locations: less than two units in other uses between gambling or arcade 
uses. 

3. In calculating the existing or proposed percentage of units, payday loan shops, 
pawnbrokers, betting shops and arcade uses will be counted together. 

4. When applying the thresholds set out above: 

a. only ground floor units will be counted; and 

b. when rounding percentages, they will be rounded down. 

5. Proposals will be considered against the potential detrimental impact on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses, through increased noise and disturbance. They will 
also be required to provide an active frontage, through a permanent shop front and 
window display. 

6. In determining any planning application for all pay day loan shops, pawnbrokers, 
and gambling uses the Council will consider any issues concerning community 
safety, crime, and disorder and will, where necessary, seek advice from the police 
and other safety organisations. 

Justification 

15.71 This policy should be read in conjunction with the SLP’s town centre policies. 

15.72 To ensure that designated retail centres are diverse and balanced, applications for pay day 

loan shops, pawnbrokers and gambling uses will be assessed for their cumulative impact 

using the thresholds in section 2 of the policy. Planning permission will normally be refused 

where these thresholds are exceeded. 

15.73 An oversupply of gambling uses displaces other potential high street activities and has the 

potential to impact on the vitality of retail centres within the borough. The proliferation and 

grouping of these uses within centres may also have social, economic and health 

implications for centres and surrounding communities.  

15.74 Inactive frontages are detrimental to the character and vitality of the Borough’s centres as 

they lack visual interest when compared to typical retail displays. It is important that the 

Borough’s retail centres provide a vibrant and attractive proposition to customers and 

inactive frontages create a negative perception of these retail centres. 

Page 1245



390 

 

Community Facilities  

15.75 The employment land policies contained in the SLP set out the types of employment uses 

that would be permitted in the areas / sites allocated as strategic or local employment land. 

These sites are safeguarded for  

a) light industrial employment uses (the research and development of products or 

processes or any industrial process that could be carried out in a residential area 

without causing detriment to the amenity of the area);  

b) general industry; and  

c) storage and warehousing.  

15.76 Local employment sites are those areas where development is supported primarily for new 

or smaller-scale employment activity. In the past, local employment land in Sandwell has 

come under pressure from non-employment proposals, such as churches / mosques, 

banqueting suites and other community uses. This has caused problems in some cases as 

the new uses have been proposed on sites adjacent to uses occupied by general 

employment uses. 

15.77 In addition, given the demand for employment land that exists in Sandwell, the Council 

would seek to retain as much existing employment land as possible to help meet the needs 

of existing and incoming employers. As a result, it will be necessary for any applicants who 

wish to reuse employment land and premises for alternative or non-employment uses to be 

able to demonstrate very clearly why the site or buildings are no longer needed for 

employment and what steps will be taken to minimise adverse impacts on adjacent uses. 

15.78 Given the number of vacant units in town centres and the likelihood of vacancies in such 

areas increasing over time, the Council considers that most community facilities would be 

best located in town centres, where they will be accessible by different means of transport 

and where other facilities and services will be more readily available to support them.  

Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities  

1. In considering proposals for new community facilities, examples of which include 
but are not limited to:  

• banqueting suites and entertainment venues;  

• places of worship and / or religious instruction;  

Page 1246



391 

 

Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities  

• leisure and recreational activities;  

• larger-scale non-employment uses e.g., nurseries, wholesale catering, animal 
day care; 

• community centres;  

or the conversion or extension of existing community facilities, the following 
criteria will be considered: 

a. Any proposal for a community facility or use that involves the loss of 
premises and sites identified as falling within either strategic or local 
employment areas227 will be refused.  

b. Proposals for new community facilities on land or premises identified under 
Policy SEC4, which are either currently or formerly in employment use, will be 
resisted; applicants wishing to reuse such buildings or sites will need to meet 
the criteria set out in that policy and be able to demonstrate why the site is no 
longer suitable for employment use now or in the future. 

c. Encouragement will be given to locating community facilities and uses on 
sites with main road frontages at the fringes of commercial areas, and 
particularly in town, district or local centres. 

d. If the building(s) to be used shares a party wall with any sensitive use 
(particularly residential) it is unlikely that planning permission will be granted. 
Exceptions to this are likely to occur only when there is clear evidence 
submitted to the Council that the use will not adversely affect the occupiers of 
adjoining properties. 

2. Where noise from the proposed new activities is likely to affect neighbouring 
properties, consideration will be given to attaching conditions to any planning 
permission granted, which would reduce or eliminate such problems. These may 
include: 

a. installation and retention of suitable sound insulation; 

b. restricting the use of parts of the building, or the type of uses proposed; 

                                                

227  Policies SEC2 and SEC3 

Page 1247



392 

 

Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities  

c. restricting the hours of use of all or parts of the building. 

3. Consideration will be given to the need for the provision of car parking in 
association with the development. This will include an assessment of:  

a. the proximity and availability of public transport facilities; 

b. whether most people walk to a place of worship or religious instruction; 

c. the use of the centre for wider community purposes and for special events 
drawing large numbers of participants; 

d. the availability of other car parking in the vicinity; 

e. the adverse effects of on-street parking on adjacent occupiers, the 
environment of the neighbourhood, and whether it would create potential 
hazards to pedestrians and other road users. 

4. Consideration may also be given to the granting of planning permission for a 
limited period where concerns relating to an application are insufficient to warrant 
refusal.  

5. The provision of additional community facilities will be encouraged, including those 
serving cultural and other social needs. 

Justification 

15.79 Having non-employment uses near heavy industry can cause problems for both sets of 

occupiers; the “agents of change” principle in the NPPF now requires the incoming user to 

ensure that their activities do not adversely impact on adjacent established uses. As an 

example, incoming industrial users on appropriate and allocated industrial sites adjacent to 

community or leisure activities would have to use additional resources to ensure their 

activities did not impact on places used for social events. This in turn could mean potential 

industrial and employment-generating uses avoiding such sites on viability grounds. 

15.80 In some locations large-scale commercial entertainment and community activities may be 

appropriate, assuming the likelihood of sufficient parking being available, and events being 

held during evenings and weekends when areas of employment uses are likely to be less 

busy. However, these types of activities will generally be more properly located in town and 

local centres, with good accessibility by public transport; they should be subject to a robust 

sequential test if they are being proposed outside centres.  

Page 1248



393 

 

15.81 In addition, there are other larger-scale activities that are not classed as employment uses 

(although in some cases they may employ significant numbers of people), but which require 

large premises away from housing areas or other more sensitive uses. These might include 

wholesale catering, larger indoor recreational and leisure uses and dog day-care for 

example. 

Telecommunications  

15.82 The ongoing growth of digital communications means that there will remain a need for 

guidance on the provision of associated infrastructure. 

Policy SDM10 - Telecommunications 

1. In considering proposals for telecommunication development for which planning 
permission is required, or to which the prior approval procedure is applicable, the 
following criteria will apply: 

a) The siting and external appearance of apparatus including any location or 
landscaping requirements have been designed to minimise the impact of such 
apparatus on amenity, while respecting operational efficiency. 

b) Antennae have, so far as is practicable, been sited either to minimise the 
effect on, or to complement or beneficially add to the external appearance of 
the building on which they are installed. 

c) Applicants must demonstrate that they have explored all possibilities for 
sharing masts, or for siting masts on existing buildings or structures. 

d) The development would not impact on scheduled highway improvement 
works. 

2. Microcell installations will be expected where agreements exist with the relevant 
highway authority to utilise existing street furniture, not add to the clutter of the 
street scene, impede pedestrian flows or contribute to highway safety issues. 

3. The use of Article 4 directions removing permitted development rights for 
telecommunication development will be considered where there is a serious risk to 
amenity.  

Page 1249



394 

 

Justification 

15.83 Since April 2022, new ground-based mobile masts up to 30 metres in height in unprotected 

areas, and up to 25 metres in protected areas, are considered permitted development in 

England. 

15.84 A full application for planning permission is required for any telecoms infrastructure that is 

not covered by permitted development rights. Prior to deciding a planning application, 

Sandwell Council will seek views from the local community on the proposed project. 

15.85 Some telecoms infrastructure, such as new ground-based mobile masts, is considered 

permitted development but requires “prior approval” from the local planning authority 

regarding its siting and appearance. The Council will also inform residents of this type of 

application.  

15.86 All telecommunications proposals should be designed to minimise visual impact and 

intrusion. The decision to propose ground based or building based masts, antennae and 

cabins will depend on the respective impact that the proposal will have on visual amenity, 

local character, skyline and neighbouring uses. 

  

Page 1250



395 

 

Delivery, Monitoring, and Implementation 

Monitoring and Review 

1. Sandwell Council is committed to ensuring that robust monitoring of the implementation of 

the Sandwell Local Plan is carried out. The aim is to ensure that the Strategic Objectives of 

the SLP are delivered successfully so that the Vision of the borough for 2041 is realised. 

2. Monitoring indicators for each chapter of the Plan are set out below. Performance against 

the indicators will show whether the policies are performing effectively and if the Council 

should commence an early review of the Plan. 

3. Performance against the indicators will also provide the Council and interested stakeholders 

with important data about development and land-use change within the borough.    

  

Page 1251



396 

 

Development Strategy 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 
Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 
Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas 
Policy SDS4 - Achieving well-designed places 
Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy 
Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt  
Policy SDS7 - Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Delivery of housing and employment floorspace  Minimum of 11,167 
houses 
Minimum of 
1,206ha 
employment land 

Plan period 

Deliver housing and employment land within Regeneration Areas Minimum of 3,414 
houses 
Minimum 606ha 
employment land 

Plan period 

Deliver housing and employment land within town and local 
communities outside West Bromwich and the Regeneration Areas 

Minimum 503 new 
homes 
Minimum 600ha of 
employment land  

Plan period 

Delivery of Sandwell Design Code Adopt and 
implement a 
Design Code 

by 2027 

Retention and enhancement of cultural, tourist and leisure facilities 
within Sandwell  

No loss of cultural, 
tourist or leisure 
facilities within the 
borough 

Plan period 

Area of green belt lost to inappropriate development  0%  Plan period 

Prepare, adopt and implement a Green Infrastructure Strategy Adopt and 
implement a Green 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 

By 2027 

 

Page 1252



397 

 

Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation  
Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats  
Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and hedgerows  
Policy SNE4 - Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark  
Policy SNE5 - The Rowley Hills  
Policy SNE6 – Canals  
Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas  
Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment  
Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings  
Policy SHE4 - Archaeology  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Changes in areas of biodiversity importance  No reduction in 
designated nature 
conservation sites 
through 
development 
(SINCs, LNRs) 

Plan period 

No net reduction in 
designated nature 
conservation sites 
through 
development 
(SLINCs) 

The number of development sites achieving at least 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

All qualifying 
developments with 
planning 
permission 
delivering 10%+ 
BNG on / near 
their sites 

Plan period 

Number of Biodiversity Net Gain units delivered through the 
development management process 

No target Plan period 

Increase in tree canopy cover across Sandwell   6% increase by 2030 

Number of development sites achieving a ratio of 3:1 replacement 
trees on sites where felling has taken place 

85% of 
permissioned 
development 
involving the felling 
of trees on site 

Plan period 

Area of ancient woodland / number of veteran trees lost  No areas of 
ancient woodland / 
no veteran trees 
lost in Sandwell  

Plan period 

Page 1253



398 

 

Policies Target Timescale 

Net loss of sites with recognised geological value to development 
without appropriate mitigation / recording having taken place 

0% Plan period 

Number of planning applications / appeals granted permission for 
development within the Rowley Hills SOS that are in contravention 
of the policy  

0 Plan period 

Proportion of planning permissions granted in accordance with 
Historic Environment Adviser recommendations 

 100% Plan period 

Demolition of statutorily listed buildings   0 Plan period 

Proportion of planning permissions granted in accordance with 
Historic Environment Advisor recommendations  

100%  Plan period 

Number of locally listed buildings lost without an historical record 
being made 

 0 Plan period 

All requests to developers to commission further archaeological 
information are complied with 

 100% Plan period 

Climate Change 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience  
Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure  
Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk  
Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk  
Policy SCC5 - Sustainable drainage and surface water management  
Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Proportion of qualifying development proposals that incorporate 
decentralised energy provision.  

100%  Plan period 

Progress towards net zero carbon dioxide emissions borough wide  Net zero Plan period 

Proportion of new housing and other development built within areas 
identified as being at risk of flooding  

 0% Plan period 

Proportion of new housing and other development built including 
sustainable drainage provision  

100% Plan period 

Proportion of qualifying developments meeting the renewable and 
low carbon energy and BREEAM New Construction standards 
(policy SCC6) 

100%  Plan period 

Page 1254



399 

 

Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell  

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SHW1– Health Impact Assessments  
Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure  
Policy SHW3 – Air Quality  
Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation  
Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities  
Policy SHW6 - Allotments  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Proportion of qualifying development proposals that provide health 
impact assessments. 

100% Plan period 

Number of major planning applications granted permission against 
the advice of the Environmental Health Section’s recommendations 

 0 Plan period 

Net change in designated open space measured as hectares of 
accessible open space per 1,000 population  

At least 3.63 
ha per 1,000 
population 

Plan period 

Net loss of playing fields / sports facilities across Sandwell  0%  Plan period 

Net increase in pitch provision for football / cricket / rugby to meet 
shortfalls set out in policy SHW5 and related appendix  

No appropriate 
development 
refused 

Plan period 

Net loss of allotments in Sandwell  0%  Plan period 

Sandwell’s Housing  

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth  
Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments  
Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility  
Policy SHO4 - Affordable Housing  
Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing  
Policy SHO6 - Financial Viability Assessments for Housing  
Policy SHO7 - Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3)  
Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation  
Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities  
Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople  
Policy SHO11 - Housing for people with specific needs  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 
Net additional dwellings completed (including conversions) Delivery against 

total supply at 
policy SHO1 – 588 

Plan period 

Page 1255



400 

 

Policies Target Timescale 
dwellings per 
annum 

Net affordable units completed 25% on eligible 
sites  

Plan period 

Proportion of new homes permitted on brownfield land 95% of new homes 
permitted on 
brownfield land 

Plan period 

Net additional pitches & plots for gypsies and travellers  10 new gypsy and 
traveller pitches  

Plan period 

Developments of ten homes or more providing at least 15% homes 
as Building Regulations Requirement M4(3): Wheelchair User 
Dwellings 

100% Plan period 

Number of applications for Houses in Multiple Occupation permitted 
that conflict with requirements of SHO8 

 0 Plan period 

Number of school places Increase Plan period 

Sandwell’s Economy 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs  
Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas  
Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas  
Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites  
Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market  
Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Employment land completions on sites allocated through Policy 
SEC1 

29ha Plan period 

Redevelopment of employment land and premises (ha) in Strategic 
Employment Areas to non-employment uses.  

0ha Plan period 

Employment development on land outside of Strategic and Local 
Employment Areas (ha) 

No target Plan period 

Net change in employment floorspace (sqm) No target Plan period 

Proportion of major planning permissions making provision for 
targeted recruitment or training secured through s106 Agreements, 
planning conditions or other mechanisms.  

50% (Based on 
SLP target) 

Plan period 

Page 1256



401 

 

Sandwell’s Centres 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SCE1 - Sandwell's Centres  
Policy SCE2 - Non-Retail Uses in Town Centres  
Policy SCE3 - Town Centres (tier-two centres)  
Policy SCE4 - District and Local Centres (tier-three centres)  
Policy SCE5 - Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in centres  
Policy SCE6 - Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Number / amount of floorspace of applications for main town centres 
that are consented and completed  

All planning 
permissions to 
meet policy 
requirements 

Plan period 

Number of retail / leisure applications for edge-of-centre and out-of-
centre locations submitting sequential tests  

100% Plan period 

Number of retail / leisure applications for edge-of-centre and out-of-
centre locations over 280m2 submitting impact test 

100% Plan period 

Amount of floorspace permitted in out-of-centre locations and in 
conflict with SCE5 (small-scale local facilities) 

0 Plan period 

West Bromwich 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SWB1 - West Bromwich Town Centre  
Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

All planning permissions for development falling within Class D2 of 
1000m2 and over to be located in West Bromwich  

100% Plan period 

 Delivery of new homes within West Bromwich 1,162 new homes 
(policy SWB2) 

Plan period 

Page 1257



402 

 

Transport 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network  
Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN)  
Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development  
Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight & Logistics  
Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking  
Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices  
Policy STR7 – Network Management  
Policy STR8– Parking Management  
Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles  
Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity  

 Monitoring Indicator Target   Timescale 

Delivery of key transport priority projects set out at STR1 Delivery Plan period 

 Average number of cyclists recorded by cycle counters within the 
borough 

Annual increase Plan period 

 Number of electric vehicle charging points No target Plan period 

Infrastructure and Delivery 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SID1 - Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks  
Policy SID2- Mobile Network Infrastructure  
Policy SID3 - Digital Infrastructure / Equipment  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

 Full fibre broadband coverage across the borough The same or better 
than national 
coverage 

Plan period 

 5G coverage across the borough The same or better 
than national 
coverage 

Plan period 

Page 1258



403 

 

Waste and Minerals 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements  
Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites  
Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities  
Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities  
Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development  
Policy SMI1 - Minerals Safeguarding  
Policy SMI2 - Managing the Effects of Mineral Development  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Waste generation from different sources Annual decrease Plan period 

Waste management measured as % of LACW recycled / recovered 
per annum (DeFRA LACW Statistics)  

60% of municipal 
waste to be 
recycled  
65% of municipal 
waste to be 
recycled  

by 2030  
by 2035 

Number of planning applications for housing development near to a 
Strategic Waste Site / % of proposals compliant with policy   

100% of housing 
developments near 
to a strategic 
Waste Site to 
include effective 
measures to 
manage land use 
conflicts  

Plan period 

Total number of planning applications for waste development 
approved, number of applications approved within the preferred 
areas or other retained employment areas  

100% of planning 
permissions for 
waste 
development 
(excluding landfill 
sites) to be in 
preferred areas or 
other retained 
employment areas 

Plan period 

Net change in waste capacity (split by management method) – 
significant losses in capacity / significant gains from development of 
new infrastructure  

100% of indicative 
waste capacity 
requirements in 
Policy SWA3 
delivered 

Plan period 

Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SCO1 - Hazardous Installations and Substances  

Page 1259



404 

 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SCO2 - Pollution Control  

Policy SCO3 - Land contamination and instability  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Number of applications granted despite HSE objection relating to 
hazardous installations. 

 0 Plan period 

Development Management 

Policies Target Timescale 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality  
Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards  
Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites  
Policy SDM4 - Advertisements  
Policy SDM5 - Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters  
Policy SDM6 - Hot Food Takeaways  
Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways  
Policy SDM8 - Gambling activities and alternative financial services  
Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities  
Policy SDM10 - Telecommunications  

Monitoring Indicator  Target   Timescale 

Number of external roller grilles or shutters permitted within 
conservation areas, on listed or locally listed buildings or affecting 
the appearance or setting of a Heritage Asset 

 0 Plan period 

Centres with planning permission for Hot Food Takeaways that 
exceed the required threshold for their location 

0 Plan period 

Centres with planning permission for gambling and related 
activities that exceed the required threshold for their location 

0 Plan period 

Loss of land or premises identified as falling under Policies SEC2 
and SEC3 to community or other alternative uses  

0 Plan period 

 

Page 1260



Page 1261



This page is intentionally left blank



Sustainability Appraisal
of the Sandwell Local Plan

Regulation 18 (II): Draft Plan

October 2023

Page 1263



 

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government License v3.0 

 

 

 

Sustainability Appraisal of the  

Sandwell Local Plan 
 

 

 

Regulation 18 (II): Draft Plan 

 

 

 

Front Cover: Warren’s Hall Nature Reserve by Lepus Consulting  

LC-893 Document Control Box 

Client Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  

Report Title Sustainability Appraisal of the Sandwell Local Plan – Regulation 18 (II): Draft Plan  

Status Draft v2 

File Name LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

Date October 2023 

Author LB 

Reviewed GW & VP 

Approved ND 

Page 1264



 

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government License v3.0 

About this report & notes for readers 

Lepus Consulting Ltd (Lepus) has prepared this 

report for the use of Sandwell Metropolitan 

Borough Council (SMBC).  There are a number of 

limitations that should be borne in mind when 

considering the conclusions of this report.  No party 

should alter or change this report without written 

permission from Lepus. 

© Lepus Consulting Ltd 

This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report is based on the best 

available information, including that provided to 

Lepus by SMBC and information that is publicly 

available.  No attempt to verify these secondary 

data sources has been made and they have been 

assumed to be accurate as published.  This report 

was prepared between May and October 2023 and 

is subject to and limited by the information 

available during this time.   

This report has been produced to evaluate the 

potential sustainability impacts of the Sandwell 

Local Plan and meets the requirements of the SEA 

Regulations.  It is not intended to be a substitute for 

an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) or 

Appropriate Assessment (AA).   

 

Client comments can be sent to Lepus using the 

following address. 

 

Eagle Tower 

Montpellier Drive 

Cheltenham 

Gloucestershire 

GL50 1TA 

Telephone: 01242 525222 

E-mail: enquiries@lepusconsulting.com 

Website: www.lepusconsulting.com 

Page 1265

mailto:enquiries@lepusconsulting.com
http://www.lepusconsulting.com/


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       i 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1 
 Background ...................................................................................................................................... 1 
 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough .......................................................................................................... 2 
 The Sandwell Local Plan .................................................................................................................... 4 
 Duty to Cooperate ............................................................................................................................. 4 
 Integrated approach to SA and SEA .................................................................................................... 5 
 Best Practice Guidance ...................................................................................................................... 6 
 Sustainability Appraisal ...................................................................................................................... 6 
 The SA process so far ........................................................................................................................ 8 
 Scoping Report ................................................................................................................................. 8 
 Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA ............................................................................................. 9 
 Signposting for this report ............................................................................................................... 10 

2 Assessment methodology and scope of appraisal .................................................................... 11 
 Assessment of reasonable alternatives .............................................................................................. 11 
 Impact assessment and determination of significance ........................................................................ 13 
 Sensitivity....................................................................................................................................... 13 
 Magnitude ...................................................................................................................................... 15 
 Significant effects............................................................................................................................ 16 
 Limitations of predicting effects ........................................................................................................ 17 
 Methodology for assessment of growth options and policies ............................................................... 18 

3 Assessment of Housing Growth Options [to be updated] ......................................................... 19 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 19 
 Assessment .................................................................................................................................... 21 
 Conclusion ...................................................................................................................................... 27 
 Selection and Rejection ................................................................................................................... 27 

4 Assessment of Employment Growth Options ........................................................................... 28 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 28 
 Assessment .................................................................................................................................... 29 
 Conclusion ...................................................................................................................................... 34 
 Selection and Rejection ................................................................................................................... 34 

5 Assessment of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Growth Options ............................. 35 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 35 
 Assessment .................................................................................................................................... 36 
 Conclusion ...................................................................................................................................... 41 
 Selection and Rejection ................................................................................................................... 41 

6 Assessment of Spatial Growth Options ................................................................................... 42 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 42 
 Assessment .................................................................................................................................... 44 
 Conclusion ...................................................................................................................................... 53 
 Selection and Rejection ................................................................................................................... 54 

7 Assessment of policies .......................................................................................................... 55 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 55 
 Overview of Policy Assessments ....................................................................................................... 55 

8 Assessment of reasonable alternative development sites ......................................................... 59 
 Preface .......................................................................................................................................... 59 
 Overview of Site Assessments (Pre-Mitigation)................................................................................... 64 
 Mitigation ....................................................................................................................................... 69 

Page 1266



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       ii 

 Selection and Rejection of Sites ........................................................................................................ 82 

9 Conclusions and next steps ................................................................................................... 83 
 Consultation on the Regulation 18 (II) SA Report ............................................................................... 83 
 Responding to the consultation ........................................................................................................ 83 

 

Appendix A SA Framework for the SLP 

Appendix B Site assessment methodology 

Appendix C Assessment of reasonable alternative sites 

Appendix D Assessment of Draft SLP policies 

 

 

Tables 

Table 1.1: The SLP and SA process to date .................................................................................................. 8 
Table 1.2: Consultation responses from statutory consultees on Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA Report 
(January 2023) ........................................................................................................................................... 9 
Table 2.1: Summary of SA Objectives ........................................................................................................ 11 
Table 2.2: Impact sensitivity ..................................................................................................................... 15 
Table 2.3: Impact magnitude .................................................................................................................... 15 
Table 2.4: Guide to scoring significant effects ............................................................................................ 16 
Table 2.5: Presenting likely impacts .......................................................................................................... 18 
Table 3.1: Sandwell Housing Growth Options identified by SMBC ................................................................. 19 
Table 3.2: Impact matrix of the five housing growth options ....................................................................... 20 
Table 4.1: Sandwell Employment Growth Options identified by SMBC ........................................................... 28 
Table 4.2: Impact matrix of the three employment growth options .............................................................. 29 
Table 5.1: Sandwell Gypsy and Traveller growth options identified by SMBC ................................................. 35 
Table 5.2: Impact matrix of the three Gypsy and Traveller growth options ................................................... 36 
Table 6.1: Sandwell Growth Options identified by SMBC .............................................................................. 42 
Table 6.2: Impact matrix of the four Spatial Growth Options ....................................................................... 43 
Table 7.1: Summary of policy assessments .................................................................................................. 56 
Table 8.1: Reasonable alternative development sites identified by SMBC ...................................................... 60 
Table 8.2: Summary impact matrix of all reasonable alternative sites (pre-mitigation) ................................... 66 
Table 8.3: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage ......................................................... 70 
Table 8.4: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 2 - Landscape ................................................................... 70 
Table 8.5: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity ...................... 71 
Table 8.6: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 4 – Climate Change mitigation ........................................... 72 
Table 8.7: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation .......................................... 74 
Table 8.8: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources ....................................................... 74 
Table 8.9: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 7 – Pollution ..................................................................... 75 
Table 8.10: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 8 – Waste ...................................................................... 76 
Table 8.11: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 9 – Transport and accessibility ......................................... 78 
Table 8.12: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 11 – Equality .................................................................. 79 
Table 8.13: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 12 – Health .................................................................... 79 
Table 8.14: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 13 – Economy ................................................................ 80 
Table 8.15: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 14 – Education, skills and training .................................... 81 
Table 8.16: Outline reasons for selection / rejection of reasonable alternative sites for the SLP ...................... 82 

Page 1267



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       iii 

 
Boxes 

Box 2.1: Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations ............................................................................................... 13 

 
 

Figures 

Figure 1.1: Sandwell administrative boundary .............................................................................................. 3 
Figure 1.2: Sustainability appraisal process .................................................................................................. 7 

  

Page 1268



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       iv 

Acronyms & Abbreviations 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

AAP Area Action Plan 

AHHLV Area of High Historic Landscape Value 

AHHTV Area of High Historic Townscape Value 

ALC Agricultural Land Classification 

AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

APA Archaeological Priority Area 

AQMA Air Quality Management Area 

BCCS Black Country Core Strategy 

BCP Black Country Plan 

BMV Best and most versatile 

CA Conservation Area 

CfS Call for Sites 

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DLHHV Designed Landscape of High Historic Value 

DLUHC Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

DtC Duty to Cooperate 

EDNA Economic Development Needs Assessment 

EMP Employment 

EU European Union 

FEMA Functional Economic Market Area 

GHG Greenhouse Gas 

GI Green Infrastructure 

GIS Geographical Information Systems 

GP General Practitioner 

GTAA Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

GTTS Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 

HIA Health Impact Assessment 

HLC Historic Landscape Characterisation 

HMA Housing Market Area 

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 

HSG Housing 

IMD Index of Multiple Deprivation 

IRZ Impact Risk Zone 

LNR Local Nature Reserve 

LSOA Lower Super Output Area 

LVA Landscape and Visual Appraisal 

LVIA Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

NHS National Health Service 

NNR National Nature Reserve 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

ONS Office of National Statistics 

PDL Previously Developed Land 

Page 1269



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       v 

PPP Policies Plans and Programmes 

PRoW Public Rights of Way 

RPG Registered Park and Garden 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 

SAC Special Area of Conservation 

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

SINC Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 

SLINC Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation 

SLP Sandwell Local Plan 

SM Scheduled Monument 

SMBC Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 

SPA Special Protection Area 

SPZ Source Protection Zone 

SSSI Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

SuDS Sustainable Drainage System 

  

Page 1270



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       vi 

Executive Summary 

About this report 

E1 Lepus Consulting is conducting an appraisal process for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council (SMBC) to help them prepare the Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).  The appraisal process 

is known as Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and is prepared during a number of different 

stages to facilitate iteration between the Plan makers (SMBC) and the appraisal team 

(Lepus Consulting).  The process seeks to provide high level environmental protection and 

the different stages of plan making are mostly accompanied by consultation with statutory 

bodies, other stakeholders and the public. 

E2 SA is the process of informing and influencing the preparation of a Development Plan to 

optimise its sustainability performance.  SA considers the social, economic and 

environmental performance of the Local Plan. 

E3 This report is being published following consultation with the statutory consultees between 

February and March 2023 on the SA Scoping Report, which identified the scope and level 

of detail to be included in the SA process going forward, and the Regulation 18 (I) Issues 

and Options SA Report, which presented an assessment of the proposed SLP Vision and 

Objectives and made recommendations for the emerging SLP. 

E4 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report has been prepared to assess the draft policies and 

options (or ‘reasonable alternatives’) as presented in the Draft Sandwell Local Plan 2025-

2041 Regulation 18 Consultation document.  This includes options for: 

• Housing growth; 

• Gypsy and Traveller growth; 

• Employment growth; 

• Spatial strategy; and 

• Development sites. 

E5 The assessment of reasonable alternatives is an important requirement of the SEA 

Regulations. 

Summary findings 

E6 Findings from the assessments are presented in a single-line matrix format.  The high-

level matrix is not a conclusive tool or model.  Its main function is to identify at a strategic 

level whether or not the assessment requires a more detailed examination or whether 

satisfactory conclusions may be drawn from the high-level assessment without the need 

for further (time consuming) detailed analysis of a particular policy. 

E7 As required by the SEA Regulations, cumulative, indirect and synergistic effects are also 

identified and evaluated during the assessment, where relevant. 

Housing Growth Options 

E8 XXX 

Page 1271



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                       

vii 

Gypsy and Traveller Growth Options 

E9 XXX 

Employment Growth Options 

E10 XXX 

Spatial Options 

E11 XXX 

Reasonable Alternative Sites 

E12 XXX 

Draft Policies 

E13 XXX 

Next steps 

E14 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report is subject to consultation with statutory consultees, 

stakeholders and the general public alongside the Draft SLP. 

E15 This report represents the latest stage of the SA process.  The SA process will take on 

board any comments on this report and use them to furnish the next report with greater 

detail and accuracy. 

E16 Once SMBC have reviewed Regulation 18 (II) consultation comments and have begun 

preparing the next version of the SLP (Regulation 19 stage), preparation of an 

Environmental Report will being, also known as a full SA report.  The Environmental Report 

will include all of the legal requirements set out in Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations. 

  

Page 1272



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     1 

1 Introduction 

 Background 

 Sandwell Metropolitan Council (SMBC) are in the process of writing the Sandwell Local Plan 

(SLP).  As part of this process, a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is being undertaken that 

incorporates the requirements of Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  The purpose 

of SA/SEA is to help guide and influence the decision making process for SMBC by 

identifying the likely sustainability effects of reasonable alternatives and various options. 

 The SLP is at the plan making stage known as the ‘Draft Plan’ stage, and follows on from 

the ‘Issues and Options’ stage.  The purpose of this SA report is to assess the sustainable 

development implications of proposals presented in the Draft Sandwell Local Plan 2025-

2041 Regulation 18 Consultation document. 

 A wide range of reasonable alternatives have been identified by SMBC during the plan 

making process.  This includes growth options, spatial options and development sites, as 

well as a suite of draft policies.  The sustainability appraisal outputs will help SMBC to 

identify sustainable development options and prepare a local plan which is economically, 

environmentally, and socially sustainable.  

 A sustainability appraisal is a systematic process that must be carried out during the 

preparation of local plans and spatial development strategies.  Its role is to promote 

sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging plan, when judged 

against reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve relevant environmental, economic and 

social objectives.  

 This SA/SEA document follows on from the SA Scoping Report1 and the Regulation 18 

Issues and Options SA Report2, both of which were consulted on with the statutory bodies 

(Natural England, Historic England and the Environment Agency) and the public between 

6th February and 20th March 2023. 

 
1 Lepus Consulting (2023) Sustainability Appraisal of the Sandwell Local Plan: Scoping Report.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33699/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal_-_scoping_report 

[Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

2 Lepus Consulting (2023) Sustainability Appraisal of the Sandwell Local Plan: Regulation 18 Issues and Options, January 

2023.  Available at: https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33698/slp_-

_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal [Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

Page 1273

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33699/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal_-_scoping_report
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33698/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33698/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     2 

 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

 Sandwell is a metropolitan borough covering approximately 8,556ha, with a population of 

341,900 according to the Census (2021)3.  On average, Sandwell has a younger and more 

ethnically diverse population than the rest of the UK.  Deprivation and inequalities are key 

issues for the local population, Sandwell is one of the most deprived local authorities in 

England with approximately 25.5% of children living in low-income families and life 

expectancy for both men and women lower than the national average.   

 Sandwell lies within the Black Country, which is a predominantly urban sub-region of the 

West Midlands.  The sub-region includes the boroughs of Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and 

the City of Wolverhampton.  The location of Sandwell is shown in Figure 1.1.   

 The strategic centre of Sandwell is West Bromwich, with several main towns and centres 

including Bearwood, Blackheath, Cape Hill, Cradley Heath, Great Bridge, Oldbury and 

Wednesbury, alongside smaller towns and settlements.  Sandwells towns are well 

connected through a network of strategic transport routes, with links to other regional and 

national centres via the M5/M6 and rail corridors.   

 Industry and manufacturing form a key part of Sandwell’s history, which continues in the 

local economy today as Sandwell is an important centre in particular for retail and 

wholesale, manufacturing, and health and social care sectors.  Sandwell also plays a role 

within the wider economy in terms of electricity, gas and air conditioning as well as water 

supply and waste management, and transportation and storage industries.  The borough 

also supports a range of parks and open spaces including the Rowley Hills and Sandwell 

Valley.  The Sandwell Valley forms Sandwells only area of Green Belt land.   

  

 
3 Office for National Statistics (2022) How the population changed in Sandwell: Census 2021.  Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E08000028/ [Date accessed: 02/06/2] 

Page 1274

https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E08000028/


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     3 

 

Figure 1.1: Sandwell administrative boundary 

Page 1275



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     4 

 The Sandwell Local Plan 

 The Sandwell Local Plan (SLP) will include the overall strategy for development in Sandwell 

Metropolitan Borough for the plan period 2025 to 2041, including a vision for Sandwell in 

2041 and underpinning strategic objectives, and an overall spatial strategy supported by 

site allocations and policies to guide land use and development within the borough.  

 The SLP is being prepared by SMBC, following the political decision to cease work on the 

joint Black Country Plan (BCP) in autumn 2022.  The SLP will carry forward relevant 

information and evidence prepared as part of the Draft BCP, with specific changes in 

response to planning issues raised during the Draft BCP consultation and new evidence 

and information for the Sandwell authority area.  This includes information gathered from 

the Issues and Options Consultation for the emerging SLP in early 20234. 

 The BCP itself began as a review of the adopted Black Country Core Strategy (BCCS), 

produced by the four Black Country Authorities of Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, 

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council, Walsall Council and City of Wolverhampton 

Council. 

 Once adopted, the SLP will form part of the statutory development plan for the borough 

covering a minimum of 15 years, replacing and updating the currently adopted BCCS5, 

Sandwell Site Allocation and Delivery Development Plan Document (SAD)6, and various 

other Area Action Plans which cover the period from 2006 to 2026.  

 Duty to Cooperate 

 The Duty to Cooperate (DtC) was created in the Localism Act 20117 and amends the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  Current national policy places a legal duty 

on local planning authorities, county councils in England and public bodies to engage 

constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of local plan 

preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary matters. 

 For SMBC, this means that unmet housing and economic land need should be sought to 

be provided for across the wider Housing Market Area (HMA), Functional Economic Market 

Area (FEMA) and other areas with which Sandwell has a physical or functional relationship. 

 A DtC Statement will be prepared, which will demonstrate how SMBC has fulfilled this duty 

through the plan-making process.  It is intended to draft and agree Statements of Common 

Ground with relevant authorities and bodies on key DtC issues at the Publication stage.   

 
4 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2023) Sandwell Local Plan: Issues and Options Consultation.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/4990/sandwell_local_plan [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

5 Black Country Authorities (2011) Black Country Core Strategy.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t1/p2/ [Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

6 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2012) Site Allocations and Delivery Development Plan Document.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200275/planning_and_buildings/676/site_allocations_and_delivery_development_plan

_document [Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

7 Localism Act 2011.  Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

Page 1276

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/4990/sandwell_local_plan
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t1/p2/
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200275/planning_and_buildings/676/site_allocations_and_delivery_development_plan_document
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200275/planning_and_buildings/676/site_allocations_and_delivery_development_plan_document
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     5 

 It should be noted that emerging reforms to planning policy set out the intention to repeal 

the DtC and replace this with a more flexible ‘alignment test’8.  However, at the time of 

writing and for the purposes of this stage of the SLP, the current DtC requirement applies. 

 Integrated approach to SA and SEA 

 The requirements to carry out SA and SEA are distinct, although it is possible to satisfy 

both obligations using a single appraisal process. 

 The European Union Directive 2001/42/EC9 (SEA Directive) applies to a wide range of 

public plans and programmes on land use, energy, waste, agriculture, transport and more 

(see Article 3(2) of the Directive for other plan or programme types).  The objective of the 

SEA procedure can be summarised as follows: “the objective of this Directive is to provide 

for a high level of protection of the environment and to contribute to the integration of 

environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of plans and programmes 

with a view to promoting sustainable development”. 

 The SEA Directive has been transposed into English law by the Environmental Assessment 

of Plans and Programmes Regulations 200410 (SEA Regulations).  Under the requirements 

of the SEA Directive and SEA Regulations, specific types of plans that set the framework 

for the future development consent of projects must be subject to an environmental 

assessment.  Therefore, it is a legal requirement for the Local Plan to be subject to SEA 

throughout its preparation.   

 SA is a UK-specific procedure used to appraise the impacts and effects of development 

plans in the UK.  It is a legal requirement as specified by S19(5) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 200411 and should be an appraisal of the economic, social and 

environmental sustainability of development plans.  The present statutory requirement for 

SA lies in The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 201212.  

SA is a systematic process for evaluating the environmental consequences of proposed 

plans or programmes to ensure environmental issues are fully integrated and addressed 

at the earliest appropriate stage of decision-making.   

 Public consultation is an important aspect of the integrated SA/SEA process. 

 
8 DLUHC (2022) Policy Paper – Levelling Up and Regeneration: Further information.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-and-regeneration-further-information/levelling-up-and-

regeneration-further-information [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

9 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 June 2001 on the assessment of the effects of 

certain plans and programmes on the environment (SEA Directive). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042&from=EN [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

10 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.  Available at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

11 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Available at:  https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents [Date 

accessed: 02/06/23] 

12 The Town and Country Planning Regulations 2012. Available at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

Page 1277

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-and-regeneration-further-information/levelling-up-and-regeneration-further-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-and-regeneration-further-information/levelling-up-and-regeneration-further-information
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042&from=EN
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042&from=EN
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     6 

 Best Practice Guidance  

 Government policy recommends that both SA and SEA are undertaken under a single 

sustainability appraisal process, which incorporates the requirements of the SEA 

Regulations.  This can be achieved through integrating the requirements of SEA into the 

SA process.  The approach for carrying out an integrated SA and SEA is based on best 

practice guidance:  

• European Commission (2004) Implementation of Directive 2001/42 on the 

assessment of the effects of certain plan and programmes on the 

environment13. 

• Office of Deputy Prime Minister (2005) A Practical Guide to the SEA 

Directive14. 

• Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)15. 

• Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) Planning 

Practice Guidance (PPG)16. 

• Royal Town Planning Institute (2018) Strategic Environmental Assessment, 

Improving the effectiveness and efficiency of SEA/SA for land use plans17.   

 Sustainability Appraisal 

 This document is a component of the SA of the SLP.  It provides an assessment of the 

likely effects of reasonable alternatives, as per Stage B of Figure 1.2, according to PPG 

on SA18.   

 
13 European Commission (2004) Implementation of Directive 2001/42 on the assessment of the effects of certain plan and 

programmes on the environment.  Available at: 

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/archives/eia/pdf/030923_sea_guidance.pdf [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

14 Office of Deputy Prime Minister (2005) A Practical Guide to the SEA Directive.  Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguides

ea.pdf [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

15 MHCLG (2021) National Planning Policy Framework.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

16 DLUHC & MHCLG (2021) Planning practice guidance.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-

practice-guidance [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

17 Royal Town Planning Institute (2018) Strategic Environmental Assessment, Improving the effectiveness and efficiency of 

SEA/SA for land use plans.  Available at:  https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/1822/sea-sapracticeadvicefull2018c.pdf [Date 

accessed: 02/06/23] 

18 DLUHC & MHCLG (2020) Guidance: Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

Page 1278

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/archives/eia/pdf/030923_sea_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/1822/sea-sapracticeadvicefull2018c.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     7 

 

Figure 1.2: Sustainability appraisal process  

Page 1279



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     8 

 The SA process so far 

 Table 1.1 below presents a timeline of stages of the SLP and SA process so far.  To date, 

this represents Stages A and B of Figure 1.2.   

Date SLP Stage Sustainability Appraisal 

January 

2023 
Plan making commences. 

SA Scoping Report 

This report identifies the scope and level of 

detail to be included in the SA. 

February– 

March 2023 

Issues and Preferred Options 

(Regulation 18) Consultation 

In the Issues and Options document, the 

Council considered the ways in which future 

development needs could be met and asked 

the public and other stakeholders to 

comment on these key issues for the 

borough. 

Regulation 18: Issues and Preferred 

Options SA Report 

The Regulation 18 (I) SA Report presented 

an assessment of the SLP Vision and 

Objectives as set out in the consultation 

document, and made recommendations for 

the emerging SLP. 

November – 

December 

2023 

Draft Plan (Regulation 18 II) 

Consultation 

The Draft Plan document sets out the 

Councils’ preferred options for the overall 

levels of growth and spatial strategy as well 

as site allocations and policy areas, and 

seeks consultation views on these to help 

inform the SLP process going forward. 

Regulation 18 (II) SA Report 

This report assesses the reasonable alternative 

options for housing growth, employment 

growth, Gypsy and Traveller growth, spatial 

strategy, development sites and policies 

identified by the Council. 

 Scoping Report 

 In order to identify the scope and level of detail of the information to be included in the 

SA process, an SA Scoping Report19 was produced in January 2023.   

 The SA Scoping Report represented Stage A of the SA process (see Figure 1.2), and 

contains information in relation to: 

• Identifying other relevant plans, programmes and environmental protection 

objectives; 

• Collecting baseline information; 

• Identifying sustainability problems and key issues; 

• Preparing the SA Framework; and 

• Consultation arrangements on the scope of SA with the consultation bodies. 

 The Scoping Report was consulted on between 6th February and 20th March 2023 with the 

statutory bodies Natural England, Historic England and the Environment Agency as well as 

the general public.  No specific comments were received regarding the SA Scoping Report. 

 
19 Lepus Consulting (2022) Sustainability Appraisal of the Sandwell Local Plan: Scoping Report.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33699/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal_-_scoping_report 

[Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

Table 1.1: The SLP and SA process to date 

Page 1280

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/33699/slp_-_issues_and_options_sustainability_appraisal_-_scoping_report


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     9 

 Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA 

 Through the Issues and Options Consultation, the Council sought to involve local people, 

businesses and stakeholders in identifying what the emerging SLP should address.  In 

addition to various questions which seek to gather views from consultees, the Issues and 

Options consultation document identified options for the Vision and 11 draft Objectives for 

the SLP.   

 The Regulation 18 Issues and Options SA Report set out an assessment of the draft Vision 

and Objectives of the emerging SLP.  The SA Report also set out a range of 

recommendations for SMBC to consider as the SLP is developed and refined, including 

recommendations to improve the SLP Vision and Objectives, as well as consideration of 

the identification, description and evaluation of reasonable alternatives which is an 

important aspect of this Regulation 18 (II) SA Report. 

 The Issues and Options SA Report was consulted on between 6th February and 20th March 

2023 with statutory consultees, stakeholders and the general public, alongside the SLP 

Issues and Options document, and the SA Scoping Report. 

 Comments received during the consultation relating to the SA have informed the 

preparation of this Regulation 18 (II) SA Report.  Table 1.2 summarises the responses 

received and how these comments have been incorporated into the SA process going 

forward.  

Consultee Summary of Consultation Response 
Incorporation into the 

SA 

Natural 
England 

No specific comments received regarding the SA Scoping Report 
or Issues and Options Report, but general comments and 
recommendations have been supplied including the following: 

 
“The Local Plan should be underpinned by up to date 
environmental evidence. This should include an assessment of 
existing and potential components of local ecological networks. 
This assessment should inform the Sustainability Appraisal, 
ensure that land of least environment value is chosen for 
development, and that the mitigation hierarchy is followed and 
inform opportunities for enhancement as well as development 
requirements for particular sites.” 

The SA has incorporated 

the latest evidence 
available, identified 

through conversation with 
SMBC.  This includes 

consideration of the 
emerging approach to 
Nature Recovery Networks 

within the borough. [add 
more details when 

assessments progressed] 

Historic 

England 

The following comments received regarding the Issues and 
options SA Report: 

“3.2 we would welcome reference to the historic environment 
within the vision which should then help to set out a positive 
strategy for the historic environment.  
Table 3.1 we are supportive of a separate objective for cultural 
heritage.  
There is limited detail to comment on at this stage as we are 
awaiting to see the content of the Local Plan and the policies 
and allocations that the Council decides to pursue. We welcome 
an objective to assess cultural heritage when that detail is 
available.  
When considering relevant plans and programmes to consider 
within the SEA/SA process we recommend that the Council 
consider the documents listed in our representation above, 
where we have included the links for ease.”  

The Issues and Options SA 
in section 4.2 included a 

recommendation to 
incorporate stronger 

reference to the 
importance of 

conservation and 
enhancement of cultural 

heritage and the historic 
environment, such as 

seeking opportunities for 
heritage-led regeneration.   
SMBC have since updated 

the Vision with stronger 
wording, as presented in 

the Draft SLP, which has 

Table 1.2: Consultation responses from statutory consultees on Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA Report 

(January 2023) 

Page 1281



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     10 

Consultee Summary of Consultation Response 
Incorporation into the 

SA 

been re-assessed in 
Appendix D. 

Environment 

Agency 
No response received. N/A 

 Signposting for this report 

 This Regulation 18 Issues and Preferred Options SA Report sets out an assessment of 

reasonable alternatives, or ‘options’, set out in the Issues and Preferred Options document 

prepared by SMBC.  These relate to options for growth and the spatial strategy, policies 

and development sites. 

 The appendices of this report provide essential contextual information to the main body 

of the report.  The contents of this SA Report are listed below: 

• Chapter 1 (this chapter) sets out the purpose, context and introduction to 

the SLP and the accompanying SA process.  

• Chapter 2 sets out the methodology used to present and assess the findings 

of the SA process. 

• Chapter 3 presents the assessment of the housing growth options. 

• Chapter 4 presents the assessment of the employment growth options. 

• Chapter 5 presents the assessment of the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople growth options. 

• Chapter 6 presents the assessment of the spatial growth options. 

• Chapter 7 summarises the SA findings in relation to the assessment of 

proposed SLP policies. 

• Chapter 8 summarises the SA findings in relation to the assessment of 

reasonable alternative development sites pre-mitigation, considers the likely 

mitigating impact of the draft SLP policies in regard to identified adverse 

impacts, and presents selection and rejection information. 

• Chapter 9 sets out the conclusions of this Regulation 18 (II) SA, and outlines 

the next steps. 

• Appendix A presents the SA Framework. 

• Appendix B presents the detailed site assessment methodology, building on 

the information set out in Chapter 2. 

• Appendix C presents the assessment of the reasonable alternative sites. 

• Appendix D presents the assessment of the Draft SLP policies. 

  

Page 1282



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     11 

2 Assessment methodology and scope 
of appraisal 

 Assessment of reasonable alternatives 

 Each of the reasonable alternatives or options appraised in this report have been assessed 

for their likely impacts on each SA Objective of the SA Framework.  The SA Framework, 

which is presented in its entirety in Appendix A, is comprised of 14 SA Objectives.  Table 

2.1 summarises the SA Objectives and their relevance to the SEA themes. 

 SA Objectives 

Relevance to SEA 

Regulations – Schedule 
2 

1 
Cultural heritage: Protect, enhance and manage sites, features and 
areas of archaeological, historical and cultural heritage importance 

Cultural heritage 

2 
Landscape: Protect, enhance and manage the character and 
appearance of the landscape and townscape, maintaining and 

strengthening local distinctiveness and sense of place 

Landscape and cultural 

heritage 

3 
Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity: Protect, enhance and 
manage biodiversity and geodiversity. 

Biodiversity, flora and fauna 

4 
Climate change mitigation: Minimise Sandwell’s contribution to 
climate change. 

Climatic factors 

5 
Climate change adaptation: Plan for the anticipated levels of climate 
change. 

Climatic factors, soil, water 

6 Natural resources: Protect and conserve natural resources. 
Soil, water and material 

assets 

7 Pollution: Reduce air, soil, water and noise pollution 
Air, water, soil and human 

health 

8 
Waste: Reduce waste generation and disposal and achieve the 
sustainable management of waste. 

Material assets 

9 
Transport and accessibility: Improve the efficiency of transport 
networks by increasing the proportion of travel by sustainable modes 

and by promoting policies which reduce the need to travel. 

Climatic factors and 
material assets 

10 
Housing: Provide affordable, environmentally sound and good quality 

housing for all. 
Population 

11 
Equality: Reduce poverty, crime and social deprivation and secure 
economic inclusion. 

Population and human 
health 

12 
Health: Safeguard and improve community health, safety and 
wellbeing. 

Population and human 
health 

13 
Economy: Develop a dynamic, diverse and knowledge-based economy 

that excels in innovation with higher value, lower impact activities. 

Population and material 

assets  

Table 2.1: Summary of SA Objectives 

Page 1283



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     12 

 SA Objectives 
Relevance to SEA 
Regulations – Schedule 

2 

14 

Education, skills and training: Raise educational attainment and 

develop and maintain a skilled workforce to support long-term 
competitiveness. 

Population 

 The SA Framework is comprised of SA Objectives and decision-making criteria.  Acting as 

yardsticks of sustainability performance, the SA Objectives are designed to represent the 

topics identified in Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations20.  Including the SEA topics in the 

SA Objectives helps to ensure that all of the environmental criteria of the SEA Regulations 

are represented.  Consequently, the SA Objectives reflect all subject areas to ensure that 

the assessment process is transparent, robust and thorough.   

 It is important to note that the order of SA Objectives in the SA Framework does not infer 

prioritisation.  The SA Objectives are at a strategic level and can potentially be open-

ended.  In order to focus each objective, decision making criteria are presented in the SA 

Framework to be used during the appraisal of policies and sites.   

 The purpose of this document is to provide an appraisal of reasonable alternatives, also 

known as ‘options’, in line with Regulation 12 of the SEA Regulations21: 

 “Where an environmental assessment is required by any provision of Part 2 of these 

Regulations, the responsible authority shall prepare, or secure the preparation of, an 

environmental report … [which] shall identify, describe and evaluate the likely significant 

effects on the environment of implementing the plan or programme, and reasonable 

alternatives taking into account the objectives and the geographical scope of the plan or 

programme”. 

 At this stage of the plan making process, SMBC have identified options for the levels of 

housing, Gypsy and Traveller and employment growth, broad spatial strategy options, and 

reasonable alternative sites.   

 This document also provides information in relation to the likely characteristics of effects, 

as per the SEA Regulations (see Box 2.1). 

  

 
20 Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations identifies the likely significant effects on the environment, including “issues such as (a) 

biodiversity, (b) population,(c)  human health, (d) fauna, (e) flora, (f) soil, (g) water, (h) air, (i) climatic factors, (j) material 

assets, (k) cultural heritage including architectural and archaeological heritage, (l) landscape and (m) the interrelationship 

between the issues referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) to (l).” 

21 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations).  Available at: 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made [Date accessed: 25/10/22] 

Page 1284

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     13 

Criteria for determining the likely significance of effects (Schedule 1 of SEA Regulations) 

The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to: 

• the degree to which the plan or programme sets a framework for projects and other activities, either 
with regard to the location, nature, size and operating conditions or by allocating resources;  

• the degree to which the plan or programme influences other plans and programmes including those in 
a hierarchy;  

• the relevance of the plan or programme for the integration of environmental considerations in 
particular with a view to promoting sustainable development;  

• environmental problems relevant to the plan or programme; and 

• the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of Community legislation on the 
environment (e.g.  plans and programmes linked to waste management or water protection).   

Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in particular, 

to: 

• the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects;  

• the cumulative nature of the effects;  

• the transboundary nature of the effects;  

• the risks to human health or the environment (e.g.  due to accidents);  

• the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the population likely to 
be affected);  

• the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to:  

• special natural characteristics or cultural heritage;  

• exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values;  

• intensive land-use; and 

• the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, Community or international 
protection status.   

 Impact assessment and determination of significance  

 Significance of effect is a combination of impact sensitivity and magnitude.  Impact 

sensitivity can be expressed in relative terms, based on the principle that the more 

sensitive the resource, the greater the magnitude of the change, and as compared with 

the do-nothing comparison, the greater will be the significance of effect.  

 Sensitivity 

 Sensitivity has been measured through consideration as to how the receiving environment 

will be impacted by a plan proposal.  This includes assessment of the value and 

vulnerability of the receiving environment, whether or not environmental quality standards 

will be exceeded, and for example, if impacts will affect designated areas or landscapes.   

 A guide to the range of scales used in determining impact sensitivity is presented in Table 

2.2.  For most receptors, sensitivity increases with geographic scale. 

 
22 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations).  Available at: 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made [Date accessed: 25/10/22] 

Box 2.1: Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations22 

Page 1285

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     14 

  

Page 1286



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     15 

Scale  Typical criteria 

International/ 

national 

Designations that have an international aspect or consideration of transboundary effects 

beyond national boundaries.  This applies to effects and designations/receptors that 

have a national or international dimension. 

Regional  
This includes the regional and sub-regional scale, including county-wide level and 

regional areas. 

Local This is the district and neighbourhood scale. 

 Magnitude 

 Magnitude relates to the degree of change the receptor will experience, including the 

probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the impact.  Impact magnitude has 

been determined on the basis of the susceptibility of a receptor to the type of change that 

will arise, as well as the value of the affected receptor (see Table 2.3).   

Impact magnitude Typical criteria 

High 

• Likely total loss of or major alteration to the receptor in question;  

• Provision of a new receptor/feature; or 

• The impact is permanent and frequent. 

Medium 

Partial loss/alteration/improvement to one or more key features; or 

The impact is one of the following: 

• Frequent and short-term; 

• Frequent and reversible; 

• Long-term (and frequent) and reversible; 

• Long-term and occasional; or 

• Permanent and occasional. 

Low 

Minor loss/alteration/improvement to one or more key features of the receptor; or 

The impact is one of the following: 

• Reversible and short-term; 

• Reversible and occasional; or 

• Short-term and occasional. 

  

Table 2.2: Impact sensitivity 

Table 2.3: Impact magnitude 

Page 1287



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     16 

 Significant effects 

 A single value from Table 2.4 has been allocated to each SA Objective for each reasonable 

alternative.  Justification for the classification of the impact for each SA objective is 

presented in an accompanying narrative assessment text for all reasonable alternatives 

that have been assessed through the SA process.   

 The assessment of impacts and subsequent evaluation of significant effects is in 

accordance with Schedule 2 (6) of the SEA Regulations, where feasible, which states that 

the effects should include: “short, medium and long-term effects, permanent and 

temporary effects, positive and negative effects, cumulative and synergistic effects”. 

Significance Definition (not necessarily exhaustive) 

Major 
Negative 

-- 

The size, nature and location of a development proposal would be likely to: 

• Permanently degrade, diminish or destroy the integrity of a quality receptor, such as 
a feature of international, national or regional importance; 

• Cause a very high-quality receptor to be permanently diminished;  

• Be unable to be entirely mitigated;  

• Be discordant with the existing setting; and/or 

• Contribute to a cumulative significant effect. 

Minor 
Negative 

- 

• The size, nature and location of development proposals would be likely to: 

• Not quite fit into the existing location or with existing receptor qualities; and/or 

• Affect undesignated yet recognised local receptors.   

Negligible 
0 

Either no impacts are anticipated, or any impacts are anticipated to be negligible. 

Uncertain 
+/- 

It is entirely uncertain whether impacts would be positive or adverse. 

Minor 
Positive 

+ 

The size, nature and location of a development proposal would be likely to: 

• Improve undesignated yet recognised receptor qualities at the local scale; 

• Fit into, or with, the existing location and existing receptor qualities; and/or 

• Enable the restoration of valued characteristic features. 

Major 
Positive 

++ 

The size, nature and location of a development proposal would be likely to: 

• Enhance and redefine the location in a positive manner, making a contribution at a 
national or international scale; 

• Restore valued receptors which were degraded through previous uses; and/or 

• Improve one or more key elements/features/characteristics of a receptor with 
recognised quality such as a specific international, national or regional designation.   

 
  

Table 2.4: Guide to scoring significant effects 

Page 1288



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     17 

 When selecting a single value to best represent the sustainability performance, and to 

understand the significance of effects of an option in terms of the relevant SA Objective, 

the precautionary principle23 has been used.  This is a worst-case scenario approach.  If a 

positive effect is identified in relation to one criterion within the SA Framework (see the 

second column of the SA Framework in Appendix A) and a negative effect is identified in 

relation to another criterion within the same SA Objective, the overall impact has been 

assigned as negative for that objective.  It is therefore essential to appreciate that the 

impacts are indicative summarily and that the accompanying assessment text provides a 

fuller explanation of the sustainability performance of the option or proposal being 

considered. 

 For the assessment of reasonable alternative sites, to enable further transparency and to 

provide the reader with contextual information that is relevant to each SA Objective, the 

full assessments presented in the SA report appendices have been set out per ‘receptor’.  

The methodology used to assess reasonable alternative sites throughout the SA process, 

which sets out the receptors considered for each SA Objective and includes topic-specific 

methodologies and assumptions, is presented in Appendix B.  

 The assessment considers, on a strategic basis, the degree to which a location can 

accommodate change without adverse effects on valued or important receptors (identified 

in the baseline).   

 The level of effect has been categorised as minor or major.  The nature of the significant 

effect can be either positive or negative depending on the type of development and the 

design and mitigation measures proposed.   

 Each reasonable alternative or option that has been identified in this report has been 

assessed for its likely significant impact against each SA Objective in the SA Framework, 

as per Table 2.4.  Likely impacts are not intended to be summed.   

 It is important to note that the assessment scores presented in Table 2.4 are high level 

indicators.  The assessment narrative text should always read alongside the significance 

scores, and should bear in mind the limitations of assessments of a strategic nature.   

 Limitations of predicting effects 

 SA/SEA is a tool for predicting potential significant effects.  Predicting effects relies on an 

evidence-based approach and incorporates expert judgement.  It is often not possible to 

state with absolute certainty whether effects will occur, as many impacts are influenced 

by a range of factors such as the design and the success of mitigation measures. 

 
23 The European Commission describes the precautionary principle as follows: “If a preliminary scientific evaluation shows 

that there are reasonable grounds for concern that a particular activity might lead to damaging effects on the environment, 

or on human, animal or plant health, which would be inconsistent with protection normally afforded to these within the 

European Community, the Precautionary Principle is triggered”.  

Page 1289



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     18 

 The assessments in this report are based on the best available information, including 

secondary data that has been provided to Lepus by the Council and information that is 

publicly available.  Every attempt has been made to predict effects as accurately as 

possible. 

 SA operates at a strategic level which uses available secondary data for the relevant SA 

Objective.  All reasonable alternatives and preferred options are assessed in the same way 

using the same method.  Sometimes, in the absence of more detailed information, 

forecasting the potential impacts of development can require making reasonable 

assumptions based on the best available data and trends.  However, all options must be 

assessed in the same way and any introduction of site-based detail should be made clear 

in the SA report as the new data could potentially introduce bias and skew the findings of 

the assessment process.  

 The assessment of development proposals is limited in terms of available data resources; 

for example, the appraisal of the SLP is limited in its assessment of carbon emissions, and 

greater detail of carbon data would help to better quantify effects. 

 Methodology for assessment of growth options and policies 

 The appraisal of growth options (housing, employment and Gypsy and Traveller), spatial 

strategy options and policies aims to assess the likely significant effects of each proposed 

option / policy, based on the criteria set out in the SEA Regulations (see Box 2.1).   

 Table 2.5 sets out a guide to how likely impacts have been determined in the assessment 

of options within this report. 

Likely Impact Description Impact Symbol 

Major Positive Impact 
The proposed option contributes to the achievement of 
the SA Objective to a significant extent. 

++ 

Minor Positive Impact 
The proposed option contributes to the achievement of 
the SA Objective to some extent. 

+ 

Negligible/ Neutral Impact 
The proposed option has no effect or an insignificant 
effect on the achievement of the SA Objective. 

0 

Uncertain Impact 
The proposed option has an uncertain relationship with 
the SA Objective or insufficient information is available 

for an appraisal to be made. 
+/- 

Minor Negative Impact 
The proposed option prevents the achievement of the SA 
Objective to some extent. 

- 

Major Negative Impact 
The proposed option prevents the achievement of the SA 
Objective to a significant extent. 

-- 

 The appraisal commentary provided should be read alongside the identified impact 

symbols, as it is often difficult to distill the wide-ranging effects of a broad growth option 

into one overall impact.  

  

Table 2.5: Presenting likely impacts 

Page 1290



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     19 

3 Assessment of Housing Growth 
Options [to be updated] 

 Preface 

 Paragraph 61 of the NPPF states that the minimum number of homes needed in an area 

should be informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard 

method outlined in PPG24, unless the local authority feel that circumstances warrant an 

alternative approach.  

 The NPPF also states that “any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas should 

also be taken into account in establishing the amount of housing to be planned for”. 

 As set out in the SLP Spatial Strategy Paper, and according to the government’s standard 

method calculation, there is a need for approximately 29,773 homes in Sandwell by 2041.  

There is an existing supply of 11,194 homes, based on the most recent evidence with 

regard to suitable residential land (this includes identified sites, small windfalls and surplus 

vacant floorspace in centres), resulting in an unmet need for 18,579 homes.  

 Sandwell faces challenges in meeting the identified housing needs owing to the finite 

supply of land suitable for housing.  Given the scale of this unmet need, the Council will 

explore the potential of exporting some of Sandwell’s housing need to neighbouring 

authorities through the Duty to Co-operate to deliver more housing. 

 Five options for the quanta of housing growth have been identified by SMBC (see Table 

3.1).   

[Note to Council: the dwelling figures assessed are as agreed via email 17/05/23, the figures and 
assessments will need to be updated to reflect the changes as per the SLP spatial strategy document 
received 05/10/23] 

Housing Growth Option 
Dwellings per 
Annum 

Total Dwellings 
2023-2041 

1. Meet proportion of local housing need based on supply and 

small windfalls identified in current SHLAA (2021) and seek 
contributions from adjacent authorities based on current offers 
and apportioned using travel to work data (DtC) 

595 9,531 

2. Meet a proportion of housing need across plan period (2023-
2041) based on average annual levels of delivery for last 10 years 

(do nothing) 

695 12,523 

3. Meet entire housing need identified through Standard Method 

across plan period (2025-2041) based on 2021 census figures 
(based on increase in households of 7.2%25) 

1,101 19,818 

4. Meet entire housing need identified through Standard Method 
across plan period (2025-2041) based on 2014 household 

projections (using 2022 affordability ratio) 

1,567 28,206 

 
24

 DLUHC and MHCLG (2020) Planning Practice Guidance.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-

economic-development-needs-assessments [Date accessed: 22/05/23] 

25 2021 Census showed number of households in Sandwell increased by 7.2% since 2011 

Table 3.1: Sandwell Housing Growth Options identified by SMBC 

Page 1291

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     20 

Housing Growth Option 
Dwellings per 
Annum 

Total Dwellings 
2023-2041 

5. Meet housing need (Standard Method 2014 and 2022 
affordability ratio) and contribute 2,000 houses to wider HMA 
needs   

1,692 30,206 

 Table 3.2 summarises the likely impacts of each housing growth option in relation to the 

14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 3.2 sets out the accompanying assessment 

narrative which explains how each overall impact was identified. 

 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, 

the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the 

current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been based on 

information provided by SMBC, as well as expert judgement. 

 SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Housing 
Growth 

Option 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l h

e
ri

ta
ge

 

La
n

d
sc

ap
e

 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
, f

lo
ra

, 
fa

u
n

a 
an

d
 

ge
o

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

m
it

ig
at

io
n

 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

N
at

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

 

W
as

te
 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

Eq
u

al
it

y 

H
ea

lt
h

 

Ec
o

n
o

m
y 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, S
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 
tr

ai
n

in
g 

1 - - - - +/- - - - - + - - + - 

2 - - - - +/- - - - - + - - + - 

3 - - - - +/- - - - - + - - + - 

4 -- -- -- -- +/- - -- -- - + +/- -- + -- 

5 -- -- -- -- +/- - -- -- - ++ +/- -- + -- 

Table 3.2: Impact matrix of the five housing growth options 

Page 1292



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     21 

 Assessment  

SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage 

 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, 

seven Scheduled Monuments (SM), nine Conservation Areas (CA) and five Registered Parks 

and Gardens (RPG).  There are also a range of historic character areas and areas of historic 

townscape / landscape value identified within the borough26.  Development in close 

proximity to cultural heritage features has the potential to adversely affect their 

significance or setting.  Whilst the context and specific locations of the proposed dwellings 

within each of the five options are not known, there is potential for a minor negative 

impact on cultural heritage to arise owing to the risk of encroachment into the remaining 

undeveloped areas of the borough leading to alteration of historic character, and 

potentially affecting the setting of any cultural heritage features particularly in suburban 

settlements.  Option 5 is likely to have the largest impact on cultural heritage as it proposes 

the highest number of dwellings, followed by Option 4; both of which could lead to a major 

negative impact on cultural heritage.  Conversely, Option 1 proposes the fewest number 

of dwellings so may have the smallest impact.   

SA Objective 2 – Landscape 

 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains gently undulating hills and other 

pockets of undeveloped land.  Green Belt land is located to the north-east of the borough 

and is bisected by the M5 motorway.  The landscape of the borough’s Green Belt is largely 

described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development although open landscapes 

within the borough are important for maintaining separation between settlements27.  One 

area in Sandwell Valley is described as having moderate-high sensitivity.  Within the urban 

areas, Sandwell’s history and industrial legacy provides distinctive character and a sense 

of local identity.  Existing green spaces outside of the Green Belt also provide benefits to 

the local character.  Whilst the context and specific locations of the proposed dwellings 

within each of the five options are not known, it is likely a minor negative impact on the 

landscape would arise owing to the risk of encroachment into the remaining undeveloped 

areas of the borough leading to alteration of character, tranquillity and sense of place in 

suburban settlements.  Option 5 is likely to have the largest impact on landscape as it 

proposes the highest number of dwellings, followed by Option 4; both of which could lead 

to a major negative impact on the landscape.  Conversely, Option 1 proposes the fewest 

number of dwellings so may have the smallest impact.   

 
26 Oxford Archaeology (2019) Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf 

[Date accessed: 22/05/23] 

27 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

accessed: 22/05/2023] 

Page 1293

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     22 

SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity 

 There are nine Local Nature Reserves (LNR) within Sandwell, forming key sections of the 

ecological network within the SLP area in addition to the numerous Sites of Importance 

for Nature Conservation (SINC) and Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SLINC).  There are no Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or National Nature 

Reserves (NNR) within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authorities close 

to the Sandwell Borough boundary.  Areas of geological interest include Rowley Hills, 

Bumble Hole & Warrens Park LNR and Sandwell Valley Country Park.  Over 50% of 

Sandwell’s Green Belt land is described as having very high ecological value28.  Some 

priority habitats and small areas on ancient woodland are also present in the borough.   

 There is potential for all of the proposed options to have an adverse impact on biodiversity 

and geodiversity at the landscape scale due to the increased pressure and threats 

associated with increased development, such as habitat fragmentation resulting from new 

development areas and recreational pressures on wildlife sites, despite any biodiversity 

net gain provisions at the site level, owing to the large quanta of housing proposed.  

Options 4 and 5 are expected to have the largest impact as they propose the highest 

quanta of new houses and as such a major negative impact is identified, whereas under 

Options 1, 2 and 3 fewer houses are proposed so a minor negative impact is recorded.  

Option 1 may have the smallest impact overall and so could perform the best for this 

objective, depending on site-specific characteristics and sensitivities.   

SA Objective 4 – Climate Change Mitigation 

 The two largest sources of CO2 emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road 

transport, however, according to Sandwell Trends, in 2021 almost 30% of households 

within the borough did not own a car29.  Investments in public transport, walking and 

cycling provisions could help to reduce pollution and provide better access across the 

borough without using privately owned transportation.   

 All housing options propose a large quantum of new dwellings which would have the 

potential to increase CO2 and other GHG emissions to some extent through construction 

and occupation phases.  Option 1 proposes the fewest number of new dwellings and as 

such may have the least impact on emissions, however Options 4 and 5 propose large 

numbers of new dwellings and as such would have potentially the largest impact on climate 

change mitigation.   

 The potential of new development under any growth option to draw on renewable or low-

carbon energy supplies is not known at this stage of assessment. 

 
28 EcoRecord (2019) An Ecological evaluation of the Black Country Green Belt.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-

report-2019-redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 22/05/23] 

29 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2023) Sandwell Trends: Housing and Car Ownership. Available at: 

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/household-characteristics/ [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1294

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/household-characteristics/


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     23 

SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation 

 Given its mostly urban setting, Sandwell is likely to suffer from the ‘urban heat island’ 

effect which may be made worse by new development in the borough.  Green 

infrastructure (GI) and open spaces can help urban areas adapt to climate change, by 

providing protection from extreme weather events and helping to reduce the ‘urban heat 

island’ effect, these functions could be compromised by greater urban density and loss of 

GI.  As the location of the proposed dwellings are not known it is difficult to determine 

exactly what effect new developments may have in terms of climate change adaptation, 

but it is something which should be considered and mitigated for in any potential 

developments.   

 Sandwell is affected by flooding along the River Tame the River Stour and by surface water 

flooding with all six wards having been affected by previous flooding events.  The 

introduction of new dwellings and impermeable surfaces can exacerbate surface water 

flooding, but implementation of adaptive technologies can help to mitigate this.  Option 1 

has the smallest number of proposed dwellings and, depending on the location of the 

developments, may have less of an impact on potential flooding than Option 5 which has 

the largest number of proposed dwellings.   

 Overall, as the location and site context of the proposed new dwellings is not known at 

this time the potential impacts of the housing growth options on climate change adaptation 

are uncertain.   

SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources 

 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small 

pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north 

east of the borough.  Development within the urban area would not result in the loss of 

best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land and may provide opportunities for re-use 

of previously developed land, helping to promote an efficient use of natural resources.  

There are no mineral safeguarding areas (MSA) present in Sandwell.   

 As the location of the proposed new homes are not currently known the exact impact the 

different options will have on natural resources within the borough cannot be fully 

determined, but whilst the options may have a negligible effect on MSAs it is likely the 

proposed developments would lead to encroachment into the remaining undeveloped 

areas of the borough to some extent which may have environmental value, even if not 

BMV land.  As such, all options could lead to potential minor negative effects on natural 

resources.   

Page 1295



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     24 

SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations 

have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations30.  Where people live in more urban 

settings their potential exposure to air pollution is greater than in rural areas where there 

would likely be less traffic.  As such increasing the number of new dwellings would likely 

have a negative impact on air quality as increased populations would also likely increase 

the number of cars on the road and would likely expose new residents to poor air quality.  

As Option 1 has the fewest number of proposed dwellings it may have the smallest impact 

in comparison to Option 5 with the most dwellings which would likely have the largest 

impact.   

 Soil and water pollution impacts will depend on the nature, scale and location of 

developments which are unknown.  Overall, all housing options would be expected to 

increase pollution to some extent both through construction and occupation so a negative 

impact would be expected against this SA Objective.  Options 1, 2 and 3 have been 

identified as having a minor negative impact on pollution overall, whereas Options 4 and 

5 are more likely to have a major negative impact owing to the larger scale of proposed 

growth.   

SA Objective 8 – Waste 

 It is expected that all options for housing growth would increase household waste 

production.  In 2018 the per person rate for waste in Sandwell was 593kg, higher than 

the national average, 394kg per person31.  Although national trends suggest that the 

volume of household waste produced is decreasing, the Black Country Waste Study32 

indicates that additional capacity for certain types of waste management will be required, 

taking into account the large amount of projected growth in the area.   

 It can be expected that the higher the proposed housing number the higher the number 

of new residents, as such it would be likely that Options 4 and 5, with the highest numbers 

of proposed new dwellings, would increase the waste production the most with a major 

negative impact on this objective.  Option 1 would be the best performing option as it has 

the fewest proposed new dwellings, although a minor negative impact would still be likely 

overall.   

 
30 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2020) Climate change strategy 2020-2041. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

31 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2020) Climate change strategy 2020-2041. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

32 Wood (2020) Black Country Waste Study – Review of the Evidence Base for Waste to support Preparation of the Black 

Country Plan Revised Final Report.  Available at: https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/15811/black-country-

waste-study-final-report_redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 02/06/23] 

Page 1296

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/15811/black-country-waste-study-final-report_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/15811/black-country-waste-study-final-report_redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     25 

SA Objective 9 – Transport and Accessibility 

 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport providing links regionally 

and nationally.  Accessible public transport links are key to sustainable development and 

are an important consideration when deciding the location of potential new dwellings.  It 

is likely that new dwellings in existing urban areas would allow residents to utilise existing 

public transport links including buses, rail and metro, rather than relying on private cars, 

however it is probable there would be some increase in traffic flows and it is possible that 

this increase in vehicles would lead to an increase in congestion.  It is expected that 

Options 4 and 5 would create a higher burden on the existing public transport 

infrastructure and road network compared to Options 1, 2 and 3, although there may be 

more opportunities within Options 4 and 5 to drive investment in or provide new public 

transport links with benefits to the local area.  On balance, a minor negative impact is 

identified across all options on this SA Objective.  Option 1 would be likely to put the least 

additional burden on the existing transport networks and would have the smallest number 

of potential extra vehicles so potentially having a smaller impact on transport and 

accessibility overall.   

SA Objective 10 – Housing 

 Within Sandwell there is an identified need for 29,773 homes by 2041; Option 5 meets 

this requirement and consequently would be likely to have a major positive impact on 

housing provision.  Options 1, 2, 3 and 4 would not deliver enough homes to meet the 

identified need, and as such, a minor positive impact on housing provision is identified.   

 At this scale of assessment, it is uncertain what the likely contribution of each housing 

growth option to meeting the different needs of the population on housing mix, provision 

of extra care housing, accessible housing and affordable homes would be.   

SA Objective 11 – Equality 

 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in 

Sandwell ranked among the 10% most deprived in England33.  Residential growth in urban 

areas could potentially help facilitate social inclusion by providing new residents with good 

access to key services and employment opportunities, however, increasing housing density 

in deprived areas could also lead to exacerbation of existing inequalities.  As the location, 

site context and proximity to receptors of the proposed housing provision is unknown, 

there is some uncertainty regarding the potential impacts of the five housing growth 

options on equality.   

 However, as Options 1, 2, 3 and 4 would not deliver enough homes to meet the identified 

need, these four options could also put pressure on housing and rental costs, which could 

lead to issues with poorer quality accommodation and overcrowding, with adverse 

implications for health and wellbeing of the population.  Overall, a minor negative impact 

could occur for Options 1, 2 and 3, whereas there is greater uncertainty in terms of equality 

for Options 4 and 5. 

 
33 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1297

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     26 

SA Objective 12 – Health 

 Residents in Sandwell have relatively good access to health facilities with 73 healthcare 

centres34 and Sandwell General Hospital located in the borough.  The majority of the urban 

area has good pedestrian and public transport access to healthcare, although new 

residential growth would likely place pressure on the capacity of these services.  Parks and 

green spaces are important for human health; 24% of Sandwell is made up of such green 

space and some of which have been awarded the Green Flag35.  The green space provision 

per person is expected to decrease as development occurs within the borough, in addition 

to increased pressure for existing open spaces to be used for development.   

 Whilst the locations of the proposed new dwellings are not known, it is likely that Option 

1 would have the least impact on health services and green spaces as it proposes the 

fewest number of homes, although still potentially leading to a minor negative impact 

overall alongside Options 2 and 3.  Option 5 could potentially have the largest impact, 

followed by Option 4, which may cause significant over-capacity issues as it proposes the 

most homes leading to a need to invest in increased infrastructure to support this level of 

growth; consequently both Options 4 and 5 could lead to a major negative impact on 

health.   

SA Objective 13 – Economy 

 The options considered in this assessment focus on housing growth only.  It is assumed 

that future housing development would not result in the loss of existing employment 

floorspace.   

 The highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the 

borough and along key transport routes.  Housing growth within these areas, and the 

urban area in general, would be expected to provide residents with good sustainable 

access to employment opportunities and transport links.  The locations of the proposed 

new homes are not known, however, transport modelling data36 indicates that almost the 

entire borough lies within a 30-minute travel time via walking or public transport from 

employment locations.  With new homes there may also be a benefit to the local economy 

in terms of increasing footfall and spending in the retail/commercial centres.  All options 

could potentially lead to a minor positive impact for this objective.    

 
34 According to Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) data 

35 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Green Space Strategy 2010 – 2020.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-

_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

36 Unpublished data provided to Lepus by the Council, produced as part of the evidence base for the former BCP 

Page 1298

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     27 

SA Objective 14 – Education, Skills and Training 

 Within Sandwell there are 98 primary schools and 20 secondary schools37.  It is assumed 

that new residents in the SLP area will require access to primary and secondary education 

to help facilitate good levels of education, skills and qualifications of residents.  The 

location of proposed new homes is not known so their impact on existing education 

facilities is uncertain, however, a smaller number of proposed homes may put less pressure 

on existing provisions, as such making Option 1 the best option.  The larger scale of 

development proposed in Options 4 and 5 may require significant extra provision to be 

included alongside the residential growth to take account for the increased population.  

Consequently, Options 1, 2 and 3 record a minor negative impact and Options 4 and 5 a 

major negative impact on education, skills and training.   

 Conclusion  

 It is generally expected that the options proposing larger numbers of houses would be 

more likely to lead to adverse effects when analysed against environmental objectives, but 

that they would perform better against economic objectives.  The converse is also 

expected that options with few houses would perform better against the environmental 

objectives compared to the economic objectives, as such it can be difficult to identify an 

overall best performing option.   

 For the impact of each option to be fully understood details of the size, location and nature 

of the developments are required, as these options focus on quanta alone and the 

assessments are necessarily high level with restricted diagnostic conclusions.   

 Across all of the SA Objectives it appears that generally Option 1 would have the smallest 

impact, and so could be described as best performing, but this option falls short of meeting 

the housing need and so would also be likely to have the lowest scope for delivering varied 

and high-quality homes to meet the needs of the population.   

 Selection and Rejection 

 XXX 

  

 
37 According to Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) data 

Page 1299



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     28 

4 Assessment of Employment Growth 
Options 

 Preface 

 Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that “significant weight should be placed on the need to 

support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs 

and wider opportunities for development”, whilst PPG indicates that “strategic policy-

making authorities will need to prepare a robust evidence base to understand existing 

business needs, which will need to be kept under review to reflect local circumstances and 

market conditions”38.   

 Sandwell is located within the Black Country Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) 

which also covers the local authorities of Dudley, Walsall and Wolverhampton.  The Black 

Country Economic Development Needs Assessment (EDNA) and Black Country 

Employment Area Review (BEAR) are the key pieces of evidence relating to employment 

land need and supply.  As the employment land assessment continues to be carried out 

jointly across the Black Country, the apportionment of land demand / supply is still the 

subject of discussion between the four councils, three of whom are not at the same stage 

of plan preparation as Sandwell. As a result, it is currently difficult to identify a clear set 

of figures for Sandwell’s need and supply.   

 Three options for the quanta of employment growth have been identified by SMBC (see 

Table 4.1).   

Employment Growth Option Employment Land (ha) 

A. Rely on existing vacant employment land supply (do nothing)  29 

B. Provide for highest estimate of need (EDNA) 238 

C. Provide for lowest estimate of need (EDNA) 132 

 Table 4.2 summarises the likely impacts of each employment growth option in relation to 

the 14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 4.2 sets out the accompanying assessment 

narrative which explains how each overall impact was identified. 

 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, 

the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the 

current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been based on 

information provided by SMBC, as well as expert judgement. 

  

 
38 DLUHC and MHCLG (2020) Planning Practice Guidance.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-

economic-development-needs-assessments [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

Table 4.1: Sandwell Employment Growth Options identified by SMBC 

Page 1300

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     29 

 SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Employment 
Growth 

Option 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l h

e
ri

ta
ge

 

La
n

d
sc

ap
e

 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
, f

lo
ra

, 
fa

u
n

a 
an

d
 

ge
o

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

m
it

ig
at

io
n

 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

N
at

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

 

W
as

te
 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

Eq
u

al
it

y 

H
ea

lt
h

 

Ec
o

n
o

m
y 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, S
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 
tr

ai
n

in
g 

A +/- - - - - + - +/- +/- 0 - 0 + + 

B +/- -- -- -- - - - +/- +/- 0 +/- - ++ + 

C +/- -- -- -- - - - +/- +/- 0 +/- - ++ + 

 Assessment 

SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage 

 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, 

seven SMs, nine CAs and five RPGs.  There are also a range of historic character areas 

and areas of historic townscape / landscape value identified within the borough39.  

Development in close proximity to cultural heritage features has the potential to adversely 

affect their significance or setting.  It is likely that Option A which utilises existing vacant 

employment land would focus any development in areas already characterised by 

employment uses and as such any new development may be in keeping with the existing 

built form and may also help to promote regeneration with benefits to areas with historic 

interest or architecture.  However, as the site context and proximity to receptors is 

unknown at this time the potential impacts of the employment growth options on cultural 

heritage features are uncertain.   

SA Objective 2 – Landscape 

 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains undeveloped areas including 

Green Belt to the north-east of the borough.  The landscape of the borough’s Green Belt 

is largely described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development although open 

landscapes within the borough are important for maintaining separation between 

settlements40.  One area in Sandwell Valley is described as having moderate-high 

sensitivity.  Within the urban areas, Sandwell’s history and industrial legacy provides 

distinctive character and a sense of local identity.  Existing green spaces outside of the 

Green Belt also provide benefits to the local character.   

 
39 Oxford Archaeology (2019) Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf 

[Date accessed: 09/01/23] 

40 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

accessed: 22/05/2023] 

Table 4.2: Impact matrix of the three employment growth options 

Page 1301

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     30 

 Whilst the specific location and context of the proposed employment sites for Options B 

and C are unknown, it is likely that development outside of the existing development 

boundaries would be required to some extent, leading to a potential negative impact on 

the landscape.  Option A utilises existing vacant employment land so could help to focus 

new growth within areas already characterised by employment land uses, meaning that 

new development would likely be in keeping with the existing build form to a greater extent 

than Options B and C, although a minor negative impact on landscape cannot be ruled out 

without knowing further locational/contextual information.  Options B and C require 

substantially more land and it is likely that some of this land would be outside the existing 

urban areas; therefore, these two options are likely to have a major negative impact on 

landscape.   

SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity 

 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within 

the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs 

within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authorities close to the Sandwell 

Borough boundary.  Areas of geological interest include Rowley Hills, Bumble Hole & 

Warrens Park LNR and Sandwell Valley Country Park.  Over 50% of Sandwell’s Green Belt 

land is described as having very high ecological value41.  Some priority habitats and small 

areas on ancient woodland are also present in the borough.   

 Urban areas can support distinctive habitats, species, ecological links and GI, and there 

may be some loss of previously undeveloped land or brownfield land with ecological value 

within the urban area with these three options.  However, Option A relies on utilising 

existing vacant employment land and as such may have less of an impact on biodiversity 

than Options B and C which would likely require previously undeveloped land to be utilised, 

to some extent.  As Option A requires the smallest amount of land it is likely to have the 

smallest impact and so produce a minor negative impact on biodiversity; Options B and C 

require substantially more land so have potential to cause a greater impact on biodiversity 

with a major negative impact identified.   

 It should be noted that biodiversity net gain provisions and other policy requirements may 

help to reduce or offset these adverse effects to some extent and result in positive longer 

term effects, however at the landscape scale this level of growth could cumulatively lead 

to a reduction in the available space for wildlife and loss of corridors or connections 

between habitats. 

 
41 EcoRecord (2019) An Ecological evaluation of the Black Country Green Belt.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-

report-2019-redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 22//02/23] 

Page 1302

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     31 

SA Objective 4 – Climate Change Mitigation 

 It is likely that all three options would have the potential to increase carbon emissions 

during the construction and occupation of the employment sites.  As the location of 

employment growth under each option is not known, the potential for employees to utilise 

existing public transport routes to commute to work is uncertain.  Since Option A utilises 

existing vacant employment land which is likely to be within the urban area, this option 

could provide better access to existing public transport links.  However, it would also be 

expected that there would be an increase in the use of private cars to commute, potentially 

increasing congestion and pollution in the area given that Census data indicates 53% of 

Sandwell’s residents travel to work by driving a car or van42.  Furthermore, depending on 

the type of employment land, new development may lead to increased journeys by Heavy 

Goods Vehicles (HGVs) with higher emissions.  As Option A requires the smallest amount 

of employment growth and so potentially a smaller impact on climate change, a minor 

negative impact is identified.  Option B requires the largest amount of growth, followed by 

Option C, both of which could potentially have a major negative impact on climate change.   

SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation 

 As the location of the employment sites for each option is not known the impacts they 

may have on flooding is uncertain, although Option A utilises existing vacant employment 

land which is likely to be situated within the existing urban area.  However, with all the 

options it is likely there would be an increase in the urban density or area which would 

then increase the extent of impermeable surfaces and so potentially increase the risk of 

surface water flooding.  It is possible to incorporate into development design GI or 

adaptive technologies to mitigate for this increased impermeable surfacing but at this stage 

these details are not known as such a minor negative impact has been recorded for the 

three options.   

SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources 

 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small 

pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north 

east of the borough.  BMV land would not be lost if development was focused within the 

urban area.  There are no MSAs present in Sandwell.  The location and site context of the 

employment sites are not known so the impacts the three options will have on natural 

resources are uncertain, but given the likelihood that Options B and C would require the 

use of previously undeveloped land a minor negative impact on natural resources is 

identified.  Option A proposes to utilise existing vacant employment land, potentially an 

effective use of this vacant land, and possibly including the use of remediated 

contaminated land, as such a minor positive impact could be achieved against this SA 

Objective.   

 
42 ONS (2022) Travel to work, England and Wales: Census 2021.  Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/traveltow

orkenglandandwales/census2021 [Date accessed: 05/01/23] 

Page 1303

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/traveltoworkenglandandwales/census2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/traveltoworkenglandandwales/census2021


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     32 

SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations 

have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough43.  Commuting 

to employment sites may increase air pollution, however as the location of the sites is not 

known, the extent to which public transport or active travel routes could be promoted and 

utilised by commuters instead of private cars is uncertain.  Soil and water pollution impacts 

will depend on the nature, scale and location of developments which are unknown at this 

time although Options B and C would likely result in a greater extent of previously 

undeveloped land being used compared to Option A.  Overall, there is potential for 

increased pollution through the construction and occupation of development under all 

options to some extent, and so a minor negative impact would be expected.  It is likely 

Option A would have the smallest impact as it proposes the smallest amount of land and 

would utilise existing vacant employment land.  Option B would likely have the largest 

impact as it proposes the largest amount of land and may create the largest number of 

new journeys to the sites. 

SA Objective 8 – Waste 

 It is expected that employment growth would also equate to increased waste production 

both in quantity and range of waste types produced.  As the specific site locations and the 

proposed nature of the developments are unknown it is uncertain what the exact impacts 

on waste production would be, and whether the developments would be situated in close 

proximity to existing waste management infrastructure.  Option A proposes the smallest 

amount of floorspace so could produce the smallest increase in waste compared to the 

other options.  Option B has the largest floorspace requirement and as such could produce 

the most additional waste.  However, without knowledge of the employment uses to be 

carried out at new development sites, the overall impact on waste is uncertain. 

SA Objective 9 – Transport and Accessibility 

 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport infrastructure, providing 

links regionally and nationally.  Transport is an enabler of economic activity, and 

employment sites within or close to existing urban settings would potentially have better 

access to a range of transport options, and promotion of public transport or active travel 

may be more successful.  Conversely, additional employment land may lead to more 

private cars being used for commuting potentially increasing congestion and pollution in 

the area.  As the locations of the employment sites within the growth options and any 

potential associated infrastructure improvements that would be provided alongside 

development are not known, their exact impact on public transport capacity and 

congestion are uncertain.  Nonetheless, it could be expected that Option A would produce 

fewer new journeys owing to its smaller scale of proposed growth, potentially leading to 

less congestion and transport issues than Options B and C.   

 
43 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2020) Climate change strategy 2020-2041. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

Page 1304

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     33 

SA Objective 10 – Housing 

 This assessment considers employment growth options.  It is expected that housing 

provision would not be affected either by the loss of existing housing or compromised 

housing delivery from these employment growth options.  Consequently, a negligible 

impact on housing would be expected from all three employment options.   

SA Objective 11 – Equality 

 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 

10% most deprived in England44.  Employment growth in urban areas could potentially 

help facilitate social inclusion increasing accessibility to key services and employment 

opportunities.  However, increasing the density of development in deprived areas could 

also lead to exacerbation of existing inequalities, and could potentially put increased 

pressure on existing open spaces.   

 As the specific site context and proximity to receptors of the proposed employment land 

is unknown at this stage, there is some uncertainty regarding the potential impacts of all 

employment growth options on equality.   

 Although Option A would direct growth to vacant employment land, potentially helping to 

promote redevelopment, this option would not meet the identified employment need in 

the borough and would be more likely to lead to a minor negative impact overall for this 

SA Objective.  Options B and C would meet the identified need, depending on the estimate 

used, but there is more uncertainty regarding the exact impacts of these options as the 

location of the employment sites is unknown.   

SA Objective 12 – Health 

 The location of employment development under each growth option is not known but it is 

not expected to affect the provision of healthcare facilities.   

 Parks and green spaces are important for human health, 24% of Sandwell is made up of 

green space45.  The three employment options could potentially place more pressure on 

these green spaces either through increased use or pressure to utilise green spaces for 

employment development.  It would be expected that Option A would have a negligible 

effect on green spaces, since this option would focus growth on existing vacant 

employment land and would be unlikely to significantly affect green spaces.  Options B 

and C may have a minor negative impact as although the specific locations of the 

developments are unknown, they have potential to adversely affect green spaces and 

require the use of undeveloped land.   

 
44 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

45 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Green Space Strategy 2010 – 2020.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-

_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1305

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     34 

SA Objective 13 – Economy 

 Sandwell lies within the Black Country FEMA.  In Sandwell, the highest density of existing 

employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the borough and along key 

transport routes.  Employment development near existing employment locations may 

benefit from existing infrastructure and transport links and could provide additional 

benefits to the area, driving economic growth.  It is assumed that employment growth 

would provide more job options and opportunities providing benefits to the local 

population.  Option A provides the lowest quanta of new employment land and would not 

meet the employment land need identified in the EDNA; as such, a minor positive impact 

is recorded.  Options B and C would both meet the identified needs, depending on the 

estimate used, with potential to result in a major positive impact on the economy.  Option 

B would provide for the highest estimate of employment land need, likely delivering a 

larger number and range of jobs so would be the best performing option for this SA 

Objective.   

SA Objective 14 – Education, Skills and Training 

 It is expected that employment development would not impact the provision of or access 

to schools.  There is potential for the employment development to provide opportunities 

to develop skills, provide training, and potentially jobs or apprenticeships to school leavers.  

Consequently, all three options would be likely to have a minor positive impact on 

education, skills and training.   

 Conclusion 

 There is uncertainty regarding the exact impacts the employment growth options would 

have owing to the unknown scale and nature of the developments, and the options can 

act differently against each of the SA Objectives meaning identifying a clear best 

performing option is difficult.  Option B performs best against economic objectives but 

performs less well against environmental objectives as it requires the most land, 

conversely Option A performs best against environmental objectives owing to its focus on 

existing vacant employment land but less well against economic objectives and it does not 

fulfil Sandwell’s identified employment need.  As such, Option C appears to perform best 

against all the objectives collectively as it provides enough land to meet the lower estimate 

of need, performs well against the economic objectives and although having negative 

impacts against the environmental objectives would likely have less of an impact than 

Option B.  Some of the impacts may be able to be mitigated through the design of the 

developments.   

 Selection and Rejection 

 XXX 

  

Page 1306



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     35 

5 Assessment of Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople Growth 
Options 

 Preface 

 In accordance with the national planning policy for traveller sites46, Gypsies and Travellers 

(G&T) are defined as “Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, 

including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ 

educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding 

members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling 

together as such”.  

 Travelling Showpeople (TS) are defined as “Members of a group organised for the 

purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). 

This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ 

more localised pattern of trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceased to 

travel temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers as defined above”.  

 The Black Country Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) assessed 

accommodation needs for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople across Sandwell 

and the wider Black Country.  The GTAA (2022) identified a need for 14 pithces and 32 

plots in Sandwell. 

 Three options for Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople growth have been 

identified by SMBC (see Table 5.1).   

Gypsy and Traveller Growth Option 
Outcome G&T 
(pitches) 

Outcome TS 
(plots) 

A. Meet a proportion of housing need across part of the plan 

period (2025-2030) and schedule an early review of the SLP to 
readdress need across later stages 

8 24 

B. Meet proportion of local housing need based on supply and 

small windfalls identified in current SHLAA (2021) and seek 
contributions from adjacent authorities based on current offers 

and apportioned using travel to work data (DtC) 

10 (SHLAA) 0 

C. Meet entire need 14 32 

 Table 5.2 summarises the likely impacts of each Gypsy and Traveller growth option in 

relation to the 14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 5.2 sets out the accompanying 

assessment narrative which explains how each overall impact was identified. 

 
46 MHCLG (2015) Planning policy for traveller sites. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-

policy-for-traveller-sites [Date accessed: 02/06/23]  

Table 5.1: Sandwell Gypsy and Traveller growth options identified by SMBC  

Page 1307

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     36 

 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, 

the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the 

current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been based on 

information provided by SMBC, as well as expert judgement. 

 SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Gypsy 

and 
Traveller 

Growth 
Option 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l h

e
ri

ta
ge

 

La
n

d
sc

ap
e

 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
, f

lo
ra

, 
fa

u
n

a 
an

d
 

ge
o

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

m
it

ig
at

io
n

 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

N
at

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

 

W
as

te
 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

Eq
u

al
it

y 

H
ea

lt
h

 

Ec
o

n
o

m
y 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, S
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 
tr

ai
n

in
g 

A +/- - - +/- - - - - - + +/- +/- + +/- 

B +/- - - +/- - - - - - - +/- +/- + +/- 

C +/- - - +/- - - - - - ++ +/- +/- + +/- 

 Assessment 

SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage 

 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, 

seven SMs, nine CAs and five RPGs.  There are also a range of historic character areas 

and areas of historic townscape / landscape value identified within the borough47.  

Development in close proximity to cultural heritage features has the potential to adversely 

affect their setting, although given the small overall quanta of growth proposed under the 

options any adverse effects are likely to be small-scale and localised.  However, as the 

location, site context and proximity to receptors is unknown, the potential impacts of the 

G&T/TS growth options on cultural heritage features are uncertain.   

 
47 Oxford Archaeology (2019) Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf 

[Date accessed: 09/01/23] 

Table 5.2: Impact matrix of the three Gypsy and Traveller growth options 

Page 1308

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     37 

SA Objective 2 – Landscape 

 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains undeveloped areas including 

Green Belt to the north-east of the borough.  The landscape of the borough’s Green Belt 

is largely described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development although open 

landscapes within the borough are important for maintaining separation between 

settlements48.  One area in Sandwell Valley is described as having moderate-high 

sensitivity.  Within the urban areas, Sandwell’s history and industrial legacy provides 

distinctive character and a sense of local identity.  Existing green spaces outside of the 

Green Belt also provide benefits to the local character.   

 The location and context of the proposed G&T/TS development is unknown, but it is likely 

that some development outside of the existing development boundaries would be 

necessary leading to a potential negative impact on the landscape.  Adverse effects on the 

landscape arising from the introduction of G&T/TS development would likely be limited in 

scale, resulting in a change to the local character owing to the introduction of hardstanding 

and potentially some buildings.  It is probable that Option B would have the least impact 

on the landscape as it proposes the fewest number of pitches/plots at this stage and so 

would likely be the best performing option, whereas Option C proposes the greatest 

number of pitches/plots so would likely have the largest impact on the landscape.   

SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity 

 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within 

the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs 

within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authorities close to the Sandwell 

Borough boundary.  Areas of geological interest include Rowley Hills, Bumble Hole & 

Warrens Park LNR and Sandwell Valley Country Park.  Over 50% of Sandwell’s Green Belt 

land is described as having very high ecological value49.  Some priority habitats and small 

areas on ancient woodland are also present in the borough.   

 The locations and site-specific characteristics of the development under the different 

options are not known.  There is potential for a minor negative impact on biodiversity as 

it is likely that previously undeveloped land may need to be utilised, and development 

could be situated in proximity to biodiversity and geodiversity designations.  There is 

potential for biodiversity enhancements and net gains to be delivered at the site level, 

although adverse implications related to the fragmentation of wider ecological networks 

could still occur.  As a result, the three G&T/TS options are identified as having a potential 

minor negative impact on biodiversity, with Option B likely having the smallest impact and 

Option C the largest.    

 
48 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

accessed: 22/05/2023] 

49 EcoRecord (2019) An Ecological evaluation of the Black Country Green Belt.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-

report-2019-redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 22//02/23] 

Page 1309

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     38 

SA Objective 4 – Climate Change Mitigation 

 The two largest sources of emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road 

transport, however it is not clear how G&T pitches and TS plots relate to these domestic 

emissions when compared to ‘brick and mortar’ dwellings.  Sandwell supports a good public 

transport network which may help to facilitate use of sustainable travel options rather than 

reliance on private cars.  As the location and site details are not currently known it is 

unclear exactly what impact the pitches/plots would have on climate change and whether 

any mitigation could be incorporated into the design to reduce carbon emissions; as such, 

the effects of the options on climate change are uncertain.   

SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation 

 As the location of the proposed pitches/plots are not known, the effect they will have on 

flooding is uncertain.  An increase in impermeable ground can lead to increased surface 

water flooding but this can be mitigated by use of adaptive technologies and incorporation 

of SUDS, however at this stage these details are not known.  Furthermore, careful 

consideration should be given in terms of the location of proposed G&T/TS development 

with respect to existing sources of flooding including Flood Zones 2 and 3, given the 

particular vulnerability of caravans.  Without knowledge of the location of development, a 

minor negative impact is identified for all three options.  Option B proposes the fewest 

number of pitches/plots and as such may have the smallest impact, Option C would likely 

have the largest impact as it has the most pitches/plots.   

SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources 

 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small 

pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north 

east of the borough.  BMV agricultural land would not be lost if development was within 

the urban area.  There are no MSAs present in Sandwell.  The specific location and site 

context of the Gypsy and Traveller pitches/plots are not known, so the exact impacts the 

three options will have on natural resources is uncertain.  However, given the potential for 

pitches/plots to require the use of undeveloped land, a minor negative effect on natural 

resources has been recorded for the three options.   

Page 1310



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     39 

SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations 

have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough50.  New 

development within the AQMA may lead to increased pollution levels from increased travel 

and would potentially expose residents to poor air quality.  Soil and water pollution would 

depend on the nature, scale and location of the developments but there is potential for 

increased pollution through construction and occupation of the pitches/plots, albeit to a 

lesser extent for G&T/TS development than housing or employment development.  It is 

likely that Option B would have the smallest impact on pollution as it proposes the fewest 

number of pitches/plots so potential pollution during construction and occupation may be 

less than Options A and C.  Option C has the potential to produce the greatest impact in 

terms of pollution as it proposes the largest number of pitches/plots.  Overall, a minor 

negative impact has been recorded for the three options with regard to pollution.   

SA Objective 8 – Waste 

 Whilst it is difficult to estimate exactly how much waste a G&T pitch or TS plot creates it 

is expected that an increase in the number of pitches/plots would create an increase in 

the amount of waste produced.  As such it is likely that Option B would produce the 

smallest increase in waste as it has the smallest number of pitches/plots, conversely Option 

C with the highest number of pitches/plots would likely create the most waste.  Options 

A, B and C have been identified as having a minor negative impact on waste as all options 

are likely to increase the amount of waste produced, to some extent.   

SA Objective 9 – Transport and Accessibility 

 The locations of the proposed pitches/plots are currently not known but it is likely that 

they would be able to access the existing good public transport network in Sandwell.  This 

public transport network would enable residents to access facilities and amenities within 

Sandwell in a sustainable manner.  However, it is also likely that the introduction of new 

pitches/plots would increase the number of vehicles on the local road network.  Option B 

proposes the smallest number of pitches/plots and so would likely lead to fewer residents 

and consequently the least added pressure to the existing public transport networks and 

the smallest impact on congestion, whereas Option C with the highest number of 

pitches/plots would likely have the largest impact on public transport infrastructure and 

congestion.  As there is potential for all the options to increase the number of vehicles on 

the road network and place an additional burden on the public transport network a minor 

negative impact has been recorded, although these impacts will be dependent on the 

specific location and capacity of the local road networks.   

 
50 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2020) Climate change strategy 2020-2041. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

Page 1311

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     40 

SA Objective 10 – Housing 

 The level of growth proposed under Option A would only meet a proportion of the identified 

Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson accommodation need, so would have a 

minor positive impact on provision of housing for the community.  Option B could 

potentially have a minor negative impact as it only meets part of the Gypsy and Traveller 

pitch need it does not provide any Travelling Showperson plots.  Option C fulfils all 

identified needs of the community providing all the required pitches and plots as such 

would have a major positive impact on this SA Objective.   

SA Objective 11 – Equality 

 The growth options seek to contribute towards the identified accommodation requirements 

for G&T/TS which would be likely to have a positive effect on meeting the accommodation 

needs of this ethnic group.  Option C seeks to meet all identified needs and so may lead 

to the most benefit in this regard.   

 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 

10% most deprived in England51.  Growth in urban areas could potentially increase social 

inclusion; however, it could also exacerbate existing inequalities and put increased 

pressure on existing services.  Overall, the location of the pitches/plots are not currently 

known so their impact on equality is uncertain.   

SA Objective 12 – Health 

 Residents in Sandwell generally have good access to health facilities and much of the 

urban area has good pedestrian and public transport access to healthcare.  The location 

of the proposed G&T/TS development is unknown, but it is likely that the pitches/plots 

would have good access to healthcare facilities and be able to utilise the public transport 

network to access them.   

 Green space makes up 24% of the land use in Sandwell52; as such, it is likely that any 

G&T/TS pitches/plots would be able to access green spaces which is important for health 

and wellbeing.  However, it is likely that Option C would place the most pressure on 

existing green spaces for potential conversion to G&T/TS use as it has the greatest number 

of pitches/plots, Option B would likely place the least amount of pressure as it proposes 

fewer pitches/plots.  However, as the location of the pitches/plots is unknown at this time 

it is uncertain exactly what impacts the three options would have on this SA Objective.   

 
51 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

52 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Green Space Strategy 2010 – 2020.  Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-

_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1312

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/24989/april_2017_-_parks_and_green_spaces_strategy_document.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     41 

SA Objective 13 – Economy 

 In Sandwell, the highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and 

north of the borough and along key transport routes.  It is not known where the proposed 

pitches/plots are to be sited but it is likely that there would be good access to employment 

opportunities via the public transport network present across the majority of Sandwell.  It 

is likely that all three options could lead to a minor positive impact in terms of access to 

employment.   

SA Objective 14 – Education, Skills and Training 

 The location of the pitches/plots are currently unknown so the proximity to existing schools 

and education facilities, and as such the level of sustainable accessibility to these services, 

is uncertain.  The Council should seek to ensure that new residents have good access to 

primary and secondary education for their children, as well as opportunities to develop 

skills in adulthood.    

 Conclusion  

 It can be difficult to determine an overall best performing option as the performance of 

each option depends on the SA Objective under consideration, however, it is possible to 

identify the best option for specific SA Objectives.  It appears Option B performs the best 

across the most SA Objectives, this is due to Option B having the least number of proposed 

pitches/plots and so potentially having the smallest impact on some of the environmentally 

focused SA Objectives.  However, a minor negative effect has been identified for Option B 

for the housing objective as it would only partially meet the Gypsy and Traveller need and 

provides no Travelling Showperson plots.   

 Consequently, Option A could be identified as best performing overall as it provides a 

proportion of both the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson needs but also has 

potential for less adverse impacts across the other SA Objectives.  Although, it should be 

acknowledged that since Option A proposes to “schedule an early review of the SLP to 

readdress need across later stages”, there is some uncertainty regarding the longer-term 

effects. 

 Selection and Rejection 

 Reflecting on the SA findings (as set out in section 5.3) and SMBC’s objectives for the 

emerging SLP, the Council consider that “Option B remains the most realistic option 

however – it delivers the required five-year supply and in the absence of any local demand 

for additional Travelling Showpeople plots, will have least impact”. 

  

Page 1313



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     42 

6 Assessment of Spatial Growth 
Options 

 Preface 

 The spatial strategy will dictate where new growth would be allocated in Sandwell for the 

Plan period to 2041.   

 Given Sandwell’s highly urbanised nature with very little vacant or unused open spaces, 

and the importance of the existing open and green spaces for environmental and human 

health, the Council is limited in the number of approaches it can take to accommodate 

growth.  

 Four Spatial Growth Options have been identified by SMBC, as set out in Table 6.1.  These 

options consider how the overall number of homes and area of employment land (and 

other types of land use where applicable) could be strategically distributed, thus helping 

to meet some of the strategic aims of the emerging SLP. 

Option Description of Spatial Growth Option  

A – Balanced 

Growth 

− Focus most new growth within the existing residential and employment areas of 
Sandwell; 

− Continue to deliver most new development on previously developed land and sites; 

− Take advantage of existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise 
development on new sites 

− Make improvements to/allowances for the environmental, climate change, accessibility 
and socio-economic capacity of existing residential and employment areas; 

− Examine the potential for providing housing/employment development on areas of vacant 
and underused open spaces and undeveloped land within the urban areas; 

− Protect areas of designated habitat and ecological value; 

− Protect the historic and archaeological environment and areas with geological and 
landscape value.  

B – Green 
Growth 

− Restrict new development to brownfield and previously developed sites;  
− Promote the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building techniques, materials and 

technologies in all new development; 

− Only allocate housing in locations with the highest levels of sustainable transport access 
to residential services (retail provision, schools, healthcare facilities, fresh food, 
employment etc.); 

− Only allocate new employment land where sustainable access and good public transport 
links available;  

− Redevelop existing housing and employment areas to deliver cleaner, more energy-
efficient and more intensive areas of growth; 

− Maximise climate change adaptation and mitigation through the creation, protection and 
improvement of parks, woodland and tree planting, open spaces, landscapes and habitats 

across the borough; 

− Protect open spaces and areas of habitat and ecological value within and beyond the 
urban areas; 

− Create additional public open spaces to serve new housing developments; 
− Protect the historic and archaeological environment and areas with geological and 

landscape value.   

C – 

Economic 
Growth 

− Retain, protect and enhance all types of local employment land; 
− Intensify the use of existing employment areas through redevelopment and redesign of 

existing areas and infrastructure improvements; 

Table 6.1: Sandwell Growth Options identified by SMBC 

Page 1314



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     43 

Option Description of Spatial Growth Option  

− Explore the redevelopment of retail and other commercial areas in town centres to 
provide additional employment sites; 

− Allocate employment sites on derelict/vacant open space within the urban area; 

− Identify and allocate areas with the potential to deliver larger employment sites via site 
assembly;  

− Locate new housing and services, facilities and infrastructure to serve existing and 
proposed employment areas; 

− Protect areas of designated habitat and ecological value; 

− Protect the historic environment, including areas with industrial design and archaeological 
interest, and areas with geological and landscape value.   

D – Housing 
Growth  

− Focus new growth within the existing residential and employment areas of Sandwell; 
− Continue to deliver most new development on previously developed land and sites; 

− Examine the potential for providing housing development on areas of vacant and 
underused open spaces and undeveloped land within the urban areas; 

− Redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density and energy-efficient 
new housing; 

− Reallocate areas identified for employment land provision for additional housing 
development; 

− Allocate new housing on urban sites around transport hubs/nodes and in towns and local 
centres, including the use of tall buildings in appropriate locations; 

− Increase overall housing densities to 100 dph in centres and 45 dph outside centres and 
meet capacity gaps in associated residential services e.g. schools, healthcare, 

leisure/recreation, infrastructure; 

− Protect areas of designated habitat and ecological value; 
− Protect the historic and archaeological environment and areas with geological and 

landscape value.   

 Each option has been assessed using the SA Framework and summary findings are 

presented in Table 6.2.  Full explanations and reasonings behind each score are set out 

for each SA Objective in section 6.2.   

 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, 

the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the 

current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been based on 

information provided by SMBC, as well as expert judgement. 

 SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Spatial 

Growth 
Option 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l h

e
ri

ta
ge

 

La
n

d
sc

ap
e

 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
, f

lo
ra

, 
fa

u
n

a 
an

d
 

ge
o

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

m
it

ig
at

io
n

 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

N
at

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

 

W
as

te
 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 

Eq
u

al
it

y 

H
ea

lt
h

 

Ec
o

n
o

m
y 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, S
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 
tr

ai
n

in
g 

A - - + + + - - + + + + - + +/- 

B - + ++ ++ ++ + + +/- ++ + +/- + + + 

C - - +/- +/- +/- - - - + + +/- - ++ +/- 

D - - +/- + + - - - + + +/- - - ++ 

Table 6.2: Impact matrix of the four Spatial Growth Options 

Page 1315



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     44 

 Assessment 

SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage 

 All spatial growth options A, B, C, and D state they will “protect the historic and 

archaeological environment and areas with geological and landscape value” which could 

help to conserve the historic landscape character and heritage assets of the borough.  The 

options all aim to focus the majority of new development within the existing urban area, 

however as most of Sandwell’s listed buildings and heritage assets are also within the 

urban area, without careful consideration of development layout, scale and design this 

could lead to alteration of their historic settings.   

 In particular, Option D promotes higher density development which could increase the 

potential for adverse effects on the historic environment.  Although, the intention to 

“redevelop areas of existing older housing” under Option D could potentially improve the 

energy efficiency of historic buildings and promote their re-use, helping to conserve their 

historic identity. Options B and C also include reference to redevelopment, which could 

provide opportunities to enhance the historic character of these areas. 

 Option C includes a focus on economic growth and seeks to ensure development has 

regard to areas with industrial design and archaeological interest, which could potentially 

help to strengthen the sense of place and local identity.  

 There is potential for all the options to have an impact on the setting of heritage assets as 

they all propose development within the urban area to a greater or lesser extent, as such 

the all the options could have a minor negative impact with Option D having the potential 

for the largest impact given the higher density development proposed.  Option C could be 

identified as best performing as it proposes to redevelop town centre areas.   

SA Objective 2 – Landscape 

 The landscape character of the borough is described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to 

development with one area of moderate-high sensitivity, open landscapes within the 

borough are important for maintaining separation between settlements and as such their 

sensitivity may be increased53.  Green Belt land is located to the north-east of the borough, 

over 50% of which is described as having very high ecological value54.  All the spatial 

growth options aim to keep new development within the existing urban area, redeveloping 

land or sites, utilising vacant land or under used open spaces, which would prevent Green 

Belt being lost.  Furthermore, all options seek to protect areas with landscape value. 

 
53 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

accessed: 22/05/2023] 

54 EcoRecord (2019) An Ecological evaluation of the Black Country Green Belt.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-

report-2019-redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 22//02/23] 

Page 1316

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     45 

 Option A would promote growth in existing residential and employment areas, encouraging 

new developments on previously developed land and examines the potential of utilising 

vacant or underused land or sites within the urban areas.  Option B restricts new 

development to brownfield or previously developed sites and aims to protect open spaces 

and areas of ecological value and create additional public open spaces.  Option C would 

redevelop and redesign existing areas and provide infrastructure improvements to intensify 

the use of existing employment areas.  It would also allocate employment sites on derelict 

or vacant open space within the urban area.   

 Option D would focus growth within existing residential and employment areas of Sandwell 

utilising previously developed sites and examine the potential for housing development on 

vacant or underused open spaces or undeveloped land within the urban areas.  However, 

the focus on increasing density including use of taller buildings under Option D could also 

lead to greater challenges in terms of development potentially altering views of, or from, 

sensitive and important landscape features. Options B, C and D propose redevelopment of 

existing housing or employment areas which could help to improve the townscape or 

revitalise degraded areas.   

 Whilst all the options aim to promote development within the existing urban area, Options 

A, C and D propose using underused open space within the urban area which may lead to 

a minor negative impact on the local landscape character.  Option B restricts new 

development to brownfield sites and aims to protect open spaces and create new public 

open spaces.  Consequently, it is likely that Option B would have a minor positive impact 

on the landscape and would be the best performing option.   

SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity 

 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within 

the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs 

within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authorities close to the Sandwell 

Borough boundary.  Areas of geological interest include Rowley Hills, Bumble Hole & 

Warrens Park LNR and Sandwell Valley Country Park.  Over 50% of Sandwell’s Green Belt 

land is described as having very high ecological value55.  Some priority habitats and small 

areas on ancient woodland are also present in the borough.  New development could place 

increased pressure on the biodiversity assets within and surrounding the urban area 

through increased development and visitor-related pressures .   

 
55 EcoRecord (2019) An Ecological evaluation of the Black Country Green Belt.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-

report-2019-redacted.pdf [Date accessed: 22//02/23] 

Page 1317

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13896/an-ecological-evaluation-of-the-black-country-green-belt-final-report-2019-redacted.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     46 

 The locations of the proposed sites within the four spatial growth options are not known 

so their exact impact on nearby biodiversity sites is uncertain, but the options do describe 

their approach to biodiversity which enables comparison.  Option A aims to make 

improvements to or allowances for the environment in existing housing or residential sites 

and to protect areas with ecological and geological value and has recorded a minor positive 

impact on biodiversity.  Option B aims to protect open spaces and areas of ecological value 

and create additional public open spaces within which there may be potential to increase 

biodiversity.  Through the creation, protection and improvement of parks, woodland, open 

spaces and habitats, Option B would help to conserve and enhance habitats and ecological 

corridors within the urban area, improving resilience and adaptation to climate change.   

 Both Options C and D aim to protect areas of designated habitat or ecological value, but 

could also lead to the loss of open spaces and undeveloped land within the urban area 

which although would not be of significant ecological value could cumulatively reduce the 

amount of space and corridors available for wildlife within the urban area.  Consequently, 

Options C and D have both recorded an uncertain impact on biodiversity overall.   

 All options aim to protect the environment to some extent, although Option B is likely to 

be the best performing with regard to biodiversity as it aims to protect existing open spaces 

and areas of ecological value but also intends to create new spaces and habitats which 

would benefit biodiversity and help with adaptation to climate change and is likely to have 

a major positive impact on biodiversity.   

SA Objective 4 – Climate Change Mitigation 

 The two largest sources of emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road 

transport however, according to Sandwell Trends, in 2021 almost 30% of households 

within the borough did not own a car56.  Investments in public transport, walking and 

cycling provisions could help to reduce pollution and provide better access across the 

borough without using privately owned transportation.   

 Option A aims to make improvements to or allowances for climate change within existing 

residential and employment sites.   

 Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, building techniques, 

materials and technologies in all new developments and redevelop existing housing and 

employment areas to deliver cleaner and more energy efficient growth.  This could help 

to reduce embodied carbon.  This option would further ensure that new development is 

located in areas with the best public transport access, helping to reduce reliance on private 

cars for travel.  Through the creation of parks, woodland, open spaces and habitats across 

the borough, Option B would also help to increase GI coverage with carbon storage 

capacity and supporting other ecosystem services, maximising both climate change 

adaptation and mitigation.   

 
56 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2023) Sandwell Trends: Housing and Car Ownership. Available at: 

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/household-characteristics/ [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1318

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/household-characteristics/


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     47 

 Option C promotes the co-location of housing with existing and proposed employment 

areas, which could help to reduce the need to travel to work and encourage the use of 

sustainable travel options.  However, as this option does not include specific reference to 

climate change or mitigation measures the exact impact this option would have on this SA 

Objective would be uncertain.   

 Option D would aim to redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density 

and energy efficient new housing, centred around public transport hubs.  This could 

include retrofitting the existing building stock in the borough, further helping to reduce 

emissions although this may lead to the release of embodied carbon depending on the 

extent to which buildings could be refurbished rather than demolished and rebuilt. 

 Options A, and D help to promote climate change mitigation and as such have a minor 

positive impact.  Option B is likely to be the best performing against climate change 

mitigation as it proposes the most modifications and technologies within new 

developments to help combat the effects of climate change and has been identified as 

producing a major positive impact on climate change mitigation.   

SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation 

 Given its mostly urban setting, Sandwell is likely to suffer from the ‘urban heat island’ 

effect which may be made worse by new development in the borough.  GI and open spaces 

can help urban areas adapt to climate change, by providing protection from extreme 

weather and helping to reduce the ‘urban heat island’ effect.  Likewise, these functions 

could be compromised by greater urban density and loss of GI.   

 Sandwell is affected by flooding along the River Tame the River Stour and by surface water 

flooding with all six wards having been affected by previous flooding events.  The 

introduction of new dwellings and impermeable surfaces can exacerbate surface water 

flooding, but implementation of adaptive technologies can help to mitigate this.   

 Option A aims to make improvements to or allowances for climate change within existing 

residential and employment sites which would likely help adaptation to climate change.  

Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, building techniques, 

materials and technologies in all new developments and redevelop existing housing and 

employment areas to deliver cleaner, more energy efficient and more intensive areas of 

growth.  Through the creation of parks, woodland, open spaces and habitats across the 

borough, with potential to increase the extent and quality of GI, Option B also intends to 

maximise climate change adaptation and mitigation.  A major positive impact could be 

achieved. 

Page 1319



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     48 

 Option D would aim to redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density 

and energy efficient new housing, with benefits to climate change adaptation and 

potentially reduced overall land-take compared to Options A and C, resulting in a lesser 

impact on flooding.  Although, Options A and D would include development on existing 

open spaces and/or undeveloped land within the urban areas which could lead to an overall 

loss of GI both of these options have other adaptation measures, e.g. 

improving/redeveloping existing housing or employment sites, and as such a minor 

positive result in terms of climate change adaptation has been recorded for these options.  

As Option C option does not include specific reference to climate change or to climate 

change adaptation measures, the exact impact this option would have on climate change 

mitigation is uncertain. 

 Option B would be the best performing against climate change adaptation as it proposes 

the greatest focus on climate change adaptation and technologies within new 

developments, as well as conserving and enhancing GI, to help combat the effects of 

climate change. 

SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources 

 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small 

pockets of non-agricultural land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north 

east of the borough.  There are no MSAs present in Sandwell.   

 All the Options A, B, C and D propose to keep new development within the existing urban 

area as such they would not be expected to impact BMV agricultural land within the 

borough.  All options also promote the use of previously developed land.  However, Options 

A, C and D also propose allocating underused or vacant open space or previously 

undeveloped land within the urban area for new development, with potential to lead to a 

minor negative impact on natural resources associated with the loss of soil resource which 

may have environmental or ecological value.   

 Option B only proposes to utilise brownfield and previously developed sites for 

development.  As such Option B could be described as the best performing and would be 

likely to have an overall minor positive impact on natural resources.   

SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations 

have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough57.  New 

development within the AQMA may lead to increased pollution levels from increased use 

of vehicles and would potentially expose residents to existing poor air quality.  Soil and 

water pollution would depend on the nature, scale and location of the developments but 

there is potential for increased pollution through construction and occupation of the sites 

despite the intention within each option to “protect areas of ... ecological value”.   

 
57 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2020) Climate change strategy 2020-2041. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy [Date accessed: 23/05/23] 

Page 1320

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/31151/climate_change_strategy


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     49 

 Option A aims to make improvements to the capacity of existing residential and 

employment areas with regard to the environment, climate change and accessibility, which 

may help to reduce pollution levels by promoting public transport and implementing 

mitigation measures.   

 Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, building techniques, 

materials and technologies in new developments to help reduce emissions during the 

construction and occupation phases.  This option would also allocate housing and 

employment sites with good sustainable and public transport access which would 

potentially help to reduce transport-associated emissions.  It also proposes to redevelop 

existing housing and employment sites to deliver cleaner, more energy-efficient areas of 

growth which would help to minimise the generation of pollution from domestic and 

employment sources.   

 Option C would locate new housing and associated services, facilities and infrastructure to 

serve existing and proposed employment areas, which may help to reduce the need to 

travel, particularly commuting by private vehicle, and so reduce potential transport-

associated emissions.  Option D aims to provide high density and energy-efficient housing 

by redeveloping areas of existing older housing.  This could include retrofitting the existing 

building stock in the borough, further helping to reduce emissions.  

 Despite the provisions within Options A, C and D to minimise the generation of pollution, 

overall, these developments would still introduce new development within an AQMA and 

lead to an increase in traffic to some extent.  A minor negative impact on pollution could 

arise.  Option B provides the most initiatives to help reduce pollution both in the 

construction and occupation of developments and locating new developments near to 

sustainable transport links which may reduce commuting by private vehicle and so 

congestion levels and emissions within Sandwell.  Therefore, Option B is likely to be the 

best performing option in terms of pollution and on balance could potentially have a minor 

positive impact on pollution overall depending on the nature and design of new 

developments.   

SA Objective 8 – Waste 

 It is expected that any new development either housing or employment would create 

additional waste, potentially in both quantity and range of waste types produced.  There 

is not sufficient information available to accurately predict the effect that each spatial 

growth option would have in terms of minimising waste generation, promoting the 

sustainable management of waste, or encouraging recycling and re-use of waste. 

 Option A would locate new development in areas where existing infrastructure has capacity 

or where capacity has been improved to accommodate the new development which is 

expected to include utilities and waste infrastructure as such Option A would likely have a 

minor positive impact on waste.   

Page 1321



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     50 

 Option B emphasises the use of sustainable construction including building techniques and 

materials and would ensure all development uses previously developed and brownfield 

land.  These principles would be likely to help minimise waste from the construction phase 

and promote re-use of materials where possible.  As the exact use of sustainable 

construction methods are unknown at this time, the impact this option would have on 

waste is uncertain.   

 Option C would locate new housing and services, facilities and infrastructure to serve 

existing and proposed development sites.  However, the focus on employment growth 

under Option C also means that this option could lead to a larger amount or greater range 

of waste types depending on the specific employment uses.  This is likely to produce a 

minor negative impact as waste quantities may be increased.   

 Option D would promote higher densities of development and include the use of tall 

buildings.  Higher densities of development could place increased demand on local waste 

management systems due to larger quantities and more diverse waste being generated in 

smaller areas, potentially leading to sanitation problems if a careful design is not 

implemented58.  Therefore, this option could potentially have a minor negative impact on 

waste.   

 Option A appears to be the best performing option with regard to waste as it proposes to 

locate development in areas with existing infrastructure capacity or where capacity has 

been improved to support development.   

SA Objective 9 – Transport and Accessibility 

 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport providing links regionally 

and nationally.  Accessible public transport links are key to sustainable development and 

as transport is an enabler of economic activity, employment sites within or close to existing 

urban settings would potentially have access to a greater transport network to utilise and 

promotion of public transport or active travel may be more successful.   

 Option A proposes to take advantage of existing and improved infrastructure to enable 

development on sites to be maximised.  Option B aims to allocate housing in areas with 

high levels of sustainable transport to provide residents with sustainable access to services 

and to allocate employment land where good public transport links are available.  Option 

C aims to redevelop retail and other commercial areas in town centres to provide 

employment sites, allocate employment sites on derelict or vacant open space within the 

urban area and to locate housing and services close to existing and proposed employment 

areas.  This could potentially reduce commuting times and so possibly reliance on private 

vehicles as the public transport network could be utilised by commuters.  Option D would 

focus new growth within the existing residential and employment areas and around 

transport hubs so residents could utilise existing transport links, including public transport 

and active travel.   

 
58 London Plan Density Research: Lessons from Higher Density Development.  Available at: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/project_2_3_lessons_from_higher_density_development.pdf [Date 

accessed: 05/06/23] 

Page 1322

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/project_2_3_lessons_from_higher_density_development.pdf


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     51 

 All the options propose to site new development in locations where the existing public 

transport network can be utilised, with a likely minor positive impact on transport and 

accessibility for Options A, C and D.  Of the four options, Option B is identified as the best 

performing to its focus on growth only where public transport links are best which would 

likely encourage more residents to choose more sustainable travel options and a major 

positive impact on transport and accessibility was identified for this option.   

SA Objective 10 – Housing 

 Within Sandwell there has been an identified need for 29,773 homes over the period 2021-

39.  Whilst the spatial growth options describe housing locations they do not quantify 

housing numbers for each option and so the extent to which they could contribute towards 

meeting the housing need in the borough is unknown.  At this scale of assessment, it is 

also uncertain what the likely contribution of each growth option to meeting the different 

needs of the population on housing mix, provision of extra care housing, accessible 

housing and affordable homes would be.   

 Option A proposes to focus most new growth within the existing residential and 

employment areas on previously developed land and utilising existing and improved 

infrastructure capacity to maximise developments.  Option B aims to restrict development 

to brownfield sites, promote low carbon designs and technologies in new development and 

redevelop existing housing and employment areas to deliver more energy-efficient and 

intensive areas of growth.  Option C proposes to locate new housing and services to serve 

existing and proposed employment areas.  Option D aims to focus new growth within the 

existing residential and employment areas near existing transport hubs, utilising vacant 

and underused open spaces and undeveloped land within the urban areas.  Options D 

would also redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density and energy-

efficient housing and resolve any capacity gaps in residential services.   

 All the options propose new housing development but focused on different areas of 

Sandwell, leading to a minor positive impact on housing provision.  Option D is likely to be 

the best performing with regard to housing as it has the largest focus on housing, and by 

increasing density may provide for the largest amount of housing growth.   

SA Objective 11 – Equality 

 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 

10% most deprived in England59.  Options A, B, C and D propose growth in urban areas 

which could potentially help facilitate social inclusion increasing accessibility to key services 

and employment opportunities, however, increasing housing density in deprived areas 

could also lead to exacerbation of existing inequalities.  In particular, Option D emphasises 

the use of increased housing densities and taller buildings, which may lead to greater 

pressure on existing services and open spaces with adverse implications for quality of life, 

and more dense living situations may potentially lead to higher crime rates. 

 
59 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 [Date accessed: 11/08/23] 

Page 1323

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     52 

 Option A proposes to focus new development in existing housing and employment areas 

delivering most new development on previously developed land and taking advantage of 

existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise development.  Option B restricts 

new development to brownfield sites, allocating housing and employment land in areas 

with good sustainable and public transport links to services including schools, jobs, 

healthcare and food stores.  Option C proposes to intensify existing employment areas 

through redevelopment and redesign and locating new housing and services to serve 

employment sites.  Option D aims to deliver new housing in previously developed and 

potentially underused open space and redevelop existing older houses to provide higher 

density housing; this could help to promote regeneration and enhance deprived areas, but 

also lead to challenges associated with higher density living as outlined above.   

 On balance, mixed effects could occur as a result of Options B, C and D with an uncertain 

impact recorded, whereas Option A is more likely to lead to a minor positive impact overall. 

 Option A is likely to be the best performing option with regard to equality, because it 

balances housing, employment and utilising existing and improved infrastructure.   

SA Objective 12 – Health 

 Residents in Sandwell have generally good access to health facilities with 73 healthcare 

centres60 and Sandwell General Hospital located in the borough, and the majority of the 

urban area has good pedestrian and public transport access to healthcare.   

 All the spatial growth options seek to take advantage of existing facilities by directing the 

majority of new development to the existing urban areas where healthcare provisions are 

most concentrated.  Options B and D aim to locate new developments close to transport 

links to enable residents to access services using public transport; Option B would ensure 

housing is only developed in areas with the highest accessibility to healthcare, whereas 

Option D would focus growth around transport hubs and seek to fill healthcare capacity 

gaps.  However, Options A, C and D all involve the potential of allocating vacant or under 

used open space for development, losing the potential to use these areas for open spaces 

and green links, and the associated benefits this could bring for human health and 

wellbeing.  A minor negative impact is identified for these three options, although Option 

D would perform better than Options A and C. 

 Option B could be identified as the best performing overall as it allocates housing near 

transport links to residential services including healthcare and does not consider use of 

previously undeveloped open space within the urban areas, instead ensuring the protection 

of existing open spaces and creation of new open spaces for the public.  A minor positive 

impact is identified overall for Option B. 

SA Objective 13 – Economy 

 In Sandwell, the highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and 

north of the borough and along key transport routes.   

 
60 According to Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) data 

Page 1324



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     53 

 Option A aims to focus most new growth within the existing residential and employment 

areas, where sustainable transport options would be the best.  Similarly, Option B proposes 

to locate new employment land near to good sustainable and public transport links, 

ensuring good sustainable access to workplaces.  Both Options A and B would be likely to 

result in a minor positive impact on the economy.   

 Option C focuses on economic growth, aiming to retain, enhance and promote all types of 

employment land, intensify the use of employment land through redevelopment and 

redesign and locate new housing and services to serve employment sites.  A major positive 

impact would be likely. 

 Option D aims to deliver growth in existing residential and employment areas, and 

reallocate areas identified as employment land for additional housing development which 

could compromise employment land targets and lead to a minor negative impact on the 

economy.   

 Option C is identified as the best performing with regard to the economy.   

SA Objective 14 – Education, Skills and Training 

 The extent to which all spatial options would facilitate good access to education for new 

residents is almost entirely dependent on the specific location of the development, which 

is uncertain given the broad locations set out in the spatial growth options.  Access to 

education, skills and training are generally best within urban centres.  All the options, A, 

B, C and D propose the majority of growth within the existing urban areas, which would 

likely enable good access to education facilities.   

 Option B aims to only locate new residential development in areas with the highest levels 

of sustainable access to services, including schools, a minor positive impact is recorded for 

this option.  Whilst Option D promotes the highest housing densities it also aims to improve 

capacity in associated residential services including education facilities, and focus 

development around sustainable transport hubs producing a major positive impact for this 

SA Objective.  The overall effect of Options A and C on access to education is uncertain, 

as although they remain largely urban-focused they may lead to over-capacity issues in 

some locations.   

 Overall, Option D would likely be best performing with regard to education, skills and 

training owing to the provision of sustainable access to schools and addressing capacity 

gaps.   

 Conclusion  

 It is difficult to determine an overall best performing spatial option as the performance of 

each option varies depending on the SA Objective in question.  Generally, options which 

perform better against economic needs put the most pressure on environmental or social 

resources and vice versa.   

Page 1325



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     54 

 Overall, it appears Option B performs best against the largest number of SA Objectives, it 

reduces the impacts on the environment whilst providing residential and employment 

growth.  However, it is not clear exactly what level of growth this option would support as 

the quantities of housing or employment development that could be attained under this 

option are not known.  As such, it may be a refinement of this option provides the best 

option overall.   

 Selection and Rejection 

 Reflecting on the SA findings and SMBC’s objectives for the emerging SLP, the Council 

consider that: 

 “No single option would have no adverse environmental or sustainability impact; however, 

it is clear from the summary assessment that two options (Housing-led and Employment-

led) would not support the balanced and sustainable mix of development and 

environmental and social benefits required to deliver transformational change in Sandwell. 

It is apparent that the most appropriate and deliverable strategy for housing, employment 

and environmental protection and improvement in Sandwell, which will also confirm our 

ambitions to improve the health and wellbeing of residents, would be a combination of 

options A and B.  

 This will deliver what we are referring to as the Balanced Green Growth option for the 

delivery of development in Sandwell. It will allow us to provide a significant quantum of 

housing and additional employment opportunities in the borough while at the same time 

promoting a bold strategy supporting the delivery of climate change adaptation and 

mitigation, environmental protection and enhancement, the conservation and 

enhancement of the historic environment and the delivery of green and blue infrastructure. 

This in turn will support the Council’s wider aims and objectives in improving the health 

(physical and mental), wellbeing and life chances of people in Sandwell”. 

  

Page 1326



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     55 

7 Assessment of policies 

 Preface 

 The SLP will contain strategic and non-strategic planning policies and allocations to support 

the growth and regeneration of Sandwell up to 2041.  The SLP Draft Plan Regulation 18 

Consultation document presents a suite of draft policies for inclusion in the emerging SLP. 

 Many of the proposed SLP policies are derived from the ceased Draft BCP.  A total of 63 

policies were set out in the Draft BCP and were consulted on as part of the BCP process, 

before the decision was made to end work on the BCP in October 2022.  A number of SLP 

policies have also been derived from the adopted Sandwell SAD. 

 SMBC have considered the extent to which each of the draft BCP policies and adopted SAD 

policies remain relevant and applicable to the SLP area, in light of consultation responses 

received during the BCP Regulation 18 consultation, and in the context of the latest 

national and local guidance and strategies.   

 The relevant existing policies have been updated and together with a number of new 

policies prepared for the SLP, this has resulted in a total of 87 policies identified and 

presented within the Draft SLP Regulation 18 Consultation document.  The SLP also sets 

out a Vision for Sandwell in 2041 and a set of Objectives. 

 The sustainability performance of each draft policy has been evaluated based on the SA 

Framework (see Appendix A) and the methodology as set out in Chapter 2.  The 

assessments are set out in full within Appendix D.  This chapter summarises the results 

of these assessments.   

 Overview of Policy Assessments 

 The impact matrix for all policy assessments is presented in Table 7.1.  These impacts 

should be read in conjunction with the assessment text narratives in Appendix D.  

 The proposed SLP policies seek to support the delivery of sustainable growth within 

Sandwell.  The policies will help to ensure that potential adverse impacts on sustainability 

identified as a result of the development proposed within the SLP are avoided, mitigated 

or subject to compensatory measures wherever possible and that development proposals 

are accompanied by relevant supporting information to ensure that the impacts of 

development can be appropriately factored into land use decision making processes.   

 The SLP policies cover the themes of: 

• Development strategy; 

• Sandwell’s natural and historic environment; 

• Climate change; 

• Health and wellbeing in Sandwell; 

• Sandwell’s housing; 

• Sandwell’s economy; 

• Sandwell’s Centres; 

Page 1327



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     56 

• West Bromwich; 

• Transport; 

• Infrastructure and delivery; 

• Waste and minerals;  

• Development constraints and industrial legacy; and 

• Development management. 

 For the majority of policies, the assessment has identified negligible, minor positive or 

major positive effects.  Negligible impacts are identified where the policy does not directly 

influence the achievement of that SA Objective, which is the case for many of the more 

‘thematic’ policies.   

 A greater range of sustainability effects is identified for policies that have potential to 

introduce new development, for example, the housing and economy policies.  As such, 

uncertain impacts have been identified for certain SA Objectives as a result of some of the 

policies in these sections.  The range in potential impacts for these policies owes to the 

fact that large developments could have major negative impacts, however, policy 

requirements have the ability to ensure these developments create some positive impacts 

or reduce the potential adverse effects if designed and carried out appropriately.  

 Some policies, such as the development strategy policies, set out the broad direction for 

growth.  As such, minor negative impacts have been identified for certain SA Objectives 

as a result of some policies in these sections, owing to the potential for the large amount 

of proposed development to lead to increases in pollution and waste, for example.   

 The full assessments, including text narrative to explain the identified impacts against each 

SA Objective, are set out in Appendix D. 

 Opportunities for enhancement may also be secured through policies in the SLP.  Where 

there are opportunities to improve the sustainability performance of draft policies these 

have been identified in SA process (see XXX). 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS1 + + + + + + - - + + 0 + + 0 

SDS2 + + + + 0 ++ + 0 + + + + ++ + 

SDS3 0 0 + +/- 0 + 0 0 + + + + + 0 

SDS4 ++ ++ 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SDS5 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SDS6 + + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SDS7 0 + + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + + 0 

SNE1 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE2 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

Table 7.1: Summary of policy assessments 

Page 1328



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     57 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE3 0 + + + + + + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE4 + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 

SNE5 + ++ ++ 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE6 + + + 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 + + 0 

SHE1 ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHE2 ++ + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SHE3 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHE4 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 

SCC1 + + + ++ + + + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 

SCC2 0 0 0 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SCC3 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCC4 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SCC5 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCC6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHW1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW2 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW3 0 0 + + 0 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 + + 0 

SHW4 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW5 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SHW6 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SHO1 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

SHO2 0 0 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

SHO3 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + + + + 0 0 

SHO4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

SHO5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 

SHO6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + +/- 0 0 0 

SHO7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

SHO8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + 0 0 

SHO9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + ++ 

SHO10 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + + + + +/- + 

SHO11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SEC1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC2 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC4 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + + 

SEC6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SCE1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- + +/- +/- + + + + + +/- 

SCE2 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SCE3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + 

SCE4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 

Page 1329



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     58 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE5 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SCE6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SWB1 0 + 0 + + + 0 0 + + + + + + 

SWB2 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + + + + + + 

STR1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 + 0 0 

STR2 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR3 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR4 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

STR5 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 + + 0 0 

STR6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 

STR7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

STR9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR10 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

SID1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 

SID2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SID3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- ++ +/- 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA5 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SMI1 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SMI2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO2 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO3 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM1 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SDM2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SDM3 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM4 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM5 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SDM6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SDM7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SDM8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +/- 0 

SDM9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SDM10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

 

  

Page 1330



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     59 

8 Assessment of reasonable alternative 
development sites 

 Preface 

 The Black Country Call for Sites request first opened in July 2017 and re-opened from 9th 

July – 20th August 202061.  SMBC have carried out annual SHLAAs of sites within which 

have the potential to accommodate new housing development.   

 SMBC have undertaken a filtering process (or ‘gateway check’) of all potential sites 

identified through the evidence base in order to determine which sites should be 

considered as reasonable alternatives for the purpose of the SA.  

 If the following receptors were obviously present at a site, the Council have generally 

rejected such sites from inclusion as a reasonable alternative to be appraised through the 

SA process:  

• Flood Risk Zone 3 

• Site of Special Scientific Interest 

• Local Nature Reserve 

• Special Area of Conservation 

• Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 

• Ancient Woodland 

• Scheduled Monuments 

• Registered Parks & Gardens 

• Burial Grounds 

• Existing residential 

• Operational sites (education, leisure, utilities, places of worship, canal 

network, transport infrastructure) 

• Open Space not surplus against current standards 

• Sites <0.25 ha with no “call for site” submitted 

• Local authority land with no “call for site” submitted 

• HSE Inner Zone (for residential) 

• Landowner has expressed unwillingness 

[Note to Council: Please can you provide some information / context to explain how reasonable 
alternative sites have been identified? E.g. the filtering process.  Para 8.1.3 current text is taken from 
the BCP SA but needs checking/updating.] 

 
61 Available at https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p3/ [Date accessed: 02/06/23].  

Page 1331

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p3/


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     60 

 Identification of a site as a reasonable alternative does not imply that the site is not subject 

to other constraints or indeed that any receptor listed in para 8.1.3 will not in some way 

be potentially affected by a reasonable alternative site.  Further potential constraints are 

assessed as part of the SA and plan making process for identified reasonable alternatives, 

using available evidence derived from publicly accessible data sources and information 

supplied by the Council.  

 SMBC have identified a total of 121 reasonable alternative sites, which are listed in Table 

8.1.  Some sites have been identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses, or mixed 

uses. 

[Note to Council: We have prepared the SA using the site information provided, including site 

references as provided by Trisha via email 27/09/23.  However, we note there may be some 
discrepancies between the references listed here and those listed in the appendices of the SLP itself 
and accompanying allocated site shapefiles provided to colleagues for the HRA.  E.g. eight sites are 

listed as mixed use allocations in the plan which were not specified as such in the SA information, and 
differences in the references listed for employment sites.] 

Site 
Reference 

Site Address Site use 
Net Area 
(ha) 

Housing 

Capacity 
(if 

applicable) 

SEC3-181 

Varney Business Park, 

Varney Avenue, West 
Bromwich 

Employment  0.73 N/A 

SEC4-1 Zion Street, Tipton Employment  2.43 N/A 

SEC3-9 
Alexandra Ind Est, Locarno 

Rd/ Alexandra Rd, Tipton 
Housing/Employment 1.87 75 

SEC3-99 
Providence Street, Cradley 

Heath 
Employment 6.33 N/A 

SH1 Brown Lion Street Housing 0.46 20 

SEC3-113 Brandon Way (east side) Housing/Employment 0.47 19 

SEC3-46 
Droicon Ind Est, Portway 

Road 
Employment  0.87 N/A 

SEC3-175 
Coneygre Rd, Burnt Tree, 

Tipton 
Housing/Employment 1.02 75 

SEC-36 Silverthorne Lane Housing/Employment  1.05 100 

SEC3-29 
Site off Richmond St, West 
Bromwich 

Employment 1.10 N/A 

SEC3-148 Castle St, Tipton  Housing/Employment 1.49 60 

SH2 

Land adjacent To Asda 

Wolverhampton Road, 
Oldbury 

Housing/Employment 1.60 62 

SEC4-4 Soho Triangle Employment 1.71 N/A 

SEC3-191 
Oldfield Trading Estate, 

Cradley Heath 
Housing/Employment 1.76 70 

SEC4-3 70-74 Crankhall Lane Housing/Employment 1.78 50 

SEC3-133 
Brymill Industrial Estate, 
Brown Lion St, Tipton 

Housing 1.98 56 

SEC3-189 
Waterfall Lane, Cradley 
Heath 

Housing/Employment  1.78 50 

SEC3-22 Hale Trading Estate, Tipton Housing/Employment 2.73 120 

SEC3-40 Newlyn Road, Cradley Heath Housing/Employment 3.40 102 

SEC1-4 
Severn Trent land off Roway 
Lane 

Employment 3.65 N/A 

Table 8.1: Reasonable alternative development sites identified by SMBC 

Page 1332



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     61 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SH3 88/90 Dudley Rd West Housing/Employment 0.36 12 

SH4 
Lower High Street (Station 

Hotel & Dunns Site) 
Housing/Employment 0.28 20 

SH5 Mill Street, Great Bridge Housing 0.86 30 

SH6 
Swan Lane, North of A41, 
West Bromwich 

Housing 3.77 147 

SH7 
The Boat Gauging House & 
Adjoining Land, Factory 

Road, Tipton 

Housing/GTTS 0.57 50 

SH8 Alma Street, Wednesbury Housing 0.52 19 

SH9 
The Phoenix Collegiate, Friar 
Park Road, Wednesbury 

Housing 4.80 84 

29 
Star and Garter, 252 
Duchess Parade, West 

Bromwich 

Housing 0.05 60 

SH10 

Tipton Conservative and 

Unionist Club, 64 Union St, 
Tipton 

Housing 0.19 14 

SH11 
Sandwell District & General 

Hospital 
Housing 0.82 121 

SH12 

Fmr Springfield & Brickhouse 

Neighbourhood Office and 
adjacent land Dudley Road, 

Rowey Regis 

Housing 0.65 26 

34 

John Dando House, 235 

Hamstead Road, Great Barr 
Birmingham 

Housing 0.86 26 

35 

Intersection House, 110 

Birmingham Road, West 
Brom 

Housing/Employment 0.80 136 

36 

Vacant Land Off Friardale 
Close, School Road, 

Carrington Road, 
Wednesbury 

Housing 0.76 30 

38 173 Rolfe Street, Smethwick Housing 0.40 12 

40 
Metro House 410-416 High 

Street West Bromwich 
Housing 0.38 34 

42 
Land between St Pauls Road 

& Tollhouse Way 
Housing 0.33 11 

43 

Land adjacent Compton 

Grange, Whiteall Road, St 
Annes Road, Cradley Heath 

Housing 0.30 15 

44 Crosswells Road, Langley Housing 0.29 12 

45 
164 Birmingham Road, West 
Bromwich 

Housing/Employment 0.22 16 

46 
5 Lombard Street West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.16 44 

SH13 
Silverthorne Lane/ Forge 
Lane Cradley Heath 

Housing 1.05 74 

SH14 
Langley Maltings, Western 
Road, Langley 

Housing 2.72 95 

SH15 
Macarthur Road Industrial 
Estate, Cradley Heath 

Housing 0.30 10 

52 
Land off Overend Road, 
Cradley Heath Business Park 

Employment 3.04 N/A 

Page 1333



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     62 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SH16 
Cradley Heath Factory 
Centre, Woods Lane, 

Cradley Heath 

Housing 5.41 160 

SH17 
Land adj to Droicon Estate, 

Portway Road, Rowley Regis 
Housing/GTTS 0.70 28 

SH18 
STW/SMBC Land, Friar Park 

Road, Wednesbury 
Housing/Employment 26.60 630 

56 
Perrott Street/ Kitchener 
Street, Black Patch, 

Smethwick 

Housing 1.39 49 

SH19 

Land at Horseley Heath, 

Alexandra Road, and Lower 
Church Lane, Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.90 60 

SH20 Elbow Street, Old Hill Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.77 25 

SH21 
Dudley Road East/Brades 

Road 
Housing/Employment 2.65 106 

SH22 Tatbank Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.15 40 

SH23 
28-64 High Street, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.60 58 

63 
Site between Dudley St & 
Victoria St, Wednesbury 

Housing/Employment 1.18 41 

SH24 
Cokeland Place / Graingers 
Lane, Cradley Heath 

Housing 0.36 13 

SH25 
Bradleys Lane / High Street, 
Tipton 

Housing/Employment 5.60 230 

SH26 Lower City Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.83 63 

SH27 

Site surrounding former Post 
office and Telephone 

exchange, Horseley Heath, 
Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.16 42 

SH28 Friar Street, Wednesbury Housing/Employment 1.01 38 

SH29 

Used Car Sales site on 

corner of Lower Church 
Lane and Horseley Heath, 

Tipton 

Housing/Employment 0.56 20 

71 
Grafton Lodge, Grafton 

Road, Oldbury 
Housing 0.53 19 

74 
The Corner of Great Bridge 

& Richmond Street South 
Employment  0.23 N/A 

SH30 
Land to east of Black Lake, 

West Bromwich 
Housing/Employment 2.45 86 

SH31 Summerton Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.89 32 

SH32 
Bank Street (West), Hateley 
Heath 

Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.85 43 

SH33 Wellington Road, Tipton Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.91 31 

SH34 Brandhall Golf Course Housing 36.90 190 

SH35 
Rattlechain Site Land to the 
north of Temple Way, 

Tividale 

Housing 14.8 518 

SH36 
Land between Addington 
Way and River Tame, 

Temple Way 

Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.90 32 

SH37 
Edwin Richards Quarry, 

Portway Road, Rowley Regis 
Housing 10.10 526 

SEC3-66 Soho Foundry Employment 12.60 N/A 

Page 1334



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     63 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SH38 Brades Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.14 54 

91 Chances Glassworks Housing/Employment 0.64 22 

SH39 
Land to West of Thomas 
Street, West Bromwich 

Housing 0.28 30 

SH40 
Langley Swimming Centre, 
Vicarage Road, Oldbury 

Housing 0.49 20 

SH41 North Smethwick Canalside Housing 8.77 400 

SH42 

Forge Put, junction 

Franchise Street and Beebee 
Ro 

Housing 0.14 10 

SEC1-3 
Land at Birchley Island, 
Junction 2 of M5, Oldbury 

Employment 1.00 N/A 

110 
Bloomfield Road Amenity 
Space 

Housing/Employment 0.38 15 

118 
Constance Avenue Open 
Space 

Housing 1.60 64 

120 Darbys Hill Open Space Housing 3.80 114 

132 Lily Street Open Space Housing 3.80 114 

137 Poppy Drive Open Space Housing 0.80 32 

140 
Timbertree Crescent Open 

Space 
Housing 0.50 20 

142 Wylde Crescent Open Space Housing 0.50 20 

SH43 
Land of Tanhouse Avenue, 
Great Barr 

Housing 1.66 46 

SH44 
Wyndmill crescent, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.19 11 

SH45 Site Of Nos 118-152 Housing 0.41 20 

SH46 
Site Of Former Stone Cross 

Neighbourhood Office 
Housing 0.32 14 

SH47 Groveland, Oldbury Housing 2.26 58 

171 
Evans Halshaw car 
showroom, Carters Green 

Housing 0.89 140 

SH48 St Johns St, Carters Green Housing 0.82 33 

173 
Army Reserve, Carters 

Green 
Housing 1.17 63 

SH49 Tentec, Guns Lane Housing 0.60 129 

SH50 Providence Place/ Bratt St Housing 1.32 70 

176 
Cultural Quarter, West 

Bromwich 
Housing 1.09 52 

177 
Queens Square Living, West 

Bromwich 
Housing 2.84 396 

178 West Bromwich Central Housing 3.84 343 

SH51 
Overend Street, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.71 70 

SH52 George Street Living Housing 1.54 327 

SH53 
Grove Lane/ Cranford 

Street/ London Street 
Housing 1.23 108 

SH54 
Cranford Street / Heath 

Street / Canal 
Housing 5 115 

SH55 Cape Arm Cranford Street Housing 2.13 170 

SH56 
Moilliett Street Park - Grove 
Lane masterplan 

Housing 0.77 31 

Page 1335



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     64 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SH57 
Grove Street / MMUH / 
School - Grove Lane MP 

Housing 2.18 85 

SH58 
Abberley Street Grove Lane 
Master Plan 

Housing 2.48 140 

SG1 
Extension to Caravan Site, 
Brierley Lane, Bilston 

GTTS 0.73 10 

188 
Land Between No.32 And 
George Betts School, West 
End Avenue, Smethwick 

Housing 0.32 11 

189 Hawes Lane, Rowley Regis Housing 0.56 15 

SH59 Beever Road, Great Bridge Housing 1.01 18 

191 
Former Sunlight Laundry, 

Stanhope Road, Smethwick 
Housing 0.73 33 

SH61 
Thandi Coach Station, Alma 
Street, Smethwick 

Housing 0.71 58 

SEC1-1 Whitehall Road, Tipton Employment 5.29 N/A 

SEC1-8 
Legacy 43, Ryder Street, 
West Bromwich 

Employment 0.88 N/A 

SEC1-5 
Land at Coneygre, 

Newcomen Drive, Tipton 
Employment 6.92 N/A 

SEC1-6 
Land off Brandon Way, West 

Bromwich 
Employment 3.00 N/A 

SEC1-2 
British Gas, Land off Dudley 

Road, Oldbury 
Employment 1.05 N/A 

SEC1-7 
Site off Bilport Lane, 

Wednesbury 
Employment 5.30 N/A 

199 
Lion Farm Playing Fields, 
Oldbury 

Mixed-use (including housing, 
employment and open space) 

20.89 200 

SH60 
Site of 30-144 Mounts Road, 
Wednesbury 

Housing/Employment 1.07 22 

 Overview of Site Assessments (Pre-Mitigation) 

 Chapter 2 sets out the methodology used to appraise reasonable alternatives and options 

in the SA process, and topic-specific methodologies for the assessment of reasonable 

alternative sites in Appendix B sets out how the likely impact per receptor has been 

identified in line with the local context and assumptions. 

 The assessment of the 121 reasonable alternative sites, including rationale for the 

recorded impacts, is presented in full in Appendix C.  

 A summary of the impact matrices for all reasonable alternative site assessments pre-

mitigation is presented in Table 8.2.  These impacts should be read in conjunction with 

the assessment text narratives in Appendix C as well as the topic specific methodologies 

and assumptions presented in Appendix B. 

Page 1336



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     65 

 It should be noted that the site assessments include an overall impact symbol, summarised 

in Table 2.4, for each of the 14 SA Objectives.  Appendix C documents likely impacts 

on receptors within each SA Objective, which have been included to provide the reader 

with contextual information that is relevant to each SA Objective.  The overall impact 

symbol in Table 8.2 below for each SA Objective is always represented by the lowest 

common denominator.  It may be possible that positive or negligible receptor impacts are 

relevant to an SA Objective, however, if one of the receptor impacts is identified as a major 

negative impact, the SA Objective will be identified as major negative overall. 

 Each appraisal includes a SA impact matrix which provides an indication of the nature and 

magnitude of impacts pre-mitigation.  All assessment information excludes consideration 

of detailed mitigation i.e. additional detail or modification to the reasonable alternative 

that has been introduced specifically to reduce identified environmental effects of that site.  

Presenting assessment findings ‘pre-mitigation’ facilitates transparency to the decision 

makers.   

 The appraisal of the 121 reasonable alternative sites demonstrated that all development 

proposals would be likely to result in a range of sustainability impacts as shown in Table 

8.2. 

  

Page 1337



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     66 

 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Site 
Reference 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC3-181 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ +/- 0 

SEC4-1 - +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ 0 - - +/- 0 

SEC3-9 0 +/- - +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SEC3-99 - +/- - +/- - + - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ +/- 0 

SH1 0 +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + 0 - 0 - 

SEC3-113 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- - 

SEC3-46 0 +/- - +/- -- - - +/- - 0 0 - +/- 0 

SEC3-175 - +/- +/- +/- + + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- - 

SEC-36 0 +/- - +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- - 

SEC3-29 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- - 0 0 + ++ 0 

SEC3-148 - +/- +/- +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- - 

SH2 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- - +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SEC4-4 - +/- +/- +/- + - - +/- - + - - ++ 0 

SEC3-191 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SEC4-3 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SEC3-133 0 +/- - 0 - - - 0 ++ + - - -- - 

SEC3-189 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SEC3-22 0 +/- - +/- - - - +/- ++ +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SEC3-40 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SEC1-4 0 +/- - +/- -- - - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ ++ ++ 

SH3 - +/- +/- +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- 0 

SH4 0 +/- +/- +/- + - - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- - 

SH5 - +/- - 0 -- - - 0 ++ + - ++ - ++ 

SH6 0 +/- +/- - - - -- - ++ ++ - ++ -- ++ 

SH7 -- +/- - +/- - - - +/- ++ + 0 ++ +/- - 

SH8 0 +/- +/- +/- + + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - - 

SH9 0 +/- - +/- - - - 0 ++ + - - 0 ++ 

29 - +/- +/- +/- - + - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 ++ 

SH10 - +/- +/- +/- + - - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 ++ 

SH11 0 +/- +/- - - - -- - ++ ++ 0 ++ - ++ 

SH12 0 +/- - 0 + + - 0 - + 0 - 0 ++ 

34 0 +/- - 0 - - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

35 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- - +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

36 0 +/- +/- 0 - - - 0 ++ + - ++ - ++ 

38 - +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 ++ 

40 0 +/- +/- 0 - + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

42 - +/- +/- 0 - - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ 0 ++ 

43 - +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ 0 - 

44 0 +/- +/- 0 - - - 0 ++ + 0 - 0 ++ 

Table 8.2: Summary impact matrix of all reasonable alternative sites (pre-mitigation)  

Page 1338



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     67 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Site 
Reference 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

45 0 +/- +/- +/- + - - +/- - +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

46 - +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

SH13 0 +/- - 0 - + - 0 ++ ++ 0 ++ - - 

SH14 -- +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 ++ + - ++ -- - 

SH15 0 +/- +/- 0 - + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - - 

52 0 +/- - +/- - + -- +/- ++ 0 0 - +/- 0 

SH16 - +/- - - -- - -- - ++ ++ 0 ++ -- - 

SH17 0 +/- - 0 - + - +/- - + 0 - +/- - 

SH18 0 +/- - +/- -- - - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- - 

56 - +/- - 0 - - - 0 - + - - 0 ++ 

SH19 0 +/- - +/- - - - +/- ++ +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SH20 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

SH21 - +/- - +/- + + - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SH22 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- ++ +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SH23 0 +/- +/- 0 - + - 0 - + - ++ - ++ 

63 0 +/- +/- +/- + - - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

SH24 0 +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

SH25 0 +/- - +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- - - +/- ++ 

SH26 - +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SH27 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

SH28 0 +/- - +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- - 

SH29 0 +/- +/- +/- -- + - +/- ++ +/- - + +/- ++ 

71 0 +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

74 0 +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ +/- 0 

SH30 0 +/- - +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

SH31 - +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

SH32 0 +/- +/- +/- + +  - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

SH33 - +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SH34 - +/- - - + - -- - ++ ++ 0 - 0 ++ 

SH35 - +/- - - -- - -- - - ++ 0 - 0 - 

SH36 0 +/- - +/- -- - - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- - 

SH37 - +/- - - -- - -- - - ++ 0 - 0 ++ 

SEC3-66 -- +/- - +/- - - -- +/- - 0 - - +/- 0 

SH38 - +/- +/- +/- -- + - +/- - +/- 0 - +/- ++ 

91 -- +/- +/- +/- - + - +/- ++ +/- - ++ +/- ++ 

SH39 0 +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + - ++ - ++ 

SH40 0 +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 ++ + 0 - - ++ 

SH41 -- +/- - - -- - -- - ++ ++ - ++ -- ++ 

SH42 0 +/- +/- 0 - + - 0 - + 0 + 0 ++ 

SEC1-3 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- ++ 0 - + ++ 0 

110 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ +/- 0 + +/- - 

Page 1339



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     68 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Site 
Reference 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

118 0 +/- - 0 - - - 0 - + - ++ 0 ++ 

120 0 +/- - 0 + - -- 0 - ++ 0 ++ 0 ++ 

132 0 +/- +/- 0 -- - -- 0 ++ ++ - ++ 0 ++ 

137 0 0 +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ 0 ++ 

140 0 +/- - 0 + - - 0 - + 0 - 0 - 

142 0 +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 - 0 ++ 

SH43 0 +/- -- 0 - - - 0 - + 0 ++ - ++ 

SH44 0 +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 - 

SH45 0 +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 - 

SH46 0 +/- +/- 0 -- - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ 0 ++ 

SH47 - +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

171 - +/- +/- - - + -- - ++ ++ 0 ++ - ++ 

SH48 0 +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ 0 ++ 

173 0 +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

SH49 0 +/- +/- - + + -- - ++ ++ 0 ++ - ++ 

SH50 - +/- +/- 0 - - - 0 ++ + 0 - 0 ++ 

176 -- +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + 0 ++ - ++ 

177 - +/- +/- - - + -- - ++ ++ - ++ -- ++ 

178 -- +/- +/- - -- + -- - ++ ++ - ++ -- ++ 

SH51 0 +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + - ++ - ++ 

SH52 0 +/- +/- - - + -- - ++ ++ - ++ - ++ 

SH53 0 +/- +/- 0 - + - 0 - + - - - ++ 

SH54 - +/- +/- - -- - -- 0 - ++ - - - ++ 

SH55 - +/- +/- 0 -- - -- 0 - ++ - - -- ++ 

SH56 0 +/- +/- 0 + + - 0 - + - - - ++ 

SH57 0 +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 - + - - -- ++ 

SH58 - +/- +/- - - - -- - - ++ - - -- ++ 

SG1 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- - + 0 - 0 ++ 

188 0 +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 ++ + - ++ 0 ++ 

189 - +/- +/- 0 + - - 0 - + 0 - 0 ++ 

SH59 0 +/- - 0 -- - - 0 ++ + 0 - 0 ++ 

191 0 +/- +/- 0 - - - 0 ++ + - - 0 ++ 

SH61 0 +/- +/- 0 -- + - 0 - + - - - ++ 

SEC1-1 - +/- - +/- -- + - +/- ++ 0 - ++ +/- 0 

SEC1-8 0 +/- +/- +/- + - - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ ++ 0 

SEC1-5 - +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ ++ 0 

SEC1-6 - +/- +/- +/- -- + - +/- - 0 0 ++ ++ 0 

SEC1-2 0 +/- +/- +/- - - - +/- ++ 0 0 ++ ++ 0 

SEC1-7 0 +/- - +/- -- - - +/- - 0 0 - +/- 0 

199 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - -- +/- ++ +/- 0 - ++ - 

SH60 0 +/- +/- +/- -- - - +/- ++ +/- 0 ++ +/- ++ 

Page 1340



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     69 

 Mitigation 

 The sustainability appraisal of 121 reasonable alternative sites against baseline 

sustainability information has identified a number of adverse effects associated with the 

SA Objectives in the SA Framework (see Table 8.2).  The purpose of this section is to 

consider if and how these effects can be mitigated by applying the mitigation hierarchy.  

 The first stage of the mitigation hierarchy is to consider if the adverse effect can be 

avoided. This may be possible by withdrawing the potential site allocation.  

 For allocations which are likely to remain on the basis that the plan makers consider their 

inclusion to be necessary, mitigation measures should be explored to reduce the overall 

significance of effect. If it is not possible to mitigate identified adverse effects, these will 

remain at the end of the SA process and will be declared in the environmental report and 

non-technical summary.  

 One way to reduce adverse impacts identified against baseline receptors is to consider the 

potential mitigating effects of planning policies.  

 Aspects of the policies within the draft SLP (see Appendix D), would be anticipated to 

help ensure that potential adverse impacts on sustainability identified as a result of the 

development proposed within the SLP, are avoided.  

 Tables 8.3 to 8.15 list the identified adverse impacts according to SA Objective that could 

potentially arise following development at the 121 reasonable alternative sites.  The table 

then goes on to list which, if any, of the draft SLP policies would be likely to help avoid or 

mitigate these adverse impacts. 

  

Page 1341



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     70 

Identified 

adverse 

impact 

Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will 

the policies mitigate 

the identified 

adverse effects?  

Alteration 

of 

character 

or setting 

of a 

heritage 

asset 

Policy SHE1 states that “development proposals will be required to 

conserve and enhance local character and those aspects of the 

historic environment together with their settings”.  The policy also 

requires development proposals that would affect a heritage asset 

to carry out an Assessment of Significance which would inform part 

of a Design and Access Statement and / or a Heritage Impact 

Assessment.  

Policy SHE2 states that heritage assets within the borough will be 

“retained and, wherever possible, enhanced and their settings 

respected”.  

Policy SHE3 ensures heritage assets are conserved and enhanced, 

stating that development proposals affecting locally listed buildings 

will only be permitted where they “positively contribute towards the 

architectural or historic significance”.  

Policy SHE4 states that “development should safeguard both 

designated and non-designated archaeological assets and the 

character and setting of areas of acknowledged archaeological 

significance”.  The policy also requires sites with known 

archaeological potential to provide an archaeological assessment 

and / or field evaluation.  

These policies would 

be expected to 

mitigate potential 

adverse impacts on the 

local historic 

environment which 

may occur following 

development 

proposals, including 

impacts on Listed 

Buildings, Conservation 

Areas, Scheduled 

Monuments, 

Registered Parks and 

Gardens and 

Archaeological 

Sensitive Areas. 

 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse 

effects?  

Threaten or 

result in the 

loss of locally 

distinctive 

landscape 

character 

Policy SHE1 states that “development proposals will be 

required to conserve and enhance local character”. 

Policies SHE2, SHE3 and SHE4 all ensure the protection and 

enhancement of heritage assets within the borough, which 

would expect to improve the local landscape character, 

where heritage assets would positively contribute to local 

character and distinctiveness.  

Policy SDS7 provides measures to support the green and 

blue infrastructure within the borough, which would expect 

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate 

potential adverse 

impacts on the local 

landscape character, 

ensuring that new 

development respects 

and enhances local 

distinctiveness. 

Table 8.3: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 1 – Cultural Heritage 

Table 8.4: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 2 - Landscape 

Page 1342



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     71 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse 

effects?  

to positively contribute to the locally distinctive landscape 

character.   

Policy SNE3 supports the provision, retention and protection 

of trees, woodlands and hedgerows, which would also be 

expected to contribute towards the conservation of 

landscape character. 

Policy SNE5 aims to protect the Rowley Hills from 

inappropriate development that would lead to the loss of 

valued qualities that make up the local landscape character, 

including panoramic views. 

Policies SDM1, SDM2, SDM3 and other Development 

Management policies seek to ensure that new development 

creates a strong sense of place and help to conserve and 

enhance the landscape / townscape character. 

 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse 

effects?  

Threats or 

pressures to 

international or 

Habitats sites 

(SAC) 

Policy SNE1 states that development would not be 

permitted where it would “have an adverse impact on 

the integrity of an internationally designated site, such 

as Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation or Fens 

Pools Special Area of Conservation”.  The policy also 

requires details regarding how improvements to the 

natural environment will be carried out, to be 

accompanied alongside the planning application.  

This policy would be 

expected to mitigate 

potential adverse impacts 

on Habitats sites and 

associated functionally 

linked land, subject to the 

recommendations of the 

emerging HRA. 

Threats or 

pressures to 

locally 

designated / 

non-statutory 

biodiversity or 

geodiversity 

sites, priority 

habitats and 

species 

Policy SNE1 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance 

biodiversity assets including local designations, and 

requires that where the benefits of development 

strategically outweighs the importance of a local nature 

conservation site, “damage must be minimised” and 

remaining impacts will be required to be fully mitigated, 

with the addition of a mitigation strategy also required 

to accompany relevant planning applications.  

These policies would help to 

conserve locally designated 

biodiversity sites; however, 

they would not be 

expected to fully mitigate 

potential adverse impacts 

on SLINCs or priority 

habitats where proposed 

development sites coincide 

with these assets. 

Table 8.5: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity 

Page 1343



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     72 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse 

effects?  

Effects on green 

infrastructure 

and ecological 

networks  

Policy SDS7 ensures that green and blue infrastructure 

is protected and enhanced throughout the borough and 

states that “development in Sandwell will be expected 

to maintain the existing network of green infrastructure 

across the borough” and networks “should be enhanced 

wherever possible”.  

Policy SNE1 states that development proposals will 

need to take account of the Local Nature Recovery 

Strategy and “should plan for the maintenance and 

where possible enhancement of such linkages”.  

Policy SNE2 seeks to ensure that all developments 

deliver a minimum 10% biodiversity net gain in line 

with statutory requirements, and require development 

to “be designed to protect and enhance existing 

habitats and ecological networks, including wildlife 

corridors and stepping stones”.  

These policies would be 

likely to enhance the 

connectivity between 

habitats and improve the 

resilience of ecological and 

GI networks to current and 

future pressures.  

 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Increased Carbon 

Emissions 

Policy SCC1 ensures that development proposals 

in Sandwell will include opportunities for adaption 

to, and the mitigation of, climate change.  The 

policy is underpinned by other policies that 

collectively aim to reduce the borough’s carbon 

footprint, including policies SCC2, SCC3, SCC6, 

SDS7, SDM1, STR1 and STR9.  

Policy SDS7 and SDM1 includes measures that 

require development proposals to incorporate 

green cover and urban green features.  

Policy STR1 ensures the transport network within 

the borough promotes active travel and that “all 

new developments must provide adequate access 

for all modes of travel, including walking, cycling 

and public transport”, reducing the need for travel 

via private cars.  

Although these policies strongly 

support a reduction in GHG 

emissions associated with 

development, the policies 

would not be expected to fully 

mitigate GHG emissions from 

development, for example, 

arising from the release of 

embodied carbon, GHG 

emissions from the operation of 

development and potential loss 

of carbon stores, for example in 

soils.  

Table 8.6: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 4 – Climate Change mitigation 

Page 1344



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     73 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Policy STR9 ensures the borough is able to 

provide for low emission vehicles through 

infrastructure such as vehicle charging points.  

  

Page 1345



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     74 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Fluvial flood risk Policy SCC4 sets out measures to identify and 

manage the risk of flooding throughout the borough 

and ensure that development is avoided in areas of 

high fluvial flood risk, in line with the NPPF.  The 

policy also encourages development proposals to 

naturalise urban watercourses and open up culverts 

to provide multi-functional benefits, including for 

reinstating natural river channels. 

Various SLP policies including SDS7 would help to 

conserve and enhance GI coverage within the 

borough, with associated benefits for flood water 

storage and mitigation. 

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate potential 

adverse impacts associated with 

development in areas at risk of 

fluvial flooding. 

Risk of surface 

water flooding  

Policy SCC4 requires development proposals to 

incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

and additionally carry out a Flood Risk Assessment.  

Policy SCC5 underpins Policy SCC4 in relation to 

SuDS, outlining design requirements and states that 

“surface water drainage strategies are required for 

all major developments, regardless of their size and 

the flood zone and catchment they are in”.  

Policies SNE1, SDS7, and SDM1 provide measures 

that would protect and enhance green and blue 

infrastructure and ecosystem services, with likely 

multi-functional benefits including for flood risk 

reduction.  

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate potential 

adverse impacts associated with 

development in areas at risk of 

surface water flooding. 

 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Loss of previously 

undeveloped land / 

land with 

environmental 

value 

The proposed development strategy for the SLP 

promotes the use of brownfield land as much as 

possible.  Policy SDS1 states that development 

within the borough will seek to achieve sustainable 

development through “delivering development on 

brownfield sites in the urban area”.  Underpinning 

Policy SDS1 are Policies SDS2, SDS6, SC03, SDM3, 

The policies would help to 

promote an efficient use of 

land and reduce the loss of 

undeveloped land and 

associated soil resources; 

however, the policies would 

not be expected to fully 

Table 8.7: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 5 – Climate Change adaptation 

Table 8.8: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 6 – Natural Resources 

Page 1346



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     75 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

and SH02.  These policies include measures that 

ensure undeveloped land is protected and that 

previously developed land in urban areas are 

utilised.  

Policies SNE1, SNE4, SNE6, SHE1, SHE2, SHE3, and 

SHE4, include measures that protect land with 

ecological or environmental value.   

mitigate these impacts and 

some small-scale losses of soil 

would remain.  

 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Increase in, and 

exposure to, air 

pollution (from 

main road or 

AQMA)  

Policy SHW3 requires development proposals to 

carry out an appropriate Air Quality Assessment 

(AQA) to outline how the proposal will meet air 

quality objectives.  Policy SHW3 addresses air 

quality issues across the borough and is 

underpinned by additional policies that ensure air 

quality objectives will be met including Policies 

SDS2, SDS4, SDS7, SNE1, SNE2, SNE3, SCC1, 

SCC2, SCC3, SCC6, SHW1, SHW2, SHW4, SHO3, 

STR1, STR6, STR9, STR10, SID1, SDM1.  

Policies SDS2, SDS4, SCC1, SHW1, SHW2, SHO3, 

STR1, STR2, STR6, STR9, STR10 and SID1 include 

measures to improve accessibility, reduce the need 

to travel and provide low emission alternative 

modes of transport. 

Policies SDS7, SNE1, SNE2, SNE3, SHW4, SDM1 

support the conservation and enhancement of green 

cover and GI features across the borough that can 

facilitate ecosystem services such as carbon storage 

and filtration of air pollutants. 

Policies SCC2, SCC3, SCC6 include measures that 

support energy efficient design and infrastructure 

across the borough.  

These policies will help to 

minimise adverse impacts 

associated with the exposure 

of site end users to poor air 

quality associated with main 

roads and AQMAs.  However, 

these policies would not be 

expected to fully mitigate 

these adverse impacts when 

considering the implications of 

delivering the large scale of 

proposed development all of 

which will lie within the 

Sandwell AQMA.  

Risk of 

contamination of 

groundwater 

Policy SCC4 seeks to ensure that no development is 

permitted within a groundwater SPZ that would 

physically disturb an aquifer. 

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate negative 

impacts associated with 

Table 8.9: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

Page 1347



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     76 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Source Protection 

Zones  

Policies SNE1, SNE2, SNE3, SNE7, SDM1 and SDS7 

would help to increase green cover and protect 

biodiversity assets that would provide ecosystem 

services such as the filtration of water.  

development on groundwater 

SPZs. 

Risk of 

contamination of 

watercourses  

Policies SNE1, SNE2, SNE3, SNE7, SDM1 and SDS7 

would help to increase green cover and protect 

biodiversity assets that would provide ecosystem 

services such as the filtration of water.  

Policy SNE6 requires development proposals likely 

to affect the canal network must “protect and 

enhance water quality in the canal and protect 

water resource availability both in the canal and the 

wider environment”.  

Policy SCC4 outlines the requirements for inclusion 

of SuDS within development proposals and is 

underpinned by SCC5 outlining design requirements, 

stating that “surface water drainage strategies are 

required for all major developments, regardless of 

their size and the flood zone and catchment they 

are in”.  SuDS can provide benefits to water quality.  

These policies may help to 

lessen adverse impacts on 

water quality associated with 

new development, however 

they would not be expected 

to fully mitigate these effects. 

 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Increase in 

waste  

Policy SWA1 sets out the waste infrastructure 

requirements do be adhered to throughout the 

borough, seeking to reduce the generation of waste 

and associated pollution, promote re-use and recycling 

of waste in line with the waste hierarchy.  The policy 

ensures the “minimisation of waste production and the 

re-use and recovery of waste materials” by providing 

sufficient waste facilities.   

The policy is underpinned by Policies SWA2, SWA3, 

SWA4, and SWA5.  These policies set out measures to 

ensure waste facilities meet the demand of the borough 

in regard to capacity and are sustainable by 

nature/design, whilst being strategically located in 

suitable locations.  

These policies could 

potentially encourage 

recycling and appropriate 

waste disposal within new 

developments; however, this 

policy would not be 

expected to fully mitigate the 

increase in household waste 

which is predicted to occur 

due to the increased number 

of dwellings in the Plan area.   

Table 8.10: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 8 – Waste 

Page 1348



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     77 

  

Page 1349



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     78 

Identified adverse 

impact 

Potential mitigating influence of SLP 

policies 

Commentary: Will the policies 

mitigate the identified adverse 

effects?  

Limited access to 

bus services 

Policy STR1 states that “all new developments 

must provide adequate access for all modes of 

travel, prioritising walking, cycling and public 

transport to influence travel choices”.  

Policy SDS1, STR3, STR6, SHW2, SHW3, and 

SDS4 include measures that would improve 

accessibility to bus services. 

The policy encourages the use of 

Sandwell’s bus network and would 

be expected to mitigate the 

restricted access to the bus 

services within the borough, which 

affects only a few sites.  

Limited access to 

the railway 

network  

Policy STR1 identifies the “Midlands Rail Hub” 

as a key transport priority.  The policy states 

that that “all new developments must provide 

adequate access for all modes of travel, 

including walking, cycling and public transport”.  

Policy STR4 states that “existing and disused 

railway lines will be safeguarded for rail-related 

uses”.  

Policy SHW3, STR3, STR6, SDS1, SDS4 include 

measures to ensure sustainable transport 

methods are accessible and are being pursued, 

including the railway network.  

The policy encourages the use of 

the railway network in the 

borough and would be expected to 

mitigate the restricted access to 

the railway network, which affects 

only a few sites.  

Limited access to 

local services and 

facilities 

Policy STR1 states that “all new developments 

must provide adequate access for all modes of 

travel, prioritising walking, cycling and public 

transport to influence travel choices”.  

Policy SDS1, STR3, STR5, STR6, SHW2, SHW3 

and SDS4 include measures that would improve 

accessibility to local services and facilities.   

Sandwell’s Centres policies (SCE1-SCE6) 

support appropriate uses within centres to 

meet day to day needs of residents and visitors 

to these areas, in accordance with the 

settlement hierarchy, including Policy SCE5 

which supports the provision of new small-scale 

local facilities outside of centres.  

Policy SDM9 supports the retention of, and 

development of new, community facilities. 

These policies would be expected 

to improve access to local services 

and facilities including via public 

transport.  

   

 

Table 8.11: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 9 – Transport and accessibility 

Page 1350



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     79 

Identified adverse 

impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Residents located in 

deprived areas 

Policies SDS4, SHO9, SHW2, SHW5, SEC5, SID1, 

SDM6 include measures that ensure residents 

have access to local services, including 

employment opportunities, various public 

transport methods, shops, educational facilities, 

leisure and sport facilities and public open 

space.  

Policy SHO9 states educational facilities should 

be “wherever possible, located to address 

accessibility gaps”.  

Policy SHW2 states that healthcare facilities 

should be “located to address accessibility 

gaps”.  

Policy SHW5 states that playing fields and sports 

facilities “will be encouraged, especially in areas 

where public provision is deficient”. 

The policies would be likely to 

ensure that new development 

provides site end users with 

good access to services and 

facilities, and that new 

infrastructure is provided to 

address inequalities. 

 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Limited access to 

healthcare 

facilities  

Policy SHW2 states that new healthcare facilities should 

be “well-designed” and “well-served by public 

transporot infrastructure”.  Furthermore, the policy 

requires any development that would have 

unacceptable impacts upon healthcare facilities 

functioning to “contribute to the provision or 

improvement of such services”.  

Policy SDM9 includes measures to increase community 

facilities, including leisure facilities and states that “the 

provision of additional community facilities will be 

encouraged, including those serving cultural and other 

social needs”.  

Policies STR1, STR2, STR5, SDS4 provide measures 

that improve accessibility to healthcare and leisure 

facilities. 

These policies would help to 

ensure that residents across 

Sandwell have good 

sustainable access to 

healthcare facilities.  

Table 8.12: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 11 – Equality 

Table 8.13: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 12 – Health 

Page 1351



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     80 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Limited access to 

the pedestrian or 

cycle network  

Policy STR1 states that “all new developments must 

provide adequate access for all modes of travel, 

prioritising walking, cycling and public transport to 

influence travel choices”.  

Policy STR5 states that “Sandwell will ensure that it can 

create and maintain a comprehensive cycle network 

based on the four tiers of the West Midlands cycle 

network”.  

Policies SDS1, STR3, SHW2, SHW3, and SDS4 include 

measures that would improve accessibility to the 

pedestrian or cycle network.   

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate adverse 

impacts associated with 

restricted access to the PRoW 

and cycle networks and help 

to encourage the uptake of 

these sustainable transport 

options.  

Loss of public 

greenspace 

Policy SHW5 states that “the wider community use of 

school playing fields, other school facilities, such as 

sports halls, and private facilities will be encouraged, 

especially in areas where public provision is deficient”.  

Policy SHW4 states that “proposals should maintain and 

/ or enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility of 

open space and address any shortfalls in provision”.  

Policies STR1, STR2, STR5, SDS4 provide measures 

that improve accessibility to public greenspace within 

Sandwell.  

These policies would be 

expected to ensure that 

development proposals do not 

result in the net loss of public 

greenspace across the Plan 

area. 

 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Net loss of 

employment 

floorspace 

Policy SDS1 states that the Council alongside local 

communities, partners and key stakeholders will 

“deliver at least 1,206ha of employment land”.  

Policy SEC1 outlines the area of employment land to be 

delivered and the use of existing employment areas, 

where the policy states that the “the council will 

support, with public intervention as necessary, the 

regeneration and renewal of” existing employment 

areas.  

These policies would be 

expected to mitigate the 

potential adverse impacts 

associated with the loss of 

existing employment land 

across the Plan area. 

Table 8.14: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 13 – Economy 

Page 1352



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     81 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Policy SEC2 states it will “ensure that uses defined by 

Use Class E (commercial, business and services62) 

remain the predominant uses within the defined retail 

core / primary shopping areas”.  

Policy SEC4 states that development will be supported 

for “new industrial employment uses or extensions to 

existing industrial employment uses”.  

Policy SWM9 states that “any proposal for a community 

facility or use that involves the loss of premises and 

sites identified as falling within either strategic or local 

employment areas will be refused”. 

Limited access to 

employment 

opportunities 

Policies SDS1 and SEC1 include measures to retain 

employment areas and introduce new employment 

areas. 

Policy SEC2 states that Strategic Employment Areas will 

be characterised by “excellent accessibility”.  

Policy SEC3 states that Local Employment Areas are 

“characterised by a critical mass of industrial, 

warehousing and service activity with good access to 

local markets and employees”.  

Policy SEC5 states that development proposals for new 

major job-creating development will “be made available 

to the residents of Sandwell, particularly those in the 

most deprived areas of the borough and other priority 

groups”. 

Policies SDM1, SCE1, STR1, STR2, STR3, STR5 ensure 

that residents have access to employment opportunities 

through well-designed places and strong transport 

infrastructure.  

Policies SID1 and SDM10 would improve access to 

employment opportunities, including home working, 

through the provision of a strong fibre network and 

telecommunications infrastructure.  

These policies would be 

expected to improve access to 

employment opportunities 

across the Plan area. 

 

 
62 https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes  

Table 8.15: Mitigating SLP Policy for SA Objective 14 – Education, skills and training 

Page 1353

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes


Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     82 

Identified 

adverse impact 
Potential mitigating influence of SLP policies 

Commentary: Will the 

policies mitigate the 

identified adverse effects?  

Limited access to 

education 

opportunities 

Policy SHO9 states that nurseries, schools and higher 

education facilities should be “well-designed” and “well-

served by public transport infrastructure”.  

Policies SDM1, SCE1, STR1, STR2, STR3, STR5 ensure 

that residents have access to education opportunities 

through well-designed places and strong transport 

infrastructure.  

Policies SID1 and SDM10 provide additional access to 

educational opportunities by the provision of a strong 

fibre network and telecommunications. 

Policies SWB2 and SCE3 include measures that support 

the development of educational facilities.  

These policies would be 

expected to improve access to 

education opportunities 

across the Plan area. 

 Selection and Rejection of Sites 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on SEA states that the SA process should outline the 

reasons why alternatives were selected and the reasons the rejected options were not 

taken forward.  An overview of the reasons for site selection and rejection have been 

provided by SMBC, as summarised in Table 8.16.  Reasons for selection and rejection of 

the sites proposed at this stage in the plan making process have been informed by the 

detailed site assessment process undertaken by the Council.   

 Table 8.16 is intended to provide an overview only.  The decision making of the Council 

in relation to the sites taken forward reflects the findings of the evidence base documents 

prepared to support the preparation of the SLP, including the findings of the SA, and have 

been accompanied by detailed site assessment proformas. 

[insert table when available] 

  

Table 8.16: Outline reasons for selection / rejection of reasonable alternative sites for the SLP  

Page 1354



Regulation 18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan: Draft Plan   October 2023 

LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council                     83 

9 Conclusions and next steps 

 Consultation on the Regulation 18 (II) SA Report 

 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report is subject to consultation with statutory consultees, 

stakeholders and the general public alongside the Draft SLP. 

 This report represents the latest stage of the SA process.  The SA process will take on 

board any comments on this report and use them to inform future SA outputs. 

 Once SMBC have reviewed Regulation 18 Draft Plan consultation comments and have 

begun preparing the next version of the SLP (Regulation 19 stage), preparation of an 

Environmental Report will being, also known as a full SA report.  The Environmental Report 

will include all of the legal requirements set out in Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations. 

 Responding to the consultation  

 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report will be published by SMBC for consultation alongside the 

Draft SLP.  Consultation findings will be used to inform subsequent stages of the SA 

process. 

 All responses on this consultation exercise should be sent to: 

SLP Team 

 

The Planning Policy Team, 

Sandwell Council, 

PO Box 2374, 

Oldbury, 

B69 3DE 

 

Email: Sandwell_LocalPlan@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 1355

mailto:Sandwell_LocalPlan@sandwell.go.uk


  

 

 
 
 

Habitats Regulations Assessments 

Sustainability Appraisals 

Strategic Environmental Assessments 

Landscape Character Assessments 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments 

Green Belt Reviews 

Expert Witness 

Ecological Impact Assessments 

Habitat and Ecology Surveys 

 
 
 

 
 
 

© Lepus Consulting Ltd 

Eagle Tower 

Montpellier Drive 

Cheltenham 

GL50 1TA 

T: 01242 525222 

E: enquiries@lepusconsulting.com 

www.lepusconsulting.com 

CHELTENHAM 

Page 1356

mailto:enquiries@lepusconsulting.com


Regulation 18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix A: SA Framework         October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_A_SA_Framework_3_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council A1 

Appendix A: SA Framework 
 

# SA Objective 
Relevant SEA 

Regulations topics 

Decision making criteria:  Will the option / 

proposal… 
Indicators (this list is not exhaustive) 

1 

Cultural heritage: 

Protect, enhance and 
manage sites, features 

and areas of 
archaeological, historical 

and cultural heritage 
importance. 

• Cultural 
heritage 

a) conserve features of architectural or historic 

interest and, where necessary, encourage their 
conservation and renewal? 

b) conserve or enhance archaeological sites/remains? 

c) conserve or enhance the setting of cultural 

heritage assets? 

d) improve the energy efficiency of historic buildings? 

• Number and condition of historic assets on 
the Heritage at Risk register. 

• Developments with potential to adversely 
affect cultural heritage designations or areas 

of historic value in the SLP area. 

• Statutory and non-statutory sites in the 
Historic Environment Record (HER) and 
identified in the HLC. 

2 

Landscape: Protect, 

enhance and manage the 
character and appearance 
of the landscape and 

townscape, maintaining 
and strengthening local 

distinctiveness and sense 
of place. 

• Landscape 

• Cultural 
heritage 

a) safeguard and enhance the character of the 

landscape and local distinctiveness and identity? 

b) protect and enhance visual amenity, including light 
and noise pollution? 

c) reuse degraded landscapes/townscapes? 

d) compromise the purpose of the Green Belt e.g. will 

it lead to coalescence of settlements and/or urban 
sprawl? 

• Tranquillity rating of area. 

• Re-use of brownfield land and/or derelict 
buildings. 

• Developments with potential to alter existing 
landscape or townscape character. 

• Developments in the Green Belt which 
contradict with the findings of the Green Belt 
Study. 

• Developments in areas identified as being of 
‘moderate’ or ‘moderate-high’ sensitivity in 

the Landscape Sensitivity Study. 

3 

Biodiversity, flora, 
fauna and 
geodiversity: Protect, 

enhance and manage 
biodiversity and 

geodiversity. 

• Biodiversity 

• Flora 

• Fauna 

a) maintain and enhance features and assets of 

nature conservation value including biodiversity 
and geodiversity? 

b) support positive management of local sites (SLINCs 
and SINCs) designated for nature conservation and 

geodiversity value? 

c) contribute towards wider GI networks and promote 

habitat connectivity? 

d) deliver biodiversity net gain? 

• Number and diversity of protected species 
present in the area. 

• Quality and extent of priority habitats 
(habitats of principle importance). 

• Area and condition of sites designated for 
biological and geological interest. 

• Provision and connectivity of GI. 

P
age 1357



Regulation 18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix A: SA Framework         October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_A_SA_Framework_3_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council A2 

# SA Objective 
Relevant SEA 

Regulations topics 

Decision making criteria:  Will the option / 

proposal… 
Indicators (this list is not exhaustive) 

• Amount of biodiversity net gain provided in 
new developments measured using the 
DEFRA Biodiversity Metric. 

4 

Climate change 

mitigation: Minimise 
Sandwell’s contribution to 

climate change. 

• Climatic factors 

a) help to reduce the per capita carbon footprint of 
Sandwell? 

b) encourage renewable energy generation or use of 
energy from renewable or low-carbon sources? 

c) promote sustainable construction principles?  

d) help to reduce reliance on private car use? 

• Carbon emissions from domestic / industrial 
/ commercial sources. 

• Percentage of energy in the area generated 
from renewable sources. 

• Proximity to, and frequency of, public 
transport links. 

• Distance to local services and amenities. 

5 

Climate change 
adaptation: Plan for the 

anticipated levels of 
climate change. 

• Climatic factors 

• Soil 

• Water 

a) avoid development in areas at high risk of flooding 
and seek to reduce flood risk? 

b) increase the coverage and connectivity of GI? 

c) promote use of technologies and techniques to 
adapt to the impacts of climate change? 

d) ensure that new development is resilient to the 
effects of extreme weather events? 

• Number of properties at risk of flooding. 

• Area of new greenspace created per capita. 

• Area and connectivity of GI. 

• Implementation of adaptive techniques, such 
as SuDS and passive heating/cooling. 

6 
Natural resources: 

Protect and conserve 
natural resources. 

• Soil 

• Water 

• Material assets 

a) utilise previously developed, degraded and under-

used land? 

b) lead to the loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land? 

c) lead to the loss or sterilisation of mineral 
resources, or affect mineral working? 

• Re-use of previously developed or brownfield 
land. 

• Area of potential BMV agricultural land lost 
to development. 

• Development within groundwater SPZs. 

• Proposed Mineral Safeguarding Area(s). 

7 
Pollution: Reduce air, 

soil, water and noise 
pollution. 

• Air 

• Water 

• Soil 

• Human health 

a) improve air quality and avoid generating further air 

pollution? 

b) conserve soil quality or help to remediate land 

affected by ground contamination? 

c) conserve and improve water quality? 

d) help to reduce noise pollution and protect sensitive 

receptors from existing ambient noise? 

• Number of exceedances in NO2, PM10 or 
PM2.5 annual mean objectives within 
Sandwell AQMA. 

• Development with potential to generate a 
significant increase in road traffic emissions 

or other air pollutants. 

• Area of contaminated land remediated. 

P
age 1358



Regulation 18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix A: SA Framework         October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_A_SA_Framework_3_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council A3 

# SA Objective 
Relevant SEA 

Regulations topics 

Decision making criteria:  Will the option / 

proposal… 
Indicators (this list is not exhaustive) 

• Proximity to watercourses or groundwater 
receptors. 

• Ecological and chemical status of 
waterbodies within the SLP area and 
downstream. 

• Percentage change in pollution incidents. 

8 

Waste: Reduce waste 
generation and disposal 

and achieve the 
sustainable management 

of waste. 

• Population 

• Material assets 

a) encourage recycling, re-use and composting of 
waste? 

b) minimise and where possible eliminate generation 
of waste, during both construction and occupation 

of development? 

• Number and capacity of waste management 
facilities. 

• Rate of recycling and composting. 

• Management of local authority collected 
waste. 

9 

Transport and 
accessibility: Improve 

the efficiency of transport 
networks by increasing 
the proportion of travel 

by sustainable modes and 
by promoting policies 

which reduce the need to 
travel. 

• Climatic factors 

• Population 

• Material assets 

a) reduce the need to travel and/or reduce travel 
time? 

b) provide adequate means of access by a range of 
sustainable transport modes (i.e. walking, cycling, 

and public transport)? 

c) support a modal shift away from private car use? 

• Proximity and connectivity of walking and 
cycling links. 

• Proximity to public transport links including 
bus services, metro and rail. 

• Frequency of bus services. 

• Provision or expansion of public transport 
and active travel infrastructure. 

• Distance / travel times to place of work, 
local amenities and key services. 

10 

Housing: Provide 

affordable, 
environmentally sound 

and good quality housing 
for all. 

• Population 

a) provide a mix of good-quality housing, including 

homes that are suitable for first-time buyers? 

b) provide housing suitable for the growing elderly 

population? 

c) provide decent, affordable, and accessible homes? 

• Varied housing mix. 

• Percentage of dwellings delivered as 
affordable housing. 

• Number of extra care homes. 

• Provision of pitches and plots for Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. 

11 

Equality: Reduce 
poverty, crime and social 

deprivation and secure 
economic inclusion. 

• Population 

• Human health 

a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment? 

b) reduce crime and the fear of crime? 

• Indices of Multiple Deprivation. 

• Level of qualifications e.g.  number. of 
people with NVQ2. 

• Rates of crime.  

P
age 1359



Regulation 18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix A: SA Framework         October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_A_SA_Framework_3_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council A4 

# SA Objective 
Relevant SEA 

Regulations topics 

Decision making criteria:  Will the option / 

proposal… 
Indicators (this list is not exhaustive) 

c) create safe neighbourhoods and support 

community cohesion? 

d) advance equality of opportunity? 

e) help to achieve life-long learning and increase 
learning participation and adult education? 

• Provision of and access to community 
facilities including libraries and local centres.  

• Provision of accessible and adaptable homes 
to meet the needs of the population. 

12 

Health: Safeguard and 
improve community 

health, safety and 
wellbeing. 

• Human health 

• Population 

a) improve sustainable access for all to health, leisure 

and recreational facilities? 

b) improve and enhance Sandwell's GI network? 

c) improve road safety? 

d) consider the needs of Sandwell’s growing elderly 
population? 

• Travel time by active travel and/or public 
transport to healthcare facilities and 

services. 

• Provision and accessibility of open 
greenspace and GI. 

• Accessibility to sports facilities e.g.  football 
pitches, playing fields, tennis courts and 
leisure centres. 

13 

Economy: Develop a 
dynamic, diverse and 

knowledge-based 
economy that excels in 

innovation with higher 
value, lower impact 

activities. 

• Population 

• Material assets 

a) improve sustainable access to employment 
opportunities? 

b) encourage business start-ups in the SLP area? 

c) protect and enhance the vitality and viability of 
existing employment and retail areas? 

d) protect and create jobs? 

• Proximity and sustainable accessibility to 
employment opportunities. 

• Number of residents working within 
Sandwell, and rates of unemployment. 

• Number of new business start-ups as a 
result of the development. 

• Total amount of employment land. 

• Number of vacant units in strategic centres. 

14 

Education, skills and 
training: Raise 

educational attainment 
and develop and maintain 

a skilled workforce to 
support long-term 

competitiveness. 

• Population 

a) improve sustainable access for all to education and 
training opportunities? 

b) encourage a diversity of education and training 
opportunities? 

c) Support the provision of an appropriately skilled 

workforce? 

• Proximity to education and training, 
particularly primary schools and secondary 
schools. 

• Provision of new education and training 
facilities and opportunities. 

• Accessibility of education and training 
facilities by public transport. 

• Capacity of local schools to meet demand 
from new development. 

 

P
age 1360



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Bi 

Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology 
and Assumptions 

  

Page 1361



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Bii 

Appendix B Contents 

B.1 Overview .............................................................................................................................. B1 

B.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural heritage ........................................................................................... B2 

B.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape .................................................................................................... B7 

B.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity....................................................... B9 

B.5 SA Objective 4: Climate change mitigation ........................................................................... B14 

B.6 SA Objective 5: Climate change adaptation .......................................................................... B16 

B.7 SA Objective 6: Natural resources ........................................................................................ B18 

B.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution ..................................................................................................... B20 

B.9 SA Objective 8: Waste ........................................................................................................ B23 

B.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and accessibility ........................................................................ B25 

B.11 SA Objective 10: Housing ................................................................................................. B28 

B.12 SA Objective 11: Equality .................................................................................................. B29 

B.13 SA Objective 12: Health .................................................................................................... B30 

B.14 SA Objective 13: Economy ................................................................................................ B33 

B.15 SA Objective 14: Education, skills and training ................................................................... B35 

 
Boxes 
Box B.2.1: SA Objective 1: Grade I Listed Buildings .................................................................................... B3 
Box B.2.2: SA Objective 1: Grade II* Listed Buildings ................................................................................. B3 
Box B.2.3: SA Objective 1: Grade II Listed Buildings ................................................................................... B3 
Box B.2.4: SA Objective 1:  Scheduled Monuments..................................................................................... B4 
Box B.2.5: SA Objective 1: Registered Parks and Gardens ........................................................................... B4 
Box B.2.6: SA Objective 1: Conservation Areas .......................................................................................... B4 
Box B.2.7: SA Objective 1: Archaeological Priority Areas ............................................................................. B5 
Box B.2.8: SA Objective 1: Historic Landscape Characterisation ................................................................... B5 
Box B.3.1: SA Objective 2: Landscape sensitivity ........................................................................................ B7 
Box B.4.1: SA Objective 3: Habitats sites ................................................................................................. B10 
Box B.4.2: SA Objective 3: SSSI.............................................................................................................. B10 
Box B.4.3: SA Objective 3: NNR .............................................................................................................. B11 
Box B.4.4: SA Objective 3: Ancient woodland ........................................................................................... B11 
Box B.4.5: SA Objective 3: LNR .............................................................................................................. B12 
Box B.4.6: SA Objective 3: SINC ............................................................................................................. B12 
Box B.4.7: SA Objective 3: SLINC ........................................................................................................... B12 
Box B.4.8: SA Objective 3: Geological conservation .................................................................................. B13 
Box B.4.9: SA Objective 3: Priority habitat ............................................................................................... B13 
Box B.5.1: SA Objective 4: Carbon emissions ........................................................................................... B14 
Box B.6.1: SA Objective 5: Fluvial flooding............................................................................................... B16 
Box B.6.2: SA Objective 5: Surface water flooding .................................................................................... B16 
Box B.6.3: SA Objective 5: Indicative flood zone ...................................................................................... B17 

Page 1362



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Biii 

Box B.7.1: SA Objective 6: Previously developed land / land with environmental value ................................ B18 
Box B.7.2: SA Objective 6: ALC ............................................................................................................... B18 
Box B.8.1: SA Objective 7: AQMA ........................................................................................................... B20 
Box B.8.2: SA Objective 7: Main road ...................................................................................................... B20 
Box B.8.3: SA Objective 7: Water quality ................................................................................................. B21 
Box B.8.4: SA Objective 7: Groundwater SPZ ........................................................................................... B21 
Box B.8.5: SA Objective 7: Increase in air pollution .................................................................................. B22 
Box B.9.1: SA Objective 8: Waste ........................................................................................................... B23 
Box B.10.1: SA Objective 9: Bus stop ...................................................................................................... B25 
Box B.10.2: SA Objective 9: Railway or metro station ............................................................................... B25 
Box B.10.3: SA Objective 9: Pedestrian access ......................................................................................... B26 
Box B.10.4: SA Objective 9: Road access ................................................................................................ B26 
Box B.10.5: SA Objective 9: Pedestrian access to local services ................................................................. B26 
Box B.10.6: SA Objective 9: Public transport access to local services ......................................................... B27 
Box B.11.1: SA Objective 10: Provision of housing ................................................................................... B28 
Box B.12.1: SA Objective 11: Index of Multiple Deprivation....................................................................... B29 
Box B.13.1: SA Objective 12: NHS hospital .............................................................................................. B30 
Box B.13.2: SA Objective 12: Pedestrian access to GP surgery .................................................................. B31 
Box B.13.3: SA Objective 12: Public transport access to GP surgery........................................................... B31 
Box B.13.4: SA Objective 12: Access to / net loss of greenspace ............................................................... B31 
Box B.13.5: SA Objective 12: Access to PRoW / cycle routes ..................................................................... B32 
Box B.14.1: SA Objective 13: Pedestrian access to employment opportunities ............................................ B33 
Box B.14.2: SA Objective 13: Public transport access to employment opportunities ..................................... B33 
Box B.14.3: SA Objective 13: Employment floorspace ............................................................................... B34 
Box B.15.1: SA Objective 14: Pedestrian access to primary school ............................................................. B35 
Box B.15.2: SA Objective 14: Pedestrian access to secondary school ......................................................... B35 
Box B.15.3: SA objective 14: Public Transport Access to Secondary School ................................................ B36 

Page 1363



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B1 

B.1 Overview 

 The purpose of this appendix 

 This appendix provides additional context to Chapter 2 of the main Regulation 18 (II) SA 

Report regarding the methodology used to assess reasonable alternative sites within the 

emerging Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).  

 Topic-specific methodologies have been established which reflect the differences between 

the SA Objectives and how different receptors should be considered in the appraisal 

process for reasonable alternative sites.  There are also a number of assumptions and 

limitations noted within each of the following sections, which should be borne in mind 

when considering the assessment findings. 

 The topic-specific methodologies set out in Boxes B.2.1 to B.15.3 explain how the likely 

impact per receptor has been identified in line with the local context and the impact 

symbols presented in Table 2.4 within the main Regulation 18 (II) SA Report.  

 All distances stated in site assessments are measured ‘as the crow flies’ from the closest 

point of the site/receptor in question, unless otherwise stated. 

 Appendix C sets out the detailed appraisal of each reasonable alternative site proposed.  

The appraisal evaluates the likely significant effects of each reasonable alternative against 

the 14 SA Objectives, using the methodology as set out in this appendix. 

 The level of detail that can be expressed through the SA assessments depends on the level 

of detail provided associated with the part of the plan in question. 

Page 1364



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B2 

B.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural heritage 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.2.1 to B.2.8 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 1: Cultural heritage. 

 Impacts on heritage assets will be largely determined by the specific layout and design of 

development proposals, as well as the nature and significance of the heritage asset.  There 

is a risk of adverse effects occurring, some of which may be unavoidable.  As such, this 

risk has been reflected in the assessment as a negative impact where a site is in close 

proximity to heritage assets. 

 Adverse impacts are recorded for options which have the potential to have an adverse 

impact on sensitive heritage designations, including Grade I, II* and II Listed Buildings, 

Scheduled Monuments (SM), Registered Parks and Gardens (RPG), and Conservation Areas 

(CA). 

 It is assumed that where a designated heritage asset coincides with a site proposal, the 

heritage asset will not be lost as a result of development (unless otherwise specified in the 

Local Plan).  Development which could potentially be discordant with the local character 

or setting, for example, due to design, layout, scale or type, would be expected to 

adversely impact the setting of nearby heritage assets1 that are important components of 

the local area.  Adverse impacts on heritage assets are predominantly associated with 

impacts on the existing setting of the asset and the character of the local area, as well as 

adverse impacts on views of, or from, the asset. 

 Heritage assets identified on Historic England's Heritage at Risk Register may be identified 

as being at risk for a number of reasons, for example, due to dilapidation of the building 

fabric or other sources of risk such as coastal erosion, cultivation or scrub encroachment2.  

Where Heritage at Risk assets could potentially be impacted by the proposed development 

at a site, this has been stated. 

 It should be noted that not all of Sandwell’s historic environment resource and heritage 

assets are subject to statutory designations; non-designated features comprise a 

significant aspect of heritage, which is often experienced on a daily basis.  This may include 

buildings and other features of historic interest which are not listed, as well as both 

discovered and undiscovered archaeological remains. 

 
1 Setting is taken to mean the surroundings in which a heritage asset may be experienced, which does not relate solely to 

distance from proposed developments to heritage assets.  Historic England (2017) The Setting of Heritage Assets. Historic 

Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning: 3 (2nd Edition).  Available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/images-

books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/ [Date accessed: 27/06/23] 

2 Historic England (2022) Search the Heritage at Risk Register. Available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-

at-risk/search-register/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Page 1365

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B3 

 It is anticipated that SMBC will require a Heritage Statement or Archaeological Desk-Based 

Assessment to be prepared to accompany future planning applications, where appropriate. 

 Cultural heritage receptors 

Score Likely Impact – Grade I Listed Buildings 

-- 
Development proposal coincides with, is located adjacent to, or could significantly impact the 

setting of, a Grade I Listed Building. 

- Development proposal located within the wider setting of a Grade I Listed Building. 

0 
Development proposal is not considered likely to affect the setting or character of a Grade I Listed 

Building. 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance a Grade I Listed Building or its setting. 

 

Notes 

Grade I Listed Buildings are considered to be those of exceptional interest.  Data available from Historic 
England3. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Grade II* Listed Buildings 

-- 
Development proposal coincides with, or could significantly impact the setting of, a Grade II* 
Listed Building. 

- Development proposal located within the setting of a Grade II* Listed Building.  

0 Development proposal not considered likely to impact a Grade II* Listed Building or its setting. 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance a Grade II* Listed Building or its setting. 

 

Notes 

Grade II* Listed Buildings are considered to be those of more than special interest.  Data sourced from 
Historic England4. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Grade II Listed Buildings 

-- Development proposal coincides with a Grade II Listed Building. 

- Development proposal located within the setting of a Grade II Listed Building. 

0 Development proposal not considered likely to impact a Grade II Listed Building or its setting. 

 
3
 Historic England (2023) Download Listing Data. Available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/data-

downloads/ [Date accessed: 06/06/23] 

4 Ibid 

Box B.2.1: SA Objective 1: Grade I Listed Buildings 

Box B.2.2: SA Objective 1: Grade II* Listed Buildings 

Box B.2.3: SA Objective 1: Grade II Listed Buildings 

Page 1366

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/data-downloads/
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/data-downloads/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B4 

Score Likely Impact - Grade II Listed Buildings 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance a Grade II Listed Building or its setting. 

 

Notes 

Grade II Listed Buildings are considered to those of special interest.  Data sourced from Historic England5. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Scheduled Monuments 

-- Development proposal coincides with a SM. 

- Development proposal located within the setting of a SM. 

0 Development proposal not considered to impact an SM or its setting. 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance an SM or its setting. 

 

Notes 

Scheduling is the selection of a sample of nationally important archaeological sites.  Data sourced from 
Historic England6. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Registered Parks and Gardens 

-- Development proposal coincides with an RPG. 

- Development proposal located within the setting of an RPG. 

0 Development proposal not considered likely to impact an RPG or its setting. 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance an RPG or its setting. 

 

Notes 

The main purpose of the Register is to celebrate designed landscapes of note and encourage appropriate 
protection.  Data sourced from Historic England7. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Conservation Areas 

- 
Development proposal located within a Conservation Area or considered to be located within the 

setting of a Conservation Area. 

0 Development proposal not considered to impact a Conservation Area or its setting. 

 
5 Ibid 

6
 Ibid 

7 Ibid 

Box B.2.4: SA Objective 1:  Scheduled Monuments 

Box B.2.5: SA Objective 1: Registered Parks and Gardens 

Box B.2.6: SA Objective 1: Conservation Areas 

Page 1367



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B5 

Score Likely Impact - Conservation Areas 

+ 
Development proposals which could potentially enhance the character or setting of a Conservation 

Area. 

 

Notes 

Conservation Area data provided by SMBC.  Information available online8. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Archaeological Priority Area 

- Development proposal coincides with an APA. 

0 Development proposal does not coincide with an APA. 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance an APA. 

 

Notes 

The Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC) Study9 aimed to create a strategic landscape-
level understanding of the historic character and environment of the Black Country, including Sandwell.  The 

study also identified a number of Archaeological Priority Areas (APAs), which are considered to contain 
particularly rare or well-preserved remains of high archaeological and historic interest.   

APA data has been provided by SMBC and is detailed within the HLC report. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Historic Landscape Characterisation 

- 
Development proposal located within an area of high historic landscape or townscape value 
and/or area designed landscape of high historic value 

0 
Development proposal located outside of areas of high historic landscape or townscape value and 
designed landscapes 

+ Development proposal which could potentially enhance historic character. 

 

Notes 

The Black Country HLC Study10 aimed to create a strategic landscape-level understanding of the historic 

character and environment of the Black Country, including Sandwell.  The study identified several Historic 
Environment Area Designations (HEADs) within Sandwell’s Green Belt and in the urban area.   

Areas of High Historic Townscape Value (AHHTVs) and Designed Landscapes of High Historic Value (DLHHVs) 
have also been identified within the HLC.  AHHTVs are areas “where built heritage makes a significant 
contribution to the local character and distinctiveness” and have been identified due to their sense of place, 
street plan and form, streetscape, views and setting, and representation.  DLHHVs are “designed landscapes 

 
8 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2021) Listed Buildings and conservation areas. Available at: 

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200275/planning_and_buildings/444/listed_buildings_and_conservation_areas [Date 

accessed: 02/06/23] 

9 Oxford Archaeology (2019) Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf 

[Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

10 Ibid 

Box B.2.7: SA Objective 1: Archaeological Priority Areas 

Box B.2.8: SA Objective 1: Historic Landscape Characterisation 

Page 1368

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200275/planning_and_buildings/444/listed_buildings_and_conservation_areas
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B6 

Notes 
that make an important contribution to local historic character but do not meet the criteria for inclusion on the 
national Register of Parks and Gardens” and have been identified due to the date, preservation, aesthetics, 
and associations with people and past events.   

HLC data has been provided by SMBC and is detailed within the HLC report. 

Page 1369



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B7 

B.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape 

 Introduction and context  

 Box B.3.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative 

sites against SA Objective 2: Landscape. 

 Impacts on landscape are often determined by the specific layout and design of 

development proposals, as well as the site-specific landscape circumstances, as 

experienced on the ground.  Detailed designs for each development proposal are uncertain 

at this stage of the assessment.  This assessment comprises a desk-based exercise which 

has not been verified in the field.  Therefore, the nature of the potential impacts on the 

landscape are, to an extent, uncertain.  There is a risk of negative effects occurring, some 

of which may be unavoidable.  As such, this risk has been reflected in the assessment as 

a negative impact where a development proposal is located in close proximity to sensitive 

landscape receptors.  The level of impact has been assessed based on the nature and 

value of, and proximity to, the landscape receptor in question.  

 Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) lies approximately 14km to 

the north of Sandwell Borough at its closest point.  Given this distance, there is unlikely to 

be any significant adverse effects on the special qualities of the AONB arising from the 

proposed development sites.  It is assumed that any future development would be 

accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) or Landscape and 

Visual Appraisal (LVA) if necessary to consider any potential for adverse impacts.  

 There is no evidence available to inform the SA assessments with regard to the landscape 

character or sensitivity of Sandwell’s urban areas.  Information relating to the historic 

environment, including the Historic Landscape Characterisation and associated 

designations has been assessed under SA Objective 1: Cultural Heritage (see Box B.2.8). 

 Landscape receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

-- Development proposals located within areas of ‘moderate-high’ or ‘high’ landscape sensitivity. 

- Development proposals located within areas of ‘low-moderate’ or ‘moderate’ sensitivity. 

+/- Development proposals located outside of the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment study area. 

0 
Development proposals located within areas of ‘low’ sensitivity, or those not assessed in the 

study. 

+ 
Development proposals which would protect or enhance features of the landscape as identified 

within the study.  

 

Box B.3.1: SA Objective 2: Landscape sensitivity 

Page 1370



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B8 

Notes 
The appraisal of sites is informed by the Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment11, which assessed 

the sensitivity of land outside of the urban areas of Sandwell and the other Black Country Authorities (i.e. 
Green Belt land) to housing and commercial development.  The aim of the study was to identify the extent to 

which the character and quality of Green Belt land is susceptible to change as a result of future development.  
Parcels of land were classified ranging from ‘high’ to ‘low’ sensitivity.   

As the majority of reasonable alternative development sites identified by SMBC lie outside of the Green Belt, 
and as such outside of the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment study area, the potential effects of each site on 
sensitive landscapes are uncertain and would benefit from further site-specific studies to identify any local 

sensitive views or landscapes.  Only one reasonable alternative site, 137 (Poppy Drive Open Space) lies 
partially within the Green Belt areas assessed in the Sensitivity Assessment. 

 

 
11 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment. Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

accessed: 20/06/23] 

Page 1371

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B9 

B.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, flora, 
fauna and geodiversity 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.4.1 to B.4.9 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity.  

 The biodiversity objective considers adverse impacts of the proposed development at a 

landscape-scale.  It focuses on an assessment of proposed development on a network of 

designated and undesignated sites, wildlife corridors and individual habitats within the Plan 

area.  

 Where a site is coincident with, adjacent to or located in close proximity to an ecological 

receptor, it is assumed that negative effects associated with development will arise to 

some extent.  These negative effects include those that occur during the construction 

phase and are associated with the construction process and construction vehicles (e.g. 

habitat loss, habitat fragmentation, habitat degradation, noise, air, water and light 

pollution) and those that are associated with the operation/occupation phases of 

development (e.g. public access associated disturbances, increases in local congestion 

resulting in a reduction in air quality, changes in noise levels, visual disturbance, light 

pollution, impacts on water levels and quality etc.).  

 It is assumed that construction and occupation of previously undeveloped greenfield land 

would result in a net reduction in vegetation cover in the Plan area.  This would also be 

expected to lead to greater levels of fragmentation and isolation for the wider ecological 

network, such as due to the loss of stepping-stones and corridors.  This will restrict the 

ability of ecological receptors to adapt to the effects of climate change.  The loss of 

greenfield land is considered under the Natural Resources objective (SA Objective 6) in 

this assessment.  

 It should be noted that no detailed ecological surveys have been completed by Lepus to 

inform the assessments made in this report.  

 Protected species survey information is not available for the sites within the Plan area. It 

is acknowledged that data is available from the local biological records centre. However, 

it is noted that this data may be under recorded in certain areas.  This under recording 

does not imply species absence.  As a consequence, consideration of this data on a site- 

by-site basis within this assessment would have the potential to skew results – favouring 

well recorded areas of the Plan area.  As such impacts on protected species have not been 

assessed on a site-by-site basis.  

 It is anticipated that the Council will require detailed ecological surveys and assessments 

to accompany future planning applications.  Such surveys will determine on a site-by-site 

basis the presence of Priority Species and Priority Habitats protected under the NERC Act.  

 It is assumed that mature trees and hedgerows will be retained where possible.  

Page 1372



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B10 

 Biodiversity receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Habitats site e.g. SAC, SPA or Ramsar site 

-- 
Development proposal coincides with, or is located in close proximity to, a Habitats site.  

Likelihood of direct impacts. 

- 
Development proposal is located within a recognised ZoI or similar spatial catchment relative to 

the Habitats site.  Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

+/- 
Development located outside of a recognised ZoI where, in absence of HRA conclusions, the effect 

of development is uncertain. 

0 Development not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on Habitats sites. 

+ Development proposals which would be expected to enhance features within a Habitats site. 

 

Notes 

The area within which development proposals could potentially have direct, indirect and in-combination 
impacts on the integrity of a Habitats site is referred to as the Zone of Influence (ZOI).  This is determined 

through an identification of sensitive receptors at each Habitats site (its qualifying features) and pathways via 
which the Local Plan may have an impact.  At this stage, no ZOI have been formally identified for surrounding 

Habitats sites, and so at this stage of the assessment process, the potential impact of each development site 
is uncertain.  It should be noted that the impact of proposed sites on Habitats sites will be tested through the 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) process, the findings of which will be used to inform the Regulation 
19 SA.  The HRA will provide further detail relating to potential impacts on Habitats sites within and 
surrounding the Plan area.  

Data for Habitats sites is available from Natural England12. 

 

Score Likely Impact - SSSI 

-- Development coincides with, or is located adjacent to, an SSSI. 

- 
Within an IRZ which indicates proposed development should be consulted on with Natural 

England.  Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

0 
Development within an IRZ which does not indicate the proposed development need to consult 

with Natural England. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance features of an SSSI. 

 

Notes 

Natural England has developed Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) for each SSSI unit in the country.  IRZs are a 
Geographical Information System (GIS) tool developed by Natural England which allow a rapid initial 

assessment of the potential risks posed by development proposals to: SSSIs, SACs, SPAs and Ramsar sites.  
They define zones around each site which reflect the particular sensitivities of the features for which it is 

notified and indicate the types of development proposal which could potentially have adverse impacts.  

Where a site falls within more than one SSSI IRZ the worst-case risk zone is reported upon in the assessment.   

 
12 Natural England (2023) Special Areas of Conservation (England).  Available at: https://naturalengland-

defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/e4142658906c498fa37f0a20d3fdfcff_0 [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.4.1: SA Objective 3: Habitats sites 

Box B.4.2: SA Objective 3: SSSI  

Page 1373

https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/e4142658906c498fa37f0a20d3fdfcff_0
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/e4142658906c498fa37f0a20d3fdfcff_0


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B11 

Notes 

Data for SSSIs and IRZs is available from Natural England13. 

 

Score Likely Impact - NNR 

-- Development coincides with an NNR.  Likelihood of direct impacts. 

- 
Development could potentially result in adverse impacts on an NNR.  Likelihood of direct or 
indirect impacts. 

0 Development not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on NNRs. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance or create an NNR.  

 

Notes 

National Nature Reserves (NNRs) were established to protect some of England’s most important habitats, 

species and geology, and to provide ‘outdoor laboratories’ for research.  Data for NNRs is available from 
Natural England14. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Ancient woodland 

-- Development proposal coincides with a stand of ancient woodland.  Likelihood of direct impacts. 

- 
Development proposal anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a stand of ancient woodland.  
Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

0 Development proposal would not be anticipated to impact ancient woodland. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance ancient woodland.  

 

Notes 

Ancient woodland is defined as an area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600AD and 
includes ‘ancient semi-natural woodland’ and ‘plantations on ancient woodland sites’, both of which have equal 

protection under the NPPF15.  Data for ancient woodlands is available from Natural England16. 

  

 
13 Natural England (2023) Natural England’s Impact Risk Zones for Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 25 May 2023. Available 

at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-risk-zones [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

14 Natural England (2023) National Nature Reserves (England). Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/726484b0-d14e-

44a3-9621-29e79fc47bfc/national-nature-reserves-england [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

15 Forestry Commission and Natural England (2022) Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees: protecting them 

from development. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-

licences [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

16 Natural England (2023) Ancient Woodland (England). Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/9461f463-c363-4309-

ae77-fdcd7e9df7d3/ancient-woodland-england [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.4.3: SA Objective 3: NNR 

Box B.4.4: SA Objective 3: Ancient woodland 

Page 1374

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-risk-zones
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/726484b0-d14e-44a3-9621-29e79fc47bfc/national-nature-reserves-england
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/726484b0-d14e-44a3-9621-29e79fc47bfc/national-nature-reserves-england
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/9461f463-c363-4309-ae77-fdcd7e9df7d3/ancient-woodland-england
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/9461f463-c363-4309-ae77-fdcd7e9df7d3/ancient-woodland-england


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B12 

Score Likely Impact - LNR 

- 
Development proposal could potentially result in adverse impacts on an LNR, such as those which 
coincide or are located in close proximity.  Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

0 Development proposal not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on an LNR. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance or create an LNR. 

 

Notes 

Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) are statutory designations, representing places with wildlife or geological 

features that are of special interest locally, which give people special opportunities to study and learn about 
them or simply enjoy and have contact with nature.  Data for LNRs is available from Natural England17. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 

-- Development proposal coincides with a SINC.  Likelihood of direct impacts. 

- 
Development proposal anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a SINC.  Likelihood of direct or 
indirect impacts. 

0 Development not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a SINC. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance or create a SINC.  

 

Notes 

Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) are non-statutory designated sites of Birmingham and 
the Black Country importance18.  They are endorsed by the Birmingham and Black Country Local Sites 
Partnership.  Data for SINCs has been provided by SMBC. 

For the purposes of the SLP, SINCs operate as a hard constraint for site allocation because they are rated 
more highly for their value to ecology and the environment. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINC) 

- 
Development proposal anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a SLINC, such as those which 
coincide or are located in close proximity.  Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

0 Development not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a SLINC. 

+ Development proposals which would enhance or create a SLINC.  

 

 
17 Natural England (2023) Local Nature Reserves (England).  Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/acdf4a9e-a115-41fb-

bbe9-603c819aa7f7/local-nature-reserves-england [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

18 EcoRecord (2009) Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs).  Available at: 

http://www.ecorecord.org.uk/index.php?q=local-sites/sincs [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.4.5: SA Objective 3: LNR 

Box B.4.6: SA Objective 3: SINC 

Box B.4.7: SA Objective 3: SLINC 

Page 1375

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/acdf4a9e-a115-41fb-bbe9-603c819aa7f7/local-nature-reserves-england
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/acdf4a9e-a115-41fb-bbe9-603c819aa7f7/local-nature-reserves-england
http://www.ecorecord.org.uk/index.php?q=local-sites/sincs


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B13 

Notes 

Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs) are non-statutory designated sites of borough 

importance19.  They are endorsed by the Birmingham and Black Country Local Sites Partnership, and then 
adopted by SMBC.  Data for SLINCs has been provided by SMBC. 

For the purposes of the SLP, whilst SLINCs are protected, under certain circumstances development may take 
place adjacent to or on them where appropriate mitigation can be realised and where the value of the 

development is considered to be sufficient to outweigh any damage to the habitat. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Geological Conservation 

- 
Development proposal anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a geological site, due to location 
or proximity.  Likelihood of direct or indirect impacts. 

0 Development proposal not anticipated to result in adverse impacts on a Geological Site. 

+ Development proposal anticipated to enhance a geological site.  

 

Notes 

Data for geological sites provided by SMBC and data for underlying geological context provided by British 
Geological Survey. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Priority Habitat 

- Development proposal coincides with a priority habitat. 

0 Development proposal does not coincide with a priority habitat. 

+ Development proposals which enhance or create a priority habitat.  

 

Notes 

For the purposes of this assessment, impacts on priority habitats have been considered in the context of 

Natural England’s publicly available Priority Habitat Inventory database20.  It is acknowledged this may not 

reflect current local site conditions in all instances. 

  

 
19 EcoRecord (2009) Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs).  Available at: 

http://www.ecorecord.org.uk/index.php?q=local-sites/slincs [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

20 Natural England (2023) Priority Habitat Inventory (England).  Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/4b6ddab7-6c0f-

4407-946e-d6499f19fcde/priority-habitat-inventory-england [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.4.8: SA Objective 3: Geological conservation 

Box B.4.9: SA Objective 3: Priority habitat 

Page 1376

http://www.ecorecord.org.uk/index.php?q=local-sites/slincs
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/4b6ddab7-6c0f-4407-946e-d6499f19fcde/priority-habitat-inventory-england
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/4b6ddab7-6c0f-4407-946e-d6499f19fcde/priority-habitat-inventory-england


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B14 

B.5 SA Objective 4: Climate change 
mitigation 

 Introduction and context 

 Box B.5.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative 

sites against SA Objective 4: Climate change mitigation.  

 The incorporation of GI within developments presents several opportunities to mitigate 

climate change, for example, through providing natural cooling to combat the ‘urban heat 

island’ effect, reducing the effects of air pollution and providing more pleasant outdoor 

environments to encourage active travel21. 

 However, it is likely that new development would result in an increase in local greenhouse 

gas (GHG) emissions due to the increase in the local population and the number of 

operating businesses.  The increase in GHG emissions caused by new developments is 

often associated with impacts of the construction phase, the occupation and operation of 

homes and businesses, fuel consumption and increases in local road transport with 

associated emissions.  This impact is considered to be permanent and non-reversible. 

 It should be noted that the appraisal of the reasonable alternatives is limited in its 

assessment of carbon emissions.  The 1% principle as set out in Box B.5.1 is only a 

coarse precautionary indicator, and greater detail of carbon data would help to better 

quantify effects. 

 Climate change mitigation receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Carbon Emissions 

-- 
Residential-led development which could potentially result in an increase in CO2 emissions by 1% 
or more in comparison to current levels. 

- 
Residential-led development which could potentially result in an increase in CO2 emissions by 
0.1% or more in comparison to current levels. 

0 Development would be expected to result in a negligible increase in CO2 emissions. 

+/- 
Non-residential or Gypsy and Traveller development where the carbon emissions produced as a 
result of the proposed development is uncertain, or development sites where the proposed use is 

uncertain. 

+ 

Development proposals which include energy saving or renewable energy technologies.  

Development proposals which would reduce reliance on private car use, encourage active travel 
or the use of public transport.  

 

 
21 TCPA (2023) What is Green Infrastructure? Available at: https://www.tcpa.org.uk/what-is-green-infrastructure/ [Date 

accessed: 21/06/23] 

Box B.5.1: SA Objective 4: Carbon emissions 

Page 1377

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/what-is-green-infrastructure/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B15 

Notes 

The estimated CO2 emissions for Sandwell in 2020 was 1,093.1 kilo tonnes, with per capita emissions of 3.3 

tonnes, according to UK local authority CO2 emissions data22.  Sandwell has an average of 2.7 people per 
dwelling23. 

Based on these figures, and assuming new residents will generate CO2 emissions in line with the current 
average, it has been calculated that proposals for 1,211 homes or more are expected to increase carbon 

emissions by 1% or more in comparison to the current estimates for Sandwell.  Proposals for 121 homes or 
more are expected to increase carbon emissions by 0.1% or more in comparison to current estimates for 
Sandwell. 

 

 
22 DBEIS (2022) UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2020. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics- 

2005-to-2020 [Date accessed: 13/09/23]  

23 People per Dwelling has been calculated using the ONS mid-2021 population estimates (Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populat

ionestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland) and dwelling stock (Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants)  

Page 1378

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-%202005-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-%202005-to-2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B16 

B.6 SA Objective 5: Climate change 
adaptation 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.6.1 to B.6.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 5: Climate change adaptation.  

 It is assumed that development proposals will be in perpetuity, and it is therefore likely 

that development will be subject to the impacts of flooding at some point in the future, 

should it be situated on land at risk of fluvial or surface water flooding.  

 Climate change adaptation receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Fluvial Flooding 

-- Development proposals which coincide with Flood Zones 3.  

- Development proposals which coincide with Flood Zone 2. 

+ Development proposals which are located wholly within Flood Zone 1. 

 

Notes 

Data for fluvial flooding has been derived from the latest available Environment Agency Flood Map for 

Planning (Rivers and Sea)24, such that: 

• Flood Zone 3: Greater or equal to 1% chance of river flooding in any given year or greater than 0.5% 
chance of sea flooding in any given year; 

• Flood Zone 2: Between 1% and 0.1% chance of river flooding in any given year or 0.5% and 0.1% 
chance of sea flooding in any given year; and 

• Flood Zone 1: Less than 0.1% chance of river and sea flooding in any given year. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Surface Water Flooding 

-- Development proposals which coincide with areas at high risk of surface water flooding. 

- 
Development proposals which coincide with areas at low and/or medium risk of surface water 

flooding. 

0 
Development proposals which are not located in areas determined to be at risk of surface water 

flooding. 

 
24 Environment Agency (2023) Flood Map for Planning (Rivers and Sea) – Flood Zone 2 and Flood Zone 3.  Available at: 

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/cf494c44-05cd-4060-a029-35937970c9c6/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-and-sea-flood-

zone-2 and https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/bed63fc1-dd26-4685-b143-2941088923b3/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-

and-sea-flood-zone-3 [Date accessed: 14/09/23] 

Box B.6.1: SA Objective 5: Fluvial flooding 

Box B.6.2: SA Objective 5: Surface water flooding 

Page 1379

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/cf494c44-05cd-4060-a029-35937970c9c6/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-and-sea-flood-zone-2
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/cf494c44-05cd-4060-a029-35937970c9c6/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-and-sea-flood-zone-2
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/bed63fc1-dd26-4685-b143-2941088923b3/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-and-sea-flood-zone-3
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/bed63fc1-dd26-4685-b143-2941088923b3/flood-map-for-planning-rivers-and-sea-flood-zone-3


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B17 

Score Likely Impact - Surface Water Flooding 

+ 
Development proposals which include the integration of GI, open space, SUDS or other surface 

water flood risk alleviating measures  

 

Notes 

The assessment is based on the Environment Agency surface water flood risk data25, such that26: 

• High risk: more than 3.3% chance of flooding each year; 

• Medium risk: between 1% - 3.3% chance of flooding each year; and 

• Low risk: between 0.1% - 1% chance of flooding each year. 

Areas determined to be at very low risk of flooding (less than 0.1% chance) would be expected to result in a 
negligible impact on surface water flooding for the purposes of this assessment.  

 

Score Likely Impact - Indicative Flood Zone 

-- Development proposals which coincide with Indicative Flood Zone 3b. 

0 Development proposals which do not coincide with Indicative Flood Zone 3b. 

 

Notes  

Indicative Flood Zone 3b is present in areas where flooding will potentially worsen in future due to climate 
change.  Data for Indicative Flood Zones has been provided by SMBC, which relates to the data produced by 
JBA Consulting as part of the Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)27.  

 

 
25 Environment Agency (2021) Risk of Flooding from Surface Water Extent: 3.3 percent annual chance, 1 percent annual 

chance, 0.1 percent annual chance (updated 14 May 2021).  Available at: https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/95ea1c96-

f3dd-4f92-b41f-ef21603a2802/risk-of-flooding-from-surface-water-extent-3-3-percent-annual-chance [Date accessed: 

14/09/23] 

26 Environment Agency (2013) Risk of flooding from surface water. Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/297429/LIT_8986_eff

63d.pdf [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

27 JBA Consulting (2020) The Black Country Authorities Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Final Report 25th June 2020. 

Available at: https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4h/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.6.3: SA Objective 5: Indicative flood zone 

Page 1380

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/95ea1c96-f3dd-4f92-b41f-ef21603a2802/risk-of-flooding-from-surface-water-extent-3-3-percent-annual-chance
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/95ea1c96-f3dd-4f92-b41f-ef21603a2802/risk-of-flooding-from-surface-water-extent-3-3-percent-annual-chance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/297429/LIT_8986_eff63d.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/297429/LIT_8986_eff63d.pdf
https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4h/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B18 

B.7 SA Objective 6: Natural resources 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.7.1 to B.7.2 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 6: Natural resources.  

 In accordance with the core planning principles of the NPPF, development on previously 

developed land is recognised as an efficient use of land.  Development of previously 

undeveloped land and greenfield sites is not considered to be an efficient use of land.  

 The natural resources objective also considers potential effects on mineral resources.  

Minerals are a finite, non-renewable resource and as such, their conservation and 

safeguarding for future generations is important.  There are no Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

or Areas of Search identified within Sandwell in the Black Country Minerals Study28; as 

such all proposed development sites would be expected to have a negligible impact on 

mineral resources based on the current evidence available. 

 Natural resources receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Previously Developed (Brownfield) Land / Land with Environmental Value 

- 
Development proposals located on previously undeveloped land, or brownfield land with potential 

environmental value. 

+ 
Development proposals located on previously developed or brownfield land with no environmental 
value. 

 

Notes 

Assessment of sites comprising previously developed land is in accordance with the definitions in the NPPF29. 

Assessment of current land use and potential environmental value has been made through reference to aerial 
photography and the use of Google Maps.  It should be noted that this may not reflect the current status of 

the site, and the nature of development within the site boundary is unknown, so a degree of uncertainty 
remains.  

 

Score Likely Impact - ALC 

-- Development proposals which are situated on Grade 1, 2 or 3 ALC land comprising 20ha or more. 

- Development proposals which are situated on Grade 1, 2 or 3 ALC land comprising less than 20ha. 

 
28 wood (2020) Review of the Evidence Base for Minerals to support preparation of the Black Country Plan.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4f/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

29 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (2023) National Planning Policy Framework.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 [Date accessed: 14/09/23] 

Box B.7.1: SA Objective 6: Previously developed land / land with environmental value 

Box B.7.2: SA Objective 6: ALC 

Page 1381

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4f/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B19 

Score Likely Impact - ALC 

0 Development proposals located on previously developed land with no environmental value. 

+ 
Development proposals which are situated on Grade 4 and 5 ALC land, or land classified as ‘urban’ 
or ‘non-agricultural’. 

 

Notes 

The Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) system classifies land into five categories according to versatility and 
suitability for growing crops.  The top three grades, Grades 1, 2 and 3a, are referred to as the Best and Most 

Versatile (BMV) land30.  In the absence of site-specific surveys to identify Grades 3a and 3b, and in line with 
the precautionary principle, ALC Grade 3 is considered as BMV land.  ALC data is available from Natural 

England31.   

A 20ha threshold has been used based on Natural England guidance32. 

 

  

 
30 MAFF. October 1988.  Available at Natural England.  

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6257050620264448?category=5954148537204736 [Date Accessed: 

20/06/23] 

31 Natural England (2019) Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) (England). Available at: https://naturalengland-

defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/5d2477d8d04b41d4bbc9a8742f858f4d_0?geometry=-3.131%2C52.513%2C-

0.667%2C53.094 [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

32 Natural England (2009) Agricultural Land Classification: protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land.  

Available at: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012 [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

Page 1382

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6257050620264448?category=5954148537204736
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/5d2477d8d04b41d4bbc9a8742f858f4d_0?geometry=-3.131%2C52.513%2C-0.667%2C53.094
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/5d2477d8d04b41d4bbc9a8742f858f4d_0?geometry=-3.131%2C52.513%2C-0.667%2C53.094
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/5d2477d8d04b41d4bbc9a8742f858f4d_0?geometry=-3.131%2C52.513%2C-0.667%2C53.094
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B20 

B.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.8.1 to B.8.5 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 7: Pollution. 

 The assessment under this objective considers the potential for reasonable alternative 

sites to generate pollution associated with the construction and occupation of new 

development, as well as the potential to expose site end users to existing sources of 

pollution. 

 Pollution receptors 

Score Likely Impact - AQMA 

- All development proposals in the Black Country are located within an AQMA. 

 

Notes 

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are considered to be an area where the national air quality objective 
will not be met.  Introducing new development within an AQMA would therefore be expected to expose new 

residents to poor air quality.  UK AQMA data is available from Defra33. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Main road 

- Development proposals located within 200m of a main road. 

0 Development proposals located over 200m from a main road. 

+ 
Development proposals which would help to reduce the number of cars used, promote the use of 
public transport and active travel and reduce congestion on nearby roads.  

 

Notes 

It is assumed that sites located in close proximity to main roads would expose site end users to transport 
associated noise and air pollution.  Negative impacts on the long-term health of site end users would be 

anticipated where residents would be exposed to air pollution.   

In line with the DMRB guidance, it is assumed that receptors would be most vulnerable to these impacts 

located within 200m of a main road34 35.  The Department for Transport (DfT) in their Transport Analysis 
Guidance (TAG) consider that, “beyond 200m from the link centre, the contribution of vehicle emissions to 

 
33 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (2022) UK Air Information Resource. Available at: https://uk-

air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/maps/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

34 Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (2019) LA 105 Air Quality.  Available at: 

https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/search/10191621-07df-44a3-892e-c1d5c7a28d90 [Date Accessed: 20/06/23] 

35 Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (2019) LA 104 Environmental assessment and monitoring.  Available at: 

https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/search/0f6e0b6a-d08e-4673-8691-cab564d4a60a [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.8.1: SA Objective 7: AQMA 

Box B.8.2: SA Objective 7: Main road 

Page 1383

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/maps/
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/maps/
https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/search/10191621-07df-44a3-892e-c1d5c7a28d90
https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/search/0f6e0b6a-d08e-4673-8691-cab564d4a60a


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B21 

Notes 
local pollution levels is not significant”36.  A 200m buffer distance from main roads (motorways and A-roads) 

has therefore been applied in this assessment.  Road data is available from Ordnance Survey37. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Water quality 

- Development proposals located within 10m of a watercourse. 

+/- Development proposals located over 10m from a watercourse. 

+ Development proposal includes integration of GI or the naturalisation of watercourses.  

 

Notes 

Construction activities in or near watercourses have the potential to cause pollution, impact upon the bed and 

banks of watercourses and impact on the quality of the water.  A 10m buffer zone from a watercourse in 
which no works, clearance, storage or run-off should be permitted has been used as per available 
guidance3839.  However, it should be noted that development further away than this has the potential to lead 

to adverse impacts such as those resulting from runoff and should be considered on a site-by-site basis; as 
such, sites over 10m from a watercourse are scored as ‘uncertain’ in this assessment.   

Watercourse mapping data is available from the Ordnance Survey40. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Groundwater SPZ 

- Development proposal coincides with a groundwater SPZ. 

0 Development proposal does not coincide with a groundwater SPZ. 

 

Notes 

The vulnerability of groundwater to pollution is determined by the physical, chemical and biological properties 
of the soil and rocks, which control the ease with which an unprotected hazard can affect groundwater.  

Groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs) indicate the risk to groundwater supplies from potentially 
polluting activities and accidental releases of pollutants.  As such, any site that is located within a groundwater 

SPZ could potentially have an adverse impact on groundwater quality.  Groundwater source catchments are 
divided into three zones: 

• Inner Zone (Zone I) – 50-day travel time from any point below the water table to the source; 

• Outer Zone (Zone II) – 400-day travel time; and 

 
36 Department for Transport (2023) TAG unit A3 Environmental Impact Appraisal. Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/825064/tag-unit-a3-

environmental-impact-appraisal.pdf [Date accessed: 20/03/23] 

37 Ordnance Survey (2023) OS Open Roads. Available at: https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-

government/products/open-map-roads [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

38 DAERA (2019) Advice and Information for planning approval on land which is of nature conservation value.  Available at:  

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/articles/advice-and-information-planning-approval-land-which-nature-conservation-value 

[Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

39
 Wild Trout Trust. Buffer Zones.  Available at: https://www.wildtrout.org/content/buffer-zones [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

40 Ordnance Survey (2023) OS Open Rivers. Available at: https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-

government/products/open-map-rivers [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

Box B.8.3: SA Objective 7: Water quality 

Box B.8.4: SA Objective 7: Groundwater SPZ 

Page 1384

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/825064/tag-unit-a3-environmental-impact-appraisal.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/825064/tag-unit-a3-environmental-impact-appraisal.pdf
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-roads
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-roads
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/articles/advice-and-information-planning-approval-land-which-nature-conservation-value
https://www.wildtrout.org/content/buffer-zones
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-rivers
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-rivers


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B22 

Notes 
• Total Catchment (Zone III) – within which all groundwater recharge is presumed to be discharged at 

the source. 

SPZ data is available from the Environment Agency41. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Increase in Air Pollution 

-- Development proposals which could potentially result in a significant increase in air pollution. 

- Development proposals which could potentially result in a minor increase in air pollution. 

0 Development would be expected to result in a negligible increase in air pollution. 

+/- 

The air pollution likely to be generated as a result of development proposals is uncertain. 

Including development sites for Gypsy and Traveller use, or development sites where the 

proposed use is uncertain. 

 

Notes 

It is assumed that development would result in an increase in traffic and thus traffic generated air pollution.  

Residential sites proposed for the development of between ten and 99 dwellings would therefore be expected 
to have a minor negative impact on local air pollution42.  Residential sites proposed for the development of 

100 dwellings or more would be expected to have a major negative impact.  Employment sites which propose 
the development of between 1ha and 9.9ha of employment space would be expected to have a minor 

negative impact and sites which propose 10ha or more would be expected to have a major negative impact.   

Where a site is proposed for the development of nine dwellings or less, or for 0.99ha of employment 
floorspace or less, a negligible impact on local air quality would be anticipated.  

  

 
41 Environment Agency (2023) Source Protection Zones. Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/09889a48-0439-4bbe-

8f2a-87bba26fbbf5/source-protection-zones-merged [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

42 Institute of Air Quality Management (2017) Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality.  

Paragraph 5.8. Available at: https://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf [Date accessed: 

21/06/23] 

Box B.8.5: SA Objective 7: Increase in air pollution 

Page 1385

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/09889a48-0439-4bbe-8f2a-87bba26fbbf5/source-protection-zones-merged
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/09889a48-0439-4bbe-8f2a-87bba26fbbf5/source-protection-zones-merged
https://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B23 

B.9 SA Objective 8: Waste 

 Introduction and context 

 Box B.9.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative 

sites against SA Objective 8: Waste.  

 It is expected that new development would result in an increase in the local population, 

and consequently an increase in household waste generation.   

 It should be noted that the appraisal of the reasonable alternatives is limited in its 

assessment against waste.  The 1% principle as set out in Box B.9.1 is only a coarse 

precautionary indicator, and greater detail of waste data would help to better quantify 

effects.  The amount and type of waste produced will vary depending upon the specific 

site circumstances and end use and may have differing implications for the management 

of waste; such detail is not available to inform the assessment of reasonable alternative 

sites.   

 Waste receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Waste 

-- 
Residential-led development which could potentially result in an increase in household waste 

generation by 1% or more in comparison to current levels. 

- 
Residential-led development which could potentially result in an increase in household waste 

generation by 0.1% or more in comparison to current levels. 

0 Development would be expected to result in a negligible increase in household waste generation. 

+/- 
The waste generated as a result of development proposals for non-residential or Gypsy and 

Traveller use is uncertain, or development sites where the proposed use is uncertain. 

+ Development proposals which include provision of waste and recycling storage.  

++ Development proposals for waste or recycling facilities.  

 

Notes 

The estimated total household waste produced within Sandwell in 2021/2022 was 128,000 tonnes, according 

to UK local authority household waste data43. It is assumed that new residents in Sandwell will have an annual 

 
43 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2022) Local Authority Collected Waste Statistics. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables [Date 

accessed: 21/06/23]  

Box B.9.1: SA Objective 8: Waste  

Page 1386

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B24 

Notes 
waste production of 399kg per person, in line with the England average44.  Sandwell has an average of 2.7 

people per dwelling45. 

Based on these figures, and assuming new residents will generate waste in line with the current average, it 

has been calculated that proposals for 1,180 homes or more are expected to increase household waste 
generation by 1% or more in comparison to the current estimates for Sandwell.  Proposals for 118 homes or 

more are expected to increase household waste generation by 0.1% or more in comparison to current 
estimates for Sandwell. 

  

 
44 Department for Environment Food and rural Affairs (2021) Statistics on waste managed by local authorities in England in 

2020/21. Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1040756/Statistics_o

n_waste_managed_by_local_authorities_in_England_in_2020_v2rev_accessible.pdf [Date Accessed: 21/06/23]  

45 People per Dwelling has been calculated using the ONS mid-2021 population estimates (Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populat

ionestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland) and dwelling stock (Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants)  

Page 1387

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1040756/Statistics_on_waste_managed_by_local_authorities_in_England_in_2020_v2rev_accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1040756/Statistics_on_waste_managed_by_local_authorities_in_England_in_2020_v2rev_accessible.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B25 

B.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and 
accessibility 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.10.1 to B.10.6 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 9: Transport and accessibility.  

 The Local Plan should seek to ensure that residents in Sandwell have access to a range of 

sustainable transport modes, to help facilitate a modal shift away from private car use to 

help tackle air quality and congestion issues and provide for more efficient travel.  The 

Plan should also promote a reduced need to travel overall, facilitating local journeys via 

active travel wherever possible. 

 Accessibility modelling data46 indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to local services 

(fresh food and centres) across Sandwell and the wider Black Country. 

 Transport and accessibility receptors 

Score Likely Impact – Bus Stop 

- Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 400m from a bus stop. 

+ Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within 400m of a bus stop. 

 

Notes 

It is desirable for site end users to be situated within walking distance of a bus stop. 

Bus stop data available from Transport for West Midlands47.  A target distance of 400m to a bus stop has been 

used in line with Barton et al. sustainable distances48. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Railway or Metro Station 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 2km from a railway or metro 

station.  

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within 2km of a railway or metro 

station.  

 

 
46 Unpublished data provided to Lepus by the Council – Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) 

47
 Transport for West Midlands (2022) Transport for West Midlands Data Portal.  Available at: https://data-

tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/ [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

48 Barton, H., Grant. M. & Guise. R. (2010) Shaping Neighbourhoods: For local health and global sustainability, January 2010  

Box B.10.1: SA Objective 9: Bus stop 

Box B.10.2: SA Objective 9: Railway or metro station 

Page 1388

https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/
https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B26 

Notes 

Railway and metro station data available from Transport for West Midlands49.  The assessments have used the 

latest version of this dataset (2022).  It is acknowledged that there are new metro stations under construction 

along the Wednesbury – Brierley Hill route which are not captured within this data.  Any subsequent updates 

to the data can be incorporated into the SA assessments at a later stage. 

A target distance of 2km to a railway station has been used in line with Barton et al. sustainable distances50. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Pedestrian Access 

- 
Development proposals located in areas which currently have poor access to the surrounding 

footpath network. 

+ 
Development proposals which are well connected to the existing footpath network and would be 

expected to provide safe access for pedestrians. 

 

Notes 

New development sites have been assessed in terms of their access to the surrounding footpath network, 
allowing for safe local travel on foot.  Safe access is determined to be that which is suitable for wheelchair 

users and pushchairs.   

Assessment of proximity to existing footpaths has been made through reference to aerial photography and the 

use of Google Maps51. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Road Access 

- 
Development proposals located in areas which currently have poor access to the surrounding road 

network. 

+ Development proposals which are adjacent to an existing road. 

 

Notes 

Assessment of proximity to existing roads has been made through reference to aerial photography and the 
use of Google Maps52. 

 

Score Likely Impact – Pedestrian Access to Local Services 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 15-minute walk to local 

services. 

 
49 Transport for West Midlands (2022) Transport for West Midlands Data Portal.  Available at: https://data-

tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/ [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

50 Ibid 

51
 Google Maps (2023) Available at: https://www.google.co.uk/maps  

52 Ibid 

Box B.10.3: SA Objective 9: Pedestrian access 

Box B.10.4: SA Objective 9: Road access 

Box B.10.5: SA Objective 9: Pedestrian access to local services 

Page 1389

https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/
https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/
https://www.google.co.uk/maps


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B27 

Score Likely Impact – Pedestrian Access to Local Services 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 10-minute walk but within 

a 15-minute walk to local services. 

++ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 10-minute walk to local 

services. 

 

Notes 

Data on fresh food centre locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to fresh food and centres) has 
been provided by SMBC. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Public Transport Access to Local Services 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 15-minute travel time via 

public transport to local services. 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 10-minute travel time but 

within a 15-minute travel time via public transport to local services. 

++ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 10-minute travel time via 

public transport to local services. 

 

Notes 

Data on fresh food centre locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to fresh food centres) has been 

provided by SMBC. 

 

  

Box B.10.6: SA Objective 9: Public transport access to local services 

Page 1390



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B28 

B.11 SA Objective 10: Housing 

 Introduction and context 

 Box B.11.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative 

sites against SA Objective 10: Housing.  

 When striving for sustainable development, housing density should be considered 

carefully.  High population densities can limit the accessibility of local key services and 

facilities such as hospitals, supermarkets and open spaces, including playgrounds and 

sports fields.  High population densities also influence perceptions of safety, social 

interactions and community stability53. 

 Housing receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Provision of Housing 

-- 
Development proposals which result in a significant net decrease in housing (of 100 dwellings or 

more). 

- 
Development proposals which result in a minor net decrease in housing (of between one and 99 

dwellings). 

0 Development proposals which would not impact housing provision. 

+/- 

It is uncertain whether the proposed development would result in a net change in housing 

provision. 

Residential-led development sites for which the net housing capacity was unknown at the time of 

writing, or development sites where the proposed use is uncertain but may include residential. 

+ 
Development proposals resulting in a minor net gain in housing (of between one and 99 

dwellings). 

++ Development proposals resulting in a significant net gain in housing (of 100 dwellings or more). 

 

Notes 

Estimated housing capacity for each reasonable alternative site has been provided by SMBC. 

At this stage of the assessment process, information is not available relating to the specific housing mix / type 

that would be delivered through each reasonable alternative site, including potential for development of 
affordable homes.  It is assumed that development options will provide a good mix of housing type and 
tenure opportunities. 

 

  

 
53 Dempsey. N., Brown. C. and Bramley. G. (2012) The key to sustainable urban development in UK cities? The influence of 

density on social sustainability. Progress in Planning 77:89-141 

Box B.11.1: SA Objective 10: Provision of housing  

Page 1391



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B29 

B.12 SA Objective 11: Equality 

 Introduction and context 

 Box B.12.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative 

sites against SA Objective 11: Equality.  

 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measures the relative levels of deprivation in 

32,844 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England.  LSOAs are small areas designed 

to be of similar population, of approximately 1,500 residents or 650 households.  According 

to the IMD (2019)54, Sandwell ranks as 12th out of 317 local authorities in England (with 1 

being most deprived and 317 being least deprived).  1 in 5 of the LSOAs in Sandwell are 

ranked among the 10% most deprived in England55.   

 Equality receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Index of Multiple Deprivation 

- 

Development proposals within most deprived 10 percent LSOAs in England. 

Development proposals would result in the loss of affordable housing, community services or 
could potentially increase crime/the fear of crime in the area.  

0 
Development proposals outside most deprived 10 percent LSOAs in England. 

Development proposals would be expected to have no significant impact on equality. 

+ 
Development proposals would result in the provision of affordable housing, community services or 
would reduce crime/the fear of crime in the area.  

 

Notes 

UK Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) available from MHCLG56. 

It should be noted that there is a degree of uncertainty in regard to the impacts of each site on deprivation 
and equality, which will be dependent on site-specific circumstances that are unknown at the time of writing. 

An EqIA is being prepared by the Council alongside the emerging SLP. 

 

  

 
54 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) The English Indices of Deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835115/IoD2019_Sta

tistical_Release.pdf [Date accessed: 02/05/23] 

55 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2023) Deprivation – Sandwell in a West Midlands Context. Available at: 

https://www.sandwelltrends.info/deprivation_west_midlands_context/#:~:text=England%20is%20made%20up%20of,depr

ived%2010%25%20nationally%20in%202019. [Date accessed: 18/07/23] 

56 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).  Available at: 

http://data-communities.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-imd-2019-1?geometry=-

2.688%2C52.422%2C-1.456%2C52.714 [Date accessed: 21/06/23] 

Box B.12.1: SA Objective 11: Index of Multiple Deprivation 

Page 1392

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835115/IoD2019_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835115/IoD2019_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/deprivation_west_midlands_context/#:~:text=England%20is%20made%20up%20of,deprived%2010%25%20nationally%20in%202019
https://www.sandwelltrends.info/deprivation_west_midlands_context/#:~:text=England%20is%20made%20up%20of,deprived%2010%25%20nationally%20in%202019
http://data-communities.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-imd-2019-1?geometry=-2.688%2C52.422%2C-1.456%2C52.714
http://data-communities.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-imd-2019-1?geometry=-2.688%2C52.422%2C-1.456%2C52.714


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B30 

B.13 SA Objective 12: Health 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.13.1 to B.13.5 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 12: Health.  

 In order to facilitate healthy and active lifestyles for existing and new residents, it is 

expected that the Local Plan should seek to ensure that residents have access to NHS 

hospitals, GP surgeries, leisure facilities and a diverse range of accessible natural habitats 

and the surrounding PRoW network.   

 Accessibility modelling data57 indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to healthcare 

(GP surgeries) across Sandwell and the wider Black Country. 

 It should be noted that healthcare capacity information has not been available; the 

assessment is based on accessibility alone. 

 Health receptors 

Score Likely Impact - NHS Hospital 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 5km from an NHS hospital 

providing an A&E service. 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 5km from an NHS hospital 
providing an A&E service. 

 

Notes 

For the purposes of this assessment, accessibility to a hospital has been taken as proximity to an NHS hospital 

with an A&E service.  Distances of sites to other NHS facilities (e.g. community hospitals and treatment 
centres) or private hospitals has not been taken into consideration in this assessment.  NHS hospital 

department data available from the NHS website58, and local hospital data provided by SMBC. 

The target distance of 5km to an NHS hospital with an A&E service has been used in line with Barton et al. 
sustainable distances59. 

It should be noted that the current ‘Birmingham City Hospital’ will be replaced with the new ‘Midland 
Metropolitan Hospital’ in 202460.  Given the timescales for these changes, for the purpose of the SA 

accessibility to the new ‘Midland Metropolitan Hospital’ has been considered within the site assessments, and 
the ‘Birmingham City Hospital’ has not been included within site assessments.  

  

 
57 Unpublished data provided to Lepus by the Council – Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) 

58 NHS (2023) NHS hospitals overview. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Accident-and-

emergency-services/LocationSearch/428 [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

59 Barton, H., Grant. M. & Guise. R. (2010) Shaping Neighbourhoods: For local health and global sustainability, January 2010 

60 SMBC (2023) Projects: Midland Metropolitan University Hospital.  Available at: 

https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/sandwell_projects/midland-metropolitan-university-hospital/ [Date accessed: 

14/09/23] 

Box B.13.1: SA Objective 12: NHS hospital 

Page 1393

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Accident-and-emergency-services/LocationSearch/428
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Accident-and-emergency-services/LocationSearch/428
https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/sandwell_projects/midland-metropolitan-university-hospital/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B31 

Score Likely Impact - Pedestrian Access to GP Surgery 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 15-minute walk to a 
healthcare location. 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 10-minute walk but within 
a 15-minute walk to a healthcare location. 

++ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 10-minute walk to a 

healthcare location. 

 

Notes 

Data for healthcare locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to healthcare) has been provided by 
SMBC.  The modelling data does not incorporate new / emerging healthcare locations such as the 

Wednesbury Health Centre61; any subsequent updates to the data will be incorporated into the SA 
assessments at a later stage. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Public Transport Access to GP Surgery 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 15-minute travel time via 

public transport to a healthcare location. 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 10-minute travel time but 

within a 15-minute travel time via public transport to a healthcare location. 

++ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 10-minute travel time via 

public transport to a healthcare location. 

 

Notes 

Data for healthcare locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to healthcare) has been provided by 

SMBC. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Access to / Net Loss of Greenspace 

- 
Development proposals which coincide with greenspace. 

Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 600m from greenspace. 

0 Development proposals do not coincide with greenspace. 

+ Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within 600m of a greenspace. 

 

 
61 SMBC (2023) Projects: Wednesbury Health Centre and Housing.  Available at: 

https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/sandwell_projects/wednesbury-health-centre-and-housing/ [Date accessed: 14/09/23] 

Box B.13.2: SA Objective 12: Pedestrian access to GP surgery 

Box B.13.3: SA Objective 12: Public transport access to GP surgery 

Box B.13.4: SA Objective 12: Access to / net loss of greenspace 

Page 1394

https://regeneratingsandwell.co.uk/sandwell_projects/wednesbury-health-centre-and-housing/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B32 

Notes 

Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important 

for the health and wellbeing of communities.  The assessment of proximity to/net loss of greenspaces is based 

on Ordnance Survey Open Greenspaces62.  It is assumed that these greenspaces are publicly accessible.   

The target distance of 600m to a public greenspace has been used in line with Barton et al. sustainable 

distances63. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Access to PRoW / Cycle Routes 

- 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located over 600m from a PRoW and 

cycle route. 

+ 
Development proposals where the majority of the site is located within 600m from a PRoW and/or 

cycle route. 

 

Notes 

New development sites have been assessed in terms of their access to the local PRoW and cycle networks.  

PRoW data provided by SMBC, and strategic cycle route data is available from Transport for West Midlands64.  

The target distance of 600m to a footpath or cycle path has been used in line with Barton et al. sustainable 

distances. 

  

 
62 Ordnance Survey (2023) OS Open Greenspace.  Available at: https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-

government/products/open-map-greenspace [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

63
 Barton, H., Grant. M. & Guise. R. (2010) Shaping Neighbourhoods: For local health and global sustainability, January 2010 

64 Transport for West Midlands (2021) Transport for West Midlands Data Portal.  Available at: https://data-

tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Box B.13.5: SA Objective 12: Access to PRoW / cycle routes 

Page 1395

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-greenspace
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-government/products/open-map-greenspace
https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/
https://data-tfwm.opendata.arcgis.com/


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B33 

B.14 SA Objective 13: Economy 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.14.1 to B.14.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 13: Economy.  

 Accessibility modelling data65 indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to employment 

locations across Sandwell and the wider Black Country.  It is assumed that the mapped 

employment locations would provide a range of job opportunities for residents. 

 Economy receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Pedestrian Access to Employment Opportunities 

- 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 30-minute walk 

to a key employment location. 

0 Development proposals for non-residential use. 

+ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 20-minute walk 
but within a 30-minute walk to a key employment location. 

++ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 20-minute 
walk to a key employment location. 

 

Notes 

Data for key employment locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to employment) has been provided 
by SMBC. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Public Transport Access to Employment Opportunities 

- 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 30-minute 

travel time via public transport to a key employment location. 

0 Development proposals for non-residential use. 

+ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 20-minute 
travel time but within a 30-minute travel time via public transport to a key employment location. 

++ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 20-minute 
travel time via public transport to a key employment location. 

 

Notes 

Data for key employment locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to employment) has been provided 
by SMBC. 

 

 
65 Unpublished data provided to Lepus by the Council – Black Country Accessibility Modelling (2021) 

Box B.14.1: SA Objective 13: Pedestrian access to employment opportunities 

Box B.14.2: SA Objective 13: Public transport access to employment opportunities 

Page 1396



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B34 

Score Likely Impact - Employment Floorspace 

-- Development proposals which result in a significant net decrease in employment floorspace. 

- Development proposals which result in a minor net decrease in employment floorspace. 

0 Development proposals which would not impact employment floorspace. 

+/- 
It is uncertain whether the proposed development would result in a net change in employment 

floorspace.  This includes development sites where the proposed use is uncertain but may include 
employment. 

+ Development proposals which result in a minor net increase in employment floorspace. 

++ Development proposals which result in a significant net increase in employment floorspace. 

 

Notes 

An assessment of current land use has been made through reference to aerial photography and the use of 
Google Maps66.  

 

  

 
66 Google Maps (2023) Available at: https://www.google.co.uk/maps  

Box B.14.3: SA Objective 13: Employment floorspace 

Page 1397

https://www.google.co.uk/maps


R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B35 

B.15 SA Objective 14: Education, skills 
and training 

 Introduction and context 

 Boxes B.15.1 to B.15.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable 

alternative sites against SA Objective 14: Education, skills and training.  

 It is assumed that new residents in the Plan area require access to primary and secondary 

education services to help facilitate good levels of education, skills and qualifications of 

residents.  Accessibility modelling data67 indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to 

schools across Sandwell and the wider Black Country. 

 It should be noted that school capacity information has not been available; the assessment 

is based on accessibility alone. 

 Education receptors 

Score Likely Impact - Pedestrian Access to Primary School 

- 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 15-minute walk 

to a primary school. 

0 Development proposals for non-residential use. 

+ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 10-minute walk 

but within a 15-minute walk to a primary school. 

++ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 10-minute 

walk to a primary school. 

 

Notes 

Data for primary school locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to primary schools) has been 

provided by SMBC. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Pedestrian Access to Secondary School 

- 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 25-minute walk 

to a secondary school. 

0 Development proposals for non-residential use. 

+ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 20-minute walk 

but within a 25-minute walk to a secondary school. 

 
67 Unpublished data provided to Lepus by the Council 

Box B.15.1: SA Objective 14: Pedestrian access to primary school 

Box B.15.2: SA Objective 14: Pedestrian access to secondary school 

Page 1398



R18(II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix B: Site Assessment Methodology and Assumptions October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council B36 

Score Likely Impact - Pedestrian Access to Secondary School 

++ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 20-minute 

walk to a secondary school. 

 

Notes 

Data for secondary school locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to secondary schools) has been 

provided by SMBC. 

 

Score Likely Impact - Public Transport Access to Secondary School 

- 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 25-minute 

travel time via public transport to a secondary school. 

0 Development proposals for non-residential use. 

+ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located over a 20-minute 

travel time but within a 25-minute travel time via public transport to a secondary school. 

++ 
Residential development proposals where the majority of the site is located within a 20-minute 

travel time via public transport to a secondary school. 

 

Notes 

Data for secondary school locations and accessibility modelling (travel time to secondary schools) has been 

provided by SMBC. 

 

Box B.15.3: SA objective 14: Public Transport Access to Secondary School 

Page 1399



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Ci 

Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site 
Assessments 

  

Page 1400



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Cii 

Appendix C Contents 

C.1 Introduction .......................................................................................................... C3 

C.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural Heritage .......................................................................... C10 

C.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape .................................................................................... C16 

C.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity .................................... C20 

C.5 SA Objective 4: Climate Change Mitigation ............................................................. C26 

C.6 SA Objective 5: Climate Change Adaptation ........................................................... C30 

C.7 SA Objective 6: Natural Resources......................................................................... C34 

C.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution ....................................................................................... C38 

C.9 SA Objective 8: Waste .......................................................................................... C43 

C.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and Accessibility ............................................................ C47 

C.11 SA Objective 10: Housing ...................................................................................... C52 

C.12 SA Objective 11: Equality ...................................................................................... C56 

C.13 SA Objective 12: Health ........................................................................................ C60 

C.14 SA Objective 13: Economy .................................................................................... C65 

C.15 SA Objective 14: Education, Skills and Training ...................................................... C70 

 

Tables 

Table C.1.1: Reasonable alternative sites in Sandwell .................................................................. C5 
Table C.2.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 1 – Cultural heritage....................................... C12 
Table C.3.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 2 – Landscape ............................................... C16 
Table C.4.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity .. C22 
Table C.5.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 4 – Climate change mitigation ......................... C26 
Table C.6.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 5 – Climate change adaptation ........................ C31 
Table C.7.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 6 – Natural resources ..................................... C35 
Table C.8.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 7 – Pollution .................................................. C39 
Table C.9.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 8 – Waste ...................................................... C43 
Table C.10.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 9 – Transport and accessibility ...................... C49 
Table C.11.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 10 – Housing ............................................... C52 
Table C.12.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 11 – Equality ............................................... C56 
Table C.13.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 12 – Health.................................................. C61 
Table C.14.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 13 – Economy .............................................. C66 
Table C.15.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 14 – Education, skills and training ................. C71 
 

Figures 

Figure C.1.1: Reasonable alternative sites identified in Sandwell .................................................. C4 

 

Page 1401



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C3 

C.1 Introduction 

C.1.1 Overview 

C.1.1.1 A total of 121 reasonable alternative sites have been identified by SMBC during the 

preparation of the SLP.  This includes 65 sites identified solely for residential use and 17 

sites identified solely for employment use.  One site is identified solely for Gypsy, Traveller 

and Travelling Showpeople (GTTS) use.  One site is identified for mixed-use including 

residential and employment.  The remaining 37 sites are identified as reasonable 

alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, 

employment and/or GTTS use).  

C.1.1.2 The location of the 121 reasonable alternative sites is shown in Figure C.1.1, and their 

potential uses are identified in Table C.1.1. 

C.1.1.3 Each of the sites appraised within this report have been assessed for likely impacts on 

each of the 14 SA Objectives, as outlined in the SA Framework (see Appendix A).  Likely 

sustainability impacts have been set out in Tables C.2.1 – C.14.1 within each SA Objective 

chapter, in accordance with the site assessment methodology set out in Appendix B, as 

well as the methodology information set out in Chapter 2 of the main SA Report. 

C.1.1.4 The receptor-only impacts, based on the red line boundary and site proposal information 

provided by SMBC, help to identify the potential impacts on site if there were no policy or 

mitigation.  The potential mitigating influence of the draft SLP policies is considered within 

section 8.3 of the main SA Report. 

C.1.1.5 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, 

the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the 

current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been based on 

information provided by SMBC as well as expert judgement.  

  

Page 1402



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C4 

 

Figure C.1.1: Reasonable alternative sites identified in Sandwell   

Page 1403



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C5 

Table C.1.1: Reasonable alternative sites in Sandwell 

Note to Council: We have prepared the SA using the site information provided, including site 
references as provided by Trisha via email 27/09/23.  However, we note there may be some 

discrepancies between the references listed here and those listed in the appendices of the SLP itself 
and accompanying allocated site shapefiles provided to colleagues for the HRA.  E.g. eight sites are 
listed as mixed use allocations in the plan which were not specified as such in the SA information, and 

differences in the references listed for employment sites. 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SEC3-181 
Varney Business Park, 
Varney Avenue, West 

Bromwich 

Employment  0.73 N/A 

SEC4-1 Zion Street, Tipton Employment  2.43 N/A 

SEC3-9 
Alexandra Ind Est, Locarno 
Rd/ Alexandra Rd, Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.87 75 

SEC3-99 
Providence Street, Cradley 
Heath 

Employment 6.33 N/A 

SH1 Brown Lion Street Housing 0.46 20 

SEC3-113 Brandon Way (east side) Housing/Employment 0.47 19 

SEC3-46 
Droicon Ind Est, Portway 
Road 

Employment  0.87 N/A 

SEC3-175 
Coneygre Rd, Burnt Tree, 
Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.02 75 

SEC-36 Silverthorne Lane Housing/Employment  1.05 100 

SEC3-29 
Site off Richmond St, West 
Bromwich 

Employment 1.10 N/A 

SEC3-148 Castle St, Tipton  Housing/Employment 1.49 60 

SH2 
Land adjacent To Asda 
Wolverhampton Road, 
Oldbury 

Housing/Employment 1.60 62 

SEC4-4 Soho Triangle Employment 1.71 N/A 

SEC3-191 
Oldfield Trading Estate, 

Cradley Heath 
Housing/Employment 1.76 70 

SEC4-3 70-74 Crankhall Lane Housing/Employment 1.78 50 

SEC3-133 
Brymill Industrial Estate, 
Brown Lion St, Tipton 

Housing 1.98 56 

SEC3-189 
Waterfall Lane, Cradley 
Heath 

Housing/Employment  1.78 50 

SEC3-22 Hale Trading Estate, Tipton Housing/Employment 2.73 120 

SEC3-40 Newlyn Road, Cradley Heath Housing/Employment 3.40 102 

SEC1-4 
Severn Trent land off Roway 
Lane 

Employment 3.65 N/A 

SH3 88/90 Dudley Rd West Housing/Employment 0.36 12 

SH4 
Lower High Street (Station 
Hotel & Dunns Site) 

Housing/Employment 0.28 20 

SH5 Mill Street, Great Bridge Housing 0.86 30 

SH6 
Swan Lane, North of A41, 
West Bromwich 

Housing 3.77 147 

SH7 
The Boat Gauging House & 
Adjoining Land, Factory 

Road, Tipton 

Housing/GTTS 0.57 50 

SH8 Alma Street, Wednesbury Housing 0.52 19 

SH9 
The Phoenix Collegiate, Friar 
Park Road, Wednesbury 

Housing 4.80 84 

Page 1404



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C6 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

29 
Star and Garter, 252 
Duchess Parade, West 

Bromwich 

Housing 0.05 60 

SH10 

Tipton Conservative and 

Unionist Club, 64 Union St, 
Tipton 

Housing 0.19 14 

SH11 
Sandwell District & General 
Hospital 

Housing 0.82 121 

SH12 

Fmr Springfield & Brickhouse 

Neighbourhood Office and 
adjacent land Dudley Road, 

Rowey Regis 

Housing 0.65 26 

34 

John Dando House, 235 

Hamstead Road, Great Barr 
Birmingham 

Housing 0.86 26 

35 
Intersection House, 110 
Birmingham Road, West 

Brom 

Housing/Employment 0.80 136 

36 

Vacant Land Off Friardale 
Close, School Road, 

Carrington Road, 
Wednesbury 

Housing 0.76 30 

38 173 Rolfe Street, Smethwick Housing 0.40 12 

40 
Metro House 410-416 High 

Street West Bromwich 
Housing 0.38 34 

42 
Land between St Pauls Road 

& Tollhouse Way 
Housing 0.33 11 

43 

Land adjacent Compton 

Grange, Whiteall Road, St 
Annes Road, Cradley Heath 

Housing 0.30 15 

44 Crosswells Road, Langley Housing 0.29 12 

45 
164 Birmingham Road, West 

Bromwich 
Housing/Employment 0.22 16 

46 
5 Lombard Street West 

Bromwich 
Housing 0.16 44 

SH13 
Silverthorne Lane/ Forge 
Lane Cradley Heath 

Housing 1.05 74 

SH14 
Langley Maltings, Western 
Road, Langley 

Housing 2.72 95 

SH15 
Macarthur Road Industrial 
Estate, Cradley Heath 

Housing 0.30 10 

52 
Land off Overend Road, 
Cradley Heath Business Park 

Employment 3.04 N/A 

SH16 
Cradley Heath Factory 
Centre, Woods Lane, 
Cradley Heath 

Housing 5.41 160 

SH17 
Land adj to Droicon Estate, 
Portway Road, Rowley Regis 

Housing/GTTS 0.70 28 

SH18 
STW/SMBC Land, Friar Park 
Road, Wednesbury 

Housing/Employment 26.60 630 

56 
Perrott Street/ Kitchener 
Street, Black Patch, 

Smethwick 

Housing 1.39 49 

SH19 

Land at Horseley Heath, 

Alexandra Road, and Lower 
Church Lane, Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.90 60 

SH20 Elbow Street, Old Hill Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.77 25 

Page 1405



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C7 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SH21 
Dudley Road East/Brades 
Road 

Housing/Employment 2.65 106 

SH22 Tatbank Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.15 40 

SH23 
28-64 High Street, West 

Bromwich 
Housing 0.60 58 

63 
Site between Dudley St & 

Victoria St, Wednesbury 
Housing/Employment 1.18 41 

SH24 
Cokeland Place / Graingers 

Lane, Cradley Heath 
Housing 0.36 13 

SH25 
Bradleys Lane / High Street, 
Tipton 

Housing/Employment 5.60 230 

SH26 Lower City Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.83 63 

SH27 

Site surrounding former Post 
office and Telephone 
exchange, Horseley Heath, 

Tipton 

Housing/Employment 1.16 42 

SH28 Friar Street, Wednesbury Housing/Employment 1.01 38 

SH29 

Used Car Sales site on 
corner of Lower Church 

Lane and Horseley Heath, 
Tipton 

Housing/Employment 0.56 20 

71 
Grafton Lodge, Grafton 
Road, Oldbury 

Housing 0.53 19 

74 
The Corner of Great Bridge 
& Richmond Street South 

Employment  0.23 N/A 

SH30 
Land to east of Black Lake, 
West Bromwich 

Housing/Employment 2.45 86 

SH31 Summerton Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.89 32 

SH32 
Bank Street (West), Hateley 

Heath 
Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.85 43 

SH33 Wellington Road, Tipton Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.91 31 

SH34 Brandhall Golf Course Housing 36.90 190 

SH35 

Rattlechain Site Land to the 

north of Temple Way, 
Tividale 

Housing 14.8 518 

SH36 
Land between Addington 
Way and River Tame, 
Temple Way 

Housing/Employment/GTTS 0.90 32 

SH37 
Edwin Richards Quarry, 
Portway Road, Rowley Regis 

Housing 10.10 526 

SEC3-66 Soho Foundry Employment 12.60 N/A 

SH38 Brades Road, Oldbury Housing/Employment 1.14 54 

91 Chances Glassworks Housing/Employment 0.64 22 

SH39 
Land to West of Thomas 
Street, West Bromwich 

Housing 0.28 30 

SH40 
Langley Swimming Centre, 
Vicarage Road, Oldbury 

Housing 0.49 20 

SH41 North Smethwick Canalside Housing 8.77 400 

SH42 
Forge Put, junction 
Franchise Street and Beebee 

Ro 

Housing 0.14 10 

SEC1-3 
Land at Birchley Island, 

Junction 2 of M5, Oldbury 
Employment 1.00 N/A 

110 
Bloomfield Road Amenity 

Space 
Housing/Employment 0.38 15 

Page 1406



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C8 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

118 
Constance Avenue Open 
Space 

Housing 1.60 64 

120 Darbys Hill Open Space Housing 3.80 114 

132 Lily Street Open Space Housing 3.80 114 

137 Poppy Drive Open Space Housing 0.80 32 

140 
Timbertree Crescent Open 
Space 

Housing 0.50 20 

142 Wylde Crescent Open Space Housing 0.50 20 

SH43 
Land of Tanhouse Avenue, 
Great Barr 

Housing 1.66 46 

SH44 
Wyndmill crescent, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.19 11 

SH45 Site Of Nos 118-152 Housing 0.41 20 

SH46 
Site Of Former Stone Cross 

Neighbourhood Office 
Housing 0.32 14 

SH47 Groveland, Oldbury Housing 2.26 58 

171 
Evans Halshaw car 
showroom, Carters Green 

Housing 0.89 140 

SH48 St Johns St, Carters Green Housing 0.82 33 

173 
Army Reserve, Carters 

Green 
Housing 1.17 63 

SH49 Tentec, Guns Lane Housing 0.60 129 

SH50 Providence Place/ Bratt St Housing 1.32 70 

176 
Cultural Quarter, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 1.09 52 

177 
Queens Square Living, West 

Bromwich 
Housing 2.84 396 

178 West Bromwich Central Housing 3.84 343 

SH51 
Overend Street, West 
Bromwich 

Housing 0.71 70 

SH52 George Street Living Housing 1.54 327 

SH53 
Grove Lane/ Cranford 

Street/ London Street 
Housing 1.23 108 

SH54 
Cranford Street / Heath 

Street / Canal 
Housing 5 115 

SH55 Cape Arm Cranford Street Housing 2.13 170 

SH56 
Moilliett Street Park - Grove 
Lane masterplan 

Housing 0.77 31 

SH57 
Grove Street / MMUH / 
School - Grove Lane MP 

Housing 2.18 85 

SH58 
Abberley Street Grove Lane 
Master Plan 

Housing 2.48 140 

SG1 
Extension to Caravan Site, 
Brierley Lane, Bilston 

GTTS 0.73 10 

188 
Land Between No.32 And 
George Betts School, West 
End Avenue, Smethwick 

Housing 0.32 11 

189 Hawes Lane, Rowley Regis Housing 0.56 15 

SH59 Beever Road, Great Bridge Housing 1.01 18 

191 
Former Sunlight Laundry, 

Stanhope Road, Smethwick 
Housing 0.73 33 

SH61 
Thandi Coach Station, Alma 
Street, Smethwick 

Housing 0.71 58 

Page 1407



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C9 

Site 

Reference 
Site Address Site use 

Net Area 

(ha) 

Housing 
Capacity 

(if 
applicable) 

SEC1-1 Whitehall Road, Tipton Employment 5.29 N/A 

SEC1-8 
Legacy 43, Ryder Street, 

West Bromwich 
Employment 0.88 N/A 

SEC1-5 
Land at Coneygre, 

Newcomen Drive, Tipton 
Employment 6.92 N/A 

SEC1-6 
Land off Brandon Way, West 

Bromwich 
Employment 3.00 N/A 

SEC1-2 
British Gas, Land off Dudley 

Road, Oldbury 
Employment 1.05 N/A 

SEC1-7 
Site off Bilport Lane, 
Wednesbury 

Employment 5.30 N/A 

199 
Lion Farm Playing Fields, 
Oldbury 

Mixed-use (including housing, 
employment and open space) 

20.89 200 

SH60 
Site of 30-144 Mounts Road, 
Wednesbury 

Housing/Employment 1.07 22 

  

Page 1408



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C10 

C.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural Heritage 

C.2.1 Grade I Listed Buildings 

C.2.1.1 There are two Grade I Listed Buildings in Sandwell, ‘West Bromwich Manor House’ and 

‘Galton Bridge’, and several others nearby in surrounding authority areas.  Although Site 

SEC4-3 lies in close proximity (approximately 180m) to ‘West Bromwich Manor House’, the 

previously developed nature of the site means that adverse effects on the setting of the 

building are considered unlikely.  The proposed development at all 121 sites in Sandwell 

would be unlikely to significantly impact Grade I Listed Buildings, therefore a negligible 

impact has been identified across these sites.   

C.2.2 Grade II* Listed Buildings 

C.2.2.1 There are eight Grade II* Listed Buildings within Sandwell, mostly concentrated in and 

around the Smethwick area in the south east of the borough.  Site SEC3-66 coincides with 

‘Soho Foundry Former Boulton and Watt Foundry Pattern Stores and Erecting Shops’.  The 

proposed development at this site could potentially lead to a direct major negative impact 

on the Grade II* Listed Building. 

C.2.2.2 Site SH41 is located adjacent to ‘Engine Arm Aqueduct, Birmingham Canal Wolverhampton 

Level’.  The proposed development at this site could potentially have a minor negative 

impact on the setting of this Listed Building.   

C.2.2.3 However, both Sites SEC3-66 and SH41 contain some existing development and so it is 

acknowledged that there may also be opportunities to improve the historic setting of the 

area through regeneration of degraded industrial buildings currently on site. 

C.2.2.4 The proposed development at all other sites within Sandwell would be unlikely to 

significantly impact any Grade II* Listed Buildings, primarily due to the sites being 

separated from Listed Buildings by existing built form.  Therefore, a negligible impact has 

been identified across these sites.   

C.2.3 Grade II Listed Buildings 

C.2.3.1 There are many Grade II Listed Buildings throughout Sandwell, generally clustered within 

the built-up areas, along the canal network, and particularly within West Bromwich and 

Oldbury town centres.  There are six sites that coincide with a Grade II Listed Building 

(Sites SH7, SH14, SEC3-66, 91, 176, and 178).  Site SEC3-66 coincides with ‘Gateway and 

Gates’, ‘Office Row’, and ‘Gatehouse and adjoining Office’ and is adjacent to ‘Towpath 

Bridge at Soho Foundry’.  Site 91 coincides with ‘Double Range of Warehouses immediately 

west of Hartley Bridge, Chance’s glassworks’, ‘Warehouse between Hartley Bridge and 

canal bridge, chance’s glassworks’, and ‘Two warehouses, immediately east of canal 

bridge, chance’s glassworks’, and is adjacent or close to several others.  Site 176 coincides 

with ‘Town Hall’, ‘Pair of K6 Telephone Kiosks outside Library and Town Hall’, ‘Central 

Public Library’, and ‘Law Courts’.  The proposed development at these six sites could 

potentially result in direct major negative impacts on these Listed Buildings, without careful 

consideration of site layout and design.  

Page 1409



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C11 

C.2.3.2 Five sites are located adjacent to Grade II Listed Building (Sites SEC4-1, SEC4-4, SH41, 

177 and SEC1-1).  Furthermore, a further eight sites could potentially have an adverse 

impact on the setting of various Listed Buildings, due to the nature and scale of the 

proposed development and the proximity of Listed Buildings.  For example, Site SEC4-4 is 

located adjacent to the Grade II Listed Building ‘Towpath Bridge, Birmingham Canal 

Birmingham Level’.  The proposed development at these 14 sites could potentially result 

in a minor negative impact on the setting of one or more Grade II Listed Buildings.   

C.2.4 Conservation Area 

C.2.4.1 Sandwell contains nine Conservation Areas (CA), the majority of which cover sections of 

the urban area, as well as portions of the canal network, historic open spaces and nature 

reserves.  There are eight sites that coincide with a CA, including Sites SH10 and SH7 

which lie wholly within ‘Factory Locks, Tipton’ CA, Sites SH50 and 176 which lie partially 

within ‘High Street West Bromwich’ CA, and Sites 38, 91, SH41, and SH54 which lie wholly 

or partially within ‘Smethwick Galton Valley’ CA.  There are a further eight sites which are 

adjacent or in close proximity to a CA.  The proposed development at these 16 sites could 

potentially result in a minor negative impact on the character or setting of these CAs.  The 

remaining sites would not be expected to have a significant impact on the setting of any 

CA.  

C.2.5 Scheduled Monument 

C.2.5.1 There are eight Scheduled Monuments (SMs) within Sandwell, generally covering 

previously developed areas in relation to Birmingham Canal or areas with industrial history.  

Three sites coincide with a SM.  Site SEC3-66 wholly coincides with ‘remains of the Boulton 

and Watt Soho Foundry and mint, Birmingham Canal, Smethwick’, Site 91 wholly coincides 

with ‘Chances Glassworks’, and Site SH41 coincides partially with ‘Engine Arm Aqueduct’ 

and wholly coincides with ‘Smethwick Engine House’.  The proposed development at these 

three sites could potentially have a direct adverse effect on these SMs, resulting in a major 

negative impact on cultural heritage.  However, these sites contain some existing 

development so it is acknowledged that there may also be opportunities to improve the 

historic setting of the area and associated SMs through regeneration of degraded industrial 

buildings currently on site.   

C.2.5.2 All other sites within Sandwell are not located in close proximity to any SMs, and as such, 

the proposed development at these sites would not be expected to significantly impact the 

setting of any of these SMs.    

C.2.6 Registered Park and Garden 

C.2.6.1 Five Registered Parks and Gardens (RPGs) can be found within Sandwell: ‘Brunswick Park’, 

‘Victoria Park (Tipton)’, ‘Dartmouth Park’, ‘Warley Park’ and a small proportion of ‘Great 

Barr Hall’.  Site SEC1-5 is located approximately 200m from ‘Victoria Park (Tipton)’ RPG.  

Although there is some intervening built form separating Site SEC1-5 from the RPG, the 

site comprises a large area of undeveloped land.  The proposed development at the site 

could potentially result in a minor negative impact on the setting of the RPG.  The 

remaining sites are deemed unlikely to have a significant impact on the setting of any RPG 

Page 1410



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C12 

due to the previously developed nature of the sites and/or presence of intervening 

development. 

C.2.7 Archaeological Priority Area 

C.2.7.1 Archaeological Priority Areas (APAs) have been identified throughout Sandwell’s urban and 

undeveloped areas.  Four sites coincide with APAs, including Sites 189, SH33, SH26, and 

SH31.  A further nine sites are located adjacent to APAs.  The proposed development at 

these 13 sites could potentially alter the setting of these APAs, and as a result have a 

minor negative impact on cultural heritage.  The remaining sites are not located in close 

proximity to APAs, and therefore, would be expected to have a negligible impact on the 

setting of APAs. 

C.2.8 Historic Landscape Characterisation 

C.2.8.1 The Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC) Study1 has identified a range 

of Historic Environment Area Designations within the Black Country, covering a large 

proportion of Sandwell’s parkland and Green Belt as well as a number of features within 

the urban areas.  Nine of the proposed sites (SEC3-99, SH7, 43, SH14, SH16, SH33, SH34, 

SEC3-66, and 91) coincide wholly or partially within an area of High Historic Landscape 

Value (HHLV) or High Historic Townscape Value (HHTV).  This includes Site SH34 which 

coincides with ‘Brandhall Ridge and Furrow’ HHLV, which is a rare feature in Sandwell.  No 

sites coincide with any Designed Landscapes of High Historic Value.  Development within 

areas of HHLV/HHTV may lead to the loss of surviving archaeological features of interest 

and their visual or functional links to Sandwell’s past.  Therefore, the proposed 

development at these nine sites could potentially result in a minor negative impact on the 

surrounding historic environment.  The remaining sites do not coincide with any identified 

areas of high historic value, and therefore, would be expected to have a negligible impact 

on the local historic environment. 

Table C.2.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 1 – Cultural heritage 

Site 

Reference  
Site Use 

G
ra

d
e 

I L
is

te
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

G
ra

d
e 

II*
 L

is
te

d
 

B
u

ild
in

g 

G
ra

d
e 

II 
Li

st
ed

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 
A

re
a

 

Sc
h

ed
u

le
d

 
M

o
n

u
m

en
t 

R
e

gi
st

er
ed

 P
ar

k 
an

d
 G

ar
d

en
 

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

gi
ca

l 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 A
re

a
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
C

h
ar

ac
te

ri
sa

ti
o

n
 

SEC3-181 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-99 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH1 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-46 EMP  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
1 Oxford Archaeology (2019) Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation Study.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf 

[Date Accessed: 15/09/23] 

Page 1411

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13895/comp_black-country-hlc-final-report-30-10-2019-lr_redacted.pdf


R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C13 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 

G
ra

d
e 

I L
is

te
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

G
ra

d
e 

II*
 L

is
te

d
 

B
u

ild
in

g 

G
ra

d
e 

II 
Li

st
ed

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 
A

re
a

 

Sc
h

ed
u

le
d

 
M

o
n

u
m

en
t 

R
e

gi
st

er
ed

 P
ar

k 
an

d
 G

ar
d

en
 

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

gi
ca

l 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 A
re

a
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
C

h
ar

ac
te

ri
sa

ti
o

n
 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-29 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 - 0 0 - 0 

SH2 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-4 EMP 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-133 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-4 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SH4 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH5 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SH6 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH7 HSG/GTTS 0 0 -- - 0 0 - - 

SH8 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH9 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

29 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SH10 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SH11 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH12 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

34 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

35 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

36 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

38 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

40 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

42 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

43 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

44 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

45 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

46 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SH13 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH14 HSG 0 0 -- 0 0 0 0 - 

SH15 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

52 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH16 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH17 HSG/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH18 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1412



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C14 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 

G
ra

d
e 

I L
is

te
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

G
ra

d
e 

II*
 L

is
te

d
 

B
u

ild
in

g 

G
ra

d
e 

II 
Li

st
ed

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 
A

re
a

 

Sc
h

ed
u

le
d

 
M

o
n

u
m

en
t 

R
e

gi
st

er
ed

 P
ar

k 
an

d
 G

ar
d

en
 

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

gi
ca

l 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 A
re

a
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
C

h
ar

ac
te

ri
sa

ti
o

n
 

56 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SH19 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH21 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SH22 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH23 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

63 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH24 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH26 HSG/EMP 0 0 - 0 0 0 - 0 

SH27 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH28 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH29 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

71 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

74 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 - - 

SH34 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH35 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH37 HSG 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-66 EMP 0 -- -- - -- 0 0 - 

SH38 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

91 HSG/EMP 0 0 -- - -- 0 0 - 

SH39 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH40 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH41 HSG 0 - - - -- 0 0 0 

SH42 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-3 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

110 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

118 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

120 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

132 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

137 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

140 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

142 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH43 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH44 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH45 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1413



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C15 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 

G
ra

d
e 

I L
is

te
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

G
ra

d
e 

II*
 L

is
te

d
 

B
u

ild
in

g 

G
ra

d
e 

II 
Li

st
ed

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

C
o

n
se

rv
at

io
n

 
A

re
a

 

Sc
h

ed
u

le
d

 
M

o
n

u
m

en
t 

R
e

gi
st

er
ed

 P
ar

k 
an

d
 G

ar
d

en
 

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

gi
ca

l 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 A
re

a
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
C

h
ar

ac
te

ri
sa

ti
o

n
 

SH46 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH47 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 - 0 

171 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SH48 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

173 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH49 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH50 HSG 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 

176 HSG 0 0 -- - 0 0 0 0 

177 HSG 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

178 HSG 0 0 -- 0 0 0 0 0 

SH51 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH52 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH53 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH54 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SH55 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SH56 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH57 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH58 HSG 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SG1 GTTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

188 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

189 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SH59 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

191 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH61 HSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-1 EMP 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-8 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SEC1-6 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 

SEC1-2 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-7 EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

199 Mixed-use 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH60 HSG/EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
  

Page 1414



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C16 

C.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape 

C.3.1 Landscape Sensitivity 

C.3.1.1 The Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment2 identified the extent to which the 

character and quality of Black Country Green Belt land is susceptible to change as a result 

of future development.  In Sandwell, Green Belt is restricted to the north east of the 

borough, at Sandwell Valley.  120 reasonable alternative sites identified for the SLP lie 

outside of the Green Belt, and as such outside of the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

study area.  Therefore, the potential effects of each site on sensitive landscapes are scored 

as uncertain.  

C.3.1.2 Site 137 is partially located within the Green Belt to the south of the site, within an area 

identified as being of ‘low’ landscape sensitivity.  Therefore, the proposed development at 

this site would be expected to result in a negligible impact on sensitive landscapes.  

C.3.1.3 Information relating to the historic environment which has strong links with 

landscapes/townscapes in Sandwell, including the Historic Landscape Characterisation and 

associated designations, has been assessed under SA Objective 1 (Cultural Heritage) (see 

Chapter C.2).  

Table C.3.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 2 – Landscape 

Site 

Reference  
Site Use 

Landscape 
Sensitivity 

SEC3-181 EMP +/- 

SEC4-1 EMP +/- 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-99 EMP +/- 

SH1 HSG +/- 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-46 EMP  +/- 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-29 EMP +/- 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-4 EMP +/- 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-133 HSG +/- 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- 

 
2 LUC (2019) Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  Available at: 

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf [Date 

Accessed: 04/08/23] 

Page 1415

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/media/13883/black-country-lsa-front-end-report-final-lr_redacted.pdf


R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C17 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Landscape 
Sensitivity 

SEC1-4 EMP +/- 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH5 HSG +/- 

SH6 HSG +/- 

SH7 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH8 HSG +/- 

SH9 HSG +/- 

29 HSG +/- 

SH10 HSG +/- 

SH11 HSG +/- 

SH12 HSG +/- 

34 HSG +/- 

35 HSG/EMP +/- 

36 HSG +/- 

38 HSG +/- 

40 HSG +/- 

42 HSG +/- 

43 HSG +/- 

44 HSG +/- 

45 HSG/EMP +/- 

46 HSG +/- 

SH13 HSG +/- 

SH14 HSG +/- 

SH15 HSG +/- 

52 EMP +/- 

SH16 HSG +/- 

SH17 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- 

56 HSG +/- 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH23 HSG +/- 

63 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH24 HSG +/- 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- 

71 HSG +/- 

74 EMP +/- 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1416



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C18 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Landscape 
Sensitivity 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH34 HSG +/- 

SH35 HSG +/- 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH37 HSG +/- 

SEC3-66 EMP +/- 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- 

91 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH39 HSG +/- 

SH40 HSG +/- 

SH41 HSG +/- 

SH42 HSG +/- 

SEC1-3 EMP +/- 

110 HSG/EMP +/- 

118 HSG +/- 

120 HSG +/- 

132 HSG +/- 

137 HSG 0 

140 HSG +/- 

142 HSG +/- 

SH43 HSG +/- 

SH44 HSG +/- 

SH45 HSG +/- 

SH46 HSG +/- 

SH47 HSG +/- 

171 HSG +/- 

SH48 HSG +/- 

173 HSG +/- 

SH49 HSG +/- 

SH50 HSG +/- 

176 HSG +/- 

177 HSG +/- 

178 HSG +/- 

SH51 HSG +/- 

SH52 HSG +/- 

SH53 HSG +/- 

SH54 HSG +/- 

SH55 HSG +/- 

SH56 HSG +/- 

SH57 HSG +/- 

SH58 HSG +/- 

SG1 GTTS +/- 

188 HSG +/- 

Page 1417



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C19 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Landscape 
Sensitivity 

189 HSG +/- 

SH59 HSG +/- 

191 HSG +/- 

SH61 HSG +/- 

SEC1-1 EMP +/- 

SEC1-8 EMP +/- 

SEC1-5 EMP +/- 

SEC1-6 EMP +/- 

SEC1-2 EMP +/- 

SEC1-7 EMP +/- 

199 Mixed-use +/- 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- 
 
  

Page 1418



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C20 

C.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, Flora, 
Fauna and Geodiversity 

C.4.1 Habitats Sites 

C.4.1.1 Habitats sites are a network of nature protection areas which include Special Areas of 

Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs).  There are no Habitats sites 

within Sandwell, with the nearest being ‘Fens Pools’ SAC located approximately 3km to the 

west, in Dudley.  No Zone of Influence has been identified for ‘Fens Pools’ SAC to indicate 

areas where development could potentially result in significant adverse effects on its 

designated features, and therefore, at the time of writing the impact of all proposed sites 

on Habitats sites is uncertain.  The emerging HRA of the SLP will provide more detailed 

analysis of likely impacts and identification of impact pathways beyond those considered 

in the SA. 

C.4.2 Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

C.4.2.1 There are no Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) within Sandwell Borough however 

nearby SSSIs include ‘The Leasowes’ and ‘Doulton’s Claypit’ in the neighbouring borough 

of Dudley.  All sites are located within IRZs which do not indicate the proposed use as a 

threat to nearby SSSIs, and as such, the proposed development at all sites would be likely 

to have a negligible impact on SSSIs. 

C.4.3 National Nature Reserves 

C.4.3.1 There are no National Nature Reserves (NNRs) within Sandwell, with ‘Wren’s Nest’ and 

‘Saltwells’ NNRs in Dudley being the closest to the borough, located at their closest points 

approximately 800m and 700m to the west of Sandwell, respectively.  None of the 

proposed sites within Sandwell are located in close proximity to these NNRs, and therefore, 

the proposed development at all sites would be unlikely to have a significant impact any 

NNR. 

C.4.4 Ancient Woodland 

C.4.4.1 In Sandwell, there are some small areas of ancient woodland including ‘Codsall Coppice’ 

and ‘Warley Rack Wood’ in the south of the borough, and ‘Dartmouth Golf Wood’ and 

‘Chambers Wood’ towards the north east.  None of the proposed sites within Sandwell are 

located in close proximity to these areas of ancient woodland and therefore the proposed 

development at these sites would be unlikely to have a significant impact on any ancient 

woodland. 

C.4.5 Local Nature Reserves 

C.4.5.1 There are nine Local Nature Reserves (LNR) within Sandwell, found within both the urban 

areas and Green Belt, including ‘Sheepwash’, ‘Merrion Wood’ and ‘Sot’s Hole with Bluebell 

Wood’ LNRs.  A small proportion of the proposed housing Site SH43 coincides with ‘Forge 

Page 1419



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C21 

Mill Lake’ LNR.  Furthermore, seven sites are located in close proximity to LNRs, including 

the proposed housing Site SH13 which is located 120m from ‘Saltwells’ LNR and 180m 

from ‘Mousesweet Brook’ LNR, separated by some intervening development but the 

proposed introduction of 74 homes at the site could give rise to adverse effects.  Therefore, 

the proposed development at these eight sites could potentially have a minor negative 

impact on these LNRs, due to an increased risk of development related threats and 

pressures.  On the other hand, the remaining sites would be likely to have a negligible 

impact on LNRs, primarily due to being separated by existing built form. 

C.4.6 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

C.4.6.1 Within Sandwell, there are 33 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs).  A 

small proportion of housing/employment Site SH43 coincides with ‘Forge Mill, Sandwell 

Valley’ SINC.  The proposed development at the site could potentially result in direct 

adverse impacts or possible loss of the SINC.  A major negative impact would be expected. 

C.4.6.2 Site SH30 is located adjacent to ‘Ridgeacre Branch Canal’ SINC and Site SH21 is located 

adjacent to ‘Gower Branch Canal’ SINC.  The proposed development at these two sites 

could potentially have a minor negative impact on these SINCs, due to an increased risk 

of development related threats and pressures.   

C.4.6.3 None of the remaining sites coincide with or are located adjacent to SINCs, and therefore, 

the proposed development at these sites would be less likely to significantly impact any 

SINC, although it is acknowledged that adverse effects such as from recreational pressure 

can arise at greater distances. 

C.4.7 Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation 

C.4.7.1 There are 71 Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs) found throughout 

Sandwell, but particularly in the south west and north east of the borough.  10 sites 

coincide with SLINCs, including Site SH43 which coincides with ‘Tanhouse Avenue, 

Sandwell Valley’ SLINC, and Site SH34 which coincides with ‘Brandhall Golf Course’ SLINC.  

Additionally, a further 17 sites are located adjacent to SLINCs.  The proposed development 

at these 27 sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on these SLINCs due to 

an increased risk of development related threats and pressures.   

C.4.7.2 The remaining sites do not coincide with, or are located adjacent to, any SLINC; therefore, 

the proposed development at these sites would be less likely to result in a significant 

impact on SLINCs, although it is acknowledged that adverse effects such as from 

recreational pressure can arise at greater distances. 

C.4.8 Geological Sites 

C.4.8.1 Geological sites have been identified throughout the Plan area, which form part of the 

Black Country Global Geopark3.  These sites include a range of notable geological features 

and formations, including a number of SSSIs and SINCs.  Within Sandwell, there are five 

 
3 Black Country Geopark (2023) Black Country Geopark.  Available at: https://blackcountrygeopark.dudley.gov.uk/bcg/ 

[Date accessed: 15/09/23] 

Page 1420

https://blackcountrygeopark.dudley.gov.uk/bcg/


R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C22 

geological sites found in the east and south west of the borough, including ‘The Rowley 

Hills’, ‘Blue Rock Quarry SINC’ and ‘Bumble Hole & Warren’s Park LNR’.  The proposed 

development at all sites within Sandwell would be likely to have a negligible impact on 

geological sites as they do not coincide with any identified areas of geological importance. 

C.4.9 Priority Habitats 

C.4.9.1 Some small extents of priority habitats are found throughout the Sandwell area, 

particularly concentrated in the Green Belt to the north east and include ‘coastal and 

floodplain grazing marsh’, ‘good quality semi-improved grassland’ and ‘deciduous 

woodland’.  A total of 16 sites coincide wholly or partially with priority habitats, including 

a large proportion of Sites 118 and 140 which coincide with ‘deciduous woodland’, and 

Site SH59 which contains large proportions of ‘coastal and floodplain grazing marsh’ 

covering the majority of the site.  The proposed development at these 16 sites therefore 

would be likely to have a minor negative impact on these priority habitats due to the 

potential loss or degradation of these habitats.  On the other hand, the remaining sites do 

not coincide with any identified priority habitat; therefore, the proposed development at 

these sites would be likely to have a negligible impact on the overall presence of priority 

habitats. 

Table C.4.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 3 – Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

H
ab

it
at

s 
Si

te
s 

SS
SI

s 
an

d
 IR

Zs
 

N
N

R
s 

A
n

ci
en

t 
W

o
o

d
la

n
d

 

LN
R

s 

SI
N

C
s 

SL
IN

C
s 

G
eo

lo
gi

ca
l 

Si
te

s 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

H
ab

it
at

s 

SEC3-181 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SEC3-99 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH1 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-46 EMP  +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-29 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-4 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-133 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-4 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1421



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C23 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

H
ab

it
at

s 
Si

te
s 

SS
SI

s 
an

d
 IR

Zs
 

N
N

R
s 

A
n

ci
en

t 
W

o
o

d
la

n
d

 

LN
R

s 

SI
N

C
s 

SL
IN

C
s 

G
eo

lo
gi

ca
l 

Si
te

s 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

H
ab

it
at

s 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH5 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - 0 - 0 0 

SH6 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH7 HSG/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH8 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH9 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

29 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH10 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH11 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH12 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

34 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

35 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

36 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

38 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

40 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

42 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

43 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

44 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

45 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

46 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH13 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SH14 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH15 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

52 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH16 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SH17 HSG/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

56 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH23 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

63 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH24 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

71 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

74 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1422



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C24 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

H
ab

it
at

s 
Si

te
s 

SS
SI

s 
an

d
 IR

Zs
 

N
N

R
s 

A
n

ci
en

t 
W

o
o

d
la

n
d

 

LN
R

s 

SI
N

C
s 

SL
IN

C
s 

G
eo

lo
gi

ca
l 

Si
te

s 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

H
ab

it
at

s 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH34 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SH35 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - 0 - 0 - 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SH37 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SEC3-66 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

91 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH39 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH40 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH41 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

SH42 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-3 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

110 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

118 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

120 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - 0 - 0 0 

132 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

137 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

140 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 - 

142 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH43 HSG +/- 0 0 0 - -- - 0 0 

SH44 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH45 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH46 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH47 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

171 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH48 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

173 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH49 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH50 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

176 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

177 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

178 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH51 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH52 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH53 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH54 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH55 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH56 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1423



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C25 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

H
ab

it
at

s 
Si

te
s 

SS
SI

s 
an

d
 IR

Zs
 

N
N

R
s 

A
n

ci
en

t 
W

o
o

d
la

n
d

 

LN
R

s 

SI
N

C
s 

SL
IN

C
s 

G
eo

lo
gi

ca
l 

Si
te

s 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

H
ab

it
at

s 

SH57 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH58 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SG1 GTTS +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

188 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

189 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH59 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

191 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH61 HSG +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-1 EMP +/- 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-8 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-6 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-2 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SEC1-7 EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 

199 Mixed-use +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
  

Page 1424



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C26 

C.5 SA Objective 4: Climate Change 
Mitigation 

C.5.1 Potential Increase in Carbon Footprint 

C.5.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in an increase in carbon emissions, to some 

extent.  51 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for 

the development of 120 dwellings or less.  The proposed development at these sites would 

be likely to result in a negligible contribution to Sandwell’s total carbon emissions.   

C.5.1.2 15 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the 

development of between 121 and 1,120 dwellings.  The proposed development at these 

sites could potentially increase local carbon emissions, as a proportion of Sandwell’s total, 

by more than 0.1%.  Therefore, a minor negative impact on Sandwell’s carbon emissions 

would be expected at these 14 sites. 

C.5.1.3 The carbon emissions likely to be generated as a result of non-residential development is 

uncertain.  This would be entirely dependent on the nature and scale of the employment 

land proposed, which is unknown at present.  The nature and design of pitches/plots which 

could be developed at GTTS sites is also unknown and therefore the potential increase in 

carbon footprint associated with Site SG1 (proposed solely for GTTS use) is also uncertain.  

Therefore, the 37 sites which are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses 

(i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use) 

are also recorded as uncertain for the purpose of this assessment.  

C.5.1.4 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 

dwellings.  Therefore, the proposed development at this site would expect to have a minor 

negative impact on Sandwell’s carbon emissions.  

Table C.5.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 4 – Climate change mitigation 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Potential increase 
in carbon footprint 

SEC3-181 EMP +/- 

SEC4-1 EMP +/- 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-99 EMP +/- 

SH1 HSG 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-46 EMP  +/- 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-29 EMP +/- 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-4 EMP +/- 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1425



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C27 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Potential increase 
in carbon footprint 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-133 HSG 0 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC1-4 EMP +/- 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH5 HSG 0 

SH6 HSG - 

SH7 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH8 HSG 0 

SH9 HSG 0 

29 HSG 0 

SH10 HSG 0 

SH11 HSG - 

SH12 HSG 0 

34 HSG 0 

35 HSG/EMP +/- 

36 HSG 0 

38 HSG 0 

40 HSG 0 

42 HSG 0 

43 HSG 0 

44 HSG 0 

45 HSG/EMP +/- 

46 HSG 0 

SH13 HSG 0 

SH14 HSG 0 

SH15 HSG 0 

52 EMP +/- 

SH16 HSG - 

SH17 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- 

56 HSG 0 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH23 HSG 0 

63 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH24 HSG 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1426



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C28 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Potential increase 
in carbon footprint 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- 

71 HSG 0 

74 EMP +/- 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH34 HSG - 

SH35 HSG - 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH37 HSG - 

SEC3-66 EMP +/- 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- 

91 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH39 HSG 0 

SH40 HSG 0 

SH41 HSG - 

SH42 HSG 0 

SEC1-3 EMP +/- 

110 HSG/EMP +/- 

118 HSG 0 

120 HSG 0 

132 HSG 0 

137 HSG 0 

140 HSG 0 

142 HSG 0 

SH43 HSG 0 

SH44 HSG 0 

SH45 HSG 0 

SH46 HSG 0 

SH47 HSG 0 

171 HSG - 

SH48 HSG 0 

173 HSG 0 

SH49 HSG - 

SH50 HSG 0 

176 HSG 0 

177 HSG - 

178 HSG - 

SH51 HSG 0 

SH52 HSG - 

SH53 HSG 0 

Page 1427



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C29 

Site 
Reference  

Site Use 
Potential increase 
in carbon footprint 

SH54 HSG - 

SH55 HSG 0 

SH56 HSG 0 

SH57 HSG 0 

SH58 HSG - 

SG1 GTTS +/- 

188 HSG 0 

189 HSG 0 

SH59 HSG 0 

191 HSG 0 

SH61 HSG 0 

SEC1-1 EMP +/- 

SEC1-8 EMP +/- 

SEC1-5 EMP +/- 

SEC1-6 EMP +/- 

SEC1-2 EMP +/- 

SEC1-7 EMP +/- 

199 Mixed-use - 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- 

 

  

Page 1428



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C30 

C.6 SA Objective 5: Climate Change 
Adaptation  

C.6.1 Flood Zones 

C.6.1.1 Flood Zones 2 and 3 occur alongside watercourses throughout the borough, such as the 

River Tame, with the majority of areas at risk of fluvial flooding found towards the north.  

The majority of sites are located wholly within Flood Zone 1 and therefore would be 

expected to have a minor positive impact on flooding, as the proposed development at 

these sites would be likely to locate site end users away from areas at risk of fluvial 

flooding.   

C.6.1.2 However, nine sites  (SH5, SH16, SH28, SH35, SH36, 132, SH59, SEC1-7, and 199) are 

largely located or partially located within Flood Zone 3; therefore, the proposed 

development at these sites could potentially have a major negative impact on flooding in 

the area and exacerbate existing issues of flooding in Sandwell.  Additionally, Sites SH2 

and 110 are located partially within Flood Zone 2, and therefore, the proposed 

development at these two sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on flooding.   

C.6.2 Indicative Flood Zone 3b 

C.6.2.1 Indicative Flood Zone 3b is present in areas where flooding will potentially worsen in the 

future due to climate change, areas of which are scattered throughout Sandwell generally 

covering areas currently within Flood Zone 3a according to the Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment (SFRA)4.  Five sites (SEC3-9, SH35, SH36, 110, SH59) coincide with Indicative 

Flood Zone 3b.  Therefore, the proposed development at these five sites could potentially 

have a major negative impact on flooding and may exacerbate existing issues of flooding 

in Sandwell.   

C.6.2.2 There are no other sites within Sandwell which are located within Indicative Flood Zone 

3b, and therefore, the remaining sites could potentially have a negligible impact on 

contributing to flooding issues in the future, although further site-specific assessments and 

reference to emerging data would help to provide a more accurate picture of changing 

flood risk due to climate change. 

C.6.3 Surface Water Flood Risk 

C.6.3.1 Surface Water Flood Risk (SWFR) is categorised into low (1/1000), medium (1/100) and 

high (1/30) in relation to the probability of surface water flooding occurring in a given 

area.  Areas affected by surface water flooding can be found throughout Sandwell, in 

particular along roads, as well as within urban parkland, and associated with ponds and 

watercourses.  36 sites coincide with an area of high SWFR, and therefore, the proposed 

development at these sites could potentially have a major negative impact on surface 

 
4 JBA Consulting (2020) The Black Country Authorities Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Final Report 25th June 2020. 

Available at: https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4h/ [Date accessed: 20/06/23] 

Page 1429

https://blackcountryplan.dudley.gov.uk/t2/p4/t2p4h/


R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C31 

water flooding in the area, as development would be likely to locate site end users in areas 

at high risk of surface water flooding as well as exacerbate pluvial flood risk in surrounding 

locations.   

C.6.3.2 Additionally, a further 52 sites coincide with areas of low and/or medium SWFR, and as 

such, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative 

impact on surface water flooding in the area.   

C.6.3.3 The remaining sites which do not coincide with any significant areas of SWFR would be 

expected to have a negligible impact on surface water flooding. 

Table C.6.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 5 – Climate change adaptation 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use Fluvial Flood Zones 
Indicative Flood 

Zone 3b 
Surface Water 

Flood Risk 

SEC3-181 EMP + 0 - 

SEC4-1 EMP + 0 -- 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP + -- - 

SEC3-99 EMP + 0 - 

SH1 HSG + 0 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-46 EMP  + 0 -- 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-29 EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SH2 HSG/EMP - 0 -- 

SEC4-4 EMP + 0 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-133 HSG + 0 - 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SEC1-4 EMP + 0 -- 

SH3 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SH4 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH5 HSG -- 0 -- 

SH6 HSG + 0 - 

SH7 HSG/GTTS + 0 - 

SH8 HSG + 0 0 

SH9 HSG + 0 - 

29 HSG + 0 - 

SH10 HSG + 0 0 

SH11 HSG + 0 - 

SH12 HSG + 0 0 

34 HSG + 0 - 

35 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

36 HSG + 0 - 

Page 1430



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C32 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use Fluvial Flood Zones 

Indicative Flood 
Zone 3b 

Surface Water 
Flood Risk 

38 HSG + 0 0 

40 HSG + 0 - 

42 HSG + 0 - 

43 HSG + 0 0 

44 HSG + 0 - 

45 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

46 HSG + 0 0 

SH13 HSG + 0 - 

SH14 HSG + 0 -- 

SH15 HSG + 0 - 

52 EMP + 0 - 

SH16 HSG -- 0 - 

SH17 HSG/GTTS + 0 - 

SH18 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

56 HSG + 0 - 

SH19 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS + 0 - 

SH21 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH22 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SH23 HSG + 0 - 

63 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH24 HSG + 0 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SH26 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

SH27 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SH28 HSG/EMP -- 0 - 

SH29 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

71 HSG + 0 0 

74 EMP + 0 - 

SH30 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS + 0 -- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS + 0 0 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS + 0 - 

SH34 HSG + 0 0 

SH35 HSG -- -- -- 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS -- -- - 

SH37 HSG + 0 -- 

SEC3-66 EMP + 0 - 

SH38 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 

91 HSG/EMP + 0 - 

SH39 HSG + 0 0 

SH40 HSG + 0 -- 

SH41 HSG + 0 -- 

SH42 HSG + 0 - 

SEC1-3 EMP + 0 - 

Page 1431



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C33 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use Fluvial Flood Zones 

Indicative Flood 
Zone 3b 

Surface Water 
Flood Risk 

110 HSG/EMP - -- 0 

118 HSG + 0 - 

120 HSG + 0 0 

132 HSG -- 0 -- 

137 HSG + 0 0 

140 HSG + 0 0 

142 HSG + 0 0 

SH43 HSG + 0 - 

SH44 HSG + 0 0 

SH45 HSG + 0 0 

SH46 HSG + 0 -- 

SH47 HSG + 0 0 

171 HSG + 0 - 

SH48 HSG + 0 -- 

173 HSG + 0 -- 

SH49 HSG + 0 0 

SH50 HSG + 0 - 

176 HSG + 0 0 

177 HSG + 0 - 

178 HSG + 0 -- 

SH51 HSG + 0 0 

SH52 HSG + 0 - 

SH53 HSG + 0 - 

SH54 HSG + 0 -- 

SH55 HSG + 0 -- 

SH56 HSG + 0 0 

SH57 HSG + 0 -- 

SH58 HSG + 0 - 

SG1 GTTS + 0 -- 

188 HSG + 0 0 

189 HSG + 0 0 

SH59 HSG -- -- - 

191 HSG + 0 - 

SH61 HSG + 0 -- 

SEC1-1 EMP + 0 -- 

SEC1-8 EMP + 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP + 0 -- 

SEC1-6 EMP + 0 -- 

SEC1-2 EMP + 0 - 

SEC1-7 EMP -- 0 -- 

199 Mixed-use -- 0 -- 

SH60 HSG/EMP + 0 -- 
 
 
  

Page 1432



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C34 

C.7 SA Objective 6: Natural Resources 

C.7.1 Previously Undeveloped Land / Land with Environmental Value 

C.7.1.1 Sandwell is principally built-up, although it also contains a range of large green spaces 

distributed throughout the borough and a small proportion of undeveloped Green Belt land 

in the north east.   

C.7.1.2 51 sites in Sandwell wholly comprise previously developed land which would be likely to 

have little or no environmental value.  The proposed development at these sites would be 

expected to have a minor positive impact on natural resources as development would be 

classed as an efficient use of land.  

C.7.1.3 There are 20 sites which wholly comprise greenfield land and are likely to contain areas 

of environmental value such as hedgerows, trees and scrub that would expect to be lost 

upon development.  Furthermore, 50 sites are partially previously developed / brownfield 

sites but also include areas of environmental value that could additionally be lost or 

degraded by the proposed development.  The proposed development at these 70 sites 

would be expected to have a minor negative impact on natural resources due to the 

potential loss of ecologically or environmentally valuable soil resources.   

C.7.2 Agricultural Land Classification 

C.7.2.1 The land within Sandwell Borough is almost entirely ‘Urban’ according to the Agricultural 

Land Classification (ALC), with a small proportion of ‘Non-Agricultural’ and Grade 4 land in 

the north east.  Only a very small area in the north east, within Sandwell Valley Country 

Park, is classed as Grade 3, which potentially represents some of the ‘best and most 

versatile’ (BMV) land within Sandwell.   

C.7.2.2 The proposed development at the 70 sites within Sandwell which wholly or partially 

comprise previously undeveloped land would be likely to have a minor positive impact on 

natural resources due to being located upon areas of less agriculturally important ‘Urban’ 

and/or ‘Non-Agricultural’ land, which would help to prevent the loss of BMV land across 

the Plan area. 

C.7.2.3 The proposed development at the 51 sites which are located wholly on previously 

developed land would be likely to have a negligible impact on agricultural land. 

C.7.3 Mineral Safeguarding Areas / Areas of Search 

C.7.3.1 There are no Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) or Areas of Search (AOS) identified within 

Sandwell.  All proposed sites in Sandwell would be expected to result in a negligible impact 

on mineral resources. 

  

Page 1433



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C35 

Table C.7.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 6 – Natural resources 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Previously 
Undeveloped Land / 

Land with 
Environmental 

Value 

ALC Grade 
Mineral 

Safeguarding Areas 
/ Areas of Search 

SEC3-181 EMP + 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP - + 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC3-99 EMP + 0 0 

SH1 HSG + 0 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC3-46 EMP  - + 0 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC3-29 EMP - + 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH2 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SEC4-4 EMP - + 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SEC3-133 HSG - + 0 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SEC1-4 EMP - + 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH4 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SH5 HSG - + 0 

SH6 HSG - + 0 

SH7 HSG/GTTS - + 0 

SH8 HSG + 0 0 

SH9 HSG - + 0 

29 HSG + 0 0 

SH10 HSG - + 0 

SH11 HSG - + 0 

SH12 HSG + 0 0 

34 HSG - + 0 

35 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

36 HSG - + 0 

38 HSG + 0 0 

40 HSG + 0 0 

42 HSG - + 0 

43 HSG - + 0 

44 HSG - + 0 

45 HSG/EMP - + 0 

46 HSG + 0 0 

Page 1434



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C36 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Previously 
Undeveloped Land / 

Land with 
Environmental 

Value 

ALC Grade 
Mineral 

Safeguarding Areas 
/ Areas of Search 

SH13 HSG + 0 0 

SH14 HSG + 0 0 

SH15 HSG + 0 0 

52 EMP + 0 0 

SH16 HSG - + 0 

SH17 HSG/GTTS + 0 0 

SH18 HSG/EMP - + 0 

56 HSG - + 0 

SH19 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS - + 0 

SH21 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH22 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SH23 HSG + 0 0 

63 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SH24 HSG + 0 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH26 HSG/EMP - + 0 

SH27 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH28 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH29 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

71 HSG - + 0 

74 EMP + 0 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS - + 0 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS + 0 0 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS - + 0 

SH34 HSG - + 0 

SH35 HSG - + 0 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS - + 0 

SH37 HSG - + 0 

SEC3-66 EMP - + 0 

SH38 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

91 HSG/EMP + 0 0 

SH39 HSG + 0 0 

SH40 HSG + 0 0 

SH41 HSG - + 0 

SH42 HSG + 0 0 

SEC1-3 EMP - + 0 

110 HSG/EMP - + 0 

118 HSG - + 0 

120 HSG - + 0 

132 HSG - + 0 

Page 1435



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C37 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Previously 
Undeveloped Land / 

Land with 
Environmental 

Value 

ALC Grade 
Mineral 

Safeguarding Areas 
/ Areas of Search 

137 HSG - + 0 

140 HSG - + 0 

142 HSG - + 0 

SH43 HSG - + 0 

SH44 HSG - + 0 

SH45 HSG + 0 0 

SH46 HSG - + 0 

SH47 HSG - + 0 

171 HSG + 0 0 

SH48 HSG + 0 0 

173 HSG + 0 0 

SH49 HSG + 0 0 

SH50 HSG - + 0 

176 HSG - + 0 

177 HSG + 0 0 

178 HSG + 0 0 

SH51 HSG - + 0 

SH52 HSG + 0 0 

SH53 HSG + 0 0 

SH54 HSG - + 0 

SH55 HSG - + 0 

SH56 HSG + 0 0 

SH57 HSG + 0 0 

SH58 HSG - + 0 

SG1 GTTS - + 0 

188 HSG - + 0 

189 HSG - + 0 

SH59 HSG - + 0 

191 HSG - + 0 

SH61 HSG + 0 0 

SEC1-1 EMP + 0 0 

SEC1-8 EMP - + 0 

SEC1-5 EMP - + 0 

SEC1-6 EMP + 0 0 

SEC1-2 EMP - + 0 

SEC1-7 EMP - + 0 

199 Mixed-use - + 0 

SH60 HSG/EMP - + 0 

 

  

Page 1436



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C38 

C.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution 

C.8.1 Air Quality Management Area 

C.8.1.1 The entirety of Sandwell borough is classed as ‘Sandwell Air Quality Management Area’ 

(AQMA).  All sites are located wholly within this AQMA, whilst several sites are also located 

partially within 200m of the adjacent ‘Walsall AQMA’, ‘Birmingham AQMA’ or ‘Dudley 

AQMA’.  The proposed development at all sites would be likely to locate site end users in 

areas of existing poor air quality and have a minor negative impact on air pollution. 

C.8.2 Main Road 

C.8.2.1 Many major roads pass through Sandwell, including the A34, A4041, M5, and the M6 

Motorway.  59 of the sites proposed within Sandwell are located within 200m of a main 

road, including Site 137 which is adjacent to the M6 and Sites 35, 91, and SEC1-3 which 

are adjacent to the M5.  Therefore, the proposed development at these 59 sites could 

potentially expose site end users to higher levels of transport associated air and noise 

pollution.  Traffic using these main roads would be expected to have a minor negative 

impact on air quality and noise at these sites.   

C.8.2.2 The proposed development at the remaining sites which are over 200m from a main road 

would be expected to have a negligible impact on transport associated air and noise 

pollution associated with main roads. 

C.8.3 Watercourse 

C.8.3.1 There are several watercourses within Sandwell, including the River Tame and various 

canals and brooks.  24 sites coincide with or are located within 10m of various 

watercourses.  The proposed development at these sites would be likely to increase the 

risk of contamination of these watercourses, and therefore have a minor negative impact 

on water quality.   

C.8.3.2 The remaining 97 sites which are located over 10m from watercourses are less likely to 

have a significant impact on the quality of watercourses, however, each site would need 

to be evaluated according to land use type, size of development and exact location.  The 

proposed development at all sites has the potential to lead to adverse impacts such as 

those resulting from runoff.  At this stage, the potential effects of these 97 sites on water 

quality are uncertain and would depend upon implementation.  

C.8.4 Groundwater Source Protection Zone 

C.8.4.1 Source Protection Zones (SPZs) for groundwater within Sandwell are located only within 

the south east of the borough.  SPZs are grouped from 1 to 3 based on the level of 

protection that the groundwater requires.  13 sites in Sandwell are located within the total 

catchment (zone 3) of this SPZ.  The proposed development at these sites could potentially 

increase the risk of groundwater contamination within the SPZ and have a minor negative 

impact on the quality or status of groundwater resources.   

Page 1437



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C39 

C.8.4.2 The remaining sites in Sandwell do not coincide with the catchment of any SPZ; therefore, 

the proposed development at these 108 sites would be expected to have a negligible 

impact on quality or status of groundwater. 

C.8.5 Potential Increase in Air Pollution 

C.8.5.1 18 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the 

development of 100 or more dwellings and Site SEC3-66 is proposed solely for non-

residential use and comprises more than 1ha.  The proposed development at these 19 

sites could potentially result in a significant increase in local air pollution; therefore, a 

major negative impact would be expected. 

C.8.5.2 47 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the 

development of between ten and 99 dwellings, and 12 sites are proposed solely for non-

residential end use and comprise between one and 10ha.  Therefore, the proposed 

development at these 59 sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on air 

pollution in the local area. 

C.8.5.3 Four proposed employment sites SEC3-181, SEC3-46, 74, and SEC1-8 comprise less than 

1ha and would be expected to have a negligible impact on local air pollution.  

C.8.5.4 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could 

potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use) and therefore at 

the time of writing the potential increase air pollution as a result of construction and 

occupation is uncertain.  However, a negative impact would be expected to a certain 

degree.  

C.8.5.5 The nature and design of pitches/plots which could be developed at GTTS sites is unknown 

at present.  Therefore, potential increases in air pollution as a result of the construction 

and occupation of Site 187 (proposed solely for GTTS use) are uncertain.  

C.8.5.6 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 

dwellings.  Therefore, the proposed development at this site would expect to have a major 

negative impact on air pollution.  

Table C.8.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 7 – Pollution 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use AQMA 
Main 
Road 

Watercourse 
Groundwater 

SPZ 

Potential 
Increase 

in Air 
Pollution 

SEC3-181 EMP - 0 +/- 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SEC3-99 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

SH1 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SEC3-46 EMP  - 0 +/- 0 0 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

Page 1438



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C40 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use AQMA 
Main 
Road 

Watercourse 
Groundwater 

SPZ 

Potential 
Increase 

in Air 
Pollution 

SEC3-29 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

SH2 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

SEC4-4 EMP - 0 +/- - - 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SEC3-133 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP - 0 - 0 +/- 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SEC1-4 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

SH3 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH4 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH5 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH6 HSG - - +/- 0 -- 

SH7 HSG/GTTS - - - 0 +/- 

SH8 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH9 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

29 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH10 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH11 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

SH12 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

34 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

35 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

36 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

38 HSG - - +/- - - 

40 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

42 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

43 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

44 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

45 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

46 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH13 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH14 HSG - 0 - 0 - 

SH15 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

52 EMP - 0 - 0 -- 

SH16 HSG - - - 0 -- 

SH17 HSG/GTTS - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH18 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

56 HSG - 0 +/- - - 

SH19 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH21 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

Page 1439



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C41 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use AQMA 
Main 
Road 

Watercourse 
Groundwater 

SPZ 

Potential 
Increase 

in Air 
Pollution 

SH22 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH23 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

63 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH24 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH25 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH26 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

SH27 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH28 HSG/EMP - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH29 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

71 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

74 EMP - - +/- 0 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS - - +/- 0 +/- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

SH34 HSG - - - 0 -- 

SH35 HSG - 0 - 0 -- 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS - 0 - 0 +/- 

SH37 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

SEC3-66 EMP - 0 - - -- 

SH38 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

91 HSG/EMP - - - 0 +/- 

SH39 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH40 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH41 HSG - - - - -- 

SH42 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SEC1-3 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

110 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 

118 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

120 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

132 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

137 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

140 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

142 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH43 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH44 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH45 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH46 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH47 HSG - - - 0 - 

171 HSG - - +/- 0 -- 

SH48 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

173 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH49 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

Page 1440



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C42 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use AQMA 
Main 
Road 

Watercourse 
Groundwater 

SPZ 

Potential 
Increase 

in Air 
Pollution 

SH50 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

176 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

177 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

178 HSG - 0 +/- 0 -- 

SH51 HSG - - +/- 0 - 

SH52 HSG - - +/- 0 -- 

SH53 HSG - - +/- - - 

SH54 HSG - 0 - - -- 

SH55 HSG - - +/- - -- 

SH56 HSG - 0 +/- - - 

SH57 HSG - 0 +/- - - 

SH58 HSG - 0 +/- - -- 

SG1 GTTS - 0 +/- 0 +/- 

188 HSG - - - 0 - 

189 HSG - 0 +/- 0 - 

SH59 HSG - - - 0 - 

191 HSG - - - - - 

SH61 HSG - - +/- - - 

SEC1-1 EMP - 0 - 0 - 

SEC1-8 EMP - 0  +/- 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP - 0 +/- 0 - 

SEC1-6 EMP - 0 - 0 - 

SEC1-2 EMP - - +/- 0 - 

SEC1-7 EMP - 0 +/- 0 - 

199 Mixed-use - 0 +/- 0 -- 

SH60 HSG/EMP - - +/- 0 +/- 
 
  

Page 1441



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C43 

C.9 SA Objective 8: Waste 

C.9.1 Potential Increase in Household Waste Generation 

C.9.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in an increase in household waste 

generation, to some extent.   

C.9.1.2 52 sites proposed solely for residential development are identified as having capacity for 

the development of 130 dwellings or less.  The proposed development at these sites would 

be expected to have a negligible impact on household waste generation in comparison to 

current levels.   

C.9.1.3 13 sites proposed solely for residential development are identified as having capacity for 

the development of between 131 and 1,313 dwellings.  The proposed development at 

these sites would be expected to increase household waste generation by more than 0.1% 

in comparison to current levels.  Therefore, the proposed development at these sites could 

potentially result in a minor negative impact on household waste generation. 

C.9.1.4 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 

dwellings.  Therefore, the site would expect to have a minor negative impact on household 

waste generation.  

C.9.1.5 The waste likely to be generated as a result of non-residential development is uncertain 

and therefore the impact of the proposed development at 15 employment sites is 

uncertain.  Furthermore, the nature and design of pitches/plots which could be developed 

at the GTTS site 187 is unknown at present.  Therefore, potential increases in household 

waste generation as a result of the construction and occupation of this site is also 

uncertain.   

C.9.1.6 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could 

potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  The waste likely 

to be generated from the proposed development at these sites is therefore uncertain.  

Table C.9.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 8 – Waste 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Potential Increase in 
Household Waste 

Generation 

SEC3-181 EMP +/- 

SEC4-1 EMP +/- 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-99 EMP +/- 

SH1 HSG 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-46 EMP +/- 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-29 EMP +/- 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1442



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C44 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Potential Increase in 
Household Waste 

Generation 

SEC4-4 EMP +/- 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP 0 

SEC3-133 HSG +/- 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC1-4 EMP +/- 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH5 HSG 0 

SH6 HSG - 

SH7 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH8 HSG 0 

SH9 HSG 0 

29 HSG 0 

SH10 HSG 0 

SH11 HSG - 

SH12 HSG 0 

34 HSG 0 

35 HSG/EMP +/- 

36 HSG 0 

38 HSG 0 

40 HSG 0 

42 HSG 0 

43 HSG 0 

44 HSG 0 

45 HSG/EMP +/- 

46 HSG 0 

SH13 HSG 0 

SH14 HSG 0 

SH15 HSG 0 

52 EMP +/- 

SH16 HSG - 

SH17 HSG/GTTS +/- 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- 

56 HSG 0 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH23 HSG 0 

63 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH24 HSG 0 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1443



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C45 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Potential Increase in 
Household Waste 

Generation 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- 

71 HSG 0 

74 EMP +/- 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH34 HSG - 

SH35 HSG - 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH37 HSG - 

SEC3-66 EMP +/- 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- 

91 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH39 HSG 0 

SH40 HSG 0 

SH41 HSG - 

SH42 HSG 0 

SEC1-3 EMP +/- 

110 HSG/EMP +/- 

118 HSG 0 

120 HSG 0 

132 HSG 0 

137 HSG 0 

140 HSG 0 

142 HSG 0 

SH43 HSG 0 

SH44 HSG 0 

SH45 HSG 0 

SH46 HSG 0 

SH47 HSG 0 

171 HSG - 

SH48 HSG 0 

173 HSG 0 

SH49 HSG - 

SH50 HSG 0 

176 HSG 0 

177 HSG - 

178 HSG - 

SH51 HSG 0 

SH52 HSG - 

SH53 HSG 0 

Page 1444



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C46 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

Potential Increase in 
Household Waste 

Generation 

SH54 HSG 0 

SH55 HSG 0 

SH56 HSG 0 

SH57 HSG 0 

SH58 HSG - 

SG1 GTTS +/- 

188 HSG 0 

189 HSG 0 

SH59 HSG 0 

191 HSG 0 

SH61 HSG 0 

SEC1-1 EMP +/- 

SEC1-8 EMP +/- 

SEC1-5 EMP +/- 

SEC1-6 EMP +/- 

SEC1-2 EMP +/- 

SEC1-7 EMP +/- 

199 Mixed-use - 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- 

 

  

Page 1445



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C47 

C.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and 
Accessibility 

C.10.1 Bus Stop 

C.10.1.1 In Sandwell, there are many bus stops, which would be expected to generally provide 

good public transport access, with the exception of some small areas to the east of the 

borough and pockets in the centre where bus stops are more thinly distributed.  The 

majority of sites within Sandwell are located within 400m of a bus stop (118 sites in total), 

and therefore, the proposed development at these sites would be expected to have a 

minor positive impact on access to sustainable transport options.   

C.10.1.2 Three sites (SH18, SH35, and SH36) are located wholly or partially outside of the 

sustainable distance of 400m from a bus stop providing regular services, and therefore, 

the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact 

on site end users’ access to sustainable transport.   

C.10.2 Railway Station 

C.10.2.1 There are several railway stations located within the borough of Sandwell, as well as many 

metro stations located along the West Midlands Metro line which goes through West 

Bromwich Central Station.  A large proportion of the borough would be expected to have 

good access to these stations, although small areas in the south west, south east and 

north east lie outside of a sustainable 2km distance from these stations.  The majority of 

the sites are located within 2km of a railway station, and therefore, the proposed 

development at these 117 sites would be likely to have a minor positive impact on access 

to rail services.   

C.10.2.2 However, four sites (SH12, SH37, SH42, and 120) are located over 2km from a railway 

station, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a 

minor negative impact on site end users’ access to rail services.   

C.10.3 Pedestrian Access 

C.10.3.1 Sites with good pedestrian access can be described those with existing pavements or 

pathways which are segregated from traffic use in the area, which are generally well 

distributed throughout Sandwell, due to its built-up nature.  The majority of the sites within 

Sandwell are well connected to the existing footpath networks.  Therefore, the proposed 

development at these 119 sites would be likely to have a minor positive impact on local 

transport and accessibility, by potentially encouraging travel by foot and reducing 

requirement for new pedestrian access to be created.   

C.10.3.2 However, Sites SEC3-29 and SH2 currently have poor access to the existing footpath 

network.  Therefore, the proposed development at these two sites could potentially have 

a minor negative impact on local accessibility, and pedestrian access to the wider 

community would need improvement to be considered a viable transport option. 

Page 1446



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C48 

C.10.4 Road Access 

C.10.4.1 A network of major and minor roads can be found throughout Sandwell, which would be 

expected to provide good road access in the local area and nationally.  The majority of 

sites proposed within Sandwell are adjacent to a road, and therefore, the proposed 

development at these 118 sites would be expected to provide site end users with good 

access to the existing road network, resulting in a minor positive impact on transport and 

accessibility.   

C.10.4.2 However, three sites (SEC3-29, SH2, and SEC4-4) are not accessible from the current road 

network.  The proposed development at these three sites could potentially result in a minor 

negative impact on accessibility as more significant infrastructure improvements would 

likely be required compared to other sites. 

C.10.5 Pedestrian Access to Local Services 

C.10.5.1 Sites with sustainable pedestrian access to local fresh food and services in Sandwell are 

considered to be those within a 15-minute walking distance.  According to accessibility 

modelling data, a large proportion of the borough meets these criteria, however, there are 

some sections in the north east, south west and centre of the borough where pedestrian 

access to services is likely to be more restricted.  90 sites are identified to be within a 15-

minute walking distance to local services.  Of these 90 sites, 59 are located within a 10-

minute walking distance and would be expected to have a major positive impact on 

sustainable access to local services, and the remaining 31 sites are located within a 15-

minute walking distance and would be expected to have a minor positive impact on 

sustainable access to local services.  

C.10.5.2 The remaining 31 sites are located wholly or partially outside of a 15-minute walking 

distance to these services, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could 

potentially have a minor negative impact on the sustainable access of site end users to 

local services, based on current infrastructure.   

C.10.6 Public Transport Access to Local Services 

C.10.6.1 Accessibility modelling data indicates that almost the entirety of the borough has good 

sustainable transport access to local fresh food and services, within 15 minutes travel time 

via public transport.  The majority of sites (119 in total) are situated within the sustainable 

travel time via public transport to local services.  Of these 119 sites, 102 sites are located 

within 10 minutes travel time via public transport to local services and would be expected 

to have a major positive impact on the access of site end users to local services.  The 

remaining 17 sites out of the 119 are within a 15-minute travel time via public transport 

and would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the access of site end users to 

local services. 

C.10.6.2 Site 35 and 56 are wholly located outside a 15 minute travel time via public transport and 

would be expected to have a minor negative impact on the access of site end users to 

local services, based on current infrastructure.  

  

Page 1447



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C49 

Table C.10.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 9 – Transport and accessibility 

Site 
Referenc

e 

Site Use Bus Stop 
Railway 
Station 

Pedestri
an 

Access 

Road 
Access 

Pedestri
an 

Access 
to Local 
Services 

Public 
Transpor
t Access 
to Local 
Services 

SEC3-181 EMP + + + + + ++ 

SEC4-1 EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC3-99 EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH1 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP + + + + + ++ 

SEC3-46 EMP  + + + + - ++ 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP + + + + + ++ 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC3-29 EMP + + - - - + 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH2 HSG/EMP + + - - ++ ++ 

SEC4-4 EMP + + + - - + 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC3-133 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP + + + + - + 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC1-4 EMP + + + + + ++ 

SH3 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH4 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH5 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH6 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH7 HSG/GTTS + + + + ++ ++ 

SH8 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH9 HSG + + + + + + 

29 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH10 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH11 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH12 HSG + - + + - + 

34 HSG + + + + + ++ 

35 HSG/EMP + + + + - - 

36 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

38 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

40 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

42 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

43 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

44 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

45 HSG/EMP + + + + - + 

46 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

Page 1448



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C50 

Site 
Referenc
e 

Site Use Bus Stop 
Railway 
Station 

Pedestri
an 

Access 

Road 
Access 

Pedestri
an 

Access 
to Local 
Services 

Public 
Transpor
t Access 
to Local 
Services 

SH13 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH14 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH15 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

52 EMP + + + + + ++ 

SH16 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH17 HSG/GTTS + + + + - ++ 

SH18 HSG/EMP - + + + + ++ 

56 HSG + + + + - - 

SH19 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS + + + + ++ ++ 

SH21 HSG/EMP + + + + - ++ 

SH22 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH23 HSG + + + + - ++ 

63 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH24 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH25 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH26 HSG/EMP + + + + + + 

SH27 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH28 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH29 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

71 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

74 EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH30 HSG/EMP + + + + + + 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS + + + + - ++ 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS + + + + ++ ++ 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS + + + + ++ ++ 

SH34 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH35 HSG - + + + - ++ 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS - + + + - ++ 

SH37 HSG + - + + - + 

SEC3-66 EMP + + + + - + 

SH38 HSG/EMP + + + + - ++ 

91 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SH39 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH40 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH41 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH42 HSG + - + + + ++ 

SEC1-3 EMP + + + + + ++ 

110 HSG/EMP + + + + + + 

118 HSG + + + + - ++ 

120 HSG + - + + + ++ 

132 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

Page 1449



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C51 

Site 
Referenc
e 

Site Use Bus Stop 
Railway 
Station 

Pedestri
an 

Access 

Road 
Access 

Pedestri
an 

Access 
to Local 
Services 

Public 
Transpor
t Access 
to Local 
Services 

137 HSG + + + + + ++ 

140 HSG + + + + - ++ 

142 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH43 HSG + + + + - ++ 

SH44 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH45 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH46 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH47 HSG + + + + + ++ 

171 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH48 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

173 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH49 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH50 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

176 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

177 HSG + + + + + ++ 

178 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

SH51 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH52 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH53 HSG + + + + - + 

SH54 HSG + + + + - + 

SH55 HSG + + + + - + 

SH56 HSG + + + + - ++ 

SH57 HSG + + + + - ++ 

SH58 HSG + + + + - + 

SG1 GTTS + + + + - ++ 

188 HSG + + + + ++ ++ 

189 HSG + + + + - ++ 

SH59 HSG + + + + + ++ 

191 HSG + + + + + ++ 

SH61 HSG + + + + - + 

SEC1-1 EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC1-8 EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

SEC1-5 EMP + + + + + ++ 

SEC1-6 EMP + + + + - + 

SEC1-2 EMP + + + + + ++ 

SEC1-7 EMP + + + + - ++ 

199 Mixed-use + + + + ++ ++ 

SH60 HSG/EMP + + + + ++ ++ 

 
  

Page 1450



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C52 

C.11 SA Objective 10: Housing 

C.11.1 Housing Provision 

C.11.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in a net gain in housing.  The sites in 

Sandwell proposed solely for residential use would therefore be expected to result in 

positive impacts under this objective.  Sites which have been identified as having capacity 

for 100 or more dwellings would be expected to make a significant contribution towards 

meeting housing needs if developed, and as such, result in a major positive impact on 

housing provision.  Sites which have been identified as having capacity for 99 dwellings or 

less would be expected to result in a minor positive impact on housing provision.   

C.11.1.2 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200.  The 

site would therefore expect to have a major positive impact on housing provision.  

C.11.1.3 Employment-led sites in Sandwell would not be expected to result in a net change in 

housing provision and therefore a negligible impact would be likely. 

C.11.1.4 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could 

potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  Therefore, it is 

uncertain whether these sites would result in a net change in housing provision.  A minor 

positive impact is however identified for the two housing/GTTS sites as these sites would 

increase housing provision to some extent.  

Table C.11.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 10 – Housing  

Site 

Reference 
Site Use 

Housing 
Provision 

SEC3-181 EMP 0 

SEC4-1 EMP 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-99 EMP 0 

SH1 HSG + 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-46 EMP  0 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-29 EMP 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-4 EMP 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-133 HSG + 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- 

Page 1451



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C53 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 
Housing 

Provision 

SEC1-4 EMP 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH5 HSG + 

SH6 HSG ++ 

SH7 HSG/GTTS + 

SH8 HSG + 

SH9 HSG + 

29 HSG + 

SH10 HSG + 

SH11 HSG ++ 

SH12 HSG + 

34 HSG + 

35 HSG/EMP +/- 

36 HSG + 

38 HSG + 

40 HSG + 

42 HSG + 

43 HSG + 

44 HSG + 

45 HSG/EMP +/- 

46 HSG + 

SH13 HSG ++ 

SH14 HSG + 

SH15 HSG + 

52 EMP 0 

SH16 HSG ++ 

SH17 HSG/GTTS + 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- 

56 HSG + 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH23 HSG + 

63 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH24 HSG + 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- 

71 HSG + 

Page 1452



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C54 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 
Housing 

Provision 

74 EMP 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH34 HSG ++ 

SH35 HSG ++ 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- 

SH37 HSG ++ 

SEC3-66 EMP 0 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- 

91 HSG/EMP +/- 

SH39 HSG + 

SH40 HSG + 

SH41 HSG ++ 

SH42 HSG + 

SEC1-3 EMP 0 

110 HSG/EMP +/- 

118 HSG + 

120 HSG ++ 

132 HSG ++ 

137 HSG + 

140 HSG + 

142 HSG + 

SH43 HSG + 

SH44 HSG + 

SH45 HSG + 

SH46 HSG + 

SH47 HSG + 

171 HSG ++ 

SH48 HSG + 

173 HSG + 

SH49 HSG ++ 

SH50 HSG + 

176 HSG + 

177 HSG ++ 

178 HSG ++ 

SH51 HSG + 

SH52 HSG ++ 

SH53 HSG + 

SH54 HSG ++ 

SH55 HSG ++ 

SH56 HSG + 

Page 1453



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C55 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 
Housing 

Provision 

SH57 HSG + 

SH58 HSG ++ 

SG1 GTTS + 

188 HSG + 

189 HSG + 

SH59 HSG + 

191 HSG + 

SH61 HSG + 

SEC1-1 EMP 0 

SEC1-8 EMP 0 

SEC1-5 EMP 0 

SEC1-6 EMP 0 

SEC1-2 EMP 0 

SEC1-7 EMP 0 

199 Mixed-use ++ 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- 
  

Page 1454



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C56 

C.12 SA Objective 11: Equality 

C.12.1 Index of Multiple Deprivation 

C.12.1.1 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measures the relative levels of deprivation in 

32,844 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England5.  Out of 317 Local Authorities in 

England, Sandwell is ranked as the 12th most deprived6.  Overall deprivation is relatively 

high across the Black Country, with 36 of the LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 10% 

most deprived in England.  Deprivation levels within the borough of Sandwell varies from 

area to area, with the 36 most deprived LSOAs found throughout the borough, and in 

particular clustered within the south eastern and north western parts of the borough.   

C.12.1.2 45 sites are located wholly or partially within the 10% most deprived LSOAs, and therefore 

development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on equality by 

exacerbating existing social pressures faced by current residents and place increased 

pressure on local services.  The remaining 76 sites are located outside of the most deprived 

10% LSOAs, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites may have a negligible 

impact on equality.   

C.12.1.3 It should be noted that there is a degree of uncertainty in regard to the impacts of each 

site on equality, which will be dependent on site-specific circumstances that are unknown 

at the time of writing.   

Table C.12.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 11 – Equality 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use 

IMD 10% 
Most 

Deprived  

SEC3-181 EMP 0 

SEC4-1 EMP - 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP - 

SEC3-99 EMP 0 

SH1 HSG 0 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP - 

SEC3-46 EMP  0 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP 0 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP 0 

SEC3-29 EMP 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP 0 

SH2 HSG/EMP - 

SEC4-4 EMP - 

 
5 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) English indices of deprivation 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 [Date accessed: 15/09/23] 

6 Active Black Country (2023) Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2019.  Available at: 

https://www.activeblackcountry.co.uk/insight-hub/data/communities/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019/ [Date 

accessed: 15/09/23] 

Page 1455

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.activeblackcountry.co.uk/insight-hub/data/communities/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019/


R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C57 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

IMD 10% 
Most 

Deprived  

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP - 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP - 

SEC3-133 HSG - 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP 0 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP 0 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP - 

SEC1-4 EMP 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP 0 

SH4 HSG/EMP 0 

SH5 HSG - 

SH6 HSG - 

SH7 HSG/GTTS 0 

SH8 HSG 0 

SH9 HSG - 

29 HSG - 

SH10 HSG - 

SH11 HSG 0 

SH12 HSG 0 

34 HSG 0 

35 HSG/EMP 0 

36 HSG 0 

38 HSG 0 

40 HSG 0 

42 HSG 0 

43 HSG 0 

44 HSG 0 

45 HSG/EMP 0 

46 HSG 0 

SH13 HSG 0 

SH14 HSG - 

SH15 HSG 0 

52 EMP 0 

SH16 HSG 0 

SH17 HSG/GTTS 0 

SH18 HSG/EMP 0 

56 HSG - 

SH19 HSG/EMP 0 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 

SH21 HSG/EMP 0 

SH22 HSG/EMP 0 

SH23 HSG - 

63 HSG/EMP 0 

SH24 HSG 0 

Page 1456



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C58 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

IMD 10% 
Most 

Deprived  

SH25 HSG/EMP - 

SH26 HSG/EMP 0 

SH27 HSG/EMP 0 

SH28 HSG/EMP 0 

SH29 HSG/EMP - 

71 HSG 0 

74 EMP 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP 0 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS - 

SH34 HSG 0 

SH35 HSG 0 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS 0 

SH37 HSG 0 

SEC3-66 EMP - 

SH38 HSG/EMP 0 

91 HSG/EMP - 

SH39 HSG - 

SH40 HSG 0 

SH41 HSG - 

SH42 HSG 0 

SEC1-3 EMP - 

110 HSG/EMP 0 

118 HSG - 

120 HSG 0 

132 HSG - 

137 HSG 0 

140 HSG 0 

142 HSG 0 

SH43 HSG 0 

SH44 HSG - 

SH45 HSG - 

SH46 HSG 0 

SH47 HSG 0 

171 HSG 0 

SH48 HSG 0 

173 HSG 0 

SH49 HSG 0 

SH50 HSG 0 

176 HSG 0 

177 HSG - 

178 HSG - 

Page 1457



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C59 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

IMD 10% 
Most 

Deprived  

SH51 HSG - 

SH52 HSG - 

SH53 HSG - 

SH54 HSG - 

SH55 HSG - 

SH56 HSG - 

SH57 HSG - 

SH58 HSG - 

SG1 GTTS 0 

188 HSG - 

189 HSG 0 

SH59 HSG 0 

191 HSG - 

SH61 HSG - 

SEC1-1 EMP - 

SEC1-8 EMP 0 

SEC1-5 EMP 0 

SEC1-6 EMP 0 

SEC1-2 EMP 0 

SEC1-7 EMP 0 

199 Mixed-use 0 

SH60 HSG/EMP 0 
 
  

Page 1458



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C60 

C.13 SA Objective 12: Health 

C.13.1 NHS Hospital with Accident & Emergency Department 

C.13.1.1 Currently Sandwell General Hospital is the only NHS Hospital with an Accident & 

Emergency department within the borough itself, although there are other nearby 

hospitals such as Manor Hospital in Walsall to the north, and the new Midland Metropolitan 

Hospital scheduled to open in 2024 within Sandwell Borough, which will also provide these 

services.  The majority of the proposed sites are located within 5km of one or more of 

these hospitals (109 sites in total).  Therefore, the proposed development at these sites 

could potentially have a minor positive impact on access to emergency healthcare due 

being within a sustainable distance to the services.   

C.13.1.2 The remaining 12 sites are located wholly over 5km from a hospital, and therefore, the 

proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on 

access to emergency healthcare. 

C.13.2 Pedestrian Access to GP Surgery 

C.13.2.1 There are 73 GP Surgeries distributed within Sandwell, serving the existing local 

communities, particularly clustered within the south east and north west of the borough.  

Accessibility modelling data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping the location 

of GP surgeries and areas within a sustainable travel time to these facilities for pedestrians.  

A large proportion of the built-up areas are located within a 15-minute walk to a GP 

surgery; however, the modelling data indicates that some areas in the north east and 

centre of Sandwell are likely to have more restricted access for pedestrians.  

C.13.2.2 The majority of proposed sites (110) in Sandwell are located within a 15-minute walking 

distance to a GP surgery.  Of the 110 sites, 73 of these are located within a 10-minute 

walking distance to a GP surgery and would be expected to have a major positive impact 

on access to healthcare.  The remaining 37 sites of the 110 are located within a 15-minute 

walking distance to a GP surgery and would be expected to have a minor positive impact 

on access to healthcare.   

C.13.2.3 11 sites are located wholly or partially outside of this sustainable travel time.  Therefore, 

the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact 

on pedestrian access to healthcare, based on existing infrastructure.   

C.13.3 Public Transport Access to GP Surgery 

C.13.3.1 Good and sustainable public transport access to a local GP surgery is identified to be within 

a 15-minute journey.  According to accessibility modelling data, this travel time to 

healthcare is likely to be achieved across the majority of Sandwell, with the exception of 

small pockets in the east and west.   

C.13.3.2 All sites within Sandwell are all situated in areas within this 15-minute time frame, with 

the exception of Sites SEC3-22 and SH19, where Site SEC3-22 is wholly located outside 

this travel time and the majority of Site SH19 is located partially outside this travel time.  

Page 1459



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C61 

These two sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on sustainable access to 

healthcare, based on current infrastructure.  Of the 119 sites that are within the 

sustainable travel time, 103 are located within a 10-minute journey and would be expected 

to have a major positive impact on sustainable access to healthcare, while the remaining 

16 sites are within a 15-minute journey and would be expected to have a minor positive 

impact on sustainable access to healthcare.   

C.13.4 Access to Greenspace  

C.13.4.1 Greenspaces are distributed throughout the borough, including parks, allotments, playing 

fields and Sandwell Valley Country Park located in the north east of the borough.  All of 

the proposed in Sandwell are located within 600m of one or more greenspaces.  Therefore, 

a minor positive impact would be expected at these 121 sites, as the proposed 

development would be likely to provide site end users with good access to outdoor space 

and a diverse range of natural habitats, which is known to have physical and mental health 

benefits.   

C.13.5 Net Loss of Greenspace 

C.13.5.1 10 proposed sites coincide wholly or partially with publicly available greenspaces and/ or 

greenspaces with public access, including Sites SH9 and SH18 which both coincide with 

playing fields.  The proposed development at these 10 sites could potentially result in the 

net loss of greenspace, and therefore, have a minor negative impact on the provision of 

greenspace across the Plan area.  

C.13.6 Public Right of Way / Cycle Path 

C.13.6.1 104 sites in Sandwell are located within 600m of the PRoW and/or cycle network.  The 

proposed development at these sites would be likely to provide site end users with good 

pedestrian and/or cycle access and encourage physical activity, and therefore, have a 

minor positive impact on the health and wellbeing of local residents.  However, the 

remaining 17 sites are located wholly or partially over 600m from the PRoW and cycle 

network; therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a 

minor negative impact on pedestrian and cycle access.  

Table C.13.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 12 – Health 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

N
H

S 
H

o
sp

it
al

 
w

it
h

 A
&

E 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

P
u

b
lic

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

G
re

e
n

sp
ac

e
 

N
et

 L
o

ss
 o

f 
G

re
e

n
sp

ac
e

 

P
R

o
W

/ 
C

yc
le

 
P

at
h

 

SEC3-181 EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SEC4-1 EMP - + ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SEC3-99 EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH1 HSG - - + + 0 + 
SEC3-113 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 

Page 1460



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C62 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

N
H

S 
H

o
sp

it
al

 
w

it
h

 A
&

E 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

P
u

b
lic

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

G
re

e
n

sp
ac

e
 

N
et

 L
o

ss
 o

f 
G

re
e

n
sp

ac
e

 

P
R

o
W

/ 
C

yc
le

 
P

at
h

 

SEC3-46 EMP  - + ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-29 EMP + + + + 0 + 
SEC3-148 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH2 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SEC4-4 EMP + + ++ + 0 - 
SEC3-191 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SEC4-3 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-133 HSG - - ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP - + ++ + 0 + 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP + + - + 0 + 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SEC1-4 EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SH3 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SH4 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH5 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH6 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH7 HSG/GTTS + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH8 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH9 HSG + + ++ + - + 

29 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH10 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH11 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH12 HSG + + ++ + - + 
34 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
35 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

36 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

38 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

40 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

42 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

43 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
44 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 
45 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
46 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH13 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH14 HSG + + ++ + 0 + 

SH15 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

52 EMP - ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH16 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH17 HSG/GTTS - + ++ + 0 + 
SH18 HSG/EMP + - + + - + 
56 HSG + + ++ + 0 - 
SH19 HSG/EMP + ++ - + 0 + 

Page 1461



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C63 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

N
H

S 
H

o
sp

it
al

 
w

it
h

 A
&

E 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

P
u

b
lic

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

G
re

e
n

sp
ac

e
 

N
et

 L
o

ss
 o

f 
G

re
e

n
sp

ac
e

 

P
R

o
W

/ 
C

yc
le

 
P

at
h

 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH21 HSG/EMP + - + + 0 + 

SH22 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 - 

SH23 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
63 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH24 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH25 HSG/EMP - - ++ + 0 + 
SH26 HSG/EMP + - + + 0 + 
SH27 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH28 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH29 HSG/EMP + + + + 0 + 

71 HSG + + ++ + 0 + 

74 EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH30 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS + - + + 0 + 
SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH34 HSG + + ++ + - + 

SH35 HSG + - + + 0 + 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS + - + + 0 + 

SH37 HSG + + ++ + - + 

SEC3-66 EMP + + + + 0 - 

SH38 HSG/EMP + - + + 0 + 
91 HSG/EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SH39 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH40 HSG + ++ ++ + - - 
SH41 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH42 HSG + + + + 0 + 

SEC1-3 EMP + + + + 0 + 

110 HSG/EMP + + + + 0 + 

118 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

120 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
132 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
137 HSG + + ++ + 0 + 
140 HSG - ++ ++ + 0 - 
142 HSG - + ++ + 0 + 

SH43 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH44 HSG + + ++ + 0 + 

SH45 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH46 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH47 HSG + + ++ + 0 + 
171 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH48 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
173 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

Page 1462



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C64 

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 

N
H

S 
H

o
sp

it
al

 
w

it
h

 A
&

E 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

P
u

b
lic

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 G
P

 
Su

rg
er

y 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

G
re

e
n

sp
ac

e
 

N
et

 L
o

ss
 o

f 
G

re
e

n
sp

ac
e

 

P
R

o
W

/ 
C

yc
le

 
P

at
h

 

SH49 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SH50 HSG + ++ ++ + - + 

176 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 

177 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
178 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH51 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH52 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
SH53 HSG + ++ + + 0 - 
SH54 HSG + + ++ + 0 - 

SH55 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 

SH56 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 

SH57 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 

SH58 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 
SG1 GTTS - ++ ++ + 0 + 
188 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 + 
189 HSG - ++ ++ + - + 
SH59 HSG + + ++ + - + 
191 HSG + ++ ++ + 0 - 

SH61 HSG + + + + 0 - 

SEC1-1 EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SEC1-8 EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

SEC1-5 EMP + + ++ + 0 + 

SEC1-6 EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SEC1-2 EMP + + ++ + 0 + 
SEC1-7 EMP + - ++ + 0 + 
199 Mixed-Use + ++ ++ + - + 
SH60 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ + 0 + 

 
  

Page 1463



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C65 

C.14 SA Objective 13: Economy 

C.14.1 Employment Floorspace Provision 

C.14.1.1 Employment floorspace provision has been assessed with consideration of current land 

use and the proposed development at each site.   

C.14.1.2 There are 17 sites proposed solely for employment use in Sandwell.  Eight of these sites 

currently comprise (either wholly or the majority of the site) areas of undeveloped or 

vacant land; therefore, the proposed development at these sites would be expected to 

result in a significant net gain in employment floorspace and have a major positive impact 

on providing local employment opportunities.  The remaining nine sites proposed for 

employment use currently coincide with employment areas or existing businesses, 

including Site SEC1-7 which currently coincides with ‘BHM Motorhome Hire Depot’ and Site 

52 which coincides with several businesses including ‘Aspen Concepts’, ‘Totally Modular’ 

and ‘Kee Safety’.  It is uncertain whether the proposed development at these sites would 

result in a net change in employment floorspace.   

C.14.1.3 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development with a proportion of the site proposed for 

employment.  Site 199 is located on greenfield land and would be expected to result in a 

significant net gain in employment floorspace, leading to a major positive impact on 

providing local employment opportunities.  

C.14.1.4 34 sites proposed solely for residential use coincide with existing employment areas, and 

therefore, development at these sites could potentially result in a net loss of employment 

floorspace.  The proposed development at 24 of these sites could potentially have a minor 

negative impact on employment floorspace provision due to the possible loss of small 

areas of employment land or small businesses, whereas the proposed development at 10 

of these sites could potentially have a major negative impact due to the possible loss of a 

large area of employment land.   

C.14.1.5 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could 

potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  The potential net 

change in employment floorspace is unknown and therefore it is uncertain whether these 

sites would be likely to have an impact on the provision of employment opportunities. 

C.14.1.6 It is uncertain whether the proposed housing development at Site 34 would impact 

employment opportunities.  The site coincides with the ‘YMCA’ building and it is unknown 

whether there are any jobs associated with this.  

C.14.1.7 The remaining 31 sites proposed solely for residential development and the single GTTS 

site, are located on previously undeveloped land or vacant land and would not be expected 

to result in a net change in employment floorspace; therefore, the proposed development 

at these sites would be likely to have a negligible impact on the provision of employment 

opportunities. 

Page 1464



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C66 

C.14.2 Pedestrian Access to Employment Opportunities 

C.14.2.1 There are many employment opportunities currently within Sandwell, with 254 key 

employment locations identified.  Most existing employment land is concentrated in the 

centre of the borough and close to the strategic road network.  Accessibility modelling 

data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping key employment locations and areas 

within a sustainable travel time.  According to the modelling data, almost the entirety of 

the borough is within a 30-minute walk to an employment location, however, a small area 

in the north east is likely to have more restricted access for pedestrians.   

C.14.2.2 The majority of reasonable alternative sites with potential to deliver housing in Sandwell 

(104 sites) would be expected to have a positive impact on pedestrian access to 

employment due to being within this sustainable travel time to employment opportunities.  

Of the 104 sites within this travel time, 103 sites are located within a 20-minute walk to 

an employment location and could potentially have a major positive impact on pedestrian 

access to employment.  The remaining one site would be expected to have a minor positive 

impact on pedestrian access to employment as it is within a 30-minute walk to an 

employment location.   

C.14.2.3 Two sites are located outside this sustainable travel time; Site 34 is wholly located outside 

of this travel time, and the majority of Site SH43 is located outside this travel time.  

Therefore, the proposed development at these two sites could potentially have a minor 

negative impact on pedestrian access to employment opportunities, based on current 

infrastructure. 

C.14.3 Public Transport Access to Employment Opportunities 

C.14.3.1 Accessibility modelling data indicates that the majority of the borough is located within a 

sustainable travel time via public transport to employment opportunities, identified as 

being within a 30-minute journey.  All of the reasonable alternative sites with potential to 

deliver residential development would be expected to have a positive impact on 

sustainable access to employment opportunities.  102 sites are located within a 20-minute 

travel time via public transport, which would be expected to have a major positive impact 

on sustainable access to employment opportunities.  Four sites are located within a 30-

minute travel time via public transport and would be expected to have a minor positive 

impact on sustainable access to employment opportunities.  

Table C.14.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 13 – Economy 

Site Reference  Site Use 

Employment 
Floorspace 
Provision 

Pedestrian 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

SEC3-181 EMP +/- 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP +/- 0 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-99 EMP +/- 0 0 

SH1 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-46 EMP  +/- 0 0 

Page 1465



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C67 

Site Reference  Site Use 

Employment 
Floorspace 
Provision 

Pedestrian 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-29 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH2 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC4-4 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-133 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SEC1-4 EMP ++ 0 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH4 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH5 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH6 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH7 HSG/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH8 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH9 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

29 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH10 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH11 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH12 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

34 HSG +/- - + 

35 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

36 HSG - ++ ++ 

38 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

40 HSG - ++ ++ 

42 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

43 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

44 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

45 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

46 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH13 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH14 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH15 HSG - ++ ++ 

52 EMP +/- 0 0 

SH16 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH17 HSG/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH18 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

56 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH19 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

Page 1466



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C68 

Site Reference  Site Use 

Employment 
Floorspace 
Provision 

Pedestrian 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH21 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH22 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH23 HSG - ++ ++ 

63 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH24 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH25 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH26 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH27 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH28 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH29 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

71 HSG - ++ ++ 

74 EMP +/- 0 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH34 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH35 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS +/- ++ ++ 

SH37 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SEC3-66 EMP +/- 0 0 

SH38 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

91 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

SH39 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH40 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH41 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH42 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SEC1-3 EMP ++ 0 0 

110 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

118 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

120 HSG 0 + ++ 

132 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

137 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

140 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

142 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH43 HSG 0 - + 

SH44 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH45 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH46 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH47 HSG - ++ ++ 

171 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH48 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

Page 1467



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C69 

Site Reference  Site Use 

Employment 
Floorspace 
Provision 

Pedestrian 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Employment 
Opportunities 

173 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH49 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH50 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

176 HSG - ++ ++ 

177 HSG -- ++ ++ 

178 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH51 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH52 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH53 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH54 HSG - ++ ++ 

SH55 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SH56 HSG - ++ + 

SH57 HSG -- ++ + 

SH58 HSG -- ++ ++ 

SG1 GTTS 0 ++ ++ 

188 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

189 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH59 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

191 HSG 0 ++ ++ 

SH61 HSG - ++ ++ 

SEC1-1 EMP +/- 0 0 

SEC1-8 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC1-6 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC1-2 EMP ++ 0 0 

SEC1-7 EMP +/- 0 0 

199 Mixed-use ++ ++ ++ 

SH60 HSG/EMP +/- ++ ++ 

 
  

Page 1468



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C70 

C.15 SA Objective 14: Education, Skills 
and Training 

C.15.1 Pedestrian Access to Primary School 

C.15.1.1 There are 98 primary schools distributed throughout Sandwell.  Accessibility modelling 

data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping the location of primary schools and 

areas within a sustainable travel time to these schools.  The majority of borough is located 

within a 15-minute walk to a primary school, however, some areas are likely to have more 

restricted access, such as along the M5 corridor in the east. 

C.15.1.2 The majority of the proposed housing sites are situated within a 15-minute walking 

distance to a primary school (103 sites).  Of these 103 sites, 69 sites are within a 10-

minute walking distance to primary school, and therefore, the proposed development at 

these 69 sites would be likely to have a major positive impact on pedestrian access to 

primary schools.  The remaining 34 sites of these 103 are within 15-minute walking 

distance to primary school, and therefore, the proposed development at these 34 sites 

would be likely to have a minor positive impact on pedestrian access to primary schools.  

C.15.1.3 However, Site SH17 is located outside of a 15-minute walk to a primary school, and 

therefore, the proposed development at this site could potentially have a minor negative 

impact on access to primary schools due to the likely increased reliance on less sustainable 

travel methods.    

C.15.2 Pedestrian Access to Secondary School 

C.15.2.1 Accessibility modelling data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping the location 

of secondary schools and areas within a sustainable travel time to these schools.  There 

are 20 secondary schools within Sandwell which are fairly evenly distributed across the 

borough, serving communities within the existing built-up areas but providing more limited 

access for areas which currently contain less dense development, particularly in the Green 

Belt to the north east.   

C.15.2.2 The majority of proposed housing sites in Sandwell are located within a 25-minute walk 

to a secondary school.  Therefore, the proposed development at these 88 sites would be 

expected to have a positive impact on sustainable access to education, as development at 

these locations would be likely to encourage pedestrian access to secondary schools.  Of 

the 88 sites, 69 sites are located within a 20-minute walk to a secondary school and would 

be expected to have a major positive impact on sustainable access to education.  The 

remaining 19 sites are located within a 25-minute walk to a secondary school and would 

be expected to have a minor positive impact on sustainable access to education.   

C.15.2.3 However, 16 residential sites are situated in the areas of the borough outside of a 25-

minute walk to a secondary school, and as such, the proposed development at these sites 

could potentially have a minor negative impact on sustainable access to education.   

Page 1469



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C71 

C.15.3 Public Transport Access to Secondary School 

C.15.3.1 Existing public transport access to secondary schools within Sandwell is widespread, 

according to accessibility modelling data, and would be likely to provide local residents 

with good access to schools in the local and wider area.  The data indicates only localised 

pockets of the borough where public transport access to secondary schools is more limited.   

C.15.3.2 The majority of housing sites in Sandwell are located within a 25-minute public transport 

journey to a secondary school, and therefore, the proposed development at these 97 sites 

would be expected to have a positive impact on sustainable access to education, based 

on current infrastructure.  Of the 97 sites, 89 of these are located within a 20-minute 

public transport journey to a secondary school, and therefore would be expected to have 

a major positive impact on sustainable access to education.  The remaining eight sites are 

located within a 25-minute public transport journey to a secondary school, and therefore, 

would be expected to have a minor positive impact on sustainable access to education.   

C.15.3.3 Seven of the proposed housing sites (SEC3-113, SH8, SH14, SH28, SH35, SH36, and SH45) 

are located wholly or partially outside of this sustainable travel time to a secondary school, 

and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor 

negative impact on new residents’ access to education, based on current infrastructure. 

Table C.15.1: Sites impact matrix for SA Objective 14 – Education, skills and training  

Site 
Reference 

Site Use 
Pedestrian Access 
to Primary School 

Pedestrian Access 
to Secondary 

School 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Secondary School 

SEC3-181 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC4-1 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC3-9 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SEC3-99 EMP 0 0 0 

SH1 HSG + - ++ 

SEC3-113 HSG/EMP + ++ - 

SEC3-46 EMP  0 0 0 

SEC3-175 HSG/EMP ++ - + 

SEC-36 HSG/EMP + - ++ 

SEC3-29 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC3-148 HSG/EMP ++ - ++ 

SH2 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

SEC4-4 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC3-191 HSG/EMP ++ + + 

SEC4-3 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SEC3-133 HSG ++ - ++ 

SEC3-189 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SEC3-22 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SEC3-40 HSG/EMP ++ + ++ 

SEC1-4 EMP 0 0 0 

SH3 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SH4 HSG/EMP + - ++ 

SH5 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH6 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

Page 1470



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C72 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use 

Pedestrian Access 
to Primary School 

Pedestrian Access 
to Secondary 

School 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Secondary School 

SH7 HSG/GTTS + - ++ 

SH8 HSG ++ ++ - 

SH9 HSG + + ++ 

29 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH10 HSG + + ++ 

SH11 HSG ++ + ++ 

SH12 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

34 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

35 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

36 HSG ++ + ++ 

38 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

40 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

42 HSG + ++ ++ 

43 HSG + - ++ 

44 HSG + ++ ++ 

45 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

46 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH13 HSG + - ++ 

SH14 HSG ++ ++ - 

SH15 HSG ++ - ++ 

52 EMP 0 0 0 

SH16 HSG + - ++ 

SH17 HSG/GTTS - ++ ++ 

SH18 HSG/EMP ++ - ++ 

56 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH19 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SH20 HSG/EMP/GTTS ++ ++ ++ 

SH21 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

SH22 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SH23 HSG ++ + ++ 

63 HSG/EMP ++ + ++ 

SH24 HSG + + ++ 

SH25 HSG/EMP ++ + ++ 

SH26 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

SH27 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

SH28 HSG/EMP ++ ++ - 

SH29 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

71 HSG ++ ++ + 

74 EMP 0 0 0 

SH30 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

SH31 HSG/EMP/GTTS + ++ ++ 

SH32 HSG/EMP/GTTS ++ ++ ++ 

SH33 HSG/EMP/GTTS ++ ++ + 

SH34 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

Page 1471



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C73 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use 

Pedestrian Access 
to Primary School 

Pedestrian Access 
to Secondary 

School 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Secondary School 

SH35 HSG + + - 

SH36 HSG/EMP/GTTS + ++ - 

SH37 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SEC3-66 EMP 0 0 0 

SH38 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 

91 HSG/EMP + ++ ++ 

SH39 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH40 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH41 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH42 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SEC1-3 EMP 0 0 0 

110 HSG/EMP + - ++ 

118 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

120 HSG ++ + ++ 

132 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

137 HSG + ++ ++ 

140 HSG ++ - + 

142 HSG + ++ ++ 

SH43 HSG ++ + ++ 

SH44 HSG ++ - ++ 

SH45 HSG ++ + - 

SH46 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH47 HSG ++ + + 

171 HSG + ++ ++ 

SH48 HSG + ++ ++ 

173 HSG + ++ ++ 

SH49 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH50 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

176 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

177 HSG ++ + ++ 

178 HSG ++ + ++ 

SH51 HSG ++ + ++ 

SH52 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH53 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH54 HSG + ++ ++ 

SH55 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH56 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH57 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SH58 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

SG1 GTTS + + ++ 

188 HSG ++ ++ + 

189 HSG + ++ ++ 

SH59 HSG ++ ++ + 

191 HSG ++ ++ ++ 

Page 1472



R18 SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix C: Reasonable Alternative Site Assessments October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council C74 

Site 

Reference 
Site Use 

Pedestrian Access 
to Primary School 

Pedestrian Access 
to Secondary 

School 

Public Transport 
Access to 

Secondary School 

SH61 HSG + ++ ++ 

SEC1-1 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC1-8 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC1-5 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC1-6 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC1-2 EMP 0 0 0 

SEC1-7 EMP 0 0 0 

199 Mixed-use + - ++ 

SH60 HSG/EMP ++ ++ ++ 
 

Page 1473



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Di 

Appendix D: Policy Assessments 

  

Page 1474



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Dii 

Appendix D Contents 

D.1 Overview .......................................................................................................................... 1 

D.1.1 Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

D.1.2 Overview of Policy Assessments .................................................................................................. 2 

D.2 Vision and Objectives ........................................................................................................ 5 

D.2.2 Sandwell Local Plan Vision .......................................................................................................... 5 

D.2.3 Sandwell Local Plan Objectives .................................................................................................... 8 

D.3 Development Strategy ..................................................................................................... 14 

D.3.1 Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy ......................................................................................... 14 

D.3.2 Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell..................................................................................... 16 

D.3.3 Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas ........................................................................................ 18 

D.3.4 Policy SDS4 – Achieving well-designed places ............................................................................. 20 

D.3.5 Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy ............................................................. 21 

D.3.6 Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt .......................................................................................... 24 

D.3.7 Policy SDS7 – Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell............................................................. 25 

D.4 Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment..................................................................... 28 

D.4.1 Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation ............................................................................................ 28 

D.4.2 Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats ................................................... 29 

D.4.3 Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and hedgerows ................... 33 

D.4.4 Policy SNE4 – Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark .................................. 37 

D.4.5 Policy SNE5 – The Rowley Hills ................................................................................................. 38 

D.4.6 Policy SNE6 – Canals ................................................................................................................ 39 

D.4.7 Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas ................................................................ 42 

D.4.8 Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment .............................................................. 43 

D.4.9 Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings ........................................................................................ 45 

D.4.10 Policy SHE4 – Archaeology........................................................................................................ 46 

D.5 Climate Change .............................................................................................................. 47 

D.5.1 Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience ....................................................................... 47 

D.5.2 Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure .......................................................................................... 48 

D.5.3 Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk ............................................................................................. 50 

D.5.4 Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk........................................................................................................... 52 

D.5.5 Policy SCC5 – Sustainable drainage and surface water management ............................................ 55 

D.5.6 Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards ................................... 56 

D.6 Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell .................................................................................... 60 

D.6.1 Policy SHW1 – Health Impact Assessments ................................................................................ 60 

D.6.2 Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure .................................................................................... 61 

D.6.3 Policy SHW3 – Air Quality ......................................................................................................... 63 

D.6.4 Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation ................................................................................ 65 

D.6.5 Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities ....................................................................... 68 

D.6.6 Policy SHW6 – Allotments ......................................................................................................... 69 

Page 1475



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Diii 

D.7 Sandwell’s Housing ......................................................................................................... 71 

D.7.1 Policy SHO1 – Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth ................................................................. 71 

D.7.2 Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments ........................................................................................ 72 

D.7.3 Policy SHO3 – Housing Density, Type and Accessibility ................................................................ 73 

D.7.4 Policy SHO4 – Affordable Housing ............................................................................................. 75 

D.7.5 Policy SHO5 – Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing .......................... 76 

D.7.6 Policy SHO6 – Financial Viability Assessment for Housing ............................................................ 78 

D.7.7 Policy SHO7 – Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3) ............................................................. 79 

D.7.8 Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation ............................................................................. 80 

D.7.9 Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities ............................................................................................. 83 

D.7.10 Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople ....................... 85 

D.7.11 Policy SHO11 – Housing for people with specific needs ............................................................... 87 

D.8 Sandwell’s Economy ........................................................................................................ 89 

D.8.1 Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs ............................................................... 89 

D.8.2 Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas ................................................................................. 90 

D.8.3 Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas ...................................................................................... 91 

D.8.4 Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites ...................................................................................... 92 

D.8.5 Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market ................................................................. 93 

D.8.6 Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses.................................................. 94 

D.9 Sandwell’s Centres .......................................................................................................... 96 

D.9.1 Policy SCE1 – Sandwell’s Centres .............................................................................................. 96 

D.9.2 Policy SCE2 – Non-Retail Uses in Town Centres .......................................................................... 97 

D.9.3 Policy SCE3 – Town Centres (tier-two centres) ........................................................................... 99 

D.9.4 Policy SCE4 – District and Local Centres (tier-three centres) ...................................................... 100 

D.9.5 Policy SCE5 – Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in centres ........................................... 101 

D.9.6 Policy SCE6 – Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development ................................................... 102 

D.10 West Bromwich ............................................................................................................. 104 

D.10.1 Policy SWB1 – West Bromwich Town Centre ............................................................................ 104 

D.10.2 Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich ........................................................................ 105 

D.11 Transport ..................................................................................................................... 108 

D.11.1 Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network....................................... 108 

D.11.2 Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN)........................... 109 

D.11.3 Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development............................................... 110 

D.11.4 Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight & Logistics ...................................................... 111 

D.11.5 Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking ........................................... 112 

D.11.6 Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices ......................................... 114 

D.11.7 Policy STR7 – Network Management........................................................................................ 115 

D.11.8 Policy STR8 – Parking Management ......................................................................................... 115 

D.11.9 Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles ..................................................................... 116 

D.11.10 Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity ....................................................... 117 

D.12 Infrastructure and Delivery ............................................................................................ 119 

D.12.1 Policy SID1 – Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks ............................................ 119 

Page 1476



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Div 

D.12.2 Policy SID2 – Mobile Network Infrastructure............................................................................. 120 

D.12.3 Policy SID3 – Digital Infrastructure / Equipment ....................................................................... 121 

D.13 Waste and Minerals ....................................................................................................... 122 

D.13.1 Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements ......................................................... 122 

D.13.2 Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites ..................................................................................................... 123 

D.13.3 Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities ............................................................ 124 

D.13.4 Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities .............................................. 125 

D.13.5 Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development.................................................... 127 

D.13.6 Policy SMI1 – Minerals Safeguarding........................................................................................ 128 

D.13.7 Policy SMI2 – Managing the Effects of Mineral Development ...................................................... 129 

D.14 Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy .............................................................. 132 

D.14.1 Policy SCO1 – Hazardous Installations and Substances .............................................................. 132 

D.14.2 Policy SCO2 – Pollution Control ............................................................................................... 133 

D.14.3 Policy SCO3 – Land contamination and instability...................................................................... 134 

D.15 Development Management ............................................................................................ 136 

D.15.1 Policy SDM1 – Design Quality .................................................................................................. 136 

D.15.2 Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards ................................................................... 138 

D.15.3 Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites ........................................................................ 139 

D.15.4 Policy SDM4 – Advertisements ................................................................................................ 141 

D.15.5 Policy SDM5 – Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters......................................................................... 143 

D.15.6 Policy SDM6 – Hot Food Takeaways ........................................................................................ 145 

D.15.7 Policy SDM7 – Management of Hot Food Takeaways ................................................................. 146 

D.15.8 Policy SDM8 – Gambling activities and alternative financial services ........................................... 147 

D.15.9 Policy SDM9 – Community Facilities ......................................................................................... 148 

D.15.10 Policy SDM10 – Telecommunications ....................................................................................... 150 

 

Tables 
Table D.1.1: Presenting likely impacts ........................................................................................................... 1 
Table D.1.2: Summary of policy assessments................................................................................................. 2 
 

 

 

Page 1477



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D1 

D.1 Overview 

D.1.1 Introduction 

D.1.1.1 This appendix provides an assessment of draft policies proposed by Sandwell Metropolitan 

Borough Council (SMBC) at the Regulation 18 ‘Draft Plan’ stage of the preparation of the 

Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).   

D.1.1.2 Many of the proposed SLP policies are derived from the ceased Black Country Plan (BCP).  

A total of 63 policies were set out in the draft BCP and were consulted on as part of the 

BCP process, before the decision was made to end work on the BCP in October 2022.  A 

number of SLP policies have also been derived from the adopted Sandwell SAD. 

D.1.1.3 SMBC have considered the extent to which each of the draft BCP policies and adopted SAD 

policies remain relevant and applicable to the SLP area, in light of consultation responses 

received during the BCP Regulation 18 consultation, and in the context of the latest 

national and local guidance and strategies.   

D.1.1.4 The relevant existing policies have been updated and together with a number of new 

policies prepared for the SLP, has resulted in a total of 87 policies identified and presented 

within the Draft SLP.  The Draft SLP also contains a proposed ‘vision’ and 13 associated 

objectives, which have been refined since the Issues and Options Consultation. 

D.1.1.5 The assessments within this report are based on the policies, vision and objectives within 

the Draft Sandwell Local Plan 2025-2041 Regulation 18 Consultation document, version 

56 provided to Lepus on 25th September 2023.  

D.1.1.6 Each policy (as well as the SLP Vision and Objectives) appraised in this report has been 

assessed for its likely impacts on each SA Objective of the SA Framework (see Appendix 

A) in accordance with the methodology as set out in the SA Main Report.  

D.1.1.7 For ease of reference the scoring system is summarised in Table D.1.1 below.   

Table D.1.1: Presenting likely impacts 

Likely Impact Description 
Impact 
Symbol 

Major Positive Impact 
The proposed option contributes to the 
achievement of the SA Objective to a significant 
extent. 

++ 

Minor Positive Impact 
The proposed option contributes to the 
achievement of the SA Objective to some extent. 

+ 

Negligible/ Neutral Impact 
The proposed option has no effect or an 
insignificant effect on the achievement of the SA 

Objective. 
0 

Uncertain Impact 
The proposed option has an uncertain relationship 
with the SA Objective or insufficient information is 

available for an appraisal to be made. 
+/- 

Minor Negative Impact 
The proposed option prevents the achievement of 
the SA Objective to some extent. 

- 

Page 1478



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D2 

Likely Impact Description 
Impact 
Symbol 

Major Negative Impact 
The proposed option prevents the achievement of 
the SA Objective to a significant extent. 

-- 

D.1.1.8 Each appraisal in the following sections of this report includes an SA impact matrix that 

provides an indication of the nature and magnitude of effects.  Assessment narratives 

follow the impact matrices for each policy, within which the findings of the appraisal and 

the rationale for the recorded impacts are described.   

D.1.2 Overview of Policy Assessments 

D.1.2.1 The impact matrices for all draft policy assessments are presented in Table D.1.2 below.  

These impacts should be read in conjunction with the assessment text narratives which 

follow in the subsequent sections of this appendix.   

D.1.2.2 Within these policy assessments, where relevant, some recommendations for 

enhancement or improvement of the draft policies have been suggested.  Further detailed 

recommendations are presented in Table D.14.1. 

Table D.1.2: Summary of policy assessments 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS1 + + + + + + - - + + 0 + + 0 

SDS2 + + + + 0 ++ + 0 + + + + ++ + 

SDS3 0 0 + +/- 0 + 0 0 + + + + + 0 

SDS4 ++ ++ 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SDS5 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SDS6 + + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SDS7 0 + + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + + 0 

SNE1 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE2 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE3 0 + + + + + + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE4 + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 

SNE5 + ++ ++ 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SNE6 + + + 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 + + 0 

SHE1 ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHE2 ++ + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SHE3 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHE4 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 

SCC1 + + + ++ + + + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 

SCC2 0 0 0 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SCC3 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCC4 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

Page 1479



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D3 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC5 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCC6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SHW1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW2 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW3 0 0 + + 0 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 + + 0 

SHW4 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

SHW5 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SHW6 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SHO1 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

SHO2 0 0 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

SHO3 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + + + + 0 0 

SHO4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

SHO5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 

SHO6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + +/- 0 0 0 

SHO7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

SHO8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + 0 0 

SHO9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + ++ 

SHO10 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + + + + +/- + 

SH011 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SEC1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC2 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC4 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- + +/- 

SEC5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + + 

SEC6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SCE1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- + +/- +/- + + + + + +/- 

SCE2 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SCE3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + 

SCE4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 

SCE5 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SCE6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

SWB1 0 + 0 + + + 0 0 + + + + + + 

SWB2 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + + + + + + 

STR1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 + 0 0 

STR2 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR3 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR4 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

STR5 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 + + 0 0 

STR6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 

STR7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

Page 1480



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D4 

 

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

STR10 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

SID1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 

SID2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SID3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- ++ +/- 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SWA5 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SMI1 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SMI2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO2 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SCO3 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM1 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

SDM2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

SDM3 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM4 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SDM5 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SDM6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SDM7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 

SDM8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +/- 0 

SDM9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

SDM10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

 

  

Page 1481



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D5 

D.2 Vision and Objectives 

D.2.1.1 In the Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA, two options for the SLP Vision and 11 

draft Objectives for the SLP were assessed.  Following consideration of the SA findings 

and comments received during the Issues and Options Consultation, SMBC have in the 

Draft SLP proposed a Vision for the Sandwell Local Plan to 2041, and 13 Objectives.  The 

updated Vision and Objectives have therefore been assessed below. 

D.2.2 Sandwell Local Plan Vision 

Sandwell Local Plan Vision 2041 

In 2041, Sandwell is a thriving, growing and active Borough, leading the urban renaissance of the West 
Midlands conurbation.  

Sandwell is at the forefront of tackling climate change, in its role as a hub for climate adaptation and 
mitigation technologies and industries. Its new buildings are clean and energy efficient in their design, 
materials and operations, its old buildings are adapted to deliver low and zero carbon outputs. It sets the 

standard in both public and private sectors for embedding climate change awareness and sensitivity in all its 
actions, outcomes and decisions. 

Notwithstanding its urban character, Sandwell’s residents enjoy access to country and town parks, open 
spaces, green networks and corridors and increasing numbers of pocket parks, landscaping schemes and tree 

cover, as part of their everyday activities and leisure time. Sandwell’s natural environment is valued for its 
own sake as well as for its contribution to the health and wellbeing of people living, working, learning in and 

enjoying the borough. 

Sandwell’s historic environment is a source of pride for its communities and continues to reflect its industrial 

and architectural heritage, in restoration and renovation schemes and in the sensitive design of new buildings. 
Historic buildings in Sandwell are reused, repurposed and retrofitted to enable their retention and occupation 
for years to come.  

Sandwell continues to deliver sustained and sustainable economic growth and investment opportunities from 
its highly accessible location at the heart of the country. It provides high-quality goods and services from its 

powerful industrial base and levels of employment, wages and economic activity are high and rising. 

Sandwell’s residents enjoy longer and healthier lives than in previous decades, thanks to the increase in open 

spaces, the provision of services and facilities designed to promote active recreation and leisure, the 
improvement of and increased accessibility to healthcare infrastructure and the promotion of healthy lifestyle 

choices. They have access to well-performing schools, higher and further education provision at all levels and 
to continued opportunities for skills development and training. 

There is a wide range of housing available to Sandwell residents, designed to support sustainable living and 

capable of adaptation to suit all sections of the community. Affordable, social and council houses are available 
to those who need them. New developments are located within attractively landscaped areas, with access to 

district and low-cost energy and heating projects, sustainable drainage designed to improve the local 
environment as well as provide reliable protection against flooding and run-off and all necessary services and 

facilities within walking distance or a short bus ride away. 

Sandwell’s town centres thrive by day and by night, with an expanded range of retail, leisure and socialising 

opportunities as well as acting as the foci for new residential developments, community activities and social 
enterprises.  

 

Page 1482



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D6 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Vision 
C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e

 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e

 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n

 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n

 

N
a
tu

ra
l 

R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n

 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g

 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h

 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n

 

SLP 
Vision 

++ ++ + ++ ++ + + 0 ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ 

D.2.2.1 The proposed Vision for Sandwell in 2041 sets out the aspiration to support growth and 

regeneration for the borough, meeting the needs of the local population and addressing 

key issues, whilst conserving the natural and historic environment.   

D.2.2.2 The SLP Vision seeks to develop Sandwell’s role as an industrial hub for the West Midlands 

by driving climate change adaptation and mitigation technologies, to ensure that the 

borough plays a key role in tackling climate change whilst striving for economic growth.  

Sustainable and energy efficient design and construction techniques, and exploration of 

alternative and low-carbon technologies would also be supported.  A major positive impact 

could be achieved regarding climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4).  Through 

encouraging sustainable economic growth and investment, alongside regeneration and 

revitalisation of Sandwell’s towns including retrofitting of historic buildings, a major 

positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 13) would also be likely. 

D.2.2.3 The SLP Vision encourages the delivery of new developments that are carefully planned 

to take the effects of climate change into account, including incorporation of sustainable 

drainage techniques, flood mitigation and adaptation measures, as well as access to 

district and low-cost energy and heating projects.  Recognising the multi-functional 

benefits of green infrastructure (GI), the SLP Vision promotes the conservation and 

enhancement of parks, open spaces, green networks and tree coverage within Sandwell.  

GI can play a key role in helping urban areas adapt to the effects of climate change, for 

example through providing protection from extreme weather events, and helping to 

alleviate the ‘urban heat island’ effect.  Together, these measures would be likely to lead 

to a major positive impact on climate change adaptation (SA Objective 5). 

D.2.2.4 Through encouraging the conservation and enhancement of GI and Sandwell’s natural 

environment, the SLP Vision would be likely to lead to a minor positive impact on 

biodiversity and natural resources (SA Objectives 3 and 6), through potentially helping to 

increase the coverage and connectivity of ecological networks and GI, supporting the 

ecosystem services they provide. 

D.2.2.5 Additionally, the emphasis on providing access to a variety of parks and open spaces for 

new developments would be likely to lead to positive effects on human health.  Access to 

a range of open and green spaces is known to be beneficial for both mental and physical 

wellbeing, by providing areas for recreation, exercise and reflection.  Well designed and 

attractive neighbourhoods which incorporate GI are likely to encourage people to live more 

active lifestyles.  Furthermore, the Vision promotes the improvement of and increased 

accessibility to healthcare infrastructure, which would be likely to help address health 

inequalities.  Overall, the SLP Vision could lead to a major positive impact on health (SA 

Objective 12). 

Page 1483



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D7 

D.2.2.6 Pocket parks and other open spaces within urban areas can also provide valuable spaces 

for community involvement and help to encourage social cohesion.  More cohesive and 

vibrant neighbourhoods would be likely to contribute towards improved quality of life and 

strengthen the sense of local identity.  Alongside the proposed improvement of 

employment and training opportunities, as well as improved access to amenities, this 

would be likely to lead to a major positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11). 

D.2.2.7 Town centres are proposed to be the focus for the majority of new residential and 

community growth, where existing services are concentrated and there is most potential 

for new provision.  The SLP Vision would help to ensure that residents, workers and visitors 

within the borough have access to a range of facilities to meet their needs as well as 

opportunities for leisure and entertainment.  In addition to helping revitalise Sandwell’s 

town centres and high streets, this would see benefits to transport and accessibility, 

through reducing the need to travel and promoting more sustainable travel including 

walkable neighbourhoods and improved public transport.  A major positive impact on 

transport could be achieved (SA Objective 9), with potential for a minor positive impact 

on pollution (SA Objective 7) owing to the associated reduction in transport-related 

emissions. 

D.2.2.8 Through rejuvenating townscapes, promoting landscape schemes and increasing the 

quantity and quality of open spaces and GI, the SLP Vision would be likely to lead to an 

improvement in the local landscape and townscape character.  In combination with the 

promotion of community facilities, the SLP Vision could potentially help to strengthen sense 

of place and local identity, resulting in a major positive impact on landscape overall (SA 

Objective 2). 

D.2.2.9 The SLP Vision supports the conservation and enhancement of cultural heritage assets and 

encourages their conservation and renewal where appropriate, recognising the importance 

of Sandwell’s historic environment in providing a sense of place.  Therefore, the SLP Vision 

would be likely to have major positive effects in relation to the cultural heritage (SA 

Objective 1) through sensitive design of new buildings, restoration and renovation 

schemes, and reusing and repurposing historic buildings in Sandwell. 

D.2.2.10 The Vision seeks to ensure the provision of a range of housing types to meet the diverse 

needs of the population, including accessible and adaptable homes, affordable homes, and 

social housing.  As such, a major positive impact on housing provision would be likely (SA 

Objective 10). 

D.2.2.11 The Vision seeks to improve access to schools and training opportunities and improve 

educational attainment.  Access to higher and further education provision is also 

highlighted.  Together, these provisions would help to encourage more diversity in 

opportunities including for life-long learning and support the provision of an appropriately 

skilled workforce.  A major positive impact on education would be likely (SA Objective 14). 

D.2.2.12 The Vision does not directly reference waste or recycling, and as such, a negligible impact 

is identified for SA Objective 8. 

Page 1484



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D8 

D.2.3 Sandwell Local Plan Objectives 

Sandwell Local Plan Objectives 

Climate Change 

1. Ensure new development takes a proactive approach to climate change mitigation, adaptation and 

carbon reduction, and that development is resilient to climate change. 

2. Deliver sustainable development in locations where people can access jobs and services, delivering 

wider positive social and economic outcomes and protecting and enhancing local built and natural 
environments. 

Enhancing our natural environment 

3. To protect and enhance Sandwell’s natural environment, natural resources, biodiversity, wildlife 
corridors geological resources, countryside and landscapes, whilst ensuring that residents have good 

access to interlinked green infrastructure.  

Enhancing our historic environment 

4. Protect, sustain and enhance the quality of the historic built environment, ensuring the retention of 

distinctive and attractive places and beautiful buildings, including listed parks, scheduled monuments 
and their settings. 

5. To manage and maintain the wider historic environment across Sandwell, including parks and 
gardens, areas of industrial heritage value, sites of geological and archaeological interest and locally 
listed buildings, structures and historic assets.  

Housing that meets all our needs  

6. Address Sandwell’s identified and wide-ranging housing needs by supporting the provision of high-

quality new homes, to include a wide mix of housing type and tenure, that: -  

o are capable of being adapted to meet the future needs of occupiers; 

o provide sufficient internal and external space; and  

o promote and support climate change adaptation and mitigation through good design and in 
the materials and techniques used for their construction. 

7. Ensure communities in Sandwell are safe and resilient and social cohesion is promoted and enhanced. 

Enabling a strong, stable and inclusive economy 

8. Support regeneration, business investment and job creation to maintain and grow a prosperous and 

resilient local and regional economy in ways that consider environmental and climate change factors.  

9. To enable communities to share the benefits of economic growth through securing access to new job 

opportunities and enhanced skills and training programmes. 

Improving the Health and Wellbeing of residents and promoting social inclusion 

10. To provide a built and natural environment that supports the making of healthier choices through 

provision for physical activity and recreation, active travel, encouraging social interaction and 
discouraging harmful behaviours.  

11. Ensure new development and open spaces support health and wellbeing for all, reduce health 
inequalities and encourage active and healthy lifestyles. 

12. To provide a built and natural environment that protects health and wellbeing through minimising 
pollution (air, noise and other forms), providing healthy homes, reducing the negative health effects 

of climate change and providing streets safe for active, low emission travel for all. 

Good Design 

13. Require new development to deliver a high standard of design reflecting local character and 

distinctiveness and that creates greener and safer places that people feel proud to live and work in. 

Brownfield First 

14. Encourage the effective and prudent use of previously developed land and natural resources, 

including the efficient use of land and buildings and the use of sustainable and climate-aware 

Page 1485



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D9 

Sandwell Local Plan Objectives 

construction techniques within new developments, as well as providing for waste management and 
disposal. 

Enhancing the vitality of our centres 

15. Support Sandwell’s towns and local centres as places for economic, residential and cultural activity 
with good access to services, in ways that protect their heritage, character and identity. 

Promoting sustainable transport and active travel 

16. To prioritise sustainable and active travel and seek to improve transport infrastructure to ensure 
efficient and sustainable accessibility within an integrated network. 

17. To manage waste as a resource and minimise the amount produced and sent to landfill. 

Meeting our resource and infrastructure needs 

18. Ensure development is supported by essential infrastructure and services and promotes safe 

movement and more sustainable modes of travel through promoting greener travel networks for 
walking, cycling and public transport. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

SLP 

Objective 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e

 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e

 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n

 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n

 

N
a
tu

ra
l 

R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n

 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g

 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h

 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n

 

1 0 0 0 ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2 + + 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 + ++ ++ ++ 

3 0 ++ ++ ++ ++ + + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

4 ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 

5 + ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 

6 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ++ + 0 0 0 

7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ + 0 0 

8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 

9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ++ + 

10 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 ++ ++ 0 0 

11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ ++ 0 0 

12 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 ++ 0 ++ ++ 0 0 

13 + ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

14 0 + 0 + 0 ++ + + 0 0 0 0 + 0 

Page 1486



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D10 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

SLP 
Objective 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e

 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e

 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n

 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n

 

N
a
tu

ra
l 

R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n

 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g

 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h

 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n

 

15 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + ++ + 

16 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 + 0 0 

17 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

18 0 0 0 + 0 + + + ++ 0 + + + + 

D.2.3.1 SLP Objective 1 promotes the future proofing of new development to the effects of climate 

change and supports reducing GHGs.  By embedding these principles into the SLP 

objectives, this demonstrates SMBC’s commitment to reducing Sandwell’s contributions 

towards the causes of climate change.  A major positive impact on climate change 

mitigation and adaptation could be achieved (SA Objectives 4 and 5). 

D.2.3.2 SLP Objective 2 seeks to locate development in areas with good accessibility to local 

services.  This is likely to include healthcare facilities, employment opportunities and 

schools, with major positive impacts anticipated for health, the economy and education 

(SA Objectives 12, 13 and 14).  Through directing growth to accessible locations, the SLP 

Objective would be likely to reduce the need to travel, resulting in a major positive impact 

on transport (SA Objective 9) and potentially leading to a minor positive impact on climate 

change mitigation and air pollution by reducing associated emissions (SA Objectives 4 and 

7).  By promoting good access for all, a minor positive impact would also be expected for 

equality (SA Objective 11).  SLP Objective 2 also seeks to ensure the protection and 

enhancement of both the built and natural environment of the local area, with potential 

secondary minor positive benefits in relation to cultural heritage and landscape (SA 

Objectives 1 and 2). 

D.2.3.3 SLP Objective 3 aims to conserve and enhance the natural environment of Sandwell, 

including designated habitats, landscapes and GI.  By protecting and enhancing natural 

features including habitats and ecological networks, a major positive impact on landscape 

and biodiversity would be likely (SA Objectives 2 and 3) as well as a minor positive impact 

on natural resources (SA Objective 6).  GI can provide a range of ecosystem services, 

including helping urban areas to adapt to climate change, for example through providing 

protection from extreme weather events, and helping to alleviate the ‘urban heat island’ 

effect.  As such, conserving and enhancing GI would be expected to lead to a major 

positive impact on climate change mitigation and adaptation (SA Objectives 4 and 5).  

Supporting interlinked GI may also help to encourage active travel, reduce motorised 

transport and therefore reduce air pollution.  SLP Objective 3 could therefore potentially 

have a minor positive impact on pollution and transport (SA Objectives 7 and 9), as well 

as in terms of health and equality through improving access to GI (SA Objectives 11 and 

12).   

Page 1487



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D11 

D.2.3.4 SLP Objective 4 recognises the importance of Sandwell’s heritage.  A major positive impact 

on cultural heritage would be expected through the protection and enhancement of 

important historical sites including Listed Buildings and SMs (SA Objective 1).  SLP 

Objective 4 also seeks to retain and enhance local distinctiveness and create an attractive 

public realm, which could lead to a major positive impact on landscape (SA Objective 2).  

This could also have a knock-on minor positive impact on the visitor economy, through 

conserving and enhancing cultural heritage assets and historic structures of interest (SA 

Objective 13). Furthermore, enhancing cultural heritage sites could promote education 

about the historic environment within Sandwell and result in a minor positive impact on 

education (SA Objective 14). 

D.2.3.5 SLP Objective 5 supports the conservation of the historic environment and will ensure its 

protection, therefore having a minor positive impact on cultural heritage (SA Objective 1). 

SLP Objective 5 specifically mentions the maintenance of parks and gardens, 

archaeological sites and locally listed heritage assets.  The protection of these particular 

areas will also contribute to safeguarding the character of the landscape and local 

distinctiveness, so a major positive impact on landscape would be expected (SA Objective 

2).  Furthermore, by protecting heritage sites and landscapes that strengthen local 

distinctiveness, as well as sites of geological interest, opportunities may arise for 

educational activities and economic prosperities through the use of such sites, hence, we 

could expect a minor positive impact on geodiversity, economy and education (SA 

Objectives 3, 13 and 14).  

D.2.3.6 SLP Objective 6 supports sustainable high-quality housing development to meet the needs 

of the population, which is likely to result in a major positive impact on housing (SA 

Objective 10).  The support for sustainable and adaptable homes would be likely to lead 

to a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation and adaption (SA Objectives 4 

and 5).  SLP Objective 6 states that a wide range of housing needs must be met therefore 

a minor positive impact on equality would be expected (SA Objective 11).  

D.2.3.7 SLP Objective 7 aims to strengthen Sandwell’s communities and improve social cohesion.  

This is likely to lead to a greater sense of identity for local residents and promote more 

vibrant communities where people from all backgrounds can feel valued and safe.  

Therefore, a major positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11) could be achieved, with 

a secondary minor positive impact on wellbeing (SA Objective 12). 

D.2.3.8 SLP Objective 8 supports economic growth within Sandwell, to increase the provision of 

jobs and boost the prosperity of the local economy.  Through seeking to maintain a 

resilient economy and encourage new businesses and regeneration within the SLP area, a 

major positive impact on the economy would be likely (SA Objective 13).  Through 

increasing the number and variety of jobs in the area, this SLP Objective would be likely 

to lead to a minor positive impact on access to employment opportunities, with benefits 

to equality (SA Objective 11). 

D.2.3.9 SLP Objective 9 supports equality, education and the economy.  The SLP will aim to provide 

new job opportunities and training programmes as a result of economic growth.  By 

sharing the benefits of economic growth, this would be likely to result in a minor positive 

impact on equality and education (SA Objectives 11 and 14).  In doing so, these impacts 

Page 1488



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D12 

will help to further boost the economy, hence a major positive impact would be seen on 

SA Objective 13. 

D.2.3.10 SLP Objective 10 promotes healthy lifestyles and active travel, thereby supporting a shift 

away from private car use where possible.  Providing a built environment that supports 

active travel would likely have a minor positive impact on transport (SA Objective 9), and 

potentially climate change mitigation and pollution (SA Objectives 4 and 7), as well as a 

major positive impact on health (SA Objective 12).  This SLP Objective also seeks to 

improve social interaction and discourage harmful behaviours which would likely have a 

major positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11). 

D.2.3.11 SLP Objective 11 is centred around health.  Through the encouragement of active lifestyles 

and ensuring open spaces are provided alongside development, there is likely to be 

improved sustainable access to outdoor space for exercise and leisure.  By supporting 

health and wellbeing for all and reducing health inequalities, a reduction in social 

deprivation is likely.  SLP Objective 11 will likely have a major positive impact on equality 

and health (SA Objectives 11 and 12).  

D.2.3.12 SLP Objective 12 promotes conserving and enhancing the built and natural environment, 

aiming to ensure that developments protect health, minimise air and noise pollution, 

promote low emission travel and provide safe streets.  The focus on encouraging active 

and healthy lifestyles could potentially also lead to improvements to the active travel 

network.  A major positive impact on transport, equality and health would be anticipated 

(SA Objectives 9, 11 and 12).  Through promoting active and low emission travel, and 

seeking to minimise adverse effects of pollution, SLP Objective 12 could also lead to minor 

positive impacts on residential amenity and the landscape, climate change mitigation, 

natural resources and pollution (SA Objectives 2, 4, 6 and 7).  

D.2.3.13 SLP Objective 13 promotes high quality design for new development that is in keeping 

with the local character of the area.  Good design that is planned carefully to consider its 

surroundings would be likely to strengthen local distinctiveness and sense of place.  A 

major positive impact would be likely in terms of the local landscape and townscape 

character (SA Objective 2).  A minor positive impact could also occur in relation to cultural 

heritage (SA Objective 1), where historic landscapes and buildings form a key part of the 

local character.  Furthermore, through seeking to create a high standard of design with 

greener and safer neighbourhoods, SLP Objective 13 would also be expected to secure 

benefits in terms of equality and wellbeing of local residents (SA Objectives 11 and 12).  

D.2.3.14 SLP Objective 14 promotes an efficient use of land and seeks to ensure that the SLP 

focuses development on previously developed land where appropriate, in accordance with 

the NPPF.  A major positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6) could be 

achieved.  SLP Objective 14 is likely to also encourage appropriate re-use or intensification 

of under-utilised land, which may help to stimulate urban regeneration, with potential 

minor positive benefits to townscapes and the economy (SA Objectives 2 and 13).  Benefits 

for pollution (SA Objective 7), waste (SA Objective 8) and climate change mitigation (SA 

Objective 4) could also be achieved, through the potential for remediation of contaminated 

brownfield land for development as well as the intention to support sustainable waste 

management and construction techniques. 

Page 1489



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D13 

D.2.3.15 SLP Objective 15 seeks to develop the role of Sandwell’s towns and centres as hubs of 

economic, residential and cultural activities, whilst ensuring the landscape and historic 

character and identity of the local area are protected.  Investing in Sandwell’s centres and 

supporting appropriate growth would be likely to help promote urban regeneration and 

improve the vibrancy of town centres, with a major positive impact on the local economy 

(SA Objective 13) and a minor positive impact on landscapes, townscapes and cultural 

heritage (SA Objectives 1 and 2).  Through supporting residential growth in areas with 

good access to services, potentially including community facilities, healthcare and schools, 

SLP Objective 15 could also lead to a minor positive impact on transport, housing, equality, 

health and education (SA Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 and 14).   

D.2.3.16 SLP Objective 16 prioritises sustainable travel and improved transport infrastructure.  This 

should help to reduce the per capita carbon footprint of Sandwell and increase the 

efficiency of the transport network, therefore having a major positive impact on transport 

(SA Objective 9), and a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation (SA Objective 

4).  Supporting active travel is also likely to have a minor positive impact on health (SA 

Objective 12).  As a consequence of improving transport infrastructure, it is likely air and 

noise pollution will slightly decrease, so a minor positive impact on pollution can be 

expected (SA Objective 7). 

D.2.3.17 SLP Objective 17 is likely to have a minor positive impact on waste (SA Objective 8) as it 

seeks to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill.  However, greater detail would be 

useful to explain how waste generation can be reduced and sustainably managed during 

both construction and occupation of new development.  A minor positive impact can also 

be expected on pollution (SA Objective 7) since reducing waste sent to landfill will help to 

reduce soil pollution.  

D.2.3.18 SLP Objective 18 seeks to ensure that new development proposed through the SLP is 

supported by essential infrastructure and services, with a particular focus on transport 

infrastructure.  The SLP Objective supports green travel networks which encourage 

walking, cycling and public transport, which would be likely to facilitate a modal shift away 

from private car use.  A major positive impact on transport and accessibility would be likely 

(SA Objective 9), with a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation (SA Objective 

4) and pollution (SA Objective 7) owing to the associated reduction in transport-related 

emissions including GHGs.  By encouraging active travel, SLP Objective 18 could also lead 

to benefits in terms of health and wellbeing (SA Objective 12).  By providing essential 

infrastructure, this is expected to ensure provision of appropriate connections to utilities 

such as water and sewerage, with a minor positive effect likely for natural resources and 

waste (SA Objectives 6 and 8).  Benefits could also be secured in terms of access to social 

infrastructure such as community facilities, healthcare, jobs and schools, with minor 

positive impacts anticipated (SA Objectives 11, 12, 13 and 14).  

Page 1490



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D14 

D.3 Development Strategy  

D.3.1 Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy  

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 

1. To support the attainment of the Sandwell SLP Vision, drive sustainable and strategic economic and 

housing growth and meet local aspirations, Sandwell, working with local communities, partners and key 

stakeholders, will make sure that decisions on planning proposals:  

a. deliver at least 10,686 new net homes and create sustainable mixed communities 

including a range and choice of new homes supported by adequate infrastructure.  

b. deliver at least 1,206ha of employment land (of which 29ha is currently vacant) 

c. ensure that sufficient physical, social, and environmental infrastructure is delivered to 

meet identified requirements 

d. support improvements to the health and wellbeing of Sandwell’s communities by 

requiring new development to address the following: -   

i. increased access to green spaces;  ii. active and passive recreation;  iii. active travel;  iv. improved and 

accessible education and healthcare infrastructure;   

v.  opportunities for people to make healthier choices.   

e. minimise and mitigate the likely effects of climate change, recognising the 

multifunctional benefits that open spaces, landscaping, trees, nature conservation 

habitats and both green and blue infrastructure can deliver in doing so;  

f. create new public open spaces to serve new housing developments;   

g. protect and improve parks, woodland and tree planting, open spaces, landscapes and 

habitats across the borough;  

h. protect the openness, integrity and function of Sandwell’s designated green belt by 

resisting inappropriate development in it;  

i. protect habitats and areas of ecological value;   

j. conserve the historic and archaeological environment and protect areas with geological 

and landscape value;  

k. promote the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building techniques, materials and 

technologies in all new development.  

2. The SLP seeks to ensure this growth is sustainable by requiring the following issues are addressed in 

planning proposals: -   

a. delivering as much new development as possible on previously developed land and 

sites in the urban area;  

b. allocating housing in locations with the highest levels of sustainable transport access to 

residential services (retail provision, schools, healthcare facilities, fresh food, 

employment etc.);   

c. regenerating existing housing and employment areas and help them deliver: -  

Page 1491



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D15 

Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy 

i. cleaner, more energy-efficient and more intensive areas of growth; and ii. 

improving the environmental, climate change, accessibility and socioeconomic 

capacity of existing residential and employment areas;  

 
d. allocating new employment land where sustainable access and good public transport 

links are available;  

e. taking advantage of existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise 

development on new sites;  

f. supporting and enhancing the sustainability of existing communities through the 

focussing of growth and regeneration into West Bromwich and other town centres and 

regeneration areas (Policy SDS2); 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS1 + + + + + + - - + + 0 + + 0 

D.3.1.1 Policy SDS1 sets out the overarching strategy for development in Sandwell for the plan 

period.   

D.3.1.2 The construction, occupation and operation of 10,686 homes and 1,206ha of employment 

land as well as supporting infrastructure through this policy would be expected to 

exacerbate air pollution, including greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and particulate matter 

(PM).  Additionally, the increase in homes would expect an increase in waste production, 

by the nature of the development and the population increase.  However, by directing 

development towards the Strategic Centre (West Bromwich) and the hierarchy of Town, 

District and Local Centres, Policy SDS1 would be likely to facilitate more sustainable 

communities, by locating residents in close proximity to services, facilities and public 

transport.  This could potentially help to improve the sustainability of development (in 

terms of carbon footprint) in some locations through reducing the need to travel by private 

car.  The policy recognises the influence of climate change on flood risk and includes 

measures to adapt, including “the use of zero- and low-carbon designs, building 

techniques, materials and technologies in all new development” and acknowledges the 

important role and “multifunctional benefits that open spaces, landscaping, trees, nature 

conservation habitats and both green and blue infrastructure can deliver”.  Overall, the 

policy would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on climate change 

mitigation, climate change adaptation, transport, housing, and the economy (SA 

Objectives 4, 5, 9, 10 and 13) and a minor negative impact on pollution and waste (SA 

Objectives 7 and 8).  

D.3.1.3 Policy SDS1 states that development will be directed towards town centres and therefore 

can provide greater access to local services, including healthcare facilities and the public 

Page 1492



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D16 

transport network.  The policy can therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact 

on health (SA Objective 12).  

D.3.1.4 Policy SDS1 seeks to deliver sustainable development through “delivering as much new 

development as possible on previously developed land and sites in the urban area ”.  The 

reuse of previously developed land would be expected to promote an efficient use of land 

and have a minor positive impact on the natural resources of the borough (SA Objective 

6).  

D.3.1.5 The policy states that decisions in the planning process will “protect habitats and areas of 

ecological value” and also “conserve the historic and archaeological environment and 

protect areas with geological and landscape value”. Additionally, the policy ensures that 

development within the Green Belt will be resisted, protecting the “openness, integrity and 

function” of the Green Belt.  These measures will ensure that the landscape of the 

borough, historical assets and local biodiversity will be protected and where possible 

enhanced.  The emphasis on regeneration could also help to revitalise centres and improve 

the character and quality of the public realm.  Therefore, the policy could potentially have 

a minor positive impact on cultural heritage, landscape and biodiversity (SA Objectives 1, 

2 and 3).  

D.3.2 Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell  

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 

1. The Regeneration Areas identified on the Policies Map and the strategic centre of West Bromwich will be 

the focus for new development, regeneration, and public and private investment in the borough.  

2. Proposals will be subject to relevant development plan policies and the form and location of regeneration 

will be guided by masterplans and /or design briefs, which will be prepared by the Council in partnership 

with developers, promoters and other stakeholders.  

West Bromwich 

a. West Bromwich is a major destination for residents and visitors and will benefit from a step 

change in the quality of its public realm, including new green links, squares and parks. 

b. Residential and employment growth will be sought at a transformational scale to help create a 

vibrant and sustainable town centre with a diverse range of uses, including commercial, 

educational, cultural, recreational, leisure and community facilities.  

c. Sustainable and active travel modes will be the default choice for accessing and moving within 

the town. 

Carter’s Green 

d. Carter’s Green will accommodate considerable new residential development on under-used land. 

The scale of growth will be complementary and subordinate to the transformation of West 

Bromwich. 

Dudley Port 

e. The regeneration of Dudley Port will include employment development and the construction of 

new residential communities developed along Garden City principles.  

f. A new public transport hub will be developed around the interchange of the Midland Metro 

Extension and Dudley Port railway station. 

Page 1493



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D17 

Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell 

Smethwick 

g. The historic Smethwick to Birmingham canal corridor will accommodate new green 

neighbourhoods on re-purposed employment land and accessible active travel routes. 

h. Regeneration at Grove Lane will be focussed around the new Midland Metropolitan Hospital, and 

will include the development of new homes, employment, and education facilities. 

i. Industrial land at Rolfe Street will be regenerated to create a distinctive, well- designed 

residential community that respects the heritage of the area and its canal-side setting. 

Wednesbury to Tipton Metro Corridor 

j. Proposals for the regeneration of industrial land along the corridor of the Midland Metro 

Extension will be supported, including new employment development on vacant and 

underdeveloped land. 

k. Retail, residential, and mixed-use development will be encouraged in Wednesbury Town Centre, 

Great Bridge Town Centre and Owen Street District Centre in line with their position within the 

hierarchy of centres and the requirements of the relevant policies in the Centres chapter of the 

SLP. 

Development within Regeneration Areas  

3. Excluding West Bromwich (Policy SWB2) the regeneration areas will provide: 

a. the principal locations for strategic employment areas; 

b. high-quality employment areas to support the long-term success of Sandwell’s economy (Policy 

SEC) 

c. the main clusters of local employment land providing for local jobs (Policies SEC3 and SEC4).  

d. the principal locations for new industrial and logistics development – providing at least 600ha of 

developable employment land to meet growth needs; 

e. a minimum of 3,414 new homes (of which 1,656 are in addition to previous allocations) of mixed 

type and tenure in sustainable locations well-supported by community services and local shops, 

set within and linked by comprehensive networks of green infrastructure with cycling and 

pedestrian routes; 

f. investment in existing, new, and improved transportation infrastructure with a focus on public 

transport routes and hubs, to maximise their use by residents, workers and visitors; 

g. strong links with surrounding communities and the wider network of centres; 

h. enhanced green infrastructure, including enhancements to nature conservation sites and wildlife 

habitats, new and improved green spaces, and new urban greening features (Policy SDS7).  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS2 + + + + 0 ++ + 0 + + + + ++ + 

Page 1494



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D18 

D.3.2.1 Policy SDS2 identifies Regeneration Areas within Sandwell and sets out how specific areas 

will accommodate different types of development, infrastructure and investment.  The 

policy outlines a minimum number of X homes to be built within the Regeneration Areas 

and includes measures throughout the policy that encourage the reuse of previously 

developed land or vacant land, for both residential and employment purposes.  A minor 

positive impact on housing provision (SA Objective 10) would be likely.   

D.3.2.2 Furthermore, a major positive impact is anticipated in terms of natural resources (SA 

Objective 6) and a minor positive impact on landscape (SA Objective 2), owing to the 

primary focus on regeneration of existing urban areas and high-quality design.  There may 

be opportunities for sensitive heritage-led regeneration such as the “historic Smethwick to 

Birmingham canal corridor”, with a potential minor positive impact on cultural heritage (SA 

Objective 1). 

D.3.2.3 The policy states that the defined Regeneration Areas will provide high-quality 

employment land and will be the principal location for new industrial/logistics 

development, with likely benefits in terms of economic growth and providing opportunities 

for developing a skilled workforce.  A major positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 

13) and a minor positive impact on education (SA Objective 14) would therefore be likely. 

D.3.2.4 For the Regeneration Areas collectively, the policy encourages investment in transport 

infrastructure, especially public transport.  Directing development to these areas would 

help to ensure that residents have good access to services including community services, 

local shops and employment and educational opportunities by foot or public transport and 

could see less reliance on private car use.  The strategic location of development would 

therefore encourage active lifestyles and could contribute to reducing the overall carbon 

footprint of the borough.  Overall, the policy can expect to have a minor positive impact 

on climate change mitigation, pollution, transport and equality (SA Objectives 4, 7, 9 and 

11).  

D.3.2.5 The policy also states that development proposals will incorporate GI and green 

neighbourhoods which could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA 

Objective 3).  However, it is recommended that the policy provides further specification of 

the GI measures to strengthen the policy.   

D.3.3 Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas  

Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas 

1. Towns and local communities outside West Bromwich and the regeneration areas identified in Figure 3 

will provide: 

a. 1,046 new homes delivered through: 

i. The allocation of previously identified housing sites or ones submitted as part of a Call 

for Sites exercise; 

ii. the repurposing of a small number of brownfield employment sites and other previously 

developed and surplus land for new housing; 

iii. small-scale residential development opportunities in highly sustainable locations; 

iv. housing renewal areas; 

Page 1495



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D19 

Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas 

v. estimating the capacity of vacant retail floorspace  

b. Clusters of local employment land that provide land and premises to meet localised business 

needs. 

c. 606ha of additional employment land to meet employment needs; 

d. An integrated and (where possible) continuous network of green infrastructure and walking and 

cycling routes, as well as a network of centres, health, leisure, sports, recreation and community 

facilities; 

e. improved access and infrastructure links between regeneration projects, local areas and West 

Bromwich, to allow related positive outcomes to be integrated into existing and newer 

communities. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS3 0 0 + +/- 0 + 0 0 + + + + + 0 

D.3.3.1 Policy SDS3 requires land outside of the identified Regeneration Areas to provide 606ha 

of employment land that will meet employment needs and local business needs.  The 

policy would therefore expect to increase job provision in the towns and local communities, 

and result in a minor positive impact on employment (SA Objective 13).  

D.3.3.2 The policy states that 1,046 will be delivered through the repurposing of brownfield 

employment sites and other brownfield sites, reducing the need for greenfield land for 

development.  New growth would also be directed to housing renewal areas, which would 

help to upgrade the existing housing stock, with benefits to housing quality, wellbeing of 

residents and reducing land-take for new development.  Therefore, it can be expected the 

policy would have a minor positive impact on natural resources, housing and equality (SA 

Objectives 6, 10 and 11).  

D.3.3.3 Although the proposed housing renewal areas may provide opportunities to integrate 

energy efficient designs and other carbon-reducing measures, if this involves demolishing 

and rebuilding homes it could also release embodied carbon, the implications of which 

should be considered carefully.  The overall impact on climate change mitigation is 

uncertain (SA Objective 4). 

D.3.3.4 The policy will ensure that new development provides “an integrated and (where possible) 

continuous network of green infrastructure and walking and cycling routes”.  In addition, 

the policy states that integration of local facilities for health and leisure would be 

implemented.  The combination of GI, active modes of travel and local facilities would 

expect to result in benefits to public health and accessibility, as well as potentially 

improving ecological connectivity.  Overall, the policy would be expected to have minor 

positive impacts on biodiversity, transport and health (SA Objectives 3, 9 and 12).  

Page 1496



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D20 

D.3.4 Policy SDS4 – Achieving well-designed places  

Policy SDS4 – Achieving well-designed places 

1. Building designs will be sought that are appropriate to Sandwell and should be of a size, scale and type 

to integrate into their neighbourhood.  

2. All development will be required to demonstrate a clear understanding of the local and wider context, 

character, heritage and local distinctiveness of its location and show how proposals make a positive 

contribution to place-making and environmental improvement.  

3. The setting and significance of heritage assets should be conserved and enhanced where it exists and is 

likely to be impacted by new development (Policy SHE2). 

4. Development proposals should employ innovative design and sustainable technologies in their schemes to 

help climate change mitigation and adaptation and the Council will support schemes and projects 

adopting a climate-sensitive approach (Policies SCC1 – SCC6).  

5. To facilitate permeability and accessibility, transport proposals of a high design quality and utility will be 

sought. These should:  

a. include connections to and between transport hubs;  

b. promote active travel;  

c. ensure that transport and travel infrastructure make a positive contribution to place-making; and  

d. increase connectivity for all modes of travel.  

6. Development should positively contribute to creating high quality, active, safe and accessible places. 

Design approaches that will help contribute to healthier communities and reduce health inequalities 

should be incorporated in developments.  

7. To support the development of safe neighbourhoods, ensure quality of life and community cohesion are 

not undermined and minimise the fear of crime, the design of new development should create secure and 

accessible environments where opportunities for crime and disorder are reduced or designed out.  

8. An integrated and well-connected multifunctional open space network will be pursued throughout 

Sandwell (linking to opportunities in the wider Black Country where possible), including through the 

design and layout of new developments.  

9. A Design Code will be produced for Sandwell, reflecting local character and local design preferences and 

providing a framework for creating high-quality places.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS4 ++ ++ 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

D.3.4.1 Policy SDS4 seeks to ensure that all new developments within the Plan area are of high-

quality design and have regard for the natural, built, and historic environment.  

Page 1497



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D21 

D.3.4.2 This policy would be likely to encourage climate change resilience and help reduce carbon 

emissions associated with development, due to the promotion of energy efficient design 

and support for an innovative “climate-sensitive” approach.  The use of modern and 

sustainable technologies would be likely to have minor positive impacts on climate change 

mitigation and adaptation (SA Objectives 4 and 5). 

D.3.4.3 Policy SDS4 seeks to ensure that the development contributes to creating “high quality, 

active, safe and accessible places” in a bid to reduce health inequalities, improve social 

cohesion and reduce the fear of crime within the borough.  Therefore, the policy can 

expect to have a minor positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11).  

D.3.4.4 The policy requires that development facilitates transport of high-quality design that will 

contribute to greater accessibility.  High quality transport design will include the promotion 

of active travel, increased connectivity of travel modes and transport hubs.  In addition, 

the policy seeks to produce “an integrated and well-connected multifunctional open space 

network”, which would help to facilitate active travel and provide open space for outdoor 

exercise and recreation.  The measures outlined in the policy would encourage active 

transport and less reliance on private car use, having benefits to carbon emissions, air 

pollution, congestion, and public health.  Overall, the policy would expect to have minor 

positive impacts on pollution, transport, and public health (SA Objectives 7, 9 and 12).   

D.3.4.5 The policy states that development must demonstrate “a clear understanding of the local 

and wider context, character, heritage and local distinctiveness of its location”, and 

positively contribute towards high quality design and placemaking.  Furthermore, the 

policy states that “the setting and significance of heritage assets should be conserved and 

enhanced where it exists and is likely to be impacted by new development”.   A major 

positive impact in relation to the historic character and local landscape would be expected 

(SA Objectives 1 and 2).  

D.3.5 Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy  

Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy 

Development proposals 

1. Cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within Sandwell will be protected, enhanced and expanded (where 

appropriate) in partnership with key delivery partners and stakeholders.  

2. Proposals for new development or uses that contribute to the attractiveness of Sandwell as a visitor 

destination (including for business tourism) will be supported in principle, subject to national guidance 

and the policy requirements set out elsewhere in this Plan.  

3. Proposals for new cultural, tourist or leisure facilities or uses, or extensions to existing ones, should: -  

a. be of a high-quality design,  

b. be highly accessible and sustainable, being located within centres wherever possible;  

c. not adversely impact on residential amenity or the operation of existing businesses,  

d. be designed to be flexible, adaptable, and where possible be capable of alternative or 

community use. 

Page 1498



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D22 

Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy 

4. Well-designed and accessible ancillary facilities in appropriate locations will be supported. Additional 

facilities within centres that support the visitor economy and business tourism sectors1 will be encouraged 

and promoted.  

5. An assessment should be undertaken (as part of the design of new developments likely to attract large 

numbers of people) to demonstrate and document how potential security and crime-related vulnerabilities 

have been identified, assessed and where necessary, addressed in a manner that is appropriate and 

proportionate.  

6. Development that would lead to the loss of an existing cultural / tourism facility in Sandwell will be 

resisted unless: -  

a. the intention is to replace it with a facility that will provide an improved cultural or 

tourist offer;  

b.  

c. it can be demonstrated that there would be significant benefits to the local and wider 

community in removing the use and / or redeveloping the site.  

d. An appropriate contribution is made to support and sustain an alternative local cultural, 

tourist or leisure facility.  

The Visitor Economy 

7. The improvement and further development of visitor attractions will be supported where appropriate, to 

ensure that accessibility is maximised and to continue to raise the quality of the visitor experience 

throughout Sandwell. This can be achieved by: -  

a. enhancing / extending current attractions; 

b. providing inclusive access, particularly within centres;  

c. enhancing the visitor experience; and  

d. delivering necessary infrastructure.  

8. Links should be made to centres and those parts of Sandwell and beyond that are well-connected by 

public transport, considering the needs of business as well as leisure visitors, to encourage more 

sustainable local use of cultural and tourist attractions.  

9. The canal network is also a significant visitor attraction within the Black Country, providing waterway 

links to Birmingham, Staffordshire, Worcestershire and beyond. Facilities adjoining and serving the canal 

network should be maintained and expanded to help provide a network of linked amenities and visitor 

hubs.  

10. Physical and promotional links to visitor attractions close to Sandwell will be enhanced and encouraged, 

particularly in relation to Birmingham as a Global City and a business economy destination.  

11. Proposals for heritage-related tourism will be supported where they provide positive and sustainable 

opportunities for social, educational and / or economic activity; heritage assets forming part of a tourist 

attraction will be protected from development or new or intensified activities that would adversely impact 

on their significance and setting (Policy SHE2).   

Cultural facilities and events 

 
1 This will include the provision of hotels and other accommodation with strong links to key destinations and associated 

facilities.  

Page 1499



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D23 

Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy 

12. Libraries across Sandwell together act as one of the borough’s main locations for the delivery of cultural 

events and activities (e.g. music, theatre, dance, poetry, literature). Their role as community venues 

should be maintained and supported as part of the wider cultural offer of the borough.  

13. To ensure Sandwell can provide opportunities for cultural growth, the retention and protection of venues 

providing performance spaces, recording facilities and practice amenities will be sought. The provision of 

new venues and facilities in sustainable and accessible locations will also be welcomed and supported, 

particularly within town centres.  

14. In cases where new development could potentially prejudice the successful ongoing operation of an 

adjacent cultural / performance venue, the “agents of change” principle will be applied2.  

15. The promotion and protection of attractions and events that represent and celebrate the wide cultural 

and ethnic diversity across Sandwell will be encouraged, including spectator sports and other activities. 

This will include the protection of valuable cultural and religious buildings and the promotion of cultural, 

religious and community festivals on a Sandwell-wide basis in a range of suitable locations.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS5 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + 0 

D.3.5.1 This policy aims to provide for the protection, enhancement, promotion, and expansion of 

cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within the borough.  Policy SDS5 would be likely to 

have a minor positive impact on the economy through the safeguarding and promotion of 

such sites and by enhancing the tourism potential of Sandwell (SA Objective 13).  

D.3.5.2 Alongside the delivery of highly accessible facilities and provision of local employment 

opportunities, various provisions within this policy would be expected to have benefits to 

the community and promote social inclusion.  These include the promotion of 

“opportunities for cultural growth, the retention and protection of venues” and “the 

protection of valuable cultural and religious buildings and the promotion of cultural, 

religious and community festivals on a Sandwell-wide basis”.  A minor positive impact on 

equality would therefore be expected (SA Objective 11).    

D.3.5.3 The policy includes measures that would improve the accessibility of the visitor facilities 

within the borough, enabled through delivering the necessary infrastructure to ensure links 

to centres that are well supported by public transport.  The policy also identifies the 

importance of the canal network, where “facilities adjoining and serving the canal network 

 
2 Paragraph 187 of the NPPF (2023) states that both planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development 

can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (e.g. places of worship, pubs, music venues 

and sports clubs). Unreasonable restrictions should not be placed on existing businesses because of development 

permitted after they were established.  

Page 1500



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D24 

should be maintained and expanded to help provide a network of linked amenities and 

visitor hubs”.  Encouraging the use of local attractions and facilitating accessibility to these 

attractions would encourage active travel and improve health of residents and can further 

reduce the reliance on private car use.  Therefore, the policy can expect to have a minor 

positive impact on climate change mitigation, transport, and health (SA Objectives 4, 9 

and 12).  

D.3.5.4 The policy states that “cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within Sandwell will be 

protected, enhanced and expanded”.  This would be likely to help ensure developments 

are of high-quality design and create attractive areas.  In addition, this policy aims to 

ensure “heritage assets forming part of a tourist attraction will be protected from 

development or new or intensified activities that would adversely impact on their 

significance and setting”.  This would be likely to have a minor positive impact on cultural 

heritage and landscape (SA Objectives 1 and 2).  

D.3.6 Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt  

Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt 

1. Sandwell Council will maintain a defensible green belt boundary3 around the Sandwell green belt, to help 

promote urban renaissance, to maximise its role in helping to mitigate climate change impacts and to 

support easy access to the countryside for residents.  

2. Sandwell green belt’s nature conservation, landscape, heritage and agricultural value will be protected 

and enhanced.  

3. Opportunities will be taken to improve the value and recreational role of the green belt in Sandwell 

Valley: 

a. through improving safe accessibility for all users;  

b. by providing facilities for active and passive recreation (if this preserves the openness of the 

Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it4);  

c. by protecting tranquil areas and locations with ecological and historic value.  

4. Extensions to existing buildings, the re-use of buildings5 or limited infilling / redevelopment / replacement 

of them within the footprint of an existing developed site within Sandwell’s Green Belt will be considered 

for approval provided:  

a. extensions are not disproportionately over and above the size of the existing building(s) as 

originally constructed;  

b. for replacement buildings, the new building is in the same use and not materially larger than the 

one it replaces;  

c. the scale, materials and general design of the proposed development or redevelopment are in 

keeping with the character of the buildings and their surroundings and avoid greater impact and 

harm to the openness of the Green Belt; and  

d. it does not lead to an increase in the developed proportion of the overall site.  

 
3
 The boundary of the Sandwell Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map.  

4 Paragraph 149c (or any subsequent update) of the NPPF (2023).  
5 Provided they are of permanent and substantial construction  

Page 1501



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D25 

 
 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS6 + + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.3.6.1 The policy aims to maintain a strong Green Belt boundary that will “promote urban 

renaissance” alongside aiding climate change mitigation and providing accessibility to the 

open countryside for residents of the borough.  The policy aligns its aims with the purposes 

of the Green Belt as defined by the NPPF6, “the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 

prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 

Green Belts are their openness and their permanence”.   

D.3.6.2 The policy states that “Sandwell green belt’s nature conservation, landscape, heritage and 

agricultural value will be protected and enhanced”.  In addition, the policy seeks to utilise 

opportunities for the improvement of the Green Belt’s recreational role by improving 

accessibility, improving facilities for active and passive recreation, and protecting tranquil 

areas of ecological and historic value.  The policy would therefore be likely to result in a 

minor positive impact on the conservation of heritage and landscape character (SA 

Objectives 1 and 2) and to human health and wellbeing in terms of improving opportunities 

for recreation and access to the countryside (SA Objective 12).  

D.3.6.3 Policy SDS6 includes measures that promote the reuse of old buildings within the Green 

Belt, considered for development permitting that they follow the requirements of 4a, 4b, 

4c and 4d of the policy.  The policy promotes the efficient use of land and prevents the 

loss of undeveloped land for built form.  Therefore, the policy would be expected to have 

a minor positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6).  

D.3.7 Policy SDS7 – Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell 

Policy SDS7 – Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell 

1. The Council will support a strategic approach to green and blue infrastructure by:  

a. working with relevant partners to prepare, adopt and implement a strategic Green Infrastructure 

Strategy for the borough;  

b. planning, designing and managing green infrastructure in an integrated way to achieve multiple 

benefits;  

c. identifying key green infrastructure assets, their function and their potential function;  

d. identifying opportunities for addressing environmental and social challenges through strategic 

green infrastructure interventions.  

 
6 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (2023) National Planning Policy Framework.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 [Date accessed: 27/06/23] 

Page 1502

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D26 

Policy SDS7 – Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell 

2. Sandwell’s green and blue infrastructure networks, including open spaces, green spaces, nature 

conservation sites, habitats, rivers, canals, other waterways, trees and green features, should be 

enhanced wherever possible (see SNE1 – SNE6).  

3. Development in Sandwell will be expected to maintain the existing network of green infrastructure across 

the borough.  

4. Major developments will also be required to ensure green spaces and urban greening features (including 

tree planting, vegetation, gardens, green roofs and green walls, sustainable drainage systems, etc.) are 

planned, designed and managed in an integrated way to deliver multiple environmental benefits over the 

lifetime of the development (Policies SCC1 – SCC6).   

5. Proposals that would result in the loss of existing green infrastructure will be resisted unless it can be 

demonstrated that new opportunities will be provided that mitigate or compensate for this loss and 

ensure that the ecosystem services of the area are retained (Policy SNE2).  

6. Major developments will be expected to maximise opportunities for enhancing existing green spaces and 

waterways by incorporating appropriate urban greening to enhance the visual quality and ecological 

functions of the site.   

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDS7 0 + + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + + 0 

D.3.7.1 Policy SDS7 outlines the requirements of developments to incorporate GI and blue 

infrastructure (BI) and how this will embed into the wider GI and BI network across the 

borough.  The intention to prepare a GI Strategy for the borough is also set out in the 

policy. 

D.3.7.2 The policy identifies that the various GI and BI assets throughout the borough “should be 

enhanced wherever possible” and that “major developments will be expected to maximise 

opportunities for enhancing existing green spaces and waterways”.  Providing green 

spaces would help to enhance the appearance and character of the public realm and 

additionally provide health benefits through the provision of open and green spaces7.  

Therefore, the policy would expect to have a minor positive impact on landscape and 

public health and wellbeing (SA Objectives 2 and 12). 

D.3.7.3 The GI and BI network within the borough include “open spaces, green spaces, nature 

conservation sites, habitats, rivers, canals, other waterways, trees and green features”; 

enhancement of these features would be expected to benefit the biodiversity of the 

borough and could also potentially enhance ecosystem services, including carbon storage, 

 
7 Houlden. V., Weich. S. and Jarvis. S. (2017) A cross-sectional analysis of green space prevalence and mental wellbeing in 

England 

Page 1503



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D27 

natural cooling, filtration of pollutants and reduce surface water run-off rates.  The policy 

would expect to have a minor positive impact on biodiversity, climate change mitigation, 

adaptation and pollution (SA Objectives 3, 4, 5 and 7).  

D.3.7.4 Furthermore, the protection and creation of GI/BI provides the opportunity to improve the 

local economy through the enhancement of the local environment, increasing property 

values, attracting inward investment, and potentially supporting economic growth.  A 

minor positive impact on the local economy (SA Objective 13) could therefore be achieved.  

  

Page 1504



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D28 

D.4 Sandwell’s Natural and Historic 
Environment  

D.4.1 Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation 

Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation 

1. Development will not be permitted where it would, alone or in combination with other plans or projects, 

have an adverse impact on the integrity of an internationally designated site, such as Cannock Chase 

Special Area of Conservation or Fens Pools Special Area of Conservation.  

2. Development will not be permitted where it would harm nationally (Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 

National Nature Reserves) or regionally (Local Nature Reserves and Sites of Importance for Nature 

Conservation) designated nature conservation sites.  

3. Species that are legally protected, in decline, are rare within Sandwell / the Black Country or that are 

covered by national, regional, or local Biodiversity Action Plans will be protected when development 

occurs in accordance with Part I of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

4. Where, exceptionally, the strategic benefits of a development clearly outweigh the importance of a local 

nature conservation site (Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation), species, habitat or 

geological feature, damage must be minimised. Any remaining impacts, including any reduction in area, 

must be fully mitigated. A mitigation strategy must accompany relevant planning applications. 

Compensation will only be accepted in exceptional circumstances.  

5. The movement of wildlife within Sandwell and into / out of adjoining areas, through both linear habitats 

(e.g. wildlife corridors) and the wider urban matrix (e.g. stepping-stone sites) should not be impeded by 

development. Developers must take account of the Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy (Policy 

SNE2) when preparing their schemes and should plan for the maintenance and where possible 

enhancement of such linkages.  

6. Details of how improvements (appropriate to their location and scale) will contribute to the natural 

environment, and their ongoing management for the benefit of biodiversity and geodiversity, will be 

expected to accompany planning applications. Adequate information must be submitted with applications 

for proposals that may affect any designated site or important habitat, species, or geological feature, to 

ensure that the likely impacts of the proposal can be fully assessed. Where the necessary information is 

not made available, there will be a presumption against granting planning permission.  

7. Over the plan period, Sandwell will update evidence on designated nature conservation sites and Local 

Nature Reserves as necessary in conjunction with the Local Sites Partnership and Natural England and 

will amend existing designations in accordance with this evidence. Consequently, sites may receive new, 

or increased, protection over the Plan period.  

 

Page 1505



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D29 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE1 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.4.1.1 Policy SNE1 aims to protect, conserve, and enhance the biodiversity assets within the 

borough, from internationally designated to locally protected sites.  Alongside the 

requirements of the policy to improve the biodiversity assets within the borough, including 

the management and connectivity of these assets, the policy also outlines requirements 

for development proposals that could result in adverse impacts on biodiversity.  The policy 

states that “a mitigation strategy must accompany relevant planning applications” and 

additionally “adequate information” is also required alongside planning applications to 

ensure impacts are fully assessed.  The policy also requires developers to accommodate 

the Local Nature Recovery Strategy in preparation of their schemes, which should “plan 

for the maintenance and where possible enhancement of such linkages”.  The policy would 

expect to have a major positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3).  

D.4.1.2 The biodiversity assets outlined in the policy, including designated sites and other wildlife 

habitats, often make up key characteristics of the surrounding landscape and through 

protection and enhancement of these assets it would be expected to benefit the local 

character and visual amenity.  The protection of open spaces and the natural environment 

would likely improve the health and mental wellbeing of residents, who would be provided 

with improved access to nature and opportunities for physical activity.  The policy would 

therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on the local landscape and health 

of residents (SA Objectives 2 and 12).  

D.4.1.3 The biodiversity assets that would be protected and enhanced by Policy SNE1 would 

contribute to ecosystem services.  Such ecosystem services include carbon storage, flood 

risk reduction, filtering of air pollutants and nutrient cycling.  Therefore, a minor positive 

impact on climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation and pollution would be 

expected (SA Objectives 4, 5 and 7).  

D.4.2 Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

1. All development proposals in Sandwell shall deliver a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity value when 

measured against baseline site information. Where achievable, a higher net gain may be agreed. Losses 

and gains will be calculated using the extant national Biodiversity Metric8.  

 
8 BNG is measured using the Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Calculation Tool (version correct as at Septembet 2023). Natural 

England have published detailed guidance on how to use the metric.  

Page 1506



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D30 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

2. Where site clearance or other activities have lowered the biodiversity value of an on-site habitat after 30 

January 2020, an estimate of the biodiversity units on site prior to those activities will be used as its 

baseline for calculating the site’s initial BNG value. This estimate will be based on habitat surveys, aerial 

photos and / or other appropriate evidence of the condition of the site, applying the precautionary 

principle.  

3. Biodiversity net gain must be provided in line with the following principles:  

a. there will be a requirement for on-site habitat provision / enhancement wherever 

practicable, followed by improvements to sites within the local area, and then other 

sites elsewhere within Sandwell;  

b. where off-site measures are needed to meet biodiversity net gain requirements, it is 

expected that the off-site habitat enhancement or creation will be located as close to 

the development site as possible;  

c. the maintenance and enhancement of the ability of plants and animals (including 

pollinating insects) to move, migrate and genetically disperse across Sandwell and the 

wider Black Country must be supported;  

d. the provision/enhancement of priority habitats identified at the national, regional, or 

local level, having regard to the scarcity of that habitat within Sandwell, will be 

expected.  

4. Compensation in the form of national biodiversity credits will only be accepted as a fall-back if mitigation 

is not possible  within the development site boundary, elsewhere in its immediate vicinity or in the wider 

Sandwell area.  

5. Provision of on- or off-site compensation on other sites should not replace or adversely impact on existing 

alternative / valuable habitats in those locations; compensatory works on them should be established via 

a legal agreement or under way prior to the related development being undertaken.  

6. Monitoring of BNG compensation measures will be required to ensure its successful delivery, with further 

compensation being required in the event of initial measures being ineffective. Ongoing management of 

any new or improved BNG habitats together with monitoring and reporting will need to be planned for 

and funded for 30 years by developers, using a conservation covenant or s106 agreement as necessary.  

7. Sandwell Council has identified the following site(s) and recorded them on the national register as 

suitable for the provision of biodiversity units to developers unable to provide a minimum 10% net gain 

on their own sites (See Appendix A and evidence base): 

Location  Potential Project types 
Baseline 
Units 

Potential Uplift Units 
(%)  

Hill House Farm Large areas of ‘modified 

grassland’ within the site that 
could be improved to ‘other 

neutral grassland’ of good 
condition. The current land use 

may have to be adapted to 
accommodate these changes 

(arable). 
There is potential for uplift in 

other habitats on site. 

241.73 +255.87 

(105.85) 

Hill Farm 
Bridge Fields 

Vary sward height and increase 
species diversity to improve the 

181.24 65.90 (36.36) 

Page 1507



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D31 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

condition of the grasslands. 
Condition of the woodland can 

be improved through 

introduction of deadwood and 
management of habitat 

regeneration. 

    

Tibbington 

Open Space 

(The Cracker) 

improvement 

Relatively large areas of 
woodland offer strong uplift 

potential. 

‘Other neutral grassland’ habitats 
and the parkland habitat both 

provide uplift opportunities. 

90.57 +32.91 (36.17) 

 

Menzies Open 

Space 

Woodland improvement, some 

grassland improvement 

Areas of ‘other neutral 

grassland’ can provide uplift. 

Site contains a pond (non-
priority). There is potential to 

create more uplift by improving 
the condition of the pond from 

poor to good. 

157.4 +42.28 (26.86) 

Warrens Hall 

Park Strategic 

Open Space 

Woodland improvement, some 

grassland improvement 

211.70 +26.93 (12.72) 

Tividale Park Scrub Species and structural 
improvement, tree and woodland 

improvement 

49.66 +10.39 (20.92) 

Developers do not have to buy units on these sites.  

 

Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy  

8. All development should help deliver the Local Nature Recovery Network Strategy in line with the following 

principles:  

a. take account of where in the Local Nature Recovery Network the development is 

located and deliver benefits appropriate to that zone, in accordance with section 3d 

above;  

b. follow the mitigation hierarchy of avoidance, mitigation and compensation, and provide 

for the protection, enhancement, restoration and creation of wildlife habitat and green 

infrastructure;  

c. follow the principles of Making Space for Nature - recognise that spaces are needed for 

nature and that these should be of sufficient size and quality and must be appropriately 

connected to other areas of green infrastructure, to address the objectives of the local 

Nature Recovery Network Strategy.  

9. Priority locations for habitat creation and enhancement are as shown on the Sandwell NRN Map 

(Appendix A). Development sites within the identified zones will be expected to contribute towards the 

creation of appropriate habitat linkages and types to support those priority areas.  

Page 1508



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D32 

Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats 

10. Development should be designed to protect and enhance existing habitats and ecological networks, 

including wildlife corridors and stepping stones. Development should minimise any potential disturbance 

to species and habitats, including from site lighting.  

11. Exemptions to the need to provide biodiversity net gain on development sites will be as set out in the 

relevant legislation and national guidance.  

Local opportunities for habitats and wildlife  

12. All development shall secure the eradication of invasive species within site boundaries, where 

opportunities arise to do so.  

13. All major development proposals with an eaves height or roof commencement height of 5m and above 

are required to provide integrated nesting bricks / boxes for swifts, house martins, house sparrows, 

starlings, and/ or bats as appropriate, to help preserve endangered species and urban biodiversity in 

Sandwell.  

14. All applicants, including those undertaking householder schemes and smaller-scale developments are 

asked to consider including additional enhancement opportunities for wildlife and conservation in their 

proposals; the Council will consider such contributions positively when determining planning applications. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE2 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.4.2.1 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is a requirement of the Environment Act 20219, with Schedules 

14 and 15 requiring all development under the Town and County Planning Act10 to deliver 

at least 10% BNG from an as yet, unconfirmed date11.  Goal 1 of the Environmental 

Improvement Plan (EIP) promotes BNG to ensure thriving plants and wildlife and that 

development leaves habitats in a better state for wildlife than before12.  The NPPF13 

requires Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) when making plans and determining planning 

 
9 The Environment Act 2021.  Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents [Date accessed: 

05/05/23] 

10 The Town and County Planning Act 1990.  Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents [Date 

accessed: 05/05/23] 

11 Current estimated date November 2023. 

12 DEFRA (2023) Environmental Improvement Plan 2023: First Revision of the 25 Year Environment Plan Available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

13 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (2023).  National Planning Policy Framework. Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_

2021.pdf [Date accessed: 05/05/23] 

Page 1509

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D33 

applications to deliver BNG stating that they must “secure measurable net gains for 

biodiversity”.   

D.4.2.2 Policy SNE2 aligns with current statutory requirements and requires development to deliver 

a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity value.  Where uplift is not possible on-site, SMBC 

has identified sites and recorded these on the national register as suitable for the provision 

of off-site biodiversity units.  This will help to secure BNG in line with the mitigation 

hierarchy and also ensure that off-site BNG aligns with SMBC’s priorities and will benefit 

the residents of Sandwell. 

D.4.2.3 The Environment Act 2021 made Local Nature Recovery Networks (LNRN) mandatory.  

These aim to target action and investment in nature locally and will cover the whole of 

England.  Policy SNE2 requires development proposals to help deliver the LNRN and 

requires development “to protect and enhance existing habitats and ecological networks, 

including wildlife corridors and stepping stones”.  

D.4.2.4 Overall, a major positive impact on biodiversity would be anticipated as a result of the 

policy (SA Objective 3).  

D.4.2.5 BNG would be expected to contribute towards improved air quality due to the increased 

uptake of carbon dioxide and filtration of pollutants associated with road transport, which 

could potentially help to reduce residents’ exposure to air pollution.  Furthermore, due to 

this enhanced carbon storage capacity, this policy could potentially help to mitigate 

anthropogenic climate change.  A minor positive impact on the climate change mitigation 

and pollution objectives would therefore be expected (SA Objectives 4 and 7).   

D.4.2.6 Enhanced biodiversity and green cover across the borough would be likely to have positive 

impact on residents’ wellbeing through providing increased access to a diverse range of 

natural habitats, which is known to be beneficial for mental and physical health14.  A minor 

positive impact on human health and wellbeing would therefore be expected (SA Objective 

12). 

D.4.2.7 Furthermore, the enhancement of the green network could potentially provide 

opportunities to safeguard and improve the character and appearance of local landscapes 

and townscapes and create more pleasant outdoor spaces for both people and wildlife.  

This would be likely to result in a minor positive impact on the local landscape quality (SA 

Objective 2). 

D.4.3 Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows 

Retention and protection of ancient woodland and veteran or ancient trees  

 
14 Houlden. V., Weich. S. and Jarvis. S. (2017) A cross-sectional analysis of green space prevalence and mental wellbeing in 

England 

Page 1510



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D34 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows 

1. Development that would result in the loss of or damage to ancient woodland and / or ancient or veteran 

trees will not be permitted.  

2. Development adjacent to ancient woodland and / or ancient or veteran trees will be required to provide 

an appropriate landscaping buffer, with a minimum depth of 15m and a preferred depth of 50m.  

3. Provision should be made for the protection of individual veteran or ancient trees likely to be impacted by 

development, by providing a buffer around such trees of a minimum of 15 times the diameter of the tree. 

The buffer zone should be 5m from the edge of the tree’s canopy if that area is larger than 15 times its 

diameter.  

Habitat Creation  

4. Opportunities for increasing tree cover across Sandwell through habitat creation and the enhancement of 

ecological networks, including connecting areas of ancient woodland, should be maximised in public and 

private sector development layouts and landscaping, in particular through biodiversity net gain and 

nature recovery network initiatives (see Policy SNE2)  

5. Replacement trees must not be planted in locations where they would impact on sites identified / 

designated as ecologically important, unless this has been specifically agreed with the Council.  

Shading and air quality issues 

6. New houses and other buildings must be carefully designed and situated to prevent an incompatible 

degree of shade15 being cast on them by both existing and new trees, which might generate subsequent 

pressure for the trees to be removed.  

7. The positioning of trees in relation to streets and buildings should not worsen air quality for people using 

and living in them. Care should be taken when choosing and positioning new street trees, and designing 

streets and buildings, to allow for street-level ventilation to occur and to avoid trapping pollution between 

ground level and tree canopies (Policy SHW3).   

Canopy cover  

8. The planting of new, predominantly native, trees and woodlands will be sought16 in appropriate locations, 

to increase the extent of canopy cover in Sandwell by around 6% by 2030, in line with the Council’s Tree 

Strategy.  

9. Tree planting on new development sites should make a minimum contribution of 20% canopy cover and 

a recommended contribution of 30% canopy cover across the site17, especially in areas where evidence 

demonstrates that current levels of canopy cover are lower than the local average.  

10. Development proposals should use large-canopied species where possible18, as they provide a wider 

range of health, biodiversity and climate change mitigation and adaptation benefits because of their 

 
15 This will be in the context of the requirements outlined in policies elsewhere in this plan on the role of trees in mitigating 

climate change and providing appropriate levels of shade and cooling.  

16 Where possible and in most cases, replacement trees should be UK and Ireland sourced and grown, to help limit the 

spread of tree pests and diseases, while supporting regional nurseries when acquiring them.  

17 Emergency Tree Plan for the UK – The Woodland Trust 2020  

18 Taking into account the requirements of points 6 and 7 of this policy  

Page 1511



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D35 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows 

larger surface area; they will also make a positive contribution to increasing overall canopy cover19 within 

Sandwell, as set out in the Sandwell Tree Strategy. 

Trees and Design 

11. Development proposals should be designed around the need to incorporate trees already present on 

sites, using sensitive and well-designed site layouts to maximise their retention. Existing mature and 

healthy trees20, trees that are ecologically important, and ancient / veteran trees should be retained and 

integrated into landscaping schemes, recognising the important contribution they make to the character 

and amenity21 of a development site and to local biodiversity networks.  

12. For every tree removed from a development site, a minimum of three replacement trees will be required 

to be planted, in accordance with the Council’s aim to increase tree canopy cover across the district by 

6% and to ensure that the minimum requirement of 10% biodiversity net gain is met and preferably 

exceeded.  

13. The species, eventual size and amenity value of replacement trees must be commensurate with the size, 

stature, rarity, and / or public amenity of the tree(s) to be removed. Where trees to be replaced form a 

group of amenity value (rather than individual specimens), replacements must also be in the form of a 

group commensurate with the area covered, size and species of trees and established quality of the 

original group. Where possible, they must be planted in a position that will mitigate the loss of visual 

amenity associated with the original group.  

14. Where planning permission has been granted that involves the removal of trees, suitable replacement 

trees must be provided onsite. Where sufficient suitable onsite replacements cannot be provided, off-site 

planting or woodland enhancement, including support for natural regeneration, in the near vicinity of the 

removed tree(s) must be provided, in line with the mitigation hierarchy set out in SNE2  

15. Where new trees are to be planted on a development site, the species of trees and their location within 

the site should be informed by a site-specific survey carried out by a qualified ecologist / arboriculturalist.  

16. New trees on development sites should be planted in accordance with arboricultural best practice, 

including the use of suitably-sized planting pits22, supporting stakes, root barriers, underground guying, 

and appropriate protective fencing during the construction phase.  

Hedgerows  

17. There will be a presumption against the wholesale removal of hedgerows for development purposes, 

especially where ecological surveys have identified them to be species-rich and where they exist on 

previously undeveloped land.  

 
19 The area of ground covered by trees when seen from above.  

20 Health and status as assessed in a report produced by an accredited arboriculturist  
21 National planning guidance identifies trees worthy of retention on amenity grounds (through use of a TPO) as those that 

are visible in part or whole from a public place and / or those with individual, collective and wider impact (in terms of size, 

form, future potential, rarity, cultural / historic value, landscape contribution and / or contribution to a conservation area). 

Other factors such as value for nature conservation and climate change may also be considered.  

22 To allow for an appropriate volume of soil in which to develop a viable root system and to prevent future stress that 

might affect the trees’ long-term health and lifespan  

Page 1512



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D36 

Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows 

18. New hedgerows will be sought as part of site layouts and landscaping schemes.  

19. Protection of existing hedgerows before and during development must be undertaken. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE3 0 + + + + + + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.4.3.1 Policy SNE3 aims to create, retain and protect trees, woodlands and hedgerows, including 

ancient trees, ancient woodlands and veteran trees across the Plan area.  Where the loss 

of a tree is unavoidable, this policy requires the planting of at least three appropriate trees 

in replacement of every tree lost, ideally native species.  The policy seeks to meet aims of 

increasing the canopy cover of the borough by 6% to contribute to BNG requirements.  

Ecological surveys will also be required to identify the ecological importance of hedgerows.  

This would be expected to help prevent the inappropriate loss of vegetation.  Trees, 

woodlands and hedgerows support a vast array of important flora and fauna and can serve 

as useful connecting habitats to facilitate the movement of species.  Therefore, this policy 

would be expected to result in a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3). 

D.4.3.2 The retention and enhancement of trees and woodland supported under this policy would 

be likely to boost the natural carbon sink and air filtration ecosystem services provided by 

trees and vegetation.  This could also potentially help to reduce residents’ exposure to air 

pollution, for example through the filtration or buffering of emissions associated with road 

transport.  Furthermore, due to the enhanced carbon storage capacity tree planting would 

provide, this policy could potentially contribute towards mitigating anthropogenic climate 

change.  A minor positive impact on the climate change mitigation and pollution objectives 

would therefore be expected (SA Objectives 4 and 7).  This could also help to improve the 

respiratory health of residents and provide opportunities for integrating green spaces 

amongst development for recreation.  Access to a diverse range of natural habitats is also 

expected to benefit mental wellbeing.  Therefore, a minor positive impact would also be 

expected in terms of public health (SA Objective 12). 

D.4.3.3 Trees serve an important role in protecting soil from erosion as a result of rainfall and 

surface water runoff, due to the stabilisation provided by roots and interception of rainfall 

by foliage.  Through conserving and enhancing tree coverage across the Plan area, this 

policy would therefore increase the area and connectivity of GI with benefits for climate 

change adaptation (SA Objective 5), and be likely to help preserve soils resulting in a 

minor positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6).    

D.4.3.4 Furthermore, trees, woodlands and hedgerows can be a useful tool to help integrate new 

development into the existing landscape character, for example, in terms of protecting or 

Page 1513



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D37 

enhancing views, or providing visual interest.  Therefore, this policy could potentially result 

in minor positive impact to the local landscape (SA Objective 2).   

D.4.3.5 It is recommended that this policy is expanded to ensure that the species of trees planted 

and their location within the development is informed by a site-specific survey carried out 

by a qualified ecologist/arboriculturalist. 

D.4.4 Policy SNE4 – Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark 

Policy SNE4 – Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark 

1. Development proposals in Sandwell will not be supported where they would have significant adverse 

impact on Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark geosites, except:  

a. where suitable mitigation and / or compensation is provided to address the adverse impacts of 

the proposed development;  

or  

b. where any residual harm following mitigation / compensation, along with any other harm, is 

clearly outweighed by the benefits of the development.  

2. Development proposals in Sandwell should:  

a. wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the protection and enhancement of 

geodiversity within the boundaries of the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark and in relation 

to the geosites identified within it;  

b. give locally significant geological sites23 a level of protection commensurate with their 

importance;  

c. consider, and avoid any disruption to, the importance of the inter-connectivity of greenspace 

and public access between geosites within the boundary of the Black Country UNESCO Global 

Geopark;  

d. ensure geological sites of importance24 are clearly identified where they are within or close to 

development proposals;  

e. make it easy to access geoheritage features – including temporary exposures – for research and 

educational purposes;  

f. enable access to records and samples as part of local and national geological record keeping.  

3. Where necessary, conditions will be put in place on approvals for planning permission to ensure 

appropriate monitoring is undertaken and to make sure mitigation, compensation and offsetting is 

delivered effectively. 

 

 
23 Many of which are identified as Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs) or Sites of Importance for 

Nature Conservation (SINCs), and / or lie within areas of significant historic value, such as conservation areas, registered 

parks and gardens or other parts of the Black Country’s historic landscape.  
24 Statutory designations and sites of local importance such as SINCs and SLINCs with a geological component  

Page 1514



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D38 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE4 + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 

D.4.4.1 Policy SNE4 would be expected to help protect and enhance geodiversity sites across the 

borough.  The Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark is of particular importance.  

Development proposals which could potentially result in an adverse impact on geodiversity 

sites of international or national importance will be resisted.  This policy would be likely to 

have a minor positive impact on local geodiversity (SA Objective 3).  Sites of geological 

importance are often strongly linked to the surrounding local landscape and historic 

features, including the industrial heritage within Sandwell.  By protecting local 

geodiversity, this policy would also be expected to have a minor positive impact on cultural 

heritage and the local landscape (SA Objectives 1 and 2). 

D.4.4.2 The protection and enhancement of geologically important sites including the UNESCO 

Global Geopark would be likely to have benefits to tourism in the area, and therefore, have 

a minor positive impact on the local economy (SA Objective 13).  Furthermore, sustainable 

tourism, outdoor learning and education are major themes of the Geopark25.  Policy SNE4 

states that development proposals in Sandwell should “make it easy to access geoheritage 

features – including temporary exposures – for research and educational purposes” which 

could potentially have a minor positive impact on education (SA Objective 14). 

D.4.5 Policy SNE5 – The Rowley Hills 

Policy SNE5 – The Rowley Hills 

1. The strategic importance of the Rowley Hills to the character and amenity of Sandwell and the wider 

Black Country is derived from their prominent location, open appearance and importance for the natural 

environment and recreation, which will be defended from the incursion of built development or other 

inappropriate uses.  

2. Development will not be permitted within the Rowley Hills Strategic Open Space that would impact on the 

following valued qualities, which include natural, cultural, perceptual and aesthetic aspects:  

• an open and undeveloped skyline;  

• expansive panoramic views into and out of the strategic open space;  

• wildlife habitats that support biodiversity;  

• ecological and geological designations;  

• areas of relative tranquillity;  

• the setting of designated heritage assets;  

• multi-functional green infrastructure assets; 

 
25 Black Country Geopark (2021) Black Country Geopark – Education, Events & Sustainable Tourism.  Available at: 

https://blackcountrygeopark.dudley.gov.uk/education/ [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1515

https://blackcountrygeopark.dudley.gov.uk/education/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D39 

Policy SNE5 – The Rowley Hills 

• highly valued open spaces for informal recreation. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE5 + ++ ++ 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.4.5.1 Policy SNE5 aims to protect the Rowley Hills from inappropriate development that would 

lead to the loss of valued qualities that contribute towards the local landscape character.  

The policy ensures that development would not impact “expansive panoramic views into 

or out of the strategic open space” and additionally not permit development that would 

impact the open and undeveloped skyline.  The policy would be expected to have a major 

positive impact on safeguarding and protecting the local landscape character and visual 

amenity of the area (SA Objective 2).   

D.4.5.2 Policy SNE5 would also help to reduce noise pollution by preventing development that 

would impact “areas of relative tranquillity”.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on noise 

pollution would be expected (SA Objective 7).  

D.4.5.3 The policy includes measures that protect local wildlife and biodiversity, resisting 

development that would impact both ecological and geological designations and habitats 

that support local biodiversity.  Furthermore, the policy includes measures that would 

prevent impacts upon “multi-functional green infrastructure assets” and “high value open 

spaces”.  Overall, the policy would be expected to have a major positive impact on 

biodiversity (SA Objective 3), and a minor positive impact on protecting green 

infrastructure assets and the health and wellbeing of residents, increasing access to open 

space and improving climate change resilience (SA Objectives 5 and 12).  

D.4.5.4 Policy SNE5 additionally includes measures that would ensure designated heritage assets 

are not impacted by proposed development including their settings.  Therefore, the policy 

would expect to have a minor positive impact on the conservation of cultural heritage (SA 

Objective 1).  

D.4.6 Policy SNE6 – Canals 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

1. Sandwell’s canal network comprises the canals and their surrounding landscape corridors, designated and 

non-designated heritage assets, character, settings, views and interrelationships.  

2. All development proposals likely to affect the canal network must:  

Page 1516



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D40 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

a. demonstrate that they will not adversely affect the structural integrity of canal infrastructure26 to 

avoid increased flood risk, land instability and / or harm to the usability of the canal (including 

its towpath) as a green-blue infrastructure asset;  

b. ensure that any proposals for reinstatement or reuse would not adversely impact on locations of 

significant environmental value where canals are not currently navigable;  

c. protect and enhance its special historic, architectural, archaeological, and cultural significance 

and its setting, including the potential to record, preserve and restore such features;  

d. protect and enhance its nature conservation value including habitat creation and restoration 

along the waterway and its surrounding environs;  

e. protect and enhance its visual amenity, key views and setting;  

f. protect and enhance water quality in the canal and protect water resource availability both in 

the canal and the wider environment.  

g. reinstate and / or upgrade towpaths, including through the introduction of suitably designed and 

sized wayfinding information, and link them into high quality, wider, integrated pedestrian and 

cycle networks, particularly where they can provide links to transport hubs, centres and 

opportunities for employment.  

3. Where opportunities exist, all development proposals within the canal network must:  

a. support and complement its role in providing opportunities for leisure, recreation and tourism 

activities;  

b. enhance and promote opportunities for off-road walking, cycling, and boating access, including 

for small-scale commercial freight activities;  

c. protect and enhance the historical, geological, and ecological value of the canal network and its 

associated infrastructure;  

d. relate positively to the adjacent waterway by promoting high quality design, including active 

frontages onto the canal and improving the public realm;  

e. integrate sensitively with the canal and any associated canal-side features and, where the 

chance to do so arises, incorporate canal features into the new development;  

f. explore opportunities associated with alternative or new uses for the canals and their towpaths, 

such as to help mitigate the effects of climate change or support the delivery of fibre networks 

and communications technology (see Policy SID1, Policy SCC3).  

4. Development proposals must be supported by evidence that the above factors have been fully considered 

and properly incorporated into their design and layout.  

5. Where proposed development overlays any disused canal features, the potential to record, preserve and 

restore such features must be fully explored unless canals have been removed in their entirety.  

6. Development on sites that include sections of disused canals should protect the line of the canal through 

the detailed layout of the proposal.  

7. Development will not be permitted that would sever the route of a disused canal or prevent the 

restoration of a canal link where there is a realistic possibility of restoration, wholly or in part.  

 
26 Including (but not limited to) waterway walls, embankments, cuttings, locks, culverts, weirs, aqueducts, tunnels and 

bridges  

Page 1517



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D41 

Policy SNE6 – Canals 

8. Proposals must safeguard the amenity of existing residential moorings when planning consent is sought 

on sites adjacent to them.  

Residential Canal Moorings  

9. For residential moorings, planning consent will only be granted for proposals that include the provision 

of:  

a. all necessary boating facilities;  

b. appropriate access to cycling and walking routes;  

c. an adequate level of amenity for boaters, not unduly impacted upon by reason of noise, fumes 

or other nearby polluting activities. 

10. In determining a planning application for residential moorings, account will be taken of the effect that 

such moorings and their associated activities may have on the amenities or activities of nearby residential 

or other uses.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SNE6 + + + 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 + + 0 

D.4.6.1 Policy SNE6 aims to protect and enhance the borough’s canal network.  The policy also 

requires development proposals to seek to reinstate and/or upgrade towpaths and link 

them into high-quality, wider pedestrian and cycle networks.  This would be expected to 

ensure the canal network remains functional across the Plan area, with minor positive 

impacts in regard to transport and accessibility (SA Objective 9).  Furthermore, enhancing 

the canal towpath network for use by pedestrians and cyclists could potentially encourage 

outdoor exercise and active travel, resulting in a minor positive impact on physical and 

mental health (SA Objective 12). 

D.4.6.2 Sandwell’s canal network forms an important biodiversity, amenity and cultural heritage 

asset.  Policy SNE6 requires development proposals to protect and enhance the canals 

“special historic, architectural, archaeological and cultural significance and its setting”, 

“nature conservation value including habitat creation and restoration”, “visual amenity, 

key views and its setting” and “water quality”.  These requirements would be likely to 

result in minor positive impacts in relation to cultural heritage, landscape, biodiversity and 

pollution (SA Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 7).   

D.4.6.3 The policy states that where the opportunity exists, future development should aim to 

improve leisure, recreation and tourism activities associated with the canals.  Additionally, 

the policy includes measures to improve connectivity to transport hubs, centres and 

employment sites.  This would be likely to have a minor positive impact on the local 

economy (SA Objective 13).   

Page 1518



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D42 

D.4.6.4 This policy would support the development of residential moorings within the borough, 

which could potentially lead to a minor positive impact on the overall accommodation 

provision (SA Objective 10). 

D.4.7 Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

1. The impact of development proposals on the significance of Sandwell’s heritage assets and their settings 

will be considered in accordance with case law, legislation, and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

2. Development proposals will be required to preserve and enhance local character and those aspects of the 

historic environment together with their settings that are recognised as being of special historic, 

archaeological, architectural, landscape or townscape quality.  

3. All proposals for development that may affect a heritage asset or its setting must be accompanied by an 

Assessment of Significance that should form part of a Design and Access Statement and / or a Heritage 

Impact Assessment. It should set out clearly the significance of the heritage asset, including any 

contribution made by its setting. The proposals should demonstrate how they respond to the significance 

of the asset.  

4. Sandwell Council will seek to preserve and enhance the settings of listed buildings by exercising 

appropriate control over the design of new development in their vicinity and the use of adjacent land; 

and, where appropriate, by the preservation of trees and landscape features.  

5. Proposals for new build, alterations or extensions within Sandwell’s conservation areas must respect the 

local historic character and architectural styles. This will include considering building scale, grouping, 

materials and fenestration. Design and Access Statements should highlight the significant components of 

the conservation area in relation to the proposal and clearly demonstrate how these proposals preserve 

or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area.  

6. Proposals for enabling development that support securing a viable future use or improvement to a 

historic asset may be supported.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHE1 ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.4.7.1 This policy would be expected to help ensure that heritage assets are conserved in a 

manner appropriate to their significance, in line with national policy, and that the setting 

and special character of heritage assets are not adversely impacted by development. 

D.4.7.2 Policy SHE1 outlines the requirements of development proposals to “preserve and enhance 

local character” and “settings that are recognised as being of special historic, 

archaeological, architectural, landscape or townscape quality”.  Proposals for development 

that could potentially affect a heritage asset are required to be accompanied by an 

Page 1519



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D43 

Assessment of Significance that would be part of a Design and Access Statement and / or 

a Heritage Impact Assessment.  The policy would be likely to have a major positive impact 

on cultural heritage (SA Objective 1).  The protection and enhancement of heritage assets 

and their settings would be expected to positively impact the local character and would 

contribute to the surrounding local landscape / townscape in terms of local identity.  It 

would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on landscape (SA Objective 

2).  

D.4.7.3 It is recommended that the word “conserve” rather than “preserve” is used with regard to 

cultural heritage, reflecting the wording in the NPPF.  The Council could also consider the 

potential to merge Policy SHE1 and SHE2 into a single policy to provide a clear position 

across all designated heritage assets and to avoid repetition. 

D.4.8 Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment 

Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment 

1. New development in Sandwell that impacts on the historic environment should demonstrate that:  

a. all aspects of the historic character and distinctiveness of the locality, including any contribution 

made by their setting, and (where applicable) views into, from, or within them, have been fully 

assessed and used to inform proposals; and  

b. proposals have been prepared with full reference to the Black Country Historic Landscape 

Characterisation Study (BCHLCS) (October 2019), the Historic Environment Record (HER), 

relevant conservation area appraisals and national and local policy.  

2. Development proposals that could have an impact on the historic significance27 of either designated 

heritage assets28 or non-designated heritage assets29 should be supported by evidence that their historic 

character and distinctiveness has been fully assessed and used to inform proposals.  

3. Historic assets that contribute positively to the local character and distinctiveness of Sandwell’s specific 

townscapes should be retained and, wherever possible, enhanced and their settings respected.  

4. The locally-specific urban grain, vernacular and other architectural and historic details that contribute to 

local character and distinctiveness should be used to inform the form, scale, appearance, details, and 

materials of new development.  

5. All proposals should aim to sustain and reinforce special character and conserve the locally distinctive 

historic aspects of Sandwell, for example:  

a. The surviving pre-industrial settlements of medieval origin such as Wednesbury and Oldbury; 

 
27 NPPF 2023 Annex 2 Significance (for heritage policy): The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because 

of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic, or historic. Significance derives not only 

from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.  
28 NPPF 2023 Annex 2 Designated heritage asset: A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected 

Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated under the relevant 

legislation  
29 NPPF 2023 Annex 2 Heritage asset: A building monument, site, place, area, or landscape identified as having a degree of 

significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage 

assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing).  

Page 1520



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D44 

Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment 

b. Areas of Victorian and Edwardian higher-density development, which survive with a high degree 

of integrity, including terraced housing and its associated amenities, such as residential areas 

within West Bromwich Conservation Area;  

c. Areas of extensive lower density suburban development of the early and mid- 20th century, 

including public housing and private developments of semi- detached and detached housing;  

d. Public open spaces, including Victorian and Edwardian municipal parks, often created upon land 

retaining elements of relict industrial landscape features such as Windmill End;  

e. The canal network and its associated infrastructure, surviving canal-side pre- 1939 buildings and 

structures, and archaeological evidence of the development of canal-side industries and former 

canal routes;  

f. Buildings, structures and archaeological remains of the traditional industries of Sandwell, 

including metal trades such as chain-making and extractive industries such as quarrying such as 

on the Rowley Hills;  

g. The Rowley Hills (Turners Hill) and other largely undeveloped high prominences and views to 

and from these locations. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHE2 ++ + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.4.8.1 Policy SHE2 would be expected to ensure heritage assets, both designated and non-

designated, are protected throughout the borough and that proposals should “aim to 

sustain and reinforce special character and conserve the locally distinctive historic aspects 

of Sandwell”.  The policy identifies examples of areas and particular assets that offer 

opportunities to reinforce the special character and identity of Sandwell.  The identified 

assets are to be “retained and, wherever possible, enhanced and their settings respected”.  

This policy would be expected to help ensure that heritage assets are conserved in a 

manner appropriate to their significance, in line with national policy, and would ensure 

developments have regard to the Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC).  Overall, a 

major positive impact on cultural heritage would be likely (SA Objective 1).  

D.4.8.2 The heritage assets identified contribute to the local landscape character of Sandwell.   

Furthermore, the policy seeks to ensure that the “urban grain, vernacular and other 

architectural and historic details” are considered, with new development reflecting an 

appropriate form, scale, appearance, and building materials to ensure that the landscape 

/ townscape character is conserved and enhanced.  Through protection and enhancement 

of these assets it would be expected that the policy would have a minor positive impact 

on the local landscape (SA Objective 2).   

Page 1521



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D45 

D.4.8.3 Through ensuring the conservation and enhancement of historic assets including the canal 

network and open spaces such as the Rowley Hills, Policy SHE2 could also result in a minor 

positive impact on biodiversity and geodiversity (SA Objective 3). 

D.4.8.4 Furthermore, the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets and historic 

townscapes can have benefits to the economy including through encouraging tourism and 

attracting investment30.  The policy could potentially result in a minor positive impact on 

the economy (SA Objective 13). 

D.4.9 Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings 

Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings 

1. Proposals for alteration, extension and change of use to locally listed buildings or structures should 

clearly demonstrate that they will positively contribute towards the architectural or historical significance 

of the heritage asset.  

2. Demolition of locally listed buildings will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that no viable use can 

be found for the building or that the proposed development will have a substantial public benefit.  

3. When demolition of a locally-listed building is unavoidable as part of a wider development, the Council 

will require an appropriate level of building recording prior to demolition taking place through the 

imposition of planning conditions. The approved recording shall be incorporated within the Historic 

Environment Record (HER). 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHE3 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.4.9.1 Policy SHE3 sets out the requirements for development proposals in regard to locally listed 

buildings within the borough and how proposals should be treated when they threaten the 

appearance or use of a locally listed building.  

D.4.9.2 The policy would help to avoid the loss of locally listed buildings, unless there are 

demonstrable public benefits outweighing the loss, and ensure that any development 

proposals affecting locally listed buildings are only permitted where they will “positively 

contribute towards the architectural or historical significance”.  These provisions could help 

to conserve and enhance the townscape character and cultural heritage features, resulting 

in a minor positive impact on SA Objectives 1 and 2. 

 
30 Historic England (2020) Heritage and the Economy 2020.  Available at: https://historicengland.org.uk/research/heritage-

counts/heritage-and-economy/ [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1522

https://historicengland.org.uk/research/heritage-counts/heritage-and-economy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/heritage-counts/heritage-and-economy/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D46 

D.4.10 Policy SHE4 – Archaeology 

Policy SHE4 – Archaeology 

1. Development should safeguard both designated and non-designated archaeological assets and the 

character and setting of areas of acknowledged significance.  

2. In considering proposals for development, Sandwell Council will seek to ensure that designated 

archaeological assets are preserved in situ, avoiding loss or harm to their significance, and their settings 

are also preserved and enhanced, to fully understand and utilise their archaeological, recreational and 

educational value.  

3. Development proposals that are likely to have a significant adverse impact on designated archaeological 

assets and their settings that cannot be avoided, or where the asset cannot be preserved in situ, will be 

resisted.  

4. Non-designated archaeological assets must be preserved wherever possible. Where it would be 

unreasonable to withhold planning permission for the development of such sites, provision will be made 

through agreements and conditions of planning permissions for an appropriate level of archaeological 

evaluation and recording to be undertaken, prior to impact on or loss of the asset. Evaluations / 

recordings will be included within Sandwell’s Historic Environment Record.  

5. For sites with known archaeological potential, Sandwell Council may require developers to provide 

archaeological assessments and / or field evaluation to support their proposals. This information will be 

used to assess the archaeological implications of the development and to identify requirements for 

archaeological preservation or investigation. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHE4 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 

D.4.10.1 Policy SHE4 sets out the requirements for development proposals in regard to heritage 

assets within the borough and specific requirements in relation to the archaeological 

nature of these assets.  

D.4.10.2 Archaeological assets, both designated and non-designated, will be safeguarded under the 

policy and it will ensure that “their settings are also preserved and enhanced, to fully 

understand and utilise their archaeological, recreational and educational value”.  

Additionally, the policy identifies measures to protect sites of known archaeological 

potential, requiring an archaeological assessment and / or field evaluation to be included 

within development proposals.  The heritage assets would be likely to contribute to the 

local landscape of the area and may be important in contributing to local identify and the 

sense of place.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on cultural heritage, landscape, and 

education would be expected (SA Objectives 1, 2, and 14).   

  

Page 1523



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D47 

D.5 Climate Change  

D.5.1 Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience 

Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience 

1. Development should be designed to mitigate climate change impacts and provide adaptations that will 

help communities and individuals to continue to avoid or mitigate adverse effects on human health.  

2. Proposals for development will need to demonstrate how they have been designed to maximise 

resistance and resilience to climate change through addressing the following requirements: -  

a. new buildings will be orientated to maximise opportunities for both natural heating and 

ventilation and to reduce exposure to wind and other elements (Policy SDS4; Policy SDM1); 

b. development proposals will need to meet the needs of all sections of the community by 

including a range of sustainable and low carbon transport modes as alternatives to private car 

use (Policy STR6); 

c. use of trees and other planting in landscaping schemes will be required throughout Sandwell, to 

provide for the shading of amenity areas, buildings and streets, mitigate against poor air quality 

and help connect fragmented habitats and protect and support biodiversity networks;  

d. landscaping schemes should be designed using a mix of native tree species and plants where 

appropriate and should also use species that are able to adapt to changing climate conditions 

(Policy SNE3);  

e. all development will need to minimise the impact of surface water runoff through the design of 

proposed drainage systems, including where possible grey water recycling and rainwater 

collection, and the use of permeable surfaces (Policy SCC4); 

f. development should make provision for sustainable drainage infrastructure, which should be 

built into landscaping schemes / open space provision as appropriate (Policy SCC5);  

g. development will be required to incorporate mitigation and resilience measures designed to 

reduce the risk of river, surface and other potential water flooding (Policy SCC4); 

h. the conversion of non-domestic buildings to residential use will be expected to employ high 

environmental standards, incorporating improved thermal insulation, appropriate levels of 

natural ventilation and measures to improve water efficiency;  

i. proposals for increasing the energy efficiency and resilience to climate change of designated 

heritage assets will be supported only where this will not cause demonstrable harm to the 

historic fabric, character, setting or appearance of the asset.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC1 + + + ++ + + + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 

Page 1524



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D48 

D.5.1.1 Policy SCC1 aims to ensure that development proposals seek opportunities for adaptation 

to, and mitigation of, climate change.  This would help to promote sustainable 

development throughout the Plan area and help to protect the environment.   

D.5.1.2 This policy supports the development of energy efficient technologies associated with 

historic assets as long as the development “will not cause demonstrable harm to the 

historic fabric, character, setting or appearance of the asset”.  Therefore, a minor positive 

impact on cultural heritage would be anticipated (SA Objective 1). 

D.5.1.3 The policy requires development proposals to “protect and support biodiversity networks”, 

to incorporate “landscaping schemes” and to be designed “using a mix of native tree 

species and plants where appropriate”.  This policy could potentially help to protect and 

enhance, and therefore have a minor positive impact in relation to, biodiversity and 

landscape character (SA Objectives 2 and 3).   

D.5.1.4 In addition to increased green cover, the policy states that “all development will need to 

minimise the impact of surface water runoff through the design of proposed drainage 

systems, including where possible grey water recycling and rainwater collection, and the 

use of permeable surfaces”.  These requirements will provide mitigation for potential 

surface water flood events.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on climate change 

adaptation would be expected (SA Objective 5).  In addition, these requirements will 

benefit water efficiency, and have a minor positive impact on natural resources (SA 

Objective 6). 

D.5.1.5 Enhanced green cover alongside amenity areas, buildings and streets could potentially 

help to promote natural air filtration, and as such, reduce residents’ exposure to transport-

associated air pollution.  Furthermore, providing a more attractive local area could 

potentially encourage walkable neighbourhoods and facilitate outdoor exercise.  Policy 

SCC1 also requires development proposals to consider accessibility via “a range of 

sustainable and low carbon transport modes as alternatives to private car use”.  This would 

be likely to reduce reliance on private car use, reducing local GHG emissions, as well as 

improving access via walking and cycling to encourage the uptake of active travel.  This 

policy states that new development should incorporate natural heating and ventilation, 

wherever possible.  This would be expected to ensure that living conditions are of a high 

quality.  Overall, a minor positive impact on local air quality, accessibility and human health 

would be expected (SA Objectives 7, 9 and 12). 

D.5.1.6 The incorporation of green cover, minimisation of flood risk, use of greywater recycling 

and promotion of natural heating systems would be expected to help reduce the Plan 

area’s contributions to the causes of climate change.  By requiring adaptation and 

mitigation measures to ensure that development proposals are resilient in the face of 

climate change, this policy would be expected to have a major positive impact on climate 

change mitigation (SA Objective 4). 

D.5.2 Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure  

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure 

Decentralised energy networks and district heating provision  

Page 1525



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D49 

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure 

1. Any development including ten homes or more, or non-residential floorspace of 1,000 sq m or more must 

include opportunities for decentralised energy provision within the site, unless it can be demonstrated 

that the development is not suitable, feasible or viable for district heat or decentralised energy networks.  

2. Where there is existing decentralised energy provision available close to the site, the development will be 

expected to link into it, or should be designed to accommodate a subsequent connection31 if a source has 

not yet become operational.  

3. Where developers can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council that a link to an existing or 

committed decentralised energy source nearby is not viable, the local authority will support the provision 

of alternative onsite carbon elimination measures that can be incorporated into the scheme (Policy 

SCC6). 

4. Proposals intended to deliver decentralised networks and related infrastructure will need to prevent or 

minimise any adverse impacts on the historic environment by ensuring that they protect the significance 

of heritage assets, including their setting.  

Onsite energy provision  

5. Developers should engage with relevant energy companies and bodies at an early stage in the 

development process to establish the likely future energy and infrastructure requirements arising from 

large-scale development proposals including 100 homes or more, or non-residential floorspace of 10,000 

sq m or more. Proposals for addressing energy provision on such sites should be developed and agreed 

between the local planning authority and developer(s) to establish the lowest lifetime carbon energy 

provision.  

6. Information to support the preferred solution(s) should identify and address:  

a. current and future major sources of demand for heat (e.g. sites such as industrial / 

manufacturing sites, universities, large-scale sporting or leisure development, hospitals and 

social housing);  

b. demands for heat from existing buildings that can be connected to future phases of a heat 

network;  

c. major heat supply plant;  

d. possible opportunities to utilise energy from waste or waste heat from industrial processes;  

e. opportunities for heat networks;  

f. opportunities for private wire electricity supply;  

g. possible land for energy centres and / or energy storage;  

h. possible heating and cooling network routes;  

i. infrastructure and land requirements for electricity and gas supplies;  

j. feasibility of built-in renewable energy generation (Policy SCC6); and 

k. implementation options for delivering feasible projects, considering issues of procurement, 

funding and risk, and the role of the public sector.  

Heating / hot water systems  

 
31 Where a decentralised energy source is extant or will become operational during the construction of the development, 

and a proposed linkage has been agreed, suitable means of access / connection should be provided along roads / footpaths 

as a minimum form of infrastructure.  

Page 1526



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D50 

Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure 

7. Heat sources for a district heating system should be chosen to minimise likely emissions and to make 

best use of any local decentralised networks, in preference to other solutions.  

8. Where a district heating system is provided, development proposals must provide evidence to show that 

NOx emissions related to energy generation will be equivalent to or lower than those of an ultra-low 

NOx32 gas boiler.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC2 0 0 0 + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.5.2.1 Policy SCC2 aims to encourage the use of decentralised energy sources within 

development proposals and, where appropriate, the use of communal heating systems to 

reduce GHG emissions.  More efficient energy infrastructure will lead to a decrease in the 

amount of energy needed, and consequently, a decrease in GHG emissions released 

through the generation of energy.  Policy SCC2 would therefore be likely to have a minor 

positive impact in relation to climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4).  By identifying 

and improving heating and cooling networks and considering future requirements, this 

policy could also potentially result in a minor positive impact on climate change adaptation 

(SA Objective 5). 

D.5.2.2 In addition, through improved energy efficiency, this policy would be likely to result in 

health benefits.  This is due to a reduction in GHG emissions, which can cause poor air 

quality and impact human health, primarily due to particulate matter pollution.  Therefore, 

this policy would have a minor positive impact in regard to pollution and human health 

(SA Objectives 7 and 12).   

D.5.3 Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk 

Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk 

1. Development proposals33 should minimise both internal heat gain and the impacts of urban heat islands34 

by using appropriate design, layout, orientation and materials.  

2. Opportunities to benefit from the proximity of existing heat sinks such as canals and other bodies of 

water should be explored and incorporated into proposals where available.  

3. Development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how their potential for overheating and reliance 

on artificial cooling systems will be reduced, in accordance with the following cooling hierarchy:  

 
32

 Ultra-low NOx boiler Standard specified in the Black Country Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document.  
33 Excluding domestic extensions. 
34 Caused by extensive built-up areas absorbing and retaining heat.  

Page 1527



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D51 

Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk 

a. minimise internal heat generation through energy-efficient design;  

b. reduce the amount of heat entering a building through orientation, shading, albedo35, 

fenestration, insulation and the provision of green roofs and walls (Policies SDS4 and SDM1); 

c. manage heat within a building through exposed internal thermal mass36 and high ceilings;  

d. provide passive ventilation;  

e. provide mechanical ventilation;  

f. provide active cooling systems37.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC3 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.5.3.1 Efficient design and building of development proposals can help to reduce the risk of heat 

gain and the urban heat island effect (UHI).  UHI refers to an urban area which is 

significantly warmer than the surrounding rural areas, caused primarily by human activity.  

This could potentially be an issue within Sandwell due to the predominantly urban area, 

tall buildings and large population, coupled with the implications of climate change and 

more frequent heatwaves.  The policy states that “energy-efficient design”, “passive 

ventilation” and “active cooling systems” will be required within developments.  This would 

be expected to help reduce heat gain and the UHI effect, reduce the amount of energy 

needed to cool environments and reduce heat lost to the environment.  This policy would 

therefore be likely to have minor positive impacts in relation to climate change mitigation, 

climate change adaptation and pollution (SA Objectives 4, 5 and 7). 

D.5.3.2 Furthermore, Policy SCC3 encourages “provision of green roofs and walls” which could 

potentially help to support wildlife networks and opportunities for habitat creation amongst 

the urban areas.  Therefore, this policy could result in a minor positive impact on 

biodiversity (SA Objective 3). 

 
35 The reflectivity of a surface. A high albedo surface reflects the sun’s heat back into the atmosphere; low albedo surfaces 

absorb it. Pale-coloured surfaces have a high albedo and can help to minimise heat gain.  

36 'Thermal mass' is a material's capacity to absorb, store and release heat.  

37 Systems using energy to provide cooling. They circulate a coolant (gas, fluid) to transfer heat from one place to another.  

Page 1528



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D52 

D.5.4 Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk  

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

1. Sandwell Council will seek to minimise the probability and consequences of flooding from all sources by 

adopting a strong risk-based approach to site allocations and the granting of planning permission, in line 

with the National Planning Policy Framework.  

2. The sequential test38 will:  

a. be applied to all developments to ensure that development takes place in areas with the lowest 

flood risk, in line with NPPF requirements;  

b. take account of the most up-to-date information available on river flooding and all other sources 

of flooding, making use of the information provided in the 2020 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

(SFRA) updated in 2021 and any future updates; and 

c. consider the impact of climate change over the lifetime of that development.  

3. Developers should apply the Sequential Test to all development sites, unless the proposal is for:  

a. a strategic allocation and the test has already been carried out by the LPA; or  

b. a change of use (except to a more vulnerable use); or  

c. a minor development (householder development, small non-residential extensions with a 

footprint of less than 250m2); or  

d. a development in Flood Zone 1, unless there are other flooding issues in the area of the 

development (i.e. surface water, ground water, sewer flooding). The SFRA can be used to 

identify where there are flooding issues from sources others than rivers.  

4. Developers should provide evidence to the Council that they have considered all reasonably available 

alternative sites that are at a lower risk of flooding prior to determining the suitability of the chosen site 

for the proposed development type, in relation to all sources of flood risk on it.  

5. For all developments the vulnerability of the development type to flooding should be considered with 

regard to the most up-to-date flood zone information in accordance with the NPPF, as set out below:  

a. Flood Zone 3  

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 3b (Functional Floodplain), all development other than 

essential infrastructure (subject to the Exception Test) will be refused (including 

extensions and intensification of use and changes of use) and opportunities to relocate 

development out of the floodplain should be sought;  

ii. Where the site is in Flood Zone 3a (High Probability), new homes can only be permitted 

subject to the Exception Test.  

b. Flood Zone 2  

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 2 (Medium Probability), most development can be 

permitted, subject to a site-specific flood risk assessment;  

ii. Highly vulnerable developments, such as caravans, mobile homes and park homes with 

permanent residential use can be permitted, subject to the Exception Test;  

c. Flood Zone 1  

 
38 NPPF (2023), paragraph 162 

Page 1529



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D53 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

i. Where the site is in Flood Zone 1 (Low Probability), the information in the 2020 SFRA 

should be used to assess if a development is at risk from other sources of flooding and 

/ or if there is an increased risk of flooding in the future due to climate change. If this 

site is shown to be at risk, a site-specific flood risk assessment should accompany a 

planning application.  

6. To pass the Exception Test, developments will need to:  

a. Demonstrate that wider sustainability benefits to the community outweigh flood risk.  Matters 

such as biodiversity, green infrastructure, historic environment, climate change adaptation, flood 

risk, green energy, pollution, health and transport should be considered;  

b. prove that the development will be safe from flooding for its lifetime, taking account of the 

vulnerability of its users;  

c. prove that the development can be achieved without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where 

possible, will result in a reduced flood risk overall.  

7. All new developments in the following locations should be accompanied by a flood risk assessment and 

surface water drainage strategy that sets out how the development will provide a betterment in flood risk 

terms i.e. help to reduce flood risk both on and off site:  

a. where any part of the site is within Flood Zone 2 or Flood Zone 3;  

b. where the site is greater than one hectare and is within Flood Zone 1;  

c. where the site is a minerals or waste development;  

d. where the site is within five metres of an ordinary watercourse;  

e. where the site is within 20m of a known flooding hotspot;  

f. where the site is within the 1 in 100-year flood extent based on the Risk of Flooding from 

Surface Water Map.  

8. Surface water drainage strategies are also required for all major developments. These should consider all 

sources of flooding to ensure that future development is resilient to flood risk and does not increase flood 

risk elsewhere.  

Groundwater Source Protection Zones  

9. No development will be permitted within a groundwater Source Protection Zone that would physically 

disturb an aquifer.  A risk assessment demonstrating there would be no adverse effect on water 

resources will be required prior to the grant of planning permission.   

Watercourses and flood mitigation  

10. Developments should, where possible naturalise urban watercourses (by reinstating a natural, sinuous 

river channel and restoring the functional floodplain) and open up underground culverts, to provide 

biodiversity net gain as well as amenity improvements; reference should be made to the latest River 

Basin Management Plans39.  

11. Developers should set out how their mitigation designs will ensure that there is no net increase to fluvial 

flood risk downstream and where practicable how the development could help mitigate against 

downstream fluvial flood risk.  

 
39 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/river-basin-management-plans-updated-2022  

Page 1530



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D54 

Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk 

12. Development should not take place over culverted watercourses and a suitable easement should be 

provided from the outside edge of the culvert.  

13. There should be no built development within five metres of an ordinary watercourse and within ten 

metres of the top of the bank of a main river. This is to enable the preservation of the watercourse 

corridor, wildlife habitat, flood flow conveyance and future watercourse maintenance or improvement.  

14. Where there is a known or suspected culverted watercourse either on or immediately downstream of a 

site, where the SFRA highlights there may be a risk of flooding, developers should: 

a. confirm the location and presence of a watercourse (or otherwise) through ground-truthing 

strategic datasets and undertaking an assessment of the culvert extent and condition;  

b. confirm by survey, modelling and mapping, the flood extents of the watercourse(s), as many of 

the flood outlines associated with such watercourses have been carried out at a broad scale and 

may not take into account specific local features, such as culverts, bridges and detailed 

topographical survey;  

c. design the development to accommodate the floodplain of the watercourse and mitigate against 

flooding to properties on the site. This should include a consideration of residual flood risk e.g. if 

a culvert were to block downstream.  

15. All developments should seek to provide wider betterment by demonstrating in site-specific flood risk 

assessments and surface water drainage strategies (where required) what measures can be put in place 

to contribute to a reduction in overall flood risk downstream. This may be by: -  

a. provision of additional storage on site e.g. through oversized SuDS, natural flood management 

techniques, green infrastructure and green-blue corridors; and / or  

b. by providing a partnership funding contribution towards wider community schemes (both within 

and beyond the Black Country, in shared catchments with Southern Staffordshire and 

Birmingham).  

16. Consultation on site-specific requirements should be undertaken with the Council, the Environment 

Agency and Severn Trent Water (where this is a sewer flooding issue) at the earliest opportunity. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC4 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.5.4.1 Policy SCC5 seeks to manage the risk of flooding throughout the Plan area and ensure 

that measures are in place within new developments to promote resilience to flooding.   

D.5.4.2 The policy sets out criteria requiring development proposals to carry out a Flood Risk 

Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy.  The Sequential Test will be applied to 

all development proposals to ensure that development takes place in areas with the lowest 

flood risk.  This, and other requirements as set out in the policy, would be expected to 

Page 1531



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D55 

ensure that all future development proposals would not place new residents at risk of 

flooding or exacerbate flood risk in areas surrounding the development.  The policy states 

that all development proposals should incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

to help reduce the risk of surface water flooding and seek to provide wider flood risk 

betterment.  Overall, a major positive impact on climate change adaption would be 

anticipated (SA Objective 5). 

D.5.4.3 Flooding can pose a number of risks to human health and wellbeing, including physical 

and mental trauma, disease and disruption to power and water supplies40.  Providing new 

development which is flood resilient and results in flood risk betterment in surrounding 

areas would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on human health (SA 

Objective 12).   

D.5.4.4 Surface water run-off can lead to flooding and a decrease in water quality.  The 

incorporation of SuDS into developments would be expected to benefit water quality, 

biodiversity and amenity interest through the integration into the wider green and blue 

infrastructure networks and promoting natural management of flood water.  Under the 

policy, developments should, where possible, naturalise urban watercourses and open up 

underground culverts “to provide biodiversity net gain as well as amenity improvements”.  

This would be likely to benefit biodiversity and provide opportunities for habitat 

connectivity and the filtration of pollutants.  Therefore, Policy SCC5 would be likely to have 

a minor positive impact on biodiversity and pollution (SA Objectives 3 and 7). 

D.5.5 Policy SCC5 – Sustainable drainage and surface water management 

Policy SCC5 – Sustainable drainage and surface water management 

1. All new developments in Sandwell should incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); 

development proposals should provide details of adoption, ongoing maintenance and management of 

SuDS.  

2. SuDS shall be designed in line with the Black Country Local Standards for SUDS. Preference will be given 

to systems that contribute to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and green infrastructure 

in the wider area.  

3. For all major developments, surface water flows must be reduced back to equivalent greenfield rates. If 

greenfield runoff rates are not considered to be feasible for viability or other reasons, the developer must 

submit evidence demonstrating what the constraints are and how the development will accommodate 

runoff rates that are as close as possible to greenfield rates.  

4. For all minor developments, a minimum reduction of 30% over pre-development runoff rates will be 

required. Under no circumstances will post-development runoff rates that are greater than pre-

development runoff rates be permitted. Surface water run-off should be managed as close to its source 

as possible.  

5. Surface water drainage strategies are required for all major developments, regardless of their size and 

the flood zone and catchment they are in to meet the requirements of the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

 
40 Public Health England (2014) Flooding and the public’s health: looking beyond the short-term.  Available at: 

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2014/01/06/flooding-and-the-publics-health-looking-beyond-the-short-term/ 

[Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1532

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2014/01/06/flooding-and-the-publics-health-looking-beyond-the-short-term/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D56 

Policy SCC5 – Sustainable drainage and surface water management 

These should consider all sources of flooding to ensure that future development is resilient to flood risk 

and does not increase flood risk elsewhere and should look to provide wider betterment.  

6. A hydrogeological risk assessment is required where infiltration SuDS is proposed for anything other than 

clean roof drainage in a Source Protection Zone 141. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC5 0 + + 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.5.5.1 Policy SCC5 sets out guidelines for future development in Sandwell with respect to 

Sustainable Drainage and Surface Water Management.  

D.5.5.2 The policy requires developments to incorporate SuDS designed in line with the Black 

Country Local Standards for SuDS which would be anticipated to help reduce the risk of 

surface water flooding.  The policy further states that “surface water drainage strategies 

are required for all major developments, regardless of their size and the flood zone and 

catchment they are in”.  This policy would be expected to have a minor positive impact on 

climate change adaptation (SA Objective 5).  

D.5.5.3 The policy states that “Preference will be given to systems that contribute to the 

conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and green infrastructure in the wider area”.  

In line with PPG, SMBC should seek to ensure that opportunities are sought for SuDS to 

provide benefits to water quantity, water quality, biodiversity and amenity42.  As such, 

there is potential for the policy to lead to a minor positive impact on landscape, biodiversity 

and pollution (SA Objectives 2, 3 and 7). 

D.5.6 Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy generation  

1. Proposals involving the development of renewable or low carbon energy sources will be permitted where 

the proposal: -  

a. accords with local and national guidance;  

b. would not significantly harm the natural or built environment;  

 
41 Source Protection Zones are designed to control activities close to water supplies intended for human consumption. 

These water sources include wells, boreholes and springs, all of which are used for public drinking. Zone 1, defined as the 

inner zone, is the most sensitive part of an area within a zone.  
42 DLUHC and MHCLG (2022) Flood risk and coastal change: Sustainable drainage systems.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#para55 [Date accessed: 26/07/23] 

Page 1533

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#para55


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D57 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards 

c. maintains and safeguards the historic environment and heritage assets, including their setting; 

and  

d. will not have a significant adverse effect on the amenities of those living or working nearby43. 

Low carbon and renewable requirements for development  

2. Small developments creating between one and nine homes or non-residential floorspace of less than 

1,000 sqm gross (whether new build or conversion) must incorporate generation of energy from 

renewable or low carbon sources sufficient to off-set at least 10% of the estimated residual energy 

demand44 of the development on completion.  

3. Major developments creating ten or more homes or non-residential floorspace of 1,000 sqm gross or 

more (whether new build or conversion) must incorporate the generation of energy from renewable or 

low carbon sources sufficient to off-set at least 20% of the estimated residual energy demand of the 

development on completion.  

4. A variety of renewable and low-carbon energy sources and generation methods should be assessed and 

costed, including on-site and off-site sources where appropriate and the use of district heat and / or 

decentralised energy networks where available or proposed. An energy assessment must be submitted 

with the planning application to demonstrate that these requirements have been met.  

5. The potential for inland waterways to promote low carbon technologies is recognised; in appropriate 

locations adjacent to Sandwell’s canal network, proposals to heat and cool new properties using water 

source heat pumps will be welcomed and supported.  

6. The renewable energy target will only be reduced if it can be demonstrated that achievement of the 

target would:  

a. make the proposal unviable through submission of an independently assessed financial viability 

appraisal; or  

b. would not be feasible due to practical constraints.  

BREEAM Standards  

7. All new build non-residential developments, student housing and care homes of 1,000 sqm gross or more 

should achieve the following standards of BREEAM New Construction certification, including full credits for 

category Wat 01 (water efficiency):  

 
* Year refers to date planning permission is granted  

 
43 E.g. by generating adverse visual, noise, odour, air pollution or other effects  
44 Residual energy demand means that the estimated energy demand for the operational development after allowance has 

been made for the full range of energy efficiency measures required under Building Regulations (at the time of 

construction).  

Page 1534



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D58 

Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards 

 
8. BREEAM requirements may be varied if it can be demonstrated that achievement of the standard would 

make the proposal unviable, through submission of an independently assessed financial viability 

appraisal.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCC6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.5.6.1 The promotion of on-site renewable or low carbon technologies incorporated within new 

development in the borough will help to decrease reliance on energy that is generated 

from unsustainable sources, such as fossil fuels.  A reduction in the use of fossil fuels 

would help to reduce the volume of GHGs that are emitted into the atmosphere.  This in 

turn would reduce Sandwell’s contribution towards the causes of climate change.  Policy 

SCC6 requires all non-residential development of 1,000 sqm gross or more to be in 

accordance with the BREEAM New Construction Technical Standards45.  The policy states 

that development proposals should in particular achieve full credits for category Wat 01 

(water efficiency).   

D.5.6.2 This policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation 

by helping to ensure development proposals are more energy efficient and seek 

opportunities to utilise renewable and low carbon energy sources (SA Objective 4).   

D.5.6.3 Although this policy would help to ensure that major development within the Plan area 

meets the carbon neutrality target and that 20% of energy used if rom renewable sources, 

only a 10% renewable energy target is set for development between one and nine 

dwellings.  This policy could potentially be further expanded to help to ensure future 

development within the borough aims to reach higher energy efficient targets from 

renewable and low carbon technologies. 

D.5.6.4 The promotion of alternative renewable and low carbon technologies would be likely to 

result in reduced emission of pollutants.  This would be expected to have a minor positive 

impact on pollution (SA Objective 7). 

D.5.6.5 Furthermore, by ensuring that development proposals “would not significantly harm the 

natural, historic or built environment or have a significant adverse effect on the amenity 

of those living or working nearby” the policy would be expected to reduce the potential 

for adverse impacts on cultural heritage, landscape, biodiversity and human health.  

 
45 BREEAM (2018) New Construction Technical Standards.  Available at: https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-

standards/newconstruction/ [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1535

https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-standards/newconstruction/
https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-standards/newconstruction/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D59 

Therefore, negligible impacts would be likely against these objectives (SA Objectives 1, 2, 

3 and 12).   

  

Page 1536



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D60 

D.6 Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell 

D.6.1 Policy SHW1 – Health Impact Assessments 

Policy SHW1 – Health Impact Assessments 

1. Sandwell Council will require the following forms of development to provide an assessment of its potential 

impacts on the health and wellbeing of adjacent communities, residents and businesses, and to mitigate 

any potential negative impacts, maximise potential positive impacts and help reduce health inequalities;  

a. housing developments of over 10 dwellings;  

b. non-residential developments of 1,000m2 or more floorspace.  

c. major new waste handling / processing development;  

d. any development that would have an adverse impact on locations with currently poor air quality;  

e. any other development that the Council considers has the potential to impact on public health.  

Such development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that it will not, in isolation or in 

conjunction with other planned, committed or completed development, contribute to a negative impact 

on the health of the borough’s population. 

2. To ensure that new developments have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of new and 

existing residents the Council will require an HIA of development proposals to a level of detail appropriate 

to its scale and nature;  

a. For developments of 100 or more dwellings, or non-residential development that extends to 

5,000m2 or more in area, a full Health Impact Assessment will be required;  

b. For developments of between 20 to 100 dwellings or non-residential development that extends 

from 1,000 - 5,000m2 in area, the Health Impact Assessment will take the form of an extended 

screening or rapid Health Impact Assessment;  

c. For developments of 10 – 19 dwellings, or other developments that the Council considers may 

have a potential impact on public health, either a Design and Access Statement, Planning 

Statement or an extended screening or rapid Health Impact Assessment should be provided.  

3. Sandwell Council will support vibrant centres and local facilities, which offer services and retail outlets 

that promote choice, and which enable and encourage healthy choices. This will include managing the 

location, concentration of and operation (including opening hours) of businesses that contain uses 

running contrary to these aims, including:  

a. hot food takeaways (sui generis), or hybrid uses incorporating such uses (Policy SDM6)  

b. betting shops and amusement arcades (Policy SDM8);  

c. shisha cafes / lounges, where the balance of uses is such that the use of the premises is 

predominantly for shisha smoking.  

4. Where the development of a new shop is acceptable in principle under other policies, planning permission 

will only be granted where a condition can be imposed that prevents the subsequent establishment of a 

stand-alone off-licence without the need to apply for planning permission where there is evidence of 

existing alcohol drinking establishments contributing to existing negative health and wellbeing impacts 

and patterns of anti-social behaviour. 

 

Page 1537



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D61 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

D.6.1.1 Policy SHW1 sets out the requirement for development proposals within the borough to 

undertake a Health Impact Assessment (HIA), dependent on the scale and nature of the 

proposal.  This would help to ensure that opportunities for promoting healthy lifestyles are 

maximised.  This would be likely to result in benefits such as creating engaging public 

spaces that facilitate social interaction and encourage walking and cycling.  Additionally, 

the policy sets out requirements to support healthy food choices and vibrant local centres.  

Overall, the policy would be expected to have a major positive impact on the health and 

wellbeing of local residents (SA Objective 12). 

D.6.1.2 By requiring some developments to submit an HIA, this policy would help to ensure 

development proposals do not have direct adverse impacts on: residents’ physical or 

mental health; social, economic and environmental living conditions; demand for or access 

to health and social care services; or an individual’s ability to improve their own health 

and wellbeing.  Therefore, this policy would also be likely to have minor positive impact in 

relation to equality (SA Objective 11). 

D.6.1.3 In addition, Policy SHW1 could potentially have a minor positive impact on transport and 

accessibility within the Plan area by promoting walking and cycling over the use of private 

vehicles, and as such, encouraging people to engage in higher levels of daily physical 

activity (SA Objective 9).  This could also result in consequent benefits in terms of reducing 

the emission of road transport-associated pollutants which can be harmful to health, 

potentially leading to minor positive impacts regarding climate change mitigation and 

pollution (SA Objectives 4 and 7). 

D.6.2 Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

1. New healthcare facilities should be:  

a. well-designed and complement and enhance neighbourhood services and amenities;  

b. well-served by public transport infrastructure, walking and cycling facilities and directed to a 

centre appropriate in role and scale to the proposed development, and its intended catchment 

area, in accordance with Policies SCE3 and SCE4.  Proposals located outside centres must be 

justified in terms of relevant policies such as Policy SCE6, where applicable;  

c. wherever possible, located to address accessibility gaps in terms of the standards set out in 

Policy SHO3 particularly where a significant amount of new housing is proposed;  

d. where possible, co-located with a mix of compatible community services on a single site.  

Page 1538



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D62 

Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure 

2. Existing primary and secondary healthcare infrastructure and services will be protected, unless it has 

been demonstrated that the loss or partial loss of a facility or site arises from a wider public service 

transformation plan that requires investment in modern, fit for purpose infrastructure and facilities. New 

or improved healthcare facilities and services will be provided in accordance with requirements agreed 

between Sandwell Council and local health organisations.  

3. Proposals for major residential developments of ten units or more must be assessed against the capacity 

of existing healthcare facilities and / or services as set out in local development documents. Where the 

demand generated by the residents of the new development would have unacceptable impacts upon the 

capacity of these facilities, developers will be required to contribute to the provision or improvement of 

such services, in line with the requirements and calculation methods set out in local development 

documents.  

4. Where it is not possible to address such provision through planning conditions, a planning agreement or 

planning obligation may be required.  

5. In the first instance, infrastructure contributions will be sought to deal with relevant issues on the site or 

in its immediate vicinity. Where this is not possible, however, any contribution will be used to support 

offsite provision of healthcare infrastructure and / or related services.  

6. The effects of the obligations on the financial viability of development may be a relevant consideration. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW2 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

D.6.2.1 Policy SHW2 seeks to ensure that all new healthcare facilities are well designed and 

accessible, with a particular focus on ensuring facilities are accessible by public transport.  

The policy also aims to protect existing healthcare facilities, and details how larger 

residential developments of ten or more homes should be assessed against the capacity 

of surrounding facilities and new facilities should be “located to address accessibility gaps”.  

These factors would be expected to help ensure all new residents have good access to 

healthcare facilities, and as such, a major positive on health would be expected (SA 

Objective 12). 

D.6.2.2 By identifying and addressing accessibility gaps, this policy would also be expected to 

promote equal access to healthcare and could potentially help to reduce health 

inequalities; therefore, a minor positive impact on equality would be expected (SA 

Objective 11). 

D.6.2.3 This policy seeks to ensure that all healthcare developments are located in areas with good 

public transport access for residents, and that where possible, healthcare facilities are co-

located alongside other community services to serve nearby residential development.  This 

policy could potentially reduce the need to travel and reduce the volume of visitors arriving 

Page 1539



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D63 

at facilities via private car, with subsequent benefits in terms of reducing local congestion 

and transport-associated emissions.  Therefore, due to the focus on sustainable transport 

and accessibility, this policy could potentially have a minor positive impact on climate 

change mitigation, pollution and transport (SA Objectives 4, 7 and 9). 

D.6.3 Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

Strategic Approach  

1. The SLP will support a diverse approach to addressing the issue of poor air quality across the borough, 

including:  

a. requiring development and other land use proposals to promote the integration of cycling, 

walking, public transport and electric charging points as part of their transport provision;  

b. promoting and supporting (including through continued joint working with adjacent Black 

Country authorities and others) a modal shift from private motorised vehicles to the use of 

clean, fast and accessible public transport alternatives such as rail, the Metro and bus transport 

networks, cycling and walking;  

c. including a range of measures relating to energy generation at developments as set out in the 

hierarchy identified in Policy SCC2 Energy Infrastructure, such as the installation of renewables-

based systems, or the use of ultra-low emission NOx boilers;  

d. requiring the provision and protection of green open spaces and significant additional tree cover 

(Policieis SDS7 and SNE3);  

e. ensuring the sustainable location of new residential and employment development to minimise 

commute times; and  

f. as part of an integrated zero-emission public transport system, promoting and requiring the use 

of sustainable technologies, zero-emission vehicles, design and materials and providing new or 

extended bus services to meet demand when development of a strategic nature is planned and 

constructed.  

2. New development must be at least air quality neutral following any required mitigation. Planning 

permission for new development or changes of use will be refused where data assessment indicates that 

development will:  

a. lead to deterioration of existing poor air quality;  

b. create any new areas that exceed air quality objectives; or  

c. delay compliance being achieved in areas that are currently in exceedance of legal limits unless 

sufficient mitigation can be achieved.  

Improving air quality  

3. Residential or other sensitive development such as schools, hospitals / health care and care facilities 

should be sited in areas where air quality already meets national objectives, or where compliance with 

those objectives can be achieved with suitable mitigation proposed as part of the development proposal 

and verified as being achieved before occupation of the development.  

4. Developments that will have a moderate air quality impact, and which can be dealt with through standard 

mitigation measures, will not require an air quality assessment.  

Page 1540



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D64 

Policy SHW3 – Air Quality 

5. Whenever development is proposed in locations where air quality does not or will not meet national 

objectives, or where significant air quality impacts are likely to be generated onsite or elsewhere by the 

development itself or its subsequent use / activities, an appropriate Air Quality Assessment will be 

required to demonstrate that the proposed development will improve air quality to meet relevant 

objectives once the development is completed and occupied / operational:  

a. the assessment must take into consideration the potential cumulative impact on air quality of all 

extant planning permissions in the locality, for both large / strategic and small schemes;  

b. the impact of point source emissions46 of pollutants to air on the scheme must also be 

addressed;  

c. the assessment must take into consideration the types of pollutant emissions likely to be 

generated by the development and its future use / associated activities that will have an impact 

on human health;  

d. where assessments show that a development is likely to result in exposure to pollutant 

concentrations that exceed national objectives, a mitigation plan will be required to determine 

that the development will improve air quality, in order that it will meet air quality objectives 

once it is complete and occupied / operational;  

e. adequate and satisfactory mitigation measures that are capable of implementation, including the 

planting of additional and replacement trees in appropriate locations, must be identified, 

submitted as part of an application, and made subject to appropriate conditions before planning 

permission is granted.  

6. Developments should not include materials or be positioned or ventilated in a way that would result in 

poor indoor air quality. Guidance will be provided to detail how such issues should be addressed.  

Emissions from Construction Sites 

7. For all types of development, the control of emissions from construction sites will be agreed with the local 

authority. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW3 0 0 + + 0 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 + + 0 

D.6.3.1 Air pollution is a significant concern internationally and locally.  Sandwell is wholly 

designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) alongside the surrounding 

authorities within the Black Country.  Without careful planning, introducing new 

development within an AQMA would make it more difficult to meet national air quality 

objectives within the AQMA, whilst also exposing new residents to existing poor air quality. 

 
46 Pollution that originates from one place 

Page 1541



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D65 

D.6.3.2 Policy SHW3 requires development proposals to promote the use of pedestrian and cycle 

routes, access to rail, the Metro and bus transport networks, plus provide electric car 

charging points.  These measures would be expected to support a modal shift to the use 

of public transport and more sustainable travel options, rather than private vehicles.  In 

terms of air quality, electric vehicles are an effective alternative to petrol or diesel-powered 

vehicles as they emit fewer, or zero, air pollutants.  By discouraging the use of the private 

car, this policy would be expected to help reduce transport-associated emissions and have 

a positive impact on local air quality.   

D.6.3.3 Where a development proposal is situated in a location that does not currently meet 

national objectives, the policy requires an appropriate Air Quality Assessment (AQA) to be 

carried out to demonstrate that the proposed development will meet air quality objectives 

once the development is completed.  Overall, Policy SHW3 would be expected to have a 

major positive impact on air pollution (SA Objective 7).   

D.6.3.4 The requirements set out in Policy SHW3 could potentially help to minimise the Plan area’s 

contributions to climate change by offering alternative, lower emission and more 

sustainable means of transport.  A minor positive impact would therefore also be expected 

for climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4). 

D.6.3.5 As well as contributing towards the improvement of local air quality, encouraging the 

provision of sustainable transport methods and electric car charging points would be 

expected to have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility (SA Objective 9).   

D.6.3.6 Policy SHW3 aims to encourage active travel by integrating pedestrian and cycle routes 

into development proposals.  In addition, the policy aims to increase the provision of green 

and open spaces across the borough.  This would be likely to facilitate healthy lifestyles, 

through promoting outdoor exercise and benefiting mental wellbeing of residents.  Overall, 

this policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact in regard to human health (SA 

Objective 12).   

D.6.3.7 Some habitats are sensitive to air pollution in the form of atmospheric nitrogen deposition.  

This policy would help to prevent deterioration of air quality and thereby help to protect 

sensitive habitats from elevated rates of atmospheric nitrogen deposition.  Therefore, this 

policy could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3). 

D.6.3.8 In addition, this policy requires development proposals to be situated in a sustainable 

location to minimise commuter distance and time.  This would be likely to situate residents 

in close proximity to a range of job opportunities, and therefore, have a minor positive 

impact on the local economy (SA Objective 13).   

D.6.4 Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation 

Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation 

1. All new housing sites providing over ten units will be expected to contribute towards the 

provision of unrestricted open space, in line with the standards set out in Appendix K. Where 

such provision on-site would make a site unviable or where there is no physical capacity to 

Page 1542



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D66 

Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation 

include it, the Council will in exceptional circumstances accept a commuted sum for nearby 

off-site provision in lieu or for the improvement of existing facilities within walking distance. 

2. On new housing sites of 2ha or over, Sandwell Council will seek the provision of new 

unrestricted open space at a minimum ratio of 3.63 hectares of space per 1,000 population. 

This open space will be provided on site. 

3. The Council will seek to ensure that at least one hectare of unrestricted open space is provided within 

walking distance (0.4 km) of all the Borough's residents and proposals that help it meet this aim will be 

welcomed.  

4. Sandwell Council will support proposals47 that:  

a. deliver against up-to-date local open space and recreation standards for the borough, in terms 

of quantity, quality and access;  

b. address the ecological and environmental priorities set out in the Black Country Nature Recovery 

Network Strategy;  

c. make more efficient use of open spaces in the urban area by:  

i. creating more multifunctional open spaces;  

ii. protecting the existing open space network for recreation and biodiversity and taking 

opportunities to strengthen and expand it 

iii. significantly expanding community use of open space and recreation facilities provided 

at places of education;  

iv. making creative use of land exchanges and disposing of surplus assets to generate 

resources for investment;  

v. increasing access to open space and recreation facilities for all, including people with 

disabilities and other target groups with limited access at present; and  

vi. where a place, site or facility has a cross-boundary catchment, identifying the most 

appropriate location to maximise community access and use of new facilities.  

5. Aspects of development that would increase the overall value of the open space and recreation network 

in Sandwell will be supported, especially in areas of proven deficiency against adopted quantity, quality 

and accessibility standards.  

6. Proposals should maintain and / or enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility of open space and 

address any shortfalls in provision, when measured against adopted local standards. Where practicable, 

new open space should be provided on-site and relate well to other green infrastructure features.  

7. Development that would result in the loss of land allocated as open space and used for recreation in 

Sandwell will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that  

a. there is a robust and overriding matter of public interest at stake; and  

b. a sufficient quantity of alternative open space can be provided in the vicinity, of the same or 

higher quality than what was lost; or  

c. if open space of sufficient quantity and quality cannot be delivered in the immediate vicinity, a 

financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision will be made available and compensatory gains 

 
47 involving both current activities and facilities and where there are plans for new open spaces and recreation sites / uses  

Page 1543



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D67 

Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation 

in quality / accessibility secured on other open spaces or facilities that are of value to the local 

area.  

8. Development proposals should focus on supporting / delivering the following functions of open space in 

Sandwell:  

a. improving the image and environmental quality of the borough;  

b. protecting and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and their settings;  

c. enhancing visual amenity;  

d. providing buffer zones between incompatible uses;  

e. mitigating the effects of climate change, through flood risk betterment, installing SuDS, reducing 

potential urban heat island effects and providing opportunities for additional landscaping and 

tree planting;  

f. preserving and enhancing environmental and habitat diversity and preventing the fragmentation 

of ecological networks;  

g. extending, increasing access to and enhancing the ecological value of multifunctional green 

spaces and networks;  

h. supporting outdoor sport and physical activity, including through footpath and cycle network 

infrastructure, and providing areas for informal recreation and children’s play;  

i. providing opportunities for people to grow their own food on allotments and encouraging urban 

horticulture.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW4 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + ++ 0 0 

D.6.4.1 Policy SHW4 seeks to ensure that open space and recreation facilities throughout the Plan 

area will be protected, managed and enhanced, in order to provide safe and accessible 

community facilities for existing and future residents.  Open space has multiple benefits 

within an area.  This includes physical and mental health benefits associated with residents’ 

access to a diverse range of natural habitats, alongside the facilitation of outdoor 

recreation.   

D.6.4.2 Access to sports, recreation and leisure facilities is essential for residents to be able to 

pursue healthy and active lifestyles.  This policy supports the development of new sports, 

recreation and leisure facilities within the Plan area. This policy would be expected to 

improve current facilities, contribute to the development of new facilities and ensure 

residents have good access to outdoor space.  Therefore, this policy would be expected 

to have a major positive impact on the health and wellbeing of residents (SA Objective 

12).  This policy also encourages the development of footpath and cycle networks, with 

benefits to local accessibility (SA Objective 9). 

Page 1544



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D68 

D.6.4.3 Furthermore, through “increasing access to open space and recreation facilities for all, 

including people with disabilities and other target groups with limited access at present” 

this policy would be expected to help fill gaps in accessibility for vulnerable or 

disadvantaged groups, providing more equitable access to these important facilities.  

Therefore, a minor positive impact on equality would be expected (SA Objective 11). 

D.6.4.4 Open space can be beneficial to the local biodiversity network by providing an increased 

number of natural habitats and providing the opportunity to create green links within urban 

areas.  Policy SHW4 sets out particular support for proposals which “address the ecological 

and environmental priorities set out in the Black Country Nature Recovery Network 

Strategy”.  This could also benefit the local landscape by creating attractive open spaces 

within the area.  This policy aims to improve visual amenity and contribute towards the 

preservation and enhancement of the natural and built environment.  As a result, it would 

be expected that Policy SHW4 would have a minor positive impact on the local landscape 

and biodiversity (SA Objectives 2 and 3). 

D.6.4.5 Potential new or enhanced open spaces, and associated GI, would be expected to 

contribute towards improved air quality due to the increased uptake of carbon dioxide.  

Due to this enhanced carbon storage capacity, this policy could potentially contribute 

towards the mitigation anthropogenic climate change.  GI could also potentially provide 

natural filtration to reduce residents’ exposure to air pollution, for example from emissions 

associated with road transport.  Furthermore, this policy encourages active travel, which 

would be expected to reduce the reliance on private car use.  A minor positive impact on 

climate change mitigation and pollution would therefore be expected (SA Objectives 4 and 

7).  Enhanced open space and GI could also potentially help to reduce water runoff rates, 

and as such, have a minor positive impact by reducing the risk of flooding (SA Objective 

5). 

D.6.5 Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

1. Existing playing fields and built sports facilities must be retained unless:  

a. an assessment has been undertaken that has clearly shown the playing fields or built sports 

facilities to be surplus to requirements (for existing or alternative sports provision) at the local 

and sub-regional level; or  

b. the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better 

provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable and accessible location; or  

c. the development is for alternative sports provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the 

loss of the current or former use; or  

d. The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming part of a playing pitch and 

would not prejudice the use of any playing pitch or remaining areas of playing field on the site.  

2. New build sports facilities should be:  

a. in accordance with local needs identified in the current Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports 

Strategy, to ensure provision of appropriate facilities in a suitable location to meet that need;  

b. well-designed, including through the provision of high quality landscaping and public realm 

enhancements, and well-related to neighbourhood services and amenities; and  

Page 1545



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D69 

Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities 

c. well-linked to public transport infrastructure and footpath and cycleway networks and directed 

to a centre appropriate in role and scale to the proposed development and its intended 

catchment area. Proposals located outside centres must be justified in terms of relevant national 

policy.  

3. Where assessments demonstrate that a housing development would increase the need for playing pitches 

or built sports facilities to a level where significant new or improved facilities are required to meet 

demand, proportionate planning obligations or Community Infrastructure Levy will be used to acquire or 

create sufficient provision, where it is financially viable and appropriate to do so, and long-term 

management arrangements can be secured and funded.  

4. Where land is provided for a new built sports facility as part of a housing development, the financial 

contribution made by that development towards built sports facilities will be reduced accordingly.  

5. The wider community use of school playing fields, other school facilities, such as sports halls, and private 

facilities will be encouraged, especially in areas where public provision is deficient. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW5 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

D.6.5.1 Policy SHW5 seeks to ensure that playing fields and sports facilities throughout the Plan 

area will be protected, managed, and enhanced, in order to provide safe and accessible 

community facilities for existing and future residents.  

D.6.5.2 Providing good access to sports facilities would allow residents to pursue active and 

healthy lifestyles.  The policy states that “facilities will be encouraged, especially in areas 

where public provision is deficient”, and would ensure that new facilities will be “well linked 

to public transport infrastructure and footpath and cycleway networks” which can be 

expected to encourage active modes of transport.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on 

active travel, equal access to leisure and sport facilities and the health of residents would 

be expected (SA Objectives 9, 11, and 12).  

D.6.5.3 The policy states that new facilities will be well-designed and will provide “high-quality 

landscaping and public realm enhancements”.  A minor positive impact on landscape could 

therefore be achieved (SA Objective 2).  

D.6.6 Policy SHW6 – Allotments 

Policy SHW6 – Allotments 

1. The provision and promotion of allotments and community gardens in Sandwell will be supported by the 

Council. This will be achieved by: -  

Page 1546



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D70 

Policy SHW6 – Allotments 

a. retaining existing allotments and resisting their loss unless in accordance with allocations 

identified in this plan;  

b. working with partners and local communities to identify sites with potential for local food 

growing;  

c. supporting projects that promote community gardening, farming and orchards.  

2. If allotments are to be redeveloped, compensatory measures will be required for the loss, either through 

provision of new allotments on an open space of equivalent value nearby, or through a commensurate 

contribution to the enhancement of existing allotment provision in the vicinity.  

3. Proposals for community agriculture will be supported where appropriate.  

4. Development proposals that are located next to, or which may have an impact on, existing allotments will 

be expected to avoid or mitigate adverse impacts on them by employing the agent of change principle. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHW6 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

D.6.6.1 Policy SHW6 aims to protect and support the allotments and community gardens within the borough.  

D.6.6.2 The policy will help to maintain and strengthen local distinctiveness and sense of place by “retaining 

existing allotments” and “supporting projects that promote community gardening, farming and 

orchards”.  Allotments could contribute towards the local character, leading to a minor positive 

impact on landscape (SA Objective 2).   

D.6.6.3 Allotment provision would assist in providing habitats for local wildlife amongst the urban 

areas.  Under the policy, allotments would be positively managed and therefore a minor 

positive impact on local biodiversity would be expected (SA Objective 3).  

D.6.6.4 Allotments provide health benefits to residents, being an open space equivalent that can 

provide a peaceful, aesthetically pleasing environment.  Additionally, the allotments can 

provide shared space for community activities that can improve social cohesion.  The policy 

would therefore be likely to have a minor positive impact on equality and health (SA 

Objectives 11 and 12).  

  

Page 1547



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D71 

D.7 Sandwell’s Housing 

D.7.1 Policy SHO1 – Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth 

Policy SHO1 – Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth 

1. Sufficient land will be provided to deliver at least 10,686 net new homes over the period 2023-2041.  

2. The key sources of housing land supply are summarised in Table 5, which also sets out the minimum 

housing target for each of the Plan phases: 2023- 30, 2030-35 and 2035-41 and are also illustrated in the 

Housing Spatial Diagram. Housing allocations are set out in Appendix B.  

Table 5 – Housing Land Supply – sources  

 

  

3. Most of the requirement will be met through sites with existing planning permission and sites allocated 

for housing by this Plan. Additional housing supply will also be secured on windfall sites throughout the 

urban area. The estimated net effect of housing renewal up to 2041 will be reviewed annually and used 

in the calculation of housing land supply.  

Page 1548



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D72 

Policy SHO1 – Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth 

4. The development of sites for housing should demonstrate a comprehensive approach, making best use of 

available land and infrastructure and not prejudicing neighbouring uses. Incremental development of an 

allocated site will only be allowed where it would not prejudice the achievement of high-quality design 

across the wider site. Masterplans and other planning documents48 will be produced, where appropriate, 

to provide detailed guidance on the development of allocations.  

5. Ancillary uses appropriate for residential areas, such as health facilities, community facilities and local 

shops, may be acceptable where there is a gap in service provision and where they can be integrated 

successfully into the residential environment. Other uses will not be acceptable on these sites.  

6. A minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain is required for each site in accordance with Policy SNE2.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO1 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

D.7.1.1 Policy SHO1 would be expected to deliver a high quantum of residential development of 

10,686 net new homes over the plan period in Sandwell.  However, this policy would not 

be expected to fully meet the identified housing needs of the SMBC.  Overall, a minor 

positive impact on housing provision would be expected (SA Objective 10).   

D.7.1.2 Policy SHO1 could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 

3) in the long term, as the minimum 10% BNG requirement will help to ensure that the 

number and diversity of species in the area increases.  This would need careful 

management and monitoring to ensure that BNG is successful.  

D.7.1.3 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA objectives as the extent of 

both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development 

location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to site specific 

characteristics.  These are assessed in the SA process through the assessment of 

reasonable alternatives, as documented in this SA report and supporting appendices (see 

Appendix C).  

D.7.2 Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments 

Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments 

1. Proposals for residential development on sites not specifically allocated for residential use (windfall 

developments) will be permitted where the site is previously developed land and in accordance with other 

local plan policies.  

 
48 E.g. design codes, development frameworks and supplementary plans  

Page 1549



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D73 

Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments 

2. Proposals for residential development on unallocated greenfield land will only be considered where:  

a. the site is not protected as community open space; or  

b. the site is Council-owned land that is deemed surplus to requirements; or  

c. the development of the site will bring an under-used piece of land back into beneficial use and 

will not harm the environmental, ecological or historic value of the site and the wider area, in 

accordance with other relevant policies in the SLP.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO2 0 0 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- 

D.7.2.1 Policy SHO2 prevents the use of unallocated greenfield land for development except for 

under specific circumstances.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on the conservation of 

natural resources would be expected (SA Objective 6). 

D.7.2.2 The support for residential development on windfall sites could help to increase housing 

provision, contributing towards the identified housing need, and resulting in a minor 

positive impact on SA Objective 10. 

D.7.2.3 The policy states that windfall sites will be considered where they “will not harm 

environmental, ecological or historic value of the site and the wider area”. Through 

reducing the potential for adverse effects, a negligible impact on cultural heritage, 

landscape, and biodiversity would be likely (SA Objectives 1, 2, and 3). 

D.7.2.4 The impact of Policy SHO2 on all the other SA objectives is uncertain.  Without 

understanding the number, scale and nature of potential windfall developments, it is 

difficult to identify the overall impacts on relevant objectives. 

D.7.3 Policy SHO3 – Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

Policy SHO3 – Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

1. The density and type of new housing provided on any housing site should be informed by:  

a. The need for a range of types and sizes of accommodation to meet identified local needs;  

b. The level of accessibility by sustainable transport to residential services, including any 

improvements to be secured through development, as set out in Table 6; 

c. The need to achieve high-quality design and minimise amenity impacts, considering the 

characteristics and mix of uses in the area where the proposal is located  

2. The council will aim to provide an overall mix of house types over the plan period, tailored to best meet 

local needs and will support development that creates mixed, sustainable and inclusive communities. 

Page 1550



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D74 

Policy SHO3 – Housing Density, Type and Accessibility 

Developments of ten homes or more should provide a range of house types and sizes that will meet the 

accommodation needs of both existing and future residents, in line with the most recently available 

information. 

3. All developments of ten homes or more should achieve the minimum net density set out below, except 

where this would prejudice historic character and local distinctiveness as defined in Policy SHE2:  

a. 100 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for very high- density housing 

are met and the site is located within West Bromwich 

b. 45 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for high density housing are met; 

c. 40 dwellings per hectare where Table 6 accessibility standards for moderate density housing are 

met. 

4. Table 6 provides details of the appropriate density and, where appropriate, house type mix, to be sought 

on each housing allocation site, in accordance with the requirements set out in this Policy. Further details 

of design requirements for housing developments will be set out in Sandwell’s Design Code.  

Table 6 – Minimum Housing Densities and Accessibility 

 
5. Any development that fails to make efficient use of land, by providing a disproportionate amount of large, 

4+ bedroom homes when compared with local housing need, will be refused in accordance with the 

requirements of this policy.  

6. Development proposals should be consistent with other Local Plan policies.  

 

Page 1551



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D75 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO3 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + + + + 0 0 

D.7.3.1 An appropriate mix of housing is required across the Plan area to help to ensure that the 

varied needs of current and future residents are met.  In particular, this may include an 

increased number of smaller homes which would be likely to help provide appropriate 

accommodation for the elderly and first-time buyers entering the market. 

D.7.3.2 Policy SHO3 aims to ensure that residential developments contribute towards the local 

housing need, supporting the current and future requirements of the population in terms 

of housing type and size, as well as ensuring new residents have good access to 

sustainable transport options.  The policy sets out criteria for accessibility standards and 

appropriate densities of housing within each zone, which would be expected to ensure 

housing is provided in sustainable locations which results in a reduced need to travel, 

encourages local shopping and promotes social inclusion in the community.  This would 

be likely to have a minor positive impact on local accessibility, housing provision and 

equality (SA Objectives 9, 10 and 11).   

D.7.3.3 Due to the requirement to ensure that the density and type of housing development is 

informed by the level of accessibility via sustainable transport, this policy could potentially 

help to reduce emission of road transport associated GHGs and air pollutants.  Therefore, 

a minor positive impact would be anticipated on climate change mitigation and pollution 

(SA Objectives 4 and 7). 

D.7.3.4 By providing a suitable mix of housing types and tenure, this policy would be expected to 

meet the varying needs of residents, and as such, have a minor positive impact on health 

and wellbeing (SA Objective 12). 

D.7.4 Policy SHO4 – Affordable Housing 

Policy SHO4 – Affordable Housing 

1. Developments of ten homes or more should, where financially viable, provide a range of tenures that will 

meet the accommodation needs of both existing and future residents, in line with the most recently 

available information.  

2. All developments of ten homes or more should provide a proportion of affordable housing, where this is 

financially viable. Smaller sites, which could reasonably be expected to form part of a larger site in the 

future, will also need to take this policy into account. The minimum proportion of affordable housing that 

should be provided, subject to viability, is 25%.  

3. 25% of the affordable homes required to meet part 2a - c of this Policy will be First Homes tenure, as 

defined in national guidance.  

Page 1552



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D76 

Policy SHO4 – Affordable Housing 

4. Beyond the tenure requirements set out in parts 2 and 3 of this policy, the tenure and type of affordable 

homes sought will be determined on a site by site basis, based on national planning policy and best 

available information regarding local housing needs, site surroundings and viability considerations.  

5. Where providing 25% affordable homes cannot be achieved, the maximum proportion of affordable 

housing will be required that does not undermine the development’s viability (Policy SHO6). 

6. The affordable housing created will remain affordable in perpetuity.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

D.7.4.1 Policy SHO4 would help to ensure that, throughout the Plan area, SMBC delivers an 

appropriate mix of affordable housing that meets the varied needs of current and future 

residents.  This policy sets out the requirements for 25% affordable housing to be 

delivered within developments of ten dwellings or more, to ensure that suitable residential 

development is provided to meet the social and economic needs of the population.   

D.7.4.2 Overall, Policy SHO4 would be anticipated to result in minor positive impacts in relation to 

housing and equality (SA Objectives 10 and 11). 

D.7.4.3 The policy wording could be strengthened to ensure that all new developments contribute 

towards the provision of affordable homes and that the number/proportion will be 

determined through site-specific considerations including viability evidence.  Policy SHO4 

could usefully cross-reference to (or incorporate the wording from) Policy SHO6 to ensure 

that where providing 25% affordable homes is not possible, the maximum proportion of 

affordable housing is required that does not undermine the development's viability.  The 

policy should include wording to ensure that the affordable housing provided will remain 

affordable in perpetuity. 

D.7.5 Policy SHO5 – Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build 

Housing 

Policy SHO5 – Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing 

National Accessibility and Wheelchair Housing Standards  

1. All new homes will be required to meet M4(2) (Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings) 

requirement in Building Regulations49.   

 
49 Or any subsequent national equivalent standard  

Page 1553



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D77 

Policy SHO5 – Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing 

2. Developments of ten homes or more should provide a proportion of accessible and adaptable or 

wheelchair user housing, where this is financially viable.  The minimum proportion that should be 

provided is:  

a. an additional 15% of homes to meet the optional Building Regulations Requirement M4(3): 

Wheelchair User Dwellings50. 

3. Other than for reasons of financial viability, these requirements will only be reduced where it can be 

demonstrated that any of the following apply:  

a. it is not practically achievable given the physical characteristics of the site; or   

b. site specific factors mean that step-free access to the dwelling cannot be achieved; or  

c. the homes are located on the first floor or above of a non-lift serviced multistorey development; 

or  

d. the amount of M4(3) housing is limited by the number of homes that can be provided where the 

local authority is likely to be responsible for allocating or nominating a person to live in that 

home.   

Self-Build and Custom Build Plots  

4. On developments of 100 homes or more, where there is currently a demand for self-build and custom 

build plots (defined as the number of entries added to the self-build and custom build register in the 

most recent base period for the local authority where the site is located), at least 5% of plots should be 

made available for self-build or custom build, or sufficient to match demand if lower.   

5. All plots set aside for self-build or custom build housing (secured via a legal agreement or planning 

condition) must include:   

a. legal access onto a public highway;   

b. water, foul drainage, broadband connection, and electricity supply available at the plot 

boundary;   

c. sufficient space to build without compromising neighbouring properties and their amenity and 

the amenity of future occupiers; and   

d. an agreed design code or plot passport for the plots.   

6. If plots remain unsold after six months, after a thorough and proportionate marketing exercise that 

includes making details available to people on the custom and self-build register, the requirement to 

make the plot available for self-build or custom build will fall away.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 

 
50 Or any subsequent national equivalent standard  

Page 1554



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D78 

D.7.5.1 Policy SHO5 seeks to ensure an appropriate mix of accessible homes are delivered across 

the Plan area, as well as the opportunity for self-build homes.  The policy also sets out 

requirements for developments where the criteria for accessible and self-build homes on 

site are not viable.   

D.7.5.2 Future residential development needs to consider accessibility requirements for the elderly 

and those with specific needs.  Policy SHO5 would be likely to help ensure residential 

developments allow for the safe and convenient access for all residents, including older 

people and wheelchair users.   

D.7.5.3 This policy also seeks to meet the needs of those wishing to build their own homes.  The 

policy aims to secure a 5% of major developments of 100 or more units to be available 

for self-build housing.  This would help to ensure that new housing delivered across the 

Plan area can accommodate the diverse requirements of residents within the SMBC. 

D.7.5.4 Overall, Policy SHO5 would be anticipated to result in minor positive impacts in relation to 

housing, equality and human health (SA Objectives 10, 11 and 12). 

D.7.6 Policy SHO6 – Financial Viability Assessment for Housing 

Policy SHO6 – Financial Viability Assessment for Housing 

1. A planning application that compiles up-to-date policies within this plan will be assumed to be viable and 

should seek to provide any relevant planning contributions necessary to make it acceptable in planning 

terms. The onus will be on the applicant to demonstrate that the provision of planning contributions 

would adversely affect the financial viability of the development proposals. 

2. Financial viability assessments conforming to national guidance will be required to be submitted and, 

where necessary, independently appraised by an appropriate professional appointed by the local planning 

authority at the cost of the applicant. Flexible arrangements will be sought through planning agreements, 

wherever possible, to allow for changing market conditions in future years.   

3. Any viability assessment should be prepared on the basis that it will be made publicly available other than 

in exceptional circumstances, and in such circumstances an executive summary will be made publicly 

available. 

4. On sites where applying the affordable housing or accessibility and wheelchair user requirements set out 

in Policies SH04 and SH05  can be demonstrated to make the development unviable, the maximum 

proportion of such housing will be sought that will not undermine the viability of the development, 

subject to achieving optimum tenure mix and securing other planning obligations necessary for the 

development to gain planning permission. 

 

Page 1555



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D79 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + +/- 0 0 0 

D.7.6.1 Policy SHO6 aims to ensure that a mix of good-quality, affordable housing will be provided, 

subject to the findings of financial viability assessments.  The policy states that where 

accessibility requirements make a development financially unviable, “the maximum 

proportion of such housing will be sought that will not undermine the viability of the 

development”.  

D.7.6.2 By ensuring developments are appraised and meet local authority guidelines before they 

go ahead, a minor positive impact on housing provision (SA Objective 10) should result.   

D.7.6.3 However, the policy provision means that fewer affordable / adaptable homes could be 

delivered compared to the identified needs.  The impact of Policy SHO6 on equality is 

uncertain as it is dependent on financial circumstances.  

D.7.7 Policy SHO7 – Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3) 

Policy SHO7 – Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3) 

1. To address the shortage of homes throughout the borough that are suitable and attractive to families and 

to encourage the provision of sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, there will be a presumption 

against the loss of dwelling houses (Use Class C3) for family occupation through either sub-division, 

conversion to Use Class C451, conversion to other non-residential uses or demolition and redevelopment, 

unless: 

a. the property / properties is / are located within a site allocation and the corresponding 

development principles indicate that an alternative use or mix of housing will be more 

appropriate; 

b. the proposed development fulfils other regeneration aspirations of the Council; 

c. evidence of local housing need and demand indicates that an alternative mix of housing is 

appropriate; 

d. alternative provision will help meet other housing priorities of the Council, such as provision for 

elderly persons (including bungalows); 

e. an applicant can demonstrate that the property / properties is / are no longer suitable for family 

occupation, in which case, replacement with a new Class C3 dwelling house(s), suitable for 

family occupation will be the preferred approach, unless one of the criteria set out above can be 

satisfied. 

 

 
51 Or subsequent / equivalent iterations 

Page 1556



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D80 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 

D.7.7.1 Policy SHO7 seeks to respond to the local context and identified needs, ensuring housing 

suitable for families is protected.  By encouraging dwellings that provide “sustainable, 

inclusive and mixed communities”, Policy SHO7 will aid the provision of affordable, 

environmentally sound and good quality housing for all, therefore, having a minor positive 

impact on housing and equality (SA Objectives 10 and 11). 

D.7.8 Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 

Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 

1. Proposals for the creation of a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO), including the conversion of buildings 

or sub-division of dwellings, will only be permitted if this would not result in over 10% of the number of 

residential properties52 within a 100- metre radius of the application site, measured from the centre point 

of the property (referred to in this policy as the “relevant area”) operating as HMOs and if the proposals 

would meet the additional criteria set out in this policy. 

2. The methodology for establishing the quantum of HMOs in a relevant area is set out in the table belo: 

Table 8 - methodology for calculating concentration of HMOs within a relevant area  

 
52 See paragraph 7.57 

Page 1557



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D81 

Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 

 
3. Once the current level of HMO provision has been established in a relevant area, the following criteria will 

be applied to the proposal:  

a. the development would not:  

i. result in the loss of C3 family-sized dwellings in areas where there is a proven demand 

for such accommodation (see Policy SHO7);  

ii. result in a C3 family dwelling house being sandwiched53 between two HMOs or other 

non-family residential uses54;  

iii. lead to a continuous frontage of three or more HMOs or non-family residential uses. 

 
53 See justification for more detailed explanation 

54 For the purposes of this policy a non-family residential use is defined as a HMO, student accommodation, residential 

accommodation within C1 and C2 Use and self-contained flats 

Page 1558



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D82 

Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 

b. the development is unlikely to be detrimental to the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining or 

neighbouring properties by way of noise, overlooking, general disturbance, or impact on visual 

amenity;  

c. the development would not have a significant adverse impact on the character or appearance of 

the area, or of the historic or natural environment;  

d. the development would not give rise to unacceptable adverse cumulative impacts on amenity, 

character, appearance, security, crime, anti-social behaviour or the fear of crime55;  

e. in areas at risk of a 1 in 100-year plus flood event, finished ground floor levels are at least 60cm 

above the 1 in 100-year plus flood level;  

f. provision for off- and on- streetcar and cycle parking is sufficient and appropriately incorporated 

and would not have an adverse impact on the surrounding area by way of increased on-street 

parking, impaired highway safety or impeding proper access to the area;  

g. the site is in an area that has good access by walking and public transport to residential 

services, as set out in Policy SHO3;  

h. the development provides a satisfactory standard of living accommodation and the internal 

layout is shown to be suitable for the number of units proposed in terms of daylight, outlook 

and the juxtaposition of living rooms and bedrooms;  

4. The construction or conversion of the building / dwelling intended to form the HMO should be undertaken 

to provide adequate personal living space and residential facilities56, including: - 

a. bedrooms of at least 7.5 sq.m. (single) and 11.5 sq.m. (double);  

b. communal living space comprising lounge, kitchen and dining space either as distinct rooms or 

in an open plan format; 

c. washing facilities; 

d. adequate provision for the storage and disposal of refuse and recycling; 

e. outdoor amenity space for sitting out, play and drying clothes and external storage space, 

including cycle storage57. 

5. Where an HMO has been established in breach of the need for planning permission, retrospective consent 

will only be granted in exceptional circumstances. 

6. Proposals for the intensification or expansion of an existing HMO should comply with the criteria above, 

having regard to the size and character of the property. 

 

 
55 It is recommended that pre-application and planning application advice is sought for HMO proposals from the West 

Midlands Police Design Out Crime Offices  

56 Some national planning guidance is available, covering licensing and mandatory minimum room sizes 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and_

res idential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf  

57 This would normally be calculated to match the same amenity provision for an apartment block (10m2 per person) 

Page 1559

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and_res%20idential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/925269/HMOs_and_res%20idential_property_licensing_reforms_guidance.pdf


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D83 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + 0 0 

D.7.8.1 A dwelling is classed as a house in multiple occupation (HMO) if at least three tenants live 

there and share a toilet, bathroom or kitchen.  Policy SHO8 supports the development of 

HMOs, providing the proposal is in accordance with the criteria set out in the policy.  This 

would be likely to provide a range of housing options to residents of Sandwell, and 

therefore, a minor positive impact on housing and equality would be expected (SA 

Objectives 10 and 11).   

D.7.8.2 This policy seeks to ensure development proposals are located in an area which has “good 

access by walking and public transport to residential services”.  This would be expected to 

have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility and could potentially encourage 

outdoor exercise and active travel, with benefits to human health and wellbeing (SA 

Objectives 9 and 12).   

D.7.8.3 In addition, the policy seeks to ensure the development of any HMOs would not 

significantly impact cultural heritage, landscape or biodiversity features, resulting in a likely 

overall negligible impact on SA Objectives 1, 2 and 3.   

D.7.9 Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

1. New nursery, school and further and higher education facilities should be: 

a. Well-designed, to the relevant local / national standards / guidance in place, and should 

complement and enhance neighbourhood services and amenities; 

b. Well-served by public transport infrastructure, walking, and cycling facilities, particularly in 

centres, and located to minimise the number and length of journeys needed in relation to the 

home to school travel distances; 

c. Wherever possible, located to address accessibility gaps in terms of the standards set out in 

Policy SHO3, particularly where a significant amount of new housing is proposed. 

2. New and improved education facilities will be secured through a range of funding measures:- 

a.  Where a housing development of ten or more homes would increase the need for 

education facilities to the extent that new or improved facilities would be required to 

meet this need, planning obligations or Community Infrastructure Levy will be secured 

sufficient to meet the need in a timely manner, where this is financially viable. 

b.  Contributions will be secured retrospectively where forward funding of improvements 

is necessary to meet immediate needs.  

Page 1560



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D84 

Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities 

c. For sites where there is likely to be a requirement for on-site provision of new schools 

this is set out in Appendix B.  

3. Where land is provided for a new school as part of a housing development, the financial contribution 

made by that development towards education facilities will be reduced accordingly. 

4. On sites where the education facility requirement is proven not to be viable, the maximum proportion of 

funding will be sought that will not undermine the viability of the development, subject to securing other 

planning obligations necessary for the development to gain planning permission. A financial viability 

assessment will be required to be submitted, meeting the requirements set out in Policy SHO6.  

5. New and redeveloped education facilities should include provision for wider community use of sports and 

other facilities where this would be in accordance with evidence of need, secured through a suitably 

worded community use agreement 

6. The existing network of education facilities will be protected and proposals that seek to enhance this 

network will be supported. The physical enhancement and expansion of higher and further educational 

facilities and related business and research will be supported where it helps to realise the educational, 

training and research potential of Sandwell. 

7. Proposals involving the loss, in part or the whole of an education facility will be permitted only where 

adequate alternative provision is available to meet the needs of the community served by the facility. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + ++ 

D.7.9.1 Policy SHO9 seeks to support the development or expansion of education facilities secured 

through a range of funding measures, including planning obligations or through the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  New facilities would be required to be in accordance 

with the criteria set out in the policy.  The policy also aims to protect and enhance existing 

facilities.  This policy would therefore be expected to have a major positive impact on 

education (SA Objective 14). 

D.7.9.2 Improved access to education would also be likely to have benefits to the local economy, 

by ensuring a greater proportion of residents have skills desirable in many employment 

sectors.  The policy seeks to address accessibility gaps and ensure all residents have good 

access to educational facilities via public transport.  Therefore, this policy would be likely 

to have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility, equality and the local 

economy (SA Objectives 9, 11 and 13). 

D.7.9.3 The policy also states that new education facilities should be “well-served by public 

transport infrastructure, walking, and cycling facilities, particularly in centres, and located 

to minimise the number and length of journeys needed in relation to the home to school 

travel distances”.  This could potentially result in a minor positive impact on climate change 

Page 1561



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D85 

mitigation and pollution, by reducing reliance on travel via car and consequently reducing 

emission of GHGs and harmful pollutants (SA Objectives 4 and 7). 

D.7.9.4 In addition, this policy seeks to ensure that “new and redeveloped education facilities 

should include maximum provision for community use of sports and other facilities”.  This 

would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the health of local residents (SA 

Objective 12). 

D.7.10 Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople 

Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

Safeguarding Existing Supply 

1. Existing Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites (shown on the policies map) will be 

protected unless it can be demonstrated that they are no longer required or suitable alternative provision 

can be made. 

Meeting Future Need 

2. New Gypsy and Traveller permanent pitches will be provided to meet identified need up to 2031 as set 

out in Table 7, in accordance with the Black Country Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) 2022. 

3. Accommodation needs for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople over the Plan period will be 

met through sites with outstanding planning permission, allocated sites and other sites granted planning 

permission during the Plan period in accordance with the criteria set out below. The council will pursue 

funding and / or management arrangements for new sites, where necessary. 

4. Proposals for permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots will be assessed 

against the following criteria: 

a. The site should be suitable as a place to live, particularly regarding health and safety, and the 

development should be designed to provide adequate levels of privacy and amenity for both 

occupants and neighbouring uses; 

b. The site should meet moderate standards of access to residential services as set out in Policy 

SHO3, Table 6; 

c. The site should be located and designed to facilitate integration with neighbouring communities; 

d. The site should be suitable to allow for the planned number of pitches, an amenity block, a play 

area, access roads, parking and an area set aside for work purposes where appropriate, 

including, in the case of Travelling Showpeople, sufficient level space for outdoor storage and 

maintenance of equipment; 

e. The site should be served or capable of being served by adequate on-site services for water 

supply, power, drainage, sewage and waste disposal (storage and collection). 

f. A minimum 10% biodiversity net gain is demonstrated in accordance with Policy SNE2.  

5. The location, design and facilities provided on new sites will be determined in consultation with local 

Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and will also consider / reflect any available national 

guidance. 

Page 1562



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D86 

Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

6. Proposals should be well designed and laid out in accordance with Secured by Design principles as set 

out in SDM1. It is recommended that pre-application advice is sought from the West Midlands Police 

Design Out Crime Officers.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO10 +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + + + + +/- + 

D.7.10.1 In accordance with the planning policy for traveller sites58, Gypsies and Travellers are 

defined as “persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such 

persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or 

health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an 

organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such”.   

D.7.10.2 Travelling Showpeople are defined as “members of a group organised for the purposes of 

holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such).  This includes 

such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ more 

localised pattern of trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel 

temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers as defined above”59. 

D.7.10.3 This policy would be expected to meet the identified pitch targets for Gypsies and 

Travellers and plot targets for Travelling Showpeople which address the likely permanent 

and transit accommodation needs as set out in the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (GTAA).  Therefore, this policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact 

on housing (SA Objective 10).   

D.7.10.4 The policy would also be expected to have a minor positive impact on equality, as the 

provision of pitches and plots will help to ensure that a diverse range of residents in 

Sandwell have access to appropriate accommodation to suit their needs (SA Objective 11). 

D.7.10.5 The criteria set out in Policy SHO10 requires all development proposals for Gypsy, Traveller 

and Travelling Showpeople pitches and plots to have good access in accordance with Policy 

SLP*, integrate with neighbouring communities, include play areas and access roads, and 

have adequate access to on site services including water supply, power, drainage, sewage 

and waste disposal.  These requirements would be expected to result in minor positive 

impacts in regard to transport and accessibility, equality, health and education (SA 

Objectives 9, 11, 12 and 14). 

 
58 MHCLG (2015) Planning policy for traveller sites.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-

policy-for-traveller-sites [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

59 Ibid 

Page 1563

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D87 

D.7.10.6 Policy SHO10 could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 

3) in the long term, as the minimum 10% BNG requirement will help to ensure that the 

number and diversity of species in the area increases.  This would need careful 

management and monitoring to ensure that BNG is successful.  

D.7.10.7 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA objectives as the extent of 

both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development 

location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to site specific 

characteristics.  Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites are assessed in the SA 

process through the assessment of reasonable alternatives, as documented in this SA 

report and supporting appendix (see Appendix C). 

D.7.11 Policy SHO11 – Housing for people with specific needs  

Policy SHO11 – Housing for people with specific needs 

1. Proposals for specific forms of housing including children’s homes, care homes, nursing homes, extra 

care facilities, or any other identified need, will be considered in relation to the following criteria:   

a. compatibility with adjacent uses;   

b. the suitability of the site and building;   

c. the potential for undue noise and general disturbance to surrounding residents;  

d. the character and quality of the resulting environment;   

e. the impact on parking provision and highway safety;   

f. accessibility by a choice of means of transport; and  

g. proximity to facilities.   

2. Supporting information will be required in the form of a planning statement which, as a minimum, must 

set out the day-to-day activities associated with the use, staffing numbers and visitor numbers. Additional 

information such as a transport statement or noise statement may be required depending circumstances.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SHO11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

D.7.11.1 Policy SHO11 outlines the requirements for development proposals for specific forms of 

housing for people with specific needs.  The policy would increase equal opportunities in 

the area and would be expected to have a minor positive impact on equality (SA Objective 

11).  A minor positive impact on health could also be achieved, through helping to ensure 

that people in need of care are provided with suitable accommodation to meet their needs 

(SA Objective 12). 

Page 1564



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D88 

D.7.11.2 The policy states that the proposed development of specific forms of housing would require 

“accessibility by a choice of means of transport”; and could therefore expect to have a 

minor positive impact on access to sustainable transport methods (SA Objective 9).  

D.7.11.3 The policy additionally states that the proposals would need to consider “the character 

and quality of the resulting environment” and the “suitability of the site and building”.  

Therefore, the policy could help to reduce the potential for adverse effects on the 

surrounding landscape, resulting in a negligible impact (SA Objective 2).  

  

Page 1565



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D89 

D.8 Sandwell’s Economy 

D.8.1 Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs 

Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs 

1. The Sandwell Local Plan will seek the delivery of at least 1,206ha of employment land (of which 29ha is 

currently vacant) within the borough60 between 2020 and 2041, to support the growth of the sub- 

regional economy and increase productivity. Most of this requirement will be met through sites allocated 

for development in this Plan as set out below.  

2. Additional employment development will be brought forward on other sites throughout Sandwell, mainly 

through the redevelopment, intensification and enhancement of existing employment areas and 

premises. 

3. The Plan will deliver a portfolio of sites of various sizes and quality to meet a range of business needs. 

This land is in addition to those sites currently occupied for employment purposes. These sites will be 

safeguarded for industrial employment uses61 

4. Within the existing employment areas subject to Policies SEC2, SEC3 and SEC4, the Council will support, 

with public intervention as necessary, the regeneration and renewal of such areas, including their 

environmental enhancement and incorporation of sustainable measures to mitigate climate change 

impacts. Industrial developments will need to demonstrate how they have been designed to maximise 

resistance and resilience to climate change, as set out in Policy SCC1.    

5. To enable Sandwell’s employment areas to be fit-for-purpose in the long term and aid in the economic 

recovery and rejuvenation of the sub-regional industrial economy, new and resident companies should be 

encouraged to adopt a circular economy approach and related infrastructure.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

D.8.1.1 The SLP allocates 1,206ha of employment land for the period between 2020 – 2041.  

Further land is provided on other sites which have planning permission for employment 

development.  A minor positive impact on the economy is likely as the policy would deliver 

a significant quantum of employment land, however, this would not meet the full identified 

needs for Sandwell (SA Objective 13).   

D.8.1.2 The policy encourages the adoption of a circular economy approach and states that 

“Industrial developments will need to demonstrate how they have been designed to 

 
60 In Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2, and B8 

61 In Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2, and B8 

Page 1566



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D90 

maximise resistance and resilience to climate change”.  The policy would therefore expect 

to have a minor positive impact on promoting sustainable construction principles (SA 

Objective 4).  

D.8.1.3 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA Objectives as the extent of 

both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development 

location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to site specific 

characteristics.  These are assessed in the SA process through the assessment of 

reasonable alternatives, as documented in this SA report (see Appendix C). 

D.8.2 Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas 

Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas 

1. The Strategic Employment Areas are shown on the Policies Map. They are characterised by excellent 

accessibility, high-quality environments and clusters of high technology growth sector businesses. These 

areas will be safeguarded for manufacturing and logistics uses within Use Classes E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), B2 

and B8. 

2. Within Strategic Employment Areas, high-quality development or redevelopment of sites and premises 

will be required, and planning applications that prejudice or dilute the delivery of appropriate employment 

activity, or deter investment in such uses, will be refused. 

3. Strategic Employment Areas will be safeguarded from redevelopment for other non- manufacturing / 

logistics uses. 

4. Some ancillary employment-generating non-Class E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), and Class-B2 and B8 uses, such as 

childcare facilities and small-scale food and drink outlets, may also be permitted in Strategic Employment 

Areas, where they can be shown to strongly support, maintain or enhance the business and employment 

function and attractiveness of the area, and meet sequential and other national or local policy tests 

relating to appropriate uses as necessary. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC2 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

D.8.2.1 Policy SEC2 seeks to allocate Strategic Employment Areas within Sandwell, which 

correspond to areas of highest market demand and are characterised by “clusters of high 

technology growth”.  This would be likely to have benefits to the local economy, as 

employment land would be located in desirable areas and would provide technology to 

enable businesses to thrive.  A minor positive impact on the economy would be expected 

(SA Objective 13). 

D.8.2.2 The policy states that Strategic Employment Areas will be characterised by “excellent 

accessibility”, which would be expected to ensure residents have good access to 

Page 1567



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D91 

employment opportunities and surrounding services via sustainable transport modes.  

Therefore, a minor positive impact in relation to transport and accessibility would be likely 

(SA Objective 9).   

D.8.2.3 Without further knowledge regarding the nature, scale and type of development that may 

come forward within the Strategic Employment Areas in accordance with this policy, an 

uncertain impact has been identified for the remaining SA Objectives. 

D.8.3 Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas 

Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas 

1. Local Employment Areas are shown on the Policies Map. They are characterised by a critical mass of 

industrial, warehousing and service activity with good access to local markets and employees. 

2. These areas will provide for the needs of locally based investment and will be safeguarded for the 

following uses; 

a. Industry and warehousing62 (E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), B2 and B8 use)  

b. Motor trade activities, including car showrooms and vehicle repair  

c. Haulage and transfer depots 

d. Trade, wholesale retailing and builders’ merchants 

e. Scrap metal, timber and construction premises and yards 

f. Waste collection, transfer and recycling uses  

3. Not all areas will be suitable for all uses. 

4. Some ancillary employment-generating non-Class E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)) and B uses such as childcare facilities 

and food and drink outlets may also be permitted in Local Employment Areas where they can: 

a. be shown to strongly support, maintain or enhance the business and employment function of 

the area; and 

b. meet sequential and other national or local policy tests (particularly Policies SCE5 and SCE6) 

relating to appropriate uses, as necessary. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- 

D.8.3.1 Policy SEC3 seeks to allocate Local Employment Areas in Sandwell to support the provision 

of industrial, logistics and commercial activities, which would be likely to result in benefits 

for the local economy and provision of local employment opportunities.  This policy would 

therefore be likely to have a minor positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 13). 

 
62 (E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii)), B2 and B8 use) 

Page 1568



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D92 

D.8.3.2 Policy SEC3 also seeks to safeguard areas for “waste collection, transfer and recycling 

uses”.  This policy would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on waste, 

by supporting the efficient management and disposal of waste (SA Objective 8). 

D.8.3.3 Without further knowledge regarding the nature, scale and type of development that may 

come forward within the Local Employment Areas in accordance with this policy, an 

uncertain impact has been identified for the remaining SA Objectives. 

D.8.4 Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites 

Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites 

1. In employment areas that are not designated as either Strategic Employment Areas or Local Employment 

Areas on the Policies Map, but which comprise land / sites that are currently in use (or if currently vacant, 

were last used) for employment purposes, development will be supported for: 

a. new industrial employment uses or extensions to existing industrial employment uses, or 

b. housing or other non-ancillary non-industrial employment uses. 

2. Development or uses under 1(b) will only be supported where there is robust evidence that: 

a. if the site is vacant, that it has been marketed for employment use for a period of at least 12 

months, including by site notice and through the internet or as may be agreed by the local 

planning authority; 

b. if the site is occupied or part occupied, that successful engagement has been undertaken with 

the occupiers to secure their relocation 

c. if the site forms part of a larger areas occupied or last occupied for employment, that residential 

or any other use will not be adversely affected by the continuing operation of employment uses 

in the remainder of the area; 

d. the site could be brought forward for housing in a comprehensive manner and would not lead to 

piecemeal development; 

e. residential development would not adversely affect the ongoing operation of existing or 

proposed employment uses on the site or nearby; and 

f. the site is suitable for housing or other non-ancillary non-employment uses in accordance with 

local or national policies relating to these uses. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC4 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- + +/- +/- + +/- 

D.8.4.1 The policy supports “new industrial employment uses or extensions to existing industrial 

employment uses” which would be likely to increase the provision of employment 

floorspace across the SMBC, outside of the identified Strategic and Local Employment 

Page 1569



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D93 

Areas.  A minor positive impact on employment opportunities and the economy would be 

expected (SA Objective 13). 

D.8.4.2 This policy would also support the redevelopment of some employment sites to housing 

or other non-employment uses, where the employment site is no longer required for 

employment purposes.  Therefore, this could potentially result in a minor positive impact 

on local housing provision (SA Objective 10).   

D.8.4.3 At present, the location of the ‘other employment sites’ is unknown.  It is therefore 

uncertain what impact Policy SEC4 would have on the remaining SA Objectives. 

D.8.5 Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market 

Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market 

1. Planning applications for new major job-creating development will be required to demonstrate how job 

opportunities arising from the proposed development will be made available to the residents of Sandwell, 

particularly those in the most deprived areas of the borough and other priority groups. 

2. Planning conditions or obligations will be negotiated with applicants and applied as appropriate to secure 

initiatives and /or contributions to a range of measures to benefit the local community, including the 

potential for working with local colleges and universities, to ensure:  

a. the provision of training opportunities to assist residents in accessing employment opportunities; 

b. the provision of support to residents in applying for jobs arising from the development; 

c. enhancement of the accessibility of the development to residents by a choice of means of 

transport, including walking, cycling and public transport (see Policy STR1);  

d. child-care provision which enables residents to access employment opportunities; 

e. measures to assist those with physical or mental health disabilities to access employment 

opportunities. 

3. In respect of planning applications for new employment-generating development Sandwell will negotiate 

with applicants on financial or other contributions, to be secured through planning obligations or the CIL 

Charging Schedule. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + + + + 

D.8.5.1 Policy SEC5 supports proposals for new employment development, so long as the 

employment opportunities are accessible, in particular for disadvantaged people and 

residents in the most deprived areas of Sandwell.  The development of new employment 

sites would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 

13), whilst ensuring the associated employment opportunities are available for all residents 

Page 1570



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D94 

within the Plan area would have a minor positive impact in relation to equality (SA 

Objective 11). 

D.8.5.2 Policy SEC5 will also be likely to have a minor positive impact on transport (SA Objective 

9) by enhancing “the accessibility of the development to residents by a choice of means 

of transport, including walking, cycling and public transport”.  

D.8.5.3 The policy seeks to ensure that provision is made “to assist those with physical or mental 

health disabilities to access employment opportunities”.  The provision of improved 

accessible employment opportunities across the Plan area would be expected to have a 

minor positive impact on health and wellbeing (SA Objective 12). 

D.8.5.4 Furthermore, this policy would be likely to have benefits to education, by ensuring a 

diverse range of residents have access to training opportunities to increase their skills and 

employability.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on education would be likely (SA 

Objective 14).   

D.8.6 Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses 

Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses 

1. Proposals for new industrial development that is likely to have an adverse effect63 on neighbouring uses 

will not be permitted, unless the adverse effects can be reduced to an acceptable level, by means of a 

buffer64 or other robust mitigation measures. 

2. Equally, new proposals that may adversely affect, or be adversely affected by, existing industry operating 

in appropriate locations will not be permitted unless the adverse effects can be reduced to an acceptable 

level. Where this is to be achieved by means of a buffer, the new development will be required to provide 

and maintain the buffer. 

3. Where existing industry operates within residential areas the Council will seek to ensure that any harmful 

effects are mitigated. If necessary, the Council will consider the enforcement of appropriate regulations 

or other means to reduce the problem. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SEC6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.8.6.1 Policy SEC6 seeks to ensure that any development of new industrial sites does not majorly 

disrupt neighbouring land uses, using buffers where appropriate.  Increasing industrial 

 
63 E.g. excessive traffic, pollution (air, noise, fumes, water, soil), disturbance, visual amenity etc.  
64 An appropriate buffer may take a variety of forms such as open space, a landscaped area, a wall or other physical barrier.  

Page 1571



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D95 

sites should create more jobs across the SMBC which could potentially result in a minor 

positive impact on local economy (SA Objective 13).   

D.8.6.2 Through seeking to avoid or minimise the potential for adverse effects, the policy would 

help to prevent adverse impacts across environmental / amenity topics.  A negligible 

impact has been identified across the remaining SA Objectives.  However, the policy could 

be improved through including reference to the types of adverse effect covered to ensure 

clarity, for example whether this should include visual impacts, traffic generation, pollution 

(air, noise, water, soil), disturbance etc. 

  

Page 1572



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D96 

D.9 Sandwell’s Centres 

D.9.1 Policy SCE1 – Sandwell’s Centres 

Policy SCE1 – Sandwell’s Centres 

1. The priority for Sandwell's centres is to ensure they remain focused on serving the needs of their 

communities, through delivering a well-balanced diversity of commercial, business and service functions. 

This includes retail provision and an increasing mix of leisure, office, residential and other appropriate, 

complementary uses that are accessible by a variety of sustainable means of transport. This will enable 

centres to make a key contribution to regeneration, tackling climate change, fostering healthy 

communities, and creating pleasant, safe public spaces to increase social interaction and cohesion. 

2. Sandwell's centres comprise a hierarchy, set out in Table 10.  This hierarchy will be supported and 

protected by ensuring that development in centres is facilitated in a manner that reflects their scale, role, 

and function, and resisting proposals that would undermine this strategy. 

3. Proposals for centre uses that are in-centre65 are subject to specific policy requirements, as set out in 

Table 10, Policies SCE4 and SCE5, centre insets and Policies SWB1 and SWB2 (West Bromwich).  

4. Proposals for centre uses that are not in-centre66 must meet the sequential test and other relevant 

requirements, such as impact tests as set out in Table 10 and Policy SCE6), as well as any specific 

policies in the town centre insets. 

5. Future growth and allocations in Sandwell, particularly housing and employment development identified 

in Policies SDS1, SHO1 and SEC1, should have their service needs met by, and contribute to the 

regeneration of, the existing network of centres. 

6. A land use approach will be adopted to encourage regeneration and to meet the challenges facing 

Sandwell's centres, particularly as little retail capacity has been identified to support additional floorspace, 

through supporting: 

a. diversifying and repurposing of centres enhanced by appropriate complementary uses, 

particularly residential, education, health and community uses and supporting the evening 

economy; 

b. the consolidation and reconfiguration of vacant floorspace into a mix of uses, especially the use 

of upper floors, and / or extensions to existing floorspace, with any new development being 

well-integrated with existing provision; 

c. enhancing the vitality, accessibility and sustainability of centres, including maximising public 

realm, open space, provision of suitably-located and accessible pedestrian and cycle networks, 

and provision of green infrastructure and vehicle charging points 

 

 
65

 Within the relevant boundaries or Primary Shopping Areas of defined centres 

66 Not within the relevant boundaries / Primary Shopping Areas of a defined centre but are in edge-of-centre or out-of- 

centre locations  

Page 1573



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D97 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE1 +/- +/- +/- + +/- + +/- +/- + + + + + +/- 

D.9.1.1 Policy SCE1 aims to ensure centres within Sandwell provide residents with services and 

facilities that meet the local needs in regard to retail, leisure, commercial, residential, 

community and civil services.  

D.9.1.2 The hierarchy of centres as set out under this policy would be likely to ensure a range of 

facilities are provided at these locations which are appropriate to meet the local need.  

This would be expected to have benefits to the local community by ensuring all residents 

have access to essential services, and the local economy through encouraging economic 

regeneration.  Therefore, Policy SCE1 would be likely to have minor positive impacts in 

relation to equality and the economy (SA Objectives 11 and 13).  The policy would also 

support residential development in centres, where appropriate, which could lead to a minor 

positive impact on housing provision (SA Objective 10). 

D.9.1.3 The policy seeks to ensure development proposals within centres facilitate “healthy 

communities” and are “accessible by a variety of sustainable means of transport”, in 

particular public transport, walking and cycling.  This policy would be likely to encourage 

residents to live healthy lifestyles by supporting active travel.  Residents would also be 

encouraged to use public transport, which would subsequently reduce the number of cars 

on the road network, with likely benefits for carbon emissions, congestion and air quality 

(SA Objectives 4, 9 and 12). 

D.9.1.4 The policy encourages regeneration and states that “the consolidation and reconfiguration 

of vacant floorspace” will be supported under this policy.  This would be likely to have a 

minor positive impact in relation to natural resources, by encouraging the efficient use of 

previously developed land and reducing the quantity of greenfield land that would be lost 

to development (SA Objective 6).   

D.9.1.5 The support for regeneration under Policy SCE1 may provide opportunities to improve the 

local townscape character.  However, the type, scale and quantity of development that 

may be directed to each of the identified centres under this policy is not known as this 

policy sets out the strategic context, priorities and approach to the borough’s centres.  

Therefore, the overall impact of the policy on the remaining SA objectives is uncertain (SA 

Objectives 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8 and 14). 

D.9.2 Policy SCE2 – Non-Retail Uses in Town Centres 

Policy SCE2 – Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres 

Primary Shopping Areas and Retail Frontages 

1. The Retail Core / Primary Shopping Areas within the centres of Sandwell are defined on the Policies Map. 

Page 1574



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D98 

Policy SCE2 – Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres 

2. To ensure that uses defined by Use Class E (commercial, business and services67) remain the 

predominant uses within the defined retail core / primary shopping areas, new development, including 

that with residential use above ground floor, will be permitted where: 

a. the proposal is for commercial Class E use at ground floor level (or ground floor plus higher 

storeys); or 

b. the proposal is for other town centre uses falling outside of Class E that would support the 

overall vitality and viability of the centre and fall within sui generis uses, to include the 

following: 

i. public houses, wine bars, or drinking establishments; 

ii. hot food takeaways (subject to the provisions of the relevant SLP policies); 

iii. live music venues. 

3. Changes of use of ground floor premises that require planning consent in Retail Core / Primary Shopping 

Areas will be assessed on whether the proposed use:  

a. retains an active frontage and maintains or enhances the vitality, attractiveness, and viability of 

the primary shopping frontage and the wider commercial area; 

b. is complementary to the shopping / commercial function of the area and provides a direct 

service to the public; 

c. is for a temporary period to occupy temporarily vacant units such as for occupiers testing new 

business concepts, a pop-up store, or for use for events which would support the vitality and 

viability of the town centre; 

d. does not result in an over-concentration of sui generis uses within one area, and contributes to 

an appropriate mix and diverse offer: 

e. does not conflict with other Sandwell Local Plan policy objectives and requirements (e.g. Policy 

SDM6, Policy SDM8). 

Other Shopping Areas and Retail Frontages 

4. In centres with no defined retail core or primary shopping area, proposals for non- ‘E’ Class uses will be 

resisted where they do not contribute to the vitality and viability of the centre, or where they would 

undermine its primary commercial, business and services functions. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE2 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

 
67 https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes  

Page 1575

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/change-of-use/use-classes


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D99 

D.9.2.1 Policy SCE2 outlines measures in place to retain the predominance of retail uses (Class 

E)68 within defined Retail Core / Primary Shopping Areas.  

D.9.2.2 The policy includes measures that would ensure that non-E Class uses are resisted where 

they are found incapable of being able to “contribute to the vitality and viability of the 

centre, or where they would undermine its primary commercial, business and services 

functions”. These measures would expect to protect the vitality and viability of the retail 

areas and additionally protect jobs in the area.  Therefore, Policy SCE2 would be expected 

to have a minor positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 13).  

D.9.2.3 Through ensuring that any proposals to change ground floor uses within these areas 

“retains an active frontage and maintains or enhances the vitality, attractiveness, and 

viability” of the local area, there is potential for the policy to result in a minor positive 

impact on the townscape (SA Objective 2). 

D.9.3 Policy SCE3 – Town Centres (tier-two centres) 

Policy SCE3 – Town Centres (tier-two centres) 

1. Proposals for appropriate uses will be supported within Town Centres (-tier-two centres (in-centre 

locations being defined in Policy SCE1, parts 3 and 4), particularly where they contribute to providing a 

diverse mix of uses, such as retail, office, leisure, residential, community, health, education and cultural 

facilities, and where they are of a scale that reflects the size, role and function of those centres and the 

catchments the centres serve. 

2. It is a priority for Town Centres to serve the needs of development identified in the SLP, particularly for 

residential and employment allocations (Policy SCE1) 

3. Convenience retail development is encouraged, and proposals to extend or refurbish existing stores 

where they are well-integrated with the centre will be supported. 

4. In the assessment and determination of planning proposals, the distinctive offer, unique character, and 

special roles played by individual centres will be recognised and will be given appropriate weight when 

decisions are taken on applications that may affect the characteristics of the area. 

5. Proposals in edge-of-centre and / or out-of-centre locations (Policy SCE1 parts 3 and 4) must meet the 

relevant requirements set out in Policy SCE6 – such as accessibility, impact and sequential tests and 

flexibility.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + 

 
68 ibid 

Page 1576



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D100 

D.9.3.1 Policy SCE3 supports the development of “retail, office, leisure, residential, community, 

health, education and cultural facilities” with the defined Town Centres.  This would be 

expected to ensure there is adequate supply of employment opportunities within these 

areas.  In addition, this policy would be likely to support a diverse range of retail, services 

and facilities within town centres, including healthcare and education, ensuring good 

accessibility for existing local residents and promoting community cohesion.  The policy 

could potentially direct some residential development to these town centres, further 

ensuring that new residents would also have good access to services and boosting the 

local economy.  This would be expected to have minor positive impacts in relation to 

accessibility, housing, equality, health, the economy and education (SA Objectives 9, 10, 

11, 12, 13 and 14). 

D.9.4 Policy SCE4 – District and Local Centres (tier-three centres) 

Policy SCE4 – District and Local Centres (tier-three centres) 

1. Proposals for appropriate uses (paragraph 9.68) will be supported within tier-three centres (in-centre 

locations being defined in paragraph 9.66) particularly commercial, business and service uses that meet 

day-to-day needs and serve local communities within the catchment area of those centres 

2. It is a priority for tier-three centres to serve the day-to-day shopping and service needs of development 

identified in the Sandwell Local Plan, particularly residential and employment allocations (Policy CEN1).  

Convenience retail development is encouraged and proposals to extend or refurbish existing food stores 

where they are well-integrated with the centre will be supported. 

3. Proposals in edge-of-centre (directly adjoining a centre boundary) and / or out-of- centre locations must 

meet the relevant requirements as set out in Policies SCE1 Table 10, SCE5 and SCE6.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 + 0 

D.9.4.1 Policy SCE4 supports development within defined District or Local Centres that would serve 

communities, including food stores and day-to-day services, complementing the higher 

tier centres.  This could potentially help to encourage social interaction and community 

cohesion and help to meet the needs of the community within the local area, reducing the 

need to travel.  This would be likely to have a minor positive impact in relation to local 

accessibility and equality (SA Objectives 9 and 11).   

D.9.4.2 By supporting appropriate residential and employment development within district and 

local centres and providing job opportunities, this policy would also be likely to have a 

minor positive impact on housing and the local economy (SA Objectives 10 and 13).   

Page 1577



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D101 

D.9.5 Policy SCE5 – Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in centres 

Policy SCE5 – Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in centres 

1. Small-scale (up to 280m2 gross) proposals for centre uses and complementary uses that are subject to 

planning control will only be permitted if all the following requirements are met:  

a. The proposal does not unduly impact on the health and wellbeing of the community it is 

intended to serve.  

b. The proposal is of an appropriate scale and nature to meet the specific day-to-day needs of a 

population within convenient, safe walking distance for new or improved facilities.  

c. Local provision could not be better met by investment in a nearby centre.  

d. Existing facilities that meet day-to-day needs will not be undermined.  

e. Access to the proposal by means other than by car can be demonstrated; this will be evidenced 

by the proposal being within convenient, safe walking distance of the community it will serve.  

2. Development involving the loss of a local facility, particularly a convenience shop, pharmacy, community 

facility or post office, will be resisted where this would result in an increase in the number of people living 

more than a convenient, safe walking distance from alternative provision.  

3. Where planning consents are granted, effective planning conditions and / or planning obligations will be 

required to support the regeneration strategy and minimise impacts (Policy SDS2).   

4. Proposals where total floorspace exceeds 280m2 (gross) will also have to meet the requirements of Policy 

SCE6.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE5 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

D.9.5.1 Policy SCE5 supports the development of small-scale centre uses outside of the defined 

centres to meet the needs of community, where proposals meet a number of criteria 

outlined in the policy.  These small development proposals would be expected to have 

benefits to the local economy and the local population by encouraging community 

cohesion, social inclusion and ensuring residents have good access to essential services in 

close proximity to their homes.  The policy also seeks to retain existing services such as a 

“convenience shop, pharmacy, community facility or post office”.  Therefore, a minor 

positive impact in regard to equality and the economy would be expected (SA Objectives 

11 and 13).   

D.9.5.2 The policy also seeks to ensure proposals are located “within convenient, safe walking 

distance for new or improved facilities” for residents.  The policy would be likely to ensure 

good access to local facilities, whilst encouraging active travel and reducing reliance on 

private cars, with subsequent benefits to local air quality.  This would be likely to have a 

minor positive impact on climate change mitigation, pollution, transport, and health (SA 

Objectives 4, 7, 9 and 12). 

Page 1578



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D102 

D.9.6 Policy SCE6 – Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development 

Policy SCE6 – Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development 

1. There is a clear presumption in favour of focusing appropriate uses in centres. 

Sequential Test 

2. All edge-of-centre and out-of-centre proposals (as defined in paragraph 9.66) for centre uses (paragraph 

9.68) should meet the requirements of the sequential test set out in the latest national guidance. 

3. Edge and out-of-centre proposals should be assessed for accessibility by a choice of modes of transport, 

in particular public transport, walking and cycling, and should demonstrate that they will support both 

social inclusion and cohesion, and the need to sustain strategic transport links. 

4. Edge-of-centre proposals will need to demonstrate that they will be well-integrated with existing in-centre 

provision, for example through the availability of safe and well-located pedestrian access across major 

roads that would otherwise bisect a centre.  

5. When assessing sequentially preferable locations, proposals will need to demonstrate flexibility in their 

operational requirements, particularly in terms of their format and the types of goods being sold.  

Impact Tests 

6. The locally-set floorspace thresholds for edge and out-of-centre retail and leisure proposals to meet the 

requirements of the Impact Assessment as set out in the latest national guidance is 280m2 (gross (Policy 

SCE1, Table 10). 

7. Impact tests should be proportionate to the nature and scale of proposals. 

8. Proposals should be informed by the latest available robust evidence. 

9. Where planning permissions are granted, effective planning conditions and / or planning obligations will 

be required to support the regeneration strategy and minimise adverse impacts (Policy SDS2). 

10. Proposals that include unit sizes under 280m2 (gross) will also have to meet the requirements of (Policy 

SCE5). 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCE6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + + + 0 

D.9.6.1 Policy SCE6 sets out criteria for the development of edge-of-centre and out-of-centre 

proposals for centre uses.  This could potentially have benefits to the local economy, by 

encouraging development in centres which are highly sustainable locations.  A minor 

positive impact on the economy would be expected (SA Objective 13).   

D.9.6.2 This policy encourages development in centres which are highly sustainable locations.  All 

development proposals under this policy would be required to be assessed for accessibility 

via public transport, walking and cycling.  This would be expected to ensure all residents 

and visitors have safe access to these facilities.  By supporting access via walking and 

cycling, this policy could potentially encourage active travel and facilitate healthy lifestyles.  

Page 1579



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D103 

If there is adequate access via public transport, there could potentially be a reduction in 

car use, with benefits to climate change, air pollution and congestion.  Therefore, as the 

policy prioritises development in centres and assuming the assessments outlined in the 

policy would ensure sustainable access to out-of-centre developments is prioritised, this 

policy would be likely to have minor positive impacts in relation to climate change 

mitigation, air pollution, transport, and health (SA Objectives 4, 7, 9 and 12). 

D.9.6.3 The policy also requires proposals to “demonstrate that they will support both social 

inclusion and cohesion”, which would be likely to result in a minor positive impact on 

equality (SA Objective 11). 

  

Page 1580



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D104 

D.10 West Bromwich 

D.10.1 Policy SWB1 – West Bromwich Town Centre 

Policy SWB1 – West Bromwich Town Centre 

1. The strategic priorities for West Bromwich are   

a. to reinvigorate the town centre;   

b. to unlock land to aid regeneration;   

c. to support good quality jobs;   

d. to stimulate Covid-19 recovery;  

e. to promote the highest standards of sustainable urban design.   

2. This will be achieved by:   

a. delivering a significant number of new homes in and around the centre (Policy SWB2) 

to support the creation of a vibrant, active and sustainable town centre;  

b. creating a Metro gateway and new town square and promoting a step change in the 

quality of local places / the public realm;  

c. delivering mixed use, leisure, commercial and ancillary office growth in sustainable core 

locations;  

d. repurposing vacant premises and sites in the centre to deliver community, education 

and healthcare provision;   

e. undertaking site assembly and redevelopment to provide land suitable for new 

markets, education facilities and high-quality housing;  

f. regenerating the Town Hall Quarter to establish a fully restored cultural and evening / 

night-time offer in the town centre;  

g. creating sustainable travel networks across the centre and into surrounding locations;  

h. providing a green link from the Metro through the heart of the town centre to connect 

the town centre to Dartmouth Park and Sandwell Valley, including cycling and walking 

routes across the town centre through to Sandwell Valley;  

i. providing landscaping, green links, squares, parks and parklets, sustainable travel 

networks and additional green infrastructure throughout the centre.  

3. Opportunities for future development in and around West Bromwich will be supported where they help 

deliver the aims and objectives set out above.   

4. Areas such as The Lyng may be suitable for high quality, well-designed mixed-use development and 

investment; should such sites become available through land assembly or allocation during the timescale 

of the SLP, the Council will support the production of masterplans that demonstrate how sustainable new 

development could be brought forward in those areas. 

 

Page 1581



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D105 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWB1 0 + 0 + + + 0 0 + + + + + + 

D.10.1.1 Policy SWB1 sets out the strategic priorities for West Bromwich Town Centre and outlines 

measures that will be carried out to meet these priorities.  The policy states that 

regeneration will be achieved by “repurposing vacant premises and sites in the centre to 

deliver community, education and healthcare provision”.  Utilising vacant premises would 

protect greenfield land and ensure sustainable development remains a core element within 

the town centre’s strategic priorities.  Furthermore, the town centre will be provided with 

“landscaping, green links, squares, parks and parklets, sustainable travel networks and 

additional green infrastructure”.  The provision of increased green space and increased 

access to sustainable travel methods would encourage active lifestyles and potentially 

reduce reliance on private car use.  Furthermore, the proposed landscaping and increased 

green cover would be expected to benefit the local townscape character.  Overall, the 

policy would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the local landscape character, 

climate change mitigation, green infrastructure provision, the borough’s greenfield land, 

residents’ access to sustainable transport, and health and wellbeing (SA Objectives 2, 4, 

5, 6, 9, and 12).  

D.10.1.2 The policy sets out how the housing need of the area will be met, where “a significant 

number of new homes in and around the centre (Policy SWB2) to support the creation of 

a vibrant, active and sustainable town centre” will be required.  Furthermore, Policy SWB1 

states that measures will include “regenerating the Town Hall Quarter to establish a fully 

restored cultural and evening / night-time offer in the town centre” and additionally 

“redevelopment to provide land suitable for new markets, education facilities and high-

quality housing”.   Overall, the policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact on 

the local housing supply, access to affordable homes, the local economy and educational 

facilities (SA Objectives 10, 11, 13, and 14).  

D.10.2 Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich  

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich  

1. It is a priority for West Bromwich to serve identified housing and employment growth aspirations (Policy 

SDS1, Policy SDS2). The diversification of West Bromwich to provide a re-purposed, well-balanced mix of 

appropriate uses will be supported, in particular: 

a. Residential provision will be maximised, to increase and strengthen communities, with indicative 

housing capacity identified by the West Bromwich Masterplan and West Bromwich Inset, 

providing a minimum of 1,345 new homes by 2041 (this figure includes provision in Carter’s 

Green).  

Page 1582



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D106 

Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich  

b. Most new homes will be built at very high densities (Policy SHO3, Table 5) and as part of mixed-

use developments where suitable, with additional residential use helping to attract investment 

and promoting the vitality of the centre.  

c. Complementary uses, particularly community, leisure, health and education use (Policy SDS5, 

Policy SDM9).  

2. Large-scale proposals to serve wider catchment areas should be focussed in West Bromwich to maximise 

linked trips, promote the use of sustainable modes of transport and support regeneration.  

Retail  

3. Existing convenience and comparison retail provision will be protected and appropriate new development 

in this use supported, to meet both local shopping needs and large-scale provision serving the wider 

catchment; this should be focused on re-purposing vacant floorspace and re-using existing sites within 

the centre in the first instance.  

Leisure  

4. Leisure uses, especially large-scale public and commercial facilities such as cinemas, hotels, and a wide 

range of high-quality family venues and activities, will be supported where they help to diversify the 

centre, encourage linked trips and enhance the evening economy and visitor experience  

Office  

5. Office provision will be supported, as West Bromwich is an important location for such employment. 

Future demand will be market-led; suitable sites are identified in the Masterplan. 

6. Proposals in edge-of-centre and / or out-of-centre locations must meet the relevant requirements set out 

in Policy SCE6.  

Sustainability  

7. West Bromwich is a highly sustainable focus for service provision; it is a priority to ensure high quality 

public realm and standards of design are delivered and supported through environmental policies to 

deliver the aims and objectives in the Masterplan.  

Accessibility  

8. Proposals for commercial and business development that involve more than 500m2 (gross) of floorspace 

within the primary shopping areas of the centre and well- linked edge-of-centre locations should provide 

a travel plan. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWB2 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + + + + + + 

D.10.2.1 The policy aims to support the diversification of West Bromwich as Sandwell’s Strategic 

Centre to provide residents with a well-balanced provision of local facilities and uses.  

Page 1583



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D107 

D.10.2.2 The policy identifies the importance of maximising residential provision to meet the 

borough-wide targets, ensuring that any large-scale proposals are located within West 

Bromwich to provide improved access to and uptake of sustainable means of transport.  

Locating large-scale developments within proximity of public transport networks would 

encourage active travel and could reduce reliance on private cars, reducing congestion 

within the area.  Therefore, the policy could potentially have a minor positive impact on 

climate change mitigation and transport (SA Objectives 4 and 9) as well as the provision 

of housing (SA Objective 10).  These measures, in addition to the policy provision to ensure 

car parking demand and traffic are considered, could help to reduce adverse effects 

associated with air pollution, leading to an overall negligible effect on SA Objective 7. 

D.10.2.3 Policy SCE3 supports leisure uses that aim to “diversify the centre, encourage linked trips 

and enhance the evening economy and visitor experience”.  Additionally, the policy 

includes measures to support the provision of office space, where future demand would 

be “market led”.  The specifications of the policy would be likely to provide improved 

employment opportunities and retail developments to boost the local economy as well as 

human health and equality, by helping to ensure all residents have good access to a range 

of services and facilities, including education, leisure and healthcare, by providing 

community uses within centres.  Overall, the measures within the policy would expect to 

have a minor positive impact on equality, health, the local economy and education (SA 

Objectives 11, 12, 13 and 14).  

D.10.2.4 The policy states that “it is a priority to ensure high quality public realm and standards of 

design are delivered”, which would help to ensure new development conserves and 

enhances the local landscape and townscape character, potentially resulting in a minor 

positive impact on SA Objective 2. 

D.10.2.5 The policy states that there will be a focus on “re- purposing vacant floorspace and re 

using existing sites within the centre”.  These measures would help to protect undeveloped 

land from new development and encourage an efficient use of land, with a likely minor 

positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6). 

  

Page 1584



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D108 

D.11 Transport 

D.11.1 Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network 

Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network 

1. Land needed for the implementation of priority transport projects will be safeguarded to allow for their 

future delivery.  

2. All new developments must provide adequate access for all modes of travel, prioritising walking, cycling 

and public transport to influence travel choices. Residential development will be expected to meet the 

accessibility standards set out elsewhere in this Plan.  

3. Key transport corridors will be prioritised through the delivery of infrastructure to support active travel 

(walking, cycling), public transport improvements, traffic management (including localised junction 

improvements) and road safety.  

4. Key transport priorities identified for delivery during the lifetime of the SLP currently include the 

following:  

a. Motorways: 

M5 Improvements (Junctions 1 and 2)  

b. Rail: 

Midlands Rail Hub  

c. Rapid Transit 

Wednesbury – Brierley Hill 

A34 Walsall Road Sprint Corridor 

Walsall – Stourbridge corridor tram-train extensions 

d. Key road corridors including the following (but not limited to): A4123 Corridor Upgrade 

A461 Black Country Corridor 

A457/B4135 Oldbury, Smethwick to Birmingham Corridor 

A4034 Blackheath and Oldbury Corridor 

e. Interchanges 

Dudley Port Integrated Transport Hub 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 + 0 0 

D.11.1.1 Policy STR1 outlines SMBC’s priorities for the transport network during the Plan period, 

covering a wide range of transport modes including the strategic road network, rail, rapid 

transit and interchanges.  The transport projects identified within this policy would all be 

expected to contribute towards improving the delivery of sustainable transport options, 

Page 1585



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D109 

improving the integration of different modes of transport, reducing issues with congestion 

and improving traffic flows.  Overall, a major positive impact on transport would be 

expected (SA Objective 9). 

D.11.1.2 The policy states that “all new developments must provide adequate access for all modes 

of travel, including walking, cycling and public transport” in accordance with the identified 

accessibility standards.  The promotion of active travel and public transport improvements 

within key transport corridors would be likely to encourage the uptake of sustainable 

transport and could potentially help to reduce reliance on travel via car.  A modal shift 

away from private car use towards public transport and active travel would be expected 

to result in a reduction in transport-associated emission of GHGs and other air pollutants.  

Therefore, Policy STR1 could potentially result in a minor positive impact on climate change 

mitigation and pollution (SA Objectives 4 and 7).   

D.11.1.3 Furthermore, by encouraging the uptake of active travel and ensuring development is 

accessible via walking and cycling, Policy STR1 could potentially improve the physical and 

mental wellbeing of residents.  Ensuring that road safety and pedestrian access are 

considered when designing new development would be likely to encourage more people 

to choose these forms of travel, encouraging physical exercise and social interaction.  A 

minor positive impact on health would be anticipated (SA Objective 12). 

D.11.2 Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network 

(KRN) 

Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN) 

1. Sandwell will, in conjunction with Transport for West Midlands (TfWM) and other neighbouring local 

highway authorities, identify capital improvements and management strategies to ensure the KRN meets 

its strategic functions. 

2. Land needed for the implementation of improvements to the KRN will be safeguarded to assist in their 

future delivery. 

3. Where new development is expected to result in adverse impacts on the KRN, appropriate mitigation 

measures will need to be identified through transport assessments and provided through planning 

obligations. 

4. When working with neighbouring authorities, sub-national transport bodies, infrastructure providers and 

statutory bodies, there will be a focus on reducing the impact of private car use on the KRN and 

delivering a net-zero transport system. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR2 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1586



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D110 

D.11.2.1 New development within Sandwell as proposed within the SLP would be expected to result 

in an increased number of vehicles on the local road network, adding more pressure to 

road infrastructure and travel corridors.  An increased volume of traffic on the road can 

have implications for a variety of issues such as congestion, road safety and air quality as 

well as resulting in longer journey times.  Policy STR2 seeks to ensure that the Key Route 

Network (KRN) is effectively managed in order to support the level of growth proposed in 

the SLP over the Plan period.    

D.11.2.2 The policy states that suitable mitigation measures will be identified and put in place, to 

ensure that any potential adverse impacts on the road network are avoided.  Furthermore, 

the policy would help to ensure that transport connectivity is improved, through requiring 

liaison with Transport for West Midlands or other relevant authorities.  Policy STR2 could 

potentially encourage coordination and streamlining of transport systems including public 

transport such as rapid transit and bus routes.  Overall, a minor positive impact on 

transport would be anticipated (SA Objective 9). 

D.11.2.3 Since Policy STR2 will seek to “focus on reducing the impact of private car use on the KRN 

and delivering a net-zero transport system”, there may be potential for a minor positive 

impact on climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4).  

D.11.3 Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development 

Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development 

1. Planning permission will not be granted for any proposals that are likely to have significant transport 

implications, unless accompanied by mitigation schemes that demonstrate an acceptable level of 

accessibility and safety can be achieved using all modes of transport to, from and through the 

development. Mitigation schemes must address in particular access by walking, cycling, public transport 

and shared transport. 

2. These proposals should be in accordance with an agreed Transport Assessment, where deemed 

necessary by the Local Highway Authority, and include the implementation of measures to promote and 

improve such sustainable transport infrastructure and facilities through agreed Travel Plans and similar 

measures. 

3. Sustainable transport modes must be made more convenient for the majority of journeys than car usage 

in order to promote genuine modal shift. They should be supported by the necessary management and 

regulatory measures if deemed necessary by the Local Highway Authority. Planning conditions and /or 

legal agreements may be required to ensure the implementation of agreed measures. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR3 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1587



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D111 

D.11.3.1 Policy STR3 would help to ensure that new development is not permitted where there is 

potential for significant adverse effects on transport “unless accompanied by mitigation 

schemes that demonstrate an acceptable level of accessibility and safety can be achieved 

using all modes of transport to, from and through the development. Mitigation schemes 

must address in particular access by walking, cycling, public transport and shared 

transport”.  The policy emphasises that sustainable travel options should be more 

convenient to site end users than private cars, which would be likely to increase their 

uptake.  Overall, a minor positive impact on transport and climate change mitigation would 

be anticipated (SA Objectives 4 and 9). 

D.11.4 Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight & Logistics 

Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight & Logistics 

1. The movement of freight by sustainable modes of transport such as rail and waterways will be 

encouraged. Road-based freight will be encouraged to use the Key Route Network whenever practicable. 

2. Junction improvements and routeing strategies will be focussed on those parts of the highway network 

evidenced as being of particular importance for freight access to employment sites and the motorway 

network. 

3. Proposals that generate significant freight movements will be directed to sites with satisfactory access to 

the Key Route Network. 

4. Existing and disused railway lines will be safeguarded for rail-related uses. 

5. Sites with existing and potential access to the rail network for freight will be safeguarded for rail-related 

uses. 

6. Consideration will be given to the movement of freight, goods and other courier services on Sandwell’s 

roads when determining location of new development. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR4 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

D.11.4.1 Policy STR4 sets out guidelines for the movement of freight, and the prioritisation of 

sustainable modes of transport where possible.  Road transport is a major source of air 

pollution and GHG emissions in the UK69.  Transporting freight via rail and waterways 

 
69 ONS (2019) Road transport and air emissions.  Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/roadtransportandairemissions/2019-09-16 [Date 

accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1588

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/roadtransportandairemissions/2019-09-16


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D112 

would be expected to result in lower emissions and higher energy efficiency compared to 

road transport using heavy goods vehicles (HGVs)70. 

D.11.4.2 By encouraging the movement of freight via rail and waterways, Policy STR4 could 

potentially help to relieve road congestion issues and result in more sustainable freight 

transport across the Plan area.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on transport would be 

expected (SA Objective 9). 

D.11.4.3 Furthermore, this policy could potentially result in more cost-effective and efficient 

movement of freight, which would help to improve economic productivity.  As such, this 

policy could potentially result in a minor positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 

13). 

D.11.4.4 The policy states that “existing and disused railway lines will be safeguarded for rail-related 

uses” and seeks to encourage the use of waterways for freight transport.  In Sandwell, 

canals and disused railway lines form part of the ecological network in an otherwise heavily 

urbanised area, for example, the ‘Ridgeacre Branch Canal’ Site of Importance for Nature 

Conservation (SINC), ‘Snow Hill to Wolverhampton Railway’ Site of Local Importance for 

Nature Conservation (SLINC) and the ‘Princes End Disused Railway’ SLINC.  The 

conversion of these routes back into regular use for freight transport could potentially 

result in a minor negative impact on biodiversity through the increased disturbance of 

important wildlife corridors (SA Objective 3). 

D.11.5 Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking 

Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking 

1. By working in partnership with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring local authorities, Sandwell 

will ensure that it can create and maintain a comprehensive cycle network based on the four tiers of the 

West Midlands cycle network, including the use of common cycle infrastructure design standards such as 

LTN1/20 and Manual for Streets 2 or such future relevant guidance as may be appropriate. 

2. Creating an environment that encourages active travel requires new developments to link to existing 

walking and cycling networks. The links should be coherent, safe, direct, comfortable, attractive, and not 

impeded by other infrastructure including that provided for other forms of transport and digital /  

communication infrastructure. 

3. Where possible, existing links including the canal network should be enhanced and the networks 

extended to serve new developments. 

4. New developments should have good walking and cycling links to public transport nodes and 

interchanges. 

5. Where possible, a compact and legible urban realm with easy to reach destinations on foot and by cycle 

should be delivered, including appropriate signage and wayfinding.  

 
70 Government Office for Science (2019) Understanding the UK freight transport system.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-the-uk-freight-transport-system [Date accessed: 

21/07/23] 

Page 1589

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-the-uk-freight-transport-system


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D113 

Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking 

6. Cycle parking facilities should be provided at all new developments and should be in convenient locations 

with good natural surveillance, e.g. near to main front entrances for short stay visitors or under shelter 

for long stay visitors. 

7. The number of cycle parking spaces required in new developments and in public realm schemes will be 

determined by local parking standards set out in Appendix L.  

8. Sandwell Council will work with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring local authorities on 

expanding the West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme and location and provision of cycle hire infrastructure 

will be integral when determining new development. 

9. The design of cycle infrastructure should be in accordance with the principles and standards contained in 

the Department for Transport’s Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN1/20): Cycle Infrastructure Design. 

10. Where feasible, to improve the local environment for pedestrians and cyclists, measures to manage traffic 

should be considered, which may include measures such as modal filters, reducing traffic speeds, road 

space reallocation, and implementing parking management policies. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR5 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 + + 0 0 

D.11.5.1 Policy STR5 seeks to ensure that walking and cycling infrastructure networks are 

developed and maintained across the borough to encourage sustainable travel choices.   

D.11.5.2 The policy requires the development of cycle and walking links which are “coherent, safe, 

direct, comfortable, attractive, and not impeded by other infrastructure including that 

provided for other forms of transport” and states that “cycle parking facilities should be 

provided at all new developments and should be in convenient locations with good natural 

surveillance”.  These factors would be likely to encourage more people to consider cycling 

and walking as alternative forms of travel, reducing reliance on private car use.  Therefore, 

a major positive impact on transport would be expected (SA Objective 9).  This would also 

be expected to contribute towards a reduction in GHG emissions, and as such, a minor 

positive impact has been identified for climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4). 

D.11.5.3 Furthermore, through facilitating active travel, this policy could potentially encourage 

outdoor exercise and result in benefits to mental and physical wellbeing.  A minor positive 

impact on health would be likely (SA Objective 12). 

D.11.5.4 Policy STR5 seeks to ensure that walking and cycling networks are safe, and bicycle 

storage is in “convenient locations with good natural surveillance”, which could help to 

reduce crime and the fear of crime.  Therefore, this could potentially result in a minor 

positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11). 

Page 1590



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D114 

D.11.6 Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices 

Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices 

1. Sandwell is committed to considering all aspects of traffic management in the centres and wider area in 

accordance with the Traffic Management Act 2004. The priorities for traffic management in Sandwell are: 

a. identifying appropriate strategic park and ride sites on current public transport routes to ease 

traffic flows into centres; 

b. working together with the rest of the region to manage region-wide traffic flows through the 

West Midlands Regional Traffic Control Centre and further joint working; 

c. implementing demand management measures to restrain car usage and managing car parking 

demand, thereby encouraging behaviour change and increasing travel by sustainable modes of 

transport; 

d. providing better accessibility to shared transport services such as demand responsive transport 

services and mobility hubs, reducing the need to travel long distances by car or helping people 

to travel by more sustainable modes of transport; 

e. maximising access to high speed broadband /digital infrastructure will be required to enable 

smarter working for those that are able to do so, thus further reducing the need to travel. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR6 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 

D.11.6.1 Policy STR6 promotes the holistic management of traffic across the borough and wider 

area and seeks to encourage a modal shift towards more sustainable travel options, in 

accordance with the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA).  The aim of the TMA is to “tackle 

congestion and disruption on the road network … [and] places a duty on local authorities 

to make sure traffic moves freely and quickly”71.   

D.11.6.2 Through requiring the identification of strategic park and ride sites and improving access 

to transport hubs, this policy would be expected to encourage the development of better-

connected public transport systems and deliver more widespread changes to the transport 

network.  The promotion of public transport and development of additional strategic and 

local sites for delivery, coupled with the policy provisions to ensure “demand management 

measures to restrain car usage and managing car parking” would be likely to reduce 

reliance on private car use and consequently reduce the emission of GHGs and other air 

pollutants.  Moreover, maximising high speed broadband connections and encouraging 

smarter working will further reduce the need to travel.  Overall, a major positive impact in 

 
71 Department for Transport (2022) Traffic management Act 2004 overview.  Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/traffic-management-act-2004-overview [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1591

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/traffic-management-act-2004-overview


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D115 

relation transport (SA Objective 9) and a minor positive impact to climate change 

mitigation and pollution (SA Objectives 4 and 7) would be expected. 

D.11.7 Policy STR7 – Network Management 

Policy STR7 – Network Management 

1. Depending on the location of new development, the deployment of advanced and smart technologies that 

allow the public to plan their journeys more effectively may be appropriate, for example providing real 

time travel information and satellite navigation systems, Variable Message Signs (VMS) along congested 

parts of the network and digital sensors /cameras to monitor traffic and collect data on traffic patterns for 

future planning. 

2. All new developments that impact the existing highway network, or which result in a new asset to be 

adopted by the Local Highway Authority, may be subject to fees and obligations for the maintenance of 

the highway network as part of a relevant legal agreement 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

D.11.7.1 Policy STR7 sets out the potential to introduce technologies to allow the effective planning 

of journeys, which could help to improve the overall management of the transport network 

and reduce congestion.  A minor positive impact on transport (SA Objective 9) could be 

achieved, however this would be dependent on effective implementation and monitoring.  

D.11.8 Policy STR8 – Parking Management 

Policy STR8 – Parking Management 

1. The priorities for traffic management in Sandwell include the sustainable delivery and management of 

parking in centres and beyond, through use of some or all the following measures as appropriate: - 

a. The management and control of parking - ensuring that it is not used as a tool for competition 

between centres; 

b. The type of parking – ensuring that where appropriate long-stay parking is removed from town 

centres, to support parking for leisure and retail customers and to encourage commuters to use 

more sustainable means and reduce peak hour traffic flows; 

c. Maximum parking standards – ensuring that a consistent approach to maximum parking 

standards is enforced in new developments as set out in the guidance and standards contained 

at Appendix L; 

Page 1592



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D116 

Policy STR8 – Parking Management 

d. The location of parking – by reviewing the location of town centre car parks through the 

“Network Management Duty”, to ensure that the flow of traffic around town centres is as 

efficient as possible. 

e. Providing more convenient, secure, and accessible cycle parking will be a critical part of 

increasing cycling in Sandwell and making it a natural first choice for journeys. Considering 

different users and types of cycle parking will be an essential part of this and new developments 

should consider this in accordance with guidance set out in Appendix L.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

D.11.8.1 Policy STR8 sets out the approach to parking management in Sandwell, including the type, 

location and standards for parking in or near to town centres.  By regulating the types of 

parking available in different locations, and ensuring these standards are applied 

consistently across the Plan area, this policy would be expected to encourage people to 

choose more sustainable travel modes where possible.  The policy also aims to ensure that 

the efficiency of traffic flows in and around town centres is improved.  Overall, a minor 

positive impact on transport would be anticipated (SA Objective 9). 

D.11.8.2 The policy seeks to ensure that the type of parking is appropriate to the location, for 

example ensuring that “long stay parking is removed near to town centres, to support 

parking for leisure and retail customers”.  Furthermore, the policy states that the control 

of parking should not be used “as a tool for competition between centres”.  Therefore, this 

could potentially help to support local shops and businesses and result in a minor positive 

impact on the economy (SA Objective 13). 

D.11.9 Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles 

Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles 

1. Proposals for low emission vehicles will be supported by: 

a. Ensuring that new developments include adequate provision for charging infrastructure e.g. 

electric vehicle charging points in car parks, measures to encourage LEV use through travel 

plans and other initiatives. 

b. Where appropriate the Council will facilitate the introduction of charging points in public 

locations. 

c. Working with partners to explore support for alternative low emission vehicle technologies, such 

hydrogen fuel cells, across a range of modes; private cars, buses and/or small passenger and 

fleet vehicles 

Page 1593



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D117 

 
 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR9 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

D.11.9.1 Policy STR9 promotes development proposals which would support low emission vehicles 

(LEV).  The term LEV can be used to refer to motorised vehicles which emit lower levels 

of emissions than traditional petrol- or diesel-powered cars or use low carbon technologies, 

including pure electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid vehicles72. 

D.11.9.2 This policy would help to encourage the use of LEVs within Sandwell, by ensuring the 

appropriate infrastructure such as electric vehicle charging points are incorporated within 

new developments and appropriate public locations.  The policy also encourages the 

exploration of alternative low emission vehicle technologies.  Overall, this would be 

expected to result in a minor positive impact on sustainable transport (SA Objective 9).  

Furthermore, encouraging the use of LEVs could potentially help to reduce the emission 

of GHGs and other air pollutants, resulting in a minor positive impact on climate change 

mitigation and pollution (SA Objectives 4 and 7). 

D.11.10 Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity 

Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity 

1. Opportunities for integrating 5G connectivity within the transport network should be explored when 

development proposals, masterplanning and major housing and employment schemes are being 

promoted, to improve transport services and ensure there is 5G connectivity throughout Sandwell. This 

should include the provision of 5G connectivity as part of new development proposals, which will 

encourage more people to connect remotely, reducing the need to travel (see Policy SID1). 

2. Sandwell will ensure the integration of ‘smart infrastructure’ where possible as part of new development 

proposals. In transport terms, examples of smart infrastructure include: - 

a. smart parking sensors, which provide live parking capacity data; 

b. traffic signals that can respond to levels of congestion and prioritise sustainable transport 

modes; and 

c. transport volume monitoring sensors, which can provide information on the use of different 

modes, journey time or tracking data. 

 
72 SMMT (2020) Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs).  Available at: https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/technology-

innovation/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-ulevs/ [Date accessed: 21/07/23] 

Page 1594

https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/technology-innovation/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-ulevs/
https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/technology-innovation/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-ulevs/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D118 

Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity 

3. Working in partnership with Transport for West Midlands and neighbouring Local Authorities, Sandwell 

will facilitate Mobility as a Service73 and will ensure this is integrated into any new infrastructure where 

applicable. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

STR10 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 

D.11.10.1 Policy STR10 promotes the provision of 5G connectivity, including within new homes and 

businesses and integrated within the transport network, which would encourage remote 

working and reduce the need to travel.  A minor positive impact on the economy could 

therefore be achieved (SA Objective 13). 

D.11.10.2 The integration of ‘smart infrastructure’ as outlined within the policy could help to reduce 

congestion, potentially helping to reduce the emission of GHGs and other air pollutants. 

Overall, if implementation and monitoring prove successful, this would be expected to 

result in a minor positive impact on sustainable transport, pollution and climate change 

mitigation (SA Objectives 4, 7 and 9). 

  

 
73 Digital transport service platforms that enable users to access, pay for, and get real-time information on, a range of 

public and private transport options. 

Page 1595



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D119 

D.12 Infrastructure and Delivery 

D.12.1 Policy SID1 – Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks 

Policy SID1 – Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks 

Fibre to the Premise 

1. Fibre to the Premises (FTTP) is essential infrastructure and is vital to the delivery of sustainable 

development. All major developments that provide ten or more new homes or more than 1,000 sqm of 

non-residential floorspace will be required to deliver FTTP capacity / infrastructure to all individual 

properties. 

2. All eligible proposals should be supported by an FTTP Statement that details how FTTP will be provided 

to serve the development and confirms that FTTP will be available at first occupation. 

5G Networks 

3. Any proposals for infrastructure to support the delivery of 5G networks will be supported in principle, 

subject to meeting the following criteria and the requirements of other local policies and national 

guidance:  

a. Proposals should be sensitively sited and designed to minimise impacts on the environment, 

amenity, and character of the surrounding area. 

b. Proposals should not have an adverse impact on areas of ecological interest or areas of 

landscape importance, and should protect and, where possible, enhance the significance of 

heritage assets and their setting (Policies SNE2 and SHE2).  

c. Proposals should demonstrate that proper regard has been given to location and landscaping 

requirements, including the potential for innovative solutions complementary to the immediate 

surroundings. 

d. The potential to use canal towpaths to accommodate 5G or other network infrastructure and 

cabling should be explored, where this would not adversely affect areas of ecological or historic 

interest (Policy SNE6).  

4. Operators proposing 5G network infrastructure are strongly recommended to enter into early discussions 

with the Council. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SID1 0 0 0 + 0 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 

D.12.1.1 Policy SID1 supports the provision of Fibre to the Premise (FTTP), for residential 

developments of ten or more dwellings or over 1,000m2 of non-residential uses, and 5G 

networks in principle.  The promotion of such infrastructure would be likely to help ensure 

that development proposals can meet the needs of current and future populations. 

Page 1596



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D120 

D.12.1.2 With the development of FTTP and 5G within the borough under this policy, residents 

would be likely to have greater access to essential services from home and the workplace.  

This would provide increased opportunities to work from home and access to a wider range 

of employment opportunities, resulting in a minor positive impact on the local community 

and economy (SA Objective 13).  By ensuring all development of ten or more homes 

incorporates FTTP, this policy would be likely to ensure the majority of new residents 

across the Plan area have access to this service, and the benefits this brings in terms of 

employment opportunities and digital inclusion, with a likely minor positive impact on 

equality (SA Objective 11).   

D.12.1.3 In addition, with improved access to online facilities and home working, this policy could 

potentially help to reduce reliance on private car use such as for commuting to workplaces, 

and in turn, reduce local congestion.  This would be expected to have a minor positive 

impact on climate change mitigation, air pollution and transport, due to reduced emissions 

and congestion associated with less traffic (SA Objectives 4, 7, and 9). 

D.12.1.4 The policy seeks to minimise adverse effects on the surrounding environment in terms of 

amenity, landscape, character and ecology.  As such, negligible impacts would be likely 

for SA Objectives 1, 2 and 3. 

D.12.2 Policy SID2 – Mobile Network Infrastructure 

Policy SID2 – Mobile Network Infrastructure 

1. To ensure that the installation of masts is in full compliance with the requirements of the radio frequency 

(RF) public exposure guidelines of the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection 

(ICNIRP) applications for all prior approval and full planning applications must: 

a. provide self-certification to the effect that a mobile phone base station when operational will 

meet the ICNRP guidelines; and 

b. provide a statement for each site indicating its location, the height of the antenna, the 

frequency and modulation characteristics and details of power output and where a mobile phone 

base station is added to an external mast or site, confirmation that the cumulative exposure will 

not exceed the ICNRP guidelines. 

2. Infrastructure should be located where it will have the least adverse impact on local landscapes, 

biodiversity and heritage assets wherever possible. Where unavoidable impacts arise in sensitive 

locations, they should be considered fully and avoided or mitigated accordingly.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SID2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1597



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D121 

D.12.2.1 Policy SID2 sets out the requirements of mobile network infrastructure in regard to public 

health.  The policy requires development proposals to meet the guidelines set by the 

International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP).  This could help 

to reduce the potential for adverse effects in terms of human health, with a negligible 

impact identified under SA Objective 12. 

D.12.2.2 Policy SID2 states that “infrastructure should be located where it will have the least 

adverse impact on local landscapes, biodiversity and heritage assets wherever possible” 

and would therefore expect to have a negligible impact on cultural heritage, landscape 

and local biodiversity (SA Objectives 1, 2, and 3).  

D.12.3 Policy SID3 – Digital Infrastructure / Equipment 

Policy SID3 – Digital Infrastructure / Equipment 

1. The siting and design (including materials) of digital infrastructure / equipment, which includes (but is not 

limited to) telephone kiosks and digital interactive finger posts, will be carefully controlled to ensure: - 

a. they do not detract from the visual amenities of the street scene; 

b. they avoid harmful impacts on public amenity or unacceptable street clutter in the public realm; 

c. they avoid harm to the significance of heritage assets or their settings and support local 

distinctiveness. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SID3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.12.3.1 Policy SID3 sets out the requirements of the design and location of digital infrastructure 

to ensure that harm is avoided to visual amenity, “heritage assets or their settings”, and 

“the public realm”.  The policy would protect the local landscape character and the heritage 

assets and settings that contribute to the creation of local distinctiveness and identity, and 

would be expected to have a negligible impact on cultural heritage and the local landscape 

(SA Objectives 1 and 2).   

  

Page 1598



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D122 

D.13 Waste and Minerals 

D.13.1 Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements 

Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements 

1. Proposals for relevant, major development shall evidence how its operation will minimise waste 

production, as well as facilitating the re-use and recovery of waste materials including, for example, 

through recycling, composting and energy from waste. 

2. Waste operators will be expected to demonstrate that the greenhouse gas emissions from the operations 

involved and associated transport of waste from source to processing facility have been minimised, in line 

with national and local targets for the transition to a net zero carbon economy. 

3. Proposals for waste management facilities will be supported based upon the following principles; 

a. managing waste through the waste hierarchy in sequential order. Sites for the disposal of waste 

will only be permitted where it meets a need which cannot be met by treatment higher in the 

waste hierarchy; 

b. promoting the opportunities for on-site management of waste where it arises and encouraging 

the co-location of waste developments that can use each other’s waste materials; 

c. ensuring that sufficient capacity is located within Sandwell to accommodate the waste capacity 

requirements during the plan period and reducing the reliance on other authority areas; 

d. enabling the development of recycling facilities across the Sandwell, including civic amenity 

sites, and ensuring that there is enough capacity and access for the deposit of municipal waste 

for re-reuse, recycling, and disposal; 

e. waste must be disposed of, or be recovered in, one of the nearest appropriate facilities, by 

means of the most appropriate methods and technologies, to ensure a high level of protection 

for the environment and public health; 

f. ensuring new waste management facilities are located and designed to avoid unacceptable 

adverse impacts on the townscape and landscape, human health and well-being, nature 

conservation and heritage assets and amenity; 

g. working collaboratively with neighbouring authorities with responsibilities for waste who import 

waste into, or export waste out of, the Sandwell, to ensure a co-operative cross boundary 

approach to waste management is maintained. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWA1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.13.1.1 Policy SWA1 sets out the strategy for waste management within Sandwell, seeking to 

reduce the generation of waste and associated pollution, promote re-use and recycling of 

Page 1599



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D123 

waste in line with the waste hierarchy, and ensure sufficient capacity in the waste 

management system.   

D.13.1.2 Policy SWA1 supports the “minimisation of waste production and the re-use and recovery 

of waste materials” and encourages development proposals to manage waste through the 

waste hierarchy, “ensuring that sufficient capacity is located within Sandwell to 

accommodate forecast waste arisings of all types during the Plan period and reducing the 

reliance on other authority areas”.  The policy promotes the re-use and recycling of 

materials.  Overall, the policy would be expected to help reduce the volume of waste 

generated in the borough and improve the management and disposal of waste.  Therefore, 

a major positive impact on waste would be expected (SA Objective 8).   

D.13.1.3 The policy also seeks to ensure “new waste management facilities are located and 

designed to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health and 

well-being, wildlife, heritage assets and amenity”.  These criteria would be likely to help 

avoid adverse impacts in relation to human health, biodiversity and cultural heritage; 

therefore, negligible impacts would be likely against these objectives (SA Objectives 1, 3 

and 12).   

D.13.2 Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites 

Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites 

Protecting Waste Sites 

1. Sandwell will safeguard all existing strategic and other waste management facilities from inappropriate 

development, in order to maintain existing levels of waste management capacity and meet Strategic 

Objective 17, unless it can be demonstrated that: 

a. there is no longer a need for the facility; and 

b. capacity can be met elsewhere; or 

c. appropriate compensatory provision is made in appropriate locations elsewhere in the Black 

Country; or 

d. the site is required to facilitate the strategic objectives of the Sandwell. 

2. This policy will also apply to all new waste management sites that are implemented within the lifetime of 

the plan. 

New development near existing waste facilities 

3. Proposals for housing and other potentially sensitive uses will not be permitted near to or adjacent to an 

existing waste management site where there is potential for conflict between the uses, 

a. unless a temporary permission for a waste use has expired, or the waste management use has 

otherwise ceased, and the site or infrastructure is considered unsuitable for a subsequent waste 

use; 

b. or redevelopment of the waste site or loss of waste infrastructure would form part of a strategy 

or scheme that has wider environmental, social and / or economic benefits that outweigh the 

retention of the site or infrastructure for the waste use and alternative provision is made for the 

displaced waste use; 

c. or a suitable replacement site or infrastructure has otherwise been identified and permitted. 

Page 1600



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D124 

Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites 

4. Waste Site Impact Assessments will be expected to demonstrate that at least one of the above criteria 

applies. Applications should also identify any ‘legacy’ issues arising from existing or former waste uses, 

and how these will be addressed through the design of the development and the construction process. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWA2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.13.2.1 The aim of Policy SWA2 is to safeguard and retain capacity of the existing waste facilities 

in Sandwell.  The policy also states that “proposals for housing and other potentially 

sensitive uses will not be permitted near to or adjacent to an existing waste management 

site where there is potential for conflict between the uses”.  The policy would be likely to 

help ensure appropriate waste management continues in the borough and that capacity 

at these facilities does not decrease.  Overall, a minor positive impact on waste would be 

expected (SA Objective 8).   

D.13.3 Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities 

Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities 

1. The preferred locations for waste management facilities are the Local Employment Areas shown on the 

Sandwell Policies Map, Waste Key Diagram. 

2. All proposals for new waste management facilities should demonstrate how they will contribute to 

Strategic Objective 17 and the strategic objectives of Policy SWA1, such as the contribution they will 

make to landfill diversion, delivery of new waste management capacity and diversification of the range of 

facilities currently available. 

3. All applications for waste development will be expected to comply with the requirements in Policy SWA4. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWA3 +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- ++ +/- 0 0 0 0 0 

D.13.3.1 Policy SWA3 identifies preferred locations for new waste management infrastructure in 

Sandwell.  The provision of waste management facilities would be likely to have a major 

Page 1601



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D125 

positive impact on waste, by ensuring there are adequate facilities and capacity within the 

borough to effectively manage waste (SA Objective 8). 

D.13.3.2 At present, the scale and potential capacity of the proposed waste management facilities 

is unknown.  Seeking to manage Sandwell’s waste rather than exporting to surrounding 

areas could potentially result in some benefits associated with reduced need to transport 

waste, although the extent / likelihood of these benefits is unknown at present.  Overall, 

the likely impact in relation to environmental objectives is uncertain (SA Objectives 1, 2, 

3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 9). 

D.13.3.3 The provision of waste management facilities would not be expected to impact housing, 

equality, health, economy or education (SA Objectives 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14). 

D.13.4 Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

Key Locational Considerations for All Waste Management Proposals 

1. Proposals should demonstrate how they will contribute to Strategic Objective 17 and the strategic 

objectives of Policy SWA1, such as the contribution they will make towards landfill diversion, delivery of 

new waste management capacity and diversification of the range of facilities currently available. 

2. Development for new build waste management facilities74 should be focused in local employment areas 

and will be required to meet the following criteria: 

a. evidence the need for the facility; 

b. all waste processes and operations must be contained, processed and managed within buildings 

unless there are acceptable operational reasons why these processes cannot be contained in 

buildings; 

c. proposals must accord with all other policies in relation to the protection of the environment and 

public amenity, or demonstrate that other material considerations outweigh any policy conflicts; 

d. consideration will be given to the potential impacts of waste management proposals on: - 

i. minimising adverse visual impacts; 

ii. potential detrimental effects on the environment and public health; 

iii. generation of odours, litter, light, dust, and other infestation; 

iv. noise, excessive traffic and vibration; 

v. risk of serious fires through combustion of accumulated wastes; 

vi. harm to water quality and resources and flood risk management; 

vii. land instability; 

viii. land use conflict; proposals should demonstrate compatibility with the uses already 

present within / adjacent to the area; 

ix. where necessary mitigation measures should be identified to reduce any adverse 

effects to an acceptable level. 

 
74 Waste development covers the use of any land or buildings for the storage, treatment, processing, transfer, bulking-up, 

recycling, recovery, or final deposit of any substance classified as 'waste'.  

Page 1602



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D126 

Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities 

x. whether the proposal would provide opportunities for co-location of related uses and / 

or generate other benefits (for example; produce a range of waste types or streams, 

produce high quality aggregates or other useful raw materials, or supply heat and 

power or other forms of energy to adjacent uses). 

Waste Applications – Supporting Information 

3. Planning applications for waste development75should include a supporting statement that clearly 

describes the key characteristics of the development. It should also explain how the development aligns 

with Strategic Objective 17 and the General Principles and Preferred Methods of managing waste in Policy 

SWA1. In particular, the application should explain the contribution the development would make 

towards driving waste up the waste hierarchy, supporting the development of a more circular economy, 

meeting the Black Country’s additional waste capacity requirements, and broadening the range of waste 

facilities currently available in the plan area. 

4. The following information should also be included in the supporting statement and /or on the planning 

application form: 

a. the type of waste facility or facilities proposed; 

b. the waste streams and types of waste to be managed; 

c. the types of operation to be carried out on the site; 

d. whether waste would be sourced locally, regionally or nationally; 

e. the maximum operational throughput in tonnes per annum; 

f. for waste disposal, the total void space to be infilled in cubic metres; 

g. the outputs from the operations, including waste residues; 

h. the expected fate and destination of the outputs; 

i. the number of associated vehicular movements; 

j. the number of jobs created. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWA4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.13.4.1 Policy SWA4 sets out criteria to which new waste management facilities should be in 

accordance with.  Waste management facilities will only be supported where there is an 

identified need for the facility.  This would be likely to help fill any gaps in the borough 

 
75 This includes applications for new build waste developments, changes of use to waste developments, applications for 

new operational development and other material changes to existing waste sites, and ‘s73’ applications to vary a condition 

attached to an existing waste permission. For definitions of ‘waste development’ and ‘waste’ see the Policy Justification.  

Page 1603



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D127 

and meet the locally identified waste management needs.  A minor positive impact on 

waste would therefore be expected (SA Objective 8). 

D.13.4.2 The policy states that consideration will be given to “visual impacts”, “detrimental effects 

on the environment and public health”, “noise, excessive traffic and vibration” and “water 

quality and resources and flood risk management” when allocating waste management 

facilities.  These criteria would be expected to help prevent adverse impacts, and 

therefore, negligible impacts have been identified in relation to landscape, biodiversity, 

human health, transport, flood risk and pollution (SA Objectives 2, 3, 5, 7, 9 and 12). 

D.13.4.3 Policy SWA4 states “proposals must accord with all other policies in relation to the 

protection of the environment and public amenity”.  However, it is uncertain what policies 

this is referring to.  It is recommended that this statement is expanded, and further detail 

provided. 

D.13.5 Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development 

Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development 

Waste Management in new developments 

1. All new developments should; 

a. address waste as a resource; 

b. minimise waste as far as possible 

c. design sites with resource and waste management in mind; 

d. manage unavoidable waste in a sustainable and responsible manner; and 

e. maximise use of materials with low environmental impacts.  

2. Where a proposal includes uses likely to generate significant amounts of waste, these should be 

managed either on-site or in as close a proximity as possible to the source of the waste. 

3. Resource and waste management requirements should be reflected in the design and layout of new 

development schemes. Wherever possible building, engineering and landscaping projects should use 

alternatives to primary aggregates, such as secondary and recycled materials, renewable and locally 

sourced products and materials with low environmental impacts. Consideration should also be given to 

how waste will be managed within the development once it is in use. 

4. Where redevelopment of existing buildings or structures and / or remediation of derelict land is proposed, 

construction, demolition and excavation wastes (CD&EW) should be managed on-site where feasible and 

as much material as possible should be recovered and re-used for engineering or building either on-site 

or elsewhere. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SWA5 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 1604



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D128 

D.13.5.1 Policy SWA5 sets out criteria for the sustainable management of waste and resources 

associated with new developments, during both construction and occupation.   

D.13.5.2 The policy requires all new developments to “minimise waste as far as possible” and seeks 

to maximise the use of “secondary and recycled materials, renewable and locally sourced 

products and materials with low environmental impacts” wherever possible.  This policy 

would be expected to promote sustainable and efficient waste management and use of 

materials across all new development in Sandwell and limit the generation of waste as 

much as is feasible.  Furthermore, Policy SWA5 seeks to ensure that development design 

takes into account the need for waste management, when occupied.  Overall, a major 

positive impact on waste would be expected (SA Objective 8).   

D.13.5.3 Additionally, through encouraging the efficient use of resources and reducing the need for 

extraction of primary aggregates, Policy SWA5 would be expected to result in a minor 

positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6). 

D.13.5.4 Policy SWA5 also seeks to ensure that environmental impacts as a result of resource 

management and new development are minimised.  The policy encourages the use of 

materials with low environmental impacts and the management of waste either on-site or 

as close as possible to the source.  These factors would be expected to minimise the 

potential for, and scale of, adverse impacts on the environment by reducing the distances 

travelled by waste management vehicles such as HGVs.  Therefore, negligible impacts 

have been identified for landscape, biodiversity, pollution and transport (SA Objectives 2, 

3, 7 and 9).   

D.13.6 Policy SMI1 – Minerals Safeguarding 

Policy SMI1 – Minerals Safeguarding 

1. Mineral deposits that are identified as being, or may become of, economic importance will be 

safeguarded from unnecessary sterilisation. 

2. Where development is proposed, encouragement will be given to the extraction of the mineral resource 

prior to or in conjunction with, development, where this would not have unacceptable impacts on 

neighbouring uses. Developments over five hectares should be accompanied by supporting information 

(as set out in the Justification) demonstrating that mineral resources will not be needlessly sterilised. 

Secondary and Recycled Aggregates 

3. At the end of 2017 the Sandwell was estimated to be producing around 330,000 tonnes of secondary and 

recycled aggregates per annum at permitted production sites. As a minimum, Sandwell will aim to 

maintain its share of this level of production throughout the plan period. In support of this, permitted 

secondary and recycled aggregate sites expected to continue in production up to 2041 will be 

safeguarded.  

4. The location of all permitted mineral infrastructure sites in Sandwell, are identified on the Policy Map and 

these sites are also listed below. Applications for development within a 150m buffer zone of these sites 

will need to demonstrate they will not have any unacceptable impacts on these sites that would prevent 

them from continuing to operate. 

 

Page 1605



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D129 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SMI1 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.13.6.1 Although Sandwell itself does not contain any Mineral Safeguarding Areas at present, 

Policy SMI1 sets out requirements for any mineral deposits identified as being or becoming 

of economic importance to be “safeguarded from unnecessary sterilisation”.  Therefore, 

the policy would be expected to protect mineral resources and have a minor positive 

impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6).  

D.13.6.2 This policy would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the local economy, by 

supporting local construction and industrial businesses (SA Objective 13).  

D.13.7 Policy SMI2 – Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

Policy SMI2 – Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

General Requirements for Minerals Developments 

1. When working ceases, all plant and equipment should be removed, and sites should be restored as soon 

as possible. 

2. The working, processing or recycling of minerals must accord with all other policies in relation to the 

protection of the environment, public amenity and health, and surrounding land uses as set out in this 

plan or in any other adopted development plan – or otherwise demonstrate that other material 

considerations outweigh any policy conflict. 

3. Subject to other policies within the Plan, planning permission will be granted for built development within 

the Consideration Zones around Coneygre Mine and Blackham Mine, where the applicant is able to 

demonstrate that a collapse in the mine would not prejudice public safety or compromise the structural 

integrity of the proposed structures. 

4. Proposals should address the impact of transporting minerals and mineral products on the highway 

network and should be accompanied by a Transport Assessment if generating a significant number of 

vehicle movements. 

Additional Assessment Criteria for Minerals Developments 

5. In addition to the general requirements set out above, proposals for mineral working or mineral-related 

infrastructure at both new and existing sites will be further assessed in terms of: 

a. minimising any adverse visual impacts; 

b. effects on natural, built, and historic (including archaeological) environments and on public 

health; 

c. generation of noise, dust, vibration, lighting, and excessive vehicle movements; 

d. compatibility with neighbouring uses – taking into account the nature of the operations, 

hours of working, the timing and duration of operations and any cumulative effects; 

Page 1606



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D130 

Policy SMI2 – Managing the Effects of Mineral Development 

e. harm to water quality and resources and flood risk management; 

f. ground conditions and land stability; 

g. land use conflict – proposals should demonstrate compatibility with the uses already 

present within the surrounding area; 

h. impacts on the highway, transport, and drainage network; 

i. where necessary, mitigation measures should be identified to reduce any adverse effects to 

an acceptable level. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SMI2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.13.7.1 Policy SMI2 sets out criteria by which development proposals for minerals working and 

infrastructure would be expected to comply.  All development proposals will need to 

contribute to the extraction of minerals as set out in Policy SMI1.  A minor positive impact 

on natural resources would therefore be expected (SA Objective 6).   

D.13.7.2 Under this policy, mineral extraction sites would be required to be restored as soon as 

possible once work ceases.  This would be likely to help prevent adverse impacts on 

landscape and biodiversity, and therefore, negligible impacts have been identified (SA 

Objectives 2 and 3).  Positive effects could be achieved in the longer term. 

D.13.7.3 Policy SMI2 seeks to “address the impact of transporting minerals and mineral products 

on the highway network and should be accompanied by a Transport Assessment if 

generating a significant number of vehicle movements”.  This would be expected to have 

benefits to transport and local congestion, as well as reducing transport-related air 

pollution and carbon emissions.  Nevertheless, the transportation of minerals would be 

expected to lead to a high number of HGVs on nearby roads.  Overall, a negligible impact 

on climate change mitigation, pollution and transport would be likely (SA Objectives 4, 7 

and 9). 

D.13.7.4 Development proposals for minerals extraction will be assessed for their effect on public 

health under this policy.  This would be expected to help prevent development resulting 

in adverse impacts on human health, including inappropriate noise pollution and vibrations.  

Overall, a negligible impact on health would be likely (SA Objective 12).   

D.13.7.5 The policy also seeks to assess development proposals for their effects on “historic 

(including archaeological) environments” and would be likely to prevent adverse impacts 

on the historic environment.  Therefore, a negligible impact on cultural heritage would be 

expected (SA Objective 1).   

Page 1607



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D131 

D.13.7.6 Policy SMI2 will assess development proposals in terms of “harm to water quality and 

resources and flood risk management”.  This would be likely to help ensure proposals 

under this policy do not exacerbate local flood risk, and therefore, a negligible impact 

would be expected (SA Objective 5). 

  

Page 1608



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D132 

D.14 Development Constraints and 
Industrial Legacy 

D.14.1 Policy SCO1 – Hazardous Installations and Substances 

Policy SCO1 – Hazardous Installations and Substances 

1. The Council will seek the reduction or removal of the hazardous component of notified installations. 

Where any existing or proposed industrial development presents a significant potential hazard to the 

health and safety of employees, or to people living and working in the surrounding area, the Council will 

seek either a reduction in the risk or its elimination. 

2. The Council will use its powers under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 (or any subsequent 

legislative powers that supersede this Act) to revoke or modify a hazardous substances consent where 

either the consent has not been relied upon for five years or where all potential claimants for 

compensation indicate that they will not seek compensation. 

3. The Council will oppose the expansion of existing hazardous installations unless it can be demonstrated 

that consent will not: - 

a. increase the population at risk or the level of risk itself; or 

b. adversely impact on the potential for development and / or redevelopment of adjoining 

land. 

4. The Council will consult the Health and Safety Executive, the Environment Agency and other relevant 

bodies on all applications for hazardous substances consent and planning permission in the consultation 

zones around hazardous premises as may be notified from time to time to the Council by the Health and 

Safety Executive. 

5. The Council will not grant either planning permission or hazardous substances consent for new 

development that when operational will: - 

a. result in a significant increase to the risk or consequences of a major incident; and / or 

b. adversely impact on the potential for development / redevelopment of adjoining land. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCO1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.14.1.1 Policy SCO1 sets out criteria by which development proposals will be expected to comply 

regarding installations and substances that could be harmful to health, including those 

which are toxic, explosive, inflammable, highly reactive and hazardous.  This would be 

expected to help prevent development resulting in adverse impacts on human health, as 

the policy seeks to reduce or remove “the hazardous component of notified installations”.  

Page 1609



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D133 

Overall, a negligible impact on health (SA Objective 12), as well as all other SA Objectives, 

would be expected.   

D.14.2 Policy SCO2 – Pollution Control 

Policy SCO2 – Pollution Control 

1. Development proposals that are likely to cause or increase pollution or expose their occupants, users or 

adjacent residents to new or increased pollution will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 

sufficient mitigation measures are available and will be used to minimise harmful impacts to a level that 

protects the health and amenity of people and the environment. Measures that seek to eliminate existing 

pollution sources or reduce existing levels of pollution will be supported.  

2. Development proposals must not, either individually or cumulatively, contribute to or produce poor air 

quality, odour nuisance and / or unacceptable levels of emissions from commercial and industrial 

premises that could cause detriment to local amenity. Proposals should be designed to reduce the 

exposure of occupants and users of the development to poor air quality and mitigate the effects of all 

relevant pollution sources76. The Council will seek to improve ai quality across the borough (Policy 

SHW3). Proposals that include measures to improve air quality will be supported. 

3. Development proposals that incorporate artificial lighting must have regard to the siting, design and 

luminance of external lighting sources, and the relationship between light spill and the design of the 

scheme, to avoid adversely affecting local amenity and nature conservation77. Measures should be 

employed to ensure external lighting is only used when required. 

4. Development proposals must not give rise to noise and vibration at such levels that they are likely to 

adversely impact health and quality of life, both during the construction of development and following its 

completion.  

5. Development proposals that are sensitive to noise should not be located within an area of existing high 

levels of noise unless it has been demonstrated that noise impacts can be satisfactorily mitigated by the 

design and layout of the scheme, and / or the incorporation of insulation, including acoustic glazing.  

6. The ‘agent of change’ principle set out in the National Planning Policy Framework will be applied when 

determining applications for planning permission.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCO2 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.14.2.1 Policy SCO2 sets out criteria by which development proposals will be expected to comply 

regarding air, noise and light pollution.  This would be expected to help prevent 

 
76 Further guidance in relation to air quality is provided by policy SLP18 

77 See also Policy SNE* - habitats 

Page 1610



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D134 

development resulting in adverse impacts on human health, including inappropriate noise 

and light pollution, resulting in a negligible impact on SA Objective 10.  The policy also 

requires new development to avoid exacerbating poor air quality and other pollutants, 

both individually and cumulatively, and states that “proposals that include measures to 

improve air quality will be supported”.  Overall, a minor positive impact on pollution could 

be achieved (SA Objective 7), however the policy would benefit from stronger wording to 

seek an improvement in air quality and remediation of other pollutants.   

D.14.3 Policy SCO3 – Land contamination and instability 

Policy SCO3 – Land contamination and instability 

1. Planning permission will be granted for development on: - 

a. land that is unstable; 

b. land that is contaminated or suspected of being contaminated due to its historic use or 

geology; or 

c. land that will potentially become contaminated as a result of the development; 

subject to the submission of satisfactory information relating to ground conditions and the 
presence of ground gas, and full details of the assessment and remedial measures that will be 
used to deal with instability and contaminants. 

2. The assessment must demonstrate that: - 

a. there will be no significant harm, or any risk of significant harm, to the health and wellbeing 

of people and the environment; 

b. there will be no current likelihood, or future risk, that watercourses and groundwater will 

become contaminated; and 

c. any necessary remedial action is undertaken to safeguard users of the land or neighbouring 

land both during the construction of development and following occupation. 

3. The Council will support the reclamation and remediation of derelict, despoiled, degraded and 

contaminated land as part of the ongoing regeneration of the borough. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SCO3 0 + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.14.3.1 The aim of Policy SCO3 is to ensure any development on unstable or contaminated land 

is structurally sound and poses no danger to human health.  SMBC will support the reuse 

of degraded landscapes and regeneration of the borough, including “derelict, despoiled, 

degraded or contaminated land”, therefore having a minor positive impact on landscape 

and natural resources (SA Objectives 2 and 6).   

Page 1611



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D135 

D.14.3.2 By seeking to avoid harm to health and wellbeing of people and the environment, including 

the water environment, the policy would be likely to result in negligible impacts on pollution 

and health (SA Objectives 7 and 12). 

  

Page 1612



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D136 

D.15 Development Management 

D.15.1 Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

1. Developments must be designed to high standards and should create a strong sense of place and reflect 

Sandwell’s unique character. They must address as appropriate: 

a. the topography, townscapes and landscapes of Sandwell; 

b. the need to maintain strategic gaps and views, including to and from the Rowley Hills; 

c. the built and natural settings of development; 

d. the need to ensure that domestic extensions should generally be subservient and 

proportionate to the existing dwelling and should be in keeping with their surroundings by 

virtue of their scale, architecture and materials. 

e. the treatment of ‘gateway’ opportunities where they occur in key locations; 

f. Sandwell’s industrial and domestic architecture; 

g. the need to ensure development has no harmful impacts on key environmental and historic 

assets, townscapes and locations and that wherever possible it contributes to the 

conservation and enhancement of environmental and historic assets and their settings; 

h. the presence of canals in Sandwell’s urban environments and the opportunities they offer 

for design, accessibility, the environment and technology; 

i. the matter of land instability where this is an issue in relation to specific development 

proposals. 

2. Development proposals must demonstrate that the following have been addressed in design and access 

statements that reflect their Sandwell-specific context: - 

a. the ten characteristics of the National Design Guide78, to provide a high-quality network of 

streets, buildings and spaces;  

b. the principles of Manual for Streets79, to ensure urban streets and spaces provide a high 

quality public realm and an attractive, safe and permeable movement network;  

c. use of the Building for a Healthy Life80 criteria (or subsequent iterations) and Sandwell's 

local housing design codes, masterplans and guidance for new housing developments, to 

achieve high design standards, good place-making and sustainable development;  

d. crime prevention measures, Secured by Design and Park Mark principles and the 

requirements of Part Q of the Building Regulations 2010 or any successor legislation;  

e. the agent of change81 principle, in relation to existing uses adjacent to proposed 

development sites.  

 
78 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide 

79 Current and future iterations - https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-

streets/  

80 https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life 
81 Paragraph 187 of the NPPF (2023) states that both planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (e.g. places of 

Page 1613

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-streets/
https://www.ciht.org.uk/knowledge-resource-centre/resources/revising-manual-for-streets/
https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D137 

Policy SDM1 – Design Quality 

3. Major development proposals should contribute to the greening of Sandwell by: 

a. including urban greening82 as a fundamental element of site and building design; 

b. incorporating measures such as high-quality landscaping and tree planting83, other soft 

landscaping, green roofs, green walls and sustainable drainage and conserving existing 

green spaces and natural resources; 

c. optimising the use of multi-functional green infrastructure (including water features, green 

roofs and planting) for urban cooling, local flood risk management and to provide access to 

outdoor space and shading. 

4. Development must not cause an adverse impact on the living environment of occupiers of existing 

residential properties, or unacceptable living conditions for future occupiers of new residential properties, 

in terms of: 

a. privacy and overlooking 

b. access to sunlight and daylight; 

c. artificial lighting; 

d. vibration; 

e. dust and fumes; 

f. smell; 

g. noise; 

h. crime and safety; and / or 

i. wind, where the proposals involve the development of tall buildings. 

5. To improve the quality and perception of the public realm in Sandwell, the Council will encourage the 

promotion of public art, subject to appropriate public consultation and in accordance with other relevant 

policies. Where new development changes or creates public spaces, the Council will welcome the 

provision of public art as part of the proposal.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM1 0 + + + + 0 + 0 + 0 + + 0 0 

D.15.1.1 Policy SDM1 sets out design requirements to ensure that developments “create a strong 

sense of place and reflect Sandwell’s unique character”.  The policy also refers to a range 

of guidance documents that mut be adhered to, including the National Design Guide, 

 
worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Unreasonable restrictions should not be placed on existing 
businesses because of development permitted after they were established. 
82 e.g. landscaping, provision of formal / informal open space, habitat creation and improvement, tree planting, certain 

forms of infrastructure such as types of SuDS etc. in urban locations 

83 Including street trees where appropriate and in accordance with other policies of the SLP 

Page 1614



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D138 

Manual for Streets and Building for Life, as well as considering local guidance and design 

codes for Sandwell.  Good design can enhance the quality of life for residents, strengthen 

the sense of place, improve the attractiveness of a location and create safer places to live 

and work. 

D.15.1.2 Development under Policy SDM1 must ensure that the design of the development is “in 

keeping with their surroundings by virtue of their scale, architecture and materials” and 

conserves important views and other locally distinctive features.  Additionally, the policy 

states that development should ensure it has “no harmful impacts on key environmental 

and historic assets, townscapes and locations” and “wherever possible it contributes to the 

conservation and enhancement of environmental and historic assets and their settings”.  

The policy would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on the landscape 

and cultural heritage (SA Objectives 1 and 2). 

D.15.1.3 The policy includes measures that promote the ‘greening’ of Sandwell.  The policy states 

that major development proposals within Sandwell should include “high-quality 

landscaping and tree planting, other soft landscaping, green roofs, green walls and 

sustainable drainage and conserving existing green spaces and natural resources”.  

Optimising multi-functional GI would help to support wildlife networks and opportunities 

for habitat creation amongst the urban areas.  Additionally, greening and GI could also 

increase cooling, filtration of pollutants and reduce surface water-run off rates.  The policy 

would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on biodiversity, climate 

change mitigation, climate change adaptation and pollution (SA Objectives 3, 4, 5, and 7). 

D.15.1.4 The policy identifies the importance of accessibility within the borough and states that the 

design of urban streets and spaces should provide a “high quality public realm and an 

attractive, safe and permeable movement network”.  The measures to increase 

accessibility would be expected to enable the use of public transport within the borough 

and encourage active travel.  The policy also includes measures to ensure development 

proposals should not cause adverse impacts on the safety and privacy of residents, and 

would be likely to contribute towards a reduction in crime and the fear of crime, helping 

to create safe and cohesive communities.  The policy would therefore expect to have a 

minor positive impact on transport, accessibility, equality and public safety (SA Objectives 

9, 11 and 12).  

D.15.2 Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards 

Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards 

Nationally Described Space Standards 

1. New residential development (including the conversion of buildings) will be required to meet the 

Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS)84, except where it can be clearly evidenced that the 

implementation of the NDSS would cause harm to the significance of a heritage asset85. 

 
84 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards#internal-space-standards  

85 More specialised types of housing provision will be required to meet the relevant space standards for their typology 

Page 1615

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards#internal-space-standards


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D139 

Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards 

2. Where NDSS are not used, development86 should reflect National Design Guide principle H187 in 

delivering functional, healthy, and sustainable homes and buildings, particularly in relation to creating 

healthy, comfortable and safe internal and external environments. 

Water efficiency in new dwellings 

3. New residential development (including conversions from non-residential properties) and houses in 

multiple occupation will be required to meet the lower water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person 

per day, as set out in Part G2 of current Building Regulations or as identified in any successor legislation. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM2 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 

D.15.2.1 Policy SDM2 sets out the requirements of development proposals to incorporate specific 

design standards that are nationally recognised.  The Nationally Described Space 

Standards88 help to ensure that all development satisfies the requirement for internal 

space, in particular, ensuring more affordable homes still provide residents with enough 

internal space.  In general, the greater the internal space within a property, the better the 

standard of living for residents.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on health and wellbeing 

can be expected (SA Objective 12). 

D.15.2.2 The policy requires residential development to be in keeping with the optional water 

efficiency standards from Part G2 of the current Building Regulations, where residents are 

to have an average water usage of “110 litres per person per day”.  The policy would be 

expected to have a minor positive impact on water resources (SA Objective 6).  

D.15.3 Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites 

Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites 

Tall buildings 

1. The proposed heights for buildings should reflect other design and policy requirements, including the 

need to have regard to the existing or emerging character and context of the area. 

 
86 Excluding prior notification / permitted development where new dwellings are being created – NDSS will apply in all 

such cases 

87 Or any succeeding guidance or legislation on design standards. 

88 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2015) Technical housing standards – nationally described 

space standards.  Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nati

onally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf [Date accessed: 27/07/23] 

Page 1616

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D140 

Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites 

2. The height and location of tall buildings in relation to other existing and proposed buildings / structures 

should be clearly identified in masterplans and / or design and access statements, which should also set 

out a clear rationale for the development of tall buildings. 

3. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments will be necessary to enable the visual impact of tall buildings 

to be assessed from near and distant viewpoints. Accurate visual representations of the submitted 

scheme should be provided from key viewpoints agreed with Sandwell Council. Information on local 

microclimate impacts should also be submitted, as a separate assessment or as part of the Design and 

Access Statement.  

4. For development proposals that include taller buildings, applicants must submit design appraisals with 

alternative options to demonstrate whether similar densities can be achieved using more traditional and 

human- scaled typologies including terraced housing, maisonettes, and courtyard apartments. 

5. The planning application and its supporting information must demonstrate that: 

a. There is sufficient access to public transport for occupants/users of the building; 

b. There is access to local services and facilities, depending on the number and type of 

residents expected; 

c. the proposal will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on local character, including 

heritage assets; 

d. the design considers topography; 

e. the proposal will not create unacceptable adverse environmental impacts, including flood 

risk, creation of a wind tunnel, loss or lack of daylight / sunlight; 

f. the design is of high architectural quality; and 

g. the proposal will integrate into its surroundings at all levels, particularly at street level and 

skyline. 

Gateway Sites 

6. When assessing proposals and applications for planning permission on gateway sites89 the Council will 

apply the following principles: 

a. Key landmark buildings, structures and features will be preserved and improved; 

b. The topography of the area will be emphasised in the design and location of new buildings 

or features; 

c. New development should be of architectural merit and use high-grade materials. 

d. Proposals should include hard and soft landscaping, including trees, water and public art; 

e. Where possible and appropriate, redundant street furniture, associated clutter and 

advertisements should be removed. 

 

 
89 Sites and other development opportunities that stand at major road- or rail-linked points of access into Sandwell, or on 

the outskirts of West Bromwich and other main town centres. 

Page 1617



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D141 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM3 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 

D.15.3.1 Policy SDM3 sets out the requirements for development proposals regarding tall buildings 

and gateway sites, specifically the design and location of proposals.  

D.15.3.2 The development of tall buildings can significantly alter the image, character and identity 

of towns and cities90.  In appropriate locations the development of tall buildings can have 

a positive contribution to the urban landscape; however, if not in the right place, by virtue 

of the size of the building, taller developments could potentially harm key aspects of the 

landscape and historic environment that are valued.   

D.15.3.3 The policy states that when assessing gateway site applications, the consideration of how 

“key landmark buildings, structures and features will be preserved and improved” will be 

applied.  Tall buildings likewise would also be required to “have regard to the existing or 

emerging character and context of the area”.  Through careful design, and ensuring 

designs are informed by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)/Landscape 

Visual Appraisal (LVA), the policy could potentially have a minor positive impact on the 

safeguarding and enhancement of the local character (SA Objective 2) and negligible 

impact on cultural heritage through ensuring “the proposal will not have an unacceptable 

adverse impact on local character, including heritage assets” (SA Objective 1).   

D.15.3.4 Tall building development proposals must ensure that they demonstrate “sufficient access 

to public transport for occupants/users of the building” and “access to local services and 

facilities”.  The policy would provide access to public transport networks and encourage 

their usage by residents, this could also reduce the reliance on private car use by residents 

and reduce congestion in the area.  The policy would therefore expect to have a minor 

positive impact on climate change mitigation and transport (SA Objective 4 and 9).  

D.15.3.5 Supporting tall buildings would lead to higher density development, reducing overall land 

take and making efficient use of land.  As such, a minor positive impact on natural 

resources would be expected (SA Objective 6). 

D.15.4 Policy SDM4 – Advertisements 

Policy SDM4 – Advertisements 

1. Proposals for advertisements will not be given consent where they would have an unacceptable impact 

on amenity or public safety. 

 
90 Historic England (2015) Tall Buildings: Historic England Advice Note 4.  Available at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4/heag037-tall-buildings/ [Date 

Accessed: 05/02/21] 

Page 1618

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4/heag037-tall-buildings/


R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D142 

Policy SDM4 – Advertisements 

2. An advertisement will be considered to have an unacceptable impact on amenity where it would: 

a. create or reinforce a negative visual impact in its immediate neighbourhood; 

b. detract from the character or setting of any feature of historic, architectural or cultural 

interest; 

c. generate a negative impact on the living conditions of nearby residents by reason of its 

siting or illumination. 

3. Advertisement proposals of all types will be considered harmful to public and road safety where they 

would: 

a. obscure views into an area, reducing natural surveillance; 

b. create an unwelcoming sense of enclosure; 

c. obscure safety cameras; 

d. unsafely reduce natural or street lighting; 

e. create visual distraction that would be harmful to the attention of drivers or the ready 

interpretation of road signs, traffic signals and / or visibility at junctions (see sections 6 – 8 

below for details). 

Poster Panels and Hoardings 

4. Applications for poster panels will be considered in light of local amenity and public safety. Regard should 

be given to the scale of buildings and the character of the location in which they are to be sited, together 

with any potential impact on highway safety. 

5. In general, advertisement hoardings will not be appropriate in wholly residential areas. Poster advertising 

may be appropriate in predominantly shopping and business parts of Conservation Areas and Areas of 

Townscape Value, though care will be needed in how they are accommodated. 

Illuminated and Moving Advertisements 

6. The intensity of the illumination of an advertising unit and display should be set at a suitable level of 

luminance at night for its size and location and the panel must be fitted with a light sensor designed to 

adjust the brightness when changes in ambient light levels occur. 

7. For moving / electronic advertising, the minimum display time for each advertisement shall be 10 

seconds. There must be no moving images, animation, video or full motion images or any images that 

resemble road signs, traffic lights or traffic signs of any kind before, during or after the display of any 

advertisement 

8. The interval between the display of each moving advertisement shall be 0.1 seconds or less and the 

complete display screen shall change without visual effects (including fading, swiping or other animated 

transition methods) between each advertisement. 

 

Page 1619



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D143 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM4 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

D.15.4.1 Policy SDM4 sets out the requirements for the appropriate design and location of 

advertisements to prevent adverse impacts on the surrounding landscape and health and 

safety of local residents.   

D.15.4.2 The policy states that advertisements will need to have regard to the “scale of the buildings 

and the character of the location in which they are to be sited”.  The policy would be likely 

to have a minor positive impact on the protection of the local landscape character and 

conserving local identity (SA Objective 2).  

D.15.4.3 Advertisement proposals will be considered in regard to “local amenity and public safety” 

and includes measures that prevent impacts on highway safety.  The policy would 

therefore expect to have a negligible impact on the health and safety of residents within 

the borough (SA Objective 12).  

D.15.4.4 The policy states that advertisement proposals that “detract from the character or setting 

of any feature of historic, architectural or cultural interest” will be unacceptable.  These 

measures would be expected to have a negligible impact on the cultural heritage within 

the borough, by seeking to reduce potential for harm to heritage assets (SA Objective 1).   

D.15.5 Policy SDM5 – Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters 

Policy SDM5 – Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters 

Roller Shutters 

1. Planning permission is required for the installation of all permanent roller shutters. All applications for the 

installation of roller shutters will be assessed using the following criteria: - 

a. Encouragement will be given to the integration of roller shutters as part of development 

proposals for new shop fronts, through the planning application process and pre-application 

discussion. 

b. The applicant must satisfy the local planning authority that the type of security shutter they 

are proposing is the most appropriate. 

c. Roller shutters should, wherever possible, not project across the pilasters of the shop front, 

or obscure any architectural detail. The submitted plans should indicate this. 

d. Roller shutter boxes should, where ever possible, be hidden within the structure of the 

building or behind shop fascias, so as not to affect the character and architecture of the 

building. 

e. Metal roller shutters should be perforated and be colour powder coated or painted 

f. Details of materials should be submitted with the planning application. 

Page 1620



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D144 

Policy SDM5 – Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters 

g. No more than 50% of the shutters should be solid. 

h. Roller shutters that are totally solid will not be acceptable. 

Shop Front Design 

2. All planning applications for the installation of shop fronts will be assessed against the following criteria: - 

a. All shop fronts should be designed to fit in with the scale and architectural character of the 

building in which they are to be contained. 

b. All shop fronts should remain within their existing structural openings and be fully framed 

with fascia signs. Shop fronts and fascias must also be recessed behind pilasters. 

c. Adjacent shop fronts should be separated by a pilaster, matching the building. However, 

original pilasters should be retained where they exist. 

d. Original features, such as iron columns, ornamental brackets or carved stonework, should 

be preserved or restored. 

e. Canopies should be retractable and sited below the fascia. 

f. To ensure a high standard of shop front design, all applications for planning permission will 

require the submission of a detailed elevation of the proposed shop front in relation to the 

building within which it is to be contained, as well as adjacent shop fronts. 

g. Retention of facades above shop fronts that are of good quality, or which have special, 

architectural or historic interest, should be encouraged. 

h. Whilst the appearance of a building should not become promised, consideration should be 

given to natural surveillance, safety and security when designing new shop fronts. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM5 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.15.5.1 Policy SDM5 provides requirements for planning proposals involving shop fronts and roller 

shutters in relation to their design, installation and location.  

D.15.5.2 Through supporting the safe operation of businesses and appropriate use of security 

fixtures, the policy could potentially lead to a minor positive impact on the local economy 

(SA Objective 13). 

D.15.5.3 Policy SDM5 requires the design of shop fronts to “fit in with the scale and architectural 

character of the building in which they are to be contained” and states that “original 

features, such as iron columns, ornamental brackets or carved stonework, should be 

preserved or restored”.  Therefore, the policy would help to conserve, and potentially 

enhance, the character and appearance of buildings and historic features which could 

potentially lead to a minor positive impact on cultural heritage and landscape (SA 

Objectives 1 and 2).  

Page 1621



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D145 

D.15.6 Policy SDM6 – Hot Food Takeaways 

Policy SDM6 – Hot Food Takeaways 

Vitality and Viability 

1. A percentage limit for the appropriate number of hot food takeaways (HFT) in centres, including HFT 

permissions, and vacant units with an HFT as their lawful use (Strategic, Town, District and Local) is as 

follows: 

a. In centres with 40 units or more – no more than 7% of frontages should be occupied by 

HFTs. 

b. In centres with less than 40 units – no more than 12% of the frontages should be occupied 

by HFTs. 

Clustering of hot food takeaways in centres. 

2. No more than two hot food takeaway outlets should be located next to each other. Any application for a 

further hot food takeaway use that would exceed this limit will not be permitted. 

3. Where two HFTs are located next to each other, they should be separated by at least two non-HFT units 

from any similar uses. 

Exclusion Zones 

4. An exclusion zone will be implemented near to secondary schools and higher education establishments; 

no new hot food takeaway developments will be permitted where they are within 400 metres of a 

secondary school or college site (as measured in a direct line from the school entrance(s) used by pupils 

/ students). 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

D.15.6.1 Policy SDM6 aims to counteract the over-concentration of hot food takeaways and provide 

a healthy balance of food choices across the borough.  In addition to limits on the number 

of hot food takeaways (HFTs) within centres, an exclusion zone is implemented under the 

policy to place HFTs away from secondary schools and higher education establishments.  

The policy states that HFT developments will not be permitted “where they are within 400 

metres of a secondary school or college site”.   

D.15.6.2 Reducing access to HFTs can help to promote healthier food choices and reduce 

inequalities for those living in areas that would otherwise be located in areas densely 

populated by unhealthy food choices.  By ensuring takeaway vendors are situated a 

suitable distance from schools, this could also help to encourage healthier choices for 

children and combat childhood obesity issues.  Therefore, the policy can be expected to 

have a minor positive impact on equality and health (SA Objective 11 and 12).  

Page 1622



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D146 

D.15.7 Policy SDM7 – Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

Policy SDM7 – Management of Hot Food Takeaways 

Measures to protect the amenity of surrounding residential occupiers 

1. No new hot food takeaways (HFT) will be permitted where they are directly adjacent to residential 

property at ground floor level. This does not apply to first / second floor flats above or diagonally above a 

proposed HFT. 

2. Where there is an existing residential unit above a HFT, which is not connected with its operation, private 

residential amenity should not be prejudiced. Specific care will need to be given to odour extraction, 

noise insulation, private accessibility and public convenience. Appropriate mitigation measures will include 

control over hours of opening hours. Where appropriate provisions cannot be included then such uses will 

not be supported, even within designated centres. 

Local environmental issues 

3. All HFTs will require appropriate fume extraction equipment to be installed, retained and maintained to 

reduce / remove potential nuisance from odours. Extraction systems should be effective in dispersing 

odours from hot food takeaways, whilst satisfying the council’s design policies, especially in areas of 

historic character. 

Disposal of waste products and litter 

4. Appropriate fat traps will be required on drains to prevent fats from reaching the water system. Suitable 

grease traps also must be installed on all drains to prevent blockages and the subsequent flooding of 

property.  

5. Appropriate storage areas must be specified for food waste bins and packaging waste and included in 

any new proposal. 

6. The bins to be provided must be a suitable size and should be stored in a location so as not to cause a 

nuisance to neighbouring residential or commercial properties, including with regard to odours and 

accessibility. 

7. Commercial bin stores must be contained within the site. Where this is not possible, secure storage 

structures should be provided to prevent animal attack and to reduce odours. 

Nuisance and Anti-Social Behaviour 

8. Proposals for any new HFT that could potentially cause nuisance or antisocial behaviour will only be 

granted permission subject to stringent planning conditions, to address matters such as (but not limited 

to): - 

a. opening hours; 

b. parking restrictions; 

c. highway safety; 

d. the installation of or contributions towards monitoring technology such as CCTV. 

In some cases, they may be limited to a personal permission and / or a temporary consent. 

 

Page 1623



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D147 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.15.7.1 Policy SDM7 sets out the requirements for the management of HFTs in relation to the 

issues that could arise on residents, the environment and waste.   

D.15.7.2 Strict regulation on “odour extraction, opening hours, parking restrictions and safety 

measures” outlined within the policy will help to avoid adverse impacts on pollution, 

transport, and health, resulting in negligible effects overall for SA Objectives 7, 9 and 12. 

D.15.7.3 By ensuring appropriate drainage systems, food storage and waste disposal units are in 

place, a minor positive impact on waste could be expected (SA Objective 8).  

D.15.7.4 Allowing new HFTs in the area that comply with the regulations set out in Policy SDM7 

would potentially create more jobs, which would have a minor positive impact on the 

economy (SA Objective 13).  

D.15.8 Policy SDM8 – Gambling activities and alternative financial services 

Policy SDM8 – Gambling activities and alternative financial services 

1. Planning permission for a payday loan shop, pawnbroker's, amusement arcade or betting shop within a 

retail centre will not be granted if to do so would cause an unacceptable grouping of uses that would 

have a negative impact on the character and vitality of the centre.  

2. A negative impact on the character of the centre is likely to occur when the following thresholds91 are 

exceeded:  

a. Within a town centre: more than 5% of the number of ground floor units being in a 

gambling or arcade use.  

b. Within a district or local centre, or local shopping centre / parade: more than 10% of the 

number of ground floor units being a gambling or arcade use.  

c. In all locations: two or more uses immediately adjacent to each other.  

d. In all locations: less than two units in other uses between gambling or arcade uses.  

3. In calculating the existing or proposed percentage of units, payday loan shops, pawnbrokers, betting 

shops and arcade uses will be counted together.  

4. When applying the thresholds set out above:  

a. Only ground floor units will be counted; and  

b. When rounding percentages, percentages should be rounded down.  

 
91 Taken from the Knowsley Town Centre Uses SPD 2022  

Page 1624



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D148 

Policy SDM8 – Gambling activities and alternative financial services 

5. Proposals will be considered against the potential detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring 

uses, through increased noise and disturbance. They will also be required to provide an active frontage, 

through a permanent shop front and window display.  

6. In determining any planning application for all pay day loan shops, pawnbrokers, and gambling uses the 

Council will consider any issues concerning community safety, crime, and disorder and will, where 

necessary, seek advice from the police and other safety organisations.  

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 

Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +/- 0 

D.15.8.1 An increase in gambling or other financial services has the potential to increase noise 

pollution, anti-social behaviour and encourage unhealthy mental and physical habits.  

However, Policy SDM8 aims to prevent “issues concerning community safety, crime, and 

disorder” during the assessment of planning applications.  Overall, Policy SDM8 will likely 

have a negligible impact on pollution, equality, and health (SA Objectives 7, 11 and 12). 

D.15.8.2 The impact on the economy (SA Objective 13) is uncertain.  Although an increase in 

gambling activities and financial services could provide employment opportunities and 

positively impact the local economy, there is potential for residents to acquire unhealthy 

habits which may cause them to lose their jobs or deter them from seeking employment.   

D.15.9 Policy SDM9 – Community Facilities 

Policy SDM9 – Community Facilities 

1. In considering proposals for new community facilities, examples of which include but are not limited to: - 

• banqueting suites and entertainment venues; 

• places of worship and / or religious instruction; 

• leisure and recreational activities; 

• larger-scale non-employment uses e.g. nurseries, wholesale catering, animal day care; 

• community centres; 

or the conversion or extension of existing community facilities, the following criteria will be considered: 

a. Any proposal for a community facility or use that involves the loss of premises and sites 

identified as falling within either strategic or local employment areas92 will be refused. 

b. Proposals for new community facilities on land or premises identified under Policy SEC4,  

which are either currently or formerly in employment use, will be resisted; applicants 

 
92 See Policies SLP* in the Employment chapter of the SLP 

Page 1625



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D149 

Policy SDM9 – Community Facilities 

wishing to reuse such buildings or sites will need to meet the criteria set out in that policy 

and be able to demonstrate why the site is no longer suitable for employment use now or in 

the future. 

c. Encouragement will be given to locating community facilities and uses on sites with main 

road frontages at the fringes of commercial areas, and particularly in town, district or local 

centres. 

d. If the building(s) to be used shares a party wall with any sensitive use (particularly 

residential) it is unlikely that planning permission will be granted. Exceptions to this are 

likely to occur only when there is clear evidence submitted to the Council that the use will 

not adversely affect the occupiers of adjoining properties. 

2. Where noise from the proposed new activities is likely to affect neighbouring properties, consideration 

will be given to attaching conditions to any planning permission granted, which would reduce or eliminate 

such problems. These may include: 

a. installation and retention of suitable sound insulation; 

b. restricting the use of parts of the building, or the type of uses proposed; 

c. restricting the hours of use of all or parts of the building. 

3. Consideration will be given to the need for the provision of car parking in association with the 

development. This will include an assessment of: - 

a. the proximity and availability of public transport facilities; 

b. whether most people walk to a particular place of worship or religious instruction; 

c. the use of the centre for wider community purposes and for special events drawing large 

numbers of participants; 

d. the availability of other car parking in the vicinity; 

e. the adverse effects of on-street parking on adjacent occupiers, the environment of the 

neighbourhood, and whether it would create potential hazards to pedestrians and other 

road users. 

4. Consideration may also be given to the granting of planning permission for a limited period where 

concerns relating to an application are insufficient to warrant refusal. 

5. The provision of additional community facilities will be encouraged, including those serving cultural and 

other social needs. 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 

D.15.9.1 Policy SDM9 sets out support for new community facilities within centres, provided a set 

of criteria are met.   

Page 1626



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D150 

D.15.9.2 The policy would be likely to ensure that any new community facilities have a negligible 

impact on pollution by requiring suitable sound insulation to be installed and “restricting 

the hours of use of all or parts of the building”.   

D.15.9.3 Policy SDM9 seeks to ensure any new community facilities are in easy to access areas, 

noting “sites with main road frontages at the fringes of commercial areas, and particularly 

in town, district or local centres” as suitable locations.  Policy SDM9 also considers: how 

people are likely to commute to such facilities; availability of public transport; and the 

availability of, and adverse effects on car parking.  Therefore, a negligible impact would 

be expected on pollution and transport (SA Objectives 7 and 9).  

D.15.9.4 New community facilities will provide a safe space for residents of Sandwell and encourage 

social activities.  This should encourage comradery amongst residents and provide 

activities to help entertain younger residents.  This has the potential to reduce crime and 

social deprivation and to have a minor positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11).  

Community facilities may also be used for leisure and recreational activities, some of which 

are likely to have a minor positive impact on physical health (SA Objective 12).  

D.15.10 Policy SDM10 – Telecommunications 

Policy SDM10 – Telecommunications 

1. In considering proposals for telecommunication development for which planning permission is required, 

or to which the prior approval procedure is applicable, the following criteria will apply: 

a. The siting and external appearance of apparatus including any location or landscaping 

requirements have been designed to minimise the impact of such apparatus on amenity, 

while respecting operational efficiency. 

b. Antenna have, so far as is practicable, been sited either to minimise the effect on, or to 

complement or beneficially add to the external appearance of the building on which they 

are installed. 

c. Applicants must demonstrate that they have explored all possibilities for sharing masts, or 

for siting masts on existing buildings or structures. 

d. The development would not impact on scheduled highway improvement works. 

2. Microcell installations will be expected where agreements exist with the relevant highway authority to 

utilise existing street furniture, not add to the clutter of the street scene, impede pedestrian flows or 

contribute to highway safety issues. 

3. The use of Article 4 directions removing permitted development rights for telecommunication 

development will be considered where there is a serious risk to amenity.  

 

Page 1627



R18 (II) SA of the Sandwell Local Plan – Appendix D: Policy Assessments  October 2023 

LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW.docx 

© Lepus Consulting for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council D151 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

Policy 
Ref 

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

L
a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 

B
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

C
C
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
 

C
C
 A

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
 

N
a
tu

ra
l 
R
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

W
a
st

e
 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

E
co

n
o
m

y 

E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

SDM10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 

D.15.10.1 Policy SDM10 supports the provision of telecommunications infrastructure, where this 

would not impede on highways or the street scene.  The policy seeks to ensure that the 

location and appearance of telecommunications infrastructure avoids or reduces harm to 

amenity, which would be expected to result in an overall negligible impact on the 

landscape. 

D.15.10.2 Increased telecommunications coverage may help to improve digital connectivity and 

information sharing, potentially resulting in a minor positive impact on local businesses 

and opportunities for home working (SA Objective 13).   

 

 

Page 1628



Lepus Consulting 
Eagle Tower
Montpellier Drive    
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL50 1TA

t:    01242 525222
w:  www.lepusconsulting.com
e:   enquiries@lepusconsulting.com

Page 1629



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Working Draft  
 

Appendix D - Draft Sandwell Local Plan – Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement Plan                            
Consultation Stage  
 

Target Audience  Consultation Methods to be used  Who to Action  Timescale/Target Date 

Draft Local Plan  
November – December 2023 

Member briefings prior to Cabinet 
meetings and agendas being 
released 

Elected Members Briefings on key elements of Reg 18 Draft Plan and consultation  
 

Planning Officers 
Comms Team 

Cabinet Briefing – 6th 
September 2023 

Member briefings/drop-in sessions 
as consultation rolls out 

Elected Members Member briefings on key elements of the Reg 18 Draft Plan and 
consultation 

Planning Officers 
Comms Team 

All Member Briefing session 
– November 2023 

MP Briefings (if requested) Members of Parliament Briefings on key elements of Reg 18 Draft Plan and consultation  Planning Officers November/December 2023 
MPs will be consulted with 
briefings arranged on request 

West Midlands Mayor briefing (if 
requested) 

West Midlands Mayor Briefings on key elements of Reg 18 Draft Plan and consultation  Planning Officers November/December 2023 
WMCA/Mayors Office will be 
consulted with briefings 
arranged on request 

Press release to go out stating Reg 
18 Draft Plan to be considered by 
Cabinet ahead of consultation.   

All Stakeholders Press Release to be issued - reinforcing the consultation dates of 06/11/23 
– 18/12/23 
 
 

Comms Team Pre-publication of Cabinet 
agenda on 11th October 

Update website, ready to go ‘live’ 
with Plan consultation post Cabinet 
decision 

All stakeholders Web content – to include Draft Plan and supporting information, online 
consultation details and summary documents and FAQs 

Planning Officers 
Comms Team 

Post Cabinet meeting – 18th 
October 2023 

Public consultation launched Six 
weeks November to December.  
(6th November – 18th December 
2023).  
 
Publish Draft Local Plan and 
Appendices, Policies Map, 
summary document and supporting 
documents and evidence base on 
website and roll out public 
communications campaign  
 

All Stakeholders including:  
Public 
Businesses 
Organisations 
Developers/Consultants 
Members  
MPs  
DtC/Statutory Consultees.  
 

Launch press release, plus two to three follow-up releases 
 
Update Sandwell MBC website with details of consultation.  The website 
will include an information video being prepared by Comms Team. 

  
Articles to be included in Sandwell Herald newspaper and Sandwell Social 
Media platforms - Digital/social media comms plan  
 
Display Pop up exhibitions in the 6 main libraries and leisure centres, as 
well as the Council House, Oldbury.  Planning officers available to discuss 
any issues via an appointment system, on the telephone and via email. 
Information leaflets will be available at each venue. 
 
Details to be circulated on residents ebulletin and Let’s Get Physical 
newsletter, SCVO networks, Sandwell Business Networks, SHAPE Youth 
Forum networks, Regenerating Sandwell and Sandwell Business Growth 
websites  

 
Internal campaign - staff ebulletin 
 
The consultation documents will also be accessible via a link from the 
Sandwell Council Consultation Hub 
 
An email banner will be developed for use by officers on all email 
communication 

Planning Officers 
Comms Team 

November 2023 

P
age 1631



2 
 

Working Draft  
 

Consultation Stage  
 

Target Audience  Consultation Methods to be used  Who to Action  Timescale/Target Date 

Press release /ebulletin to 
announce deadline for responses 
to Consultation  
  

All Stakeholders  Press and ebulletin  
Email to Members 

Comms Team December 

Press release /ebulletin to confirm 
closure for Consultation and next 
steps  
 
 

All Stakeholders Press and ebulletin  
Email to Members 
Update Website to confirm end of consultation  

Comms Team December 

Post Draft Plan Consultation 
December 2023 – June 2024 

Feedback on process/next steps 
via website/media/ebulletins 

 ebulletin  
Email to Members 
Update Website 

Planning Officers 
Comms Team 

December/January 

 

P
age 1632



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

EEEqqquuuaaallliiitttyyy   IIImmmpppaaacccttt   AAAsssssseeessssssmmmeeennnttt   

   

DDDrrraaafffttt   SSSaaannndddwwweeellllll   LLLooocccaaalll   PPPlllaaannn   

(((RRReeeggguuulllaaatttiiiooonnn   111888))) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

September 2023 

Page 1633



 

 

 

 

 

Title of proposal 
Sandwell Development Plan – Regulation 
18 draft for public consultation 

Directorate and Service 
Area  

Regeneration and Growth 
Planning and Development  

Name and title of Lead 
Officer completing this 
EIA 

Samantha Holder – Senior Planning Policy 
Officer  

Contact Details samantha_holder@sandwell.gov.uk  

Names and titles of other 
officers involved in 
completing this EIA 

- 

Partners involved with the 
EIA where jointly 
completed 

N/A 

Date EIA completed 27.09.2023 

Date EIA signed off or 
agreed by Director or 
Executive Director 

02/10/2023 

Name of Director or 
Executive Director signing 
off EIA 

Tony McGovern -  

Date EIA considered by 
Cabinet Member 

 

1.  The purpose of the proposal or decision required 
         (Please provide as much information as possible) 

Page 1634

mailto:samantha_holder@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 1 

The planning system has the potential to affect everyone living and working in 
Sandwell. Communities, employers and interested bodies within and beyond 
Sandwell are being asked to contribute to the preparation of plans and 
policies in the new Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).  
 
The first steps towards the preparation of a new local plan is to identify draft 
planning policies and proposals and to subsequently undertake further public 
consultation with both local people and the wider community, stakeholders 
and developers. This will enable their views to be included as necessary in 
the emerging document. 
 
The decision required is that the draft SLP document be approved for 
consultation. 

2.  Evidence used / considered 

A significant part of the evidence used to inform this document has been 
taken from existing sources, such as the Council’s Corporate Plan, the 
previous draft Black Country Plan (BCP), the Sandwell Site Allocations and 
Delivery Document (SADD) and from other strategies, documents and 
research undertaken across the Council. Where necessary, further research 
and evidence gathering will be undertaken to inform the development of 
policies. 
 
Additional evidence has also been generated from previous relevant 
consultation processes, including those undertaken for the draft BCP, and 
from the BCP’s evidence base.  
 
National planning policy guidance has been revised (2023) and has been 
used to shape the SLP; it is a benchmark against which the contents of 
policies and proposals can be measured. In addition, since the last local plan 
for Sandwell was adopted, there has been additional information and 
requirements identified at a national level, such as for design, the 
environment and climate change, which have informed the emerging plan. 
 
Additional work has also been commissioned specifically to inform the draft 
Local Plan – this includes reports on biodiversity, viability, infrastructure 
requirements and the Rowley Hills. Future work will include studies relating to 
flooding, transportation modelling, design codes and green infrastructure. 
 

3.  Consultation 

Page 1635



 

 2 

A public consultation process for the SDP issues and options work was 
undertaken in February - March 2023. The responses to that have been used 
in producing the subsequent draft policies. 
 
A further public consultation is scheduled to begin in November 2023, the 
outcome of which will be used to finalise the draft plan for submission to the 
Planning Inspectorate in 2024. 

4.  Assess likely impact 

The impact or likely impact of the emerging SLP and its issues and options 
work on specific groups (race, gender, disability, age, religion and belief, 
sexual orientation, pregnancy / maternity) has been considered. It is 
anticipated that all groups will experience positive benefits through the 
production of updated and locally focussed policies and proposals.  
 
No significant negative impacts are anticipated, although where the SLP 
identifies sites for development, this will have some locally significant impacts 
on communities and individuals. 
 
The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement will help inform relevant 
stakeholders, how they can become involved in the plan making process, and 
the planning application process 
 

 

 

Page 1636



 

 

 

 

4a. Use the table to show:  

• Where you think that the strategy, project or policy could have a negative impact on any of the equality strands 
(protected characteristics), that is it could disadvantage them or if there is no impact, please note the evidence and/or 
reasons for this.  

• Where you think that the strategy, project or policy could have a positive impact on any of the groups or contribute to 
promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relationships within equality characteristics.  

 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive  
Impact 
 

✓ 

Negative  
Impact 
 

✓ 

No 
Impact 
 

✓ 

Reason and evidence  
(Provide details of specific groups affected even for no impact and 
where negative impact has been identified what mitigating actions 
can we take?) 

Age ✓   The document aims to cater for the needs of all age groups by starting the 
process of identifying the amount and location of sites suitable for housing, 
community facilities and services (including medical), transportation links 
and open space, all of which contribute towards the creation of an 
environment suitable for the elderly and other vulnerable sections of the 
community. 
The draft plan policies will also address the need for adaptable housing 
and the provision of specialist accommodation for the elderly in Sandwell. 

P
age 1637



 

 1 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive  
Impact 
 

✓ 

Negative  
Impact 
 

✓ 

No 
Impact 
 

✓ 

Reason and evidence  
(Provide details of specific groups affected even for no impact and 
where negative impact has been identified what mitigating actions 
can we take?) 

Disability 
 

✓   The draft plan policies seek to identify opportunities for improving design in 
the built environment and the protection of the natural environment through 
developing policies that are supportive of the needs of all sections of the 
community. This will include through promoting clean air, accessibility and 
the provision of user-friendly spaces and designs.  
 
The draft plan incorporates policies on making sure new houses are 
accessible for people with disabilities and wheelchair users, on a mix of 
housing types suitable for all members of the community and on the 
provision of housing suitable for subsequent adaptation as necessary. 

Gender 
reassignment 

✓   The draft plan policies seek to identify opportunities for improving design in 
the built environment. This will include supporting the creation of public 
places and infrastructure with layouts that are safe and welcoming for all 
members of the community, and which reduce the potential for abusive or 
threatening behaviour.  

Marriage and 
civil 
partnership 
 
 
 

  ✓  

P
age 1638



 

 2 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive  
Impact 
 

✓ 

Negative  
Impact 
 

✓ 

No 
Impact 
 

✓ 

Reason and evidence  
(Provide details of specific groups affected even for no impact and 
where negative impact has been identified what mitigating actions 
can we take?) 

Pregnancy 
and maternity 

✓   The draft plan identifies the need for suitable sites for general healthcare 
provision, as part of creating sustainable communities. This will benefit 
people with various health-related issues, including pregnancy and 
maternity.  
 
It also contains draft policies on health and wellbeing, including healthcare 
infrastructure, and on the educational requirements generated by 
additional housing provision. 

Race ✓   The draft plan contains several policies relating to the need for good 
design, including around the design and creation of safe and welcoming 
spaces, communities and recreation, where all sections of the community 
can feel comfortable. It considers the need to design out opportunities for 
anti-social behaviours and instead seek to create spaces where people 
can interact positively. 

Religion or 
belief 

✓   The draft plan includes policies about the need to support new and existing 
community spaces, such as churches, mosques and other places of 
worship. The draft policies look at where such uses should best be 
located. 

P
age 1639



 

 3 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive  
Impact 
 

✓ 

Negative  
Impact 
 

✓ 

No 
Impact 
 

✓ 

Reason and evidence  
(Provide details of specific groups affected even for no impact and 
where negative impact has been identified what mitigating actions 
can we take?) 

Sex   ✓  

Sexual  
orientation 
 

✓   The draft plan contains several policies relating to the need for good 
design, including around the design and creation of safe and welcoming 
spaces, communities and recreation, where all sections of the community 
can feel comfortable. It considers the need to design out opportunities for 
anti-social behaviours and instead seek to create spaces where people 
can interact positively. 

Other ✓   The aim of the SDP is to support and deliver a safe, supportive and 
attractive living and working environment for all sections of the community. 
The draft plan will help to identify what matters to those local communities 
and should enable the Council to address some of the systemic problems 
around inequality in the built and natural environment. 

 

Does this EIA require a full impact assessment?  Yes  No  
 

x 

P
age 1640



 

 4 

If there are no adverse impacts or any issues of concern or you can adequately explain or justify them, then you do not 
need to go any further. You have completed the screening stage. You must, however, complete sections 7 and 9 and 
publish the EIA as it stands. 
 
If you have answered yes to the above, please complete the questions below referring to the guidance document.

P
age 1641



 

 

 

 

 

5.  What actions can be taken to mitigate any adverse impacts? 

No adverse impacts have been identified. On this basis, it is considered that 
mitigation measures are not required. We will continue to mainstream the 
need for good design, the creation of accessible and safe environments and 
opportunities for all sections of the community to benefit from their 
environments through ongoing public consultation and an iterative approach 
to the policies we include in the draft plan.  

6.  As a result of the EIA what decision or actions are being proposed 
in relation to the original proposals? 

 

7.  Monitoring arrangements 

The emerging Sandwell Local Plan will have a full set of monitoring targets 
once it has been adopted, which will be used to measure the success of 
policies based on the outcome of the issues and options work. 

8.  Action planning 

 

9.  Publish the EIA 

EIA report to be published on SLP web page  

 
 
 

 

Page 1642



 

 

 
 
 

Report to Cabinet 
 
 

18 October 2023 
 

 
Subject: Update and decisions on the Asset Management 

Strategy – Income and Savings 2023-2026 
Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Regeneration & WMCA,  

Councillor Peter Hughes 
Director: Director for Regeneration & Growth 

Tony McGovern 
Key Decision: Yes  
Contact Officer: Luke Dove  

Assistant Director – Strategic Assets and Land  
Luke_Dove@sandwell.gov.uk 

 
 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That approval be given that the Director of Borough Economy be 

authorised to declare the Tipton Library, Owen House,17 Unity Walk, 
Tipton DY4 8QL surplus to Council requirements  
 

1.2 That the Director of Borough Economy, subject to approval of 
recommendation 1.1 be authorised to relocate the library provision to the 
former Tipton Carnegie Library, Victoria Road, Tipton, DY4 8SR   

 
1.3  That the Interim Director of Housing be authorised to relocate services 

from the Tipton Local centre at High Street, Princes End, Tipton, DY4 
9JB to Glebefields Library and Family Hub Centre or other location as 
deemed appropriate.  

 
1.4  That the Interim Director of Housing, subject to the approval of 

recommendation 1.3, prepare a business case for the reuse of the 
former Tipton Local Centre within the Housing Revenue Account Stock. 

Page 1643

Agenda Item 14

mailto:Luke_Dove@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 

Should this not be viable the former Tipton Local Centre building will be 
disposed of subject to the appropriate authority being obtained. 

 
1.5  That the Director of Borough Economy, subject to the identification of the 

necessary funding be authorised to declare the Smethwick Library and 
archive, High Street. Smethwick, B66 1AA surplus to the requirements of 
the Council  

 
1.6  That the Director of Borough Economy, subject to approval of 

recommendation 1.5 be authorised to relocate the services provided 
from Smethwick High Street Library to Smethwick Council House.  

 
1.7  Subject to the approval of recommendation 1.5 that the Director of Law 

and Governance and Monitoring Officer be authorised to dispose of the 
freehold interest of the Smethwick Library, High Street. Smethwick B66 
1AA on terms and conditions to be agreed by the Director of 
Regeneration and Growth  

 
1.8  That the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer be 

authorised to enter or execute under seal where necessary any legal 
documentation in connection with the disposal of land referred to in 
recommendation 1.5 and 1.7 of this report.  

 
1.9 That the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer be 

authorised to enter or execute under seal where necessary any legal 
documentation in connection to the granting of a lease of 747 m2 (or 
thereabouts) to the Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust 
of the first floor of Sandwell Council House on terms and conditions to be 
agreed by the Director of Regeneration and Growth  

 
1.10 That approval be given to offer all community centres not currently 

subject to a live Community Asset Transfer or FRI lease on a 
Community Asset Transfer basis where a suitable expression of interest 
and business case has been received subject to terms and conditions to 
be agreed by the Director of Regeneration and Growth. 

 
1.11  That subject to 1.14 not producing any viable expressions of interest, 

approval is given to the Director of Regeneration and Growth to declare 
the assets surplus to Council requirements and to undertake an open 
market disposal of the same subject to terms and conditions to be 
agreed by the Director of Regeneration and Growth. 

Page 1644



 

 

 
1.12 That the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer be 

authorised to enter or execute under seal where necessary any legal 
documentation in connection with the disposal of land referred to in 
recommendation 1.14 and 1.15 of this report. 

 
 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 The recommendations in this report support delivery of the agreed 

corporate Asset Management Budget Savings targets 2023-2026 as 
detailed below: 

 
• 2023/24 - £1.6million 
• 2024/25 - £2.5million 
• 2025/26 - £2.5million  

 
2.1 The Tipton Library at Owen House, 17 Unity Walk. Tipton. This cabinet 

report scopes out the proposed action to March 2026 in achieving 
challenging savings and income targets in relation to the Councils asset 
base. The Tipton library at Unity walk is a leased building and the lease 
ends in March 2025.There is an opportunity therefore to comply with 
previous Cabinet approval not to renew leases.  

 
2.2  Former Tipton Carnegie library. Victoria Road. Tipton. The former 

Library is an important building to the residents of Tipton. There is a wish 
to make sure the building is reused for the benefit of the community. The 
relocation of the library, in conjunction with the relocation of the Tipton 
local service centre will give the former library a productive future. It will 
also allow the Council to make more efficient use of resources.  

 
2.3  Tipton local service centre, High Street Princes End. Tipton. Housing 

services wish to support a one stop approach to accessing Council 
services. By relocating to the former Library this can be achieved. It will 
also allow Housing Services to consolidate the Housing Revenue 
Account Asset base. 

 
2.4  Smethwick Library, High Street, Smethwick. Cabinet have approved, 

subject to the identification of the required funding to relocate the 
Borough archive to the rear of Smethwick Council House. The current 

Page 1645



 

 

Library requires significant building investment. It is sensible to relocate 
the library function to the Smethwick Council House. This means the link 
between the library service and archive service would be maintained. 
The Smethwick Council House can become the local service centre for 
Smethwick. The disposal of the Smethwick High Street library will 
remove a liability to the property maintenance account and generate a 
significant capital receipt for the Council.  

 
2.5  The granting of a lease to the Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals 

NHS Trust demonstrates that since the initial Cabinet approval of the 
Corporate Asset Management Plan in  November  2022 the Council has 
successfully agreed terms with key public sector partners, such as the 
NHS to let space within council buildings. This will mean securing longer 
term income for the Council from secure sources and increased 
partnership working opportunities. The proposed letting detailed in 
section 1.9 is proposed at an starting rental of £185,000 per annum for 
an initial 15 year terms subject to rent reviews. 

 
 
2.6  All recommendations in this report support the delivery of the MTFS and 

ensuring the Council have a balanced budget moving forward alongside 
an efficiently operating estate to deliver Council services. Should 
decisions not be taken to declare identified assets surplus to 
requirements, the Council will not be able to achieve the assets savings 
targets as identified in section 2.1 and section 4 of this report 
respectively 

 
2.7  The recommendations align with the responses received from the public 

budget consultation held in 2022 which supported the disposal or 
development of Council assets. 

 
 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan? 
 

 

The Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 
 
The Council is engaging with partner organisations, such as 
Barnardos, the NHS and the Children’s Trust to ensure the 
Council built resources are correctly targeted to support 
wider initiatives, such as the emerging family hub agenda. 

Page 1646



 

 

 

People Live Well and Age Well 
 
It is likely that the further creation of surplus council assets 
will improve services to residents by targeting resources, this 
has been demonstrated by the recent Community Asset 
Transfer of Two under used Community centres.  

 

Strong Resilient Communities 
 
The reuse of Council buildings or making space available to 
communities in buildings or on Land should improve 
community capacity and resilience  

 

Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 
 
The generation of surplus assets, buildings or land for 
residential redevelopment will provide new and good quality 
homes.  

 

A Strong and Inclusive Economy 
 
Increasing commercial activity from Council buildings will 
have a positive impact on the Borough economy, particularly 
Town Centres   

 

A Connected and Accessible Sandwell  
 
 

 
 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
The Corporate Asset management strategy (CAMS) was approved by cabinet 
in 2022. 
 
It acknowledged that The Council is committed to maintaining an effective and 
efficient property portfolio which supports the delivery of services to residents, 
provides value for money, reduces our environmental impact and maximises 
opportunities to generate value. The strategy is underpinned by asset savings 
targets a summary of which is detailed in section 2.1 with a number of key 
achievements to date provided beow. 
 
• Freehold disposal of Providence Place to DLUHC and capital receipt 

received 

Page 1647



 

 

• Thimblemill Former Leisure Centre– marketed on open market (subject 
to separate report) 

• Langley Swimming Baths – being redeveloped for Council HRA new 
build following vacation of Leisure Services 

• Jack Judge House – Leased out in full with tenants including Coroner / 
Police / Enterprise Business Hub 

• The Big House – leased on commercial terms to professional service 
tenant for initial 15-year term 

 
Good progress has been made for 2023/24 with the savings target of £1.6 
million expected to be achieved by year end. It should however also be noted 
that the variance in 2024/25 and 2025/26 is far more challenging as a result of 
a number of savings being achieved in 2023/24 being non-recurring. This 
leaves a current savings target variance of £1.86 million for 2024/25 and £2.05 
million for 2025/26 and emphasises the importance of effective and significant 
decisions being made around the Council’s corporate property estate to 
ensure delivery of the savings targets moving forward. 
 
The strategy consists of 7 strategic objectives. This report seeks to report on 
progress to date on the 9 work-streams and decisions required to move 
forward.  
 
Strategy Workstream Updates 
 
4.1. Community Centres 
 
The Sandwell based Community and Voluntary sector operate services from a 
network of Council owned Assets, with only one of the Boroughs Twenty-Two 
community centres being directly managed by the Council. Over time this has 
resulted in different legal agreements being in place on building use, 
conditions of use and length of agreement. This situation brings uncertainty to 
the community sector and is a non-efficient use of Council resources.  
 
A working group has now been established encompassing multiple Council 
services including assets, community teams, housing and legal to holistically 
review and present decisions around the community centre portfolio. As part of 
the groups remit, a new Community Asset Transfer Strategy is being drafted to 
be presented for approval to Cabinet in due course.  

Page 1648



 

 

 
Broadly speaking, the process that will be undertaken for community centres 
moving forward will be: 
 

• Suitable group(s) identified for possible community asset transfer (CAT) 
current in occupation and taken forward as appropriate  

• Asset advertised for expressions of interest and if suitable application 
received taken forward as appropriate for CAT 

• If no suitable application received for continued community use, 
declaring the asset surplus and subject to the required approvals either 
for letting, development for social housing or disposal on the open 
market. 

 
There are two community centres being Charlemont and Hurst Road that have 
previously been approved by Cabinet for CAT and are currently being 
progressed for completion. 
 

 
4.2 Office Rationalisation Workstream  
 
Procurement of a corporate digital desk booking system was conducted over 
the summer. A preferred supplier was appointed, and a project team is 
currently working on implementation and roll out. This project will provide the 
Council with a greater understanding of the occupancy metrics of Sandwell 
Council House and other office accommodation buildings.  It will also enable 
Council staff / services to have greater control over collaboration opportunities 
and support the hybrid working re-balance project. 
 
The council have appointed Avison Young through its procurement framework 
to undertake a comprehensive review of its surplus assets and land. The 
programme will provide the council with an overview of opportunities alongside 
anticipated capital/revenue values for the sites based upon the optimum use of 
the asset(s). The initial scoping exercise is now completed with 
recommendations being received on a staged basis, to allow the council to 
make informed decisions on the optimum method of disposal. These will be 
progressed as required subject to the required authority being obtained. 
 
 
4.3 Commercial Estate Review Workstream  
 

Page 1649



 

 

Due to the implementation of a revised property management database 
system the commercial estate review has been temporarily paused. It was felt 
that the level of data available to the successfully appointed company would 
drastically be reduced until such time the system was fully operational and all 
data sets checked and available. It is also felt that the surplus asset review as 
should be completed initially as there may be opportunity for 
commercialisation of assets as a result of the same. Once this has been 
completed and the property management database fully embedded, the 
commercial estate review will be revisited and actioned as appropriate. 
 
 
4.4 Regeneration Workstream  

Up to £2.8bn of investment between 2022 and 2027 will fund regeneration 
across the six towns, improving quality of life and making Sandwell a more 
sustainable, greener place. The £2.8bn Pipeline currently includes 67 live 
regeneration projects being delivered across Sandwell funded by a range of 
public and private sector investment.   

The Regeneration Pipeline for the Borough was approved by Cabinet in March 
2022 and delivers the long-term infrastructure and facilities for the Borough’s 
residents. Flagship investments such as the Midland Metropolitan Hospital in 
Smethwick, the Wednesbury to Dudley metro extension, the Enfinium Waste 
from Energy Plant in West Bromwich and the world class Sandwell Aquatics 
Centre will provide services to residents from Sandwell and the wider West 
Midlands for decades to come alongside smaller projects in the Pipeline such 
as the creation of a Digital Den at Wood Lane Community Centre in Greets 
Green to equip excluded groups and individuals with the digital and language 
skills needed to operate in the online world. This investment programme also 
provides benefits to local businesses and local residents through employment 
opportunities in construction, supply chain and apprenticeships alongside 
multiple others.  

The review of the asset portfolio and its targeted rationalisation alongside a 
more robust approach its management in future is therefore essential to 
support continued delivery of the regeneration pipeline to create a modern and 
sustainable place for Sandwell residents to work and live 

 
4.5 Climate Change project delivery workstream 

 

Page 1650



 

 

A new contract for provision of Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) has 
been entered into with an additional 120 EPC’s being provided. The EPC data 
set will allow for targeted programme of refurbishment, to ensure compliance 
with regulations and aims for refurbished buildings to have an EPC rating of C.  
Smethwick Library has an F rated EPC and is amongst the lowest rated 
buildings in the portfolio.  
 
 
4.6 Assessment of Corporate Landlord approach  
 
The Council currently operates a service led approach for the management of 
its property, with the Assets service broadly providing an overarching 
responsibility for property maintenance and centralised services such as FM 
alongside management of key corporate properties. 
 
This has resulted over a period of time in various property related matters 
being delegated to non-property professionals and a non-cohesive approach 
being provided for the Council’s portfolio from a holistic perspective.  
 
A current report is being compiled to be presented at Cabinet in due course 
recommending that a Corporate Landlord model is adopted for the centralised 
management of all non-residential Council property to allow for a more 
efficient and streamlined approach to be implemented. This will allow a 
number of benefits to be realised including cost savings to be generated, a 
more targeted and cohesive planned maintenance programme to be 
implemented, better decision making around the required asset requirements 
and allowing non-property staff to focus on improved service delivery. 
 
4.7 Implementation of new Asset Information Database.  

 
The implementation and roll out of the Council’s corporate asset management 
information system is in final project closedown stage.  The system took over 
following close down of the previous system Atrium in December 2022.  
The project has been reported regularly to Grant Thornton as it featured as 
part of the Council Improvement Plan. Benefits realised include a single, 
dedicated database for asset information, system linkage to Oracle Fusion and 
improved creation and monitoring of capital accounting reporting and auditing.  
 
 
 

Page 1651



 

 

5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Council general fund Asset base is initially placed in one of three 

options, that is to retain the asset in its current use, to re classify the 
asset as an investment property, such as Jack Judge House or to 
dispose of the Asset. This is done within the context of achieving a more 
efficient Asset base and/or increasing income for the Council.   

 
5.2  It is possible that a large building, such as Sandwell Council House can 

serve a dual purpose, that is remaining in Council use but also 
generating more income. This is now the case at the Sandwell Council 
with the subletting of space to the NHS on the first and third floor of the 
building.   

 
5.3  Option appraisals have been completed on the main Council buildings 

with the process providing an analysis of alternative options. The criteria 
used when considering alternative options are broadly: 

 
• Is the building fit for purpose? 
• What level of investment is required in the coming years? 
• What is the capital value of the asset? 
• What contribution can the asset make to wider regeneration initiatives? 
• What social value does the asset provide? 
• What is the contribution of the asset towards the Council’s climate 

change agenda? 
 
 
5.4  In general, however if we do not achieve either significant savings and/or 

increased income from the Council Assets, the alternative is that those 
savings or increased income will have to come from front facing Council 
services. 

 
 
 
 
6 Implications  
 
Resources: The Council needs to deliver £2.5m of recurring 

savings by 2026 from its Asset base and to transform 
the way it uses its assets. The recommendations in 
this report will support delivery of this ensuring the 

Page 1652



 

 

Council can continue to operate effective delivery of 
its services. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The Council will require appropriate authority to be 
obtained in line with the Sale of Land and Buildings 
Protocol alongside the Director of Law and 
Governance and Monitoring Officer being authorised 
to enter or execute under seal where necessary any 
legal documentation in connection to the granting of a 
lease or undertaking of a freehold disposal as 
required. 

Risk: The risk of not undertaking the required 
recommendations is that the Council will not be able 
to meet its asset savings targets as part of the MTFS 
requiring budget savings to be identified elsewhere.  

Equality: The continued review of the Council’s asset portfolio 
and any associated rationalisation will ensure all 
vulnerable groups such as those with mental health 
issues & disabilities are considered and appropriate 
facilities are continued to be provided across the 
borough in a more targeted manner. This would be a 
thread running through all options being considered to 
ensure a fully inclusive approach to future asset use. 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The asset strategy and review will offer a range of 
health and wellbeing benefits alongside  supporting 
delivery of the Regeneration Pipeline through 
improving and developing new sustainable homes 
and public spaces, providing associated infrastructure 
to support new communities being created and assets 
and places for people to go including improved cycling 
and walking opportunities 

Social Value: The repurposing and regeneration of the Boroughs 
assets will ensure that they serve as a key driver of 
the Boroughs economy and will create more 
employment, education and training opportunities for 
the residents of Sandwell. 

Climate 
Change: 

Multiple services operating from a single building will 
reduce fuel use and associated carbon emissions, 
contributing to our efforts to mitigate the effects of 
climate change.  

Page 1653



 

 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

No implications directly arising from this report  

 
 
7. Appendices 
 
None 
 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 CAMS Final Nov 2 
 
8.2  Asset transfers of Charlemont and Hurst Road Community Centres, 21 
June 2023 

Page 1654

https://sandwellcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/WorkPlaceVisionTeam/Shared%20Documents/WPV%20-%20FM%20and%20Assets/CAMS/Strategy/CAMS%20FINAL%20NOV%2022.pdf
https://civico.net/sandwell/17654-Cabinet
https://civico.net/sandwell/17654-Cabinet


Document is Restricted

Page 1655

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1679

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1689

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1705

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1707

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1709

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1711

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1713

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1715

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1717

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1721

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Additional Items of Business
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	6 Implications
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers
	04a - Urgent Item - Approval of contract extensions and commencement of procurement – Housing repair and maintenance services Appendix 1
	04 - Oracle Fusion ERP System Implementation Support Partner - SOCITM

	5 Adoption of Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	7 Appendices
	8 Background Papers
	05a - Appendix 1 Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy
	05b - Appendix 2 Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy
	05c - Appendix 3 Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy
	05d - Appendix 4 Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy
	05e - Appendix 5 Implementation Group
	05f - Appendix 6 (Supply and Demand Summary)

	6 Highway Infrastructure Investment Funding Plan
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	6 Implications
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers

	7 Sandwell Children's Trust Annual Review 2022/2023
	1. Recommendations
	2. Reasons for Recommendations
	4. Context and Key Issues
	4.1. The Contract has a comprehensive programme of governance arrangements. The Contract requires that the Executive Director of Children’s Services, together with Council senior officers from finance and legal services, and the Chief Executive of SCT...
	4.4 Since April 2018 SCT has been the subject of seven monitoring visits from Ofsted as well as a focussed visit, three inspection visits of the fostering service, a full inspection under the Ofsted's framework and guidance for inspecting local author...
	5 Alternative Options
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers
	07a - Annual Review 2022-2023

	8 Highway Winter Operational Plan 2023 - 2024
	1 Recommendations
	2 Purpose of the Report
	2.1  The report seeks approval for the policies, service standards and operational arrangements set out in the Winter Maintenance Operational Plan 2023-24.
	3 Reasons for Recommendations
	4 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	5 Context and Key Issues
	6 Alternative Options
	7 Implications
	8. Appendices
	9. Background Papers
	08a - Winter Operational Plan 2023-24
	INDEX
	POLICIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
	QUALITY PLAN
	Forecast Data
	General Arrangements
	Report Sheets
	Summary Action Sheets and Monitoring
	Performance Monitoring

	ROUTE PLANNING
	WEATHER PREDICTION AND INFORMATION
	Weather Forecasting Service
	Road Weather Information System (RWIS)

	ORGANISATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS AND PERSONNEL
	PLANT VEHICLES, EQUIPMENT & FUEL
	SALT AND OTHER DE-ICING MATERIALS
	SALT BIN POLICY
	OPERATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS

	Daily Forecasts
	INFORMATION AND PUBLICITY

	WINTER OPERATIONS - DUTY ENGINEER LOG SHEET
	SALTING - PRINCIPAL ROADS ONLY - ROUTE P1



	9 Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Alliance Agreement
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	6 Implications
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers
	09a - Sandwell Health and Care Partnership Agreement
	Sandwell Health and Care Partnership
	Alliance Agreement (Memorandum of Understanding) (Draft)

	09b - Sandwell Health  Care Partnership Annual Report 22-23 (002)
	09c - SHCP Board TOR_V1.2_July23

	10 Extension of contract for a non-executive director of Sandwell Children's Trust board
	1. Recommendations
	2. Reasons for Recommendations
	2.1. The appointment of the non-Executive Director Stephen Rimmer took effect from 1st November 2017 and was for an initial term of 4 years. The board wishes to secure some continuity of non-executive director following a period that has seen a number...
	2.2. The Council has written to the Secretary of State requesting consent to extend this appointment for a period of up to three years from 1st November 2023. At the time of writing this Cabinet report, DfE officials have confirmed by email that the S...
	2.3. Following the completion of the required process to consult the Secretary of State, and to take into account the response, the Cabinet is now recommended to agree the recommendations set out in this report.
	4. Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers

	11 Quarter 1 Performance Monitoring
	11a - Appendix 1 Corporate Performance Report Q1 2324
	11b - Appendix 2 Q1 Corporate Performance Report Annual PIs
	11c - Appendix 3 SRR September 2023

	12 Sandwell Aquatic Centre Project Closedown Report and Financial Closure
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	5.1 Do nothing- the financial liabilities outlined in section 2 cannot be avoided without significant risk of legal action being brought against the Council by the contractor given that SMBC have already contractually committed to these costs. Legal a...
	6 Implications
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers
	12a - Briefing Note- SAC SLT Contribution 23.05.23

	13 Sandwell Local Plan - Approval to Consult on the Draft Plan
	13a - App A Draft SLP Appendices for Cabinet 181023
	APPENDIX A – Nature Recovery Network and Biodiversity Net Gain
	Black Country Local Nature Recovery Opportunity Map
	Black Country Local Nature Recovery Opportunity Map (draft April 2021)
	Core Landscapes
	Priority Network Restoration Zone
	Core Habitat Zone
	Core Expansion Zone 1
	Core Expansion Zone 2
	Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 1
	Urban Matrix Recovery Zone 2
	National Habitat Network
	Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) – Habitat Bank sites (Policy SNE2)

	APPENDIX B - Sandwell Site Allocations
	Introduction

	Housing Allocations
	APPENDIX C - Employment
	Employment Allocations – vacant land
	APPENDIX D – West Bromwich Masterplan and Carter’s Green Framework Plan
	APPENDIX E - Strategic Waste Sites
	Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities

	APPENDIX F - Minerals
	APPENDIX G – Site allocations - changes
	Changes to existing housing allocations

	APPENDIX H – Rowley Hills
	APPENDIX I – Sandwell Local Plan Housing Trajectory
	APPENDIX J - Sandwell Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy (extract)
	Pitch Sports - Quantitative headline findings
	Quantitative headline findings (non-pitch sports)
	Recommendations for future provision

	APPENDIX K – Open space and play provision standards for development
	Open Space Hierarchy
	APPENDIX L - Transportation Policy
	APPENDIX M – Glossary

	13ai - App A Draft SLP for Cabinet 181023
	Consultation Information
	How to respond
	Additional Support
	Purpose of the document

	Why does Sandwell need a Local Plan?
	What will the Local Plan replace?
	The Context of the Local Plan
	National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
	Duty to Co-operate
	Black Country Strategic Economic Plan
	West Midlands Combined Authority
	Previous consultations on the Sandwell Local Plan
	Black Country Core Strategy
	Sub-regional Context

	Sandwell Spatial Portrait
	Challenges and Issues

	Draft Sandwell Local Plan - contents
	1. Sandwell 2041: Spatial Vision, Priorities and Objectives
	What is driving the Vision for Sandwell?
	Vision for Sandwell
	Priorities and Objectives

	2. Spatial Strategy
	Introduction
	Balanced Green Growth

	3. Development Strategy
	Development Strategy
	Justification
	Regeneration Areas
	Justification
	Regeneration Areas
	WEST BROMWICH AND CARTERS GREEN
	DUDLEY PORT AND TIPTON
	SMETHWICK
	WEDNESBURY
	Towns and Local Areas
	Justification
	Housing renewal
	Placemaking – achieving well-designed places
	Justification
	Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy
	Justification
	Green Belt
	Justification
	Green and Blue Infrastructure
	Justification

	Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy
	Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell
	Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas 
	Policy SDS4 - Achieving Well-designed Places
	Policy SDS5 - Cultural Facilities and the Visitor Economy
	Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt
	Policy SDS7 - Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell
	4. Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment
	Nature Conservation
	Justification
	Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats
	Justification
	Local Nature Recovery Network Strategies (LNRNS)
	Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, Woodlands, And Hedgerows
	Justification
	Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark
	Justification
	The Rowley Hills
	Justification
	Canals in Sandwell
	Justification
	The Historic Environment
	Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
	Justification
	Development in the Historic Environment
	Justification
	Locally Listed Buildings
	Justification
	Archaeology
	Justification

	Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation
	Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats
	Policy SNE3 – Provision, Retention and Protection of Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
	Policy SNE4 - Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark
	Policy SNE5 - The Rowley Hills
	Policy SNE6 – Canals
	Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
	Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment
	Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings
	Policy SHE4 - Archaeology
	5. Climate Change
	Increasing efficiency and resilience
	Justification
	Energy Infrastructure
	Justification
	Heating and hot water systems
	Managing Heat Risk
	Justification
	Flood Risk
	Justification
	Sustainable drainage and surface water management (SuDS)
	Justification
	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards
	Justification


	Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience
	Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure
	Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk
	Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk
	Policy SCC5 - Sustainable drainage and surface water management 
	Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards
	6. Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell
	Introduction
	Linkages between health and the built and natural environment
	Health and Wellbeing
	Health and Wellbeing
	Justification
	Healthcare Infrastructure
	Justification
	Air Quality
	Justification
	Open Spaces and Recreation
	Justification
	Sports and playing fields
	Justification
	Allotments
	Justification

	Policy SHW1– Health Impact Assessments 
	Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure
	Policy SHW3 – Air Quality
	Policy SHW4– Open Space and Recreation
	Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities
	Policy SHW6 - Allotments
	7. Sandwell’s Housing
	Introduction
	Sustainable Housing Growth
	Justification
	Windfall Development
	Justification
	Housing Density, Type and Accessibility
	Justification
	Affordable Housing
	Justification
	Delivering Wheelchair Accessible Homes and Self-build and Custom Housing
	Justification
	Financial Viability Assessments for Housing
	Justification
	Protecting Family Housing
	Justification
	Housing in Multiple Occupation
	Justification
	Exceptional circumstances
	Education Facilities
	Justification
	Accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
	Justification
	Gypsy and Traveller Permanent Pitches
	Travelling Showpeople Plots
	Housing for people with specific needs
	Justification

	Policy SHO1 - Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth 
	Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments
	Policy SHO3 - Housing Density, Type and Accessibility
	Policy SHO4 - Affordable Housing
	Policy SHO5 - Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing
	Policy SHO6 - Financial Viability Assessments for Housing
	Policy SHO7 - Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3) 
	Policy SHO8 - Houses in Multiple Occupation 
	Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities
	Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
	Policy SHO11 - Housing for people with specific needs
	8. Sandwell’s Economy
	Introduction
	Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs
	Justification
	Strategic Employment Areas
	Justification
	Local Employment Areas
	Justification
	Other Employment Sites
	Justification
	Improving Access to the Labour Market
	Justification
	Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses
	Justification

	Policy SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs
	Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas
	Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas
	Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites
	Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market
	Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses
	9. Sandwell’s Centres
	Introduction
	Sandwell’s Centres
	Justification
	Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres
	Justification
	Town Centres (Tier-Two centres)
	Justification
	District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres)
	Justification
	Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres
	Justification
	Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development
	Justification
	Definitions of in, edge and out-of-centre locations and town centre uses
	Town Centre Profiles
	Bearwood
	Background
	Retail and Town Centre Uses

	Blackheath
	Retail and Town Centre Uses

	Cape Hill
	Retail and Town Centre Uses

	Cradley Heath
	Retail and Town Centre Uses

	Great Bridge
	Retail and Town Centre Uses

	Oldbury
	Retail and Town Centre Uses
	Facilities Provision
	Accessibility
	Accessibility – Provision for Cyclists
	Accessibility – Transport Proposals
	Environmental Quality
	Historic Environment Allocations
	Aspirations

	Wednesbury Town
	Retail and Town Centre Uses
	Facilities Provision


	Policy SCE1 - Sandwell's Centres
	Policy SCE2 - Non-E Class Uses in Town Centres 
	Policy SCE3 - Town Centres (Tier-Two centres)
	Policy SCE4 - District and Local Centres (Tier-Three centres)
	Policy SCE5 - Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in Centres
	Policy SCE6 - Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development
	10.  West Bromwich
	Justification
	Delivering the Strategy
	Justification

	Policy SWB1 - West Bromwich Town Centre
	Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich
	11.  Transport
	Introduction
	Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network
	Justification
	Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN)
	Justification
	Managing Transport Impacts of New Development
	Justification
	The Efficient Movement of Freight and Logistics
	Justification
	Cycling and Walking Networks
	Justification
	Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices
	Justification
	Network Management
	Justification
	Parking Management
	Justification
	Planning for Low Emission Vehicles
	Justification
	Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity
	Justification

	Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network
	Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN)
	Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development
	Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight and Logistics
	Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking
	Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices
	Policy STR7 – Network Management
	Policy STR8 – Parking Management
	Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles
	Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation and Digital Connectivity
	12. Infrastructure and Delivery
	Introduction
	Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks
	Justification
	5G Networks
	Justification
	Justification

	Policy SID1 - Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks
	Policy SID2- Mobile Network Infrastructure
	Policy SID3 - Digital Infrastructure / Equipment
	13.  Waste and Minerals
	Waste - Introduction
	Waste Infrastructure – Future Requirements
	Justification
	Expected Changes – Waste Management
	Waste Imports and Exports
	Waste Growth Projections

	‘Capacity Gaps’ and Need for New Waste Infrastructure 2018 – 2041
	Waste Sites
	Justification

	Safeguarding Existing and Planned Waste Sites
	Potential Losses of Waste Management Capacity
	Waste Site Impact Assessments
	Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities
	Justification

	Identification of Preferred Sites
	Identification of Preferred Areas
	Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities
	Justification
	Resource Management and New Development
	Justification
	MINERALS

	Sand and Gravel Supply
	Mineral Safeguarding
	Justification
	Managing the Effects of Mineral Development
	Justification

	General Requirements for Mineral Developments

	Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements
	Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites
	Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities
	Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities
	Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development
	Policy SMI1 - Minerals Safeguarding
	Policy SMI2 - Managing the Effects of Mineral Development
	14. Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy
	Hazardous Installations and Substances
	Justification
	Pollution Control
	Justification
	Land contamination and instability
	Justification

	  Policy SCO1 - Hazardous Installations and Substances
	Policy SCO2 - Pollution Control
	  Policy SCO3 - Land contamination and instability
	15. Development Management
	Design Quality
	Justification
	Development and Design Standards
	Justification
	Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites
	Justification
	Advertisements
	Justification
	Design and Installation of Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters
	Justification
	Hot Food Takeaways
	Justification
	Management of Hot Food Takeaways
	Justification
	Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services
	Justification
	Community Facilities
	Justification
	Telecommunications
	Justification

	Policy SDM1 – Design Quality
	Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards
	Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites 
	Policy SDM4 - Advertisements
	Policy SDM5 - Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters
	Policy SDM6 - Hot Food Takeaways
	Policy SDM7 - Management of Hot Food Takeaways
	Policy SDM8 - Gambling Activities and Alternative Financial Services
	Policy SDM9 - Community Facilities 
	Policy SDM10 - Telecommunications
	Delivery, Monitoring, and Implementation
	Monitoring and Review
	Development Strategy
	Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment
	Climate Change
	Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell
	Sandwell’s Housing
	Sandwell’s Economy
	Sandwell’s Centres
	West Bromwich
	Transport
	Infrastructure and Delivery
	Waste and Minerals
	Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy
	Development Management


	13b - App B Draft SLP Policies map for Cabinet 181023
	13c - App C Draft Sustainability Appraisal Cabinet 181023
	LC-893_Sandwell_R18DraftPlan_FRONT_3_051023GW
	LC-893_Sandwell_SA_Reg18(II)_9_051023LB
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Background
	1.1.1 Sandwell Metropolitan Council (SMBC) are in the process of writing the Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).  As part of this process, a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is being undertaken that incorporates the requirements of Strategic Environmental Assessm...
	1.1.2 The SLP is at the plan making stage known as the ‘Draft Plan’ stage, and follows on from the ‘Issues and Options’ stage.  The purpose of this SA report is to assess the sustainable development implications of proposals presented in the Draft San...
	1.1.3 A wide range of reasonable alternatives have been identified by SMBC during the plan making process.  This includes growth options, spatial options and development sites, as well as a suite of draft policies.  The sustainability appraisal output...
	1.1.4 A sustainability appraisal is a systematic process that must be carried out during the preparation of local plans and spatial development strategies.  Its role is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging p...
	1.1.5 This SA/SEA document follows on from the SA Scoping Report  and the Regulation 18 Issues and Options SA Report , both of which were consulted on with the statutory bodies (Natural England, Historic England and the Environment Agency) and the pub...

	1.2 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough
	1.2.1 Sandwell is a metropolitan borough covering approximately 8,556ha, with a population of 341,900 according to the Census (2021) .  On average, Sandwell has a younger and more ethnically diverse population than the rest of the UK.  Deprivation and...
	1.2.2 Sandwell lies within the Black Country, which is a predominantly urban sub-region of the West Midlands.  The sub-region includes the boroughs of Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and the City of Wolverhampton.  The location of Sandwell is shown in Figur...
	1.2.3 The strategic centre of Sandwell is West Bromwich, with several main towns and centres including Bearwood, Blackheath, Cape Hill, Cradley Heath, Great Bridge, Oldbury and Wednesbury, alongside smaller towns and settlements.  Sandwells towns are ...
	1.2.4 Industry and manufacturing form a key part of Sandwell’s history, which continues in the local economy today as Sandwell is an important centre in particular for retail and wholesale, manufacturing, and health and social care sectors.  Sandwell ...

	1.3 The Sandwell Local Plan
	1.3.1 The Sandwell Local Plan (SLP) will include the overall strategy for development in Sandwell Metropolitan Borough for the plan period 2025 to 2041, including a vision for Sandwell in 2041 and underpinning strategic objectives, and an overall spat...
	1.3.2 The SLP is being prepared by SMBC, following the political decision to cease work on the joint Black Country Plan (BCP) in autumn 2022.  The SLP will carry forward relevant information and evidence prepared as part of the Draft BCP, with specifi...
	1.3.3 The BCP itself began as a review of the adopted Black Country Core Strategy (BCCS), produced by the four Black Country Authorities of Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council, Walsall Council and City of Wolverh...
	1.3.4 Once adopted, the SLP will form part of the statutory development plan for the borough covering a minimum of 15 years, replacing and updating the currently adopted BCCS , Sandwell Site Allocation and Delivery Development Plan Document (SAD) , an...

	1.4 Duty to Cooperate
	1.4.1 The Duty to Cooperate (DtC) was created in the Localism Act 2011  and amends the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  Current national policy places a legal duty on local planning authorities, county councils in England and public bodies ...
	1.4.2 For SMBC, this means that unmet housing and economic land need should be sought to be provided for across the wider Housing Market Area (HMA), Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) and other areas with which Sandwell has a physical or functiona...
	1.4.3 A DtC Statement will be prepared, which will demonstrate how SMBC has fulfilled this duty through the plan-making process.  It is intended to draft and agree Statements of Common Ground with relevant authorities and bodies on key DtC issues at t...
	1.4.4 It should be noted that emerging reforms to planning policy set out the intention to repeal the DtC and replace this with a more flexible ‘alignment test’ .  However, at the time of writing and for the purposes of this stage of the SLP, the curr...

	1.5 Integrated approach to SA and SEA
	1.5.1 The requirements to carry out SA and SEA are distinct, although it is possible to satisfy both obligations using a single appraisal process.
	1.5.2 The European Union Directive 2001/42/EC  (SEA Directive) applies to a wide range of public plans and programmes on land use, energy, waste, agriculture, transport and more (see Article 3(2) of the Directive for other plan or programme types).  T...
	1.5.3 The SEA Directive has been transposed into English law by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004  (SEA Regulations).  Under the requirements of the SEA Directive and SEA Regulations, specific types of plans that se...
	1.5.4 SA is a UK-specific procedure used to appraise the impacts and effects of development plans in the UK.  It is a legal requirement as specified by S19(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  and should be an appraisal of the economic...
	1.5.5 Public consultation is an important aspect of the integrated SA/SEA process.

	1.6 Best Practice Guidance
	1.6.1 Government policy recommends that both SA and SEA are undertaken under a single sustainability appraisal process, which incorporates the requirements of the SEA Regulations.  This can be achieved through integrating the requirements of SEA into ...

	1.7 Sustainability Appraisal
	1.7.1 This document is a component of the SA of the SLP.  It provides an assessment of the likely effects of reasonable alternatives, as per Stage B of Figure 1.2, according to PPG on SA .

	1.8 The SA process so far
	1.8.1 Table 1.1 below presents a timeline of stages of the SLP and SA process so far.  To date, this represents Stages A and B of Figure 1.2.

	1.9 Scoping Report
	1.9.1 In order to identify the scope and level of detail of the information to be included in the SA process, an SA Scoping Report  was produced in January 2023.
	1.9.2 The SA Scoping Report represented Stage A of the SA process (see Figure 1.2), and contains information in relation to:
	1.9.3 The Scoping Report was consulted on between 6th February and 20th March 2023 with the statutory bodies Natural England, Historic England and the Environment Agency as well as the general public.  No specific comments were received regarding the ...

	1.10 Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA
	1.10.1 Through the Issues and Options Consultation, the Council sought to involve local people, businesses and stakeholders in identifying what the emerging SLP should address.  In addition to various questions which seek to gather views from consulte...
	1.10.2 The Regulation 18 Issues and Options SA Report set out an assessment of the draft Vision and Objectives of the emerging SLP.  The SA Report also set out a range of recommendations for SMBC to consider as the SLP is developed and refined, includ...
	1.10.3 The Issues and Options SA Report was consulted on between 6th February and 20th March 2023 with statutory consultees, stakeholders and the general public, alongside the SLP Issues and Options document, and the SA Scoping Report.
	1.10.4 Comments received during the consultation relating to the SA have informed the preparation of this Regulation 18 (II) SA Report.  Table 1.2 summarises the responses received and how these comments have been incorporated into the SA process goin...

	1.11 Signposting for this report
	1.11.1 This Regulation 18 Issues and Preferred Options SA Report sets out an assessment of reasonable alternatives, or ‘options’, set out in the Issues and Preferred Options document prepared by SMBC.  These relate to options for growth and the spatia...
	1.11.2 The appendices of this report provide essential contextual information to the main body of the report.  The contents of this SA Report are listed below:


	2 Assessment methodology and scope of appraisal
	2.1 Assessment of reasonable alternatives
	2.1.1 Each of the reasonable alternatives or options appraised in this report have been assessed for their likely impacts on each SA Objective of the SA Framework.  The SA Framework, which is presented in its entirety in Appendix A, is comprised of 14...
	2.1.2 The SA Framework is comprised of SA Objectives and decision-making criteria.  Acting as yardsticks of sustainability performance, the SA Objectives are designed to represent the topics identified in Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations .  Including...
	2.1.3 It is important to note that the order of SA Objectives in the SA Framework does not infer prioritisation.  The SA Objectives are at a strategic level and can potentially be open-ended.  In order to focus each objective, decision making criteria...
	2.1.4 The purpose of this document is to provide an appraisal of reasonable alternatives, also known as ‘options’, in line with Regulation 12 of the SEA Regulations :
	2.1.5 “Where an environmental assessment is required by any provision of Part 2 of these Regulations, the responsible authority shall prepare, or secure the preparation of, an environmental report … [which] shall identify, describe and evaluate the li...
	2.1.6 At this stage of the plan making process, SMBC have identified options for the levels of housing, Gypsy and Traveller and employment growth, broad spatial strategy options, and reasonable alternative sites.
	2.1.7 This document also provides information in relation to the likely characteristics of effects, as per the SEA Regulations (see Box 2.1).

	2.2 Impact assessment and determination of significance
	2.2.1 Significance of effect is a combination of impact sensitivity and magnitude.  Impact sensitivity can be expressed in relative terms, based on the principle that the more sensitive the resource, the greater the magnitude of the change, and as com...

	2.3 Sensitivity
	2.3.1 Sensitivity has been measured through consideration as to how the receiving environment will be impacted by a plan proposal.  This includes assessment of the value and vulnerability of the receiving environment, whether or not environmental qual...
	2.3.2 A guide to the range of scales used in determining impact sensitivity is presented in Table 2.2.  For most receptors, sensitivity increases with geographic scale.

	2.4 Magnitude
	2.4.1 Magnitude relates to the degree of change the receptor will experience, including the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the impact.  Impact magnitude has been determined on the basis of the susceptibility of a receptor to the...

	2.5 Significant effects
	2.5.1 A single value from Table 2.4 has been allocated to each SA Objective for each reasonable alternative.  Justification for the classification of the impact for each SA objective is presented in an accompanying narrative assessment text for all re...
	2.5.2 The assessment of impacts and subsequent evaluation of significant effects is in accordance with Schedule 2 (6) of the SEA Regulations, where feasible, which states that the effects should include: “short, medium and long-term effects, permanent...
	2.5.3 When selecting a single value to best represent the sustainability performance, and to understand the significance of effects of an option in terms of the relevant SA Objective, the precautionary principle  has been used.  This is a worst-case s...
	2.5.4 For the assessment of reasonable alternative sites, to enable further transparency and to provide the reader with contextual information that is relevant to each SA Objective, the full assessments presented in the SA report appendices have been ...
	2.5.5 The assessment considers, on a strategic basis, the degree to which a location can accommodate change without adverse effects on valued or important receptors (identified in the baseline).
	2.5.6 The level of effect has been categorised as minor or major.  The nature of the significant effect can be either positive or negative depending on the type of development and the design and mitigation measures proposed.
	2.5.7 Each reasonable alternative or option that has been identified in this report has been assessed for its likely significant impact against each SA Objective in the SA Framework, as per Table 2.4.  Likely impacts are not intended to be summed.
	2.5.8 It is important to note that the assessment scores presented in Table 2.4 are high level indicators.  The assessment narrative text should always read alongside the significance scores, and should bear in mind the limitations of assessments of a...

	2.6 Limitations of predicting effects
	2.6.1 SA/SEA is a tool for predicting potential significant effects.  Predicting effects relies on an evidence-based approach and incorporates expert judgement.  It is often not possible to state with absolute certainty whether effects will occur, as ...
	2.6.2 The assessments in this report are based on the best available information, including secondary data that has been provided to Lepus by the Council and information that is publicly available.  Every attempt has been made to predict effects as ac...
	2.6.3 SA operates at a strategic level which uses available secondary data for the relevant SA Objective.  All reasonable alternatives and preferred options are assessed in the same way using the same method.  Sometimes, in the absence of more detaile...
	2.6.4 The assessment of development proposals is limited in terms of available data resources; for example, the appraisal of the SLP is limited in its assessment of carbon emissions, and greater detail of carbon data would help to better quantify effe...

	2.7 Methodology for assessment of growth options and policies
	2.7.1 The appraisal of growth options (housing, employment and Gypsy and Traveller), spatial strategy options and policies aims to assess the likely significant effects of each proposed option / policy, based on the criteria set out in the SEA Regulat...
	2.7.2 Table 2.5 sets out a guide to how likely impacts have been determined in the assessment of options within this report.
	2.7.3 The appraisal commentary provided should be read alongside the identified impact symbols, as it is often difficult to distill the wide-ranging effects of a broad growth option into one overall impact.


	3 Assessment of Housing Growth Options  [to be updated]
	3.1 Preface
	3.1.1 Paragraph 61 of the NPPF states that the minimum number of homes needed in an area should be informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method outlined in PPG , unless the local authority feel that circumstances wa...
	3.1.2 The NPPF also states that “any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas should also be taken into account in establishing the amount of housing to be planned for”.
	3.1.3 As set out in the SLP Spatial Strategy Paper, and according to the government’s standard method calculation, there is a need for approximately 29,773 homes in Sandwell by 2041.  There is an existing supply of 11,194 homes, based on the most rece...
	3.1.4 Sandwell faces challenges in meeting the identified housing needs owing to the finite supply of land suitable for housing.  Given the scale of this unmet need, the Council will explore the potential of exporting some of Sandwell’s housing need t...
	3.1.5 Five options for the quanta of housing growth have been identified by SMBC (see Table 3.1).
	3.1.6 Table 3.2 summarises the likely impacts of each housing growth option in relation to the 14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 3.2 sets out the accompanying assessment narrative which explains how each overall impact was identified.
	3.1.7 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been b...

	3.2 Assessment
	3.2.1 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, seven Scheduled Monuments (SM), nine Conservation Areas (CA) and five Registered Parks and Gardens (RPG).  There are also a range of historic character are...
	3.2.2 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains gently undulating hills and other pockets of undeveloped land.  Green Belt land is located to the north-east of the borough and is bisected by the M5 motorway.  The landscape of the boro...
	3.2.3 There are nine Local Nature Reserves (LNR) within Sandwell, forming key sections of the ecological network within the SLP area in addition to the numerous Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and Sites of Local Importance for Natur...
	3.2.4 There is potential for all of the proposed options to have an adverse impact on biodiversity and geodiversity at the landscape scale due to the increased pressure and threats associated with increased development, such as habitat fragmentation r...
	3.2.5 The two largest sources of CO2 emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road transport, however, according to Sandwell Trends, in 2021 almost 30% of households within the borough did not own a car .  Investments in public transport...
	3.2.6 All housing options propose a large quantum of new dwellings which would have the potential to increase CO2 and other GHG emissions to some extent through construction and occupation phases.  Option 1 proposes the fewest number of new dwellings ...
	3.2.7 The potential of new development under any growth option to draw on renewable or low-carbon energy supplies is not known at this stage of assessment.
	3.2.8 Given its mostly urban setting, Sandwell is likely to suffer from the ‘urban heat island’ effect which may be made worse by new development in the borough.  Green infrastructure (GI) and open spaces can help urban areas adapt to climate change, ...
	3.2.9 Sandwell is affected by flooding along the River Tame the River Stour and by surface water flooding with all six wards having been affected by previous flooding events.  The introduction of new dwellings and impermeable surfaces can exacerbate s...
	3.2.10 Overall, as the location and site context of the proposed new dwellings is not known at this time the potential impacts of the housing growth options on climate change adaptation are uncertain.
	3.2.11 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north east of the borough.  Development within the urban area would n...
	3.2.12 As the location of the proposed new homes are not currently known the exact impact the different options will have on natural resources within the borough cannot be fully determined, but whilst the options may have a negligible effect on MSAs i...
	3.2.13 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations .  Where people live in more urban settings their potential exposure to air pollution is greater tha...
	3.2.14 Soil and water pollution impacts will depend on the nature, scale and location of developments which are unknown.  Overall, all housing options would be expected to increase pollution to some extent both through construction and occupation so a...
	3.2.15 It is expected that all options for housing growth would increase household waste production.  In 2018 the per person rate for waste in Sandwell was 593kg, higher than the national average, 394kg per person .  Although national trends suggest t...
	3.2.16 It can be expected that the higher the proposed housing number the higher the number of new residents, as such it would be likely that Options 4 and 5, with the highest numbers of proposed new dwellings, would increase the waste production the ...
	3.2.17 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport providing links regionally and nationally.  Accessible public transport links are key to sustainable development and are an important consideration when deciding the location of pot...
	3.2.18 Within Sandwell there is an identified need for 29,773 homes by 2041; Option 5 meets this requirement and consequently would be likely to have a major positive impact on housing provision.  Options 1, 2, 3 and 4 would not deliver enough homes t...
	3.2.19 At this scale of assessment, it is uncertain what the likely contribution of each housing growth option to meeting the different needs of the population on housing mix, provision of extra care housing, accessible housing and affordable homes wo...
	3.2.20 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in Sandwell ranked among the 10% most deprived in England .  Residential growth in urban areas could potentially help facilitate social inclusion by providing new...
	3.2.21 However, as Options 1, 2, 3 and 4 would not deliver enough homes to meet the identified need, these four options could also put pressure on housing and rental costs, which could lead to issues with poorer quality accommodation and overcrowding,...
	3.2.22 Residents in Sandwell have relatively good access to health facilities with 73 healthcare centres  and Sandwell General Hospital located in the borough.  The majority of the urban area has good pedestrian and public transport access to healthca...
	3.2.23 Whilst the locations of the proposed new dwellings are not known, it is likely that Option 1 would have the least impact on health services and green spaces as it proposes the fewest number of homes, although still potentially leading to a mino...
	3.2.24 The options considered in this assessment focus on housing growth only.  It is assumed that future housing development would not result in the loss of existing employment floorspace.
	3.2.25 The highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the borough and along key transport routes.  Housing growth within these areas, and the urban area in general, would be expected to provide residents with good ...
	3.2.26 Within Sandwell there are 98 primary schools and 20 secondary schools .  It is assumed that new residents in the SLP area will require access to primary and secondary education to help facilitate good levels of education, skills and qualificati...

	3.3 Conclusion
	3.3.1 It is generally expected that the options proposing larger numbers of houses would be more likely to lead to adverse effects when analysed against environmental objectives, but that they would perform better against economic objectives.  The con...
	3.3.2 For the impact of each option to be fully understood details of the size, location and nature of the developments are required, as these options focus on quanta alone and the assessments are necessarily high level with restricted diagnostic conc...
	3.3.3 Across all of the SA Objectives it appears that generally Option 1 would have the smallest impact, and so could be described as best performing, but this option falls short of meeting the housing need and so would also be likely to have the lowe...

	3.4 Selection and Rejection
	3.4.1 XXX


	4 Assessment of Employment Growth Options
	4.1 Preface
	4.1.1 Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that “significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development”, whilst PPG indicates that ...
	4.1.2 Sandwell is located within the Black Country Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) which also covers the local authorities of Dudley, Walsall and Wolverhampton.  The Black Country Economic Development Needs Assessment (EDNA) and Black Country E...
	1.1.1
	4.1.3 Three options for the quanta of employment growth have been identified by SMBC (see Table 4.1).
	4.1.4 Table 4.2 summarises the likely impacts of each employment growth option in relation to the 14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 4.2 sets out the accompanying assessment narrative which explains how each overall impact was identified.
	4.1.5 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been b...

	4.2 Assessment
	4.2.1 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, seven SMs, nine CAs and five RPGs.  There are also a range of historic character areas and areas of historic townscape / landscape value identified within ...
	4.2.2 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains undeveloped areas including Green Belt to the north-east of the borough.  The landscape of the borough’s Green Belt is largely described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development...
	4.2.3 Whilst the specific location and context of the proposed employment sites for Options B and C are unknown, it is likely that development outside of the existing development boundaries would be required to some extent, leading to a potential nega...
	4.2.4 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authoritie...
	4.2.5 Urban areas can support distinctive habitats, species, ecological links and GI, and there may be some loss of previously undeveloped land or brownfield land with ecological value within the urban area with these three options.  However, Option A...
	4.2.6 It should be noted that biodiversity net gain provisions and other policy requirements may help to reduce or offset these adverse effects to some extent and result in positive longer term effects, however at the landscape scale this level of gro...
	4.2.7 It is likely that all three options would have the potential to increase carbon emissions during the construction and occupation of the employment sites.  As the location of employment growth under each option is not known, the potential for emp...
	4.2.8 As the location of the employment sites for each option is not known the impacts they may have on flooding is uncertain, although Option A utilises existing vacant employment land which is likely to be situated within the existing urban area.  H...
	4.2.9 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north east of the borough.  BMV land would not be lost if development ...
	4.2.10 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough .  Commuting to employment sites may increase air pollution, however as the locat...
	4.2.11 It is expected that employment growth would also equate to increased waste production both in quantity and range of waste types produced.  As the specific site locations and the proposed nature of the developments are unknown it is uncertain wh...
	4.2.12 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport infrastructure, providing links regionally and nationally.  Transport is an enabler of economic activity, and employment sites within or close to existing urban settings would poten...
	4.2.13 This assessment considers employment growth options.  It is expected that housing provision would not be affected either by the loss of existing housing or compromised housing delivery from these employment growth options.  Consequently, a negl...
	4.2.14 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 10% most deprived in England .  Employment growth in urban areas could potentially help facilitate social inclusion increasing accessibility to key services and...
	4.2.15 As the specific site context and proximity to receptors of the proposed employment land is unknown at this stage, there is some uncertainty regarding the potential impacts of all employment growth options on equality.
	4.2.16 Although Option A would direct growth to vacant employment land, potentially helping to promote redevelopment, this option would not meet the identified employment need in the borough and would be more likely to lead to a minor negative impact ...
	4.2.17 The location of employment development under each growth option is not known but it is not expected to affect the provision of healthcare facilities.
	4.2.18 Parks and green spaces are important for human health, 24% of Sandwell is made up of green space .  The three employment options could potentially place more pressure on these green spaces either through increased use or pressure to utilise gre...
	4.2.19 Sandwell lies within the Black Country FEMA.  In Sandwell, the highest density of existing employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the borough and along key transport routes.  Employment development near existing employment...
	4.2.20 It is expected that employment development would not impact the provision of or access to schools.  There is potential for the employment development to provide opportunities to develop skills, provide training, and potentially jobs or apprenti...

	4.3 Conclusion
	4.3.1 There is uncertainty regarding the exact impacts the employment growth options would have owing to the unknown scale and nature of the developments, and the options can act differently against each of the SA Objectives meaning identifying a clea...

	4.4 Selection and Rejection
	4.4.1 XXX


	5 Assessment of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Growth Options
	5.1 Preface
	5.1.1 In accordance with the national planning policy for traveller sites , Gypsies and Travellers (G&T) are defined as “Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their f...
	5.1.2 Travelling Showpeople (TS) are defined as “Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family...
	5.1.3 The Black Country Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) assessed accommodation needs for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople across Sandwell and the wider Black Country.  The GTAA (2022) identified a need for 14 pithces a...
	1.1.1
	5.1.4 Three options for Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople growth have been identified by SMBC (see Table 5.1).
	5.1.5 Table 5.2 summarises the likely impacts of each Gypsy and Traveller growth option in relation to the 14 SA Objectives.  The text within section 5.2 sets out the accompanying assessment narrative which explains how each overall impact was identif...
	5.1.6 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been b...

	5.2 Assessment
	5.2.1 Within Sandwell there are two Grade I, eight Grade II* and 195 Grade II Listed Buildings, seven SMs, nine CAs and five RPGs.  There are also a range of historic character areas and areas of historic townscape / landscape value identified within ...
	5.2.2 Although the borough is highly urbanised, it also contains undeveloped areas including Green Belt to the north-east of the borough.  The landscape of the borough’s Green Belt is largely described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development...
	5.2.3 The location and context of the proposed G&T/TS development is unknown, but it is likely that some development outside of the existing development boundaries would be necessary leading to a potential negative impact on the landscape.  Adverse ef...
	5.2.4 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authoritie...
	5.2.5 The locations and site-specific characteristics of the development under the different options are not known.  There is potential for a minor negative impact on biodiversity as it is likely that previously undeveloped land may need to be utilise...
	5.2.6 The two largest sources of emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road transport, however it is not clear how G&T pitches and TS plots relate to these domestic emissions when compared to ‘brick and mortar’ dwellings.  Sandwell su...
	5.2.7 As the location of the proposed pitches/plots are not known, the effect they will have on flooding is uncertain.  An increase in impermeable ground can lead to increased surface water flooding but this can be mitigated by use of adaptive technol...
	5.2.8 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small pockets of ‘non-agricultural’ land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north east of the borough.  BMV agricultural land would not be lost if...
	5.2.9 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough .  New development within the AQMA may lead to increased pollution levels from inc...
	5.2.10 Whilst it is difficult to estimate exactly how much waste a G&T pitch or TS plot creates it is expected that an increase in the number of pitches/plots would create an increase in the amount of waste produced.  As such it is likely that Option ...
	5.2.11 The locations of the proposed pitches/plots are currently not known but it is likely that they would be able to access the existing good public transport network in Sandwell.  This public transport network would enable residents to access facil...
	5.2.12 The level of growth proposed under Option A would only meet a proportion of the identified Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson accommodation need, so would have a minor positive impact on provision of housing for the community.  Optio...
	5.2.13 The growth options seek to contribute towards the identified accommodation requirements for G&T/TS which would be likely to have a positive effect on meeting the accommodation needs of this ethnic group.  Option C seeks to meet all identified n...
	5.2.14 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 10% most deprived in England .  Growth in urban areas could potentially increase social inclusion; however, it could also exacerbate existing inequalities and p...
	5.2.15 Residents in Sandwell generally have good access to health facilities and much of the urban area has good pedestrian and public transport access to healthcare.  The location of the proposed G&T/TS development is unknown, but it is likely that t...
	5.2.16 Green space makes up 24% of the land use in Sandwell ; as such, it is likely that any G&T/TS pitches/plots would be able to access green spaces which is important for health and wellbeing.  However, it is likely that Option C would place the mo...
	5.2.17 In Sandwell, the highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the borough and along key transport routes.  It is not known where the proposed pitches/plots are to be sited but it is likely that there would be ...
	5.2.18 The location of the pitches/plots are currently unknown so the proximity to existing schools and education facilities, and as such the level of sustainable accessibility to these services, is uncertain.  The Council should seek to ensure that n...

	5.3 Conclusion
	5.3.1 It can be difficult to determine an overall best performing option as the performance of each option depends on the SA Objective under consideration, however, it is possible to identify the best option for specific SA Objectives.  It appears Opt...
	5.3.2 Consequently, Option A could be identified as best performing overall as it provides a proportion of both the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson needs but also has potential for less adverse impacts across the other SA Objectives.  Al...

	5.4 Selection and Rejection
	1.1.1 Reflecting on the SA findings (as set out in section 5.3) and SMBC’s objectives for the emerging SLP, the Council consider that “Option B remains the most realistic option however – it delivers the required five-year supply and in the absence of...
	5.4.1


	6 Assessment of Spatial Growth Options
	6.1 Preface
	6.1.1 The spatial strategy will dictate where new growth would be allocated in Sandwell for the Plan period to 2041.
	6.1.2 Given Sandwell’s highly urbanised nature with very little vacant or unused open spaces, and the importance of the existing open and green spaces for environmental and human health, the Council is limited in the number of approaches it can take t...
	6.1.3 Four Spatial Growth Options have been identified by SMBC, as set out in Table 6.1.  These options consider how the overall number of homes and area of employment land (and other types of land use where applicable) could be strategically distribu...
	6.1.4 Each option has been assessed using the SA Framework and summary findings are presented in Table 6.2.  Full explanations and reasonings behind each score are set out for each SA Objective in section 6.2.
	6.1.5 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been b...

	6.2 Assessment
	6.2.1 All spatial growth options A, B, C, and D state they will “protect the historic and archaeological environment and areas with geological and landscape value” which could help to conserve the historic landscape character and heritage assets of th...
	6.2.2 In particular, Option D promotes higher density development which could increase the potential for adverse effects on the historic environment.  Although, the intention to “redevelop areas of existing older housing” under Option D could potentia...
	6.2.3 Option C includes a focus on economic growth and seeks to ensure development has regard to areas with industrial design and archaeological interest, which could potentially help to strengthen the sense of place and local identity.
	6.2.4 There is potential for all the options to have an impact on the setting of heritage assets as they all propose development within the urban area to a greater or lesser extent, as such the all the options could have a minor negative impact with O...
	6.2.5 The landscape character of the borough is described as low or low-moderate sensitivity to development with one area of moderate-high sensitivity, open landscapes within the borough are important for maintaining separation between settlements and...
	6.2.6 Option A would promote growth in existing residential and employment areas, encouraging new developments on previously developed land and examines the potential of utilising vacant or underused land or sites within the urban areas.  Option B res...
	6.2.7 Option D would focus growth within existing residential and employment areas of Sandwell utilising previously developed sites and examine the potential for housing development on vacant or underused open spaces or undeveloped land within the urb...
	6.2.8 Whilst all the options aim to promote development within the existing urban area, Options A, C and D propose using underused open space within the urban area which may lead to a minor negative impact on the local landscape character.  Option B r...
	6.2.9 Within Sandwell there are nine LNRs, forming key sections of the ecological network within the SLP area in addition to the numerous SINCs and SLINCs.  There are no SSSIs or NNRs within the borough, but both are present in neighbouring authoritie...
	6.2.10 The locations of the proposed sites within the four spatial growth options are not known so their exact impact on nearby biodiversity sites is uncertain, but the options do describe their approach to biodiversity which enables comparison.  Opti...
	6.2.11 Both Options C and D aim to protect areas of designated habitat or ecological value, but could also lead to the loss of open spaces and undeveloped land within the urban area which although would not be of significant ecological value could cum...
	6.2.12 All options aim to protect the environment to some extent, although Option B is likely to be the best performing with regard to biodiversity as it aims to protect existing open spaces and areas of ecological value but also intends to create new...
	6.2.13 The two largest sources of emissions in Sandwell are residential buildings and on-road transport however, according to Sandwell Trends, in 2021 almost 30% of households within the borough did not own a car .  Investments in public transport, wa...
	6.2.14 Option A aims to make improvements to or allowances for climate change within existing residential and employment sites.
	6.2.15 Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, building techniques, materials and technologies in all new developments and redevelop existing housing and employment areas to deliver cleaner and more energy efficient growth.  Thi...
	6.2.16 Option C promotes the co-location of housing with existing and proposed employment areas, which could help to reduce the need to travel to work and encourage the use of sustainable travel options.  However, as this option does not include speci...
	6.2.17 Option D would aim to redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density and energy efficient new housing, centred around public transport hubs.  This could include retrofitting the existing building stock in the borough, furth...
	6.2.18 Options A, and D help to promote climate change mitigation and as such have a minor positive impact.  Option B is likely to be the best performing against climate change mitigation as it proposes the most modifications and technologies within n...
	6.2.19 Given its mostly urban setting, Sandwell is likely to suffer from the ‘urban heat island’ effect which may be made worse by new development in the borough.  GI and open spaces can help urban areas adapt to climate change, by providing protectio...
	6.2.20 Sandwell is affected by flooding along the River Tame the River Stour and by surface water flooding with all six wards having been affected by previous flooding events.  The introduction of new dwellings and impermeable surfaces can exacerbate ...
	6.2.21 Option A aims to make improvements to or allowances for climate change within existing residential and employment sites which would likely help adaptation to climate change.  Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, buildi...
	6.2.22 Option D would aim to redevelop areas of existing older housing to provide higher density and energy efficient new housing, with benefits to climate change adaptation and potentially reduced overall land-take compared to Options A and C, result...
	6.2.23 Option B would be the best performing against climate change adaptation as it proposes the greatest focus on climate change adaptation and technologies within new developments, as well as conserving and enhancing GI, to help combat the effects ...
	6.2.24 The majority of land within Sandwell is classified as ALC ‘urban’, although there are small pockets of non-agricultural land and a small amount of Grade 3 and 4 land in the north east of the borough.  There are no MSAs present in Sandwell.
	6.2.25 All the Options A, B, C and D propose to keep new development within the existing urban area as such they would not be expected to impact BMV agricultural land within the borough.  All options also promote the use of previously developed land. ...
	6.2.26 Option B only proposes to utilise brownfield and previously developed sites for development.  As such Option B could be described as the best performing and would be likely to have an overall minor positive impact on natural resources.
	6.2.27 Sandwell has a borough-wide AQMA, and for several years nitrogen dioxide concentrations have exceeded legal limits in seven monitoring stations across the borough .  New development within the AQMA may lead to increased pollution levels from in...
	6.2.28 Option A aims to make improvements to the capacity of existing residential and employment areas with regard to the environment, climate change and accessibility, which may help to reduce pollution levels by promoting public transport and implem...
	6.2.29 Option B would promote the use of zero and low-carbon designs, building techniques, materials and technologies in new developments to help reduce emissions during the construction and occupation phases.  This option would also allocate housing ...
	6.2.30 Option C would locate new housing and associated services, facilities and infrastructure to serve existing and proposed employment areas, which may help to reduce the need to travel, particularly commuting by private vehicle, and so reduce pote...
	6.2.31 Despite the provisions within Options A, C and D to minimise the generation of pollution, overall, these developments would still introduce new development within an AQMA and lead to an increase in traffic to some extent.  A minor negative impa...
	6.2.32 It is expected that any new development either housing or employment would create additional waste, potentially in both quantity and range of waste types produced.  There is not sufficient information available to accurately predict the effect ...
	6.2.33 Option A would locate new development in areas where existing infrastructure has capacity or where capacity has been improved to accommodate the new development which is expected to include utilities and waste infrastructure as such Option A wo...
	6.2.34 Option B emphasises the use of sustainable construction including building techniques and materials and would ensure all development uses previously developed and brownfield land.  These principles would be likely to help minimise waste from th...
	6.2.35 Option C would locate new housing and services, facilities and infrastructure to serve existing and proposed development sites.  However, the focus on employment growth under Option C also means that this option could lead to a larger amount or...
	6.2.36 Option D would promote higher densities of development and include the use of tall buildings.  Higher densities of development could place increased demand on local waste management systems due to larger quantities and more diverse waste being ...
	6.2.37 Option A appears to be the best performing option with regard to waste as it proposes to locate development in areas with existing infrastructure capacity or where capacity has been improved to support development.
	6.2.38 Sandwell is well served by a dense network of public transport providing links regionally and nationally.  Accessible public transport links are key to sustainable development and as transport is an enabler of economic activity, employment site...
	6.2.39 Option A proposes to take advantage of existing and improved infrastructure to enable development on sites to be maximised.  Option B aims to allocate housing in areas with high levels of sustainable transport to provide residents with sustaina...
	6.2.40 All the options propose to site new development in locations where the existing public transport network can be utilised, with a likely minor positive impact on transport and accessibility for Options A, C and D.  Of the four options, Option B ...
	6.2.41 Within Sandwell there has been an identified need for 29,773 homes over the period 2021-39.  Whilst the spatial growth options describe housing locations they do not quantify housing numbers for each option and so the extent to which they could...
	6.2.42 Option A proposes to focus most new growth within the existing residential and employment areas on previously developed land and utilising existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise developments.  Option B aims to restrict develo...
	6.2.43 All the options propose new housing development but focused on different areas of Sandwell, leading to a minor positive impact on housing provision.  Option D is likely to be the best performing with regard to housing as it has the largest focu...
	6.2.44 Deprivation is high across the SLP area, with 36 LSOAs in Sandwell ranked among the 10% most deprived in England .  Options A, B, C and D propose growth in urban areas which could potentially help facilitate social inclusion increasing accessib...
	6.2.45 Option A proposes to focus new development in existing housing and employment areas delivering most new development on previously developed land and taking advantage of existing and improved infrastructure capacity to maximise development.  Opt...
	6.2.46 On balance, mixed effects could occur as a result of Options B, C and D with an uncertain impact recorded, whereas Option A is more likely to lead to a minor positive impact overall.
	6.2.47 Option A is likely to be the best performing option with regard to equality, because it balances housing, employment and utilising existing and improved infrastructure.
	6.2.48 Residents in Sandwell have generally good access to health facilities with 73 healthcare centres  and Sandwell General Hospital located in the borough, and the majority of the urban area has good pedestrian and public transport access to health...
	6.2.49 All the spatial growth options seek to take advantage of existing facilities by directing the majority of new development to the existing urban areas where healthcare provisions are most concentrated.  Options B and D aim to locate new developm...
	6.2.50 Option B could be identified as the best performing overall as it allocates housing near transport links to residential services including healthcare and does not consider use of previously undeveloped open space within the urban areas, instead...
	6.2.51 In Sandwell, the highest density of employment locations can be found in the centre and north of the borough and along key transport routes.
	6.2.52 Option A aims to focus most new growth within the existing residential and employment areas, where sustainable transport options would be the best.  Similarly, Option B proposes to locate new employment land near to good sustainable and public ...
	6.2.53 Option C focuses on economic growth, aiming to retain, enhance and promote all types of employment land, intensify the use of employment land through redevelopment and redesign and locate new housing and services to serve employment sites.  A m...
	6.2.54 Option D aims to deliver growth in existing residential and employment areas, and reallocate areas identified as employment land for additional housing development which could compromise employment land targets and lead to a minor negative impa...
	6.2.55 Option C is identified as the best performing with regard to the economy.
	6.2.56 The extent to which all spatial options would facilitate good access to education for new residents is almost entirely dependent on the specific location of the development, which is uncertain given the broad locations set out in the spatial gr...
	6.2.57 Option B aims to only locate new residential development in areas with the highest levels of sustainable access to services, including schools, a minor positive impact is recorded for this option.  Whilst Option D promotes the highest housing d...
	6.2.58 Overall, Option D would likely be best performing with regard to education, skills and training owing to the provision of sustainable access to schools and addressing capacity gaps.

	6.3 Conclusion
	6.3.1 It is difficult to determine an overall best performing spatial option as the performance of each option varies depending on the SA Objective in question.  Generally, options which perform better against economic needs put the most pressure on e...
	6.3.2 Overall, it appears Option B performs best against the largest number of SA Objectives, it reduces the impacts on the environment whilst providing residential and employment growth.  However, it is not clear exactly what level of growth this opt...

	6.4 Selection and Rejection
	6.4.1 Reflecting on the SA findings and SMBC’s objectives for the emerging SLP, the Council consider that:
	6.4.2 “No single option would have no adverse environmental or sustainability impact; however, it is clear from the summary assessment that two options (Housing-led and Employment-led) would not support the balanced and sustainable mix of development ...
	6.4.3 This will deliver what we are referring to as the Balanced Green Growth option for the delivery of development in Sandwell. It will allow us to provide a significant quantum of housing and additional employment opportunities in the borough while...


	7 Assessment of policies
	7.1 Preface
	7.1.1 The SLP will contain strategic and non-strategic planning policies and allocations to support the growth and regeneration of Sandwell up to 2041.  The SLP Draft Plan Regulation 18 Consultation document presents a suite of draft policies for incl...
	7.1.2 Many of the proposed SLP policies are derived from the ceased Draft BCP.  A total of 63 policies were set out in the Draft BCP and were consulted on as part of the BCP process, before the decision was made to end work on the BCP in October 2022....
	7.1.3 SMBC have considered the extent to which each of the draft BCP policies and adopted SAD policies remain relevant and applicable to the SLP area, in light of consultation responses received during the BCP Regulation 18 consultation, and in the co...
	7.1.4 The relevant existing policies have been updated and together with a number of new policies prepared for the SLP, this has resulted in a total of 87 policies identified and presented within the Draft SLP Regulation 18 Consultation document.  The...
	7.1.5 The sustainability performance of each draft policy has been evaluated based on the SA Framework (see Appendix A) and the methodology as set out in Chapter 2.  The assessments are set out in full within Appendix D.  This chapter summarises the r...

	7.2 Overview of Policy Assessments
	7.2.1 The impact matrix for all policy assessments is presented in Table 7.1.  These impacts should be read in conjunction with the assessment text narratives in Appendix D.
	7.2.2 The proposed SLP policies seek to support the delivery of sustainable growth within Sandwell.  The policies will help to ensure that potential adverse impacts on sustainability identified as a result of the development proposed within the SLP ar...
	7.2.3 The SLP policies cover the themes of:
	7.2.4 For the majority of policies, the assessment has identified negligible, minor positive or major positive effects.  Negligible impacts are identified where the policy does not directly influence the achievement of that SA Objective, which is the ...
	7.2.5 A greater range of sustainability effects is identified for policies that have potential to introduce new development, for example, the housing and economy policies.  As such, uncertain impacts have been identified for certain SA Objectives as a...
	7.2.6 Some policies, such as the development strategy policies, set out the broad direction for growth.  As such, minor negative impacts have been identified for certain SA Objectives as a result of some policies in these sections, owing to the potent...
	7.2.7 The full assessments, including text narrative to explain the identified impacts against each SA Objective, are set out in Appendix D.
	7.2.8 Opportunities for enhancement may also be secured through policies in the SLP.  Where there are opportunities to improve the sustainability performance of draft policies these have been identified in SA process (see XXX).


	8 Assessment of reasonable alternative development sites
	8.1 Preface
	8.1.1 The Black Country Call for Sites request first opened in July 2017 and re-opened from 9th July – 20th August 2020 .  SMBC have carried out annual SHLAAs of sites within which have the potential to accommodate new housing development.
	8.1.2 SMBC have undertaken a filtering process (or ‘gateway check’) of all potential sites identified through the evidence base in order to determine which sites should be considered as reasonable alternatives for the purpose of the SA.
	8.1.3 If the following receptors were obviously present at a site, the Council have generally rejected such sites from inclusion as a reasonable alternative to be appraised through the SA process:
	8.1.4 Identification of a site as a reasonable alternative does not imply that the site is not subject to other constraints or indeed that any receptor listed in para 8.1.3 will not in some way be potentially affected by a reasonable alternative site....
	8.1.5 SMBC have identified a total of 121 reasonable alternative sites, which are listed in Table 8.1.  Some sites have been identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses, or mixed uses.

	1.1
	8.2 Overview of Site Assessments (Pre-Mitigation)
	8.2.1 Chapter 2 sets out the methodology used to appraise reasonable alternatives and options in the SA process, and topic-specific methodologies for the assessment of reasonable alternative sites in Appendix B sets out how the likely impact per recep...
	8.2.2 The assessment of the 121 reasonable alternative sites, including rationale for the recorded impacts, is presented in full in Appendix C.
	8.2.3 A summary of the impact matrices for all reasonable alternative site assessments pre-mitigation is presented in Table 8.2.  These impacts should be read in conjunction with the assessment text narratives in Appendix C as well as the topic specif...
	8.2.4 It should be noted that the site assessments include an overall impact symbol, summarised in Table 2.4, for each of the 14 SA Objectives.  Appendix C documents likely impacts on receptors within each SA Objective, which have been included to pro...
	8.2.5 Each appraisal includes a SA impact matrix which provides an indication of the nature and magnitude of impacts pre-mitigation.  All assessment information excludes consideration of detailed mitigation i.e. additional detail or modification to th...
	8.2.6 The appraisal of the 121 reasonable alternative sites demonstrated that all development proposals would be likely to result in a range of sustainability impacts as shown in Table 8.2.

	8.3 Mitigation
	8.3.1 The sustainability appraisal of 121 reasonable alternative sites against baseline sustainability information has identified a number of adverse effects associated with the SA Objectives in the SA Framework (see Table 8.2).  The purpose of this s...
	8.3.2 The first stage of the mitigation hierarchy is to consider if the adverse effect can be avoided. This may be possible by withdrawing the potential site allocation.
	8.3.3 For allocations which are likely to remain on the basis that the plan makers consider their inclusion to be necessary, mitigation measures should be explored to reduce the overall significance of effect. If it is not possible to mitigate identif...
	8.3.4 One way to reduce adverse impacts identified against baseline receptors is to consider the potential mitigating effects of planning policies.
	8.3.5 Aspects of the policies within the draft SLP (see Appendix D), would be anticipated to help ensure that potential adverse impacts on sustainability identified as a result of the development proposed within the SLP, are avoided.
	8.3.6 Tables 8.3 to 8.15 list the identified adverse impacts according to SA Objective that could potentially arise following development at the 121 reasonable alternative sites.  The table then goes on to list which, if any, of the draft SLP policies...

	8.4 Selection and Rejection of Sites
	8.4.1 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on SEA states that the SA process should outline the reasons why alternatives were selected and the reasons the rejected options were not taken forward.  An overview of the reasons for site selection and rejectio...
	8.4.2 Table 8.16 is intended to provide an overview only.  The decision making of the Council in relation to the sites taken forward reflects the findings of the evidence base documents prepared to support the preparation of the SLP, including the fin...


	1
	1
	1
	9 Conclusions and next steps
	9.1 Consultation on the Regulation 18 (II) SA Report
	9.1.1 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report is subject to consultation with statutory consultees, stakeholders and the general public alongside the Draft SLP.
	9.1.2 This report represents the latest stage of the SA process.  The SA process will take on board any comments on this report and use them to inform future SA outputs.
	9.1.3 Once SMBC have reviewed Regulation 18 Draft Plan consultation comments and have begun preparing the next version of the SLP (Regulation 19 stage), preparation of an Environmental Report will being, also known as a full SA report.  The Environmen...

	9.2 Responding to the consultation
	9.2.1 This Regulation 18 (II) SA Report will be published by SMBC for consultation alongside the Draft SLP.  Consultation findings will be used to inform subsequent stages of the SA process.
	9.2.2 All responses on this consultation exercise should be sent to:



	LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_A_SA_Framework_3_051023LB
	LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_B_Site Assessment Methodology_9_051023LB
	B.1 Overview
	B.1.1 The purpose of this appendix
	B.1.1.1 This appendix provides additional context to Chapter 2 of the main Regulation 18 (II) SA Report regarding the methodology used to assess reasonable alternative sites within the emerging Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).
	B.1.1.2 Topic-specific methodologies have been established which reflect the differences between the SA Objectives and how different receptors should be considered in the appraisal process for reasonable alternative sites.  There are also a number of ...
	B.1.1.3 The topic-specific methodologies set out in Boxes B.2.1 to B.15.3 explain how the likely impact per receptor has been identified in line with the local context and the impact symbols presented in Table 2.4 within the main Regulation 18 (II) SA...
	B.1.1.4 All distances stated in site assessments are measured ‘as the crow flies’ from the closest point of the site/receptor in question, unless otherwise stated.
	B.1.1.5 Appendix C sets out the detailed appraisal of each reasonable alternative site proposed.  The appraisal evaluates the likely significant effects of each reasonable alternative against the 14 SA Objectives, using the methodology as set out in t...
	B.1.1.6 The level of detail that can be expressed through the SA assessments depends on the level of detail provided associated with the part of the plan in question.


	B.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural heritage
	B.2.1 Introduction and context
	B.2.1.1 Boxes B.2.1 to B.2.8 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 1: Cultural heritage.
	B.2.1.2 Impacts on heritage assets will be largely determined by the specific layout and design of development proposals, as well as the nature and significance of the heritage asset.  There is a risk of adverse effects occurring, some of which may be...
	B.2.1.3 Adverse impacts are recorded for options which have the potential to have an adverse impact on sensitive heritage designations, including Grade I, II* and II Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments (SM), Registered Parks and Gardens (RPG), and C...
	B.2.1.4 It is assumed that where a designated heritage asset coincides with a site proposal, the heritage asset will not be lost as a result of development (unless otherwise specified in the Local Plan).  Development which could potentially be discord...
	B.2.1.5 Heritage assets identified on Historic England's Heritage at Risk Register may be identified as being at risk for a number of reasons, for example, due to dilapidation of the building fabric or other sources of risk such as coastal erosion, cu...
	B.2.1.6 It should be noted that not all of Sandwell’s historic environment resource and heritage assets are subject to statutory designations; non-designated features comprise a significant aspect of heritage, which is often experienced on a daily bas...
	B.2.1.7 It is anticipated that SMBC will require a Heritage Statement or Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment to be prepared to accompany future planning applications, where appropriate.

	B.2.2 Cultural heritage receptors

	B.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape
	B.3.1 Introduction and context
	B.3.1.1 Box B.3.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 2: Landscape.
	B.3.1.2 Impacts on landscape are often determined by the specific layout and design of development proposals, as well as the site-specific landscape circumstances, as experienced on the ground.  Detailed designs for each development proposal are uncer...
	B.3.1.3 Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) lies approximately 14km to the north of Sandwell Borough at its closest point.  Given this distance, there is unlikely to be any significant adverse effects on the special qualities of th...
	B.3.1.4 There is no evidence available to inform the SA assessments with regard to the landscape character or sensitivity of Sandwell’s urban areas.  Information relating to the historic environment, including the Historic Landscape Characterisation a...

	B.3.2 Landscape receptors

	B.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity
	B.4.1 Introduction and context
	B.4.1.1 Boxes B.4.1 to B.4.9 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, flora, fauna and geodiversity.
	B.4.1.2 The biodiversity objective considers adverse impacts of the proposed development at a landscape-scale.  It focuses on an assessment of proposed development on a network of designated and undesignated sites, wildlife corridors and individual ha...
	B.4.1.3 Where a site is coincident with, adjacent to or located in close proximity to an ecological receptor, it is assumed that negative effects associated with development will arise to some extent.  These negative effects include those that occur d...
	B.4.1.4 It is assumed that construction and occupation of previously undeveloped greenfield land would result in a net reduction in vegetation cover in the Plan area.  This would also be expected to lead to greater levels of fragmentation and isolatio...
	B.4.1.5 It should be noted that no detailed ecological surveys have been completed by Lepus to inform the assessments made in this report.
	B.4.1.6 Protected species survey information is not available for the sites within the Plan area. It is acknowledged that data is available from the local biological records centre. However, it is noted that this data may be under recorded in certain ...
	B.4.1.7 It is anticipated that the Council will require detailed ecological surveys and assessments to accompany future planning applications.  Such surveys will determine on a site-by-site basis the presence of Priority Species and Priority Habitats ...
	B.4.1.8 It is assumed that mature trees and hedgerows will be retained where possible.

	B.4.2 Biodiversity receptors

	B.5 SA Objective 4: Climate change mitigation
	B.5.1 Introduction and context
	B.5.1.1 Box B.5.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 4: Climate change mitigation.
	B.5.1.2 The incorporation of GI within developments presents several opportunities to mitigate climate change, for example, through providing natural cooling to combat the ‘urban heat island’ effect, reducing the effects of air pollution and providing...
	B.5.1.3 However, it is likely that new development would result in an increase in local greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions due to the increase in the local population and the number of operating businesses.  The increase in GHG emissions caused by new dev...
	B.5.1.4 It should be noted that the appraisal of the reasonable alternatives is limited in its assessment of carbon emissions.  The 1% principle as set out in Box B.5.1 is only a coarse precautionary indicator, and greater detail of carbon data would ...

	B.5.2 Climate change mitigation receptors

	B.6 SA Objective 5: Climate change adaptation
	B.6.1 Introduction and context
	B.6.1.1 Boxes B.6.1 to B.6.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 5: Climate change adaptation.
	B.6.1.2 It is assumed that development proposals will be in perpetuity, and it is therefore likely that development will be subject to the impacts of flooding at some point in the future, should it be situated on land at risk of fluvial or surface wat...

	B.6.2 Climate change adaptation receptors

	B.7 SA Objective 6: Natural resources
	B.7.1 Introduction and context
	B.7.1.1 Boxes B.7.1 to B.7.2 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 6: Natural resources.
	B.7.1.2 In accordance with the core planning principles of the NPPF, development on previously developed land is recognised as an efficient use of land.  Development of previously undeveloped land and greenfield sites is not considered to be an effici...
	B.7.1.3 The natural resources objective also considers potential effects on mineral resources.  Minerals are a finite, non-renewable resource and as such, their conservation and safeguarding for future generations is important.  There are no Mineral S...

	B.7.2 Natural resources receptors

	B.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution
	B.8.1 Introduction and context
	B.8.1.1 Boxes B.8.1 to B.8.5 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 7: Pollution.
	B.8.1.2 The assessment under this objective considers the potential for reasonable alternative sites to generate pollution associated with the construction and occupation of new development, as well as the potential to expose site end users to existin...

	B.8.2 Pollution receptors

	B.9 SA Objective 8: Waste
	B.9.1 Introduction and context
	B.9.1.1 Box B.9.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 8: Waste.
	B.9.1.2 It is expected that new development would result in an increase in the local population, and consequently an increase in household waste generation.
	B.9.1.3 It should be noted that the appraisal of the reasonable alternatives is limited in its assessment against waste.  The 1% principle as set out in Box B.9.1 is only a coarse precautionary indicator, and greater detail of waste data would help to...

	B.9.2 Waste receptors

	B.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and accessibility
	B.10.1 Introduction and context
	B.10.1.1 Boxes B.10.1 to B.10.6 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 9: Transport and accessibility.
	B.10.1.2 The Local Plan should seek to ensure that residents in Sandwell have access to a range of sustainable transport modes, to help facilitate a modal shift away from private car use to help tackle air quality and congestion issues and provide for...
	B.10.1.3 Accessibility modelling data  indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to local services (fresh food and centres) across Sandwell and the wider Black Country.

	B.10.2 Transport and accessibility receptors

	B.11 SA Objective 10: Housing
	B.11.1 Introduction and context
	B.11.1.1 Box B.11.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 10: Housing.
	B.11.1.2 When striving for sustainable development, housing density should be considered carefully.  High population densities can limit the accessibility of local key services and facilities such as hospitals, supermarkets and open spaces, including ...

	B.11.2 Housing receptors

	B.12 SA Objective 11: Equality
	B.12.1 Introduction and context
	B.12.1.1 Box B.12.1 sets out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 11: Equality.
	B.12.1.2 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measures the relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England.  LSOAs are small areas designed to be of similar population, of approximately 1,500 residents or 650 ho...

	B.12.2 Equality receptors

	B.13 SA Objective 12: Health
	B.13.1 Introduction and context
	B.13.1.1 Boxes B.13.1 to B.13.5 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 12: Health.
	B.13.1.2 In order to facilitate healthy and active lifestyles for existing and new residents, it is expected that the Local Plan should seek to ensure that residents have access to NHS hospitals, GP surgeries, leisure facilities and a diverse range of...
	B.13.1.3 Accessibility modelling data  indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to healthcare (GP surgeries) across Sandwell and the wider Black Country.
	B.13.1.4 It should be noted that healthcare capacity information has not been available; the assessment is based on accessibility alone.

	B.13.2 Health receptors

	B.14 SA Objective 13: Economy
	B.14.1 Introduction and context
	B.14.1.1 Boxes B.14.1 to B.14.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 13: Economy.
	B.14.1.2 Accessibility modelling data  indicates the level of sustainable accessibility to employment locations across Sandwell and the wider Black Country.  It is assumed that the mapped employment locations would provide a range of job opportunities...

	B.14.2 Economy receptors

	B.15 SA Objective 14: Education, skills and training
	B.15.1 Introduction and context
	B.15.1.1 Boxes B.15.1 to B.15.3 set out the specific methodology used to appraise the reasonable alternative sites against SA Objective 14: Education, skills and training.
	B.15.1.2 It is assumed that new residents in the Plan area require access to primary and secondary education services to help facilitate good levels of education, skills and qualifications of residents.  Accessibility modelling data  indicates the lev...
	B.15.1.3 It should be noted that school capacity information has not been available; the assessment is based on accessibility alone.

	B.15.2 Education receptors


	LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_C_Site Assessments_6_041023GW
	C.1 Introduction
	C.1.1 Overview
	C.1.1.1 A total of 121 reasonable alternative sites have been identified by SMBC during the preparation of the SLP.  This includes 65 sites identified solely for residential use and 17 sites identified solely for employment use.  One site is identifie...
	C.1.1.2 The location of the 121 reasonable alternative sites is shown in Figure C.1.1, and their potential uses are identified in Table C.1.1.
	C.1.1.3 Each of the sites appraised within this report have been assessed for likely impacts on each of the 14 SA Objectives, as outlined in the SA Framework (see Appendix A).  Likely sustainability impacts have been set out in Tables C.2.1 – C.14.1 w...
	C.1.1.4 The receptor-only impacts, based on the red line boundary and site proposal information provided by SMBC, help to identify the potential impacts on site if there were no policy or mitigation.  The potential mitigating influence of the draft SL...
	C.1.1.5 It should be noted that whilst every effort has been made to predict effects accurately, the sustainability impacts have been assessed at a high level and are reliant upon the current understanding of the baseline.  These assessments have been...


	C.2 SA Objective 1: Cultural Heritage
	C.2.1 Grade I Listed Buildings
	C.2.1.1 There are two Grade I Listed Buildings in Sandwell, ‘West Bromwich Manor House’ and ‘Galton Bridge’, and several others nearby in surrounding authority areas.  Although Site SEC4-3 lies in close proximity (approximately 180m) to ‘West Bromwich...

	C.2.2 Grade II* Listed Buildings
	C.2.2.1 There are eight Grade II* Listed Buildings within Sandwell, mostly concentrated in and around the Smethwick area in the south east of the borough.  Site SEC3-66 coincides with ‘Soho Foundry Former Boulton and Watt Foundry Pattern Stores and Er...
	C.2.2.2 Site SH41 is located adjacent to ‘Engine Arm Aqueduct, Birmingham Canal Wolverhampton Level’.  The proposed development at this site could potentially have a minor negative impact on the setting of this Listed Building.
	C.2.2.3 However, both Sites SEC3-66 and SH41 contain some existing development and so it is acknowledged that there may also be opportunities to improve the historic setting of the area through regeneration of degraded industrial buildings currently o...
	C.2.2.4 The proposed development at all other sites within Sandwell would be unlikely to significantly impact any Grade II* Listed Buildings, primarily due to the sites being separated from Listed Buildings by existing built form.  Therefore, a neglig...

	C.2.3 Grade II Listed Buildings
	C.2.3.1 There are many Grade II Listed Buildings throughout Sandwell, generally clustered within the built-up areas, along the canal network, and particularly within West Bromwich and Oldbury town centres.  There are six sites that coincide with a Gra...
	C.2.3.2 Five sites are located adjacent to Grade II Listed Building (Sites SEC4-1, SEC4-4, SH41, 177 and SEC1-1).  Furthermore, a further eight sites could potentially have an adverse impact on the setting of various Listed Buildings, due to the natur...

	C.2.4 Conservation Area
	C.2.4.1 Sandwell contains nine Conservation Areas (CA), the majority of which cover sections of the urban area, as well as portions of the canal network, historic open spaces and nature reserves.  There are eight sites that coincide with a CA, includi...

	C.2.5 Scheduled Monument
	C.2.5.1 There are eight Scheduled Monuments (SMs) within Sandwell, generally covering previously developed areas in relation to Birmingham Canal or areas with industrial history.  Three sites coincide with a SM.  Site SEC3-66 wholly coincides with ‘re...
	C.2.5.2 All other sites within Sandwell are not located in close proximity to any SMs, and as such, the proposed development at these sites would not be expected to significantly impact the setting of any of these SMs.

	C.2.6 Registered Park and Garden
	C.2.6.1 Five Registered Parks and Gardens (RPGs) can be found within Sandwell: ‘Brunswick Park’, ‘Victoria Park (Tipton)’, ‘Dartmouth Park’, ‘Warley Park’ and a small proportion of ‘Great Barr Hall’.  Site SEC1-5 is located approximately 200m from ‘Vi...

	C.2.7 Archaeological Priority Area
	C.2.7.1 Archaeological Priority Areas (APAs) have been identified throughout Sandwell’s urban and undeveloped areas.  Four sites coincide with APAs, including Sites 189, SH33, SH26, and SH31.  A further nine sites are located adjacent to APAs.  The pr...

	C.2.8 Historic Landscape Characterisation
	C.2.8.1 The Black Country Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC) Study  has identified a range of Historic Environment Area Designations within the Black Country, covering a large proportion of Sandwell’s parkland and Green Belt as well as a number...


	C.3 SA Objective 2: Landscape
	C.3.1 Landscape Sensitivity
	C.3.1.1 The Black Country Landscape Sensitivity Assessment  identified the extent to which the character and quality of Black Country Green Belt land is susceptible to change as a result of future development.  In Sandwell, Green Belt is restricted to...
	C.3.1.2 Site 137 is partially located within the Green Belt to the south of the site, within an area identified as being of ‘low’ landscape sensitivity.  Therefore, the proposed development at this site would be expected to result in a negligible impa...
	C.3.1.3 Information relating to the historic environment which has strong links with landscapes/townscapes in Sandwell, including the Historic Landscape Characterisation and associated designations, has been assessed under SA Objective 1 (Cultural Her...


	C.4 SA Objective 3: Biodiversity, Flora, Fauna and Geodiversity
	C.4.1 Habitats Sites
	C.4.1.1 Habitats sites are a network of nature protection areas which include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs).  There are no Habitats sites within Sandwell, with the nearest being ‘Fens Pools’ SAC located appro...

	C.4.2 Sites of Special Scientific Interest
	C.4.2.1 There are no Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) within Sandwell Borough however nearby SSSIs include ‘The Leasowes’ and ‘Doulton’s Claypit’ in the neighbouring borough of Dudley.  All sites are located within IRZs which do not indica...

	C.4.3 National Nature Reserves
	C.4.3.1 There are no National Nature Reserves (NNRs) within Sandwell, with ‘Wren’s Nest’ and ‘Saltwells’ NNRs in Dudley being the closest to the borough, located at their closest points approximately 800m and 700m to the west of Sandwell, respectively...

	C.4.4 Ancient Woodland
	C.4.4.1 In Sandwell, there are some small areas of ancient woodland including ‘Codsall Coppice’ and ‘Warley Rack Wood’ in the south of the borough, and ‘Dartmouth Golf Wood’ and ‘Chambers Wood’ towards the north east.  None of the proposed sites withi...

	C.4.5 Local Nature Reserves
	C.4.5.1 There are nine Local Nature Reserves (LNR) within Sandwell, found within both the urban areas and Green Belt, including ‘Sheepwash’, ‘Merrion Wood’ and ‘Sot’s Hole with Bluebell Wood’ LNRs.  A small proportion of the proposed housing Site SH43...

	C.4.6 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation
	C.4.6.1 Within Sandwell, there are 33 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs).  A small proportion of housing/employment Site SH43 coincides with ‘Forge Mill, Sandwell Valley’ SINC.  The proposed development at the site could potentially r...
	C.4.6.2 Site SH30 is located adjacent to ‘Ridgeacre Branch Canal’ SINC and Site SH21 is located adjacent to ‘Gower Branch Canal’ SINC.  The proposed development at these two sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on these SINCs, due to a...
	C.4.6.3 None of the remaining sites coincide with or are located adjacent to SINCs, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites would be less likely to significantly impact any SINC, although it is acknowledged that adverse effects such as ...

	C.4.7 Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation
	C.4.7.1 There are 71 Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINCs) found throughout Sandwell, but particularly in the south west and north east of the borough.  10 sites coincide with SLINCs, including Site SH43 which coincides with ‘Tanh...
	C.4.7.2 The remaining sites do not coincide with, or are located adjacent to, any SLINC; therefore, the proposed development at these sites would be less likely to result in a significant impact on SLINCs, although it is acknowledged that adverse effe...

	C.4.8 Geological Sites
	C.4.8.1 Geological sites have been identified throughout the Plan area, which form part of the Black Country Global Geopark .  These sites include a range of notable geological features and formations, including a number of SSSIs and SINCs.  Within Sa...

	C.4.9 Priority Habitats
	C.4.9.1 Some small extents of priority habitats are found throughout the Sandwell area, particularly concentrated in the Green Belt to the north east and include ‘coastal and floodplain grazing marsh’, ‘good quality semi-improved grassland’ and ‘decid...


	C.5 SA Objective 4: Climate Change Mitigation
	C.5.1 Potential Increase in Carbon Footprint
	C.5.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in an increase in carbon emissions, to some extent.  51 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the development of 120 dwellings or less.  The proposed dev...
	C.5.1.2 15 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the development of between 121 and 1,120 dwellings.  The proposed development at these sites could potentially increase local carbon emissions, as a proportion ...
	C.5.1.3 The carbon emissions likely to be generated as a result of non-residential development is uncertain.  This would be entirely dependent on the nature and scale of the employment land proposed, which is unknown at present.  The nature and design...
	C.5.1.4 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 dwellings.  Therefore, the proposed development at this site would expect to have a minor negative impact on Sandwell’s carbon emissions.


	C.6 SA Objective 5: Climate Change Adaptation
	C.6.1 Flood Zones
	C.6.1.1 Flood Zones 2 and 3 occur alongside watercourses throughout the borough, such as the River Tame, with the majority of areas at risk of fluvial flooding found towards the north.  The majority of sites are located wholly within Flood Zone 1 and ...
	C.6.1.2 However, nine sites  (SH5, SH16, SH28, SH35, SH36, 132, SH59, SEC1-7, and 199) are largely located or partially located within Flood Zone 3; therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a major negative impact on f...

	C.6.2 Indicative Flood Zone 3b
	C.6.2.1 Indicative Flood Zone 3b is present in areas where flooding will potentially worsen in the future due to climate change, areas of which are scattered throughout Sandwell generally covering areas currently within Flood Zone 3a according to the ...
	C.6.2.2 There are no other sites within Sandwell which are located within Indicative Flood Zone 3b, and therefore, the remaining sites could potentially have a negligible impact on contributing to flooding issues in the future, although further site-s...

	C.6.3 Surface Water Flood Risk
	C.6.3.1 Surface Water Flood Risk (SWFR) is categorised into low (1/1000), medium (1/100) and high (1/30) in relation to the probability of surface water flooding occurring in a given area.  Areas affected by surface water flooding can be found through...
	C.6.3.2 Additionally, a further 52 sites coincide with areas of low and/or medium SWFR, and as such, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on surface water flooding in the area.
	C.6.3.3 The remaining sites which do not coincide with any significant areas of SWFR would be expected to have a negligible impact on surface water flooding.


	C.7 SA Objective 6: Natural Resources
	C.7.1 Previously Undeveloped Land / Land with Environmental Value
	C.7.1.1 Sandwell is principally built-up, although it also contains a range of large green spaces distributed throughout the borough and a small proportion of undeveloped Green Belt land in the north east.
	C.7.1.2 51 sites in Sandwell wholly comprise previously developed land which would be likely to have little or no environmental value.  The proposed development at these sites would be expected to have a minor positive impact on natural resources as d...
	C.7.1.3 There are 20 sites which wholly comprise greenfield land and are likely to contain areas of environmental value such as hedgerows, trees and scrub that would expect to be lost upon development.  Furthermore, 50 sites are partially previously d...

	C.7.2 Agricultural Land Classification
	C.7.2.1 The land within Sandwell Borough is almost entirely ‘Urban’ according to the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC), with a small proportion of ‘Non-Agricultural’ and Grade 4 land in the north east.  Only a very small area in the north east, w...
	C.7.2.2 The proposed development at the 70 sites within Sandwell which wholly or partially comprise previously undeveloped land would be likely to have a minor positive impact on natural resources due to being located upon areas of less agriculturally...
	C.7.2.3 The proposed development at the 51 sites which are located wholly on previously developed land would be likely to have a negligible impact on agricultural land.

	C.7.3 Mineral Safeguarding Areas / Areas of Search
	C.7.3.1 There are no Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) or Areas of Search (AOS) identified within Sandwell.  All proposed sites in Sandwell would be expected to result in a negligible impact on mineral resources.


	C.8 SA Objective 7: Pollution
	C.8.1 Air Quality Management Area
	C.8.1.1 The entirety of Sandwell borough is classed as ‘Sandwell Air Quality Management Area’ (AQMA).  All sites are located wholly within this AQMA, whilst several sites are also located partially within 200m of the adjacent ‘Walsall AQMA’, ‘Birmingh...

	C.8.2 Main Road
	C.8.2.1 Many major roads pass through Sandwell, including the A34, A4041, M5, and the M6 Motorway.  59 of the sites proposed within Sandwell are located within 200m of a main road, including Site 137 which is adjacent to the M6 and Sites 35, 91, and S...
	C.8.2.2 The proposed development at the remaining sites which are over 200m from a main road would be expected to have a negligible impact on transport associated air and noise pollution associated with main roads.

	C.8.3 Watercourse
	C.8.3.1 There are several watercourses within Sandwell, including the River Tame and various canals and brooks.  24 sites coincide with or are located within 10m of various watercourses.  The proposed development at these sites would be likely to incr...
	C.8.3.2 The remaining 97 sites which are located over 10m from watercourses are less likely to have a significant impact on the quality of watercourses, however, each site would need to be evaluated according to land use type, size of development and ...

	C.8.4 Groundwater Source Protection Zone
	C.8.4.1 Source Protection Zones (SPZs) for groundwater within Sandwell are located only within the south east of the borough.  SPZs are grouped from 1 to 3 based on the level of protection that the groundwater requires.  13 sites in Sandwell are locat...
	C.8.4.2 The remaining sites in Sandwell do not coincide with the catchment of any SPZ; therefore, the proposed development at these 108 sites would be expected to have a negligible impact on quality or status of groundwater.

	C.8.5 Potential Increase in Air Pollution
	C.8.5.1 18 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the development of 100 or more dwellings and Site SEC3-66 is proposed solely for non-residential use and comprises more than 1ha.  The proposed development at t...
	C.8.5.2 47 sites proposed solely for residential use are identified as having capacity for the development of between ten and 99 dwellings, and 12 sites are proposed solely for non-residential end use and comprise between one and 10ha.  Therefore, the...
	C.8.5.3 Four proposed employment sites SEC3-181, SEC3-46, 74, and SEC1-8 comprise less than 1ha and would be expected to have a negligible impact on local air pollution.
	C.8.5.4 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use) and therefore at the time of writing the potential increase air pollution as a res...
	C.8.5.5 The nature and design of pitches/plots which could be developed at GTTS sites is unknown at present.  Therefore, potential increases in air pollution as a result of the construction and occupation of Site 187 (proposed solely for GTTS use) are...
	C.8.5.6 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 dwellings.  Therefore, the proposed development at this site would expect to have a major negative impact on air pollution.


	C.9 SA Objective 8: Waste
	C.9.1 Potential Increase in Household Waste Generation
	C.9.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in an increase in household waste generation, to some extent.
	C.9.1.2 52 sites proposed solely for residential development are identified as having capacity for the development of 130 dwellings or less.  The proposed development at these sites would be expected to have a negligible impact on household waste gene...
	C.9.1.3 13 sites proposed solely for residential development are identified as having capacity for the development of between 131 and 1,313 dwellings.  The proposed development at these sites would be expected to increase household waste generation by...
	C.9.1.4 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200 dwellings.  Therefore, the site would expect to have a minor negative impact on household waste generation.
	C.9.1.5 The waste likely to be generated as a result of non-residential development is uncertain and therefore the impact of the proposed development at 15 employment sites is uncertain.  Furthermore, the nature and design of pitches/plots which could...
	C.9.1.6 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  The waste likely to be generated from the proposed development at these sites is...


	C.10 SA Objective 9: Transport and Accessibility
	C.10.1 Bus Stop
	C.10.1.1 In Sandwell, there are many bus stops, which would be expected to generally provide good public transport access, with the exception of some small areas to the east of the borough and pockets in the centre where bus stops are more thinly dist...
	C.10.1.2 Three sites (SH18, SH35, and SH36) are located wholly or partially outside of the sustainable distance of 400m from a bus stop providing regular services, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor n...

	C.10.2 Railway Station
	C.10.2.1 There are several railway stations located within the borough of Sandwell, as well as many metro stations located along the West Midlands Metro line which goes through West Bromwich Central Station.  A large proportion of the borough would be...
	C.10.2.2 However, four sites (SH12, SH37, SH42, and 120) are located over 2km from a railway station, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on site end users’ access to rail services.

	C.10.3 Pedestrian Access
	C.10.3.1 Sites with good pedestrian access can be described those with existing pavements or pathways which are segregated from traffic use in the area, which are generally well distributed throughout Sandwell, due to its built-up nature.  The majorit...
	C.10.3.2 However, Sites SEC3-29 and SH2 currently have poor access to the existing footpath network.  Therefore, the proposed development at these two sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on local accessibility, and pedestrian access t...

	C.10.4 Road Access
	C.10.4.1 A network of major and minor roads can be found throughout Sandwell, which would be expected to provide good road access in the local area and nationally.  The majority of sites proposed within Sandwell are adjacent to a road, and therefore, ...
	C.10.4.2 However, three sites (SEC3-29, SH2, and SEC4-4) are not accessible from the current road network.  The proposed development at these three sites could potentially result in a minor negative impact on accessibility as more significant infrastr...

	C.10.5 Pedestrian Access to Local Services
	C.10.5.1 Sites with sustainable pedestrian access to local fresh food and services in Sandwell are considered to be those within a 15-minute walking distance.  According to accessibility modelling data, a large proportion of the borough meets these cr...
	C.10.5.2 The remaining 31 sites are located wholly or partially outside of a 15-minute walking distance to these services, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on the sustainable access ...

	C.10.6 Public Transport Access to Local Services
	C.10.6.1 Accessibility modelling data indicates that almost the entirety of the borough has good sustainable transport access to local fresh food and services, within 15 minutes travel time via public transport.  The majority of sites (119 in total) a...
	C.10.6.2 Site 35 and 56 are wholly located outside a 15 minute travel time via public transport and would be expected to have a minor negative impact on the access of site end users to local services, based on current infrastructure.


	C.11 SA Objective 10: Housing
	C.11.1 Housing Provision
	C.11.1.1 Residential-led development is likely to result in a net gain in housing.  The sites in Sandwell proposed solely for residential use would therefore be expected to result in positive impacts under this objective.  Sites which have been identi...
	C.11.1.2 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development and has a housing capacity of 200.  The site would therefore expect to have a major positive impact on housing provision.
	C.11.1.3 Employment-led sites in Sandwell would not be expected to result in a net change in housing provision and therefore a negligible impact would be likely.
	C.11.1.4 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  Therefore, it is uncertain whether these sites would result in a net change in ...


	C.12 SA Objective 11: Equality
	C.12.1 Index of Multiple Deprivation
	C.12.1.1 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measures the relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England .  Out of 317 Local Authorities in England, Sandwell is ranked as the 12th most deprived .  Overall depr...
	C.12.1.2 45 sites are located wholly or partially within the 10% most deprived LSOAs, and therefore development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on equality by exacerbating existing social pressures faced by current reside...
	C.12.1.3 It should be noted that there is a degree of uncertainty in regard to the impacts of each site on equality, which will be dependent on site-specific circumstances that are unknown at the time of writing.


	C.13 SA Objective 12: Health
	C.13.1 NHS Hospital with Accident & Emergency Department
	C.13.1.1 Currently Sandwell General Hospital is the only NHS Hospital with an Accident & Emergency department within the borough itself, although there are other nearby hospitals such as Manor Hospital in Walsall to the north, and the new Midland Metr...
	C.13.1.2 The remaining 12 sites are located wholly over 5km from a hospital, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on access to emergency healthcare.

	C.13.2 Pedestrian Access to GP Surgery
	C.13.2.1 There are 73 GP Surgeries distributed within Sandwell, serving the existing local communities, particularly clustered within the south east and north west of the borough.  Accessibility modelling data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mappi...
	C.13.2.2 The majority of proposed sites (110) in Sandwell are located within a 15-minute walking distance to a GP surgery.  Of the 110 sites, 73 of these are located within a 10-minute walking distance to a GP surgery and would be expected to have a m...
	C.13.2.3 11 sites are located wholly or partially outside of this sustainable travel time.  Therefore, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on pedestrian access to healthcare, based on existing infrast...

	C.13.3 Public Transport Access to GP Surgery
	C.13.3.1 Good and sustainable public transport access to a local GP surgery is identified to be within a 15-minute journey.  According to accessibility modelling data, this travel time to healthcare is likely to be achieved across the majority of Sand...
	C.13.3.2 All sites within Sandwell are all situated in areas within this 15-minute time frame, with the exception of Sites SEC3-22 and SH19, where Site SEC3-22 is wholly located outside this travel time and the majority of Site SH19 is located partial...

	C.13.4 Access to Greenspace
	C.13.4.1 Greenspaces are distributed throughout the borough, including parks, allotments, playing fields and Sandwell Valley Country Park located in the north east of the borough.  All of the proposed in Sandwell are located within 600m of one or more...

	C.13.5 Net Loss of Greenspace
	C.13.5.1 10 proposed sites coincide wholly or partially with publicly available greenspaces and/ or greenspaces with public access, including Sites SH9 and SH18 which both coincide with playing fields.  The proposed development at these 10 sites could...

	C.13.6 Public Right of Way / Cycle Path
	C.13.6.1 104 sites in Sandwell are located within 600m of the PRoW and/or cycle network.  The proposed development at these sites would be likely to provide site end users with good pedestrian and/or cycle access and encourage physical activity, and t...


	C.14 SA Objective 13: Economy
	C.14.1 Employment Floorspace Provision
	C.14.1.1 Employment floorspace provision has been assessed with consideration of current land use and the proposed development at each site.
	C.14.1.2 There are 17 sites proposed solely for employment use in Sandwell.  Eight of these sites currently comprise (either wholly or the majority of the site) areas of undeveloped or vacant land; therefore, the proposed development at these sites wo...
	C.14.1.3 Site 199 is proposed for mixed-use development with a proportion of the site proposed for employment.  Site 199 is located on greenfield land and would be expected to result in a significant net gain in employment floorspace, leading to a maj...
	C.14.1.4 34 sites proposed solely for residential use coincide with existing employment areas, and therefore, development at these sites could potentially result in a net loss of employment floorspace.  The proposed development at 24 of these sites co...
	C.14.1.5 37 sites are identified as reasonable alternatives for multiple uses (i.e. the sites could potentially be developed for residential, employment and/or GTTS use).  The potential net change in employment floorspace is unknown and therefore it i...
	C.14.1.6 It is uncertain whether the proposed housing development at Site 34 would impact employment opportunities.  The site coincides with the ‘YMCA’ building and it is unknown whether there are any jobs associated with this.
	C.14.1.7 The remaining 31 sites proposed solely for residential development and the single GTTS site, are located on previously undeveloped land or vacant land and would not be expected to result in a net change in employment floorspace; therefore, th...

	C.14.2 Pedestrian Access to Employment Opportunities
	C.14.2.1 There are many employment opportunities currently within Sandwell, with 254 key employment locations identified.  Most existing employment land is concentrated in the centre of the borough and close to the strategic road network.  Accessibili...
	C.14.2.2 The majority of reasonable alternative sites with potential to deliver housing in Sandwell (104 sites) would be expected to have a positive impact on pedestrian access to employment due to being within this sustainable travel time to employme...
	C.14.2.3 Two sites are located outside this sustainable travel time; Site 34 is wholly located outside of this travel time, and the majority of Site SH43 is located outside this travel time.  Therefore, the proposed development at these two sites coul...

	C.14.3 Public Transport Access to Employment Opportunities
	C.14.3.1 Accessibility modelling data indicates that the majority of the borough is located within a sustainable travel time via public transport to employment opportunities, identified as being within a 30-minute journey.  All of the reasonable alter...


	C.15 SA Objective 14: Education, Skills and Training
	C.15.1 Pedestrian Access to Primary School
	C.15.1.1 There are 98 primary schools distributed throughout Sandwell.  Accessibility modelling data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping the location of primary schools and areas within a sustainable travel time to these schools.  The majority...
	C.15.1.2 The majority of the proposed housing sites are situated within a 15-minute walking distance to a primary school (103 sites).  Of these 103 sites, 69 sites are within a 10-minute walking distance to primary school, and therefore, the proposed ...
	C.15.1.3 However, Site SH17 is located outside of a 15-minute walk to a primary school, and therefore, the proposed development at this site could potentially have a minor negative impact on access to primary schools due to the likely increased relian...

	C.15.2 Pedestrian Access to Secondary School
	C.15.2.1 Accessibility modelling data has been provided to Lepus by SMBC, mapping the location of secondary schools and areas within a sustainable travel time to these schools.  There are 20 secondary schools within Sandwell which are fairly evenly di...
	C.15.2.2 The majority of proposed housing sites in Sandwell are located within a 25-minute walk to a secondary school.  Therefore, the proposed development at these 88 sites would be expected to have a positive impact on sustainable access to educatio...
	C.15.2.3 However, 16 residential sites are situated in the areas of the borough outside of a 25-minute walk to a secondary school, and as such, the proposed development at these sites could potentially have a minor negative impact on sustainable acces...

	C.15.3 Public Transport Access to Secondary School
	C.15.3.1 Existing public transport access to secondary schools within Sandwell is widespread, according to accessibility modelling data, and would be likely to provide local residents with good access to schools in the local and wider area.  The data ...
	C.15.3.2 The majority of housing sites in Sandwell are located within a 25-minute public transport journey to a secondary school, and therefore, the proposed development at these 97 sites would be expected to have a positive impact on sustainable acce...
	C.15.3.3 Seven of the proposed housing sites (SEC3-113, SH8, SH14, SH28, SH35, SH36, and SH45) are located wholly or partially outside of this sustainable travel time to a secondary school, and therefore, the proposed development at these sites could ...



	LC-893_R18_SLP_Appendix_D_Policy Assessments_15_05102323GW
	D.1 Overview
	D.1.1 Introduction
	D.1.1.1 This appendix provides an assessment of draft policies proposed by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) at the Regulation 18 ‘Draft Plan’ stage of the preparation of the Sandwell Local Plan (SLP).
	D.1.1.2 Many of the proposed SLP policies are derived from the ceased Black Country Plan (BCP).  A total of 63 policies were set out in the draft BCP and were consulted on as part of the BCP process, before the decision was made to end work on the BCP...
	D.1.1.3 SMBC have considered the extent to which each of the draft BCP policies and adopted SAD policies remain relevant and applicable to the SLP area, in light of consultation responses received during the BCP Regulation 18 consultation, and in the ...
	D.1.1.4 The relevant existing policies have been updated and together with a number of new policies prepared for the SLP, has resulted in a total of 87  policies identified and presented within the Draft SLP.  The Draft SLP also contains a proposed ‘v...
	D.1.1.5 The assessments within this report are based on the policies, vision and objectives within the Draft Sandwell Local Plan 2025-2041 Regulation 18 Consultation document, version 56 provided to Lepus on 25th September 2023.
	D.1.1.6 Each policy (as well as the SLP Vision and Objectives) appraised in this report has been assessed for its likely impacts on each SA Objective of the SA Framework (see Appendix A) in accordance with the methodology as set out in the SA Main Rep...
	D.1.1.7 For ease of reference the scoring system is summarised in Table D.1.1 below.
	D.1.1.8 Each appraisal in the following sections of this report includes an SA impact matrix that provides an indication of the nature and magnitude of effects.  Assessment narratives follow the impact matrices for each policy, within which the findin...

	D.1.2 Overview of Policy Assessments
	D.1.2.1 The impact matrices for all draft policy assessments are presented in Table D.1.2 below.  These impacts should be read in conjunction with the assessment text narratives which follow in the subsequent sections of this appendix.
	D.1.2.2 Within these policy assessments, where relevant, some recommendations for enhancement or improvement of the draft policies have been suggested.  Further detailed recommendations are presented in Table D.14.1.


	D.2 Vision and Objectives
	D.2.1.1 In the Regulation 18 (I) Issues and Options SA, two options for the SLP Vision and 11 draft Objectives for the SLP were assessed.  Following consideration of the SA findings  and comments received during the Issues and Options Consultation, SM...
	D.2.2 Sandwell Local Plan Vision
	D.2.2.1 The proposed Vision for Sandwell in 2041 sets out the aspiration to support growth and regeneration for the borough, meeting the needs of the local population and addressing key issues, whilst conserving the natural and historic environment.
	D.2.2.2 The SLP Vision seeks to develop Sandwell’s role as an industrial hub for the West Midlands by driving climate change adaptation and mitigation technologies, to ensure that the borough plays a key role in tackling climate change whilst striving...
	D.2.2.3 The SLP Vision encourages the delivery of new developments that are carefully planned to take the effects of climate change into account, including incorporation of sustainable drainage techniques, flood mitigation and adaptation measures, as ...
	D.2.2.4 Through encouraging the conservation and enhancement of GI and Sandwell’s natural environment, the SLP Vision would be likely to lead to a minor positive impact on biodiversity and natural resources (SA Objectives 3 and 6), through potentially...
	D.2.2.5 Additionally, the emphasis on providing access to a variety of parks and open spaces for new developments would be likely to lead to positive effects on human health.  Access to a range of open and green spaces is known to be beneficial for bo...
	D.2.2.6 Pocket parks and other open spaces within urban areas can also provide valuable spaces for community involvement and help to encourage social cohesion.  More cohesive and vibrant neighbourhoods would be likely to contribute towards improved qu...
	D.2.2.7 Town centres are proposed to be the focus for the majority of new residential and community growth, where existing services are concentrated and there is most potential for new provision.  The SLP Vision would help to ensure that residents, wo...
	D.2.2.8 Through rejuvenating townscapes, promoting landscape schemes and increasing the quantity and quality of open spaces and GI, the SLP Vision would be likely to lead to an improvement in the local landscape and townscape character.  In combinatio...
	D.2.2.9 The SLP Vision supports the conservation and enhancement of cultural heritage assets and encourages their conservation and renewal where appropriate, recognising the importance of Sandwell’s historic environment in providing a sense of place. ...
	D.2.2.10 The Vision seeks to ensure the provision of a range of housing types to meet the diverse needs of the population, including accessible and adaptable homes, affordable homes, and social housing.  As such, a major positive impact on housing pro...
	D.2.2.11 The Vision seeks to improve access to schools and training opportunities and improve educational attainment.  Access to higher and further education provision is also highlighted.  Together, these provisions would help to encourage more diver...
	D.2.2.12 The Vision does not directly reference waste or recycling, and as such, a negligible impact is identified for SA Objective 8.

	D.2.3 Sandwell Local Plan Objectives
	D.2.3.1 SLP Objective 1 promotes the future proofing of new development to the effects of climate change and supports reducing GHGs.  By embedding these principles into the SLP objectives, this demonstrates SMBC’s commitment to reducing Sandwell’s con...
	D.2.3.2 SLP Objective 2 seeks to locate development in areas with good accessibility to local services.  This is likely to include healthcare facilities, employment opportunities and schools, with major positive impacts anticipated for health, the eco...
	D.2.3.3 SLP Objective 3 aims to conserve and enhance the natural environment of Sandwell, including designated habitats, landscapes and GI.  By protecting and enhancing natural features including habitats and ecological networks, a major positive impa...
	D.2.3.4 SLP Objective 4 recognises the importance of Sandwell’s heritage.  A major positive impact on cultural heritage would be expected through the protection and enhancement of important historical sites including Listed Buildings and SMs (SA Objec...
	D.2.3.5 SLP Objective 5 supports the conservation of the historic environment and will ensure its protection, therefore having a minor positive impact on cultural heritage (SA Objective 1). SLP Objective 5 specifically mentions the maintenance of park...
	D.2.3.6 SLP Objective 6 supports sustainable high-quality housing development to meet the needs of the population, which is likely to result in a major positive impact on housing (SA Objective 10).  The support for sustainable and adaptable homes woul...
	D.2.3.7 SLP Objective 7 aims to strengthen Sandwell’s communities and improve social cohesion.  This is likely to lead to a greater sense of identity for local residents and promote more vibrant communities where people from all backgrounds can feel v...
	D.2.3.8 SLP Objective 8 supports economic growth within Sandwell, to increase the provision of jobs and boost the prosperity of the local economy.  Through seeking to maintain a resilient economy and encourage new businesses and regeneration within th...
	D.2.3.9 SLP Objective 9 supports equality, education and the economy.  The SLP will aim to provide new job opportunities and training programmes as a result of economic growth.  By sharing the benefits of economic growth, this would be likely to resul...
	D.2.3.10 SLP Objective 10 promotes healthy lifestyles and active travel, thereby supporting a shift away from private car use where possible.  Providing a built environment that supports active travel would likely have a minor positive impact on trans...
	D.2.3.11 SLP Objective 11 is centred around health.  Through the encouragement of active lifestyles and ensuring open spaces are provided alongside development, there is likely to be improved sustainable access to outdoor space for exercise and leisur...
	D.2.3.12 SLP Objective 12 promotes conserving and enhancing the built and natural environment, aiming to ensure that developments protect health, minimise air and noise pollution, promote low emission travel and provide safe streets.  The focus on enc...
	D.2.3.13 SLP Objective 13 promotes high quality design for new development that is in keeping with the local character of the area.  Good design that is planned carefully to consider its surroundings would be likely to strengthen local distinctiveness...
	D.2.3.14 SLP Objective 14 promotes an efficient use of land and seeks to ensure that the SLP focuses development on previously developed land where appropriate, in accordance with the NPPF.  A major positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6...
	D.2.3.15 SLP Objective 15 seeks to develop the role of Sandwell’s towns and centres as hubs of economic, residential and cultural activities, whilst ensuring the landscape and historic character and identity of the local area are protected.  Investing...
	D.2.3.16 SLP Objective 16 prioritises sustainable travel and improved transport infrastructure.  This should help to reduce the per capita carbon footprint of Sandwell and increase the efficiency of the transport network, therefore having a major posi...
	D.2.3.17 SLP Objective 17 is likely to have a minor positive impact on waste (SA Objective 8) as it seeks to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill.  However, greater detail would be useful to explain how waste generation can be reduced and susta...
	D.2.3.18 SLP Objective 18 seeks to ensure that new development proposed through the SLP is supported by essential infrastructure and services, with a particular focus on transport infrastructure.  The SLP Objective supports green travel networks which...


	D.3 Development Strategy
	D.3.1 Policy SDS1 – Development Strategy
	D.3.1.1 Policy SDS1 sets out the overarching strategy for development in Sandwell for the plan period.
	D.3.1.2 The construction, occupation and operation of 10,686 homes and 1,206ha of employment land as well as supporting infrastructure through this policy would be expected to exacerbate air pollution, including greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and part...
	D.3.1.3 Policy SDS1 states that development will be directed towards town centres and therefore can provide greater access to local services, including healthcare facilities and the public transport network.  The policy can therefore be expected to ha...
	D.3.1.4 Policy SDS1 seeks to deliver sustainable development through “delivering as much new development as possible on previously developed land and sites in the urban area ”.  The reuse of previously developed land would be expected to promote an ef...
	D.3.1.5 The policy states that decisions in the planning process will “protect habitats and areas of ecological value” and also “conserve the historic and archaeological environment and protect areas with geological and landscape value”. Additionally,...

	D.3.2 Policy SDS2 – Regeneration in Sandwell
	D.3.2.1 Policy SDS2 identifies Regeneration Areas within Sandwell and sets out how specific areas will accommodate different types of development, infrastructure and investment.  The policy outlines a minimum number of X homes to be built within the R...
	D.3.2.2 Furthermore, a major positive impact is anticipated in terms of natural resources (SA Objective 6) and a minor positive impact on landscape (SA Objective 2), owing to the primary focus on regeneration of existing urban areas and high-quality d...
	D.3.2.3 The policy states that the defined Regeneration Areas will provide high-quality employment land and will be the principal location for new industrial/logistics development, with likely benefits in terms of economic growth and providing opportu...
	D.3.2.4 For the Regeneration Areas collectively, the policy encourages investment in transport infrastructure, especially public transport.  Directing development to these areas would help to ensure that residents have good access to services includin...
	D.3.2.5 The policy also states that development proposals will incorporate GI and green neighbourhoods which could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3).  However, it is recommended that the policy provides further ...

	D.3.3 Policy SDS3 – Towns and Local Areas
	D.3.3.1 Policy SDS3 requires land outside of the identified Regeneration Areas to provide 606ha of employment land that will meet employment needs and local business needs.  The policy would therefore expect to increase job provision in the towns and ...
	D.3.3.2 The policy states that 1,046 will be delivered through the repurposing of brownfield employment sites and other brownfield sites, reducing the need for greenfield land for development.  New growth would also be directed to housing renewal area...
	D.3.3.3 Although the proposed housing renewal areas may provide opportunities to integrate energy efficient designs and other carbon-reducing measures, if this involves demolishing and rebuilding homes it could also release embodied carbon, the implic...
	D.3.3.4 The policy will ensure that new development provides “an integrated and (where possible) continuous network of green infrastructure and walking and cycling routes”.  In addition, the policy states that integration of local facilities for healt...

	D.3.4 Policy SDS4 – Achieving well-designed places
	D.3.4.1 Policy SDS4 seeks to ensure that all new developments within the Plan area are of high-quality design and have regard for the natural, built, and historic environment.
	D.3.4.2 This policy would be likely to encourage climate change resilience and help reduce carbon emissions associated with development, due to the promotion of energy efficient design and support for an innovative “climate-sensitive” approach.  The u...
	D.3.4.3 Policy SDS4 seeks to ensure that the development contributes to creating “high quality, active, safe and accessible places” in a bid to reduce health inequalities, improve social cohesion and reduce the fear of crime within the borough.  There...
	D.3.4.4 The policy requires that development facilitates transport of high-quality design that will contribute to greater accessibility.  High quality transport design will include the promotion of active travel, increased connectivity of travel modes...
	D.3.4.5 The policy states that development must demonstrate “a clear understanding of the local and wider context, character, heritage and local distinctiveness of its location”, and positively contribute towards high quality design and placemaking . ...

	D.3.5 Policy SDS5 – Cultural Facilities and the visitor economy
	D.3.5.1 This policy aims to provide for the protection, enhancement, promotion, and expansion of cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within the borough.  Policy SDS5 would be likely to have a minor positive impact on the economy through the safeg...
	D.3.5.2 Alongside the delivery of highly accessible facilities and provision of local employment opportunities, various provisions within this policy would be expected to have benefits to the community and promote social inclusion.  These include the ...
	D.3.5.3 The policy includes measures that would improve the accessibility of the visitor facilities within the borough, enabled through delivering the necessary infrastructure to ensure links to centres that are well supported by public transport.  Th...
	D.3.5.4 The policy states that “cultural, tourist and leisure facilities within Sandwell will be protected, enhanced and expanded”.  This would be likely to help ensure developments are of high-quality design and create attractive areas.  In addition,...

	D.3.6 Policy SDS6 – Sandwell’s Green Belt
	D.3.6.1 The policy aims to maintain a strong Green Belt boundary that will “promote urban renaissance” alongside aiding climate change mitigation and providing accessibility to the open countryside for residents of the borough.  The policy aligns its ...
	D.3.6.2 The policy states that “Sandwell green belt’s nature conservation, landscape, heritage and agricultural value will be protected and enhanced”.  In addition, the policy seeks to utilise opportunities for the improvement of the Green Belt’s recr...
	D.3.6.3 Policy SDS6 includes measures that promote the reuse of old buildings within the Green Belt, considered for development permitting that they follow the requirements of 4a, 4b, 4c and 4d of the policy.  The policy promotes the efficient use of ...

	D.3.7 Policy SDS7 – Green and Blue Infrastructure in Sandwell
	D.3.7.1 Policy SDS7 outlines the requirements of developments to incorporate GI and blue infrastructure (BI) and how this will embed into the wider GI and BI network across the borough.  The intention to prepare a GI Strategy for the borough is also s...
	D.3.7.2 The policy identifies that the various GI and BI assets throughout the borough “should be enhanced wherever possible” and that “major developments will be expected to maximise opportunities for enhancing existing green spaces and waterways”.  ...
	D.3.7.3 The GI and BI network within the borough include “open spaces, green spaces, nature conservation sites, habitats, rivers, canals, other waterways, trees and green features”; enhancement of these features would be expected to benefit the biodiv...
	D.3.7.4 Furthermore, the protection and creation of GI/BI provides the opportunity to improve the local economy through the enhancement of the local environment, increasing property values, attracting inward investment, and potentially supporting econ...


	D.4 Sandwell’s Natural and Historic Environment
	D.4.1 Policy SNE1 – Nature Conservation
	D.4.1.1 Policy SNE1 aims to protect, conserve, and enhance the biodiversity assets within the borough, from internationally designated to locally protected sites.  Alongside the requirements of the policy to improve the biodiversity assets within the ...
	D.4.1.2 The biodiversity assets outlined in the policy, including designated sites and other wildlife habitats, often make up key characteristics of the surrounding landscape and through protection and enhancement of these assets it would be expected ...
	D.4.1.3 The biodiversity assets that would be protected and enhanced by Policy SNE1 would contribute to ecosystem services.  Such ecosystem services include carbon storage, flood risk reduction, filtering of air pollutants and nutrient cycling.  There...

	D.4.2 Policy SNE2 – Protection and Enhancement of Wildlife Habitats
	D.4.2.1 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is a requirement of the Environment Act 2021 , with Schedules 14 and 15 requiring all development under the Town and County Planning Act  to deliver at least 10% BNG from an as yet, unconfirmed date .  Goal 1 of the...
	D.4.2.2 Policy SNE2 aligns with current statutory requirements and requires development to deliver a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity value.  Where uplift is not possible on-site, SMBC has identified sites and recorded these on the national regist...
	D.4.2.3 The Environment Act 2021 made Local Nature Recovery Networks (LNRN) mandatory.  These aim to target action and investment in nature locally and will cover the whole of England.  Policy SNE2 requires development proposals to help deliver the LN...
	D.4.2.4 Overall, a major positive impact on biodiversity would be anticipated as a result of the policy (SA Objective 3).
	D.4.2.5 BNG would be expected to contribute towards improved air quality due to the increased uptake of carbon dioxide and filtration of pollutants associated with road transport, which could potentially help to reduce residents’ exposure to air pollu...
	D.4.2.6 Enhanced biodiversity and green cover across the borough would be likely to have positive impact on residents’ wellbeing through providing increased access to a diverse range of natural habitats, which is known to be beneficial for mental and ...
	D.4.2.7 Furthermore, the enhancement of the green network could potentially provide opportunities to safeguard and improve the character and appearance of local landscapes and townscapes and create more pleasant outdoor spaces for both people and wild...

	D.4.3 Policy SNE3 – Provision, retention and protection of trees, woodlands and hedgerows
	D.4.3.1 Policy SNE3 aims to create, retain and protect trees, woodlands and hedgerows, including ancient trees, ancient woodlands and veteran trees across the Plan area.  Where the loss of a tree is unavoidable, this policy requires the planting of at...
	D.4.3.2 The retention and enhancement of trees and woodland supported under this policy would be likely to boost the natural carbon sink and air filtration ecosystem services provided by trees and vegetation.  This could also potentially help to reduc...
	D.4.3.3 Trees serve an important role in protecting soil from erosion as a result of rainfall and surface water runoff, due to the stabilisation provided by roots and interception of rainfall by foliage.  Through conserving and enhancing tree coverage...
	D.4.3.4 Furthermore, trees, woodlands and hedgerows can be a useful tool to help integrate new development into the existing landscape character, for example, in terms of protecting or enhancing views, or providing visual interest.  Therefore, this po...
	D.4.3.5 It is recommended that this policy is expanded to ensure that the species of trees planted and their location within the development is informed by a site-specific survey carried out by a qualified ecologist/arboriculturalist.

	D.4.4 Policy SNE4 – Geodiversity and the Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark
	D.4.4.1 Policy SNE4 would be expected to help protect and enhance geodiversity sites across the borough.  The Black Country UNESCO Global Geopark is of particular importance.  Development proposals which could potentially result in an adverse impact o...
	D.4.4.2 The protection and enhancement of geologically important sites including the UNESCO Global Geopark would be likely to have benefits to tourism in the area, and therefore, have a minor positive impact on the local economy (SA Objective 13).  Fu...

	D.4.5 Policy SNE5 – The Rowley Hills
	D.4.5.1 Policy SNE5 aims to protect the Rowley Hills from inappropriate development that would lead to the loss of valued qualities that contribute towards the local landscape character.  The policy ensures that development would not impact “expansive...
	D.4.5.2 Policy SNE5 would also help to reduce noise pollution by preventing development that would impact “areas of relative tranquillity”.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on noise pollution would be expected (SA Objective 7).
	D.4.5.3 The policy includes measures that protect local wildlife and biodiversity, resisting development that would impact both ecological and geological designations and habitats that support local biodiversity.  Furthermore, the policy includes meas...
	D.4.5.4 Policy SNE5 additionally includes measures that would ensure designated heritage assets are not impacted by proposed development including their settings.  Therefore, the policy would expect to have a minor positive impact on the conservation ...

	D.4.6 Policy SNE6 – Canals
	D.4.6.1 Policy SNE6 aims to protect and enhance the borough’s canal network.  The policy also requires development proposals to seek to reinstate and/or upgrade towpaths and link them into high-quality, wider pedestrian and cycle networks.  This would...
	D.4.6.2 Sandwell’s canal network forms an important biodiversity, amenity and cultural heritage asset.  Policy SNE6 requires development proposals to protect and enhance the canals “special historic, architectural, archaeological and cultural signific...
	D.4.6.3 The policy states that where the opportunity exists, future development should aim to improve leisure, recreation and tourism activities associated with the canals.  Additionally, the policy includes measures to improve connectivity to transpo...
	D.4.6.4 This policy would support the development of residential moorings within the borough, which could potentially lead to a minor positive impact on the overall accommodation provision (SA Objective 10).

	D.4.7 Policy SHE1 – Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
	D.4.7.1 This policy would be expected to help ensure that heritage assets are conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, in line with national policy, and that the setting and special character of heritage assets are not adversely impact...
	D.4.7.2 Policy SHE1 outlines the requirements of development proposals to “preserve and enhance local character” and “settings that are recognised as being of special historic, archaeological, architectural, landscape or townscape quality”.  Proposals...
	D.4.7.3 It is recommended that the word “conserve” rather than “preserve” is used with regard to cultural heritage, reflecting the wording in the NPPF.  The Council could also consider the potential to merge Policy SHE1 and SHE2 into a single policy t...

	D.4.8 Policy SHE2 – Development in the Historic Environment
	D.4.8.1 Policy SHE2 would be expected to ensure heritage assets, both designated and non-designated, are protected throughout the borough and that proposals should “aim to sustain and reinforce special character and conserve the locally distinctive hi...
	D.4.8.2 The heritage assets identified contribute to the local landscape character of Sandwell.   Furthermore, the policy seeks to ensure that the “urban grain, vernacular and other architectural and historic details” are considered, with new developm...
	D.4.8.3 Through ensuring the conservation and enhancement of historic assets including the canal network and open spaces such as the Rowley Hills, Policy SHE2 could also result in a minor positive impact on biodiversity and geodiversity (SA Objective 3).
	D.4.8.4 Furthermore, the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets and historic townscapes can have benefits to the economy including through encouraging tourism and attracting investment .  The policy could potentially result in a minor positiv...

	D.4.9 Policy SHE3 – Locally Listed Buildings
	D.4.9.1 Policy SHE3 sets out the requirements for development proposals in regard to locally listed buildings within the borough and how proposals should be treated when they threaten the appearance or use of a locally listed building.
	D.4.9.2 The policy would help to avoid the loss of locally listed buildings, unless there are demonstrable public benefits outweighing the loss, and ensure that any development proposals affecting locally listed buildings are only permitted where they...

	D.4.10 Policy SHE4 – Archaeology
	D.4.10.1 Policy SHE4 sets out the requirements for development proposals in regard to heritage assets within the borough and specific requirements in relation to the archaeological nature of these assets.
	D.4.10.2 Archaeological assets, both designated and non-designated, will be safeguarded under the policy and it will ensure that “their settings are also preserved and enhanced, to fully understand and utilise their archaeological, recreational and ed...


	D.5 Climate Change
	D.5.1 Policy SCC1 – Increasing efficiency and resilience
	D.5.1.1 Policy SCC1 aims to ensure that development proposals seek opportunities for adaptation to, and mitigation of, climate change.  This would help to promote sustainable development throughout the Plan area and help to protect the environment.
	D.5.1.2 This policy supports the development of energy efficient technologies associated with historic assets as long as the development “will not cause demonstrable harm to the historic fabric, character, setting or appearance of the asset”.  Therefo...
	D.5.1.3 The policy requires development proposals to “protect and support biodiversity networks”, to incorporate “landscaping schemes” and to be designed “using a mix of native tree species and plants where appropriate”.  This policy could potentially...
	D.5.1.4 In addition to increased green cover, the policy states that “all development will need to minimise the impact of surface water runoff through the design of proposed drainage systems, including where possible grey water recycling and rainwater...
	D.5.1.5 Enhanced green cover alongside amenity areas, buildings and streets could potentially help to promote natural air filtration, and as such, reduce residents’ exposure to transport-associated air pollution.  Furthermore, providing a more attract...
	D.5.1.6 The incorporation of green cover, minimisation of flood risk, use of greywater recycling and promotion of natural heating systems would be expected to help reduce the Plan area’s contributions to the causes of climate change.  By requiring ada...

	D.5.2 Policy SCC2 – Energy Infrastructure
	D.5.2.1 Policy SCC2 aims to encourage the use of decentralised energy sources within development proposals and, where appropriate, the use of communal heating systems to reduce GHG emissions.  More efficient energy infrastructure will lead to a decrea...
	D.5.2.2 In addition, through improved energy efficiency, this policy would be likely to result in health benefits.  This is due to a reduction in GHG emissions, which can cause poor air quality and impact human health, primarily due to particulate mat...

	D.5.3 Policy SCC3 – Managing Heat Risk
	D.5.3.1 Efficient design and building of development proposals can help to reduce the risk of heat gain and the urban heat island effect (UHI).  UHI refers to an urban area which is significantly warmer than the surrounding rural areas, caused primari...
	D.5.3.2 Furthermore, Policy SCC3 encourages “provision of green roofs and walls” which could potentially help to support wildlife networks and opportunities for habitat creation amongst the urban areas.  Therefore, this policy could result in a minor ...

	D.5.4 Policy SCC4 – Flood Risk
	D.5.4.1 Policy SCC5 seeks to manage the risk of flooding throughout the Plan area and ensure that measures are in place within new developments to promote resilience to flooding.
	D.5.4.2 The policy sets out criteria requiring development proposals to carry out a Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy.  The Sequential Test will be applied to all development proposals to ensure that development takes place in ...
	D.5.4.3 Flooding can pose a number of risks to human health and wellbeing, including physical and mental trauma, disease and disruption to power and water supplies .  Providing new development which is flood resilient and results in flood risk betterm...
	D.5.4.4 Surface water run-off can lead to flooding and a decrease in water quality.  The incorporation of SuDS into developments would be expected to benefit water quality, biodiversity and amenity interest through the integration into the wider green...

	D.5.5 Policy SCC5 – Sustainable drainage and surface water management
	D.5.5.1 Policy SCC5 sets out guidelines for future development in Sandwell with respect to Sustainable Drainage and Surface Water Management.
	D.5.5.2 The policy requires developments to incorporate SuDS designed in line with the Black Country Local Standards for SuDS  which would be anticipated to help reduce the risk of surface water flooding.  The policy further states that “surface water...
	D.5.5.3 The policy states that “Preference will be given to systems that contribute to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and green infrastructure in the wider area”.  In line with PPG, SMBC should seek to ensure that opportunities are s...

	D.5.6 Policy SCC6 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and BREEAM Standards
	D.5.6.1 The promotion of on-site renewable or low carbon technologies incorporated within new development in the borough will help to decrease reliance on energy that is generated from unsustainable sources, such as fossil fuels.  A reduction in the u...
	D.5.6.2 This policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation by helping to ensure development proposals are more energy efficient and seek opportunities to utilise renewable and low carbon energy sources (SA Objecti...
	D.5.6.3 Although this policy would help to ensure that major development within the Plan area meets the carbon neutrality target and that 20% of energy used if rom renewable sources, only a 10% renewable energy target is set for development between on...
	D.5.6.4 The promotion of alternative renewable and low carbon technologies would be likely to result in reduced emission of pollutants.  This would be expected to have a minor positive impact on pollution (SA Objective 7).
	D.5.6.5 Furthermore, by ensuring that development proposals “would not significantly harm the natural, historic or built environment or have a significant adverse effect on the amenity of those living or working nearby” the policy would be expected to...


	D.6 Health and Wellbeing in Sandwell
	D.6.1 Policy SHW1 – Health Impact Assessments
	D.6.1.1 Policy SHW1 sets out the requirement for development proposals within the borough to undertake a Health Impact Assessment (HIA), dependent on the scale and nature of the proposal.  This would help to ensure that opportunities for promoting hea...
	D.6.1.2 By requiring some developments to submit an HIA, this policy would help to ensure development proposals do not have direct adverse impacts on: residents’ physical or mental health; social, economic and environmental living conditions; demand f...
	D.6.1.3 In addition, Policy SHW1 could potentially have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility within the Plan area by promoting walking and cycling over the use of private vehicles, and as such, encouraging people to engage in higher ...

	D.6.2 Policy SHW2 – Healthcare Infrastructure
	D.6.2.1 Policy SHW2 seeks to ensure that all new healthcare facilities are well designed and accessible, with a particular focus on ensuring facilities are accessible by public transport.  The policy also aims to protect existing healthcare facilities...
	D.6.2.2 By identifying and addressing accessibility gaps, this policy would also be expected to promote equal access to healthcare and could potentially help to reduce health inequalities; therefore, a minor positive impact on equality would be expect...
	D.6.2.3 This policy seeks to ensure that all healthcare developments are located in areas with good public transport access for residents, and that where possible, healthcare facilities are co-located alongside other community services to serve nearby...

	D.6.3 Policy SHW3 – Air Quality
	D.6.3.1 Air pollution is a significant concern internationally and locally.  Sandwell is wholly designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) alongside the surrounding authorities within the Black Country.  Without careful planning, introducing ...
	D.6.3.2 Policy SHW3 requires development proposals to promote the use of pedestrian and cycle routes, access to rail, the Metro and bus transport networks, plus provide electric car charging points.  These measures would be expected to support a modal...
	D.6.3.3 Where a development proposal is situated in a location that does not currently meet national objectives, the policy requires an appropriate Air Quality Assessment (AQA) to be carried out to demonstrate that the proposed development will meet a...
	D.6.3.4 The requirements set out in Policy SHW3 could potentially help to minimise the Plan area’s contributions to climate change by offering alternative, lower emission and more sustainable means of transport.  A minor positive impact would therefor...
	D.6.3.5 As well as contributing towards the improvement of local air quality, encouraging the provision of sustainable transport methods and electric car charging points would be expected to have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility ...
	D.6.3.6 Policy SHW3 aims to encourage active travel by integrating pedestrian and cycle routes into development proposals.  In addition, the policy aims to increase the provision of green and open spaces across the borough.  This would be likely to fa...
	D.6.3.7 Some habitats are sensitive to air pollution in the form of atmospheric nitrogen deposition.  This policy would help to prevent deterioration of air quality and thereby help to protect sensitive habitats from elevated rates of atmospheric nitr...
	D.6.3.8 In addition, this policy requires development proposals to be situated in a sustainable location to minimise commuter distance and time.  This would be likely to situate residents in close proximity to a range of job opportunities, and therefo...

	D.6.4 Policy SHW4 – Open Space and Recreation
	D.6.4.1 Policy SHW4 seeks to ensure that open space and recreation facilities throughout the Plan area will be protected, managed and enhanced, in order to provide safe and accessible community facilities for existing and future residents.  Open space...
	D.6.4.2 Access to sports, recreation and leisure facilities is essential for residents to be able to pursue healthy and active lifestyles.  This policy supports the development of new sports, recreation and leisure facilities within the Plan area. Thi...
	D.6.4.3 Furthermore, through “increasing access to open space and recreation facilities for all, including people with disabilities and other target groups with limited access at present” this policy would be expected to help fill gaps in accessibilit...
	D.6.4.4 Open space can be beneficial to the local biodiversity network by providing an increased number of natural habitats and providing the opportunity to create green links within urban areas.  Policy SHW4 sets out particular support for proposals ...
	D.6.4.5 Potential new or enhanced open spaces, and associated GI, would be expected to contribute towards improved air quality due to the increased uptake of carbon dioxide.  Due to this enhanced carbon storage capacity, this policy could potentially ...

	D.6.5 Policy SHW5 – Playing Fields and Sports Facilities
	D.6.5.1 Policy SHW5 seeks to ensure that playing fields and sports facilities throughout the Plan area will be protected, managed, and enhanced, in order to provide safe and accessible community facilities for existing and future residents.
	D.6.5.2 Providing good access to sports facilities would allow residents to pursue active and healthy lifestyles.  The policy states that “facilities will be encouraged, especially in areas where public provision is deficient”, and would ensure that n...
	D.6.5.3 The policy states that new facilities will be well-designed and will provide “high-quality landscaping and public realm enhancements”.  A minor positive impact on landscape could therefore be achieved (SA Objective 2).

	D.6.6 Policy SHW6 – Allotments
	D.6.6.1 Policy SHW6 aims to protect and support the allotments and community gardens within the borough.
	D.6.6.2 The policy will help to maintain and strengthen local distinctiveness and sense of place by “retaining existing allotments” and “supporting projects that promote community gardening, farming and orchards”.  Allotments could contribute towards ...
	D.6.6.3 Allotment provision would assist in providing habitats for local wildlife amongst the urban areas.  Under the policy, allotments would be positively managed and therefore a minor positive impact on local biodiversity would be expected (SA Obje...
	D.6.6.4 Allotments provide health benefits to residents, being an open space equivalent that can provide a peaceful, aesthetically pleasing environment.  Additionally, the allotments can provide shared space for community activities that can improve s...


	D.7 Sandwell’s Housing
	D.7.1 Policy SHO1 – Delivering Sustainable Housing Growth
	D.7.1.1 Policy SHO1 would be expected to deliver a high quantum of residential development of 10,686 net new homes over the plan period in Sandwell.  However, this policy would not be expected to fully meet the identified housing needs of the SMBC.  O...
	D.7.1.2 Policy SHO1 could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3) in the long term, as the minimum 10% BNG requirement will help to ensure that the number and diversity of species in the area increases.  This would ne...
	D.7.1.3 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA objectives as the extent of both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to s...

	D.7.2 Policy SHO2 – Windfall developments
	D.7.2.1 Policy SHO2 prevents the use of unallocated greenfield land for development except for under specific circumstances.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on the conservation of natural resources would be expected (SA Objective 6).
	D.7.2.2 The support for residential development on windfall sites could help to increase housing provision, contributing towards the identified housing need, and resulting in a minor positive impact on SA Objective 10.
	D.7.2.3 The policy states that windfall sites will be considered where they “will not harm environmental, ecological or historic value of the site and the wider area”. Through reducing the potential for adverse effects, a negligible impact on cultural...
	D.7.2.4 The impact of Policy SHO2 on all the other SA objectives is uncertain.  Without understanding the number, scale and nature of potential windfall developments, it is difficult to identify the overall impacts on relevant objectives.

	D.7.3 Policy SHO3 – Housing Density, Type and Accessibility
	D.7.3.1 An appropriate mix of housing is required across the Plan area to help to ensure that the varied needs of current and future residents are met.  In particular, this may include an increased number of smaller homes which would be likely to help...
	D.7.3.2 Policy SHO3 aims to ensure that residential developments contribute towards the local housing need, supporting the current and future requirements of the population in terms of housing type and size, as well as ensuring new residents have good...
	D.7.3.3 Due to the requirement to ensure that the density and type of housing development is informed by the level of accessibility via sustainable transport, this policy could potentially help to reduce emission of road transport associated GHGs and ...
	D.7.3.4 By providing a suitable mix of housing types and tenure, this policy would be expected to meet the varying needs of residents, and as such, have a minor positive impact on health and wellbeing (SA Objective 12).

	D.7.4 Policy SHO4 – Affordable Housing
	D.7.4.1 Policy SHO4 would help to ensure that, throughout the Plan area, SMBC delivers an appropriate mix of affordable housing that meets the varied needs of current and future residents.  This policy sets out the requirements for 25% affordable hous...
	D.7.4.2 Overall, Policy SHO4 would be anticipated to result in minor positive impacts in relation to housing and equality (SA Objectives 10 and 11).
	D.7.4.3 The policy wording could be strengthened to ensure that all new developments contribute towards the provision of affordable homes and that the number/proportion will be determined through site-specific considerations including viability eviden...

	D.7.5 Policy SHO5 – Delivering Wheelchair Accessible and Self / Custom Build Housing
	D.7.5.1 Policy SHO5 seeks to ensure an appropriate mix of accessible homes are delivered across the Plan area, as well as the opportunity for self-build homes.  The policy also sets out requirements for developments where the criteria for accessible a...
	D.7.5.2 Future residential development needs to consider accessibility requirements for the elderly and those with specific needs.  Policy SHO5 would be likely to help ensure residential developments allow for the safe and convenient access for all re...
	D.7.5.3 This policy also seeks to meet the needs of those wishing to build their own homes.  The policy aims to secure a 5% of major developments of 100 or more units to be available for self-build housing.  This would help to ensure that new housing ...
	D.7.5.4 Overall, Policy SHO5 would be anticipated to result in minor positive impacts in relation to housing, equality and human health (SA Objectives 10, 11 and 12).

	D.7.6 Policy SHO6 – Financial Viability Assessment for Housing
	D.7.6.1 Policy SHO6 aims to ensure that a mix of good-quality, affordable housing will be provided, subject to the findings of financial viability assessments.  The policy states that where accessibility requirements make a development financially unv...
	D.7.6.2 By ensuring developments are appraised and meet local authority guidelines before they go ahead, a minor positive impact on housing provision (SA Objective 10) should result.
	D.7.6.3 However, the policy provision means that fewer affordable / adaptable homes could be delivered compared to the identified needs.  The impact of Policy SHO6 on equality is uncertain as it is dependent on financial circumstances.

	D.7.7 Policy SHO7 – Protecting Family Housing (Use Class C3)
	D.7.7.1 Policy SHO7 seeks to respond to the local context and identified needs, ensuring housing suitable for families is protected.  By encouraging dwellings that provide “sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities”, Policy SHO7 will aid the provis...

	D.7.8 Policy SHO8 – Houses in Multiple Occupation
	D.7.8.1 A dwelling is classed as a house in multiple occupation (HMO) if at least three tenants live there and share a toilet, bathroom or kitchen.  Policy SHO8 supports the development of HMOs, providing the proposal is in accordance with the criteri...
	D.7.8.2 This policy seeks to ensure development proposals are located in an area which has “good access by walking and public transport to residential services”.  This would be expected to have a minor positive impact on transport and accessibility an...
	D.7.8.3 In addition, the policy seeks to ensure the development of any HMOs would not significantly impact cultural heritage, landscape or biodiversity features, resulting in a likely overall negligible impact on SA Objectives 1, 2 and 3.

	D.7.9 Policy SHO9 – Education Facilities
	D.7.9.1 Policy SHO9 seeks to support the development or expansion of education facilities secured through a range of funding measures, including planning obligations or through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  New facilities would be required...
	D.7.9.2 Improved access to education would also be likely to have benefits to the local economy, by ensuring a greater proportion of residents have skills desirable in many employment sectors.  The policy seeks to address accessibility gaps and ensure...
	D.7.9.3 The policy also states that new education facilities should be “well-served by public transport infrastructure, walking, and cycling facilities, particularly in centres, and located to minimise the number and length of journeys needed in relat...
	D.7.9.4 In addition, this policy seeks to ensure that “new and redeveloped education facilities should include maximum provision for community use of sports and other facilities”.  This would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the health o...

	D.7.10 Policy SHO10 – Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
	D.7.10.1 In accordance with the planning policy for traveller sites , Gypsies and Travellers are defined as “persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or d...
	D.7.10.2 Travelling Showpeople are defined as “members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such).  This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family’...
	D.7.10.3 This policy would be expected to meet the identified  pitch targets for Gypsies and Travellers and plot targets for Travelling Showpeople which address the likely permanent and transit accommodation needs as set out in the Gypsy and Traveller...
	D.7.10.4 The policy would also be expected to have a minor positive impact on equality, as the provision of pitches and plots will help to ensure that a diverse range of residents in Sandwell have access to appropriate accommodation to suit their need...
	D.7.10.5 The criteria set out in Policy SHO10 requires all development proposals for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople pitches and plots to have good access in accordance with Policy SLP*, integrate with neighbouring communities, include play...
	D.7.10.6 Policy SHO10 could potentially have a minor positive impact on biodiversity (SA Objective 3) in the long term, as the minimum 10% BNG requirement will help to ensure that the number and diversity of species in the area increases.  This would ...
	D.7.10.7 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA objectives as the extent of both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to ...

	D.7.11 Policy SHO11 – Housing for people with specific needs
	D.7.11.1 Policy SHO11 outlines the requirements for development proposals for specific forms of housing for people with specific needs.  The policy would increase equal opportunities in the area and would be expected to have a minor positive impact on...
	D.7.11.2 The policy states that the proposed development of specific forms of housing would require “accessibility by a choice of means of transport”; and could therefore expect to have a minor positive impact on access to sustainable transport method...
	D.7.11.3 The policy additionally states that the proposals would need to consider “the character and quality of the resulting environment” and the “suitability of the site and building”.  Therefore, the policy could help to reduce the potential for ad...


	D.8 Sandwell’s Economy
	D.8.1 Policy  SEC1 – Providing for Economic Growth and Jobs
	D.8.1.1 The SLP allocates 1,206ha of employment land for the period between 2020 – 2041.  Further land is provided on other sites which have planning permission for employment development.  A minor positive impact on the economy is likely as the polic...
	D.8.1.2 The policy encourages the adoption of a circular economy approach and states that “Industrial developments will need to demonstrate how they have been designed to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change”.  The policy would therefo...
	D.8.1.3 An uncertain impact has been identified on the remaining SA Objectives as the extent of both positive and negative impacts on these objectives are dependent on the development location, scale of development and contextual factors relating to s...

	D.8.2 Policy SEC2 – Strategic Employment Areas
	D.8.2.1 Policy SEC2 seeks to allocate Strategic Employment Areas within Sandwell, which correspond to areas of highest market demand and are characterised by “clusters of high technology growth”.  This would be likely to have benefits to the local eco...
	D.8.2.2 The policy states that Strategic Employment Areas will be characterised by “excellent accessibility”, which would be expected to ensure residents have good access to employment opportunities and surrounding services via sustainable transport m...
	D.8.2.3 Without further knowledge regarding the nature, scale and type of development that may come forward within the Strategic Employment Areas in accordance with this policy, an uncertain impact has been identified for the remaining SA Objectives.

	D.8.3 Policy SEC3 – Local Employment Areas
	D.8.3.1 Policy SEC3 seeks to allocate Local Employment Areas in Sandwell to support the provision of industrial, logistics and commercial activities, which would be likely to result in benefits for the local economy and provision of local employment o...
	D.8.3.2 Policy SEC3 also seeks to safeguard areas for “waste collection, transfer and recycling uses”.  This policy would therefore be expected to have a minor positive impact on waste, by supporting the efficient management and disposal of waste (SA ...
	D.8.3.3 Without further knowledge regarding the nature, scale and type of development that may come forward within the Local Employment Areas in accordance with this policy, an uncertain impact has been identified for the remaining SA Objectives.

	D.8.4 Policy SEC4 – Other Employment Sites
	D.8.4.1 The policy supports “new industrial employment uses or extensions to existing industrial employment uses” which would be likely to increase the provision of employment floorspace across the SMBC, outside of the identified Strategic and Local E...
	D.8.4.2 This policy would also support the redevelopment of some employment sites to housing or other non-employment uses, where the employment site is no longer required for employment purposes.  Therefore, this could potentially result in a minor po...
	D.8.4.3 At present, the location of the ‘other employment sites’ is unknown.  It is therefore uncertain what impact Policy SEC4 would have on the remaining SA Objectives.

	D.8.5 Policy SEC5 – Improving Access to the Labour Market
	D.8.5.1 Policy SEC5 supports proposals for new employment development, so long as the employment opportunities are accessible, in particular for disadvantaged people and residents in the most deprived areas of Sandwell.  The development of new employm...
	D.8.5.2 Policy SEC5 will also be likely to have a minor positive impact on transport (SA Objective 9) by enhancing “the accessibility of the development to residents by a choice of means of transport, including walking, cycling and public transport”.
	D.8.5.3 The policy seeks to ensure that provision is made “to assist those with physical or mental health disabilities to access employment opportunities”.  The provision of improved accessible employment opportunities across the Plan area would be ex...
	D.8.5.4 Furthermore, this policy would be likely to have benefits to education, by ensuring a diverse range of residents have access to training opportunities to increase their skills and employability.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on education...

	D.8.6 Policy SEC6 – Relationship between Industry and Sensitive Uses
	D.8.6.1 Policy SEC6 seeks to ensure that any development of new industrial sites does not majorly disrupt neighbouring land uses, using buffers where appropriate.  Increasing industrial sites should create more jobs across the SMBC which could potenti...
	D.8.6.2 Through seeking to avoid or minimise the potential for adverse effects, the policy would help to prevent adverse impacts across environmental / amenity topics.  A negligible impact has been identified across the remaining SA Objectives.  Howev...


	D.9 Sandwell’s Centres
	D.9.1 Policy SCE1 – Sandwell’s Centres
	D.9.1.1 Policy SCE1 aims to ensure centres within Sandwell provide residents with services and facilities that meet the local needs in regard to retail, leisure, commercial, residential, community and civil services.
	D.9.1.2 The hierarchy of centres as set out under this policy would be likely to ensure a range of facilities are provided at these locations which are appropriate to meet the local need.  This would be expected to have benefits to the local community...
	D.9.1.3 The policy seeks to ensure development proposals within centres facilitate “healthy communities” and are “accessible by a variety of sustainable means of transport”, in particular public transport, walking and cycling.  This policy would be li...
	D.9.1.4 The policy encourages regeneration and states that “the consolidation and reconfiguration of vacant floorspace” will be supported under this policy.  This would be likely to have a minor positive impact in relation to natural resources, by enc...
	D.9.1.5 The support for regeneration under Policy SCE1 may provide opportunities to improve the local townscape character.  However, the type, scale and quantity of development that may be directed to each of the identified centres under this policy i...

	D.9.2 Policy SCE2 – Non-Retail Uses in Town Centres
	D.9.2.1 Policy SCE2 outlines measures in place to retain the predominance of retail uses (Class E)  within defined Retail Core / Primary Shopping Areas.
	D.9.2.2 The policy includes measures that would ensure that non-E Class uses are resisted where they are found incapable of being able to “contribute to the vitality and viability of the centre, or where they would undermine its primary commercial, bu...
	D.9.2.3 Through ensuring that any proposals to change ground floor uses within these areas “retains an active frontage and maintains or enhances the vitality, attractiveness, and viability” of the local area, there is potential for the policy to resul...

	D.9.3 Policy SCE3 – Town Centres (tier-two centres)
	D.9.3.1 Policy SCE3 supports the development of “retail, office, leisure, residential, community, health, education and cultural facilities” with the defined Town Centres.  This would be expected to ensure there is adequate supply of employment opport...

	D.9.4 Policy SCE4 – District and Local Centres (tier-three centres)
	D.9.4.1 Policy SCE4 supports development within defined District or Local Centres that would serve communities, including food stores and day-to-day services, complementing the higher tier centres.  This could potentially help to encourage social inte...
	D.9.4.2 By supporting appropriate residential and employment development within district and local centres and providing job opportunities, this policy would also be likely to have a minor positive impact on housing and the local economy (SA Objective...

	D.9.5 Policy SCE5 – Provision of Small-Scale Local Facilities not in centres
	D.9.5.1 Policy SCE5 supports the development of small-scale centre uses outside of the defined centres to meet the needs of community, where proposals meet a number of criteria outlined in the policy.  These small development proposals would be expect...
	D.9.5.2 The policy also seeks to ensure proposals are located “within convenient, safe walking distance for new or improved facilities” for residents.  The policy would be likely to ensure good access to local facilities, whilst encouraging active tra...

	D.9.6 Policy SCE6 – Edge of Centre and Out of Centre Development
	D.9.6.1 Policy SCE6 sets out criteria for the development of edge-of-centre and out-of-centre proposals for centre uses.  This could potentially have benefits to the local economy, by encouraging development in centres which are highly sustainable loc...
	D.9.6.2 This policy encourages development in centres which are highly sustainable locations.  All development proposals under this policy would be required to be assessed for accessibility via public transport, walking and cycling.  This would be exp...
	D.9.6.3 The policy also requires proposals to “demonstrate that they will support both social inclusion and cohesion”, which would be likely to result in a minor positive impact on equality (SA Objective 11).


	D.10 West Bromwich
	D.10.1 Policy SWB1 – West Bromwich Town Centre
	D.10.1.1 Policy SWB1 sets out the strategic priorities for West Bromwich Town Centre and outlines measures that will be carried out to meet these priorities.  The policy states that regeneration will be achieved by “repurposing vacant premises and sit...
	D.10.1.2 The policy sets out how the housing need of the area will be met, where “a significant number of new homes in and around the centre (Policy SWB2) to support the creation of a vibrant, active and sustainable town centre” will be required.  Fur...

	D.10.2 Policy SWB2 – Development in West Bromwich
	D.10.2.1 The policy aims to support the diversification of West Bromwich as Sandwell’s Strategic Centre to provide residents with a well-balanced provision of local facilities and uses.
	D.10.2.2 The policy identifies the importance of maximising residential provision to meet the borough-wide targets, ensuring that any large-scale proposals are located within West Bromwich to provide improved access to and uptake of sustainable means ...
	D.10.2.3 Policy SCE3 supports leisure uses that aim to “diversify the centre, encourage linked trips and enhance the evening economy and visitor experience”.  Additionally, the policy includes measures to support the provision of office space, where f...
	D.10.2.4 The policy states that “it is a priority to ensure high quality public realm and standards of design are delivered”, which would help to ensure new development conserves and enhances the local landscape and townscape character, potentially re...
	D.10.2.5 The policy states that there will be a focus on “re- purposing vacant floorspace and re using existing sites within the centre”.  These measures would help to protect undeveloped land from new development and encourage an efficient use of lan...


	D.11 Transport
	D.11.1 Policy STR1 – Priorities for the Development of the Transport Network
	D.11.1.1 Policy STR1 outlines SMBC’s priorities for the transport network during the Plan period, covering a wide range of transport modes including the strategic road network, rail, rapid transit and interchanges.  The transport projects identified w...
	D.11.1.2 The policy states that “all new developments must provide adequate access for all modes of travel, including walking, cycling and public transport” in accordance with the identified accessibility standards.  The promotion of active travel and...
	D.11.1.3 Furthermore, by encouraging the uptake of active travel and ensuring development is accessible via walking and cycling, Policy STR1 could potentially improve the physical and mental wellbeing of residents.  Ensuring that road safety and pedes...

	D.11.2 Policy STR2 – Safeguarding the Development of the Key Route Network (KRN)
	D.11.2.1 New development within Sandwell as proposed within the SLP would be expected to result in an increased number of vehicles on the local road network, adding more pressure to road infrastructure and travel corridors.  An increased volume of tra...
	D.11.2.2 The policy states that suitable mitigation measures will be identified and put in place, to ensure that any potential adverse impacts on the road network are avoided.  Furthermore, the policy would help to ensure that transport connectivity i...
	D.11.2.3 Since Policy STR2 will seek to “focus on reducing the impact of private car use on the KRN and delivering a net-zero transport system”, there may be potential for a minor positive impact on climate change mitigation (SA Objective 4).

	D.11.3 Policy STR3 – Managing Transport Impacts of New Development
	D.11.3.1 Policy STR3 would help to ensure that new development is not permitted where there is potential for significant adverse effects on transport “unless accompanied by mitigation schemes that demonstrate an acceptable level of accessibility and s...

	D.11.4 Policy STR4 – The Efficient Movement of Freight & Logistics
	D.11.4.1 Policy STR4 sets out guidelines for the movement of freight, and the prioritisation of sustainable modes of transport where possible.  Road transport is a major source of air pollution and GHG emissions in the UK .  Transporting freight via r...
	D.11.4.2 By encouraging the movement of freight via rail and waterways, Policy STR4 could potentially help to relieve road congestion issues and result in more sustainable freight transport across the Plan area.  Therefore, a minor positive impact on ...
	D.11.4.3 Furthermore, this policy could potentially result in more cost-effective and efficient movement of freight, which would help to improve economic productivity.  As such, this policy could potentially result in a minor positive impact on the ec...
	D.11.4.4 The policy states that “existing and disused railway lines will be safeguarded for rail-related uses” and seeks to encourage the use of waterways for freight transport.  In Sandwell, canals and disused railway lines form part of the ecologica...

	D.11.5 Policy STR5 – Creating Coherent Networks for Cycling and Walking
	D.11.5.1 Policy STR5 seeks to ensure that walking and cycling infrastructure networks are developed and maintained across the borough to encourage sustainable travel choices.
	D.11.5.2 The policy requires the development of cycle and walking links which are “coherent, safe, direct, comfortable, attractive, and not impeded by other infrastructure including that provided for other forms of transport” and states that “cycle pa...
	D.11.5.3 Furthermore, through facilitating active travel, this policy could potentially encourage outdoor exercise and result in benefits to mental and physical wellbeing.  A minor positive impact on health would be likely (SA Objective 12).
	D.11.5.4 Policy STR5 seeks to ensure that walking and cycling networks are safe, and bicycle storage is in “convenient locations with good natural surveillance”, which could help to reduce crime and the fear of crime.  Therefore, this could potentiall...

	D.11.6 Policy STR6 – Influencing the Demand for Travel and Travel Choices
	D.11.6.1 Policy STR6 promotes the holistic management of traffic across the borough and wider area and seeks to encourage a modal shift towards more sustainable travel options, in accordance with the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA).  The aim of the ...
	D.11.6.2 Through requiring the identification of strategic park and ride sites and improving access to transport hubs, this policy would be expected to encourage the development of better-connected public transport systems and deliver more widespread ...

	D.11.7 Policy STR7 – Network Management
	D.11.7.1 Policy STR7 sets out the potential to introduce technologies to allow the effective planning of journeys, which could help to improve the overall management of the transport network and reduce congestion.  A minor positive impact on transport...

	D.11.8 Policy STR8 – Parking Management
	D.11.8.1 Policy STR8 sets out the approach to parking management in Sandwell, including the type, location and standards for parking in or near to town centres.  By regulating the types of parking available in different locations, and ensuring these s...
	D.11.8.2 The policy seeks to ensure that the type of parking is appropriate to the location, for example ensuring that “long stay parking is removed near to town centres, to support parking for leisure and retail customers”.  Furthermore, the policy s...

	D.11.9 Policy STR9 – Planning for Low Emission Vehicles
	D.11.9.1 Policy STR9 promotes development proposals which would support low emission vehicles (LEV).  The term LEV can be used to refer to motorised vehicles which emit lower levels of emissions than traditional petrol- or diesel-powered cars or use l...
	D.11.9.2 This policy would help to encourage the use of LEVs within Sandwell, by ensuring the appropriate infrastructure such as electric vehicle charging points are incorporated within new developments and appropriate public locations.  The policy al...

	D.11.10 Policy STR10 – Transport Innovation & Digital Connectivity
	D.11.10.1 Policy STR10 promotes the provision of 5G connectivity, including within new homes and businesses and integrated within the transport network, which would encourage remote working and reduce the need to travel.  A minor positive impact on th...
	D.11.10.2 The integration of ‘smart infrastructure’ as outlined within the policy could help to reduce congestion, potentially helping to reduce the emission of GHGs and other air pollutants. Overall, if implementation and monitoring prove successful,...


	D.12 Infrastructure and Delivery
	D.12.1 Policy SID1 – Promotion of Fibre to the Premises and 5G Networks
	D.12.1.1 Policy SID1 supports the provision of Fibre to the Premise (FTTP), for residential developments of ten or more dwellings or over 1,000m2 of non-residential uses, and 5G networks in principle.  The promotion of such infrastructure would be lik...
	D.12.1.2 With the development of FTTP and 5G within the borough under this policy, residents would be likely to have greater access to essential services from home and the workplace.  This would provide increased opportunities to work from home and ac...
	D.12.1.3 In addition, with improved access to online facilities and home working, this policy could potentially help to reduce reliance on private car use such as for commuting to workplaces, and in turn, reduce local congestion.  This would be expect...
	D.12.1.4 The policy seeks to minimise adverse effects on the surrounding environment in terms of amenity, landscape, character and ecology.  As such, negligible impacts would be likely for SA Objectives 1, 2 and 3.

	D.12.2 Policy SID2 – Mobile Network Infrastructure
	D.12.2.1 Policy SID2 sets out the requirements of mobile network infrastructure in regard to public health.  The policy requires development proposals to meet the guidelines set by the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICN...
	D.12.2.2 Policy SID2 states that “infrastructure should be located where it will have the least adverse impact on local landscapes, biodiversity and heritage assets wherever possible” and would therefore expect to have a negligible impact on cultural ...

	D.12.3 Policy SID3 – Digital Infrastructure / Equipment
	D.12.3.1 Policy SID3 sets out the requirements of the design and location of digital infrastructure to ensure that harm is avoided to visual amenity, “heritage assets or their settings”, and “the public realm”.  The policy would protect the local land...


	D.13 Waste and Minerals
	D.13.1 Policy SWA1 – Waste Infrastructure Future Requirements
	D.13.1.1 Policy SWA1 sets out the strategy for waste management within Sandwell, seeking to reduce the generation of waste and associated pollution, promote re-use and recycling of waste in line with the waste hierarchy, and ensure sufficient capacity...
	D.13.1.2 Policy SWA1 supports the “minimisation of waste production and the re-use and recovery of waste materials” and encourages development proposals to manage waste through the waste hierarchy, “ensuring that sufficient capacity is located within ...
	D.13.1.3 The policy also seeks to ensure “new waste management facilities are located and designed to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health and well-being, wildlife, heritage assets and amenity”.  These criteria would be ...

	D.13.2 Policy SWA2 – Waste Sites
	D.13.2.1 The aim of Policy SWA2 is to safeguard and retain capacity of the existing waste facilities in Sandwell.  The policy also states that “proposals for housing and other potentially sensitive uses will not be permitted near to or adjacent to an ...

	D.13.3 Policy SWA3 – Preferred Areas for New Waste Facilities
	D.13.3.1 Policy SWA3 identifies preferred locations for new waste management infrastructure in Sandwell.  The provision of waste management facilities would be likely to have a major positive impact on waste, by ensuring there are adequate facilities ...
	D.13.3.2 At present, the scale and potential capacity of the proposed waste management facilities is unknown.  Seeking to manage Sandwell’s waste rather than exporting to surrounding areas could potentially result in some benefits associated with redu...
	D.13.3.3 The provision of waste management facilities would not be expected to impact housing, equality, health, economy or education (SA Objectives 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14).

	D.13.4 Policy SWA4 – Locational Considerations for New Waste Facilities
	D.13.4.1 Policy SWA4 sets out criteria to which new waste management facilities should be in accordance with.  Waste management facilities will only be supported where there is an identified need for the facility.  This would be likely to help fill an...
	D.13.4.2 The policy states that consideration will be given to “visual impacts”, “detrimental effects on the environment and public health”, “noise, excessive traffic and vibration” and “water quality and resources and flood risk management” when allo...
	D.13.4.3 Policy SWA4 states “proposals must accord with all other policies in relation to the protection of the environment and public amenity”.  However, it is uncertain what policies this is referring to.  It is recommended that this statement is ex...

	D.13.5 Policy SWA5 – Resource Management and New Development
	D.13.5.1 Policy SWA5 sets out criteria for the sustainable management of waste and resources associated with new developments, during both construction and occupation.
	D.13.5.2 The policy requires all new developments to “minimise waste as far as possible” and seeks to maximise the use of “secondary and recycled materials, renewable and locally sourced products and materials with low environmental impacts” wherever ...
	D.13.5.3 Additionally, through encouraging the efficient use of resources and reducing the need for extraction of primary aggregates, Policy SWA5 would be expected to result in a minor positive impact on natural resources (SA Objective 6).
	D.13.5.4 Policy SWA5 also seeks to ensure that environmental impacts as a result of resource management and new development are minimised.  The policy encourages the use of materials with low environmental impacts and the management of waste either on...

	D.13.6 Policy SMI1 – Minerals Safeguarding
	D.13.6.1 Although Sandwell itself does not contain any Mineral Safeguarding Areas at present, Policy SMI1 sets out requirements for any mineral deposits identified as being or becoming of economic importance to be “safeguarded from unnecessary sterili...
	D.13.6.2 This policy would be expected to have a minor positive impact on the local economy, by supporting local construction and industrial businesses (SA Objective 13).

	D.13.7 Policy SMI2 – Managing the Effects of Mineral Development
	D.13.7.1 Policy SMI2 sets out criteria by which development proposals for minerals working and infrastructure would be expected to comply.  All development proposals will need to contribute to the extraction of minerals as set out in Policy SMI1.  A m...
	D.13.7.2 Under this policy, mineral extraction sites would be required to be restored as soon as possible once work ceases.  This would be likely to help prevent adverse impacts on landscape and biodiversity, and therefore, negligible impacts have bee...
	D.13.7.3 Policy SMI2 seeks to “address the impact of transporting minerals and mineral products on the highway network and should be accompanied by a Transport Assessment if generating a significant number of vehicle movements”.  This would be expecte...
	D.13.7.4 Development proposals for minerals extraction will be assessed for their effect on public health under this policy.  This would be expected to help prevent development resulting in adverse impacts on human health, including inappropriate nois...
	D.13.7.5 The policy also seeks to assess development proposals for their effects on “historic (including archaeological) environments” and would be likely to prevent adverse impacts on the historic environment.  Therefore, a negligible impact on cultu...
	D.13.7.6 Policy SMI2 will assess development proposals in terms of “harm to water quality and resources and flood risk management”.  This would be likely to help ensure proposals under this policy do not exacerbate local flood risk, and therefore, a n...


	D.14 Development Constraints and Industrial Legacy
	D.14.1 Policy SCO1 – Hazardous Installations and Substances
	D.14.1.1 Policy SCO1 sets out criteria by which development proposals will be expected to comply regarding installations and substances that could be harmful to health, including those which are toxic, explosive, inflammable, highly reactive and hazar...

	D.14.2 Policy SCO2 – Pollution Control
	D.14.2.1 Policy SCO2 sets out criteria by which development proposals will be expected to comply regarding air, noise and light pollution.  This would be expected to help prevent development resulting in adverse impacts on human health, including inap...

	D.14.3 Policy SCO3 – Land contamination and instability
	D.14.3.1 The aim of Policy SCO3 is to ensure any development on unstable or contaminated land is structurally sound and poses no danger to human health.  SMBC will support the reuse of degraded landscapes and regeneration of the borough, including “de...
	D.14.3.2 By seeking to avoid harm to health and wellbeing of people and the environment, including the water environment, the policy would be likely to result in negligible impacts on pollution and health (SA Objectives 7 and 12).


	D.15 Development Management
	D.15.1 Policy SDM1 – Design Quality
	D.15.1.1 Policy SDM1 sets out design requirements to ensure that developments “create a strong sense of place and reflect Sandwell’s unique character”.  The policy also refers to a range of guidance documents that mut be adhered to, including the Nati...
	D.15.1.2 Development under Policy SDM1 must ensure that the design of the development is “in keeping with their surroundings by virtue of their scale, architecture and materials” and conserves important views and other locally distinctive features.  A...
	D.15.1.3 The policy includes measures that promote the ‘greening’ of Sandwell.  The policy states that major development proposals within Sandwell should include “high-quality landscaping and tree planting, other soft landscaping, green roofs, green w...
	D.15.1.4 The policy identifies the importance of accessibility within the borough and states that the design of urban streets and spaces should provide a “high quality public realm and an attractive, safe and permeable movement network”.  The measures...

	D.15.2 Policy SDM2 – Development and Design Standards
	D.15.2.1 Policy SDM2 sets out the requirements of development proposals to incorporate specific design standards that are nationally recognised.  The Nationally Described Space Standards  help to ensure that all development satisfies the requirement f...
	D.15.2.2 The policy requires residential development to be in keeping with the optional water efficiency standards from Part G2 of the current Building Regulations, where residents are to have an average water usage of “110 litres per person per day”....

	D.15.3 Policy SDM3 – Tall Buildings and Gateway Sites
	D.15.3.1 Policy SDM3 sets out the requirements for development proposals regarding tall buildings and gateway sites, specifically the design and location of proposals.
	D.15.3.2 The development of tall buildings can significantly alter the image, character and identity of towns and cities .  In appropriate locations the development of tall buildings can have a positive contribution to the urban landscape; however, if...
	D.15.3.3 The policy states that when assessing gateway site applications, the consideration of how “key landmark buildings, structures and features will be preserved and improved” will be applied.  Tall buildings likewise would also be required to “ha...
	D.15.3.4 Tall building development proposals must ensure that they demonstrate “sufficient access to public transport for occupants/users of the building” and “access to local services and facilities”.  The policy would provide access to public transp...
	D.15.3.5 Supporting tall buildings would lead to higher density development, reducing overall land take and making efficient use of land.  As such, a minor positive impact on natural resources would be expected (SA Objective 6).

	D.15.4 Policy SDM4 – Advertisements
	D.15.4.1 Policy SDM4 sets out the requirements for the appropriate design and location of advertisements to prevent adverse impacts on the surrounding landscape and health and safety of local residents.
	D.15.4.2 The policy states that advertisements will need to have regard to the “scale of the buildings and the character of the location in which they are to be sited”.  The policy would be likely to have a minor positive impact on the protection of t...
	D.15.4.3 Advertisement proposals will be considered in regard to “local amenity and public safety” and includes measures that prevent impacts on highway safety.  The policy would therefore expect to have a negligible impact on the health and safety of...
	D.15.4.4 The policy states that advertisement proposals that “detract from the character or setting of any feature of historic, architectural or cultural interest” will be unacceptable.  These measures would be expected to have a negligible impact on ...

	D.15.5 Policy SDM5 – Shop Fronts and Roller Shutters
	D.15.5.1 Policy SDM5 provides requirements for planning proposals involving shop fronts and roller shutters in relation to their design, installation and location.
	D.15.5.2 Through supporting the safe operation of businesses and appropriate use of security fixtures, the policy could potentially lead to a minor positive impact on the local economy (SA Objective 13).
	D.15.5.3 Policy SDM5 requires the design of shop fronts to “fit in with the scale and architectural character of the building in which they are to be contained” and states that “original features, such as iron columns, ornamental brackets or carved st...

	D.15.6 Policy SDM6 – Hot Food Takeaways
	D.15.6.1 Policy SDM6 aims to counteract the over-concentration of hot food takeaways and provide a healthy balance of food choices across the borough.  In addition to limits on the number of hot food takeaways (HFTs) within centres, an exclusion zone ...
	D.15.6.2 Reducing access to HFTs can help to promote healthier food choices and reduce inequalities for those living in areas that would otherwise be located in areas densely populated by unhealthy food choices.  By ensuring takeaway vendors are situa...

	D.15.7 Policy SDM7 – Management of Hot Food Takeaways
	D.15.7.1 Policy SDM7 sets out the requirements for the management of HFTs in relation to the issues that could arise on residents, the environment and waste.
	D.15.7.2 Strict regulation on “odour extraction, opening hours, parking restrictions and safety measures” outlined within the policy will help to avoid adverse impacts on pollution, transport, and health, resulting in negligible effects overall for SA...
	D.15.7.3 By ensuring appropriate drainage systems, food storage and waste disposal units are in place, a minor positive impact on waste could be expected (SA Objective 8).
	D.15.7.4 Allowing new HFTs in the area that comply with the regulations set out in Policy SDM7 would potentially create more jobs, which would have a minor positive impact on the economy (SA Objective 13).

	D.15.8 Policy SDM8 – Gambling activities and alternative financial services
	D.15.8.1 An increase in gambling or other financial services has the potential to increase noise pollution, anti-social behaviour and encourage unhealthy mental and physical habits.  However, Policy SDM8 aims to prevent “issues concerning community sa...
	D.15.8.2 The impact on the economy (SA Objective 13) is uncertain.  Although an increase in gambling activities and financial services could provide employment opportunities and positively impact the local economy, there is potential for residents to ...

	D.15.9 Policy SDM9 – Community Facilities
	D.15.9.1 Policy SDM9 sets out support for new community facilities within centres, provided a set of criteria are met.
	D.15.9.2 The policy would be likely to ensure that any new community facilities have a negligible impact on pollution by requiring suitable sound insulation to be installed and “restricting the hours of use of all or parts of the building”.
	D.15.9.3 Policy SDM9 seeks to ensure any new community facilities are in easy to access areas, noting “sites with main road frontages at the fringes of commercial areas, and particularly in town, district or local centres” as suitable locations.  Poli...
	D.15.9.4 New community facilities will provide a safe space for residents of Sandwell and encourage social activities.  This should encourage comradery amongst residents and provide activities to help entertain younger residents.  This has the potenti...

	D.15.10 Policy SDM10 – Telecommunications
	D.15.10.1 Policy SDM10 supports the provision of telecommunications infrastructure, where this would not impede on highways or the street scene.  The policy seeks to ensure that the location and appearance of telecommunications infrastructure avoids o...
	D.15.10.2 Increased telecommunications coverage may help to improve digital connectivity and information sharing, potentially resulting in a minor positive impact on local businesses and opportunities for home working (SA Objective 13).



	LC-893_Sandwell_Reg18DraftPlan_BACK_1_230623AH

	13d - App D Consultation Plan Cabinet 181023
	13e - App E EqIA for Cabinet 181023

	14 Update and decisions on the Asset Management Strategy - Income and Savings 2023-2026
	2	Reasons for Recommendations
	3	How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	5	Alternative Options
	6	Implications
	7.	Appendices
	8.	Background Papers

	16 Haden Hill Leisure Centre Rebuild Options - Levelling Up Fund
	17 Future Provision of Leisure Services
	18 Tipton Town Centre Regeneration Scheme Rescope and Funding Package
	19a - PRIVATE Appendix1
	19bi - PRIVATE Appendix2.1
	19bii - PRIVATE Appendix2.2
	19biii - PRIVATE Appendix2.3
	19biv - PRIVATE Appendix2.4
	19c - PRIVATE Appendix3
	19d - PRIVATE Appendix4
	19e - PRIVATE Appendix5


